Management of Peritoneal Metastases-Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond

Aditi Bhatt *Editor*



Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond Aditi Bhatt Editor

Management of Peritoneal Metastases-Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond



Editor Aditi Bhatt Department of Surgical Oncology Fortis Hospital Bangalore India

ISBN 978-981-10-7052-5 ISBN 978-981-10-7053-2 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018935677

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. part of Springer Nature

The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

Foreword

During the last two decades, the management of peritoneal metastasis is probably one field for which most progresses have been performed in oncology. In the 1980s, this condition was considered as the terminal stage of the disease and the therapies were only palliative, especially for peritoneal metastasis from digestive primary tumor. Today, some patients accurately selected and treated in specialized institutions involved in the management of peritoneal surface malignancies may be cured; 20 years before, they had no escape or no hope. How could we tailor therapeutic strategy for the same patient for the same disease?

Firstly, we have to thank the following pioneers, "evangelists," who believed that curative treatment could be applied for this difficult disease, despite the great skepticism of the oncologic community: Paul H. Sugarbaker from Washington, who developed and taught the techniques of peritonectomies and defended the concept of cytoreductive surgery that allows to treat the macroscopic disease; François N. Gilly from Lyon and Dominique Elias from Villejuif who developed in France the "open" and "closed" techniques of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) to treat the microscopic disease following cytoreductive surgery; and Franz Zoetmulder from the Netherlands who conducted the first randomized trial on peritoneal metastasis from colorectal cancers that evaluated the combination of cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC and who demonstrated the benefit of this combined treatment over systemic palliative chemotherapy. Of course other contributors and defenders of this combined procedure participated all over the world in the development of this locoregional management for a locoregional disease.

Secondly, other than these pioneer surgeons, all disciplines have increased their interest to this difficult medical condition that requires not only surgery and HIPEC but a real multidisciplinary management: the radiologists to better detect or evaluate the extent of disease which represents one of the principal prognostic factors whatever the etiology; the anesthetists and resuscitators to take in charge of a delicate postoperative period, to better control postoperative complications of extensive and at-risk procedures; the oncologists to better select good candidate for a curative treatment and to delay the extraperitoneal recurrence by an adapted perioperative management; the psychologists to help patients face bad prognosis condition and complex therapies; the pathologists and biologists to define new classification of rare peritoneal disease or identify new biologic or molecular markers; the pharmacologists to optimize intraperitoneal administration of anticancer drugs; and the nurses and physiotherapists to help physicians to facilitate the recovery of patients following extensive procedures.

This book is of course principally dedicated to surgical or medical oncologists who are or will be involved in the management of peritoneal surface malignancies. It describes the rationale, treatment, and results already obtained for rare diseases such as pseudomyxoma peritonei and peritoneal mesothelioma but also for more frequent peritoneal metastasis from colorectal, appendiceal, ovarian, gastric, or other digestive and gynecologic cancers. A lot of internationally renowned peritoneal surface oncology teams have authored the chapter.

What will be the future? Even if there are many progresses and changes in the prognosis of many peritoneal surface malignancies, too many patients still remain nonamenable to a curative treatment and a lot of improvement could be done. One direction that was already taken is prevention. The use of proactive treatment (second-look surgery with prophylactic HIPEC) may prevent the occurrence of peritoneal metastasis for patients who are at risk and are currently evaluated in prospective randomized studies in colorectal or gastric cancers. The development of new intraperitoneal techniques may also provide better palliative results in a neoadjuvant setting: pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC), intraperitoneal targeted therapy, and laparoscopic HIPEC.

Finally, each country should help the establishment of specialized centers involved in peritoneal surface malignancies that represents today a medical discipline, a specific field that teaches the younger generation in order to offer new and reliable hope to patients suffering from this past terminal condition. Peritoneum should be considered as an organ, and peritoneal metastasis should be treated with the same conviction and ambition as with other metastases.

25 March 2017

Prof. Olivier Glehen Centre Hospitalier Lyon Sud Lyon, France

Preface

The curative approach to the management of peritoneal metastases involves a complex surgical procedure that aims at complete tumor removal with or without the use of various forms of intraperitoneal chemotherapy of which hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) is the most commonly used form. For most disease processes, systemic treatments are needed along with aggressive locoregional therapy to provide a maximum benefit in survival and quality of life to the patients. Proficiency in the surgical management needs to be coupled with an understanding of the disease biology to best administer and sequence various treatment modalities. The widespread acceptance of cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC, though after a prolonged initial resistance by the oncology community at large, has paved the way for new innovative therapies that can benefit a larger proportion of patients. Much has been and continues to be published on this subject.

This book has been written with the goal of providing comprehensive reviews on various aspects of management of peritoneal metastases. The authors try to raise important practical issues that surgical oncologists encounter in their practice and provide evidence-based answers to these. Experts in this field have authored/reviewed most of the chapters.

I wholeheartedly thank all the authors for their contribution and kind and effective collaboration in bringing this book together.

I would also like to thank Dr. Naren Agarwal, Associate Editorial Director of Springer India, for conceiving this book and his prompt help at various stages of the publication process.

Bangalore, India 31 July 2017

Aditi Bhatt

Contents

Part I	Principles of Cytoreductive Surgery and Hyperthermic
Intrape	ritoneal Chemotherapy

1	Evolving Role of CRS and HIPEC: Current Indications 3 Firoz Rajan and Aditi Bhatt
2	Role of HIPEC in the Prevention of Peritoneal Metastasisfrom Colorectal, Gastric and Appendiceal Cancer15Ramakrishnan Ayloor Seshadri and Akash Meinte Mehta
3	Cytoreductive Surgery for Peritoneal Metastases:Principles and Techniques31Aditi Bhatt and Sanket Mehta31
4	HIPEC Methodology, Comparison of Techniques, and DrugRegimens: Is There a Need for Standardization?79K. Van der Speeten and L. Lemoine
5	Early Postoperative Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy: Current Role and Future Perspectives
6	Imaging of Peritoneal Cancers
7	Diagnostic Laparoscopy for the Evaluation of PeritonealMetastasesMetastasesAlmog Ben-Yaacov, Joseph Dux, and Aviram Nissan
8	Combined Resection Liver Metastases and Peritoneal Metastases
9	Management of Complications of CRS and HIPEC 181 Aditi Bhatt and Akash M. Mehta

Part II Disease Specific Applications of Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC

10	Cytoreductive Surgery and Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Advanced Epithelial Ovarian Cancer 221 Kayomarz Sethna, Shabber Zaveri, and Aditi Bhatt
11	Surgical Management of Recurrent EpithelialOvarian Cancer253Aditi Bhatt, Naoual Bakrin, and Olivier Glehen
12	Multimodality Treatment for Colorectal PeritonealMetastasesMetastasesAditi Bhatt, Sanket Mehta, and François Quénet
13	Pseudomyxoma Peritonei Arising from Epithelial Appendiceal Tumours
14	Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Gastric Cancer
15	Malignant Peritoneal Mesothelioma361Elizabeth Poli, Ashvin Rangole, and Kiran K. Turaga
16	Rare Indications for Cytoreductive Surgeryand Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal ChemotherapyAditi Bhatt and Ramakrishnan Ayloor Seshadri
17	Clinical Trials in CRS and HIPEC: Ongoing Trials and Future Directives. 433 William F. Morano, Wilbur B. Bowne, and Jesus Esquivel
Par	t III Beyond Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC
18	Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC in the Elderly
19	Quality of Life Issues in Patients UndergoingCytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC.Julianna P. Englisch, Andreas Brandl, Ute Goerling, andBeate Rau
20	New Treatment Modalities for the Managementof Peritoneal MetastasesAditi Bhatt and Akash Mehta
21	Registries and Collaborative Groups in PeritonealSurface Oncology507Aditi Bhatt and Kiran K. Turaga

22	Locoregional and Palliative Therapies for
	Patients with Unresectable Peritoneal Metastases
	Ninad Katdare, Robin Prabhu, and Aditi Bhatt
23	Training Programs for Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC 561
	Beate Rau, Maria Clara Arroyave, and Dusan Klos
Ind	lex

Part I

Principles of Cytoreductive Surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy

Evolving Role of CRS and HIPEC: Current Indications

Firoz Rajan and Aditi Bhatt

1.1 Introduction

The term "peritoneal carcinomatosis" has been euphemistically replaced by "peritoneal metastases" in the last decade by surgical oncologists whose efforts have helped to dismiss the nihilistic approach of the oncologic community, in general, toward this condition and improve the survival and quality of life in patients with peritoneal cancer spread. Peritoneal metastases (PM) have a poorer prognosis compared to other metastatic sites and are comparatively less responsive to systemic therapies [1]. Patients are more often symptomatic from PM than other metastatic sites, and these symptoms severely impair the quality of life [2].

Surgical oncologists are often faced with the challenge of alleviating these symptoms and have worked to introduce innovative therapies for treating PM [3]. As a result, development in this field has largely focused on the disease site rather than histology [3]. Surgical removal of peritoneal deposits was first performed for ovarian cancer and subsequently other primary sites

Department of Surgical Oncology, Kovai Medical Centre, Coimbatore, India e-mail: firozrajan@gmail.com

A. Bhatt Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis Hospital Bangalore, Bangalore, India with PM [4]. Cytoreductive surgery (CRS), that is, complete removal of all macroscopic disease, and (hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy) HIPEC, in which a heated chemotherapy solution is circulated in the peritoneal cavity at a fixed flow rate of 30-120 min maintaining an intra-abdominal temperature of 42-43 °C, comprise an aggressive locoregional therapy that was introduced in the 1980s. The rationale of an aggressive locoregional strategy is the propensity of metastases from certain primary sites to remain confined to the peritoneal cavity for prolonged periods without the development of other metastases. The surgical technique of peritonectomy and associated visceral resections was developed and described by Paul Sugarbaker in the 1990s [5]. HIPEC drug regimens and methods were developed by various investigators during the same period [6-8]. The basic principle is to intraoperatively affect tumor cell kill by the process of diffusion of chemotherapeutic drugs into the residual tumor cell deposits after the CRS, using heat to potentiate their cytotoxicity [9–11]. There is a critical residual tumor size (ideally less than 2.5 mm in size), above which the HIPEC treatment is not effective. With this treatment, selected patients experience a significant prolongation in survival and an improvement in the quality of life [12]. Selected patients who remain disease-free for prolonged periods are considered to be cured [13, 14].

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_1

Check for updates

F. Rajan (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

Other forms of intraperitoneal chemotherapy like early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC) given on postoperative days 1-5 and sequential intraperitoneal chemotherapy (SIPC) given through an intraperitoneal catheter in multiple cycles are used less commonly. This treatment was initially instituted to treat PM from various primary sites or tumors arising de novo from the peritoneum, provided there was no metastatic disease elsewhere and the patient was in a condition to withstand the procedure. The prognostic and predictive factors were established irrespective of the site of origin. Some of the common prognostic indicators that are used to select patients for this treatment are Sugarbaker's peritoneal carcinomatosis index (PCI) that determines the extent of the disease, completeness of cytoreduction score (CC score), and the histologic tumor grade [15]. The main concern was the high morbidity and mortality of this procedure. It has been associated with a prolonged learning curve that peaks at 120 procedures which is not just for the surgeon but also for the institute [16]. Over time, with the increasing experience of the surgical community and the development of some high volume centers, there

has been a reduction in the morbidity and mortality, and now in experienced centers, it is similar to that of other major gastrointestinal surgeries [17]. With the increase in experience, level 2 and 3 evidence is available for its use for various indications, and clinical trials are underway to determine its role in other situations [18]. Each disease site is now being dealt with separately. Various aspects of treatment like the right time for instituting this therapy, the prognostic factors for patient selection, the drug regimens and HIPEC methodology, and the correct sequencing with other therapies are being studied to standardize various aspects of treatment. Over the years, the indications have become better defined, and there are specific indications and contraindications for each disease site. An overview of the same is provided here.

1.2 Current Indications for CRS and HIPEC

Based on the existing evidence, a synopsis of the disease-specific indications and prognostic factors is listed in Table 1.1.

Primary site	Indications	Prognostic factors	Systemic therapy	Level of evidence
Colorectal cancer	PCI < 20, complete CRS possible, no systemic disease except <3 <i>easily</i> resectable liver metastases, no ascites	PCI < 12, CC-0 resection, good response to chemotherapy, mucinous tumors, non-signet ring cell tumors	Neoadjuvant/ adjuvant	3
Recurrent colorectal PM	Complete CRS possible, limited disease, no systemic spread	PCI < 10, CC-0 resections, no grade 3–5 morbidity	Neoadjuvant/ adjuvant	3
Gastric cancer	PCI < 13, complete CRS possible, no systemic disease	PCI < 6, peritoneal fluid cytology negative, non-signet ring cell tumors, good response to neoadjuvant therapies	Neoadjuvant preferred	1
Gastric cancer	As adjuvant therapy in patients with T3/4 tumors, N2 disease and positive peritoneal fluid cytology		Neoadjuvant/ adjuvant	experi- mental
Ovarian cancer (frontline	Complete CRS is possible	Complete cytoreduction	Neoadjuvant therapy for	1 (for CRS alone)
therapy)	HIPEC in the setting of a clinical trial		unresectable disease	HIPEC- currently under trial

Table 1.1 Synopsis of the current indications for CRS and HIPEC

Primary site	Indications	Prognostic factors	Systemic therapy	Level of evidence
Ovarian cancer (second-line therapy)	For platinum-sensitive recurrence if complete cytoreduction is possible	PCI < 8, CC-0/1 resections	Neoadjuvant/ adjuvant	2/3
	For platinum-resistant disease if first surgery was incomplete and a complete CRS is possible			
	For platinum-resistant disease if there is a response to chemotherapy and the disease is resectable			
PMP arising from epithelial appendiceal tumors	Complete CRS possible, irrespective of PCI or tumor grade	Low PCI, CC-0/1 resection, low-grade PMP, no prior surgery or chemotherapy, lymph nodes negative, prior surgical score 0–1	Neoadjuvant/ adjuvant for high grade tumors	3
Recurrent PMP	Complete CRS possible	CC-0/1 resection, low-grade tumors, disease-free interval > 1 year, localized recurrence		3
Peritoneal mesothelioma	Epithelioid histology, complete cytoreduction is possible	PCI < 17, no lymph node involvement, CC-0/1 resection		3
Rare indications	Mucinous ovarian tumors, neuroendocrine tumors. For other indications, decisions need to be individualized	PCI < 15, CC-0/1 resection	Neoadjuvant/ adjuvant depending on the histology	3

Table 1.1 (continued)

The three main criticisms of CRS and HIPEC have been the high rate of morbidity, the lack of level 1 evidence, and the heterogeneity of HIPEC regimens. It must be kept in mind that in most situation PM represent stage 4 disease with a substantially poorer prognosis compared to other patients and conducting clinical trials in these patients is fraught with difficulties as pointed out by David Bartlett [3]. Phase I dose escalation studies may need to be terminated because of surgical complications/morbidity rather than the toxicity of the drug itself which could make interpretation difficult [3]. In phase II trials, as there is no residual tumor/disease, the clinical end points have to be disease-free and overall survival [3]. The outcomes need to be compared to systemic chemotherapy which represents a moving target due to the constant introduction of new drugs and regimens. Moreover, the chemotherapy data is not available for patients with PM alone but is

mixed with other sites of metastatic cancer spread which makes a comparison even more difficult. Phase III trials are difficult to conduct for similar reasons.

Any surgical intervention requires multiple parameters to be considered while reporting the outcomes of a clinical trial and, CRS and HIPEC is a relatively more complex procedure [19].

Though there are nine trials pertaining to CRS and HIPEC that have been published so far, there are deficiencies in the design and reporting of most of them [20–23]. The evidence on which the current indications for CRS and HIPEC are based comes from single or multi-institutional case series and case-controlled studies. Though most of the studies are retrospective, they represent the experience of the pioneering centers of the procedure across the world and comprise of consecutive patients treated in a systematic fashion. The studies would be categorized as level 3 evidence

	C
Levels of evidence	Studies included
Level 1	Well-designed double-blinded ^a randomized controlled trials or a meta-analysis of these trials
Level 2	Non-randomized, controlled, clinical trials. Includes subset analysis performed in randomized controlled trials
Level 3	Population-based, consecutive series Consecutive cases (not population based)
	Nonconsecutive cases or other observational study designs (e.g., cohort

 Table 1.2
 Levels of evidence according to the National Cancer Institute's guidelines [24]

^aDouble blinding is not possible in most oncology trials due to the toxicity of therapies involved

or case-control studies)

according to the National Cancer Institute's guidelines for stratification of clinical studies (Table 1.2) [24].

The studies that fall into the third category have the weakest study designs, but may be the only available or practical information in support of a therapeutic strategy, especially in the case of rare diseases or when the evolution of the therapy predates the common use of randomized study designs in medical practice [23]. They may also provide the only practical design when treatments in study arms are radically different (e.g., amputation vs limb-sparing surgery). Thus, in rare diseases like pseudomyxoma peritonei where there is a clear benefit in survival over other therapies and conducting randomized trials is difficult and may be considered unethical, evidence from large retrospective studies is considered adequate.

1.2.1 Pseudomyxoma Peritonei Arising from Epithelial Appendiceal Tumors

Pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) also called jelly belly is characterized by presence of a gelatinous material sometimes amounting to a few liters within the abdominal cavity with mucinous implants on the visceral and peritoneal surfaces. The usual site of primary is the appendix and

sometimes the ovary. In a biologically heterogeneous group of diseases, the spectrum ranges from the low-grade diffuse peritoneal adenomucinosis (DPAM) where there is abundant extracellular mucin with scanty simple to focally proliferative mucinous epithelium without any atypia (60% of cases) with/without an appendicular mucinous adenoma to a frank adenocarcinoma condition called peritoneal mucinous carcinoma (PMCA) constituting 28% of PMP cases [25]. An intermediate variety with discordant features constituted the rest. The standard of care for PMP is aggressive locoregional therapy comprising of complete cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC [12, 26, 27]. The conventional treatment used to be repeated drainage of mucin or debulking surgery comprising of removal of the primary tumor and the omentum. With this treatment, the reported 10-year survival was 32% in one series and 5-year survival 6% in another [28, 29]. Contrary to this, Sugarbaker reported a 5-year survival of 86% in patients with low-grade tumors undergoing a complete cytoreduction in a series of 385 consecutive patients [30]. Subsequently, a retrospective study of 2298 patients from 16 specialized institutions around the world treated with cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC reported a median survival rate of 196 months (16.3 years) and the median progression-free survival rate of 98 months (8.2 years), with 10- and 15-year survival rates of 63 and 59%, respectively [31]. In the largest single institution series of 1000 patients, Moran et al. reported a 5- and 10-year overall survival (OS) was 87.4 and 70.3%, respectively, in the 738 patients who had CC-0/1 compared with 39.2 and 8.1%, respectively, in patients who had a CC-2/3 resection [32]. CRS and HIPEC is now the standard of care for treating PM arising from epithelial appendiceal tumors. The most important prognostic factors for PMP are the completeness of cytoreduction, a low PCI, and low-grade PMP. Patients who have no regional nodal metastases and have not had prior non-definitive surgery or chemotherapy have a better outcome [32].

Approximately one in four patients develops recurrence after complete CRS and HIPEC for PMP of appendiceal origin [33]. Recurrence can be diffused or localized. A diffuse recurrence represents an aggressive disease biology or insensitivity of the tumor to intraperitoneal chemotherapy especially if the recurrence-free interval is short. This type of recurrence is associated with a poorer survival. Localized recurrence is probably due to tumor cell entrapment at the suture line or in adhesions and has a better prognosis [34]. CRS and HIPEC can be performed in patients with localized recurrence and in selected cases of diffuse recurrence if there is a prolonged recurrence-free interval and a complete cytoreduction is possible [35]. Some of the factors to be considered are the performance status, the extent of the peritoneal disease, recurrence-free interval from the first surgery, the completeness of primary surgery, and the grade of the PMP [36]. Selected patients with a second and third recurrence can also be treated with CRS and HIPEC resulting in a prolonged survival [37].

1.2.2 Colorectal Cancer

Peritoneal metastases are the second most common cause of death in colorectal cancer patients after liver metastases [20]. Around 10% of CRC have PM at presentation, while another 25% will develop PM after treatment of the primary. There is a single randomized trial comparing use of CRS and HIPEC versus palliative chemotherapy with 5FU/leucovorin in colorectal PM, and updates of the trial show that few of these treated patients can survive up to 8 years [20, 38]. A number of comparative studies and retrospective analytical studies have shown that the median survival is close to 3 years in most of them and 5-year survival is close to 30% [38–40]. In the largest retrospective multi-institutional study from French centers, in comparison to only systemic therapy, patients with PM are treated with CRS and HIPEC. Elias et al. reported a median overall survival of 30.1 months, 5-year overall survival of 27%, and a 5-year disease-free survival of 10% [41]. Patients who have complete cytoreduction (CC-0) experience a survival benefit with a 5-year survival of 30%. Data from randomized trials involving chemotherapy with or without targeted therapy include all metastatic

site; an analysis of patients with PM alone has shown an inferior survival compared to other disease sites [39, 42, 43]. It can be inferred that systemic therapy alone in patients with colorectal PM produces poorer results as compared to patients without (12.7 months vs 17.6 months) [43]. CRS and HIPEC for CRC is performed for limited peritoneal metastases (PCI < 20) and in patients with up to three synchronous easily resectable liver metastases [44]. It is essential to take up this procedure only when complete tumor removal is possible. Elias et al. showed a significant difference in 5-year survival of 29% vs 14% in patients with CC-0 (no macroscopic residual disease) and CC-1 (residual disease < 2.5 mm) resections, respectively [42]. Some patients experience a prolonged disease-free survival, and patients who are disease-free for 5 years after CRS and HIPEC are considered cured [13]. Whereas the role of CRS is established, that of HIPEC is being evaluated in a randomized trial, the results of which are expected at the end of 2017. Its role as a prophylactic procedure in those cases where there is high risk of dissemination in the peritoneum (T4 disease, perforated tumors, ovarian metastases) is being evaluated in clinical trials [45]. One clinical trial is evaluating a systematic second-look strategy for patients at high risk for peritoneal dissemination (NCT01226394). Patients with a PCI < 12, those who have complete tumor resection CC-0, and those who have a good response to systemic chemotherapy experience a prolonged survival [46–48]. The value of systemic chemotherapy in addition to CRS and HIPEC has been debated though most centers prefer to use chemotherapy in addition to CRS and HIPEC.

Though CRS and HIPEC are performed with the intent of cure, around 70–80% of the patients will develop recurrent disease and about half of these recurrences are confined to the peritoneal cavity [49, 50]. Over the years, evidence has accumulated showing the feasibility and survival benefit of a repeat CRS and HIPEC in selected patients [51, 52]. In the largest multi-institutional study from 11 institutions across the world comprising of 189 patients, the reported median survival was 26.4 months, disease-free survival 10.1 months, and 5-year overall survival 20% following a repeat CRS and HIPEC [53]. The median PCI was 6.9, and 81% of the patients had a complete cytoreduction. A PCI of <10 during the second procedure, a complete cytoreduction, and absence of grade 3–5 morbidity were associated with a favorable prognosis.

1.2.3 Ovarian Cancer

In 75% of the cases, ovarian cancer is diagnosed in either the third of fourth stage. In ovarian cancer, PM are classified as stage III as compared to other cancers where it is stage IV. Stage IV is the involvement of the pleura and pleural space and other distant organs. The standard treatment of advanced ovarian cancer comprises of CRS followed by systemic chemotherapy. Despite radical surgery and chemotherapy, there is a high probability of recurrence leading to a poor 5-year overall survival rate of only 30% [54]. Recurrent ovarian cancer itself has a poor long-term outcome. The conventional treatment is multiple lines of chemotherapy with or without targeted therapy.

There is level 1 evidence to support the use of SIPC in patients with advanced ovarian cancer undergoing "optimal debulking" [55, 56]. This led to a NCI alert advocating the use of adjuvant intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 2008 [57]. However, intraperitoneal chemotherapy is not widely used mainly due to the concerns of catheter-related morbidity which occurs in 1/3 of patients [56]. HIPEC has the advantages of being administered directly after surgery in the operation theater, thus having a more even distribution. Moreover, the use of heat potentiates the action of cisplatin and helps in overcoming platinum resistance [58, 59]. HIPEC is used at the time of first-line therapy or second-line therapy. The nomenclature depends on the timing of the intervention in relation to systemic chemotherapy and was described by Mulier et al. It is called upfront/ primary CRS and HIPEC when performed before chemotherapy and interval CRS and HIPEC when performed after it [60]. In patients who undergo a second-look surgery, it is consolidation CRS and HIPEC if the procedure is per-

formed. For patients who have recurrence after a complete primary CRS, the surgery performed is termed "salvage CRS and HIPEC," and for patients who had suboptimal first surgery, it is termed "secondary CRS and HIPEC" [60]. In frontline therapy, the addition of HIPEC to CRS has not shown any benefit over CRS alone. The evidence comes mainly from retrospective single and multi-institutional studies [61-65]. The results of randomized controlled trials that are evaluating its role in this setting are awaited pending which is not recommended outside the setting of clinical trial. A benefit of CRS and HIPEC has been shown for recurrent ovarian cancer in retrospective and case-control studies. In a multi-centric study of 474 patients from France, the median overall survival was 45.7 months. More importantly, in patients who have a complete cytoreduction, the survival in the platinum-sensitive and platinum-resistant groups was similar (47.2 and 51.6 months, respectively, p < 0.05 [65]. There are casecontrolled studies comparing CRS and HIPEC with CRS alone, but they are all retrospective in nature with small numbers [66–73]. The recurrent setting is different from the frontline setting as there is no standard treatment. Based on the above evidence, CRS and HIPEC can be used for patients with platinum-sensitive recurrence that is completely resectable. For platinum-resistant disease, if the patients had an incomplete CRS in the first sitting or have a good response to chemotherapy, secondary CRS can be performed with HIPEC. However, complete CRS should be possible in all these cases. It is best that such treatment is undertaken in the setting of a clinical trial or as a study approved by the institutional review board. On the other hand, there is substantial evidence for performing CRS in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrence, provided a complete cytoreduction can be obtained.

1.2.4 Gastric Cancer

PM occur synchronously in 14–43% and metachronously in 10–46% of the patients with gastric cancer [74, 75]. The peritoneum is the sole site of disease in 35% of the patients with synchronous metastases [76].

HIPEC has been used for prevention of gastric PM in patients at high risk, to treat patients with PM in combination with CRS, and as a palliative treatment for the management of intractable ascites [77]. HIPEC has been used as a prophylaxis treatment to prevent peritoneal dissemination in patients at high risk (serosal invasion or nodal metastasis). Several prospective and retrospective studies, randomized controlled trials, and a meta-analysis have shown that when performed with curative gastric cancer surgery, HIPEC is safe, significantly improves the survival, and reduces the risk of peritoneal recurrence [78–83]. There is level 1 evidence for the use of adjuvant HIPEC. However, the caveat is that this evidence comes from Japan where the outcomes of gastric cancer are superior to those reported from the rest of the world which has in part been attributed to the disease biology.

CRS and HIPEC has shown benefit in patients with PM from gastric cancer as well and is the only treatment modality that can produce a longterm survival in these patients. A multiinstitutional series of 159 patients treated with CRS and HIPEC reported 1-, 2-, and 5-year survival rates of 43, 18, and 13%, respectively [21, 84]. A randomized controlled trial from China comparing CRS and HIPEC with CRS alone reported a 3-year survival in the CRS with HIPEC arm was 5.9% compared to 0% in the CRS alone arm. CRS with HIPEC was associated with a significantly higher median survival compared to CRS alone (11 months vs 6.5 months, p = 0.04) [21]. CRS and HIPEC is currently recommended for gastric PM with limited peritoneal spread (PCI < 13) and patients who can have a complete cytoreduction. A small percentage of patients who are disease free at 10 years are considered cured. Neoadjuvant strategies like neoadjuvant intraperitoneal and systemic chemotherapy (NIPS) to reduce the disease burden and intraperitoneal free cancer cells have shown good results, and patients who are downstaged subsequently undergo CRS and HIPEC [85]. In 69% of the patients, a positive peritoneal cytology was converted to negative after NIPS as reported by

Yonemura et al. The role of PIPAC is being evaluated for advanced unresectable PM from gastric cancer.

The PIPAC EstoK 01 is a prospective, multicenter, randomized, open-label, controlled, parallel-group, phase II trial designed to evaluate the effect of PIPAC with oxaliplatin combined with systemic chemotherapy in patients with gastric PM with a PCI > 8. The primary end point of this trial is the progression-free survival at 24 months. The secondary end points are the 24-month OS, safety, tolerability, and quality of life. It will also evaluate the feasibility of three successive PIPAC procedure and secondary resectability rate in these patients.

1.2.5 Mesothelioma

As a rare clinical entity and linked to asbestos exposure, mesotheliomas can affect any of the serosal surfaces - pleura, pericardium, peritoneum, or tunica vaginalis. Systemic chemotherapy and radiation have failed in altering the disease course [86]. In a pooled study of 401 cases from eight institutions from across the globe, CRS and HIPEC has shown that in selected cases, durable control of ascites in >90% cases and survival (median survival of up to 60 months and a 5-year survival of 50% in selected patients) can be achieved [87]. Epithelial subtype, lymph node negative status, CC 0/CC1 completeness of cytoreduction scores, and use of HIPEC were found to be independent prognostic factors on multivariate analysis.

1.2.6 Rare Indications

There are some rare primary and secondary tumors involving the peritoneum that have been treated with CRS and HIPEC [88–92]. Some common cancers metastasize to the peritoneum like hepatobiliary, pancreatic, cervical, and breast cancers and are generally treated with systemic chemotherapy alone. However, in rare situation when there is limited disease confined to the peritoneal cavity alone, patients with PM from these primary sites have been treated with CRS and HIPEC. These form rare indications for CRS and HIPEC. CRS and HIPEC in these situations is used on the basis of logic rather than evidence with the hope of providing a survival benefit to these patients. The only other treatment for such patients would be systemic chemotherapy that is largely ineffective. In a recent multi-institutional study by the PSOGI and BIG-RENAPE groups, the results of CRS and HIPEC for rare indications and rare tumors in 850 patients were reported [93]. The three most common indications were rare ovarian primary tumors, neuroendocrine tumors, and sarcomas. The median OS was 39.45 months (33.18-44.05 months), and the 1-year, 3-year, and 5-year OS were, respectively, 77.8, 52.2, and 38.7%. A low PCI was associated with an improved OS, and ovarian and neuroendocrine had a longer survival compared to patients with sarcomas. This study showed a benefit of CRS and HIPEC in mucinous ovarian tumors comparable to that obtained in patients with PMP of appendiceal origin [93]. A significant benefit was also observed in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. For other histologies, there was a benefit of the combined strategy, but the roles of CRS and HIPEC, respectively, need further evaluation. Based on the above evidence, for mucinous ovarian tumor and neuroendocrine tumor, CRS and HIPEC can be offered to patients. The most significant prognostic factors are the PCI and the completeness of cytoreduction. For other histologies, CRS and HIPEC may be performed for limited disease, provided complete tumor removal is possible; the treatment needs to be individualized. Newer therapies like pressurized intraperitoneal chemotherapy (PIPAC) may be considered for extensive disease as an alternative in patients where the benefit is not clear and the risk of morbidity is high.

Conclusions

CRS and HIPEC is an aggressive treatment strategy that has the potential to cure certain patients with peritoneal metastases. There are disease-specific indications and contraindications based on existing evidence that should be followed to yield the best results. CRS and HIPEC has been evaluated as a combined modality, and given the high morbidity, the respective roles of CRS and HIPEC have been questioned. The existing evidence shows that surgical resection of PM leads to a survival benefit in selected patients and is a potentially curative treatment in these patients. The role of this combined modality is established in PMP and malignant mesothelioma. The added benefit of HIPEC in certain diseases like colorectal and ovarian cancer will be determined by the results of the ongoing randomized trials. Reiterative procedures also have a survival benefit in selected patients with recurrent disease. The role of HIPEC in prevention of peritoneal metastases is under evaluation. The results of clinical trials will further expand and modify the indications of CRS and HIPEC and integration with other therapies. The introduction of newer therapies like pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) that are also being evaluated in clinical trials could further modify the timing and indications for CRS and HIPEC.

References

- Thomassen I, van Gestel YR, Lemmens VE, de Hingh IH. Incidence, prognosis, and treatment options for patients with synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis and liver metastases from colorectal origin. Dis Colon Rectum. 2013;56(12):1373–80. https://doi. org/10.1097/DCR.0b013e3182a62d9d.
- Neuwirth MG, Alexander HR, Karakousis GC. Then and now: cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC), a historical perspective. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;7(1):18–28. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2015.106.
- Bartlett DL. HIPEC: the complexities of clinical trials. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(5):1277–9. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-007-9768-y.
- 4. Meigs JV. Tumors of the female pelvic organs. New York: Macmillan; 1934.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Ann Surg. 1995;221:29–42.
- Gilly FN, Beaujard A, Glehen O, et al. Peritonectomy combined with intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia in abdominal cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis: phase I-II study. Anticancer Res. 1999;19:2317–21.
- Glehen O, Cotte E, Kusamura S, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: nomenclature and modalities of perfusion. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:242–6.

- Elias D, Antoun S, Goharin A, et al. Research on the best chemohyperthermia technique of treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis after complete resection. Int J Surg Investig. 2000;1:431–9.
- Ceelen W, Flessner M. Intraperitoneal therapy for peritoneal tumors: biophysics and clinical evidence. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2009;2010(7):108–15. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2009.217.
- Brucher BL, Piso P, Verwaal V, Esquivel J, Derraco M, Yonemura Y, Gonzalez-Moreno S, Pelz J, Konigsrainer A, Strohlein M, Levine EA, Morris D, Bartlett D, Glehen O, Garofalo A, Nissan A. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC—overview and basics. Cancer Investig. 2012;30:209–24.
- Hildebrandt B, Wust P, Ahlers O, et al. The cellular and molecular basis of hyperthermia. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2002;43:33–56.
- Mohamed F, Cecil T, Moran B, Sugarbaker P. A new standard of care for the management of peritoneal surface malignancy. Curr Oncol. 2011;18(2):e84–96.
- Goéré D, Malka D, Tzanis D, et al. Is there a possibility of a cure in patients with colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis amenable to complete cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy? Ann Surg. 2013;257:1065–71. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.0b013e31827e9289.
- 14. Chia CS, You B, Decullier E, et al. Patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: is cure a possibility? Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:1971. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-015-5081-3.
- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:359–74.
- Smeenk RM, Verwaal VJ, Zoetmulder FA. Learning curve of combined modality treatment in peritoneal surface disease. Br J Surg. 2007;94:1408–14.
- 17. Chua TC, Yan TD, Saxena A, Morris DL. Should the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy still be regarded as a highly morbid procedure? A systematic review of morbidity and mortality. Ann Surg. 2009;249:900–7.
- Dreyer NA, Garner S. Registries for robust evidence. JAMA. 2009;302(7):790–1.
- Reymond M. The quest of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC): searching for evidence. Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(4):167–8.
- 20. Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, de Bree E, van Sloothen GW, van Tinteren H, Boot H, et al. Randomized trial of cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy and palliative surgery in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:3737–43.
- 21. Yang XJ, Huang CQ, Suo T, Mei LJ, Yang GL, Cheng FL, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy improves survival of patients with peritoneal metastasis from gastric cancer:

final results of a phase III randomized clinical trial. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:1575–81.

- 22. Rudloff U, Langan RC, Mullinax JE, Beane JD, Steinberg SM, Beresnev T, et al. Impact of maximal cytoreductive surgery plus regional heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) on outcome of patients with peritoneal metastasis of gastric origin: results of the GYMSSA trial. J Surg Oncol. 2014;110:275–84.
- Spiliotis J, Halkia E, Lianos E, Kalantzi N, Grivas A, Efstathiou E, Giassas S. Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC in recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer: a prospective randomized phase III study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:1570–5.
- PDQ® Adult Treatment Editorial Board. PDQ levels of evidence for adult and pediatric cancer treatment studies. Bethesda: National Cancer Institute. Updated <05/19/2017>. Available at: https://www.cancer.gov/ publications/pdq/levels-evidence/treatment. Accessed <07/01/2017>. [PMID: 26389191].
- 25. Ronnett BM, Zahn CM, Kurman RJ, Kass ME, Sugarbaker PH, Shmookler BM. Disseminated peritoneal adenomucinosis and peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis. A clinicopathologic analysis of 109 cases with emphasis on distinguishing pathologic features, site of origin, prognosis, and relationship to "pseudomyxoma peritonei". Am J Surg Pathol. 1995;19(12):1390.
- Moran B, Baratti D, Yan TD, Kusamura S, Deraco M. Consensus statement on the locoregional treatment of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms with peritoneal dissemination (pseudomyxoma peritonei). J Surg Oncol. 2008;98(4):277–82. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jso.21054.
- Yan TD, Black D, Savady R, Sugarbaker PH. A systematic review on the efficacy of cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(2):484– 92. Epub 200.
- Gough DB, Donohue JH, Schutt AJ, Gonchoroff N, Goellner JR, Wilson TO, Naessens JM, O'Brien PC, van Heerden JA. Pseudomyxoma peritonei. Longterm patient survival with an aggressive regional approach. Ann Surg. 1994;219:112–9.
- Nitecki SS, Wolff BG, Schlinkert R, et al. The natural history of surgically treated primary adeno- carcinoma of the appendix. Ann Surg. 1994;219:51–7.
- Sugarbaker PH, Chang D. Results of treatment of 385 patients with peritoneal surface spread of appendiceal malignancy. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:727–31.
- 31. Chua TC, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, Levine EA, Glehen O, Gilly FN, Baratti D, Deraco M, Elias D, Sardi A, Liauw W, Yan TD, Barrios P, Gómez Portilla A, de Hingh IH, Ceelen WP, Pelz JO, Piso P, González-Moreno S, Van Der Speeten K, Morris DL. Early- and long-term outcome data of patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from appendiceal origin treated by a strategy of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(20):2449–56.
- 32. Ansari N, Chandrakumaran K, Dayal S, Mohamed F, Cecil TD, Moran BJ. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 1000 patients

with perforated appendiceal epithelial tumours. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(7):1035–41. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.03.017.

- 33. Lord AC, Shihab O, Chandrakumaran K, Mohamed F, Cecil TD, Moran BJ. Recurrence and outcome after complete tumour removal and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 512 patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from perforated appendiceal mucinous tumours. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(3):396–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2014.08.476.
- 34. Yan TD, Bijelic L, Sugarbaker PH. Critical analysis of treatment failure after complete cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal dissemination from appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(8):2289–99.
- 35. Delhorme JB, Honoré C, Benhaim L, Dumont F, Dartigues P, Dromain C, Ducreux M, Elias D, Goéré D. Long-term survival after aggressive treatment of relapsed serosal or distant pseudomyxoma peritonei. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(1):159–67. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.08.021.
- 36. Golse N, Bakrin N, Passot G, Mohamed F, Vaudoyer D, Gilly FN, Glehen O, Cotte E. Iterative procedures combining cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal recurrence: postoperative and long-term results. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106(2):197–203. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23062.
- Mohamed F, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Third look surgery and beyond for appendiceal malignancy with peritoneal dissemination. J Surg Oncol. 2003;83:5–12.
- Verwaal VJ, Bruin S, Boot H, et al. 8-year follow-up of randomized trial: cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(9):2426–32.
- Esquivel J. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal cancer: survival outcomes and patient selection. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;7(1):72–8.
- Elias D, Lefevre JH, Chevalier J, et al. Complete cytoreductive surgery plus intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia with oxaliplatin for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:681–5. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.19.7160.
- Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:63–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2009.23.9285.
- 42. Franko J, Shi Q, Goldman CD, et al. Treatment of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis with systemic chemotherapy: a pooled analysis of north central cancer treatment group phase III trials N9741 and N9841. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:263–7.
- 43. Klaver YL, Simkens LH, Lemmens VE, et al. Outcomes of colorectal cancer patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with chemotherapy with and without targeted therapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2012;38:617–23.

- 44. Goéré D, Souadka A, Faron M, et al. Extent of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: attempt to define a threshold above which HIPEC does not offer survival benefit: a comparative study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:2958– 64. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-4387-5.
- 45. Sammartino P, Sibio S, Biacchi D, et al. Prevention of peritoneal metastases from colon cancer in high-risk patients: preliminary results of surgery plus prophylactic HIPEC. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:141585.
- 46. Ihemelandu C, Sugarbaker PH. Management for peritoneal metastasis of colonic origin: role of cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a single institution's experience during two decades. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24:898–905. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-016-5698-x.
- 47. Glehen O, Kwiatkowski F, Sugarbaker PH, Elias D, Levine EA, De Simone M, Barone R, Yonemura Y, Cavaliere F, Quenet F, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a multi-institutional study. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:3284–92.
- 48. Passot G, You B, Boschetti G, Fontaine J, Isaac S, Decullier E, Maurice C, Vaudoyer D, Gilly FN, Cotte E, Glehen O. Pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy: a new prognosis tool for the curative management of peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:2608–14.
- 49. Verwaal VJ, Boot H, Aleman BM, et al. Recurrences after peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin treated by cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: location, treatment, and outcome. Ann Surg Oncol. 2004;11:375–9.
- 50. Bijelic L, Yan TD, Sugarbaker PH. Failure analysis of recurrent disease following complete cytoreduction and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:2281–8.
- Saxena A, Yan TD, Morris DL. Critical assessment of preoperative and operative risk factors for complications after iterative peritonectomy procedures. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36:309–14.
- Cashin PH, Graf W, Nygren P, Mahteme H. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: prognosis and treatment of recurrences in a cohort study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2012;38(6):509–15.
- Alzharani N, Huang Y, Baratti D, Deraco M, et al. Repeat cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in colorectal cancer in 189 patients (PSOGI collaboration). J Peritoneum. 2016;1(1):1.
- Chan DL, Morris DL, Rao A, Chua TC. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy in ovarian cancer: a review of tolerance and efficacy. Cancer Manag Res. 2012;4:413–22.
- 55. Jaaback K, Johnson N, Lawrie TA. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the initial management of primary epithelial ovarian cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011;11:CD005340.
- Armstrong DK, Bundy B, Wenzel L, et al. Intraperitoneal cisplatin and paclitaxel in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(1):34–43.

- NCI Clinical Announcement on Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy in Ovarian Cancer (January 5, 2006) https:// ctep.cancer.gov/highlights/20060105_ovarian.htm.
- Hettinga JV, Konings AW, Kampinga HH. Reduction of cellular cisplatin resistance by hyperthermia—a review. Int J Hyperth. 1997;13:439–57.
- 59. van de Vaart PJ, van der Vange N, Zoetmulder FA, van Goethem AR, van Tellingen O, ten Bokkel Huinink WW, Beijnen JH, Bartelink H, Begg AC. Intraperitoneal cisplatin with regional hyperthermia in advanced ovarian cancer: pharmacokinetics and cisplatin-DNA adduct formation in patients and ovarian cancer cell lines. Eur J Cancer. 1998;34(1):148–54.
- 60. Mulier S, Claes JP, Dierieck V, Amiel JO, Pahaut JP, Marcelis L, Bastin F. Survival benefit of adding hyperthermic IntraPEritoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) at the different time- points of treatment of ovarian cancer: review of evidence. Curr Pharm Des. 2012;18:3793–803.
- Parson EN, Lentz S, Russell G, et al. Outcomes after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal surface dissemination from ovarian neoplasms. Am J Surg. 2011;202(4):481–6.
- 62. Gonzalez Bayon L, Steiner MA, Vasquez Jimenez W, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemo- therapy for the treatment of advanced epithelial ovarian carcinoma: upfront therapy, at first recurrence, or later? Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:1109–15.
- Helm CW, Richard SD, Pan J, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in ovarian cancer: first report of the HYPER- O registry. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2010;20(1):61–9.
- 64. Deraco M, Kusamura S, Virzì S, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy as upfront therapy for advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: multi-institutional phase-II trial. Gynecol Oncol. 2011;122(2):215–20.
- 65. Bakrin N, Bereder JM, Decullier E, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for advanced ovarian carcinoma: a French multicentre retrospective cohort study of566 patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:1435–43.
- Fagotti A. Secondary cytoreductive surgery in patients with isolated platinum-resistant recurrent ovarian cancer: a retrospective analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;134(2):257– 61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2014.05.029. Epub 2014 Jun 5.
- 67. Carrabin N, Mithieux F, Meeus P, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin and without adjuvant chemotherapy in stage IIIC ovarian cancer. Bull Cancer. 2010;97(4):E23–32.
- Königsrainer I, Beckert S, Becker S, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC in peritoneal recurrent ovarian cancer: experience and lessons learned. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2011;396(7):1077–81.
- 69. Coccolini F, Campanati L, Catena F, Ceni V, Ceresoli M, Jimenez Cruz J, Lotti M, Magnone S, Napoli J, Rossetti D, De Iaco P, Frigerio L, Pinna A, Runnebaum I, Ansaloni L. Hyperthermic intra- peritoneal chemotherapy with cisplatin and paclitaxel in advanced ovarian cancer: a multicenter prospective observational study.

J Gynecol Oncol. 2015;1:54–61. https://doi.org/10.3802/ jgo.2015.26.1.5467.

- Munoz-Casares FC, Rufian S, Rubio MJ, et al. The role of hyper-thermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis in recurrent ovarian cancer. Clin Transl Oncol. 2009;11:753–759 68.
- 71. Spiliotis J, Vaxevanidou A, Sergouniotis F, Lambropoulou E, Datsis A, Christopoulou A. The role of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the management of recurrent advanced ovarian cancer: a prospective study. J BUON. 2011;16:74–9.
- 72. Safra T, Grisaru D, Inbar M, Abu-Abeid S, Dayan D, Matceyevsky D, Weizman A, Klausner JM. Cytoreduction surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in recurrent ovarian cancer improves progression-free survival, especially in BRCA- positive patients- a case-control study. J Surg Oncol. 2014;110(6):661–5. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jso.23688.
- 73. Cascales-Campos PA, Gil J, Feliciangeli E, Gil E, González-Gil A, López V, Ruiz-Pardo J, Nieto A, Parrilla JJ. Parrilla the role of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy using paclitaxel in platinum-sensitive recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer patients with microscopic residual disease after cytoreduction. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(3):987–93. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-4049-z.
- 74. Thomassen I, van Gestel YR, van Ramshorst B, Luyer MD, Bosscha K, Nienhuijs SW, Lemmens VE, de Hingh IH. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of gastric origin: a population-based study on incidence, survival and risk factors. Int J Cancer. 2014;134:622–8.
- 75. Sakuramoto S, Sasako M, Yamaguchi T, Kinoshita T, Fujii M, Nashimoto A, Furukawa H, Nakajima T, Ohashi Y, Imamura H, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for gastric cancer with S-1, an oral fluoropyrimidine. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:1810–20.
- Abbasi SY, Taani HE, Saad A, Badheeb A, Addasi A. Advanced gastric cancer in jordan from 2004 to 2008: a study of epidemiology and outcomes. Gastrointest Cancer Res. 2011;4:122–7.
- Seshadri RA, Glehen O. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(3):1114–30. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i3.1114.
- Hamazoe R, Maeta M, Kaibara N. Intraperitoneal thermochemotherapy for prevention of peritoneal recurrence of gastric cancer. Final results of a randomized controlled study. Cancer. 1994;73:2048–52.
- Wei G, Fang GE, Bi JW, Shen XJ, Nie MM, Xue XC, Hua JD. Efficacy of intraoperative hypotonic peritoneal chemo-hyperthermia combined with early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy on gastric cancer. Ai Zheng. 2005;24:478–82.
- Fujimoto S, Takahashi M, Mutou T, Kobayashi K, Toyosawa T. Successful intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemoperfusion for the prevention of postoperative peritoneal recurrence in patients with advanced gastric carcinoma. Cancer. 1999;85:529–34.

- Hirose K, Katayama K, Iida A, Yamaguchi A, Nakagawara G, Umeda S, Kusaka Y. Efficacy of continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion for the prophylaxis and treatment of peritoneal metastasis of advanced gastric cancer: evaluation by multivariate regression analysis. Oncology. 1999;57:106–14.
- 82. Yonemura Y, de Aretxabala X, Fujimura T, Fushida S, Katayama K, Bandou E, Sugiyama K, Kawamura T, Kinoshita K, Endou Y, et al. Intraoperative chemohyperthermic peritoneal perfusion as an adjuvant to gastric cancer: final results of a randomized controlled study. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2001;48:1776–82.
- Kim JY, Bae HS. A controlled clinical study of serosainvasive gastric carcinoma patients who underwent surgery plus intraperitoneal hyperthermo-chemoperfusion (IHCP). Gastric Cancer. 2001;4:27–33.
- 84. Glehen O, Gilly FN, Arvieux C, Cotte E, Boutitie F, Mansvelt B, Bereder JM, Lorimier G, Quenet F, Elias D. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: a multiinstitutional study of 159 patients treated by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:2370–7.
- 85. Canbay E, Mizumoto A, Ichinose M, Ishibashi H, Sako S, Hirano M, Takao N, Yonemura Y. Outcome data of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric origin treated by a strategy of bidirectional chemotherapy prior to cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in a single specialized center in Japan. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1147–52.
- Markman M, Kelsen D. Efficacy of cisplatin-based intraperitoneal chemotherapy as treatment of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 1992;118:547–50.
- Yan TD, Deraco M, Baratti D, Sugarbaker PH, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperito-

neal chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: multi-institutional experience. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(36):6237–42.

- Bryan ML, Fitzgerald NC, Levine EA, Shen P, Stewart JH, Votanopoulos KI. Cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in sarcomatosis from gastrointestinal stromal tumor. Am Surg. 2014;80(9):890–5.
- Al-Badawi IA, Abu-Zaid A, Azzam A, AlOmar O, AlHusaini H, Amin T. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for management of recurrent/relapsed ovarian granulosa cell tumor: a single-center experience. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2014;40(9):2066–75.
- Hayes-Jordan A, Green HL, Lin H, Owusu-Agyemang P. Complete cytoreduction and HIPEC improves survival in desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(1):220–4.
- Salti G, Ailabouni L, Undevia S. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of peritoneal sarcomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(5):1410–5.
- 92. van Oudheusden TR, Lemmens VE, Braam HJ. Peritoneal metastases from small bowel cancer: results of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in The Netherlands. Surgery. 2015;157(6):1023–7.
- 93. Goéré D, Passot G, Gelli M, Levine EA, Bartlett DL, Sugarbaker PH, Glehen O, On behalf the PSOGI; BIG-RENAPE Working Groups. Complete cytoreductive surgery plus HIPEC for peritoneal metastases from unusual cancer sites of origin: results from a worldwide analysis issue of the peritoneal surface oncology group international (PSOGI). Int J Hyperth. 2017;8:1–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736.2017. 1301576.



2

Role of HIPEC in the Prevention of Peritoneal Metastasis from Colorectal, Gastric and Appendiceal Cancer

Ramakrishnan Ayloor Seshadri and Akash Meinte Mehta

2.1 Introduction

Colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer in men and second in women, while gastric cancer is the third leading cause of cancer death in both sexes worldwide and accounts for 8.8% of cancer deaths every year [1]. Both these malignancies metastasise by lymphatic, haematogenous and transcoelomic dissemination. Synchronous colorectal peritoneal metastases (CPM) occur in approximately 7% of patients, while a further 10–20% develop metachronous CPM [2, 3].

The most common cause of death in patients with gastric cancer is peritoneal metastasis (PM). At the time of diagnosis, nearly 15–40% of patients with gastric cancer will have peritoneal spread [4]. After curative surgery for gastric cancer, distant metastasis is seen in 25–50% of patients [5–7], with PM accounting for 35–45% of all recurrences [6]. While the survival after curative surgery in gastric cancer is marginally improved by adjuvant or perioperative therapies

R. A. Seshadri (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology, Cancer Institute (WIA), Chennai, India e-mail: ram_a_s@yahoo.com

A. M. Mehta

[5, 7–9], these strategies have not been successful in significantly lowering the rate of distant metastases, including PM [10, 11].

2.2 Current Standard of Care for Colorectal/Gastric Peritoneal Metastases

Traditionally, patients with CPM were considered incurable and underwent palliative chemotherapy. Although systemic therapy for metastatic colorectal cancer has greatly evolved over recent years, particularly with the development of biological agents, the survival benefit achieved with modern systemic therapy remains limited. A subgroup analysis of the Dutch CAIRO2 study showed that patients with CPM treated with modern systemic chemotherapy (capecitabine with oxaliplatin) combined with biological agents (bevacizumab and, in selected patients, cetuximab) had a limited median overall survival of 15 months and a median progression-free survival of just 6 months; moreover, these survival outcomes were significantly worse than those achieved in patients with non-peritoneal metastatic disease, as shown in Fig. 2.1 [12]. A pooled analysis of two US trials comparing various chemotherapy regimens for metastatic colorectal cancer showed that, in all chemotherapy arms, patients with peritoneal metastatic disease had a significantly worse survival outcome than those

Peritoneal Malignancy Institute, North Hampshire Hospital, Hampshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Basingstoke, UK

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_2



Fig. 2.1 Kaplan-Meier curves showing differences in survival between patients with non-peritoneal (blue) and peritoneal metastatic disease, treated with modern sys-

temic chemotherapy + biological agents (reproduced with permission from [12])

with non-peritoneal sites of disease, with a median overall survival of just 12.7 months [13].

Similarly, the prognosis of gastric cancerassociated PM (GPM) is worse than that of other metastatic sites, with a median survival of only 3–7 months and a 5-year survival of 0% [4, 14]. The median survival of patients with GPM with systemic chemotherapy ranges from 9 to 12 months, and even in the 40–56% of the patients who respond to drugs like S1 and paclitaxel, the median survival is only 18 months [14–17].

2.3 Role of Cytoreductive Surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy

Since the 1990s, a growing body of evidence has emerged indicating that a proportion of patients with PM from colorectal and gastric cancers can be offered long-term survival and some can be cured, using a combination of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) [18]. The mainstay of this multimodality treatment is complete macroscopic tumour removal (defined as a completeness of cytoreduction score CC0), which is achieved by a combination of various peritonectomy procedures and visceral resections. After CRS, the abdominal cavity is perfused with a hyperthermic solution containing a suitable chemotherapeutic agent; the most widely used for CPM are mitomycin C (MMC) and oxaliplatin.

The evidence base for CRS and HIPEC to treat patients with CPM is robust. A prospective randomised controlled trial, conducted at the Netherlands Cancer Institute, showed 5-year survival rates of 45% with a median survival of 48% in patients undergoing a complete cytoreduction and HIPEC, followed by systemic chemotherapy (Fig. 2.2) [19, 20]. A large retrospective French study demonstrated 5-year survival rates of 51% with a median survival of 62.7 months in patients undergoing complete CRS and HIPEC following neoadjuvant systemic chemotherapy [21]. It is estimated that around 16% of patients with CPM can be cured by CRS and HIPEC [22].

Fig. 2.2 Kaplan-Meier curves showing survival outcomes after CRS and HIPEC in the only prospective, randomised controlled trial for treatment of CPM (R-1 denotes CC0 cytoreduction) (reproduced with permission from [19])



A number of studies have reported the results of CRS and HIPEC in patients with GPM since 1988 [23]. A systematic review of 17 studies of CRS and HIPEC in GPM reported a median survival of 11–43 months and a 5-year survival of 13–23% in patients who underwent a complete cytoreduction [24]. Chia et al., in an analysis of 81 GPM patients from five French institutions who underwent CRS and HIPEC, observed a cure rate (defined as a 5-year disease-free survival) of 11% [25].

However, in spite of such excellent results, a large subset of patients with CPM or GPM will not benefit from CRS and HIPEC due to the extent and/or distribution of their peritoneal disease. The outcome of CRS and HIPEC depends on various factors, the most important of which are initial disease extent and completeness of cytoreduction [26–28]. A complete cytoreduction (CC0) and HIPEC in patients with CPM is associated with 5-year survival rates of 40-60% in a highly selected patient population [19, 21, 29]. Unfortunately, a complete cytoreduction is not achievable in a significant proportion (estimated at approximately 20%) of patients undergoing surgery for established CPM, due to either disease volume or distribution [30]. For patients in whom a complete cytoreduction is possible, the extent of peritoneal disease (quantified by the peritoneal cancer index or PCI) is an independent predictor for long-term survival [21, 27, 31, 32]. A retrospective study of 523 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC for CPM showed that 5-year overall survival rates differed significantly according to PCI: 44% for PCI 1–6, 22% for PCI 7–12, 29% for PCI 13–19 and 7% for PCI > 19 [28]. Moreover, postoperative morbidity and mortality were significantly associated with PCI [28].

The results of CRS and HIPEC in GPM are significantly inferior to those obtained for tumours from other primary sites, in particular CPM. Recurrence following CRS and HIPEC is seen in nearly half of the patients [33, 34], and 10-79% patients die due to peritoneal recurrence [33, 35]. One of the most important prognostic factors following CRS and HIPEC in GPM is the completeness of cytoreduction [24, 33, 36], which in turn depends on the PCI, another important prognostic factor [34, 37, 38]. A metaanalysis reported a risk ratio of 6.38 for survival benefit in patients who underwent a CC0 cytoreduction when compared to those who underwent a CC1 cytoreduction. The 5-year survival was also significantly different for patients who had a PCI score above or below 12 [39]. However, a complete cytoreduction is possible only in 10-56% of patients even in the most experienced hands [24, 40]. Further, the procedure may be associated with a high morbidity (12-47%) and mortality (0-7%) [36, 37, 40].

Although a CT scan is often used to stage the extent of PM preoperatively, its sensitivity in identifying peritoneal nodules smaller than 0.5 cm and detecting small bowel involvement is low, and there is a considerable discordance between CT scan-estimated PCI and intraoperative PCI [41, 42]. Hence, during posttreatment surveillance for colorectal or gastric cancers, it is difficult to identify patients with PM who have a low PCI score. For patients with extensive, unresectable peritoneal involvement, no curative treatment options exist; as has been discussed, systemic chemotherapy, even combined with biological agents, is palliative at best with only very limited survival benefit. Therefore, strategies aimed at preventing the development of CPM or early identification and treatment of low-PCI peritoneal disease will yield higher cure rates with lower postoperative morbidity and mortality rates and are preferable to strategies aimed solely at treatment of already established PM.

2.4 Pathogenesis of Peritoneal Metastasis

In order to understand the rationale of strategies to prevent PM, it is important to know its pathogenesis. Various hypotheses exist regarding the pathogenesis of peritoneal metastases, some suggesting direct transcoelomic spread, while others support subperitoneal lymphatic dissemination pathways. The predisposing factor for GPM is intraperitoneal free cancer cells (IPFC) which result from the exfoliation of tumour cells from advanced tumours that have invaded the serosa or during surgical handling of the tumour at the time of curative resection [43]. IPFC may be seen in around 25-40% patients with stage I and stage II/III gastric cancer, respectively [44]. Advanced tumours that involve the serosal surface tend to shed cells in the peritoneal cavity. During surgery, blood and lymph containing tumour cells leak in the peritoneal cavity, and contamination also occurs from the margins of resection if they are close [43, 45]. Once the cancer cells gain access to the peritoneal cavity, they spread to various areas aided by gravity, intestinal peristalsis and negative pressure due to diaphragmatic contractions.

According to the "tumour cell entrapment hypothesis", the IPFC adhere to the raw area created during the surgery in a short time. Fibrin entrapment that occurs as a part of the wound healing process promotes trapping of cancer cells in a hypoxic environment, and these trapped cells cannot be destroyed by systemic chemotherapy [43]. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC) is therefore intended to clear these IPFC which persist after a curative resection.

When cytotoxic agents are administered in the perioperative period intraperitoneally, these free cells are destroyed before they get incorporated into the scar tissue. A delay in the administration of intraperitoneal chemotherapy leads to formation of scars and also adhesions which limit the effectiveness of intraperitoneal chemotherapy [46].

Regardless of the specific pathway, peritoneal dissemination of free-floating peritoneal tumour cells may occur via the redistribution phenomenon and will follow predictable patterns of disease spread, as in pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) [47]. However, there are some crucial differences when compared to PMP. Firstly, due to the invasive nature of tumour deposits, small bowel serosal or mesenteric involvement is more common, which has clear implications for treatment and prognosis. Additionally, as a significant proportion of PM are metachronous and occur in patients who have already undergone surgical resection, tumour deposits often develop along previously opened surgical planes.

2.5 The Role of HIPEC in Prevention of Peritoneal Recurrence in Colorectal Cancers

The development and appropriate implementation of prevention and early treatment strategies are highly dependent on the identification of those patients with colorectal cancer who are at high risk of developing peritoneal metastases. This is comparable to current strategies aimed at preventing the formation of distant, haematogenous metastatic disease, by adjuvant administration of systemic therapy to patients who, based on clinical, surgical and/or pathological characteristics, are at high risk of systemic dissemination.

The overall risk of development of metachronous CPM after curative treatment of colorectal cancer has been estimated at 10–20%. However, this risk is substantially higher in selected subsets of patients, based on various clinicopathological parameters, as listed in Table 2.1.

As shown, the risk factors most strongly associated with development of metachronous CPM are:

- Limited, synchronous peritoneal metastases completely resected at primary tumour surgery: synchronous CPM are encountered in 4.3– 7.8% of colorectal cancer resections. Peritoneal recurrence occurs in 54–75% of these patients and is mostly limited in extent (mean PCI at 1 year 8–10) [48–50].
- Isolated synchronous ovarian metastases: macroscopic ovarian metastases, without associated peritoneal disease, are encountered in 0.8–7.4% of colorectal cancer patients; the incidence of subsequent metachronous CPM ranges between 62 and 71% [49, 50].
- Primary tumour perforation: the incidence of true tumour perforations is unknown, as most studies include diastatic perforation proximal to an obstructing tumour in their analysis. Estimates range between 1.6 and 5.4% of all

colorectal cancers. Approximately 27% of patients with a perforation at or proximal to the primary tumour will develop CPM [48].

- pT4 primary tumour: one prospective study has shown that 15.6% of patients with a pT4 tumour will develop CPM 1 year after primary tumour surgery [51].
- Mucinous primary tumour: approximately 3–15% of all patients have a mucinous colorectal primary tumour. A relatively high proportion of these patients have synchronous CPM at the time of primary surgery, bearing similarities to mucinous appendiceal neoplasms; the incidence of metachronous CPM in patients without synchronous peritoneal disease is estimated at 22% [55].

Although CRS and HIPEC is currently firmly established as a modality for treatment of CPM, the first data regarding the benefit of intraperitoneal chemotherapy in colorectal cancer actually did not involve treatment of established peritoneal disease but reducing the risk of developing peritoneal disease. Three early phase III trials focused on adjuvant intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with advanced, "high-risk" primary colorectal tumours [56–58]. A metaanalysis of these three early studies showed that the 286 patients who received adjuvant intraperitoneal chemotherapy, compared to 283 patients who had had standard treatment, had significantly improved 5-year overall survival rates (62% vs 41%; *P* < 0.001) and had significantly lower rates of development of metachronous CPM (5% vs 11%; P = 0.025) [59].

Risk category	Risk factor	CPM risk	Reference
Very high	Resected synchronous peritoneal metastases	27-71% at 1 year	[48–50]
	Ovarian metastases		
	Perforated primary tumour		
High	pT4 primary tumour	16-22% at 1 year	[49, 51]
	Mucinous histology		
Standard	Emergency presentation (bleeding/obstruction)	3.4-6.3%	[52, 53]
	Lymph node involvement		
	Laparoscopic resection		
Low	Rectal cancer	<3%	[54]

Table 2.1 Risk factors for development of metachronous CPM

By 2000, a robust evidence base had been established supporting the role of intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the adjuvant treatment of colorectal cancers at high risk of peritoneal dissemination. Nevertheless, partly due to the Dutch randomised trial on CRS and HIPEC in treatment of CPM, focus shifted away from adjuvant and prophylactic strategies [19, 20]. It would be approximately a decade before a series of nonrandomised, prospective studies were published regarding the value of adjuvant intraperitoneal chemotherapy in high-risk patients [60–62]. These studies showed that, in selected patients, intraperitoneal chemotherapy was associated with increased long-term survival and/or lower peritoneal recurrence rates, as compared to patients who did not receive intraperitoneal chemotherapy [63]. Table 2.2 provides an overview of the results of the various prospective, comparative studies investigating adjuvant intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with colorectal cancer.

Though differing in their patient selection and their intraperitoneal treatment strategies, all these trials showed that it was possible to select patients at high risk of developing peritoneal recurrence and that early intraperitoneal intervention could mitigate this risk and, ultimately, increase survival. Based on these principles, various approaches have been developed to either prevent CPM development or treat CPM at the earliest possible stage.

Three distinct approaches are currently employed: a proactive approach, where patients considered to be at high risk of microscopic peritoneal dissemination undergo CRS (including resection of the primary tumour combined with resection of organs at high risk of involvement, e.g. omentectomy, BSO) and HIPEC; an adjuvant approach, where selected patients undergo HIPEC in the immediate or delayed postoperative period after primary resection; and a second-look approach, where selected patients undergo a systematic second-look operation approximately 1 year after primary resection, with cytoreduction of any observed peritoneal disease and HIPEC.

Proactive CRS and HIPEC are currently being investigated in the Italian Promenade trial.

Patients with high-risk T3/T4N0 colonic cancer (defined as \geq 5 mm invasion beyond the muscularis propria on preoperative imaging) are randomised to either standard surgical resection or proactive cytoreduction (resection of the primary tumour combined with omentectomy, appendicectomy and BSO) with oxaliplatin-based HIPEC, followed in both arms by systemic chemotherapy for patients with poor prognostic factors (Fig. 2.3). The primary endpoint for this trial is the rate of intraperitoneal recurrence at 36 months [62, 64].

A similar trial, the Spanish HIPECT4 study, is randomising patients with T4a/b colorectal cancers to either standard surgical resection or proactive CRS and mitomycin C-based HIPEC (Fig. 2.4). Primary endpoint will be locoregional control rate.

Adjuvant HIPEC is currently being investigated in the Dutch COLOPEC trial, which randomises patients undergoing curative surgery for T4 or perforated colon cancer without systemic metastases to either adjuvant systemic chemotherapy or adjuvant HIPEC (either laparoscopically or open) at the time of or within 10 days after primary resection or 5–8 weeks later, followed by adjuvant systemic chemotherapy (Fig. 2.5). Primary endpoint for this study is peritoneal recurrence-free survival at 18 months after resection, determined by CT and, if negative, by diagnostic laparoscopy [52].

The second-look strategy was investigated in a seminal cohort study by Elias et al. [48], in which 41 patients without any sign of recurrence on imaging studies underwent second-look surgery 1 year after resection of their primary tumour; these patients were selected based on three tumour-associated criteria: resected minimal synchronous macroscopic CPM, synchronous ovarian metastases and perforation. All 41 patients received oxaliplatin-based HIPEC of whom 23 patients (56%) were found to have peritoneal metastases at second-look laparotomy and underwent a complete cytoreduction. The 5-year overall and disease-free survival rates following second-look surgery were 90 and 44%, respectively. Based on this study, the French ProphyloChip trial was designed and initiated. In this study, all patients with colorectal cancer and at

		•				1	
Authors (year)	Keterence	Inclusion criteria	Adjuvant treatment arms	и	5-year overall survival (%)	CPM risk (%)	P-value for CPM risk
Sugarbaker et al.	[56]	T4	EPIC 5FU	36	43	20	0.003
(1985)		N+					
		Obstruction					
		Perforation	iv SFU	30	46	91	
		Age < 30 years					
Scheithauer et al.	[57]	T3/4	EPIC + iv 5FU/LV	117	85	8	0.005
(1998)		+N	iv 5FU + levamisole	119	66	21	
Vaillant et al.	[58]	T3/4	EPIC + iv 5FU	133	74	8	Not reported
(2000)		N+	No adjuvant treatment	134	69	10	
Noura et al. (2011)	[09]	Positive peritoneal	IPEC MMC + iv 5FU/Ox	31	54	12	0.0003
		cytology	iv $5FU + Ox$	22	10	60	
Tentes et al. (2011)	[61]	T3/4	HIPEC MMC or $Ox + iv 5FU/LV$	40	100 ^a	Not reported	Not reported
			EPIC 5FU + iv 5FU/LV	67	69ª		
Sammartino et al.	[62]	T3/4	HIPEC $Ox + iv 5FU/LV$	25	Not reported	4	<0.03
(2014)		Perforation					
		Signet ring cell	iv $5FU + Ox$	50		28	
		Mucinous					
-	1			1 Dan		1.	

Table 2.2 Phase III trials investigating adjuvant intraperitoneal chemotherapy in high-risk colorectal cancer

ip intraperitoneal, *iv* intravenous, *EPIC* early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy, (*H*)*IPEC* (hyperthermic) intraperitoneal chemotherapy, 5FU 5-fluorouracil, *LV* leucovorin, *MMC* mitomycin C, *Ox* oxaliplatin "3-year overall survival



Fig. 2.3 The Italian Promenade trial investigating proactive CRS and HIPEC in high-risk patients



Fig. 2.4 The Spanish HIPECT4 trial investigating proactive CRS and HIPEC in high-risk patients



Fig. 2.5 The Dutch COLOPEC trial investigating adjuvant HIPEC in high-risk patients (reproduced with permission from [52])



Fig. 2.6 The French ProphyloChip trial, investigating systematic second-look + HIPEC

high risk of developing CPM (minimal CPM resected simultaneously with the primary tumour, ovarian metastases, perforation of the primary tumour, iatrogenic rupture of the primary tumour during surgery) will receive standard adjuvant chemotherapy; those patients without any signs of recurrence will then be randomised to either surveillance or a second-look laparotomy and HIPEC (Fig. 2.6). The primary endpoint for this trial will be a 3-year disease-free survival.

Despite the enormous progress which has been achieved using CRS and HIPEC for treatment of patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases, a significant proportion of patients with CPM will either not have a complete cytoreduction or a very limited survival benefit due to the disease being too extensive at the time of diagnosis. Therefore, strategies aimed at prevention and/or early treatment of CPM are hoped to increase survival and offer cure in a larger proportion of patients. Considerable progress has been made in identifying and classifying risk factors associated with development of metachronous CPM. Based on these factors, and building on evidence dating from the "early days" of intraperitoneal chemotherapy, several trials are currently underway investigating the role of CRS and HIPEC in either an adjuvant or second-look setting. Based on the outcomes of these trials, CRS and HIPEC are expected to evolve from a purely curative modality to a measure to prevent the development of CPM in high-risk patients.

2.6 The Role of HIPEC in Prevention of Peritoneal Recurrence in Gastric Cancer

Gastric cancer is more aggressive as compared to colorectal cancer; PM once established have a poorer prognosis and survival outcome with CRS and HIPEC, and only those with very limited PM (PCI < 6) benefit from a curative approach. Given this scenario, prevention of PM appears to be better strategy in patients who are at high risk for developing PM. The factors predisposing to the development of GPM include advanced T stage (especially serosal involvement), advanced nodal stage, tumour size, young age, female gender, signet ring cell and diffusemixed histology [4, 6, 65]. HIPEC has several theoretic benefits in this situation-the large volume of fluid used for HIPEC washes out the IPFC, and in addition, the synergistic effect of heat and chemotherapy destroys the tumour cells. The rationale of HIPEC is further strengthened by the poor 5-year survival of 2% in patients with positive peritoneal cytology without macroscopic PM (Cy+/P0), this survival being similar to that of patients with overt PM [66–68]. Nearly 80% of Cy+/P0 patients recur in the peritoneum after a curative gastrectomy compared to 45% of patients with a negative cytology (Cy - P0) [34].

Koga et al. in 1988 first reported a survival benefit of adding HIPEC to curative gastric cancer surgery (3-year survival of 74% with HIPEC and 53% without HIPEC, p < 0.04). The incidence of peritoneal recurrences was also reduced [69]. Since then, a number of randomised controlled evaluating the role of adjuvant HIPEC were conducted in China and Japan (Table 2.3) [69–76]. In spite of heterogeneity in these trials with respect to the drugs used, their dosage, duration of HIPEC, etc., these trials provide level I evidence of the efficacy of adjuvant HIPEC in reducing peritoneal recurrence and improving survival. A low rate of complications after prophylactic HIPEC in these studies is noteworthy. Most of these trials included patients with a high risk of developing PM-the presence of serosal invasion and/or lymph nodal metastasis with no macroscopic peritoneal disease. Patients with a positive peritoneal cytology were not included in these trials, and there is one study only that reported a 5-year survival of 42% in 15 patients with Cy+/P0 disease after gastrectomy plus HIPEC [77].

A recent development is the combined use of neoadjuvant intraperitoneal and systemic chemotherapy (NIPS). In this bidirectional strategy, oral S-1 is administered for 21 days at a dose of 60 mg/m^2 followed by docetaxel (30 mg/m^2) and cisplatin (CDDP) (30 mg/m²) as an intraperitoneal infusion on days 1-3 every 4 weeks followed by a 1-week rest period. This sequence is repeated twice. Although NIPS is currently used for patients with established PM, it has also shown to be effective in eradicating the IPFCs. In a recent report, Yonemura et al. observed that in patients with GPM, 69% of the patients who initially had a positive peritoneal cytology had a negative cytology after NIPS [78]. This method therefore holds promise in preventing peritoneal recurrence in patents with gastric cancer.

Other variants of intraperitoneal chemotherapy have been shown to improve survival when used in the adjuvant treatment of gastric cancer, like normothermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (NIIC) [79] and early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC) [80]. However, two studies comparing NIIC with HIPEC showed a significant advantage of HIPEC over NIIC in terms of survival and reducing the peritoneal recurrence, especially in patients with serosal invasion and nodal metastasis [71, 75].

In a meta-analysis of ten RCTs of prophylactic HIPEC in gastric cancer, HIPEC showed benefit in overall survival, and this was irrespective of the use of drug used for HIPEC and the use of systemic chemotherapy [81]. The prophylactic use of HIPEC results in a nearly 50% reduction in the peritoneal recurrence rates. Another pooled analysis of 16 RCTs reported a significant reduction in the peritoneal recurrence at 3 and 5 years and an improvement in the 3- and 5-year survival in patients who received HIPEC compared to those who did not [82]. Both of them did not show any significant increase in the rate of postoperative morbidity.

However, the data on prophylactic HIPEC in gastric cancers from the Western world is scarce. An ongoing European multicentre study, the GASTRICHIP study, is evaluating the role of HIPEC with oxaliplatin in patients with gastric cancer treated by a curative gastrectomy with risk factors for developing PM (serosal infiltration and/ or lymph nodal involvement and/or positive peritoneal cytology) [83]. The primary aim of the study is the 5-year overall survival. Another trial is being conducted by the European Network of Excellence (EUNE) in which patients with highrisk gastric cancer will receive 3 cycles of neoadjuvant systemic chemotherapy followed by a D2 gastrectomy and then randomised to receive HIPEC or no HIPEC [84]. The Dutch PERISCOPE study is examining the safety and feasibility of gastrectomy combined with CRS and HIPEC after neoadjuvant systemic chemotherapy as primary treatment option for advanced gastric cancer with tumour positive peritoneal cytology and/or limited peritoneal carcinomatosis.

There are still some unresolved issues in the use of HIPEC as an adjuvant treatment in gastric cancer—the choice of drug, the dosage, the duration of treatment, the addition of EPIC, etc. for which there is no consensus yet. The role of prophylactic HIPEC in patients with Cy+/P0 is not yet established. Since this is an important risk factor for peritoneal recurrence, a preoperative laparoscopy with wash for cytology needs to be done if such patients are to be considered for prophylactic treatment. This may entail additional costs.

The surgeon may occasionally be faced with a situation when peritoneal metastases are detected incidentally during laparoscopy or laparotomy for a gastric or colorectal cancer. In this situation, non-definitive procedures should be avoided except in an emergency setting like a perforated or obstructed tumour, since it can have negative implications for a subsequent CRS and HIPEC. A palliative resection can result in the implantation of tumour cells in the raw surfaces along the planes of dissection [85]. The tumour cells which get entrapped in this avascular scar tissue cannot be effectively treated with chemotherapy. Retroperitoneal implantation of tumour cells can involve tubular structures like the ureters leading

	•	•)		•				
		Inclusion		Curative	Drugs used		Post-op		Peritoneal
Author	Type of study	criteria	Treatment arms (no. of pts)	surgery	for IPC	Complications	mortality	Survival	recurrence
Koga et al. [69]	Randomised controlled	Serosal invasion	Surgery + HIPEC (26) vs surgery alone (21)	100% vs 100%	Mitomycin C	Leak 3.1% vs 7.1%	NA	30-month survival: 83% vs 67% (NS)	NA
Hamazoe et al. [70]	Randomised controlled	Serosal invasion	Surgery + HIPEC (42) vs surgery alone (40)	95% vs 88%	Mitomycin C	Leak 4.8% vs 7.5%	0% vs 0%	5-year survival: 64% vs 52% (<i>p</i> = 0.24)	39% vs 59% $(p = 0.084)^a$
								Median survival: 77 vs 66 months	
Fujimura	Randomised	Serosal	Surgery + HIPEC (22) vs	NA	Mitomycin C	30% vs 0% ^b	NA	3-year survival:	9% vs 22%
et al. [71]	controlled	invasion	surgery + CNPP (18) vs surgery alone (18)		Cisplatin			68% vs 51% vs 23% (<i>p</i> < 0.01)	vs 22% ^a
Ikeguchi et al. [72]	Randomised controlled	Serosal invasion	Surgery + HIPEC (78) vs surgery alone (96)	100% vs 100%	Mitomycin C	1.2% vs 2.08%	NA	5-year survival: 51% vs 46%	35% vs 40% ^a
Fujimoto et al. [73]	Randomised controlled	Serosal invasion ^c	Surgery + HIPEC (71) vs surgery alone (70)	94.3% vs 92.8%	Mitomycin C	2.8% vs 2.8%	0% vs 0%	4-year survival: 76% vs 58%	1.4% vs 23% (p = 0.00008)
								8-year survival: 62% vs 49% (<i>p</i> = 0.03)	
Hirose et al. [74]	Prospective case control	Serosal invasion	Surgery + HIPEC (15) vs surgery alone (40)	NA	Mitomycin C Cisulatin	60% vs 42.5%	0% vs 12.5%	5-year survival: 39% vs 17%	26% vs 45%
					Etoposide			Median survival: 33 vs 22 months (p = 0.01)	
Yonemura	Randomised	Serosal	Surgery + HIPEC (48) vs	100% vs	Mitomycin C	19% vs 14%	4% vs 0%	5-year survival:	13% vs 15%
et al. [75]	controlled	invasion	surgery + CNPP (44) vs surgery alone (47)	100% vs 100%	Cisplatin	vs 19%	vs 4%	61% vs 43% vs 42%	(HIPEC vs surgery)
Kim et al. [76]	Prospective controlled	Serosal invasion	Surgery + HIPEC (52) vs surgery alone (51)	NA	Mitomycin C	36.5% vs 33.3%	NA	5-year survival: 33% vs 27% ^d (NS)	7.6% vs 25% (isolated PM)
	study							5-year survival: 59% vs 44% ^d (in stage IIIB)	
MA not and	hle Mr and diami	Goost DM -	autonool motoctoolo						

Table 2.3 HIPEC for prevention of peritoneal metastasis in gastric cancer: summary of comparative studies

NA not available, NS not significant, PM peritoneal metastasis ^aDeath due to PM

^bPerfusion vs surgery 40 pts. vs 18 ^cIntraperitoneal free cancer cells identified in 18% and 11% patients in the surgery + HIPEC and surgery alone arms, respectively ^dAll patients

ePatients with serosal invasion

to obstruction. Hence, when peritoneal metastasis is encountered during laparotomy or laparoscopy, further surgical intervention should cease, and the patients should be referred to a centre experienced in treating peritoneal metastases [85].

2.7 The Role of HIPEC in Prevention of Peritoneal Dissemination from Mucinous Appendiceal Tumours

Most epithelial tumours of the appendix are mucinous in nature and begin as a mucocele of the appendix [86]. It has been estimated that over 90% of PMP originate from rupture of a mucinous appendiceal tumour [87, 88]. Due to the mostly superficial, non-infiltrative nature of mucinous disease in PMP, a complete cytoreduction is often achieved even in patients with extensive small bowel involvement or with large volumes of disease; high PCI in PMP therefore may not have the same prognostic implications as in colorectal and gastric malignancies [89]. However, more extensive resections may be required in patients with high PCI, which is a risk factor for increased postoperative morbidity and mortality [90]. A majority of patients with appendiceal tumours present with acute appendicitis or as an incidental finding during exploration performed for other indications [91, 92]. This provides an opportunity to intervene in patients with risk of peritoneal dissemination and prevent the subsequent development of PMP.

Not all mucinous appendiceal tumours go on to develop peritoneal dissemination. Misdraji et al. found in a retrospective analysis of 49 patients with low-grade mucinous neoplasms that tumours confined to the appendix behaved in a benign manner with no recurrence after 6 years of follow-up, while the low-grade tumours that had breached the wall of the appendix had a 5-year survival of 45% [93]. Macdonald et al. identified two subtypes of low-grade mucinous appendiceal tumours (LAMN)—LAMN I (disease confined to the appendiceal lumen) and LAMN II (mucin or neoplastic epithelium or both in the appendiceal submucosa, wall or periappendiceal tissue or both, with or without perforation). Patients with LAMN II lesions were found to have an increased risk of developing peritoneal dissemination [94]. The reported incidence of peritoneal spread in patients with appendiceal neoplasms on surveillance after the initial surgery ranges from 23 to 52% of [95, 96]. In a French series of 25 patients with perforated mucinous tumours, 52% developed PMP at a median follow-up of 60 months [95].

When an appendiceal mucocele is found during laparoscopic or open surgery, every effort should be made to remove it intact, since rupture can lead to peritoneal dissemination [86, 92, 97]. Plastic bags for tumour removal during laparoscopy can avoid contamination [98]. Surgeons need to have a low threshold for converting to open surgery when they are not confident of removing the tumour laparoscopically without causing rupture [97, 98]. When conversion to an open procedure is done, a midline laparotomy rather than a McBurney's incision is preferred [95]. Careful examination of the peritoneum around the appendix should be carried out [86]. The ovaries must be examined for presence of cystic tumours, and any fluid or mucus near the appendix must be aspirated and subjected to cytologic examination [86]. In case of a perforated mucocele without evidence of peritoneal dissemination, the following strategy has been proposed—if the tumour is benign, the patient should be placed on an active surveillance schedule with tumour marker evaluation and a CT scan every 6-12 months for 5-10 years [86, 92]. In one study, only 64% of patients who had a prior removal of a mucinous appendiceal tumour and subsequently developed PMP could undergo a complete cytoreductive surgery [95]. In contrast, another small study showed that patients with incidental LAMN who were followed up with CT scans and laparoscopy and subsequently developed peritoneal metastasis had a low median PCI of 7, and the rate of R0/ R1 resections in these patients was 100% [96]. Hence, all efforts should be made to detect disease progression at the earliest. If the perforated specimen shows a mucinous adenocarcinoma of the appendix, a second-look open surgery

is recommended 6 months after the appendicectomy with a thorough exploration of all the peritoneal surfaces [86]. If no peritoneal spread is found, a prophylactic surgery comprising of greater and lesser omentectomy, sampling of the appendiceal nodes (and a right hemicolectomy if they are positive), bilateral oophorectomy with HIPEC should be performed. The rationale for such treatment is that for adenocarcinomas of the appendix, the long-term outcome depends on the extent of the disease, and early disease could be missed by CT scans and tumour marker surveillance (CEA and CA-19-9) [99]. A recent overview of patients referred with an incidental finding of a high-grade appendix tumour and/or appendiceal adenocarcinoma without any surgical or radiological signs of dissemination found that, upon second-look laparotomy, 56.5% of patients had peritoneal metastases versus 15% nodal involvement; 37% had peritoneal disease beyond the confines of a standard right hemicolectomy (Mehta AM, personal communication).

In conclusion, there is an emerging role for HIPEC in the prevention of peritoneal metastasis from colorectal, gastric and appendicular cancers. Identification of the patients at high risk of developing peritoneal metastasis, standardisation of the drugs and their dosage and positive results from ongoing trials will strengthen the case to adopt it as a standard of care.

References

- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Ervik M, et al. GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: IARC cancer base no. 11 [Internet]. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2013. Accessed on 01.03.2015. Available from: URL: http://globocan.iarc.fr.
- Lemmens VE, Klaver YL, Verwaal VJ, et al. Predictors and survival of synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: a population-based study. Int J Cancer. 2011;128:2717–25.
- van Gestel YR, Thomassen I, Lemmens VE, et al. Metachronous peritoneal carcinomatosis after curative treatment of colorectal cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40:963–9.
- Thomassen I, van Gestel YR, van Ramshorst B, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of gastric origin: a populationbased study on incidence, survival and risk factors. Int J Cancer. 2014;134:622–8.

- Sakuramoto S, Sasako M, Yamaguchi T, For the ACTS-GC group, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for gastric cancer with S-1, an oral fluoropyrimidine. N Engl J Med. 2007;357:1810–20.
- Roviello F, Marrelli D, de Manzoni G, on behalf of the Italian Research Group for Gastric Cancer, et al. Prospective study of peritoneal recurrence after curative surgery for gastric cancer. Br J Surg. 2003;90:1113–9.
- Cunningham D, Allum WH, Stenning SP, MAGIC Trial Participants, et al. Perioperative chemotherapy versus surgery alone for resectable gastroesophageal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:11–20.
- Bang YJ, Kim YW, Yang HK, CLASSIC Trial Investigators, et al. Adjuvant capecitabine and oxaliplatin for gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy (CLASSIC): a phase 3 open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2012;379:315–21.
- Smalley SR, Benedetti JK, Haller DG, et al. Updated analysis of SWOG-directed intergroup study 0116:a phase III trial of adjuvant radiochemotherapy versus observation after curative gastric cancer resection. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2327–33.
- Xiong B, Ma L, Cheng Y, et al. Clinical effectiveness of neoadjuvant chemotherapy in advanced gastric cancer: an updated meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40:1321–30.
- Cao J, Qi F, Liu T. Adjuvant chemotherapy after curative resection for gastric cancer: a meta-analysis. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2014;49:690–704.
- Klaver YL, Simkens LH, Lemmens VE, et al. Outcomes of colorectal cancer patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with chemotherapy with and without targeted therapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2012;38:617–23.
- Franko J, Shi Q, Goldman CD, et al. Treatment of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis with systemic chemotherapy: a pooled analysis of north central cancer treatment group phase III trials N9741 and N9841. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:263–7.
- Sadeghi B, Arvieux C, Glehen O, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from non-gynecologic malignancies results of the EVOCAPE 1 multicentric prospective study. Cancer. 2000;88:358–63.
- 15. Shirao K, Boku N, Yamada Y, Gastrointestinal Oncology Study Group of the Japan Clinical Oncology Group, et al. Randomized phase III study of 5-fluorouracil continuous infusion vs. sequential methotrexate and 5-fluorouracil therapy in far advanced gastric cancer with peritoneal metastasis (JCOG0106) for the gastrointestinal oncology study Group of the Japan Clinical Oncology Group. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2013;43: 972–80.
- 16. Hong SH, Shin YR, Roh SY, et al. Treatment outcomes of systemic chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis arising from gastric cancer with no measurable disease: retrospective analysis from a single center. Gastric Cancer. 2013;16:290–300.
- Tamura S, Miki H, Okada K, et al. Pilot study of a combination of S-1 and paclitaxel for patients with peritoneal metastasis from gastric cancer. Gastric Cancer. 2010;13:101–8.
- Mirnezami R, Mehta AM, Chandrakumaran K, et al. Cytoreductive surgery in combination with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy improves survival in patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases compared with systemic chemotherapy alone. Br J Cancer. 2014;111:1500–8.
- Verwaal VJ, Bruin S, Boot H, et al. 8-year follow-up of randomized trial: cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:2426–32.
- 20. Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, de Bree E, et al. Randomized trial of cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy and palliative surgery in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:3737–43.
- Elias D, Lefevre JH, Chevalier J, et al. Complete cytoreductive surgery plus intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia with oxaliplatin for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:681–5.
- 22. Goere D, Malka D, Tzanis D, et al. Is there a possibility of a cure in patients with colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis amenable to complete cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy? Ann Surg. 2013;257:1065–71.
- Seshadri RA, Glehen O. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(3):1114–30.
- 24. Chia CS, Seshadri RA, Kepenekian V, et al. Survival outcomes after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: a systematic review. Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1:67–77.
- 25. Chia CS, You B, Decullier E, et al. Patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: is cure a possibility? Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:1971–9.
- Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, Witkamp A, et al. Long-term survival of peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12:65–71.
- Verwaal VJ, van Tinteren H, van Ruth S, et al. Predicting the survival of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin treated by aggressive cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Br J Surg. 2004;91:739–46.
- Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:63–8.
- Leung V, Huo YR, Liauw W, et al. Oxaliplatin versus mitomycin C for HIPEC in colorectal cancer peritoneal carcinomatosis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016; 43(1):144–9.
- Moran B, Cecil T, Chandrakumaran K, et al. The results of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 1200 patients with peritoneal malignancy. Color Dis. 2015;17:772–8.

- Sugarbaker PH, Schellinx ME, Chang D, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from adenocarcinoma of the colon. World J Surg. 1996;20:585–91. discussion 592.
- 32. Elias D, Glehen O, Pocard M, et al. A comparative study of complete cytoreductive surgery plus intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat peritoneal dissemination from colon, rectum, small bowel, and nonpseudomyxoma appendix. Ann Surg. 2010;251:896–901.
- 33. Fujimoto S, Takahashi M, Mutou T, et al. Improved mortality rate of gastric carcinoma patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemoperfusion combined with surgery. Cancer. 1997;79:884–91.
- 34. Yonemura Y, Elnemr A, Endou Y, et al. Multidisciplinary therapy for treatment of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2:85–97.
- 35. Fujimura T, Yonemura Y, Fushida S, et al. Continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion for the treatment of peritoneal dissemination in gastric cancers and subsequent second-look operation. Cancer. 1990;65: 65–71.
- 36. Yonemura Y, Kawamura T, Bandou E, et al. Treatment of peritoneal dissemination from gastric cancer by peritonectomy and chemohyperthermic peritoneal perfusion. Br J Surg. 2005;92:370–5.
- 37. Glehen O, Gilly FN, Arvieux C, Association Française de Chirurgie, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: a multi-institutional study of 159 patients treated by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:2370–7.
- Yang X-J, Li Y, Yonemura Y. Cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat gastric cancer with ascites and/or peritoneal carcinomatosis: results from a Chinese center. J Surg Oncol. 2010;101:457–64.
- Coccolini F, Catena F, Glehen O, et al. Complete versus incomplete cytoreduction in peritoneal carcinosis from gastric cancer, with consideration to PCI cutoff. Systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41:911–9.
- Glehen O, Schreiber V, Cotte E, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia for peritoneal carcinomatosis arising from gastric cancer. Arch Surg. 2004;139:20–6.
- Koh JL, Yan TD, Glenn D, et al. Evaluation of preoperative computed tomography in estimating peritoneal cancer index in colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16:327–33.
- 42. Yonemura Y, Endou Y, Sasaki T, et al. Surgical treatment for peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36:1131–8.
- 43. Sugarbaker PH, Yu W, Yonemura Y. Gastrectomy, peritonectomy, and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: the evolution of treatment strategies for advanced gastric cancer. Semin Surg Oncol. 2003; 21:233–48.

- 44. Juhl H, Stritzel M, Wroblewski A, et al. Immunocytological detection of micrometastatic cells: comparative evaluation of findings in the peritoneal cavity and the bone marrow of gastric, colorectal and pancreatic cancer patients. Int J Cancer. 1994;57:330–5.
- 45. Han TS, Kong SH, Lee HJ, et al. Dissemination of free cancer cells from the gastric lumen and from perigastric lymphovascular pedicles during radical gastric cancer surgery. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:2818–25.
- 46. Sugarbaker PH, Cunliffe WJ, Belliveau J, et al. Rationale for integrating early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy into the surgical treatment of gastrointestinal cancer. Semin Oncol. 1989;16(Suppl 6):83–97.
- Moran BJ, Cecil TD. Treatment of surgically resectable colorectal peritoneal metastases. Br J Surg. 2014; 101:5–7.
- 48. Elias D, Honore C, Dumont F, et al. Results of systematic second-look surgery plus HIPEC in asymptomatic patients presenting a high risk of developing colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2011;254:289–93.
- 49. Honore C, Goere D, Souadka A, et al. Definition of patients presenting a high risk of developing peritoneal carcinomatosis after curative surgery for colorectal cancer: a systematic review. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:183–92.
- Delhorme JB, Triki E, Romain B, et al. Routine second-look after surgical treatment of colonic peritoneal carcinomatosis. J Visc Surg. 2015;152:149–54.
- Hompes D, Tiek J, Wolthuis A, et al. HIPEC in T4a colon cancer: a defendable treatment to improve oncologic outcome? Ann Oncol. 2012;23:3123–9.
- 52. Klaver CE, Musters GD, Bemelman WA, et al. Adjuvant hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in patients with colon cancer at high risk of peritoneal carcinomatosis; the COLOPEC randomized multicentre trial. BMC Cancer. 2015;15:428.
- 53. Zanghi A, Cavallaro A, Piccolo G, et al. Dissemination metastasis after laparoscopic colorectal surgery versus conventional open surgery for colorectal cancer: a metanalysis. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2013;17:1174–84.
- 54. Kerscher AG, Chua TC, Gasser M, et al. Impact of peritoneal carcinomatosis in the disease history of colorectal cancer management: a longitudinal experience of 2406 patients over two decades. Br J Cancer. 2013;108:1432–9.
- 55. Sammartino P, Sibio S, Biacchi D, et al. Prevention of peritoneal metastases from colon cancer in high-risk patients: preliminary results of surgery plus prophylactic HIPEC. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012: 141585.
- 56. Sugarbaker PH, Gianola FJ, Speyer JC, et al. Prospective, randomized trial of intravenous versus intraperitoneal 5-fluorouracil in patients with advanced primary colon or rectal cancer. Surgery. 1985;98:414–22.

- 57. Scheithauer W, Kornek GV, Marczell A, et al. Combined intravenous and intraperitoneal chemotherapy with fluorouracil + leucovorin vs fluorouracil + levamisole for adjuvant therapy of resected colon carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 1998;77:1349–54.
- Vaillant JC, Nordlinger B, Deuffic S, et al. Adjuvant intraperitoneal 5-fluorouracil in high-risk colon cancer: a multicenter phase III trial. Ann Surg. 2000;231:449–56.
- de Bree E, Witkamp AJ, Zoetmulder FA. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2002; 79:46–61.
- 60. Noura S, Ohue M, Shingai T, et al. Effects of intraperitoneal chemotherapy with mitomycin C on the prevention of peritoneal recurrence in colorectal cancer patients with positive peritoneal lavage cytology findings. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:396–404.
- Tentes AA, Spiliotis ID, Korakianitis OS, et al. Adjuvant perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy in locally advanced colorectal carcinoma: preliminary results. ISRN Surg. 2011;2011:529876.
- 62. Sammartino P, Sibio S, Biacchi D, et al. Long-term results after proactive management for locoregional control in patients with colonic cancer at high risk of peritoneal metastases. Int J Color Dis. 2014;29:1081–9.
- 63. Sloothaak DA, Mirck B, Punt CJ, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy as adjuvant treatment to prevent peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer origin: a systematic review. Br J Cancer. 2014;111:1112–21.
- 64. Sammartino P, Biacchi D, Cornali T, et al. Proactive management for gastric, colorectal and appendiceal malignancies: preventing peritoneal metastases with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7:215–24.
- 65. Aoyama T, Yoshikawa T, Hayashi T, et al. Risk factors for peritoneal recurrence in stage II/III gastric cancer patients who received S-1 adjuvant chemotherapy after D2 gastrectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19:1568–74.
- Bando E, Yonemura Y, Takeshita Y, et al. Intraoperative lavage for cytological examination in 1297 patients with gastric carcinoma. Am J Surg. 1999;178:256–62.
- 67. Bentrem D, Wilton A, Mazumdar M, et al. The value of peritoneal cytology as a preoperative predictor in patients with gastric carcinoma undergoing a curative resection. Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12:347–53.
- Kodera Y, Yamamura Y, Shimizu Y, et al. Peritoneal washing cytology: prognostic value of positive findings in patients with gastric carcinoma undergoing a potentially curative resection. J Surg Oncol. 1999;72:60–4.
- Koga S, Hamazoe R, Maeta M, et al. Prophylactic cancer therapy for peritoneal recurrence of gastric by continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion with mitomycin C. Cancer. 1988;61:232–7.
- Hamazoe R, Maeta M, Kaibara N. Intraperitoneal thermochemotherapy for prevention of peritoneal recurrence of gastric cancer – final results of a randomised controlled study. Cancer. 1994;73:2048–52.

- Fujimura T, Yonemura Y, Muraoka K, et al. Continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion for the prevention of peritoneal recurrence of gastric cancer: randomized controlled study. World J Surg. 1994;18:150–5.
- Ikeguchi M, Kondou A, Oka A, et al. Effects of continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion on prognosis of gastric cancer with serosal invasion. Eur J Surg. 1995;161:581–6.
- Fujimoto S, Takahashi M, Mutou T, et al. Successful intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemoperfusion for the prevention of postoperative peritoneal recurrence in patients with advanced gastric carcinoma. Cancer. 1999;85:529–34.
- 74. Hirose K, Katayama K, Iida A, et al. Efficacy of continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion for the prophylaxis and treatment of peritoneal metastasis of advanced gastric cancer: evaluation by multivariate regression analysis. Oncology. 1999;57:106–14.
- 75. Yonemura Y, de Aretxabala X, Fujimura T, et al. Intraoperative chemohyperthermic peritoneal perfusion as an adjuvant to gastric cancer: final results of a randomised controlled study. Hepatogastroenterology. 2001;48:1776–82.
- Kim JY, Bae HS. A controlled clinical study of serosainvasive gastric carcinoma patients who underwent surgery plus intraperitoneal hyperthermo-chemoperfusion (IHCP). Gastric Cancer. 2001;4:27–33.
- Yonemura Y, Shinbo M, Hagiwara A, et al. Treatment for potentially curable gastric cancer patients with intraperitoneal free cancer cells. Gastroenterological Surgery. 2008;31:802–12.
- 78. Canbay E, Mizumoto A, Ichinose M, et al. Outcome data of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric origin treated by a strategy of bidirectional chemotherapy prior to cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in a single specialized center in Japan. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1147–52.
- 79. Takahashi T, Hagiwara A, Shimotsuma M, et al. Prophylaxis and treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis: intraperitoneal chemotherapy with mitomycin C bound to activated carbon particles. World J Surg. 1995;19:565–9.
- Yu W, Whang I, Chung HY, et al. Indications for early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy of advanced gastric cancer: results of a prospective randomized trial. World J Surg. 2001;25:985–90.
- Sun J, Song Y, Wang Z, et al. Benefits of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for patients with serosal invasion in gastric cancer: a meta-analysis of the randomized controlled trials. BMC Cancer. 2012; 12:526.
- 82. Mi DH, Li Z, Yang K-H, et al. Surgery combined with intraoperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IHIC) for gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Int J Hyperth. 2013;29:156–67.
- Glehen O, Passot G, Villeneuve L, et al. GASTRICHIP: D2 resection and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in locally advanced gastric carcinoma: a randomized and multicentre phase III study. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:183.

- 84. Roviello F, Caruso S, Neri A, et al. Treatment and prevention of peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: overview and rationale. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:1309–16.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritoneum as the first-line of defense in carcinomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2007;95(2):93–6.
- 86. Sugarbaker PH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei and peritoneal metastases from appendiceal malignancy. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Cytoreductive surgery & perioperative chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy. Textbook and video atlas. Woodbury: Cine-Med Publishers; 2012.
- Young RH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei and selected other aspects of the spread of appendiceal neoplasms. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2004;21:134–50.
- Pai RK, Longacre TA. Appendiceal mucinous tumors and pseudomyxoma peritonei: histologic features, diagnostic problems and proposed classification. Adv Anat Pathol. 2005;12:291–311.
- Ansari N, Chandrakumaran K, Dayal S, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 1000 patients with perforated appendiceal epithelial tumours. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(7):1035–41.
- 90. Chua TC, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, et al. Early and long-term outcome data of patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from appendiceal origin treated by a strategy of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2449–56.
- Smeenk RM, van Velthuysen ML, Verwaal VJ, et al. Appendiceal neoplasms and pseudomyxoma peritonei: a population based study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34:196–201.
- Murphy EM, Farquharson SM, Moran BJ. Management of an unexpected appendiceal neoplasm. Br J Surg. 2006;93:783–92.
- Misdraji J, Yantiss RK, Graeme-Cook FM, et al. Appendiceal mucinous neoplasms: a clinicopathologic analysis of 107 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2003; 27(8):1089–103.
- McDonald JR, O'Dwyer ST, Rout S, et al. Classification of and cytoreductive surgery for low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Br J Surg. 2012;99(7):987–92.
- 95. Honoré C, Caruso F, Dartigues P, et al. Strategies for preventing pseudomyxoma peritonei after resection of a mucinous neoplasm of the appendix. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(9):4943–7.
- 96. Foster JM, Sleightholm RL, Wahlmeier S, et al. Early identification of DPAM in at-risk low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm patients: a new approach to surveillance for peritoneal metastasis. World J Surg Oncol. 2016;14(1):243.
- Dhage-Ivatury S, Sugarbaker PH. Update on the surgical approach to mucocele of the appendix. J Am Coll Surg. 2006;202:680–4.
- Chiu CC, Wei PL, Huang MT, et al. Laparoscopic resection of appendiceal mucinous cystadenoma. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2005;15:325–8.
- Sugarbaker PH. Epithelial appendiceal neoplasms. Cancer J. 2009;15:225–35.



Cytoreductive Surgery for Peritoneal Metastases: Principles and Techniques

Aditi Bhatt and Sanket Mehta

3.1 Introduction

Cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) is a locoregional therapy for peritoneal metastases (PM) that has resulted in a significant increase in the survival of patients as compared to other treatments [1]. The goal of CRS is complete tumor removal. This involves performing one or more peritonectomy procedures and resection of contiguous visceral where required. These techniques were first described by Paul Sugarbaker. The surgery can be extensive depending on the extent and distribution of the disease. Most surgeons remove only diseased peritoneum and not the normal-looking areas. However, this is a complex treatment that is difficult to implement. The surgeon should be not only adept at operating all areas of the peritoneal cavity but should be able to predict and prevent complications and deal with them when they occur. The benefit of performing a radical procedure has to be balanced against the ensuing morbidity and its impact on the quality of life. Multidisciplinary

Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India e-mail: aditimodi31@gmail.com

S. Mehta Department of Peritoneal Surface Oncology, Saifee Hospital, Mumbai, India management is required for selecting the appropriate patients, delivering perioperative care and subsequent treatment and rehabilitation of patients. The biology of the underlying disease that has an impact on both the short- and longterm outcomes in these patients should be kept in mind while making treatment decision and disease-specific indications, and prognostic factors that have been extensively described and defined should be used to select patients for the procedure. An understanding of the normal anatomy and physiology of the peritoneum as well as the pathophysiology of peritoneal dissemination is essential. This knowledge forms basis of developing new innovative therapies.

3.2 The Peritoneum as an Organ

The peritoneum is an organ with its own structural framework and plays a protective role in the physiology of the abdominal cavity [2].

3.2.1 Anatomy of the Peritoneal Cavity

The peritoneum is a serous membrane that lines the visceral and peritoneal surfaces. The peritoneal cavity is a space enclosed by the parietal peritoneum that lines the abdominal wall and the visceral peritoneum that lines the organs/viscera.

A. Bhatt (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_3

Underneath is the subperitoneal space or the retroperitoneum [3]. The peritoneal cavity is incompletely divided into spaces and fossae (or recesses), which play an important role in the circulation of the intraperitoneal fluid and therefore tumor dissemination (Fig. 3.1).

Peritoneal ligaments are double layers or folds of the peritoneum that support a structure within the peritoneal cavity; the omentum and mesentery are specifically named peritoneal ligaments [4].

The falciform and triangular ligaments are the suspensory ligaments of the liver that bind the bare area:

- The hepatoduodenal ligament (containing the common bile duct, hepatic artery, and portal vein) and the gastrohepatic ligament (which contains the left gastric artery and the coronary vein) together form the lesser omentum.
- The gastrosplenic ligament that connects the greater curve of the stomach to the spleen and contains the short gastric vessels.
- The splenorenal ligament that contains the pancreatic tail.
- The transverse mesocolon which attaches the transverse colon to the retroperitoneum and contains the middle colic vessels.



Fig. 3.1 The peritoneal spaces (From ref [7] with permission)

- The small bowel mesentery that extends from the ligament of Treitz to the ileocecal valve, attaches the small bowel to the retroperitoneum, and contains the superior mesenteric vessels and their branches.
- The sigmoid mesocolon that is a peritoneal ligament that attaches the sigmoid colon to the posterior pelvic wall and contains the hemorrhoidal and sigmoid vessels.
- The greater omentum or gastrocolic ligament extends from the stomach to the transverse colon and has a redundant portion that hangs freely in the peritoneal cavity [5, 6].

The transverse colon and mesocolon are the major landmarks dividing the peritoneal cavity into supramesocolic and inframesocolic compartments (Fig. 3.1). On the anterior aspect of the liver, the supramesocolic compartment is divided into the left and tight subphrenic spaces by the falciform ligament. The subhepatic space, including the lesser sac, is located under the liver. The inframesocolic compartment is subdivided by the root of the small intestine mesentery into the right and the left inframesocolic space and into the pelvis [7].

The right subphrenic space is located under the right diaphragm; it communicates with the right paracolic space inferiorly and is separated from the left subphrenic space by the falciform ligament [8].

The right subhepatic space continues medially through the foramen of Winslow (epiploic foramen) to the lesser sac (bursa omentalis) [8].

The lesser sac is a potentially large cavity with various recesses that communicate with the left subphrenic space cranially and into the greater omentum caudally. The lesser sac contains a superior recess (located above the peritoneal reflection of the left gastric artery) that is in close proximity to the caudate lobe and a larger inferior recess that lies between the stomach and the pancreatic body. The superior and inferior recesses are separated by a peritoneal fold that accompanies the left gastric artery. Sometimes, the inferior recess communicates with a potential space between the leaves of the greater omentum [8]. The right and left inframesocolic spaces are separated from the supramesocolic spaces by the transverse mesocolon and from the paracolic gutters laterally by the ascending or descending colon. The right space is smaller than the left and the left communicates with the pelvis; the right does not as it is bounded by the root of mesentery inferiorly [9].

The paracolic spaces (gutters) are located lateral to the peritoneal reflections of the left and right sides of the colon. The right paracolic gutter is larger than the left and communicates freely with the right subphrenic space. The connection between the left paracolic gutter and the left subphrenic space is partially limited by the phrenicocolic ligament. Both the right and left paracolic gutters communicate with the pelvic spaces [9].

In men, the most gravity-dependent site is the rectovesical space. In women, it is the retrouterine space (the pouch of Douglas). The pelvic space is divided into right and left halves by the medial umbilical folds containing the obliterated umbilical arteries and further into the medial and lateral inguinal fossae by the inferior epigastric artery on each side [9].

3.2.2 Structural Anatomy of the Peritoneum

The total surface area of the peritoneum in adults approximates the surface area of the skin $(1.5-2 \text{ m}^2)$ [10]. Only a fraction of this total area remains exposed and is further limited by prior adhesions and abdominal surgery [11, 12]. The visceral peritoneum represents about 70% of the total peritoneal surface [13, 14]. The anterior abdominal wall of humans comprises less than 4% of the peritoneal surface [15]. The ultrastructure was described in detail by Baron who observed that a layer of mesothelial cells rests on five layers of connective tissue [16]. The total thickness of this membrane is 90 µm. The connective tissue adjacent to the mesothelial layer has few blood vessels, and most of them are found at a distance of 40 μ m or more from the surface. The underlying basement membrane is a thin

laminar network containing type I and IV collagen, proteoglycans and glycoproteins [17]. The submesothelium consists of extracellular matrix (ECM) made up of different types of collagen, glycoproteins, glycosaminoglycans, and proteoglycans. Blood vessels, lymphatics, and various cell types (fibroblasts, resident tissue macrophages, and mast cells) are also found in this layer [18]. The mesothelial cells are either flattened stretched, squamous-like, or cuboidal cells. Cuboidal cells are found in various areas including the liver, the spleen, the "milky spots" of the omentum, and the peritoneal side of the diaphragm overlying the lymphatic lacunae. Milky spots play an important role in peritoneal tumor dissemination [19]. Milky spots are composed of macrophages, lymphocytes, and some plasma cells that aggregate in the perivascular region. They are not secondary lymphoid organs [20]. Experimental in vivo studies have shown that tumor cells rapidly and specifically attach, invade, and proliferate within the milky spots after intraperitoneal injection [21–23].

Tumor growth is not prevented by the resident immune cells in the milky spots [24]. Proinflammatory cytokines secreted from cancer, stromal, mesothelial, and immune cells, more specifically, the macrophages, contribute to an inflammatory environment that promotes peritoneal metastasis [25–27]. There are adipocytes surrounding the milky spots which help the tumor cells meet their energy demands through the metabolism of lipids contained within them and thus promote tumor growth [28]. These milky spots are important promoters of tumor growth that convert micrometastatic tumor deposits to disseminated peritoneal disease [29, 30].

3.2.3 Blood Supply of the Peritoneum

The common belief is that only a fraction of the cardiac output reaches the peritoneum and that the peritoneal metastatic deposits are poorly vascularized. Hence, when chemotherapy is administered systemically to treat peritoneal metastases, it does not reach the target tissue adequately [31]. However, studies have shown that the blood supply of the peritoneum is proportional to that of other tissues when the minute volume is normalized to the weight [31]. This blood supply like that of other organs is regulated by physical, chemical, neurological, and hormonal factors and drugs. Neoangiogenesis in the submesothelial tissue has been described [32]. However, the neoangiogenic vessels are defective and do not increase the blood supply proportionally [31].

The peritoneum has several important functions:

- The mesothelial cells secrete fluid that lubricates the surfaces of the organs and facilitates their movement against each other.
- The peritoneum regulates the transfer of fluid, solutes, and macromolecules from the peritoneal cavity to the blood forming what is not as known as the "plasma-peritoneal barrier" [33].
- The peritoneum acts as a first line of defense in host resistance [2].
- The peritoneum aids tissue repair by releasing growth factors [2].

3.3 The Peritoneal Metastatic Cascade

This term was coined by Lemoine et al. in a recent publication and describes an orderly sequence of event that takes place in peritoneal cancer spread [2].

3.3.1 Pathways of Peritoneal Cancer Spread

There are four pathways of peritoneal cancer spread [34].

3.3.1.1 Direct Spread

This is seen in high-grade malignancies like cancers of the stomach, colon, and pancreas. Tumor deposits are seen in the vicinity of the primary tumor as well as at distant sites [35]. There is

contiguous and noncontiguous spread in both. The predisposing factors are full-thickness bowel wall involvement and iatrogenic spillage caused during surgery [36].

Lymphatic Spread Cancer cells also spread along the subperitoneal lymphatics seen in the ligaments, mesenteries, and omenta. Lymphatic spread is an uncommon mode of peritoneal cancer spread and is seen in lymphomas, most commonly, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [37].

Along the Flow of Ascitic Fluid (Redistribution Phenomenon) This is characteristic of pseudomyxoma peritonei and ovarian cancer (Fig. 3.2) [38, 39]. Peritoneal fluid collects in the pelvis due



Fig. 3.2 The "redistribution phenomenon"

to the effect of gravity. It is also directed upward toward the undersurfaces of the diaphragm by the negative intra-intrathoracic pressure during respiration; hence, there are heavy deposits in the paracolic regions. Tumor seeding is extensive on the right undersurface of the diaphragm as compared to the left due to the splenocolic ligament which restricts the spread on the left side. Disease spread occurs to the falciform ligament and the omenta also. The small bowel is spared due to constant peristalsis. There are three sites of extensive PM—these are the areas where the bowel is relatively fixed—the pylorus, the ileocecal junction, and the small bowel proximal to it.

Hematogenous Route This is a common mode of spread mainly in extra-abdominal cancers like lung cancer, breast cancer, and malignant melanoma and some intra-abdominal tumors like hepatobiliary and pancreatic tumors [40].

3.3.2 Intraperitoneal Dissemination of Free Cancer Cells

3.3.2.1 Detachment and/or Release of Free Intraperitoneal Cancer Cells

The initiation of peritoneal metastases is caused by exfoliation of single or clumps of tumor cells from the primary tumor [41]. The presence of viable tumor cells in the peritoneal cavity could also occur by iatrogenic or spontaneous perforation of the primary cancer or from transected lymphatics and blood vessels which occurs during surgery for the primary tumor [42].

Spontaneous exfoliation of malignant cells can be promoted by the downregulation of intracellular adhesion molecules on the tumor cell surfaces, more specifically E (epithelial)-cadherin [43]. E-Cadherin connects through α - and β -catenin to the actin microfilaments within the cytoplasm, thereby anchoring epithelial cells to each other. In general, loss of E-cadherin in epithelial cancer correlates with epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) and the acquisition of an invasive phenotype.

Once the cells are released in the peritoneal cavity, they undergo epithelial to mesenchymal transition which is brought on by the loss of E-cadherin and the upregulation of mesenchymal N (neural)-cadherin [44]. It is characterized by reduction of cell-cell adherence, loss of polarity of epithelial cells, resistance to apoptosis, and reversal to a mesenchymal phenotype with enhanced motility [45]. This is believed to play a major role in the invasion and metastasis of tumor cells [45]. The first step in malignant transformation is epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) in which the tumor cells lose E-cadherinmediated cell-cell interactions and upregulate other cadherins (e.g., N-cadherin, P-cadherin) as part of a global "cadherin switch." The transformed cells, which now look more like fibroblasts, acquire an invasive phenotype and proliferate. EMT allows the tumor cells to survive in hypoxic conditions and enables mesenchymal signaling through interactions with surrounding stromal cells [46, 47].

3.3.2.2 Transport Through the Peritoneal Cavity

Once the cancer cells are seeded in the peritoneal cavity, they spread to different anatomical regions of the abdomen governed by three basic forces: gravity, peristaltic movement of the gastrointestinal tract, and negative pressure exerted by diaphragm muscle movements [48]. The successive localization of intraperitoneal dissemination depends on the biology not only of free cancer cells but also of the tissue that will harbor the metastatic implantation. In general aggressive malignancies like colorectal and gastric cancer, tumor cells implant in the vicinity of the primary tumor, whereas in the less aggressive tumors like pseudomyxoma peritonei and ovarian carcinomas, the tumors follow the flow of peritoneal fluid and a "redistributed" throughout the peritoneal cavity. Sugarbaker et al. explained this phenomenon through their study of 129 patients with peritoneal metastases [49]. Based on their findings, they inferred that the presence of intraperitoneal free fluid or mucin acted as a transport vehicle for tumor cells leading to widespread dissemination in all areas of the peritoneal cavity.

The tumor cells do not immediately adhere to the peritoneal surface after being shed. They follow the flow of the fluid and are kept away from the peritoneal surface by forces generated by peristaltic activity. The cells implant on the surfaces that absorb peritoneal fluid like the peritoneum covering the diaphragmatic surfaces and lymphoid aggregates of the greater and lesser omenta and omental appendages. There is implantation in the pouch of Douglas due to the effect of gravity. Though the small bowel and its mesentery are exposed to a larger proportion of cancer cells as compared to the ileocecal region, the implantation in these regions does not occur till a very late stage in the course of the disease due to peristaltic activity [49].

Mucinous adenocarcinoma of the colon though more aggressive than pseudomyxoma peritonei had a similar pattern of spread due to the presence of intraperitoneal mucin. This peritoneal dissemination was not dependent on the tumor grade. Contrary to this, peritoneal dissemination of non-mucinous adenocarcinoma of the colon frequently involves the colon, greater omentum, and small bowel; these are tissues close to the primary site of cancer. Distant sites, such as Treitz ligament and lesser omentum, are often involved when a fluid vehicle is present but are spared when fluid is absent. The same concept is supported by the analysis of peritoneal sarcomatosis. Other gastrointestinal malignancies, like pancreatic cancer and gastric cancer, should have a seeding directly adjacent to the primary cancer when ascites is absent but generalized dissemination when ascites is present [49].

3.3.2.3 Attachment to and Invasion of the Peritoneal Surface

Once a viable, free tumor cell is present in the peritoneal cavity, adhesion to the peritoneal surface is required in order to ultimately invade the peritoneum, proliferate, and produce peritoneal deposits. The process takes place through either the transmesothelial or the translymphatic route. During transmesothelial spread, the free tumor cells directly attach to the distant mesothelium, a process that is mediated by adhesion molecules such as CD44, lymphocyte homing molecules,

members of integrin superfamily, the selectins, and a variety of other leukocyte-associated adhesion molecules [50]. The most important of these are the β 1 integrins. The cancer cells must then breach the mesothelial barrier and reach the submesothelial tissue. One hypothesis is that the production of cytokines (interleukins, EGF, HGF, VEGF-C) induces the contraction of mesothelial cells exposing the submesothelial basement membrane. The other being that the mesothelial cells do not contract but undergo apoptosis [51]. This process of mesothelial retraction includes cell shrinkage, nuclear fragmentation, and membrane blebbing. The existence of functional mesothelial Fas receptors, and the ability to inhibit tumor-induced apoptosis by the use of blocking anti-FasL proteins, suggests a role for these death ligands and receptors as the mediators of mesothelial apoptosis [52].

Invasion of the submesothelial tissues is largely mediated by matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). This phenomenon has been studied extensively in ovarian cancer models. When ovarian carcinoma cells attach to mesothelial cells, the cancer cells upregulate MMP-2, which then cleaves the extracellular matrix proteins fibronectin and vitronectin into smaller fragments. The cancer cells then adhere much more strongly to these smaller fragments, using the fibronectin ($\alpha_s\beta_1$ -integrin) and vitronectin ($\alpha_v\beta_3$ integrin) receptors [39].

In the translymphatic route, tumor cells enter the subperitoneal lymphatic spaces through lymphatic stomata. The regions of the peritoneal cavity that have a high concentration of lymphatic stomata and milky spots are the greater omentum, appendices epiploicae of the colon, inferior surface of the diaphragm, falciform ligament, Douglas pouch, and small bowel mesentery [53]. Once the subperitoneal lymphatics are invaded, the stromal cells and tumor cells both produce growth factors that promote the growth and proliferation of tumor cells. Epidermal growth factor and insulin-like growth factor both are known to enhance the invasive potential of tumor cells [54]. Subsequent to this, neoangiogenesis takes place which is mediated by the production of VEGF-A and VEGF-C.

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a key regulator of angiogenesis which drives endothelial cell survival, proliferation, and migration while increasing vascular permeability. The neoangiogenesis and increased vascular permeability lead to the formation of malignant ascites. In both experimental and clinical studies, VEGF levels have been inversely correlated with survival [55].

3.4 Omental Metastases

There is preferential involvement of the omentum in patients with PM. The first step in the development of omental deposits is the lodging of tumor cells in the milky spots [56, 57]. The abundant blood supply around the milky spots permits early survival of cancer cells, and the production of growth factors, including VEGF, by the surrounding mesothelial cells, increases the angiogenesis necessary for continued tumor growth. This process is further stimulated by the adipose cells in the omentum which also secrete various growth factors, including VEGF, thereby increasing the formation of blood vessels [28, 58, 59]. In addition, the omental adipocytes also serve as a source of nutrition to the cancer cells. This proposition is supported by the fact that in patients with an "omental cake," the omental fat is completely replaced by tumor [60].

Just as the omentum plays a role in mitigating intra-abdominal infection, it also restricts the development of PM at other sites in the peritoneal cavity by scavenging the tumor cells and limiting their release in the systemic circulation [60].

3.5 Ascites

The formation of malignant ascites is multifactorial. There is increased fluid production due to increased vascular permeability and impaired drainage due to lymphatic blockage by the tumor cells, the combination of which leads to ascites formation [61]. VEGF is overexpressed by the tumor cells and contributes to the formation of ascites fluid [62]. High levels of VEGF are found in the malignant effusions of ovarian, colorectal, and breast cancer patients. In preclinical models, the administration of malignant ascitic fluid to animals without malignant ascites can cause malignant ascites [62]. Patients with colorectal and appendiceal tumors with increased VEGF expression have a poorer prognosis compared to those that don't [63].

The VEGF family constitutes five structurally related proteins, VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, and placental growth factor. VEGF-C and VEGF-D are important in the process of lymphangiogenesis, while VEGF-A, VEGF-B, and placental growth factor are important in neovascularization [64–66]. The most potent proangiogenic growth factor, VEGF-A, binds to its receptors VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 and thereby increases endothelial cell survival, proliferation, migration, and differentiation [67, 68].

3.6 Difference Between Peritoneal Metastases and Other Sites of Metastases

The difference between peritoneal metastases and other sites of metastases has been described in the setting of colorectal cancer. In colorectal cancer, though liver metastases are more common compared to PM, they are less aggressive. Sugarbaker and collaborators studied the growth of peritoneal and liver metastases and pointed out several differences in the biology of CPM and colorectal liver metastases (Table 3.1). [69]. Liver metastases arise as a result of portal dissemination and have a lower metastatic potential as compared to PM which spread more rapidly. Single cells or small clusters of cancer cells then lodge within the venous sinusoids of the liver and derive their blood supply from the hepatic artery. These tumor masses grow and remain confined to the liver till there is necrosis of the mass leading to disruption of capillaries within it and a consequent release of cells into the systemic circulation. This results in metastases at other sites particularly the lung.

PERITONECTOMY PROCEDURES	Involved regions	RESECTIONS
Anterior parietal peritonectomy	Peritoneum lining of the anterior abdominal wall bilaterally extending laterally to the line of Toldt. Lower boundary at the pelvic brim (false pelvis) Superiorly up to the costal margins merging with the subphrenic peritoneum	Old abdominal incisions, umbilicus, epigastric fat pad
Left upper quadrant peritonectomy	Peritoneum lining undersurface of the left hemidiaphragm extending medially up to the falciform ligament inferiorly merging with the parietal peritoneum at the costal margin	Greater omentum and spleen
Right upper quadrant peritnectomy	Peritoneum lining the undersurface of the right hemi-diaphragm extending medially up to the falciform ligament antero-inferiorly up to the costal margin and postero-inferiorly, the peritoneum overlying the gerota's fascia, medially extending up to the lateral edge of the hepatoduodenal ligament	Glisson's capsule deposits
Pelvic peritonectomy	From the brim of the false pelvis, the upper margin is at the origin of the inferior mesenteric artery, laterally to the peritoneal reflection over the psoas and internal opening of the inguinal canal, inferiorly the peritoneal reflection in the recto uterine or recto- vesical pouches	Uterus, ovaries and rectosigmoid colon
Omental bursectomy	The peritoneum overlying the gall bladder, the hepatoduodenal and hepatogastric ligaments and the tissue overlying the caudate lobe and between the caudate and inferior vena cava extending up to the superior border of the pancreas behind the stomach	Gall bladder and lesser omentum

Table 3.1 Difference between peritoneal metastases and liver metastases from colorectal cancer [Adapted from reference [69] with permission]

Liver metastases have a doubling time of approximately 3 months and become substantially large (generally over 10 cm) before satellite nodules are formed [70]. This process of metastases in the liver resulting in metastases in the lungs and other systemic sites may take many months and even years. It may not occur at all with a response to chemotherapy or if a liver resection is successful [71].

However, PM have an alternative and more aggressive mechanism of abdominal and pelvic progression. The cells exfoliate from the primary tumor to produce PM and this represents a more aggressive phenotype [72]. Even small tumor nodules can shed cancerous cells that form new implants. This exfoliation process causes a far more rapid disease progression, and all quadrants of the abdominal cavity are involved in the disease process within a few months (Fig. 3.3).

3.7 The Surgeon and Peritoneal Tumor Dissemination

The surgeons play an important role not just in the treatment of peritoneal metastases but also in their development. A surgeon's role in peritoneal tumor dissemination was first described by



Fig. 3.3 A diagram representing the theoretical model comparing progression of liver and peritoneal metastases. A solitary liver metastases has a doubling time of 3 months in the liver parenchyma. A solitary peritoneal metastases grows at the same rate but also exfoliates free cancer cells into the peritoneal cavity. This produces metastasis of various sizes disseminated throughout the abdomen and pelvis during the same period. Adapted from [70] with permission

Paul Sugarbaker. Cancer spread following resection of the primary can occur in the following ways: through portal dissemination, lymph nodal recurrence, recurrence at the operative site, and peritoneal spread [73]. Whereas portal dissemination cannot be prevented, other recurrences could be minimized by proper surgical technique. This has been demonstrated in colorectal cancer patients where there is a decreased local recurrence and a longer disease-free survival when the resection of the primary tumor is performed by experienced surgeons at high-volume centers [74].

Sugarbaker suggested that proper surgical technique can prevent peritoneal dissemination to a certain extent. In order to limit peritoneal spread, "containment" should be one of the main goals of the gastrointestinal cancer surgeon. He described a technique called "centripetal surgery" in which one must move around the tumor mass with perfect hemostasis, adequate margins of dissection, and sufficient visualization so that the vital structures are not damaged. If all of these requirements are not met, the surgeon must approach the malignant disease from another anatomic site [75, 76].

Laparoscopic surgery minimizes surgical trauma and, compared with open surgery, has

been associated with less peritoneal as well as metastatic tumor growth in several animal models [77]. The technique has raised concerns regarding the potential effect of a CO₂ pneumoperitoneum on peritoneal cancer spread [78]. However, large clinical trials comparing open surgery with laparoscopic colectomy for colorectal cancer did not identify an increased risk of peritoneal recurrence associated with the laparoscopic approach [79]. The minimally invasive approach requires considerable amount of skill and should not be performed at the risk of compromising other oncological requirements like adequate margins and lymph node yield and avoiding intraoperative tumor rupture and spill.

The other important aspect of prevention is surgical handling of patients with positive peritoneal fluid cytology or with peritoneal nodules at presentation. Non-definitive procedures except those needed in the emergency setting, i.e., for perforated or obstructed tumors, should be avoided. Sugarbaker pointed out that the peritoneum itself acts as a first line of defense against carcinomatosis, and in its absence, cells become implanted wherever a raw surface is created [80]. Non-definitive surgery in these situations has some adverse consequences. These patients become poor candidates for subsequent curative approach using CRS and HIPEC, the lymph nodal clearance becomes more difficult, and there is tumor cell entrapment in avascular scar tissue which cannot be treated with chemotherapy. Retroperitoneal implantation of tumor cells can involve tubular structures like the ureters leading to obstruction. When such a situation is encountered during laparotomy or laparoscopy, further surgical intervention should be stopped, and the patients should be referred to a center experience in treating peritoneal metastases [80]. Sugarbaker and colleagues also hypothesized that surgery alone as a treatment of PM may have adverse consequences. They proposed the "tumor cell entrapment" hypothesis to explain the rapid progression of peritoneal-surface malignancy in patients who undergo treatment using surgery alone [81]. This theory relates the high incidence and rapid progression of peritoneal-surface implantation to (1) free intraperitoneal tumor emboli as a result of serosal penetration by cancer, (2) leakage of malignant cells from transected lymphatics, (3) dissemination of malignant cells directly from the cancer specimen as a result of surgical trauma and backflow of venous blood, (4) fibrin entrapment of intra-abdominal tumor emboli on traumatized peritoneal surfaces, and (5) progression of these entrapped tumor cells through growth factors involved in the woundhealing process.

One of the most important prognostic factors determining the treatment outcomes in patients with PM is the disease extent determined by the peritoneal cancer index (PCI). In general patients with less extensive disease have better outcomes, and one of the first treatment goals is to detect PM early in the course of disease evolution. At the time of treatment of the primary malignancy, imaging modalities may fail to pick up low-volume disease, and during an open or laparoscopic resection, PM should be searched for and the extent documented in detail, especially in patients with known risk factors for peritoneal dissemination. For patients on surveillance also, the index of suspicion should be high. An elevation in tumor markers without evidence of disease on imaging should prompt the use of diagnostic laparoscopy for detection of early peritoneal cancer spread.

3.8 Cytoreductive Surgery: Principles and Techniques

Cytoreductive surgery deals with macroscopic disease, and intraperitoneal chemotherapy acts on microscopic disease. Since intraperitoneal chemotherapy acts only on tumor deposits measuring 2.5 mm or less, the goal of CRS is to remove all tumor deposits >2.5 mm in size [82]. Whereas this may be adequate for low-grade tumors like pseudomyxoma peritonei and peritoneal mesothelioma, for other high-grade malignancies like colorectal cancer, there should be no visible residual disease.

The various peritonectomy procedures required to achieve complete tumor removal are listed in Table 3.2 [84]. There are no distinct boundaries for each of the peritonectomies, and often two or more peritonectomies are performed in continuity. This knowledge is important however; for any tumor spread in particular area of the peritoneum, not just a segment of the peritoneum but the peritonectomy corresponding to that region should be performed.

Complete tumor removal may necessitate removal of adjacent viscera. Some of the examples are performing a panhysterectomy with or without resection of the rectosigmoid colon along with a pelvic peritonectomy, subtotal or total gastrectomy with total omentectomy, resection of the terminal ileum and proximal right colon, and resection of segments of the small bowel and its mesentery [49, 85, 86].

3.8.1 Technique of Dissection

Sugarbaker hypothesized that using conventional surgical methods like scissors and or knife dissection leads to increased blood loss and promotes intraperitoneal tumor dissemination. Using high-voltage electrocautery creates a zone of necrosis along the line of resection and thus

Peritonectomy procedures	Involved regions	Resections
Anterior parietal peritonectomy	Peritoneum lining of the anterior abdominal wall bilaterally extending laterally to the line of Toldt Lower boundary at the pelvic brim (false pelvis) superiorly up to the costal margins merging with the subphrenic peritoneum	Old abdominal incisions, umbilicus, epigastric fat pad
Left upper quadrant peritonectomy	Peritoneum lining undersurface of the left hemidiaphragm extending medially up to the falciform ligament inferiorly merging with the parietal peritoneum at the costal margin	Greater omentum and spleen
Right upper quadrant peritonectomy	Peritoneum lining the undersurface of the right hemidiaphragm extending medially up to the falciform ligament anteroinferiorly up to the costal margin and posteroinferiorly, the peritoneum overlying the Gerota's fascia, medially extending up to the lateral edge of the hepatoduodenal ligament	Glisson's capsule deposits
Pelvic peritonectomy	From the brim of the false pelvis, the upper margin is at the origin of the inferior mesenteric artery, laterally to the peritoneal reflection over the psoas and internal opening of the inguinal canal, inferiorly to the peritoneal reflection in the rectouterine or rectovesical pouches	Uterus, ovaries, and rectosigmoid colon
Omental bursectomy	The peritoneum overlying the gall bladder, the hepatoduodenal and hepatogastric ligaments, and the tissue overlying the caudate lobe and between the caudate and inferior vena cava extending up to the superior border of the pancreas behind the stomach	Gall bladder and lesser omentum

Table 3.2 Peritonectomy procedures and resections that are combined to achieve a complete cytoreduction [14]

prevents tumor dissemination [87, 88]. Hence, he advocates the use of high-voltage electrocautery for performing CRS. A 3 mm ball tip is most suited for this purpose [87]. Contrary to this, other surgeons use combination of blunt and sharp dissection with cautery, bipolar scissors, and an ultrasonic scalpel.

3.8.2 Preparing the Patient

Patient is placed in a supine position with the gluteal fold at the end of the table to allow full access to the perineum. The limbs should be supported properly using stirrups to prevent pressure sores and myonecrosis of calf muscles [89]. Skin preparation is from the mid-chest to mid-thigh with preparation of the genitalia and catheterization.

To perform a thorough exploration of the abdominal cavity, a midline laparotomy incision from the xiphoid to the pubis is essential. The old scars and umbilicus are excised. The dissection proceeds carefully avoiding injury to the bowel that may be densely adherent to the scar due to presence of tumor or postsurgical adhesions [90].

3.8.2.1 Where to Begin

Some surgeons prefer the extraperitoneal approach which facilitates faster dissection and saves time. This is possible if the disease is limited and the surgeon is confident of proceeding with the surgery. Others prefer the intraperitoneal approach irrespective of the disease extent that allows a more thorough evaluation. One of the main regions to be evaluated in the small bowel and its mesentery as preoperative investigations may grossly underestimate the extent of disease in that area. It may be prudent to deal with the difficult areas early in the course of the surgery when the surgical team is not fatigued. However, many surgeons proceed in a systematic fashion, e.g., in a clockwise manner starting with the right upper quadrant peritonectomy and then left upper quadrant peritonectomy [86]. This is followed by a greater omentectomy and splenectomy. These dissections are followed by a pelvic peritonectomy with hysterectomy, salpingooophorectomy, and rectosigmoidectomy if necessary. This is followed by a cholecystectomy, lesser omentectomy, and omental bursectomy. In patients with limited disease, all the peritonectomies may not be required [86].

3.8.3 Lysis of Adhesions

Before proceeding with peritonectomies or visceral resections, all adhesions are separated. As far as is possible, these adhesions are resected and submitted as a pathological specimen [86]. This is to clear any tumor cells that may be trapped in the scar tissue in accordance with the "tumor cell entrapment hypothesis" [86].

3.8.4 Xiphoidectomy

If the preoperative radiologic studies suggest the need for right or left subdiaphragmatic peritonectomy, a xiphoidectomy should be performed [86]. The midline abdominal incision is extended to approximately 4 cm above the xiphoid-sternal junction, and the epigastric fat pad is released from the posterior rectus sheath. The xiphoid is adequately exposed and divided using high-voltage electrocautery at its attachment to the sternum.

The electrosurgical current denatures the protein within the bone at the base of the xiphoid, so the bone is fractured precisely with minimal downward pressure at this line.

The xiphoid is released from the sternum, and the diaphragm muscles attached to it are divided to free it completely. The dissection should be carried out superficial to the diaphragmatic muscles to avoid inadvertent entry into the pleural or pericardial space [86].

3.9 Peritonectomy Procedures

3.9.1 Anterolateral Parietal Peritonectomy

This may be the first peritonectomy that is performed especially if the extraperitoneal approach is employed. In the extraperitoneal approach, the peritoneum is not opened, and the various peritonectomies are performed in continuity; the dissection is extended to the subphrenic region keeping the peritoneum intact [91]. The advantage of this approach is that it is fast and saves time. A small window may be made in the peritoneum to confirm the presence of PM on the parietal peritoneum. The abdominal wall needs to be kept under constant tension by retraction to facilitate the dissection.

The dissection continues to the paracolic region till the line of Toldt is reached. Superiorly, this dissection can blend into the right and left subphrenic peritonectomy, and inferiorly it can continue into the complete pelvic peritonectomy (Fig. 3.4) [92]. On the other hand, when the disease on the parietal peritoneum is minimal and it is not thickened, it may be difficult to dissect off the sheath. In such cases, dissection can begin inferiorly by dividing the line of Toldt and proceeding upward using both blunt and sharp dissection. This makes identification of the plane and preservation of the sheath easier.

3.9.2 Right Upper Quadrant Peritonectomy

The falciform ligament is divided off its superior attachment from the abdominal wall till the xiphoid is reached. A xiphoidectomy can be performed at this stage if it has not been performed before. The falciform ligament is divided off its hepatic attachment till the posterior peritoneal reflection on the liver is reached. Anteriorly, the division of the hepatic bridge (pont hepatique) can be performed at this stage or done later (described below). The dissection then proceeds to the right in continuity stripping the peritoneum off the underlying diaphragmatic muscle.



Fig. 3.4 Anterolateral parietal peritonectomy

Maintaining constant traction on the specimen helps in exposing the plane of dissection between the diaphragmatic muscle and the peritoneum. As the peritoneum is taken off the central portion of the diaphragm, the fold between the liver and the diaphragm is reached. The peritoneum is divided where it attaches to the superior surface of the liver exposing the inferior vena cava and right hepatic vein (Fig. 3.5). The dissection on the superior surface continues laterally till the right triangular ligament is reached. The peritoneum is stripped off the right dome. At this point dividing the right triangular ligament facilitates retraction of the liver to expose the lateral surface of the diaphragm. There are several small vessels from the diaphragmatic muscles to the peritoneum which should be cauterized. The diaphragmatic vessels will be encountered just before the tendinous portion of the diaphragm, and if possible, they should be preserved. This part of the procedure can be performed by blunt dissection or by electrocautery depending on the preference of the surgeon. If the peritoneum is not thickened, care should be taken while stripping it off the tendinous portion of the diaphragm so as to avoid a full-thickness excision/breach. In invasive diseases, the tumor deposits may be infiltrative and involve the diaphragmatic muscle, especially in the region of the tendinous portion. This may require resection of a part of the diaphragm. Some surgeons suture such defects immediately with absorbable or nonabsorbable sutures, whereas others prefer to leave

them open till after the HIPEC is performed. This allows perfusion of the pleural space as well.

The subphrenic peritoneum at the level of the bare area of the liver gets reflected onto the liver becoming continuous with the Glisson's capsule. Tumor deposits on the Glisson's capsule are not uncommon, and in PMP, they may be extensive.

Conventionally, the tumor is destroyed using high-voltage pure cut electro-evaporation. But complete tumor removal like that of a peritoneal resection may not be achieved by this method. Glehen and his collaborators have described the technique of digital glissonectomy using blunt finger dissection and bipolar scissors by which a fast and bloodless Glisson's capsulectomy can be performed [93]. After complete mobilization of the liver, a glissonectomy can be performed when the liver parenchyma is not invaded by the tumor, irrespective of how widespread it is around the liver parenchyma. When there is extensive tumor on the subphrenic peritoneum, the capsulectomy is performed en bloc with the peritonectomy. Glissonectomy starts 1–2 cm away from the disease, within normal peritoneum [94]. The capsule is incised and stripped long enough to ensure a complete resection of the disease; this must also be large enough to allow at least one finger to fit between liver parenchyma and Glisson's capsule to allow for efficient blunt dissection (Fig. 3.6). The most important step is to find the right plane between the Glisson's capsule and the liver parenchyma. For this the capsule is lifted with a forceps, and blunt scissors or bipolar scissors is used to separate the capsule from the parenchyma in an avascular plane. Once the right plane has been identified, the capsule is stripped away with digital dissection and removed. Maintaining the specimen intact facilitates the dissection. The digital dissection should be easy to perform, and if resistance is encountered, it indicates either an entry into a "false plane" or parenchymal infiltration by the tumor. Involvement of the liver parenchyma by the tumor requires a formal liver resection for complete tumor clearance. The capsulectomy is performed in areas of disease typical in the right superior and lateral surfaces of the liver to the right of the falciform, the left superior surface to the left of the falciform, and the inferior surfaces as well. Isolated deposits of tumor can be electroFig. 3.5 Right subphrenic peritonectomy: (1) The falciform ligament is divided at its attachment to the superior surface of the liver till (2) its reflection on the the diaphragm; (3) The dissection is then carried onto the diaphragm moving from below upwards or coming down from the edge of the abdominal incision stripping the peritoneum in the central region. The inferior vena cava and right hepatic vein are exposed in the process and safeguarded; (4) The dissection continues laterally



vaporated or dissected off. Once all diseased capsule is released from liver parenchyma, the specimen can be removed and sent to pathology. The liver is packed using a large sponge, and this is left in place for the remainder of the procedure. When required, the glissonectomy is always performed at the beginning of the surgical procedure in order to provide the longest delay before closure to ensure hemostasis and biliostasis. At the end of the CRS, a second look is performed to achieve thorough hemostasis and biliostasis. Before abdominal closure, a silicon drain is placed in the perihepatic space [94] (Fig. 3.6).

Posterolaterally, the dissection proceeds over the upper part of the Gerota's fascia and the adrenal, which constitute the base of the dissection. Medially, the peritoneum is divided off its attachment on the posterior surface of the liver retracting segments 6 and 7 medially to expose the inferior vena cava (Fig. 3.7). Care should be taken while retracing the liver to avoid lacerations/tears that may cause unwanted bleeding.

As the peritoneal reflection is divided, there is a risk of traumatizing the vena cava or the caudate lobe veins that pass between the vena cava and the segment 1 of the liver. Care should be exercised to avoid injury to these structures, which can cause significant bleeding.

The dissection then proceeds onto the inferior surface of the right lobe lateral to the gall bladder and the peritoneum overlying the anterior surface of the right kidney. The Glisson's capsule in this region may be removed if a glissonectomy is performed or left intact if it is not involved by tumor. The medial limit of dissection is the lateral edge of the hepatoduodenal ligament.

Complete mobilization of the right lobe should be done to look for minimal disease. Sometimes there is no visible disease on the area of the diaphragm that are exposed and not covered by the liver. Flimsy adhesions between the liver and the diaphragm may be indicative of disease in the unexposed areas of the diaphragm. Palpation of the liver surface and diaphragm may not be adequate in all cases to rule out presence of disease.

In cases of extensive infiltrative disease, there is contiguous involvement of the Glisson's capsule with infiltration of the underlying hepatic parenchyma. In such cases, the peritonectomy should be performed on all sides of the involved



Fig. 3.6 Digital glissonectomy. (a) The capsule is incised at one point to allow insertion of a finger and is then stripped off the liver surface. (b) The liver surface after removal of the tumor bearing Glission's capsule



Fig. 3.7 Right subphrenic peritonectomy. (a) Extensive tumor deposits over the right subphrenic peritoneum in a patient with low grade pseudomyxoma peritonei.

liver and the nonanatomic liver resection performed at the end to obtain complete tumor clearance. When the disease is close to the vascular structures, a vascular control should be obtained. The control of the porta hepatis is secured, and the infrahepatic vena cava is exposed. Dissection proceeds along the superior aspect of the vena cava till the posterior surface of the right hepatic

(b) Complete tumor clearance in the region exposing the right kidney, adrenal, and duodenum. The right lobe of the liver has been completely mobilized and retracted

vein is reached and the vein is looped and secured. Then the peritonectomy is commenced [95].

3.9.3 Left Subphrenic Peritonectomy

The dissection begins at the edge of the abdominal incision dissecting the epigastric fat and peritoneum

off the posterior sheath. It is then carried on to the undersurface of the left hemidiaphragm. One should be cautious in the central region where the peritoneum overlying the tendinous portion of the diaphragm is usually thin and the pericardial cavity is in close proximity. If the pericardium is opened, it needs to be repaired. Medially the dissection is carried out till the falciform ligament and the left lobe of the liver are mobilized during the process. The left hepatic vein can have a tortuous course in some patients and needs to be safeguarded. Moving more laterally, the abdominal esophagus and greater curvature of the stomach and spleen are encountered. If a splenectomy is planned, performing it before the left upper quadrant peritonectomy provides better exposure. Moreover, retraction of the spleen can be avoided which can lead to capsular tears that may cause unwanted bleeding. The dissection proceeds posterolaterally to separate the peritoneum off the entire diaphragmatic surface, the left adrenal, and the superior half of the perirenal fat. The splenic flexure of the colon is then mobilized, and the colon retracted inferiorly and medially. Once the peritonectomy is complete, the left adrenal, pancreas, and perinephric fat are clearly exposed. The anterior leaf of the transverse mesocolon is exposed [91].

3.9.4 Greater Omentectomy and Splenectomy

The infracolic portion of the greater omentum is dissected off the transverse colon, and the dissection then proceeds to remove the anterior layer of the peritoneum covering the transverse mesocolon. This layer may be thin and very flimsy especially when the tumor deposits are not extensive. The pancreatic capsule is removed in continuity. It may, however, be left behind in the absence of disease (Fig. 3.8). Once the pancreatic capsule is dissected off, the posterior layer of the lesser sac



Fig. 3.8 Greater omentectomy. (a) Deposits in the infracolic omentum with a normal looking supracolic portion; (b) Line of transection for starting a complete supracolic omentectomy; (c) An infracolic omentectomy has been performed—the dissection should commence at the attachment of the remaining omentum to the transverse colon and should follow the blue arrows to remove the anterior leaf of the. Directly dividing the omentum along the gastroepiploic arcade leads to

incomplete removal; (d) Incomplete supracolic omentectomy—anterior layer of the transverse mesocolon should be removed in all patients. The pancreatic capsule may be left behind if there is no tumor involvement. However, the lasser sac should be opened and the retrogastric space examined for the presence of tumor deposits; (e) Tumor deposits over the pancreatic capsule and in the retrogastric space; (f) Complete removal of the greater omentum



Fig. 3.9 Greater omentectomy with preservation of the spleen: complete removal of the omentum results in infarction of the lower pole of the spleen as is seen in the picture

is reached. This layer should be divided to expose the retrogastric area, and unless this is done, deposits in this region may be missed. The greater omentectomy is completed by dividing the branches of the gastroepiploic arcade to the greater curvature. If the omental disease isn't significant, the gastroepiploic arcade may be preserved. The short gastric vessels are divided next. A splenectomy is not performed unless it is involved (Fig. 3.9). During this process, the spleen should be manipulated carefully to avoid injury and damage to the pancreatic tail and splenic vessels. The heavy tumor seeding at the splenic hilum, posterior approach dividing the splenic vessels first, is employed. This prevents injury to the pancreatic tail [96]. Some authors have reported that splenectomy ameliorates the hematologic toxicity of HIPEC and reduces the requirement of growth factors and platelets [97].

3.9.4.1 Partial or Total Omentectomy?

The rationale for omentectomy and its extent have been elaborated by Celeen et al. According to them, in case of gross involvement of the greater omentum, omentectomy is warranted. The high risk of omental recurrence favors complete omentectomy as opposed to partial omentectomy, especially in colorectal carcinomatosis, where systemic chemotherapy is less efficacious as compared to ovarian cancer. When there is absence of macroscopic disease involving the omentum, the benefit of a complete as opposed to a partial omentectomy can be determined only by a randomized trial [60]. However, even in such a trial, it would be difficult to determine the extent of benefit due to the high incidence of recurrence in both colorectal and ovarian cancers. These investigators are of the opinion that such trail would require recruiting a large number of patients and have a non-inferiority design making it impossible to conduct, and hence, it is unlikely that some definite conclusion will be drawn in the future on this matter [60].

3.9.5 Lesser Omentectomy and Hepatoduodenal Ligament Clearance

The clearance of the hepatoduodenal ligament begins with a cholecystectomy. The gall bladder is approached by the fundus first method dissecting the cystic artery and the cystic duct and dividing them. The peritoneum over the gall bladder is maintained intact and then retracted over the portal structures which are carefully dissected using blunt or bipolar dissection (Figs. 3.10 and 3.11) [91]. When there is extensive disease, the cystic duct can be used to identify the correct plane. Medially, the lesser omentum is reached. The right gastric artery should be preserved as far as possible. The hepatogastric ligament is then divided at its attachment on the caudate lobe. An accessory or aberrant left hepatic artery may be present in this area which needs to be identified and preserved. If the artery is embedded in the tumor and or its preservation prevents clear exposure if the omental bursa, the artery can be divided close to the liver [91].

Superior clearance of the hepatogastric ligament requires mobilization of the left lateral segment of the liver by dividing the left triangular ligament. It is retracted to the right to expose the ligament completely. Along the lesser curve, blunt and sharp dissection is performed. The



Fig. 3.10 Lesser omentectomy and clearance of the lesser sac (omental bursa): (a) The lesser omentum in situ. (b) The smaller superior and larger inferior recess of the lesser sac. (c) Removal of the gall bladder and hepatoduodenal ligament; the arrow shows the foramen of Winslow which has been cleared. (d) Removal of the gastrohepatic ligament

vagus and left gastric vein should be preserved. This is important if the gastroepiploic arch has been divided. The tumor over the surface of the caudate lobe may be electroevaporated [91].

Once this dissection is completed, the caudate lobe is retracted to expose the floor of the omental bursa. Tumor deposits on the posterior surface of the caudate lobe and anterior surface of the inferior vena cava are removed. Medially the crus of the diaphragm is cleared off the tumor. A combination of blunt and bipolar dissection is used for the same. At this point the involvement of the subpyloric space is performed, and if required, a subtotal or distal gastrectomy is performed [91].

opens up the superior recess of the lesser sac that is completely cleared. This needs mobilization of the left lobe of the liver to completely resect the gastrohepatic ligament (not shown in the figure). The inferior recess needs to be approached superiorly and through the gastrocolic space from below as well

The umbilical ligament needs to be removed completely. It may be surrounded by a variable amount of hepatic parenchyma in the umbilical fissure. Sugarbaker has referred to this bridge as "pont hepatique"; in some cases the liver tissue is absent i.e. an absent or open hepatic bridge (Fig. 3.12) [98]. To clear deposits in the peritoneum surrounding the umbilical ligament, the hepatic bridge needs to be divided to expose the full length of the ligament. The left hepatic artery or one of its branches may be at risk of injury during the stripping of the peritoneum in the umbilical fissure, and special care needs to be taken to avoid it (Figs. 3.12 and 3.13).



Fig. 3.11 Clearance of the hepatoduodenal ligament – (a) Hepatoduodenal ligament laden with tumor in a patient with low grade pseudomyxoma peritonei; (b) Complete clearance of the tumour



Fig. 3.12 Absent hepatic bridge



Fig. 3.13 Foramen of Winslow exposed after complete tumor clearance in the region

3.9.6 Clearance of the Foramen of Winslow

A potential site for incomplete cytoreduction is the foramen of Winslow, especially the posterior aspect of the hepatoduodenal ligament. Residual tumor at this site is a prominent cause of unnecessary treatment failure in the management of patients with mucinous appendiceal neoplasms [99]. The foramen of Winslow is bounded posteriorly by the peritoneum covering the inferior vena cava, anteriorly by the peritoneum that covers the posterior surface of the portal triad, superiorly by the junction of the right and left caudate lobes of the liver, and inferiorly by the peritoneum covering the first portion of the duodenum. Peritonectomy of both the anterior and posterior aspects of the hepatoduodenal ligament can be performed comfortably for small-volume disease and low-grade tumors like PMP and cystic mesothelioma. The peritoneum is loosely attached to the portal structures, and detachment of the peritoneum from the liver may allow complete stripping of the peritoneum. However, more invasive large volume pseudomyxoma peritonei or mucinous neoplasms may be more adherent to portal triad structures, and there is a risk of injury to these structures [99].

Sugarbaker has described the Kocher maneuver can be used to rotate the duodenum, head of pancreas, and portal structures by 180°. By doing this, the foramen of Winslow is clearly exposed for peritonectomy. The peritoneum and natural adhesions securing the second portion of the duodenum to the perirenal fat are divided and elevated. Complete division of the adhesions at the superior aspect of this dissection will cause the foramen of Winslow to open completely (Fig. 3.13). Further right to left rotation of the duodenum and the head of the pancreas exposes the posterior aspect of the hepatoduodenal ligament. This also leads to complete opening of the most dependent part of the omental bursa, the subpyloric space [99].

Sugarbaker does not recommend this procedure for all patients as it opens up the retroperitoneal areas with the risk of tumor implantation in these areas. Rotation of the pancreas can lead to acute pancreatitis in rare cases. There is a risk of capsular injury which can also lead to pancreatitis that is a slow resolving process. He recommends that this procedure should be undertaken only after all the other peritonectomies are complete and the abdomen has been thoroughly irrigated with saline [99].

3.9.7 Pelvic Peritonectomy

Pelvic peritonectomy begins with the stripping of the peritoneum from the posterior surface of the lower anterior abdominal wall muscles in the midline to expose the rectus abdomens muscles. The dissection proceeds laterally till the psoas muscles are reached. The urachus is identified and held,

and the peritoneum is stripped off the surface of the urinary bladder [91]. At the bladder dome, the peritoneum is relatively thin and adherent to the muscle. The correct plane needs to be identified to avoid inadvertent opening of the bladder. The peritoneum is loosely attached over the trigonal area and in absence of disease can be dissected off by blunt or sharp dissection. The inferior limit in females is the cervix at the level of the vesicouterine fold, and in males it is the seminal vesicles at the level of the rectovesical fold. Laterally, the dissection proceeds centripetally once more where the peritoneum dissected off the psoas and off the external iliac vessels and ureter. The connective tissue around the ureter should be preserved to prevent ischemic injury (Fig. 3.14).

The round ligaments of the uterus are divided extraperitoneally on either side, and the ureters are dissected away from the peritoneum. The ovarian vessels are ligated at the lower pole of the kidney on either side.

In females, the deeper dissection in the pelvis proceeds extraperitoneally to expose the uterine vessels that are ligated at the point where they cross the ureters [58]. The bladder is dissected away from the cervix and the vagina. The vaginal cuff is divided circumferentially and the rectovaginal septum is exposed. The perirectal fat is divided beneath the pelvic peritoneal reflection in the pouch of Douglas (POD) so that all the tumor in this region is removed intact with the specimen [100].



Fig. 3.14 Pelvic peritonectomy completed. Preservation of the connective tissue around the ureters avoid ischemic damage to the ureters

An evaluation of the involvement of the rectosigmoid is now performed, and if it is to be resected, the rectum is mobilized by dividing the mesorectal fascia. The inferior mesenteric artery is ligated and divided, and the sigmoid colon can be stapled off at the required level. When there is involvement of the wall of the rectosigmoid, the removal of the mesentery should also be performed as the nodes may harbor metastatic disease as well [91].

The rectal musculature is skeletonized, and the rectum is transected at the desired level using a stapler, thus completing the pelvic peritonectomy. If the rectal wall and serosa is spared of metastases, the pelvic peritoneum can be divided along the lateral border of the mesorectum and along the reflection onto the anterior surface of the rectum to complete the pelvic peritonectomy.

Though bowel anastomoses are generally performed after HIPEC, the vaginal stump needs to be repaired before HIPEC to prevent leakage of the chemotherapy solution through the vaginal opening [91].

3.9.8 Small Bowel and Mesentery

Tumor deposits over the small bowel and its mesentery are removed by electrovaporization or using scissors. The underlying vessels need to be safeguarded. Electroevaporation of bowel surface nodules can lead to fistula formation, and the same must be used cautiously. Sugarbaker et al. have classified small bowel involvement into five types based on the extent of invasion, the size of the tumor nodule, and its anatomic location on the bowel wall (Figs. 3.15 and 3.16) [101].

Type 1: Noninvasive nodules that can be removed with a curved Mayo scissors. These nodules can be seen in aggressive tumors where the nodules are very small and have not invaded past the peritoneum because of their small size. Large nodules arising from low-grade PMP and low-grade mesothelioma also fall into this category due to their noninvasive nature. These can be electroevaporated as well. Type 2: Small invasive nodules on the antimesenteric portion of the small bowel. These involve only the seromuscular layer and require partial-thickness bowel wall resection. The seromuscular layer should be repaired in these cases.

Type 3: Moderately sized invasive nodules on the antimesenteric portion of the small bowel which require a full-thickness elliptical resection of the bowel wall.

Type 4: Small invasive nodules at the junction of the small bowel and its mesentery, if possible, can be removed without damaging the vascular supply, and segmental bowel resection could be avoided. Others require a segmental resection.

Type 5: Large invasive nodules which require a segmental resection with a generous margin of bowel and mesentery on either side.

3.10 Resection of Contiguous Structures and Viscera

In some cases, though the disease is extensive, a complete cytoreduction is warranted, and these patients usually require resection of multiple viscera and one or more segments of the bowel.

Sacrificing large segments of the small bowel that leads to a remnant of 2 m is often the limiting factor for achieving a complete CRS. When the remnant is smaller than 2 m, patients require total parenteral nutrition. When the total colectomy is required, at least 3 m of small bowel needs to be preserved, and if the colonic remnant is less than 30–50 cm, at least 2.5 m should be preserved [102].

3.10.1 Full-Thickness Diaphragm Resection

There may be superficial or full-thickness infiltration of the diaphragmatic muscle necessitating resection of the full thickness of the muscle. The resection is performed with electrocautery of Mayo scissors, and the defects are repaired with absorbable or nonabsorbable interrupted sutures.



Fig. 3.15 Bowel and mesenteric deposits. (a) Type 1 deposit that can be excised with Mayo scissors or electrocautery; (b) Multiple noninvasive deposits (Type 1) that can be completely excised; (c) Extensive infiltrative

deposits (Type 4), complete cytoreduction is unlikely; (d) Single infiltrative deposit (Type 4), requires segmental bowel resection

[95]. The use of prosthetic materials is usually not required. A chest tube should be used in case of large rents or multiple rents.

3.10.2 Partial/Total Gastrectomy

The presence of tumor around the stomach/and or involvement of the left gastric artery may necessitate a total or a partial gastrectomy. Mucinous tumor that enters the lesser sac through the foramen of Winslow will accumulate by gravity in the subpyloric space which is a culde-sac beneath the pylorus [85]. For complete cytoreduction mucinous tumor accumulation in the subpyloric space must be cleared.

If there is tumor accumulation in the subpyloric space and the left gastric artery can be preserved, a complete cytoreduction can be achieved without gastrectomy. In other cases, complete



Fig. 3.16 Classification of bowel surface deposits as proposed by Sugarbaker (adapted from reference 101). (a) Noninvasive deposits (Type 1) that can be excised with Mayo scissors or electrocautery; (b) Small invasive deposits (Type 2) on the antimesenteric surface that require resection for the seromuscular layer. It is repaired before or after HIPEC; (c) Moderate-sized invasive



Fig. 3.17 CT scan showing extensive infiltrative deposits encasing the body of the stomach that will require a total gastrectomy for complete cytoreduction in that region

tumor clearance requires a partial or total gastrectomy [102] (Fig. 3.17).

Sugarbaker initially used a staged procedure performing a high jejunostomy to drain the

deposits (Type 3) on the antimesenteric surface that require full-thickness resection of a portion of the circumference of the bowel wall; (d) Small invasive deposits (Type 4) on the mesenteric side that require segmental bowel resection; (e) Large invasive deposits (Type 5) on the mesenteric side that require segmental bowel resection

enteric secretions followed by a Roux-en-Y anastomosis few months later [95]. Recent studies have shown that in experienced centers, immediate restoration of gastrointestinal continuity is feasible and safe [103, 104].

In a review of 1014 patients of PMP by Moran et al., 12% of the patients received a total or partial gastrectomy. The morbidity was significantly higher in patients undergoing a gastrectomy (31% vs. 13%; p = 0.001), but there was no difference in the mortality. Patients requiring a gastrectomy experienced a good long-term survival (5-year DFS 48% and 5-year OS OF 77%) though this was significantly inferior to that in patients not requiring a gastrectomy.

Yonemura et al. reported the results of performing a total gastrectomy and total colectomy in 48 patients with a median PCI of 33. Grade 3–5 complications were seen in 18 (37.5%) patients, and the mortality was 2.1% [105]. Patients who had staged resections had an acceptable quality of life. A total gastrectomy should not be performed in patients who have undergone extensive small bowel resection.

A Roux-en-Y jejunal loop should be used for reconstruction performing an end-side esophagojejunal and jejuno-jejunal anastomoses.

Contrary to these reports, Elias et al. do not recommend a total gastrectomy for patients with PMP stating that these patients require extensive small bowel resection that precludes maintaining a good nutritional status and quality of life [102].

They recommend the following strategy to deal with high-volume disease in patients with PMP requiring gastric resection:

- Preservation of the proximal one-third of the stomach
- Preservation of at least 3 m of the small bowel if a total colectomy is required
- Preservation of at least 2.5 of the small bowel if the length of the remnant colon is <30–50 cm

Their three step approach is as follows:

Step 1—To ensure an adequate length of the small bowel is preserved. Clearance of the bowel of tumor deposits is performed as described above.

Step 2—Preserving the proximal one-third of the stomach.

When a tumor mass encasing the antrum and involving the subpyloric space is found, the left gastric vessels should be dissected off the mass. Prior to preservation of the left gastric vessels, the gastroepiploic arcade should not be excised. In case of inadvertent injury to the left gastric artery, the stomach can still be preserved. The mucinous mass in the omental bursa is transected exposing the posterior wall of the stomach. Careful dissection along the lesser curve dividing the branches of the left gastric vessels supplying the tumor and preserving those supplying the normal stomach is performed till the vessels are dissected off the tumor completely [102]. Step 3—To ensure complete clearance of the hepatic pedicle and the caudate lobe.

The retropancreatic portion of the IVC is dissected off the tumor for 10-12 cm. The mass encasing the hepatoduodenal ligament is transected horizontally exposing the surfaces of the bile duct and hepatic artery. Thirdly, a vertical incision is performed splitting the tumor in two parts like we would open a book. This incision follows the anterior surface of the bile duct and the hepatic artery. The cystic artery and the cystic duct are divided to separate the tumor that surround the gall bladder from the hepatic pedicle. The hepatic artery, the bile duct, and then the vena porta are looped and gently retracted, and the tumor is dissected off these structures. The tumor mass that has already been separated from the left gastric vessels is now dissected off the caudate lobe [102].

3.10.3 Colectomy

Resection of the right or transverse colon is often required in patients with extensive omental deposits or bowel surface/mesenteric deposits. In cases of more extensive disease, a total or subtotal colectomy may be required. A right hemicolectomy may not be necessary for dealing with an appendiceal primary in patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei [107].

3.10.4 Resection of the Rectosigmoid Colon

Resection of the rectosigmoid colon is often necessary to achieve a complete cytoreduction. Hertel et al. showed that in patients with advanced ovarian cancer, with suspected rectal serosal involvement, 73% of the patients had residual disease when a rectosigmoid resection was not performed with a pelvic peritonectomy [108]. A stapled end-to-end tension-free anastomosis is performed. When the anastomosis is above the peritoneal reflection, a temporary ileostomy can be avoided. Sugarbaker has described the technique of inverting the stapled anastomosis with a layer of interrupted silk sutures, and avoiding a temporary ileostomy that provided 10–15 cm of the rectum is preserved [109].

Several studies have shown that it does not increase the morbidity of CRS and not all cases require a diverting ileostomy [109–113]. Care should be taken to avoid the left ureter and the vaginal stump in females while performing a stapled anastomosis. In a series of 958 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC from Basingstoke, 34.5% of the patients required a stoma for achieving complete CRS of which 25% of the patients had a permanent stoma. All temporary stomas in this series were subsequently reversed [114]. In some patients, the authors performed an end ileostomy with a low Hartmann's procedure to achieve a complete cytoreduction or maximal tumor debulking. Such stomas were permanent. The indication for a permanent stoma was generally due to the extent of the disease; the other factors that were taken into consideration were the age, general health, comorbidities, and impaired sphincter function.

3.10.5 Diverting Stoma: Pros and Cons

A diverting stoma is performed after rectal resection to protect the rectal anastomosis. Though in most cases this anastomosis is at the level of the midrectum, a stoma is still performed considering the extensive nature of the surgery and the use of HIPEC. Performing a stoma in these cases can have technical difficulties due to bowel edema that sets in toward the end of the procedure and in obese patients [109]. Stoma reversal itself can have complications as is seen in patients with rectal cancer. A complication rate of 7-20% has been reported for stoma reversal surgery that includes anastomotic leaks [115, 116]. De Cuba et al. reported a morbidity rate of 67% in 21 patients undergoing stoma reversal following CRS and HIPEC though there were no life-threatening complications or mortality [117]. On the contrary, the morbidity in the series from Basingstoke was low. In an interim analysis of the PRODIGE 7, the rate of gastrointestinal fistulas was higher in the HIPEC group as compared to the non-HIPEC group. Though this difference did not reach statistical significance, fistulas occurred even in the presence of a diverting ostomy. The presence of a stoma did not prevent fistulas but reduced the incidence of peritonitis. Hence, the authors recommend that a protective ostomy should be performed in case of more than two areas of intestinal stiches, in case of more than two bowel anastomoses, or in case of rectal resection (unpublished data; personal communication with Francois Quenet). This highlights the benefits of performing a diverting stoma which cannot be offset by the risk of complications that may arise from subsequent procedures.

3.10.6 Distal Pancreatectomy

A distal pancreatectomy may be required in patients with involvement of the distal pancreas with or without splenic hilar involvement and pancreatic capsule involvement or due to iatrogenic injuries [118]. Such a procedure may increase the morbidity and fistula formation but it does not increase the morbidity rate. Such procedures are best performed in expert centers [119, 120]. In patients with ovarian cancer, morbidity caused by pancreatic fistula may cause a delay in starting adjuvant chemotherapy [121].

3.10.7 Hepatic Resection

Liver involvement can occur synchronously with peritoneal involvement. Intraparenchymal metastases must be distinguished from surface deposits that are infiltrative and require non-anatomical liver resections. Intraparenchymal metastases are surrounded by a rim of normal liver tissue on all sides. When the involvement of the liver and peritoneum is both limited, a synchronous resection of the PM and LM can be carried out. The two common conditions in which synchronous resection of peritoneal and liver metastases is performed are colorectal cancer and ovarian cancer.

In patients with ovarian cancer, synchronous resection of intraparenchymal liver metastases

has been performed with CRS, especially in patients with solitary liver metastases [122, 123]. In patients with both advanced and recurrent ovarian cancers, resection of one or more liver metastases has been performed with CRS with good long-term survival [124–132]. The goal of such resections should be to resect the liver lesions with a negative margin. Several retrospective studies have reported an acceptable morbidity and mortality for such combined resections. The common prognostic factors reported in these studies were optimal CRS <1 cm residual disease, negative resection margins, disease-free interval >12 months, fewer number of liver metastases, and fewer sites of disease. Major hepatic resections have also been performed with acceptable morbidity and a benefit in survival [133, 134].

Colorectal on the other hand represents a more aggressive disease, and the presence of simultaneous liver and peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer has been considered a contraindication for aggressive treatment of either [135– 138]. However several studies have shown that when synchronous resection of PM and LM with HIPEC is performed, a survival similar to patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC for PM alone can be achieved [138-141]. A PCI of <12 and up to 3 easily resectable metastases are the limiting criteria for such procedures. The patients should have a good performance status, a CC-0 resection of the peritoneal metastases should be possible, and there should be no invasion of the hepatic hilum, vena cava, or hepatic veins. In such procedures, the CRS is performed first. Once a complete removal of the peritoneal tumor deposits is obtained, the liver resection is performed.

Techniques for safe resection like the selective use of portal triad clamping, an emphasis on maintaining low intravascular volumes during parenchymal transection, and meticulous hemostasis and biliostasis should be employed [142].

3.10.8 Urological Procedures

Direct metastasis to the urogenital tract is rare and has only been described in case reports or small case series [143]. In contrast, primary tumor in-growth or locoregional or peritoneal metastases is more frequent [144]. Ureteric involvement in particular is higher in patients with recurrent disease and prior non-definitive surgeries due to implantation of tumor in the retroperitoneum which subsequently encases the ureter [145]. It has been reported in patients with less invasive disease like low-grade PMP as well. However, in these patients it is the prior surgery that creates a breach in the peritoneal lining and subsequent involvement of structures like the distal ureters, the dome of the bladder, and the vesicorectal space. At times, the involvement of these structures is detected on preoperative imaging, and such a procedure is planned preoperatively. In other cases, the tumor could be adherent to these structures, and it's difficult to distinguish malignant involvement from inflammatory adhesions [146]. A frozen section may not be of much help in such cases [146].

Some patients with limited disease may require a resection of kidneys, ureters, or bladder, like nephrectomy, partial cystectomy, and resection of a segment of the ureter, to attain a complete cytoreduction [144, 147]. A total cystectomy in this context is not recommended as it offers no oncological benefit. One small study reported increase morbidity with such procedures-the incidence of bowel fistulas and intra-abdominal abscesses was reported to be significantly higher though it was attributed to the extent of bowel resection rather than the urological procedure itself. The reported incidence of urinary fistulas ranges from 5 to 71%. In one study, a PCI > 30and severe preoperative malnutrition were the factors associated with a high rate of fistula formation. Several other studies do not report an increased morbidity with such procedures [147–149].

3.10.9 Resection of Ovaries

A pelvic peritonectomy entails removal of the uterus and the ovaries. It is impossible to completely strip the peritoneum off the ovaries, and hence removal is essential to attain a complete cytoreduction. Ovarian metastases are common in patients with colorectal PM. Synchronous ovarian metastases (OM) are reported in 1-9% of the women undergoing surgical resection of a primary CRC, and metachronous OM occur in 1–7% [150, 151]. Verwaal et al. recommended that a bilateral oophorectomy should be performed for all patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC [151]. Patients with OM and PM have a similar OS and DFS when treated with CRS and HIPEC [152]. Women undergoing this treatment may not have completed their families and may be desirous of a future pregnancy. Of interest is the fact that in colorectal cancer, stromal involvement as opposed to capsular involvement is seen in majority of the patients indicative to hematogenous spread [152]. Elias et al. evaluated the feasibility of ovarian preservation in 106 women aged less than 41 years undergoing CRS and HIPEC for PM [153]. Oophorectomy was done:

- 1. When the ovary was macroscopically involved with tumor
- In case of clinical suspicion for tumor involvement based on intraoperative macroscopic inspection (presence of superficial tiny granulations or cysts)
- 3. Systematically (contralateral oophorectomy) in patients who had previous unilateral oophorectomy at the time of initial surgery due to macroscopic involvement of one ovary, while the other macroscopically normal-appearing ovary was left in place
- When hysterectomy was needed due to tumor extent
- 5. In women who clearly did not want future pregnancy

Based on their findings, they recommend that a bilateral oophorectomy should be performed in all women who have suspicious involvement of both ovaries, when a hysterectomy is needed, and in women who do not wish to have any more children. In women who have metastases in one ovary, the risk of contralateral ovarian metastases is 46%, and a bilateral oophorectomy is recommended in these women as well. In women with grossly normal ovaries, the risk of occult metastases is 17%, and the risk of future metastases to the ovary is over 50%. They recommend conservation of ovaries in some of these patients though pregnancy following CRS and HIPEC in patients with CPM has not been reported in literature [146, 154].

The team from Basingstoke have devised a new strategy for young women with low-grade PMP with pelvic involvement who are desirous of preserving fertility. [158]. This involves a laparoscopic procedure aimed at staging of disease extent; in cases with relatively limited mucinous disease (pelvic mucin with limited or no extrapelvic disease), an appendicectomy is performed, and the abdominal and pelvic cavity is irrigated and copiously washed out with water, with stripping of disease off the peritoneal surface of the pelvis and the surface of the ovaries, till both the pelvis and the ovaries are macroscopically free of disease. In their experience, many of these women present with infertility. During a 12-year period, 884 women were referred to their center, of which 21 (2.5%) were under 45 years old, childless, potentially capable of having children, but highly likely to be rendered infertile due to CRS and HIPEC (unpublished data) [155].

Of the four women who were treated in this manner, a histological examination of the appendix demonstrated a low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm (LAMN) in all patients; the pelvic disease consisted of acellular mucin in two patients and low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei in the remaining two. All four patients successfully conceived subsequently and gave birth to full-term healthy babies with only one requiring in vitro fertilization. One patient underwent a cesarean section, at which time no pelvic disease was found. One patient underwent a repeat laparoscopy to evaluate a trace amount of pelvic fluid demonstrated on follow-up imaging; during this procedure, no intra-abdominal or pelvic mucinous disease was identified. At the last follow-up (12-29 months postsurgery), all women were well with no radiological or (in one case) laparoscopic evidence of disease recurrence and normal tumor markers. These patients are under active surveillance, and CRS and HIPEC will be performed on disease progression [155].

3.10.10 Pelvic Exenteration

Provided the peritoneum has not been breached, even with heavy tumor burden in the pelvis, it is possible to preserve the lower rectum and the bladder trigone and thus the need for sacrificing either of these structures does not arise. In recurrence form gynecological malignancies, there may be vaginal vault deposits or deposits in the pouch of Douglas which infiltrate the bladder and/or the rectum and necessitate resection of either of these structures. A total pelvic exenteration is associated with a significant morbidity and negative impact on the quality of life, and some investigators do not recommend performing CRS and HIPEC when a pelvic exenteration is required. There are no studies evaluating the role of such a procedure probably because many consider it to be an exclusion criterion. There are reports in which cystectomy with urinary diversion has been performed as a part of CRS, and HIPEC has been performed as well. These procedures have a significant morbidity. In some patients who have had one or more attempts at debulking, the pelvic peritoneum may be breached leading to implantation of tumor in the mesorectum/perirectal fat and on the wall of the mid and lower rectum. It may be impossible to perform a low rectal anastomosis in these patients, and they require an abdominoperineal resection or Hartmann's procedure with an end ileostomy/colostomy.

3.11 Morbidity of Multivisceral Resection

The impact of the extent of surgery on morbidity has been studied by several investigators. The number of organs resected, the number of peritonectomies, and the number of bowel anastomosis are some of the parameters used to evaluate the extent of the surgery. An increasing number of peritonectomies and two or more bowel anastomosis both increased the morbidity, whereas the number of organs resected did not. Several studies have shown that two or more bowel anastomoses have a significant impact on morbidity of patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC [156–158]. An increasing number of peritonectomies also increase the morbidity [159, 160]. Only the number of anastomoses seems to have an impact on morbidity, not the number of organs resected [160].

3.12 Patient Selection for CRS and HIPEC/Prognostic Indicators

Over the years, there has been a reduction in the morbidity of CRS and HIPEC, and this has been attributed largely to better patient selection. There is a risk of inflicting excessive morbidity without a survival benefit if appropriate patients are not selected for the procedure [161]. Rapid recurrence can occur in the peritoneum itself or at other sites when such procedures are undertaken in patients with extensive disease thus, putting them at an increased risk of morbidity without a benefit in survival. Quantitative prognostic indicators have been defined that can predict the likely benefit of CRS and HIPEC in a given patients, and these should be employed for patient selection [162]. These indicators are histopathology, imaging findings, peritoneal cancer index (PCI), and the completeness of cytoreduction score (CCR) [162, 163]. All patients need evaluation by a multidisciplinary team comprising of surgeon, medical oncologist, anesthesiologist, intensivist, radiologist, and pathologist.

3.12.1 Histopathology

There are two important aspects—the histological subtype and the tumor grade.

3.12.1.1 Tumor Grade

In PMP arising from appendiceal tumors, lowgrade tumors have a better long-term outcome as compared to high-grade tumors with or without signet ring cells [162, 163]. The same is not seen in high-grade malignancies like colorectal cancer and gastric cancer where the grade does not have an impact on survival [164]. But even in these tumors, the presence of signet ring cells is a poor prognostic factor.

3.12.1.2 Histological Subtype

In peritoneal mesotheliomas, histopathology has a strong impact on survival results, and the epithelioid subtype do better than the biphasic or sarcomatoid subtype [165]. The outcomes seem to be better for mucinous adenocarcinoma than for the other types. In a retrospective analysis of the Netherlands Cancer Registry, PM of mucinous adenocarcinoma had a median survival of 10.9 months vs. 7.4 months for adenocarcinoma vs. 6.6 months for signet ring histology (p < 0.0001) [166]. Multiple retrospective analyses have shown that the overall survival in signet ring histology PM patients undergoing CS/ HIPEC is dramatically worse than other subtypes, with median survival ranging 12-14 months and 5-year survival rates of 0–7% [135, 167]. In fact, in both the PSDSS and the colorectal peritoneal metastases prognostic surgical score (COMPASS), signet ring cell histology has been given special consideration signifying poorer outcomes [168].

3.12.2 Imaging

Imaging studies for the cornerstone of evaluating patients for CRS and HIPEC.

There are three main goals of performing an imaging study:

- To rule out distant metastases
- To look of signs of inoperability and exclude such patients from surgery
- To quantify the extent of disease in terms of a "predicted PCI"

The commonly used modalities are a contrastenhanced CT scan of the thorax, abdomen, and pelvis, a contrast-enhanced MRI with diffusionweighted imaging, and a PET-CT scan. The common limitations of all imaging modalities are:

- Limited sensitivity in detecting small tumor nodules
- Inaccuracy in detecting disease at certain anatomical sites, like the small bowel and its mesentery

 Lack of radiological expertise for interpreting the findings [169]

A contrast-enhanced CT scan of the thorax abdomen and pelvis is the standard investigation used for evaluating patients prior to surgery, both for evaluating the disease extent and excluding metastatic spread [170, 171]. The sensitivity of helical CT for peritoneal tumors < 1 cm was found to be only 25–50% compared with 85-95% for larger tumor deposits [172]. The preoperative CT scan can underestimate the extent of disease in up to 33% of the patients [173]. In recent studies MRI has been reported to be more accurate for detecting <1 cm nodules by some authors, while others have found no difference [174, 175]. MRI also has the advantage of providing a combination of functional and morphological imaging and provides a better contrast resolution. MRI requires up to 6 h of fasting and a stringent protocol. The results are also dependent on the expertise of the interpreter [175]. PET or PET-CT scans may add some more information in this direction by detecting extra-abdominal (mediastinal supraclavicular) lymphadenopathy, predicting the pathology grade and informing on the probability of complete CRS in patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei [176].

However, a PET-CT does not add to the information provided by a good-quality CT regarding the disease extent [177]. For PM from mucinous tumors, there are two CT scan findings predictive incomplete cytoreduction-segmental of an obstruction of the small bowel and presence of tumor nodules greater than 5 cm in diameter on small bowel surfaces or directly adjacent to small bowel mesentery. The greatest limitation of a CT scan is in detecting tumor nodules smaller than 5 mm in size, especially on the bowel surfaces [178]. Carcinomatosis with implants less than 5 mm would not be imaged or would be underestimated in their distribution, especially in patients with postoperative changes [179]. All 533 eligible patients underwent a CT. A total of 449 patients also underwent FDG-PET/CT, and 510 **Table 3.3** Radiological features associated with anincreased likelihood of incomplete cytoreduction(Adapted from reference [83] with permission)

Small bowel and its mesentery
Bowel obstruction of partial obstruction at more than one site
Mesentery drawn together by tumor (clumped bowel)
Infiltrative tumor deposits between the folds of the mesentery
Tumor >4 cm in the jejunal region
CT PCI >20 (excluding PMP, cystic mesothelioma, and low malignant potential ovarian tumors)
Retroperitoneum
Mesenteric or para-aortic lymphadenopathy
Hydroureter
Psoas muscle invasion
Pelvis
Pelvic side wall involvement
Seminal vesicle involvement
Hepatoduodenal and hepatogastric ligaments
Tumor involving the porta hepatis and/or bile duct obstruction
Tumor >5 cm in the gastrohepatic ligament or subpyloric space
Gastric outlet obstruction
Ascites
Hemorrhagic ascites
Serous ascites in a patients with a gastrointestinal primary tumor

patients underwent an abdominal-pelvic MRI. Despite our imaging protocol, imaging reports failed to alert the surgeon to the presence of unresectable peritoneal lesions in 16% of patients.

Sugarbaker et al. have described 15 radiological features on CT scan that may be associated with an increasing incidence of incomplete CRS (Table 3.3) [83].

Several imaging-based scores have been developed to predict complete resectability for different disease sites.

3.12.3 Peritoneal Cancer Index (PCI)

The peritoneal cancer index (PCI) provides a quantitative assessment of the extent of peritoneal disease in the abdomen and pelvis [180]. It integrates the size of peritoneal implants and distribution of nodules on the peritoneal surface (Fig. 3.18). The abdomen and pelvis are divided into 13 regions, and for each of these 13 regions, a lesion size (LS) score is determined. The LS score grades lesions as LS-0 score when there are no malignant deposits, LS-1 for tumor nodules <<0.5 cm, LS-2 for tumor nodules between 0.5 and 5.0 cm, and an LS-3 score that signifies



Fig. 3.18 Sugarbaker's peritoneal cancer index (PCI)

tumor nodules >5.0 cm in any dimension or confluent nodules or layering of tumor. It is the size of the largest nodule and not the number of nodules that is considered. The scores of all the regions are summed up in the PCI. Thus, a minimum score of 1 and a maximum of $39 (3 \times 13)$ is possible [180].

The PCI is an independent predictor of both morbidity and overall survival-a higher PCI has a negative impact on both. This has been demonstrated in patients with colorectal, ovarian, and gastric peritoneal metastases [180-182]. In patients with colorectal PM when the predicted PCI is >17-20, CRS and HIPEC should not be offered; similarly for gastric cancer, this cutoff is a predicted PCI of 12 [180, 181]. For recurrent ovarian cancer, a PCI > 8 was associated with an inferior survival though this is not used as an absolute contraindication. Even in low-grade disease like PMP and mesothelioma where CRS and HIPEC are performed irrespective of the extent of disease so long as a complete cytoreduction can be obtained, a higher PCI is a predictor of a poorer long-term outcome. Though the prognostic impact is less and can be offset by complete CRS, PCI is an independent predictor of overall survival even in these patients [182]. There are certain situations in which the PCI is low, but there is presence of invasive tumor deposits at crucial anatomic sites like the common bile duct, the base of the bladder, or the pelvic side wall. The presence of residual unresectable disease at crucial anatomic sites overrides the favorable effect on the prognosis of low PCI score [91].

The BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE working PeRitOneal groups have developed the MalIgnancy Stage Evaluation (PROMISE) internet application (www.e-promise.org) to facilitate tabulation and automatically calculate the peritoneal cancer index (PCI). This application offers computer assistance to produce simple, quick but precise, and standardized pre-, intra-, and postoperative reports of the extent of peritoneal metastases. Not only the peritoneal metastases but other aspects like peritoneal thickening, involvement of adipose tissue, and fluid density are taken into consideration in this application. It can be used by less experienced centers as well and can help in research and multicentric studies related to peritoneal metastases [183]. Radiologists have dedicated screens for each imaging modality. Each screen is designed with the same presentation as the surgical fields but also with specific radiological fields taking into account the different imaging modality parameters (apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) for diffusion MRI, standard uptake value (SUV) for 18 FDG PET-CT).

Because the PROMISE application has also been designed to allow translational approaches, very precise PCI correlations between radiological, surgical, and pathological findings can be performed. Taking into account the spatial and contrast resolutions of each radiological modality, and the etiology of the peritoneal disease, surgical correlations including the quadrant but also the involved structure and the type of peritoneal lesion (peritoneal implants, peritoneal thickening, fat infiltration) can be performed to assess the accuracy of each imaging modality and help to determine the best imaging modality to accurately calculate the radiological PCI and improve detection of nonresectable lesions. Histopathological findings such as posttherapeutic fibrotic tissue and residual cellularity can be correlated with surgical findings as well as functional imaging to better assess response to treatment [183].

3.12.4 Completeness of Cytoreduction Score (CC Score)

The completeness of cytoreduction score is used for classifying the completeness of cytoreduction [184]. A CC-0 score indicates that no visible peritoneal seeding exists following the cytoreduction; a CC-1 score indicates that tumor nodules persisting after cytoreduction are <2.5 mm. Tumor nodules that are smaller than 2.5 mm can be dealt with intraperitoneal chemotherapy, and hence CC-1 is also classified as a complete cytoreduction. A CC-2 score refers to residual tumor measuring 2.5 mm–2.5 cm; and a CC-3 score refers to residual tumor nodules >2.5 cm or a confluence of unresectable tumor nodules at any site within the abdomen or pelvis. CC-2 and CC-3 cytoreductions are considered incomplete. Stricter criteria for complete cytoreduction are required for high-grade non-mucinous neoplasms; a complete cytoreduction is restricted to resection to absolutely no visible evidence of disease. The CC score is a major prognostic indicator for PM from colorectal cancer, ovarian cancer, gastric cancer, pseudomyxoma peritonei, and peritoneal mesotheliomas as shown by several large multi-institutional studies [181, 185, 186].

The drawback of this score is that it is available only after completion of the surgery. A surgeon must be able to predict the possibility of a complete cytoreduction with reasonable accuracy based on the preoperative evaluation [180]. This is important in both counseling patients about the procedure and excluding patients who are unlikely to have a CC-0/CC-1 resection. There is no benefit of CC-2/CC-3 resections in most patients, and such procedures should be avoided. There are selected patients in whom a palliative debulking can be done to provide symptomatic relief and/or prolong survival; the goal needs to be defined before undertaking the procedure [187, 188].

3.13 Other Prognostic Factors

3.13.1 Response to NACT: Clinical and Pathological Response

The improved survival in patients with PM can be attributed not just to CRS and HIPEC but also to the availability and use of more effective systemic therapies. Neoadjuvant systemic chemotherapy has been administered to patients with PM for the following possible benefits:

- To identify nonresponders who may not benefit from CRS as well
- To control the systemic disease
- To downstage the disease and increase the probability of a complete CRS

Passot et al. evaluated the prognostic impact of response to chemotherapy in 115 patients with colorectal PM [189]. The pathological response evaluation was based on the criteria used to evaluate the response in patients with colorectal LM receiving NACT and was based on the determination of the percentage of viable tumor cells with respect to the area of each nodule, independent of the presence of chemotherapy-related tissue injury, fibrosis, or necrosis. Three groups were created for statistical analysis: no residual cancer cells in all specimens (complete response), 1-49% residual cancer cells (major response), and 50% residual cancer cells (minor or no response; Fig. 3.1) [190, 191]. In patients with multiple specimens, a mean of values was used to define the pathological response. The complete response rate was 9.7%, close to the 10% reported for CLM. However, the major response rate was lower (20% vs. 36%) than for CLM, illustrating the lower response of peritoneal lesions to systemic chemotherapy compared with extraperitoneal metastases from colorectal cancers [192, 193].

The prognostic impact of pathological complete or near complete response was also seen in a Japanese study comprising of 142 patients, though it was not an independent predictor of survival. The classification used by the authors classified the response into four categories:

- Ef-0—No pathological response or response less than one-third of the tumor tissue.
- Ef-1—Cancer is detected in 1/3 to 2/3 of the tumor tissue.
- Ef-2—Absence of tumor cells in more than two-thirds of the tumor tissue.
- Ef-3—Complete disappearance of the cancer cells.

Eleven (7.9%) patients had a complete response (Ef-3), 13 (8.8%) patients had Ef-2 response, and 36 (25.7%) showed Ef-1 response. The other 82 (57.5%) had no response to preoperative systemic chemotherapy. These authors used this classification to evaluate the response to chemotherapy in patients with gastric cancer as well. In a study of 96 patients receiving multimodality neoadjuvant treatment comprising of systemic and intraperitoneal chemotherapy, com-
	Peritoneal regression grading score (PRGS)		
Grade	Tumor cells	Regression features	
PRGS-1	No tumor cells	Abundant fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/or infarct-like necrosis	
PRGS-2	Regressive changes predominant over tumor cells	Fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/or infarct-like necrosis predominant over tumor cells	
PRGS-3	Predominance of tumor cells	Tumor cells predominant over fibrosis and/or acellular mucin pools and/or infarct-like necrosis	
PRGS-4	Solid growth of tumor cells (visible at lowest magnification)	No regressive changes	

 Table 3.4
 The peritoneal regression grading score (From ref [196] with permission)

plete pathological response was seen in 30 (36.8%) patients, and pathological response to chemotherapy was an independent predictor of survival [194].

In a series of 34 patients with PM arising from appendiceal adenocarcinoma who received neoadjuvant systemic chemotherapy, 10 (29%) had a complete or near complete histological response, and patients showing complete response had a better overall survival [195]. Given the prognostic value of the pathological response to chemotherapy, Bibeau et al. proposed a generic score for the assessment of histological tumor response to chemotherapy in PM arising from various primary sites [196]. This four-tiered classification is described in Table 3.4.

They have also made recommendations for performing peritoneal biopsies.

According to their recommendations, at least four biopsies should be taken at suspect localizations (typically in the right upper quadrant, right lower quadrant, left upper quadrant, and left under quadrant), typically from tumor nodules. Peritoneal biopsies should have a diameter of at least 3 mm, ideally 5 mm. The use of a punch biopsy device is recommended to generate standardized samples. Additionally, a local peritonectomy of several square centimeters should be taken.

When CRS is performed, representative samples should be taken from surgical specimen.

In the cases a negative peritoneal histology is suspected, a peritoneal cytology is recommended.

3.13.2 Staging Laparoscopy/ Laparoscopic Score

Laparoscopy allows direct visualization of the peritoneal surfaces, small bowel, and its mesentery, and small tumor nodules missed on imaging can be detected on laparoscopy. The disadvantages are its inability to evaluate retroperitoneal structures like the ureters and pancreas, the omental bursa near the celiac axis, hepatic and splenic parenchymal metastases, and the depth of involvement of the hepatic pedicle and the diaphragm [197]. Fagotti et al. evaluated the role of laparoscopy in addition of a clinical and radiological evaluation in 65 patients undergoing laparotomy for advanced ovarian cancer. Optimal debulking was achieved in 34 of the 39 patients (87%) whose disease was judged completely resectable on the basis of laparoscopic findings. The overall accuracy rate of laparoscopy in predicting optimal cytoreduction was 90%. The same investigators came up with a predictive index value (PIV) based on objective parameters determined at pre-cytoreduction laparoscopy, the "Fagotti score" [198]. The score is a sum of the individual score of seven sites of disease. Patients with a score of ≥ 8 had a 100% chance of having a suboptimal/incomplete CRS. Each laparoscopic parameter used in the model was chosen not on the basis of a direct correlation with the chances of optimal cytoreduction, but rather to describe the intra-abdominal distribution of disease [198]. The score has been prospectively validated-at a PIV of ≥ 8 , the probability of optimal cytoreduction (residual tumor ≤ 1 cm) at laparotomy is 0 [199, 200]. While its sensitivity in detecting PC is approximately 100%, its accuracy in estimating PC resectability is lower. In a study of 533 patients by Mohkam et al., approximately half of the patients in both the resectable and unresectable groups had undergone staging laparoscopy, thus indicating that it did not help in patient selection [169]. Laparoscopy has its limitations and may not detect diffuse bowel involvement, mesentery retraction, and the extent of the disease in some anatomical areas, such as the retroperitoneal structures, the cardiophrenic angle, or the bladder neck [169]. Adhesions further limit the laparoscopic assessment. Some of the limitations can be overcome by hand-assisted laparoscopy and the use of laparoscopic ultrasound if it's available [197, 201].

3.13.3 Prior Non-definitive Surgical Procedures

3.13.3.1 Prior Surgical Score

The prior surgical score quantifies the extent of non-definitive surgery that was performed prior to CRS and HIPEC. Prior surgical score (PSS) ranged from 0 to 3 and looks at abdominal regions 0–8. PSS-0 indicates no prior surgery or only a biopsy, PSS-1 for surgery in one abdominal region only, PSS-2 for surgery in two to five regions, and PSS-3 for surgery in more than five regions [202]. The biopsy could be an open or laparoscopic biopsy, a CT-guided biopsy, or a paracentesis with cytology. The number of abdominopelvic regions is additive for all prior surgical procedures; hence, the PSS is a composite of all prior surgeries [91].

Sugarbaker has demonstrated that in most areas the peritoneum serves the first line of defense against peritoneal metastases and cancer does not spread to the connective tissue below the peritoneum at least in early stages of the disease [80]. The exceptions are the milky spots in the omenta, at the junction of the small bowel and its mesentery, the lacuna in the diaphragm, and naturally occurring raw areas on the surface of the ovary due to corpus hemorrhagic. The most common cause of breach in the peritoneum is prior debulking surgery that leads to the implantation of intraperitoneal tumor cells at the surgical resection sites, deep to the peritoneum. Tumor implanted in the scar tissue deep to the peritoneum may be impossible or difficult to remove by peritonectomy or eradicate by intraperitoneal chemotherapy [80]. Moreover there is formation of intra-abdominal adhesions that makes subsequent cytoreduction technically challenging. In a retrospective study of 83 patients, Chua et al. demonstrated that upfront treatment conferred a superior 5-year recurrence-free survival rate $(77\% \ vs. \ 37\%; \ p = 0.011)$ and 10-year overall survival benefit (67% vs. 35%; p = 0.054) [11]. A prior surgical score of >2 has a negative impact on both DFS and OS [186].

3.14 Contraindications to CRS and HIPEC

CRS and HIPEC is a major surgery for which the patient needs to have a good performance status and all other systemic illness should be under control. Uncontrolled chronic diseases are a contraindication to the procedure [203]. Age is not an absolute contraindication provided the patient is medically fit to undergo the procedure-the chemotherapy doses may need to be altered in some cases [203]. Apart from these, patient selection also depends on the disease extent (PCI) and the primary tumor site, e.g., a predicted PCI of >17–20 for colorectal cancer and >12 for gastric cancer would preclude a survival benefit, and CRS and HIPEC are not recommended for these patients [189, 190]. For patients with colorectal cancer and ovarian cancer, progression on neoadjuvant chemotherapy is not always a contraindication to CRS and HIPEC [204]. If complete cytoreduction can be obtained and disease extent is limited, the procedure may be of benefit. Involvement of the kidneys, ureter, and bladder is also not an absolutely contraindication provided complete tumor clearance can be attained and does not enhance the morbidity from the

procedure. However, a total cystectomy is not performed in the setting of CRS and HIPEC as it is not of oncological benefit. Multiple extraabdominal metastasis or massive suprarenal retroperitoneal lymph node involvement are absolute contraindications [205, 206]. Liver metastases may be a contraindication except in patients with colorectal and ovarian PM: for colorectal PM, up to three completely resectable metastases, and for ovarian cancer, the probability of complete cytoreduction and resection of liver metastases with a negative margin are the criteria used for patient selection [138, 139]. For conditions where there is no cutoff for PCI, the contraindications are:

- Extensive bowel resection that is likely to compromise the future quality of life, e.g., two or more sites of segmental small bowel obstruction, patients requiring a total gastrectomy with a total colectomy
- Involvement of the pancreas head, bladder trigone, and porta hepatis
- Massive or diffuse involvement of the pleural space [207]

3.15 Reiterative Procedures

Recurrence following initial CRS with HIPEC is not uncommon [208-210]. Recurrence can be localized or diffused and early (within 1 year) or late. A diffuse recurrence represents an aggressive disease biology or insensitivity of the tumor to intraperitoneal chemotherapy especially if the recurrence-free interval is short. This type of recurrence is associated with a poorer survival. Localized recurrence is probably due to tumor cell entrapment at the suture line or in adhesions and has a better prognosis [209]. There is no standard treatment for patients who recur following CRS and HIPEC [211]. In the recent years, repeat CRS and HIPEC have been performed in selected patients with an acceptable morbidity and mortality and favorable survival outcomes.

Recurrence can be diffused or localized. In some cases, the cause of recurrence is technical failure as in the subhepatic region which is a very difficult area to clear [212]. The rationale of a repeat CRS and HIPEC is the probability infrequent metastasis outside the peritoneal cavity, compressive rather than invasive behavior of the recurrent disease, relative sparing of small bowel, and a good response to intraperitoneal chemotherapy as shown by Sugarbaker et al. in one of the first published series of second-look surgery [213].

Considering each disease site specifically, reiterative procedures have shown benefit in patients with colorectal cancer, appendiceal pseudomyxoma peritonei, ovarian cancer, and peritoneal mesothelioma. The most important prognostic factors across all histologies are time to recurrence >1 year, limited PCI, and complete cytoreduction [214].

Patients must be carefully selected, based on the following criteria: origin of carcinomatosis, magnitude of first procedure, length of RFS, physiological age, comorbidity, and possibility of complete cytoreduction. Most publications of iterative procedures are monocentric studies from high-volume centers, and the grade 3–5 morbidity rates range from 33% to 42.7%, although it did not seem to increase the inhospital mortality rates [215–217].

Before performing a repeat procedure, the prior surgical details should be studied in detail. The surgeon should be aware of the peritonectomies and visceral resections that were performed. Any postoperative anastomotic leaks, fistulas, and wound dehiscence should be noted. These areas are more difficult to deal with especially after CRS and HIPEC. The retroperitoneal areas should be examined on imaging studies to rule out tumor involvement of these areas. If recurrence develops in areas that were not operated upon previously, it is comparatively easy to deal with those areas. When recurrence develops in operated areas, it is difficult to perform a complete adhesiolysis and evaluate the true extent of disease to begin with. The adhesions that form following a peritonectomy tend to be more dense. The bowel adheres to the exposed sheath muscles, and serosal tears are common while lysing these adhesions (Fig. 3.19). Bowel surface disease tends to be infiltrative requiring



Fig. 3.19 CT image showing diffuse recurrence in a patient with pseudomyxoma peritonei post-cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC. Tumor is infiltrating the anterior abdominal wall as well as the bowel wall

full-thickness resection of the bowel wall. Even low-grade tumor deposits could be surrounded by adhesions making it difficult to approach and completely resect them. The incision should extend from the xiphoid to the pubic symphysis, and all areas should be explored for presence of disease.

Though retroperitoneal tumor spread can be cleared completely, some microscopic disease is always left behind in these areas, resulting in a high probability of future recurrence in the same areas. This should be kept in mind while performing extensive resections.

3.16 Laparoscopic CRS and HIPEC

With each passing day there have been further advancements not only in the surgical skills but also the expectations of the patient. Laparoscopy can be used for diagnosis, triage, and debulking of peritoneal disease. For discussion, role of laparoscopy can be divided into three parts, viz.:

- 1. Staging laparoscopy.
- 2. Laparoscopic risk-reduction surgery.
- 3. Laparoscopic debulking/CRS.
 - (a) Staging laparoscopy is used to assess the PCI status and operability. Further definitive treatment is planned based on this triage. Staging laparoscopy has been discussed in detail in further chapters
 - (b) Laparoscopic risk-reducing surgery-Low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm (LAMN) is recognized as a precursor to disseminated pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP). LAMN I consists of disease confined to appendiceal lumen, while LAMN II is characterized by disease or even mucin involving the wall of appendix or periappendicial tissue. LAMN I needs surveillance only. In patients with LAMN II, there is a role for risk-reducing debulking surgery [218]. There is upcoming evidence to suggest that minimal access laparoscopic cytoreductive surgery with HIPEC is a safe alternative to open procedure however, with a smaller abdominal wound and comparable morbidity and inpatient stay. In a case series by Fish et al., ten patients with LAMN II underwent laparoscopic CRS, while seven open procedure. The umbilicus was excised, and a 10 mm balloon port was placed, and five other ports were placed. A complete adhesiolysis, bilateral oophorectomy, excision of the ligamentum teres, division of the hepatophrenic ligament, greater and lesser omentectomy, and cholecystectomy were done. A retrieval bag was used to get the specimen out of the umbilical defect. This was followed up with HIPEC. There were no conversions to open surgery; median procedure length, median length of stay, and complication rates were similar between groups; and there were no 30-day deaths. After 3 and 11 months median follow-up, respectively, no patients have evidence of disease progression. However, a longer follow-up is required to validate this as treatment of choice.

(c) For selected patients with limited disease extent (PCI < 10) and low PMP, laparoscopic CRS and HIPEC have been used with the goal of reducing the morbidity and hospital stay [219–221]. The reported conversion rates were low and improved with experience. Patient selection is important. In patients with recurrent ovarian cancer with limited peritoneal spread, laparoscopic CRS has been used with similar outcomes [222–225]. The drawbacks of this approach are difficulty in properly assessing certain areas like the small bowel mesentery, technical difficulty in obese patients and those with extensive prior surgery, the potential for dissemination of malignant cells (debatable), and prolonged operative times [221]. With growing experience, the utility of such procedures could increase specifically in patients with more extensive disease.

The minimally invasive approach has an important limitation; the evaluation of the disease extent is not as accurate as a conventional laparotomy. A preoperative CT scan combined with a staging laparoscopy should be used to determine the extent of disease, though the extent of disease is usually underestimated. Moreover, the laparoscopic assessment is often limited by the presence of adhesions, and this should be kept in mind when taking up patients for such procedures. Esquivel et al. used five to six ports for the procedure which was performed in conjunction with an experienced laparoscopic surgeon. Adhesiolysis was performed. A detailed exploration of both the parietal and visceral peritoneum was carried out in order to determine the laparoscopic PCI. This was facilitated by instrument retraction and positioning the operating room table for gravity-assisted retraction in order to maximize exposure of dependent areas. Once the diagnostic laparoscopy was completed, a decision to continue with the cytoreduction via the laparoscopic route was made based on two factors: the PCI had to be ten or less, and the amount of disease present had to be able to be

removed laparoscopically. The port sites were used for inserting tubes for performing HIPEC [220].

Conclusions

CRS is a complex procedure associated with a prolonged learning curve. A surgeon performing CRS must be comfortable in operating on all areas of the abdominal cavity and should be able to predict the possibility of a complete cytoreduction before undertaking the procedure. Patient selection is as important as the technical skill required for performing this procedure. The quantitative prognostic indicators defined for each disease should be used for this. The best results are obtained in specialized centers where such patients are managed by a multidisciplinary team of experts. Procedures performed with the intent of cure should have a controlled morbidity and mortality and significant impact on the long-term quality of life. It is equally important to employ preventive strategies while performing curative to avoid tumor rupture and peritoneal dissemination. In situation when unexpected peritoneal metastases are discovered intraoperatively, minimal dissection should be performed, and the patient should be evaluated for a curative procedure subsequently or referred to a center offering such treatment.

References

- Esquivel J. Current status and future directions of Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC). Intervent Oncol. 2014;2(6):E45–52.
- Lemoine L, Sugarbaker P, Van der Speeten K. Pathophysiology of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: role of the peritoneum. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(34):7692–707. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg. v22.i34.7692.
- 3. Standring S, editor. Gray's anatomy. 41st ed. London: Elsevier; 2015.
- Meyers MA, Charnsangavej C, Oliphant M. Meyers' dynamic radiology of the abdomen. 6th ed. New York: Springer; 2011. p. 23–34.
- Yoo E, Kim JH, Kim MJ, et al. Greater and lesser omenta: normal anatomy and pathologic processes. Radiographics. 2007;27(3):707–20.

- Charnsangavej C, DuBrow RA, Varma DG, Herron DH, Robinson TJ, Whitley NO. CT of the mesocolon: part 1—anatomic considerations. Radiographics. 1993;13(5):1035–45.
- Solass W, Struller F, Horvath P, Königsrainer A, Sipos B, Weinreich F. Morphology of the peritoneal cavity and pathophysiological consequences. Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(4):193–201.
- Kim S, Kim TU, Lee JW, et al. The perihepatic space: comprehensive anatomy and CT features of pathologic conditions. Radiographics. 2007;27(1):129–43.
- Tirkes T, Sandrasegaran K, Patel AA, Hollar MA, Tejada JG, Tann M, et al. Peritoneal and retroperitoneal anatomy and its relevance for cross-sectional imaging. Radiographics. 2012;32:437–51.
- Verger C. Peritoneal ultrastructure. In: Nolph KD, editor. Peritoneal dialysis. Boston: Martinus Nijhoff; 1985. p. 95–113.
- Henderson LW. The problem of peritoneal membrane area and permeability. Kidney Int. 1973;3:409–10.
- Mion CM, Boen ST. Analysis of factors responsible for the formation of adhesions during chronic peritoneal dialysis. Am J Med Sci. 1965;250:675–9.
- Knapowski J, Feder E, Simon M, Zabel M. Evaluation of the participation of parietal peritoneum in dialysis: physiological morphological and pharmacological data. Proc Eur Dial Transplant Assoc. 1979;16:155–64.
- Rubin J, Clawson M, Planch A, Jones Q. Measurements of peritoneal surface area in man and rats. Am J Med Sci. 1988;295:453–8.
- Esperanca MJ, Collins DL. Peritoneal dialysis efficiency in relation to body weight. J Pediatr Surg. 1966;1:162–9.
- Baron MA. Structure of the intestinal peritoneum in man. Am J Anat. 1941;69:439.
- Mutsaers SE, Wilkosz S. Structure and function of mesothelial cells. Cancer Treat Res. 2007;134:1–19.
- van der Wal JB, Jeekel J. Biology of the peritoneum in normal homeostasis and after surgical trauma. Color Dis. 2007;9(Suppl 2):9–13.
- 19. Liu J, Geng X, Li Y. Tumor Biol. 2016;37:5715. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-016-4887-3.
- Van Vugt E, Van Rijthoven EAM, Kamperdijk EWA, Beelen RHJ. Omental milky spots in the local immune response in the peritoneal cavity of rats. Anat Rec. 1996;244:235–45.
- Clark R, Krishnan V, Schoof M, Rodriguez I, Theriault B, Chekmareva M, et al. Milky spots promote ovarian cancer metastatic colonization of peritoneal adipose in experimental models. Am J Pathol. 2013;183:576–91.
- Sedlacek AL, Gerber SA, Randall TD, van Rooijen N, Frelinger JG, Lord EM. Generation of a dualfunctioning antitumor immune response in the peritoneal cavity. Am J Pathol. 2013;183:1318–28.
- 23. Oosterling SJ, van der Bij GJ, Bögels M, van der Sijp JR, Beelen RH, Meijer S, et al. Insufficient ability of omental milky spots to prevent peritoneal tumor outgrowth supports omentectomy in mini-

mal residual disease. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2006;55:1043–51.

- 24. Krist LF, Kerremans M, Broekhuis-Fluitsma DM, Eestermans IL, Meyer S, Beelen RH. Milky spots in the greater omentum are predominant sites of local tumour cell proliferation and accumulation in the peritoneal cavity. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 1998;47:205–12.
- Kassis J, Klominek J, Kohn EC. Tumor microenvironment: what can effusions teach us? Diagn Cytopathol. 2005;33:316–9.
- Kulbe H, Chakravarty P, Leinster DA, Charles KA, Kwong J, Thompson RG, et al. A dynamic inflammatory cytokine network in the human ovarian cancer microenvironment. Cancer Res. 2012;72: 66–75.
- Robinson-Smith TM, Isaacsohn I, Mercer CA, Zhou M, Van Rooijen N, Husseinzadeh N, et al. Macrophages mediate inflammation-enhanced metastasis of ovarian tumors in mice. Cancer Res. 2007;67:5708–16.
- Nieman KM, Kenny HA, Penicka CV, Ladanyi A, Buell-Gutbrod R, Zillhardt MR, et al. Adipocytes promote ovarian cancer metastasis and provide energy for rapid tumor growth. Nat Med. 2011;17:1498–503.
- Mochizuki Y, Nakanishi H, Kodera Y, Ito S, Yamamura Y, Kato T, et al. TNF-alpha promotes progression of peritoneal metastasis as demonstrated using a green fluorescence protein (GFP)-tagged human gastric cancer cell line. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2004;21:39–47.
- 30. Stadlmann S, Raffeiner R, Amberger A, Margreiter R, Zeimet AG, Abendstein B, et al. Disruption of the integrity of human peritoneal mesothelium by interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Virchows Arch. 2003;443:678–85.
- Solass W, Horvath P, Struller F, Königsrainer I, Beckert S, Königsrainer A, Weinreich F, Schenk M. Functional vascular anatomy of the peritoneum in health and disease. Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(3):145–58.
- 32. De Bree E, Tsiftsis D. Principles of perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis. In: Gonzalez Moreno S, editor. Advances in peritoneal surface oncology. New York: Springer; 2007.
- Dedrick RL, Myers CE, Bungay PM, DeVita VT Jr. Pharmacokinetic rationale for peritoneal drug administration in the treatment of ovarian cancer. Cancer Treat Rep. 1978;62:1–11.
- 34. Sheth S, Horton KM, Garland MR, Fishman EK. Mesenteric neoplasms: CT appearances of primary and secondary tumors and differential diagnosis. Radiographics. 2003;23:457–473.; quiz 535-536. https://doi.org/10.1148/rg.232025081.
- 35. Oliphant M, Berne AS. Computed tomography of the subperitoneal space: demonstration of direct spread of intraabdominal disease. J Comput

Assist Tomogr. 1982;6:1127–37. https://doi. org/10.1097/00004728-198212000-00014.

- 36. Levy AD, Arnáiz J, Shaw JC, Sobin LH. From the archives of the AFIP: primary peritoneal tumors: imaging features with pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 2008;28:583–607.; quiz 621-622. https://doi.org/10.1148/rg.282075175.
- 37. Karaosmanoglu D, Karcaaltincaba M, Oguz B, Akata D, Ozmen M, Akhan O. CT findings of lymphoma with peritoneal, omental and mesenteric involvement: peritoneal lymphomatosis. Eur J Radiol. 2009;71:313–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejrad.2008.04.012.
- Sugarbaker PH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei. A cancer whose biology is characterized by a redistribution phenomenon. Ann Surg. 1994;219(2):109–11.
- Lengyel E. Ovarian cancer development and metastasis. Am J Pathol. 2010;177(3):1053–64. https:// doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2010.100105.
- Le O. Patterns of peritoneal spread of tumor in the abdomen and pelvis. World J Radiol. 2013;5(3):106– 12. https://doi.org/10.4329/wjr.v5.i3.106.
- Murphy EM, Sexton R, Moran BJ. Early results of surgery in 123 patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from a perforated appendiceal neoplasm. Dis Colon Rectum. 2007;50:37–42.
- 42. Kostić Z, Cuk V, Bokun R, Ignjatović D, Usaj-Knezević S, Ignjatović M. Detection of free cancer cells in peritoneal cavity in patients surgically treated for gastric adenocarcinoma. Vojnosanit Pregl. 2006;63:349–56.
- Hirohashi S. Inactivation of the E-cadherin-mediated cell adhesion system in human cancers. Am J Pathol. 1998;153:333–9.
- Yilmaz M, Christofori G. EMT, the cytoskeleton, and cancer cell invasion. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2009;28:15–33.
- Hudson LG, Zeineldin R, Stack MS. Phenotypic plasticity of neoplastic ovarian epithelium: unique cadherin profiles in tumor progression. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2008;25:643–55.
- Patel IS, Madan P, Getsios S, Bertrand M, MacCalman C. Cadherin switching in ovarian cancer progression. Int J Cancer. 2003;106:172–7.
- 47. Imai T, Horiuchi A, Wang C, Oka K, Ohira S, Nikaido T, Konishi I. Hypoxia attenuates the expression of E-cadherin via up-regulation of SNAIL in ovarian carcinoma cells. Am J Pathol. 2003;163:1437–47.
- Kusamura S, Baratti D, Zaffaroni N, et al. Pathophysiology and biology of peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(1):12– 8. https://doi.org/10.4251/wjgo.v2.i1.12.
- Carmignani CP, Sugarbaker TA, Bromley CM, Sugarbaker PH. Intraperitoneal cancer dissemination: mechanisms of the patterns of spread. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2003;22:465–72.
- Jayne DG. The molecular biology of peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal cancer. Ann Acad Med Singap. 2003;32:219–25.

- 51. Jayne DG, O'Leary R, Gill A, Hick A, Guillou PJ. A three-dimensional in-vitro model for the study of peritoneal tumour metastasis. Clin Exp Metastasis. 1999;17:515–23.
- Heath RM, Jayne DG, O'Leary R, Morrison EE, Guillou PJ. Tumour-induced apoptosis in human mesothelial cells: a mechanism of peritoneal invasion by Fas Ligand/Fas interaction. Br J Cancer. 2004;90(7):1437–42. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.bjc.6601635.
- 53. Yonemura Y, Kawamura T, Bandou E, Tsukiyama G, Endou Y, Miura M. The natural history of free cancer cells in the peritoneal cavity. In: Gonzalez-Moreno S, editor. Advances in peritoneal surface oncology. Berlin: Springer; 2007. p. 11–23.
- 54. Davies DE, Farmer S, White J, Senior PV, Warnes SL, Alexander P. Contribution of host-derived growth factors to in vivo growth of a transplantable murine mammary carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 1994;70:263–9.
- 55. Masoumi Moghaddam S, Amini A, Morris DL, Pourgholami MH. Significance of vascular endothelial growth factor in growth and peritoneal dissemination of ovarian cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2012;31(1–2):143–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10555-011-9337-5.
- 56. Lopes Cardozo AM, Gupta A, Koppe MJ, et al. Metastatic pattern of CC531 colon carcinoma cells in the abdominal cavity: an experimental model of peritoneal carcinomatosis in rats. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2001;27:359–63.
- 57. Gerber SA, Rybalko VY, Bigelow CE, et al. Preferential attachment of peritoneal tumor metastases to omental immune aggregates and possible role of a unique vascular microenvironment in metastatic survival and growth. Am J Pathol. 2006;169:1739–52.
- Klopp AH, Zhang Y, Solley T, et al. Omental adipose tissue- derived stromal cells promote vascularization and growth of endometrial tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:771–82.
- Nowicka A, Marini FC, Solley TN, et al. Human omental-derived adipose stem cells increase ovarian cancer proliferation, migration, and chemoresistance. PLoS One. 2013;8:e81859.
- Koppe MJ, Nagtegaal ID, de Wilt JH, Ceelen WP. Recent insights into the pathophysiology of omental metastases. J Surg Oncol. 2014;110: 670–5.
- Sangisetty SL, Miner TJ. Malignant ascites: a review of prognostic factors, pathophysiology and therapeutic measures. World J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;4(4):87– 95. https://doi.org/10.4240/wjgs.v4.i4.87.
- Ammouri L, Prommer EE. Palliative treatment of malignant ascites: profile of catumaxomab. Biologics. 2010;4:103–10.
- 63. Logan-Collins JM, Lowy AM, Robinson-Smith TM, Kumar S, Sussman JJ, James LE, Ahmad SA. VEGF expression predicts survival in patients with

peritoneal surface metastases from mucinous adenocarcinoma of the appendix and colon. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:738–44.

- 64. Rosa M, Abdelbaqi M, Bui KM, Nasir A, Bui MM, Shibata D, Coppola D. Overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor a in invasive micropapillary colorectal carcinoma. Cancer Control. 2015;22:206–10.
- 65. Yang X, Zhang Y, Hosaka K, Andersson P, Wang J, Tholander F, Cao Z, Morikawa H, Tegnér J, Yang Y, et al. VEGF-B promotes cancer metastasis through a VEGF-A-independent mechanism and serves as a marker of poor prognosis for cancer patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:E2900–9.
- 66. Chen H, Guan R, Lei Y, Chen J, Ge Q, Zhang X, Dou R, Chen H, Liu H, Qi X, et al. Lymphangiogenesis in gastric cancer regulated through Akt/mTOR-VEGF-C/VEGF-D axis. BMC Cancer. 2015;15:103.
- 67. Lee S, Chen TT, Barber CL, Jordan MC, Murdock J, Desai S, Ferrara N, Nagy A, Roos KP, Iruela-Arispe ML. Autocrine VEGF signaling is required for vascular homeostasis. Cell. 2007;130:691–703.
- De Falco S, Gigante B, Persico MG. Structure and function of placental growth factor. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2002;12:241–6.
- Sugarbaker PH. Colorectal cancer: prevention and management of metastatic disease. Biomed Res Int. 2014., Article ID 782890;2014:11. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/782890.
- Havelaar IJ, Sugarbaker PH, Vermess M, Miller DL. Rate of growth of intraabdominal metastases from colorectal cancer. Cancer. 1984;54(1):163–71.
- Joyce JA, Pollard JW. Microenvironment regulation of metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9:239–52.
- Sugarbaker PH, Sammartino P, Tentes AA. Proactive management of peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: the next logical step toward optimal locoregional control. Colorect Cancer. 2012;1:115–23.
- Sugarbaker PH. It's what the surgeon doesn't see that kills the patient. J Nippon Med Sch. 2000;67:5–8.
- Renzulli P, Lowy A, Maibach R, et al. The influence of the surgeon's and the hospital's caseload on survival and local recurrence after colorectal cancer surgery. Surgery. 2006;139:296–304.
- Sugarbaker PH. Carcinoma of the colon-prognosis and operative choice. Curr Probl Surg. 1981;18:755–802.
- Averbach AM, Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Surgical technique and colorectal cancer: impaction on local recurrence and survival. Tumori. 1995; 81(supplement):65–71.
- Carter JJ, Feingold DL, Kirman I, et al. Laparoscopicassisted cecectomy is associated with decreased formation of postoperative pulmonary metastases compared with open cecectomy in a murine model. Surgery. 2003;134:432–6.
- Canis M, Botchorishvili R, Wattiez A, et al. Cancer and laparoscopy, experimental studies: a review. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2000;91:1–9.

- Jayne DG, Guillou PJ, Thorpe H, et al. Randomized trial of laparoscopic-assisted resection of colorectal carcinoma: 3-year results of the UK MRC CLASICC trial group. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:3061–8.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritoneum as the first-line of defense in carcinomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2007;95(2):93–6.
- Sugarbaker PH. Management of peritoneal-surface malignancy: the surgeon's role. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 1999;384:576–87.
- Bao P, Bartlett D. Surgical techniques in visceral resection and peritonectomy procedures. Cancer J. 2009;15(3):204–11. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PPO.0b013e3181a9c6f0.
- Sugarbaker P, Sardi A, Brown G, et al. Concerning CT features used to select patients for treatment of peritoneal metastases, a pictoral essay. Int J Hyperth. 2017;33(5):497–504. https://doi.org/10.1080/02656 736.2017.1317368.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Ann Surg. 1995;221(1):29–42.
- Sugarbaker PH. The subpyloric space: an important surgical and radiologic feature in pseudomyxoma peritonei. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2002;28:443–6.
- Sugarbaker P. Cytoreductive surgery using peritonectomy and visceral resections for peritoneal surface malignancy. Transl Gastrointest Cancer. 2013;2(2):54–74.
- Sugarbaker PH. Dissection by electrocautery with a ball tip. J Surg Oncol. 1994;56:246–8.
- Sugarbaker PH. Laser-mode electrosurgery. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:375–85.
- Zappa L, Sugarbaker PH. Compartment syndrome of the leg associated with lithotomy position for cytoreductive surgery. J Surg Oncol. 2007;96:619–23.
- de Lima Vazquez V, Sugarbaker PH. Xiphoidectomy. Gastric Cancer. 2003;6:127–9.
- Sugarbaker PH. Cytoreductive surgery and perioperative chemotherapy: textbook and video atlas. Connecticut: Cine-Med Publishing; 2013.
- Vazquez Vde L, Sugarbaker PH. Total anterior parietal peritonectomy. J Surg Oncol. 2003;83:261–3.
- Dagbert F, Passot G, Glehen O, Bakrin N. Glisson capsulectomy for extensive superficial liver involvement in peritoneal carcinomatosis (with video). J Visc Surg. 2015;152(5):332–3.
- 94. Passot G, Kim BJ, Vaudoyer D, Kepenekian V, Bonnefoy I, Bakrin N, Cotte E, Glehen O. Digital glissonectomy: a safe perihepatic peritonectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(12):3978–85.
- 95. Pathiraja PNJ, Garruto-Campanile R, Tozzi R. Diaphragmatic peritonectomy versus full thickness diaphragmatic resection and pleurectomy during cytoreduction in patients with ovarian cancer. Int J Surg Oncol. 2013;2013:6. https://doi. org/10.1155/2013/876150.
- 96. Deslauriers N, Olney H, Younan R. Splenectomy revisited in 2011: impact on hematologic toxicities while performing cytoreductive surgery

and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2011;2(2):61–3. https://doi. org/10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2011.019.

- Becher RD, Shen P, Stewart JH, Russell G, Bradley JF, Levine EA. Splenectomy ameliorates hematologic toxicity of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2011;2(2):70–6. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2011.011.
- Sugarbaker PH. Pont hepatique (hepatic bridge), an important anatomic structure in cytoreductive surgery. J Surg Oncol. 2010;101:251–2.
- 99. Han SS, Sugarbaker PH. Kocher maneuver to facilitate cytoreduction within the foramen of Winslow. J Surg Oncol. 2017;115(7):788–90. https://doi. org/10.1002/jso.24587. [Epub ahead of print]
- Chang S-J, Bristow RE. Surgical technique of en bloc pelvic resection for advanced ovarian cancer. J Gynecol Oncol. 2015;26(2):155. https://doi. org/10.3802/jgo.2015.26.2.155.
- Bijelic L, Sugarbaker PH. Cytoreduction of the small bowel surfaces. J Surg Oncol. 2008;97:176–9.
- 102. Benhaim L, Honoré C, Goéré D, Delhorme JB, Elias D. Huge pseudomyxoma peritonei: surgical strategies and procedures to employ to optimize the rate of complete cytoreductive surgery. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(4):552–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2016.01.015.
- Sugarbaker PH. Cytoreduction including total gastrectomy for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Br J Surg. 2002;89(2):208–12.
- 104. Piso P, Slowik P, Popp F, Dahlke MH, Glockzin G, Schlitt HJ. Safety of gastric resections during cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16(8):2188–94. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-009-0478-5. Epub 2009 May 2
- 105. Di Fabio F, Mehta A, Chandrakumaran K, Mohamed F, Cecil T, Moran B. Advanced pseudomyxoma peritonei requiring gastrectomy to achieve complete cytoreduction results in good long-term oncologic outcomes. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(13):4316–21. Epub 2016 Jul 5
- 106. Liu Y, Mizumoto A, Ishibashi H, Takeshita K, Hirano M, Ichinose M, Takegawa S, Yonemura Y. Should total gastrectomy and total colectomy be considered for selected patients with severe tumor burden of pseudomyxoma peritonei in cytoreductive surgery? Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(7):1018–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.04.059.
- 107. Foster JM, Gupta PK, Carreau JH, Grotz TE, Blas JV, Gatalica Z, Nath S, Loggie BW. Right hemicolectomy is not routinely indicated in pseudomyxoma peritonei. Am Surg. 2012;78(2):171–7.
- 108. Hertel H, Diebolder H, Herrmann J, Köhler C, Kühne-Heid R, Possover M, Schneider A. Is the decision for colorectal resection justified by histopathologic findings: a prospective study of 100 patients with advanced ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2001;83(3):481–4.

- 109. Sugarbaker PH. Avoiding diverting ileostomy in patients requiring complete pelvic peritonectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1481–5. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-015-4961-x.
- 110. Obermair A, Hagenauer S, Tamandl D, Clayton RD, Nicklin JL, Perrin LC, Ward BG, Crandon AJ. Safety and efficacy of low anterior en bloc resection as part of cytoreductive surgery for patients with ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2001;83(1):115–20.
- 111. Yildirim Y, Ertas IE, Nayki U, Ulug P, Nayki C, Yilmaz I, Gultekin E, Dogan A, Aykas A, Ulug S, Ozdemir A, Solmaz U. En-bloc pelvic resection with concomitant rectosigmoid colectomy and immediate anastomosis as part of primary cytoreductive surgery for patients with advanced ovarian cancer. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2014;35(4):400–7. PMID: 25118481
- 112. Mourton SM, Temple LK, Abu-Rustum NR, Gemignani ML, Sonoda Y, Bochner BH, Barakat RR, Chi DS. Morbidity of rectosigmoid resection and primary anastomosis in patients undergoing primary cytoreductive surgery for advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;99(3):608–14. Epub 2005 Sep 8 PMID: 16153697
- 113. Sonnendecker EW, Beale PG. Rectosigmoid resection without colostomy during primary cytoreductive surgery for ovarian carcinoma. Int Surg. 1989;74(1):10–2.
- 114. Riss S, Chandrakumaran K, Dayal S, Cecil TD, Mohamed F, Moran BJ. Risk of definitive stoma after surgery for peritoneal malignancy in 958 patients: comparative study between complete cytoreductive surgery and maximal tumor debulking. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(3):392–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2014.09.002.
- 115. Pokorny H, Herkner H, Jakesz R, Herbst F. Mortality and complications after stoma closure. Arch Surg. 2005;140:956–60. discussion 960
- 116. Mala T, Nesbakken A. Morbidity related to the use of a protective stoma in anterior resection for rectal cancer. Color Dis. 2008;10(8):785.
- 117. de Cuba EM, Verwaal VJ, de Hingh IH, et al. Morbidity associated with colostomy reversal after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:883–90.
- 118. Doud AN, Randle RW, Clark CJ, Levine EA, Swett KR, Shen P, Stewart JH, Votanopoulos KI. Impact of distal pancreatectomy on outcomes of peritoneal surface disease treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(5):1645–50. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-014-3976-z.
- 119. Schwarz L, Votanopoulos K, Morris D, Yonemura Y, Deraco M, Piso P, Moran B, Levine EA, Tuech JJ. Is the combination of distal pancreatectomy and cytoreductive surgery with HIPEC reasonable?: results of an international multicenter study. Ann Surg. 2016;263(2):369–75. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.000000000001225.

- 120. Mahdi H, Rose PG, Gonzalez S, DeBernardo R, Knight J, Michener C, Moselmi-Kebria M.Postoperative complications after distal pancreatectomy performed during cytoreductive surgery for gynecologic malignancies. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2015;25(6):1128–33. https://doi.org/10.1097/IGC.00000000000455.
- 121. Bacalbasa N, Dima S, Brasoveanu V, et al. Liver resection for ovarian cancer liver metastases as part of cytoreductive surgery is safe and may bring survival benefit. World J Surg Oncol. 2015;13:235. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12957-015-0652-0.
- 122. Yoon SS, Jarnagin WR, Fong Y, DeMatteo RP, Barakat RR, Blumgart LH, Chi DS. Resection of recurrent ovarian or fallopian tube carcinoma involving the liver. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;91(2):383–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2003.07.005.
- 123. O'Rourke TR, Tekkis P, Yeung S, Fawcett J, Lynch S, Strong R, et al. Long-term results of liver resection for non-colorectal, non-neuroendocrine metastases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(1):207–18. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-007-9649-4.
- 124. Gasparri ML, Grandi G, Bolla D, Gloor B, Imboden S, Panici PB, Mueller MD, Papadia A. Hepatic resection during cytoreductive surgery for primary or recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2016;142(7):1509–20. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00432-015-2090-3.
- 125. Meredith MA, Cliby WA, Keeney GL, Lesnick TG, Nagorney DM, Podratz KC. Hepatic resection for metachronous metastases from ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;89:16–21.
- 126. Yoon SS, Jarnagin WR, Fong Y, DeMatteo RP, Barakat RR, Blum- gart LH, Chi DS. Resection of recurrent ovarian or fallopian tube carcinoma involving the liver. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;91(2):383–8.
- 127. Loizzi V, Rossi C, Cormio G, Cazzolla A, Altomare D, Selvaggi L. Clinical features of hepatic metastasis in patients with ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2005;15(1):26–31.
- Abood G, Bowen M, Potkul R, Aranha G, Shoup M. Hepatic resection for recurrent metastatic ovarian cancer. Am J Surg. 2008;195:370–3.
- 129. Pekmezci S, Saribeyoglu K, Aytac E, Arvas M, Demirkiran F, Ozguroglu M. Surgery for isolated liver metastasis of ovarian cancer. Asian J Surg. 2010;30(2):83–8.
- 130. Roh HJ, Kim DY, Joo WD, Yoo HJ, Kim JH, Kim YM, Kim YT, Nam JH. Hepatic resection as part of secondary cytoreductive surgery for recurrent ovarian cancer involving the liver. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2011;284(5):1223–9.
- 131. Niu G, Shen C, Cui W, Li Q. Hepatic resection is safe for metachronous hepatic metastases from ovarian cancer. Cancer Biol Med. 2012;9:182–7.
- 132. Neumann UP, Fotopoulou C, Schmeding M, Thelen A, Papanikolaou G, Braicu EI, Neuhaus P, Sehouli J. Clinical outcome of patients with advanced ovarian cancer after resection of liver metastases. Anticancer Res. 2012;32(10):4517–21.

- 133. Chi DS, Temkin SM, Abu-Rustum NR, Sabattini P, Jarnagin W, Blumgart LH. Major hepatectomy at interval debulking for stage IV ovarian carcinoma: a case report. Gynecol Oncol. 2002;87(1):138–42. https://doi.org/10.1006/gyno.2002.6717[17].
- 134. Loizzi V, Rossi C, Cormio G, Cazzolla A, Altomare D, Selvaggi L. Clinical features of hepatic metastasis in patients with ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2005;15(1):26–31. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1048-891x.2005.14406.x.
- 135. Pelz JOW, Stojadinovic A, Nissan A, Hohenberger W, Esquivel J. Evaluation of a peritoneal surface disease severity score in patients with colon cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2009;99:9– 15. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.21169.
- 136. Fong Y, Fortner J, Sun RL, et al. Clinical score for predicting recurrence after hepatic resection for metastatic colorectal cancer: analysis of 1001 consecutive cases. Ann Surg. 1999;230:309–18.
- 137. Elias D, Ouellet J-F, Bellon N, et al. Extrahepatic disease does not contraindicate hepatectomy for colorectal liver metastases. Br J Surg. 2003;90:567– 74. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.4071.
- 138. Kianmanesh R, Scaringi S, Sabate J-M, et al. Iterative cytoreductive surgery associated with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin with or without liver metastases. Ann Surg. 2007;245:597–603. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.sla.0000255561.87771.11.
- 139. Elias D, Benizri E, Pocard M, et al. Treatment of synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis and liver metastases from colorectal cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32: 632–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2006.03.013.
- 140. Varban O, Levine EA, Stewart JH, et al. Outcomes associated with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy in colorectal cancer patients with peritoneal surface disease and hepatic metastases. Cancer. 2009;115:3427–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.24385.
- 141. Elias D, Faron M, Goéré D, Dumont F, Honoré C, Boige V, Malka D, Ducreux MA. Simple tumor load-based nomogram for surgery in patients with colorectal liver and peritoneal metastases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(6):2052–8. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-3506-z.
- 142. Kolev V, Pereira EB, Schwartz M, Sarpel U, Roayaie S, Labow D, Momeni M, Chuang L, Dottino P, Rahaman J, Zakashansky K. The role of liver resection at the time of secondary cytoreduction in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2014;24(1):70–4. https://doi.org/10.1097/IGC.00000000000026.
- 143. Darrad M, Harper S, Verghese A, Leveckis J, Pathak S. Synchronous and metachronous ureteric metastases from adenocarcinoma of the colon. Int J Clin Oncol. 2012;17(2):185–8.
- 144. Honore C, Souadka A, Goere D, Dumont F, Deschamps F, Elias D. HIPEC for peritoneal carcinomatosis: does an associated urologic procedure

increase morbidity? Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(1): 104–9.

- 145. van der Bij GJ, Oosterling SJ, Beelen RH, Meijer S, Coffey JC, van Egmond M. The perioperative period is an underutilized window of therapeutic opportunity in patients with colorectal cancer. Ann Surg. 2009;249(5):727–34.
- 146. Braam HJ, van Oudheusden TR, de Hingh IH, Nienhuijs SW, Boerma D, Wiezer MJ, van Ramshorst B. Urological procedures in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer treated with HIPEC: morbidity and survival analysis. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(1):295–300.
- 147. Leapman MS, Jibara G, Tabrizian P, Franssen B, Yang MJ, Romanoff A, Hall SJ, Palese M, Sarpel U, Hiotis S, Labow D. Genitourinary resection at the time of cytoreductive surgery and heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis is not associated with increased morbidity or worsened oncologic outcomes: a case-matched study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(4):1153–8.
- 148. Smeenk RM, Bex A, Verwaal VJ, Horenblas S, Zoetmulder FA. Pseudomyxoma peritonei and the urinary tract: involvement and treatment related complications. J Surg Oncol. 2006;93(1):20–3.
- 149. Votanopoulos KI, Randle RW, Craven B, Swett KR, Levine EA, Shen P, Stewart JH, Mirzazadeh M. Significance of urinary tract involvement in patients treated with cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(3):868–74.
- 150. Segelman J, Floter-Radestad A, Hellborg H, Sjovall A, Martling A. Epidemiology and prognosis of ovarian metastases in colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2010;97:1704–9.
- Evers DJ, Verwaal VJ. Indication for oophorectomy during cytoreduction for intraperitoneal metastatic spread of colorectal or appendiceal origin. Br J Surg. 2011;98:287–92.
- Moore RG, Chung M, Granai CO, et al. Incidence of metastasis to the ovaries from nongenital tract primary tumors. Gynecol Oncol. 2004;93:87–91.
- 153. Eveno C, Goéré D, Dartigues P, Honoré C, Dumont F, Tzanis D, Benhaim L, Malka D, Elias D. Ovarian metastasis is associated with retroperitoneal lymph node relapses in women treated for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(2):491–6. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-012-2623-9. Epub 2012 Sep 7
- 154. Ortega-Deballon P, Glehen O, Levine E, et al. Childbearing after hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: results from an international survey. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:2297.
- 155. Sheehan L, Mehta A, Sawan S, et al. Preserving fertility in pseudomyxoma peritonei, a novel approach. Pleura Peritoneum. 2017;2(1):33–6.
- 156. Glehen O, Osinsky D, Cotte E, Kwiatkowski F, Freyer G, Isaac S, et al. Intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia using a closed abdominal procedure and cytoreductive surgery for the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis:

morbidity and mortality analysis of 216 consecutive procedures. Ann Surg Oncol. 2003;10:863–9.

- 157. Verwaal VJ, van Tinteren H, Ruth SV, Zoetmulder FAN. Toxicity of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2004;85:61–7.
- 158. Kusamura S, Younan R, Baratti D, Costanzo P, Favaro M, Gavazzi C, et al. Cytoreductive surgery followed by intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion: analysis of morbidity and mortality in 209 peritoneal surface malignancies treated with closed abdomen technique. Cancer. 2006;106:1144–53.
- 159. Stephens AD, Alderman R, Chang D, Edwards GD, Esquivel J, Sebbag G, et al. Morbidity and mortality analysis of 200 treatments with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy using the coliseum technique. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:790–6.
- 160. Franko J, Gusani NJ, Holtzman MP, Ahrendt SA, Jones HL, Zeh HJ, Bartlett DL. Multivisceral resection does not affect morbidity and survival after cytoreductive surgery and chemoperfusion for carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(11):3065–72.
- 161. Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:359–74.
- 162. Sugarbaker PH. Epithelial appendiceal neoplasms. Cancer J. 2009;15:225–35. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PPO.0b013e3181a9c781.
- 163. Ronnett BM, Shmookler BM, Sugarbaker PH, Kurman RJ. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: new concepts in diagnosis, origin, nomenclature, and relationship to mucinous borderline (low malignant potential) tumors of the ovary. Anat Pathol. 1997;2:197–226.
- 164. Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;23:9285.
- 165. Yan TD, Deraco M, Baratti D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: multi-institutional experience. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:6237–42. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.23.9640.
- 166. Winer J, Zenati M, Ramalingam L, et al. Impact of aggressive histology and location of primary tumor on the efficacy of surgical therapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1456–62. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-013-3328-4.
- 167. Van Oudheusden TR, Braam HJ, Nienhuijs SW, et al. Poor outcome after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis with signet ring cell histology. J Surg Oncol. 2015;111(2):237– 42. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23784.
- 168. Simkens GA, van Oudheusden TR, Nieboer D, et al. Development of a prognostic nomogram for patients with peritoneally metastasized colorectal cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC. Ann

Surg Oncol. 2016;23:4214–21. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-016-5211-6.

- 169. Mohkam K, Passot G, Cotte E, Bakrin N, Gilly FN, Ledochowski S, et al. Resectability of peritoneal carcinomatosis: learnings from a prospective cohort of 533 consecutive patients selected for cytoreductive surgery. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23: 1261–70.
- 170. Verwaal VJ, Kusamura S, Baratti D, et al. The eligibility for local-regional treatment of peritoneal surface malignancy. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:220–3.
- 171. Yan TD, Morris DL, Kusamura S, et al. Preoperative investigations in the management of peritoneal surface malignancy with cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:224–7.
- 172. Coakley FV, Choi PH, Gougoutas CA, et al. Peritoneal metastases: detection with spiral CT in patients with ovarian cancer. Radiology. 2002;223: 495–9.
- 173. Esquivel J, Chua TC, Stojadinovic A, et al. Accuracy and clinical relevance of computed tomography scan interpretation of peritoneal cancer index in colorectal cancer peritoneal carcinomatosis: a multi-institutional study. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102:565–70.
- 174. Low RN. Preoperative and surveillance MR imaging of patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;2:58–71. https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2078-6891.2015.11.
- 175. Torkzad MR, Casta N, Bergman A, Ahlström H, Påhlman L, Mahteme H. Comparison between MRI and CT in prediction of peritoneal carcinomatosis index (PCI) in patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery in relation to the experience of the radiologist. J Surg Oncol. 2015;111(6):746–51. https://doi. org/10.1002/jso.23878.
- 176. Passot G, Glehen O, Pellet O, et al. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: role of 18F-FDG PET in preoperative evaluation of pathological grade and potential for complete cytoreduction. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36:315–23.
- 177. Dromain C, Leboulleux S, Auperin A, et al. Staging of peritoneal carcinomatosis: enhanced CT vs. PET/ CT. Abdom Imaging. 2008;33:87–9.
- 178. Jacquet P, Jelinek JS, Chang D, et al. Abdominal computed tomographic scan in the selection of patients with mucinous peritoneal carcinomatosis for cytoreductive surgery. J Am Coll Surg. 1995;181: 530–8.
- 179. Yan TD, Haveric N, Carmignani CP, et al. Abdominal computed tomography scans in the selection of patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma for comprehensive treatment with cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer. 2005;103:839–49.
- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor.

Peritoneal carcinomatosis: principles of management. Boston: Kluwer; 1996. p. 359–74.

- 181. Goéré D, Souadka A, Faron M, Cloutier AS, Viana B, Honoré C, Dumont F, Elias D. Extent of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: attempt to define a threshold above which HIPEC does not offer survival benefit: a comparative study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(9):2958–64.
- 182. Coccolini F, Catena F, Glehen O, Yonemura Y, Sugarbaker PH, Piso P, Montori G, Ansaloni L. Complete versus incomplete cytoreduction in peritoneal carcinosis from gastric cancer, with consideration to PCI cut-off. Systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(7): 911–9.
- 183. Villeneuve L, Thivolet A, Bakrin N, Mohamed F, Isaac S, Valette PJ, Glehen O, Rousset P, BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE Working Groups. A new internet tool to report peritoneal malignancy extent. PeRitOneal Mallgnancy Stage Evaluation (PROMISE) application. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(6):877–82. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.03.015.
- Sugarbaker PH. Successful management of microscopic residual disease in large bowel cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1999;43:15–25.
- 185. Bakrin N, Bereder JM, Decullier E, Classe JM, Msika S, Lorimier G, Abboud K, Meeus P, Ferron G, Quenet F, Marchal F, Gouy S, Morice P, Pomel C, Pocard M, Guyon F, Porcheron J, Glehen O, FROGHI (FRench Oncologic and Gynecologic HIPEC) Group. Peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with cytoreductive surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) for advanced ovarian carcinoma: a French multicentre retrospective cohort study of 566 patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39(12):1435–43.
- 186. Chua TC, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, Levine EA, Glehen O, Gilly FN, Baratti D, Deraco M, Elias D, Sardi A, Liauw W, Yan TD, Barrios P, Gómez Portilla A, de Hingh IH, Ceelen WP, Pelz JO, Piso P, González-Moreno S, Van Der Speeten K, Morris DL. Early- and long-term outcome data of patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from appendiceal origin treated by a strategy of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(20):2449–56.
- 187. Glehen O, Mohamed F, Sugarbaker PH. Incomplete cytoreduction in 174 patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from appendiceal malignancy. Ann Surg. 2004;240(2):278–85. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. sla.0000133183.15705.71.
- 188. Dayal S, Taflampas P, Riss S, Chandrakumaran K, Cecil TD, Mohamed F, Moran BJ. Complete cytoreduction for pseudomyxoma peritonei is optimal but maximal tumor debulking may be beneficial in patients in whom complete tumor removal cannot be achieved. Dis Colon Rectum. 2013;56(12):1366–72. https://doi.org/10.1097/DCR.0b013e3182a62b0d.
- 189. Passot G, You B, Boschetti G, Fontaine J, Isaac S, Decullier E, et al. Pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy: a new prognosis tool for the

curative management of peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:2608–14.

- 190. Rubbia-Brandt L, et al. Importance of histological tumor response assessment in predicting the outcome in patients with colorectal liver metastases treated with neo-adjuvant chemotherapy followed by liver surgery. Ann Oncol. 2007;18(2): 299–304.
- 191. Blazer DG, et al. Pathologic response to preoperative chemotherapy: a new outcome end point after resection of hepatic colorectal metastases. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(33):5344–51.
- 192. Folprecht G, Kohne CH, Lutz MP. Systemic chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Cancer Treat Res. 2007;134:425–40.
- 193. Kohne CH, et al. Clinical determinants of survival in patients with 5-fluorouracil-based treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: results of a multivariate analysis of 3825 patients. Ann Oncol. 2002;13(2):308–17.
- 194. Yonemura Y, Elnemr A, Endou Y, et al. Effects of neoadjuvant intraperitoneal/systemic chemotherapy (bidirectional chemotherapy) for the treatment of patients with peritoneal metastasis from gastric cancer. Int J Surg Oncol. 2012;2012:8. https://doi. org/10.1155/2012/148420.
- 195. Bijelic L, Kumar AS, Stuart OA, Sugarbaker PH. Systemic chemotherapy prior to cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for carcinomatosis from appendix cancer: impact on perioperative outcomes and short-term survival. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:6. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/163284.
- 196. Solass W, Sempoux C, Detlefsen S, et al. Peritoneal sampling and histological assessment of therapeutic response in peritoneal metastasis: proposal of the Peritoneal Regression Grading Score (PRGS). Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(2):99–107. https://doi. org/10.1515/pap-2016-0011.
- 197. Seshadri RA, Hemanth Raj E. Diagnostic laparoscopy in the pre-operative assessment of patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for peritoneal surface malignancies. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7:230. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-015-0486-9.
- 198. Fagotti A, Ferrandina G, Fanfani F, Ercoli A, Lorusso D, Rossi M, et al. A laparoscopy-based score to predict surgical outcome in patients with advanced ovarian carcinoma: a pilot study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;13:1156–61.
- 199. Brun JL, Rouzier R, Uzan S, Darai E. External validation of a laparoscopic-based score to evaluate resectability of advanced ovarian cancers: clues for a simplified score. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;110:354–9.
- 200. Fagotti A, Ferrandina G, Fanfani F, Garganese G, Vizzielli F, Carone V, et al. Prospective validation of a laparoscopic predictive model for optimal cytoreduction in advanced ovarian carcinoma. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2008;199:642.e1–6.

- 201. Varnoux C, Huchon C, Bats AS, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of hand-assisted laparoscopy in predicting resectability of peritoneal carcinomatosis from gynecological malignancies. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:774–9.
- 202. Sugarbaker PH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei and peritoneal metastases from appendiceal malignancy. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Cytoreductive surgery & perioperative chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy. Textbook and video atlas. Woodbury: Cine-Med Publishers; 2012.
- 203. González-Moreno S, Ortega-Pérez G, González-Bayón L. Indications and patient selection for cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100(4):287–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.21325.
- 204. Passot G, Vaudoyer D, Cotte E, You B, Isaac S, Noël Gilly F, Mohamed F, Glehen O. Progression following neoadjuvant systemic chemotherapy may not be a contraindication to a curative approach for colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2012;256(1):125–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e318255486a.
- 205. Glehen O, Beaujard AC, Arvieux C, Huber O, Gilly FN. Peritoneal carcinomatosis. Surgical treatment, peritonectomy and intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 2002;26:210–5.
- 206. Elias DM, Ouellet JF. Intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia: rationale, technique, indications, and results. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2001;10:915–33.
- 207. Cotte E, Passot G, Gilly F-N, Glehen O. Selection of patients and staging of peritoneal surface malignancies. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(1):31–5. https://doi.org/10.4251/wjgo.v2.i1.31.
- 208. Brouquet A, Goere D, Lefevre JH, et al. The second procedure combining complete cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for isolated peritoneal recurrence: postoperative course and longterm outcome. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16:2744–51.
- 209. Yan TD, Bijelic L, Sugarbaker PH. Critical analysis of treatment failure after complete cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal dissemination from appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14: 2289–99.
- 210. Verwaal VJ, Boot H, Aleman BM, et al. Recurrences after peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin treated by cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: location, treatment, and outcome. Ann Surg Oncol. 2004;11:375–9.
- 211. Saxena A, Yan TD, Morris DL. Critical assessment of preoperative and operative risk factors for complications after iterative peritonectomy procedures. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36:309–14.
- 212. Smeenk RM, Verwaal VJ, Antonini N, Zoetmulder FA. Progression of pseudomyxoma peritonei after combined modality treatment: management and outcome. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(2):493–9.
- 213. Esquivel J, Sugarbaker PH. Second-look surgery in patients with peritoneal dissemination from appendi-

ceal malignancy: analysis of prognostic factors in 98 patients. Ann Surg. 2001;234:198–205.

- 214. Mogal H, Chouliaras K, Levine EA, Shen P, Votanopoulos KI. Repeat cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: review of indications and outcomes. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;7(1):129–42. https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2078-6891.2015.131.
- 215. Golse N, Bakrin N, Passot G, Mohamed F, Vaudoyer D, Gilly FN, Glehen O, Cotte E. Iterative procedures combining cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal recurrence: postoperative and long-term results. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106(2):197–203. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23062.
- 216. Vaira M, Robella M, Mellano A, Sottile A, De Simone M. Iterative procedures combining cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for isolated peritoneal recurrence. Int J Hyperth. 2014;30(8):565–9. https://doi.org/10.310 9/02656736.2014.974693.
- 217. Vassos N, Förtsch T, Aladashvili A, Hohenberger W, Croner RS. Repeated cytoreductive surgery (CRS) with Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) in patients with recurrent peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Surg Oncol. 2016;14:42.
- 218. Fish R, Selvasekar C, Crichton P, Wilson M, Fulford P, Renehan A, O'Dwyer S. Risk-reducing laparoscopic cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm: early outcomes and technique. Surg Endosc. 2014;28:341–5. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00464-013-3189-8.
- 219. Esquivel J, Averbach A, Chua TC. Laparoscopic cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal

chemotherapy in patients with limited peritoneal surface malignancies: feasibility, morbidity and outcome in an early experience. Ann Surg. 2011;253(4):764–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e31820784df.

- 220. Esquivel J, Averbach A. Laparoscopic cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC in patients with limited pseudomyxoma peritonei of appendiceal origin. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:5.
- 221. Passot G, Bakrin N, Isaac S, Decullier E, Gilly FN, Glehen O, Cotte E. Postoperative outcomes of laparoscopic vs open cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment of peritoneal surface malignancies. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(8):957–62. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejso.2013.10.002. Epub 2013 Oct 16.
- 222. Gallotta V, Fagotti A, Fanfani F, Ferrandina G, Nero C, Costantini B, Gueli Alletti S, Chiantera V, Ercoli A, Scambia G. Laparoscopic surgical management of localized recurrent ovarian cancer: a single-institution experience. Surg Endosc. 2014;28(6):1808–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00464-013-3390-9.
- 223. Trinh H, Ott C, Fanning J. Feasibility of laparoscopic debulking with electrosurgical loop excision procedure and argon beam coagulator at recurrence in patients with previous laparotomy debulking. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004;190:1394–7.
- 224. Nezhat FR, Denoble SM, Cho JE, Brown DN, Soto E, Chuang L, Gretz H, Saharia P. Safety and efficacy of video laparoscopic surgical debulking of recurrent ovarian, fallopian tube, and primary peritoneal cancers. JSLS. 2012;16:511–8.
- 225. Magrina JF, Cetta RL, Chang YH, Guevara G, Magtibay PM. Analysis of secondary cytoreduction for recurrent ovarian cancer by robotics, laparoscopy, and laparotomy. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;129:336–40.



4

HIPEC Methodology, Comparison of Techniques, and Drug Regimens: Is There a Need for Standardization?

K. Van der Speeten and L. Lemoine

Abbreviations

5-FU	5-Fluorouracil
AUC	Area under the curve
BIC	Bidirectional intraoperative
	chemotherapy
BSA	Body surface area
CRS	Cytoreductive surgery
EPIC	Early postoperative intraperitoneal
	chemotherapy
HIPEC	Hyperthermic intraperitoneal peropera-
	tive chemotherapy
IP	Intraperitoneal
IV	Intravenous
MTC	Mass transfer coefficient
NIPS	Neoadjuvant intraperitoneal and
	systemic chemotherapy
PIPAC	Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol
	chemotherapy
PM	Peritoneal metastases
SPIC	Sequenced postoperative intraperito-
	neal chemotherapy

K. Van der Speeten (⊠) • L. Lemoine Department of Surgical Oncology, Ziekenhuis Oost-Limburg, Genk, Belgium

Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, University Hasselt, Diepenbeek, Belgium

Washington Cancer Institute, Washington Hospital Center, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: kurt.vanderspeeten@zol.be

4.1 Introduction

The peritoneum is a common site of metastatic disease, specifically from intra-abdominal malignancies of gastrointestinal and gynecological origin. The commonest route of peritoneal dissemination is contiguous spread through exfoliation of tumor cells, and lymphatic and hematogenous spread is less common.

4.2 Pathophysiology of Peritoneal Carcinomatosis

Tumor cells may exfoliate from primary tumors that infiltrate full thickness of the bowel wall and have reached the serosal surface. Several authors established transserosal growth of a colon tumor as a consistent predictor of subsequent intraperitoneal recurrence [1, 2]. It is also an important independent pathological prognostic parameter [3-6]. In addition to this, handling of the tumor during surgery and surgical dissection itself leads to a leakage to tumor cells from the blood vessels and lymphatic channels that are transected during the process [7, 8]. Once released into the peritoneal cavity, loose cancer cells become subject to the physiological peritoneal lymph flow. These cells follow the flow of peritoneal fluid and accumulate in the dependent areas of the peritoneal cavity-the pelvis and various recesses. The negative intrathoracic pressure generated during res-

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_4

piration directs the fluid to the subphrenic regions along the paracolic gutters. The spread to the left subphrenic region is limited by the splenocolic ligament. In low-grade malignancies, there is sparing of the small bowel due to peristalsis [9]. Under experimental conditions, direct passage from the right to left subphrenic space is prevented by the falciform ligament. The flow is predominantly oriented in a clockwise direction [10, 11]. Intraperitoneal fluid dynamics are influencing the distribution of peritoneal cancer nodules in PC patients [12].

Viability studies have suggested that, in contrast to circulating tumor cells in the blood, bone marrow, or liver, the metastatic efficiency of loose intraperitoneal cells is outspoken [13–16]. Also, the acute inflammatory response and healing processes observed at the site of surgical injury are important not only in relation to the formation of postoperative adhesions but also in the enhancement of tumor growth [17–19]. The molecular mechanisms underlying this pathological sequence of peritoneal transport of free tumor cells, mesothelial adhesion, mesothelial invasion, stromal invasion, and eventually proliferation are well documented [20, 21]. Eventually, this will result in the development of clinical PC.

4.3 Revised Hypothesis Regarding Peritoneal Carcinomatosis

Peritoneal metastases (PM) which were not very long ago treated only with systemic chemotherapy and/or supportive care are now approached more aggressively in selected patients, largely due to the efforts of a group of oncologists who have demonstrated that a prolonged survival is possible in these patients. One of the main reasons for a change in the approach was the understanding that PM constitute locoregional spread in some patients, and aggressive locoregional therapies can improve the survival in these patients. The use of heated intraperitoneal triethylenethiophophoramide (thiotepa) was first reported by John Spratt in a patient with pseudomyxoma peritonei [22]. Koga et al. reported the

use of normothermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 23 gastric cancer patients with PM, and Speyer first reported the use of normothermic intraperitoneal 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) and methotrexate in 16 patients with PM [23, 24]. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy is used in combination with cytoreductive surgery (CRS) that is performed with the goal of removing all visible macroscopic disease with various peritonectomy procedures and resection of contiguous viscera. Once all the visible disease is removed, intraperitoneal chemotherapy deals with the residual microscopic disease [25]. The perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy includes hyperthermic intraperitoneal peroperative chemotherapy (HIPEC) and/or early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC). One of the commonly used regimens that combined the intravenous and intraperitoneal routes was developed by Elias et al. in 2002 [26]. HIPEC is performed with oxaliplatin administered intraperitoneally and an intravenous infusion of 5-FU and leucovorin performed just prior to it. Most recent protocols advocate this bidirectional (simultaneous intraperitoneal and intravenous chemotherapy) intraoperative chemohyperthermia (BIC). The timing of the intravenous chemotherapy in relation to the surgery is crucial. In Elias protocol, intravenous 5-FU is used to potentiate the action of oxaliplatin which also undergoes augmentation in cytotoxicity with the use of heat. This strategy could in part be responsible for the favorable outcomes of IPC reported in the recent years.

4.4 Clinical Results in Treating Peritoneal Carcinomatosis

This radical treatment has demonstrated a survival benefit in one randomized controlled trial and other retrospective and phase II studies [26–39]. Verwall et al. reported a 5-year survival of 45% in 103 patients of colorectal PM treated with CRS and HIPEC (using mitomycin C) in a randomized controlled trial that compared this treatment to systemic chemotherapy alone [28]. Similarly, Glehen et al. reported a

5-year overall survival of 37% in a multi-institutional study comprising of 1290 patients of PM from various primary sites treated with CRS and HIPEC [39].

While these studies point to potential benefit of this strategy over chemotherapy alone, further evidence is needed, and the role of CRS and HIPEC needs to be defined individually for which data from phase II and III trials is awaited. At the same time, an optimization of IPC protocols and regimens is needed. There is a limited understanding of the pharmacological aspects of IPC, and a better knowledge of pharmacology could translate into increased safety of the procedure and improved clinical outcomes from more efficacious treatment regimens.

4.5 Rationale for Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy

The two technical terms that must be understood are pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Pharmacokinetics is what the body does to the chemotherapeutic agent, and pharmacodynamics is what the drug does to the body. The administration of IPC is not only technically more difficult; it has also been associated with an increased morbidity, and hence the pharmacokinetic advantage of employing this route needs to be clearly demonstrated.

4.5.1 The Peritoneal-Plasma Barrier

The ultrastructure of the peritoneum was described by Baron in 1941 [40]. The peritoneum consists of a single layer of mesothelial cells resting on a basement membrane under which is a 90 μ m thick layer of connective tissue. The connective tissue comprises of a matrix of collagen, hyaluron, proteoglycans, and interstitial cells that include pericytes, parenchymal cells, and blood vessels. This whole complex is referred to as the peritoneal membrane. The peritoneum is now considered an organ; it is a large and complex organ that covers the abdominal organs and abdominal wall and encloses within its reflec-

tions and folds a large space—the peritoneal cavity. The peritoneal membrane itself acts as a barrier between the peritoneal cavity and the systemic circulation, and this is the rationale employed for administering intraperitoneal chemotherapy.

The peritoneum serves several important functions. It acts as a lubricant, reducing the friction between the intra-abdominal organs and the abdominal wall, it plays a role in host defense through the lymphoid aggregates (milky spots) in various regions of the visceral and parietal peritoneum, and it acts as a barrier against peritoneal cancer spread [41, 42]. The role of the peritoneum in preventing PM was described by Paul Sugarbaker [43]. The peritoneum is considered to be the first line of defense against PM, and a disruption of the peritoneal lining facilitates the adhesion and invasion of tumor resulting in the development of PM [43].

It may be presumed that if the peritoneal lining is removed, transport of agents from the peritoneal cavity to the systemic circulation could be affected, especially that of chemotherapeutic agents-this is important since IPC is administered after peritonectomy has been performed. However, Flessnar demonstrated in an experimental study that removal of the mesothelial lining had no impact on the transport across the membrane [44]. Removal of the peritoneum has no impact on the mass transfer coefficient (MTC) over the barrier; this was further demonstrated in a clinical study involving administration of mitomycin C or 5-FU after CRS [45, 46]. And it has been demonstrated that the plasma-peritoneal barrier is formed not by the mesothelial cell layer and basement membrane but by the blood vessel and the surrounding interstitial matrix which form the main barrier for the transport of solutes and molecules from the peritoneal cavity to the systemic circulation [47]. Fluid enters the systemic circulation either by diffusion or by absorption by the peritoneal lymphatics that are abundant on the diaphragmatic undersurfaces [48, 49]. Fluid absorbed by the parietal peritoneum enters the systemic circulation, and that drained by the visceral peritoneum enters the portal circulation [50].

4.5.2 Dedrick Diffusion Model

Dedrick et al. in 1978 discovered that hydrophilic chemotherapeutic drugs had a slow rate of clearance from the peritoneal cavity, whereas the plasma clearance of the same drugs was comparatively higher [51]. The peritoneal clearance of a drug was found to be inversely proportional to the square root of its molecular weight leading to a significantly higher concentration in the peritoneal cavity as compared to the plasma after intraperitoneal administration [52, 53]. This dose intensification that occurs due to the plasma-peritoneal barrier forms the pharmacokinetic rationale for intraperitoneal chemotherapy. According to a simplified mathematical model, there are two compartments-the plasma and the peritoneal cavity-that are separated from each other by an effective membrane (Fig. 4.1).

This results in the following equation:

Rate of mass transfer = PA(CP - CB)



Fig. 4.1 The traditional two-compartment model of peritoneal transport, transfer of a drug from the peritoneal cavity to the blood occurs across the "peritoneal membrane." The permeability-area product (*PA*) governs this transfer. *PA* is calculated by measuring the rate of drug disappearance from the cavity, which is divided by the overall concentration difference between the peritoneal cavity and the blood (or plasma). C_B = the free drug concentration in the blood (or plasma), V_B = volume of distribution of the drug in the body, C_p = the free drug concentration in the peritoneal fluid, and V_p = volume of the peritoneal cavity. (Adapted from Dedrick RL, Flessner MF. Pharmacokinetic problems in peritoneal drug administration: Tissue penetration and surface exposure. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1997; 89(7), 480–7) [97]

where PA = permeability area (PA = effective contact area A × permeability P), CP = concentration in peritoneal cavity, and CB = concentration in the blood [54]. This model highlights the importance of the effective contact area, but does not determine its value in the actual transfer across the membrane. Similarly, it has no bearing on the amount of drug that reaches the tumor tissue. Increasing the drug concentration does not necessarily lead to an increased uptake and concentration into the tumor tissue [55]. Hence, this equation just describes a transfer across two compartments.

This does intensification which leads to increased drug concentration in the peritoneal cavity in comparison to plasma after intraperitoneal administration (Fig. 4.2) is expressed as the area under the curve (AUC) ratios of intraperitoneal (IP) versus plasma (IV) concentration. And as mentioned above, though the residual tumor cells are exposed to increased drug levels, it does not necessarily lead to increased uptake and therapeutic effect. It has been shown that even when the intraperitoneal drug concentration is high, penetration into the tumor nodules is limited. Hence, the ideal drug for intraperitoneal administration should not only be retained in the peritoneal cavity for a prolonged period but should get concentration in tumor nodules as well. Once the drug enters the systemic circulation, it undergoes rapid metabolism, thus maintaining the concentration gradient between the two compartments and limiting the systemic toxicity of the drug.

4.6 Pharmacologic Variables

There are a number of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variables that influence the efficacy of IPC, and these are listed in Table 4.1. Pharmacokinetic data is expressed as a concentration \times time graph [55]. Pharmacodynamics evaluated the effect of the chemotherapeutic agent on the tumor nodules taking into consideration the size of the nodules, density, vascularity, interstitial pressure, binding, and temperature. Pharmacodynamic data are depicted in a concentrations \times effect graph.



Fig. 4.2 Concentration times time graph of mitomycin C in peritoneal fluid, plasma, and urine in 145 patients during HIPEC. The area under the curve ratio of peritoneal fluid to

plasma was 26.6 (\pm 7.1). Peak plasma concentration was 0.25 (\pm 0.06) µg/mL at 30 min. Also shown are the total milligrams of mitomycin C excreted in the urine at 15 min intervals

Table 4.1 Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variables of intraperitoneal chemotherapy

Pharmacokinetic VR	Pharmacodynamic VR	
Dose	Tumor nodule size	
Volume	Density	
Duration	Vascularity	
Carrier solution	Interstitial fluid pressure	
Pressure	Binding	
Molecular weight	Temperature	

4.6.1 Timing of Cancer Chemotherapy in Relation to Timing of Surgical Intervention

In patients with PM, IPC can be used at four different time points. In patients with extensive disease, IPC is used for reducing the tumor burden in addition to systemic chemotherapy. This approach, which is called "neoadjuvant intraperitoneal and systemic chemotherapy" (NIPS), works against small tumor nodules and can facilitate subsequent CRS and HIPEC in patients who respond to therapy [56]. Radiologic and clinical responses have been reported by several groups [56–58]. NIPS has certain limitations as well. Adhesions may limit the distribution of the drug, and its efficacy and complete responses are seldom seen; the use of NIPS increases the morbidity and mortality of a subsequent CRS and HIPEC [59]. Fibrosis which develops in patients who respond to therapy can limit the evaluation of the disease extent on subsequent laparoscopy/ laparotomy.

Perhaps the most commonly employed method is hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) that is administered intraoperatively, immediately after performing CRS. HIPEC has been combined with CRS and has shown a clinical benefit in many phase II and some phase III trials [27–39]. Chemotherapy is administered for 3–5 days after surgery from postoperative day 1; this is termed as early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC). Since it is performed immediately after surgery, adhesions have not formed, thereby reducing the uneven distribution, and the residual disease is at its minimum. The selection of drugs for EPIC is important, and cell cycle-specific drugs like 5-FU and taxanes are most suited for this form of IPC. It is administered through drains placed during surgery and often performed in addition to HIPEC. EPIC has been discussed in greater detail in Chap. 5 of this book.

Long-term combined intraperitoneal and systemic chemotherapy also known as sequential intraperitoneal postoperative chemotherapy (SPIC) seeks to consolidate the surgical effort of CRS by adding long-term cycles of postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. This form of IPC has been evaluated as adjuvant therapy for ovarian cancer, and several large randomized trials have shown a benefit of SIPC with systemic chemotherapy as compared to systemic chemotherapy alone in patients with advanced ovarian cancer who have had an optimal CRS [60-62]. Strictly speaking, this strategy may be termed as "postoperative adjuvant therapy" rather than perioperative chemotherapy. It may also be used as a "chemotherapeutic bridge" in patients who have had an incomplete CRS and are being considered for a secondary CRS. This approach may be used as "chemotherapeutic bridging" between incomplete initial surgery and definitive cytoreduction or second-look surgery.

In patients with PM, recurrence in the peritoneal cavity is common, and these may occur in the absence of systemic disease. An optimized treatment strategy using a combination of one or more of these approaches should be employed to treat patients to provide the maximal benefit in both recurrence-free and overall survival.

4.6.2 Duration

When a drug is administered intraperitoneally, it needs to remain in the peritoneal cavity for a spe-

cific period of time to obtain maximal cell kill. This effect increases with time to an extent and then it plateaus. The dependency of dose-response curves on exposure time was demonstrated by Gardner [63]. Moreover, the benefit of the prolonged exposure time needs to be weighed against the risk of systemic toxicity. Based on this rationale and understanding, the duration of HIPEC ranges from 30 to 120 min depending on the drug used. The duration of perioperative chemotherapy regimens should be pharmacology-driven and not arbitrary.

4.6.3 Carrier Solution

The carrier solution used also has an impact on the efficacy of IPC. An ideal carrier solution should lead to increased exposure of the peritoneal surface to the drug and maintain a high intraperitoneal volume for a prolonged period and should be cleared slowly and not have a detrimental effect on the peritoneum itself [64]. The solution used can be hypotonic, isotonic, or hypertonic. It has been used to deliver both low and high molecular weight drugs.

The choice of carrier solution is important when performing EPIC where maintenance of a high volume of chemotherapy solution over a prolonged time period improves the distribution of the drug and the effectiveness of the treatment [65]. Mohamed et al. showed that the use of an isotonic solution comprising of high molecular weight dextrose prolongs the duration of artificial ascites [66]. Some experimental studies have shown that the use of hypotonic carrier solution for HIPEC may be advantageous pharmacokinetically [67, 68]. Elias et al. used a hypotonic solution for performing HIPEC with oxaliplatin in patients with colorectal PM and reported no difference in absorption or intratumoral accumulation of oxaliplatin but an increased incidence of hemorrhage (50%) in the postoperative period and severe thrombocytopenia, both of which could not be explained [69]. More information is needed before hypotonic carrier solutions are recommended for routine use.

4.6.4 Pressure

Dedrick et al. postulated that the depth of drug penetration is equal to the square root of the ratio of the tissue diffusivity and the rate constant for drug removal from the tissue: (D/k)1/2 [70]. Unpublished data by Flessner showed a doubling to the extracellular space in the anterior abdominal wall of rats when the intra-abdominal pressure was raised from 0 to 4 cm of H_2O [44]. Several experimental studies have shown that an increased intra-abdominal pressure during IPC can increase the intratumoral concentration and cytotoxicity of drugs like cisplatin, oxaliplatin, and doxorubicin [70–73]. However, these proposed advantages have failed to translate into a clinical benefit, and the pressure cannot be increased beyond a point due to respiratory and hemodynamic intolerance. The two clinical applications of a raised intraabdominal pressure are laparoscopic HIPEC at 12–15 mmHg [74–78] that is used for palliating refractory malignant ascites and pressurized intrachemotherapy peritoneal aerosol (PIPAC). Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) is a new method of intraperitoneal drug delivery [79]. During PIPAC, laparoscopic access is obtained to create a pneumoperitoneum of 12 mm of Hg at normal temperature (37 °C), and a nebulized chemotherapy solution is then applied to create a "therapeutic capnoperitoneum" which is maintained in a steady state for 30 min [80]. The combined effect of using aerosolized chemotherapy which leads to a more homogenous drug distribution over the peritoneal surfaces and raised intra-abdominal pressure which increases the tissue drug concentration is expected to lead to increased drug in tumor tissue at low doses with limited systemic toxicity. This hypothesis has been tested in several experimental and clinical studies [80–85]. The first report of clinical efficacy was published in 2014 by Solass et al. in which two out of three patients with end-stage peritoneal disease arising from gastric appendiceal and ovarian primary sites experienced a clinical response and prolongation of survival with PIPAC. The dose was only 1/10 the dose of cisplatin and doxorubicin used for HIPEC and produced a higher tumor drug concentration as compared to

HIPEC. The depth of penetration of drug was also increased, and the nuclear presence was demonstrated in the retroperitoneum as well. The systemic concentration was low and the tolerance was good [83]. Repeated applications of PIPAC are possible at intervals of 6-8 weeks. No cumulative hepatic or renal toxicity has been reported after multiple applications of PIPAC [85, 86]. Another report showed that the drug concentration was higher in tissues directly exposed to the aerosol jet as compared to those at a distance in an ex vivo model [87]. In a phase II study of 64 patients with recurrent ovarian cancer who underwent three applications of PIPAC using cisplatin and doxorubicin, there was a good tolerance with no grade 4 toxicity and an improvement in quality of life compared to systemic chemotherapy [89]. Similarly, a good tolerance to repeated PIPAC with oxaliplatin was shown in 17 patients of colorectal PM, most of whom had several lines of therapy before undergoing PIPAC [88]. These reports are of patients who have been treated with multiple lines of chemotherapy, and many of them had undergone extensive surgical procedures as well. PIPAC cannot be performed if the adhesions are extensive. Laparoscopic nonaccess is a limitation. The responses are seldom complete and its current use is only in the palliative setting. The other drawback is the high rate of bowel complications reported when it is combined with CRS [89]. Hence, in the current scenario, PIPAC should not be performed with CRS. Another strategy for increasing the drug concentration and penetration is applying an electric current during PIPAC, what is termed as electrostatic PIPAC (ePIPAC) [90]. An experimental study showed that charging the aerosolized particles led to an increased drug uptake and a further reduction in the dose and application time to achieve the same therapeutic effect.

Currently, several phase II trials are evaluating the role of PIPAC in the palliative and neoadjuvant setting for downstaging the disease in patients with extensive PM. PIPAC is often used in combination with systemic chemotherapy. These trials will evaluate its safety, feasibility, and efficacy in different settings. Till then PIPAC remains a palliative option for selected patients with PM.

4.6.5 Temperature

There are several theoretical benefits of using heat with IPC. Exposing tumor cells to heat leads to impaired DNA repair, increased protein denaturation, increased acidity, lysosomal activation, and increased apoptotic cell death [91]. This should lead to enhanced cytotoxicity using heat alone. However, the extent of temperature elevation in the core of tumor tissue is extremely limited. Heat also increases the cytotoxicity of several chemotherapeutic agents. The drugs whose cytotoxicity is enhanced by hyperthermia include cisplatin, mitomycin C, doxorubicin, melphalan, oxaliplatin, and gemcitabine [92]. Hyperthermia can also increase the depth of penetration of chemotherapeutic drugs in tumor nodules. Increased concentration of intraperitoneal doxorubicin in tumor nodules at 43 °C has been demonstrated; the use of heat does not undermine the other pharmacokinetic benefits of IPC [93]. Another benefit of hyperthermia is the reduction in the interstitial fluid pressure which is a major barrier to intratumoral drug penetration [94, 95]. The extent of heat enhancement is different for different drugs, and the level of heat required for maximal enhancement of cytotoxicity also varies. Cisplatin undergoes constant enhancement of cytotoxicity as the temperature increases. Some drugs like mitomycin C and gemcitabine that function as prodrugs do not experience this enhancement beyond a temperature of 41-42 °C [96]. Thus, these drugs are enhanced by moderate hyperthermia at 41 °C. Other drugs like cisplatin, melphalan, ifosfamide, and cyclophosphamide are called "super drugs" for hyperthermia as they undergo thermal enhancement at 43–44 °C as well [97]. However, cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide are not suitable for intraperitoneal use.

As hyperthermia is the main logistic reason complicating widespread use of IP chemotherapy, the suggested increased cytotoxicity of adding hyperthermia to IP chemotherapy suggested by basic science needs urgent validation in clinical trials.

4.7 Modes of Perfusion

Different methodologies for performing HIPEC have been developed at centers experienced in the management of peritoneal surface malignancy.

4.7.1 Open Abdomen Technique

The open abdomen technique with a vapor barrier created by smoke evacuators has been used extensively at the MedStar Washington Hospital Center (Fig. 4.3) [98]. During the open coliseum technique (Fig. 4.4), the abdominal cavity is expanded after CRS by applying traction sutures on the skin, which elevates the skin edge and provides the so-called coliseum [25]. This technique assures chemotherapy solution reaches all abdominal recesses. A heater circulator is used to maintain moderate hyperthermia (41-43 °C) within the abdomen and pelvis. Most treatment centers use a single inflow catheter that is moved in a clockwise direction from the right upper quadrant to beneath the left hemidiaphragm, to the left paracolic sulcus, to the pelvis, to the right paracolic sulcus, and then back to the right upper quadrant. Direct inflow within the small bowel regions is avoided. To remove the chemotherapy solution from the peritoneal space, one or more



Fig. 4.3 The open abdomen technique to administer hyperthermic intraperitoneal peroperative chemotherapy (HIPEC). A vapor barrier is created by smoke evacuator [98]



Fig. 4.4 During the open coliseum technique, the abdominal cavity is expanded after CRS by applying traction sutures on the skin, which elevates the skin edge and provides the so-called coliseum. The abdomen is covered with a plastic sheet. A cruciate incision is made within the sheet to provide

an access for manipulation of the abdominal viscera and to allow the heated chemotherapy solution to access all dependent parts of the abdomen and pelvis to ensure good drug distribution. A smoke evacuator is used to clear aerosolized chemotherapy liberated during the procedure

outflow catheters are placed in separate abdominal areas. The flow of the chemotherapy solution is usually set between 1 and 1.5 L/min. During the open abdomen technique, the abdomen is covered with a plastic sheet. A cruciate incision is made within the sheet to provide an access for manipulation of the abdominal viscera and to allow the heated chemotherapy solution to access all dependent parts of the abdomen and pelvis to ensure good drug distribution. A smoke evacuator is used to clear aerosolized chemotherapy liberated during the procedure.

The concern with the open abdomen technique is the potential hazardous occupational exposure, i.e., exposing the operating room staff, to the chemotherapy solution in liquid or vaporized form. Several studies have been performed to address this issue by measuring platinum levels in the blood and urine of healthcare workers and environmental (air and surfaces) samples during HIPEC [99–101]. They report that there is no risk of platinum exposure during the open coliseum technique when safety considerations are followed. Capron et al. reported that double gloving can be used safely during HIPEC, as there was no detectable permeation of chemotherapy drugs during tests performed at 43 °C [102]. These studies emphasize the need for a standardized protocol concerning HIPEC procedures with specific recommendations regarding environmental contamination risk management, personal protective equipment, and occupational health supervision [103].

4.7.2 Closed Abdomen Technique

Some groups close the abdomen before performing HIPEC and then open the abdomen again to perform the anastomoses and repair the seromuscular tears, finally performing closure of the abdomen once again. During HIPEC (Fig. 4.5a), only the skin is closed tightly to prevent leakage of the chemotherapy solution, and the other layers of the anterior abdominal wall remain in contact with the chemotherapy solution during the procedure [104]. In the totally closed technique, the bowel anastomoses and seromuscular repairs are performed prior to HIPEC, drains are inserted, and a formal closure of the abdominal wall is done before performing HIPEC [105, 106].

Advantages associated with the closed abdomen technique are the ability to rapidly achieve and to maintain hyperthermia and increased safety of operating staff. Another advantage believed to be associated with the closed HIPEC



Fig. 4.5 (a) In this closed technique, the skin is closed in a water fashion so that all of the structures of the anterior abdominal wall are thoroughly treated by the chemotherapy solution. Tubes and drains are positioned prior to the definitive closure of the abdomen. After closure of the abdomen, the perfusion of the heated chemotherapy solu-

technique is that increased intra-abdominal pressure may increase the chemotherapy penetration into tissue. However, Ortega-Deballon et al. reported in an experimental study that the open technique had higher systemic absorption and abdominal tissue penetration of oxaliplatin than the closed technique [107]. Facy and colleagues used a pig model to demonstrate that tissue concentration of oxaliplatin was higher in the open technique even when high pressure was used in the closed abdomen technique. They concluded that the use of high pressure during the closed abdomen technique does not counterbalance the drawbacks [108]. These drawbacks include the risk of recurrence in the abdominal incision and suture lines and lack of uniform distribution of the heated solution [109, 110]. Preferential flow circuits exist, and some peritoneal surfaces are underexposed, which increases the risk of recurrence in these undertreated recesses. An attempt to better distribution of the chemotherapy can be made by manually agitating the abdominal wall during the perfusion.

In a clinical study including patients diagnosed with PC of different origins, Halkia et al. evaluated the differences in intraoperative parameters in patients receiving either the closed or open HIPEC technique. They concluded that

tion is started [104]. (b) The abdominal cavity expander, also referred to as the Landager technique, is a closed abdomen technique with open abdomen. The skin edges are watertightly stapled with a soft "abdominal cavity expander," supported by a Thompson self-retaining retractor positioned over the abdomen [130]

both methods are safe and efficient in the treatment of PC with equal morbidity and mortality. They recommended the closed technique to be the method of choice for frail patients due to more stable hemodynamic parameters [111].

4.7.3 Semi-Open/Semi-Closed Abdomen Techniques

The peritoneal cavity expander (PCE) was first described by Fujimura et al. [112]. During this technique, an acrylic cylinder is secured over the wound. This cylinder contains inflow and outflow catheters, is large enough to allow the small intestine to float in the heated perfusate, and allows manual manipulation of the perfusate. When compared with the closed perfusion technique, a more uniform drug distribution is achieved by temporarily increasing the volume of the peritoneal cavity. This method was mostly used for the treatment of gastric PC [113, 114].

The abdominal cavity expander, also referred to as the Landager technique, is a semi-closed abdomen technique with open abdomen which ensures protection against potential hazardous occupational exposure and allows permanent access to the whole abdomen cavity ensuring uniform drug distribution (Fig. 4.5b) [115]. During this method, the skin edges are watertightly stapled with a soft "abdominal cavity expander," supported by a Thompson self-retaining retractor positioned over the abdomen. In this way, the level of the liquid can be widely raised above the level of the skin edges. The anterior wall peritoneum and the wall edges are constantly exposed to the liquid [116]. The abdominal cavity expander has been recently used by Frøysnes et al. in the treatment of colorectal PC [117].

4.8 Ideal IP Chemotherapy Regimens

The ideal IP chemotherapy regimen should fulfill two important requirements:

Firstly, the pharmacokinetics should be optimized-from the time of administration till the drug enters the tumor cell. Secondly, the drug that is cytotoxic to the specific cancer cell should be used [118]. This underlines the need for a personalized approach, while using IPC and chemosensitivity testing is one way of doing it. In experimental studies, such testing has been performed using patient-derived tumor cell lines [119, 120]. However, though a simulation of the pharmacokinetic aspects is possible in these studies, the pharmacodynamic impact cannot be duplicated, and extrapolation of these results to the clinical setting is inaccurate. Moreover, drug metabolism does not occur and hence the systemic toxicity is not evaluated. When tumor cells are implanted subcutaneously in an experimental animal, the microenvironment and thus the tumor growth and metastasis are different from the situation in the human body. Therefore, xenografts, orthotopic animal models, and other assays all need to be validated and pharmacodynamic variables accounted before drawing conclusions from these studies. Another aspect that needs to be taken into consideration while selecting the drug regimen is the genetic profile of the tumor. Low-grade and high-grade appendiceal tumor have different genotypes, and this has been demonstrated by Levine et al. [121]. Another example is patients with colorectal cancer who express

MUC-2. These patients have a significantly inferior survival compared to patients who don't express MUC-2 [122]. Thus, future strategies will be needed to take into consideration genomic factors in selecting drug regimens as well.

4.8.1 IP Cancer Chemotherapy Regimens for Colorectal or Appendiceal PC

Table 4.2 summarizes the most frequently used IP cancer chemotherapy regimens in colorectal and appendiceal PM. The two dominant cancer drugs that form the backbone of these regimens are oxaliplatin and mitomycin C.

4.8.1.1 Oxaliplatin

Oxaliplatin (oxalato-1,2-diaminocyclohexaneplatinum(II)) is a third-generation platinum complex and one of the most active agents against colorectal and appendiceal tumors [123]. The first and most commonly used regimen was developed by Elias et al. who concluded that a dose of 460 mg/m² in 2 L/m² of chemotherapy solution over 30 min produced the maximum therapeutic effect [26, 124]. Though the AUC ratio is low for oxaliplatin, it is rapidly taken up by tumor tissue, and thus the application time of 30 min is sufficient. However, this regimen has been associated with certain complications. In a phase I study, Elias demonstrated no benefit of using a hypotonic solution on the rate of absorption of the drug and clearance from the peritoneal cavity but an increased risk of hemorrhage and thrombocytopenia [69]. Pomel et al. initiated a multicentric study with a lower dose of 350 mg/m² but found no reduction in hemorrhage (29%), and this study had to be closed prematurely [125]. In another study of 75 patients, the incidence of grade 3/4 thrombocytopenia was 14%, and the authors concluded that a higher initial concentration of oxaliplatin led to increased absorption and more severe thrombocytopenia [126]. In another recent report from France that studied the incidence of hemorrhage following oxaliplatin-based HIPEC compared to other

(BIC)) regimens
Oxal	liplatin-based regimens
Elias	s High-Dose Oxaliplatin Regimen
1.	Add oxaliplatin to 2 L/m ² 5% dextrose solution
2.	Dose of oxaliplatin is 460 mg/m ²
3.	30-min HIPEC treatment
Intra	wenous Component
4.	Add 5-fluorouracil 400 mg/m ² and leucovorin 20 mg/m ² to separate bags of 250 mL normal saline. Begin rapid intravenous infusion of both drugs 1 h before intraperitoneal chemotherapy
Gleh	en Medium-Dose Oxaliplatin Regimen
1.	Add oxaliplatin to 2 L/m ² 5% dextrose solution
2.	Dose of oxaliplatin is 360 mg/m ²
3.	30-min HIPEC treatment
Intra	wenous component
4.	Add 5-fluorouracil 400 mg/m ² and leucovorin 20 mg/m ² to separate bags of 250 mL normal saline. Begin rapid intravenous infusion of both drugs 1 h before intraperitoneal chemotherapy
Wake	e Forest University Oxaliplatin Regimen
1.	Add oxaliplatin to 3 L 5% dextrose solution
2.	Dose of oxaliplatin is 200 mg/m ²
3.	2 h HIPEC treatment
Mito	mvcin C-based regimens
Suga	urbaker Regimen
1.	Add mitomycin C to 2 L 1.5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis solution
2.	Add doxorubicin to the same 2 L 1.5% peritoneal dialysis solution
3.	Dose of mitomycin C and doxorubicin is 15 mg/ m ² for each chemotherapy agent
4.	Add 5-fluorouracil (400 mg/m ²) and leucovorin (20 mg/m ²) to separate bags of 250 mL normal saline. Begin rapid intravenous infusion of both drugs simultaneous with intraperitoneal chemotherapy
Dutc	h High-Dose Mitomycin C Regimen: "Triple-
Dosi	ng Regimen"
1.	Add mitomycin C to 3 L 1.5% dextrose
	peritoneal dialysis solution
2.	Add mitomycin C to the 1.5% peritoneal dialysis solution at a dose of 17.5 mg/m ² followed by 8.8 mg/m ² at 30 min and 8.8 mg/m ² at 60 min
3.	Total dose of mitomycin C 35 mg/m ² for 90-min HIPEC treatment

American Society of Peritoneal Surface Malignancy Low-Dose Mitomycin C Regimen: "Concentration-Based Regimen"

(continued)

Table 4.2 (continued)
--------------------	------------

1	. Add mitomycin C to 3 L 1.5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis solution
2	Add mitomycin C to the 1.5% peritoneal dialysis solution at a dose of 30 mg/3 L followed by 10 mg at 60 min
3	Dose of mitomycin C 40 mg/3 L for 90 min HIPEC treatment

drugs in 701 patients, there was an increase in hemorrhage when oxaliplatin was used [127]. Another problem with the drug is that it is not stable in chloride-containing solutions, and using a dextrose-based carrier solution can result in serious electrolyte disturbances and hyperglycemia [128]. Unknown to most, this degradation of oxaliplatin in normal saline only accounts for less than 10% of the total amount at 30 min. as when applied during HIPEC. Moreover, oxaliplatin degradation was associated with the formation of its active drug form Pt(dach)Cl2 [129, 130]. Different oxaliplatin-based HIPEC regimens are used in current clinical practice: "Elias High-Dose Oxaliplatin Regimen" [26], "Glehen Medium-Dose Oxaliplatin Regimen," and the "Wake Forest University Oxaliplatin Regimen" [123].

4.8.1.2 Mitomycin C

Mitomycin C is an alkylating tumor antibiotic extracted from Streptomyces species. It causes DNA cross-linking, apoptosis, and cell death. The AUC ration of 23.5 makes it an ideal drug for IP use [46]. Mitomycin C has been one of the first and most commonly used drugs for HIPEC for PM from various sites like colorectal, appendiceal, gastric, and ovarian cancer and malignant mesothelioma [46, 131]. It is also used for performing EPIC. Mitomycin undergoes moderate thermal enhancement and is cleared slowly from the peritoneal cavity; over 50% of the drug is retained at 90 min, and hence HIPEC regimens using this drug have a long application time of 90 min [132]. Some surgeons use a body surface area-based regimen in which the entire dose is added at the beginning, whereas others use a concentration-based regimen or administer the

90

dose in two fractions, one at the beginning and one midway during the procedure [133, 134]. Triple-dosing regimen may result in more stable peritoneal levels of the drug throughout the time of IP chemotherapy. Current applied HIPEC dosing regimens are the "Sugarbaker Regimen" [132], the "Duth High-Dose Mitomycin C Regimen: Triple-Dosing Regimen" [135, 136], and the "American Society of Peritoneal Surface Malignancy Low-Dose Mitomycin C Regimen: Concentration-Based Regimen" [137].

4.8.1.3 Body Surface Area-Based or Concentration-Based IP Chemotherapy

IPC protocols use either a concentration-based method for determining the drug dose or calculate it based on body surface area (BSA) as is done in the IV regimens. In the BSA method which is in common use, the BSA is used as a substitute for the effective peritoneal surface area in contact with the chemotherapy solution [51]. However, it has been shown that the BSA is an inaccurate method for determining the peritoneal surface contact area, and due to uneven distribution, the actual amount of drug absorbed in tumor nodules depends on its concentration in the carrier solution [51, 138]. The effective peritoneal surface area is also influenced by the body composition of the patient and the method of performing HIPECopen versus closed. It has been demonstrated that the use of a higher volume of perfusate/ carrier solution retards systemic absorption and reduces toxicity [139, 140]. At the same time, it may be concluded from the above evidence that when the concentration of the drug is low, the absorption into tumor nodules is proportionately less.

Contrary to this, concentration-based regimens lead to a more predictable exposure of the tumor nodules to the IP chemotherapy and thus efficacy [141]. The caveat is the unpredictable increase in systemic absorption and toxicity. Currently, a randomized controlled trial is being conducted at our hospital that will compare the pharmacological benefit and morbidity of these two dosing methods. The trial is called "concentration-based versus body surface areabased peroperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy after optimal cytoreductive surgery in colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis treatment: randomized non-blinded phase III clinical trial (COBOXtrial)" (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT03028155).

4.8.1.4 Clinical Results

There is no clear evidence supporting the superiority of either mitomycin C-based regimens or oxaliplatin-based regimens though there is a trend favoring the use of oxaliplatin.

Table 4.3 summarizes the clinical trials comparing oxaliplatin-based and mitomycin C-based HIPEC [142–145]. All of these reports, however, have serious methodological issues (selection bias, historical bias). A randomized controlled trial (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01580410), that is, a multicenter, open-label, randomized phase II trial, has been conducted to evaluate hematologic toxicities after HIPEC with oxaliplatin and mitomycin C in patients with appendiceal tumors. The time to progression for each drug will also be compared. This trial has completed accrual and the results are awaited.

 Table 4.3
 Clinical studies of oxaliplatin-based versus mitomycin C-based HIPEC (Adapted from Reference [178] with permission)

Year	Author	N	Туре	Uni-/Multicentric	Result
2010	Elias	523	Retrospective	Multicentric (23)	MMC = oxali
2014	Hompes	95	Retrospective	Bicentric	MMC = oxali
2014	Prata- Villaverde	539	Retrospective	Multicentric (>15)	MMC = oxali except PSDSS I/II (MMC 54,3 versus 28,2 months)
2016	Leung	201	Retrospective	Unicentric	Oxali (OS 56 versus 29 months)

4.8.2 IP Cancer Chemotherapy for PM of Gastric Cancer, Ovarian Cancer, Mesothelioma, and Sarcoma

The predominant IP regimens in this setting are cisplatin-based.

4.8.2.1 Cisplatin

Cisplatin (cis-diamminedichloroplatinum-III, CDDP) is an alkylating agent that causes apoptotic cell death by the formation of DNA adducts [146]. Normothermic and hyperthermic methods of IPC have used cisplatin-based regimens for the treatment of ovarian cancer, gastric cancer, and peritoneal mesothelioma [60, 62, 147-150]. Cisplatin is considered a "super drug" for hyperthermia and undergoes thermal enhancement at temperatures 42-44 °C as well. Hyperthermia is known not just to enhance the cytotoxicity but reverse the platinum resistance as well which is important in ovarian cancer [97]. The main toxicity is nephrotoxicity, and it has been found to be dose limiting by certain investigators [151]. Currently applied cisplatin-based HIPEC regimens are the "Sugarbaker Regimen" [152] and the "National Cancer Institute Milan Regimen" [153] (Table 4.4).

4.8.2.2 Doxorubicin

Doxorubicin or hydroxyldaunorubicin (Adriamycin) is an anthracycline antibiotic that is seldomly used alone for IPC. It is used in combination with either cisplatin or mitomycin C. Though initially categorized as a DNA-intercalating drug, the actual mechanism of action is a temperature-dependent interaction of doxorubicin with the cell surface membrane [154-156]. The advantages of IP doxorubicin are its favorable AUC ratio of IP to IV concentration times of 230 and its clinical activity in a large number of malignancies [157–161]. More recently PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin has generated interest for HIPEC application due to its favorable pharmacokinetics [162, 163].

Table 4.4 Cisplatin-based HIPEC regimens (Adapted from reference [178] with permission)

Cisplatin-based regimens
Sugarbaker regimen
 Add cisplatin to 2 L 1.5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis solution
2. Add doxorubicin to the same 2 L 1.5% peritoneal dialysis solution
 Dose of cisplatin is 50 mg/m², and doxorubicin is 15 mg/m² for 90-min HIPEC treatment
Intravenous chemotherapy
 Add ifosfamide 1300 mg/m² to 1 L 0.9% sodium chloride. Begin continuous IV infusion over 90 min simultaneous with intraperitoneal chemotherapy
 Add mesna disulfide 260 mg/m² in 100 mL 0.9% sodium chloride to be given IV as a bolus 15 min prior to ifosfamide infusion
 Add mesna disulfide 260 mg/m² in 100 mL 0.9% sodium chloride to be given IV as a bolus 4 h after ifosfamide infusion
 Add mesna disulfide 260 mg/m² in 100 mL 0.9% sodium chloride to be given IV as a bolus 8 h after ifosfamide infusion
National Cancer Institute Milan Regimen
1. 15.25 mg/L of doxorubicin and 43 mg/L of cisplatin for 90-min HIPEC treatment
2. Chemotherapy solution 4–6 L based on capacity of the peritoneal space

4.8.3 Bidirectional Intraoperative Chemotherapy (BIC)

Most current protocols advocate bidirectional intraoperative chemotherapy (BIC). By combining intraoperative IV and intraoperative IP cancer chemotherapy, a bidirectional diffusion gradient is created through the intermediate tissue layer containing the cancer nodules. The IV drug is administered as single of multiple boluses or as an infusion during the HIPEC procedure or just before it. This strategy was first used by Elias who demonstrated augmentation of the cytotoxicity of IP oxaliplatin by administering a 5-FU infusion over 1 h just prior to starting HIPEC. We also reported a clear pharmacokinetic advantage for the intraoperative IV administration of 5-fluorouracil [164]. A similar pharmacokinetic ifosfamide were demonstrated [152]. Ifosfamide undergoes thermal enhancement but needs cytochrome P450 to get converted to its active metabolite, thus eliminating the potential for IP use. However, it can augment the cytotoxicity of HIPEC and is used in conjunction with IP cisplatin and doxorubicin in ovarian cancer, gastric cancer, sarcomas, and mesothelioma. The bidirectional approach offers the possibility of optimizing cancer chemotherapy delivery to the target peritoneal tumor nodules. Further pharmacologic studies are needed to clarify the most efficient method of administration (continuous, bolus, or repeated bolus), doses, and choice of cancer chemotherapy drugs for this bidirectional approach.

4.8.4 Early Postoperative Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (EPIC)

EPIC is administered postoperatively (typically from day 1 to day 4/5) through both an inflow catheter and outflow drains inserted at the time of CRS. It can be used as the sole method of IPC or performed following CRS and HIPEC.

EPIC has theoretical advantages of being administered when the disease burden is minimal and when adhesions have not formed, thus enabling a more even drug distribution. It has also been associated with a higher risk of postoperative complications [29, 165–167]. Cell cycle-specific drugs like 5-FU and taxanes are most suited for EPIC (Table 4.5). Multiple cycles are given, each of which stays in the peritoneal cavity for 23 h. The drains are left open to drain for an hour before the next cycle is administered. This ensures that all residual cells get exposed to the drug.

4.8.4.1 5-Fluorouracil

5-Fluorouracil is an essential component of chemotherapeutic regimens for treating gastrointestinal cancers. 5-FU is an inhibitor of the enzyme thymidylate synthetase that catalyzes the methylation of thymine in the synthesis of thymidine, which is a precursor of DNA [168, 169]. It enters the cell directly and is then metabolized to its active metabolite. **Table 4.5** Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC) regimen

Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil on postoperative days 1–4 for adenocarcinoma from appendiceal, colonic, and gastric cancer

- 5-Fluorouracil _____ mg (400 mg/m² for females and 600 mg/m² for males, maximum dose = 1400 mg) and 50 meq sodium bicarbonate in ______mL 1.5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis solution via the Tenckhoff catheter daily for 4 days: start date ______, stop date ______
- 2. The intraperitoneal fluid volume is 1 L for patients ≤2.0 m² and 1.5 L for those >2.0 m²
- 3. Drain all fluid from the abdominal cavity prior to instillation, and then clamp abdominal drains
- Run the chemotherapy solution into the abdominal cavity through the Tenckhoff catheter as rapidly as possible. Dwell for 23 h and drain for 1 h prior to next instillation
- 5. Use gravity to maximize intraperitoneal distribution of the 5-fluorouracil. Instill the chemotherapy with the patient in a full right lateral position. After 30 min, direct the patient to turn to the full left lateral position. Change position from right to left every 30 min. Continue turning for the first 6 h after instillation of chemotherapy solution
- 6. Monitor with pulse oximeter during the first 6 h of intraperitoneal chemotherapy
- 7. Continue to drain abdominal cavity after final dwell until Tenckhoff catheter is removed

Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy with paclitaxel on postoperative days 1–5 for peritoneal mesothelioma and ovarian cancer

- 1. Paclitaxel _____ mg (20–40 mg/ m² × _____m²) (maximum dose = 80 mg) in 1000 mL 6% Hespan[®] (B. Braun, Irvine, CA) via Tenckhoff catheter daily: start date _____, stop date _____
- Instill as rapidly as possible via Tenckhoff catheter. Dwell for 23 h. Drain from Jackson-Pratt drains for 1 h prior to next instillation
- 3. During the initial 6 h after chemotherapy infusion, the patient's bed should be kept flat. The patient should be on the right side during instillation. Turn at 30 min post instillation onto the left side and continue to change sides at 30-min intervals for 6 h
- Monitor with pulse oximeter during the first 6 h of intraperitoneal chemotherapy
- Continue to drain abdominal cavity by Jackson-Pratt drains after the last dose of intraperitoneal chemotherapy

Also, 5-FU by its metabolites 5-fluoro-uridine diphosphate and 5-fluoro-uridine triphosphate gets incorporated in RNA, resulting in a second cytotoxic pathway. The action of 5-fluorouracil is therefore cell cycle specific.

Although a small molecular weight molecule (130.08 Dalton), 5-FU has an AUC ratio > 400 which makes it a favorable drug for intraperitoneal administration (Table 4.2). The plasma concentration is significantly lower than the intraperitoneal concentration due to inactivation of the drug in the systemic circulation by dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase, an enzyme that is present in the liver in abundance and in the mucosa of the gastrointestinal tract and peripheral lymphocytes. 5-FU is not chemically compatible with other drugs in a mixed solution for infusion or instillation which limits its intravenous and intraperitoneal use along with other agents. These characteristics limit the use of IP 5-fluorouracil to EPIC [170–173].

4.8.4.2 Taxanes

Paclitaxel and docetaxel are drugs with a high molecular weight that have high AUC ratios of 853 and 861, respectively, which make them ideal for IP administration [174]. One of the main mechanisms of action is stabilization of the microtubule against depolymerization, thereby disrupting normal microtubule dynamics [175– 177]. Though they do not undergo significant thermal enhancement, their activity against a broad range of tumors adds to their favorable profile for IP use [176, 177]. Taxanes have been used in a neoadjuvant intraperitoneal (NIPS) setting as well as intraoperatively and postoperatively. Their cell cycle-specific mechanism of action makes them a better candidate for repetitive application such as in EPIC, NIPS, or normothermic adjuvant postoperative IP chemotherapy.

4.8.5 Neoadjuvant Intraperitoneal and Systemic Chemotherapy (NIPS)

Neoadjuvant bidirectional chemotherapy combined the intravenous and intraperitoneal routes of delivering chemotherapy prior to definitive **Table 4.6** Neoadjuvant intraperitoneal and systemicchemotherapy (NIPS) regimen (Adapted from reference[178] with permission)

Yonemura regimen (2016)

 Oral S-1 is administered for 14 days at a dose of 60 mg/m²/day, followed by 7 days rest prior to intraperitoneal chemotherapy administration
 On day 1 docetaxel (30 mg/m²) and cisplatin (30 mg/m²) are administered by IP infusion
 On day 8 (30 mg/m²) and cisplatin (30 mg/m²) are administered IV
Ishigami regimen
1. Oral S-140 mg/m ² twice daily for 14 consecutive days followed by 7 days rest oral S1 40 mg/m ²
 Paclitaxel 50 mg/m² IV simultaneously with 20 mg/ m² IP in 1 L normal saline over 1 h on day 1 and day 8
3. Regimen repeated every 3 weeks
Fujiwara regimen
 Oral S-140 mg/m² twice daily for 14 consecutive days
2. Docetaxel 40–60 mg/m ² IP in 1 L normal saline
3. Regimen repeated every 3 weeks
Sugarbaker regimen
 Paclitaxel 20 mg/m² in 1 L 6% Hespan (B. Braun, Irvine, CA, USA) via IP port or Tenckhoff catheter
 Instill by gravity flow as rapidly as possible 5 days in a row
 On day 3 of 5-day cycle, instill oxaliplatin 100–150 mg/m² IV in 250 mL D5W over 120 min. Start 30 min after IP paclitaxel

CRS. The main benefits of this approach are the prevention of extraperitoneal spread, an opportunity to test the sensitivity to chemotherapeutic agents, and a reduction in the extent of small peritoneal tumor nodules. Table 4.6 lists the most commonly used NIPS regimens [82–88].

Conclusion

The combination of CRS and IP chemotherapy should now be considered a standard of care for PSM from appendiceal epithelial cancers, colorectal cancer, and peritoneal mesothelioma.

There is a clear pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic rationale for this treatment approach. This has resulted in promising clinical results in the treatment of PC, in contrast with uniform failure before. A wide variety of variables needs to be considered. Though the technique and variables involved in cytoreductive surgery have been standardized, there is an urgent need to standardize the various intraperitoneal chemotherapy methods and protocols. This manuscript reviewed the most commonly used IP regimens for HIPEC, EPIC, and NIPS. Although today, trends in the IP protocols, such as the reduced dosing of oxaliplatin and the triple-dosing regimen of mitomycin C, are observed, more pharmaco-logic and clinical evidence should be generated to answer important questions raised by the myriad of variables associated with IP chemotherapy.

Acknowledgements Lemoine L is supported by the Agency for Innovation by Science and Technology (IWT) in Brussels, Belgium. Lemoine L is a researcher for the Limburg Clinical Research Program (LCRP) UHasselt-ZOL-Jessa, supported by the foundation Limburg Sterk Merk (LSM), Hasselt University, Ziekenhuis Oost-Limburg, and Jessa Hospital, Belgium.

Conflict of Interest Statement No potential conflicts of interest.

References

- Sheperd NA, Baxter KJ, Sharon BL. The prognostic importance of peritoneal involvement in colonic cancer: a prospective evaluation. Gastroenterology. 1997;112(4):1096–102.
- Yang SH, Lin JK, Lai CR, Chen CC, Li AF, Liang WY, et al. Risk factors for peritoneal dissemination of colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2004;87(4):167–73.
- Noura S, Ohue M, Seki Y, Yano M, Ishikawa O, Kameyama M. Long-term prognostic value of conventional peritoneal lavage cytology in patients undergoing curative colorectal cancer resection. Dis Colon Rectum. 2009;52(7):1312–20.
- Ribeiro U Jr, Safatle-Ribeiro AV, Zilberstein B, Mucerino D, Yagi OK, Bresciani CC, et al. Does the intraoperative peritoneal lavage cytology add prognostic information in patients with potentially curative gastric resection? J Gastrointest Surg. 2006;10(2):170–6.
- Yamamoto S, Akasu T, Fujita S, Moriya Y. Longterm prognostic value of conventional peritoneal cytology after curative resection for colorectal carcinoma. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2003;33(1):33–7.
- Lennon AM, Mulcahy HE, Hyland J, Lowry C, White A, Fennelly D, et al. Peritoneal involvement

is a powerful prognostic indicator in stage II colonic cancer. Gastroenterology. 2002;122S(4):A41.

- Hase K, Ueno H, Kuranaga N, Utsonomiya K, Kanabe S, Mochizuki H. Intraperitoneal exfoliated cancer cells in patients with colorectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum. 1998;41(9):1134–40.
- Hansen E, Wolff N, Knuechel R, Ruschoff J, Hofstaedter F, Taeger K. Tumor cells in blood shed from the surgical field. Arch Surg. 1995;130(4):387–93.
- Rosenshein NB, Leichner PK, Vogelsang G. Radiocolloids in the treatment of ovarian cancer. Obstet Gynecol. 1979;34(9):708–20.
- Meyers MA. The spread and localization of acute intraperitoneal effusions. Radiology. 1970;95(3):547–54.
- Meyers MA. Distribution of intra-abdominal malignant seeding: dependency on dynamics of flow of ascitic fluid. Am J Roentgenol Radium Therapy, Nucl Med. 1973;119(1):198–206.
- Carmignani PC, Tessa AS, Bromley CM, Sugarbaker PH. Intraperitoneal cancer dissemination: mechanisms of the patters of spread. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2003;22(4):465–72.
- Patel H, Le Marer N, Wharton RQ, Khan ZA, Araia R, Glover C, et al. Clearance of circulating tumor cells after excision of primary colorectal cancer. Ann Surg. 2002;235(2):226–31.
- Tanida O, Kaneshima S, Iitsuka Y, Kuda H, Kiyasu Y, Koga S. Viability of intraperitoneal free cancer cells in patients with gastric cancer. Acta Cytol. 1982;26(5):681–7.
- Sugarbaker PH. Strategies for the prevention and treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal cancer. Cancer Investig. 2005;23(2):155–72.
- 16. Kodera Y, Nakanishi H, Ito S, Yamamura Y, Kanemitsu Y, Shimizu Y, et al. Quantitative detection of disseminated free cancer cells in peritoneal washes with realtime reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction: a sensitive predictor of outcome for patients with gastric carcinoma. Ann Surg. 2002;235(4):499–506.
- Ceelen WP, Morris S, Paraskeva P, Pattyn P. Surgical trauma, minimal residual diseases and locoregional cancer recurrence. Cancer Treat Res. 2007;134:51–69.
- van der Bij GJ, Oosterling SJ, Beelen RH, Meijer S, Coffey JC, van Egmond M. The perioperative period is an underutilized window of therapeutic opportunity in patients with colorectal cancer. Ann Surg. 2009;249(5):727–34.
- Oosterling SJ, van der Bij GJ, van Egmond M, van der Sijp JR. Surgical trauma and peritoneal recurrence of colorectal carcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2005;31(1):29–37.
- Jayne D. Molecular biology of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 2007;134:21–33.
- Ceelen WP, Bracke ME. Peritoneal minimal residual disease in colorectal cancer: mechanisms, prevention and treatment. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(1):72–9.

- Spratt JD, Adcock RA, Muskovin M, Sherrill W, McKeown J. Clinical delivery system for intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy. Cancer Res. 1980;40(2):256–60.
- 23. Koga S, Shimizu N, Maeta M, Hamazoe R, Izumi A. Application of heat combined with antineoplastic agent administration in the treatment of cancer (with special reference to malignancy of the digestive system). Gan To Kagaku Ryoho. 1983;10(2pt2):358–65.
- Speyer JL, Myers CE. The use of peritoneal dialysis for delivery of chemotherapy to intraperitoneal malignancies. Recent Results Cancer Res. 1980;74:264–9.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12(3):703–27.
- 26. Elias D, Bonnay M, Puizillou JM, Antoun S, Demirdjian S, El OA, et al. Heated intra-operative intraperitoneal oxaliplatin after complete resection of peritoneal carcinomatosis: pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution. Ann Oncol. 2002;13(2):267–72.
- 27. Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, de Bree E, van Sloothen GW, van Tinteren H, Boot H, et al. Randomized trial of cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy and palliative surgery in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(20):3737–43.
- Verwaal VJ, Bruin S, Boot H, van Slooten G, van Tinteren H. 8-year follow-up of randomized trial: cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(9):2426–32.
- Glehen O, Kwiatkowski F, Sugarbaker PH, Elias D, Levine EA, De Simone M, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a multi-institutional study. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(16): 3284–92.
- 30. Yan TD, Black D, Savady R, Sugarbaker PH. Systematic review on the efficacy of cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(24):4011–9.
- Yan TD, Black D, Savady R, Sugarbaker PH. A systematic review on the efficacy of cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy from pseudomyxoma peritonei. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(2):484–92.
- 32. Yan TD, Welch L, Black D, Sugarbaker PH. A systematic review on the efficacy of cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for diffuse malignancy peritoneal mesothelioma. Ann Oncol. 2007;18(5):827–34.
- 33. Yan TD, Black D, Sugarbaker PH, Zhu J, Yonemura Y, Petrou G, et al. A systematic review and metaanalysis of the randomized controlled trials on

adjuvant intraperitoneal chemotherapy for resectable gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(10): 2702–13.

- 34. Yan TD, Deraco M, Baratti D, Kusumura S, Elias D, Glehen O, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: multi-institutional experience. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(36):6237–42.
- 35. Bijelic L, Jonson A, Sugarbaker PH. Systematic review of cytoreductive surgery and heated intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis in primary and recurrent ovarian cancer. Ann Oncol. 2007;18(12):1943–50.
- 36. Helm CW, Richard SD, Pan J, Bartlett D, Goodman MD, Hoefer R, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in ovarian cancer: first report of the HYPER-O registry. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2010;20(1):61–9.
- Elias D, Glehen O, Gilly F. Carcinose péritonéles d'origine digestive et primitive. Rapport du 110éme congrès de l'AFC. France: Arnette: Wolters Kluwer; 2008.
- 38. Glehen O, Gilly FN, Arvieux C, Cotte C, Boutitie F, Mansveldt B, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: a multi-institutional study of 159 patients treated by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(9):2370–7. [Epub ahead of print].
- 39. Elias D, Glehen O, Pocard M, Quenet F, Goéré D, Arvieux C, et al. A comparative study of complete cytoreductive surgery plus intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat peritoneal dissemination from colon, rectum, small bowel, and nonpseudomyxoma appendix. Ann Surg. 2010;251(5):896–901.
- 40. Baron MA. Structure of the intestinal peritoneum in man. Am J Anat. 1941;69:439–97.
- Dobbie JW. Ultrastructure and pathology of the peritoneal dialysis. In: Gokal R, Nolph K, editors. Textbook of peritoneal dialysis. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic; 1994. p. 17–45.
- Mutsaers SE, Wilkosz S. Structure and function of mesothelial cells. Cancer Treat Res. 2007;134:1–19.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritoneum as the first-line of defense in carcinomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2007;95(2):93–6.
- 44. Flessner M, Henegar J, Bigler S, Genous L. Is the peritoneum a significant barrier in peritoneal dialysis? Perit Dial Int. 2003;23(6):542–9.
- 45. de Lima Vazquez V, Stuart OA, Mohamed F, Sugarbaker PH. Extent of parietal peritonectomy does not change intraperitoneal chemotherapy pharmacokinetics. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2003;52(2):108–12.
- 46. Jacquet P, Averbach A, Stephens AD, Stuart OA, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Heated intraoperative intraperitoneal mitomycin C and early postoperative intraperitoneal 5-fluorouracil: pharmacokinetic studies. Oncology. 1998;55(2):130–8.

- 47. Stelin G, Rippe BA. Phenomenological interpretation of the variation in dialysate volume with dwell time in CAPD. Kidney Int. 1990;38(3):456–72.
- Bettendorf U. Lymph flow mechanism of the subperitoneal diaphragmatic lymphatics. Lymphology. 1978;11(3):111–6.
- Bettendorf U. Electronmicroscopic studies on the peritoneal resorption of intraperitoneally injected latex particles via the diaphragmatic lymphatics. Lymphology. 1979;12(2):66–70.
- Katz MH, Barone RM. The rationale of perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the treatment of peritoneal surface malignancies. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12(3):673–88.
- Dedrick RL, Myers CE, Bungay PM, De Vita VT Jr. Pharmacokinetic rationale for peritoneal drug administration in the treatment of ovarian cancer. Cancer Treat Rep. 1978;62(1):1–11.
- Flessner MF, Fenstermacher JD, Dedrick RL, Blasberg RG. A distributed model of peritonealplasma transport: tissue concentration gradients. Am J Phys. 1985;248(3 Pt 2):F425–35.
- Dedrick RL. Theoretical and experimental bases of intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Semin Oncol. 1985;12(3 Suppl 4):1–6.
- Flessner MF. The transport barrier in intraperitoneal therapy. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2005;288(3):F433–42.
- Flessner MF. Intraperitoneal drug therapy: physical and biological principles. Cancer Treat Res. 2007;134:131–52.
- 56. Zylberberg B, Dormont D, Janklewicz S, Darai E, Bretel JJ, Poncelet C, et al. Response to neo-adjuvant intraperitoneal and intravenous immunochemotherapy followed by interval secondary cytoreduction in stage IIIc ovarian cancer. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2001;22:40–5.
- 57. Yonemura Y, Ishibashi H, Hirano M, Mizumoto A, Takeshita K, Noguchi K, et al. Effects of neoadjuvant laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy and neoadjuvant intraperitoneal/systemic chemotherapy on peritoneal metastases from gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;24(2):478–85.
- 58. Yonemura Y, Elnemr A, Endou Y, Ishibashi H, Mizumoto A, Miura M, et al. Effects of neoadjuvant intraperitoneal/systemic chemotherapy (bidirectional chemotherapy) for the treatment of patients with peritoneal metastasis from gastric cancer. Int J Surg Oncol. 2012;2012:8.
- Esquivel J, Vidal-Jove J, Steves M, Sugarbaker P. Morbidity and mortality of cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Surgery. 1993;113:631–6.
- Armstrong DK, Bundy B, Wenzel L, Huang HQ, Baergen R, Lele S, et al. Intraperitoneal cisplatin and paclitaxel in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(1):34–43.
- 61. Markman M, Bundy BN, Alberts DS, Fowler JM, Clark-Pearson DL, Carson LF, et al. Phase III trial of

standard-dose intravenous cisplatin plus paclitaxel versus moderately high-dose carboplatin followed by intravenous paclitaxel and intraperitoneal cisplatin in small-volume stage III ovarian carcinoma: an inter-group study of the Gynecologic Oncology Group, Southwestern Oncology Group, and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19(4):1001–7.

- 62. Alberts DS, Liu PY, Hannigan EV, O'Toole R, Williams SD, Young JA, et al. Intraperitoneal cisplatin plus intravenous cyclophosphamide versus intravenous cisplatin plus intravenous cyclophosphamide for stage III ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 1996;335(26):1950–5.
- Gardner SN. A mechanistic, predictive model of dose-response curves for cell cycle phasespecific and – non-specific drugs. Cancer Res. 2000;60(5):1417–25.
- Mohamed F, Sugarbaker PH. Carrier solutions for intraperitoneal chemothera-py. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12(3):813–24.
- 65. Pestieau SR, Schnake KJ, Stuart OA, Sugarbaker PH. Impact of carrier solutions on the pharmacokinetics of intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2001;47(3):269–76.
- 66. Mohamed F, Marchettini P, Stuart OA, Sugarbaker PH. Pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution of intraperitoneal paclitaxel with different carrier solutions. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2003;52(5): 405–10.
- Kondo A, Maeta M, Oka A, Tsujitani S, Ikeguchi M, Kaibara N. Hypotonic intraperitoneal cisplatin chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis in mice. Br J Cancer. 1996;73(10):1166–70.
- 68. Tsujitani S, Oka A, Kondo A, Katano K, Oka S, Saito H, et al. Administration in a hypotonic solution is preferable to dose escalation in intraperitoneal cispla-tin chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis in rats. Oncology. 1999;57(1):77–82.
- 69. Elias D, El Otmany A, Bonnay M, Paci A, Ducreux M, Antoun S, et al. Hu-man pharmacokinetic study of heated intraperitoneal oxaliplatin in increasingly hypotonic solutions after complete resection of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Oncology. 2002;63(4):346–52.
- Dedrick RL, Flessner MF. Pharmacokinetic problems in peritoneal drug administration: tissue penetration and surface exposure. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1997;89(7):480–7.
- 71. Esquis P, Consolo D, Magnin G, Pointaire P, Moretto P, Ysna MD, et al. High intraabdominal pressure enhances the penetration and antitumor effect of intra-peritoneal cisplatin on experimental carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2006;244(1):106–12.
- Jacquet P, Stuart OA, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Effect of intra-abdominal pressure on pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution of doxorubicin after intra-peritoneal administration. Anti-Cancer Drugs. 1996;7(5):596–603.

- 73. Gesson-Paute A, Ferron G, Thomas F, de Lara EC, Chatelut E, Querleu D. Pharmacokinetics of oxaliplatin during open versus laparoscopically assisted heated intraoperative chemotherapy (HIPEC): an experimental study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(1):339–44.
- 74. Thomas F, Ferron G, Gesson-Paute A, Hristova M, Lochon I, Chatelut E. Increased tissue diffusion of oxaliplatin during laparoscopically assisted versus open heated intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(12):3623–4.
- Garofalo A, Valle M, Garcia J, Sugarbaker PH. Laparoscopic intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy for palliation of debilitating malignant ascites. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32(6):682–5.
- Valle M, Van der Speeten K, Garofalo A. Laparoscopic hyperthermic peroperative chemotherapy (HIPEC) in the management of refractory malignant ascites: a multi-institutional analysis in 52 patients. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100(4):331–4.
- 77. Facchiano E, Scaringi S, Kianmanesh R, Sabate JM, Castel B, Flamant Y, et al. Laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for the treatment of malignant ascites secondary to unresectable peritoneal carcinomato-sis from advanced gastric cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34(2):154–8.
- Patriti A, Cavazzoni E, Graziosi L, Pisciaroli A, Luzi D, Gullà N, et al. Successful palliation of malignant ascites from peritoneal mesothelioma by laparoscopic intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2008;18(4):426–8.
- Tempfer CB. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy as an innovative approach to treat peritoneal carcinomatosis. Med Hypotheses. 2015;85(4):480–4.
- Solass W, Hetzel A, Nadiradze G, Sagynaliev E, Reymond MA. Description of a novel approach for intraperitoneal drug delivery and the related device. Surg Endosc. 2012;26(7):1849–55.
- Solass W, Herbette A, Schwarz T, Hetzel A, Sun JS, Dutreix M, et al. Therapeutic approach of human peritoneal carcinomatosis with Dbait in combination with capnoperitoneum: proof of concept. Surg Endosc. 2012;26(3):847–52.
- 82. Solass W, Kerb R, Murdter T, Giger-Pabst U, Strumberg D, Tempfer C, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy of peritoneal carcinomatosis using pressurized aerosol as an alternative to liquid solution: first evidence for efficacy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(2):553–9.
- Solass W, Giger-Pabst U, Zieren J, Reymond MA. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC): occupational health and safety aspects. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(11):3504–11.
- 84. Tempfer CB, Winnekendonk G, Solass W, Horvat R, Giger-Pabst U, Zieren J, et al. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy in women with recur-

rent ovarian cancer: a phase 2 study. Gynecol Oncol. 2015;137(2):223–8.

- Blanco A, Giger-Pabst U, Solass W, Zieren J, Reymond MA. Renal and hepatic toxicities after pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(7):2311–6.
- 86. Robella M, Vaira M, De Simone M. Safety and feasibility of pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) associated with systemic chemotherapy: an innovative approach to treat peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Surg Oncol. 2016;14(1):128.
- Khosrawipour V, Khosrawipour T, Diaz-Carballo D, Forster E, Zieren J, Giger-Pabst U. Exploring the spatial drug distribution pattern of pressurized Intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(4):1220–4.
- Demtroder C, Solass W, Zieren J, Strumberg D, Giger-Pabst U, Reymond MA. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy with oxaliplatin in colorectal peritoneal metastasis. Color Dis. 2016;18(4):364–71.
- 89. Tempfer CB, Solass W, Buerkle B, Reymond MA. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) with cisplatin and doxorubicin in a woman with pseudomyxoma peritonei: a case report. Gynecol Oncol Rep. 2014;10:32–5.
- 90. Kakchekeeva T, Demtroder C, Herath NI, Griffiths D, Torkington J, Solass W, et al. In vivo feasibility of electrostatic precipitation as an adjunct to pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (ePIPAC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(Suppl 5):592–8.
- Sticca RP, Dach BW. Rationale for hyperthermia with intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy agents. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12:689–701.
- Sugarbaker PH. Laboratory and clinical basis for hyperthermia as a component of intracavitary chemotherapy. Int J Hyperth. 2007;23:431–42.
- 93. Jacquet P, Averbach A, Stuart OA, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal doxorubicin: pharmacokinetics, metabolism, and tissue distribution in a rat model. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1998;41:147–54.
- 94. Young JS, Lumsden CE, Stalker AL. The significance of the tissue pressure of normal testicular and of neoplastic (Brown-Pearce carcinoma) tissue in the rabbit. J Pathol Bacteriol. 1950;62:313–33.
- 95. Leunig M, Goetz AE, Dellian M, Zetterer G, Gamarra F, Jain RK, Messmer K. Interstitial fluid pressure in solid tumors following hyperthermia: possible correlation with therapeutic response. Cancer Res. 1992;52:487–90.
- 96. Sugarbaker PSO, Bijelic L, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal gemcitabine chemotherapy for patients with resected pancreatic cancer: clinical pharmacologic data. Curr Top Pharmacol. 2014;18:81–92.
- Urano M, Kuroda M, Nishimura Y. For the clinical application of thermochemotherapy given at mild temperatures. Int J Hyperth. 1999;15:79–107.

- Sugarbaker PH. Parietal peritonectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19:1250.
- 99. Konate A, Poupon J, Villa A, Garnier R, Hasni-Pichard H, Mezzaroba D, Fernandez G, Pocard M. Evaluation of environmental contamination by platinum and exposure risks for healthcare workers during a heated intraperitoneal perioperative chemotherapy (HIPEC) procedure. J Surg Oncol. 2011;103:6–9.
- 100. Schenk KE, Schierl R, Angele M, Burkhart-Reichl A, Glockzin G, Novotny A, Nowak D. Cisplatin and oxaliplatin surface contamination in intensive care units (ICUs) and hospital wards during attendance of HIPEC patients. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2016;89(6):991–6.
- 101. Villa AF, El Balkhi S, Aboura R, Sageot H, Hasni-Pichard H, Pocard M, Elias D, Joly N, Payen D, Blot F, Poupon J, Garnier R. Evaluation of oxaliplatin exposure of healthcare workers during heated intraperitoneal perioperative chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ind Health. 2015;53:28–37.
- 102. Capron A, Destree J, Jacobs P, Wallemacq P. Permeability of gloves to selected chemotherapeutic agents after treatment with alcohol or isopropyl alcohol. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2012;69:1665– 1670. [PMID: 22997120. https://doi.org/10.2146/ ajhp110733.
- 103. Ferron G, Simon L, Guyon F, Glehen O, Goere D, Elias D, Pocard M, Gladieff L, Bereder JM, Brigand C, Classe JM, Guilloit JM, Quenet F, Abboud K, Arvieux C, Bibeau F, De Chaisemartin C, Delroeux D, Durand-Fontanier S, Goasguen N, Gouthi L, Heyd B, Kianmanesh R, Leblanc E, Loi V, Lorimier G, Marchal F, Mariani P, Mariette C, Meeus P, Msika S, Ortega-Deballon P, Paineau J, Pezet D, Piessen G, Pirro N, Pomel C, Porcheron J, Pourcher G, Rat P, Regimbeau JM, Sabbagh C, Thibaudeau E, Torrent JJ, Tougeron D, Tuech JJ, Zinzindohoue F, Lundberg P, Herin F, Villeneuve L, BIG-RENAPE Working Group. Professional risks when carrying out cytoreductive surgery for peritoneal malignancy with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC): a French multicentric survey. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41:1361-7.
- 104. Boutros C, Somasundar P, Espat NJ. Early results on the use of biomaterials as adjuvant to abdominal wall closure following cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. World J Surg Oncol. 2010;8:72.
- 105. Glehen O, Osinsky D, Cotte E, Kwiatkowski F, Freyer G, Isaac S, Trillet-Lenoir V, Sayag-Beaujard AC, Francois Y, Vignal J, Gilly FN. Intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia using a closed abdominal procedure and cytoreductive surgery for the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis: morbidity and mortality analysis of 216 consecutive procedures. Ann Surg Oncol. 2003;10:863–9.
- 106. Kusamura S, Younan R, Baratti D, Costanzo P, Favaro M, Gavazzi C, Deraco M. Cytoreductive sur-

gery followed by intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion: analysis of morbidity and mortality in 209 peritoneal surface malignancies treated with closed abdomen technique. Cancer. 2006;106:1144–53.

- 107. Ortega-Deballon P, Facy O, Jambet S, Magnin G, Cotte E, Beltramo JL, Chauffert B, Rat P. Which method to deliver hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin? An experimental comparison of open and closed techniques. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:1957–63.
- 108. Facy O, Combier C, Poussier M, Magnin G, Ladoire S, Ghiringhelli F, Chauffert B, Rat P, Ortega-Deballon P. High pressure does not counterbalance the advantages of open techniques over closed techniques during heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin. Surgery. 2015;157:72–8.
- 109. Elias D, Antoun S, Goharin A, Otmany AE, Puizillout JM, Lasser P. Research on the best chemohyperthermia technique of treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis after complete resection. Int J Surg Investig. 2000;1:431–9.
- 110. Stephens AD, Alderman R, Chang D, Edwards GD, Esquivel J, Sebbag G, Steves MA, Sugarbaker PH. Morbidity and mortality analysis of 200 treatments with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy using the coliseum technique. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:790–6.
- 111. Halkia E, Tsochrinis A, Vassiliadou DT, Pavlakou A, Vaxevanidou A, Datsis A, Efstathiou E, Spiliotis J. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: intraoperative parameters in open (coliseum) versus closed abdomen HIPEC. Int J Surg Oncol. 2015;2015:6.
- 112. Fujimura T, Yonemura Y, Fushida S, Urade M, Takegawa S, Kamata T, Sugiyama K, Hasegawa H, Katayama K, Miwa K, et al. Continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion for the treatment of peritoneal dissemination in gastric cancers and subsequent second-look operation. Cancer. 1990;65:65–71.
- 113. Yonemura Y, Bandou E, Kinoshita K, Kawamura T, Takahashi S, Endou Y, Sasaki T. Effective therapy for peritoneal dissemination in gastric cancer. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12:635–48.
- 114. Hirose K, Katayama K, Iida A, Yamaguchi A, Nakagawara G, Umeda S, Kusaka Y. Efficacy of continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion for the prophylaxis and treatment of peritoneal metastasis of advanced gastric cancer: evaluation by multivariate regression analysis. Oncology. 1999;57:106–14.
- 115. Benoit L, Cheynel N, Ortega-Deballon P, Giacomo GD, Chauffert B, Rat P. Closed hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with open abdomen: a novel technique to reduce exposure of the surgical team to chemotherapy drugs. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:542–6.
- 116. Rat P, Benoit L, Cheynel N, Osmak L, Favoulet P, Peschaud F, Chauffert B, Favre JP. Intraperitoneal chemo-hyperthermia with "overflow" open abdomen. Ann Chir. 2001;126:669–71.

- 117. Froysnes IS, Larsen SG, Spasojevic M, Dueland S, Flatmark K. Complete cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal metastasis in Norway: prognostic factors and oncologic outcome in a national patient cohort. J Surg Oncol. 2016;114(2):222–7.
- 118. Sugarbaker PH, Graves T, DeBruijn EA, Cunliffe WJ, Mullins RE, Hull WE, et al. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy as an adjuvant therapy to surgery for peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal cancer: pharmacological studies. Cancer Res. 1990;50(18):5790–4.
- 119. Mahteme H, von Heideman A, Grundmark B, Tholander B, Pahlman L, Glimelius B, et al. Heterogeneous activity of cytotoxic drugs in patient samples of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34(5):547–52.
- 120. Cashin PH, Mahteme H, Graf W, Karlsson H, Larsson R, Nygren P. Activity ex vivo of cytotoxic drugs in patient samples of peritoneal carcinomatosis with special focus on colorectal cancer. BMC Cancer. 2013;13:435.
- 121. Levine EA, Blazer DG, Kim MK, Shen P, Stewart JH, Guy C, et al. Gene expression profiling of peritoneal metastases from appendiceal and colon cancer demonstrates unique biologic signatures and predicts patient outcomes. J Am Coll Surg. 2012;214(4):599–606. discussion -7.
- 122. Fujishima Y, Goi T, Kimura Y, Hirono Y, Katayama K, Yamaguchi A. MUC2 protein expression status is useful in assessing the effects of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal dissemination of colon cancer. Int J Oncol. 2012;40(4):960–4.
- 123. Stewart JH, Shen P, Russell G, Fenstermaker J, McWilliams L, Coldrun FM, et al. A phase I trial of oxaliplatin for intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemoperfusion for the treatment of peritoneal surface dissemination from colorectal and appendiceal cancers. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(8):2137–45.
- 124. Elias D, Raynard B, Bonnay M, Pocard M. Heated intra-operative intraperitoneal oxaliplatin alone and in combination with intraperitoneal irinotecan: pharmacologic studies. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32(6):607–13.
- 125. Pomel C, Ferron G, Lorimier G, Rey A, Lhomme C, Classe JM, et al. Hyperthermic intra-peritoneal chemotherapy using oxaliplatin as consolidation therapy for advanced epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Results of a phase II prospective multicentre trial. CHIPOVAC study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36(6):589–93.
- 126. Chalret du Rieu Q, White-Koning M, Picaud L, Lochon I, Marsili S, Gladieff L, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of peritoneal, plasma ultrafiltrated and protein-bound oxaliplatin concentrations in patients with disseminated peritoneal cancer after intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemoperfusion of oxaliplatin following cytoreductive surgery: correlation between oxaliplatin exposure and thrombocytopenia. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2014;74(3):571–82.

- 127. Charrier T, Passot G, Peron J, Maurice C, Gocevska S, Quenet F, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin increases the risk of postoperative hemorrhagic complications: analysis of predictive factors. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(7):2315–22.
- 128. De Somer F, Ceelen W, Delanghe J, De Smet D, Vanackere M, Pattyn P, et al. Severe hyponatremia, hyperglycemia, and hyperlactatemia are associated with intraoperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion with oxaliplatin. Perit Dial Int. 2008;28(1):61–6.
- 129. Jerremalm E, Hedeland M, Wallin I, Bondesson U, Ehrsson H. Oxaliplatin degradation in the presence of chloride: identification and cytotoxicity of the monochloro monooxalato complex. Pharm Res. 2004;21(5):891–4.
- 130. Mehta AM, Van den Hoven JM, Rosing H, Hillebrand MJ, Nuijen B, Huitema AD, et al. Stability of oxaliplatin in chloride-containing carrier solutions used in hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Int J Pharm. 2015;479(1):23–7.
- 131. Fujita T, Tamura T, Yamada H, Yamamoto A, Muranishi S. Pharmacokinetics of mitomycin C (MMC) after intraperitoneal administration of MMC-gelatin gel and its anti-tumor effects against sarcoma-180 bearing mice. J Drug Target. 1997;4(5):289–96.
- 132. Van der Speeten K, Stuart OA, Chang D, Mahteme H, Sugarbaker PH. Changes induced by surgical and clinical factors in the pharmacology of intraperitoneal mitomycin C in 145 patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2011;68(1):147–56.
- Mohamed F, Cecil T, Moran B, Sugarbaker P. A new standard of care for the management of peritoneal surface malignancy. Curr Oncol. 2011;18(2):e84–96.
- Levine EA, Stewart JH, Shen P, Russell GB, Loggie BL, Votanopoulos KI. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy: experience with 1,000 patients. J Am Coll Surg. 2014;218(4):573–85.
- 135. de Bree E, Tsiftsis DD. Experimental and pharmacokinetic studies in intraperitoneal chemotherapy: from laboratory bench to bedside. Recent Results Cancer Res. 2007;169:53–73
- 136. Witkamp A. Dose finding study of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with mitomycin C in patients with carcinosis of colorectal origin. Eur J Surg Oncol. 1998;24:18.
- 137. Turaga K, Levine E, Barone R, Sticca R, Petrelli N, Lambert L, et al. Consensus guidelines from the American Society of peritoneal surface malignancies on standardizing the delivery of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in colorectal cancer patients in the United States. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(5):1501–5.
- 138. Rubin J, Clawson M, Planch A, Jones Q. Measurements of peritoneal surface area in man and rat. Am J Med Sci. 1988;295(5):453–8.
- 139. Elias DM, Sideris L. Pharmacokinetics of heated intraoperative intraperitoneal oxaliplatin after complete resection of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12(3):755–69, xiv.
- 140. Sugarbaker PH, Stuart OA, Carmignani CP. Pharmacokinetic changes induced by the volume of chemotherapy solution in patients treated with hyperthermic intraperitoneal mitomycin C. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2006;57(5):703–8.
- 141. Mas-Fuster MI, Ramon-Lopez A, Nalda-Molina R. Importance of standardizing the dose in hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC): a pharmacodynamic point of view. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2013;72(1):273–4.
- 142. Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, Quenet F, Bereder JM, Mansvelt B, Lorimier G, Dubè P, Glehen O. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(1):63–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.23.9285. Epub 2009 Nov 16. Erratum in: J Clin Oncol. 2010 Apr 1;28(10):1808.
- 143. Hompes D, D'Hoore A, Wolthuis A, Fieuws S, Mirck B, Bruin S, Verwaal V. The use of oxaliplatin or mitomycin C in HIPEC treatment for peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a comparative study. J Surg Oncol. 2014;109(6):527–32. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23546. Epub 2013 Dec 28.
- 144. Prada-Villaverde A, Esquivel J, Lowy AM, Markman M, Chua T, Pelz J, Baratti D, Baumgartner JM, Berri R, Bretcha-Boix P, Deraco M, Flores-Ayala G, Glehen O, Gomez-Portilla A, González-Moreno S, Goodman M, Halkia E, Kusamura S, Moller M, Passot G, Pocard M, Salti G, Sardi A, Senthil M, Spiliotis J, Torres-Melero J, Turaga K, Trout R. The American Society of peritoneal surface malignancies evaluation of HIPEC with mitomycin C versus oxaliplatin in 539 patients with colon cancer undergoing a complete cytoreductive surgery. Surg Oncol. 2014;110(7):779–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23728. Epub 2014 Aug 2.
- 145. Leung V, Huo YR, Liauw W, Morris DL. Oxaliplatin versus mitomycin C for HIPEC in colorectal cancer peritoneal carcinomatosis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(1):144–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2016.09.015. Epub 2016 Oct 13.
- 146. Los G, Mutsaers PH, van der Vijgh WJ, Baldew GS, de Graaf PW, McVie JG. Direct diffusion of cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II) in intraperitoneal rat tumors after intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a comparison with systemic chemotherapy. Cancer Res. 1989;49(12):3380–4.

- 147. Conti M, De Giorgi U, Tazzari V, Bezzi F, Baccini C. Clinical pharmacology of intraperitoneal cisplatin-based chemotherapy. J Chemother. 2004;16(Suppl 5):23–5.
- 148. Gladieff L, Chatelut E, Dalenc F, Ferron G. Pharmacological bases of intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Bull Cancer. 2009;96(12):1235–42.
- 149. Coccolini F, Cotte E, Glehen O, Lotti M, Poiasina E, Catena F, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy in advanced gastric cancer. Meta-analysis of random-ized trials. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(1):12–26.
- 150. Zivanovic O, Abramian A, Kullmann M, Fuhrmann C, Coch C, Hoeller T, et al. HIPEC ROC I: a phase i study of cisplatin administered as hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemoperfusion followed by postoperative intravenous platinum-based chemotherapy in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Cancer. 2014;136(3):699–708.
- 151. Hakeam HA, Breakiet M, Azzam A, Nadeem A, Amin T. The incidence of cisplatin nephrotoxicity post hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) and cytoreductive surgery. Ren Fail. 2014;36(10):1486–91.
- 152. Van der Speeten K, Stuart OA, Mahteme H, Sugarbaker PH. Pharmacokinetic study of perioperative intravenous Ifosfamide. Int J Surg Oncol. 2011;2011:9.
- 153. Deraco M, Baratti D, Cabras AD, Zaffaroni N, Perrone F, Villa R, et al. Experience with peritoneal mesothelioma at the Milan National Cancer Institute. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(2):76–84.
- 154. Tritton TR. Cell surface actions of adriamycin. Pharmacol Ther. 1991;49(3):293–309.
- 155. Triton TR, Yee G. The anticancer agent adriamycin can be actively cytotoxic without entering cells. Science. 1982;217(4556):248–50.
- 156. Lane P, Vichi P, Bain DL, Tritton TR. Temperature dependence studies of adriamycin uptake and cytotoxicity. Cancer Res. 1987;47(15):4038–42.
- 157. Van der Speeten K, Stuart OA, Mahteme H, Sugarbaker PH. A pharmacologic analysis of intraoperative intracavitary cancer chemotherapy with doxorubicin. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2009;63(5):799–805.
- 158. Ozols RF, Young RC, Speyer JL, Sugarbaker PH, Greene R, Jenkins J, et al. Phase I and pharmacological studies of adriamycin administered intraperitoneally to patients with ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 1982;42(10):4265–9.
- Ozols RF, Locker GY, Doroshow JH, Grotzinger KR, Myers CE, Young RC. Pharmacokinetics of adriamycin and tissue penetration in murine ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 1979;39(8):3209–14.
- 160. Ozols RF, Locker GY, Doroshow JH, Grotzinger KR, Myers CE, Fisher RI, et al. Chemotherapy for murine ovarian cancer: a rationale for ip therapy

with adriamycin. Cancer Treat Rep. 1979;63(2): 269–73.

- 161. Nagai K, Nogami S, Egusa H, Konishi H. Pharmacokinetic evaluation of intraperitoneal doxorubicin in rats. Pharmazie. 2014;69(2):125–7.
- 162. Harrison LE, Bryan M, Pliner L, Saunders T. Phase I trial of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients undergoing cytoreduction for advanced intra-abdominal malignancy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(5):1407–13.
- 163. Salvatorelli E, De Tursi M, Menna P, Carella C, Massari R, Colasante A, et al. Pharmacokinetics of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin administered by intraoperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy to patients with advanced ovarian cancer and peritoneal carcinomatosis. Drug Metab Dispos. 2012;40(12):2365–73.
- 164. Van der Speeten K, Stuart OA, Mahteme H, Sugarbaker PH. Pharmacology of perioperative 5-fluorouracil. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102(7):730–5.
- 165. Elias D, Benizri E, Di Pietrantonio D, Menegon P, Malka D, Raynard B. Comparison of two kinds of intraperitoneal chemotherapy following complete cytoreductive surgery of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(2):509–14.
- 166. McConnell YJ, Mack LA, Francis WP, Ho T, Temple WJ. HIPEC + EPIC versus HIPEC-alone: differences in major complications following cytoreduction surgery for peritoneal malignancy. J Surg Oncol. 2013;107(6):591–6.
- 167. Tan GH, Ong WS, Chia CS, Tham CK, Soo KC, Teo MC. Does early post-operative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC) for patients treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) make a difference? Int J Hyperth. 2016;32(3):281–8.
- Heidelberger C, Chaudhuri NK, Danneberg P, Mooren D, Griesbach L, Duschinsky R, et al. Fluorinated pyrimidines, a new class of tumour-inhibitory compounds. Nature. 1957;179(4561):663–6.
- 169. Muggia FM, Peters GJ, Landolph JR Jr. XIII International Charles Heidelberger Symposium and 50 years of fluoropyrimidines in cancer therapy held on september 6 to 8, 2007 at New York University

Cancer Institute, Smilow Conference Center. Mol Cancer Ther. 2009;8(5):992–9.

- 170. Wagner PL, Jones D, Aronova A, Shia J, Weiser MR, Temple LK, et al. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy following cytoreductive surgery for appendiceal mucinous neoplasms with isolated peritoneal metastasis. Dis Colon Rectum. 2012;55(4):407–15.
- 171. Yu W, Whang I, Chung HY, Averbach A, Sugarbaker PH. Indications for early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy of advanced gastric cancer: results of a prospective randomized trial. World J Surg. 2001;25(8):985–90.
- 172. Kwon OK, Chung HY, Yu W. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for macroscopically serosa-invading gastric cancer patients. Cancer Res Treat. 2014;46(3):270–9.
- 173. Passot G, Vaudoyer D, Villeneuve L, Kepenekian V, Beaujard AC, Bakrin N, et al. What made hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy an effective curative treatment for peritoneal surface malignancy: a 25-year experience with 1,125 procedures. J Surg Oncol. 2016;113(7):796–803.
- 174. Sugarbaker PH, Mora JT, Carmignani P, Stuart OA, Yoo D. Update on chemotherapeutic agents utilized for perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Oncologist. 2005;10(2):112–22.
- 175. Rohena CC, Mooberry SL. Recent progress with microtubule stabilizers: new compounds, binding modes and cellular activities. Nat Prod Rep. 2014;31(3):335–55.
- 176. de Bree E, Theodoropoulos PA, Rosing H, Michalakis J, Romanos J, Beijnen JH, et al. Treatment of ovarian cancer using intraperitoneal chemotherapy with taxanes: from laboratory bench to bedside. Cancer Treat Rev. 2006;32(6):471–82.
- 177. Mohamed F, Sugarbaker PH. Intraperitoneal taxanes. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12(3):825–33.
- 178. Van der Speeten K, Lemoine L, Sugarbaker P. Overview of the optimal perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy regimens used in current clinical practice. Pleura and Peritoneum. 2017;2(2):63–72. Retrieved 28 Aug. 2017, from. https://doi. org/10.1515/pp-2017-0003.



5

Early Postoperative Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy: Current Role and Future Perspectives

T. Douchy, L. Lemoine, and K. Van der Speeten

Abbreviations

Area under the curve
Bidirectional intraoperative
chemotherapy
Completeness of cytoreduction
Colorectal carcinoma
Cytoreductive surgery
Diffuse malignant peritoneal
mesothelioma
Early postoperative intraperitoneal
chemotherapy
Fluorouracil
Hyperthermic intraperitoneal periop-
erative chemotherapy
Intraperitoneal chemotherapy
Leucovorin
Mitomycin C
Not available
Neoadjuvant intraperitoneal and sys-
temic chemotherapy
Overall survival

- PCI Peritoneal carcinomatosis index PFS Progression-free survival
- PM Peritoneal metastases
- SIPC Sequenced intraperitoneal chemotherapy

5.1 Introduction

Peritoneal metastases (PM) are a common manifestation of various gastrointestinal and gynaecologic malignancies, as well as the primary location for some tumours [1]. It originates from preoperative or intraoperative intracavitary dissemination of tumour cells, as explained in the 'tumour cell entrapment' hypothesis [2–9]. The median survival in patients with PC from nongynaecologic cancers, untreated or with palliative surgery alone, is very poor: 7 months in colorectal carcinoma (CRC), 7 months in breast cancer and 12 months in sarcoma [10–12]. Clinical studies on isolated PC from CRC, treated

T. Douchy

Department of Surgical Oncology, Ziekenhuis Oost-Limburg, Genk, Belgium e-mail: Douchy@gmail.com

L. Lemoine Department of Surgical Oncology, Ziekenhuis Oost-Limburg, Genk, Belgium

Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, University Hasselt, Diepenbeek, Belgium K. Van der Speeten (⊠)
 Department of Surgical Oncology, Ziekenhuis
 Oost-Limburg, Genk, Belgium

Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, University Hasselt, Diepenbeek, Belgium

Washington Cancer Institute, Washington Hospital Center, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: kurt.vanderspeeten@zol.be

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_5

with systemic chemotherapy (5-fluorouracil (FU)-leucovorin (LV)), report a median survival of 12.6 months [13, 14]. Despite the development of new, more effective chemotherapeutic agents and their combinations, the results remain disappointing [15–21]. Interesting survival results were obtained with the use of irinotecan or oxaliplatin for metastatic CRC, but a majority of patients had liver metastasis without PC [22, 23]. Unfortunately, in most studies reporting on systemic chemotherapy for metastatic disease, PM is not differentiated from systemic metastases. Subgroup analysis of patients with isolated PM of CRC, selected from several trials with oxaliplatin and irinotecan, reveals a median survival between 10 and 15 months [18, 21, 24]. In PM of gynaecologic origin, the median survival after treatment with chemotherapy alone is 20 months in patients with stage III disease and 8 months in those with stage IV disease [25]. Recent treatment regimens for PM, consisting of optimal cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and combination chemotherapy increased the median survival to 68 months [26–28]. The presence of PM not only has a major impact on survival but also significantly diminishes quality of life due to obstruction, pain, or malignant ascites [10, 29, 30].

Sugarbaker has suggested that PM should probably not be equated with systemic disease, but rather be seen as locoregional dissemination [31, 32]. As such, a locoregional disease warrants a locoregional treatment approach. Based on this idea, the use of CRS to eradicate macroscopic disease and hyperthermic intraperitoneal perioperative chemotherapy (HIPEC) as treatment of remaining microscopic disease has been propagated as curative intent treatment of PC [33–35]. The treatment of PM from CRC with CRS and HIPEC was evaluated in 12 phase II studies. These studies reveal a strikingly similar long median survival and, more importantly, a 20-30% 5-year overall survival (OS) rate [33, 36–48]. Currently, one phase III trial supports these retrospective data with a 5-year OS in PM from CRC of 40% [49].

Compared to palliative treatment, curative intent treatment with CRS and HIPEC in patients with PM demonstrates great improvement in OS [50]. However, despite improving progressionfree survival (PFS) and OS, recurrence remains the rule and the majority of patients still die of disease progression [51]. In light of these remarks, it is paramount to keep searching for ways to improve this promising treatment strategy. The aim of this manuscript is to evaluate early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC) as a possible leverage point to further improve multimodal therapy of PM.

5.2 Potential Strategies for Improving Results of CRS and HIPEC

First, we can identify patients who are likely to have subclinical or low-volume PM and implement CRS and HIPEC earlier in disease progression. The extent of disease, measured by the peritoneal carcinomatosis index (PCI), is a statistically significant predictor of completeness of cytoreduction (CCR) in turn reflecting OS, PFS and morbidity [13, 49, 52–56]. Several risk factors for developing PM after primary resection have been identified: the presence of solitary PM at primary resection, the presence of solitary ovarian metastasis, tumour perforation and T4 status [6, 57–62]. In a prospective case series, Elias et al. reported that in 55% of these high-risk patients, PM was discovered at laparotomy 1 year after primary resection in spite of adjuvant chemotherapy and no indication of PM on imaging [61]. Thus performing HIPEC at the time of primary surgery in patients at high risk of developing subsequent PM might improve survival by eliminating microscopic tumour implants. This hypothesis has been studied by Sammartino et al. They reported that OS was longer in the proactive group than in the control group (59.5 vs. 52 months) [63]. The prophylactic use of HIPEC is currently under investigation in three randomized controlled trials (ProphyloCHIP, NCT01226394; COLOPEC, NCT02231086; NCT01095523).

Secondly, the presence of PM, although a local occurrence, remains a sign of unfavourable tumour biology. As such, these patients are also at increased risk of systemic metastases. The use

Pharmacokinetic variables	Pharmacodynamic variables
Dose	Tumour nodule size
Molecular weight	Density
Volume	Vascularity
Duration	Interstitial fluid pressure
Carrier solution	Binding
Pressure	Temperature
Timing	

Table 5.1 Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variables of perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy

of adjuvant intravenous chemotherapy is becoming an essential part of treatment in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC [64–66]. The modalities of adjuvant intravenous chemotherapy currently used are diverse [50, 65]. More research will hopefully identify the best treatment protocols and unify them.

Thirdly, the use of intraoperative intravenous chemotherapy can augment the effects of HIPEC. By combining intraoperative intravenous chemotherapy and HIPEC, a bidirectional diffusion gradient is created through the intermediate tissue layer which contains the cancer nodules. This concept called bidirectional intraoperative chemotherapy (BIC) has demonstrated a clear pharmacologic advantage for 5-FU and ifosfamide [67–69].

Lastly from a conceptual point of view, several pharmacologic variables in the IPC concept can be modified in an attempt to improve results. These variables can be divided in pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamics variables (Table 5.1). Pharmacokinetics describe what the body does to the drug, whereas pharmacodynamics describe what the drug does to the body [70, 71]. Of these variables, the duration and timing of IPC are important factors influencing its effectivity.

5.3 Timing of Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy in Relation to Surgery

In the clinical application of IPC in PM patients, intervention can occur at four points in the timeline. First, induction intraperitoneal and/or intrave-

nous chemotherapy is a therapeutic strategy for reducing extra-abdominal disease progression, assessing the tumour biology based on the response to therapy and for reducing the extent of PM, specifically, the small tumour nodules. Theoretically, this approach, called neoadjuvant intraperitoneal and systemic chemotherapy (NIPS), can make it possible for some patients with extensive disease on initial open or laparoscopic evaluation to undergo definitive cytoreductive surgery [72]. Radiologic and clinical responses with NIPS have been reported by several groups [72-76]. NIPS has limitations like uneven drug distribution due to adhesions from previous surgeries, a low incidence of complete responses and an increased incidence of morbidity and mortality from the subsequent surgical interventions. Extensive fibrosis that can result from a response to chemotherapy may make it extremely difficult to evaluate the extent of PM [77].

Second, the use of HIPEC is the most widely explored modality that has shown consistent clinically improved outcomes in many phase II trials and several phase III trials [13, 14, 19, 49, 78, 79].

Third, several phase III trials of long-term combined intraperitoneal and systemic chemotherapy (sequenced intraperitoneal chemotherapy, SIPC) have demonstrated that intravenous plus intraperitoneal chemotherapy improves survival in patients with optimally debulked stage III ovarian cancer, compared to intravenous chemotherapy alone [80–82]. This approach may also be used as chemotherapeutic bridging between incomplete initial surgery and definitive CRS or second-look surgery. In contrast, patients with gastric cancer PM did not benefit from SPIC with cisplatin compared to adjuvant intravenous chemotherapy [83]. This type of chemotherapy is an adjuvant and not a perioperative intraperitoneal use of chemotherapy. The good results in ovarian cancer come at the cost of higher morbidity and catheter-related complications leading to a limited number of planned cycles of SPIC completed [84].

Finally, the administration of IPC during the early postoperative period, EPIC, has some important conceptual advantages. EPIC regimens are administered postoperatively (days 1–4/5) through both an inflow catheter and outflow

drains inserted at the time of CRS and can be applied with or without prior HIPEC. It is initiated after CRS at the time of minimal residual tumour burden. Intraperitoneal drug instillation is initiated before wound healing, and intraperitoneal adhesions can occur and as such can minimize non-uniform drug distribution and eliminate residual cancer cells entrapped in postoperative fibrin deposits. Cell cycle-specific drugs like 5-fluorouracil and taxanes are preferred for EPIC based on principles of pharmacology. EPIC, its rationale and influence on survival will be the subject of the rest of this chapter.

5.4 Rationale for EPIC

From a pharmacologic point of view, dose intensification between the peritoneal compartment and the body compartment is the basic underlying rationale for all IPC [70, 85, 86]. Secondly, hepatic metabolism and first-pass effect can improve the therapeutic ratio, ratio of intraperitoneal drug concentration to plasma drug concentration, for intraperitoneally infused drugs by partially metabolizing them before reaching the systemic circulation. This mechanism also leads to high drug concentrations in the liver, the primary site of systemic metastases for many tumours causing PC [11, 87]. These advantages apply to all types of IPC, but the use of EPIC during the early postoperative period has some additional specific advantages.

The prerequisite for effective IPC is that the administered drug reaches its target, the cancer cell. Unfortunately during HIPEC, the cancer chemotherapy solution does not contact the complete peritoneal surface. Peritoneal dialysis data reveals that only 30–40% of the peritoneum is covered by an intraperitoneal fluid administered during a short period of time [88–90]. On the other hand, a solution instilled in the peritoneal cavity of normal mice and rats for longer time (24 h) succeeds in completely covering the peritoneum [88, 91]. Rosenshein examined the distribution of intraperitoneally infused fluids in rhesus monkeys using a Ringer's lactate solution containing ^{99m}Tc-labeled human serum albumin.

There was a good distribution when high intraabdominal volumes, 250 mL in a 5 kg subject, were used [92]. Graf et al. confirmed, by single photon emission computed tomography, that an intraperitoneal infused volume of 500 mL was not sufficient to obtain a uniform distribution in human subjects [93]. In a study comparing open to closed HIPEC techniques, Elias et al. reported a superior exposure of the peritoneal surfaces by the open 'colosseum' technique, probably due to stirring of the fluid during the procedure and the expanded abdomen [94]. The longer dwell time of chemotherapeutic agents during EPIC might increase the peritoneal surface area that comes in contact with the drug in spite of it being a closed abdomen technique.

Once the drug has reached the tumour surface, it needs to penetrate the tumour to reach the individual cells. The penetration of different drugs after intraperitoneal instillation is only between 2–3 mm and 6–8 cell layers [85, 86, 95–97] (Table 5.2). Notable exception is the penetration of more than 60 cell layers by paclitaxel [98, 99]. Increased intra-abdominal pressure during EPIC might further increase tissue penetration.

Most drugs don't immediately institute absolute cell kill. They depend on some duration of exposure to transfer enough drug to effect a change in the tissue. For example, for cisplatin, the molecule must first enter the cell. Uptake is variable and can be modulated by decreased uptake or increased efflux. Secondly, prior to cisplatin binding to genomic or mitochondrial DNA, the loss of a chloride group is required. Lastly after cisplatin binds to DNA, initially monofunctional DNA adducts are formed, but most of them further react to produce interstrand or intrastrand cross-links, which then block replication and/or prevent transcription [100]. This need for prolonged exposure is evidently true for the potent cell cycle-specific drugs: 5-FU and taxanes. Little data exists concerning the exact exposure time chemotherapeutic drugs require to institute cell kill [101]. During HIPEC, contact time is limited to 30-90 min, while during EPIC, the drug lingers in the abdominal cavity during the first 5 postoperative days. This longer contact time potentially improves cell kill.

Drug	Molecular weight (Dalton)	AUC ratio	Drug penetration distance
5-fluorouracil	130.08	250	0.2 mm
Carboplatin	371.25	10	0.5 mm
Cisplatin	300.1	7.8	1–3 mm
Oxaliplatin	397.3	16	1–2 mm
Paclitaxel	853.9	1000	>80 cell layers
Docetaxel	861.9	552	NA
Doxorubicin	579.99	230	4–6 cell layers
Mitoxantrone	517.41	115-225	5–6 cell layers
Etoposide	588.58	65	NA
Floxuridine	246.2	75	NA
Gemcitabine	299.5	500	NA
Irinotecan	677.19	NA	NA
Mephalan	305.2	93	NA
Mitomycin C	334.3	23.5	2 mm
Pemetrexed	597.49	40.8	NA

Table 5.2 Properties of cytotoxic agents used during intraoperative or early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy

HIPEC and EPIC have some additional advantages over NIPS. Extensive resections and adhesiolysis during CRS maximally expose the peritoneal surface to chemotherapeutic drugs during subsequent HIPEC or EPIC [7, 35]. In addition, CRS reduces the already present peritoneal tumour burden to a microscopic level.

The perioperative period appears crucial regarding the host's defences against the growth of tumour cells, leaving the resection sites and abraded peritoneal surfaces at high risk for tumour cell implantation [102, 103]. This was demonstrated by the development of detectable liver metastases from 'dormant' metastatic cells after liver resection in a rat model [104]. Laparotomy per se enhances the growth of intraperitoneal tumour implants in mice [105]. These implants are then trapped by formation of adhesions and fibrin deposits during the postoperative period [2-7, 9, 106]. The washout effect with large volumes of fluid, such as during EPIC, may decrease fibrin accumulation and adhesions, particularly if the fluid is left in the cavity, or eliminate tumour cells before they fix within scar tissues. The elimination of platelets, white blood cells and monocytes may also diminish the production of tumour growth factors associated with the wound healing process [107].

EPIC can be used as 'adjuvant' therapy to HIPEC to consolidate and further improve its results. HIPEC does not alter the pharmacokinetics of intraperitoneal 5-FU during the early postoperative period [108].

Lastly the implementation of HIPEC in an operating theatre requires specialized organization due to risk of hospital staff exposure to chemotherapeutic agents. Multiple institutes have published guidelines on the handling of intraoperative chemotherapeutic drugs [109, 110]. Additionally heating intraperitoneal drugs requires specific perioperative logistics and materials. EPIC on the other hand is more easily administered. A closed abdomen technique is used limiting the environmental risks for medical personal. The chemotherapeutic agents don't need to be heated. Surgeons at non-specialized centres diagnosing limited PC could use this method to administer IPC after CRS. The additional cost in terms of time and money is minimal since the therapy is instituted and completed within a normal postoperative time frame.

5.5 Surgical Technical Procedure

After completing CRS and prior to closing the abdominal incision, abdominal catheters are placed to administer the intraperitoneal drugs. In most studies, a Tenckhoff catheter is placed



Fig. 5.1 Technical aspects of maintaining abdominal access during EPIC [87]

(Fig. 5.1), but a subcutaneous port or regular drainage catheters can also be used and are potentially cheaper [111, 112]. A purse string suture might be used at the peritoneal level in order to minimize leakage of peritoneal fluid and chemotherapy. After closure of the abdomen, abdominal lavage is instituted to remove blood clots and tissue debris that resulted from surgery. One litre of fluid, either glucose-based dialysis fluid or Ringer lactate solution, is infused into the abdominal cavity as rapid as possible. This lavage fluid is immediately drained by simple gravity. This procedure is repeated on an hourly basis until the effluent is clear. Abdominal lavage is then repeated every 4 h until EPIC begins. The chemotherapeutic solution is instilled as fast as possible after clamping all drainage catheters and left to linger in the abdomen for 23 h after which it is drained and another instillation cycle begins. In most cases, the fluids are infused as fast as possible by gravity, but an infusion pump may also be used [87]. One study infused the drugs during a 3-h period [107].

5.6 Chemotherapy Schedules for EPIC

There are many different drug schedules used for EPIC, although the majority is based either on MMC and 5-FU or taxanes (Tables 5.3, 5.4 and 5.5). The first schedule uses intraperitoneal MMC and 5-FU and was introduced by Sugarbaker (Table 5.6) [87, 131]. After CRS, a single dose of intraperitoneal MMC, 10–12 mg/m², is administered on day 1. These concentrations are much higher than those required to reliably kill CRC cell lines in vitro [132, 133]. In case of reduced

				OS	OS	OS	OS	Median	RFS
Clinical studies		N	Chemotheraneutic regimen	1 J (%)	2 J (%)	3 J (%)	5 J (%)	(months)	3 J (%)
Sugarbaker [87]	EPIC	25	EPIC: MMC (12 mg/m ² (7 pt) or 10 mg/m ² (16 pt), day 0) + 5-FU (20 mg/kg (7 patients) max 2 g or 15 mg/ kg (16 patients) max 1800 mg, day 1–5) (1 L peritoneal dialysis solution)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Sugarbaker [113]	EPIC/SPIC	51	SPIC: 12 cycles of intraperitoneal 5-FU (20 mg/ kg over 5 days) + IV: MMC (10 mg/m ²) EPIC + SIPC: MMC (10 mg/m ²) (day 1) and 5-FU (15 mg/kg) (day 2-5) + 5 cycles of 5-FU (20 mg/kg over 5 days) + IV: MMC (10 mg/m ²) EPIC: MMC (10 mg/m ²) (day 1) and 5-FU (15 mg/ kg) (day 2-5) (1 L peritoneal dialysis solution)	NA	BA	36	NA	NA	NA
Pestieau [114]	HIPEC + EPIC	5 99	HIPEC: MMC (drug dose not reported) EPIC: 5-FU (drug dose not reported)	NA	61.4	NS	100	NA	NA
Vaillant [107]	EPIC	133	IV: 5-FU (1 g, intraoperative) EPIC: 5-FU (600 mg/m ² , 6 days, start day 4–14) (1.5 L peritoneal dialysis fluid)	NA	NA	NA	74	NA	NA
	Control	134	No adjuvant therapy	NA	NA	NA	69	NA	NA
Cavalieri [39]	HIPEC	40	(CRC) HIPEC: Cisplatin (25 mg/m ² /L) (90 min) (ovarian) HIPEC: MMC (3.3 mg/m ² /L) and cisplatin (25 mg/m ² /L) (90 min)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	EPIC		(CRC) EPIC: 5-FU (13.5 mg/kg) + lederfolin (125 mg/m ²) (day1–5) (ovarian) EPIC: Cisplatin (25 mg/m ²) (day1–5) (1 L peritoneal dialysis solution)						
Elias [40]	HIPEC	27	HIPEC: MMC (21 pt) (5, 8, or 10 mg/L) and MMC (6 pt) (20 mg/m ²) + cisplatin (200 mg/m ²) (60 min)	29	18	11	1	NA	NA
	EPIC	37	EPIC: MMC (10 g/m ² , day 1) + 5-FU (500 mg/m ² , day 2–6) (1 L/m ² ringer lactate)	20	13	8	3	NA	NA

Table 5.3
 Clinical studies: EPIC in colorectal carcinoma

(continued)

Clinical studios		N	Chamatharapautia ragimap	OS 1 J	OS 2 J	OS 3 J	OS 5 J	Median OS	RFS 3 J
Mahteme [112]	EPIC + SPIC	18	EPIC: 5-FU (550 mg/ m ² day1–6), IV: LV (60 mg/ m ²), 4–6 weeks intervals (500 mL saline 0.9%)	NA	60	NA	28	NA	NA
	Control	18	IV: Methotrexate, 5-FU and LV (8 pt) and 5-FU and LV (6 pt)	NA	10	NA	5	NA	NA
Carmignani [115]	HIPEC	10	HIPEC: MMC (10–12.5 mg/ m ² , 90 min)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	EPIC	7	EPIC: 5-FU (650 mg/m ² , day 1–5) (1 L peritoneal dialysis solution buffered with 50 mEq/L of sodium bicarbonate)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	HIPEC + EPIC	10	HIPEC: MMC (10–12.5 mg/ m ² , 90 min), EPIC: 5-FU (650 mg/m ² , day 1–5)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Glehen [55]	EPIC	123	Multiple drug regimens used	72	NA	39	19	NA	16
	HIPEC + EPIC	112	EPIC: (1 L peritoneal						
	HIPEC	271	dialysis solution)						
Elias [116]	EPIC + IV chemo	16	EPIC: MMC (drug dose not reported) (day 1) and 5-FU (drug dose not reported) (days 2–5) (2 L peritoneal dialysis solution) IV: 5-FU and LV bimonthly for 6 months	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	IV chemo	19	IV: 5-FU and LV bimonthly for 6 months	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Gomez [117]	HIPEC/EPIC	266	Multiple drug regimens used	88	NA	44	32	33	NA
Da Silva Gomes [118]	EPIC + SPIC	36	EPIC: MMC (10–12.5 mg/ m ² , day 1), 5-FU (650 mg/ m ² , day 2–5) SPIC: 5-FU (650 mg/m ² , day 1–5) + IV: MMC (10 mg/m ² in women and 12.5 mg/m ² in men, day 3) (once per month for 6 months) (1 L peritoneal dialysis solution)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	HIPEC + EPIC	34	m ²) (90 min) EPIC: 5-FU (650 mg/m ² , day 1–5) (1 L peritoneal dialysis solution)						
Elias [119]	HIPEC	23	HIPEC: oxaliplatin (460 mg/ m ² , 30 min) + IV: LV (20 mg/m ²) and 5-FU(400 mg/m ²)	NA	NA	NA	54	NA	NA
	EPIC	23	EPIC: MMC (10 mg/m ² , day 0) + 5-FU (650 mg/m ² , day 1-4) (1 L/m ² peritoneal dialysis fluid)	NA	NA	NA	28	NA	NA

Table 5.3 (continued)

Table 5.3 (continued)

				05	05	00	00	Madian	DEC
				1 J	2.1	3.1	5.1	OS	кгз 3 J
Clinical studies		N	Chemotherapeutic regimen	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(months)	(%)
Hadi [120]	HIPEC and/or EPIC	70	Multiple drug regimens used	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Yan [121]	HIPEC and/or EPIC	30	HIPEC: MMC (10–12.5 mg/ m ²) (90 min) EPIC: 5-FU (650 mg/m ² , day 1–5), (2 pt) floxuridine	72	64	NA	NA	NA	NA
Fuzun [122]	Non-heated IPEC and/or EPIC	29	Non-heated IPEC: 5-FU (1000 mg, 20 min) EPIC: 5- FU (750 mg/m ² , day 1–5) (carrier fluid unknown)	72	NA	13	NA	NA	7
Hansson [123]	SPIC	85	(CRC-PMP) SPIC: 5-FU (550 mg/m ²) IV: LV (60 mg/ m ²), day 1–6, 4–6 week intervals 8 courses (ovarium-DMPM) SPIC: cisplatin (50 mg/ m ²) + doxorubicin (15 mg/ m ²), day 1–6, 4–6 week intervals 8 courses	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	HIPEC + EPIC	28	(CRC 8) HIPEC: oxaliplatin (460 mg/m ²) IV: 5-FU (500 mg/m ²) + LV (60 mg/ m ²), EPIC: 5-FU (550 mg/ m ² , day 1–5) + LV (60 mg/ m ²) (PMP 17) HIPEC: MMC (12 mg/m ²) EPIC: 5-FU (550 mg/m ² , day 1–5) + LV (60 mg/m ²) (Ovarium 2) HIPEC oxaliplatin (460 mg/m ²) EPIC: paclitaxel (20 mg/m ² , day 1–5) (DMPM 1) HIPEC cisplatin (50 mg/ m ²) + doxorubicin (15 mg/ m ²) EPIC: paclitaxel (20 mg/ m ² , day 1–5)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	HIPEC + EPIC + SPIC	2	cfr higher	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Saxena [124]	HIPEC + EPIC	34	HIPEC: MMC (10–12 mg/ m ² , 90 min) EPIC: 5-FU (650–800 mg/ m ² , day 1–5) (1 L peritoneal dialysis solution)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	HIPEC	12	HIPEC: MMC (10–12 mg/ m ² , 90 min)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	EPIC	17	EPIC: 5-FU (650–800 mg/ m ² , day 1–5) (1 L peritoneal dialysis solution)	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Elias [125]	HIPEC	440	Multiple drug regimens were used	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	EPIC	83	EPIC: MMC (10 mg/m ² , day 1) + 5-FU (600 mg/m ² , day 2–5) (0.8–1 L/m ² peritoneal dialysis solution)						

(continued)

				OS 1 J	OS 2 J	OS 3 J	OS 5 J	Median OS	RFS 3 J
Clinical studies		Ν	Chemotherapeutic regimen	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(months)	(%)
Chua [111]	HIPEC	30	HIPEC: MMC (10–12.5 mg/ m ²) or HIPEC: Oxaliplatin (460 mg/m ²) + IV 5-FU (400 mg/m ²) and LV (20 mg/ m ²)	NA	NA	NA	NA	19	NA
	EPIC	23	EPIC: 5-FU(650–800 mg/ m ² , day 1–5) (1 L peritoneal dialysis solution)	NA	NA	NA	NA	28	NA
	HIPEC + EPIC	45	cfr higher	NA	NA	NA	NA	38	NA
Lam [126]	HIPEC	56	HIPEC: oxaliplatin (400 mg, 60 min.) + IV 5-FU (800 mg)	91	NA	46	NA	NA	6
	HIPEC + EPIC	37	HIPEC: MMC (12–15 mg, 60 min.) EPIC: 5-FU (1000 mg, day 1–5) (1.5 L peritoneal dialysis solution)	86	NA	51	NA	NA	22

Table 5.3 (continued)

Table 5.4 Clinical studies: EPIC in gastric carcinoma

				OS	OS	OS		Median	
				1 J	2 J	3 J	OS 5 J	OS	RFS
Author	Year	N	Drug regimen	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(months)	5 J (%)
Yu et al. [127]	1998	125	EPIC: MMC (10 mg/m ² , day 1) + 5-FU (700 mg/m ² , day 4–5) (1 L peritoneal dialysis solution)	NA	NA	54	NA	NA	NA
		123	None	NA	NA	37	NA	NA	NA
Cheong et al. [84]	2006	154	EPIC: MMC (15 mg, day 0) + 5-FU (500 mg/m ²) and Cisplatin (40 mg/m ²)(day 1–4)(repeated every 4 w for 12 cycles) (500 mL 0.9% saline solution)	NA	NA	NA	NA	11.4	NA
Kwon et al. [128]	2014	65	EPIC: MMC (10 mg/m ² , day 1) + 5-FU (700 mg/m ² , day 4–5) IV: 5-FU + cisplatin or epirubicin (1 L 0.9% saline solution)	NA	NA	NA	47.4	NA	53.1
		180	IV: 5-FU + cisplatin or epirubicin	NA	NA	NA	26.7	NA	29.7

renal or hepatic function, MMC is given one-half the calculated dose. Other centres implementing this schedule used a dose of MMC varying between 10 and 15 mg/m². Some adapt their dose depending on sex, 10 mg/m² in women and 12.5 mg/m² in men [118]. A higher incidence of postoperative neutropenia has been described in female patients after HIPEC with MMC. The underlying mechanism causing this sex difference is still unclear [134, 135].

Hereafter, on day 2 till day 5, 5-FU is administered intraperitoneally. Initially a dose of 20 mg/kg (max dose 2 g) was used, but to decrease toxicity, the dose was reduced to 15 mg/ kg (max 1800 mg) [131, 132, 136]. Reliable cell kill has been achieved with much lower doses in

Austhor		N	Characthereau as simon	OS 1 J	OS 2 J	OS 3 J	OS 5 J	Median OS	RFS 3 J
Sugarbaker [129]	HIPEC	42	HIPEC: doxorubicin (15 mg/m ²) + cisplatin (50 mg/m ²) (90 min)	NS	NS	(%) NS	44	NS	(%) NS
	HIPEC + EPIC	58	IV: ifosfamide (1300 mg/m ² , 90 min during HIPEC) + sodium methanethiolate (Mesna) (256 mg/m ²) EPIC: paclitaxel (20 mg/m ² , day 1–5)	NS	NS	NS	52	NS	NS
	HIPEC + EPIC + SPIC	29	(8 pt) SPIC: Paclitaxel (20 mg/m ² , day 1–5, 1 week of every month) (21 pt) SPIC: pemetrexed (1000 mg/ m ²) + IV: cisplatin (75 mg/m ²) (cycles every 3 weeks)	NS	NS	NS	75	NS	NS
Yan [130]	HIPEC	24	HIPEC: cisplatin (50 mg/ m ²) + doxorubicin (15 mg/m ²) (90 min)	82	67	57	49	NS	NS
	HIPEC + EPIC	46	EPIC: paclitaxel (20 mg/m ² , day 1–5)						

Table 5.5 Clinical studies reporting on survival after EPIC in DMPM

in vitro cell lines [132]. In more recent studies, the calculation of the 5-FU dose is either based on body surface area (500 and 800 mg/m²) or on body mass (15 mg/kg) [40, 67, 113, 115, 128, 137]. The large differences in concentrations used when the dose of 5-FU was calculated on body surface area were not explained by the authors. The most frequently used dosimetry was 650 mg/m².

Alterations in locoregional pharmacokinetics of intraperitoneal 5-FU over a 5-day schedule of drug instillation have been noted [87]. This is not taken into account in current EPIC schedules; the concentration used each day is kept constant. A dose reduction of 25% may be used in patients older than 65 years of age, patients with prior extensive chemotherapy or patients who have had abdominal or pelvic radiation therapy [113].

The instillation of fluids is repeated every 24 h. Unfortunately, the concentration of intraperitoneal infused 5-FU declines rapidly; only 1% remains after 3 h [138]. Repeating intraperitoneal infusions more frequently should result in maintained higher intraperitoneal drug concentrations.

The timing of MMC and 5-FU administration is variable. MMC is administered on the day of operation or on the first postoperative day. 5-FU is administered for 4 or 5 consecutive days starting on the first or second postoperative day, depending on the timing of MMC instillation. In one study, EPIC was initiated as soon as it was deemed likely that patients had no postoperative complications and passed gas and their temperature was 38 °C or less. A dose of intraperitoneal drugs was administered for 6 consecutive days. Infusion started between 4 and 14 days after surgery [107]. When major complications arose during EPIC, the treatment was halted prematurely. This schedule was used for colorectal, appendix and gastric cancer. Other intraperitoneal drugs might be added to 5-FU-based EPIC such as lederfolin (125 mg/m²) for primary colon and appendicular tumours or cisplatin (25/40 mg/m²) for

Tak	ole 5.6	Instruction	for	the	use	of	5-FU	and	taxanes	during	EPIC
-----	---------	-------------	-----	-----	-----	----	------	-----	---------	--------	------

Post-op days 1–5:
5-fluorouracil
1. 5-FU mg (650 mg/m ² × m ²) (maximum dose 1400 mg), and 50 meq sodium bicarbonate in cc 1.5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis solution via IP catheter on . Last dose
2. Infuse as rapidly as possible via Tenckhoff catheter. Dwell for 23 h and drain for 1 h prior to next instillation
3. Use 1 L 1.5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis solution for body surface $1-2 \text{ m}^2$, 1.5 L for body surface $>2 \text{ m}^2$
4. Continue to drain abdominal cavity after last dose until Tenckhoff catheter is removed
5. During initial 6 h after chemotherapy infusion, patient's bed should be kept flat. The patient should be on the right side during infusion. Turn at ½ h post infusion onto the left side and continue to change sides at ½ h intervals for 6 h
6. Monitor with pulse oximeter during the first 6 h of intraperitoneal chemotherapy
7. Remove venous compression boots during first 6 h after chemotherapy administration to facilitate turning
Paclitaxel
1. Paclitaxel mg (20–40 mg/m ² × m ²) (maximum dose 80 mg) in cc 1.5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis solution via IP catheter on . Last dose
2. Infuse as rapidly as possible via Tenckhoff catheter. Dwell for 23 h. Drain from Tenckhoff × 15 min before draining all catheters for 1 h prior to next instillation
3. Use 1 L 1 5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis solution for body surface $1-2 \text{ m}^2$, 1.5 L for body surface >2 m ²
4. Continue to drain abdominal cavity after last dose until Tenckhoff catheter is removed
5. During initial 6 h after chemotherapy infusion, patient's bed should be kept flat. The patient should be on the right side during infusion. Turn at ½ h post infusion onto the left side and continue to change sides at ½ h intervals for 6 h
6. Monitor with pulse oximeter during the first 6 h of intraperitoneal chemotherapy
7. Remove venous compression boots during first 6 h after chemotherapy administration to facilitate turning
Modified from: Sugerbaker PH. Technical handbook for the integration of cytoreductive surgery and perioperative

Modified from: Sugerbaker PH. Technical handbook for the integration of cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy into the surgical management of gastrointestinal and gynaecologic malignancy, 4th edition, 2005

primary ovarian and gastric cancers [39, 84]. When this EPIC schedule is used as adjunct to CRS and HIPEC, MMC is administered during HIPEC and only 5-FU is administered as the EPIC treatment. The same concentrations of 5-FU are used as described above.

A second schedule is based on taxanes and is used for diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma (DMPM) and ovarian cancer. Intraperitoneal paclitaxel, 20 mg/m²/day, is administered for 5 days. The instillation is initiated on the first postoperative day [129, 130, 139]. In selected patients, especially those who have ascites, EPIC with paclitaxel (20–40 mg/m² for 5 days) followed by SPIC is recommended [139].

Again the instillation is repeated every 24 h. Luckily for paclitaxel, the intraperitoneal drug concentration remains constant up to 23 h after instillation [140].

Thirdly, other drugs might be used for EPIC such as cisplatin (25 mg/m²) for primary ovarian tumours [39].

The duration of EPIC, currently 4–5 days, has no pharmacologic basis. But we do know instillation is best administered within 24 h of resection [141].

In addition to the chemotherapeutic drugs and their dosages used during EPIC, the type and volume of intraperitoneal infused carrier fluid is also variable. The intraperitoneal fluid volume is one of the principle factors influencing intraperitoneal drug distribution. The more fluid is infused, the better the intraperitoneal distribution [92]. The maximum volume is limited by discomfort to the patient due to abdominal distention and elevation in intra-abdominal pressure. The volume of intraperitoneal infused fluid diminishes over time due to absorption [138].

In initial studies by Sugarbaker, 2 L were infused intra-abdominally, but this caused too much abdominal discomfort [87, 131, 136]. They reduced the abdominal volume to 1 L. In some other studies, only 500 mL is used [93, 112]. To optimize the abdominally infused

volumes in relation to individual variations in intra-abdominal volume, some centres use a body surface area-based volume, 0.8–1 L/m² [31, 125, 142].

The most frequently used carrier fluid is 1.5% glucose peritoneal dialysis fluid, but Ringer lactate or saline 0.9% solutions are also used [40, 93, 112]. Several studies explored the effect of different carrier fluids on changes in intraabdominal volume over time and on intraabdominal drug concentrations. Larger intraperitoneal volumes are maintained with high molecular weight solutions: 4% icodextrin, 6% hetastarch and hypertonic 3% sodium chloride solutions [138, 140]. The use of different carrier fluids does not influence the decline in intraperitoneal 5-FU concentrations over time [138]. The use of a hetastarch drug carrier results in longer intraperitoneal retention of paclitaxel leading to higher concentrations for a longer time [140]. In two studies, peritoneal dialysis fluid was buffered with sodium bicarbonate (50 mEq/L) [115, 120]. We would advise a body surface area-based volume, 0.8-1 L/m², of 1.5% glucose peritoneal dialysis or hetastarch solution to be used.

Another way of improving the fluid distribution is abdominal massage and shifting the patients during EPIC. Especially Trendelenburg position is useful in improving distribution to the diaphragm [92]. Instruction for the use of 5-FU and taxanes during EPIC advise changing the patients position during intraperitoneal drug instillation (Table 5.6). It is unclear if such measures have been implemented in clinical studies.

5.7 Pharmacology and Rationale of Intraperitoneal 5-FU

Muggia pointed out that 5-fluorouracil is an essential component of chemotherapeutic regimens for treating gastrointestinal cancers. 5-FU is an inhibitor of the enzyme thymidylate synthetase that catalyses the methylation of thymine in the synthesis of thymidine, which is a precursor of DNA [143–145]. It enters the cell directly and is then metabolized to its active metabolite [144].

5-FU is not chemically compatible with other drugs in a mixed solution for infusion or instillation which limits its intravenous and intraperitoneal use along with other agents.

Although a small molecular weight molecule (130.08 Dalton), 5-FU has an AUC ratio > 400 which makes it a favourable drug for intraperitoneal administration [108, 136] (Table 5.2). Figure 5.2 demonstrates the dose intensification associated with intraperitoneal 5-FU administration. The plasma concentration is significantly lower than the intraperitoneal concentration due to inactivation of the drug in the systemic circula-



Fig. 5.2 5-FU concentrations in peritoneal fluid and plasma after EPIC administration [67]

tion by dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase, an enzyme that is present in the liver in abundance and in the mucosa of the gastrointestinal tract and peripheral lymphocytes [146]. However, since the clinical activity of the drug is cell cycle dependent, this benefit is lost if repeated daily instillations are not performed. Clinical data has shown a high concentration of 5-FU after intraperitoneal instillation. Being a small molecule, it gets rapidly cleared from the peritoneal cavity, yet the rapid metabolism at various sites maintains a large area under the curve ratio of peritoneal fluid to plasma. Also, the early postoperative period allows a repetitive exposure of the drug to peritoneal surface tissues to allow increased activity of its cell cycle-specific activity [67].

5.8 Pharmacology and Rationale of Intraperitoneal Taxanes

Currently, the two clinically available taxanes are paclitaxel and docetaxel. The taxanes are antimitotic agents that reversibly stabilize the microtubule against depolymerisation, thereby disrupting normal microtubule dynamics. When cells reenter cell cycle, they develop multiple or lobulated nuclei with abnormally arranged nuclear pores and numerous gaps in the lamina ultimately leading to cell death [69, 98, 147]. These agents also have the ability to induce apoptotic death in susceptible cells. They stimulate the phosphorylation of bcl-2, a protein that is part of the apoptosis mechanism in many cancer cells and inhibits apoptosis when overexpressed [148, 149]. Phosphorylation of bcl-2 decreases its anti-apoptotic effects and leads to programmed cell death. Additionally, paclitaxel and docetaxel have also shown, both in vitro and in vivo, to inhibit angiogenesis at low concentrations that do not affect cancer cell proliferation [149, 150].

These agents exert cytotoxic activity against a broad range of tumours. Because of their high molecular weight, 853.9 Dalton for paclitaxel and 861.9 Dalton for docetaxel, these molecules have a remarkable high AUC ratio of 1000 and 552, respectively (Table 5.2). This translates into a clear pharmacokinetic advantage for intraperitoneal administration (Fig. 5.3) [70, 140, 144].

5.9 Mortality and Morbidity of EPIC

A major concern in regard to the use of EPIC as adjuvant therapy after CRS is the added morbidity and mortality (Table 5.7).

Overall mortality varies from 0 to 18% [39, 40, 55, 113, 115, 116, 119, 120, 130, 152]. In one study, an overall mortality rate of 12% was noted, but this was due to the inexperience of the surgical team; during a later period, the mortality



Fig. 5.3 Plasma and peritoneal fluid concentration versus time following a single EPIC administration of paclitaxel (20–40 mg/ m²) [151]

Clinical studies	Year	Tumour	N	HIPEC regimen	Morbidity (%)	Grade III (%)	Grade IV (%)	Digestive fistula (%)	Mortality (%)
Sugarbaker	1995	CRC	51	SPIC: 12 cycles of intraperitoneal 5-FU combined with systemic MMC	NA	NA	NA	1.8	1.7
[113]				EPIC + adj. IPC: 5-FU and MMC+ 5 cycles of 5-FU and MMC	1				
				EPIC: MMC and 5-FU	1				
Yu [152]	1998	Gastric	125	EPIC: MMC (10 mg/m ² , day 1) + 5-FU (700 mg/m ² , day 4–5)	28.8	NA	NA	NA	4.8
		cancer	123	None	20.3	NA	NA	NA	0.8
Elias [40]	2001	CRC	27	HIPEC: MMC (5, 8, or 10 mg/L) (21 pt) and MMC (20 mg/m ²) (6 pt) + cisplatin (200 mg/m ²)	NA	NA	NA	18	11
			37	EPIC: MMC (10 g/m ² , day 1) + 5-FU (500 mg/m ² , day 2–6)	NA	NA	NA	18	8
Cavalieri [39]	2000	CRC	40	Multiple drug regimens were used	35	NA	NA	11.4	12
Vaillant	2000	CRC	133	EPIC: 5-FU (600 mg/m ² , day 4–6)	19.5	NA	NA	NA	1,5
[107]			134	No adjuvant therapy	12	NA	NA	NA	0
Elias [116]	2004	CRC	16	EPIC: MMC (day 1) and 5-FU (days 2–5)	50	NA	NA	NA	18
			19	IV: 5-FU and LV bimonthly for 6 months	37	NA	NA	NA	0
Carmignani	2004	CRC	10	HIPEC: MMC (10–12.5 mg/m ² , 90 min)	14.8	NA	NA	NA	0
[115]			2	EPIC: 5-FU (650 mg/m ² , day 1–5)					
			10	HIPEC: MMC (10–12.5 mg/m ² , 90 min), EPIC: 5-FU (650 mg/m ² , day 1–5)	1				
Glehen	2004	CRC	123	Multiple drug regimens used (Table 5.8)	23	NA	NA	8.3	4
			112						
			271						
Elias	2006	CRC	23	HIPEC: oxaliplatin (460 mg/m ² , 30 min) + IV: LV (20 mg/m ²) and 5-FU (400 mg/m ²)	47.8	NA	NA	0	0
			23	EPIC: MMC (10 mg/m ² , day 0) + 5-FU (650 mg/m ² , day 1–4)	56.5	NA	NA	26.1	8.7
Hadi	2006	CRC	70	Multiple regimens	39.4	NA	NA	8	5.6
Yan	2006	CRC	30	HIPEC: MMC (10–12.5 mg/m ^{2,} 90 min)	NA	43	10	30	0
				EPIC: 5-FU (650 mg/m ² , day 1–5), EPIC: floxuridine (2 pt)					
Fuzun	2006	CRC	29	Non-heated IPEC: 5-FU (1000 mg, 20 min)	41	NA	20	NA	0
				EPIC: 5- FU (750 mg/m ² , day 1–5)					
									(continued)

linical udies	Year	Tumour	Ν	HIPEC regimen	Morbidity (%)	Grade III (%)	Grade IV (%)	Digestive fistula (%)	Mortality (%)
heong	2006	Gastric cancer	154	EPIC: MMC (15 mg, day 0) + 5-FU (500 mg/m ²) and cisplatin (40 mg/m ²) (day 1–4) (repeated every 4 w for 12 cycles)	22.7	NA	NA	NA	2.6
an	2006	DMPM	24	HIPEC: cisplatin (50 mg/m ²) + doxorubicin (15 mg/m ²) (90 min)	NA	29	13	NA	8.3
			46	EPIC: paclitaxel (20 mg/m ² , day $1-5$)	NA	26	15	NA	0
Jansson	2008	CRC PMP ovarium	85	(CRC-PMP) SPIC: 5-FU (550 mg/m ²) IV: LV (60 mg/m ²) (day 1–6, 4–6 week intervals 8 courses) (ovarium-DMPM) SPIC: cisplatin (50 mg/m ²) + doxorubicin (15 mg/m ²) (day 1–6, 4–6 week intervals 8 courses)	41	NS	NS	8.1	4
		DMPM	28	(CRC 8) HIPEC: oxaliplatin (460 mg/m ²) IV: 5-FU (500 mg/m ²) + LV (60 mg/m ²), EPIC: 5-FU (550 mg/m ² , day 1–5) + LV (60 mg/m ²) (PMP					
				1/) HIPEC: MIMC (12 mg/m ⁻) EPIC: 5-FU (550 mg/m ⁻ , day 1-5) + LV (60 mg/m ²) (ovarium 2) HIPEC: oxaliplatin (460 mg/m ²) EPIC: paclitaxel (20 mg/m ² , day 1-5) (DMPM 1) HIPEC: cisplatin (50 mg/ ²) + 4400 mg/m ² , day 1-5) (DMPM 1) (20 mg/m ²) = 1000 mg/m ² = 1000 mg/m ²) = 1000 mg/m ² = 10000 mg/m ² = 1000 mg/m ² = 10000 mg/m ² = 1000 mg/m ² = 10000 mg/m ² = 1000					
			ſ	111-) + UONOLUOICIII (1.) 1118/111-) + EFIC: PACIIIAACI (20 1118/111-, uay 1-) Afteri: After					
	0100		1			0	ç		
Saxena	2010	CKC	34	HIPEC: MMC (10–12 mg/m ² , 90 min) EPIC: 5-FU (650–800 mg/m ² , day 1–5)	NA	18	12	NA	0
			12	HIPEC: MMC (10–12 mg/m ² , 90 min)	NA	17	33	NA	0
			17	EPIC: 5-FU (650–800 mg/m ² , day 1–5)	NA	6	18	NA	0
Elias	2010	CRC	440	Multiple drug regimens were used	NA	26.2		7.6	3.2
			83	EPIC: MMC (10 mg/m ² , day 1) + 5-FU (600 mg/m ² , day 2–5)					
Chua	2013	CRC	30	HIPEC: MMC (10–12.5 mg/m ²) or HIPEC: oxaliplatin (460 mg/m ²) + IV 5-FU (400 mg/m ²) and LV (20 mg/m ²)	NA	44		14	NA
			23	EPIC: 5-FU(650–800 mg/m ² , day 1–5)	1				
			45	cfr higher	NA	44		13	NA
Kwon et al	2014	Gastric	65	EPIC: MMC (10 mg/m ² , day 1) + 5-FU (700 mg/m ² , day 4–5)	10.8	1.5	3	NA	3.1
		cancer		IV: 5-FU + cisplatin or epirubicin					
			180	IV: 5-FU + cisplatin or epirubicin	8.9	5	2	NA	1.7
Lam	2015	CRC	56	HIPEC: oxaliplatin (400 mg, 60 min) + IV 5-FU (800 mg)	NA	19.6		NA	NA
			37	HIPEC: MMC (12–15 mg, 60 min) EPIC: 5-FU (1000 mg, day 1–5)	NA	43.2		NA	NA

118

 Table 5.7
 (continued)

dropped to 5% [39]. A second study reported a mortality of 18%, but mortality was associated with a high PCI and simultaneous resection of liver metastases [116]. In well-selected patients and in experienced hands, mortality varies between 0 and 9% [39, 40, 55, 113, 115, 119, 120, 130, 152]. Mortality is related to multiple intraoperative (diffuse PC with a PCI > 28, combined liver resections) and preoperative (obesity, clotting factor deficit) risk factors [40]. The cause of death varied widely: stroke, diffuse intravascular coagulation, abdominal sepsis either caused by perforation or not, respiratory failure, aplasia, acute renal insufficiency, pulmonary embolism and cardiac failure. The mortality after EPIC and HIPEC is not significantly different [53].

Treatment of PM with CRS and EPIC is associated with a high overall morbidity: 14.8-56.5% [39, 55, 115, 116, 119, 120, 152]. This morbidity after CRS and EPIC is not significantly different of that seen after CRS and HIPEC [40]. In the majority of patients, morbidity is caused by intraabdominal complications: bowel perforation (28%) [113], anastomotic leaks (3–5%) [39, 113, 152], abdominal sepsis without anastomotic leak (8–21%) [40, 119, 120, 152], gastrointestinal fistula (8–30%) [39, 40, 55, 119–121] or bleeding (0-9%) [39, 119, 120, 152]. Some unusual abdominal complications are also reported: chyle leak (1.6%) [152], intestinal obstruction (2.4%)[152], wound infection (3.2–13%) [121, 152] and gallbladder perforation (4%) [115].

In several studies, EPIC is associated with a prolonged postoperative paralytic ileus [107, 152]. A median duration of postoperative paralytic ileus of 21 days is reported. Increased age and extent of CRS lead to a higher incidence of postoperative paralytic ileus [77].

Although the rate of anastomotic leaks after EPIC is similar to that of HIPEC, the rate of gastrointestinal fistula formation is higher [39, 40, 55, 119–121]. A possible hypothesis for the high rate of digestive fistulas is that a 'floating period' hampers the process whereby digestive sutures are rapidly sealed by physiologic postoperative adhesions [119]. Intestinal obstruction, prior abdominal/pelvic radiation therapy or prior intraperitoneal chemotherapy further increases the rate of postoperative fistula formation [113]. The presence of an ileostomy in this context was not a statistically significant prognostic factor with regard to the need for additional surgery [39].

In one study comparing gastric resection with or without EPIC, EPIC resulted in a significant higher incidence of abdominal sepsis/abscesses without anastomotic leak and of postoperative bleeding. Most of these cases could be treated conservatively so the difference in reinterventions was not significant [152].

The rate of extra-abdominal complications is approximately 54% [40]. The most frequently reported complications are urinary infection (13– 22.6%) [119, 121], pulmonary infection (13%) [119], cardiac complications (13%) [121], neutropenia (3%) [121], seizure (3%) [121] and deep vein thrombosis (2.3%) [77].

A low-grade transient leukopenia is described in 2.4% of patients after gastric resection and EPIC [152]. After CRS and EPIC for PC from CRC, the incidence of clinical significant leukopenia or thrombocytopenia is also low [107, 153]. In one study, a death was caused by cerebral haemorrhage caused by thrombocytopenia, and in a second one, a patient died of aplasia [55, 153]. In a third study, three deaths occurred due to pancytopenia, two of which had earlier treatment with intravenous MMC. It is unclear if these patients were treated with EPIC, HIPEC or without IPC [120].

When the complications are compared by the Clavien-Dindo classification, 43% had a grade I–II complication [121, 154]. The incidence of grade III complications varies between 8 and 43% [39, 40, 55, 119, 130, 152]. The most frequent grade III adverse events in order of incidence are a low haemoglobin level, central line sepsis, urinary tract infection with elevated temperature and leucocytosis, dehydration requiring intravenous therapy and delirium. Other, more rare grade III adverse events included stroke, pleural effusion, thrombocytopenia and pulmonary embolism (requiring removal of intravenous catheter). Grade IV complications of 10-40% are reported [121]. Postoperative bleeding requiring urgent return to the operating room, respiratory failure requiring orotracheal intubation, pulmonary embolism (requiring ICU admission), anastomotic leak, pancreatic leak, duodenal leak and bile leak are the reported grade IV adverse events.

Multiple factors increase morbidity: the extent of PM, and consequently the extent of CRS, the use of either EPIC or HIPEC, the number of units of blood needed, simultaneous liver metastases resection and the duration of surgery [55, 120]. The incidence of postoperative morbidity alters little with the accumulation of experience in contrast to mortality [39].

When EPIC is added to CRS and HIPEC, most studies show an increased morbidity and mortality [55, 121, 126], higher rates of pleural effusion, intra-abdominal collection and pneumothorax [121].

The use of EPIC generally seems to be well tolerated by patients. In contrast to morbidity, reflecting the complications caused by CRS and EPIC, tolerance reflects the postoperative problems solely caused by EPIC. The occurrence of chemical peritonitis, as described after SPIC with cisplatin and 5-FU, seems to be non-existent [107]. Abdominal distention and pain have been reported in 7-10% of patients when large volumes, >1 L, of fluid are infused [93, 107, 155]. Nausea and vomiting are present in 4-25% of the patients, but it is unclear if this is related to morbidity or tolerance [107, 156]. With experience, the risk of technical problems, such as leaks around the catheter or obstruction of the catheter. can be reduced. Leaks were observed in 7.5% of patients [107].

The reported median hospital stay after EPIC is 23–25 days [40, 130].

These data support continued application of this management plan in selected patients. Good performance status, absence of significant comorbidities, uncomplicated CRS, no heavy systemic pretreatment and CCR-0 are requirements for patient selection.

5.10 Clinical Studies on EPIC

5.10.1 Ovarian Cancer

Little data exist concerning treatment of PM from ovarian cancer with EPIC. In two series, by Gomez et al. and Hansson et al., patients with

PM from ovarian cancer were included in EPIC treatment regimens [117, 123]. Unfortunately, the data for ovarian cancer were not analysed separately from other tumour origins. In a third retrospective case series, including 51 patients, the survival was assessed in patients treated with CRS plus HIPEC and EPIC. The study group consisted of cancers originating in the ovaria, fallopian tube, endometrium and uterus. The mean survival was 22.8 months. The authors concluded that CRS, HIPEC and EPIC are crucial options in patients with advanced gynaecological cancers [157]. Lastly, one case report on CRS and EPIC for ovarian carcinosarcoma has been published [158].

Although no strong clinical evidence on the treatment of ovarian PM with EPIC exists, data from three randomized controlled trials evaluating SPIC based on cisplatin might provide some insight on the use of postoperative IPC [81, 82, 159, 160]. This level-one evidence demonstrated a significant benefit of SPIC for patients with advanced ovarian cancer after CRS. They compared a combination of intravenous chemotherapy and SPIC, to intravenous chemotherapy alone. Reported OS in the SPIC groups was 41-52 months. The first treatment was administered during the early postoperative period, simito EPIC schedules. Mainly due to lar catheter-related problems, the number of patients who completed all cycles of SPIC ranged from 42 to 71%. Sub-analysis of these data comparing the groups who received a single cycle during the early postoperative period to those who received multiple cycles could provide useful information.

5.10.2 Colorectal Carcinoma and High-Grade Appendical Carcinoma

Several publications reported on the use of EPIC in CRC and in high-grade appendical carcinoma (Table 5.5). The first two reports on EPIC were presented by Sugarbaker. The first, published in 1990, reported solely on the in vivo pharmacokinetics of MMC and 5-FU during EPIC. No survival data were reported [87]. The second trial, reporting the results of 51 patients with PC from CRC and 130 patients with PM from appendical carcinoma treated with EPIC, was published in 1995 [113]. Patients were included over a period of 10 years. There was some maturation of treatments strategies during this decade from SPIC over SPIC and EPIC to EPIC alone. A 3-year survival of 36 and 73% was attained for colorectal and appendical carcinoma, respectively. This significant survival difference was attributed to the inclusion of low-grade appendical carcinomas. Due to these results, in subsequent trials, lowgrade appendical carcinomas were excluded. Clearly, the bias in patient selection and the three different treatment strategies used during the inclusion period obscure the results.

A retrospective case series by Pestieau et al. reported on 104 patients with PM of CRC treated with CRS, HIPEC and EPIC [114]. The first group (n = 5) was treated for synchronous PM, and the second group (n = 99) presented with metachronous PM after primary resection in an outcentre hospital. The major difference between the groups was the timing of IPC in relation to primary resection. For the first group, a 5-year OS of 100% was reported. Median survival in the second group depended on CCR, 24 months in the CCR 0 group and 12 months in the CCR 1–2 groups.

In a study by Vaillant et al., 317 patients had treatment (either CRS and EPIC or CRS alone) randomly assigned to them [107]. Patients with resectable, T3N0M0 (stage II) or N + M0 (stage III), CRC were included. Of the intended 350 patients, only 317 patients were included. The trial was prematurely closed because the option of no adjuvant treatment after resection of stage III colon cancer was no longer considered ethical. 5-year OS and PFS rates were higher in the treatment group compared to CRS alone (74% vs. 69% and 68% vs. 62%, respectively). The difference did not reach statistical significance. Tumour recurrences were observed in 33 patients (24.8%) in the EPIC group and in 42 patients (31.3%) in the control group.

Cavalieri et al. evaluated the treatment of PM with CRS and either HIPEC or EPIC in 40 patients of whom 20 had ovarian cystadenocarcinoma, 14 mucinous CRC, 4 malignant mesothelioma and 2 appendicular adenocarcinoma [39]. HIPEC was the first choice of treatment, but when the intraoperative decline of the patient's general condition did not permit a longer operative time, EPIC was performed instead. At a median follow-up of 20 months, the 2-year OS of the series was 61.4%, with a median survival of 30 months. Only pooled results were presented, and no differentiation was made between tumour type and EPIC versus HIPEC.

Elias et al. performed a retrospective study of 64 patients who had PM arising from CRC, 19 (29.6%) of whom also had systemic metastases [40, 119]. Thirty-seven patients were treated with CRS and EPIC and 27 patients with CRS and HIPEC. OS was lower in the EPIC group than in the HIPEC group, but not significantly.

Matheme et al. compared 18 patients treated with CRS and EPIC to 18 patients from the Nordic chemotherapy trials with similar characteristics who were treated with intravenous chemotherapy without surgery [112]. All patients were diagnosed with isolated PM from CRC. The EPIC group also received SPIC with a median of 3 cycles. Median survival was 32 months in the EPIC group compared to 14 months in the intravenous chemotherapy group.

Carmignani et al. performed a prospective case series reporting on 27 patients treated with CRS and complete resection of distant metastases. Ten received HIPEC with EPIC and seven EPIC alone [115]. All patients had PM from CRC and systemic metastases (16 liver, 6 lung, 4 liver and lung and 1 supraclavicular lymph node). Median survival for the entire group was 15.2 months, but after CCR0, a median survival of 20.6 months was achieved. An additional survival benefit after CRS with either HIPEC or EPIC compared to CRS alone was not explored.

Glehen et al. retrospectively analysed data of 506 patients with isolated PM from CRC [55]. Data were collected from 28 French centres. Two hundred seventy-one patients were treated with CRS and HIPEC alone, 123 patients underwent CRS and EPIC alone, and 112 patients underwent CRS and both HIPEC and EPIC. The chemotherapeutic schemes for EPIC and HIPEC varied widely (Table 5.8). Likewise, the adjuvant intravenous chemotherapy regimens administered were diverse. OS rates were higher with the perioperative association of HIPEC with EPIC (21 months) compared to HIPEC (19.2 months) or EPIC (19.2 months) alone, but this difference

	HIPEC		EPIC	
Drug	No. patients	%	No. patients	%
MMC	274	71.4	2	0.9
MMC + cisplatin	48	12.5	-	-
Oxaliplatin	32	8.4	-	-
MMC + 5-FU	-	-	113	52.1
5-FU	-	-	95	43.8
Others	29	7.7	7	3.2
Total	383	100	235	100

Table 5.8 Type of drugs and regimens used for HIPEC and EPIC

was not significant. All groups showed increased survival compared to historical data.

Elias et al. attempted the first randomized controlled trial including CRS and EPIC in a treatment regimen for isolated PM of CRC in 2004 [116]. Although inclusion of 90 patients was intended, only 35 patients were included. The low accrual was caused by patient dissatisfaction with the randomisation and inclusion criteria. Referred patients specifically came to be treated with CRS in combination with EPIC. Despite a strong scientific rationale for this approved clinical research, patients considered the trial unethical and detrimental to their right to choose their treatment. All patients received neoadjuvant intravenous 5-FU- and leucovorin-based chemotherapy regimens for at least 3 months. Patients were randomized after complete CRS to either EPIC with adjuvant intravenous chemotherapy (5-FU based), 16 patients, or systemic chemotherapy alone, 19 patients. Seven patients from the first group were too debilitated after treatment with EPIC to receive adjuvant intravenous chemotherapy within 1 month after surgery. Despite the low accrual, a surprising 60% 2-year OS is reported in both trial arms.

Gomez et al. reported on the use of CRS and HIPEC, EPIC or both in nine Spanish institutions [117]. Two hundred sixty-six patients were included of which 51 had PM from CRC. Again, a multitude of chemotherapeutic regimens were used, and the data on different tumours were pooled together so no strong conclusion can be made.

In a retrospective analysis by Da Silva Gomes et al., data on 70 patients with isolated PM from CRC, who had a CCR-0 resection and were treated with IPC, were analysed [118]. Thirty-six patients were treated with CRS, EPIC and SPIC. Thirty-four patients were treated with HIPEC of which nine received additional EPIC. No conclusions could be made about EPIC due to the absence of separated data analyses.

Elias et al. compared treatment consisting of CRS combined with either EPIC or HIPEC [119]. Both groups consisted of 23 patients selected from earlier trials [40, 153]. Five-year OS was higher, albeit not significantly, in the HIPEC group compared to the EPIC group (54% and 28%, respectively). PM recurred significantly more frequent in the EPIC group (57%) than in the HIPEC group (26%).

Hadi et al. treated multiple cancer types with either HIPEC or EPIC [120]. The different treatment regimens reflected evolution in IPC schedules used at their hospital. Data were not selectively analysed for the different cancer types.

Yan et al. analysed 30 patients with isolated PM from CRC treated with CRS and IPC. It was unclear which patients were treated with EPIC and/or HIPEC [121]. The median survival was 29 months, with 1- and 2-year OS of 72% and 64%, respectively.

Between 1996 and 2005, Fuzun et al. collected data from 29 patients treated with CRS combined with IPC for isolated PM from CRC [122]. IPC consisted of non-heated intraperitoneal perioperative chemotherapy or EPIC. The 1-year, 3-year and 5-year OS was 72%, 13% and 7%, respectively.

Hansson et al. analysed 123 patients treated with CRS and IPC for PM [123]. The primary tumour types were 59 CRC (51 colon cancer and 8 rectal cancer), 52 pseudomyxoma peritonei (38 high-grade tumours and 14 low-grade tumours), 8 DMPM and 4 recurrent ovarian cancers after third or fourth line of systemic chemotherapy. An initial 85 patients were treated with SPIC, hereafter 28 patients were treated with HIPEC and EPIC, and 2 patients received HIPEC, EPIC and SPIC. Six patients were treated with CRS alone and two patients had unresectable disease. The median survival of the 59 CRC patients was 27 months at a mean follow-up of 36 months.

Saxena et al. evaluated risk factors for complications after treatment with CRS and IPC: in 64 patients [124], 34 (54%) were treated with both HIPEC and EPIC; in 12 patients (19%), only HIPEC was administered; and in 17 patients (27%), only EPIC was administered. No data on survival were reported.

In a retrospective case series, Elias et al. reported on 440 patients treated with CRS and IPC for PM originating from 4 types of primaries in 23 French centres [125]. The primary tumour originated from colon in 341 patients, rectum in 27 patients, appendical cancer without pseudomyxoma in 41 patients and small bowel in 31 patients. All included patients had CCR0 resections. Eighty-three patients (16%) had undergone EPIC. In multivariate analysis, EPIC and HIPEC showed no advantage over one another.

In a prospective case series, Chua et al. evaluated the use of CRS and IPC [111]. All patients were treated with an intention to administer both HIPEC and EPIC. However, in circumstances where high-risk surgical procedures were performed and there was a reasonable risk of complications, EPIC was withheld. In patients treated without the availability of HIPEC due to resource limitation, EPIC was delivered as the sole IPC regimen. There were 98 patients with PC of CRC origin; 45 patients received HIPEC and EPIC, 30 patients HIPEC and 23 patients EPIC. The median PFS was 33 months for the HIPEC and EPIC group, 19 months for HIPEC alone and 20 months in the EPIC alone group. This difference was significant when the HIPEC and EPIC group was compared to the HIPEC or EPIC groups. The 5-year OS was 41% in the HIPEC and EPIC group, 46% in the HIPEC alone group and 44% in the EPIC alone group.

Lastly, Lam et al. compared 93 patients with CRC or high-grade appendical PM treated with CRS and HIPEC + EPIC or CRS and HIPEC alone [126]. Survival did not differ between IPC regimens. The 3-year OS and PFS rates were 50 and 21% for HIPEC + EPIC and 46 and 6% for HIPEC alone.

There is currently one ongoing trial evaluating EPIC and HIPEC after CRS in patient with PM from appendical, rectal or colorectal origin. The details of this study are outlined further in this chapter (NCT01815359, ICARuS trial).

5.10.3 Gastric Cancer

The historical prognosis of gastric cancer is very poor [161, 162]. Major advances in the multimodal treatment strategy for gastric cancer, D2 resection, ECC (epirubicin, cisplatin and capecitabine), ECF (epirubicin, cisplatin and 5-FU), chemoradiation and trastuzumab, have changed the clinical management of gastric cancer over the last 15 years. Multiple phase III trials revealed a survival benefit after treatment with these improved perioperative intravenous chemotherapy schedules and adjuvant treatment strategies [163–166]. The reported 5-year OS is currently 36–71% [163, 165, 167–169]. Unfortunately, for advanced gastric cancer, stage IIIB, the 5-year PFS rates remain limited, 37.6% [169]. Studies of recurrence patterns after curative surgery for stage III and IV gastric cancer demonstrate that in about 50% of patients, the peritoneum is the first site of recurrence [128, 169]. Even at death, the tumour often remains confined to the abdominal cavity [9, 170, 171]. EPIC has been propagated to eradicate residual microscopic peritoneal disease after resection of stage III gastric cancer and improve PFS an OS. Furthermore, EPIC has been used as treatment for stage IV gastric cancer with isolated PM.

Three studies evaluated the use of EPIC after resection of gastric cancer (Table 5.6). Yu et al. compared curative gastric resection with or without EPIC in a randomized controlled trial [137]. Patients with all grades, I–IV, of gastric cancer were included with exclusion of systemic metastases. Gastric resection with EPIC resulted in improved 5-year OS compared to surgery alone (54% and 38%, respectively). When analysed by stage, the difference in 5-year OS was not significantly different between stage I, II and IV diseases. In patients with stage III disease, there was a significant increase of 5-year OS (57% vs. 23%) in the EPIC group.

In a study by Cheong et al., a median survival of 11.4 months was reported [84]. Patients with stage IV gastric cancer without systemic metastases were treated with CRS, EPIC and SPIC every 4 weeks for 12 cycles. In patients where a CCR0 resection could be achieved, median survival was 25.5 months. Although the investigator initially planned 12 cycles of SPIC, only a median of 4 cycles were administered.

In a third study by Kwon et al., 245 patients with stage III, macroscopically serosa-invading, gastric cancer were included [128], 65 were treated with curative resection with EPIC and 180 with curative resection alone. The 5-year OS and PFS for the EPIC group were 47.4% and 53.1%, respectively, and those for the non-EPIC group were 26.7% and 29.7%, respectively. The rates of peritoneal recurrence for the EPIC group and the non-EPIC group were 18.5% and 32.2%, respectively.

The use of EPIC as an adjuvant treatment for stage III, macroscopically serosa-invading, gastric cancer has the possibility to prevent peritoneal recurrence, thus improving survival at an acceptable morbidity and mortality. One study concerning the adjuvant treatment of gastric cancer with EPIC is currently ongoing; the details are described later (EPIC-GC, NCT02205008) [163]. Depending on these oncoming results, multimodal treatment protocols will probably be further improved.

5.10.4 Diffuse Malignant Peritoneal Mesothelioma

The group of Sugarbaker has reported on their results of EPIC in DMPM in two reports; a third

manuscript has currently been accepted including data from these two earlier reports [129, 139, 172]. These studies reveal a progressively more aggressive treatment of DMPM. Currently CRS is complemented with HIPEC, EPIC and SIPC. The results show that this aggressive treatment leads to a 5-year OS of 75%. Seeing the rarity of this disease, it will be impossible to perform a RCT on its treatment. Current data warrants the use of aggressive treatment using CRS and multiple forms of IPC for DMPM. Yan et al. report the results of a multi-institutional database collecting data for all patients who underwent CRS and HIPEC between 1989 and 2009 for DPMP [48]. Ninety-four patients were treated with EPIC as part of their regimen; unfortunately, no results are reported on this subgroup. OS data for the complete group are similar to those reported by Sugarbaker.

5.11 Discussion

The introduction of CRS and HIPEC has greatly improved the prognosis of patients with PM [13, 14, 19, 49, 78, 79]. In spite of these improvements, the majority of patients still die of PM [51]. The use of EPIC might be a tool to consolidate and further improve outcome.

CRS is a vital part of curative treatment for PM. CCR is the main prognostic indicator of survival in PM treatment [13]. The additional benefit of IPC is still subject to discussion [173, 174]. Some data suggests the added benefit of IPC is marginal. A similar 2-year survival of 60% was noted comparing CRS and CRS+ EPIC [55]. Three and five-year OS of 45.5 and 29.64% have been reported after CRS and systemic chemotherapy [175]. In direct opposition, a much larger amount of data supports the adjuvant use of IPC. One phase III study has clearly identified the benefit of CRS and HIPEC in PM of CRC [13, 14]. A large amount of retrospective data supports the use of CRS in combination with HIPEC. Moreover, EPIC diminishes local recurrence of stages III and IV gastric cancer. Ongoing randomized trials comparing CRS to CRS+ HIPEC will hopefully clarify the separate contribution of both therapies (NCT00769405;

GASTRIPEC, NCT02158988; PRODIGE 7, EudraCT Number: 2006-006175-20) [173, 174]. Despite these considerations, both CRS and IPC currently have an important role in the treatment of PC. EPIC is one of these IPC modalities that deserves further exploration.

EPIC is used as sole adjuvant treatment after CRS for isolated PM. This strategy leads to improved OS and PFS compared to palliative treatment. In spite of a more pronounced effect of EPIC in comparison to HIPEC in an experimental rat study, this benefit cannot be reproduced in human subjects [50, 176]. The large body of evidence currently supporting CRS and HIPEC has made it the primary choice in treating PM of CRC. In contrast, little data exists concerning EPIC and all of it of low quality. The use of EPIC or HIPEC as adjuvant treatment strategies to CRS is currently being explored in a phase II trial, the ICARuS (Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy After cytoReductive Surgery) trial (NCT01815359). Patients with isolated PM from appendical, rectal or colon cancer are treated with CRS and randomized to either treatment with HIPEC (MMC) or EPIC (5-FU and LV). The primary outcome measure is 3-year PFS. Surgical grade III-V complications/toxicities or chemotherapy-related grade IV or V toxicities are the secondary outcome measures. Inclusion commenced in March 2013 and 220 patients should be included by March 2018.

Some authors have suggested situations in which the use of EPIC might be acceptable. Firstly, the treatment of PM with CRS and IPC is best performed concomitantly with the primary resection [113, 114]. In case treatment with HIPEC is not available, rather than performing a second procedure or implementing a wait-andsee strategy, EPIC can be performed. They argue that EPIC is preferable to no treatment or to poorly performed HIPEC. In our opinion, if one is unable to perform a correct CRS and HIPEC, they should abort all further extensive surgery and refer the patient to an established PM treatment centre. Secondly, EPIC has been proposed as salvage treatment strategy in PM patients if after CRS, the intraoperative decline of the patients impedes the addition of HIPEC to the

procedure. The exposure of a patient, in no condition to receive HIPEC, to a technique with substantial mortality and morbidity seems unwarranted.

The adjuvant use of EPIC to D2 resection in stage III gastric cancer leads to a promising reduction in local recurrence [128, 137]. Especially patients with nodal disease extending towards the lateral margins of excision are likely to benefit from EPIC. This treatment strategy is currently under investigation in the EPIC-GC trial (NCT02205008). Patients with gastric adenocarcinoma who are candidate for curative D2 resection of the stomach are randomized to either EPIC (MMC and 5-FU) and adjuvant systemic chemotherapy with S-1 or adjuvant systemic chemotherapy with S-1. The primary end point is 3-year PFS. Secondary outcome measures are surgical toxicity grade III-V and chemotherapy toxicity grade III-V. Inclusion commenced in October 2012, and 230 patients should be included by November 2018. Unfortunately, extrapolation of data retrieved from an oriental population to a Western population is flawed. A geographical difference in survival from gastric cancer has been noted [177]. Moreover, the use of S-1 is prohibited in some populations due to intolerance.

Lastly, EPIC has successfully been used in combination with CRS, HIPEC and SPIC for DMPM [129]. This suggests that the addition of EPIC to other treatment strategies has an additional benefit, alas at the cost of higher morbidity [55, 121, 126].

In our opinion, the question is no longer 'Should we use EPIC or HIPEC?' but 'In which patients could EPIC add an additional benefit to CRS and HIPEC?'. Similar to the results in DMPM, the addition of EPIC to CRS and HIPEC has resulted in promising results in PM of CRC. The key, as always, will probably be patient selection. We would suggest the addition of EPIC to CRS and HIPEC in patients with little comorbidity, CCR0 and no prior extensive pretreatment. Tumour biology will probably play an increasingly important role; patients with stable disease or clear response to prior treatment could benefit most of this additional treatment.

The morbidity and mortality related to CRS and EPIC are similar to those reported after CRS and HIPEC. The combination of D2 gastric resection and EPIC for stage III disease is associated with a trend towards increased morbidity and mortality [152]. The majority of complications are related to surgery. Complications specifically related to EPIC are intra-abdominal abscesses in the absence of anastomotic leaks, gastrointestinal fistula formation and intra-abdominal bleeding. This might be caused by depletion of local clotting factors due to abdominal lavage and by depressed local immunity due to cytostatic drugs. The morbidity related to neutropenia or aplasia due to EPIC is low [152]. The morbidity after CRS and EPIC is caused by a multitude of complications many of which have a low incidence and are only reported in a minority of studies. The mortality is clearly related to experience. As such, patients in need of such treatment should be referred to an established PM treatment centre.

Unfortunately, most studies concerning EPIC are of low quality. A large amount of these studies were reviewed for meta-analysis by Cao et al. [50]. Eventually, only two studies were retained for analysis with a very limited number of patients: 34.

The optimal way of administering chemotherapeutic drugs during the early postoperative period is still unclear. Some factors have been examined: the intraperitoneal infused fluid volume, carrier fluid, patient position and drug pharmacokinetics. But as many factors remain to be clarified, the use of different, suboptimal, EPIC regimens in current studies leads to bias in interpretation of the data.

In conclusion, although EPIC has been used for a long time now, many questions remain concerning its optimal use. Further research should first concentrate on the duration of drug instillation, number of cycles needed to produce cell kill and effect of different tumour biology. When these issues have been clarified, an optimal EPIC regimen will become evident and can be explored in randomized control trials. CRS and HIPEC will probably stay the basis for treatment of PM, but EPIC might provide an additional benefit in well-selected patients. Acknowledgements Lemoine L. is supported by the Agency for Innovation by Science and Technology (IWT) in Brussels, Belgium. Lemoine L. is a researcher for the Limburg Clinical Research Program (LCRP) UHasselt-ZOL-Jessa, supported by the foundation Limburg Sterk Merk (LSM), Hasselt University, Ziekenhuis Oost-Limburg and Jessa Hospital, Belgium.

Funding No conflicts of interest.

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin. 2015;65:5–29.
- Sampson JA. Implantation peritoneal carcinomatosis of ovarian origin. Am J Pathol. 1931;7:423–44.
- Barrasa A, Van De Speeten K, Stuart OA, Sugarbaker PH, Zappa L. Rationale for perioperative chemotherapy treatment in peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cir Esp. 2009;85:3–13.
- Brodsky JT, Cohen AM. Peritoneal seeding following potentially curative resection of colonic carcinoma: implications for adjuvant therapy. Dis Colon Rectum. 1991;34:723–7.
- Iitsuka Y, Kaneshima S, Tanida O, Takeuchi T, Koga S. Intraperitoneal free cancer cells and their viability in gastric cancer. Cancer. 1979;44:1476–80.
- Zoetmulder FA. Cancer cell seeding during abdominal surgery: experimental studies. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:155–61.
- Sugarbaker PH. The natural history of large bowel cancer: surgical implications. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 1989;8:41.
- Hansen E, Wolff N, Knuechel R, Ruschoff J, Hofstaedter F, Taeger K. Tumor cells in blood shed from the surgical field. Arch Surg. 1995;130:387–93.
- Sugarbaker PH, Yu W, Yonemura Y. Gastrectomy, peritonectomy, and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: the evolution of treatment strategies for advanced gastric cancer. Semin Surg Oncol. 2003;21:233–48.
- Chu DZJ, Lang NP, Thompson C, Osteen PK, Westbrook KC. Peritoneal carcinomatosis in nongynecologic malignancy. A prospective study of prognostic factors. Cancer. 1989;63:364–7.
- Spratt JS, Edwards M, Kubota T, Lindberg R, Tseng MT. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: anatomy, physiology, diagnosis, management. Curr Probl Cancer. 1986;10:553–84.
- Ketcham S, Pilch H, Morton L. Delayed intestinal obstruction following treatment for cancer. Cancer. 1968;25:406–10.
- 13. Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, de Bree E, van Slooten GW, van Tinteren H, Boot H, et al. Randomized trial of cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy and palliative surgery in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:3737–43.

- 14. Verwaal VJ, Bruin S, Boot H, van Slooten G, van Tinteren H. 8-year follow-up of randomized trial: cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:2426–32.
- Isacoff WH, Borud K. Chemotherapy for the treatment of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: an overview. World J Surg. 1997;21:748–62.
- Machover D. A comprehensive review of 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin in patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma. Cancer. 1997;80: 1179–87.
- 17. Midgley R, Kerr D. Colorectal cancer. Lancet. 1999;353:391–9.
- Klaver YLB, Lemmens VEPP, Creemers GJ, Rutten HJT, Nienhuijs SW, de Hingh IHJT. Populationbased survival of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal origin in the era of increasing use of palliative chemotherapy. Ann Oncol. 2011;22:2250–6.
- Franko J, Ibrahim Z, Gusani NJ, Holtzman MP, Bartlett DL, Zeh HJ. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion versus systemic chemotherapy alone for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer. 2010;116:3756–62.
- Quere P, Facy O, Manfredi S, Jooste V, Faivre J, Lepage C, et al. Epidemiology, management, and survival of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a population-based study. Dis Colon Rectum. 2015;58:743–52.
- 21. Franko J, Shi Q, Goldman CD, Pockaj BA, Nelson GD, Goldberg RM, et al. Treatment of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis with systemic chemotherapy: a pooled analysis of north central cancer treatment group phase III trials N9741 and N9841. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:263–7.
- 22. Douillard J, Cunningham D, Roth A, Navarro M, James R, Karasek P, et al. Irinotecan combined with fluorouracil compared with fluorouracil alone as firstline treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: a multicentre randomised trial. Lancet. 2000;355:1041–7.
- De Gramont A, Figer A, Seymour M, Homerin M, Hmissi A, Cassidy J, et al. Leucovorin and fluorouracil with or without oxaliplatin as first-line treatment in advanced colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:2938–47.
- 24. Klaver YLB, Simkens LHJ, Lemmens VEPP, Koopman M, Teerenstra S, Bleichrodt RP, et al. Outcomes of colorectal cancer patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with chemotherapy with and without targeted therapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2012;38:617–23.
- 25. Janda M, Youlden DR, Baade PD, Jackson D, Obermair A. Elderly patients with stage III or IV ovarian cancer: should they receive standard care? Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2008;18:896–907.
- Mcguire WP, Hoskins WJ, Brady MF, Kugera PR, Partridge EE, Look KY, et al. Patients with stage

III and stage IV ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 1996;334:1-6.

- 27. Bookman MA, Brady MF, McGuire WP, Harper PG, Alberts DS, Friedlander M, et al. Evaluation of new platinum-based treatment regimens in advanced-stage ovarian cancer: a phase III trial of the gynecologic cancer InterGroup. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:1419–25.
- Schmid BC, Oehler MK. New perspectives in ovarian cancer treatment. Maturitas. 2014;77:128–36.
- Jayne DG, Fook S, Loi C, Seow-Choen F. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2002;89:1545–50.
- 30. Sadeghi B, Arvieux C, Glehen O, Beaujard AC, Rivoire M, Baulieux J, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from non-gynecologic malignancies: results of the EVOCAPE 1 multicentric prospective study. Cancer. 2000;88:358–63.
- Sugarbaker PH. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy and cytoreductive surgery for the prevention and treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis and sarcomatosis. Semin Surg Oncol. 1994;14:254–61.
- Sugarbaker PH. Management of peritoneal-surface malignancy: the surgeon's role. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 1999;384:576–87.
- Sugarbaker PH. Carcinomatosis is cure an option? J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:762–4.
- 34. Glehen O, Mithieux F, Osinsky D, Beaujard AC, Freyer G, Guertsch P, et al. Surgery combined with peritonectomy procedures and intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia in abdominal cancers with peritoneal carcinomatosis: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:799–806.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Perit Carcinomatosis A Multidiscip Approach. 2007;221:247–64.
- Spratt JS, Adcock RA, Sherrill W, Muskovin M, McKeown J. Clinical delivery system for intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy. Cancer Res. 1980;40:256–60.
- 37. Fujimura T, Yonemura Y, Fujita H, Michiwa Y, Kawamura T, Nojima N, et al. Chemohyperthermic peritoneal perfusion for peritoneal dissemination in various intra-abdominal malignancies. Int Surg. 1999;84:60–6.
- Beaujard AC, Glehen O, Caillot JL, Francois Y, Bienvenu J, Panteix G, et al. Intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia with mitomycin C for digestive tract cancer patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer. 2000;88:2512–9.
- Cavaliere F, Perri P, Di Filippo F, Giannarelli D, Botti C, Cosimelli M, et al. Treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis with intent to cure. J Surg Oncol. 2000;74:41–4.
- 40. Elias D, Blot F, Elotmany A, Antoun S, Lasser P, Boige V, et al. Curative treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis arising from colorectal cancer by complete resection and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer. 2001;92:71–6.

- 41. Loggie BW, Fleming RA, Mcquellon RP, Russell GB, Geisinger KR. Cytoreductive surgery with intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy for disseminated peritoneal cancer of gastrointestinal origin. Am Surg. 2000;66:561–8.
- 42. Piso P, Bektas H, Werner U, Schlitt HJ, Kubicka S, Bornscheuer A, et al. Improved prognosis following peritonectomy procedures and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis from appendiceal carcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2001;27:286–90.
- Rey Y, Porcheron J, Talabard J, Szafnicki K, Balique J. Peritoneal carcinomatosis treated by cytoreduction surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion. Ann Chir. 2000;125:631–42.
- 44. Schneebaum S, Arnold MW, Staubus A, Young DC, Dumond D, Martin EW. Intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion with mitomycin C for colorectal cancer with peritoneal metastases. Ann Surg Oncol. 1996;3:44–50.
- 45. Shen P, Levine EA, Hall J, Case D, Russell G, Fleming R, et al. Factors predicting survival after intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy with mitomycin C after cytoreductive surgery for patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Arch Surg. 2003;138:26–33.
- Sugarbaker PH, Chang D. Results of treatment of 385 patients with peritoneal surface spread of appendiceal malignancy. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:727–31.
- 47. Witkamp AJ, De Bree E, Kaag MM, Boot H, Beijnen JH, Van Slooten GW, et al. Extensive cytoreductive surgery followed by intra-operative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with mitomycin-C in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. Eur J Cancer. 2001;37:979–84.
- 48. Yan TD, Deraco M, Baratti D, Kusamura S, Elias D, Glehen O, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: multi-institutional experience. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:6237–42.
- Verwaal VJ, Van Ruth S, Witkamp A, Boot H, Van Slooten G, Zoetmulder FAN. Long-term survival of peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12:65–71.
- Cao C, Yan TD, Black D, Morris DL. A systematic review and meta-analysis of cytoreductive surgery with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16:2152–65.
- 51. Glehen O, Gilly FN, Boutitie F, Bereder JM, Quenet F, Sideris L, et al. Toward curative treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from nonovarian origin by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a multi-institutional study of 1290 patients. Cancer. 2010;116:5608–18.
- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:359–74.

- Elias D, Raynard B, Farkhondeh F, Goéré D, Rouquie D, Ciuchendea R, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. Gastroentérol Clin Biol. 2006;30:1200–4.
- Sugarbaker PH, Schellinx ME, Chang D, Koslowe P, von Meyerfeldt M. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from adenocarcinoma of the colon. World J Surg. 1996;20:585–91.
- 55. Glehen O, Kwiatkowski F, Sugarbaker PH, Elias D, Levine EA, De Simone M, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a multi-institutional study. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22: 3284–92.
- Macrì A, Saladino E, Bartolo V, Adamo V, Altavilla G, Mondello E, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. Gastroentérol Clin Biol. 2006;30:1200–4.
- Sweitzer KL, Nathanson SD, Nelson LT, Zachary C. Irrigation does not dislodge or destroy tumor cells adherent to the tumor bed. J Surg Oncol. 1993;53:184–90.
- Jacquet P, Elias D, Sugarbaker PH. Tumor implantation in cicatrization sites following surgery for digestive cancers. J Chir (Paris). 1996;133:175–82.
- 59. Willett C, Tepper JE, Cohen A, Orlow E, Welch C. Obstructive and perforative colonic carcinoma: patterns of failure al hospital (MGH) experience in these patients. J Clin Oncol. 1985;3:379–84.
- Slanetz CA. The effect of inadvertent intraoperative perforation on survival and recurrence in colorectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum. 1984;27:792–7.
- Elias D, Goéré D, Di Pietrantonio D, Boige V, Malka D, Kohneh-Shahri N, et al. Results of systematic second-look surgery in patients at high risk of developing colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2008;247:445–50.
- Shepherd NA, Baxter KJ, Love SB. The prognostic importance of peritoneal involvement in colonic cancer: a prospective evaluation. Gastroenterology. 1997;112:1096–102.
- 63. Sammartino P, Sibio S, Biacchi D, Cardi M, Mingazzini P, Rosati MS, et al. Long-term results after proactive management for locoregional control in patients with colonic cancer at high risk of peritoneal metastases. Int J Color Dis. 2014;29(9):1081.
- 64. Ceelen W, Van Nieuwenhove Y, Putte DV, Pattyn P. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy with bevacizumab may improve outcome after cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion (HIPEC) for colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:3023–8.
- 65. Waite K, Youssef H. The role of neoadjuvant and adjuvant systemic chemotherapy with cytoreductive surgery and heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal metastases: a systematic review. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24:705–20.
- 66. Chua TC, Morris DL, Saxena A, Esquivel J, Liauw W, Doerfer J, et al. Influence of modern systemic

therapies as adjunct to cytoreduction and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for patients with colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: a multicenter study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:1560–7.

- Van Der Speeten K, Stuart OA, Mahteme H, Sugarbaker PH. Pharmacology of perioperative 5-fluorouracil. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102:730–5.
- 68. Elias D, Bonnay M, Puizillou JM, Antoun S, Demirdjian S, El Otmany A, et al. Heated intraoperative intraperitoneal oxaliplatin after complete resection of peritoneal carcinomatosis: pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution. Ann Oncol. 2002;13:267–72.
- 69. Van Der Speeten K, Govaerts K, Stuart OA, Sugarbaker PH. Pharmacokinetics of the perioperative use of cancer chemotherapy in peritoneal surface malignancy patients. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:378064.
- Van der Speeten K, Anthony Stuart O, Sugarbaker PH. Pharmacology of perioperative intraperitoneal and intravenous chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal surface malignancy. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2012;21:577–97.
- Van der Speeten K. A Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic rationale for perioperative cancer chemotherapy in patient with peritoneal carcinomatosis. 2010.
- Yonemura Y, Bandou E, Sawa T, Yoshimitsu Y, Endou Y, Sasaki T, et al. Neoadjuvant treatment of gastric cancer with peritoneal dissemination. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32:661–5.
- Sugarbaker PH. Treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colon or appendiceal cancer with induction intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:317–25.
- 74. Zylberberg B, Dormont D, Janklewicz S, Darai E, Bretel JJ, Poncelet C, et al. Response to neo-adjuvant intraperitoneal and intravenous immunochemotherapy followed by interval secondary cytoreduction in stage IIIc ovarian cancer. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2001;22:40–5.
- 75. Yonemura Y, Ishibashi H, Hirano M, Mizumoto A, Takeshita K, Noguchi K, et al. Effects of neoadjuvant laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy and neoadjuvant intraperitoneal/systemic chemotherapy on peritoneal metastases from gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;24(2):478–85.
- 76. Yonemura Y, Elnemr A, Endou Y, Ishibashi H, Mizumoto A, Miura M, et al. Effects of neoadjuvant intraperitoneal/systemic chemotherapy (bidirectional chemotherapy) for the treatment of patients with peritoneal metastasis from gastric cancer. Int J Surg Oncol. 2012;2012:8.
- Esquivel J, Vidal-Jove J, Steves M, Sugarbaker P. Morbidity and mortality of cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Surgery. 1993;113:631–6.
- Bijelic L, Jonson A, Sugarbaker PH. Systematic review of cytoreductive surgery and heated intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment

of peritoneal carcinomatosis in primary and recurrent ovarian cancer. Ann Oncol. 2007;18:1943–50.

- 79. Elias D, Lefevre JH, Chevalier J, Brouquet A, Marchal F, Classe JM, et al. Complete cytoreductive surgery plus intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia with oxaliplatin for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(5):681.
- Jaaback K, Johnson N, TA L, Lawrie Theresa A. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the initial management of primary epithelial ovarian cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;11:CD005340.
- 81. Markman M, Bundy BN, Alberts DS, Fowler JM, Clark-Pearson DL, Carson LF, et al. Phase III trial of standard-dose intravenous cisplatin plus paclitaxel versus moderately high-dose carboplatin followed by intravenous paclitaxel and intraperitoneal cisplatin in small-volume stage III ovarian carcinoma: an intergroup study of the gynecol. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:1001–7.
- Armstrong DK, Bundy B, Wenzel L, Huang HQ, Baergen R, Lele S, et al. Intraperitoneal cisplatin and paclitaxel in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:34–43.
- Sautner T, Hofbauer F, Depisch D, Schiessel R, Jakesz R. Adjuvant intraperitoneal cisplatin chemotherapy does not improve long-term survival after surgery for advanced gastric cancer. J Clin Oncol. 1994;12:970–4.
- 84. Cheong J-H, Shen JY, Song CS, Hyung WJ, Shen JG, Choi SH, et al. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy following cytoreductive surgery in patients with very advanced gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;14:61–8.
- Dedrick RL, Myers CE, Bungay PM, DeVita VT. Pharmacokinetic rationale for peritoneal drug administration in the treatment of ovarian cancer. Cancer Treat Rep. 1978;62:1–11.
- Dedrick RL. Theoretical and experimental bases of intra- peritoneal chemotherapy. Semin Oncol. 1985;12:1–6.
- Sugarbaker PH, Graves T, DeBruijn E, Cunliffe W, Mullins R, Hull W, et al. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy as an adjuvant therapy to surgery for peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal cancer: pharmacological studies. Cancer Res. 1990;50:5790–4.
- Flessner MF, Lofthouse J, Zakaria ER. Improving contact area between the peritoneum and intraperitoneal therapeutic solutions. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2001;12:807–13.
- 89. Chagnac A, Herskovitz P, Weinstein T, Elyashiv S, Hirsh J, Hammel I, et al. The peritoneal membrane in peritoneal dialysis patients: estimation of its functional surface area by applying stereologic methods to computerized tomography scans. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1999;10:342–6.
- 90. Chagnac A, Herskovitz P, Ori Y, Weinstein T, Hirsh J, Katz M, et al. Effect of increased dialysate volume on peritoneal surface area among peritoneal dialysis patients. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2002;13:2554–9.

- Flessner MF, Lofthouse J, Williams A. Increasing peritoneal contact area during dialysis improves mass transfer. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2001;12: 2139–45.
- Rosenshein N, Blake D, McIntyre PA, Parmley T, Natarajan TK, Dvornicky J, et al. The effect of volume on the distribution of substances instilled into the peritoneal cavity. Gynecol Oncol. 1978;6:106–10.
- 93. Graf W, Westlin JE, Pahlman L, Glimelius B. Adjuvant intraperitoneal 5-fluorouracil and intravenous leucovorin after colorectal cancer surgery: a randomized phase II placebo- controlled study. Int J Color Dis. 1994;9:35–9.
- 94. Elias D, Antoun S, Raynard B, Puizillout JM, Sabourin JC, Ducreux M, et al. Treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis using complete excision and intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia. A phase I-II study defining the best technical procedures. Chirurgie. 1999;124:380–9.
- Los G, Mutsaers PH, Lenglet WJ, Baldew GS, McVie JG. Platinum distribution in intraperitoneal tumors after intraperitoneal cisplatin treatment. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1990;25:389–94.
- 96. Los G, Verdegaal EME, Mutsaers PHA, McVie JG. Penetration of carboplatin and cisplatin into rat peritoneal tumor nodules after intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1991;28:159–65.
- Ozols RF, Grotzinger KR, Young RC, Locker GY, Doroshow JH, Myers CE. Pharmacokinetics of Adriamycin and tissue penetration in murine ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 1979;39:3209–14.
- Ceelen WP, Flessner MF. Intraperitoneal therapy for peritoneal tumors: biophysics and clinical evidence. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2010;7:108–15.
- Hasovits C, Clarke S. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of intraperitoneal cancer chemotherapeutics. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2012;51:203–24.
- 100. Fuertes MA, Alonso C, Pérez JM. Biochemical modulation of cisplatin mechanisms of action: enhancement of antitumor activity and circumvention of drug resistance. Chem Rev. 2003;103:645–62.
- 101. Link KH, Leder G, Pillasch J, Butzer U, Staib L, Kornmann M, et al. In vitro concentration response studies and in vitro phase II tests as the experimental basis for regional chemotherapeutic protocols. Semin Surg Oncol. 1998;14:189–201.
- 102. Sugarbaker P, Cunliffe W, Belliveau A. Rationale for early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy as a surgical adjuvant for gastrointestinal malignancy. Regul Cancer Treat. 1989;10:66–79.
- Weiss L. Metastatic inefficiency: causes and consequences. Cancer Rev. 1986;54:1–24.
- 104. Panis Y, Ribeiro J, Chrétien Y, Nordlinger B. Dormant liver metastases: an experimental study. Br J Surg. 1992;79(3):221.
- 105. Eggermont AM, Steller EP, Sugarbaker PH. Laparotomy enhances intraperitoneal tumor growth and abrogates the antitumor effects of interleukin-

2 and lymphokine-activated killer cells. Surgery. 1987;102:71–8.

- 106. Eilber FC, Rosen G, Forscher C, Nelson SD, Dorey FJ, Eilber FR. Surgical resection and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for recurrent abdominal sarcomas. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:645–50.
- 107. Vaillant JC, Nordlinger B, Deuffic S, Arnaud JP, Pelissier E, Favre JP, et al. Adjuvant intraperitoneal 5-fluorouracil in high-risk colon cancer: a multicenter phase III trial. Ann Surg. 2000;231:449–56.
- 108. Jacquet P, Averbach A, Stephens AD, Anthony Stuart O, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Heated intraoperative intraperitoneal mitomycin C and early postoperative intraperitoneal 5-fluorouracil: pharmacokinetic studies. Oncology. 1998;55:130–8.
- 109. White SK, Stephens AD, Sugarbaker PH. Hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy safety considerations. AORN J. 1996;63:716–24.
- Al-Quteimat OM, Al-Badaineh MA. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy: rationale, applications, and limitations. J Oncol Pharm Pract. 2014;20:369–80.
- 111. Chua TC, Liauw W, Zhao J, Morris DL. Comparative analysis of perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy regimen in appendiceal and colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Int J Clin Oncol. 2013;18:439–46.
- 112. Mahteme H, Hansson J, Berglund Å, Påhlman L, Glimelius B, Nygren P, et al. Improved survival in patients with peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: a preliminary study. Br J Cancer. 2004;90:403–7.
- 113. Sugarbaker PH, Jablonski KA. Prognostic features of 51 colorectal and 130 appendiceal cancer patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated by cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg. 1995;221:124–32.
- 114. Pestieau S, Sugarbaker PH. Treatment of primary colon cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis: comparison of concomitant vs. delayed management. Dis Colon Rectum. 2000;43:1341–8.
- 115. Carmignani CP, Ortega-Perez G, Sugarbaker PH. The management of synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis and hematogenous metastasis from colorectal cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2004;30: 391–8.
- 116. Elias D, Delperro J-R, Sideris L, Benhamou E, Pocard M, Baton O, et al. Treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: impact of complete cytoreductive surgery and difficulties in conducting randomized trials. Ann Surg Oncol. 2004;11:518–21.
- 117. Gómez Portilla A, Barrios P, Rufian S, Camps B, Bretcha P, Gonzalez Bayon L, et al. Management of peritoneal surface malignancy with cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32:628–31.
- 118. da Silva RG, Sugarbaker PH. Analysis of prognostic factors in seventy patients having a complete cytoreduction plus perioperative intraperitoneal chemo-

therapy for carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. J Am Coll Surg. 2006;203:878–86.

- 119. Elias D, Benizri E, Dipietrantonio D, Menegon P, Malka D, Raynard B. Comparison of two kinds of intraperitoneal chemotherapy following complete cytoreductive surgery of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;14:509–14.
- 120. Hadi R, Saunders V, Utkina O, Clingan P, Kam P, Links M, et al. Review of patients with peritoneal malignancy treated with peritonectomy and heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy. ANZ J Surg. 2006;76:156–61.
- 121. Yan TD, Chu F, Links M, Kam PC, Glenn D, Morris DL. Cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal carcinoma: non-mucinous tumour associated with an improved survival. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32:1119–24.
- 122. Füzün M, Sökmen S, Terzi C, Canda AE. Cytoreductive approach to peritoneal carcinomatosis originated from colorectal cancer: Turkish experience. Acta Chir Iugosl. 2006;53:17–21.
- 123. Hansson J, Graf W, Påhlman L, Nygren P, Mahteme H. Postoperative adverse events and long-term survival after cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;35:202–8.
- 124. Saxena A, Yan TD, Morris DL. A critical evaluation of risk factors for complications after cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Surg. 2010;34:70–8.
- 125. Elias D, Glehen O, Pocard M, Quenet F, Goéré D, Arvieux C, et al. A comparative study of complete cytoreductive surgery plus intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat peritoneal dissemination from colon, rectum, small bowel, and nonpseudomyxoma appendix. Ann Surg. 2010;251:896–901.
- 126. Lam JY, McConnell YJ, Rivard JD, Temple WJ, Mack LA. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy + early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy alone: assessment of survival outcomes for colorectal and high-grade appendiceal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Am J Surg. 2015;210:424–30.
- 127. Yu W, Whang I, Suh I, Averbach A, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Prospective randomized trial of early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy as an adjuvant to resectable gastric cancer. Ann Surg. 1998;228:347–54.
- 128. Kwon OK, Chung HY, WS Y. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for gastric cancer. Cancer Treat Res. 2014;55:265–75.
- 129. Sugarbaker PH, Chang D. Long-term regional chemotherapy for patients with epithelial malignant peritoneal mesothelioma results in improved survival. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(7):1228–35.
- 130. Yan TD, Marquardt CE, Sugarbaker PH. Morbidity and mortality assessment of cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for

diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma—a prospective study of 70 consecutive cases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;14:515–25.

- 131. Sugarbaker PH, Gianola FJ, Speyer JC, Wesley R, Barofsky I, Meyers CE, et al. Prospective, randomized trial of intravenous versus intraperitoneal 5-fluorouracil in patients with advanced primary colon or rectal cancer. Surgery. 1985;98: 414–22.
- 132. Park J-G, Kramer BS, Steinberg SM, Carmichael J, Collins M, Minna JD, et al. Chemosensitivity testing of human colorectal carcinoma cell lines using a tetrazolium-based colorimetrie assay. Cancer Res. 1987;47:5875–9.
- 133. Jol C, Kuppem P, Leeflang P, van Oosterom A, Tjaden U, De Bruijn E. In vitro human ovarian cancer. In: Taguchi T, Andryse O, editors. New trends in cancer chemotherapy with mitomycin C, vol. 18. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica; 1987. p. 181–91.
- 134. Lambert LA, Armstrong TS, Lee JJ, Liu S, Katz MH, Eng C, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and impact of severe neutropenia after hyperthermic intraperitoneal mitomycin C. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16:2181–7.
- 135. Lyman G, Lyman C, Agboola O. Risk models for predicting chemotherapy-induced neutropenia. Oncologist. 2005;10:427–37.
- 136. Speyer JL, Collins JM, Dedrick RL, Brennan MF, Buckpitt AR, Londer H, et al. Phase I and pharmacological studies of 5-fluorouracil administered intraperitoneally. Cancer Res. 1980;40: 567–72.
- 137. Yu W, Whang I, Chung HY, Averbach A, Sugarbaker PH. Indications for early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy of advanced gastric cancer: results of a prospective randomized trial. World J Surg. 2001;25:985–90.
- 138. Pestieau SR, Schnake KJ, Stuart OA, Sugarbaker PH. Impact of carrier solutions on pharmacokinetics of intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2001;47:269–76.
- 139. Sugarbaker PH, Welch LS, Mohamed F, Glehen O. A review of peritoneal mesothelioma at the Washington Cancer Institute. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12:605–21.
- 140. Mohamed F, Marchettini P, Stuart OA, Yoo D, Sugarbaker PH. A comparison of hetastarch and peritoneal dialysis solution for intraperitoneal chemotherapy delivery. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2003;29: 261–5.
- 141. Jacquet P, Stuart OA, Dalton R, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Effect of intraperitoneal chemotherapy and fibrinolytic therapy on tumor implantation in wound sites. J. Surg. Oncol. 1996;62:128–34.
- 142. Sugarbaker PH, Stuart OA, Carmignani CP. Pharmacokinetic changes induced by the volume of chemotherapy solution in patients treated with hyperthermic intraperitoneal mitomycin C. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2006;57:703–8.

- 143. Muggia FM, Peters GJ, Landolph JRJ. XIII International Charles Heidelberger Symposium and 50 years of fluoropyrimidines in cancer therapy held on September 6 to 8, 2007 at New York University Cancer Institute, Smilow Conference Center. Mol Cancer Ther. 2009;8:992–9.
- 144. Papamichael D. The use of thymidylate synthase inhibitors in the treatment of advanced colorectal cancer: current status. Oncologist. 1999;18:478–87.
- 145. Santi DV, McHenry CS, Sommer H. Mechanism of interaction of thymidylate synthetase with 5-fluorodeoxyuridylate. Biochemistry. 1974;13:471–81.
- Diasio RB, Lu Z. Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase activity and fluorouracil chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 1994;12:2239–42.
- 147. Theodoropoulos PA, Polioudaki H, Kostaki O, Dargemont C, Georgatos SD. Taxol affects nuclear lamina and pore complex organization and inhibits import of Karyophilic proteins into the cell nucleus Taxol affects nuclear lamina and pore complex organization and inhibits import of Karyophilic proteins into the cell. Nucleus. 1999;59:4625–33.
- Blagosklonny MV, Fojo T. Molecular effects of paclitaxel: myths and reality (a critical review). Int J Cancer. 1999;83:151–6.
- 149. Herbst RS, Khuri FR. Mode of action of docetaxel a basis for combination with novel anticancer agents. Cancer Treat Rev. 2003;29:407–15.
- 150. de Bree E, Rosing H, Michalakis J, Romanos J, Relakis K, Theodoropoulos PA, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy with taxanes for ovarian cancer with peritoneal dissemination. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32:666–70.
- Mohamed F, Sugarbaker PH. Intraperitoneal taxanes. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12:825–33.
- 152. Yu W, Whang I, Averbach A, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Morbidity and mortality of early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy as adjuvant therapy for gastric cancer. Am Surg. 1998;64:1104–8.
- 153. Elias D, Sideris L, Pocard M, Edè C, Hassouna DB, Ducreux M, et al. Efficacy of intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia with oxaliplatin in colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Preliminary results in 24 patients. Ann Oncol. 2004;15:781–5.
- Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien P-A. Classification of surgical complications. Ann Surg. 2004;240:205–13.
- 155. Scheithauer W, Kornek G, Roseq H, Sebesta C, Marcell A, Kwasny W, et al. Combined Intraperitoneal plus intravenous chemotherapy curative resection for colonic adenocarcinoma after. Eur J Cancer. 1981;3:1981–6.
- 156. Schilsky RL, Choi KE, Grayhack J, Grimmer D, Guarnieri C, Fullem L. Phase I clinical and pharmacologic study of intraperitoneal cisplatin and fluorouracil in patients with advanced intraabdominal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 1990;8(12):2054–6.
- 157. Karadayi K, Yildiz C, Karakus S, Bozoklu Akkar O, Pakay Ugurlu G, Kurt A, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for gynecological malignancies: a single center experience. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2016;37:194–8.

- 158. Xanthoulis A, Mirelis C, Markakidis S, Bougioukas I, Bekiaridou K, Tsalkidou E, et al. Complete cytoreduction combined with early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for ovarian carcinosarcoma: report of two cases. Gynecol Obstet Investig. 2006;62:100–2.
- 159. Alberts DS, Liu PY, Hannigan EV, O'Toole R, Williams SD, Young JA, et al. Intraperitoneal cisplatin plus intravenous cyclophosphamide versus intravenous cisplatin plus intravenous cyclophosphamide for stage III ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 1996;335:1950–5.
- 160. Chan DL, Morris DL, Rao A, Chua TC. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy in ovarian cancer: a review of tolerance and efficacy. Cancer Manag Res. 2012;4:413–22.
- 161. Cenitagoya GF, Bergh CK, Klinger-Roitman J. A prospective study of gastric cancer: "real" 5-year survival rates. Dig Surg. 1998;15:317–22.
- 162. Akoh JA, Macintyre IM. Improving survival in gastric cancer: review of 5-year survival rates in English language publications from 1970. Br J Surg. 1992;79:293–9.
- 163. Choi AH, Kim J, Chao J. Perioperative chemotherapy for resectable gastric cancer: MAGIC and beyond. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21:7343–8.
- 164. Lee J, Lim DH, Kim S, Park SH, Park JO, Park YS, et al. Phase III trial comparing capecitabine plus cisplatin versus capecitabine plus cisplatin with concurrent capecitabine radiotherapy in completely resected gastric cancer with D2 lymph node dissection: the ARTIST trial. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:268–73.
- 165. Macdonald JS, Smalley SR, Jacqueline B, Hundahl SA, Estes NC, Stemmermann GN, et al. Chemoradiotherapy after surgery compared with surgery alone for adenocarcinoma of the stomach or gastroesophageal junction. N Engl J Med. 2001;345:725–30.
- 166. Bang YJ, Kim YW, Yang HK, Chung HC, Park YK, Lee KH, et al. Adjuvant capecitabine and oxaliplatin for gastric cancer after D2 gastrectomy (CLASSIC): a phase 3 open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2012;379:315–21.
- 167. Cunningham D, Allum WH, Stenning SP, Thompson JN, Van de Velde CJ, Nicolson M, et al. Perioperative chemotherapy versus surgery alone for resectable gastroesophageal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:11–20.
- 168. Hallissey MT, Dunn JA, Ward LC, Allum W. The second British stomach cancer group trial of adjuvant radiotherapy or chemotherapy in resectable gastric cancer: five-year follow-up. Lancet. 1994;343:1309–12.
- 169. Sasako M, Sakuramoto S, Katai H, Kinoshita T, Furukawa H, Yamaguchi T, et al. Five-year outcomes of a randomized phase III trial comparing adjuvant chemotherapy with S-1 versus surgery alone in stage II or III gastric cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29: 4387–93.

- 170. Gunderson LL, Sosin H. Adenocarcinoma of the stomach: areas of failure in a re-operation series (second or symptomatic look) clinicopathologic correlation and implications for adjuvant therapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1982;8:1–11.
- 171. Wisbeck WM, Becher EM, Russell AH. Adenocarcinoma of the stomach: autopsy observations with therapeutic implications for the radiation oncologist. Radiother Oncol. 1986;7:13–8.
- 172. Sugarbaker PH, Yan TD, Stuart OA, Yoo D. Comprehensive management of diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32:686–91.
- 173. Sugarbaker PH, Ryan DP. Cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic perioperative chemotherapy to treat peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: standard of care or an experimental approach? Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:362–9.

- 174. Evrard S, Mazière C, Désolneux G. HIPEC: standard of care or an experimental approach? Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:462–3.
- 175. Désolneux G, Mazière C, Vara J, Brouste V, Fonck M, Béchade D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery of colorectal peritoneal metastases: outcomes after complete cytoreductive surgery and systemic chemotherapy only. PLoS One. 2015;10:1–12.
- 176. Klaver YLB, Hendriks T, Lomme RMLM, Rutten HJT, Bleichrodt RP, de Hingh IHJT, et al. Intraoperative versus early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy after cytoreduction for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: an experimental study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(Suppl 3):S475–82.
- 177. Strong VE, Song KY, Park CH, Jacks LM, Gonen M, Shah M, et al. Comparison of gastric cancer survival following R0 resection in the United States and Korea using an internationally validated nomogram. Ann Surg. 2010;251:640–6.

IRCM INSERM U1194, SIRIC, Montpellier, France e-mail: Stephanie.nougaret@icm.unicancer.fr

S. Nougaret

Department of Radiology,

Imaging of Peritoneal Cancers

Stephanie Nougaret

6.1 Introduction

Primary malignancies of the peritoneum are rare with secondary neoplastic involvement being a more common presentation. Many primary malignancies of the peritoneum have typical CT/MRI features which lead to their diagnosis. Most of these lesions originate from the mesenchyme, and a majority of them are benign. In contrast, secondary involvement of the peritoneum is quite frequent and most of the masses are malignant at histopathology. Tumors that arise elsewhere in the abdomen can reach and spread through direct extension, lymphatic dissemination, via hematogenic course, or seeding through the peritoneum. Currently, the role of preoperative imaging in patient with peritoneal metastases (PM) is to identify patients with advanced disease in whom a complete cytoreduction (CC-0/1) may not be feasible because of either the location or the volume of disease. The extent of disease before CRS partly determines whether a complete cytoreduction can be performed or not. Furthermore, the documentation of the disease locations enables to provide a surgical road map.

In this short chapter, we will review the imaging characteristics of primary and secondary peritoneal tumors with a dedicated emphasis on how the radiologist can guide the management.

6.2 Primary Peritoneal Cancers

All primary peritoneal cancers are very uncommon (Table 6.1).

With the exception of cystic mesotheliomas, primary peritoneal cancers have a very poor prognosis despite aggressive management.

Primary peritoneal lesion can be distinguished on imaging using their composition pattern characteristics (solid or cystic) [1–3].

sm
SI

Primary peritoneal	
malignant tumors	Secondary neoplasms
Mesothelial origin	Carcinomatosis
Malignant mesothelioma	Ovarian
Cystic mesothelioma	 Gastrointestinal
Well-differentiated	• Breast
papillary mesothelioma	 Endometrial
 Epithelial origin 	• Lung
Primary peritoneal	Melanoma
carcinoma	• Cervix
Smooth muscle origin	Adrenal
Leiomyomatosis	 Pseudomyxoma
peritonealis disseminate	peritonei
Desmoplastic small	-
round cell tumor	

⁶



[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_6

6.2.1 Solid Pattern Lesion

6.2.1.1 Malignant Mesothelioma

Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma (MPM) is a rare but aggressive tumor similar to the pleural MM that occurs mostly in middle-aged males. Like pleural MPM, there is a link to asbestos exposure, though the association is weaker, especially in women. Peritoneal mesotheliomas account for 10–20% of MPMs.

On imaging, MPMs present either as diffuse or focal disease with diffuse form presenting poorer prognosis.

MPM may either present with variable appearance ranging from a very "dry" appearance consisting of solid nodules (Fig.6.1) to a "wet" appearance with ascites, peritoneal thickening, organ encasement, and solid nodules (Fig. 6.2) [1–3]. The mesentery may present with multiple small nodules or diffuse fat stranding which encases the mesenteric vessels (Fig. 6.2). Bowel wall thickening may also be present from direct mesenteric extension or peritoneal implants. The greater omentum aspect ranges from subtle fat stranding to the classic omental cake appearance. Unlike



Fig. 6.1 Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma [1]. Noncontrast CT scan shows confluent large masses invading the large bowel (*arrow*) in keeping with a "dry" appearance of malignant mesothelioma



Fig. 6.2 Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma [1]. Contrast CT scan shows a diffuse omental caking (black arrow) and diffuse encasement of the mesentery (white arrow) associated with ascites giving a "wet" aspect of the abdominal cavity in a patient with malignant mesothelioma

pleura mesothelioma, calcifications and calcification plaques are uncommon [1].

6.2.1.2 Primary Peritoneal Serous Carcinoma

Primary peritoneal carcinoma (PPSC) is a serous papillary carcinoma affecting mostly postmenopausal women. Since peritoneal and ovarian epitheliums have the same embryologic origin, serous peritoneal carcinomatosis arising from these two sites is very similar. However, some differences can be found.

In PPSC, the abdominal peritoneum is more largely involved than the pelvic peritoneum. In ovarian serous cancer, complex ovarian masses are usually present in contrast to PPSC.

Extensive calcification of omental caking is present in many cases and is a useful CT finding for excluding mesothelioma.

The classic diagnostic criteria for PPC are (a) normal ovaries, (b) larger involvement of the abdomen compared to the pelvis, and (c) limited ovarian involvement without stromal invasion [2–5].

6.2.1.3 Desmoplastic Small Round Cell Tumor

Desmoplastic small round cell tumor (DSRCT) is a highly aggressive malignancy. DSRCT affects mostly children and young adults.

The classic appearance of DSRCT on CT is a single or multiple, lobulated, solid, soft tissue mass which originate from the peritoneum. The masses may be calcified with central areas of necrosis. Given its highly aggressive potential, liver and lymph nodes metastases may be found [6, 7].

- Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata is a rare benign disease that primarily affects women of reproductive age and is associated with uterine leiomyomas. This disease entity is characterized by the presence of multiple subperitoneal nodules composed of smooth muscle cells with a similar appearance of uterine leiomyomas [8, 9].

6.2.1.4 Sarcomas

Primary sarcomas of the peritoneum are rare as they usually arise from the retroperitoneum, with the liposarcoma subgroup the most frequent. In advanced cases, the tumor is very large and the peritoneal or retroperitoneal origin cannot be clearly assessed on cross-sectional imaging.

Apart from liposarcoma, the peritoneal sarcomas don't have any distinguishing features and generally manifest at CT as large, solitary masses [10, 11].

Liposarcomas present usually with two component: a fat attenuation part consistent with areas of well differentiation and associated soft tissue solid portion representing dedifferentiation content (Fig.6.3).

6.2.2 Cystic Pattern Lesion

6.2.2.1 Cystic Mesothelioma

Cystic mesothelioma (CM) is a benign tumor with a predilection for peritoneal surfaces of the pelvic viscera. It occurs mainly in young to middle-aged women. The tumor consists of multiple clusters of cysts lined with mesothelium separated by fibrous tissue. It's a nonaggressive tumor, but it may recur in 25–50% of the patients.



Fig. 6.3 Liposarcoma of the mesentery: large complex mass with two component, a very low attenuating part consistent with fat and representing the well-differentiated part and a solid enhancing component consistent with a undifferentiated part (black arrow)



Fig.6.4 Cystic mesothelioma: shows a large, peritoneumbased multilocular cystic mass (white arrow). Note the thin cyst walls. No prominent soft tissue component is present

Classic imaging finding are multilocular thinwalled cystic masses. They occur mainly in the pelvis. On CT, the cysts are low attenuation and may demonstrate a thin wall enhancement after injection. MRI confirms the cystic composition of the mass, with high T2 signal intensity (Fig. 6.4) [12, 13].
The absence of significant mass effect, organ encasement, scalloping, calcification, soft tissue mass, or solid nodules helps distinguish cystic mesothelioma from malignant metastatic disease such as pseudomyxoma peritonei.

6.2.2.2 Lymphangiomas

Lymphangiomas may represent either congenital malformations of the lymphatic system or benign neoplasms and typically appear as large, thin-walled, multiloculated cysts at CT with T2 hyper-intense signal on MRI (Fig. 6.5) [14].



Fig. 6.5 T2-weighted MRI shows a multiloculated T2 hyperintense lesion with thin wall consistent with a lymphangioma (white arrow)

6.3 Secondary Peritoneal Cancers

Tumor can spread throughout the peritoneum via three mechanisms: direct, intraperitoneal spread, lymphatic invasion, and hematogenous dissemination. Here, we will focus on peritoneal seeding, which is highly frequent in ovarian or colorectal cancer [15, 16].

6.3.1 Pattern of Peritoneal Metastases (PM)

6.3.1.1 Detection of Peritoneal Metastases

Early PC can be missed on imaging. Early signs are:

- Apparition of ascites in a patient with a previous history of gastrointestinal of ovarian cancer, especially if loculated [17, 18]
- Abnormal enhancement of the peritoneum
- Subtle thickening, fine reticulonodular pattern, and nodularity along peritoneal surfaces (Fig. 6.6) [17, 18]

Detection of early sign of PM may be improved using oral contrast especially for small bowel



Fig. 6.6 Axial contrast-enhanced CT images show various morphologic patterns of peritoneal carcinomatosis ranging from very subtle disease to bulky infiltration in four patients

with a history of colon cancer: a subtle fat stranding pattern (arrows in **a**), single nodule (arrow in **b**), multiple nodules (arrow in **c**), and omental caking (arrow in **d**)



Fig. 6.7 Axial T2-weighted MR image (**a**) and contrast CT scan (**b**) show a vague T2 hyperintense (**a**) and CT hypodense (**c**) lesion within the liver surface which is easily

depicted on diffusion-weighted imaging sequence (c), illustrating the added value of diffusion-weighted imaging in this case

serosal involvement. Moreover, recently, diffusionweighted imaging (DWI) has been shown to detect larger number of implants compared to standard CT imaging (Fig. 6.7) [19–23]. DWI is a functional imaging tool that provides information about water mobility and tissue cellularity. Schematically, in highly cellular tissues such as tumor, water movements are restricted. Therefore, water molecules within such tissue retain their signal, which is shown on the DWI sequence as a hyperintense signal (Fig. 6.7). It has been shown that DWI increases the detection of peritoneal implants.

- In advanced cases, peritoneal deposits have a variable appearance from nodular to plaque-like appearance (Fig. 6.6). In advanced cases, nodules conglomerate and encase the abdominal organs.

6.3.1.2 What Are the Areas to Look at in a CT to Detect PM?

 Pelvis: The aspect of pelvic involvement is very variable and ranges from subtle thickening of the Douglas pouch to nodules and organ encasement (Fig. 6.8). Pelvic wall extension must be scrutinized, as it is a contraindication to optimal debulking. Invasion of the pelvic wall should be suspected if implants lie within 3 mm of the pelvic sidewall or when the iliac vessels are surrounded or distorted by tumor.

- Greater Omentum (Fig. 6.6).
- The greater omentum is commonly involved in patients with peritoneal metastases. Imaging signs range from subtle infiltrative stranding, nodules to confluent masses (called "omental caking") (Fig. 6.6).
- Mesentery
- The CT appearance of mesenteric CT and MR imaging may vary greatly from diffuse fat stranding called "misty mesentery" (Fig. 6.9) to clustered multiple small ovoid soft tissue nodules and to large masses (Fig. 6.10). Heavy mesenteric involvement causes rigidity and retraction, drawing the bowel loops together [24].
- Lymph nodes: Description of suprarenal lymph nodes especially at the level of celiac axis and porta hepatis must be reported. Indeed, this is frequently an indication for neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Lymph nodes may be seen along the mesentery root. Classic imaging characteristics suspicious for lymph nodes involvement are



Fig. 6.8 Axial contrast CT showing thickening of the Douglas pouch (a) and soft tissue nodule on the mesorectal fascia (b)



Fig. 6.9 Axial contrast CT shows diffuse infiltration with fat stranding of the mesentery (a) with corresponding image on T2-weighted image MRI (b). Note the difference of the absence of fat stranding in a normal mesentery in (c)



Fig. 6.10 Axial contrast CT demonstrating large nodules involving the mesentery (a) and a nodule within the small bowel serosa in a patient with colon cancer carcinomatosis (b)



Fig. 6.11 Axial contrast-enhanced CT image shows massive carcinomatosis with diffuse liver capsule scalloping (white arrow). Note the diaphragm involvement with diaphragm nodular thickening (black arrow)

nodes size in short axis up to 10 mm, rounded necrotic nodes. Peritoneal lymphatics drain into the cardiophrenic lymph nodes, and their enlargement is indicative of peritoneal disease. These mediastinal lymph nodes are considered to be enlarged when the short axis exceeds 5 mm.

– Surface:

Liver Care must be taken to differentiate simple subcapsular deposit and perihepatic metastasis with liver parenchyma invasion (Fig. 6.11). Subcapsular deposits typically cause scalloping of underlying parenchyma with sometimes not well-defined border and shape. Reformatted images can be helpful to raise the final diagnosis.

Spleen Subcapsular deposits of the spleen results in scalloping of underlying parenchymal tissue and can invade the parenchyma.

Subphrenic Space Involvement Disease in these spaces is best detected with contrast-enhanced MRI and on reformatted coronal and sagittal imaging (Fig. 6.11).

Bowel Detection of serosal bowel implants is difficult. Focal nodules involving both serosal and adjacent mesentery are the classical appearance of bowel involvement (Fig. 6.10). CT usually underestimates small bowel involvement. MRI has been reported to be superior to CT scan in the assessment of the intestinal tract and mesenteric involvement.

Pleura Pleural effusion alone is not sufficient to assess stage IV disease. Cytology evaluation must be performed.

- Ligaments:

Lesser Omentum, Gastrohepatic, and Hepatoduodenal Ligament

Careful evaluation of these locations must be performed in order to exclude involvement.

Gastrosplenic, Splenorenal, and Splenopancreatic Ligaments and Lesser Sac

The gastrosplenic ligament connects the greater curvature of the stomach to the spleen. Carcinomatosis nodules are frequently involving this area (Fig. 6.12).

→Particular Form

Pseudomyxoma peritonei is caused by a ruptured adenocarcinoma of the appendix [25, 26]. CT and MRI have been shown to predict resectability [26].

The rupture of the appendix cause a mucinous seeding thought the peritoneum with specific imaging features:

 Diffuse scalloping of the capsular margins of the intraperitoneal organs such as liver and spleen. The scalloping sign is the most important diagnostic feature helping in the discrimination of pseudomyxoma peritonei from



Fig. 6.12 Axial contrast-enhanced CT images show multiple nodules in the gastrosplenic ligament (white arrow). Note the associated capsular scalloping of the liver and spleen (black arrow)

simple ascites. Indeed, the mucinous ascites has usually a very low attenuation.

- In more advanced cases, diffuse encasement of organs may be seen.
- On MRI, because of mucinous content, pseudomyxoma peritonei implants appear to be T2 hyperintense. Again, scalloping and organ encasement help differentiate it from ascites (Fig. 6.13).

6.4 The Radiologist's Role Is to Provide Information to the Surgeon That Affects Some Crucial Decisions [17]

6.4.1 The Distribution of Disease: Evaluation of Critical Sites

One of the important prognostic factors in patients undergoing in cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC is the completeness of cytoreduction. Though there are difference scores and definitions, the commonly used score is the completeness of cytoreduction score by Paul Sugarbaker and CRS is performed with the goal of leaving behind no residual disease (CC-0) or residual disease measuring <2.5 mm (CC-1) [27–29]. The radiologist's report should not comment on resectability but describe the disease distribution accurately to alert the surgeon about the presence of disease in some crucial



Fig. 6.13 Axial contrast CT showing diffuse organ encasement and spleen scalloping related to pseudomyxoma peritonei or with corresponding image on axial T2-weighted image. Note the T2 hyperintense signal similar to ascites

Table 6.2	Criteria of potentially nonresectable disease to
look for on	CT and MRI

 Extensive 	involvement	of small	bowel	or root	of the
mesentery					

- Lymph nodes above celiac axis
- Pleural effusion (needs to be histology proven)
- Pelvic sidewall invasion, bladder trigone involvement
- Parenchymal liver metastases, subcapsular liver implants close to the right hepatic vein
- Implants of >1 cm: diaphragm, lesser sac, porta hepatis, intersegmental fissure, gall bladder fossa, gastrosplenic, gastrohepatic ligament

areas that precludes a complete cytoreduction [30]. Depending on the available surgical expertise and the extent of disease, neoadjuvant chemotherapy may be indicated prior to the surgical debulking. In some cases, it may be the association of multiple sites of difficult resections which guide the treatment plan. Criteria of potentially unresectable disease are summarized in Table 6.2.

6.4.2 Involvement of Various Organ Systems

The radiologist must provide information about involvement of organ systems that may be managed by different teams of surgeons. The commonlyinvolvedareasaretheurinarysystem—kidney, ureters, and bladder—that may require involvement of the urosurgical team, parenchymal or hepatic surface deposits that require a hepatobiliary surgeon, and the presence of intrathoracic disease that requires involvement of a thoracic surgeon.

6.4.3 The Disease Sites That Are Not Visible to the Surgeon During Exploration?

Parenchymal liver and splenic deposits intraluminal gastrointestinal tract deposits (stomach, bowel, colon), and pleural metastases as these sites of disease may not be detected at the intraoperative inspection. Though intraoperative ultrasound may detect large liver metastases, it may miss the smaller ones. The presence of disease at any of these sites should be looked for and reported.

6.5 The Role of Imaging in the Evaluation of Disease Extent

Ultrasound The role of US for the staging of peritoneal metastases is limited. Ultrasound is mostly used for peritoneal biopsies.

CT Oral and intravenous contrast continues to be the imaging modality of choice for the evaluation of patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery [31, 32]. However, the major limitation is its inability to detect small lesions. Indeed, the reported sensitivity of CT for the detection of peritoneal deposits less than 1 cm is only 25–50%. The other drawback of a CT scan is its inability to pick up bowel surface deposits. Performing a positive contrast study may improve the visualization of serosal and mesenteric deposits. However, calcified metastases may be obscured by the positive contrast [33–37].

MRI The use of MRI has increased in the recent years, and though initial reports showed an accuracy similar to that of CT scan, the use of fat suppression, diffusion-weighted imaging and postcontrast imaging has greatly increased its sensitivity and specificity [30, 38–40].

DWI is specifically useful for detecting PM including bowel surface deposits, mesenteric deposits, peritoneal deposits in the pelvis, hepatic capsular deposits, and lesser sac deposits [37, 41–44]. The rate of detection of PM <1 cm is better with DWI [45–47]. Fujii et al. reported a sensitivity and specificity of 90% and 95.5%, respectively, for the detection of peritoneal carcinomatosis [41]. However, cardiac motion and susceptibility artifacts from air can significantly degrade image quality at air-tissue interfaces, such as the lung bases or bowel, and therefore obscure small peritoneal implants [44].

6.6 PET-CT

The added value of PET-CT in the initial disease evaluation is still under debate [48]. Some studies suggest that PET-CT may be a more accurate than CT alone for evaluating the extent of peritoneal metastases [49, 50]. PET-CT is particularly useful for the diagnosis of metastatic lymph nodes. Nam et al. showed that PET-CT is better than surgico-pathological staging by detecting supraclavicular metastatic nodes [49]. Detection of such nodes precludes aggressive cytoreductive surgery.

Pitfalls in assessing the extent of disease on PET-CT are generally due to inability to detect tumor implants in areas where FDG physiologically accumulates (bowel loops, urinary tract) and difficulty in visualizing small implants due to a low spatial resolution (5–6 mm) [51, 52].

Moreover, PET-CT is the modality of choice for detecting tumor local or distant recurrence [53] provided the distance from surgery is sufficient. Indeed, its specificity may be reduced immediately after surgery because intense radiotracer uptake can be seen both in the inflammatory tissue and tumor [54].

Conclusion

Accurate imaging evaluation of is the key to the management of patients with primary and secondary peritoneal tumor. CT remains the most commonly used modality though some centers use a combination of CT and MRI or prefer MRI alone. A combination of morphological and functional MR imaging sequences may lead to better tumor detection, evaluation of disease extent, and assessment of treatment response.

References

- Busch JM, Kruskal JB, Wu B. Armed forces institute of P. Best cases from the AFIP. Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Radiographics. 2002;22(6):1511–5.
- Pickhardt PJ, Bhalla S. Primary neoplasms of peritoneal and sub-peritoneal origin: CT findings. Radiographics. 2005;25(4):983–95.

- Levy AD, Arnaiz J, Shaw JC, Sobin LH. From the archives of the AFIP: primary peritoneal tumors: imaging features with pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 2008;28(2):583–607. quiz 21–2.
- Tirkes T, Sandrasegaran K, Patel AA, Hollar MA, Tejada JG, Tann M, et al. Peritoneal and retroperitoneal anatomy and its relevance for cross-sectional imaging. Radiographics. 2012;32(2):437–51.
- Marques DT, Tenorio de Brito Siqueira L, Franca Bezerra RO, Menezes MR, de Souza Rocha M, Cerri GG. Resident and fellow education feature: imaging evaluation of peritoneal disease: overview of anatomy and differential diagnosis. Radiographics. 2014;34(4):962–3.
- Tateishi U, Hasegawa T, Kusumoto M, Oyama T, IshikawaH,MoriyamaN.Desmoplasticsmallroundcell tumor: imaging findings associated with clinicopathologic features. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2002;26(4): 579–83.
- Iyer RS, Schaunaman G, Pruthi S, Finn LS. Imaging of pediatric desmoplastic small-round-cell tumor with pathologic correlation. Curr Probl Diagn Radiol. 2013; 42(1):26–32.
- Covarrubias DA, Nardi P, Duncan A. Multimodality imaging findings of leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2009;33(2): 247–9.
- Talebian Yazdi A, De Smet K, Antic M, Ilsen B, Vandenbroucke F, de Mey J. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata in a 50-year-old woman: imaging findings. JBR-BTR. 2010;93(4):193–5.
- Fujii S, Kawawa Y, Horiguchi S, Kamata N, Kinoshita T, Ogawa T. Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma of the small bowel mesentery: computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging findings. Radiat Med. 2008;26(4):244–7.
- 11. Alatise OI, Oke OA, Olaofe OO, Omoniyi-Esan GO, Adesunkanmi AR. A huge low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma of small bowel mesentery simulating hyper immune splenomegaly syndrome: a case report and review of literature. Afr Health Sci. 2013;13(3):736–40.
- Sugarbaker P, Yan T, Zappa L, Haveric N, Brun E. Thin-walled cysts as a pathognomonic CT finding in cystic mesothelioma. Tumori. 2008;94(1):14–8.
- Lee R, Tong A, Kurtis B, Gilet AG. Benign multicystic peritoneal mesothelioma: AIRP best cases in radiologicpathologic correlation. Radiographics. 2016;36(2): 407–11.
- 14. Tsuda K, Murakami T, Nakamura H, Kozuka T, Yamanishi H, Miyata M, et al. Lymphangioma of the mesentery and small intestine: a case report showing a solid tumor with a cystic component on US and CT. Radiat Med. 1994;12(5):241–3.
- Pannu HK, Bristow RE, Montz FJ, Fishman EK. Multidetector CT of peritoneal carcinomatosis from ovarian cancer. Radiographics. 2003;23(3):687–701.
- Levy AD, Shaw JC, Sobin LH. Secondary tumors and tumorlike lesions of the peritoneal cavity: imaging

features with pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 2009;29(2):347–73.

- Nougaret S, Addley HC, Colombo PE, Fujii S, Al Sharif SS, Tirumani SH, et al. Ovarian carcinomatosis: how the radiologist can help plan the surgical approach. Radiographics. 2012;32(6):1775–800. discussion 800–3.
- Coakley FV, Hricak H. Imaging of peritoneal and mesenteric disease: key concepts for the clinical radiologist. Clin Radiol. 1999;54(9):563–74.
- Grabowska-Derlatka L, Derlatka P, Szeszkowski W, Cieszanowski A. Diffusion-weighted imaging of small peritoneal implants in "potentially" early-stage ovarian cancer. Biomed Res Int. 2016;2016:5.
- Li W, Chu C, Cui Y, Zhang P, Zhu M. Diffusionweighted MRI: a useful technique to discriminate benign versus malignant ovarian surface epithelial tumors with solid and cystic components. Abdom Imaging. 2012;37(5):897–903.
- Lindgren A, Anttila M, Rautiainen S, Arponen O, Kivela A, Makinen P, et al. Primary and metastatic ovarian cancer: characterization by 3.0T diffusionweighted MRI. Eur Radiol. 2017;27(9):4002–12.
- 22. Michielsen K, Vergote I, Op de Beeck K, Amant F, Leunen K, Moerman P, et al. Whole-body MRI with diffusion-weighted sequence for staging of patients with suspected ovarian cancer: a clinical feasibility study in comparison to CT and FDG-PET/CT. Eur Radiol. 2014;24(4):889–901.
- Rockall AG. Diffusion weighted MRI in ovarian cancer. Curr Opin Oncol. 2014;26(5):529–35.
- 24. Nougaret S, Lakhman Y, Reinhold C, Addley HC, Fujii S, Delhom E, et al. The wheel of the mesentery: imaging spectrum of primary and secondary mesenteric neoplasms--how can radiologists help plan treatment?: resident and fellow education feature. Radiographics. 2016;36(2):412–3.
- Chira RI, Nistor-Ciurba CC, Mociran A, Mircea PA. Appendicular mucinous adenocarcinoma associated with pseudomyxoma peritonei, a rare and difficult imaging diagnosis. Med Ultrason. 2016;18(2):257–9.
- Menassel B, Duclos A, Passot G, Dohan A, Payet C, Isaac S, et al. Preoperative CT and MRI prediction of non-resectability in patients treated for pseudomyxoma peritonei from mucinous appendiceal neoplasms. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(4):558–66.
- 27. Chi DS, Musa F, Dao F, Zivanovic O, Sonoda Y, Leitao MM, et al. An analysis of patients with bulky advanced stage ovarian, tubal, and peritoneal carcinoma treated with primary debulking surgery (PDS) during an identical time period as the randomized EORTC-NCIC trial of PDS vs neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT). Gynecol Oncol. 2012;124(1):10–4.
- 28. Suidan RS, Ramirez PT, Sarasohn DM, Teitcher JB, Mironov S, Iyer RB, et al. A multicenter prospective trial evaluating the ability of preoperative computed tomography scan and serum CA-125 to predict suboptimal cytoreduction at primary debulking surgery

for advanced ovarian, fallopian tube, and peritoneal cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;134(3):455–61.

- 29. Vargas HA, Burger IA, Goldman DA, Micco M, Sosa RE, Weber W, et al. Volume-based quantitative FDG PET/CT metrics and their association with optimal debulking and progression-free survival in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer undergoing secondary cytore-ductive surgery. Eur Radiol. 2015;25(11):3348–53.
- Qayyum A, Coakley FV, Westphalen AC, Hricak H, Okuno WT, Powell B. Role of CT and MR imaging in predicting optimal cytoreduction of newly diagnosed primary epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;96(2):301–6.
- Forstner R, Sala E, Kinkel K, Spencer JA. ESUR guidelines: ovarian cancer staging and follow-up. Eur Radiol. 2010;20(12):2773–80.
- Javitt MC. ACR appropriateness criteria on staging and follow-up of ovarian cancer. J Am Coll Radiol. 2007;4(9):586–9.
- Walkey MM, Friedman AC, Sohotra P, Radecki PD. CT manifestations of peritoneal carcinomatosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1988;150(5):1035–41.
- Nelson RC, Chezmar JL, Hoel MJ, Buck DR, Sugarbaker PH. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: preoperative CT with intraperitoneal contrast material. Radiology. 1992;182(1):133–8.
- 35. Kim HW, Won KS, Zeon SK, Ahn BC, Gayed IW. Peritoneal carcinomatosis in patients with ovarian cancer: enhanced CT versus 18F-FDG PET/CT. Clin Nucl Med. 2013;38(2):93–7.
- Diop AD, Fontarensky M, Montoriol PF, Da Ines D. CT imaging of peritoneal carcinomatosis and its mimics. Diagn Interv Imaging. 2014;95(9):861–72.
- 37. Torkzad MR, Casta N, Bergman A, Ahlstrom H, Pahlman L, Mahteme H. Comparison between MRI and CT in prediction of peritoneal carcinomatosis index (PCI) in patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery in relation to the experience of the radiologist. J Surg Oncol. 2015;111(6):746–51.
- Forstner R, Hricak H, Occhipinti KA, Powell CB, Frankel SD, Stern JL. Ovarian cancer: staging with CT and MR imaging. Radiology. 1995;197(3):619–26.
- 39. Low RN, Barone RM, Lacey C, Sigeti JS, Alzate GD, Sebrechts CP. Peritoneal tumor: MR imaging with dilute oral barium and intravenous gadolinium-containing contrast agents compared with unenhanced MR imaging and CT. Radiology. 1997;204(2): 513–20.
- 40. Low RN, Semelka RC, Worawattanakul S, Alzate GD, Sigeti JS. Extrahepatic abdominal imaging in patients with malignancy: comparison of MR imaging and helical CT, with subsequent surgical correlation. Radiology. 1999;210(3):625–32.
- 41. Fujii S, Matsusue E, Kanasaki Y, Kanamori Y, Nakanishi J, Sugihara S, et al. Detection of peritoneal dissemination in gynecological malignancy: evaluation by diffusion-weighted MR imaging. Eur Radiol. 2008;18(1):18–23.

- 42. Klumpp BD, Schwenzer N, Aschoff P, Miller S, Kramer U, Claussen CD, et al. Preoperative assessment of peritoneal carcinomatosis: intraindividual comparison of 18F-FDG PET/CT and MRI. Abdom Imaging. 2013;38(1):64–71.
- Schmidt S, Meuli RA, Achtari C, Prior JO. Peritoneal carcinomatosis in primary ovarian cancer staging: comparison between MDCT, MRI, and 18F-FDG PET/CT. Clin Nucl Med. 2015;40(5):371–7.
- 44. Low RN, Sebrechts CP, Barone RM, Muller W. Diffusion-weighted MRI of peritoneal tumors: comparison with conventional MRI and surgical and histopathologic findings--a feasibility study. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2009;193(2):461–70.
- 45. Kyriazi S, Collins DJ, Morgan VA, Giles SL, de Souza NM. Diffusion-weighted imaging of peritoneal disease for noninvasive staging of advanced ovarian cancer. Radiographics. 2010;30(5):1269–85.
- 46. Fehniger J, Thomas S, Lengyel E, Liao C, Tenney M, Oto A, et al. A prospective study evaluating diffusion weighted magnetic resonance imaging (DW-MRI) in the detection of peritoneal carcinomatosis in suspected gynecologic malignancies. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;142(1):169–75.
- 47. Dohan A, Hoeffel C, Soyer P, Jannot AS, Valette PJ, Thivolet A, et al. Evaluation of the peritoneal carcinomatosis index with CT and MRI. Br J Surg. 2017;104(9):1244–9.
- Mitchell DG, Javitt MC, Glanc P, Bennett GL, Brown DL, Dubinsky T, et al. ACR appropriateness criteria

staging and follow-up of ovarian cancer. J Am Coll Radiol. 2013;10(11):822–7.

- 49. Nam EJ, Yun MJ, YT O, Kim JW, Kim JH, Kim S, et al. Diagnosis and staging of primary ovarian cancer: correlation between PET/CT, Doppler US, and CT or MRI. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;116(3): 389–94.
- Hynninen J, Kemppainen J, Lavonius M, Virtanen J, Matomaki J, Oksa S, et al. A prospective comparison of integrated FDG-PET/contrast-enhanced CT and contrast-enhanced CT for pretreatment imaging of advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;131(2):389–94.
- 51. De Iaco P, Musto A, Orazi L, Zamagni C, Rosati M, Allegri V, et al. FDG-PET/CT in advanced ovarian cancer staging: value and pitfalls in detecting lesions in different abdominal and pelvic quadrants compared with laparoscopy. Eur J Radiol. 2011;80(2): e98–103.
- 52. Micco M, Sala E, Lakhman Y, Hricak H, Vargas HA. Role of imaging in the pretreatment evaluation of common gynecological cancers. Women's Health (Lond Engl). 2014;10(3):299–321.
- 53. Gu P, Pan LL, Wu SQ, Sun L, Huang G. CA 125, PET alone, PET-CT, CT and MRI in diagnosing recurrent ovarian carcinoma: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Eur J Radiol. 2009;71(1):164–74.
- Forstner R, Hricak H, Powell CB, Azizi L, Frankel SB, Stern JL. Ovarian cancer recurrence: value of MR imaging. Radiology. 1995;196(3):715–20.



Diagnostic Laparoscopy for the Evaluation of Peritoneal Metastases

Almog Ben-Yaacov, Joseph Dux, and Aviram Nissan

7.1 Background

Peritoneal surface malignancies (PSM) represent a group of neoplastic disorders spread to the peritoneum. PSM can be primary, growing from the peritoneum (mesothelioma and primary peritoneal carcinoma), or secondary, resulting from the metastatic spread of colon cancer, appendiceal cancer, rectal cancer, ovarian cancer, and gastric cancer as well as peritoneal dissemination of various rare tumors.

Cytoreductive surgery (CRS) with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) has demonstrated encouraging results in improving survival outcome of PSM from various primary tumor types.

Patient selection for CRS and HIPEC is important. Based mainly on cross-sectional imaging modalities such as computed tomography (CT) scan, positron emission tomography (PET)-CT, and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), surgeons try to evaluate the volume and distribution of peritoneal disease. Modern crosssectional imaging modalities are not sensitive

A. Ben-Yaacov • J. Dux • A. Nissan (🖂)

Department of General and Oncological Surgery (Surgery-C), The Chaim Sheba Medical Center, Tel Hashomer, Israel

e-mail: Aviram.nissan@sheba.health.gov.il

enough for the evaluation of peritoneal disease and therefore, in many cases, underestimate the true extent of the disease.

Diagnostic laparoscopy is an effective and accurate tool for the selection of candidates for CRS and HIPEC. It can be used as an adjunct to cross-sectional imaging to improve patient selection for CRS and HIPEC.

This chapter provides a comprehensive review of the role of diagnostic laparoscopy in peritoneal surface malignancies.

7.2 The Advent of Video Laparoscopy

Video laparoscopy was introduced during the 1980s–1990s of the twentieth century. The development of fiber-optic scopes and high-resolution video cameras has minimized perioperative surgical stress leading to a shorter hospital stay and a faster postoperative recovery time. A lot of simple and complex major abdominal surgeries are performed by laparoscopy. The ability to visualize all the peritoneal surfaces and regions of the abdominal cavity allows its use as a diagnostic tool for conditions which cannot be diagnosed by clinical evaluation alone. It allows sampling of fluid and tissue for a pathological diagnosis at the same time.

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_7

Laparoscopic ultrasound can also be performed during diagnostic video laparoscopy (DVL) to better evaluate intra-abdominal organs that are not amendable for inspection [1].

The advantages of diagnostic video laparoscopy are:

- Direct visualization of the visceral and peritoneal surfaces, thus aiding in establishing a diagnosis.
- 2. Reduction of the surgical trauma associated with exploratory laparotomy.
- 3. Minimal morbidity and postoperative pain.
- 4. Can be performed as an outpatient procedure.
- 5. The findings can be recorded and transmitted or presented for discussion with physicians not present in the operating theater.

The disadvantages of DVL are:

- It is an invasive procedure that, although rare, may cause severe injuries to abdominal organs.
- 2. The entire abdominal cavity and pelvis are not always accessible especially in patients with previous abdominal surgery creating adhesions [1].

DVL is being used routinely as a staging procedure before definitive surgery for certain cancers like gastric cancer, esophageal cancer, and hepatobiliary and pancreatic cancers by some surgeons [2–5].

7.3 Diagnostic Laparoscopy for Peritoneal Metastases (PM)

Cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and HIPEC have led to a significant prolongation in survival of certain patients with peritoneal metastases [6-10]. However, given the high morbidity that results from this procedure, only those patients who are likely to benefit should be selected for it. Early recurrence occurs in patients with advanced disease arising from certain tumors, and they suffer morbidity without any benefit in survival [11, 12]. Only those patients in whom a complete cytoreduction is possible should be taken up for the procedure. This decision should be taken in multidisciplinary meetings [13].

The two most important prognostic indicators are the peritoneal cancer index (PCI) by Sugarbaker and the completeness of cytoreduction as determined by the completeness of cytoreduction score (CC score). The PCI is a quantitative assessment of cancer distribution throughout the abdomen and the pelvis [14]. It combines the size of the largest nodule, also known as the lesion score with the distribution of the disease diving the abdominal cavity into 13 regions (0-12). The PCI is the summation of the scores of each region and ranges from 0 to 39 [14]. A CC-0 score indicates that no visible peritoneal seeding exists following the cytoreduction; a CC-1 score residual disease <2.5 mm in size. Both CC-0 and CC-1 are considered to be "complete cytoreduction." A CC-2 score indicates tumor nodules between 2.5 mm and 2.5 cm; and a CC-3 score indicates tumor nodules >2.5 cm or a confluence of unresectable tumor nodules. CC-2 and CC-3 cytoreductions are considered incomplete [15].

In patients with colorectal PM when the predicted PCI is >17-20, CRS and HIPEC should not be offered since it offers no benefit over systemic chemotherapy alone; similarly for gastric cancer, this cutoff is a predicted PCI of 13 [6, 7]. Though there is no defined cutoff for ovarian cancer, in general patients with a lower PCI have a better outcome [8]. Contrary to the above, in more indolent tumors like lowgrade pseudomyxoma peritonei and peritoneal mesothelioma, CRS and HIPEC are performed irrespective of the PCI provided a complete cytoreduction can be obtained. Exceptions to the prognostic value of PCI include noninvasive diseases like low-grade pseudomyxoma peritonei and peritoneal mesothelioma [9, 10]. In these conditions however, an incomplete cytoreduction offers little benefit to most patients and its imperative to exclude such patients from extensive surgery. Patients undergoing CRS + HIPEC who achieve a complete cytoreduction (CC-0 or CCR-1) have significantly longer survival compared to those who do not [16–18].

Thus in selecting patients for CRS and HIPEC, two important factors to be considered are:

- · The predicted PCI
- The probability of a complete cytoreduction

7.4 Determining the Disease Extent and Resectability

Imaging modalities form the cornerstone of preoperative evaluation of patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC. A contrast-enhanced CT scan of the thorax abdomen and pelvis is the most commonly used modality. It rules out major distant metastases and may predict the extent of disease [19, 20]. The sensitivity of a CT scan in detecting PM varies from 60 to 93% and is largely dependent on the lesion size and location [21]. The sensitivity of a CT scan ranges from 59 to 94% for lesions >5 cm, 9 to 28% for lesions <5 cm, and only 11 to 28% for lesions <1 cm [21-23]. It accurately predicts the PCI only in 33% of the patients as shown in a multi-institutional study [23]. There was a significant underestimation of the intraoperative (true) PCI by the CT scan (mean CT-PCI, 8.7 ± 5.5 ; intraoperative PCI 12.9 \pm 7.4; P = 0.003). However, in this study which included patients with colorectal PM alone, the underestimation was clinically relevant only in 12% of the cases. Koh et al. compared the CT-PCI with the surgical PCI and found an accuracy of 60%, 33% underestimation, and 7% overestimation of the PCI on the preoperative CT scan in a small cohort of 19 patients, demonstrating a statistically significant difference in radiological PCI versus intraoperative PCI in nearly all abdominopelvic regions [23].

The difference was more commonly seen in certain regions—the right upper quadrant, bilateral lower quadrants, distal jejunum, and distal ileum. Similarly, in the previous study of 32 patients, the discrepancy between the CT and surgical findings was most significant in the small bowel region where a negative CT scan finding but a true exploratory laparotomy finding of peritoneal lesions occurred in 23–35% of cases in the different segments of the small bowel. CT has the limitation of being unable to determine the small bowel and mesenteric involvement accurately. The sensitivity for these regions ranged between 8 and 17% in one series and 18 and 55% in another [21, 23].

MRI has been used by various investigators for evaluation of disease extent. It requires up to 6 h of fasting and bowel preparation and has to be performed per protocol to yield accurate results. Contrast MRI has a sensitivity of 87% and a negative predictive value of 73% in detecting PM per segment of the abdominal cavity [24].

MRI results are dependent on the expertise of the interpreter, and in experienced hands, it may be more accurate especially for detecting bowel surface lesions and lesions <1 cm in size [25, 26].

An [¹⁸F]FDG positron emission tomography (PET)-CT scan has been reported to have a sensitivity of 58–100% in detecting PM [27, 28]. It has the limitation of being unable to detect very small tumors and mucinous tumors and overlap with other non-cancerous conditions. In patients with low-grade PMP, the positive predictive value of a PET-CT to assess completeness of cytoreduction was found to be 27% [29].

Thus current imaging modalities seem to be lacking in accuracy in predicting the extent of the disease as well as the possibility of a complete cytoreduction. However, imaging criteria for inoperability have been defined, and these help to exclude certain patients initially.

Multiple extra-abdominal metastasis or bulky (>2 cm) suprarenal retroperitoneal lymph nodes are considered absolute contraindications.

Other contraindications are extensive bowel resection that is likely to compromise the future quality of life, e.g., two or more sites of segmental small bowel obstruction, patients requiring a total gastrectomy with a total colectomy; involvement of the pancreatic head, bladder trigone, and porta hepatis; and massive or diffuse involvement of pleural space [30]. Metastases at other sites except up to three easily resectable liver metastases in colorectal PM and resectable liver metastases synchronous with PM from ovarian cancer are not contraindication for CRS and HIPEC. Thus, it is not just the extent of disease but also the site of disease that may preclude a complete CRS. Reported rates of unresectability range from 20 to 40% [31, 32]. The morbidity of incomplete surgery ranges from 2 to 23% and the mortality from 20 to 36% [31].

An unnecessary laparotomy is a waste of resources for both the hospital and the patient and delays other treatment that could be more effective. It also has a negative psychological impact on the patients and caregivers [32].

Before submitting a peritoneal carcinomatosis to peritonectomy with HIPEC, it is necessary to assess the prognosis and feasibility. It is thus fundamental to preemptively know the following with accuracy: origin of the tumor, PCI, degree of involvement of the small bowel and its mesentery, and number and extension of the organ resection to perform.

7.5 Role of Diagnostic Video Laparoscopy

The role of DVL in the evaluation of peritoneal metastases has evolved and increased in the last decade large due to better and more stringent definition of the indication of CRS and HIPEC. In a multi-institutional study of more than 1200 patients treated by CRS and HIPEC, DVL was used in 8% of the patients [33]. Only 10% of the experts at a consensus meeting in 2006 considered it to be an essential tool; however the number would be larger if such a consensus is carried out now [28]. It was considered to have limited feasibility due to the presence of adhesions arising from previous surgeries and large peritoneal deposits and port site recurrence was a concern [28, 34]. With the increasing popularity and acceptance and awareness about CRS and HIPEC, more patients are referred for surgery up front. Moreover, in certain conditions like colorectal and gastric PM, extensive disease though technically resectable is a contraindication for CRS and HIPEC, thus making an accurate assessment imperative.

Early studies have shown that a DVL can reduce the number of unnecessary laparotomies

in intra-abdominal malignancies [35]. A prospective comparison of laparoscopy and CT scan showed that in a series of patients, CT scan identified peritoneal disease in only 47.8%, whereas subsequent laparoscopy detected peritoneal spread in 100% of the patients [36].

7.6 Evidence for DVL

The studies reporting the utility and outcomes of DVL are heterogeneous in terms of disease sites included and the indications (Table 7.1).

In a study from Japan, DVL with HIPEC was performed in all patients with PMP of appendiceal origin. Subsequently, another diagnostic procedure with CRS was performed. The study did not evaluate the role of laparoscopy in predicting resectability since HIPEC was performed in all patients irrespective of PCI or resectability [45]. Most of the other studies include patients from multiple primary sites, whereas some have specifically evaluated its role in a single disease condition (mesothelioma, PMP, ovarian cancer) [39, 40, 45]. The exclusion criteria employed by some investigators were the presence of massive mucinous ascites, large omental cake, or a recent laparotomy with a thorough evaluation of PM [35]. The goal of performing a DVL is to exclude patients who are unlikely to have complete CRS and thus avoid an unnecessary laparotomy. In colorectal PM, some patients with extensive disease can be offered neoadjuvant chemotherapy with the possible benefit of downstaging and subsequent CRS and HIPEC. Not just systemic chemotherapy but also intraperitoneal chemotherapy is administered through, and implantable port has been used to treat patients with gastric and colorectal PM [46, 47].

The ability of laparoscopy to exclude patients with unnecessary surgery is indicative of its negative predictive value. This was reported only in two studies; in both, the negative predictive value was 100% [39, 40]. Similarly, the percentage of patients deemed resectable who actually have a complete CRS is the positive predictive value of the procedure. The reported positive predictive value ranged from 62.9 to 98%. Seven to forty

			Average		Positive	Negative	% of patients			
Year		No. of	duration	Failure to	predictive	predictive	excluded from	Understaging	Complications	Port site
[Ref.]	Primary site (s)	patients	(min)	access (%)	value	value	CRS	(%)	(%)	metastases
2005 [37]	Ovary, CRC, appendix, rare tumors	11	38		87.5%		27	12.5	1.06	
2006 [38]	Ovary, CRC, stomach, PMP, rare tumors	67	30	1.03	98%			2.06	2.06	
2006 [39]	Ovary	65	1	1	87%	100%	13	8.2	1	1
2009 [34]	Ovary, CRC, appendix, rare tumors	197	30		97%		2	2.04	2.04	
2009 [40]	Mesothelioma	33	40	1	96.6	100%	9%6	1	1	
2012 [4 1]	Ovary, CRC, stomach, PMP, rare tumors	351	30	0.28				1.42	1.75	1
2013 [42]	CRC, appendix, malignant mesothelioma	45		4.5%	62.9		40%			
2014 [43]	Appendiceal, colorectal, gastric, ovary, rare tumors	73	1	13.7	85.4	1	27.7%	1	1	
2015 [44]	CRC, appendix, gastric, ovary, rare tumors	217	I	7.3	91.9		31.3		0.4	

Table 7.1 Utility and outcomes of diagnostic video laparoscopy for peritoneal metastases

percent of the patients were not taken up for CRS and HIPEC based on the DVL findings. The reasons for exclusion were extensive disease, predominantly on the small bowel which precluded a complete cytoreduction or a high PCI than acceptable for the disease site [37, 40, 42, 43]. Iversen et al. reported an overstaging in 4.4% of the patients, while other investigators reported understaging in 1.4-12.5% [37, 42]. One of the limitations of laparoscopy is the evaluation of retroperitoneal structures like the ureters and the pancreas [40, 43]. Other difficult areas in DVL are the hepatic pedicle and infiltration of the diaphragmatic muscle. An accurate assessment of these areas is more reliable on imaging studies than DVL. Most of the studies report the known benefits of laparoscopy like short hospital stay, less postoperative pain, and better cosmesis. The rate of complication was uniformly low ranging 0-<1%.

Fagotti et al. evaluated the role of laparoscopy in addition of a clinical and radiological evaluation in 65 patients undergoing laparotomy for advanced ovarian cancer. Optimal debulking was achieved in 34 of the 39 patients (87%) whose disease was judged completely resectable on the basis of laparoscopy findings, giving DVL an accuracy of 90% for predicting a complete cytoreduction. The negative predictive value of clinical-radiological evaluation was 73%, whereas the NPV of laparoscopy was 100% (i.e., in no cases did the disease determined to be unresectable of DVL become resectable on exploratory laparotomy). The positive predictive values (PPV) of clinical-radiological evaluation and laparoscopy were both 87% [39]. Subsequently, the same investigators came up with a predictive index value (PIV) based on objective parameters determined at pre-cytoreduction laparoscopy, the "Fagotti score" [48]. The score is a sum of the individual score of seven sites of disease (Table 7.1). Patients with a score of ≥ 8 had a 100% chance of having a suboptimal/incomplete CRS. The laparoscopic parameters chosen for the score were for describing the disease extent rather than for predicting a complete cytoreduction [48]. The score has been prospectively validated—at a PIV of ≥ 8 , the probability of

optimal cytoreduction (residual tumor ≤ 1 cm) at laparotomy is 0 [49, 50]. A learning curve has been defined for this procedure [51]. Its reproducibility has been demonstrated at nonacademic peripheral centers as well [52]. Of note is the fact that in these reports on ovarian cancer, "optimal debulking" that is residual disease <1 cm is used to determine the completeness of surgery instead of the CC score (Fig. 7.1).

7.7 Technical Aspects in DVL for Peritoneal Metastases

The ability to perform DVL efficiently and safely is depended on careful planning of the procedure. Trocar placement is crucial in order to obtain access to all parts of the abdomen and pelvis and to avoid injuring the underlying structures. Many of the patients who are candidates for DVL already had previous surgical procedures. Placing trocars in the midline allows the sites to be resected easily during a subsequent CRS and HIPEC; it is important to place trocars in the midline as far as possible [43, 53, 54].

The placement of the first trocar is based upon the location of the previous surgical scars, on the preoperative imaging, and on clinical and physical findings. Our preferred method for pneumoperitoneum is either by optic trocar insertion and direct insufflation, or for patients with surgical scars we recommend the Hassan technique. A 0-degree or 30-degree scope can be used.

After the creation of a pneumoperitoneum, we insert two to three more trocars. Placing the 5 mm trocars in the midline is not always feasible for obtaining high-quality staging of the entire peritoneal cavity. The other common sites for trocar placement are the right and left iliac fossae [43, 44]. Most surgeons prefer the left subcostal region for the first site of entry as it avoids injuring the bowel. However, a large omental cake may preclude the use of this site [34, 38]. In case of dense midline adhesions, two separate accesses may be made on either side of the midline [34]. After CRS and HIPEC, these trocar sites can be excised and used for placement of the inflow and outflow drains during the HIPEC (Fig. 7.2).



Fig. 7.1 Areas in the peritoneal cavity that requires visualization during diagnostic video laparoscopy for the evaluation of peritoneal surface malignancies



Fig. 7.2 Suggested trocar placement during diagnostic video laparoscopy in patients with known peritoneal surface malignancies. It is important to place as many trocars in the midline in order to facilitate a future cytoreductive surgery. In case where tissue samples should be obtained, a 10 mm tro-

car should be placed in order to safely retrieve the tissue harvested. In many cases, at least one trocar should be placed off midline in order to achieve better exposure and tissue manipulation. In such cases, the trocar site is resected at the cytoreduction and used for placing one of the HIPEC tubes

Lysis of adhesions poses the risk of bowel injury, but some amount of adhesiolysis is required to allow systemic visualization of the entire abdominal cavity to evaluate the extent and distribution of disease. The ascitic fluid is removed to enable better visualization and a cytological examination performed. Confirmatory biopsies are performed if indicated. In patients who have received neoadjuvant therapy, biopsies are needed for the evaluation of the pathological response. Diaphragmatic biopsies can cause tumor infiltration into the diaphragmatic muscle or perforation into the pleural cavity and should be avoided. Important point to note is the visualization of areas exposed to gravity, namely, Morison pouch, peri-splenic, peri-hepatic, behind segment 1 of the liver close to the IVC, the portal bridge (pont hepatique), omental bursa, the mesentery of the small bowel, and the pelvis (Fig. 7.3). In order to make a complete assessment of all regions of the peritoneal cavity, the table is tilted to four positions-steep left and right Trendelenburg and steep left and right

reverse Trendelenburg [37, 41, 42]. The PCI should be scored for each region and the total PCI calculated.

It is feasible that a laparoscopic ultrasound could be used to assess the diaphragmatic and pancreatic involvements and liver metastases [32]. Such an evaluation may be limited by the presence of adhesion.

Complications such as injuring a hollow viscous or a major blood vessel are rare. Insufflationrelated complications include air emboli, pneumomediastinum, or pneumothorax.

Though port site recurrence is a concern in patients undergoing DVL or curative surgical resection of non-metastatic gastrointestinal and gynecological tumor, the reported incidence is low. Conlon et al. reported on 1650 DVL procedures performed in 1548 patients with primary tumors arising from the upper gastrointestinal tract. Four thousand two hundred and ninety-nine trocars were placed in these patients, and port site recurrence was reported in 13 patients (0.8%) [55]).



Fig.7.3 Flowchart of patients with known PSM. Patients are being evaluated by diagnostic video laparoscopy and, if not suitable for CRS + HIPEC, referred for sys-

temic therapy. If a patient responds to systemic therapy, a second DVL may be indicated

Abu-Rustum et al. reported on port site metastases documented in 20 of 1964 patients (1.18%) who underwent a laparoscopic procedure for a malignant intra-abdominal condition [56]. However, port site recurrence in patients with PM is common, and hence all port sites should be excised during potentially curative surgery.

7.8 Single-Port Laparoscopy

In this procedure, the SPL device is inserted into the umbilicus or lateral to it after a direct incision of 3 cm was made into the abdominal wall [57]. This technique may be safer in patients with extensive adhesions. The outer seal cap allows a 360° rotation that is useful for inspection of the entire abdominal cavity using the change in the position of the surgeon and the assistant. The technique described by Leblanc et al. involves inclining the table vertically for up to 30° with the head low for inspection of the pelvis and head down for inspection of the upper abdomen and tilting laterally to visualize the flanks.

7.8.1 Advantages and Limitations of DVL

The potential advantages of DVL as a staging modality for PM are:

- Evaluation of the mesentery (superficial lesions and retractions)
- Evaluation of lesions on the anti-mesenteric margin
- Evaluation of the omental bursa, pelvic cavity, diaphragm, and abdominal wall
- Prediction of the PCI by evaluating all 13 regions
- The possibility of peritoneal washing and biopsies for the typing of the primitive tumor
- The prediction of the probability of a complete cytoreduction during CRS
- Reevaluation of response to neoadjuvant therapies

• As a part of a second-look strategy for early detection of PM in patients at high risk [34]

Some of the limitations are:

- Evaluation of the depth of infiltration of lesions on the diaphragmatic surfaces
- · Evaluation of pancreatic involvement
- Evaluation of the ureters and pelvic side wall
- Necessity of a skilled laparoscopic surgeon

Some of the disadvantages can be offset by using a laparoscopic ultrasound during the procedure. This allows:

- A good evaluation of the thickness of lesions of the diaphragm
- The qualitative and quantitative evaluation of pancreatic involvement and that of retroperitoneum
- Evaluation of hepatic metastases and their resectability

7.9 Assessment of Pleural Involvement

Pleural involvement can occur in patients with peritoneal metastases and is commonest in ovarian cancer and patients of PMP with extensive disease. Fifteen percent of the patients with ovarian cancer present with a pleural effusion that shows a positive cytology for malignant cells [58]. A diagnostic thoracoscopy can help in sampling of the pleural fluid when other tests are inconclusive and in determining the presence and extent of pleural deposits. In one study, 4 (36%) of 11 patients with ovarian cancer and a negative cytological examination of pleural fluid had macroscopic pleural malignancy on thoracoscopy [59]. Though invasive, such a procedure may change the treatment decision and may be necessary when the suspicion is high, especially when selecting patients for CRS as extensive involvement would preclude a complete cytoreduction. The role of thoracoscopy in other patients is less defined, and its use should be individualized.

7.10 Detection of Occult Peritoneal Metastases

Aminolevulinic acid (ALA)-mediated photodynamic diagnosis (ALA-PDD) has been used for detecting occult peritoneal metastases. ALA is a prodrug of heme biosynthesis that has an affinity for cancer cells. After oral administration, it accumulates in the cancer cells and gets converted to protoporphyrin IX (PpIX). When tissue is illuminated with light of a specific wavelength (blue light 440 nm), the tumor tissue emits fluorescence of a specific color (red) leading to its easy identification [60]. This process also leads to the generation of cytotoxic-free radicals. ALA-PDD have been used in detecting and treating a variety of precancerous and cancerous lesions like dysplasias arising in Barret's esophagus, ulcerative colitis, stomach; precancerous and cancerous lesions arising from the skin cancers [60-62].

This strategy can be used to detect occult tumors which are missed by white light. Areas of inflammation could produce false-positive results [63]. In a study by Kishi et al., staging laparoscopy (SL) using ALA-PDD was performed in 13 advanced gastric cancer patients with serosainvading tumors, and the detection sensitivity of ALA-PDD was compared to the observations using WL. The tumor detection rate using ALA-F was significantly higher than the detection rate using WL (72% vs. 39%, respectively; *P* < 0.0001) [64]. Peritoneal metastases were detected in five patients using SL with ALA-PDD, and liver metastases were detected in one patient. These metastases were confirmed using histological examination. Three metastatic lesions that were invisible under WL were detected under ALA-F.

The same authors reported outcomes of the same strategy in 38 patients in 2016. Twelve of the 38 patients (32%) were diagnosed with peritoneal metastases by conventional laparoscopy. However, laparoscopy with ALA-PDD detected peritoneal metastases in 4 (11%) of the 26 remaining patients. Three of these four patients had negative cytological results from the evaluation of the peritoneal fluid [65].

7.11 Therapeutic Uses of Video Laparoscopy in Peritoneal Surface Malignancies

7.11.1 Pressurized Intraperitoneal Aerosol Chemotherapy

In this therapy, a carbon-dioxide pneumoperitoneum is created and infused with an aerosolized chemotherapeutic agent to create a "therapeutic capnoperitoneum" [66]. Preclinical data has shown better distribution and higher tissue concentrations of chemotherapy agents in PIPAC compared with conventional intraperitoneal chemotherapy [67, 68]. The dose used is 1/10; the dose of systemic chemotherapy and the systemic absorption is also low. This procedure is performed laparoscopically, and multiple applications are performed at sixweekly intervals [69]. The morbidity is low and hospital stay is short. Currently, this therapy is used for treating patients who have developed resistance after one or more lines of chemotherapy as well as those with chemotherapy-resistant ascites [70]. Its role as a neoadjuvant therapy before CRS and HIPEC is being evaluated. No negative impact on quality of life has been reported. Reported histological response rates for therapy-resistant carcinomatosis of ovarian, colorectal, and gastric origin are 62-88%, 71-86%, and 70-100%, respectively [70].

7.11.2 Laparoscopic HIPEC

Lotti et al. have described the technique of laparoscopic HIPEC which combines the theoretical advantages of the open and closed techniques. In their technique, stirring of the abdominal contents is performed from time to time during a closed HIPEC procedure [71]. Laparoscopic CRS is being performed with good results for treatment of patients with limited peritoneal disease and is usually followed by HIPEC which is performed by the closed technique [72]. Though manual stirring through a hand-assisted laparoscopic device has been reported in laparoscopic HIPEC in a pig model, it is unclear if HIPEC reaches the wide portion of the anterior abdominal wall [73].

In the technique describe by Lotti et al., at the end of CRS, four Jackson-Pratt drains are inserted in the abdominal cavity and are the outflow channels [71]. The entire length of the wound, between the xiphoid and the pubis, is divided in four parts, and the skin is closed with four continuous locking sutures, and three 12 mm balloon trocars are placed at the junction between sutures. The upper trocar is connected to the HIPEC inflow tube, the middle trocar to the heated CO_2 insufflator, and the lower trocar to the smoke evacuator device. After 5 min of stirring, CO₂ insufflation is stopped, the patient is placed in Trendelenburg position, and pneumoperitoneum is evacuated under vision through the lowest trocar. Perfusion continues in a closed-technique fashion for 10 min, so as to perfuse the anterior abdominal wall with the perfusate. During this phase of perfusion, the abdomen is shaken manually and the inclination of the operating bed is frequently changed, to further promote the distribution of the perfusate into the abdomen.

After 10 min, pneumoperitoneum is again established, and the cycle restarts. During a 90-min HIPEC, alternating cycles of laparoscopic stirring (5 min) and closed perfusion (10 min) are performed.

The alternation between pneumoperitoneumlaparoscopic stirring and voiding of the pneumoperitoneum-closed perfusion allows the anterior abdominal surface to be in contact with the perfusion fluid for an adequate lapse of time. An experimental study carried out in pigs showed that the absorption of oxaliplatin was more in the closed HIPEC procedure as compared to the open procedure [73]. Although the resulting increase in IAP could have a positive effect on penetration of cytotoxic drugs in tissues, this effect is still under study [73, 74]. The authors concluded that further evaluation of this technique is needed, to demonstrate a clinical benefit, and the effect of pneumoperitoneum on the absorption of chemotherapeutic drugs needs to be determined as well.

7.11.3 Laparoscopic CRS and HIPEC

For selected patients with limited disease extent

(PCI < 10) and low PMP, laparoscopic CRS and

HIPEC have been used with the goal of reducing the morbidity and hospital stay [75–77]. The reported conversion rates were low and improved with experience. Patient selection is important. The drawbacks of this approach are difficulty in properly assessing certain areas like the small bowel mesentery, technical difficulty in obese patients and those with extensive prior surgery, the potential for dissemination of malignant cells (debatable), and prolonged operative times [77]. With growing experience, the utility of such procedures could increase specifically in patients with more extensive disease.

This may be applied only in highly selected patients with low grade as well as low volume disease.

Conclusions

Diagnostic video laparoscopy is an accurate and feasible tool for better evaluating patients with PM for CRS and HIPEC. It is used as an adjunct to CT, PET, or MRI.

It is safe, efficient, and prevents some patients the need to go through unnecessary laparotomy, and it allows the surgeon to better evaluate the extent of the disease and response to neoadjuvant treatment and to plan CRS + HIPEC more accurately.

DVL can identify patients with extensive disease who may be better treated with neoadjuvant therapy for the possibility of downstaging of disease. Multiple procedures can be performed in such patients where both morphologic and pathological response to therapy can be assessed. The role of laparoscopy in the management of PM has been further enhanced by introduction of new treatments like pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) where it is used for both diagnosis and treatment delivery. Moreover, in selected patients, CRS and/or HIPEC is being performed laparoscopically.

References

 Hori Y, SAGES Guidelines Committee. Diagnostic laparoscopy guidelines. Surg Endosc. 2008;22:1353–83.

- Cuschieri A. Role of video-laparoscopy in the staging of intra-abdominal lymphomas and gastrointestinal cancer. Semin Surg Oncol. 2001;20:167–72.
- Chang L, Stefanidis D, Richardson WS, Earle DB, Fanelli RD. The role of staging laparoscopy for intraabdominal cancers: an evidence-based review. Surg Endosc. 2009;23:231–41.
- Mayo SC, Austin DF, Sheppard BC, Mori M, Shipley DK, Billingsley KG. Evolving preoperative evaluation of patients with pancreatic cancer: does laparoscopy have a role in the current era? J Am Coll Surg. 2009;208:87–95.
- D'Angelica M, Fong Y, Weber S, Gonen M, DeMatteo RP, Conlon K, Blumgart LH, Jarnagin WR. The role of staging laparoscopy in hepatobiliary malignancy: prospective analysis of 401 cases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2003;10:183–9. https://doi.org/10.1245/ ASO.2003.03.091.
- Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:63–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2009.23.9285.
- Chia CS, You B, Decullier E, et al. Patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: is cure a possibility? Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:1971. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-015-5081-3.
- Bakrin N, Bereder JM, Decullier E, Classe JM, Msika S, Lorimier G, Abboud K, Meeus P, Ferron G, Quenet F, Marchal F, Gouy S, Morice P, Pomel C, Pocard M, Guyon F, Porcheron J, Glehen O, FROGHI (FRench Oncologic and Gynecologic HIPEC) Group. Peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with cytoreductive surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) for advanced ovarian carcinoma: a French multicentre retrospective cohort study of 566 patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39(12):1435–43.
- Chua TC, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, Levine EA, Glehen O, Gilly FN, Baratti D, Deraco M, Elias D, et al. Early- and long-term outcome data of patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from appendiceal origin treated by a strategy of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(20):2449–56.
- Yan TD, Deraco M, Baratti D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: multi-institutional experience. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:6237–42.
- Mohamed F, Cecil T, Moran B, Sugarbaker P. A new standard of care for the management of peritoneal surface malignancy. Curr Oncol. 2011;18(2):e84–96.
- Mohamed F, Moran BJ. Morbidity and mortality with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy: the importance of a learning curve. Cancer J. 2009;15(3):196–9.
- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:359–74.

- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: principles of management. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 1996. p. 359–74.
- Mehta SS, Bhatt A, Glehen O. Cytoreductive surgery and peritonectomy procedures. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7:139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-016-0505-5.
- Harmon RL, Sugarbaker PH. Prognostic indicators in peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal cancer. Int Semin Surg Oncol. 2005;2:3.
- 17. Van Sweringen HL, Hanseman DJ, Ahmad SA, Edwards MJ, Sussman JJ. Predictors of survival in patients with high-grade peritoneal metastases undergoing cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Surgery. 2012;152:617–24. Discussion 624–615
- 18. Yang XJ, Huang CQ, Suo T, Mei LJ, Yang GL, Cheng FL, Zhou YF, Xiong B, Yonemura Y, Li Y. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy improves survival of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: final results of a phase III randomized clinical trial. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:1575–81.
- Verwaal VJ, Kusamura S, Baratti D, et al. The eligibility for local-regional treatment of peritoneal surface malignancy. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:220–223 24.
- Yan TD, Morris DL, Shigeki K, Dario B, Marcello D. Preoperative investigations in the management of peritoneal surface malignancy with cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:224–7.
- de Bree E, Koops W, Kroger R, et al. Preoperative computed tomography and selection of patients with colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32:65–71.
- Jacquet P, Jelinek JS, Steves AM, et al. Evaluation of computed tomography in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer. 1993;72:1631–6.
- Koh JL, Yan TD, Glenn D, Morris DL. Evaluation of preop- erative computed tomography in estimating peritoneal cancer index in colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16:327–33.
- Klumpp BD, Schwenzer N, Aschoff P, et al. Preoperative assessment of peritoneal carcinomatosis: intraindividual comparison of 18F-FDG PET/CT and MRI. Abdom Imaging. 2013;38(1):64–71.
- 25. Low RN, Barone RM, Lee MJ. Surveillance MR imaging is superior to serum tumor markers for detecting early tumor recurrence in patients with appendiceal cancer treated with surgical cytoreduction and HIPEC. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(4): 1074–1081 28.
- 26. Torkzad MR, Casta N, Bergman A, Ahlström H, Påhlman L, Mahteme H. Comparison between MRI and CT in prediction of peritoneal carcinomatosis index (PCI) in patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery in relation to the experience of the radiologist. J Surg Oncol. 2015;111(6):746–51.

- Patel CM, Sahdev A, Reznek RH. MRI and PET imaging in peritoneal malignancy. Cancer Imaging. 2011;11:1231–9.
- Suzuki A, Kawano T, Takahashi N, et al. Value of 18F-FDG PET in detection of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2004;31:1413–20.
- Passot G, Glehen AB, Pellet O, et al. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: role of 18-FDG PET in preoperative evaluation of pathological grade and potential for complete cytoreduction. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36(3): 315–23.
- Cotte E, Passot G, Gilly F-N, Glehen O. Selection of patients and staging of peritoneal surface malignancies. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(1):31–5.
- Esquivel J, Farinetti A, Sugarbaker PH. Elective surgery in recurrent colon cancer with peritoneal seeding: when and when not to proceed. G Chir. 1999;20: 81–6.
- 32. Seshadri RA, Raj HE. Diagnostic laparoscopy in the pre-operative assessment of patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for peritoneal surface malignancies. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2): 230–5.
- 33. Glehen O, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Toward curative treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from nonovarian origin by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy a multi-institutional study of 1290 patients. Cancer. 2010;116:5608–18.
- Garofalo A, Valle M. Laparoscopy in the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer J. 2009;15:190–5.
- Buyske J. Role of laparoscopic-assisted techniques in staging malignant diseases. Surg Clin North Am. 2000;80:495–503.
- Denzen U, Hoffmann S, Helmreich-Becker I, et al. Minilaparoscopy in the diagnosis of peritoneal tumor spread: prospective controlled comparison with computed tomography. Surg Endosc. 2004;18:1067–70.
- Pomel C, Appleyard TL, Gouy S, Rouzier R, Elias D. The role of laparoscopy to evaluate candidates for complete cytoreduction of peritoneal carcinomatosis and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2005;31:540–3.
- Valle M, Garofalo A. Laparoscopic staging of peritoneal surface malignancies. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32:625–7.
- 39. Fagotti A, Fanfani F, Ludovisi M, Lo Voi R, Bifulco G, Testa AC, et al. Role of laparoscopy to assess the chance of optimal cytoreductive surgery in advanced ovarian cancer: a pilot study. Gynecol Oncol. 2005; 96:729–35.
- 40. Laterza B, Kusamura S, Baratti D, et al. Role of explorative laparoscopy to evaluate optimal candidates for cytoreductive surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) in patients with peritoneal mesothelioma. In Vivo. 2009;23:187–90.
- Valle M, Federici O, Garofalo A. Patient selection for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy, and role of laparoscopy in diag-

nosis, staging, and treatment. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2012;21:515–31.

- Iversen LH, Rasmussen PC, Laurberg S. Value of laparoscopy before cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis. Br J Surg. 2013;100:285–92.
- 43. Jayakrishnan TT, Zacharias AJ, Sharma A, et al. Role of laparoscopy in patients with peritoneal metastases considered for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). World J Surg Oncol. 2014;12:270.
- 44. Tabrizian P, Jayakrishnan TT, Zacharias A, et al. Incorporation of diagnostic laparoscopy in the management algorithm for patients with peritoneal metastases: a multi-institutional analysis. J Surg Oncol. 2015. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23924.
- 45. Hirano M, Yonemura Y, Canbay E, et al. Laparoscopic diagnosis and laparoscopic hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei detected by CT examination. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:741202. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2012/741202.
- 46. Ishigami H, Yamaguchi H, Yamashita H, Asakage M, Kitayama J. Surgery after intraperitoneal and systemic chemotherapy for gastric cancer with peritoneal metastasis or positive peritoneal cytology findings. Gastric Cancer. 2017;20(Suppl 1):128–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-016-0684-3. Epub 2016 Dec 27
- 47. Sgarbura O, Samalin E, Carrere S, Mazard T, de Forges H, Alline M, Pissas MH, Portales F, Ychou M, Quénet F. Preoperative intraperitoneal oxaliplatin for unresectable peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: a pilot study. Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(4):209–15.
- Fagotti A, Ferrandina G, Fanfani F, Ercoli A, Lorusso D, Rossi M, et al. A laparoscopy-based score to predict surgical outcome in patients with advanced ovarian carcinoma: a pilot study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006; 13:1156–61.
- 49. Brun JL, Rouzier R, Uzan S, Darai E. External validation of a laparoscopic-based score to evaluate resectability of advanced ovarian cancers: clues for a simplified score. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;110: 354–9.
- Fagotti A, Ferrandina G, Fanfani F, Garganese G, Vizzielli F, Carone V, et al. Prospective validation of a laparoscopic predictive model for optimal cytoreduction in advanced ovarian carcinoma. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2008;199:642.e1–6.
- 51. Fagotti A, Vizzielli G, Constantini B, Lecca A, Gallota V, Gagliardi ML, et al. Learning curve and pitfalls of a laparoscopic score to describe peritoneal carcinomatosis in advanced ovarian cancer. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2011;90:1126–31.
- 52. Fagotti A, Vizzielli G, De Iaco P, Surico D, Buda A, Mandato VD, et al. A multicentric trial (Olympia-MITO13) on the accuracy of laparoscopy to assess peritoneal spread in ovarian cancer. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2013;209:462.e1–462.e11.
- Sugarbaker PH, Chang D. Results of treatment of 385 patients with peritoneal surface spread of appendiceal malignancy. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:727–31.

- 54. Baratti D, Kusamura S, Mingrone E, Balestra MR, Laterza B, Deraco M. Identification of a subgroup of patients at highest risk for complications after surgical cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg. 2012;256: 334–41.
- 55. Shoup M, Brennan MF, Karpeh MS, Gillern SM, McMahon RL, Conlon KC. Port site metastasis after diagnostic laparoscopy for upper gastrointestinal tract malignancies: an uncommon entity. Ann Surg Oncol. 2002;9:632–6.
- 56. Zivanovic O, Sonoda Y, Diaz JP, Levine DA, Brown CL, Chi DS, Barakat RR, Abu-Rustum NR. The rate of port-site metastases after 2251 laparoscopic procedures in women with underlying malignant disease. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;111:431–7.
- Bresson L, Allard-Duclercq C, Narducci F, Tresch E, Lesoin A, Ahmeidi A, Leblanc E. Single-port (SPL) or classical laparoscopy (CL) compared with laparotomy to assess the peritoneal cancer index (PCI) in primary advanced epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC). J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jmig.2016.03.025.
- Rodríguez-Panadero F. Medical thoracoscopy. Respiration. 2008;76:363–72.
- 59. Díaz JP, Abu-Rustum NR, Sonoda Y, et al. Videoassisted thoracic surgery (VATS) evaluation of pleural effusions in patients with newly diagnosed advanced ovarian carcinoma can influence the primary management choice for these patients. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;116:483–8.
- Orth K, Russ D, Steiner R, Beger HG. Fluorescence detection of small gastrointestinal tumours: principles, technique, first clinical experience. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2000;385(7):488–94.
- Yano S, Hiroharab S, Obatac M, et al. Current states and future views in photodynamic therapy. J Photochem Photobiol C. 2011;12:46–67. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jphotochemrev.2011.06.001.
- Nokes B, Apel M, Jones C, Brown G, Lang JE. Aminolevulinic acid (ALA): photodynamic detection and potential therapeutic applications. J Surg Res. 2013;181:262–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2013.02.002.
- Allison RR, Moghissi K. Oncologic photodynamic therapy: clinical strategies that modulate mechanisms of action. Photodiagn Photodyn Ther. 2013;10:331–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pdpdt.2013.03.011.
- 64. Kishi K, Fujiwara Y, Yano M, et al. Staging laparoscopy using ALA-mediated photodynamic diagnosis improves the detection of peritoneal metastases in advanced gastric cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106:294– 8. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23075.
- 65. Kishi K, Fujiwara Y, Yano M, Motoori M, Sugimura K, Takahashi H, Ohue M, Sakon M. Usefulness of diagnostic laparoscopy with 5-aminolevulinic acid (ALA)mediated photodynamic diagnosis for the detection of peritoneal micrometastasis in advanced gastric cancer after chemotherapy. Surg Today. 2016;46(12):1427–34. Epub 2016 Mar 23

- 66. Solass W, Hetzel A, Nadiradze G, Sagynaliev E, Reymond MA. Description of a novel approach for intraperitoneal drug delivery and the related device. Surg Endosc. 2012;26:1849–55.
- 67. Solass W, Herbette A, Schwarz T, Hetzel A, Sun JS, Dutreix M, et al. Therapeutic approach of human peritoneal carcinomatosis with Dbait in combination with capnoperitoneum: proof of concept. Surg Endosc. 2012;26:847–52.
- Khosrawipour V, Khosrawipour T, Diaz-Carballo D, Förster E, Zieren J, Giger-Pabst U. Exploring the spatial drug distribution pattern of pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:1220–4.
- 69. Solass W, Kerb R, Mürdter T, Giger-Pabst U, Strumberg D, Tempfer C, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy of peritoneal carcinomatosis using pressurized aerosol as an alternative to liquid solution: first evidence for efficacy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:553–9.
- Grass F, Vuagniaux A, Teixeira-Farinha H, Lehmann K, Demartines N, Hübner M. Systematic review of pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy for the treatment of advanced peritoneal carcinomatosis. Br J Surg. 2017;104(6):669–78. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.10521.
- Lotti M, Capponi MG, Piazzalunga D, et al. Laparoscopic HIPEC: a bridge between open and closed-techniques. J Minim Access Surg. 2016;12(1):86–9. https://doi. org/10.4103/0972-9941.158965.
- 72. Esquivel J, Averbach A, Chua TC. Laparoscopic cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with limited peritoneal surface malignancies: feasibility, morbidity and outcome in an early experience. Ann Surg. 2011;253:764–8.
- 73. Gesson-Paute A, Ferron G, Thomas F, de Lara EC, Chatelut E, Querleu D. Pharmacokinetics of oxaliplatin during open versus laparoscopically assisted heated intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC): an experimental study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:339–44.
- 74. Thomas F, Ferron G, Gesson-Paute A, Hristova M, Lochon I, Chatelut E. Increased tissue diffusion of oxaliplatin during laparoscopically assisted versus open heated intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:3623–4.
- 75. Esquivel J, Averbach A, Chua TC. Laparoscopic cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with limited peritoneal surface malignancies: feasibility, morbidity and outcome in an early experience. Ann Surg. 2011;253(4):764–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e31820784df.
- Esquivel J, Averbach A. Laparoscopic cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC in patients with limited pseudomyxoma peritonei of appendicealorigin. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:981245.
- 77. Passot G, Bakrin N, Isaac S, Decullier E, Gilly FN, Glehen O, Cotte E. Postoperative outcomes of laparoscopic vs open cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment of peritoneal surface malignancies. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(8):957– 62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2013.10.002.

8

Combined Resection Liver Metastases and Peritoneal Metastases

Arie Ariche, Dan Aderka, Almog Ben-Yaacov, and Aviram Nissan

8.1 Introduction

The liver and the peritoneum are common sites for cancer spread especially from gastrointestinal tract primary tumors. In isolated cancer spread to both the liver and the peritoneum, surgical treatment that comprises of resection of the metastatic disease has led to a significant improvement in the survival over systemic chemotherapy alone which was the standard of care. The mode of spread to the liver and the biological behavior of the tumor vary depending on the primary site of origin. In gastrointestinal primary tumors, the spread is through the portal circulation or via direct intraabdominal lymphatic channels, whereas the hematogenous route is employed by tumors' other primary sites. The rationale for liver resection in these cases is that the tumor is confined to the abdominal cavity and remains there for prolonged periods. Hence, adequate treatment of the primary

D. Aderka

A. Ben-Yaacov • A. Nissan (⊠) Department of General and Oncological Surgery (Surgery-C), The Chaim Sheba Medical Center, Tel Hashomer, Israel e-mail: Aviram.nissan@sheba.health.gov.il tumor combined with liver resection may provide a chance for cure. While this is true for colorectal and neuroendocrine liver metastases (LM), the approach to LM from other primary sites comparatively more selective, considering a more aggressive disease biology [1].

Peritoneal metastases (PM) are less common as compared to LM, and they have a poorer prognosis as compared to LM as shown in patients with colorectal cancer. Cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) have drastically improved the survival and quality of life of selected patients with peritoneal metastases (PM) arising from various primary sites [2, 3]. Though initially considered a contraindication to radical surgery for PM, several studies have shown that long-term survival is possible in patients with combined resection of LM and PM with an acceptable morbidity and mortality. The two common primary sites in which such combined resections with or without HIPEC are performed are colorectal cancer and ovarian cancer. This chapter describes the pathophysiology and surgical management of LM and PM occurring synchronously.

8.2 Colorectal Cancer

At the time of diagnosis of a primary colon cancer, LM are found in approximately 20% of patients as compared to PM found in 10% of patients. These

Check for updates

A. Ariche

Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, The Chaim Sheba Medical Center, Tel Hashomer, Israel

Department of Oncology, The Chaim Sheba Medical Center, Tel Hashomer, Israel

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

colorectal liver metastases (CRLM) are preferably treated by surgical resection [3–5], achieving a 5-year survival rate of 35–45% [4, 6, 7].

Five-year survival rates are routinely reported to be 40%, and 10-year survivals as high as 25% have been documented [4–7]. Similarly, a median OS of 63 months can be obtained in patients with PM treated with CRS and HIPEC [2].

8.2.1 Difference Between Peritoneal Metastases and Other Sites of Metastases

In colorectal cancer, though liver metastases are more common compared to PM, they are less aggressive. Sugarbaker and collaborators studied the growth of peritoneal and liver metastases and pointed out several differences in the biology of CPM and colorectal liver metastases (Table 8.1) [8]. Liver metastases arise as a result of portal dissemination and have a lower metastatic potential as compared to PM which spread more rapidly. Single cells or small clusters of cancer cells

 Table 8.1 Comparison and contrast of liver metastases

 with peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer

 (Adapted from [8] with permission)

Mechanism of dissemination	Liver metastases Portal vein	Peritoneal metastases Peritoneal space
Mode of progression	Expansion of a parenchymal mass	Exfoliation
Metastatic efficiency	Low	High
Incidence with primary resection	20%	10%
Incidence with diagnosis of recurrence	50%	60%
Response to modern systemic chemotherapy	60%	30%
Benefit from re-operative surgery requires R-0 resection	Yes	Yes
Preventive strategies in existence	No	Yes

then lodge within the venous sinusoids of the liver and derive their blood supply from the hepatic artery. Until the time that they grow very large and develop central necrosis, the disease remains confined to the liver. Once necrosis sets in, the capillaries within the tumor are disrupted leading to tumor spread to the systemic circulation, especially the lungs.

The liver metastases have a doubling time of 3 months, and only when the metastases become quite large—10 cm—do satellite liver metastases form as a result of cancer emboli within liver lymphatics [9]. The liver metastases progress by expansion of the tumor mass in the liver, and as the intratumoral pressure increases, cells are forced into the systemic circulation and the pulmonary circulation being in immediate continuity; lung metastases are the commonest site of progression in patients with LM. The time to progression is long and may take months to years; however if the LM are completely resected or respond to systemic chemotherapy, progression may not occur at all [9].

However, PM have an alternative and more aggressive mechanism of abdominal and pelvic progression. The cells exfoliate from the primary tumor to produce PM, and this represents a more aggressive phenotype [10]. Even small tumor nodules can shed cancerous cells that form new implants. This exfoliation process causes a far more rapid disease progression, and all quadrants of the abdominal cavity are involved by the disease process within a few months.

The metastatic potential of liver metastases is extremely low. The portal venous blood may be contaminated by millions of cancer cells, and yet only a few implants grow within the liver parenchyma. In contrast to this, PM have a very high metastatic potential [10-12]. The implantation can be as high as 1:1. It has been shown that the trauma produced by an operative intervention may greatly increase the efficiency of cancer cell implantation within the peritoneal space [13].

At the time of diagnosis of a primary colon cancer, LM are found in approximately 20% of patients as compared to PM found in 10% of patients. However, the incidence of PM is much higher in patients with recurrent disease; the

estimated incidence of LM is 50%. This can be attributed in part to the implantation of malignant cells during surgical handling of the primary at and around the surgical site producing recurrence in future.

The response to systemic chemotherapy is also different, while approximately 60% of LM will respond only about 30% of patients with peritoneal metastases will respond to modern systemic chemotherapy with 15% or less showing a complete response [14].

8.2.2 Outcomes with Systemic Chemotherapy in Patients with Colorectal Cancer with Metastases at Different Organ Sites

Systemic chemotherapy was considered to be the standard treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer. Over the years with improvisation and introduction of new chemotherapy regimens and the use of targeted therapies, there has been an improvement in the overall survival of these patients with a median overall survival reaching 30 months in some studies. Most of these studies had patients with metastases at one or more primary sites. Jan Franko and other investigators carried out an analysis of patients from various chemotherapy trials with peritoneal metastases and showed that peritoneal metastatic colorectal cancer is associated with substantially shorter overall survival by 30-40% as compared with non-peritoneal disease sites,¹ although some retrospective studies have not identified worsened prognosis [15–19].

Franko et al. analyzed individual patient data for previously untreated patients enrolled in 14 phase 3 randomized trials done between 1997 and 2008. The trials that exclusively enrolled patients with PM or those in which a formal evaluation of the peritoneal disease was made prior to enrollment were included in the analysis [20]. Of the 10,553 patients analyzed, 9178 (87%) had metastases at sites other than the peritoneum (4385 with one site of metastasis, 4793 with two or more sites of metastasis), 194 (2%) patients had isolated PM, and 1181 (11%) had PM with metastases at other sites; the patients' characteristics and treatment protocols were matched in these three groups. Patients with PM were more likely to be women (p = 0.0003), have colonic primary tumors (p < 0.0001), and have a performance status >1 (p < 0.0001). There was a higher proportion of patients with BRAF mutations in the PM alone group (8 [18%] of 44 patients with available data) and PM with other sites of metastases (34 [12%] of 289), compared with patients with non-peritoneal metastatic colorectal cancer (194 [9%] of 2230; p = 0.028 comparing the three)groups). OS (adjusted HR 0.75, 95% CI 0.63-0.91; p = 0.003) was better in patients with isolated non-peritoneal sites than in those with isolated PM. Patients with two or more sites of metastases (excluding the peritoneum) (adjusted HR 1.04 for overall survival, 95% CI 0.86–1.25, p = 0.69), PM and metastases at one other site (adjusted HR 1.10, 95% CI 0.89–1.37, p = 0.37) and those with isolated PM, all experienced a similar overall survival. The worst survival was seen in patients with PM and two or more other sites of metastases (adjusted HR 1.40; CI 1.14-1.71; p = 0.0011).

This analysis concluded that patients with colorectal PM have a significantly shorter overall survival than those with other isolated sites of metastases (Fig. 8.1). In patients with several sites of metastasis, poor survival is a function of both increased number of metastatic sites and peritoneal involvement (Fig. 8.2). The pattern of metastasis and in particular, peritoneal involvement, results in prognostic heterogeneity of metastatic colorectal cancer [20].

8.2.3 Combined Resection of Colorectal Peritoneal Metastases and Liver Metastases

The presence of simultaneous liver and peritoneal metastases has been considered a contraindication for aggressive treatment of either [5, 21, 22]. In 1999, Elias et al. reported the results of 12 patients who underwent synchronous resec-



Fig. 8.1 Overall survival in patients with colorectal cancer and a single site of metastases (From [20] with permission)



Fig. 8.2 Overall survival in patients with colorectal cancer with isolated peritoneal metastases, non-isolated peritoneal metastases, non-peritoneal metastases in one organ, and non-peritoneal metastases in multiple organs (From [20] with permission)

tion of liver and peritoneal metastases from multiple primary sites but majority with colorectal LM. The PM were an incidental finding in all these patients, and though not reported in terms of PCI, some of the patients had extensive disease with the number of peritoneal nodules ranging from 20 to 150 [23]. The authors reported no mortality but a higher incidence of bile leakages (33%). Seven patients were recurrence free at a median follow-up of 14.4 months. Major hepatectomies (involving resection of more than two Couinaud's segments) were performed in some of the patients as well [24]. Subsequently, several other investigators have reported a survival benefit of performing a synchronous resection of LM and PM with an acceptable morbidity and mortality (Table 8.2).

In another publication by Elias et al. in which there were additional 14 patients with PM and LM both diagnosed preoperatively, HIPEC was in 8/24 patients and EPIC in the remaining following a complete cytoreduction of both LM and PM [24]. They selected young patients with a good performance status, who had low-volume peritoneal disease that was asymptomatic, were responsive to 3 months of preoperative chemotherapy, and had liver metastases that were easily resectable (not invading the hepatic veins or vena cava and porta hepatis). There was one perioperative death and morbidity was seen in 58% of the patients. Three-year overall and disease-free survival rates were, respectively, 41.5% (confidence interval (CI), 23-63) and 23.6% (CI, 11-45). Seven patients were disease-free with a mean follow-up of 27.8 months after their last surgery, three having a repeated hepatectomy. Three patients developed a peritoneal recurrence and 13 had recurrence in the liver. The only significant prognostic factor for survival was a number of LMs of less than 3 (p < 0.01) [24].

In another study of 27 patients from the Washington cancer center, in addition to PM, 16 patients had liver metastases, 6 patients had lung metastases, 4 had liver and lung metastases, and 1 had supraclavicular lymph node metastases. Median OS for the entire group was 15.2 months [25]. The median overall survival (OS) was 20.6 months in patients who had a complete cyto-

reduction at all sites and 9 months (p = 0.047) in patients with an incomplete cytoreduction. Postoperative morbidity and mortality were 14.8 and 0%, respectively. In 14 patients with a PCI < 13, the median OS was 17.7 months, which was significantly longer than that of 9 months for the 13 patients with a PCI greater than 13 (p < 0.0471).

Kianmanesh et al. reported outcomes in 16 patients with LM and PM undergoing a synchronous or staged resection (resection of LM was performed prior to 2 months after CRS and HIPEC) [26]. Three patients had prior to CRS and HIPEC, ten had concomitant minor liver resection, and three had differed liver resections (two right hepatectomies) 2 months after CRS and HIPEC. The mortality rate was 2.3% (one patient). The median OS was 38.4 months (CI, 32.8–43.9). Actuarial 2- and 4-year survival rates were 72% and 44%, respectively. The survival rates were not significantly different between patients who had CRS and HIPEC for PM alone (including the primary resection) versus those who had synchronous resection of LM (median survival, 35.3 versus 36.0 months, P = 0.73). Of note was the fact that patients were stratified according to Gilly's score and patients with ascites and malignant bowel obstruction were also taken up for potentially curative surgery [26].

Chua et al. compared 16 patients undergoing resection of LM and PM both with HIPEC to those undergoing CRS and HIPEC alone. Patients with both PM and LM had a lower PCI (p = 0.03), were less likely to undergo HIPEC (p < 0.001), received less intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC or EPIC or both) (p = 0.007), had a shorter mean operative time (p = 0.001), and required less blood transfusion (p = 0.02). There was no difference in survival between patients who had PM alone or PM with LM and underwent aggressive treatment (p = 0.77) [28].

Similarly, Varban et al. found no difference in survival between 128 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC for colorectal PM to those undergoing CRS and HIPEC with liver resection for both PM and LM. The median number and size of the liver lesions were 1 (range, 1–7 lesions) and 3.0 cm (range, 0.4–12 cm), respectively [29]. The median

	P value (OS LM +	PM vs PM)				0.73		0.77			0.02 (compared with patients not resected)	0.04	0.03 for OS 0.02 for DFS
	-	Overall survival (OS)	NR	41.5% (3-year OS) 23.6% (5-year OS)	Median OS 15.2 months	Median OS 38.4 months 72% (2-year OS) 44% (4-year OS)	Median OS 18 months 19% (3-year OS) 0% (5-year OS)	Median OS 36 months 65% (2-year OS)	Median OS 23.0 months 43.3 (2-year OS) 14.4 (4-year OS)	1	Median OS 42 months 18% (5-year OS)	Median OS 32 months 40% (3-year OS) 26% (5-year OS)	Median OS 24.4 months 33% (3-year) 18% (5-year)
HIPEC	;	Mortality				2.3%		0		0%0	%0	8%	1.3%
th or without		Morbidity	33%	58%	14.8	39%		31% (grade 3-4)	57.1%	33%	30%	51%	34.6%
I and PM wi		IPC	EPIC	HIPEC/ EPIC	HIPEC	HIPEC	I	HIPEC	HIPEC	HIPEC/ EPIC	I	HIPEC/ EPIC	HIPEC/ EPIC
f colorectal LM		Median PCI			≤ 13 - $N = 14$ >13- $N = 13$	I	I	8		Ι	2	11	7
onous resection o	Mean number	of LM		4.4	I	I	I	2.1 (1-7)	1	I		2 (1–16)	
lergoing synchre	Other sites of	metastases	No	No	Lung	I	No	No	No	No	12/42 patients not operated	No	No
in patients und	Comparative	group	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Outcomes	No of	patients	12	24	27	16	13	16	14	8	42	37	36
Table 8.2	Ref no	Year	[23] 1999	[24] 2004	[<mark>25</mark>] 2004	[26] 2007	[<mark>27</mark>] 2008	[<mark>28</mark>] 2009	[29] 2009	[<mark>30</mark>] 2010	[31] 2011	[32] 2013	[33] 2015

+									
P value (OS LM	PM vs PM)	0.235			0.04			<i>p</i> > 0.05	
	Overall survival (OS)	Median OS 50.9	months	76% (2-year OS)	70.2% (2-year OS)	13.4% (2-year DFS)		Median OS 36 months	40% (5-year OS)
	Mortality	3%			4%				
	Morbidity	14%			32%	(grade	3-4)		
	IPC	HIPEC			HIPEC			HIPEC	
	Median PCI	18.5							
Mean number	of LM	I						2(1-6)	
Other sites of	metastases	No			No			No	
Comparative	group	Yes			Yes			Yes	
No of	patients	6			25			22	
Ref no	Year	[34]	2016		[35]	2016		[36]	2017

2017 EPIC early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy

OS for patients with LM was 23.0 months. Twoyear and four-year survival rates in patients with and without LM were 43.3% and 14.4% and 36.8% and 17.4%, respectively, which were not statistically different (log-rank P = 0.39). Most patients had a single small metastasis that required a minor hepatic resection. The group with PM alone included those with ascites, and the LM and PM group included patients with bowel obstruction. The patients were not stratified according to PCI, and three patients had the diagnosis of LM made during surgery for PM [29].

Glockzin et al. reported outcomes in 63 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC with hepatobiliary procedures, out of which 8 had liver resection for parenchymal metastases. One patient developed major morbidity. The survival for this subgroup was not reported separately [30].

In a single institution study, out of the 1340 operated patients for CLM from 1985 to 2010, 42 (3%) had unexpected PM. Only patients (n = 30; 71%) who had PM limited to two abdominal regions [median peritoneal cancer index (PCI), 2 (1–6)] underwent resection of PM [31]. Twelve patients did not undergo surgical resection due to the extent of peritoneal disease. The OS of the 30 patients who underwent synchronous resection of LM and PM was 18% at 5 years (median, 42 months). Thirty-three percent of the patients had peritoneal recurrence though the PCI was low. No factor was found to have an impact on survival. Patients with T4 primary tumors and bilobar liver metastases were independent predictors of unexpected finding of PM during surgery.

Maggiori et al. compared 37 patients with synchronous resection of LM and PM with 61 patients with PM alone [32]. Patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC with liver resection fared worse in terms of OS compared to those undergoing CRS and HIPEC alone (40% vs 66%, p = 0.04). Moreover, patients with PCI < 12 and no liver metastases had a median OS of 76 months compared to PCI < 12 and 1–2 liver metastases (40 months) and PCI >12 or >3 liver metastases (27 months). Patients with a PCI of 12 or more [odds ratio (OR), 4.6], those with nodal involvement of histopathology (OR, 3.3), those who did not receive adjuvant chemotherapy (OR, 3.0), and those who had LM (OR, 2.0) had an inferior OS, and these factors were independent predictor of a poorer OS. Among patients who developed a recurrence during follow-up, patients in the PM and LM group had significantly more hepatic recurrences than patients in the PM alone group (61% vs 12%, respectively, P < 0.001). The number of peritoneal recurrences (55% vs 42%, P = 0.279) and recurrences at other sites (48% vs 52%, P = 0.736) did not differ between the two groups. The authors recommended that in patients with a PCI of less than 12 and 1 or 2 easily resectable LM, complete surgical resection followed by HIPEC could be offered if they meet the selection criteria (good performance status, no extraabdominal disease, complete resection of PM is possible, R-0 resection of the liver disease is possible, and absence of disease progression after 2 - 3months of systemic chemotherapy). Aggressive surgical treatment must be very carefully evaluated for patients with PM with a PCI of 12 or more, associated with LM [32].

In another study of 36 patients undergoing resection of LM and PM, the median OS was 24.4 months. Eighteen had a PCI > 7 and >3 LM, and the median survival in this group was 21.8 months compared to 18 patients with PCI \leq 7 and LM \leq 3 with median survival of 38.4 months. The median disease-free survival for the whole group was 8.5 months [33].

In a retrospective series by Lorimier et al. of 22 patients with PM and LM treated from 1999 to 2001, the survival after CRS, HIPEC, and resection was similar to that in 36 patients undergoing surgery for LM alone [36]. All the patients who had a CC-0 resection underwent HIPEC with mitomycin C or oxaliplatin. Radiofrequency ablation was used in addition to hepatic resection in some patients. No significant difference was found between the two groups. The median OS were 36 months (range, 20–113) for the PM and LM group and 25 months (14-82) for the PM group (p > 0.05) with 5-year OS rates of 38% and 40%, respectively (p > 0.05). The median DFS were 9 months (9–20) and 11.8 months (6.5–23), respectively (p = 0.04). The occurrence of grade III-IV morbidity and a cytoreduction score CCR > 0 (p > 0.05) were independent predictors

of a poorer OS. Resection of LM and a CCR > 0 were independent predictors of poorer OS. The impact of the number of liver metastases on DFS or OS was not reported in this study.

Berger et al. reported outcomes in 103 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC with resection of LM. These patients included those with appendiceal primary tumors and with capsular involvement of the liver as well. There were 28 patients with colorectal liver metastases of whom 18 patients had parenchymal liver metastases. Nine patients had concurrent CRS and HIPEC and resection of LM, while nine others had resection of LM performed before or after the HIPEC procedure. The median OS of these 18 patients was 50.9 months which was similar to 59.6 months in patients with PM alone.(p = 0.64). Survival was longer than 2 years in ten of these patients, with the longest follow-up period being 71 months. These long-term survivors had a median PCI of 10 (for all 103 patients) [37]. The selection criteria used were no progression on at least 3 months of systemic chemotherapy, a good performance status, and a predicted PCI of <21. Complications related to liver resection were seen only in two patients, and both were managed by interventional radiology procedures. Patients in the LM and HIPEC group showed significantly more grade III complications (p = 0.009) [37].

In a meta-analysis of 16 studies reporting survival after resection of colorectal LM in a total of 378 patients with PM, accounting for 17% of all patients undergoing resection of colorectal LM and extrahepatic disease, patients with PM constituted 3% of all patients with liver metastases undergoing surgical resection [38]. This review summarized OS after resection of LM and PM as a proportional meta-analysis which is a more representative measure of true outcome compared with using median OS figures alone.

The proportional meta-analysis of survival data for these patients showed a 3- and 5-year OS of 37% (95% CI = 31–43%, significant heterogeneity (I²) = 0%) and 17% (95% CI = 9–25%, I² = 65%), while the brief quantitative analysis showed a relative risk of mortality by 5 years for this group of 1.59 (95% CI = 1.16–2.17) compared to those patients who had LM alone and had a surgical resection. The median OS of patients with LM and PM was 25 months compared to 29 and 42 months with lymph node and lung metastases, respectively, in addition to LM [38].

Unfortunately, it was not possible with the available data to present overall 5-year DFS figures which would give the best indication of possible cure after resection.

In another meta-analysis comprising of 1142 patients undergoing resection of colorectal PM and LM, the median disease-free survival was 12 (range, 4-22) months, median overall survival was 30 (range, 14-44) months, and median 5-year survival rate was 19% (range, 0-42%). Median 5-year survival of patients with R0 hepatectomy with resection of extrahepatic was 25% (range, 19-36%). Based on the site of extrahepatic disease, median survival of patients with lung metastases was 41 (range, 32-46) months, porto-caval lymph node metastases was 25 (range, 19-48) months, and PM was 25 (range, 18-32) months. The most important factor influencing survival was complete resection of disease at both metastatic sites [39].

A third meta-analysis also showed similar findings. Patients with extrahepatic disease to the lungs had a median OS of 45 (range, 39–98) months versus lymph nodes (portal and para-aortic) 26 (range, 21–48) months versus peritoneum 29 (range, 18–32) months. The median OS also varied by the amount of liver disease—42.2 months (<2 lesions) versus 39.6 months (two lesions) versus 28 months (\geq 3 lesions) [40].

Interestingly, in everyone of the three metaanalyses, several studies included patients receiving intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC), while others did not. The number of patients who received some form of intraperitoneal chemotherapy is too small to derive any meaningful conclusion regarding the benefit of its addition to surgical resection. If the resection was performed at a center specializing in peritoneal surface malignancies, IPC was used provided complete tumor removal was achieved. Not all studies reported the PCI as well. In studies reporting outcomes of LM considering PM as a site of extrahepatic disease, PCI was not reported. In some studies, a formal exploration of the whole peritoneal cavity was not performed either and only disease which was visible and resectable through an upper abdominal incision was resected.

In another meta-analysis that included only six studies all of which used either HIPEC or EPIC, authors concluded that patients with LM and PM from colorectal cancer show a trend toward a lower overall survival after curative resection and HIPEC, when compared to patients with isolated peritoneal metastases after CRS and HIPEC (pooled HR1.24, CI 0.96–1.60). However, patients with metastatic colorectal cancer show a tendency toward increased median OS after CRS and HIPEC combined with resection of liver metastases when compared to treatment with modern systemic chemotherapy [41].

Elias and collaborators in a study of 287 patients with LM, 119 patients with PM, and 37 patients with both found no difference in survival in the 3 groups of patients treated with liver resection, CRS and HIPEC, or both [42]. Based on this study, they developed a graphic nomogram that is simple to calculate and easy to use and can determine the prognosis of patients according to the number of LM, the PCI, or both. This nomogram is based on the number of liver metastases, the PCI, and the planned procedure (CRS and HIPEC, liver resection, or CRS and HIPEC with liver resection) and predicts the probability of survival at 1, 3, and 5 years. However it is based on retrospective data from a single institution and needs to be validated prospectively.

8.2.4 Some of the Questions that Arise When Dealing with Colorectal Peritoneal and Liver Are Listed Below

8.2.4.1 Should a Combined Resection Be Performed?

PM can be an incidental finding in a patient undergoing liver resection for LM, or both could be diagnosed on imaging before surgery. Rarely, parenchymal LM are detected during surgery

for PM. The median overall survival reported in the various studies reporting outcomes of combined resection ranges from 18 to 50.9 months [23-37]. These studies are retrospective in nature and have small numbers, and the patients represent a highly selected group. Nevertheless, this could be considered significantly better than the median OS of 16.3 months and 15.0 months in patients with isolated PM and those with multiple sites of metastases, respectively [20]. Even in patients who received targeted therapy in addition to systemic chemotherapy, the median OS in these two groups was 17.1 and 16.8 months, respectively [20]. In all the studies, a comparison has been made between patients with both LM and PM and those with either LM or PM alone undergoing surgical resection of all the metastases where the benefit of surgery is already defined. The survival results are similar to patients with PM alone treated with surgery and inferior to those with liver metastases as shown above. There is no comparison with systemic chemotherapy as the sole treatment. Hence, the question still arises-can systemic therapy produce similar results in this highly selected group of patients? Conducting a trial comparing surgical resection and systemic chemotherapy would be ideal but almost impossible for these patients as randomization may be considered unethical and conducting a trial for a complex surgical procedure is difficult. Based on the current available evidence, combined resection of PM and LM can be recommended in selected patients.

8.2.4.2 Selection Criteria

Such resections should be performed in patients with

- a. good performance status
- b. no extra-abdominal disease
- c. less than 3 liver metastases
- d. PCI < 12
- e. patients who have no progression on systemic chemotherapy
- f. complete resection of tumor at both sites is possible [32].

These criteria may not be considered all inclusive. It must be also kept in mind that the recommendation to perform surgery for patients with a PCI of <12 and with 1-3 LM comes from a retrospective study of 37 patients that were treated over a 15-year period, and though the surgical quality did not differ, the intraperitoneal chemotherapy type and regimens as well as the systemic chemotherapy used were very heterogenous [32]. In another study, a PCI >7 and >3 LM resulted in a poorer survival. However, both these factors were taken together, and the impact of each factor individually was not evaluated [33]. There are patients with a low PCI (<12) and 1-2 LM that are easily resectable. In these patients surgery is warranted. Similarly there are patients with a PCI >12 and >3 LM in whom surgery is probably not beneficial and should not be performed. There are two other subgroupspatients with a high PCI and limited easily resectable LM and patients with more extensive but resectable LM and a low PCI. Multiple studies have shown that the number and distribution of LM have no impact as long as they can be resected with negative margins [43]. In the study by Maggiori, the survival was 27 months when the PCI was >12 or the number of liver metastases was >3 [32]. This is still higher than the survival obtained by systemic chemotherapy alone. The negative impact of a high PCI is greater than that of the number of liver metastases and cannot be offset by the use of systemic chemotherapy. Hence, it is not advisable to perform surgery in patients with a high PCI. In the other scenario, when the peritoneal disease is limited, and the number of LM is >3, the treatment should be individualized. The median OS of 27 months is still superior to the survival obtained by systemic chemotherapy alone, and aggressive surgical treatment can still be considered in these patients though new selection criteria need to be defined. Moreover, radiofrequency ablation was used in 19% of the patients in addition to resection of LM. The role of surgery in such patients needs further evaluation. Such cases may often be the ones in which PM are an incidental finding in patients undergoing resection of LM.

8.2.4.3 Extent of Resection: Should a Major Hepatectomy Be Performed (Resection of >2 Couinaud's Segments)

Multiple studies have shown that the number and distribution of liver metastases have no impact as long as they can be resected with negative margins [43]. Liver metastases can grow very large, and even patients with one or two metastases may require a hepatectomy. Multiple studies have shown an acceptable morbidity and mortality of such procedures even when they are combined with CRS [31, 35–37]. There may be an increased risk in patients who receive some form of intraperitoneal chemotherapy as demonstrated in the study by Maggiori [32]. However, these complications are related more to the cytoreductive surgery than the liver resection, and this has been demonstrated in other studies as well. Such cases need to be individualized and decisions taken by a multidisciplinary team.

8.2.4.4 Prognostic Factors

The prognostic factors that have a survival benefit are resection of the liver metastases with negative margins, a CC-0 resection for the peritoneal metastases (it is important to note here that for high-grade malignancies like colorectal cancer, a CC-0 resection where there is no visible residual disease is ideal and not CC-1 where there is residual disease measuring up to 2.5 mm), PCI < 12, no lymph node metastases, and use of systemic chemotherapy.

8.2.4.5 Role of Systemic Chemotherapy

In most of the studies, patients have received systemic chemotherapy though its role has not been evaluated separately [23, 24, 32, 33, 36]. Elias et al. used systemic chemotherapy in all patients, and surgery was not performed in patients who had disease progression on chemotherapy [23, 24, 32]. The use of chemotherapy was a predictor of better OS. Extrapolating from the treatment of PM where systemic therapy is used more often than not, it would be prudent to use it in such patients.

No. of LM	PCI	Prerequisites	Treatment strategy
1–2	<12	Good PS, no other site of metastatic disease, no progression on SC, resection of LM with negative margins, CC-0 for PM	Combined resection of LM and PM + IPC + SC
≥3	>12		SC
1–2	>12		SC
≥3 resectable	<12	Good PS, no other site of metastatic disease, no progression on SC, resection of LM with negative margins, CC-0 for PM	Individualized treatment Combined resection of LM and PM + IPC + SC can be considered in some patients

Table 8.3 Management of colorectal LM and PM occurring synchronously

IPC intraperitoneal chemotherapy, PS performance status, SC systemic chemotherapy

8.2.4.6 Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy

The use of intraperitoneal chemotherapy is variable. EPIC and HIPEC have both been performed with several drug regimens, which makes it impossible to draw conclusions of the benefit [31, 32]. Many studies have not used intraperitoneal chemotherapy at all. What is known, however, is that IPC adds to the morbidity and this should be kept in mind while performing HIPEC or EPIC in these patients. The benefit of HIPEC in addition to CRS alone in patients with isolated PM will be defined by the PRODIGE 7 trial (NCT00769405).

Based on the above evidence, the following recommendations that can be made for patients with synchronous colorectal LM and PM are listed in Table 8.3.

8.2.4.7 Survival

Few studies reported an inferior survival for patients undergoing resection of LM and PM as compared to PM alone where as other studies reported no difference in the survival. Resection of LM itself was a predictor of a poorer OS itself though there was no significant difference in OS in the two groups. Some long-term survivors were seen, but the 5-year disease-free survival was not reported by any of the studies.

8.3 Ovarian Cancer

Ovarian cancer has a propensity for intraperitoneal dissemination. Though dissemination occurs through other routes—lymphatic and hematogenous—it is less common. It has been demonstrated that the hematogenous route is partly responsible for the high incidence of ovarian cancer metastases to the omentum [44, 45]. Other sites of spread like the retroperitoneum, distant organs, and submesothelial tissue indicate deployment pathways other than the intraperitoneal route for cancer spread in ovarian cancer [46–50].

In metastasis of ovarian cancer cells via the hematogenous route, intravasation, which is the invasion of cancer cells through the basal membrane into blood or lymphatic vessels, is the first step. The cancer cells then transit in the blood or lymph and undergo extravasation, which is the exit of cells from the blood or lymph vessels [45, 51].

This liver is a common site for hematogenous spread. Up to 15% of the patients with epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) will be diagnosed with FIGO stage IV disease, for example, the presence of parenchymal liver metastases [52]. LM account for 18% and were the second most common cause of stage IV disease in a GOG study [53]. LM are seen in up to 50% of patients dying of EOC [54].

Liver involvement can occur synchronously with peritoneal involvement. Intraparenchymal metastases must be distinguished from surface deposits that are infiltrative and require nonanatomical liver resections. Intraparenchymal metastases are surrounded by a rim of normal liver tissue on all sides. When the involvement of the liver and peritoneum is both limited, a synchronous resection of the PM and LM can be carried out.

8.3.1 Outcomes of Combined Resection of Peritoneal and Liver in Ovarian Cancer

In patients with ovarian cancer, synchronous resection of intraparenchymal liver metastases has been performed with CRS, especially in patients with solitary liver metastases. In patients with both advanced and recurrent ovarian cancer, resection of one or more liver metastases has been performed with CRS with good long-term survival [55]. However, none of these studies used any form of IPC. The goal of such resection should be to resect the LM with a negative margin and obtain a complete cytoreduction for the PM. Several retrospective studies have reported that such resections can be performed with an acceptable morbidity and mortality. In 1999, Bristow et al. first reported a survival benefit of resecting LM in patients with EOC who had undergone an optimal cytoreduction [56]. Loizzi et al. reported outcomes of liver resection in 29 patients with primary or recurrent ovarian cancer with LM. The median OS after liver resection was 19 months for patients with primary and 24 and 10 months, respectively, for patients undergoing secondary and tertiary cytoreduction [57]. On univariate analysis, the histology, performance status at the time of primary tumor diagnosis, number of hepatic lesions, the presence of extrahepatic disease, and treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy were the factors influencing survival. Lim et al. reported outcomes in 16 patients undergoing resection of LM from epithelial ovarian cancer. However, they performed liver resection only in patients with superficial liver metastases which were probably peritoneal metastases infiltrating the liver rather than true LM caused by hematogenous spread [48]. In a series of 70 patients with advanced and recurrent ovarian cancer reported by Neumann et al., only 58.6% could undergo complete tumor removal, and the median survival in these patients was 42 months [58].

Meredith et al. reported outcomes in 26 patients undergoing resection of LM and PM in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer at the

time of secondary cytoreductive surgery [59]. Patients had more extensive liver resections comprising of resection of more than two Couinaud's segments as well. Median OS was significantly higher for patients who underwent an optimal cytoreduction (27.3 vs 8.6 months) and those who were disease-free for 12 months or more before the second surgery (27.3 vs 5.7 months). Neither the number nor the distribution of LM had an impact on OS. Similar outcomes were reported by Pekmezci in eight recurrent ovarian cancer patients with a median disease-free survival of 39 months [60]. This series included a mix of patients with LM alone and those with LM and PM. In another series of 24 patients undergoing resection of LM and PM in the setting or recurrent disease, the median OS was 62 months. Twenty-one percent of the patients had complications related to the hepatectomy, the commonest being a bile leak [61]. The outcomes of resection of LM and PM from ovarian cancer are listed in Table 8.4 [62].

The common prognostic factors reported in these studies were optimal CRS (<1 cm residual disease), negative resection margins, a diseasefree interval of >12 months, fewer number of liver metastases, and fewer sites of disease. Major hepatic resections have also been performed with acceptable morbidity and a benefit in survival [57, 64].

None of these studies used IPC. Moreover, the patients included a combination of those undergoing resection of LM alone and those undergoing resection of LM and PM both especially in the setting of recurrent disease [48, 58]. These studies also do not quantify the extent of PM in terms of the PCI which is an important prognostic factor both in advanced and recurrent ovarian cancer.

The ideal way to demonstrate the benefit of resection of LM would be to conduct a randomized controlled trial. But as Gasparri et al. have pointed out, such a trial is unlikely to be conducted due to ethical considerations, the years needed to accrue a significant number of patients, and the complexity of the surgery involved.

Ref. No. Year	No of patients	Optimal CRS	Type of liver resection	Negative resection margins	OS (months)	Prognostic factors
[56] 1999	37	16%	_	NA	Overall: 18.1 Optimally cytoreduced pts: 38.4 Suboptimally cytoreduced pts: 10.3	Residual disease GOG PS Number of salvage chemotherapy regimen
[48] 2009	16	100%		100%		55% 5-year OS for stage IIIC pts 51% 5-year OS for stage IV pts
[59] 2003	26	80.8%	Segmentectomy 69.2% Trisegmentectomy 3% Left hepatectomy 3.8% Right hepatectomy 15.4%	NA	26.3 Optimal CRS 27.3 Suboptimal CRS-8.6 P = 0.031	Residual disease: <1 vs. >1 cm DFI: <12 vs. >12 months Distribution of disease: abdomen > pelvis or pelvis \geq abdomen
[61] 2003	24	66.7	Wedge resection 12.5 Segmentectomy 70.9 Trisegmentectomy 8.3% Lobectomy 8.3%	54.1%	62 (95%CI- 41–83)	No significant prognostic factors found
[57] 2005	29	NA	NA	NA	Hepatic disease alone 25 (9-44) Multi-organ recurrence 8 P = 0.033	Number of hepatic lesions; Presence of other sites of disease; Treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy
[63] 2008	10	100%	Bisegmentectomy 10% Trisegmentectomy 40% Lobectomy 50%	50%	33 (95% CI 19–56)	Size of largest tumor \geq 5 cm Negative resection margin ($p = 0.024$)

Table 8.4 Surgical and oncologic outcomes in patients undergoing CRS with resection of liver metastases (adapted from [62])

8.4 Other Primary Sites with Both Liver and Peritoneal Metastases

The reports of combined resection of LM and PM from other primary sites are scarce. Glockzin et al. reported perioperative outcomes of hepatobiliary procedures combined with CRS and HIPEC for PM and LM from various primary sites [30]. The hepatobiliary procedures included resection of the Glisson's capsule and bile duct apart from liver resections. Primary tumor was of appendiceal origin in 29 patients, of ovarian origin in 12 patients, and of colorectal origin in 11 patients. Less frequent entities causing peritoneal carcinomatosis were mesothelioma (8%), gastric cancer (3%), primary peritoneal cancer (3%), or other (one patient each with leiomyosarcoma of the uterus and renal-cell carcinoma). The authors concluded that hepatobiliary procedures were need in one-third of the patients in addition to peritonectomies and visceral resections commonly used to obtain a complete CRS and the liver specific complications were low in such procedures [30].

Berger et al. reported outcomes of 103 CRS/ HIPEC procedures (38%) performed in 101 patients with the PM arising from colorectal cancer (27%), appendix (33%; high-grade tumors), low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm
(13%), ovarian cancer (6%), gastric cancer (5%), mesothelioma (5%), and other malignancies (11%) including hepatocellular carcinoma (n = 3), cholangiocarcinoma (n = 2), pancreatic cancer (n = 2), gallbladder cancer (n = 1), melanoma (n = 1), Mullerian tumor (n = 1), and teratoma (n = 1) [37]. These included patients with capsule involvement (n = 84, 82%) and parenchymal metastases in 14 cases (14%), mainly from colorectal origin (n = 9). Thus, most of these patients had PM alone rather than hematogenous spread to the liver. There were a few cases in which the liver was involved by direct local invasion of an intra-abdominal tumor (n = 2) or by a primary tumor of the liver (cholangiocarcinoma, n = 2; hepatocellular carcinoma, n = 1). Most liver resections (55.3%) were superficial resections (capsular resections), whereas 46 procedures (44.7%) consisted of parenchymal resection. The survival outcomes were reported in patients with colorectal cancer and high-grade appendiceal tumors [37]. In patients with highgrade appendiceal tumors, the corresponding OS difference in patients with resection of LM and PM was similar to a group of patients with PM alone (P = 0.54). The authors concluded that liver resection-related morbidity is low and overall morbidity/mortality rates are comparable to other extensive CRS/HIPEC procedures. These results hold little value since hepatic capsular resections were included and would not be classified as a hepatobiliary resection by most surgeons.

The role of combined resection of LM and PM in primary other than colorectal cancer and ovarian cancer is undefined.

8.5 Technical Aspects

A thorough preoperative assessment is essential to determine the exact extent of the LM (volume and distribution) and determine the future liver remnant which should be 20–25%. A diagnostic laparoscopy could be used to assess the extent of the peritoneal disease. There is no guideline for the ideal liver remnant when HIPEC is planned as hepatotoxicity is known after HIPEC espe-

cially with the use of certain drugs like oxaliplatin. Patients may have transient liver dysfunction though a severe morbidity has not been reported.

The principles of cytoreductive surgery are followed, and the goal of such surgeries is to achieve a complete cytoreduction. An incision from the xiphoid to the pubis is employed to allow a thorough exploration and the performance of CRS. Techniques for safe resection like the selective use of portal triad clamping, an emphasis on maintaining low intravascular volumes during parenchymal transection, and meticulous hemostasis and biliostasis should be employed [62].

Peritonectomy procedures create large raw surface with massive loss of serum demanding transfusion of colloid solutions or fresh frozen plasma.

The liver-first approach allows the liver resection to be performed with minimal blood loss followed by the cytoreduction. However, in many cases the liver disease is associated with significant right upper quadrant PM mandating RUQ peritonectomy and lesser sac peritonectomy procedures before the liver can be approached. In case a complete CRS is not possible, the resection of the liver disease would not be of any value and lead to morbidity. It is easier to predict resectability of LM on preoperative imaging as compared to predicting resectability of PM. Hence, it is prudent to approach the peritoneal disease first and then perform the liver resection once a complete cytoreduction has been obtained. Intraoperative ultrasound should be used if available.

When the FLR is in adequate, a staged resection can be performed. Strategies like portal vein embolization can be used to increase the size of the FLR. Such procedures have been performed indicating the feasibility though the numbers are too small to draw any conclusions.

8.6 Ablative Techniques

Ablative techniques have been for the local treatment of liver metastases. They are used in cases where surgical resection is not possible due to the patient's age and comorbidities or the tumor size and location. The commonly used methods are radiofrequency ablation (RFA), cryoablation, and microwave ablation (MWA). Recurrence rates from RFA have been shown to be approximately three times lower than that of cryotherapy but approximately three times higher compared to resection when used as a first-line treatment in patients with resectable disease [9, 10, 64]. RFA is safe and effective both percutaneously and surgically, but its limitations include increased impedance as temperatures reach 100 °C, a small zone of active heating and decreased effectiveness with charring [11, 12]. It cannot be used for tumors located in close proximity to blood vessels are large biliary channels [65].

Microwave ablation (MWA), alternatively, does not rely on conduction of electricity and is not limited by charring. It also remains effective in temperatures above 100 °C, provides a potentially larger ablation zone, and can be performed more quickly [11, 12]. However, it is less widely available and is more expensive, and the experience with MWA for treatment of LM is limited.

The existing literature on outcomes following intraoperative MWA of colorectal cancer liver metastases is sparse [66, 67].

These strategies have a higher rate of local recurrence as compared to surgical resection. In carefully selected patient, with colorectal LM <3 cm in size, the local control rates and OS are approaching those obtained with surgical resection in recent reports [68–71]. The role of such therapies in the management of LM in addition to or as an alternative to surgical resection in patients who have PM as well remains unknown. For colorectal liver metastases, several investigators have used RFA and cryoablation in addition to/as a replacement for surgery. The role of such procedures is currently undefined. Wherever possible, a surgical resection should be performed [31].

Conclusions

Combined resection of LM and PM with or without intraperitoneal chemotherapy can be performed in selected patients with an acceptable morbidity and mortality and benefit in overall survival. For patients with colorectal cancer, such procedures can be performed in patients with a PCI < 12 and 1–2 easily resectable liver metastases. Negative margins at resection of LM and a CC-0 for the PM should be obtained in all patients. They are not recommended for a PCI of >12. For patients with a low PCI (<12) and \geq 3 LM, the prognostic factors and selection criteria need to be better defined to extend the benefit of surgical treatment to some of these patients. The role of intraperitoneal chemotherapy in this situation needs further evaluation. Similarly, in advanced and recurrent ovarian cancer, such combined resections can result in a survival benefit in selected patients. Patients with optimal residual disease, negative resection margins for the LM, a disease-free interval of >12 months (for recurrent ovarian cancer), fewer LM, and fewer sites of PM derive the maximum benefit.

References

- Adam R, Chiche L, Aloia T, et al. Hepatic resection for noncolorectal nonendocrine liver metastases: analysis of 1452 patients and development of a prognostic model. Ann Surg. 2006;244(4):524–35. https://doi. org/10.1097/01.sla.0000239036.46827.5f.
- Elias D, Lefevre JH, Chevalier J, et al. Complete cytoreductive surgery plus intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia with oxaliplatin for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27: 681–5.
- Jaeck D, Bachellier P, Guiguet M, et al. Long-term survival following resection of colorectal hepatic metastases: association Francaise de Chirurgie. Br J Surg. 1997;84:977–80.
- Adam R, Pascal G, Azoulay D, et al. Liver resection for colorectal metastases: the third hepatectomy. Ann Surg. 2003;238:871–83.
- Fong Y, Fortner J, Sun RL, et al. Clinical score for predicting recurrence after hepatic resection for metastatic colorectal cancer: analysis of 1001 consecutive cases. Ann Surg. 1999;230:309–18.
- Scheele J, Stang R, Altendorf-Hofmann A, et al. Resection of colorectal liver metastases. World J Surg. 1995; 19:59–71.
- Stangl R, Altendorf-Hofmann A, et al. Factors influencing the natural history of colorectal liver metastases. Lancet. 1994;343:1405–10.
- Sugarbaker PH. Colorectal cancer: prevention and management of metastatic disease. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:Article ID 782890., 11 pp. https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2014/782890.
- Otto G, Duber C, Hoppe-Lotichius M, et al. Radiofrequency ablation as first-line treatment in patients with

early colorectal liver metastases amenable to surgery. Ann Surg. 2010;251:796–803.

- White RR, Avital I, Sofocleous CT, et al. Rates and patterns of recurrence for percutaneous radiofrequency ablation and open wedge resection for solitary colorectal liver metastasis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2007;11:256–63.
- Wright AS, Sampson LA, Warner TF, et al. Radiofrequency versus microwave ablation in a hepatic porcine model. Radiology. 2005;236:132–9.
- Dupuy DE. Microwave ablation compared with radiofrequency ablation in lung tissue-is microwave not just for popcorn anymore? Radiology. 2009;251:617–8.
- Sugarbaker PH. Management of peritoneal-surface malignancy: the surgeon's role. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 1999;384(6):576–87.
- Sugarbaker P, Bijelic L, Chang D, Yoo D, et al. Neoadjuvant FOLFOX chemotherapy in 34 consecutive patients with mucinous peritoneal carcinomatosis of appendiceal origin. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102(6): 576–81.
- 15. Franko J, Shi Q, Goldman CD, et al. Treatment of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis with systemic chemotherapy: a pooled analysis of North Central Cancer Treatment Group phase III trials N9741 and N9841. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:263–7.
- 16. Klaver YL, Simkens LH, Lemmens VE, et al. Outcomes of colorectal cancer patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with chemotherapy with and without targeted therapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2012;38: 617–23.
- Lieu CH, Renfro LA, de Gramont A, et al. Association of age with survival in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: analysis from the ARCAD Clinical Trials Program. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32:2975–84.
- Kennecke H, Yu J, Gill S, et al. Effect of M1a and M1b category in metastatic colorectal cancer. Oncologist. 2014;19:720–6.
- Sasaki Y, Hamaguchi T, Yamada Y, et al. Value of KRAS, BRAF, and PIK3CA mutations and survival benefit from systemic chemotherapy in colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2016;17:539–43.
- 20. Franko J, Shi Q, Meyers J, et al. Prognosis of patients with peritoneal metastatic colorectal cancer given systemic therapy: an analysis of individual patient data from prospective randomised trials from the Analysis and Research in Cancers of the Digestive System (ARCAD) database. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(2):1709–19.
- 21. Glehen O, Kwiatkowski F, Sugarbaker PH, Elias D, Levine EA, De Simone M, Barone R, Yonemura Y, Cavaliere F, Quenet F, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a multi-institutional study. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:3284–92.
- Elias D, Ouellet J-F, Bellon N, et al. Extrahepatic disease does not contraindicate hepatectomy for colorectal liver metastases. Br J Surg. 2003;90:567–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.4071.

- Couinaud C. Le Foie. Etudes Anatomiques et Chirurgicales. Paris: Masson; 1957.
- 24. Elias D, Dube P, Bonvalot S, et al. Treatmentoflivermetastaseswithmoderate peritoneal carcinomatosis by hepatectomy and cytoreductive surgery followed by immediate post-operative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: feasibility and preliminary results. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 1999;46:360–3.
- Carmignani CP, Ortega-Perez G, Sugarbaker PH. The management of synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis and hematogenous metastasis from colorectal cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2004;30:391–8.
- 26. Kianmanesh R, Scaringi S, Sabate J-M, et al. Iterative cytoreductive surgery associated with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin with or without liver metastases. Ann Surg. 2007;245(4):597–603. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.sla.0000255561.87771.11.
- Aoki T, Umekita N, Tanaka S, Noda K, Warabi M, Kitamura M. Prognostic value of concomitant resection of extrahepatic disease in patients with liver metastases of colorectal origin. Surgery. 2008;143: 706–14.
- Chua TC, Yan TD, Zhao J, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis and liver metastases from colorectal cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy and liver resection. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009;35:1299–305.
- Varban O, Levine EA, Stewart JH, et al. Outcomes associated with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy in colorectal cancer patients with peritoneal surface disease and hepatic metastases. Cancer. 2009;115:3427–36.
- 30. Glockzin G, Renner P, Popp FC, Dahlke MH, von Breitenbuch P, Schlitt HJ, Piso P. Hepatobiliary procedures in patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:1052–9.
- 31. Allard MA, Adam R, Ruiz A, Vibert E, Paule B, Levi F. Is unexpected peritoneal carcinomatosis still a contraindication for resection of colorectal liver metastases? Combined resection of colorectal liver metastases with peritoneal deposits discovered intraoperatively. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:981–7.
- 32. Maggiori L, Goéré D, Viana B, Tzanis D, Dumont F, Honoré C, Eveno C, Elias D. Should patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin with synchronous liver metastases be treated with a curative intent? A case-control study. Ann Surg. 2013;258:116–21.
- 33. Alzahrani N, Ung L, Valle SJ, Ferguson J, Liauw W, Morris DL. Synchronous liver resection with cytoreductive surgery for the treatment of liver and peritoneal metastases from colon cancer: results from an Australian Centre. J Gastrointest Dig Syst. 2015;5:2.
- 34. Delhorme J-B, Dupont-Kazma L, Addeo P, Lefebvre F, Triki E, Romain B, Meyer N, Bachellier P, Rohr S, Brigand C. Peritoneal carcinomatosis with synchronous liver metastases from colorectal cancer: Who will benefit from complete cytoreductive surgery? Int J Surg. 2016;25:98–105.

- 35. Navez J, Remue C, Leonard D, et al. Surgical treatment of colorectal cancer with peritoneal and liver metastases using combined liver and cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: report from a single-centre experience. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:666–73.
- 36. Lorimier G, Linot B, Paillocher N, Dupoiron D, Verrièle V, Wernert R, Hamy A, Capitain O. Curative cytoreductive surgery followed by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis and synchronous resectable liver metastases arising from colorectal cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43:150–8.
- Berger Y, Aycart S, Tabrizian P, Agmon Y, Mandeli J, Heskel M, Hiotis S, Sarpel U, Labow DM. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with liver involvement. J Surg Oncol. 2016;113:432–7.
- Hadden WJ, de Reuver PR, Brown K, Mittal A, Samra JS, Hugh TJ. Resection of colorectal liver metastases and extra-hepatic disease: a systematic review and proportional meta-analysis of survival outcomes. HPB (Oxford). 2016;18(3):209–20. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.hpb.2015.12.004.
- Chua TC, Saxena A, Liauw W, Chu F, Morris DL. Hepatectomy and resection of concomitant extrahepatic disease for colorectal liver metastases–a systematic review. Eur J Cancer. 2012;48:1757–65.
- 40. Hwang M, Jayakrishnan TT, Green DE, George B, Thomas JP, Groeschl RT. Systematic review of outcomes of patients undergoing resection for colorectal liver metastases in the setting of extra hepatic disease. Eur J Cancer. 2014;50:1747–57.
- 41. de Cuba EMV, Kwakman R, Knol DL, Bonjer HJ, Meijer GA, Te Velde EA. Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for peritoneal metastases combined with curative treatment of colorectal liver metastases. Systematic review of all literature and metaanalysis of observational studies. Cancer Treat Rev. 2013;39:321–7.
- 42. Elias D, Faron M, Goéré D, Dumont F, Honoré C, Boige V, Malka D, Ducreux MA. simple tumor load-based nomogram for surgery in patients with colorectal liver and peritoneal metastases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(6):2052–8. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-3506-z.
- Adam R, Delvart V, Pascal G, et al. Rescue surgery for unresectable colorectal liver metastases downstaged by chemotherapy: a model to predict long-term survival. Ann Surg. 2004;240(4):644–57.
- 44. Feki A, Berardi P, Bellingan G, Major A, Krause KH, Petignat P, Zehra R, Pervaiz S, Irminger-Finger I. Dissemination of intraperitoneal ovarian cancer: discussion of mechanisms and demonstration of lymphatic spreading in ovarian cancer model. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2009;72:1–9.
- 45. Pradeep S, Kim SW, SY W, Nishimura M, Chaluvally-Raghavan P, Miyake T, Pecot CV, Kim SJ, Choi HJ, Bischoff FZ, Mayer JA, Huang L, Nick AM, Hall CS, Rodriguez-Aguayo C, Zand B, Dalton HJ, Arumugam

T, Lee HJ, Han HD, Cho MS, Rupaimoole R, Mangala LS, Sehgal V, SC O, Liu J, Lee JS, Coleman RL, Ram P, Lopez-Berestein G, Fidler IJ, Sood AK. Hematogenous metastasis of ovarian cancer: rethinking mode of spread. Cancer Cell. 2014;26:77–91.

- 46. Akin O, Sala E, Moskowitz CS, Ishill N, Soslow RA, Chi DS, Hricak H. Perihepatic metastases from ovarian cancer: sensitivity and specificity of CT for the detection of metastases with and those without liver parenchymal invasion. Radiology. 2008;248:511–7.
- Castadot P, Magne N, Berghmans T, Drowart A, Baeyens L, Smets D, Van Houtte P. Ovarian metastasis and lung adenocarcinoma: a case report. Cancer Radiother. 2005;9:183–6.
- 48. Lim MC, Kang S, Lee KS, Han SS, Park SJ, Seo SS, Park SY. The clinical significance of hepatic parenchymal metastasis in patients with primary epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;112:28–34.
- 49. Pecot CV, Bischoff FZ, Mayer JA, Wong KL, Pham T, Bottsford-Miller J, Stone RL, Lin YG, Jaladurgam P, Roh JW, Goodman BW, Merritt WM, Pircher TJ, Mikolajczyk SD, Nick AM, Celestino J, Eng C, Ellis LM, Deavers MT, Sood AK. A novel platform for detection of CK⁺ and CK⁻ CTCs. Cancer Discov. 2011;1:580–6.
- 50. Phillips KG, Velasco CR, Li J, Kolatkar A, Luttgen M, Bethel K, Duggan B, Kuhn P, McCarty OJ. Optical quantification of cellular mass, volume, and density of circulating tumor cells identified in an ovarian cancer patient. Front Oncol. 2012;2:72.
- 51. Yeung T-L, Leung CS, Yip K-P, Au Yeung CL, Wong STC, Mok SC. Cellular and molecular processes in ovarian cancer metastasis. a review in the theme: cell and molecular processes in cancer metastasis. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2015;309(7):C444–56. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00188.2015.
- Prat J, FIGO Committee on Gynecologic Oncology. Abridged republication of FIGO's staging classification for cancer of the ovary, fallopian tube, and peritoneum. Cancer. 2015;121:3452–4. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.29524.
- 53. Winter WE III, Maxwell GL, Tian C, Sundborg MJ, Rose GS, Rose PG, et al. Tumor residual after surgical cytoreduction in prediction of clinical outcome in stage IV epithelial ovarian cancer: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:83–9.
- Rose PG, Piver MS, Tsukada Y, Lau TS. Metastatic patterns in histologic variants of ovarian cancer. An autopsy study. Cancer. 1989;64:1508–13.
- 55. Gasparri ML, Grandi G, Bolla D, Gloor B, Imboden S, Panici PB, Mueller MD, Papadia A. Hepatic resection during cytoreductive surgery for primary or recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2016 Jul;142(7):1509–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00432-015-2090-3.
- Bristow RE, Montz FJ, Lagasse LD, Leuchter RS, Karlan BY. Survival impact of surgical cytoreduction in stage IV epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 1999;72(3):278–87.

- Loizzi V, Rossi C, Cormio G, Cazzolla A, Altomare D, Selvaggi L. Clinical features of hepatic metastasis in patients with ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2005;15(1):26–31.
- Kolev V, Pereira EB, Schwartz M, Sarpel U, Roayaie S, Labow D, Momeni M, Chuang L, Dottino P, Rahaman J, Zakashansky K. The role of liver resection at the time of secondary cytoreduction in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2014;24(1):70–4.
- Meredith MA, Cliby WA, Keeney GL, Lesnick TG, Nagorney DM, Podratz KC. Hepatic resection for metachronous metastases from ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;89:16–21.
- 60. Pekmezci S, Saribeyoglu K, Aytac E, Arvas M, Demirkiran F, Ozguroglu M. Surgery for isolated liver metastasis of ovarian cancer. Asian J Surg. 2010;30(2):83–8. Niu G, Shen C, Cui W, Li Q. Hepatic resection is safe for metachronous hepatic metastases from ovarian cancer. Cancer Biol Med. 2012;9:182–7
- Yoon SS, Jarnagin WR, Fong Y, DeMatteo RP, Barakat RR, Blumgart LH, Chi DS. Resection of recurrent ovarian or fallopian tube carcinoma involving the liver. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;91(2):383–8.
- 62. Chi DS, Temkin SM, Abu-Rustum NR, Sabattini P, Jarnagin W, Blumgart LH. Major hepatectomy at interval debulking for satge IV ovarian carcinoma: a case report. Gynecol Oncol. 2002;87(1):138–42. https://doi. org/10.1006/gyno.2002.6717.
- Abood G, Bowen M, Potkul R, Aranha G, Shoup M. Hepatic resection for recurrent metastatic ovarian cancer. Am J Surg. 2008;195:370–3.
- 64. Adam R, Hagopian EJ, Linhares M, et al. A comparison of percutaneous cryosurgery and percutaneous

radiofrequency for unresectable hepatic malignancies. Arch Surg. 2002;137:1332–9. Discussion 1340.

- Elias D, et al. New perspectives in the treatment of colorectal metastases. Liver Cancer. 2016;6(1):90–8.
- 66. Eng OS, Tsang AT, Moore D, Chen C, Narayanan S, Gannon CJ, August DA, Carpizo DR, Melstrom LG. Outcomes of microwave ablation for colorectal cancer liver metastases: a single center experience. J Surg Oncol. 2015;111:410–3.
- Wang J, Liang P, Yu J, Yu MA, Liu F, Cheng Z, Yu X. Clinical outcome of ultrasound-guided percutaneous microwave ablation on colorectal liver metastases. Oncol Lett. 2014;8:323–6.
- Babawale SN, Jensen TM, Frøkjær JB. Long-term survival following radiofrequency ablation of colorectal liver metastases: a retrospective study. World J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;7:33–8.
- 69. Kim KH, Yoon YS, Yu CS, Kim TW, Kim HJ, Kim PN, Ha HK, Kim JC. Comparative analysis of radiofrequency ablation and surgical resection for colorectal liver metastases. J Korean Surg Soc. 2011;81:25–34.
- 70. Shady W, Petre EN, Gonen M, Erinjeri JP, Brown KT, Covey AM, Alago W, Durack JC, Maybody M, Brody LA, Siegelbaum RH, D'Angelica MI, Jarnagin WR, Solomon SB, Kemeny NE, Sofocleous CT. Percutaneous radio-frequency ablation of colorectal cancer liver metastases: factors affecting outcomes-a 10-year experience at a single center. Radiology. 2016;278:601–11.
- 71. Solbiati L, Ahmed M, Cova L, Ierace T, Brioschi M, Goldberg SN. Small liver colorectal metastases treated with percutaneous radiofrequency ablation: local response rate and long-term survival with up to 10-year follow-up. Radiology. 2012;265:958–68.

Management of Complications of CRS and HIPEC

Aditi Bhatt and Akash M. Mehta

9.1 Introduction

The potential clinical benefits of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) have for long been overshadowed by its relatively high morbidity and mortality compared to other surgical procedures. It takes 3-12 months on an average for the quality of life to return to normal [1]. As the experience with the procedure has increased, the 'patient selection' criteria have become more disease specific and objective, clinical pathways have been developed for optimal perioperative management of patients, the experience of surgical teams has improved and formal teaching programs have been instituted which have all led to a reduction in both the morbidity and mortality. Nevertheless, as for any surgical procedure, the

A. Bhatt (⊠) Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India e-mail: aditimodi31@gmail.com

A. M. Mehta Division of Peritoneal Malignancy & Colorectal Surgery, Peritoneal Malignancy Institute, Basingstoke, UK

North Hampshire Hospital, Hampshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Basingstoke, UK morbidity cannot be reduced beyond a point; the morbidity is not always reflective of a surgeon's skill as there are other factors contributing to it as well. More experienced institutes are able to 'rescue' patients who experience morbidity. In a complex procedure such as CRS and HIPEC, multidisciplinary management is required; hence, it is not just the experience of the surgical team but that of the institute as well that is important for optimizing the short-term outcomes.

9.2 Incidence of Morbidity and Mortality Following CRS and HIPEC

In several large series of CRS and HIPEC performed for peritoneal metastases (PM) arising from various primary sites, the rates of grade 3–4 morbidity range from 12 to 66% and mortality from 0 to 4.3% (Table 9.1). Two largest single-institution studies of 1200 and 1125 patients reported grade 3–4 morbidity and 30-day mortality rates of 9.6% and 20% and 1.5% and 2.2%, respectively. These patients were treated over a period of 20 and 25 years [25, 26]. The most common complications are enteric complications comprising of anastomotic leaks and bowel perforations, haematological complications and infectious complications.



9

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018 A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_9

		5		6		
	No. of		Mortality	Overall	Grade 3–4	Most common
Ref no year	patients	Primary site	(%)	morbidity (%)	morbidity (%)	complications
[2] 1996	60	Various	5		35	
[3] 1999	200	Various	1.5		27	Peripancreatitis, enteric complications
[4] 2003	216	Various	3.2	30.5	23.6	Enteric complications
[5] 2003	49	Mesothelioma	0	38		Hepatic complications
[6] 2004	102	CRS	7.8	65	35	Enteric complications
[7] 2006	209	Various	0.9		12	Enteric complications
[<mark>8</mark>] 2006	103	PMP	11	54	54	Infectious complications
[9] 2006	110	PMP	0	38		Hepatic complications
[10] 2006	356	PMP	2.0	74.2	40.2	Haematological complications
[11] 2007	70	Mesothelioma	3.0	41	14	Bleeding
[12] 2007	106	Various	4	_	66	Enteric complications
[13] 2007	501	Various	4.3	43.1		
[14] 2008	124	Various	1.6	56.6	29.8	Enteric complications
[15] 2009	523	Colorectal	3.3		31%	Enteric complications
[16] 2009	405	Mesothelioma	2		31	Enteric complications
[17] 2010	1290	Various	4.1		33.6	Enteric complications
[18] 2012	284	Various	3.5	49	17	Infectious complications
[19] 2012	2298	PMP	2		22	
[20] 2013	566	Epithelial ovarian	0.8		31.3	
[21] 2013	960	Colorectal PMP	3		34	Haematological complications
[22] 2014	1000	Various	3.8		34	
[23] 2016	1000	PMP	0.8		15.2	Infectious complications
[24] 2016	247	Various	1.2		16.6	Infectious complications

Table 9.1 Incidence of morbidity and mortality following CRS and HIPEC

Enteric complications include anastomotic leaks, perforations and fistulas

9.3 Risk Factors

The various factors that have shown a significant impact on the morbidity and mortality following CRS and HIPEC are sex, age, primary colonic anastomosis, number of peritonectomy procedures, number of visceral resections, number of anastomosis, incomplete cytoreduction, disruption of the umbilical fissure, dose of chemotherapeutic agent, intra-abdominal HIPEC temperature and histopathologic grade [3, 4, 7, 27–29].

9.3.1 Patient Factors

Age >60 years has been associated with a higher morbidity and mortality [30]. Serum albumin

level of <3 g/dL has been associated with a higher 30-day morbidity [31]. A poor performance status results in a higher morbidity and mortality [30–32]. Obesity was associated with a higher rate of 30–90-day morbidity in one series and increased incidence of venous thrombosis in another. The 30-day morbidity was not higher in obese patients compared to nonobese patients [33, 34].

9.3.2 Surgical and Disease-Related Factors

The PCI is one of the most consistent independent predictors of morbidity and/or mortality from CRS and HIPEC [4, 21, 30, 32]. A higher PCI results in more extensive surgery which may be responsible for the higher morbidity. Several studies have shown that two or more bowel anastomoses have a significant impact on morbidity of patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC [30, 32, 35]. An increasing number of peritonectomies also increase the morbidity. Only the number of anastomoses has an impact on morbidity not the number of organs resected [35].

Diaphragmatic stripping and/or resection leads to diaphragmatic dysfunction and pulmonary complications. Diaphragm resection increased the 90-day mortality but not the major morbidity in one study, whereas another study showed an increase in the morbidity but not the mortality [36, 37]. Patients with diaphragm involvement had longer operative times, increased perioperative transfusions, longer intensive care unit and hospital stay and a lower probability of complete cytoreduction in one study [37].

Studies have shown that though performing a distal pancreatectomy to obtain a complete cytoreduction followed by HIPEC is safe, the major morbidity and mortality are higher than normal even when the procedure is performed at experienced centres. In a review of 118 CRS and HIPEC procedures at 7 institutions that included distal pancreatectomy, the major morbidity at 30 and 90 days was 44% and 7.6%, respectively, which was higher than normal, and the pancreatic fistula rate of 33% was also significantly higher than that in patients who do not undergo a pancreatic resection [38].

Hepatic resections do not result in an increased morbidity but may result in an increase in the mortality [39, 40].

9.3.3 Preoperative Systemic Chemotherapy

Preoperative systemic therapy has not been associated with an increased morbidity and mortality following CRS and HIPEC [41, 42]. The use of bevacizumab in colorectal cancer has increased the overall complication rate in one series, whereas it had no impact in another series [43, 44].

9.3.4 Importance of the Learning Curve

CRS and HIPEC are associated with a prolonged learning curve that peaks at 120–140 procedures [45, 46]. Over the years, reduction of postoperative mortality has been reported from tertiary centres worldwide. In the series of 1000 patients, comparing the first 300 patients to the last 300, the grade 3/4 morbidity rates reduced from 13.7 to 6.7% and 30-day mortality from 3.0 to 0.7% [25].

In the other series of 1125 patients, 320 patients were treated in the first 5 years and 560 in the next 5 years. Postoperative morbidity (52% vs. 50%, p = 0.672) was not different, but mortality significantly decreased (5% vs. 2%; p = 0.030). The morbidity was evaluated at 90 days in this series to get a better idea of the overall morbidity [26].

In another single-institution study of 1000 procedures, the experience was divided into 5 time periods, and the morbidity progressively decreased as the experience increased (p < 0.01). The mortality rate ranged from 2.6 to 7.0% over the five quintiles without significant differences [23]. In a French multicentric study, Glehen et al. reported a reduced morbidity and mortality when the procedure was performed at institutes that had at least 7 years of experience in performing the procedure [18]. This probably reflects improvements in technical aspects of the surgery as well as in patient selection and optimization of perioperative and postoperative care pathways.

9.3.5 Predictive Tools and Scores

Various tools and strategies have been developed to identify patients at a higher risk of major postoperative complications after CRS and HIPEC. In a series of 426 patients, Baratti et al. found 3 factors predictive of a 100% morbidity rate – PCI > 30, more than 5 visceral resections and a poor performance status. The major morbidity was 65.7% when at least two of the factors were present [32]. In a single-institution study of 247 patients, undergoing CRS and HIPEC for PM from various primary sites, the factors predictive of major complications in the multivariate analysis were a Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) score higher than 0 [odds ratio (OR), 2.505; p = 0.035], presence of preoperative symptoms (OR 1.951; p = 0.064) and prior resection status [no resection or prior CRS-HIPEC (OR 2.087) vs. prior resection without CRS-HIPEC (OR 3.209); p = 0.046]. These variables were used to create a tool predictive of postoperative complications. The authors recommended the use of this tool for counselling patients preoperatively, though it needed further validation [24].

Malfroy et al. developed a predictive morbidity score based on the outcomes in 122 patients treated over an 18-month period [47]. Five parameters recorded on the first postoperative day and considered to be statistically, clinically and practically relevant are:

- Peritoneal cancer index over 14: which has in several reports emerged as a strong indicator of short-term and long-term survival.
- Diaphragmatic peritonectomy: which leads to diaphragmatic dysfunction and pulmonary complications.
- Drain output of >1500 in the first 24 h: which leads to hypovolemia, electrolyte imbalance, haemodynamic instability and arrhythmias.
- Need of vasopressors: when vasopressor is needed to maintain the circulatory function, it is indicative of the patients' greater postoperative frailty.
- Fluid requirement of >70 mL/kg on day 1.

Patient with complications had 4–5 of these risk factors present, whereas those without complications had <4 risk factors, and this difference was statistically significant on multivariate analysis. This score had a specificity of 92.9% and negative predictive value of 83.9%. The authors recommended that patients with a score of >3 would benefit with a longer stay in the ICU. They recommended further testing and validation of the score in a larger cohort [47].

9.4 30-Day Versus 90-Day Morbidity

Conventionally morbidity and mortality are calculated as adverse event occurring up to the 30th postoperative day. However, complications can occur late in a complex procedure like CRS and HIPEC, and mortality after 30 days is not uncommon. Mise et al. performed a receiver operating characteristic analysis in 4000 patients undergoing hepatopancreatobiliary procedures which showed that surgery-related deaths occurred up to 99 days after the procedure and deaths related to the disease occurred beyond day 118. And hence, the 90-day mortality provides a better evaluation of the surgical mortality [48]. Recent studies also suggested that 90-day surveillance should be mandatory after major surgical procedures in order to better define postoperative complications [49, 50].

Hence, for CRS and HIPEC also, the 90-day morbidity and mortality provide a better evaluation of the surgical outcome. This was demonstrated by Malfroy et al. in their study—the morbidity at 30 days was 20% and 50% at 90 days. Many surgeons now report the 90-day morbidity and mortality outcomes [47].

9.5 Scoring Systems for Surgical Morbidity

The reported rates of major morbidity range between 25 and 60% for CRS and HIPEC, and this has been the bane of this procedure which offers the only possibility of long-term survival to selected patients with PM [51, 52]. Inconsistent reporting and lack of uniform classification of complications are a major confounding factor that needs to be considered when interpreting these results. A peculiarity of CRS and HIPEC is the overlap of surgical (due to the CRS component) and medical (due to the intraperitoneal chemotherapy) complications; the effects of these can be additive. For instance, postoperative anaemia could be due to bleeding and/or marrow suppression due to chemotherapy; deterioration in the renal function could be due to third space loss and hypotension and/or due to the use of high dose of cisplatin [7].

At a consensus meeting in Milan, morbidity was defined as any adverse event related to surgical manipulation during the procedure. Toxicity was defined as any adverse event that can be clearly related to the chemotherapy component. Mortality was an adverse event resulting in death [53]. However, this distinction between medical and surgical complications is not made while reporting complications of CRS and HIPEC.

Grading systems for complications of surgical procedures have been developed to quantify their severity; compare outcomes between different procedures, surgeons and institutions; and determine their impact on the short- and long-term outcomes related to the procedure. For a valuable quality assessment, relevant data on outcomes must be obtained in a standardized and reproducible manner to allow these assessments to be made [54, 55].

Terms, such as minor, moderate, major or severe complications, have been inconsistently used among authors and centres and over time periods [56]. A number of attempts were made in the 1990s to classify surgical complications; the most popular of them is the one proposed by Clavien and Dindo [56–60] (Table 9.2).

9.5.1 The Clavien-Dindo Classification

Clavien et al. first classified complications based on the therapy used to treat them and differentiated three types of negative outcome after surgery, (a) complication, (b) failure to cure and (c) sequela [56]. Complications and sequelae both add new problems to the existing condition; the difference between the two is that sequelae are consequences inherent to the procedure, whereas complications are unexpected events. Failures are events in which the purpose of the procedure is not fulfilled. The complications were further graded according to their severity. The initial classification proposed in 1992 divided complications into 4 grades described in Table 9.1.

In this classification, the grade was based on the therapeutic intervention required to treat the complication. This approach allowed identification of most complications and prevented downgrading of major negative outcomes. This is particularly important in retrospective analyses. The authors proposed a revised version in 2004the Clavien-Dindo classification (Table 9.3) [61]. The number of grades was increased, and more weightage was given to life-threatening complications requiring intensive care management. The length of hospital stay for gauging complications was removed. The patient perspective was introduced by adding 'disability at the time of discharge' in the classification. Complications that required management in the intensive care unit were graded higher. CNS complications that have a higher risk of mortality and usually require ICU management were graded higher. The length of hospital stay which is often not recorded or varies according to institutional practices was no longer a criterion for grading of complications.

The classification was tested in a cohort of 6336 patients undergoing elective general surgery and significantly correlated with complexity of surgery (P < 0.0001) and the length of the hospital stay (P < 0.0001). In an international survey that

Table 9.2 Grading of complications according to their severity as proposed by Clavien et al. in 1992

Grade	Description
Grade 1	Complications are alterations from the ideal postoperative course, non-life-threatening and with no lasting disability. Complications of this grade necessitate only bedside procedures and do not significantly extend hospital stay
Grade 2	Complications are potentially life-threatening but without residual disability. Within grade 2 complications, a subdivision is made according to the requirement for invasive procedures
Grade 3	Complications are those with residual disability, including organ resection or persistence of life-threatening conditions
Grade 4	Complications are deaths as a result of complications

Grade	Definition
Grade 1	Any deviation from the normal postoperative course without the need for pharmacological treatment or surgical, endoscopic and radiological interventions Allowed therapeutic regimens are drugs such as antiemetics, antipyretics, analgesics, electrolytes and physiotherapy. This grade also includes wound infections that are opened at the bedside
Grade 2	Requiring pharmacological treatment with drugs other than such allowed for grade 1 complications. Blood transfusions and total parenteral nutrition are also included
Grade 3	Requiring surgical, endoscopic or radiological intervention
Grade 3a	Intervention not under general anaesthesia
Grade 3b	Intervention under general anaesthesia
Grade 4	Life threatening complication (including CNS complications) ^a requiring intensive care management
Grade 4a	Single organ dysfunction (including dialysis)
Grade 4b	Multi-organ dysfunction
Grade 5	Death of a patient
Suffix d	If the patient suffers from a complication at the time of the discharge, the suffix 'd' (for disability) is added to the respective grade of complication. This label indicates the need for a follow-up to fully evaluate the complication

Table 9.3 The Clavien-Dindo classification for grading surgical complications (From reference [61] with permission)

CNS, central nervous system; IC, immediate care; ICU, intensive care unit

aIntracerebral haemorrhage, ischaemic stroke, subarachnoid bleed excluding transient ischaemic attacks

tested the reproducibility, majority of the users found in simple, logical, useful, easily reproducible and comprehensive irrespective of the level of training of the user and the country of origin [62]. Five years later, the authors noted a dramatic increase in the use of the classification in many fields of surgery and a high degree of concurrence among patients, nurses and physicians in grading of complications in difficult scenarios [62].

Considering its simplicity and reproducibility, a number of outcome studies have used this classification system, which focuses on the most severe complication. The various degrees of severity not only correlate between surgeons, nurses and patients but also compare well with the overall cost of the procedure, length of hospital stay and other pertinent factors [63, 64].

The limitation of this classification is that it scores only the complication that is most severe or has the highest grade. A patient with multiple complications of a lower grade may be perceived as being 'worse' than one with a single complication of a higher grade.

Elias et al. proposed a modification of this classification to better suit patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC (Table 9.3) [65].

9.5.2 The Comprehensive Complication Index (CCI)

The Clavien-Dindo classification is based on an ordinal scale and considers the grade of the most severe complication; it may not be reflective of the overall burden of complications when multiple complications develop in the same patient. Clavien et al. considered summing up the grades of all the complications, but this would mean giving more weightage to the less severe complications. Consequently, they used the 'operation risk index' which is widely used in economics and synthesizes the perspectives of different stakeholders [65].

The patients and physicians' evaluation is considered separately. The median reference values from the physicians (MRV_{phys}) and patients (MRV_{pat}) for each grade of complication were then multiplied (MRV_{phys} × MRV_{pat}) and compared: for example, a grade 1 complication such as wound infection drained at the bedside (e.g. MRV_{phys} = 15 and MRV_{pat} = 20; i.e. $15 \times 20 = 300$) had a much lower weight than a grade 3b complication such as a reoperation due to a complication (MRV_{phys} = 65 and MRV_{pat} = 70; i.e. $65 \times 70 = 4550$). In a next step, these figures were summed $[(MRV_{phys} \times MRV_{pat})]$ to incorporate all postoperative complications of different severities occurring in an individual patient, giving a 'raw' CCI that reflects the totality of the postoperative morbidity experience. To ease the clinical applicability of the CCI, different transformations (logarithmic, square and third roots) were tested to find a distribution of CCI scores close to a normal distribution and to set the lower CCI limit at '0' and the upper at '100'. The CCI can be readily computed on the basis of tabulated complications according to the Clavien-Dindo classification (available at www.assessurgery. (http://evs.nci.nih.gov/ftp1/CTCAE/ com) CTCAE_4.03_2010-06-14_QuickReference_8.5x11. pdf).

The CCI summarizes all postoperative complications and is more sensitive than existing morbidity endpoints. The CCI could be used as an endpoint for randomized controlled trials and may reduce the sample size [66]. Whereas the Clavien-Dindo classification has been used widely for grading the complications following CRS and HIPEC, the CCI has not been used so far.

9.5.3 The Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE)

Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) is widely accepted throughout the oncology community as the standard classification and severity grading scale for adverse events in cancer therapy clinical trials and other oncology settings. The National Cancer Institute issued the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) version 4.0 on May 29, 2009, and this version was last updated on June 14, 2010 [68].

The classification for complications of surgical procedures is described in Table 9.4. This classification includes 310 specific types of complications and 5 severity grades; the grades are different for each complication [6]. This differentiates it from the Clavien-Dindo classification in which a common grading system is applied to each complication.

To standardize reporting of complications after CRS/HIPEC, the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) grading system was proposed in a consensus conference in Milan in 2006 (Table 9.5) [53].

The rationale to use the CTCAE classification for complication grading after CRS/HIPEC was the better comparability with adverse events of systemic chemotherapy.

9.5.4 Comparison of Clavien-Dindo and CTCAE classifications

A comparison and assessment of the two systems were made by Lehman et al. Complications after 147 consecutive CRS and HIPEC procedures were recorded and graded independently by a panel of experts using both classification systems [67]. Complications occurred in 37% (54/147) of patients, 6.8% (10/147) were reoperated, and 3 (2%) patients died. The most frequent complications were intestinal fistula or abscess, pulmonary

Table 9.4Modification of the Clavien-Dindo classification proposed by Elias [from reference 65 with permission]

Grade 0	No complications
Grade 1	Complications requiring either no intervention or minor intervention such as oral antibiotics, bowel rest or basic monitoring
Grade 2	Complications requiring moderate interventions such as intravenous medication (e.g. antibiotics or antiarrhythmics), total parenteral nutrition, prolonged tube feeding or chest tube insertion
Grade 3	Complications requiring hospital readmission, surgical intervention or radiologic intervention
Grade 4	Complications producing chronic disability, organ resection or enteric diversion
Grade 5	Complications that result in death

Adverse	Grade							
event	1	2	3	4	5			
Surgical and medical procedures	Asymptomatic or mild symptoms; clinical or diagnostic observations only; intervention not indicated	Moderate; minimal, local or non- invasive intervention indicated; limited age- appropriate instrumental ADL	Severe or medially significant but not immediately life- threatening; hospitalization or prolongation of existing hospitalization indicated; disabling; limiting self-care ADL	Life-threatening consequences; urgent intervention indicated	Death			

 Table 9.5
 Classification of surgical and medical complications according to the CTCAE classification

Table 9.6 A comparison of various classifications for grading complications

	CTCAE ver 4.0	Clavien-Dindo	JCOG PC criteria
Complications specified	Yes	No	Yes
Grading definitions	Defined for each complication	Single common definition for all complications	Defined for each complication (following the general definition of the Clavien-Dindo classification)

complications and ileus. Grading of complications with the CTCAE classification resulted in a significantly higher major morbidity rate compared to the Clavien-Dindo classification (25 vs. 8%, p = 0.001). A group of residents, experienced surgeons and medical oncologists evaluated a set of 12 real complications, either with the Clavien-Dindo or CTCAE classification. Evaluating a set of complications, residents, surgeons and oncologists correctly assessed significantly more complications with the Clavien-Dindo compared to the CTCEA classification (p < 0.001). In addition, all participants evaluated the Clavien-Dindo classification as more simple. Residents (p < 0.001)and surgeons (p < 0.01) required less time with the Clavien-Dindo classification; there was no difference for oncologist [67].

The Clavien-Dindo classification was easier to use but would miss reporting important complications like the haematological toxicity or nephrotoxicity if they were not severe enough to require treatment. The CTCAE classification is more cumbersome to use; however, all complications are recorded.

The authors proposed that the Clavien-Dindo classification should be used because of its simplicity; the CTCAE should be reserved for the assessment of critical parameters like nephrotoxicity or haematotoxicity.

The other drawback of the Clavien-Dindo classification compared to the CTCAE classification is that specific complications are not named. Hence, different investigators used different terms for each complication. For example, the terms 'paralytic ileus', 'small bowel obstruction' and 'colonic obstruction' may have been used for the same clinical condition [68]. The Japan Clinical Oncology Group (JCOG) proposed another classification to overcome these limitations called the JCOG postoperative complications criteria - JCOG PC criteria. In this system, the common complications are specified and listed [68]. There are 72 surgical complications experienced commonly in surgical trials, focusing on 17 gastrointestinal complications, 13 infectious complications, 6 thoracic complications and several other complications in this list. The grading criteria are defined simply and optimized for surgical complications. This is useful for making comparisons between different studies. These criteria can be used to supplement the Clavien-Dindo classification. A comparison between the Clavien-Dindo, CTCAE and JCOG PC classifications is provided in Table 9.6. Once again, these criteria have not been used or validated for patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC.

Sugarbaker et al. classified 48 common complications according to the CTCAE criteria, and that classification is used as a reference in this chapter [10, 69].

9.6 Failure to Rescue

Siber et al. in 1992 first showed that the factors that led to the occurrence of complications and those that led to the mortality were different [70]. Among 5972 patients undergoing two common general surgical procedures, they studied the deaths occurring in patients overall, the percentage of patients who developed complications and the deaths occurring in patients who developed complications. Deaths resulting from postsurgical complications were termed as 'failure to rescue'. Whereas complications were more due to patient-related factors, 'failure to rescue' was dependent on the hospital characteristics and not on other factors. In another study, Gahferi et al. showed that though the rates of complications were similar in two hospitals, the mortality rates among these patients varied greatly and the rate of 'rescue' from complications was dependent on the hospital's ability to recognize the complication early on in its course and administer the treatment necessary to recover from it [71].

An analysis of the morbidity is important as it has an impact on the short-term and long-term outcomes and cost.

However, morbidity may not be the ideal tool to judge the quality of the surgery.

Passot et al. listed several reasons for this:

- The reporting of morbidity is not standardized, and hence it is difficult to gauge the severity of complications [72]. Depending on which classification is used and the postoperative period analysed, the morbidity rate could widely change.
- Long-term experience has shown that the morbidity does not decrease over time; it's the salvage of patients who develop complications

that increases. This was shown in a study of 666 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC, treated by the same authors from 2009 to 2014. From 2012 onwards, a standardized perioperative clinical pathway was introduced, which focused on patient selection, nutrition, renal protection, pain management, prevention and early detection of complications. Major complications occurred in 341 patients (51%), of which 15 patients died. Though the complication rate before and after the introduction of the pathway remained the same (54.75% vs. 48.9%, respectively; P = 0.138), the failure-torescue rate significantly decreased after introducing the clinical pathway (9.02% vs. 1.02%; P < 0.001). On multivariate analysis, only renal complications were associated with the failure to rescue [73].

- Since the survival after potentially curative surgery has been improving due to the availability of newer and more effective systemic therapies, a delay in starting adjuvant therapy because of complications should be avoided. Hence, the return to intended oncologic therapy (RIOT) could be a better tool to evaluate the quality of surgery. This is important in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC especially in patients with ovarian cancer where systemic therapy should not be delayed because of surgical complications [74].

9.7 The Normal Postoperative Course of a Patient Undergoing Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC

As compared to other surgical procedures, certain physiological changes take place which may be considered pathological following other surgical procedures. These clinical and biological changes were first described by Elias et al. as 'natural history' of an uncomplicated CRS followed by intraperitoneal chemotherapy [75]. In this study of 31 patients, the postoperative course of all patients was considered uneventful, and they were discharged within 15 days of the surgery. These changes include:

- Temperature of 38°C for up to 10 days following surgery, in absence of surgery which is due to a systemic inflammatory response syndrome, with no documented infection. The rise in temperature may persist for up to a month after the procedure.
- Pain, evaluated on a visual analogue scale from 1 to 10, is around 4 for the first 4 days, and then the scores decline.
- High drain output decreasing progressively from 450 to 50 mL from the first to the seventh postoperative day.
- High nasogastric tube drainage of up to 1000 mL over 24 h declining from the sixth postoperative day onwards. The tube should be kept in situ till the output is minimal and the bowel function has returned.
- Increased frequency of bowel movements noted in 63% of the patients, up to 6/day between days 6 and 14 with no positive stool cultures.
- Sixty-three percent of the patients had transitory diarrhoea from days 4 to 6. The median number of stools was 6/day between day 4 and day 14, without positive stool cultures.
- Transient severe hypophosphatemia on days 2 and 3 attributed to hyperthermia-induced renal tubulopathy. The condition was selfresolving and did not respond to a daily administration of phosphorus (4 g/24 h). The insulin requirement was increased during this period.
- The haemoglobin remained stable at 10 g/dL in uncomplicated cases.
- The leucocyte count decreased progressively from 12,000/mm³ to 5000/mm³ till the 12th postoperative day.
- Platelet counts decreased from 200,000/mm³ at day 1 to 120,000/mm³–150,000/mm³ at days 3 and 4 before progressively increasing until day 15, even though 50% of the patients underwent a splenectomy. Haematopoietic growth factors were not used.
- There was a transient moderate elevation of the liver enzymes (two to three times of the

upper normal limit) on days 1–4 possibly due to electroevaporation of the hepatic surface deposits.

 Transient hyperbilirubinemia due to cholestasis is seen [75].

9.8 Specific Complications and Their Management

9.8.1 Gastrointestinal Complications

Gastrointestinal complications occur relatively frequently, though accurate data on their incidence is lacking, with estimates ranging between 3 and 34% [76].

An overview of common gastrointestinal complications and grade-specific treatment options is provided in Table 9.1 and the reported incidence in various reports in Table 9.7 [72].

9.8.2 Enteric Leaks and Fistulas

Enteric leaks, either from anastomoses or iatrogenic injuries to the bowel surface, are a major source of morbidity. Enteric content may cause peritonitis and sepsis or may form localized collections and abscesses; these may form a fistula by communicating with the exterior. A fistula occurs when there is an abnormal communication between two epithelialized surfaces, permitting the loss of electrolytes and fluids, and can lead to a wide variety of pathophysiological complications including wound infection, sepsis, malnutrition and electrolyte imbalance [80] (Table 9.8).

9.8.3 Pathogenesis and Risk Factors

There are several risk factors for enteric leaks in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC apart from the usual risk factors for these complications. The extensive nature of the surgery and prolonged duration increase the risk of bowel complications

Organ system	Grade 1 asymptomatic and self-limiting	Grade 2 symptomatic requiring medical management	Grade 3 invasive intervention required	Grade 4 ICU care or return to the operating room
Anastomotic failure	Subclinical, afebrile, radiological diagnosis	Antibiotics, febrile	Percutaneous drainage	Reoperation
Fistula	Subclinical, afebrile, radiological diagnosis	Antibiotics, febrile	Percutaneous drainage	Reoperation
Pancreatic fistula	Elevated enzymes in drains	TPN and somatostatin	Percutaneous drainage	Reoperation
Pancreatitis	Elevated enzymes	<3 Ranson's score	4-6 Ranson's score	Reoperation
Bile leak	Bile only in the drain	Bile in the drain, febrile	Percutaneous drainage	Reoperation
Chyle leak	Transient	Prolonged 1 week	Ceases prior to discharge	Persists past hospital discharge
Prolonged ileus	N/G tube for <2 weeks	N/G > 2 weeks	N/G > 3 weeks	Persists past hospital discharge
Small bowel obstruction	Abdominal pain	Abdominal pain, N/G reinsertion	Repeat radiologic studies	Reoperation
Hartmann pouch leak	Afebrile	Antibiotics, febrile	Percutaneous draining	Reoperation
Enterostomy tube	Skin irritation at entrance site	Tube displaced to the floor	Interventional radiology procedure	Abscess formation, surgical drainage
Oral pain/ ulceration	Soreness/erythema	Erythema, ulcers, can eat solids	Ulcers, requires liquid diet only	Alimentation not possible
Nausea/ vomiting	Transient vomiting	Vomiting, antiemetics	Vomiting, IV therapy	Vomiting, surgical intervention
Diarrhoea	Transient <2 days	Tolerable, >2 days	Intolerable, IV therapy	Dehydration Prolonged IV therapy
Ascites	Mild	Fluid restriction	Symptomatic, percutaneous tap	Compromising vital functions, ICU care

Table 9.7 Common gastrointestinal complications after CRS and HIPEC [69]

Table 9.8 Incidence of various gastrointestinal complications in large series of patients treated at high-volume centres

Ref year	No of patients	Primary tumour site	Major complications	GI Grade 3–4 morbidity
[4] 2003	207	Colon, PMP, ovarian	Digestive fistula (14), prolonged ileus (11), intraperitoneal abscess (5)	15% 30 events
[7] 2006	205	PM, PMP, ovarian	Anastomotic leak (17), bowel perforations (6), biliary fistula (1), pancreatic fistula (2), ileus/gastric stasis (4)	15%; 30 events
[77] 2009	123	Colorectal, PM, PMP, ovarian	Anastomotic leak (7), digestive perforation (11), pancreatitis (1), bile leak (1), ileus (3)	19%; 23 events
[78] 2011	456, (including debulking surgery)	PMP (appendix)	Anastomotic leak (7), pancreatic complications (5), intestinal fistula (8)	4.55; 20 events
[79] 2011	147	Colon, PMP (appendix)	Anastomotic failure (2), fistula (4), pancreatitis (1), bile leak (1), chyle leak (1), prolonged ileus (0), small bowel obstruction (1), vomiting (5), diarrhoea (0), ascites (0)	8%; 15 events

[81]. Patients with a high PCI, those that have resection of multiple segments of bowel and therefore multiple anastomoses, are at an increased risk for developing bowel leak [4, 82]. Other risk factors are a higher number of peritonectomy procedures, prior systemic chemotherapy, use of VAC and increased intraoperative blood loss [2, 3]. The average number of anastomoses performed varies in different series; hence, as proposed by Younan et al., the bowel complication (BC) to anastomosis (A) ratio which ranges from 7.2 to 17.4% would give a better idea of the rate of complications in addition to the bowel leak rates [82].

Multiple prior debulkings or previous CRS procedures lead to the formation of dense adhesions. The risk of these complications in reiterative procedures is higher [81, 82].

HIPEC was found to have a negative impact on the strength of the colonic anastomosis in experimental studies [83, 84]. However, others have shown that not all drugs have a negative impact – mitomycin-C had a negative impact, whereas 5-FU and paclitaxel at a normal temperature did not [85, 86]. Hyperthermia alone may not have a negative impact [87].

The high incidence of enteric leaks is due in part to impaired healing of tissues after HIPEC and in part to the lack of the greater omentum to seal off small leaks which would have probably remained subclinical in other settings.

There is a possibility of spontaneous bowel perforation in patients undergoing HIPEC which happens at a distance from the anastomotic site. The possible causes of this are partial-thickness damage to the intestinal wall during adhesiolysis or tumour removal, increased risk of injury if the bowel is in contact with the tip of the inflow catheter, negative suction at the tip of the outflow catheter leading to bowel injury or shrinkage of tumour nodules on the bowel wall in response to the chemotherapeutic drugs used in HIPEC [76].

9.8.4 Technical Aspects and Preventive Measures

9.8.4.1 Closed Versus Open Method

Some surgeons anticipate a greater risk of complications with the closed method and have adopted the open method in preference [2, 3]. Elias demonstrated uneven distribution of methylene blue in the closed method and suggested that uneven distribution and circulation of perfusate that occurred during the closed method increased the risk of enteric complications [88, 89]. However, the incidence of anastomotic leaks and bowel perforations has not been higher in series where HIPEC is performed by the closed methods and this presumption is no longer valid [4, 76]. To prevent hyperthermia damage to small bowel surfaces, Glehen et al. recommend the placement of inflow drains under the cupolas of the diaphragms and not in direct contact with the intestinal wall.

9.8.4.2 Timing of the Anastomosis

Bowel anastomoses can be performed either after or before HIPEC. When the anastomoses are performed after HIPEC, the edges of the bowel that are a site of tumour implantation get perfused, and thus treated proponents of the first alternative argue that delaying the anastomosis permits a better distribution of heat and drugs inside the peritoneal cavity. Additionally, the potential adverse effects of heat and chemotherapy on the bowel anastomosis can be avoided. Once again, a higher incidence of anastomotic leak or bowel perforations has not been observed when the anastomoses are performed before HIPEC [90, 91].

9.8.4.3 Bowel Handling During Surgery

Though it is difficult to completely avoid serosal injuries during extensive adhesiolysis (a common component of many cytoreductive cases), meticulous examination of the entire small and large bowel, and careful repair of any injuries, before abdominal closure is essential. Similarly, in patients undergoing a rectum-preserving pelvic peritonectomy, the rectum must be closely inspected for any serosal tears (typically on the anterior wall); use of a Heald anal stent may be considered in these patients to ensure adequate rectal decompression during the early postoperative period.

9.8.4.4 Technique of Anastomosis

No specific recommendations regarding anastomotic technique in the context of CRS and HIPEC have been made; bowel anastomoses are constructed according to local protocols, although most peritoneal malignancy surgeons prefer, where possible, handsewn end-to-end anastomosis with interrupted sutures. If administration of EPIC is planned, a double-layered anastomosis is often considered. A recent ESCP Collaborating Group audit on anastomotic technique after right hemicolectomy and ileocaecal resection demonstrated a higher odds of leak after stapled versus handsewn anastomosis (adjusted OR 1.43; 95% CI: 1.04–1.95; P = 0.03) [92]; however, this snapshot audit excluded cytoreductive procedures for peritoneal malignancy.

9.8.4.5 Diverting Stoma

Little consensus exists as to the feasibility and safety of colorectal anastomoses after anterior resection during CRS and HIPEC. Though establishment of an end colostomy is potentially safer than a high-risk anastomosis, available evidence suggests that only a minority of patients will ever undergo a reversal; in a study of 336 patients who underwent a Hartmann's procedure as part of CRS and HIPEC, only 21 patients underwent an attempt at reversal, which was successful in only 16 patients (4.7%). Moreover, more than half of the patients in whom a reversal was attempted developed grade 3 complications [93]. Longstanding policy in many peritoneal malignancy centres has been to establish circular stapled side-to-end colorectal anastomoses with a defunctioning loop ileostomy, which can be subsequently reversed. One recent study has demonstrated that the formation of a defunctioning stoma is associated with lower rates of anastomosis-related morbidity; however, reversal of the stoma required a laparotomy in 18% of cases and had an associated morbidity of 50% [94]. Routine defunctioning is not a universally accepted approach, and an increasing number of peritoneal malignancy centres are reporting low complication rates using a technique of oversewing a stapled colorectal anastomosis with plicating interrupted sutures, without formation of a diverting stoma [79, 95]; in one report of 29 patients undergoing this technique of colorectal reconstruction during CRS and HIPEC, no clinically manifesting anastomotic leaks were observed [95].

In an interim analysis of the PRODIGE 7 study, the rate of enteric leaks was higher in the HIPEC group as compared to the non-HIPEC group. Though this difference did not reach statistical significance, leaks occurred even in the presence of a defunctioning stoma. The presence of a stoma did not prevent leaks but reduced the incidence of peritonitis. Hence, the authors recommend that a protective stoma should be performed in case of more than two areas of bowel wall repair, of more than two bowel anastomoses or of rectal resection (unpublished data; personal communication by Francois Quenet).

9.8.4.6 Management of Enteric Leaks

Enteric leaks present relatively late in the postoperative period, compared to other gastrointestinal surgical procedures. In a study of 203 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC (with enteric leaks occurring in 23 patients), enteric complications manifested at a median duration of 10 days after surgery (range 3–28 days) [82]. The relatively late occurrence of enteric complications may be attributed to the delayed recovery of bowel function which may delay the manifestation of a leak or to late tissue failure that can occur in these patients. Even with intestinal contents leaking in the peritoneal cavity, overt clinical signs may not been seen due to removal of the peritoneum itself.

If an enteric leak is suspected, a high index of suspicion should be maintained resulting in a low threshold for early cross-sectional imaging (Fig. 9.1).

Various strategies exist to deal with enteric leaks, varying from early repeat laparotomy (during the first 10 days) to nonoperative management utilizing a combination of percutaneous radiological procedures, antibiotic treatment and parenteral nutrition. Some centres have adopted a low threshold for repeat laparotomy to deal with enteric leaks which become apparent in the early postoperative period, while others successfully utilize more conservative management strategies. Clearly, the choice of strategy depends not just on the timing in the postoperative course and the patient's physiological condition, but also on institutional policy and various practical issues, e.g. the availability of emergency interventional radiology services, nutritional teams to support parenteral nutrition, etc.



Fig. 9.1 CT images of enterocutaneous fistula (arrows in **a**), bowel perforation (arrow in **b**) and intra-abdominal collection (*) during surveillance due to severe small

bowel adhesions and small bowel obstruction. Percutaneous drain (arrow in d) was placed under CT guidance

In the aforementioned study of 23/203 patients with enteric leak after CRS and HIPEC, 5 patients were managed conservatively, while a surgical intervention was performed in 18. All the patients with rectal anastomotic leaks had a defunctioning stoma fashioned [82].

Enterocutaneous Fistulas

Enterocutaneous fistulas have been estimated to occur in 4–34% of patients after CRS and HIPEC. A recent overview of 918 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC reported an enteric fistula rate of 5.8% (53 patients) [81]. In these 53 patients, a 5.7% mortality rate was observed; major morbidity rates were significantly higher than among the remaining 865 patients. Risk factors contributing to the occurrence of enteric fistulas include extensive adhesiolysis, significant residual disease after incomplete cytoreduction, application of abdominal VAC systems, recent systemic chemotherapy or radiotherapy, malnutrition, smoking and the administration of intraperitoneal chemotherapy [81].

Classification of fistulas is based on anatomical location (proximal versus distal small bowel versus colonic) and output (low, <200 mL/24 h; intermediate, 200-500 mL/24 h; high, >500 mL/24 h). In the aforementioned report on 53 patients with an enteric fistula, approximately half of fistulas were low output, a third were high output and the remainder intermediate [81]. In general, low-output fistulas are likely of colonic origin, while high-output fistulas more often originate in the small bowel. This classification loosely correlates with the probability of spontaneous fistula closure: higher rates of spontaneous closure occur in low-output, colonic fistulas, while high-output small bowel fistulas are unlikely to close spontaneously. In this regard, the aspect of the fistula is important: a fistula with visibly everted mucosa will have a lower likelihood of closing spontaneously (Fig. 9.2).



Fig. 9.2 Small bowel fistula with mucosal eversion

Regardless of classification, enterocutaneous fistulas cause significant morbidity due to sepsis, wound management problems, loss of nutritional status and electrolyte disturbances. The successful management of enterocutaneous fistulas should therefore address these issues. The initial management is dictated by the clinical condition of the patient: emergency invasive procedures are indicated in septic patients and may consist of either surgical drainage of collections with closure or defunctioning of the fistula or, alternatively, percutaneous radiological drainage of associated collections (Fig. 9.1). In non-septic patients, initial management is guided by the timing relative to surgery. Within the early postoperative period (commonly limited to the first 10 days), surgical intervention may be considered; fistulas becoming apparent after that timeframe are commonly managed conservatively. The three goals of conservative fistula management are the maintenance and improvement of nutritional status and electrolyte homeostasis, optimization of wound management and control of fistula output. Nutritional optimization commonly necessitates total parenteral nutrition, which also contributes to decreasing fistula output. Intravenous administration of proton pump inhibitors helps to decrease gastric secretions, while the role of somatostatin analogues (e.g. octreotide) is more controversial.

The likelihood of fistula closure after conservative management strategies depends on many factors, including the output and aspect of the fistula, any intestinal obstruction distal to the fistula and the overall condition of the patient. It is estimated that spontaneous closure rates of approximately 50% may be achieved with conservative management strategies incorporating radiological drainage of sepsis, replacement of electrolytes and nutritional support, with a median time to closure of 29 days (range 9–74 days) [81]. A third of patients will require surgical intervention, either as primary treatment or following failure of conservative management [81]. This commonly entails major surgical procedures incorporating extensive adhesiolysis, segmental bowel resection and abdominal wall reconstruction.

9.8.4.7 Gastroparesis, lleus and Obstruction

It is estimated that virtually all patients will develop a degree of postoperative gastroparesis, due to the combination of radical greater (and lesser) omentectomy and HIPEC. The radicality of the greater omentectomy does not seem to affect the occurrence of postoperative gastroparesis: a randomized clinical trial investigating omentectomy with versus without preservation of the right gastro-epiploic artery showed no differences in time to full oral diet, occlusion of nasogastric tubes or total admission time [96].

Gastric drainage, either with a nasogastric tube or a draining gastrostomy, is a component of most, if not all, peritoneal malignancy protocols. In patients in whom the stomach underwent major surgical manipulation (either gastrectomy or major resection of tumour off the gastric wall), mechanical obstruction may occur, either due to an anastomotic stricture (occurring in 2.5% of patients undergoing a partial gastrectomy in a recently published large series [97]) or localized ischaemia. Treatment depends on local anatomy and may vary from endoscopic balloon dilatation and stenting to surgical (laparoscopic or open) gastro-jejunostomy.

Extensive intestinal manipulation contributes to the relatively high incidence of ileus after CRS; however, HIPEC in itself is surmised to be an important determinant of postoperative ileus. An experimental study showed an irreversible decline in responses to nerve stimulation when exposed to high temperatures and not in responses to direct muscle stimulation. Thus, hyperthermia leads to true neurological paralysis of the bowel wall [98].

In the past, ileus was a vaguely defined phenomenon; however, the term 'postoperative ileus' has recently been defined as the interval from surgery to the passage of flatus/stool and tolerance of an oral diet [99].

Maintaining and optimizing nutritional status during the period of ileus are essential and will commonly include early administration of parenteral nutrition.

True bowel obstructions are rare in the immediate postoperative phase and are mostly due to internal or abdominal wall herniation, although special attention should be paid to the patency of stomas, if present. In the longer term, adhesive bowel obstruction may be a significant cause of morbidity. The rate of true (i.e. not recurrencerelated) adhesive bowel obstruction following CRS and HIPEC is estimated at 0.5–2% [79].

Despite the absence of conclusive evidence, it is reasonable to assume that the extent of parietal peritonectomy is an important determinant of adhesion formation. Postsurgical adhesions begin to form in as little as 3 h after surgery [100]. Currently, it is believed that injury or irritation of the peritoneum results in an outpouring of serofibrinous fluid rich in mediators of inflammation. Coagulation of the exudate results in the fibrinous adhesions of injured peritoneal surfaces that may persist and form permanent fibrous adhesions [101]. Though it is hypothesized that the use of intraperitoneal chemotherapy can lead to an increase in adhesions, many chemotherapeutic agents have a suppressive effect on tissue healing, an important factor in adhesion formation. However, different chemotherapeutic drugs have different properties.

In general, it is recommended to make an important distinction between adhesive small bowel obstruction after CRS and HIPEC and in patients after more 'general' abdominal procedures. The clinical adage of maximum 24–48 h of conservative management of a small bowel obstruction prior to considering surgical intervention is not routinely recommended for this

patient population. Most specialized peritoneal malignancy centres will recommend maximum conservative management with nasogastric decompression, bowel rest and, frequently, total parenteral nutrition. Moreover, recurring bowel obstructions in a patient with a history of peritoneal malignancy should raise the suspicion of peritoneal recurrence; therefore, close coordination with and even transfer to a peritoneal malignancy centre are often recommended.

Peritonitis Without a Bowel Perforation/Fistula

This is an uncommon complication that was first reported by Honore et al. [102]. Postoperative peritonitis is a severe and life-threatening complication that can arise from any abdominal surgery and has a mortality rate of 36-44%. [110–112]. In 15% of the cases, the cause of the peritonitis (i.e. underlying perforation) cannot be found (Fig. 9.3) [103].



Fig. 9.3 Plain CT scan of patients with peritonitis without bowel perforation. Bowel loops are thickened and dilated

Among the 607 patients who had undergone CRS and HIPEC, at a tertiary care centre, 123 (20%) developed an intra-abdominal complication, and 81 of these required a surgical intervention, and 52 (9%) of these have acute postoperative peritonitis. There was no underlying enteric complication in seven (1%) of these patients [104]. Thus, in all the patients of postoperative peritonitis, no underlying cause was identified in 13%.

All these patients had extensive surgery with a median PCI of 27 and the duration of surgery was >10 h.

The surgical management was not different from that used in other cases of peritonitis – eliminating the source of infection (which was not found in these cases), reducing bacterial contamination (with extensive peritoneal lavage) and preventing persistent or recurrent intra-abdominal infection (with adequate postoperative peritoneal drainage) [104]. All patients received empirical antibiotic therapy with broad-spectrum antibiotics and culture-specific antibiotics till all the cultures were negative. These patients had a high rate of medical complications, and 3/7 required further surgical intervention.

The author provided some plausible explanations for this phenomenon. Despite the absence of any clinical or experimental data, they attributed it to bacterial translocation which could be due to the loosening of intercellular tight junctions due to bowel oedema [105]. A temporary decline in the immunity following the prolonged surgery could be another factor responsible for bacterial translocation. The exaggerated inflammatory response following surgery could lead to a reduction in the cell-mediated immunity which is directly proportional to the extent of the surgery [101, 106–108].

Postoperative Adhesions

Adhesions cause one-third of large and small bowel obstruction and more than two-thirds of small bowel obstructions. Postsurgical adhesions begin to form in as little as 3 h after surgery [109]. Currently, it is believed that injury or irritation of the peritoneum results in an outpouring of serofibrinous fluid rich in mediators of inflammation. Coagulation of the exudate results in the fibrinous adhesions of injured peritoneal surfaces that may persist and form permanent fibrous adhesion.

Sugarbaker reported a 2% incidence of adhesions in 196 patients undergoing CRS and EPIC that required surgical intervention for bowel obstruction in the absence of tumour recurrence or infective complications [110]. Specifically, CRS due to its extensive nature poses an increased risk of adhesion formation due to extensive damage to the peritoneum. Though it is hypothesized that the use of intraperitoneal chemotherapy can lead to an increase in adhesions, these agents have a suppressive effect on healing, important tissue an factor adhesion formation. However, different chemotherapeutic drugs have different properties. 5-fluorouracil is known to impair wound healing and decrease adhesion formation [111]. Mitomycin-C irritates the mesothelial cells leading to an increase in the formation of adhesions [112]. Similarly, cisplatin and carboplatin are associated with an increased risk of formation of adhesions [113].

Sugarbaker recommends performing a thorough peritoneal lavage following CRS to remove blood clots and tissue debris that promote adhesion formation. The choice of irrigating solution may be very important [114, 115]. Mesothelial damage with swelling of the underlying tissue can occur with hypotonic and many non-buffered irrigating solutions. Dextrose solutions which are widely used for peritoneal dialysis are known intraperitoneal irritants and promote the formation of adhesions.

In another study of 307 patients receiving intraperitoneal chemotherapy for ovarian cancer, 4% of the patients developed bowel obstruction due to adhesions that required a surgical intervention. A large proportion received intraperitoneal mitoxantrone [116]. Patients receiving multiple cycles of IP cisplatin are prone to develop a fibrous cocoon with bowel obstruction (Fig. 9.4).

The incidence of adhesions not related to tumour following HIPEC leading to bowel obstruction is low. Sugarbaker reported adhesive obstruction in 1/147 patients undergoing HIPEC [79].



Fig. 9.4 (a) CT image of a fibrous cocoon in a patient who received intraperitoneal cisplatin through a port. (b) Intraoperative photograph of the same patients showing the thickened membrane covering the bowel (blue arrow)

9.8.4.8 Stoma-Related Complications

Besides structural problems with stomas (including prolapse, stricture and retraction), the main stoma-related complication after CRS and HIPEC is that of high output (defined in most centres as consistent output >1 L/24 h), with associated risks of acute kidney injury and electrolyte imbalances. The extent of (small) bowel resections obviously impacts the risk of highoutput stomas, although this occurs frequently even in patients who have had no small bowel or gastric resections. Usually, high-output stomas can be managed with a combination of loperamide and/or codeine, adequate fluid and electrolyte replacement and oral fluid restriction, using isotonic drinks (e.g. St Mark's solution). Only in rare cases will patients require long-term intravenous fluid replacement or early stoma reversal. A high index of suspicion for intra-abdominal collections should exist in patients with persistently high stoma output, and a low threshold should be maintained for cross-sectional imaging. Close liaison with a dietician and stoma specialist is essential.

9.8.5 Intra-abdominal, Nondigestive Complications

9.8.5.1 Post-splenectomy Complications

Splenectomy is frequently performed during CRS, especially for PMP. In the largest singlecentre experience in Basingstoke, no instances of overwhelming post-splenectomy sepsis have been reported, probably due to the development and implementation of post-splenectomy prophylaxis protocols and early administration of antibiotics in patients who develop infective complications [25].

Contrary to this, in a prospective casecontrolled study of 39 patients undergoing splenectomy, Dagbert et al. reported a higher incidence of grade 3–4 complications in the splenectomy group compared to the control group (59 vs. 35.9%, p = 0.041) as well as more pulmonary complications (41 vs. 7.7%, p = 0.0006). Multivariate analysis identified splenectomy as the only predictor of overall major complications (odds ratio = 2.57, 95% confidence interval = 1.03–6.40). Mortality was similar in both groups. During the study period, 32% of the patients required a splenectomy, and the authors recommended preservation of the spleen when possible [117].

In another series of 195 patients of which 52% underwent a splenectomy, the haematotoxicity of HIPEC and the requirement of postoperative granulocyte colony-stimulating factor were reduced in patients undergoing a splenectomy. The nadir of white cell and platelet count was higher in patients undergoing splenectomy [118].

9.8.5.2 Pancreatic Complications

The pancreas is manipulated while performing a total omentectomy and during a splenectomy.

Sometimes resection of the distal pancreas is required due to heavy tumour infiltration at the splenic hilum or on the pancreatic capsule. The procedures pose a risk of pancreatic complications in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC. Indeed, pancreatic complications are one of the most common causes of postoperative morbidity together with gastrointestinal fistula and respiratory adverse events.

Patients can have a rise in the serum amylase alone, pancreatitis or postoperative pancreatic fistula.

Pathogenesis and Risk Factors

Splenectomy is a known risk factor for pancreatic trauma and poses a risk of pancreatic complications even in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC [119, 120]. It has been proposed that renal impairment leads to pancreatitis, but the hyperamylasemia seen in these patients is due to a decline in the excretion, and hyperamylasemia should be considered an indicator of pancreatic injury [121]. Tansung and Sugarbaker postulated that peripancreatitis is due to iatrogenic tears in the pancreatic capsule inflicted by surgical manipulation. Capsular tears result in a leakage of pancreatic enzymes into the abdominal cavity immediately adjacent to the pancreas, leading to damage of surrounding structures accompanied by local regional sepsis. If a distal pancreatectomy has been performed, the risk of POPF is higher though it is similar to that observed in patients undergoing pancreatic resection for primary pancreatic tumours [122].

The other risk factor for postoperative pancreatitis is the use of a high dose of cisplatin >240 mg/m² as demonstrated by Kusamura et al. High doses of cisplatin are known to interfere with the tissue healing and pose an increased risk of pancreatic complications. These authors recommended a dose reduction for cisplatin in patients undergoing extensive upper abdominal surgery, especially those with other risk factors for major morbidity. The other reported risk factors for POPF are requirement of >6 units of blood transfusion, PCI > 20 and a prolonged operating time [7].

Diagnosis

After CRS and HIPEC, there is third space fluid loss due to the large raw areas that are created and also due to the thermal, mechanical and chemical injury during surgical manipulation. Any leak from the pancreas would thus get diluted making diagnosis difficult.

The resection of parietal peritoneum could modify the immunological and neurological responses to trauma/surgical stress, thus making the clinical presentation mild. The signs of peritoneal irritation are diminished. There is early formation of adhesions leading to localization of the secretions which again does not manifest overtly. Post CRS and HIPEC, there is a more protracted systemic inflammatory response syndrome which would overlap the manifestations of pancreatic complications.

Postoperative pancreatitis is defined as the presence of criteria 1 and 3 (listed below) with or without the presence of the criteria 2:

- 1. Severe abdominal pain associated with a serum amylase level superior to three times the upper limit of the normal range (ULN)
- 2. Evidence of pancreatic parenchymal damage as reported in an exploratory laparotomy performed for any postoperative complication
- Absence of other concomitant enteric complications (such as gastrointestinal fistula or perforation) [123]

POPF represents failure of healing/sealing of a pancreatic-enteric anastomosis, or it may represent a parenchymal leak not directly related to an anastomosis such as one originating from the raw pancreatic surface and is defined according to the criteria established by the international study group on pancreatic fistula (ISGPF) [124]. The amylase level in the drain fluid or any other intraabdominal fluid after the third postoperative day has to be three times the upper limit of the normal serum value with or without associated clinical findings like abdominal pain, distension, bowel dysfunction, delayed gastric emptying, fever (38 °C) and increase in the leucocyte count and C-reactive protein (Table 9.9). There are three grades of POPF based on the severity [124].

Grade	А	В	С
Clinical condition	Well	Often well	Ill appearing/bad
Specific treatment ^a	No	Yes/no	Yes
UC/CT (if obtained)	Negative	Negative/positive	Positive
Persistent drainage (after 3 weeks)	No	Usually yes	Yes
Reoperation	No	No	Yes
Death due to POPF	No	No	Possibly yes
Signs of infections	No	Yes	Yes
Sepsis	No	No	Yes
Readmission	No	Yes/no	Yes/no

Table 9.9 Grading of postoperative pancreatic fistulas [124]

^aPartial or total parenteral nutrition, antibiotics, enteral nutrition, somatostatin analogue and/or minimal

The grade of severity may only be decided after complete follow-up, including discharge from the hospital or death, when the ultimate effect of the POPF on outcome can be determined.

Incidence and Management

The reported incidence of pancreatic complications ranges from <1 to 6% [2]. In a series of 270 consecutive procedures, POPF was observed in 13 (4.8%) cases. Three cases were classified as major (grade C). The median duration of the POPF was 12 days (range: 3-64 days). Most patients were managed conservatively with only one patient requiring a surgical exploration. There was no resultant morality following POPF, but the hospital stay was significantly longer in these patients compared to those who did not have a fistula. Two patients developed postoperative pancreatitis. 12.3% of the patients had hyperamylasemia which was attributed to pancreatic manipulation during the surgery [121].

In a series of 225 cases of CRS and IPC, the Tansung and Sugarbaker reported POPF in 225 patients which was termed as 'peripancreatitis' [125].

Downey et al. reported POPF in 26% of the 54 patients who had a distal pancreatectomy as part of CRS and HIPEC. This rate was similar to POPF in patients undergoing distal pancreatectomy for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. It also included patients who did not have a formal pancreatectomy, but pancreatic tissue was detected in the splenectomy specimen. However, most of the patients in the HIPEC group had grade B or C

fistulas, whereas those in the non-HIPEC group had grade A fistulas.

In another series of 29 patients undergoing CRS for advanced ovarian cancer, 29% of the patients developed a POPF [126].

In another series of 217 patients, 17 patients (6.3%) developed postoperative POPF. None of these patients died during their in-hospital stay. Multivariate analysis identified three independent risk factors for POPF: transfusion of >or = 6 units of blood (P = 0.029), operation duration of >or = 9 h (P = 0.035) and splenectomy (P = 0.020). Conservative management of POPF was instituted in all 17 patients and was successful in 16 (94%) with the time to closure averaging 26 days. Though the procedure-related mortality was not significantly increased, the hospital stay was significantly prolonged (P < 0.001) [127].

In a multi-institutional study of patients treated at 7 centres across the world, outcomes in 118 patients who had a distal pancreatectomy were reported. The indications for distal pancreatectomy were infiltration of the pancreas by tumour (n = 24; 20%) or without splenic involvement (n = 76; 64%), invasion of the pancreatic capsule (n = 10; 9%) or introgenic damage to the pancreas during CRS (n = 8; 7%). The 90-day postoperative mortality was 7.6%, and the rate of severe morbidity (Clavien-Dindo \geq III) was 44%. POPF was observed in 39 cases (33%), of which 48.7% had a grade B and 28.2% had grade C fistulas. The independent risk factors for POPF were a PCI > 20 (risk ratio: 3.01; P = 0.022) and an operative time more than 550 min (risk ratio:

2.74; P = 0.038). The occurrence of POPF was not associated with a higher risk of 90-day mortality (5.1% vs. 8.8%, not significant) [52].

The management is similar to POPF arising in other situations. Most of the patients can be managed conservatively. Percutaneous drainage or stent placement may be required. In cases of suspected infection or sepsis, a surgical intervention may be required.

Several techniques have been employed to prevent the development of POPF after distal pancreatectomy including handsewn suture closure, transection and closure using a stapling device, pancreatic transection using various energy devices, reinforcement of the stump with a seromuscular patch or pancreaticoenteric anastomosis, sealing with fibrin sealants, pancreatic stent placement and administration of octreotide. The superiority of any one technique has not been proven yet [128].

Thus, though the incidence of POPF is not high in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC with pancreatic resection, these tend to be of a higher grade, associated with major morbidity, and lead to significant prolongation in the hospital stay. Patients for such procedures should be carefully selected; young, fit patients with lowgrade disease in which the risk of developing early metastases is low are preferred candidates for this procedure. Such procedures should also be performed in expert centres to obtain optimal results [52].

9.8.5.3 Urological Complications

Involvement of the urinary tract by peritoneal disease often requires urological resections and reconstruction. This varies from simple resection of a cuff of the dome of bladder to total cystectomies and/or ureteric resections with reconstructions. Urological procedures as a part of CRS are performed in 7–14% of cases [129–131]. The most common urological complication is the occurrence of a urinary fistula. This is especially the case after resection and subsequent reconstruction of the ureter. In the case of resection of the pelvic ureter, a recent report suggests that the reconstructive technique may be associated with the risk of urinary fistula: simple end-to-end

reconstruction was associated with a 28.5% of urinary fistula, while this risk was 0% after ureteroneocystostomy (ureteric reimplantation into the bladder, enforced by a psoas hitch) [31].

Overall, urological interventions during CRS and HIPEC increase the risk of major postoperative complications (estimated at 30–45%), although long-term survival does not seem to be affected [129–131].

9.8.6 Cardiopulmonary Complications

9.8.6.1 Respiratory Complications

Respiratory mechanics will be altered following an extended midline abdominal incision. This will be exacerbated by chest drain insertion and diaphragmatic stripping. Additionally, the potential for a long operative time in the lithotomy position with the necessity for the reverse Trendelenburg position for periods of surgery can result in basal atelectasis and impaired mucociliary clearance [132]. This is especially important in those with a high body mass index, particularly where there is excessive abdominal distribution of body fat. Many patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC will have pre-existing respiratory conditions such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), bronchiectasis, asthma or respiratory muscle weakness secondary to malnutrition. Low preoperative arterial oxygen saturation, recent respiratory infection, anaemia and age are positively associated with an increased risk of postoperative respiratory complications [132]. Where there are particularly high intraoperative fluid shifts with large volume blood or blood product transfusion, the risk of acute respiratory distress syndrome, transfusionrelated lung injury or pulmonary fluid overload should be considered. The effects of prolonged general anaesthesia with systemic and epidural opioids will reduce minute volume and may result in further inadequacies of ventilation and hypercapnia in the first postoperative hours.

Patients with a number of these risk factors are likely to benefit from delayed extubation in a critical care unit. This allows time for chest radiograph to confirm chest drain position and the status of lung fields, careful titration and optimization of analgesia, lung recruitment manoeuvres to improve atelectasis and optimal head-up positioning of patients. Approximately half of all patients in our centre will be transferred to critical care with invasive ventilation in place. Extubation is usually within 12 h. Prophylactic extubation onto non-invasive ventilation or high flow nasal oxygen has not been consistently shown to reduce respiratory complications following abdominal surgery [133, 134]. It does, however, improve arterial oxygenation, reintubation rates and intensive care unit length of stay in those found to be hypoxaemic after extubation [134].

Adequate analgesia, combined with a physiotherapy program, is associated with a reduced intensive care unit length of stay [135]. Careful preoperative patient counselling and preparation for physiotherapy have been shown to reduce postoperative respiratory complications, and this combined with ongoing postoperative physiotherapy is important in reducing respiratory complications and improving recovery [136].

Respiratory complications, beyond simple basal atelectasis (a common radiographic finding after most abdominal surgery), are a common occurrence after CRS and HIPEC. Several factors predispose patients undergoing this procedure to developing respiratory complications:

- Patients may have compromised preoperative pulmonary function due to malnutrition and presence of significant volumes of (mucinous) ascites.
- Extensive upper abdominal surgery, including diaphragmatic peritonectomy, leads to occult communication between the peritoneal and pleural cavities and passage of fluid to the pleural cavity during HIPEC [47].
- The systemic inflammatory response to surgical trauma leads to intrapleural fluid accumulation.
- Prolonged anaesthesia time and restriction in respiratory movement postoperatively, which may in part be due to inadequate analgesia, increase the risk of basal atelectasis and pulmonary complications.
- Partial- or full-thickness diaphragmatic resection weakens its contractility at least temporarily further compromising pulmonary function [47].
- Perioperative fluid shifts leading to third space losses and hypoalbuminemia.
- Significant intraoperative crystalloid and colloid infusions.

The most common respiratory complications and their grade-specific treatments are listed in Table 9.10.

Organ system	Grade 1 asymptomatic and self-limiting	Grade 2 symptomatic requiring medical management	Grade 3 invasive intervention required	Grade 4 ICU care or return to the operating room
Respiratory distress	Mild symptoms	Oxygen therapy or medications required	Endotracheal intubation	Tracheostomy required
Pleural effusion	Asymptomatic	Fluid restriction/ diuretic required	Thoracentesis required	Compromised, chest tube insertion
Pneumonia	Minimal symptoms	Antibiotics and respiratory therapy	Bronchoscopy	Intubation required
Acute respiratory distress	Mild symptoms	Moderate respiratory support	Prolonged respiratory support	Tracheostomy, ICU
Chest tube removal/ displacement	Radiological diagnosis	Heimlich valve	Chest tube insertion	Tension pneumothorax
Pneumothorax	<10%	>10%	Heimlich valve	Chest tube reinserted

Table 9.10 Common respiratory complications and grade-specific treatment following CRS and HIPEC (from [69])

Basilar Atelectasis

It is the most common finding on the chest film after abdominal surgery, but it is a nonspecific finding. Many predisposing factors, such as previous bronchitis, chronic obstructive lung disease and prolonged anaesthesia time, may affect the incidence of atelectasis. Other factors affecting the incidence of complications are such as type and duration of anaesthesia, patient position, inhaled fraction of oxygen, lack of positive end-expiratory pressure and presence of paralysis caused by muscle relaxants [137, 138]. Whereas some authors have found that one of the factors affecting extubation failure is the generous use of fluids, others have not had a similar experience [139, 140]. Patients with segmental or lobar atelectasis take longer to get extubated. Fluid restriction, adequate pain management, early mobilization and physiotherapy help to limit the atelectasis and lead to early recovery.

Pleural Effusion

Pleural effusion is a relatively common event described in many reports, and though there are several predisposing factors, stripping of the subphrenic peritoneum is the most common predisposing factor. The reported incidence of pleural effusion varies between different studies and ranges from 3 to 30% [3, 14, 141]. Some surgeons routinely insert a chest tube in patients undergoing subphrenic peritonectomy. Others perform it only for patients who have rent in the diaphragm or in cases of full-thickness diaphragm resection [141]. In a study of 147 patients, Sugarbaker et al. did not find an increased risk of pulmonary complications in patients undergoing subphrenic peritonectomy [142].

In a study of 42 patients from the Wake Forest University, pleural effusions developed in 64% of the patients [143]. Most effusions (74%) occurred 1–3 days after CRS and HIPEC and lasted <4 days. Mitomycin-C-induced pulmonary toxicity was considered to be one of the factors responsible for pleural effusions [144–146]. Most of them resolve when the fluid infusion is restricted and the positive fluid balance is reduced [147, 148].

Pneumonia

The incidence of pneumonia ranged from 3 to 10% in various reports [4, 13, 142, 149]. It may or may not be associated with a pleural effusion. Most of these are mild and resolve with a short course of antibiotics. One completely iatrogenic cause of postoperative chest infection is malpositioning and manipulation of chest tubes; if a chest tube needs to be reinserted or manipulated, this should occur under the same sterile conditions as the primary insertion.

Adult Respiratory Distress Syndrome

Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS)-or postoperative lung oedema-is characterized by increased permeability of pulmonary capillary endothelial cells and alveolar epithelial cells, leading to hypoxemia that is refractory to usual oxygen therapy. Clinically, ARDS is characterized by severe hypoxemia, bilateral radiographic pulmonary infiltrates and no clinical evidence of cardiogenic pulmonary oedema. The severity of ARDS is classified based on three PaO₂/FiO₂ cutoff values on PEEP \geq 5 cm H₂O at ARDS onset: severe ($\leq 100 \text{ mmHg}$), moderate (>100– ≤ 200) and mild (>200-≤300) [150]. There are known risk factors that could be avoided, in order to reduce the risk of developing ARDS like reducing the number of transfusions, limiting the positive fluid balance, avoiding nonprotective mechanical ventilation and preventing gastric aspiration. Surgical trauma itself can lead to ARDS. Patients with ventilator-associated pneumonias are also at an increased risk of ARDS. One of the most crucial factors is positive fluid balance, and timely restriction of fluid intake can reduce the requirement of postoperative mechanical ventilation and ARDS [151]. ARDS, a potentially life-threatening complication, has been reported after CRS and HIPEC, more commonly in patients undergoing extensive surgery. In most cases fibrosis does not set in early, and it is usually reversed by fluid restriction and mechanical ventilation.

Sugarbaker et al. reported ARDS in two patients who had extensive cytoreduction and hyperthermic perfusion of both the pleural and peritoneal spaces with mitomycin-C [152]. Reoperation in both patients failed to show a septic source within the abdomen for progressive adult respiratory distress syndrome, and they could not identify any other underlying cause for the ARDS. The authors concluded that aggressive surgery for the treatment of peritoneal metastases can be sufficiently traumatic to be considered a cause of adult respiratory distress syndrome [152]. There are few other case reports of ARDS following CRS and HIPEC [153].

9.8.6.2 Mitomycin-C-Induced Pulmonary Toxicity

Though mitomycin-C (MMC) has the pharmacokinetic advantage of high intraperitoneal concentration with limited systemic absorption and toxicity, some systemic exposure does occur. A rare complication of this systemic penetration of MMC is interstitial pneumonitis. The risk is higher following repeated intraperitoneal administration, prior systemic chemotherapy and use of a high dose of the drug or in certain individuals more prone to toxicity.

MMC-induced pulmonary toxicity manifests as an interstitial pneumonitis which can lead to pulmonary fibrosis and severe, terminal respiratory insufficiency. While treatment can prevent crippling fibrosis, there are some patients who, despite optimal therapy, will progress onto fibrosis [154]. This toxicity is seen both after intravenous and intraperitoneal administration and can occur early or late. Following the first report in 1978, several others have reported this complication following MMC-based HIPEC [144, 155, 156]. The first prospective study on the relationship between intravenous MMC and pulmonary toxicity concluded that this toxicity is a dosedependent side effect of MMC that should be considered only when patients receive over a 20 mg/m^2 cumulative dose [157]. This model was supported by later pharmacological evidence that there is a direct relationship between body surface area and MMC plasma clearance, as well as between plasma exposure and haematological toxicity [158]. However, the pathophysiological mechanisms of pulmonary toxicity following intraperitoneal MMC are unknown since it occurs after standard recommended doses as well.

Treatment of MMC-induced pulmonary toxicity comprises of fluid restriction and ventilatory support if required. Steroids have been used for the treatment though the benefit is unknown [154].

9.8.6.3 Venous Thromboembolic Events

Venous thromboembolic events (VTEs) are thought to be common: a recent multicentre report of 192 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC found VTE in 26 patients (13.5%) [159]. Interestingly, the majority of VTEs were found to occur in the splenic/portal/mesenteric venous systems (11/192 patients; 5.7%); pulmonary emboli (PE) occurred in 10 patients (5.2%) and deep venous thrombosis (DVT) in 5 (2.6%). Moreover, the majority of VTEs (80%) occurred after discharge. A separate single-centre study reported a PE rate after CRS and HIPEC of 4.4%, though the majority of patients with CT-proven PE did not develop significant cardiorespiratory dysfunction or require escalation of care [160]. In some peritoneal malignancy centres, routine duplex scanning of the calf veins is a standard part of the postoperative protocol after CRS and HIPEC. In an audit of 200 consecutive CRS and HIPEC patients in the Peritoneal Malignancy Institute, Basingstoke, 188 patients underwent a routine duplex calf scan, and an asymptomatic DVT was found in 10 patients (5.3%) (unpublished data). However, it is unclear whether treatment of these asymptomatic DVTs will actually reduce the risk of clinically significant PEs.

In patients in whom a pulmonary embolus is suspected, CT-pulmonary angiography (CT-PA) is essential and, in most centres, the diagnostic modality of choice. In patients who have had previous thromboembolic events, PMI, Basingstoke, has a long-standing policy of preoperative insertion of an inferior vena cava (IVC) filter, which can be removed within 90 days, though this is not mandatory.

9.8.6.4 Circulatory Complications

Cardiac events occurring after CRS and HIPEC include ischaemic events and dysrhythmias. Though major intraoperative haemodynamic

fluctuations can contribute to cardiac ischaemia, current standards in goal-directed fluid therapy and cardiac output monitoring are expected to mitigate these fluctuations [161–164].

A large proportion of patients will require circulatory support in the first hours postoperatively. This is due to large intraoperative and ongoing fluid shifts, blood loss, vasodilatation from epidural analgesia and altered Starling forces resulting from protein losses, systemic inflammation and cytokine release. Metabolic rate increases significantly, and interventions to meet this increased demand are vital to avoid myocardial ischaemia and end-organ damage [148]. Ongoing fluid shifts from abdominal and thoracic drains will require close monitoring and replacement and complicate fluid balance in the immediate postoperative period [165]. Postoperative bleeding is unusual where close intraoperative management of coagulopathy is adhered to, but vigilance for this is vital in the first hours. Systemic inflammation resulting from hyperthermia, cytotoxic agents and a large visceral resection will result in the release of inflammatory biomarkers. This initiates a humoral cascade resulting in a hyperdynamic circulation, increased capillary permeability and increased metabolic demands.

Cardiovascular support with vasopressor agents and carefully titrated intravenous fluid therapy is the mainstay of early postoperative cardiovascular support. Adequate oxygen delivery should be optimized with early treatment of postoperative anaemia. Additionally, intraoperative protein losses combined with preoperative malnutrition may result in severely low serum albumin levels [166]. Administration of human albumin solutions or synthetic colloids may be required to increase intravascular oncotic pressures and maintain circulatory volume.

9.8.7 Haematological Complications

Haematological complications are largely due to systemic absorption of chemotherapeutic agents. The grading of haematological complications according to their severity is provided in Table 9.11.

9.8.7.1 Neutropenia

The estimated incidence of neutropenia after CRS and HIPEC ranges from 2 to 10%. Though rare, neutropenia can cause significant morbidity: in one study, 66% major morbidity rates were observed in neutropenic patients [3].

The main cause of neutropenia is considered to be chemotherapy-related. MMC is associated with neutropenia in 4-39% of patients [167, 168]. Intraperitoneal cisplatin (with/without doxorubicin) is also associated with high rates of postoperative systemic toxicity [2]. In one study comparing oxaliplatin- to MMC-based HIPEC, higher rates of neutropenia were demonstrated in the cohort receiving oxaliplatin, although this study implemented a longer duration of intraperitoneal oxaliplatin administration (2 h) than is usual in most centres (30 min). Concomitantly, a separate large multicentre study did not find any differences in rates of haematological toxicity following oxaliplatinor MMC-based HIPEC [169].

When the absolute neutrophil count falls below 500/cc, use of granulocyte colonystimulating factors is recommended; some sur-

Organ system	Grade 1 asymptomatic and self- limiting	Grade 2 symptomatic requiring medical management	Grade 3 invasive intervention required	Grade 4 ICU care or return to the operating room
Neutropenia (cells/mm ³)	3000-2000	2000-1000	1000-0	Sepsis
Platelets 1000/ mm ³	99–50	50-10	10–0	Bleeding
Anaemia/ bleeding	No replacement	≤4 units	>4 units	Reoperation

Table 9.11 Haematological complications following CRS and HIPEC (from [69])

geons use a higher cut-off for it. Antibiotic prophylaxis is also advisable in this situation.

9.8.7.2 Bleeding Complications

Haemorrhagic complications after CRS and HIPEC can occur due to several factors:

- Extensive surgery leading to creation of large raw surfaces that could bleed in the early postoperative period
- · Coagulopathy
- Drug-induced haemorrhage (following oxaliplatin-based HIPEC)

In a study of 200 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC, postoperative bleeding requiring >4 units of blood transfusion occurred in 4.5% of patients and was associated with increased intraoperative blood loss [4]. In other studies, the estimated incidence of postoperative bleeding is 1.8-8% [6, 149].

Coagulopathy, manifesting as prolongation of prothrombin time (PT), activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT) and/or thrombocytopenia, is a recognized complication of cytoreductive surgery, even in the absence of HIPEC. It is probably dilutional in origin due to fluid resuscitation and fluid shifts. Some centres have implemented intraoperative protocols consisting of routine administration of tranexamic acid and cryoprecipitate during CRS and HIPEC [170]; in addition, a randomized controlled trial comparing intraoperative administration of Octafibrin (a plasma-derived fibrinogen concentrate) to administration of cryoprecipitate in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC for low-grade appendix tumours currently underway Peritoneal is at the Malignancy Institute, Basingstoke.

Oxaliplatin-based HIPEC has been associated with a higher incidence of postoperative haemorrhagic complications as compared to other agents (especially MMC). In a study of 47 patients undergoing oxaliplatin-based HIPEC, 38% developed postoperative bleeding complications [171]. In a separate, multicentre study of 771 patients treated with oxaliplatin-based HIPEC, 14.3% of patients developed haemorrhagic complications, on average 8.9 days after surgery. When compared to similar patients treated with other intraperitoneal agents, oxaliplatin was a significant and independent risk factor for haemorrhagic complications (15.7% versus 2.6% for other agents) [172]. Some centres have attempted to mitigate the haemorrhagic risks associated with oxaliplatin-based HIPEC by decreasing the intraperitoneal dose from 460 mg/m² to 260–400 mg/m² [173].

Most postoperative bleeding can be dealt with by addressing coagulopathy using transfusion of blood, fresh frozen plasma or cryoprecipitate. If bleeding persists and leads to haemodynamic instability, angiographic embolization or surgical exploration may be required.

9.8.8 Acute Kidney Injury

Acute kidney injury is mostly transient and caused by pooling of fluid in compartments outside the effective circulation but may be exacerbated by nephrotoxic medication (analgesia, antibiotics, etc.) and ureteric injury/obstruction. In patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC for peritoneal mesothelioma or ovarian cancer, intraperitoneal cisplatin may contribute to postoperative renal dysfunction; this effect may be mitigated by considering dose reductions in patients with preoperative renal impairment, or by concomitant intravenous administration of sodium thiosulfate, starting with a loading dose after 30 min of HIPEC and continued as an infusion for 12 h.

In the phase I–II CHIPASTIN trial, the dose of cisplatin exceeding 70 mg/m² was associated with severe nephrotoxicity, and thereafter 70 mg/m² at 42 °C for 1 h was considered the most appropriate by the French group [174]. However, another phase I study concluded that a 100 mg/m² dose of cisplatin for HIPEC in recurrent platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer has an acceptable safety profile [175].

9.8.9 Wound Complications

Wound complications vary from superficial erythema to dehiscence and wound abscesses and occur in approximately 30% of patients (unpublished data). Treatment is highly individualized and ranges from observation to laying open of the wound and application of negative pressure systems. Though prevention of all wound complications is difficult, risk factors have been identified, particularly BMI >30. This may help in identifying patients who might benefit from proactive wound management protocols including negative pressure therapy onto the abdominal incision (unpublished data).

9.8.10 Other Complications

Some of the other common and uncommon complications and their grades are listed in Table 9.12.

Table 9.12 Other complications and their grades [69]

Central line sepsis is reported in 6-9.2% [10]. Sugarbaker reported a high incidence of sepsis and subclavian vein thrombosis when the subclavian vein was used for central venous access. Accordingly, he recommended that intraoperative central venous monitoring be performed through an intra-jugular line to minimize venous thrombosis and this line should be removed on the seventh day and be replaced by a peripheral central line if required [11]. Urinary tract infection constituted 7-9.2% of all complications in one study. The use of a Foley catheter for up to 10 days in women undergoing extensive pelvic peritonectomy was one factor responsible for it, and more frequent emptying of the catheter tubing could in part prevent it by minimizing the stasis [10, 11].

	1	0 1 3		
Organ system	Grade 1 asymptomatic and self- limiting	Grade 2 symptomatic requiring medical management	Grade 3 invasive intervention required	Grade 4 ICU care or return to the operating room
Neurological com	plications			
Mental status	Transient lethargy	Somnolence <50% of waking hours	Somnolence >50% of the waking hours	Coma, ICU care
Orientation/ intellect	Mild confusion	Mild disorientation but able to care for self	Disorientation, unable to care for self	Grossly disoriented, combative, psychotic
Stroke	Transient ischaemic attack	RIND	Stroke unit care	ICU care
Neuropathy/ nerve paralysis	Transient symptoms	Persistent symptoms	Functional deficit resolved before discharge	Functional deficit after discharge
Wound complicati	ons			
Intra-abdominal	Minimal symptoms	Prolonged antibiotics	Percutaneous drainage	Reoperation
Wound	Cellulitis and swelling	Antibiotics	Open wound	Reoperation
Infectious complic	rations			
Line sepsis	Entrance site only	Positive cultures, elective line removal	Bacteremia, urgent line removal	Septic shock, ICU care
Line thrombosis	Swelling, minor	Swelling, moderate, elective line removal	Anticoagulation, line removal	Clot lysis
Pneumothorax	Radiology (+) only	Oxygen therapy, in-hospital observation	Chest tube insertion	Tension pneumothorax
TPN intolerance	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Discontinuation
Skin/abdominal w	all			
Allergic	Urticaria	Bronchospasm	Bronchospasm requiring medication	Anaphylaxis with ICU care
Wound dehiscence	Skin sutures	Fascia defect <6 cm	Fascia defect >6 cm	Reoperation



Fig. 9.5 Dysfunctional rigid bowel in a patient who received intraperitoneal cisplatin and Adriamycin

9.8.11 Rare Complications

There are case reports of rare complications occurring after CRS and HIPEC. Neurological complications like tonic-clonic seizures, cerebrovascular stroke and encephalopathy have been reported [176, 177]. Lampl et al. reported two cases of diaphragmatic hernia in patients who had undergone stripping and/or resection. Such herniation can occur early or late in the postoperative period [178]. A colobronchial fistula has also been reported. This complication can be life-threatening and requires surgical management [179].

Some patients may develop a reaction to intraperitoneal Adriamycin. Figure 9.5 is the picture of the bowel of a patient who received 15 mg/m² of Adriamycin with 50 mg/m² of cisplatin. She presented 3 weeks postoperatively with a leak from the ileotransverse anastomosis. The bowel was rigid and pipelike. The proximal stoma failed to function, and she died 3 months postoperatively of intestinal failure. Paul Sugarbaker was of the opinion that she had had a reaction to Adriamycin (personal communication).

9.9 Long-Term Implications of Complications

The impact of postoperative complications on long-term outcomes after CRS and HIPEC is variable. In patients treated for appendiceal tumours, minor or major postoperative adverse events have not been demonstrated to significantly influence survival in multivariate analysis, when compared to histological subtype, lymph node metastasis and completeness of cytoreduction [177]. In contrast, in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC for CPM, the occurrence of major postoperative complications has been shown to adversely affect long-term survival: in one study, patients with grade ≥ 3 complications had a significantly decreased overall survival compared to patients with no or mild complications (22.1 versus 31.0 months, respectively) [178]. Similarly, another study of 113 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC for colorectal or appendiceal peritoneal metastases showed that the occurrence of major postoperative complications was independently associated with decreased oncological outcome [179]. In addition, a recent study of 1270 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC for a variety of peritoneal malignancies demonstrated that the occurrence of gastrointestinal leaks was associated with a significantly decreased overall survival, even after complete CRS and HIPEC [180].

Irrespective of complications, most studies indicate that quality of life immediately after CRS and HIPEC is lower compared to preoperative levels but starts improving from approximately 3 months postoperatively to ultimately reach or even exceed preoperative quality of life at 6–12 months [1].

The morbidity results in additional financial burden to patients where the procedure is not or only partly covered by insurance [181].

9.10 Clinical Care Pathways

At some of the expert centres, perioperative clinical care pathways have been established in an attempt to control the morbidity and mortality of the procedure. The pathway used at Hospital Lyon Sud is described here. This pathway focuses on six aspects of management which are the following [182].

Preoperative Patient Selection

Imaging is performed within 72 h of the planned procedure.

Patients are in a clinical trial where feasible.

Nutrition

Preoperative evaluation of BMI, albumin and prealbumin is done for all patients.

Use of immunonutrition.

Early use of parenteral or enteral nutrition when expected duration of fasting is >48 h.

Pain Management

Use of epidural analgesia if there is no contra-indication.

Preoperative information about analgesia.

Renal Protection

Evaluation of renal function.

Discontinuation of nephrotoxic drugs before the procedure.

Preoperative hydration is used for all patients.

Prevention of Complications

Discontinuation of medications that increase the risk of bleeding.

Mobilization on the first postoperative day. Chest physiotherapy daily.

Use of pneumatic compression device and low molecular weight heparin to prevent DVT.

Early nutrition.

Preoperative bowel preparation.

Use of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor when the neutrophil count is <500/cc.

Early Detection of Complications

Postoperative management is done in a stepdown unit with continuous cardiorespiratory monitoring, physical examination twice a day, daily blood work and chest X-ray.

Conclusions

The morbidity of CRS and HIPEC can be controlled by proper patient selection, preoperative optimization, surgical experience and perioperative multidisciplinary management. However, complications which depend on many other factors other than the quality of the surgery will continue to occur, and early diagnosis and management are important to 'rescue' patients with complications. A high index of suspicion for complications specific to this unique patient population should be maintained. The 90-day and not just the 30-day morbidity and mortality should be reported. A systematic grading of complications is essential to evaluate a surgeon/centre's own performance, compare treatment outcomes and assess the clinical benefit and costeffectiveness of the procedure.

References

- Seretis C, Youssef H. Quality of life after cytoreductive surgery and intraoperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancies: a systematic review. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40:1605–13.
- Jacquet P, Stephens AD, Averbach AM, Chang D, Ettinghausen SE, Dalton RR, Steves MA, Sugarbaker PH. Analysis of morbidity and mortality in 60 patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated by cytoreductive surgery and heated intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer. 1996;77:2622–9.
- Stephens AD, Alderman R, Chang D, Edwards GD, Esquivel J, Sebbag G, Steves MA, Sugarbaker PH. Morbidity and mortality analysis of 200 treatments with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy using the coliseum technique. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:790–6.
- 4. Glehen O, Osinsky D, Cotte E, Kwiatkowski F, Freyer G, Isaac S, Trillet-Lenoir V, Sayag-Beaujard AC, François Y, Vignal J, et al. Intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia using a closed abdominal procedure and cytoreductive surgery for the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis: morbidity and mortality analysis of 216 consecutive procedures. Ann Surg Oncol. 2003;10:863–9.
- Feldman AL, Libutti SK, Pingpank JF, Bartlett DL, Beresnev TH, Mavroukakis SM, Steinberg SM, Liewehr DJ, Kleiner DE, Alexander HR. Analysis of factors associated with outcome in patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma undergoing surgical debulking and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:4560–7.
- Verwaal VJ, van Tinteren H, Ruth SV, Zoetmulder FA. Toxicity of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intra-peritoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2004;85:61–7.
- Kusamura S, Younan R, Baratti D, Costanzo P, Favaro M, Gavazzi C, Deraco M. Cytoreductive surgery followed by intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion: analysis of morbidity and mortality in 209 peritoneal surface malignancies treated with closed abdomen technique. Cancer. 2006;106:1144–53.
- Smeenk RM, Verwaal VJ, Zoetmulder FA. Toxicity and mortality of cytoreduction and intraoperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in pseudomyxoma peritonei--a report of 103 procedures. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32:186–90.

- Stewart JH, Shen P, Russell GB, Bradley RF, Hundley JC, Loggie BL, Geisinger KR, Levine EA. Appendiceal neoplasms with peritoneal dissemination: outcomes after cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;13:624–34.
- Sugarbaker PH, Alderman R, Edwards G, Marquardt CE, Gushchin V, Esquivel J, Chang D. Prospective morbidity and mortality assessment of cytoreductive surgery plus perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat peritoneal dissemination of appendiceal mucinous malignancy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;13:635–44.
- Unalp HR, Kamer E, Kar H, Bal A, Peskersoy M, Ali Onal M. Urgent abdominal re-explorations. World J Emerg Surg. 2006;1:10.
- 12. Elias D, Goere D, Blot F, Billard V, Pocard M, Kohneh-Shahri N, Raynard B. Optimization of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin plus irinotecan at 43 degrees C after compete cytoreductive surgery: mortality and morbidity in 106 consecutive patients. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:1818–24.
- 13. Yan TD, Zappa L, Edwards G, Alderman R, Marquardt CE, Sugarbaker PH. Perioperative outcomes of cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for non-appendiceal peritoneal carcinomatosis from a prospective database. J Surg Oncol. 2007;96(2):102–12.
- Dowdy SC, Loewen RT, Aletti G, Feitoza SS, Cliby W. Assessment of outcomes and morbidity following diaphragmatic peritonectomy for women with ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;109(2):303–7.
- Gusani NJ, Cho SW, Colovos C, Seo S, Franko J, Richard SD, Edwards RP, Brown CK, Holtzman MP, Zeh HJ, et al. Aggressive surgical management of peritoneal carcinomatosis with low mortality in a high-volume tertiary cancer center. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:754–63.
- Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:63–8. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2009.23.9285.
- Yan TD, Deraco M, Baratti D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: multi-institutional experience. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:6237–42.
- Glehen O, Gilly FN, Boutitie F, et al. Toward curative treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from nonovarian origin by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a multi-institutional study of 1,290 patients. Cancer. 2010;116:5608–18.
- Mizumoto A, Canbay E, Hirano M, et al. Morbidity and mortality outcomes of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy

at a single institution in Japan. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012., Article ID 836425:5. https://doi. org/10.1155/2012/836425.

- Chua TC, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, et al. Earlyand long-term outcome data of patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from appendiceal origin treated by a strategy of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2449–56.
- Bakrin N, Bereder JM, Decullier E, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for advanced ovarian carcinoma: a French multicentre retrospective cohort study of 566 patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:1435–43.
- 22. Kuijpers AM, Mirck B, Aalbers AG, et al. Cytoreduction and HIPEC in the Netherlands: nationwide long-term outcome following the Dutch protocol. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:4224–30.
- Levine EA, Stewart JH, Shen P, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy: experience with 1,000 patients. J Am Coll Surg. 2014;218:573–85.
- Baumgartner JM, Kwong TG, Ma GL, Messer K, Kelly KJ, Lowy AM. A novel tool for predicting major complications after cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1609–17. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-015-5012-3. Epub 2015 Dec 17
- Moran B, Cecil T, Chandrakumaran K, et al. The results of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 1200 patients with peritoneal malignancy. Color Dis. 2015;17:772–8.
- Passot G, Vaudoyer D, Villeneuve L, Kepenekian V, Beaujard AC, Bakrin N, Cotte E, Gilly FN, Glehen O. What made hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy an effective curative treatment for peritoneal surface malignancy: a 25-year experience with 1,125 procedures. J Surg Oncol. 2016;113(7): 796–803. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.24248. Epub 2016 Apr 25
- Loungnarath R, Causeret S, Bossard N, Faheez M, Sayag-Beaujard AC, Brigand C, et al. Cytoreductive surgery with intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia for the treatment of pseudomyxoma peritonei: a prospective study. Dis Colon Rectum. 2005;48(7):1372–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10350-005-0045-5.
- 28. Yan TD, Links M, Fransi S, Jacques T, Black D, Saunders V, et al. Learning curve for cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy–a journey to becoming a Nationally Funded Peritonectomy Center. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(8):2270–80. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-007-9406-8.
- 29. Simkens GA, van Oudheusden TR, Luyer MD, et al. Predictors of severe morbidity after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for patients with colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:833–41.

- Bartlett EK, Meise C, Roses RE, et al. Morbidity and mortality of cytoreduction with intraperitoneal chemotherapy: outcomes from the ACS NSQIP database. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1494–500.
- Pinar U, Tremblay JF, Passot G, et al. Reconstruction after ureteral resection during HIPEC surgery: reimplantation with uretero-neocystostomy seems safer than end-to-end anastomosis. J Visc Surg. 2017;154(4):227–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jviscsurg.2017.01.002.
- 32. Baratti D, Kusamura S, Mingrone E, et al. Identification of a subgroup of patients at highest risk for complications after surgical cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg. 2012;256:334–41.
- 33. Votanopoulos KI, Swords DS, Swett KR, et al. Obesity and peritoneal surface disease: outcomes after cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for appendiceal and colon primary tumors. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:3899–904.
- McPartland SJ, Goodman MD. The effect of elevated body mass index on outcomes following cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1463–7.
- 35. Franko J, Gusani NJ, Holtzman MP, Ahrendt SA, Jones HL, Zeh HJ, Bartlett DL. Multivisceral resection does not affect morbidity and survival after cytoreductive surgery and chemoperfusion for carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(11):3065–72.
- 36. Ahmed S, Levine EA, Randle RW, et al. Significance of diaphragmatic resections and thoracic chemoperfusion on outcomes of peritoneal surface disease treated with cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:4226–31.
- 37. Franssen B, Tabrizian P, Weinberg A, et al. Outcome of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy on patients with diaphragmatic involvement. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:1639–44.
- Schwarz L, Votanopoulos K, Morris D, et al. Is the combination of distal pancreatectomy and cytoreductive surgery with HIPEC reasonable? Results of an international multicenter study. Ann Surg. 2015;263(2):369–75. [Epub ahead of print]
- Glockzin G, Renner P, Popp FC, et al. Hepatobiliary procedures in patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:1052–9.
- 40. Randle RW, Doud AN, Levine EA, et al. Peritoneal surface disease with synchronous hepatic involvement treated with cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:1634–8.
- 41. Turner KM, Hanna NN, Zhu Y, et al. Assessment of neoadjuvant chemotherapy on operative parameters and outcome in patients with peritoneal dissemination from high-grade appendiceal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:1068–73.

- 42. Deraco M, Baratti D, Hutanu I, et al. The role of perioperative systemic chemotherapy in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma patients treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:1093–100.
- 43. Ceelen W, Van Nieuwenhove Y, Putte DV, et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy with bevacizumab may improve outcome after cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion (HIPEC) for colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:3023–8.
- 44. Eveno C, Passot G, Goéré D, et al. Bevacizumab doubles the early postoperative complication rate after cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1792–800.
- 45. Voron T, Eveno C, Jouvin I, et al. Cytoreductive surgery with a hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy program: safe after 40 cases, but only controlled after 140 cases. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41:1671–7.
- 46. Mohamed F, Moran BJ. Morbidity and mortality with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy: the importance of a learning curve. Cancer J. 2009;15(3):196–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PPO.0b013e3181a58d56.
- 47. Malfroy S, Wallet F, Maucort-Boulch D, Chardonnal L, Sens N, Friggeri A, Passot G, Glehen O, Piriou V. Complications after cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis: risk factors for ICU admission and morbidity prognostic score. Surg Oncol. 2016;25(1):6–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.suronc.2015.11.003. Epub 2015 Nov 6
- Mise Y, Vauthey JN, Zimmitti G, et al. Ninety-day postoperative mortality is a legitimate measure of hepatopancreatobiliary surgical quality. Ann Surg. 2015;262:1071–8.
- Schwarz L, Bruno M, Parker NH, et al. Active surveillance for adverse events within 90 days: the standard for reporting surgical outcomes after pancreatectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:3522–9.
- Schwarz L, Votanopoulos K, Morris D, Yonemura Y, Deraco M, Piso P, Moran B, Levine EA, Tuech JJ. Is the combination of distal pancreatectomy and cytoreductive surgery with HIPEC reasonable?: results of an International Multicenter Study. Ann Surg. 2016;263(2):369–75. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.000000000001225.
- 51. Chua TC, Yan TD, Saxena A, et al. Should the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy still be regarded as a highly morbid procedure?: a systematic review of morbidity and mortality. Ann Surg. 2009;249:900–7.
- Pelz JO, Germer CT. Morbidity and mortality of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion. Der Chir Z fur alle Geb der Oper Med. 2013;84:957–61.
- Younan R, Kusamura S, Baratti D, et al. Morbidity, toxicity, and mortality classification systems in the local regional treatment of peritoneal surface malignancy. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:253–7.
- 54. Khuri SF, Daley J, Henderson W, et al. The Department of Veterans Affairs' NSQIP: the first national, validated, outcome-based, risk-adjusted, and peer-controlled program for the measurement and enhancement of the quality of surgical care. National VA Surgical Quality Improvement Program. Ann Surg. 1998;228:491–507.
- 55. Nashef SA, Roques F, Michel P, et al. European system for cardiac operative risk evaluation (EuroSCORE). Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 1999;16:9–13.
- Clavien P, Sanabria J, Strasberg S. Proposed classification of complication of surgery with examples of utility in cholecystectomy. Surgery. 1992;111:518–26.
- Pomposelli JJ, Gupta SK, Zacharoulis DC, et al. Surgical complication outcome (SCOUT) score: a new method to evaluate quality of care in vascular surgery. J Vasc Surg. 1997;25:1007–14. discussion 1014–1015
- Gawande AA, Thomas EJ, Zinner MJ, et al. The incidence and nature of surgical adverse events in Colorado and Utah in 1992. Surgery. 1999;126:66–75.
- Veen MR, Lardenoye JW, Kastelein GW, et al. Recording and classification of complications in a surgical practice. Eur J Surg. 1999;165:421–4. discussion 425.
- Pillai SB, van Rij AM, Williams S, et al. Complexityand risk-adjusted model for measuring surgical outcome. Br J Surg. 1999;86:1567–72.
- Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien P-A. Classification of surgical complications: a new proposal with evaluation in a cohort of 6336 patients and results of a survey. Ann Surg. 2004;240(2):205–13. https://doi. org/10.1097/01.sla.0000133083.54934.ae.
- Clavien PA, et al. The Clavien–Dindo classification of surgical complications: five-year experience. Ann Surg. 2009;250(2):187–96.
- 63. Slankamenac K, Graf R, Puhan MA, et al. Perception of surgical complications among patients, nurses and physicians: a prospective cross-sectional survey. Patient Saf Surg. 2011;5:30.
- Vonlanthen R, Slankamenac K, Breitenstein S, et al. The impact of complications on costs of major surgical procedures: a cost analysis of 1200 patients. Ann Surg. 2011;254:907–13.
- 65. Chouliaras K, Levine EA, Fino N, Shen P, Votanopoulos KI. Prognostic factors and significance of gastrointestinal leak after Cytoreductive Surgery (CRS) with Heated Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24:890–7.
- 66. Slankamenac K, et al. The comprehensive complication index: a novel and more sensitive endpoint for assessing outcome and reducing sample

size in randomized controlled trials. Ann Surg. 2014;260(5):757–62.

- 67. Lehmann K, Eshmuminov D, Slankamenac K, Kranzbühler B, Clavien PA, Vonlanthen R, Gertsch P. Where oncologic and surgical complication scoring systems collide: time for a new consensus for CRS/HIPEC. World J Surg. 2016 May;40(5):1075– 81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00268-015-3366-0.
- Katayama H, Kurokawa Y, Nakamura K, et al. Extended Clavien-Dindo classification of surgical complications: Japan clinical oncology group postoperative complications criteria. Surg Today. 2016;46:668–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00595-015-1236-x.
- 69. Sugarbaker PH, Van der Speeten K, Stuart OA, Chang D, Mahteme H. Patient- and treatmentrelated variables, adverse events and their statistical relationship for treatment of peritoneal metastases. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Cytoreductive surgery & perioperative chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy: textbook and video atlas. Woodbury: Ciné-Med; 2012. p. 183–206.
- Silber JH, Williams SV, Krakauer H, Schwartz JS. Hospital and patient characteristics associated with death after surgery: a study of adverse occurrence and failure to rescue. Med Care. 1992;30:615–29.
- Ghaferi AA, Birkmeyer JD, Dimick JB. Complications, failure-to-rescue and mortality with major inpatient surgery in medicare patients. Ann Surg. 2009;250:1029–34.
- Mercier F, Cotte E, Glehen O, Passot G. Why morbidity is not an adequate metric for evaluation of surgical quality. Ann Surg. 2017. https://doi. org/10.1097/SLA.00000000002256.
- 73. Passot G, Vaudoyer D, Villeneuve L, Wallet F, Beaujard AC, Boschetti G, Rousset P, Bakrin N, Cotte E, Glehen O. A perioperative clinical pathway can dramatically reduce failure-to-rescue rates after cytoreductive surgery for peritoneal carcinomatosis: a retrospective study of 666 consecutive cytoreductions. Ann Surg. 2017;265(4):806–13. https://doi. org/10.1097/SLA.00000000001723.
- 74. Aloia TA, Zimmitti G, Conrad C, et al. Return to intended oncologic treatment: a novel metric for evaluating the quality of oncosurgical therapy for malignancy. J Surg Oncol. 2014;110:107–14.
- 75. Elias D, Di Pietrantonio D, Boulet T, Honore C, Bonnet S, Goere D, Kohneh-Shahri N, Raynard B. "Natural history" of complete cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009;35:434–8.
- 76. Baratti D, Kusamura S, Laterza B, Balestra MR, Deraco M. Early and long-term postoperative management following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(1):36–43. https://doi. org/10.4251/wjgo.v2.i1.36.

- 77. Hansson J, Graf W, Påhlman L, Nygren P, Mahteme H. Postoperative adverse events and long-term survival after cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009;35(2): 202–8.
- Youssef H, Newman C, Chandrakumaran K, Mohamed F, Cecil TD, Moran BJ. Operative findings, early complications, and long-term survival in 456 patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei syndrome of appendiceal origin. Dis Colon Rectum. 2011;54(3):293–9.
- 79. Casado-Adam A, Alderman R, Anthony Stuart O, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Gastrointestinal complications in 147 consecutive patients with peritoneal surface malignancy treated by cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Int J Surg Oncol. 2011;2011., Article ID 468698:10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/468698.
- Fujita F, Torashima Y, Kuroki T, Eguchi S. Risk factors and predictive factors for anastomotic leakage after resection for colorectal cancer: reappraisal of the literature. Surg Today. 2014;44:1595–602.
- Valle SJ, Alzahrani N, Alzahrani S, Traiki TB, Liauw W, Morris DL. Enterocutaneous fistula in patients with peritoneal malignancy following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: incidence, management and outcomes. Surg Oncol. 2016;25(3):315–20. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.suronc.2016.05.025.
- 82. Younan R, Kusamura S, Baratti D, Oliva GD, Costanzo P, Favaro M, Gavazzi C, Deraco M. Bowel complications in 203 cases of peritoneal surface malignancies treated with peritonectomy and closedtechnique intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion. Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12(11):910–8.
- Fumagalli U, Trabucchi E, Soligo M, et al. Effects of intraperitoneal chemotherapy on anastomotic healing in the rat. J Surg Res. 1991;50:82–7.
- Makrin V, Lev-Chelouche D, Even Sapir E, et al. Intraperitoneal heated chemotherapy affects healing of experimental colonic anastomosis: an animal study. J Surg Oncol. 2005;89:18–22.
- Kuzu MA, Köksoy C, Kale T, Demirpençe E, Renda N. Experimental study of the effect of preoperative 5-fluorouracil on the integrity of colonic anastomoses. Br J Surg. 1998;85:236–9.
- Arikan AY, Günal O, Pehlivan M, Alper M. The effect of intraperitoneal paclitaxel administration on colonic anastomosis. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2000;47:1273–6.
- Shimizu T, Maeta M, Koga S. Influence of local hyperthermia on the healing of small intestinal anastomoses in the rat. Br J Surg. 1991;78:57–9.
- Elias D, Antoun S, Goharin A, Otmany AE, Puizilout JM, Lasser P. Research on the best chemohyperthermia technique of treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis after complete resection. Int J Surg Investig. 2000;1:431–9.

- Sarnaik AA, Sussman JJ, Ahmad SA, Lowy AM. Technology of intraperitoneal chemotherapy administration: a survey of techniques with a review of morbidity and mortality. Surg Oncol Clin North Am. 2003;12:849–63.
- 90. Deraco M, Rossi CR, Pennacchioli E, et al. Cytoreductive surgery followed by intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion in the treatment of recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer: a phase II clinical study. Tumori. 2001;87:120–6.
- Zanon C, Clara R, Bortolini M, et al. Chemohyperthermia for advanced abdominal malignancies: a new procedure with closed abdomen and previously performed anastomosis. Int J Hyperth. 2001;17:456–64.
- 92. European Society of Coloproctology Collaborating Group. The relationship between method of anastomosis and anastomotic failure after right hemicolectomy and ileo-caecal resection: an international snapshot audit. Color Dis. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1111/codi.13646.
- de Cuba EM, Verwaal VJ, de Hingh IH, et al. Morbidity associated with colostomy reversal after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:883–90.
- 94. Whealon MD, Gahagan JV, Sujatha-Bhaskar S, et al. Is Fecal diversion needed in pelvic anastomoses during Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC)? Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24:2122–8.
- Sugarbaker PH. Avoiding diverting ileostomy in patients requiring complete pelvic peritonectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:1481–5.
- 96. Evers DJ, Smeenk RM, Bottenberg PD, et al. Effect of preservation of the right gastro-epiploic artery on delayed gastric emptying after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC: a randomized clinical trial. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2011;37:162–7.
- 97. Di Fabio F, Mehta A, Chandrakumaran K, et al. Advanced Pseudomyxoma peritonei requiring gastrectomy to achieve complete cytoreduction results in good long-term oncologic outcomes. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:4316–21.
- Burke S, Abu-Wasel B, Eid A, Nissan A, Hanani M. Differential effect of hyperthermia on nerves and smooth muscle of the mouse ileum. J Surg Oncol. 2011;103:92–100.
- Vather R, Trivedi S, Bissett I. Defining postoperative ileus: results of a systematic review and global survey. J Gastrointest Surg. 2013;17:962–72.
- Milligan DW, Raftery AT. Observations on the pathogenesis of peritoneal adhesions: a light and electron microscopical study. Br J Surg. 1974;61:2.
- 101. Jackson BB. Observations of intraperitoneal adhesions; an experimental study. Surgery. 1958;44:507–14.
- 102. Honoré C, Sourrouille I, Suria S, et al. Postoperative peritonitis without an underlying digestive fistula after complete cytoreductive surgery plus HIPEC. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(6):271–7. https://doi.org/10.4103/1319-3767.121033.

- 103. Montravers P, Gauzit R, Muller C, Marmuse JP, Fichelle A, Desmonts JM. Emergence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria in cases of peritonitis after intraabdominal surgery affects the efficacy of empirical antimicrobial therapy. Clin Infect Dis. 1996;23:486–94.
- 104. Bosscha K, van Vroonhoven TJ, van der Werken C. Surgical management of severe secondary peritonitis. Br J Surg. 1999;86:1371–7.
- 105. MacFie J. Current status of bacterial translocation as a cause of surgical sepsis. Br Med Bull. 2004;71:1–11.
- 106. Shakhar G, Ben-Eliyahu S. Potential prophylactic measures against postoperative immunosuppression: could they reduce recurrence rates in oncological patients? Ann Surg Oncol. 2003;10:972–92.
- 107. Angele MK, Chaudry IH. Surgical trauma and immunosuppression: pathophysiology and potential immunomodulatory approaches. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2005;390:333–41.
- Kimura F, Shimizu H, Yoshidome H, Ohtsuka M, Miyazaki M. Immunosuppression following surgical and traumatic injury. Surg Today. 2010;40:793–808.
- 109. Milligan DW, Raferty AT. Observations on the pathogen is of peritoneal adhesions: a light and electron microscopical study. Br J Surg. 1974;61:274.
- 110. Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Abdominal adhesions causing intestinal obstruction following cytoreductive surgery and early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Acta Chir Austriaca. 1995;27:92. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02602252.
- 111. Ferguson MK. The effect of antineoplastic agents on wound healing. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1982;154:421–8.
- 112. Wimizer T, Orda R, Bawnik JB, et al. Mitomycin and the healing of intestinal anastomosis. Arch Surg. 1973;106:314.
- 113. Hopkins MP, Shellhaas C, Clark T, et al. The effect of immediate carboplatinum on wound healing. Gynecol Oncol. 1993;51:210–3.
- 114. di Zerega GS, Rodgers KE. Prevention of postoperative adhesion. In: di Zerega GS, Rodgers KE, editors. The peritoneum. New York: Springer; 1992. p. 307.
- 115. Yaacobi Y, Goldberg EP. Effect of ringer's lactate irrigation on the formation of postoperative abdominal adhesions. J Invest Surg. 1991;4:31–6.
- 116. Kehoe SM, Williams NL, Yakubu R, Levine DA, Chi DS, Sabbatini PJ, Aghajanian CA, Barakat RR, Abu-Rustum NR. Incidence of intestinal obstruction following intraperitoneal chemotherapy for ovarian tubal and peritoneal malignancies. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;113(2):228–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygyno.2009.01.016.
- 117. Dagbert F, Thievenaz R, Decullier E, Bakrin N, Cotte E, Rousset P, Vaudoyer D, Passot G, Glehen O. Splenectomy increases postoperative complications following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg

Oncol. 2016;23(6):1980–5. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-016-5147-x.

- 118. Becher RD, Shen P, Stewart JH, Russell G, Bradley JF, Levine EA. Splenectomy ameliorates hematologic toxicity of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2011;2(2):70–6. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2011.011.
- 119. Delaitre B, Champault G, Barrat C, Gossot D, Bresler L, Meyer C, Collet D, Samama G. Laparoscopic splenectomy for hematologic diseases. Study of 275 cases. French Society of Laparoscopic Surgery. Ann Chir. 2000;125(6):522–9.
- 120. Hendricks T, Martens MF, Huyben CM, Wobbes T. Inhibition of basal and TGF beta-induced fibroblast collagen synthesis by antineoplastic agents. Implications for wound healing. Br J Cancer. 1993;67(3):545–50.
- 121. Kusamura S, Baratti D, Antonucci A, Younan R, Laterza B, Oliva GD, Gavazzi C, Deraco M. Incidence of postoperative pancreatic fistula and hyperamylasemia after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(12):3443–52.
- 122. Downs-Canner S, Ding Y, Magge DR, et al. A comparative analysis of postoperative pancreatic fistulas after surgery with and without Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemoperfusion. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(5):1651–7. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-4186-4.
- 123. Swaroop VS, Chari ST, Clain JE. Severe acute pancreatitis. JAMA. 2004;291(23):2865–8.
- 124. Bassi C, Dervenis C, Butturini G, Fingerhut A, Yeo C, Izbicki J, Neoptolemos J, Sarr M, Traverso W, Buchler M. International study group on pancreatic fistula definition. Postoperative pancreatic fistula: an International Study Group (ISGPF) definition. Surgery. 2005;138(1):8–13.
- 125. Tansung T, Sugarbaker PH. Management of pancreatitis due to pancreatic injury in cytoreductive surgery. Reg Cancer Treat. 1995;8:180–4.
- 126. Kehoe SM, Eisenhauer EL, Abu-Rustum NR, et al. Incidence and management of pancreatic leaks after splenectomy with distal pancreatectomy performed during primary cytoreductive surgery for advanced ovarian, peritoneal and fallopian tube cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;112:496–500.
- 127. Saxena A, Chua TC, Yan TD, et al. Postoperative pancreatic fistula after cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: incidence, risk factors, management, and clinical sequelae. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:1302–10.
- 128. Makino I, Kitagawa H, Nakagawara H, et al. The management of a remnant pancreatic stump for preventing the development of postoperative pancreatic fistulas after distal pancreatectomy: current evidence and our strategy. Surg Today. 2013;43:595–602.
- 129. Votanopoulos KI, Randle RW, Craven B, et al. Significance of urinary tract involvement in patients treated with cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyper-

thermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:868–74.

- 130. Braam HJ, van Oudheusden TR, de Hingh IH, et al. Urological procedures in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer treated with HIPEC: morbidity and survival analysis. Anticancer Res. 2015;35:295–300.
- 131. Lyon TD, Turner Ii RM, Nikonow TN, et al. Effect of a concomitant urologic procedure on outcomes following cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2016;113:218–22.
- 132. Canet J, Gallart L, Gomar C, et al. Prediction of postoperative pulmonary complications in a population-based surgical cohort. Anesthesiology. 2010;113:1338–50.
- Chiumello D, Chevallard G, Gregoretti C. Noninvasive ventilation in postoperative patients: a systematic review. Intensive Care Med. 2011;37:918–29.
- 134. Futier E, Paugam-Burtz C, Godet T, et al. Effect of early postextubation high-flow nasal cannula vs conventional oxygen therapy on hypoxaemia in patients after major abdominal surgery: a French multicentre randomised controlled trial (OPERA). Intensive Care Med. 2016;42:1888–98.
- 135. Osseis M, Weyrech J, Gayat E, et al. Epidural analgesia combined with a comprehensive physiotherapy program after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC is associated with enhanced post-operative recovery and reduces intensive care unit stay: a retrospective study of 124 patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42:1938–43.
- 136. Boden I, Browning L, Skinner EH, et al. The LIPPSMAck POP (lung infection prevention post surgery – major abdominal – with pre-operative physiotherapy) trial: study protocol for a multi-centre randomised controlled trial. Trials. 2015;16:573.
- Duggan M, Kavanagh BR. Atelectasis in the perioperative patient. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2007;20:37–42. https://doi.org/10.1097/ ACO.0b013e328011d7e5.
- 138. Reinius H, Jonsson L, Gustafsson S, Sundbom M, Duvernoy O, Pelosi P, Hedenstierna G, Fredén F. Prevention of atelectasis in morbidly obese patients during general anesthesia and paralysis. Anesthesiology. 2009;111:979–87. https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN.0b013e3181b87edb.
- 139. Casado D, López F, Marti R. Perioperative fluid management and major respiratory complications in patients undergoing esophagectomy. Dis Esophagus. 2010;23:523–8. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1442-2050.2010.01057.x.
- 140. Kita T, Mammoto T, Kishi Y. Fluid management and postoperative respiratory disturbances in patients with transthoracic esophagectomy for carcinoma. J Clin Anesth. 2002;14:252–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0952-8180(02)00352-5.
- 141. Chéreau E, Ballester M, Selle F, et al. Pulmonary morbidity of diaphragmatic surgery for stage III/IV ovarian cancer. BJOG. 2009;116(8):1062–8.

- 142. Preti V, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Pulmonary complications following cytoreductive surgery and perioperative chemotherapy in 147 consecutive patients. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:8. https://doi. org/10.1155/2012/635314.
- 143. Chen MY, Chiles C, Loggie BW, Choplin RH, Perini MA, Fleming RA. Thoracic complications in patients undergoing intraperitoneal heated chemotherapy with mitomycin following cytoreductive surgery. J Surg Oncol. 1997;66:19–23.
- 144. Orwoll ES, Kiessling PJ, Patterson JR. Interstitial pneumonia from mitomycin. Ann Intern Med. 1978;89:352–5.
- Batist G, Andrews JL Jr. Pulmonary toxicity of antineoplastic drugs. JAMA. 1981;246:1449–53.
- Ginsberg SJ, Comis RL. The pulmonary toxicity of antineoplastic agents. Semin Oncol. 1982;9:34–51.
- 147. Raue W, Tsilimparis N, Bloch A, Menenakos C, Hartmann J. Volume therapy and cardio circular function during hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur Surg Res. 2009;43:365–72. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000248164.
- 148. Schmidt C, Creutzenberg M, Piso P, Hobbhahn J, Bucher M. Peri-operative anaesthetic management of cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Anaesthesia. 2008;63:389–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2044.2007.05380.x.
- 149. Schmidt U, Dahlke MH, Klempnauer J, Schlitt HJ, Piso P. Perioperative morbidity and quality of life in long-term survivors following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2005;31(1):53–8.
- 150. ARDS Definition Task Force, Ranieri VM, Rubenfeld GD, Thompson BT, Ferguson ND, et al. Acute respiratory distress syndrome: the berlin definition. JAMA. 2012;307:2526–33.
- 151. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) Clinical Trials Network, Wheeler AP, Bernard GR, et al. Pulmonary-artery versus central venous catheter to guide treatment of acute lung injury. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:2213–24.
- 152. Alonso O, Sugarbaker PH. Adult respiratory distress syndrome occurring in two patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery plus perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: case reports and a review of the literature. Am Surg. 2000;66(11):1032–6.
- Eltabbakh GH, Awtrey CS, Walker P. Adult respiratory distress syndrome after extensive cytoreductive surgery. A case report. J Reprod Med. 2000;45: 51–4.
- 154. Abel ML, Kokosis G, Blazer DG. Pulmonary toxicity after intraperitoneal mitomycin C: a case report of a rare complication of HIPEC. World J Surg Oncol. 2017;15:49.
- 155. Thompson CC, Bailey MK, Conroy JM, Bromley HR. Postoperative pulmonary toxicity associated with mitomycin-C therapy. South Med J. 1992;85:1257–9.

- 156. Gonzalez-Moreno S, Lambert LA, Mansfield PF. Interstitial pneumonitis: an exceptional toxicity of hyperthermic intraperitoneal mitomycin C. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34:482–4.
- 157. Verweij J, van Zanten T, Souren T, Golding R, Pinedo HM. Prospective study on the dose relationship of mitomycin C-induced interstitial pneumonitis. Cancer. 1987;60:756–61.
- 158. van Ruth S, Verwaal VJ, Zoetmulder FA. Pharmacokinetics of intraperitoneal mitomycin C. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12:771–80.
- 159. Rottenstreich A, Kalish Y, Kleinstern G, et al. Factors associated with thromboembolic events following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.24746.
- 160. Vukadinovic V, Chiou JD, Morris DL. Clinical features of pulmonary emboli in patients following cytoreductive surgery (peritonectomy) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (hipec), a single centre experience. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41:702–6.
- 161. Giglio MT, Marucci M, Testini M, Brienza N. Goal-directed haemodynamic therapy and gastrointestinal complications in major surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Br J Anaesth. 2009;103:637–46.
- 162. Kozek-Langenecker SA, Afshari A, Albaladejo P, et al. Management of severe perioperative bleeding: guidelines from the European Society of Anaesthesiology. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2013;30:270–382.
- 163. Thanigaimani K, Mohamed F, Cecil T, Moran BJ, Bell J. The use of cardiac output monitoring to guide the administration of intravenous fluid during hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Color Dis. 2013;15:1537–42.
- 164. Colantonio L, Claroni C, Fabrizi L, et al. A randomized trial of goal directed vs. standard fluid therapy in cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Gastrointest Surg. 2015;19:722–9.
- 165. Schmidt C, Moritz S, Rath S, et al. Perioperative management of patients with cytoreductive surgery for peritoneal carcinomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100:297–301.
- 166. Vorgias G, Iavazzo C, Mavromatis J, et al. Determination of the necessary total protein substitution requirements in patients with advanced stage ovarian cancer and ascites, undergoing debulking surgery. Correlation with plasma proteins. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:1919–23.
- Schnake KJ, Sugarbaker PH, Yoo D. Neutropenia following perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Tumori. 1999;85:41–6.
- 168. Lambert LA, Armstrong TS, Lee JJ, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and impact of severe neutropenia after hyperthermic intraperitoneal mitomycin C. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16:2181–7.
- 169. Elias D, Glehen O, Pocard M, et al. A comparative study of complete cytoreductive surgery plus

intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat peritoneal dissemination from colon, rectum, small bowel, and nonpseudomyxoma appendix. Ann Surg. 2010;251:896–901.

- 170. Sargant N, Roy A, Simpson S, et al. A protocol for management of blood loss in surgical treatment of peritoneal malignancy by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Transfus Med. 2016;26:118–22.
- 171. Delhorme JB, Sattler L, Severac F, et al. Prognostic factors of hemorrhagic complications after oxaliplatin-based hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: toward routine preoperative dosage of Von Willebrand factor? Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(6):1095–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2017.01.015.
- 172. Charrier T, Passot G, Peron J, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin increases the risk of postoperative hemorrhagic complications: analysis of predictive factors. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:2315–22.
- 173. Mehta AM, Huitema AD, Burger JW, et al. Standard clinical protocol for bidirectional Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC): systemic leucovorin, 5-fluorouracil, and heated intraperitoneal oxaliplatin in a chloride-containing carrier solution. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24:990–7.
- 174. Gouy S, Ferron G, Glehen O, Bayar A, Marchal F, Pomel C, Quenet F, Bereder JM, Le Deley MC, Morice P. Results of a multicenter phase I dose-finding trial of hyperthermic intraperitoneal cisplatin after neoadjuvant chemotherapy and complete cytoreductive surgery and followed by maintenance bevacizumab in initially unresectable ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;142(2):237–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2016.05.032. Epub 2016 Jun 2.
- 175. Zivanovic O, Abramian A, Kullmann M, Fuhrmann C, Coch C, Hoeller T, Ruehs H, Keyver-Paik MD, Rudlowski C, Weber S, Kiefer N, Poelcher ML, Thiesler T, Rostamzadeh B, Mallmann M, Schaefer N, Permantier M, Latten S, Kalff J, Thomale J, Jaehde U, Kuhn WC. HIPEC ROC I: a phase 1 study of cisplatin administered as hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemoperfusion followed by postoperative intravenous platinum-based chemotherapy in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:699–708. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29011.
- 176. Tsukamoto JS, Belotto de Oliveira M, Peixoto RD. Tonic-clonic seizure following cytoreductive surgery with intraperitoneal oxaliplatin: a case report and review of the literature. Case Rep Oncol. 2016;9(1):89– 94. https://doi.org/10.1159/000443827.
- 177. Macri A, Fleres F, Ieni A, et al. Wernicke encephalopathy as rare complication of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Int J Surg Case Rep. 2015;16:29–32.
- 178. Lampl B, Leebmann H, Mayr M, Piso P. Rare diaphragmatic complications following cytoreductive

surgery and HIPEC: report of two cases. Surg Today. 2014;44(2):383–6.

- 179. Laterza B, Baratti D, Cozzi G, et al. Colobronchial fistula: an unusual complication after peritonectomy and Hyperthermic Intra-Peritoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC). In Vivo. 2009;23(1): 151–3.
- 180. Ihemelandu C, Mavros MN, Sugarbaker P. Adverse events postoperatively had no impact on long-term survival of patients treated with cytoreductive surgery with heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy for appendiceal cancer with peritoneal metastases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:4231–7.
- 181. Simkens GA, van Oudheusden TR, Luyer MD, et al. Serious postoperative complications affect early recurrence after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;22(8):2656–62.
- 182. Passot G, Vaudoyer D, Villeneuve L, Wallet F, Beaujard AC, Boschetti G, Rousset P, Bakrin N, Cotte E, Glehen O. A perioperative clinical pathway can dramatically reduce failure-to-rescue rates after cytoreductive surgery for peritoneal carcinomatosis: a retrospective study of 666 consecutive cytoreductions. Ann Surg. 2017;265(4):806–13. https://doi. org/10.1097/SLA.000000000001723.

Part II

Disease Specific Applications of Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC



10

Cytoreductive Surgery and Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Advanced Epithelial Ovarian Cancer

Kayomarz Sethna, Shabber Zaveri, and Aditi Bhatt

10.1 Introduction

Epithelial ovarian cancer is diagnosed in an advanced stage in 75% of the patients, and majority of them develop recurrent disease despite optimal frontline therapy. Cytoreductive surgery (CRS) aimed at removing all macroscopic disease is the standard of care. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy in addition to systemic chemotherapy has shown a survival benefit which has prompted the use of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in these patients. Patients who can undergo complete tumor removal are preferably treated with CRS first followed by chemotherapy. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy is reserved for those who cannot undergo complete tumor removal. The most important prognostic factor so far has been the completeness of tumor removal. Tumor recurrence is common despite maximal surgical efforts, and the commonest site for recur-

K. Sethna (🖂)

Department of Surgery, Sion Hospital

S. Zaveri

A. Bhatt

rence is the peritoneum. HIPEC appears to be a promising approach in these patients and is currently being evaluated in clinical trials.

10.2 Pathology

According to the WHO classification, ovarian cancers are classified as surface epithelial, sex cord, and germ cell tumors. Epithelial tumors are the commonest. The commonest variety of epithelial tumors is the serous variety, the less common ones being mucinous, clear cell, endometrioid, and transitional cell tumors (Brenner's) [1]. Serous histology is the most common, representing 70% of epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) [2].

10.3 Pathogenesis

The long-accepted theory is that all epithelial ovarian cancers share a common origin. The epithelium is subjected to repeated trauma of ovulation and exposed to inflammatory cytokines. Repetitive insults alter the DNA of epithelial cells and promote malignant change [3].

This theory however has remained unsupported as no premalignant lesion has been identified in the ovary and the progression of the low-grade tumor to a high-grade tumor is rarely seen [4]. This statement is borne out by the histopathology findings in patients who have undergone prophy-

⁽Lokmanya Tilak General Hospital), Mumbai, India e-mail: kssethna@yahoo.co.uk

Department of Surgical Oncology, Manipal Hospital, Bangalore, India

Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_10

lactic oophorectomy due to a genetic predisposition to ovarian cancer. Isolated foci of cancer have been frequently found in the fallopian tube rather than in the ovary; this phenomenon was first reported by Peik et al. in patients with BRCA mutation and a strong family history of ovarian cancer [5]. Subsequently, similar findings were reported by other investigators in sporadic tumors as well [6, 7]. So it is likely that the primary tumor starts in the fallopian tube and goes on to involve the ovary [8, 9]. Tumors arising from the fallopian tube are generally high-grade tumors and are detected in an advanced stage [10].

The similarities between ovarian serous carcinomas, fallopian tube carcinomas, and primary peritoneal serous carcinoma and their resemblance to tumors of Mullerian origin have led to the suggestion that each of these cancer types develops from a common cell lineage, the embryonic Mullerian system [11].

Their hypothesis that ovarian cancer does not arise from ovarian tissue is supported by clinical findings, indirect evidence, and logic, and concrete evidence to support the cell of origin is lacking.

- The three most common subtypes of these tumors, referred to as serous, endometrioid, and mucinous, are morphologically identical to carcinomas of the fallopian tube, endometrioid, and endocervix, respectively.
- A cystic component comprising epithelial cells of non-ovarian origin is often seen in serous epithelial tumors, and both benign and mucinous epithelial tumors form cystic lesions.
- Benign ovarian epithelial-like tumors are at least as frequent outside the ovary (para-tubal and para-ovarian cystadenomas) as they are within this organ.
- Primary peritoneal carcinomas that are histologically and clinically identical to ovarian carcinomas may be seen outside the ovary and may develop in individuals in whom the ovaries were removed several years previously and for reasons other than cancer [12–15].
- Women with familial ovarian carcinoma predisposition due to germline mutations in either

BRCA1 or BRCA2 continue to be at an increased risk of developing serous extra-ovarian carcinomas (usually referred to as primary peritoneal carcinomas) after undergoing prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomies [16–18].

 Serous, endometrioid, and mucinous ovarian carcinomas express the same set of HOX genes as epithelial cells from normal fallopian tube, endometrium, and endocervix, respectively [19]. HOX genes are specific for different body parts.

The various tissues to which ovarian epithelial tumors resemble, including the lining of fallopian tubes, endometrium, and endocervix, and these structures share a common embryological origin, unrelated to that of the ovary, which is the paramesonephric or Mullerian duct.

There are two hypotheses for the origin of epithelial ovarian cancer and that of PPSC.

The coelomic theory (no longer accepted) proposed that coelomic epithelium that is present on the surface of the ovaries first undergoes Mullerian metaplasia and then malignant change.

The Mullerian theory (widely accepted) proposes that Mullerian epithelium is present on the ovarian surface or within its substance and around it as well and these Mullerian cells undergo malignant degeneration.

A large multi-institutional prospective study (Prostate, Lung, Colorectal, and Ovarian [PLCO] Cancer Screening Trial) showed no benefit of annual screening with CA 125 and transvaginal ultrasound since despite screening over 70% of the women presented with stage 3 and 4 disease [20].

10.4 Tumor Spread in Ovarian Cancer

Metastases from ovarian cancer are predominantly peritoneal surface dissemination. Lymphatic and hematogenous routes are the other pathways for dissemination. Initial spread may be to the uterus, adnexa, rectum, and pelvic peritoneum by way of intraperitoneal seeding. Direct extension and involvement of these structures are also possible [21]. Cells exfoliate from the ovarian tumor and are carried in the peritoneal fluid upward via the paracolic gutter toward the right diaphragmatic stomata. The cells get deposited on the peritoneal surface of the diaphragm, and some may pass on to the mediastinal lymphatics. The left diaphragm is less commonly affected due to the anatomical barrier of the phrenicocolic ligament. The left paracolic gutter though can be seeded by the malignant ovarian cells. The greater omentum has a large phagocytic capacity for cancer cells so that this organ is almost always infiltrated by the tumor. Heavy seeding of the omentum can result in an "omental cake" [22].

Lymphatic spread is common to the pelvic and para-aortic nodes [23, 24]. Hematogenous spread to organs occurs in about 5% of cases, but these metastases are rarely seen at presentation. Ascites can be present in low-volume peritoneal disease as well as in high-volume disease [24]. Ascites in ovarian cancer results from blockade of the subperitoneal lymphatics with tumor cells that reduced the fluid absorption and increased secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) by the cancer cells leading to increased permeability of the vessels and formation of ascites [25, 26]. Peritoneal involvement in ovarian cancer is stage III as opposed to most other cancers where it is classified as stage IV.

Approximately 75% of patients with EOC are diagnosed with stage 3 and 4 disease that include patients with pleural involvement.

Fifteen percent of the patients have involvement of the pleural space at the time of diagnosis—either a pleural effusion alone or pleural metastases as well. Malignant pleural effusions can arise from direct pleural involvement by tumor, hematogenous metastases to the pleura, or spread through pleuroperitoneal lymphatic channels [27].

Thus ovarian cancer presents in an advanced stage in most cases, and the peritoneal cavity is commonly involved. This provides the rationale for using locoregional therapies like cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in the management of advanced ovarian cancer.

10.5 Presentation

Epithelial ovarian cancers are relatively asymptomatic in the early stages. Patients may present with nonspecific symptoms as the disease progresses. These symptoms include an increasing abdominal girth associated with dull constant pain, feeling of fullness after meals, urgency and frequency of micturition, bloating, reflux, and early satiety [28].

10.6 Investigations

In advanced ovarian cancer, the investigations are ordered to confirm the diagnosis and select the appropriate therapy. Routine blood workup is done for all patients. In addition the performance status and comorbidities are evaluated. A poor general health may preclude an aggressive therapeutic strategy. However, if the deterioration in general condition is recent, instituting definitive therapy could lead to an improvement in the health status. The other important factor is the disease extent. All patients need to undergo evaluation for the feasibility of a complete cytoreductive surgery (CRS). Such decisions are best taken by a multidisciplinary team of experts.

10.6.1 Tumor Markers

10.6.1.1 CA 125

This is a high molecular weight glycoprotein. Almost all serous tumors and also a majority of endometrioid and clear cell variants secrete it [29]. CA125 is not specific for ovarian cancer and may be raised in a number of benign conditions such as uterine cancer, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, lung cancer, and even liver cirrhosis [30–32].

The CA-125 levels do not correlate accurately with the extent of the disease. Some studies have shown that CA-125 > 500 is a predictor of incomplete cytoreduction or suboptimal debulking, while others have not found it to be accurate [33–36]. Chi et al. reported that 50% of the patients who have a CA-125 of >500 require upper

abdominal procedures to achieve complete cytoreduction [37]. A > 75–80% decline in CA-125 after CRS has been associated with a prolongation in the disease-free survival [38, 39]. Some investigators have suggested that a decline in CA-125 is the better predictor of residual disease than the surgeon's assessment of it [40].

10.6.1.2 HE4

Human epididymis 4 protein is secreted by the respiratory and reproductive tracts [41]. More than 50% of ovarian cancer patients who do not show elevated CA125 levels have elevated HE4 levels [42]. Based on this fact, a Risk of Ovarian Malignancy score was developed which could predict an ovarian malignancy with a high sensitivity and specificity [43]. HE4 levels have also been elevated in a fraction of cases where CA 125 cannot be detected, leading to its evaluation for monitoring response to therapy, for detecting recurrences, and for early detection [44]. High concentration of plasma HE4 is an independent preoperative marker of poor prognosis in patients with advanced ovarian cancer [45].

10.6.2 Imaging

10.6.2.1 Computerized Tomography

A CT scan of the abdomen and pelvis is the most commonly used imaging tool. It helps characterize the mass and evaluate the extent of the disease as well. There are other conditions which can mimic advanced ovarian cancer like tuberculosis, and these need to be ruled out. The extent of disease is important for predicting a complete cytoreduction/optimal cytoreduction and has a prognostic value as well. The local extent of the primary tumor is assessed. Involvement of the pelvic side walls, iliac vessels, rectosigmoid, and bladder needs to be evaluated to predict the feasibility of a complete resection [46]. Peritoneal metastases present as nodular soft tissue lesions or as more subtle findings including linear or plaque-like thickening of the parietal or visceral peritoneum [47]. Implants from serous tumors have foci of calcifications [48]. The majority of peritoneal lesions show moderate enhancement after contrast medium. Rarely, mixed solid and cystic or purely cystic lesions are found [39]. Diffuse small bowel serosal involvement with <150 cm of the bowel free, involvement of the hepatoduodenal ligament, retraction of the mesenteric root, and bladder neck involvement on CT are signs of inoperability on CT scan [49].

CT along with clinical parameters has been validated as a tool for predicting the probability of a complete cytoreduction by several investigators [50, 51]. In multicenter trial evaluating the ability of CT scan and CA125 to predict suboptimal debulking, Chi et al. came up with a predicscore based on nine tive parameters. Age \geq 60 years, CA-125 \geq 500 U/mL, retroperitoneal lymph nodes above the renal hilum (including supradiaphragmatic) >1 cm, and diffuse small bowel adhesions/thickening were each assigned a predictive value score of 1. Perisplenic lesions >1 cm, small bowel mesentery lesions >1 cm, and root of the SMA lesions >1 cm were each assigned a score of 2. ASA 3-4 was assigned a score of 3, and lesser sac lesions >1 cm were assigned a score of 4. No cutoff was recommended for selecting patients for surgery, but a high score implied a lower probability of optimal debulking [50].

Probably the most useful, reliable, and reproducible prognostic tool to assess the extent of PM is the peritoneal cancer index (PCI) developed by Sugarbaker [52]. The abdomen and the pelvis are divided by lines into nine regions (regions 0–8) and the small bowel into four regions. The lesion size (LS) of the largest implant is scored – LS-0 means no implants are seen in that particular area, LS-1 refers to implants that measure up to 0.5 cm in greatest diameter, LS-2 refers to nodules measuring 0.5-5 cm, and LS-3 refers to implants 5 cm or greater in diameter. Confluent tumor deposits or tissue adhesions are categorized as LS-3. The PCI is the sum of the LS score in each region and ranges from 0 to 39. The PCI quantifies the extent of peritoneal metastases (PM) within each region of the abdomen and pelvis and sums the LS score for each region as a total varying from 1 to 39 for the peritoneal cavity. The PCI can be correlated with the likelihood of complete CRS and survival in advanced ovarian cancer certain [53]. The BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE working groups have developed the PeRitOneal Mallgnancy Stage Evaluation (PROMISE) internet application (www.e-promise.org) to facilitate tabulation and automatically calculate the peritoneal cancer index (PCI). This application offers computer assistance to produce simple, quick, but precise and standardized pre-, intra-, and postoperative reports of the extent of peritoneal metastases. The radiological, pathological, and surgical scores can be generated. Not only the peritoneal metastases but other aspects like peritoneal thickening, involvement of adipose tissue, and fluid density are taken into consideration in this application. It can be used by less experienced centers as well and can help in research and multicentric studies related to peritoneal metastases [54].

The sensitivity of helical CT for peritoneal tumors less than 1 cm was found to be only 25–50% compared with 85–95% for larger tumor deposits [55]. In a multi-institutional study, Esquivel et al. found that the preoperative CT PCI score underestimated the extent of carcinomatosis in 33% of patients [56].

10.6.2.2 MRI

MRI has a sensitivity of more than 80% and a specificity of 84% in the characterization of ovarian lesions. MRI is highly specific for benign lesions such as dermoid and endometrial cysts. A lesion is considered benign if any one or more of the following criteria are present: size less than 4 cm, wall is less than 3 mm in thickness, and the presence of features typical of dermoid cysts or endometrioma. Additional features that suggest malignancy include the presence of ascites or peritoneal deposits or organ metastases [57–59]. Some investigators have reported a greater accuracy of MRI in predicting the PCI as compared to CT [60]. It has shown to be better for detecting smallvolume disease and small bowel and mesenteric involvement as well compared to CT [61]. MRI requires a stringent protocol – bowel preparation, 6 h of fasting, and prolonged scan time. The detection of advanced-stage ovarian carcinoma requires T2-weighted imaging with fat suppression before and after the administration of an intravenous contrast material, and diffusion-weighted imaging of the entire abdomen and pelvis in the axial and coronal planes, as well as the standard pelvic imaging sequences. The optimal thickness of axial sections is 5 mm or less, and post contrast imaging should be performed no longer than 5 minutes after contrast injection. If performed later, contrast that has diffused into the ascitic fluid can obscure the peritoneal lesions [62].

In a prospective comparative study, wholebody MRI showed a greater accuracy compared to CT and PET-CT for detecting bowel surface and mesenteric lesions and a similar rate of detection of extra-abdominal metastases [63]. Contrary to this, another comparative study found no significant differences between MRI, CT, and PET/ CT for staging though PET-CT was more accurate for supradiaphragmatic disease [64].

10.6.2.3 PET

Staging of newly diagnosed ovarian cancer is more accurate with PET or PET-CT than with conventional CT scan [65]. Sensitivities of 78–97% and specificities of 55–90% have been reported with the use of PET alone for the detection of peritoneal carcinomatosis [66]. Some of the common findings on PET-CT in patients with ovarian cancer are avid uptake in well-defined nodules as well as diffuse uptake by the peritoneal and serosal surfaces. It has the added advantage of detecting nodal metastases in patients with normal-sized pelvic and para-aortic nodes [67].

Some of the imaging findings predictive of incomplete tumor removal are listed in Table 10.1.

10.6.3 Diagnostic Laparoscopy

Laparoscopy allows direct visualization of the peritoneal surfaces, the small bowel and its mesentery, and small tumor nodules missed on imaging can be detected on laparoscopy. The disadvantages are its inability to evaluate retro-

Potentially non-resectable disease	
Extensive involvement of the small bowel or mesenteric root	
Involved lymph node superior to the celiac axis	
Pleural infiltration	
Pelvic sidewall invasion	
Bladder trigone involvement	
Hepatic parenchymal metastases or implants near the right hepatic vein	;
Implants larger than 2 cm in diameter in the diaphrag lesser sac, porta hepatis, intersegmental fissure, gallbladder fossa, or gastrosplenic or gastrohepatic lioament	n,

Table 10.1Signs of non-resectability on imaging [62]

peritoneal structures like the ureters and pancreas, the omental bursa near the celiac axis, hepatic and splenic parenchymal metastases, and the depth of involvement of the hepatic pedicle and the diaphragm [68]. Fagotti et al. evaluated the role of laparoscopy in addition of a clinical and radiological evaluation in 65 patients undergoing laparotomy for advanced ovarian cancer. Optimal debulking was achieved in 34 of the 39 patients (87%) whose disease was judged completely resectable on the basis of laparoscopy findings leading to an accuracy of 90% for predicting a complete cytoreduction. The negative predictive value (NPV) of clinical-radiological evaluation was 73%, whereas the NPV of laparoscopy was 100% (i.e., when laparoscopy predicted an incomplete CRS, all patients were unresectable at laparotomy). The positive predictive values (PPV) of clinical-radiological evaluation and laparoscopy were both 87% [69]. Subsequently, the same investigators came up with a predictive index value (PIV) based on objective parameters determined at precytoreduction laparoscopy, the "Fagotti score" [70]. The score is a sum of the individual score of seven sites of disease (Table 10.2). Patients with a score of ≥ 8 had a 100% chance of having a suboptimal/incomplete CRS. The parameters were chosen to describe the extent of intraabdominal disease rather than predicting a complete cytoreduction [70]. The score has been prospectively validated—at a PIV of ≥ 8 , the

The Fagotti score
Omental cake
Peritoneal carcinomatosis
Diaphragmatic carcinomatosis
Mesenteric retraction
Bowel infiltration
Stomach infiltration
Liver metastases
Each parameter is attributed a score of 0 if not
involved and 2 if involved. Cytoreduction is
incomplete in 100% of the patients if the score is ≥ 8

probability of optimal cytoreduction (residual tumor ≤ 1 cm) at laparotomy is 0 [71, 72]. The learning curve has been defined for this procedure [73]. Its reproducibility has been demonstrated at nonacademic peripheral centers as well [74]. Thus, a combination of clinical parameters, imaging findings, and diagnostic laparoscopy is required for selecting patients for CRS.

10.6.4 Assessment of Pleural Involvement

Fifteen percent of the patients with ovarian cancer present with a pleural effusion. The third most common cause of a malignant effusion is ovarian cancer. That cytological tests are more frequently positive in patients with ovarian cancer than in other tumor types [75]. A positive cytology is needed to categorize the effusion as malignant. In the absence of a positive cytology, when there is a strong suspicion of pleural involvement, a diagnostic thoracoscopy can be performed to look for pleural deposits. In one study, 4 (36%) of 11 patients with OC and a negative cytological examination of pleural fluid had macroscopic pleural malignancy on thoracoscopy [76]. Though invasive, such a procedure may change the treatment decision and may be necessary when the suspicion is high.

In addition, immunohistochemistry may be used when the diagnosis is in doubt [77].

10.7 Staging of Ovarian Cancer

Advanced ovarian cancer constitutes stages III and IV. In 2014, the classification was revised. According to the new classification, the presence of retroperitoneal lymph node involvement without intraperitoneal dissemination beyond the pelvis constitutes stage IIIA1; microscopic peritoneal metastasis beyond the pelvis irrespective of retroperitoneal lymph node metastasis, IIIA2; and macroscopic extra pelvic tumor spread up to 2 cm stage IIIB and >2 cm stage IIIC, both irrespective of the presence of retroperitoneal lymph node metastasis, respectively [78]. With respect to the extent of peritoneal disease, both stages IIIB and IIIC remain heterogeneous group as patients with few nodules outside the pelvis would be grouped along with patients with diffuse carcinomatosis. A better method of stratification of these patients would be according to the peritoneal cancer index (PCI) developed by Paul Sugarbaker. Among the stage IV patients, patients with malignant pleural effusion or pleural are categorized as IVA. FIGO IVB includes patients with intra- and extra-abdominal parenchymal metastases and extra-abdominal lymph node metastasis. Moreover, patients with inguinal lymph node metastasis and transmural bowel infiltration with mucosal involvement are now considered as FIGO stage IVB. However, despite these changes, some controversial issues, especially with respect to FIGO stage IV, remain still unsolved. Some of the patients classified as stage IV may have a better prognosis than others; for example, those with solitary liver or parenchymal metastases, transmural bowel infiltration, or umbilical deposits are known to do better than patients with multiple extra-abdominal metastases (lung, mediastinal, and cervical nodes) [79].

10.8 Treatment of Advanced Ovarian Cancer

The treatment of advanced ovarian cancer is a combination of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and chemotherapy. CRS performed before the institu-

Table 10.3 Scoring systems for completeness of cytoreductive surgery

Scores for completeness of cytoreductive surgery					
Completeness of cytoreduction (CC) score [52]		GOG criteria for "optimal debulking" [80]			
CC-0 CC-1	No visible residual disease Residual disease 0–2.5 mm	RD0	No visible residual disease (zero residual disease		
CC-2	Residual disease 2.5 mm–2.5 cm	RD 1	Residual disease <1 cm (<i>optimal</i> <i>debulking</i>)		
CC-3	Residual disease >2.5 cm	RD 2	Residual disease >1 cm (suboptimal debulking)		

tion of chemotherapy, also referred to as primary CRS, essentially comprises removal of all macroscopic disease and is the current standard of care for surgery for advanced ovarian cancer. The term "debulking surgery" (primary debulking surgery – PDS) is equally popular but usually refers to procedures in which the goal is to leave a residue of <1 cm (optimal debulking). The completeness of surgery is defined according to the maximum diameter of the residual disease nodules. Complete cytoreduction is generally used for cases where there is no visible residual disease according to the completeness of cytoreduction score (Table 10.3) by Sugarbaker et al. [52]. The other commonly used term is "optimal cytoreduction" which is defined by the Gynecologic Oncology Group (GOG) as residual disease measuring <1 cm in maximal diameter [80].

10.8.1 Evidence for Cytoreductive Surgery As First-Line Therapy for Advanced Ovarian Cancer

Meigs et al. first observed that a "definitive operation" before chemotherapy led to improved survival compared with "partial removal" or "biopsy only" [81].

Subsequently, Griffiths et al. in 1975, in a series of 102 patients, reported that the survival time was improved in proportion with a reduction in the residual disease size below 1.6 cm. Above this limit, the size of the residual disease had no impact on survival [82]. Another study by Hoskins et al., of a subgroup of 294 patients from a GOG study, showed that in patients with residual disease >2 cm, size of the residual lesions had no impact on the survival. Patients with residual disease <2 cm experienced a prolonged survival [80]. The same authors retrospectively reviewed 394 patients from a GOG study all of whom had residual disease <1 cm and concluded that apart from the size of residual disease, the other factors influencing survival are extent of disease, age, tumor grade, and the number of residual lesions [83]. Bristow et al. performed a meta-analysis of studies reporting outcomes of cytoreductive surgery and systemic chemotherapy for patients with advanced ovarian cancer. In 6885 patients included in 53 studies, the patients who had no residual tumor had a survival of 46.9 months compared to 30 months in patients who had any size of residual disease (p < 0.001). Similarly, when patients with residual tumor size of 1-10 mm were compared with those having residual disease >10 mm, there was a difference in median survival in favor of the first group of 4.9 months for stage IIIC and 2.3 months for stage IV [84]. Despite this compelling evidence, the Gynecologic Oncology Group (GOG) defines optimal debulking as residual implants less than 1 cm [85, 86]. The assessment of residual tumor is done intraoperatively and is subjective and often inaccurate due to induration of tissues and failure to explore the entire abdominal cavity thoroughly as pointed out by Chi et al. [86]. There is a clear benefit of complete removal of all macroscopic disease, and this should be the goal of CRS. The completeness of cytoreduction score by Sugarbaker is a standardized way of recording the extent of residual disease [52]. Extensive upper abdominal surgery comprising procedures like diaphragm resection and splenectomy may be required to achieve a complete CRS, and the same must be performed, in conjunction with specialist surgical teams if required [87, 88].

Though spread to these regions is considered indicative of an aggressive tumor biology, complete cytoreduction in this area has shown to have a survival benefit as well [83, 89, 90].

The presence of a moderate to large pleural effusion (occupying greater than a third of the hemithorax) has been associated with an inferior survival [91, 92]. For patients with pleural effusion showing malignant cells or pleural implants, a combined approach of abdominal and thoracic CRS can be employed provided the patient can tolerate the procedure and complete tumor removal is possible [93]. A video-assisted thoracoscopic surgical (VATS) approach is recommended for the thoracic part of the procedure. Chi et al. have proposed an algorithm for management of these patients in which they recommend surgery for the thoracic and abdominal disease both if a complete cytoreduction is possible [94].

However, most of these patients would end up getting neoadjuvant chemotherapy due to extensive disease not amenable to a complete CRS [76, 94]. In others, the performance status could preclude an aggressive surgical effort before chemotherapy.

10.8.2 The Role of Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy (NACT)

In patients where complete cytoreduction or optimal residual disease could not be obtained, the concept of interval CRS/interval debulking surgery (IDS), in which another attempt is made at complete tumor removal following a few cycles of systemic chemotherapy, was introduced. Three large randomized controlled trials were performed to evaluate the benefit of this approach of which two showed no survival benefit [95–97]. The percentage of patients who could be optimally cytoreduced in these trials was small.

Subsequently, the term neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) has been used for chemotherapy which is administered prior to any attempt at cytoreduction [98]. NACT has some theoretical advantages which include an increased rate of complete cytoreduction; the possibility of less extensive surgery leading to a reduced blood loss,

morbidity, and hospital stay; an improved quality of life; and the potential to test disease biology based on response to therapy [98]. Furthermore, it has been suggested that NACT followed by interval CRS does not worsen the prognosis for patients with advanced ovarian cancer [99]. In a meta-analysis of 21 studies comprising 835 patients, Bristow et al. reported an inferior survival for the NACT approach. Increasing percent maximal cytoreduction was positively associated with median cohort survival. An increase in the number of chemotherapy cycles prior to surgery was associated with an inferior survival; each additional cycle of NACT led to a 4.1-month reduction in median survival. The authors concluded that early surgical intervention was associated with a survival benefit [100].

This approach was further evaluated in two randomized controlled trials. In an EORTC trial randomizing 670 patients to PDS or 3 cycles of NACT followed by IDS, 180 patients who received NACT have a survival and quality of life similar to the 165 patients undergoing PDS [101]. Postoperative morbidity and mortality (within 28 days of surgery) tended to be higher after PDS.

In the CHORUS trial, there were 120 patients each in the PDS and NACT arms [102]. Survival was non-inferior in the NACT arm. Grade 3/4 postoperative adverse events and deaths (28 days after surgery) were more common in the PDS group (24 vs.14% and 6 vs. 1%, respectively). More NACT-IDS patients reported nonsignificant improvement in QOL at 6 and 12 months. This study also found that NACT-IDS significantly increased the incidence of optimal cytoreduction (RD,1 cm):73 vs. 41%. This increase in optimal cytoreduction did not translate into a significant improvement of progression-free survival (PFS) or median overall survival (OS) [102].

The results of these two trials have led many in the scientific community to conclude that NACT may be a better approach. However, the caveats in these trials were pointed out both by the authors themselves and critics as well [103, 104]. The median operative times in both trials were short (120–180 min) which has led to questioning the quality of the surgery. In the EORTC trial, it was shorter in the PDS arm which raised questions about the quality of the surgery in these trials [104]. Similarly, the rates of optimal CRS/ debulking <1 cm were uniformly low (40% in the PDS arm in both trails). There were no upper abdominal procedures performed in both the studies [104]. This might suggest suboptimal efforts at PDS, supported by the fact that only 40% of patients were left with tumor <1 cm after PDS in both trials.

Moreover, the survival rates in the NACT arm matched those reported in other NACT studies, and the survival rates in the PDS arm were significantly lower than those reported in literature which emphasized the fact that the surgical interventions in these trials were not of similar standards as performed in other studies carried out in the same time period on similar patients [105–108].

Chi et al. performed a retrospective analysis of patients who had undergone PDS or NACT followed by IDS at their institution and met with the criteria of the EORTC trial [109]. Of 316 patients, 90% had PDS and 10% NACT followed by IDS. Only 29% had residual disease >1 cm as compared to 58.5% in the EORTC trial, the median PFS for PDS-treated patients was 17 months (95% CI, 14.9–18.5), and the median OS was 50 months (95% CI, 43.5-55.6) which is significantly higher than that reported in the EORTC trial (median OS-30 months). The median DFS by residual disease status was as follows: no gross residual, 24 months; residual ≤ 1 cm, 17 months; and residual >1 cm, 13 months. The median OS by residual disease status was as follows: no gross residual, 78 months; residual ≤ 1 cm, 50 months; and residual >1 cm, 36 months. In the EORTC trial, even patients who had optimal debulking after NACT had an inferior survival. This underlines two important points - the most significant factor affecting survival is complete tumor removal and NACT has a detrimental impact of overall survival (explained below).

From all the above evidence, it can be concluded that PDS or CRS performed upfront should be the standard of care for advanced ovarian cancer. The goal of such surgery should be to attain complete removal of all macroscopic disease. The collaboration of other surgical teams should be sought when required especially for upper abdominal surgical procedures.

NACT should be reserved for patients who have a poor performance status that precludes an aggressive surgical effort or where a complete cytoreduction is not deemed possible by surgeons/surgical teams experienced in performing such procedures.

10.8.3 Is the NACT/Interval CRS Approach Non-inferior to Primary CRS?

Patients who are given NACT have a higher tumor burden and a higher chance of developing resistant disease. Goldie and Coldman in 1979 proposed a mathematical model that suggested that the likelihood of mutations resulting in drug resistance is dependent upon the tumor burden when chemotherapy is initiated [110]. Rauh-Hain et al. looked at the relapsed patients who were retreated with platinum-based chemotherapy and showed that 88.8% in the NACT-IDS group were considered platinum-resistant (recurrence within 6 months) compared with 55.3% in the PDS group (p < 0.001). In the study population consisting of 425 patients, 95 (22.3%) underwent NACT-IDS and 330 (77.6%) underwent PDS. After the initial platinum-based chemotherapy, 42 (44.2%) women in the NACT-IDS group were considered to have platinum-resistant disease compared with 103 (31.2%) in the PDS group (p = 0.01). Though the use of NACT was not an independent predictor of platinum resistance, in women who had a recurrence and were retreated with platinum-based chemotherapy, 32 (88.8%) in the NACT-IDS group had a recurrence within 6 months and were considered platinum-resistant compared with 62 (55.3%) in the PDS (p < 0.001). This showed that women who develop recurrence after NACT-IDS have an increased risk of developing platinum-resistant disease [111]. In another study of 384 patients, the IDS group, compared to the PDS group, showed a higher recurrence rate within 6 months

(11.3 vs. 3.1%: p = 0.01) and a trend to higher recurrence rate between 6 and 12 months (30.6 vs. 19.9%) [112]. Thus, following NACT-IDS, the incidence of platinum resistance is higher.

In patients receiving NACT, the surgeon's evaluation of disease sites is impaired by scarring and fibrosis. Areas of microscopic disease have a benign appearance, and the presence of adhesions further impairs the evaluation. Hynninen et al. evaluated the accuracy of perioperative visual assessment of tumor dissemination at the start of PDS/diagnostic laparotomy or IDS and showed a worse sensitivity and accuracy at the time of IDS (p < 0.001). In this study, systematic visual evaluation of tumor spread was performed at the start of primary surgery/diagnostic laparotomy (n = 39) or interval surgery (n = 16). The peritoneal cavity was divided into 22 anatomical regions, and a comparison of the visual assessment was made with the histopathology findings in that region. The visual evaluation correlated well with the pathology findings in patients undergoing PDS and was significantly worse in those undergoing IDS (p < 0.001) [113].

In the meta-analysis published by Chi et al., looking at outcomes in patients undergoing NACT, the median survival of patients receiving NACT ranged from 10 to 42 months, with a weighted average median survival time of 24.5 months. This survival was similar to patients who underwent suboptimal primary surgery (residual disease >1 cm) and subsequent systemic chemotherapy in a large GOG trial, Gynecologic Oncology Group protocol #111, in which the median survival time was 24 months [100]. Overall, women in the NACT group had an 18% increased hazard of death from all causes compared with PDS (HR, 1.18; 95% CI, 1.11– 1.26) [100].

In another review of 24 publications with 14,182 patients, the weighted average of median overall and progression-free survival was 43 and 17 months, respectively, after PDS, for the whole group. After IDS, median and progression-free survival were 33 and 14 months. The rate of complete cytoreduction after PDS was inferior to the obtained in patients with IDS (27 vs. 59%). However, the median survival in patients with

complete cytoreduction with primary cytoreduction was 23 months longer than in the group with interval debulking (69 vs. 45 months) [114].

In this large national study comprising 22,962 women, examining primary treatment for otherwise healthy women 70 years or younger with advanced stage EOC, primary CRS was associated with improved survival of approximately 5 months compared with NACT [115].

The above evidence suggests that patients receiving NACT have a poorer prognosis compared to those undergoing primary CRS/PDS and NACT followed by IDS/interval CRS cannot be considered equivalent to primary CRS/PDS. This treatment strategy should be reserved for patients who cannot withstand radical surgery or in whom a complete cytoreduction is not feasible. When NACT is given, patients should be taken up for interval CRS "as soon as possible," i.e., as soon as the disease becomes resectable which is usually after three cycles of chemotherapy.

10.8.4 Pathological Response to NACT and Its Significance

In patients with PM, the survival benefit of tumor response to chemotherapy has been demonstrated in patients with colorectal and appendiceal ade-nocarcinomas [116, 117].

There are published guidelines for grading of tumor regression following chemotherapy for advanced colorectal, pancreatic, and breast cancers, but not for epithelial ovarian cancers [118, 119].

In ovarian cancer PM, the prognostic impact of response to chemotherapy has not been studied. The morphologic alterations after neoadjuvant chemotherapy have been uniformly seen in all tumors regardless of types and sites.

Samrao et al. evaluated the impact of morphological alterations following chemotherapy like necrosis, fibrosis, inflammation, and residual tumor in 67 patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer undergoing NACT followed by IDS. Fibrosis was scored as mild (1+), moderate (2+), and severe (3+); necrosis was scored as absent (0), 1–50% (1+), and present >50 (2+); residual tumor was scored as <5% (1+), 5–50% (2+), and >50% (3+); and inflammation was scored as mild (1+) and extensive (2+) [120].

Fibrosis was associated with longer recurrencefree survival (p = 0.0257) with a median of 20 months for tumors with fibrosis (3+) versus 12 months for tumors with fibrosis (1+, 2+) and longer OS (p = 0.0249) with a median of 51 months for tumors with fibrosis (3+) versus 32 months for tumors with fibrosis (1+, 2+). Our results revealed that patients with tumors exhibiting fibrosis (1+, 2+), as well as necrosis (0, 1+), had significant shorter RFS and OS (p = 0.0259 and p = 0.0234, respectively).

Unexpectedly, the size of residual tumor did not have an impact on survival. The authors stated that this might be due to the fact that it was evaluated at the primary site, that is, the ovaries where assessment is difficult due to the large size of tumors. Notably, in the study, it is not mentioned if there were any patients who experienced a complete pathological response to therapy (Table 10.4).

In another study of 124 patients who underwent NACT at a Japanese center, 8.9% of the patients had no residual tumor both at the primary tumor site and metastatic sites. The tumor response is classified into four grades: grade 0 was defined as a lack of clinical response to NACT; grade 1 as a mild response, with marked degenerative changes (necrosis, fibrosis, and tumor-induced inflammation), such that fewer than two-thirds of cancer cells were inviable; grade 2 as a marked response, with degenerative change in more than two-thirds of cancer cells; and grade 3 as no evidence of malignant disease in the primary tumor site or disseminated disease at surgical excision. Among other factors, a histological response grade of 0-1 was a poor predictor of OS [121].

Bohm et al. developed a three-tier chemotherapy response score (CRS) system and applied to an independent validation cohort of 71 patients. The CRS system was reproducible and showed prognostic significance for high-grade serous carcinoma. The authors concluded that the use of such a system in clinical practice could have an impact on patient care and research [122].

Thus, the response to NACT is a prognostic factor that should be evaluated further and utilized for planning further treatment in these patients.

Criteria for chemotherapy response score				
CRS 1	No or minimal tumor response. Mainly viable tumor with no or minimal regression-associated fibroinflammatory changes, limited to a few foci; cases in which it is difficult to decide between regression and tumor-associated desmoplasia or inflammatory cell infiltration			
CRS 2	Appreciable tumor response amid viable tumor that is readily identifiable. Tumor is regularly distributed, ranging from multifocal or diffuse regression-associated fibroinflammatory changes with viable tumor in sheets, streaks, or nodules to extensive regression-associated fibroinflammatory changes with multifocal residual tumor, which is easily identifiable			
CRS 3	Complete or near-complete response with no residual tumor or minimal irregularly scattered tumor foci seen as individual cells, cell groups, or nodules, up to 2 mm maximum size. Mainly regression-associated fibroinflammatory changes or, in rare cases, no or very little residual tumor in the complete absence of any inflammatory response. It is advisable to record whether there is no residual tumor or whether there is microscopic residual tumor present			
Regression-ass	ociated fibroinflammatory changes			

 Table 10.4
 Chemotherapy response score (CRS) proposed by Bohm et al. [122]

Regression-associated fibroinflammatory changes consist of fibrosis associated with macrophages, including foam cells, mixed inflammatory cells, and psammoma bodies, as distinguished from tumorrelated inflammation or desmoplasia

10.8.5 Surgical Strategies for Obtaining Complete Cytoreduction

Surgery for advanced ovarian cancer comprises a total abdominal hysterectomy with removal of both the tubes and ovaries, total omentectomy, pelvic and para-aortic lymphadenectomy, and removal of the affected areas of the peritoneum. Pelvic peritoneal deposits are common, and the primary ovarian tumor is often adherent to the peritoneum or to the rectosigmoid. An attempt to dissect the tumor off these structures should not be made. En bloc resection of the tumor with the uterus, ovaries and tubes, pelvic peritoneum, and rectosigmoid is indicated. Dissection proceeds in a centripetal fashion and involves the following [123]:

- 1. Stripping of the peritoneum off the anterior abdominal wall and pelvic side walls
- Stripping of the peritoneum on the posterior bladder wall from dome to its reflection over the upper vagina
- 3. Dissecting the ureters free off their peritoneal attachment
- 4. Ligating the ovarian vessels as high as possible, preferably at the origin
- 5. Cutting across the retroperitoneum just caudal to the caecum on the right and the sigmoid or descending colon on the left
- 6. Ligation of the inferior mesenteric pedicle
- Dissection of the posterior rectal plane if rectal excision is necessary
- 8. Ligation of the uterine vessels in the retroperitoneum
- 9. The vagina is transacted below the level of the peritoneal reflection
- 10. Exerting cephalad traction on the uterine side of the posterior vaginal wall, the pouch of Douglas is dissected off the anterior rectal wall to obtain a long rectal stump as possible
- 11. The rectum and its mesorectum are divided at the appropriate level
- This approach allows CC0 resection in almost all cases deemed operable on radiological assessment.
- A covering ileostomy may not be needed if the anastomosis is below the peritoneal reflection.

Figure 10.1 shows an ovarian tumor in situ with peritoneal deposits before and after complete tumor removal.

Apart from this, other peritonectomy procedures and visceral resections will be required which have been described elsewhere [124]. Importantly, surgical procedures involving the upper abdomen like subphrenic and subhepatic peritonectomies, diaphragm resection, splenectomy, cholecystectomy, distal pancreatectomy, hepatic resections, and resection of tumor at the



Fig. 10.1 (a) Ovarian tumor with peritoneal deposits; (b) pelvic peritonectomy completed

porta hepatis may be required to attain a complete cytoreduction. Whereas surgical oncologists dealing with peritoneal surface malignancies may be adept at these procedures, gynecologic oncologist may need the help of surgical oncologists or gastrointestinal/hepatobiliary surgeons.

10.8.6 Pelvic and Para-aortic Lymphadenectomy

The incidence of retroperitoneal lymph node involvement in advanced ovarian cancer ranges 50-80% [125]. Systematic retroperitoneal lymphadenectomy in patients with advanced ovarian cancer has a survival benefit in patients who have had a complete/optimal cytoreduction [126, 127]. Most of the evidence comes from retrospective or observational studies and one randomized controlled trial that was not statistically powered to determine the benefit on survival [128–130]. Systematic lymphadenectomy was defined as removal of at least 30 nodes (20 pelvic nodes and 10 para-aortic nodes) [131]. For patients with bulky nodes, if complete tumor removal is obtained, the survival is similar to patients with microscopic metastases/nodenegative disease [132]. Some authors have suggested that debulking of enlarged nodes alone is enough though it has been proved that systematic lymphadenectomy has a survival benefit. This is reiterated by the fact that the patients with a higher number of lymph nodes sampled have a better survival and a high ratio of positive to total number of lymph nodes removed has a negative impact on survival [133, 134]. Lymphadenectomy is performed till the level of the renal veins.

Recently, the results of a large randomized trial were presented at the annual meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. From December 2008 to January 2012, 650 women with newly diagnosed FIGO stage IIB–IV advanced ovarian cancer who had undergone macroscopic complete resection and had clinically and radiographic negative lymph nodes underwent random assignment to pelvic and para-aortic lymphadenectomy or no lymphadenectomy [135]. The patient characteristics and rates of receiving adjuvant chemotherapy were similar in both groups. Of the 323 women who

underwent lymphadenectomy, a median of 57 lymph nodes were removed (35 pelvic, 22 paraaortic). Of note, 56% of patients had micrometastases in the removed lymph nodes. Median OS was 65.5 months in the lymphadenectomy arm compared with 69.2 months in the nolymphadenectomy arm (HR 1.057, 95% CI [0.833, 1.341]; p = 0.65). Moreover, both arms demonstrated a median progression-free survival of 25.5 months (HR 1.106, 95% CI [0.915, 1.338]). Lymphadenectomy, compared with no lymphadenectomy, required an additional hour of surgery (mean time: 340 vs. 280 min; p < 0.001), resulted in greater blood loss (median volume: 650 vs. 500 mL; p < 0.001), and more frequently necessitated transfusion (63.7 vs. 56.0%; p = 0.005). Systematic lymphadenectomy was associated with significantly higher rates of relaparotomy for complications (12.4 vs. 6.5%; p = 0.01), infections (25.8 vs. 18.6%; p = 0.03), and mortality within 60 days of surgery (3.1 vs. 0.9%; p = 0.049) as compared to patients who did not undergo lymphadenectomy. Though the authors recommend that lymphadenectomy can be omitted in patients with clinically and radiologically negative nodes, 56% of the patients had microscopic disease in lymph nodes. Stages II-IV represent a broad selection of patients. Other prognostic factors need to be looked into simultaneously before applying this strategy uniformly to all patients-patients with widespread peritoneal disease and those undergoing neoadjuvant chemotherapy are two such examples [135].

10.8.7 Surgery in Patients Who Have Received NACT

Surgery in this group of patients should be performed even more meticulously. A complete exploration of the peritoneal cavity should be performed employing an incision extending from the xiphoid to the pubis. All the adhesions should be lysed completely and all areas of the peritoneal cavity inspected thoroughly for the presence of residual peritoneal disease.

Some important concerns in this situation are:

- Is it required to resect areas of complete tumor response— should a biopsy be performed for staging, a formal peritonectomy, or nothing? It is not uncommon to find normal-looking peritoneum with few areas of scarring after NACT where imaging or exploration had shown disease previously.
- What is optimal debulking in this situation?

The reported rate of complete tumor response at metastatic sites is 8–10% [136]. Areas of scarring are known to harbor residual disease [136]. When disease recurs, it recurs at the same sites where disease was present before chemotherapy [137].

The residual tumor after neoadjuvant chemotherapy may contain cancer stem cells which are chemoresistant [138–140]. For such reasons, scar tissue after neoadjuvant chemotherapy could be an indiscernible source of disease recurrence. Therefore, in these patients who have a poorer prognosis and higher rates of disease recurrence and platinum resistance, a formal peritonectomy at previous disease sites is the more logical approach though the evidence to support this approach is limited [121]. The extent of the surgery should be balanced against the expected morbidity of such a procedure.

In patients who have a high disease burden that cannot be completely resected upfront, residual disease represents areas of chemoresistant cells and should be completely resected. Leaving behind residual disease after NACT leads to tumor recurrence. There is a survival benefit of complete removal of macroscopic disease at the time of primary CRS. The same principle should be applied to patients undergoing interval CRS, and optimal surgery in these patients should be no visible residual disease.

10.8.8 Rational for Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Ovarian Cancer

Ovarian cancer remains a locoregional peritoneal disease for prolonged time periods. This makes locoregional treatment an attractive therapeutic option. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy has some known pharmacokinetic advantages-like high intraperitoneal drug concentration leading to better exposure of poorly vascularized tumor tissue to the drug. There is limited systemic absorption due to the plasma-peritoneal barrier which limits the toxicity [141]. A port implanted subcutaneously over the lower chest wall is connected to an intraperitoneal catheter and used to deliver multiple cycles of chemotherapy in the postoperative period. This is known as sequential intraperitoneal chemotherapy (SIPC). Of three large randomized controlled trials comparing SIPC and systemic chemotherapy with systemic chemotherapy alone as adjuvant therapy, though the first trial showed a survival benefit favoring the SIPC arm, it was carried out in the pre-taxane era, the second study showed a marginal benefit with increased toxicity and the third study showed a significant survival benefit in the SIPCE arm [142, 143]. This third trial, GOG 172, randomized 415 patients with residual disease ≤ 1 cm to receive IV paclitaxel and cisplatin or IV paclitaxel followed by IP cisplatin (day 1) and paclitaxel (day 8). The median OS was 65.6 months in the SIPC arm compared to 49.7 months in the IP arm (p = 0.03). This was despite only 42% of patients completing six cycles of IP chemotherapy. Grade 3/4 toxicity was significantly greater and quality of life scores significantly worse in the IP arm [144]. In a meta-analysis of seven randomized trials evaluating the role of SIPC, the survival benefit of IP chemotherapy compared with IV chemotherapy alone (Relative risk, 0.88; 95% confidence interval, 0.81-0.95) was confirmed. Adverse events and catheter-related problems were more common in the SIPC arm and led to discontinuation of therapy. The authors concluded that where the institutional facilities are available, cisplatinbased intraperitoneal chemotherapy should be offered to patient who had complete CRS [145]. One of the main problems with this treatment has been a high incidence of port-related complications, poor tolerance leading to crossover to IV therapy, and failure to complete the intended course of treatment. In the GOG 172 trial, only 42% of the patients completed all six cycles of intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Wright et al. car-

ried out a prospective cohort study of 823 women with stage III ovarian cancer diagnosed at six National Comprehensive Cancer Network institutions who had optimal CRS. Although the use of IP/IV chemotherapy increased significantly at these centers between 2003 and 2012, fewer than 50% of eligible patients received it. In the propensity score-matched sample, IP/IV chemotherapy as compared to IV chemotherapy was associated with significantly improved OS (3-year overall survival, 81 vs. 71%; hazard ratio, 0.68; 95% CI, 0.47-0.99) but also more frequent alterations in chemotherapy delivery route (adjusted rate discontinuation or change, 20.4 vs 10.0%; adjusted odds ratio, 2.83; 95% CI, 1.47–5.47) [146].

The other disadvantage of SIPC chemotherapy is its inability to penetrate deeply into tissues and thus is not useful for patients with macroscopic residual disease. However, an exploratory analysis of two GOG studies 114 and 172 carried out by Chan et al. reported a benefit survival benefit of IP chemotherapy in patients with gross residual disease <1 cm (AHR, 0.75; 95% CI, 0.62-0.92; p = 0.006) [147]. The explanation provided by the authors is as follows: when multiple regimens of both IV and IP chemotherapies are administered over time, it is possible that the first few cycles of treatment depend on the delivery of platinum via capillary flow to reduce the size of larger residual tumors. Subsequent IP treatments delivered regionally are more effective in small residual tumors. The study also provided a long-term follow-up (>10 years) of both trials and demonstrated a long-term survival advantage of SIPC over IV therapy. The use of SIPC was associated with a 23% reduction in the risk of death after matching variables like age, performance status, tumor grade and histology, and size of residual disease. Patients who completed all six cycles of IP chemotherapy experienced a longer OS compared to those who had completed fewer cycles (Fig. 10.2). Though fitter and younger patients were more likely to complete all the stipulated cycles, the survival benefit persisted after adjusting demographic and clinical factors like age and performance status on multivariate analysis [147].



Fig. 10.2 Long-term overall survival based on number of cycles of intraperitoneal (IP) therapy (p = 0.03). Analysis restricted to patients in Gynecologic Oncology Group

Eligible patients had stage II-IV epithelial ovarian, peritoneal, or fallopian tube carcinoma. They were treated with bevacizumab 15 mg/kg IV on cycles 2-22 and randomized to receive six cycles of (1) arm IV carboplatin AUC 6/IV weekly paclitaxel 80 mg/m² (IV arm), (2) arm IP carboplatin AUC 6/IV weekly paclitaxel 80 mg/ m²/ (IP carbo arm), or (3) arm IV paclitaxel 135 mg/m² day 1/IP cisplatin 75 mg/m² day 2/IP paclitaxel 60 mg/m² day 8 (IP cis arm). Among 1560 trial participants, crossover to the IV-only therapy occurred in 16% randomized to IP carbo arm and 28% randomized to IP cis arm. Fifteen deaths possibly due to toxicity were relatively evenly distributed among treatment arms. The progression-free survival was not improved with IP chemotherapy. IV and IP carbo arms using weekly dose-dense paclitaxel were better tolerated than the IP cis arm. Neurotoxicity is a major problem on all arms. The reduced dose IP cisplatin regimen does not appear to be as effective as previously reported high-dose cisplatin regimens. Survival data is not yet mature.

(GOG)-0172 who completed all six cycles of chemotherapy (both IP and intravenous [IV] arms). (From Ref [126] with permission)

Intraperitoneal chemotherapy acts only on minimal residual disease since the depth of tissue penetration is 2–3 mm after intraperitoneal administration.

10.8.9 Rationale for Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC)

The cornerstone of ovarian cancer therapy is radical surgery. However, chemotherapy plays an equally important role, and the long-term prognosis depends to a large extent on the chemosensitivity of the tumor cells. Moreover, the survival benefit produced by normothermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy has prompted the use of HIPEC for these patients. HIPEC has the added advantage of using heat which has a direct cytotoxic effect and potentiates the action of certain chemotherapeutic agents (mitomycin C, cisplatin, oxaliplatin) and increases the tumor penetration of these drugs. Hyperthermia can modify the cellular resistance to cisplatin as demonstrated by Hettinga et al. [148]. Relatively high doses of heat -43° for 60 min—can interfere with cisplatin resistance by several mechanisms like drug penetration, adduct formation, and repair [149]. These are further elaborated in Table 10.5. Hyperthermia can increase the cytotoxicity of cisplatin in both platinum-sensitive and platinum-resistant cell lines [150].

Van Der Vaart et al. showed that cisplatin in combination with hyperthermia in vitro leads to a higher cisplatin \pm DNA adduct formation which was a good predictor of the cytotoxic effect. The level of cisplatin-DNA adduct formation which is needed for a cytotoxic effect was observed in tumor nodules up to a depth of 5 mm. Hence, the effect of HIPEC is useful for patients who are cytoreduced to minimal residual disease (CC-0/1) [151].

When intraperitoneal chemotherapy is administered immediately after CRS, it leads to a reduction in tumor cell entrapment. The rationale to use HIPEC comes from the favorable results obtained in patients with PM arising from gastrointestinal primary tumors. CRS and HIPEC are the standards of care for pseudomyxoma peritonei arising from appendiceal primary tumors, malignant peritoneal mesothelioma, and

Table 10.5 Cellular effect of hyperthermia related to cytotoxicity of cisplatin [150]

Resistance mechanism that could be affected
Cisplatin accumulation
Cisplatin accumulation
Detoxification
DNA accessibility
Repair of Cisplatin-DNA adducts
Altered signal transduction and others
Response of cells to cisplatin-DNA damage

colorectal PM with limited peritoneal spread [152–155]. In a small percentage of patients with gastric PM, it has shown a significant benefit in OS [156, 157].

10.8.9.1 HIPEC Methodology and Drugs

HIPEC can be performed by the open (coliseum) or closed technique maintaining an intraabdominal temperature of 41–43° C. It is performed only in those patients in whom complete cytoreduction is attained (CC-0 or CC-1) since it does not act of tumor nodules greater than 2–3 mm in size [158]. Any drug that is used for HIPEC should be retained in the peritoneal cavity with a limited systemic absorption leading to a high area under curve (AUC) ratio for IP versus IV administration [141].

One of the most commonly used drugs in this setting is cisplatin since it has a high AUC ratio and is a super drug for hyperthermia undergoing cytotoxic enhancement even at 42–44° C. Moreover, heat is also known to reverse platinum resistance [149].

The ideal dose of cisplatin has been evaluated in the CHIPASTIN trial. This phase I-II escalating dose trial established that 70 mg/m² of cisplatin for 1 h at 42 °C was the most appropriate protocol [159]. However other investigators have used a higher dose – 100 mg/m² dose of cisplatin for HIPEC in advanced ovarian cancer with no significant nephrotoxicity [160].

Oxaliplatin that is commonly used for HIPEC in colorectal and appendiceal tumors has been used in advanced ovarian cancer as well [161– 163]. Oxaliplatin has only moderate crossresistance with cisplatin or carboplatin [164].

Carboplatin has a favorable toxicity profile compared to cisplatin and has replaced it in many of the intravenous regimens [165]. When nephrotoxicity is a concern, it can be administered in full dose for HIPEC as opposed to cisplatin which requires a dose reduction [166]. When a high dose of carboplatin is used for HIPEC, the drug concentration achieved in the tumor tissue is similar or superior to that achieved by an equitoxic dose of cisplatin [167]. Carboplatin under-

Regimen	IP drugs	IV drugs	Carrier solution	Duration
Sugarbaker regimen [177]	Cisplatin (50 mg/m ²) Adriamycin (15 mg/m ²)	Ifosfamide 1300 mg/m ² Mesna 260 mg/m ²	Peritoneal dialysis solution	90 min
National Cancer Institute Milan regimen [178]	Doxorubicin 15.25 mg/L cisplatin 43 mg/L			90 min

Table 10.6 Various drug regimens for HIPEC in advanced ovarian cancer

goes hyperthermic enhancement of cytotoxicity and has been shown to have a more homogenous distribution of platinum as compared to cisplatin [167, 168]. Phase 1 trials for HIPEC as first-line and second-line therapy found that carboplatin doses up to 800–1000 mg/m² were tolerable and did not preclude additional systemic therapy [169–171]. The duration of treatment is 90 min.

Paclitaxel (175 mg/m²) alone or in combination with cisplatin (100 mg/m²) at 41–43° C for 90 min has been used by some investigators for HIPEC in patients with advanced ovarian cancer [172, 173]. The morbidity was acceptable, and the drugs achieved high concentrations in the peritoneal tissue with low systemic absorption. The tissue penetration of paclitaxel was only 0.5 mm, compared to 2–3 mm for cisplatin [172, 174, 175]. The numbers in these studies are small, and further evaluation of toxicity and efficacy of such a regimen is needed. Unlike cisplatin, hyperthermia does not augment the cytotoxicity of paclitaxel [176].

Some of the common regimens for HIPEC are listed in Table 10.6.

10.8.9.2 Outcomes of CRS and HIPEC in Advanced Ovarian Cancer

HIPEC has been used in addition to CRS at the time of primary or interval CRS. The reported outcomes of CRS and HIPEC for advanced ovarian cancer are described in Table 10.7.

The initial evidence for HIPEC in addition to CRS was mainly from small retrospective singleinstitution series. The drug regimens and methodology were heterogeneous. The patients included those with primary and recurrent disease, both of which made the results difficult to interpret.

The HYPER-O registry, a multi-institutional retrospective registry, reported outcomes in 26, 19, and 12 patients with primary, interval, and second-look surgery, respectively [188]. The median DFS was 24.8, 16.8, and 29.6 months, respectively, and 19.6, 9.7, and 24.2 months, respectively, in the three subgroups. This was still inferior to the survival obtained in the intraperitoneal arm of the GOG-172 trial [144]. Though there were problems related to this study that there was no specified protocol for HIPEC delivery, the data are retrospective coming from different centers with varying selection criteria and did not include information on patients who did not undergo HIPEC. However, it showed that there was a potential for benefit with HIPEC.

A multicenter phase II trial from Italy to study upfront CRS + HIPEC for advanced EOC achieved a median PFS of 30.0 months and 5-year OS and PFS rates of 60.7 and 15.2%, respectively [189]. Gonzalez et al. studied the different time points of CRS + HIPEC to treat advanced EOC, and the median OS was 77.8 months for patients treated upfront, 62.8 months at first recurrence, and 35.7 months at second or subsequent recurrence [187].

Bakrin et al. reported outcomes with CRS and HIPEC in 92 patients from 13 French institutions treated with CRS and HIPEC from 1991 to 2010. A total of 60.1% of the patients received HIPEC as consolidation therapy, 26.1% with interval CRS, and 13% with primary CRS. For advanced EOC, median overall survival was

Ref no		No. of		HIPEC onen/	η 1	Median DFS	Median OS	
Year	Study type	patients	Indication	closed	Drug/s	months	months	5-year OS
[<mark>180</mark>] 2004	SI prospective	8	Primary	Open	Cisplatin + mitomycin		33 ± 6	15%
[181] 2005	SI prospective	10	Primary, interval, second look	Open	Cisplatin + mitomycin; etoposide	41.2	70.2	
[<mark>182</mark>] 2005	Case control	29 + 19	Second look	Open	Cisplatin		64.4	
[183] 2006	SI prospective	19	Primary		Paclitaxel			63%
[<mark>184</mark>] 2009	SI prospective	31	Primary		Doxorubicin	26.2	34.1	
[<mark>185</mark>] 2010	MI, retrospective	31	Second look	Open	Oxaliplatin			67% (3 year)
[<mark>186</mark>] 2010	SI prospective	45	Primary	Closed	Cisplatin + mitomycin			55%
[187] 2010	Prospective MI registry	57	Primary, interval, second look	Open/ closed	Platinum/mitomycin, combination		30.0	
[<mark>188</mark>] 2011	Prospective MI, Phase II	26	Primary	Closed	Cisplatin + mitomycin	30		60.7%
[189]	SI retrospective	51	Primary	Closed	Carboplatin or mitomycin		28.5	$28 \pm 7\%$
[<mark>190</mark>] 2013	MI retrospective	92	Primary	Open/ closed	Cisplatin, oxaliplatin, mitomycin, doxorubicin, cisplatin + mitomycin, cisplatin + doxorubicin	11.8	35.4	17%
[<mark>172</mark>] 2015	MI prospective phase II	30	Primary	Open/ closed	Cisplatin + paclitaxel	13	22	
[<mark>191</mark>] 2016	MI retrospective	16	Primary, interval	Open/ closed			72.0	
[<mark>192</mark>] 2017	MI retrospective	173	Primary, interval, second look	Open/ closed	Cisplatin Oxaliplatin cisplatin + mitomycin cisplatin + doxorubicin	14.5–72.5	24.5-76.9	

K. Sethna et al.

35.4 months. The survival rates at 1, 3, and 5 years were 83, 47, and 17%, respectively. Median recurrence-free survival was 11.8 months. The results are significantly inferior to that reported with CRS alone or CRS and IP chemotherapy.

The authors pointed out that most of the patients in this series had advanced unresectable cancer including stage 4 ovarian cancer, thus forming a poor prognostic group of patients, and a direct comparison with other series would not be appropriate [190].

In another open-label prospective, multicentric phase II study, patients with primary, advanced (FIGO stage IIIC to IV), or recurrent EOC were treated with CRS + HIPEC with cisplatin (100 mg/m²) and paclitaxel (175 mg/m²). Thirty patients underwent HIPEC as part of frontline therapy (one patient at the time of primary CRS; 29 with interval CRS). By univariate and multivariate analysis of HIPEC as an upfront treatment, with or without neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT), it was associated with more severe postoperative complications compared to HIPEC used to treat recurring disease (p = 0.002 and p = 0.004, respectively. Themedian DFS and OS were 13 and 22 months in these patients, respectively. Due to the small numbers and short median follow-up, accurate assessment of the survival was not possible; this study showed the feasibility and safety of a combination of cisplatin and paclitaxel for performing HIPEC [172].

A retrospective cohort study from multiple Chinese centers included 46 consecutive patients of which 16 patients had advanced EOC (FIGO stage III C/IV). The median OS was 74.0 months (95% CI 8.5–139.5). The median OS for patients with PCI < 20 versus PCI > 20 was 76.6 months (95% CI 56.5–96.7) versus 38.5 months (95% CI 24.2–52.8) (p = 0.01, log-rank test). The median OS for patients with CC 0–1 versus CC 2–3 was 79.5 months (95% CI 13.9–34.7) (p = 0.00, logrank test). A univariate analysis identified three covariates indicative of improved survival, including CC 0–1, PCI \leq 20, and ascites \leq 1000 mL. Multivariate Cox regression analysis identified CC scores as the only independent predictors for better survival. Compared with CC 2–3, CC 0–1 was about seven times (hazard ratio = 7.2, 95% CI 1.9–27.0, *p* < 0.01) more likely to improve survival. Notably, this study, though having a small number of patients, showed a prolonged OS and three patients with advanced ovarian cancer experience and OS of >60 months with two patients disease free for >70 months [191].

An Italian multicentric retrospective study reported outcomes in patients treated with CRS and HIPEC over 16 years from 1998 to 2014 at 11 Italian centers experienced in treating peritoneal surface malignancies and ovarian cancer [192]. Fifty-three patients had primary CRS and HIPEC, 111 had interval CRS and HIPEC for a partial response to NACT, 17 for a pathological complete response (pCR) following NACT, and 45 patients who experience no response to NACT. The various drug regiments used included cisplatin alone, oxaliplatin alone, cisplatin in combinations with doxorubicin or mitomycin C, or paclitaxel. The median PCI for the four subgroups was 5–16.1, being the highest in nonresponders to NACT. Similarly, the rate of complete cytoreduction (CC-0) was the lowest in nonresponders to NACT. The median OS and DFS in the four subgroups were 57.2 and 37 months (primary CRS), 47.6 and 19.5 months in partial responders to NACT, 76.9 and 72.5 months in complete responders, and 24.5 and 14.5 months, respectively, in nonresponders to NACT. In this study, patients receiving NACT who had complete response to NACT experienced a superior DFS and OS compared to the other subgroups. This finding has not been reported before. Though the authors stated that this finding should lead the consideration of NACT for patients who have resectable disease upfront, the percentage of complete responders was 9.82%, and the survival in the other patients receiving NACT was inferior to those undergoing primary CRS and HIPEC [192].

10.8.9.3 Information Derived from Retrospective Data and Phase II Studies

Ovarian cancer may be considered a model disease for PM. The results of these retrospective and phase II studies have shown a median OS of 22–79 months and a median DFS of 12–72 months. In comparison studies reporting the outcomes for frontline therapy for ovarian cancer that did not include HIPEC have reported a median disease-free survival ranging from 12 to 33.2 months, median overall survival ranging from 26 to 58.2 months, and 5-year overall survival ranging from 19.5 to 49% [89, 90, 101, 143, 144, 193–198]. Some of the results are significantly inferior to the studies that did not use HIPEC, whereas others have shown a marginal improvement in survival.

There are several limitations of this data that should be kept in mind while interpreting these results:

- The number of patients is small; only multicentric study included >100 patients. Most clinical trials for ovarian cancer include a few hundred patients in each arm to be statistically powered to evaluate the impact of the treatment under evaluation on the predetermined end points.
- The study population included patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC at different time points in the history of ovarian cancer – primary CRS, interval, and second look often combined with patients undergoing treatment for recurrence. The time period spans several years, and the treatment protocols even within the small groups are heterogeneous.
- The selection criteria are not clearly defined, and most series comprise patients with extensive disease that were referred to specialized units after having undergone unsuccessful prior surgical attempts. This represents a poor prognostic subgroup.
- The definition of optimal debulking/complete CRS is variable.
- The extent of disease as determined by the PCI was not reported in many of these, and the prognostic factors were not defined.

Thus, the benefit of HIPEC in addition to CRS remains uncertain.

10.8.9.4 Clinical Trials for CRS and HIPEC for Advanced Ovarian Cancer

The results of the first randomized controlled trial for CRS and HIPEC in ovarian cancer were recently presented at the annual meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. The OVHIPEC trial (Clinical Trials.gov identifier NCT00426257), a phase III randomized trial conducted by the Netherlands Cancer Institute, randomly assigned patients who showed at least stable disease after three cycles of carboplatin (area under the curve 6) and paclitaxel (175 mg/ m²) to receive interval cytoreductive surgery with or without HIPEC using cisplatin (100 mg/ m²). Randomization was performed perioperatively, and eligible patients had no residual mass greater than 2.5 mm. Three additional cycles of carboplatin and paclitaxel were given postoperatively. The primary end point was recurrence-free survival. Overall survival, toxicity, and quality of life were key secondary end points. A total of 245 patients were randomly assigned to one of the two treatment strategies. In an intention-to-treat analysis, interval CRS with HIPEC was associated with longer recurrence-free survival than interval cytoreductive surgery alone (15 vs. 11 months, respectively; hazard ratio [HR], 0.65; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.49–0.86; p = 0.003). At the time of analysis, 49% of patients were alive, with a significant improvement in overall survival favoring HIPEC (48 vs. 34 months; HR, 0.64; 95% CI, 0.45-0.91, p = 0.01). The number of patients with grade 3-4 adverse events was similar in both treatment arms (28 vs. 24%, p = 0.61). Whereas the complete analysis is awaited, this trial has shown the benefit of HIPEC in addition to CRS in two poor prognostic subgroups. Patients were either deemed unresectable upfront and thus given NACT or had an unsuccessful attempt at complete tumor removal followed by chemotherapy and secondary CRS and HIPEC [199].

A similar multicenter phase III randomized trial in the interval setting has just started in Italy (CHORINE: Cytoreduction and HIPEC in the treatment of OvaRIaN cancEr). This study compares CRS + HIPEC (cisplatin + paclitaxel) vs. CRS alone in stage IIIC unresectable ovarian cancer with partial or complete response after three systemic cycles of carboplatin and paclitaxel, followed by three further cycles of carboplatin and paclitaxel (Clinical trials. Govt identifier NCT02124421). The primary outcome is 2-year disease-free survival. Ongoing clinical trials evaluating the role of HIPEC in advanced ovarian cancer are listed in Table 10.8.

A phase II randomized study: Cytoreductive surgery (CRS) with/without carboplatin hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) followed by adjuvant chemotherapy as initial treatment of ovarian, fallopian tube, and primary peritoneal cancer is being conducted by the Mercy Medical Center in the United States (Clinical trials. Govt identifier NCT01628380). The primary end point is to compare the morbidity in the two arms. The secondary end points include assessment of the quality of life, the DFS at 2 years, and the overall survival at 1.3 and 5 years. The results of this trail are expected in 2020.

Another randomized trial is being conducted at the City of Hope Medical Center in the United States and compares CRS and HIPEC with or without normothermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (Clinical trials. Govt identifier NCT01970722). The primary end point is safety and feasibility, and the secondary end points are evaluation of the quality of life and progressionfree survival. Another phase II trial being conducted in the Bay Area in California evaluates the safety and feasibility of HIPEC for PM from various primary sites including ovary, fallopian tube, and primary peritoneal cancer (Clinical trials. Govt identifier NCT02349958).

Another phase III randomized trial is currently underway in Spain in which women with epithelial primary ovarian cancer (stage FIGO II, III, and IV) or tumor recurrence will undergo CRS and then be randomized to one of the two arms (Clinical trials. Govt identifier NCT02681432):

- HIPEC arm: CRS and HIPEC with paclitaxel (175 mg/m²) for 60 min at a temperature of 42–43° followed by postoperative systemic IV chemotherapy with carboplatin (AUC = 6) and paclitaxel (175 mg/m²) for six cycles
- No HIPEC arm: CRS followed by postoperative systemic IV chemotherapy with carboplatin (AUC = 6) and paclitaxel (175 mg/m²) for six cycles

The primary end point is OS to be evaluated at 36 months, and the secondary end points are recurrence-free survival and morbidity at 60 days.

A phase II trial (NCT02567253) is underway at the Ghent University in Belgium, looking at the pharmacokinetic aspects of normothermic and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy administered immediately after CRS.

10.9 The Need for New Predictive and Prognostic Markers/ Tools

Primary CRS and adjuvant chemotherapy using a platinum agent and taxane are the standards of care for advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. The complete clinical response rate with this combined treatment is 50%, and a pathological complete response rate is obtained in 25-30% of the patients [200–202]. In a recent report of 322 patients from a single institution who underwent PDS and chemotherapy, a CC-0 resection was obtained in 35.7% and CC-0/1 in 55.9%. All 322 patients were complete responders to frontline therapy. However, at a median follow-up of 75.9 months after the initial diagnosis, 81 patients (25.2%) were disease free, 56 patients (17.4%)were alive with recurrent disease; 179 (55.5%) were dead due to progressive disease, and 6 patients (1.9%) died of intercurrent disease with no evidence of tumor. In another study of 303 patients, recurrence developed in 76.9% patients with residual disease ≥ 1 cm, 64.3% with residual disease <1 cm, and 40.9% of the patients with no residual disease [203].

ClinicalTrials.		Primary institution/		
gov ID	Phase	group	Malignancy	Treatment arms
NCT02349958	Nonrandomized	Bay Area Gynecology Oncology, USA	Ovarian, fallopian tube, uterine, mesothelioma, GI, cervical, primary peritoneal	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC
NCT02124421	Randomized, phase II	Mercy Medical Center, USA	Ovarian, fallopian tube, primary peritoneal	CRS + HIPEC + adjuvant chemotherapy vs. CRS + adjuvant chemotherapy
NCT01970722	Randomized, phase II	City of Hope Medical Center, UC	Ovarian, uterine, fallopian tube, primary peritoneal	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC, ± adjuvant IP chemotherapy and IV chemotherapy
NCT02567253	2	Ghent University Hospital, Belgium	Ovarian	CRS and HIPEC, varying temperature and dosage
NCT01628380	Randomized, phase III	A.O. Ospedale Papa Giovanni XXIII, Italy	Ovarian	CRS vs. CRS and HIPEC
NCT02681432	Randomized, phase III	Hospital General de la Ciudad Real, Spain	Ovarian	CRS vs. CRS and HIPEC

Table 10.8 Currently ongoing clinical trials evaluating the role of HIPEC in advanced ovarian cancer

Thus, even after optimal frontline therapy, the recurrence rates in advanced ovarian cancer are high. Disease can recur in both treated and non-treated areas of peritoneum [204, 205]. A complete CRS does not affect the timing or pattern of recurrence though it reduces the absolute number of recurrences [203].

The only factors which have an impact on survival are the tumor stage and completeness of CRS. The disease extent as determined by the PCI is one of the most important prognostic factors in patients with PM from various primary sites undergoing radical surgery. Though, in general, extensive disease in the supracolic compartment is associated with a poorer survival, no criteria for patient selection are defined based on the extent or distribution of disease. Patients undergoing primary CRS despite undergoing removal of all macroscopic disease represent a heterogeneous patient population. Di Giorgio et al. in their retrospective study of 511 patients of whom 173 patients had advanced ovarian cancer reported a pathological complete response in 9.82% of the patients undergoing NACT. These patients experience a median DFS of 72.5 months and median OS of 76.9 months. Extrapolating this to patients with resectable disease upfront, there could be subgroups that could benefit from NACT.

This indicates a need for identifying criteria other than resectability alone for selecting patients for surgery. Though molecular subtyping is used to select the best chemotherapy regimen for patients in solid tumors, from a purely surgical perspective, it may have relevance too. Though not incorporated in clinical practice yet, molecular subtypes of high-grade ovarian cancer have been identified, and upregulation of certain pathways like the TGF- β pathway has shown to be predictive of an incomplete cytoreduction [206, 207].

Fotopoulou et al. pointed out that novel strategies relying on predictive and prognostic biomarkers and radiological classifications based on patterns of tumor dissemination and biology of advanced epithelial ovarian cancer in the future should be used to develop algorithms for patient selection for CRS based on the operative morbidity versus benefit of primary CRS [208].

As mentioned above, a uniform grading system for the pathological response to NACT needs to be developed. More effective treatment strategies are needed for patients who have a poor response to chemotherapy and cannot be cytoreduced completely thereafter.

Conclusion

Primary CRS followed by systemic chemotherapy has a survival benefit over other treatment strategies in patients with advanced ovarian cancer. The results of ongoing clinical trials will further define the role of HIPEC in this setting. Adjuvant normothermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy, in combination with systemic chemotherapy, has shown a survival benefit despite the various problems with administration. NACT followed by interval CRS is an option for patients who are not fit for primary CRS or have disease not amenable to complete CRS. HIPEC in addition to CRS has shown a survival benefit over CRS alone in these patients in a randomized phase III trial. The goal of CRS in the primary and interval setting should be complete removal of macroscopic disease especially in the setting of interval CRS where any amount of residual disease portends a poor prognosis. Despite aggressive therapy, majority of the patients develop recurrent disease. Prognostic and predictive factors need to be developed for patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer that will be helpful in selecting patients for surgery and serve as a basis for developing new therapies. More effective therapies are needed for patients who are poor responders to chemotherapy and/or have extensive disease.

References

- Meinhold-Heerlein I, Fotopoulou C, Harter P, Kurzeder C, Mustea A, Wimberger P, Hauptmann S, Sehouli J. The new WHO classification of ovarian, fallopian tube, and primary peritoneal cancer and its clinical implications. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2016;293(4):695–700. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00404-016-4035-8.
- Murdoch WJ, Martinchick JF. Oxidative damage to DNA of ovarian surface epithelial cells affected by ovulation: carcinogenic implication and chemoprevention. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2004;229:546–52.
- McCluggage WG. Morphological subtypes of ovarian carcinoma: a review with emphasis on new developments and pathogenesis. Pathology. 2011;43:420–32.
- 4. Boyd C, McCluggage WG. Low-grade ovarian serous neoplasms (low-grade serous carcinoma and

serous borderline tumor) associated with high-grade serous carcinoma or undifferentiated carcinoma: report of a series of cases of an unusual phenomenon. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36:368–75.

- Piek JM, van Diest PJ, Zweemer RP, et al. Dysplastic changes in prophylactically removed fallopian tubes of women predisposed to developing ovarian cancer. J Pathol. 2001;195:451–6.
- Kindelberger DW, Lee Y, Miron A, et al. Intraepithelial carcinoma of the fimbria and pelvic serous carcinoma: evidence for a causal relationship. Am J Surg Pathol. 2007;31:161–9.
- Soussi T, Ishioka C, Claustres M, et al. Locusspecific mutation databases: pitfalls and good practice based on the p53 experience. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006;6:83–90.
- Folkins AK, Jarboe EA, Saleemuddin A, et al. A candidate precursor to pelvic serous cancer (p53 signature) and its prevalence in ovaries and fallopian tubes from women with BRCA mutations. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;109:168–73.
- Shaw PA, Rouzbahman M, Pizer ES, et al. Candidate serous cancer precursors in fallopian tube epithelium of BRCA1/2 mutation carriers. Mod Pathol. 2009;22:1133–8.
- Kurman RJ, Shih I-M. The origin and pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer- a proposed unifying theory. Am J Surg Pathol. 2010;34(3):433–43. https:// doi.org/10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181cf3d79.
- 11. Dubeau L. The cell of origin of ovarian epithelial tumours. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9(12):1191–7.
- Altaras MM, Aviram R, Cohen I, Cordoba M, Weiss E, Beyth Y. Primary peritoneal papillary serous adenocarcinoma: clinical and management aspects. Gynecol Oncol. 1991;40:230–6.
- August CZ, Murad TM, Newton M. Multiple focal extraovarian serous carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1985;4:11–23.
- Dalrymple JC, Bannatyne P, Russell P, et al. Extraovarian peritoneal serous papillary carcinoma. Cancer. 1989;64:110–5.
- Fromm G-L, Gershenson DM, Silva EG. Papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum. Obstet Gynecol. 1990;75:89–95.
- Finch A, Beiner M, Lubinski J, et al. Salpingooophorectomy and the risk of ovarian, fallopian tube, and peritoneal cancers in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. JAMA. 2006;296:185–92.
- Levine DA, Argenta PA, Yee CJ, et al. Fallopian tube and primary peritoneal carcinomas associated with BRCA mutations. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:4222–7.
- Olivier RI, van Beurden M, Lubsen MA, Rookus MA, Mooij TM, van de Vijver MJ, van't Veer LJ. Clinical outcome of prophylactic oophorectomy in BRCA1/BRCA2 mutation carriers and events during follow-up. Br J Cancer. 2004;90:1492–7.
- Cheng W, Liu J, Yoshida H, Rosen D, Naora H. Lineage infidelity of epithelial ovarian cancers is controlled by HOX genes that specify regional identity in the reproductive tract. Nat Med. 2005;11:531–7.

- Partridge E, Kreimer AR, Greenlee RT, et al. Results from four rounds of ovarian cancer screening in a randomized trial. Obstet Gynecol. 2009;113:775–82.
- Halkia E, Spiliotis J, Sugarbaker P. Diagnosis and management of peritoneal metastases from ovarian cancer. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:541842. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/541842.
- Lengyel E. Ovarian cancer development and metastasis. Am J Pathol. 2010;177(3):1053–64.
- Eisenkop SM, Spirtos NM. The clinical significance of occult macroscopically positive retroperitoneal nodes in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2001;82(1):143–9.
- AJCC. Ovary and primary peritoneal carcinoma. In: AJCC cancer staging handbook. 7th ed. New York: Springer; 2009. p. 501–6.
- Cannistra SA. Cancer of the ovary. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(24):2519–29.
- 26. Byrne AT, Ross L, Holash J, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor-trap decreases tumor burden, inhibits ascites, and causes dramatic vascular remodeling in an ovarian cancer model. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(15):5721–8.
- Porcel J, Rodríguez-Panadero F. Malignant effusions. In: Maskell N, Millar A, editors. Oxford desk reference: respiratory medicine. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2009. p. 342–5.
- Friedman GD, Skilling JS, Udaltsova NV, Smith LH. Early symptoms of ovarian cancer: a case control study without recall bias. Fam Pract. 2005;22:548–53.
- 29. Jacobs I, Bast RC. The CA 125 tumour-associated antigen: a review of the literature. Hum Reprod. 1989;4:1–12.
- Ando S, Kimura H, Iwai N, et al. Positive reactions for both Cyfra21-1 and CA125 indicate worst prognosis in non–small cell lung cancer. Anticancer Res. 2003;23:2869–74.
- Xiao WB, Liu YL. Elevation of serum and ascites cancer antigen 125 levels in patients with liver cirrhosis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2003;18:1315–6.
- 32. Zidan J, Hussein O, Basher W, et al. Serum CA125: a tumour marker for monitoring response to treatment and follow-up in patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Oncologist. 2004;9:417–21.
- 33. Yoo SC, Yoon JH, Lyu MO, Kim WY, Chang SJ, Chang KH, et al. Significance of postoperative CA-125 decline after cytoreductive surgery in stage IIIC/IV ovarian cancer. J Gynecol Oncol. 2008;19:169–72.
- 34. Zwakman N, van de Laar R, Van Gorp T, et al. Perioperative changes in serum CA125 levels: a prognostic factor for disease-specific survival in patients with ovarian cancer. J Gynecol Oncol. 2017;28(1):e7. https://doi.org/10.3802/jgo.2017.28.e7.
- 35. Zivanovic O, Sima CS, Iasonos A, Bell-McGuinn KM, Sabbatini PJ, Leitao MM, et al. Exploratory analysis of serum CA-125 response to surgery and the risk of relapse in patients with FIGO stage

IIIC ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;115: 209–14.

- 36. Vorgias G, Iavazzo C, Savvopoulos P, Myriokefalitaki E, Katsoulis M, Kalinoglou N, et al. Can the preoperative Ca-125 level predict optimal cytoreduction in patients with advanced ovarian carcinoma? A single institution cohort study. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;112:11–5.
- 37. Kang S, Kim T-J, Nam B-H, Seo S-S, Kim B-G, Bae D-S, et al. Preoperative serum CA-125 levels and risk of suboptimal cytoreduction in ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. J Surg Oncol. 2010;101:13–7.
- Memarzadeh S, Lee SB, Berek JS, Farias-Eisner R. CA125 levels are a weak predictor of optimal cytoreductive surgery in patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2003;13:120–4.
- 39. Gemer O, Lurian M, Gdalevich M, Kapustian V, Piura E, Schneider D, et al. A multicenter study of CA 125 level as a predictor of non-optimal primary cytoreduction of advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2005;31:1006–10.
- 40. Chi DS, Venkatraman ES, Masson V, Hoskins WJ. The ability of preoperative serum CA-125 to predict optimal primary tumor cytoreduction in stage III epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2000;77:227–31.
- Galgano MT, Hampton GM, Frierson HF. Comprehensive analysis of HE4 expression in normal and malignant human tissues. Mod Pathol. 2006;19:847–53.
- 42. Moore RG, Brown AK, Miller MC, et al. The use of multiple novel tumour biomarkers for the detection of ovarian carcinoma in patients with a pelvic mass. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;108:402–8.
- 43. Moore RG, McMeekin DS, Brown AK, et al. A novel multiple marker bioassay utilizing HE4 and CA125 for the prediction of ovarian cancer in patients with a pelvic mass. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;112:40–6.
- 44. Simmons AR, Baggerly K, Bast RC. The emerging role of HE4 in the evaluation of advanced epithelial ovarian and endometrial carcinomas. Oncology (Williston Park). 2013;27(6):548–56.
- Kalapotharakos G, Asciutto C, Henic E, et al. High preoperative blood levels of HE4 predicts poor prognosis in patients with ovarian cancer. J Ovarian Res. 2012;5(1):20. PMCID:3480899.
- 46. Forstner R. Radiological staging of ovarian cancer: imaging findings and contribution of CT and MRI. Eur Radiol. 2007;17(12):3223–35.
- 47. Forstner R. CT and MRI in ovarian carcinoma. In: Hamm B, Forstner R, editors. CT and MRI of the female pelvis. Berlin: Springer Verlag; 2006. p. 231–61.
- Mitchell DG, Hill MC, Hill S, et al. Serous carcinoma of the ovary: CT identification of metastatic calcified implants. Radiology. 1986;158:649–52.
- 49. Glehen O, Mohamed F, Gilly FN. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from digestive tract cancer: new management by cytoreductive surgery and intra-

peritoneal chemohyperthermia. Lancet Oncol. 2004;5(4):219–28.

- 50. Suidan RS, Ramirez PT, Sarasohn DM, Teitcher JB, Mironov S, Iyer RB, et al. A multicenter prospective trial evaluating the ability of preoperative computed tomography scan and serum CA-125 to predict suboptimal cytoreduction at primary debulking surgery for advanced ovarian, fallopian tube, and peritoneal cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;134(3):455–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2014.07.002.
- Borley J, Wilhelm-Benartzi C, Yazbek J, Williamson R, Bharwani N, Stewart V, et al. Radiological predictors of cytoreductive outcomes in patients with advanced ovarian cancer. BJOG. 2015;122(6):843– 9. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.12992.
- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:359–74.
- Lampe B, Kroll N, Piso P, Forner DM, Mallmann P. Prognostic significance of Sugarbaker's peritoneal cancer index for the operability of ovarian carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2015;25(1):135–44.
- 54. Villeneuve L, Thivolet A, Bakrin N, Mohamed F, Isaac S, Valette PJ, Glehen O, Rousset P, BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE Working Groups. A new internet tool to report peritoneal malignancy extent. PeRitOneal MalIgnancy stage evaluation (PROMISE) application. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(6):877–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.03.015. Epub 2016 Mar 28.
- Coakley FV, Choi PH, Gougoutas CA, et al. Peritoneal metastases: detection with spiral CT in patients with ovarian cancer. Radiology. 2002;223:495–9.
- 56. Esquivel J, Chua TC, Stojadinovic A, et al. Accuracy and clinical relevance of computed tomography scan interpretation of peritoneal cancer index in colorectal cancer peritoneal carcinomatosis: a multiinstitutional study. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102:565–70.
- 57. Rieber A, Nüssle K, Stöhr I, Grab D, Fenchel S, Kreienberg R, Reske SN, Brambs HJ. Preoperative diagnosis of ovarian tumors with MR imaging: comparison with transvaginal sonography, positron emission tomography, and histologic findings. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2001;177(1):123–9.
- Li H-M, Qiang J-W, Ma F-H, Zhao S-H. The value of dynamic contrast–enhanced MRI in characterizing complex ovarian tumors. J Ovarian Res. 2017;10:4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13048-017-0302-y.
- Ognong-Boulemo A, Dohan A, Hoeffel C, Stanek A, Golfier F, Glehen O, Valette PJ, Rousset P. Adnexal masses associated with peritoneal involvement: diagnosis with CT and MRI. Abdom Radiol (NY). 2017;42(7):1975–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00261-017-1089-4. [Epub ahead of print].
- 60. Low RN, Barone RM. Combined diffusion-weighted and gadolinium-enhanced MRI can accurately predict the peritoneal cancer index preoperatively in patients being considered for cytoreductive surgical

procedures. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19:1394–401. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-012-2236-3.

- 61. Low RN, Barone RM, Lucero J. Comparison of MRI and CT for predicting the peritoneal cancer index (PCI) preoperatively in patients being considered for cytoreductive surgical procedures. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:1708. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-4041-7.
- 62. Nougaret S, Addley HC, Colombo PE, Fujii S, Al Sharif SS, Tirumani SH, Jardon K, Sala E, Reinhold C. Ovarian carcinomatosis: how the radiologist can help plan the surgical approach. Radiographics. 2012;32(6):1775–1800.; discussion 1800-3. https:// doi.org/10.1148/rg.326125511.
- 63. Michielsen K, Vergote I, Op de Beeck K, et al. Whole–body MRI with diffusion-weighted sequence for staging of patients with suspected ovarian cancer: a clinical feasibility study in comparison to CT and FDG-PET/CT. Eur Radiol. 2014;24:889–901.
- 64. Schmidt S, Meuli RA, Achtari C, Prior JO. Peritoneal carcinomatosis in primary ovarian cancer staging: comparison between MDCT MRI and 18F-FDGPET/CT. Clin Nucl Med. 2015;40:371–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/RLU.0000000000000768.
- 65. Castellucci P, Perrone AM, Picchio M, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of 18F-FDG PET/CT in characterizing ovarian lesions and staging ovarian cancer: correlation with transvaginal ultrasonography, computed tomography, and histology. Nucl Med Commun. 2007;28:589–95.
- 66. Funicelli L, Travaini LL, Landoni F, Tri rò G, Bonello L, Bellomi M. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from ovarian cancer: the role of CT and [18F]FDG-PET/CT. Abdom Imaging. 2010;35(6):701–7.
- 67. Yoshida Y, Kurokawa T, Kawahara K, et al. Incremental benefits of FDG positron emission tomography over CT alone for the preoperative staging of ovarian cancer. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2004;182(1):227–33.
- 68. Seshadri RA, Hemanth Raj E. Diagnostic laparoscopy in the pre-operative assessment of patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for peritoneal surface malignancies. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7:230. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-015-0486-9.
- 69. Fagotti A, Fanfani F, Ludovisi M, Lo Voi R, Bifulco G, Testa AC, et al. Role of laparoscopy to assess the chance of optimal cytoreductive surgery in advanced ovarian cancer: a pilot study. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;96:729–35.
- 70. Fagotti A, Ferrandina G, Fanfani F, Ercoli A, Lorusso D, Rossi M, et al. A laparoscopy-based score to predict surgical outcome in patients with advanced ovarian carcinoma: a pilot study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;13:1156–61.
- 71. Brun JL, Rouzier R, Uzan S, Darai E. External validation of a laparoscopic-based score to evaluate resectability of advanced ovarian cancers: clues for a simplified score. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;110:354–9.

- Fagotti A, Ferrandina G, Fanfani F, Garganese G, Vizzielli F, Carone V, et al. Prospective validation of a laparoscopic predictive model for optimal cytoreduction in advanced ovarian carcinoma. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2008;199:642.e1–6.
- 73. Fagotti A, Vizzielli G, Constantini B, Lecca A, Gallota V, Gagliardi ML, et al. Learning curve and pitfalls of a laparoscopic score to describe peritoneal carcinomatosis in advanced ovarian cancer. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2011;90:1126–31.
- 74. Fagotti A, Vizzielli G, De Iaco P, Surico D, Buda A, Mandato VD, et al. A multicentric trial (Olympia-MITO13) on the accuracy of laparoscopy to assess peritoneal spread in ovarian cancer. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2013;209:462, e1–11.
- 75. Rodríguez-Panadero F. Medical thoracoscopy. Respiration. 2008;76:363–72.
- 76. Díaz JP, Abu-Rustum NR, Sonoda Y, et al. Videoassisted thoracic surgery (VATS) evaluation of pleural effusions in patients with newly diagnosed advanced ovarian carcinoma can influence the primary management choice for these patients. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;116:483–8.
- Westfall DE, Fan X, Marchevsky AN. Evidence-based guidelines to optimize the selection of antibody panels in cytopathology: pleural effusions with malignant epithelioid cells. Diagn Cytopathol. 2010;38:9–14.
- Prat J. Staging classification for cancer of the ovary, fallopian tube, and peritoneum. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2014;124:1–5.
- Ataseven B, Harter P, Grimm C, Heitz F, Heikaus S, Traut A, Kahl A, Kurzeder C, Prader S, du Bois A. The revised 2014 FIGO staging system for epithelial ovarian cancer: is a subclassification into FIGO stage IVA and IVB justified? Gynecol Oncol. 2016;142(2):243–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygyno.2016.05.021. Epub 2016 May 25.
- Hoskins WJ, McGuire WP, Brady MF, et al. The effect of diameter of largest residual disease on survival after primary cytoreductive surgery in patients with suboptimal residual epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1994;170:974–80.
- Meigs JV. Tumors of the female pelvic organs. New York: MacMillan; 1934.
- Griffiths CT. Surgical resection of tumor bulk in the primary treatment of ovarian carcinoma. Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 1975;42:101–4.
- Hoskins WJ, Bundy BN, Thigpen JT, Omura GA. The influence of cytoreductive surgery on recurrencefree interval and survival in small-volume stage III epithelial ovarian cancer: a gynecologic oncology group study. Gynecol Oncol. 1992;47:159–66.
- Bristow RE, Tomacruz RS, Armstrong DK, Trimble EL, Montz FJ. Survival effect of maximal cytoreductive surgery for advanced ovarian carcinoma during the platinum era: a meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(5):1248–59.
- Whitney CW, Spirtos N. Gynecologic oncology group surgical procedures manual. Philadelphia: Philadelphia Gynecologic Oncology Group; 2009.

- 86. Chi DS, Ramirez PT, Teitcher JB, et al. Prospective study of the correlation between postoperative computed tomography scan and primary surgeon assessment in patients with advanced ovarian, tubal, and peritoneal carcinoma reported to have undergone primary surgical cytoreduction to residual disease 1 cm or less. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:4946–51.
- Aletti GD, Dowdy SC, Podratz KC, Cliby WA. Surgical treatment of diaphragm disease correlates with improved survival in optimally debulked advanced stage ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;100:283–7.
- 88. Eisenhauer EL, Abu-Rustum NR, Sonoda Y, et al. The addition of extensive upper abdominal surgery to achieve optimal cytoreduction improves survival in patients with stages IIIC-IV epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;103:1083–90.
- Eisenkop SM, Spirtos NM, Friedman RL, et al. Relative influences of tumor volume before surgery and the cytoreductive outcome on survival for patients with advanced ovarian cancer: a prospective study. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;90:390–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0090-8258(03)00278-6.
- 90. Chi DS, Eisenhauer EL, Zivanovic O, et al. Improved progression-free and overall survival in advanced ovarian cancer as a result of a change in surgical paradigm. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;114:26–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygyno.2009.03.018.
- Eitan R, Levine DA, Abu-Rustum N, et al. The clinical significance of malignant pleural effusions in patients with optimally debulked ovarian carcinoma. Cancer. 2005;103:1397–401.
- Mironov O, Ishill NM, Mironov S, et al. Pleural effusion detected at CT prior to primary cytoreduction for stage III or IV ovarian carcinoma: effect on survival. Radiology. 2011;258:776–84.
- Eisenkop SM. Thoracoscopy for the management of advanced epithelial ovarian cancer—a preliminary report. Gynecol Oncol. 2002;84:315–20.
- 94. Porcel JM, Diaz JP, Chi DS. Clinical implications of pleural effusions in ovarian cancer. Respirology. 2012;17:1060–7. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1440-1843.2012.02177.x.
- 95. Redman CWE, Warwick J, Luesley DM, Varman R, Lawton FG, Blackledge GRP. Intervention debulking surgery in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Br J Obstet Gynecol. 1994;101:142–6.
- 96. van der Burg MEL, van Lent M, Buyse M, Kobierska A, Colombo N, Favalli G, et al. The effect of debulking surgery after induction chemotherapy on the prognosis I advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 1995;332:629–34.
- Rose PG, Nerenstone S, Brady MF, Clarke-Pearson D, Olt G, Rubin SC, et al. Secondary surgical cytoreduction for advanced ovarian carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2004;351:2489–97.
- Pecorelli S, Odicino F, Favalli G. Interval debulking surgery in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer.

Best Prac Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2002;16: 573–83.

- 99. Baekelandt M. The potential role of neoadjuvant chemotherapy in advanced ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2003;13:163–8.
- Bristow RE, Chi DS. Platinum-based neoadjuvant chemotherapy and interval surgical cytoreduction for advanced ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;103:1070–6.
- 101. Vergote I, Trope CG, Amant F, et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy or primary surgery in stage IIIC or IV ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:943–53. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0908806.
- 102. Kehoe S, Hook J, Nankivell M, et al. Primary chemotherapy versus primary surgery for newly diagnosed advanced ovarian cancer (CHORUS): an open-label, randomised, controlled, non-inferiority trial. Lancet. 2015;386:249–57.
- 103. Chi DS, Bristow RE, Armstrong DK, et al. Is the easier way ever the better way? J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:4073–5.
- 104. Makar AP, Tropé CG, Tummers P, Denys H, Vandecasteele K. Advanced ovarian cancer: primary or interval debulking? Five categories of patients in view of the results of randomized trials and tumour biology: primary debulking surgery and interval debulking surgery for advanced ovarian cancer. Oncologist. 2016;21(6):745–54.
- 105. Colombo PE, Mourregot A, Fabbro M, et al. Aggressive surgical strategies in advanced ovarian cancer: a monocentric study of 203 stage IIIC and IV patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009;35:135–43.
- 106. Winter WE 3rd, Maxwell GL, Tian C, et al. Prognostic factors for stage III epithelial ovarian cancer: a gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:3621–7.
- 107. du Bois A, Reuss A, Pujade-Lauraine E, et al. Role of surgical outcome as prognostic factor in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: a combined exploratory analysis of 3 prospectively randomized phase 3 multicenter trials: by the Arbeitsgemeinschaft Gynaekologische Onkologie Studiengruppe Ovarialkarzinom (AGO-OVAR) and the Groupe d'Investigateurs Nationaux Pour les Etudes des Cancers de l'Ovaire (GINECO). Cancer. 2009;115:1234–44.
- 108. Winter WE 3rd, Maxwell GL, Tian C, et al. Tumor residual after surgical cytoreduction in prediction of clinical outcome in stage IV epithelial ovarian cancer: a gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:83–9.
- 109. Chi DS, Musa F, Dao F, et al. An analysis of patients with bulky advanced stage ovarian, tubal, and peritoneal carcinoma treated with primary debulking surgery (PDS) during an identical time period as the randomized EORTC-NCIC trial of PDS vs neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT). Gynecol Oncol. 2012;124:10–4.
- 110. Goldie JH, Coldman AJ. A mathematic model for relating the drug sensitivity of tumors to their

spontaneous mutation rate. Cancer Treat Rep. 1979;63:1727–33.

- 111. Rauh-Hain JA, Rodriguez N, Growdon WB, et al. Primary debulking surgery versus neoadjuvant chemotherapy in stage IV ovarian cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19:959–65.
- 112. Gadducci A, Cosio S, Zizioli V, Notaro S, Tana R, Panattoni A, Sartori E. Patterns of recurrence and clinical outcome of patients with stage IIIC to stage IV epithelial ovarian cancer in complete response after primary debulking surgery plus chemotherapy or neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by interval debulking surgery: an Italian multicenter retrospective study. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2017;27(1): 28–36.
- 113. Hynninen J, Lavonius M, Oksa S, et al. Is perioperative visual estimation of intra-abdominal tumor spread reliable in ovarian cancer surgery after neoadjuvant chemotherapy? Gynecol Oncol. 2013;128:229–32.
- 114. Chiva L, Lapuente F, Castellanos T, Alonso S, Gonzalez-Martin A. What should we expect after a complete cytoreduction at the time of interval or primary debulking surgery in advanced ovarian cancer? Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1666–73. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-015-5051-9. Epub 2015 Dec 29. PMID: 26714955.
- 115. Rauh-Hain JA, Melamed A, Wright A, Gockley A, Clemmer JT, Schorge JO, Del Carmen MG, Keating NL. Overall survival following Neoadjuvant chemotherapy vs primary cytoreductive surgery in women with epithelial ovarian cancer: analysis of the National Cancer Database. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(1):76–82. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.4411.
- 116. Bijelic L, Kumar AS, Stuart OA, Sugarbaker PH. Systemic chemotherapy prior to cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for carcinomatosis from appendix cancer: impact on perioperative outcomes and short-term survival. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:163284.
- 117. Passot G, You B, Boschetti G, Fontaine J, et al. Pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy: a new prognosis tool for the curative management of peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:2608–14. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-3647-0. Epub 2014 Mar 26.
- 118. Rodel C, Martus P, Papadoupolos T, Fuzesi L, Klimpfinger M, Fietkau R, Liersch T, Hohenberger W, Raab R, Sauer R, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor regression after preoperative chemoradiotherapy for rectal cancer. J Clin Pathol. 2005;23:8688–96.
- 119. Jass JR, O'Brien J, Riddell RH, Snover DC. Association of directors of anatomic and surgical pathology recommendations for the reporting of surgically resected specimens of colorectal carcinoma. Am J Clin Pathol. 2008;129:13–23.

- 120. Samrao D, Wang D, Ough F, et al. Histologic parameters predictive of disease outcome in women with advanced stage ovarian carcinoma treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Transl Oncol. 2012;5(6):469–74.
- 121. Muraji M, Sudo T, Iwasaki S, Ueno S, Wakahashi S, Yamaguchi S, et al. Histopathology predicts clinical outcome in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy and debulking surgery. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;131:531–4.
- 122. Böhm S, Faruqi A, Said I, et al. Chemotherapy response score: development and validation of a system to quantify histopathologic response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in tubo-ovarian high-grade serous carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(22):2457– 63. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.60.5212.
- 123. Sugarbaker PH. An overview of peritonectomy, visceral resections and perioperative chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Cytoreductive surgery & perioperative chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy. Textbook and video atlas. Woodbury: Cine-Med Publishers; 2012.
- 124. Mehta SS, Bhatt A, Glehen O. Cytoreductive surgery and peritonectomy procedures. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2):139–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-016-0505-5.
- Burghardt E, Girardi F, Lahousen M, Tamussino K, Stettner H. Patterns of pelvic and paraaortic lymph node involvement in ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 1991;40:103–6.
- 126. du Bois A, Reuss A, Harter P, Pujade-Lauraine E, Ray-Coquard I, Pfisterer J. Potential role of lymphadenectomy in advanced ovarian cancer: a combined exploratory analysis of three prospectively randomized phase III multicenter trials. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:1733–9.
- 127. Bachmann C, Brucker SY, Kraemer B, Rothmund R, Staebler A, Fend F, Wallwiener D, Grischke EM. The prognostic relevance of node metastases in optimally cytoreduced advanced ovarian cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2015;141:1475–80.
- 128. di Re F, Baiocchi G, Fontanelli R, et al. Systematic pelvic and paraaortic lymphadenectomy for advanced ovarian cancer: prognostic significance of node metastases. Gynecol Oncol. 1996;62:360–5.
- 129. Kikkawa F, Ishikawa H, Tamakoshi K, Suganuma N, Mizuno K, Kawai M, Arii Y, et al. Prognostic evaluation of lymphadenectomy for epithelial ovarian cancer. J Surg Oncol. 1995;60:227–31.
- 130. Panici PB, Maggioni A, Hacker N, Landoni F, Ackermann S, Campagnutta E, Tamussino K, Winter R, Pellegrino A, Greggi S, Angioli R, Manci N, Scambia G, et al. Systematic aortic and pelvic lymphadenectomy versus resection of bulky nodes only in optimally debulked advanced ovarian cancer: a randomized clinical trial. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97:560–6.

- 131. Ataseven B, Grimm C, Harter P, Prader S, Traut A, Heitz F, du Bois A. Prognostic value of lymph node ratio in patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;135:435–40.
- 132. Spirtos NM, Gross GM, Freddo JL, et al. Cytoreductive surgery in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer of the ovary: the impact of aortic and pelvic lymphadenectomy. Gynecol Oncol. 1995;56:345–52.
- 133. Bristow RE, Zahurak ML, Alexander CJ, Zellars RC, Montz FJ. FIGO stage IIIC endometrial carcinoma: resection of macroscopic nodal disease and other determinants of survival. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2003;13:664–72.
- 134. Zhou J, He Z-Y, Li F-Y, et al. Multiple focal extraovarian serous carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Pathol Oncotarget. 2016;7(7):7952–59. https://doi. org/10.18632/oncotarget.6911.
- 135. Harter P, Sehouli J, Lorusso D, et al. LION: Lymphadenectomy in ovarian neoplasms—A prospective randomized AGO study group led gynecologic cancer intergroup trial. J Clin Oncol. 2017; 35. (suppl; abstr 5500).
- 136. Lim M, Song Y, Seo S, Yoo C, Kang S, Park S. Residual cancer stem cells after interval cytoreductive surgery following neoadjuvant chemotherapy could result in poor treatment outcomes for ovarian cancer. Onkologie. 2010;33:324–30.
- Bunting KD. ABC transporters as phenotypic markers and functional regulators of stem cells. Stem Cells. 2002;20:11–20.
- 138. Ferrandina G, Bonanno G, Pierelli L, Perillo A, Procoli A, Mariotti A, Corallo M, Martinelli E, Rutella S, Paglia A, Zannoni G, Mancuso S, Scambia G. Expression of CD133-1 and CD133-2 in ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2008;18:506–14.
- 139. Hombach-Klonisch S, Paranjothy T, Wiechec E, Pocar P, Mustafa T, Seifert A, Zahl C, Gerlach KL, Biermann K, Steger K, Hoang-Vu C, SchulzeOsthoff K, Los M. Cancer stem cells as targets for cancer therapy: selected cancers as examples. Arch Immunol Ther Exp. 2008;56:165–80.
- 140. Skipper HE. Adjuvant chemotherapy. Cancer. 1978;41:936–40.
- 141. Cotte E, Colomban O, Guitton J, et al. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of cisplatinum during hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy using a closed abdominal procedure. J Clin Pharmacol. 2011;51(1):9–18.
- 142. Alberts DS, Liu PY, Hannigan EV, et al. Intraperitoneal cisplatin plus intravenous cyclophosphamide versus intravenous cisplatin plus intravenous cyclophosphamide for stage III ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 1996;335:1950–5.
- 143. Markman M, Bundy BN, Alberts DS, et al. Phase III trial of standard-dose intravenous cisplatin plus paclitaxel versus moderately high-dose carboplatin followed by intravenous paclitaxel and intraperi-
toneal cisplatin in small-volume stage III ovarian carcinoma: an intergroup study of the gynecologic oncology group, southwestern oncology group, and eastern cooperative oncology group. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:1001–7.

- 144. Armstrong DK, Bundy B, Wenzel L, et al. Intraperitoneal cisplatin and paclitaxel in Ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:34–43. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa052985.
- 145. Elit L, Oliver TK, Covens A, Kwon J, Fung MK, Hirte HW, Oza AM. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the first-line treatment of women with stage III epithelial ovarian cancer: a systematic review with meta analyses. Cancer. 2007;109:692–702.
- 146. Wright AA, Cronin A, Milne DE, et al. Use and effectiveness of intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment of ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(26):2841–7. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2015.61.4776.
- 147. Tewari D, Java JJ, Salani R, et al. Long-term survival advantage and prognostic factors associated with intraperitoneal chemotherapy treatment in advanced ovarian cancer: a gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(13):1460–6. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2014.55.9898.
- 148. Hettinga VE. Reduction of cisplatin resistance by hyperthermia (PhD Thesis, Univ. of Groningen, ISBN 90-367-0648-3) (Printpartners Ipskamp bv, Enschede), 1996.
- 149. Hetting VE, Lemstra W, Meijer C, et al. Mechanism of hyperthermic potentiation of cisplatin action in cisplatin sensitive and -resistant tumor cells. Br J Cancer. 1997;75:1735–43.
- Hettinga JV, Konings AW, Kampinga HH. Reduction of cellular cisplatin resistance by hyperthermia — a review. Int J Hyperth. 1997;13:439–57.
- 151. van de Vaart PJ, van der Vange N, Zoetmulder FA, van Goethem AR, van Tellingen O, ten Bokkel Huinink WW, Beijnen JH, Bartelink H, Begg AC. Intraperitoneal cisplatin with regional hyperthermia in advanced ovarian cancer: pharmacokinetics and cisplatin-DNA adduct formation in patients and ovarian cancer cell lines. Eur J Cancer. 1998;34(1):148–54.
- 152. Yan TD, Deraco M, Baratti D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: multi-institutional experience. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:6237–42. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.23.9640.
- 153. Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:63–8. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2009.23.9285.
- 154. Verwaal VJ, Bruin S, Boot H, van Slooten G, van Tinteren H. 8-year follow-up of randomized trial: cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy in patients

with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:2426–32. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-008-9966-2.

- 155. Glehen O, Gilly FN, Arvieux C, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: a multi-institutional study of159 patients treated by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(9):2370– 7. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-010-1039-7.
- 156. Glehen O, Passot G, Villeneuve L, et al. GASTRICHIP: D2 resection and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in locally advanced gastric carcinoma: a randomized and multi-center phase III study. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:183. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-183.
- 157. Mulier S, Claes JP, Dierieck V, Amiel JO, Pahaut JP, Marcelis L, Bastin F. Survival benefit of adding Hyperthermic IntraPEritoneal chemo-therapy (HIPEC) at the different time-points of treatment of ovarian cancer: review of evidence. Curr Pharm Des. 2012;18:3793–803. https://doi.org/10.2174/138161212802002616.
- Elias DM, Ouellet JF. Intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia: rationale, technique, indications, and results. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2001;10:915–33. [xi].
- 159. Gouy S, Ferron G, Glehen O, Bayar A, Marchal F, Pomel C, Quenet F, Bereder JM, Le Deley MC, Morice P. Results of a multicenter phase I dose-finding trial of hyperthermic intraperitoneal cisplatin after neoadjuvant chemotherapy and complete cytoreductive surgery and followed by maintenance bevacizumab in initially unresectable ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;142(2):237–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2016.05.032. Epub 2016 Jun 2.
- 160. Zivanovic O, Abramian A, Kullmann M, Fuhrmann C, Coch C, Hoeller T, Ruehs H, Keyver-Paik MD, Rudlowski C, Weber S, Kiefer N, Poelcher ML, Thiesler T, Rostamzadeh B, Mallmann M, Schaefer N, Permantier M, Latten S, Kalff J, Thomale J, Jaehde U, Kuhn WC. HIPEC ROC I: a phase 1 study of cisplatin administered as hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemoperfusion followed by postoperative intravenous platinum-based chemotherapy in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:699–708. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29011.
- 161. Fagotti A, Paris I, Grimolizzi F, et al. Secondary cytoreduction plus oxaliplatin-based HIPEC in platinum-sensitive recurrent ovarian cancer patients: a pilot study. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;113:335–40.
- 162. Ceelen WP, Van Nieuwenhove Y, Van Belle S, et al. Cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion in women with heavily pretreated recurrent ovarian cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;19(7):2352–9.
- 163. Frenel JS, Leux C, Pouplin L, Ferron G, Berton Rigaud D, Bourbouloux E, Dravet F, Jaffre I, Classe JM. Oxaliplatin-based hyperthermic intraperitoneal

chemotherapy in primary or recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer: a pilot study of 31 patients. J Surg Oncol. 2011;103(1):10–6.

- 164. Piccart MJ, Lacave AJ, Reed N, et al. Oxaliplatin or paclitaxel in patients with platinum-pretreated advanced ovarian cancer: a randomized phase II study of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of cancer gynecology group. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:1193–202.
- 165. Los G, Sminia P, Wondergem J, Mutsaers PHA, Havemen J, Huinink DT, Smals O, Gonzalezgonzalez D, Mcvie JG. Optimization of intraperitoneal cisplatin therapy with regional hyperthermia in rats. Eur J Cancer. 1991;27(4):472–7.
- 166. Los G, van Vugt MJ, Pinedo HM. Response of peritoneal solid tumors after intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia treatment with cisplatin or carboplatin. Br J Cancer. 1994;69(2):235–41.
- 167. Jandial DD, Messer K, Farshchi-Heydari S, Pu M, Howell SB. Tumor platinum concentration following intraperitoneal administration of cisplatin versus carboplatin in an ovarian cancer model. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;115(3):362–6.
- 168. Xu MJ, Alberts DS. Potentiation of platinum analogue cytotoxicity by hyperthermia. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1988;21:191–6.
- 169. Lentz SS, Miller BE, Kucera GL, Levine EA. Intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy using carboplatin: a phase I analysis in ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;106(1):207–10. [21].
- 170. Steller MA, Egorin MJ, Trimble EL, Bartlett DL, Zuhowski EG, Alexander HR, et al. A pilot phase I trial of continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion with high-dose carboplatin as primary treatment of patients with small-volume residual ovarian cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1999;43(2):106–14.
- 171. Argenta PA, Sueblinvong T, Geller MA, Jonson AL, Downs LS Jr, Carson LF, Ivy JJ, Judson PL. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with carboplatin for optimally-cytoreduced, recurrent, platinum-sensitive ovarian carcinoma: a pilot study. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;129(1):81–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2013.01.010.
- 172. Coccolini F, Campanati L, Catena F, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with cisplatin and paclitaxel in advanced ovarian cancer: a multicenter prospective observational study. J Gynecol Oncol. 2015;26(1):54–61. https://doi. org/10.3802/jgo.2015.26.1.54.
- 173. Ansaloni L, Coccolini F, Morosi L, et al. Pharmacokinetics of concomitant cisplatin and paclitaxel administered by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy to patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from epithelial ovarian cancer. Br J Cancer. 2015;112(2):306–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/ bjc.2014.602.
- 174. de Bree E, Rosing H, Filis D, Romanos J, Melisssourgaki M, Daskalakis M, Pilatou M, Sanidas E, Taflampas P, Kalbakis K, Beijnen JH, Tsiftsis DD. Cytoreductive surgery and intraopera-

tive hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with paclitaxel: a clinical and pharmacokinetic study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:1183–92.

- 175. Cashin PH, Ehrsson H, Wallin I, Nygren P, Mahteme H. Pharmacokinetics of cisplatin during hyperthermic intraperitoneal treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;69: 533–40.
- 176. Muller M, Chérel M, Dupré PF, Gouard S, Collet M, Classe JM. The cytotoxic effect of combined hyperthermia and taxane chemotherapy on ovarian cancer cells: results of an in vitro study. Eur Surg Res. 2012;48(2):55–63. https://doi.org/10.1159/00033393. Epub 2011 Dec 23.
- 177. Van der Speeten K, Stuart OA, Mahteme H, Sugarbaker PH. Pharmacokinetic study of perioperative intravenous Ifosfamide. Int J Surg Oncol. 2011;2011:185092. https://doi. org/10.1155/2011/185092. Epub 2011 Sep 21.
- 178. Deraco M, Baratti D, Cabras AD, et al. Experience with peritoneal mesothelioma at the Milan National Cancer Institute. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(2):76–84. https://doi.org/10.4251/wjgo. v2.i2.76.
- 179. Bhatt A, Glehen O. The role of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in ovarian cancer: a review. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2):188–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-016-0501-9.
- 180. Piso P, Dahlke MH, Loss M, Schlitt HJ. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in peritoneal carcinomatosis from ovarian cancer. World J Surg Oncol. 2004;2:21. https://doi. org/10.1186/1477-7819-2-21.
- 181. Yoshida Y, Sasaki H, Kurokawa T, et al. Efficacy of intraperitoneal continuous hyperthermic chemotherapy as consolidation therapy in patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: a long-term follow-up. Oncol Rep. 2005;13(1):121–5.
- 182. Rufián S, Muñoz-Casares FC, Briceño J, et al. Radical surgery peritonectomy and intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis in recurrent or primary ovarian cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2006;94:316–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.20597.
- 183. Pavlov MJ, Kovacevic PA, Ceranic MS, Stamenkovic AB, Ivanovic AM, Kecmanovic DM. Cytoreductive surgery and modified heated intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for advanced and recurrent ovarian cancer - 12-year single center experience. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009;35(11):1186– 91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2009.03.004.
- 184. Pomel C, Ferron G, Lorimier G, et al. Hyperthermic intra-peritoneal chemotherapy using oxaliplatin as consolidation therapy for advanced epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Results of a phase II prospective multicentre trial. CHIPOVAC study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36(6):589–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2010.04.005.

- 185. Roviello F, Pinto E, Corso G, et al. Safety and potential benefit of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in peritoneal carcinomatosis from primary or recurrent ovarian cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102(6):663–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jso.21682.
- 186. Parson EN, Lentz S, Russell G, et al. Outcomes after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal surface dissemination from ovarian neoplasms. Am J Surg. 2011;202(4):481–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. amjsurg.2011.02.004.
- 187. Gonzalez Bayon L, Steiner MA, Vasquez Jimenez W, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of advanced epithelial ovarian carcinoma: upfront therapy, at first recurrence, or later? Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:1109–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2013.06.022.
- 188. Helm CW, Richard SD, Pan J, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in ovarian cancer: first report of the HYPER-O registry. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2010;20(1):61–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/ IGC.0b013e3181c50cde.
- 189. Deraco M, Kusamura S, Virzì S, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy as upfront therapy for advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: multi-institutional phase-II trial. Gynecol Oncol. 2011;122(2):215–20. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2011.05.004.
- 190. Bakrin N, Bereder JM, Decullier E, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for advanced ovarian carcinoma: a French multicentre retrospective cohort study of566 patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:1435–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2013.09.030.
- 191. Sun J-H, Ji Z-H, Yu Y, et al. Cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat advanced/recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer: results from a retrospective study on prospectively established database. Transl Oncol. 2016;9(2):130– 8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranon.2016.02.002.
- 192. Di Giorgio A, De Iaco P, De Simone M, et al. Cytoreduction (Peritonectomy procedures) combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in advanced ovarian cancer: retrospective Italian multicenter observational study of 511 cases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24(4):914–22. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-016-5686-1.
- 193. Kumar L, Hariprasad R, Kumar S, et al. Upfront surgery vs neoadjuvant, chemotherapy in advanced epithelial ovarian carcinoma (EOC): a randomized, study. IGCS 13. Prague (A824), 2010.
- 194. Chi DS, Musa F, Dao F, et al. An analysis of patients with bulky advanced stage ovarian, tubal, and peritoneal carcinoma treated with primary debulking surgery (PDS) during an identical time period as the randomized EORTC-NCIC trial of PDS vs neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT). Gynecol Oncol. 2011;124(1):10–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygyno.2011.08.014.

- 195. Sehouli J, Savvatis K, Braicu EI, Schmidt SC, Lichtenegger W, Fotopoulou C. Primary versus interval debulking surgery in advanced ovarian cancer: results from a systematic single-center analysis. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2010;20(8):1331–40.
- 196. Morice P, Brehier-Ollive D, Rey A, et al. Results of interval debulking surgery in advanced stage ovarian cancer: an exposed-nonexposed study. Ann Oncol. 2003;14(1):74–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/ mdg003.
- 197. Onda T, Kobayashi H, Nakanishi T, et al. Feasibility study of neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by interval debulking surgery for stage III/IV ovarian, tubal, and peritoneal cancers: Japan clinical oncology group study JCOG0206. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;113(1):57– 62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2008.12.027.
- 198. Lee SJ, Kim BG, Lee JW, Park CS, Lee JH, Bae DS. Preliminary results of neoadjuvant chemotherapy with paclitaxel and cisplatin in patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer who are inadequate for optimum primary surgery. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2006;32(1):99–10. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1447-0756.2006.00359.x.
- 199. Van Driel W, Sikorska K, van Leeuwen J, et al. A phase 3 trial of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017; 35. (suppl; abstr 5519).
- Ozols RF. Paclitaxel (taxol)/carboplatin combination chemotherapy in the treatment of advanced ovarian cancer. Semin Oncol. 2000;27(suppl 7):3–7. 8.
- 201. Harries M, Gore M. Part I: chemotherapy for epithelial ovarian cancer-treatment at first diagnosis. Lancet Oncol. 2002;3:529–36.
- 202. du Bois A, Lück HJ, Meier W, et al. A randomized clinical trial of cisplatin/paclitaxel versus carboplatin/paclitaxel as first-line treatment of ovarian cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2003;95:1309–29.
- 203. Paik ES, Lee YY, Shim M, Choi HJ, Kim TJ, Choi CH, Lee JW, Kim BG, Bae DS. Timing and patterns of recurrence in epithelial ovarian cancer patients with no gross residual disease after primary debulking surgery. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2016;56(6):639–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ajo.12529. Epub 2016 Sep 9.
- Gadducci A, Cosio S. Surveillance of patients after initial treatment of ovarian cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2009;71:43–52.
- Vaidya AP, Curtin JP. The follow-up of ovarian cancer. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:401.
- 206. Bowtell DD, Böhm S, Ahmed AA, et al. Rethinking ovarian cancer II: reducing mortality from highgrade serous ovarian cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2015;15(11):668–79. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc4019.
- 207. Riester M, Wei W, Waldron L, et al. Risk prediction for late-stage ovarian cancer by meta-analysis of 1525 patient samples. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2014;106(5):dju048. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/ dju048.
- Fotopoulou C, Sehouli J, Aletti G, et al. Value of neoadjuvant chemotherapy for newly diagnosed advanced ovarian cancer: a European perspective. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(6):587–90.



11

Surgical Management of Recurrent Epithelial Ovarian Cancer

Aditi Bhatt, Naoual Bakrin, and Olivier Glehen

11.1 Introduction

A large proportion of the patients with advanced ovarian cancer develop disease recurrence within few years [1, 2]. Most of the patients who recur die within 5 years since recurrent disease is usually incurable [3]. Second-line therapy includes either chemotherapy or surgery or both chemotherapy and surgery but the outcomes remain poor.

Although most of the initial recurrences are frequently platinum sensitive, patients eventually develop resistance to platinum-based chemotherapy [3]. Resistance to chemotherapy, which is either intrinsic (primary) or acquired (secondary), is a major problem in the treatment of ovarian cancer and the main contributing factor in cancer-associated mortality. An aggressive locoregional therapy comprising of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in addition to systemic chemotherapy has produced promising

A. Bhatt

Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India

N. Bakrin • O. Glehen (⊠) Department of Surgical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Lyon Sud, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Pierre Bénite, France

Université Lyon 1, EMR 3738, Oullins, France e-mail: olivier.glehen@chu-lyon.fr

results. The optimal use of this combined modality treatment in addition to systemic therapy has the potential to provide a significant prolongation of the disease-free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS) both in these patients.

11.2 Appropriate Terminology for Recurrent Disease

The time to recurrence after completion of firstline chemotherapy, i.e. the platinum-free interval (PFI), has been used to classify recurrent ovarian cancer into two broad groups—platinum sensitive or platinum resistant.

This division is arbitrary and was done for the purpose of study design and interpretation by the Gynecologic Oncology Group (GOG) [4]. The platinum-sensitive group comprises of patients who recur 6 months or more after cessation of platinum-based chemotherapy. The clinically resistant group consists of those patients who actually progress while receiving platinum-based therapy, whose best response to platinum-based therapy is stable disease, and who recur within 6 months of cessation of platinum-based treatment [5]. Within this group are patients who have progressed on chemotherapy or had a less than partial response (stable disease) and could be termed as 'platinum refractory'. This is seen in 20% of the cases, and these patients have the lowest probability of responding to second-line ther-

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_11

apy. Among the other platinum-resistant patients are those that have a complete clinical response after surgery and chemotherapy and recur within 6 months of cessation of therapy. This would include patients who had optimal and suboptimal cytoreductive surgery (CRS) both [5]. Subsequent recurrences are classified according to the PFI from the last treatment.

The PFI has been widely used as a clinical surrogate for predicting the response to chemotherapy and determining the prognosis [6]. However, there are several caveats in using this division. There is a variability in the use and timing of investigations used to diagnose a recurrence. This influences the time at which the relapse is diagnosed and hence the categorization of the patients as platinum sensitive or platinum resistant. Moreover, in the platinum-sensitive group, the 'platinum-free interval' affects the response to further systemic therapy, with patients who are platinum-free for more than 12 months having better outcomes than those with a shorter PFI [6].

At the fourth Ovarian Cancer Consensus Conference (fourth OCCC) in Vancouver in 2010, there was an agreement that future clinical trials should evaluate outcomes based on four subsets of patients [7]. This division is also based on the PFI and is as shown in Table 11.1.

With the increasing use of non-platinum and biological agents like poly-ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibitors and angiogenesis inhibitors that may have an impact on disease biology and response to subsequent therapy, the PFI may not be the only prognostic factor affecting outcomes. At Fifth Ovarian Cancer Consensus Conference of the Gynecologic Cancer InterGroup, the PFI was replaced by a broader term, i.e. treatment-free interval (TFI), which was further divided into the TFI from last plati-

Table 11.1 Classification of recurrence according to the platinum-free interval

Platinum-free interval	Subgroup
<1 month	Platinum refractory
1–6 months	Platinum resistant
6–12 months	Partially platinum sensitive
>12 months	Fully platinum sensitive

num dose (TFIp), the TFI from last non-platinum therapy (TFInp) as well as last biological agent (TFIb) [8]. These classifications are being used to stratify patients for clinical trials that evaluate various systemic therapies.

An additional prognostic factor that has been overlooked in these classifications is the completeness of the first surgery. Some patients who did not have an attempt at complete CRS by a surgical/gynecologic oncologist may or may not have a complete response after chemotherapy. They may be inappropriately classified as platinum resistant/platinum refractory. Classe et al. suggested that to distinguish patients with a true early relapse refractory to platinum, other criteria such as the completeness of primary surgery performed in an expert centre need to be added to the disease-free interval [9].

11.3 Pattern of Recurrence

The commonest site of recurrence in epithelial ovarian cancer is the peritoneum. Seventy five percent of recurrences occur in the peritoneum, and in almost 50% of these cases, the peritoneum is the only site of recurrence [10]. Nodal recurrence is the second most common and is usually associated with peritoneal disease. Distant metastases are a rare site of disease recurrence [10].

Disease can recur in both treated and nontreated areas of the peritoneum. Pelvic recurrences are more common than upper abdominal recurrences [11, 12].

A retrospective study of 104 patients showed that in comparison to patients receiving systemic chemotherapy alone, patients who received intraperitoneal chemotherapy were more likely to recur in the upper abdomen or in extra-abdominal nodes [13]. Most of the recurrences from ovarian cancer are diffuse. In a study of 270 patients, reported by Ferrandina et al., 'diffuse peritoneal carcinomatosis' was seen in 62.1% of cases, while recurrences presented as a single lesion or multiple nodules occurred in 9.9 and 26.7% of cases, respectively [14]. Peritoneal carcinomatosis was defined as 20 or more peritoneal nodules by Chi et al. [15]. Isolated recurrence has been reported in patients with platinum-resistant disease as well [16]. It has been shown that the pattern of recurrence is dependent neither on the initial stage nor the completeness of CRS. A complete CRS does not affect the timing or pattern of recurrence though it reduces the absolute number of recurrences [17]. However, most of these studies consider <1 cm residual disease as a cut-off for complete cytoreduction though current evidence has shown that outcomes are better in patients with no residual disease as compared to any size of visible residual tumour [18].

11.4 Treatment of Recurrence

The treatment of recurrence essentially depends on the prior course of disease. It is important to review the prior treatment that has been administered—the surgical details and its completeness, the chemotherapy regimen, the time interval to recurrence if complete remission was achieved or not.

The cornerstone of second-line therapy has been chemotherapy, and surgery is conventionally reserved for isolated localized recurrences. However, despite subjective and objective responses to second-line therapy and a prolonged disease-free and overall survival that is obtained in certain patients who have platinum-sensitive disease, the outcome of these patients is poor and cure is almost impossible [5]. The intent of treatment needs to be defined before starting any kind of therapy.

The tendency of recurrent disease to remain confined to the peritoneal cavity for prolonged periods forms a strong rationale for an aggressive locoregional approach comprising of CRS with or without hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC).

11.4.1 Evidence for Cytoreductive Surgery for Recurrent Ovarian Cancer

CRS can be performed as a second look following previous suboptimal surgery (secondary CRS) or for disease recurrence after complete response to first-line therapy (salvage CRS). The term 'secondary CRS' is broadly used for both situations. The completeness of surgery is defined according to the maximum diameter of the residual disease nodules. Complete cytoreduction is generally used for cases where there is no visible residual disease according to the completeness of cytoreduction score (Table 11.2) by Sugarbaker et al. [19]. The other commonly used term is 'optimal cytoreduction' which as defined by the Gynecologic Oncologic Group (GOG) as residual disease measuring <1 cm in maximal diameter [20].

Most of the evidence to support the use of CRS for recurrent ovarian cancer comes from retrospective studies [21–24]. These studies had a complete cytoreduction rate ranging from 50 to 87%. The median overall survival (OS) in patients undergoing complete cytoreduction ranged from 29 to 60 months. The criteria for complete CRS varied from no visible macroscopic residual disease to residual disease measuring <2 cm. Most of these studies have a short follow-up (1–4 years) and do not stratify patients according to PCI.

In a population-based study from the Netherlands, 408 patients who underwent secondary CRS at 38 centres experienced a median survival of 51 months [25]. Complete cytoreduction was achieved in 295 (72.3%) patients, with an OS of 57 months compared with 28 months in

Table 11.2 Scoring systems for completeness of cytoreductive surgery

Scores for	or completeness of	of cytored	uctive surgery
Complet cytoredu [19]	eness of ction (CC) score	GOG cr debulkir	iteria for 'optimal ng' [20]
CC-0	No visible residual disease	RD0	No visible residual disease (zero residual
CC-1	Residual disease 0–2.5 mm		disease
CC-2	Residual disease 2.5–2.5 cm	RD 1	Residual disease <1 cm (<i>optimal</i> <i>debulking</i>)
CC-3	Residual disease >2.5 cm	RD 2	Residual disease >1 cm (suboptimal debulking)

patients with incomplete cytoreduction (p = 0.001). Non-serous histology, a long progression-free interval (hazard ratio [HR], 0.29; 95% CI, 0.07–1.18), a good performance status (HR, 0.68; 95% CI, 0.49–0.94), secondary CRS without preoperative chemotherapy (HR, 0.72; 95% CI, 0.51–1.01) and complete CRS (HR, 0.46; 95% CI, 0.33–0.64) were prognostic factors for survival [25].

In a retrospective review of secondary CRS, Munkarah et al. found that patients with no gross residual disease after CRS had a survival of 44–60 months as compared to 35 months in those receiving chemotherapy alone [26]. Optimal cytoreduction was achievable in 38-87% of the study populations reviewed with acceptable perioperative complications and mortality. However, the impact of secondary CRS on survival could not be analysed due to (1) the inter-investigator differences in defining optimal cytoreduction, (2) the heterogeneity of the patients included (3) and the lack of information on postoperative therapy. Though most of these studies have drawbacks like small numbers, retrospective nature and lack of proper stratification based on prognostic variables, the survival reported is higher than that shown by modern multi-agent chemotherapy alone, especially in patients who had complete tumour removal (44–60 months) [26].

Bristow et al. published a meta-analysis of 40 studies, including 2019 patients, 13 studies were published between 1983 and 2000 and 27 (67.5%) were published between 2001 and 2007 [27]. Twelve of the 40 reports utilized prospective non-randomized data collection methodology; there were 27 retrospective analyses and one retrospective case-control study. The mean weighted median disease-free interval (DFS) prior to CRS for recurrent ovarian cancer was 20.2 months reflecting a tendency to select patients with platinum-sensitive disease for surgery. The parameter significantly associated with survival was the size of the residual disease. Each 10% increase in the proportion of patients left with optimal residual disease was associated with a 2.69-month increase in median survival time (95% CI 0.90 months to 4.49 months, p = 0.004).Similarly, each 10% increase in the proportion of patients undergoing complete surgical resection was associated with an increase in median cohort survival time of 2.84 months (95% CI 1.29 months to 4.38 months, p = 0.0008). The various limitations of this study pointed out by the authors were selection bias in selecting studies for the meta-analysis as well as patient selection in each study, the data collection interval was 25 years leading to heterogeneity in the chemotherapy regimens and other prognostic factors like tumour size, the number of lesions and performance status were not analysed [27].

In a Cochrane Database review of nine studies comprising of 1194 patients, there was a prolongation in overall survival in women who had a complete cytoreduction (no visible residual disease) and optimal cytoreduction (<1 cm residual disease) compared to those who had suboptimal cytoreduction (>1 cm residual disease) [28]. This meta-analysis included only those studies that has >50 women and had compared outcomes between optimal and suboptimal cytoreduction. There were no randomized controlled trials in this study. The authors concluded that though suggestive, this could not be taken as conclusive evidence, and the survival benefit could be due to a more favourable disease biology rather than the surgical effort alone. According to them, a randomized controlled trial was needed to further define the role of secondary CRS [29].

Bickell et al. used the Surveillance. Epidemiology and End Results Medicare database to assess the benefit of CRS in women who developed recurrence after first-line therapy for ovarian cancer [29]. Women who developed recurrence within 6 months of completion of first-line therapy were excluded from the analysis. Of the 1635 (80%) women who experienced recurrence, 265 (16%) were treated with secondary CRS and chemotherapy, 1171 (72%) with chemotherapy alone and 199 (12%) received hospice care. Propensity score adjusted loglogistic analyses showed that women undergoing surgery with chemotherapy had significantly greater survival compared with those receiving chemotherapy alone (hazard ratio [HR] = 1.33;95% confidence interval [CI], 1.20–1.47). The estimated median survival of women treated with

chemotherapy was 4.1 years from time of diagnosis; those treated with secondary surgery and chemotherapy survived a median of 5.4 years; 67% of those receiving hospice survived an average of 2.2 years. The 403 women who received no secondary treatments were classified as nonrecurrent and had a median survival of 9.3 years. The authors concluded that secondary CRS with chemotherapy to treat recurrent ovarian cancer increases survival by 1.3 years compared with chemotherapy alone and pending ongoing randomized trial results may be considered a standard of care [29].

There is a clear benefit of secondary CRS in selected patients with recurrent ovarian cancer who have a complete cytoreduction. They experience a significantly greater DFS and OS compared to patients undergoing chemotherapy alone. However, the chemotherapy group also comprises of patients with poor prognostic factors like platinum-resistant disease, extensive disease not amenable to complete cytoreduction and those with a poor performance status. Currently, three clinical trials are underway which will define the role of secondary CRS further.

The DESKTOP III is a phase 3 randomized controlled trial evaluating the role of cytoreductive surgery for first recurrence that has completed accrual. The results are expected in 2019. Patients with a positive AGO score (described below) are randomized to chemotherapy alone or CRS and chemotherapy (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01166737).

Another randomized controlled multicentric trial is currently underway in the Netherlands (Netherlands Trial Register number: NTR3337; the Dutch SOCceR trial) that randomizes women with platinum-sensitive recurrence to undergo secondary CRS followed by platinum-based chemotherapy or platinum-based chemotherapy alone. Inclusion criteria are FIGO stage IC-IV (FIGO system 1988), first-line treatment consisted of complete or optimal (\leq 1 cm) cytoreductive surgery and (neoadjuvant) platinum-taxol-based chemotherapy, ascites <500 mL (pocket <8 cm on ultrasound examination), complete resection seems possible (estimated by a gynaecologic oncologist), good

performance status (ECOG 0-1) and administration of platinum-based chemotherapy is possible [30].

The GOG 213 is a phase 3 randomized controlled trial that will determine the impact of secondary CRS in addition to chemotherapy in recurrent platinum-sensitive ovarian, fallopian tube and primary peritoneal cancer patients (NCT00565851).

The results of these trials will be available only after a few years. Meanwhile, CRS continues to be incorporated into second-line therapy as there is strong evidence showing a survival benefit.

The issues that need to be dealt with while incorporating CRS into second-line therapy are:

- Criteria for selecting patients
- Role of CRS in patients with platinumresistant/platinum-refractory disease
- Sequencing systemic chemotherapy with CRS, before or after

11.4.1.1 Selection of Patients

Selection of patients is important for attaining optimal results. Most studies report a favourable outcome in patients who recur more than 12 months after completion of first-line therapy and those who have complete/optimal cytoreduction [21–24, 31].

Other factors like a solitary site or limited number of sites of recurrence, complete response to first-line therapy and small maximum tumour diameter have also been associated with better survival outcomes [21–24, 31]. Only patients with minimal (<500 cc) or no ascites are subjected to surgery [32]. Women with symptomatic ascites, carcinomatosis, early relapse (i.e. less than 6 months) and poor general health are not likely to benefit from secondary CRS [33–35].

The AGO-DESKTOP study retrospectively analysed 267 patients who had undergone CRS for recurrent ovarian cancer and concluded that only those patients who had a complete CRS experienced a prolonged survival. A combination of performance status, early FIGO stage at the first surgery or no residual tumour after first surgery and absence of ascites could predict complete resection in 79% of patients. However, in patients with a negative score, a complete cytoreduction was achieved in 58%. The authors proposed a two-step modelpatients with a negative score should undergo a laparoscopic evaluation and those without carcinomatosis be taken up for secondary CRS. With this strategy, a complete cytoreduction was possible in 63% of the patients with a negative score [36]. The DESKTOP II study prospectively analysed the predictive value of three of these criteria also known as the AGO score (complete resection at first surgery, good performance status and absence of ascites) and found that when all three are met with, a complete cytoreduction can be achieved in 76% of the patients with a morbidity of 11% [37]. This score is the first prospectively validated instrument to positively predict surgical outcome in recurrent ovarian cancer. It can aid in the selection of patients who might benefit from secondary cytoreductive surgery. However, in a retrospective study of 192 patients, a large proportion of patients with a negative AGO score also had complete removal of macroscopic disease at the time of secondary CRS, and the authors concluded that a refinement in the score was needed to exclude women who were unlikely to benefit from surgery [38].

Once again, these criteria exclude a subgroup of patients who never had surgery by a gynecologic oncologist/surgical oncologist leading to residual/recurrent disease and could benefit from secondary CRS.

It is prudent to undertake only those patients for surgery in whom there is probability of achieving a complete CRS. The survival in patients undergoing incomplete cytoreduction is similar to those receiving chemotherapy alone. This makes it important for such treatment to be carried out at expert centres by surgeons experienced in performing such procedures.

Despite the large body of evidence in favour of secondary CRS, the selection criteria need to be more clearly defined.

11.4.1.2 Platinum-Resistant Disease

The platinum-resistant group includes patients who are platinum refractory (progression on chemotherapy or stable disease after first-line therapy) and those who are platinum resistant (recurrence within 6 months of complete response to first-line therapy). For patients with platinum-refractory disease who have had an attempt at complete cytoreduction at an expert centre, the treatment is chemotherapy. However, if the primary cytoreduction was not performed by an expert surgical/gynaecologic oncologist, a secondary CRS can be attempted.

Most studies use recurrence within 6 months as an exclusion criteria for secondary CRS; hence, evidence to support the use of surgery in these patients is scarce. Moreover, patients are not stratified as platinum refractory and platinum resistant which makes it difficult to determine the exact benefit or the selection criteria.

In a retrospective review of 18 patients by Musella et al., the 5-year overall survival was significantly longer in CRS group (57%) when compared with the control group of patients who received only systemic therapy (23.5%; p = 0.035). However, the peritoneum was the site of relapse in only 33% of these patients [39]. In another study of six patients with isolated peritoneal relapse and isolated lymph nodal recurrence treated with secondary cytoreductive surgery, secondary CRS significantly prolonged median time to first progression (12 vs 3 months; p-value = 0.016), median time to second progression (8 vs 3 months; p-value = 0.037) and post-relapse survival (PRS) (32 vs 8 months; p-value = 0.002). Residual tumour at the first surgery (p = 0.017), the PFI (p = 0.020) and complete cytoreduction (p = 0.039)were the independent prognostic factors on multivariate analysis [16]. In selected patients with platinum-resistant disease, secondary CRS could be attempted after second-line chemotherapy provided a complete cytoreduction can be attained. Such procedures are performed in patients with a good performance status and after controlling the disease with systemic chemotherapy.

11.4.2 Detection of Recurrence

In patients who have had a complete remission, an elevated CA 125 level is usually the first indication of disease recurrence. Some of these patients may have no clinical symptoms (pelvic pain, bloating, obstruction) or evidence of disease on imaging studies. The tumour marker elevation usually precedes the clinical manifestation of recurrence. A patient with platinum-refractory disease may have persistent marker elevation after completion of frontline therapy and/or radiological evidence of residual disease.

According to the Gynecologic Cancer InterGroup definition, CA 125 progression is defined by a progressive serial increase in serum CA 125 level as follows: patients with pretreatment CA 125 elevation normalizing during or after therapy or patients with pretreatment normal CA 125 who show a CA 125 value of at least two times the upper limit of the normal level on two measurements taken at least 1 week apart [40]. Patients with increased pretreatment CA 125 who never normalize must have a CA 125 value of at least two times the nadir value on two measurements at least 1 week apart [40]. This definition is now used in many clinical trials, together with Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST) criteria.

11.4.3 Early Versus Delayed Treatment of Recurrence

Since recurrent ovarian cancer is not curable in most cases, the role of early treatment based on tumour marker elevation alone has been questioned. In a randomized trial (MRC OV05/EORTC 55955), 529 of the 1442 registered patients were randomized to either receive immediate chemotherapy or chemotherapy at clinical progression following a rise in CA 125 levels [41].

In all, 94% of the patients randomized to immediate treatment received salvage therapy versus 88% of the patients in the delayed treatment arm. The median time to starting salvage therapy was significantly shorter in the immediate treatment arm (0.8 vs 5.6 months; HR: 0.29; p < 0.00001). At a median follow-up of 49 months, no differences in survival were observed between the two groups (HR: 1.0; p = 0.98). However, the evaluation of quality of life, which is of paramount importance given the palliative role of second-line therapy for the majority of relapsing patients, showed that it was significantly better in the delayed treatment arm. Median time spent with a good global health score was 7.2 months in the early versus 9.2 months in the delayed treatment arm, and time from randomization to first deterioration in global health score or death was shorter in the early compared with delayed group (3.2 vs 5.8 months; p = 0.002). The authors concluded that there was no role of starting second-line therapy in asymptomatic patients based on a rise in CA 125 alone [41]. The limitations of this trial which would preclude the use of such a strategy in clinical practice are the use of nonuniform salvage therapy across the participating centres, the diversity in the study population in terms of the PFI, the role of secondary CRS that was not explored and, in particular, the differences between optimal and suboptimal primary CRS in the two arms that were not evaluated [40]. Some of the patients who have resectable recurrences and could benefit from early treatment may be denied the benefit if such a strategy is applied uniformly.

Tanner et al. retrospectively evaluated outcomes in 121 patients who had a complete clinical response after first-line therapy and developed recurrent disease [42]. Twenty two (18.2%) were diagnosed with a symptomatic recurrence. Though the median time to first recurrence was similar for asymptomatic and symptomatic patients (24.8 vs 22.6 months, p = 0.36), the post-recurrence survival was significantly longer in asymptomatic patients (45.0 vs 29.4 months, p = 0.006). Though secondary CRS was attempted equally in both groups (41% vs 32%, p = NS), the rate of complete CRS (optimal residual disease $(\langle \text{or} = 5 \text{ mm}))$ was higher in patients with asymptomatic disease (90 vs 57%, p = 0.053). On multivariate analysis, detection of asymptomatic recurrence was a significant and independent predictor of improved overall survival (p = 0.001). Median OS was significantly greater for asymptomatic patients (71.9 vs 50.7 months, p = 0.004). This difference did not appear to be attributable to a discrepancy in the timing of diagnosis as a lead time bias would suggest, but, rather, to the location of these recurrences, to their earlier amenability to salvage chemotherapy and to more successful secondary CRS due to decreased volume of disease [42].

The authors pointed out several limitations in the study—small size, retrospective nature, and exclusion of a large number of patients during the study period due to either inadequate follow-up information or transfer of the patient care to another provider.

In another retrospective review by Gadducci et al., no difference in survival was observed in asymptomatic patients versus symptomatic patients although the rate of attempted secondary CRS (15%) was significantly lower than the current series. However, patients undergoing secondary CRS and chemotherapy experienced a significantly better overall survival than those who did not undergo surgery [43].

Thus, there seems to be a clear benefit of detection and early treatment of asymptomatic recurrence though it may need further evaluation in randomized trials.

11.4.4 Investigations: Evaluation of Disease Extent

11.4.4.1 CT Scan

The most commonly performed investigation is a contrast enhanced CT scan of the thorax, abdomen and pelvis [44]. The typical CT findings in recurrent ovarian cancer are similar to that of peritoneal metastases arising from other primary sites:

- Thickened peritoneum
- Ascites
- Pelvic mass
- Pelvic/retroperitoneal lymphadenopathy
- Bowel surface/mesenteric deposits
- Omental involvement
- Pelvic sidewall involvement and/or hydroureter
- Diaphragmatic involvement

A CT scan determines not only the extent of the disease but also the involvement of certain areas that would preclude a complete CRS—like involvement of the porta hepatis, extensive involvement of the small bowel/mesentery, extensive diaphragmatic involvement and upper abdominal lymphadenopathy (suprarenal) [44]. Several CT-based scores and algorithms have been developed to predict the probability of complete CRS in advanced ovarian cancer, and the same can be used to predict the probability in case of recurrent disease [45–47]. The sensitivity of CT for peritoneal tumours less than 1 cm was found to be only 25–50% compared with 85–95% for larger tumour deposits [48]. A CT scan has been shown to underestimate the extent of carcinomatosis in 33% of patients [49].

11.4.4.2 PET Scan/PET-CT Scan

Several studies demonstrated a benefit of fluorine-18-fluorodeoxyglucose positive emission tomography (FDG-PET) and FDG-PET/computed tomography (FDG-PET/CT) in the early detection of recurrent disease in ovarian cancer [50-53]. In a prospective multicentric study, Fulham et al. found a higher rate of detection of nodal, peritoneal and subcapsular liver disease as well as the total number of sites of disease with PET-CT as compared to CT [54]. They found that FDG-PET/CT altered the management in about 60% of the patients. In another study the accuracy of PET-CT for predicting optimal cytoreduction was found to be 78.6%. Like CT scan the main limitation is in the inability to detect small tumour nodules [55].

11.4.4.3 Staging Laparoscopy

Laparoscopy allows direct visualization of the peritoneal surfaces, the small bowel and its mesentery and can pick up small nodules that are missed on imaging. The disadvantages are its inability to evaluate retroperitoneal structures like the ureters and pancreas, the omental bursa near the celiac axis and the depth of involvement of the hepatic pedicle and the diaphragm [56]. Fagotti et al. evaluated the role of staging laparoscopy for selecting patients for secondary CRS. The negative predictive value, specificity, positive predictive value, sensitivity and accuracy rate of staging laparoscopy were 88.9, 64.0, 80.8, 95.0 and 83.1%, respectively [57]. A combined radiological (PET-CT) and laparoscopic evaluation showed a negative predictive value of 88.9%, a specificity of 59.3%, a positive predictive value of 78.8%, a sensitivity of 95.3% and an accuracy rate of 81.4%. The authors suggested that a combination of these two modalities could optimize patient selection [57].

11.4.5 Surgical Strategies for Secondary Cytoreductive Surgery

The goal of secondary CRS should be to attain a complete/optimal cytoreduction. Many surgeons/ institutions still use cut-offs of residual tumour measuring <0.5 or <1 cm as the criteria for optimal CRS though there is evidence that complete removal of macroscopic disease (completeness of cytoreduction score, 0, i.e. CC-0) results in superior outcomes as compared to leaving behind any amount of residual disease [15, 19, 27].

To attain a complete cytoreduction, a combination of peritonectomy procedures and visceral resections needs to be performed as for peritoneal metastases from other tumours [58]. The visceral resections include small and large bowel resection, cholecystectomy, partial gastrectomy, fullthickness diaphragm resection, splenectomy, distal pancreatectomy, partial ureteric resection, partial cystectomy and resection of pelvic sidewall [59–61]. A detailed description is provided elsewhere [62]. Such procedures have a survival benefit if complete CRS can be obtained [63]. Though the goal is complete removal of macroscopic disease, it should not impair the gastrointestinal and urinary function to the extent that the quality of life is significantly impaired. Extensive intestinal resections that impair digestion and nutrition and lead to dependence of parenteral nutrition (extensive small bowel resection with or without total gastrectomy or colectomy) should not be performed. Posterior pelvic exenteration is often necessary; however, the vesical trigone must be left intact because, in this context, a total cystectomy should never be performed [64].

If a pelvic and/or retroperitoneal lymphadenectomy was not performed during primary CRS, it should be performed irrespective of the presence or absence of nodal metastases in patients undergoing complete CRS. This is performed even in patients with no evidence of lymph node involvement on preoperative imaging. Nodal recurrence can be isolated or present with peritoneal disease [65, 66]. Retroperitoneal lymphadenectomy is performed till the level of the renal veins. There is a survival benefit of surgery for nodal recurrence even if it is bulky (>2 cm maximum diameter of the largest lymph node is considered bulky nodal disease) [67–69]. In case of disease involving the suprarenal nodes, lymphadenectomy can be performed in this region also if the disease is not bulky and limited [63].

Hepatic resection can be performed synchronously with secondary CRS for solitary or multiple parenchymal liver metastases. The goal of such resections should be to resect the liver lesions with a negative margin. Several retrospective studies have reported an acceptable morbidity and mortality for such combined resections [70]. The common prognostic factors reported in these studies were optimal CRS <1 cm residual disease, negative resection margins, disease-free interval >12 months, fewer number of liver metastases and fewer sites of disease. The surgical and oncological outcomes from various studies on resection of hepatic metastases in recurrent ovarian cancer are described in Table 11.3.

11.4.6 Minimally Invasive Secondary CRS

Several studies have reported the feasibility of a minimally invasive approach for secondary CRS [78–81]. These studies include patients with localized recurrence (1-3 nodules), good performance status and long platinum-free interval. The reported morbidity and mortality is similar to that of open surgery and conversion rates are low (Table 11.4). One series reported the use of loop electrosurgical excision and argon beam coagulator to ablate the metastases [79]. Such methods cannot replace a formal peritonectomy and/or resection of the viscera where indicated. Though there is no head to head comparison, it has been suggested that such an approach could shorten the postoperative recovery times, leading to a better psychological state and quality of life

Ref.	No. of	Optimal	Type of liver	Negative resection		
no./year	patients	CRS	resection	margins	OS (months)	Prognostic factors
[7 1] 2003	26	80.8%	Segmentectomy 69.2%	NA	26.3 optimal; CRS 27.3 suboptimal;	Residual disease, <1 vs >1 cm; DFI, <12 vs
			Trisegmentectomy 3%		CRS 8.6 $(p = 0.031)$	>12 months; distribution of disease, abdomen > pelvis or
			Left hepatectomy 3.8%			pelv1s ≥ abdomen
			Right hepatectomy 15.4%			
[72] 2003	24	66.7	Wedge resection 12.5	54.1%	62 (95% CI, 41–83)	No significant prognostic factors found
			Segmentectomy 70.9			
			Trisegmentectomy 8.3%			
			Lobectomy 8.3%			
[73] 2005	29	NA	NA	NA	Hepatic disease alone 25 (9–44); multi-organ recurrence 8 (p = 0.033)	Number of hepatic lesions; presence of other sites of disease; treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy
[74] 2008	10	100%	Bisegmentectomy 10%	50%	33 (95% CI, 19–56)	Size of largest tumour \geq 5 cm; negative resection margin
			Trisegmentectomy 40%			(p = 0.024)
			Lobectomy 50%			
[75, 76]	8	NA	Wedge resection 25%	NA	24	
2010			Segmentectomy 37.5%			
			Sectorectomy 37.5%			
[77] 2011	18	66.7%	Wedge resection 22.7%	66.7%	38 (3–78)	Distribution of disease: pelvis > abdomen or
			Segmentectomy 72.2%			abdomen > pelvis; residual disease < or >1 cm; negative
			Bisegmentectomy 5.6%			resection margins

Table 11.3 Surgical and oncological outcomes in patients undergoing secondary CRS with resection of liver metastases (adapted from reference [70])

[78]. The minimally invasive approach has an important limitation. A preoperative CT scan combined with a staging laparoscopy should be used to determine the extent of disease, though the extent of disease is usually underestimated. Moreover, the laparoscopic assessment is often limited by the presence of adhesions, and this should be kept in mind when taking up patients for such procedures.

11.4.7 Prognostic Factors

In a retrospective review of 153 patients with platinum-sensitive disease undergoing secondary cytoreductive surgery, Chi et al. reported that those with carcinomatosis had a poorer outcome compared to those patients with isolated disease or multiple nodules (<20) [15]. Similarly, patients recurring within 6–12

No. of patients/ conversions	Recurrence	Surgical approach	Mean operating time (min)	Optimal CRS	Postoperative complications	Median disease- free survival (months)
36 (2)	First	LPS	126	94%	2/34	13
23 (1)	19 first	LPS	200	81.8%	1/22	71.9
	4 second					
9 (0)	First	LPS	177	88.9%	3/9	34.1
10 (0)		robotic	220	70%	2/10	
29 (2)	First	LPS	188	96.2%	1/27	14
	No. of patients/ conversions 36 (2) 23 (1) 9 (0) 10 (0) 29 (2)	$ \begin{array}{c} \mbox{No. of patients/} \\ \mbox{conversions} & \mbox{Recurrence} \\ \mbox{36 (2)} & \mbox{First} \\ \mbox{23 (1)} & \mbox{19 first} \\ \mbox{4 second} \\ \mbox{9 (0)} & \mbox{First} \\ \mbox{10 (0)} \\ \mbox{29 (2)} & \mbox{First} \\ \end{array} $	No. of patients/ conversionsRecurrenceSurgical approach $36 (2)$ FirstLPS $23 (1)$ 19 first LPS 4 second 19 first LPS $9 (0)$ FirstLPS robotic $10 (0)$ FirstLPS	No. of patients/ conversionsRecurrenceSurgical approachMean operating time (min)36 (2)FirstLPS12623 (1)19 firstLPS2004 secondLPS1779 (0)FirstLPS robotic17710 (0)FirstLPS188	No. of patients/ conversionsRecurrenceSurgical approachMean operating time (min)Optimal CRS36 (2)FirstLPS12694%23 (1) <u>19 first</u> 4 secondLPS20081.8%9 (0)FirstLPS robotic17788.9%10 (0)FirstLPS robotic22070%29 (2)FirstLPS robotic18896.2%	No. of patients/ conversionsRecurrenceSurgical approachMean operating time (min)Optimal CRSPostoperative complications $36 (2)$ FirstLPS12694%2/34 $23 (1)$ $\underline{19 \text{ first}}$ LPS200 $\underline{81.8\%}$ 1/22 4 second 17788.9%3/9 $10 (0)$ FirstLPS robotic17788.9%2/10 $29 (2)$ FirstLPS robotic18896.2%1/27

Table 11.4 Outcomes of minimally invasive surgical approach for secondary CRS (adapted from reference [78])

LPS laparoscopic surgery, CRS cytoreductive surgery

months of completion of frontline therapy fared worse than those recurring from 13 to 30 months or >30 months [15]. It is important to have a reproducible quantification of the disease extent-the disease extent is one of the strongest prognostic factors determining the outcome of second-line surgical therapy-and having a uniform method of quantifying it enables comparison of treatment outcomes. The most commonly used score for this is the 'peritoneal cancer index' (PCI) developed by Paul Sugarbaker [19]. Other poor prognostic factors are mucinous or clear cell histology and more than one route of metastasis (e.g. peritoneal metastases with haematogenous or lymphatic spread) [15]. In a meta-analysis that included 2019 patients, Bristow et al. evaluated the impact of residual tumour size ranging from 0 to 2 cm on overall survival. The only statistically significant clinical variable independently associated with post-recurrence survival was the proportion of patients undergoing complete CRS (p = 0.019). When each study was analysed individually also, there was a survival benefit that was significant in patients who had complete CRS as compared to those who had any size of residual disease. The presence of any size of residual disease was associated with a greater risk of dying due to disease. After controlling for all other factors, each 10% increase in the proportion of patients undergoing complete CRS was associated with a 3.0-month increase in median cohort survival time [27].

11.4.8 Systemic Chemotherapy in Addition to Secondary Cytoreductive Surgery

The role of systemic chemotherapy in addition to secondary CRS has not been evaluated. Most studies have used systemic chemotherapy either before or after secondary CRS. All ongoing clinical trials have incorporated chemotherapy in the surgical arm as well. Though the best treatment strategy for such patients is not known, a logical approach is as follows. In patients with disease resectable upfront, secondary surgery could be performed first followed by chemotherapy. It is important in such cases that postoperative chemotherapy is not delayed due to complications. In patients who recur within 6 months of first-line therapy or have disease not amenable to a complete cytoreduction, second-line chemotherapy can be administered before secondary/salvage CRS.

11.5 Rational for Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Recurrent Ovarian Cancer

Recurrent ovarian cancer remains confined to the peritoneal cavity for prolonged periods which is the basis of using intraperitoneal chemotherapy as part of locoregional therapy. Intraperitoneal (IP) drug therapy offers the potential to increase the therapeutic index by enhanced local drug concentration and at the same time limiting systemic absorption and toxicity [82]. It exposes the poorly vascularized tumour tissue to high concentrations of cytotoxic agents. The efficacy of IP drug therapy depends on the extent of drug penetration in tumour tissue, which is driven by diffusion and convection [82]. Obstacles to drug transport include elevated interstitial fluid pressure and the density of the interstitial matrix which are characteristic of tumour stroma [82]. In optimally resected stage III ovarian cancer, large randomized trials have shown that the addition of IP chemotherapy to adjuvant regimens significantly improved survival [83-86]. This type of chemotherapy is repeatedly administered through an implanted catheter and access port. Adverse events and catheter-related problems were more common in the IP chemotherapy group and often led to discontinuation of therapy [87, 88]. IP chemotherapy can be administered by direct abdominal wall puncture as well [89]. Benedetti-Panici reported the use of ultrasoundguided direct puncture and administration of chemotherapy in 38 patients with recurrent ovarian cancer. A total of 402 IP procedures were performed, with a mean of 10.5 procedures per patient. The feasibility rate was 97.4% [90]. In a retrospective study of 33 patients, Nicoletto et al. used IP chemotherapy administered in this manner for recurrent ovarian cancer [91]. This treatment was used as an alternative to systemic chemotherapy in patients who had received multiple lines of chemotherapy and no CRS was performed. IP cisplatin was administered on day 1 and paclitaxel on day 8 every 21-28 days for a total of 3-4 cycles. Twenty-seven patients had ascites and 14 patients had peritoneal carcinomatosis only. Fourteen (51.8%) out of 27 patients had a clinical response, with disappearance or significant reduction of ascites for more than 45 days after IP chemotherapy. These patients were compared to matched controls who received only systemic chemotherapy. In patients with less than three previous lines of treatment, IP chemotherapy conferred a survival advantage of about 2.2 months (IP = 10.0 vs IV = 7.8 months, p = 0.011). However, the survival advantage in heavily pretreated patients (with three or more previous treatments) was not significant [91]. There is not much evidence for this type of intraperitoneal chemotherapy in recurrent ovarian cancer. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) is more commonly used in combination with CRS for recurrent ovarian cancer.

11.6 Rationale for Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC)

The rationale for using HIPEC as part of secondline therapy for ovarian cancer is the same as that for CRS—recurrent ovarian cancer remains confined to the peritoneal cavity for a prolonged period. This is further supported by the benefit CRS and HIPEC have shown in the treatment of gastrointestinal peritoneal metastases. CRS and HIPEC are now the standard of care of pseudomyxoma peritonei and peritoneal metastases with a limited peritoneal spread [92–95]. It is still the only treatment modality that has shown to prolong survival in patients with peritoneal metastases from gastric cancer [96, 97].

HIPEC is administered immediately after CRS which reduces tumour cell entrapment that is common after surgery. HIPEC has the added advantage of using heat which itself is cytotoxic to cancer cells and enhances the cytotoxicity of various chemotherapeutic drugs like platinum compounds, alkylating agents, mitomycin C and doxorubicin that is enhanced by hyperthermia [98–101]. Hyperthermia enhances tissue perfusion and oxygenation and may improve drug penetration [102].

11.7 HIPEC Methodology and Drugs

HIPEC can be performed by the open (coliseum) or closed technique maintaining an intraabdominal temperature of 41–43° C throughout the procedure. HIPEC is performed only in those patients in whom complete cytoreduction is attained (CC-0 or CC-1) since the treatment is ineffective on residual disease more than 2–3 mm in size [103]. Any drug that is used for HIPEC should be retained in the peritoneal cavity with a limited systemic absorption [104].

One of the most commonly used drugs in this setting is cisplatin. Cisplatin is a drug that is retained in the peritoneal cavity, and its penetration into the adjacent tissues is potentiated by heat in both platinum-sensitive and platinum-resistant cell lines [105].

Hyperthermia can modify the cellular resistance to cisplatin as demonstrated by Hettinga et al. [106]. Relatively high doses of heat 43° for 60 min can interfere with cisplatin resistance by several mechanisms like drug penetration, adduct formation and repair [105]. These are further elaborated in Table 11.5. Hyperthermia can increase the cytotoxicity of cisplatin in both platinum-sensitive and platinum-resistant cell lines [107].

Van de Vaart et al. showed that cisplatin in combination with hyperthermia in vitro leads to a higher cisplatin \pm DNA adduct formation which was a good predictor of the cytotoxic effect. The level of cisplatin-DNA adduct formation which is needed for a cytotoxic effect was observed in tumour nodules up to a depth of 5 mm. Hence, the effect HIPEC is useful for patients who are cytoreduced to minimal residual disease (CC-0/1) [108].

The ideal dose of cisplatin has been evaluated in the CHIPASTIN trial. This phase 1–2 escalat-

Table 11.5 Cellular effect of hyperthermia related to cytotoxicity of cisplatin [107]

Effect of hyperthermia	Resistance mechanism that could be affected
Increase in membrane fluidity	Cisplatin accumulation
Membrane protein denaturation	Cisplatin accumulation
Cytoplasmic protein denaturation	Detoxification
Altered DNA conformation	DNA accessibility
Inhibition of DNA repair	Repair of cisplatin-DNA adducts
Disturbance of normal cellular functions	Altered signal transduction and others
Gene expression, signalling	Response of cells to cisplatin-DNA damage

ing dose trial established that 70 mg/m² of cisplatin for 1 h at 42 °C was the most appropriate protocol [109]. However, another phase 1 study concluded that a 100 mg/m² dose of cisplatin for HIPEC in recurrent platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer has an acceptable safety profile [110].

Oxaliplatin that is commonly used for HIPEC in colorectal and appendiceal tumours has been used in recurrent ovarian cancer as well [111– 113]. There is no direct comparison of oxaliplatin with platinum agents or taxols though preclinical data have shown a role in recurrent and platinumresistant ovarian cancer [114]. Oxaliplatin has only moderate cross-resistance with cisplatin or carboplatin [115].

Carboplatin has a favourable toxicity profile compared to cisplatin and has replaced it in many of the intravenous regimens [102]. When nephrotoxicity is a concern, it can be administered in full dose for HIPEC as opposed to cisplatin which requires a dose reduction [116]. When a high dose of carboplatin is used for HIPEC, the drug concentration achieved in the tumour tissue is similar or superior to that achieved by an equitoxic dose of cisplatin [117]. Carboplatin undergoes hyperthermic enhancement of cytotoxicity and has been shown to have a more homogenous distribution of platinum as compared to cisplatin [117, 118]. Phase 1 trials for HIPEC as first-line and second-line therapy found that carboplatin doses up to 800-1000 mg/ m² were tolerable and did not preclude additional systemic therapy [119–121]. The duration of treatment is 90 min.

Paclitaxel (175 mg/m²) alone or in combination with cisplatin (100 mg/m²) at 41–43° C for 90 min has been used by some investigators for HIPEC in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent ovarian cancer [122, 123]. The morbidity was acceptable and the drugs achieved high concentrations in the peritoneal tissue with low systemic absorption. The tissue penetration of paclitaxel was only 0.5 mm, compared to 2–3 mm for cisplatin [122, 124, 125]. The numbers in these studies are small, and further evaluation of toxicity and efficacy of such a regimen is needed. Unlike cisplatin, hyperthermia does not augment the cytotoxicity of paclitaxel [126].

Regimen	IP drugs	IV drugs	Carrier solution	Duration
Sugarbaker regimen [136]	Cisplatin (50 mg/m ²)	Ifosfamide 1300 mg/m ²	Peritoneal dialysis	90 min
	Adriamycin (15 mg/m ²)	Mesna 260 mg/m ²	solution	
National Cancer Institute Milan regimen [137]	Doxorubicin 15.25 mg/L, cisplatin 43 mg/L			90 min
Sugarbaker gemcitabine-based regimen for platinum-resistant ovarian cancer [138]	Gemcitabine 1000 mg/ m ²		Peritoneal dialysis solution	90 min
Sugarbaker melphalan-based regimen for platinum-resistant ovarian cancer [127]	Melphalan 50–70 mg/ m ²		Peritoneal dialysis solution	90 min
Sugarbaker liposomal doxorubicin-based regimen for platinum-resistant ovarian cancer	Liposomal doxorubicin 50–100 mg/m ²		Peritoneal dialysis solution	180 min

Table 11.6 Various drug regimens for HIPEC in recurrent ovarian cancer

Melphalan has been used for HIPEC in patients with recurrent tumours arising from various primary sites including recurrent and platinum-resistant ovarian cancer [127, 128]. The use of melphalan has been prompted by responses produced in regional chemoperfusion in soft tissue sarcomas and extremity melanomas [129, 130]. Melphalan undergoes cytotoxic enhancement with hyperthermia and has a favourable peritoneal fluid to plasma ratio [131–134]. Bijelic et al. first reported the use of 50-70 mg/m² of melphalan at 41-43° C for 60-90 min in 34 patients [127]. The grade 3–4 morbidity was 43% and there was no mortality in this series. They recommended the use of 60 mg/m² for 60 min for future evaluation of the role of melphalan.

The other agents that have been used are mitomycin C, doxorubicin, gemcitabine and irinotecan.

There is no study that has performed a head to head comparison between various agents/ regimens.

Helm et al. analysed the effect of chemotherapy agents on survival in relation to the time point at which they were used. In patients with platinum-sensitive recurrence, the OS was superior with carboplatin as compared to cisplatin (p = 0.012) and mitomycin (p = 0.011), but there was no significant difference between agents in platinum-resistant disease. However, the numbers in the carboplatin group were small [135]. Some of the common regimens for HIPEC are listed in Table 11.6.

11.8 Evidence for HIPEC in Recurrent Ovarian Cancer

Salvage CRS and HIPEC is performed in patients who have recurred after an initial complete response to first-line therapy, and secondary CRS and HIPEC is performed in patients who have had an incomplete CRS with chemotherapy resulting in a partial response or stable disease [139]. Investigators have compared outcomes in patients who received HIPEC during secondary CRS with those who only received SCS and postoperative chemotherapy and those who only received IV chemotherapy without SCS [140]. Most of the available evidence comes from retrospective single and multi-institutional studies (Table 11.7). These studies have reported a median DFS ranging from 10 to 7 months, median OS ranging from 24 to 51 months and a 5 year OS ranging from 15 to 63%.

Petrillo et al. in a study of 70 patients treated with secondary CRS and HIPEC reported a longer second remission than the first in 52% of the patients. This is higher than that reported by most chemotherapy trials in a similar patient population as the second and subsequent remissions are usually shorter than the first [159, 160]. In a French

	Type of		PS/			Median		Median DFS	Median OS	3-year	
Ref no./year	study	z	PR	Method	Drug(s)	PCI	CC-0/1	(months)	(months)	ŐŠ	5-year OS
[142] 2000	Pilot	5	-/+		Cisplatin			3	16		
[143] 2004	SI Pros	30	-/+		Cisplatin		77%	17.1 [CC-0: 24.4]	28.1 [CC-0: 37.8]		
[144] 2004	SI Pros	=	-/+		Cisplatin/mitoxantrone		50%		30 ± 6		15%
[145] 2006	SI Pros	14	-/+		Paclitaxel						63%
[146] 2007	SI Pros	81	+/+	Closed	Cisplatin		55.5%	19.2 [CC-0: 26.9]	28.4 [CC-0: 54.9]		
[147] 2008	SI Pro	18	-/+	Closed	Cisplatin	14.9	87.3		24		16.7%
[148] 2009	SI Pros	25	-/+		Doxorubicin	13.4	92.8%	26.2	40		
[112] 2009	SI Pros	42	-/+		Cisplatin		77%	13	37		
					Oxaliplatin						
[149] 2010	SI Pros	10	-/+		Oxaliplatin	6	100%	10		83%	
[150] 2010	SI Pros	8	-/+	Closed	Cisplatin and mitomycin		70%				55%
[135] 2010	MI Pros	83	+/+	Open/ closed	Platinum/mitomycin/combination				30.43		25.4%
[151] 2011	SI Pros	31	-/+				65%	13.3			
[113] 2011	Pilot	12	-/+		Oxaliplatin		100%	14.3			
											(continued)

 Table 11.7
 CRS and HIPEC as second-line therapy for ovarian cancer (Adapted from reference [141] with permission)

	Tyne of		DC/			Median		Median DFS	Median OS	3-Wear	
Ref no./year	study	z	PR	Method	Drug(s)	PCI	CC-0/1	(months)	(months)	OS	5-year OS
[152] 2012	MI Retro	474	+/+	Open/	Cisplatin	10.6	92.1%		45.7	59%	37%
				closed	Oxaliplatin						
					Mitomycin						
					Doxorubicin						
					Cisplatin+						
					Doxorubicin						
					Cisplatin+						
					Mitomycin						
[153] 2014	SI Retro	90	+/+	Open	Cisplatin		9%69		35.0		
[154] 2014	SI Retro	25	-/+	Closed	Cisplatin + lipodox	12.63	88%	27	11.9		
					Paclitaxel + lipodox						
[155] 2015	SI Pros	54	+/+	Open/	Cisplatin+	10	100%	12.4	32.9		
				closed	Paclitaxel						
[156] 2015	SI Pros	23	-/+	Closed	Mitomycin Cisplatin		76%				
					Oxaliplatin						
					Carboplatin						
[157] 2015	MI Retro	70	-/+	Closed	Cisplatin	7	88%	27			52.8%
					Oxaliplatin						44.7% (7 vears)
[9] 2015	MI Retro	314	+/+	Open/	Cisplatin [114]	7	%2000	13 (PS) 14	42 (PS) 51		38%
				closed	Other agents		(CC-0)	(PR)	(PR)		
[158] 2016	MI Retro	24	-/+	Closed	Cisplatin, carboplatin, oxaliplatin, doxorubicin, combination						
SI single institut	tion, MI mul	ti-instit	utional	, Pros prospe	ctive, Retro retrospective, PS platinu	m sensitive,	PR platinu	m resistant, DFS o	lisease-free surviv	val, OS ov	erall survival

Table 11.7 (continued)

A. Bhatt et al.

retrospective multicentric study of 474 patients, the median OS was 45.7 months, and in patients who had complete CRS, it was 47.2 months in patients with platinum-sensitive disease and 51.6 months in those with platinum-resistant disease [152]. This difference was not statistically significant and showed that patients with platinum-resistant disease could have a survival similar to those with platinum-sensitive disease (Fig. 11.1).

A PCI of >8 was found to be a significant factor affecting both disease-free and overall survival. The patients in this series included those with second and third recurrences as well. In 2015, the same group published the outcomes of secondary CRS and HIPEC in patients with first recurrence comprising of 314 patients from 13 institutions [9]. The CRS performed during first-line therapy was complete in 33.8% (101/314) patients, there was macroscopic residual disease in 66.2% (98/314) patients and this information was unknown for 15 patients. Treatment strategy was secondary chemotherapy followed by secondary surgery and HIPEC for 85.6% (269/314) of patients; the remaining patients were treated with secondary surgery and HIPEC before secondary chemotherapy. At a median follow-up of 50 months, the 5-year overall survival was 38.0%, with no difference between platinum-sensitive

(n = 148) and platinum-resistant (n = 161) patients, and 5-year disease-free survival was 14%. Considering patients treated with second-line chemotherapy followed by secondary surgery and HIPEC, patients who had a pathological complete response to chemotherapy experienced a better DFS and OS both (Fig. 11.2). Median OS was not



Fig. 11.1 Overall survival in platinum-sensitive (chemosensitive) and platinum-resistant (chemoresistant) recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC (log rank *p*-value = 0.799) (From ref. [152] with permission)



Fig. 11.2 Overall (**a**) and disease-free survival (**b**) according to pathological residual disease at the time of secondary CRS and HIPEC (From ref. [9] with permission)

reached for patients with no pathological residual disease, while for patients with microscopic residual disease it was 56 months and for patients with a macroscopic residual disease 39 months (p = 0.073). The median DFS was 41 months for patients with no pathological residual disease, 13 months for patients with microscopic residual disease and 10 months for those with a macroscopic residual disease (p = 0.0019). The residual disease distribution was similar in the platinum-sensitive and platinum-resistant cases [9].

Four other studies treated patients with platinum-resistant disease with CRS and HIPEC, two of these did not report the outcomes in patients with platinum-resistant disease separately. In a single institution series of 81 patients, the OS and DFS in patients with platinum-sensitive and platinum-resistant disease were similar. However, 58% of the patients had more than two disease recurrences and more than two surgical explorations leading to an inaccurate assessment of the PFI [146]. In another multi-institutional series of 83 patients, those with platinum-sensitive recurrence experienced a significantly better OS compared to patients with platinum-resistant disease [135]. However, patients with advanced and recurrent ovarian cancer were pooled together in this analysis due to which the impact of secondary CRS and HIPEC in platinum-resistant disease cannot be determined from this series.

In a meta-analysis of 9 comparative and 28 other studies evaluating the role of CRS and HIPEC in advanced and recurrent ovarian cancer, CRS and HIPEC with systemic chemotherapy appeared to significantly improve 1- and 3-year overall survival compared with CRS + chemotherapy alone (OR 3.48, 95% CI 1.44–8.44, *p* = 0.006; OR 7.39, 95% CI 2.29–23.86, *p* < 0.001, respectively). However, the 2-, 4- and 5-year overall survival benefit was not statistically significant (OR 2.84, 95% CI 1.01–7.89, *p* = 0.05; OR 2.82, 95% CI 0.71–11.2, p = 0.14; OR 2.37, 95% CI 0.4– 14.12, p = 0.34, respectively) [161]. The first published randomized controlled trial for HIPEC in recurrent ovarian cancer randomized 120 women undergoing secondary CRS to receive HIPEC or not. They included both platinum-sensitive and platinum-resistant cases, using cisplatin and paclitaxel for the platinum-sensitive patients and a doxorubicin/paclitaxel regimen for the platinumresistant cohort. The OS for the HIPEC group was significantly longer than that of the control group (26.7 vs 13.4 months). Patients with a complete cytoreduction experienced a better survival compared to those with residual disease, and a PCI > 15 had a negative impact on survival. There was no difference in the OS in patients with platinumsensitive and platinum-resistant disease. Chi et al. pointed out several weaknesses in the reporting of this trial-lack of information on the DFS, median follow-up, postoperative first-line treatment and complication rates [140].

Several case-control studies have compared secondary CRS and HIPEC with CRS alone [123, 162–166]. In four of these, there was a statistically significant benefit of CRS and HIPEC over CRS alone. These studies are listed in Table 11.8. One case-control study showed a sur-

Ref. no.	Year of publication	Type of recurrence	N	CRS+ HIPEC	CRS	Survival for CRS+ HIPEC	Survival for CRS alone	p Value
[162]	2009		26	14	12	58% (5 yrs OS)	17 (5 yrs OS)	0.011
[163]	2011		48	24	24	50% (3 yrs OS)	18% (3 yrs OS)	< 0.01
[164]	2012	PS	67	30	37	68% (5 yrs OS)	42% (5 yrs OS)	0.017
[167]	2014	PS	111	27	81	79 M (median OS)	45 M (median OS)	0.016
[123]	2014	PS	54	32	22	45 (3 yrs DFS)	23 (3 yrs DFS)	0.078
[165]	2014	PS	42	23	19	75.6% (4 yr OS)	19.4% (4 yr OS)	0.013
[166]	2016	PS	79	29	50	59.3 M (median OS)	58.3 M (median OS)	0.95

Table 11.8 Case-control studies comparing CRS and HIPEC with CRS alone as second-line therapy

PS platinum sensitive, DFS disease-free survival, OS overall survival, M months, yrs years

vival benefit of secondary CRS and HIPEC over systemic chemotherapy alone in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrence [167]. Most of these studies have a small number of patients.

Thus, CRS and HIPEC appear to be a beneficial option for patients with recurrent ovarian cancer where currently there is no standard therapy. Though there are case-control studies demonstrating its benefit over CRS alone, the numbers in these studies are small, and further evaluation is needed in randomized controlled trials. Selecting patients is the key—patients with a limited PCI derive the maximum benefit from this procedure [152]. Other important variables are the completeness of cytoreduction and time to recurrence.

11.9 Clinical Trials Evaluating the Role of HIPEC in Recurrent Ovarian Cancer

Four clinical trials are underway to evaluate the role of HIPEC in recurrent ovarian cancer (Table 11.9). The HORSE trial (NCT01539785)— CRS with or without HIPEC in Ovarian cancer recurrence—is underway in Italy and is expected to complete accrual in 2018. Patients with platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer (PFI > 6 months) are randomized to secondary CRS with or without HIPEC followed by systemic chemotherapy in both arms. The primary end point is progression-free survival, and the secondary end points are post-recurrence overall survival, quality of life,

morbidity and mortality and pattern of recurrence. Patients will be stratified according to PCI and PFI. HIPEC is expected to result in a >6 months benefit in the PFI. A similar trial CHIPOR (NCT01376752) is underway in Europe. At the first recurrence (PFI > 6 months), all patient receive three cycles of second-line chemotherapy followed by CRS with or without HIPEC. HIPEC is performed by the open or closed method using 75 mg/m² of cisplatin for 60 min. The primary end point is overall survival (HIPEC should provide a 12-month benefit in overall survival), and the secondary objectives are improvement in DFS postrecurrence, morbidity and mortality, quality of life and cost-effectiveness. In addition, the pathological response to chemotherapy will be assessed, and a pharmacokinetic study comparing the open and closed methods will be performed. A similar phase 2 multi-institutional trial is being carried out in the United States using HIPEC with carboplatin for 90 min. The primary end point is progressionfree survival. The fourth trial is being carried out at the Loma Linda University in the United States (NCT02672098). This is a phase 1 prospective study with the primary objective of comparing the efficacy and safety of CRS and HIPEC in treatment of recurrent ovarian, primary peritoneal or fallopian tube cancers. All patients with residual disease ≤ 2.5 mm after CRS will receive HIPEC for 90 min with carboplatin (800 mg/m²) using the closed abdomen technique. The primary objective is progression-free survival. Historical controls will be used for comparison.

ClinicalTrials. gov ID	Phase	Type of recurrence	Primary Institution/Group	HIPEC drugs	Control arm	Experimental arm
NCT01539785 (HORSE/ MITO 18)	3	PS	Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Italy	Cisplatin	CRS+ SC	CRS+ HIPEC+ SC
NCT01376752 (CHIPOR)	3	PS	UNICANCER Europe	Cisplatin	SC+CRS	SC+CRS+HIPEC
NCT02672098	1	PS	Loma Linda University Cancer Center, US	Carboplatin		CRS+ HIPEC+ SC
NCT01767675	2	PS	Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Centre + others, US	Carboplatin	CRS+ SC	CRS+ HIPEC+ SC

Table 11.9 Ongoing clinical trials evaluating the role of HIPEC in recurrent ovarian, fallopian tube and primary peritoneal cancer

PS platinum sensitive, SC systemic chemotherapy

Most of these trials are lagging behind in recruiting the expected number of patients over a given time period. The probable reasons for this as mentioned by the investigators are patients wanting treatment with HIPEC and to not undergo randomization and physician preference for newer systemic therapies instead of HIPEC. None of these trials evaluate the role of CRS and HIPEC in platinum-resistant patients.

These trials will help in clarifying the role of HIPEC in recurrent ovarian cancer. The drug regimens used have been validated in phase 1–2 trials [109, 110, 168]. However, given the multitude of regimens in use in clinical practice and in absence of a head to head comparison, future evaluation will continue to determine the best drugs and protocols.

Preclinical studies provide a strong basis for applying this therapy in clinical practice [169]. HIPEC in addition to secondary CRS has shown promising results in the data available so far. The challenge is to optimize HIPEC methodology and drug regimens and integrate CRS and HIPEC with systemic therapies to provide a meaningful benefit of this treatment to patients—in terms of survival, cost-effectiveness and quality of life.

11.10 Morbidity and Mortality

Reported mortality rates of secondary CRS and HIPEC range from 0 to 4.2%. Large series have reported a major morbidity (grade 3-4 complications) in 30–34.8% and a reoperation rate of 8% [9, 152, 157]. The meta-analysis by Huo et al. reported a pooled median 30-day post-HIPEC mortality rate in 1.8% (range, 0-13.6%) and major (grade 3-4) morbidities in 26.2% (1.8-55.6%) of the patients. The pooled rate of minor (grade 1-2) morbidities was 27.5% (16–60.2%) [161]. These reports are similar to the morbidity and mortality rates reported in patients undergoing CRS alone for advanced ovarian cancer [18, 170]. Major complications include anastomotic leakage, bowel perforation, intraperitoneal haemorrhage, acute renal failure and wound dehiscence. Complication specific to the administration of chemotherapy is neutropenia which is caused by systemic absorption of the drug. Over the years there has been a decline in the morbidity and mortality from this procedure which is due to the increase in experience of high volume centres [171]. In these expert centres, the reduction in mortality is not just due to lower complication rates but also due to their ability to rescue patients with complications [172]. Morbidity and mortality should no longer preclude the use of this treatment where it is indicated.

11.11 Management of Subsequent Recurrences

Recurrent ovarian cancer that has been rendered disease-free after second-line therapy will recur in almost all cases. Ovarian cancer can be considered a chronic disease with majority of the patients developing multiple recurrences that can be induced into a remission with surgery and or chemotherapy [173]. The second, third and subsequent recurrences have been treated with a combination of CRS with or without HIPEC and systemic chemotherapy. In one of the first reports on tertiary CRS, Leitao et al. reported a median disease-specific survival (DSS) of 34.4 months (range 20.4-46.4 months) in 26 patients. The outcome was better in patients who had optimal cytoreduction (residual disease <0.5 cm) and a long disease-free interval >12 months (median DSS-60 months). Patients with platinum-resistant disease also experience a prolonged survival after optimal CRS [173]. In another series of 77 patients, the same authors reported a median DSS of 47.7 months [174]. Residual disease after surgery remained the only independent prognostic factor. The survival in both these series was similar to that reported for secondary CRS and was superior to that reported with chemotherapy alone [173, 174]. Similar results have been reported by other investigators [175, 176]. In another series of 159 patients, the platinum-free interval after second-line therapy, presence of mesenteric lymph node metastases at secondary CRS and tertiary CRS (as opposed to systemic chemotherapy) were predictors of survival [177]. However, the strongest predictor of survival was complete tumour removal, and patients with residual disease had a survival similar to those receiving chemotherapy alone. Patients with

ascites and disease and recurrence outside the pelvis have a poor outcome [177, 178].

HIPEC has been used along with tertiary and subsequent cytoreductive procedures. Most of these studies have a mixture of patients with first, second and subsequent relapses, and its role in third- and fourth-line therapy has not been evaluated separately [112, 146, 152].

Cytoreductive surgery with or without HIPEC can provide a survival benefit in selected patients with recurrence after second-line therapy. There are no randomized trials comparing surgical treatment with chemotherapy.

Conclusion

Recurrent ovarian cancer is a chronic disease. Secondary/salvage cytoreductive surgery can be considered the standard of care for first recurrence in platinum-sensitive disease though the results of randomized controlled trials are awaited. Early detection and treatment of recurrence has a survival benefit. HIPEC in addition to CRS and systemic chemotherapy has shown promising results in retrospective and case-control studies in both platinum-sensitive and platinum-resistant disease and has acceptable rates of morbidity and mortality. The results of randomized controlled trials are awaited which will clarify its role in this situation. The patient selection for CRS and HIPEC, drugs and protocols need standardization. An optimization of clinical strategies is needed to provide the maximal benefit of CRS and HIPEC to patientsin terms of survival, cost-effectiveness and quality of life. Such treatment requires multidisciplinary management and should be carried out at expert centres.

References

- Pfisterer J, Plante M, Vergote I, du Bois A, Hirte H, Lacave AJ, et al. Gemcitabine plus carboplatin compared with carboplatin in patients with platinumsensitive recurrent ovarian cancer: an intergroup trial of the AGO- OVAR, the NCICCTG, and the EORTCGCG. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:4699–707. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2006.06.0913.
- Parmar MK, Ledermann JA, Colombo N, du Bois A, Delaloye JF, Kristensen GB, et al. Paclitaxel plus platinum-based chemotherapy versus conven-

tional platinum- based chemotherapy in women with relapsed ovarian cancer: the ICON4/AGO-OVAR-2.2trial. Lancet. 2003;361:2099–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13718-X.

- Pfisterer J, Ledermann JA. Management of platinum-sensitive recurrent ovarian cancer. Semin Oncol. 2006;33:S12–6. https://doi.org/10.1053/j. seminoncol.2006.03.012.
- Thigpen JT, Blessing JA, Ball H, et al. Phase II trial of paclitaxel in patients with progressive ovarian carcinoma after platinum-based chemotherapy: a gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 1994;12:1748–53.
- Markman M, Bookman M. Second-line treatment of ovarian cancer. Oncologist. 2000;5(1):26–35.
- Friedlander M, Trimble E, Tinker A, et al. Clinical trials in recurrent ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2011;21:771–5.
- Stuart GC, Kitchener H, Bacon M, et al. 2010 Gynecologic Cancer InterGroup (GCIG) consensus statement on clinical trials in ovarian cancer: report from the fourth ovarian cancer consensus conference. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2011;21:750–5.
- Wilson MK, Pujade-Lauraine E, Aoki D, Mirza MR, Lorusso D, Oza AM, du Bois A, Vergote I, Reuss A, Bacon M, Friedlander M, Rincon D, Joly F, Chang SJ, Ferrero AM, Edmondson RJ, Wimberger P, Maenpaa J, Gaffney D, Zhang R, Okamoto A, Stuart G, Ochiai K, on behalf of the participants of the 5th Ovarian Cancer Consensus Conference. 5th ovarian cancer consensus conference of the gynecologic cancer InterGroup: recurrent disease. Ann Oncol. 2016;28(4):727–732. mdw663. https://doi. org/10.1093/annonc/mdw663.
- Classe JM, Glehen O, Decullier E, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for first relapse of ovarian cancer. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(9):4997–5005.
- Amate P, Huchon C, Dessapt AL, Bensaid C, Medioni J, Le Frère Belda MA, Bats AS, Lécuru FR. Ovarian cancer: sites of recurrence. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2013;23(9):1590–6. https://doi. org/10.1097/IGC.000000000000007.
- Gadducci A, Cosio S. Surveillance of patients after initial treatment of ovarian cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2009;71:43–52.
- 12. Vaidya AP, Curtin JP. The follow-up of ovarian cancer. Semin Oncol. 2003;30:401–12.
- Tanner EJ, Black DR, Zivanovic O, Kehoe SM, Dao F, Konner JA, Barakat RR, Lichtman SM, Levine DA. Patterns of first recurrence following adjuvant intraperitoneal chemotherapy for stage IIIC ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2012;124(1):59–62. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2011.09.011. Epub 2011 Oct 7.
- Ferrandina G, Legge F, Salutari V, Paglia A, Testa A, Scambia G. Impact of pattern of recurrence on clinical outcome of ovarian cancer patients: clinical considerations. Eur J Cancer. 2006;42(14):2296–302.
- 15. Chi DS, McCaughty K, Diaz JP, et al. Guidelines and selection criteria for secondary cytoreductive surgery

in patients with recurrent, platinum-sensitive epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Cancer. 2006;106(9):1933.

- Petrillo M, Pedone Anchora L, Tortorella L, Fanfani F, Gallotta V, Pacciani M, Scambia G, Fagotti A. Secondary cytoreductive surgery in patients with isolated platinum-resistant recurrent ovarian cancer: a retrospective analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;134(2):257–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygyno.2014.05.029. Epub 2014 Jun 5.
- Paik ES, Lee YY, Shim M, Choi HJ, Kim TJ, Choi CH, Lee JW, Kim BG, Bae DS. Timing and patterns of recurrence in epithelial ovarian cancer patients with no gross residual disease after primary debulking surgery. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2016;56(6):639–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ajo.12529. Epub 2016 Sep 9.
- Bristow RE, Tomacruz RS, Armstrong DK, Trimble EL, Montz FJ. Survival effect of maximal cytoreductive surgery for advanced ovarian carcinoma during the platinum era: a meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(5):1248–59.
- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:359–74.
- Hoskins WJ, McGuire WP, Brady MF, et al. The effect of diameter of largest residual disease on survival after primary cytoreductive surgery in patients with suboptimal residual epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1994;170:974–80.
- Jänicke F, Hölscher M, Kuhn W, et al. Radical surgical procedure improves survival time in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer. Cancer. 1992;70(8):2129–36.
- Segna RA, Dottino PR, Mandeli JP, Konsker K, Cohen CJ. Secondary cytoreduction for ovarian cancer following cisplatin therapy. J Clin Oncol. 1993;11(3):434–9.
- Eisenkop SM, Friedman RL, Wang HJ. Secondary cytoreductive surgery for recurrent ovarian cancer. A prospective study. Cancer. 1995;76(9):1606–14.
- Vaccarello L, Rubin SC, Vlamis V, et al. Cytoreductive surgery in ovarian carcinoma patients with a documented previously complete surgical response. Gynecol Oncol. 1995;57(1):61–5.
- van de Laar R, Kruitwagen RF, IntHout J, Zusterzeel PL, Van Gorp T, Massuger LF. Surgery for recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer in the Netherlands: a population-based cohort study. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2016;26(2):268–75.
- Munkarah AR, Coleman RL. Critical evaluation of secondary cytoreduction in recurrent ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2004;95:273–80.
- Bristow RE, Puri I, Chi DS. Cytoreductive surgery for recurrent ovarian cancer: a meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;112:265–74.
- Al Rawahi T, Lopes AD, Bristow RE, Bryant A, Elattar A, Chattopadhyay S, Galaal K. Surgical cytoreduction for recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer.

Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;2:CD008765. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008765.pub3.

- Bickell NA, Egorova N, Prasad-Hayes M, Franco R, Howell EA, Wisnivesky J, Deb P. Secondary surgery versus chemotherapy for recurrent ovarian cancer. Am J Clin Oncol. 2016.
- 30. Van De Laar R, Zusterzeel PLM, Van Gorp T, et al. Cytoreductive surgery followed by chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone for recurrent platinum-sensitive epithelial ovarian cancer (SOCceR trial): a multicenter randomised controlled study. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:22. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2407-14-22.
- Zang RY, Zhang ZY, Li ZT, et al. Effect of cytoreductive surgery on survival of patients with recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2000;75(1):24–30.
- Onda T, Yoshikawa H, Yasugi T, Yamada M, Matsumoto K, Taketani Y. Secondary cytoreductive surgery for recurrent epithelial ovarian carcinoma: proposal for patient selection. Br J Cancer. 2005;92:1026–32.
- Schorge J, McCann C, Del Carmen M. Surgical debulking of ovarian cancer: what difference does it make? Rev Obstet Gynecol. 2010;3(3):111–7.
- 34. Fotiou S, Aliki T, Petros Z, et al. Secondary cytoreductive surgery in patients presenting with isolated nodal recurrence of epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;114:178–82.
- Schorge JO, Wingo SN, Bhore R, et al. Secondary cytoreductive surgery for recurrent platinumsensitive ovarian cancer. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2010;108:123–7.
- 36. Harter P, du Bois A, Hahmann M, et al. Surgery in recurrent ovarian cancer: the Arbeitsgemeinschaft Gynaekologische Onkologie (AGO) DESKTOP OVAR trial. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;13:1702–10.
- 37. Harter P, Sehouli J, Reuss A, Hasenburg A, Scambia G, Cibula D, Mahner S, Vergote I, Reinthaller A, Burges A, Hanker L, Pölcher M, Kurzeder C, Canzler U, Petry KU, Obermair A, Petru E, Schmalfeldt B, Lorusso D, du Bois A. Prospective validation study of a predictive score for operability of recurrent ovarian cancer: the multicenter intergroup study DESKTOP II. A project of the AGO Kommission OVAR, AGO study group, NOGGO, AGO-Austria, and MITO. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2011;21(2):289–95.
- Janco JM, Kumar A, Weaver AL, McGree ME, Cliby WA. Performance of AGO score for secondary cytoreduction in a high-volume U.S. center. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;141(1):140–7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2016.01.027. Epub 2016 Feb 2.
- 39. Musella A, Marchetti C, Palaia I, Perniola G, Giorgini M, Lecce F, Vertechy L, Iadarola R, De Felice F, Monti M, Muzii L, Angioli R, Panici PB. Secondary cytoreduction in platinum-resistant recurrent ovarian cancer: a single-institution experience. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(13):4211–6. https://

doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-4523-2. Epub 2015 Mar 24.

- Guarneri V, Barbieri E, Dieci MV, Piacentini F, Conte P. Timing for starting second-line therapy in recurrent ovarian cancer. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2011;11(1):49–55. https://doi.org/10.1586/ era.10.204.
- Rustin GJ, van der Burg ME, Griffin CL. Early versus delayed treatment of relapsed ovarian cancer (MRC OV05/EORTC 55955): a randomised trial. Lancet. 2010;376:1155–63.
- Tanner EJ, Chi DS, Eisenhauer EL, Diaz-Montes TP, Santillan A, Bristow RE. Surveillance for the detection of recurrent ovarian cancer: survival impact or lead-time bias? Gynecol Oncol. 2010;117(2):336– 40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2010.01.014. Epub 2010 Feb 12.
- 43. Gadducci A, Fuso L, Cosio S, Landoni F, Maggino T, Perotto S, et al. Are surveillance procedures of clinical benefit for patients treated for ovarian cancer? A retrospective Italian multicentric study. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2009;19(3):367–74.
- 44. Ferrandina G, Sallustio G, Fagotti A, et al. Role of CT scan-based and clinical evaluation in the preoperative prediction of optimal cytoreduction in advanced ovarian cancer: a prospective trial. Br J Cancer. 2009;101(7):1066–73. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6605292.
- Funt SA, Hricak H, Abu-Rustum N, Mazumdar M, Felderman H, Chi DS. Role of CT in the management of recurrent ovarian cancer. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2004;182:393–8.
- 46. Eisenkop SM, Spirtos NM. What are the current surgical objectives, strategies, and technical capabilities of gynecologic oncologists treating advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2001;82: 489–97.
- 47. Bristow RE, Duska LR, Lambrou NC, Fishman EK. A model for predicting surgical outcome in patients with advanced ovarian carcinoma using computed tomography. Cancer. 2000;89:1532–40.
- Coakley FV, Choi PH, Gougoutas CA, et al. Peritoneal metastases: detection with spiral CT in patients with ovarian cancer. Radiology. 2002;223:495–9.
- 49. Esquivel J, Chua TC, Stojadinovic A, et al. Accuracy and clinical relevance of computed tomography scan interpretation of peritoneal cancer index in colorectal cancer peritoneal carcinomatosis: a multi-institutional study. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102:565–70.
- Bristow RE, del Carmen MG, Pannu HK, et al. Clinically occult recurrent ovarian cancer: patient selection for secondary cytoreductive surgery using combined PET/CT. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;90(3):519–28.
- 51. Takekuma M, Maeda M, Ozawa T, Yasumi K, Torizuka T. Positron emission tomography with ¹⁸Fluoro-2-deoxyglucose for the detection of recurrent ovarian cancer. Int J Clin Oncol. 2005;10(3):177–81.

- Simcock B, Neesham D, Quinn M, Drummond E, Milner A, Hicks RJ. The impact of PET/CT in the management of recurrent ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;103:271–6.
- Thrall MM, DeLoia JA, Gallion H, Avril N. Clinical use of combined positron emission tomography and computed tomography (FDG-PET/CT) in recurrent ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;105:17–22.
- 54. Fulham MJ, Carter J, Baldey A, Hicks RJ, Ramshaw JE, Gibson M. The impact of PET-CT in suspected recurrent ovarian cancer: a prospective multi-centre study as part of the Australian PET data collection project. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;112(3):462–8.
- 55. Fagotti A, Fanfani F, Rossitto C, et al. A treatment selection protocol for recurrent ovarian cancer patients: the role of FDG-PET/CT and staging laparoscopy. Oncology. 2008;75(3–4):152–8.
- 56. Seshadri RA, Hemanth Raj E. Diagnostic laparoscopy in the pre-operative assessment of patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for peritoneal surface malignancies. Ind J Surg Oncol. 2016;7:230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-015-0486-9.
- 57. Fagotti A, Ferrandina G, Fanfani F, Ercoli A, Lorusso D, Rossi M, Scambia G. A laparoscopybased score to predict surgical outcome in patients with advanced ovarian carcinoma: a pilot study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;13(8):1156–61.
- Sugarbaker PH. Cytoreductive surgery and perioperative chemotherapy: textbook and video atlas. Connecticut: Cine-Med Publishing; 2013.
- Magtibay PM, Adams PB, Silverman MB, Cha SS, Podratz KC. Splenectomy as part of cytoreductive surgery in ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;102(2):369–74.
- Bristow RE, Peiretti M, Gerardi M, et al. Secondary cytoreductive surgery including rectosigmoid colectomy for recurrent ovarian cancer: operative technique and clinical outcome. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;114(2):173–7.
- Tamussino KF, Lim PC, Webb MJ, Lee RA, Lesnick TG. Gastrointestinal surgery in patients with ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2001;80(1):79–84.
- Mehta SS, Bhatt A, Glehen O. Cytoreductive surgery and peritonectomy procedures. Ind J Surg Oncol. 2016;7:139–51.
- 63. Burton E, Chase D, Yamamoto M, de Guzman J, Imagawa D, Berman ML. Surgical management of recurrent ovarian cancer: the advantage of collaborative surgical management and a multidisciplinary approach. Gynecol Oncol. 2011;120(1):29–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2010.10.008.
- Bakrin N, Classe JM, Pomel C, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in ovarian cancer. J Visc Surg. 2014;151(5):347–53. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jviscsurg.2014.07.005.
- Tay EH, Grant PT, Gebski V, Hacker NF. Secondary cytoreductive surgery for recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Obstet Gynecol. 2002;99(6):1008–13.

- 66. Raymond E, Drolet Y, Marpeau L, et al. Long-term follow-up after adjuvant chemotherapy in completely resected early stage ovarian carcinoma. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1997;72:181–90.
- Bristow RE, Zahurak ML, Alexander CJ, Zellars RC, Montz FJ. FIGO stage IIIC endometrial carcinoma: resection of macroscopic nodal disease and other determinants of survival. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2003;13:664–72.
- 68. Uzan C, Morice P, Rey A, et al. Outcomes after combined therapy including surgical resection in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer recurrence(s) exclusively in lymph nodes. Ann Surg Oncol. 2004;11:658–64.
- 69. Benedetti Panici P, Perniola G, Angioli R, Zullo MA, Manci N, Palaia I, Bellati F, Plotti F, Calcagno M, Basile S. Bulky lymph node resection in patients with recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer: impact of surgery. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2007;17(6):1245–51. Epub 2007 Apr 8.
- Gasparri ML, Grandi G, Bolla D, Gloor B, Imboden S, Panici PB, Mueller MD, Papadia A. Hepatic resection during cytoreductive surgery for primary or recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2016;142(7):1509–20. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00432-015-2090-3.
- Meredith MA, Cliby WA, Keeney GL, Lesnick TG, Nagorney DM, Podratz KC. Hepatic resection for metachronous metastases from ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;89:16–21.
- Yoon SS, Jarnagin WR, Fong Y, DeMatteo RP, Barakat RR, Blum- gart LH, Chi DS. Resection of recurrent ovarian or fallopian tube carcinoma involving the liver. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;91(2):383–8.
- Loizzi V, Rossi C, Cormio G, Cazzolla A, Altomare D, Selvaggi L. Clinical features of hepatic metastasis in patients with ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2005;15(1):26–31.
- Abood G, Bowen M, Potkul R, Aranha G, Shoup M. Hepatic resection for recurrent metastatic ovarian cancer. Am J Surg. 2008;195:370–3.
- Pekmezci S, Saribeyoglu K, Aytac E, Arvas M, Demirkiran F, Ozguroglu M. Surgery for isolated liver metastasis of ovarian cancer. Asian J Surg. 2010;30(2):83–8.
- Niu G, Shen C, Cui W, Li Q. Hepatic resection is safe for metachronous hepatic metastases from ovarian cancer. Cancer Biol Med. 2012;9:182–7.
- 77. Roh HJ, Kim DY, Joo WD, Yoo HJ, Kim JH, Kim YM, Kim YT, Nam JH. Hepatic resection as part of secondary cytoreductive surgery for recurrent ovarian cancer involving the liver. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2011;284(5):1223–9.
- Gallotta V, Fagotti A, Fanfani F, Ferrandina G, Nero C, Costantini B, Gueli Alletti S, Chiantera V, Ercoli A, Scambia G. Laparoscopic surgical management of localized recurrent ovarian cancer: a single-institution experience. Surg Endosc. 2014;28(6):1808–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00464-013-3390-9.

- 79. Trinh H, Ott C, Fanning J. Feasibility of laparoscopic debulking with electrosurgical loop excision procedure and argon beam coagulator at recurrence in patients with previous laparotomy debulking. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004;190:1394–7.
- Nezhat FR, Denoble SM, Cho JE, Brown DN, Soto E, Chuang L, Gretz H, Saharia P. Safety and efficacy of video laparoscopic surgical debulking of recurrent ovarian, fallopian tube, and primary peritoneal cancers. J Soc Laparoendosc Surg. 2012;16:511–8.
- Magrina JF, Cetta RL, Chang YH, Guevara G, Magtibay PM. Analysis of secondary cytoreduction for recurrent ovarian cancer by robotics, laparoscopy, and laparotomy. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;129:336–40.
- Ceelen W. Intraperitoneal drug therapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis: state of the art. Proc Belg R Acad Med. 2014;3:61–88.
- Alberts DS, Liu PY, Hannigan EV, et al. Intraperitoneal cisplatin plus intravenous cyclophosphamide versus intravenous cisplatin plus intravenous cyclophosphamide for stage III ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 1996;335:1950–5.
- 84. Markman M, Bundy BN, Alberts DS, et al. Phase III trial of standard-dose intravenous cisplatin plus paclitaxel versus moderately high-dose carboplatin followed by intravenous paclitaxel and intraperitoneal cisplatin in small-volume stage III ovarian carcinoma: an intergroup study of the gynecologic oncology group, southwestern oncology group, and eastern cooperative oncology group. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:1001–7.
- Armstrong DK, Bundy B, Wenzel L, et al. Intraperitoneal cisplatin and paclitaxel in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;354:34–43.
- 86. Elit L, Oliver TK, Covens A, Kwon J, Fung MK, Hirte HW, Oza AM. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the first-line treatment of women with stage III epithelial ovarian cancer: a systematic review with meta analyses. Cancer. 2007;109:692–702.
- Yamamoto R, Fujimoto S. Complications relating to intraperitoneal administration of cisplatin or carboplatin for ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2000;79:420–3.
- Landrum LM, Gold MA, Moore KN, Myers TK, McMeekin DS, Walker JL. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for patients with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: a review of complications and completion rates. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;108:342–7.
- 89. Lan C, Li Y, Liu J. Intraperitoneal access via direct puncture is an alternative way to deliver intraperitoneal chemotherapy in ovarian, fallopian tube and primary peritoneal cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;114:42–7.
- 90. Benedetti-Panici P, Perniola G, Marchetti C, Pernice M, Donfrancesco C, Di Donato V, Tomao F, Palaia I, Graziano M, Basile S, Bellati F. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy by ultrasound- guided direct puncture in recurrent ovarian cancer: feasibility, com-

pliance, and complications. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2012;22:1069–74.

- 91. Nicoletto MO, Casarin A, Baldoni A, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients pretreated for ovarian cancer matched with patients treated with parenteral chemotherapy. Anticancer Res. 2016;36(12):6541–6.
- 92. Chua TC, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, et al. Earlyand long-term outcome data of patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from appendiceal origin treated by a strategy of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(11):2449–56.
- Yan TD, Deraco M, Baratti D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: multi-institutional experience. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:6237–42.
- 94. Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:63–8.
- 95. Verwaal VJ, Bruin S, Boot H, van Slooten G, van Tinteren H. 8-year follow-up of randomized trial: cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:2426–32.
- 96. Glehen O, Gilly FN, Arvieux C, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: a multi-institutional study of159 patients treated by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(9):2370–7.
- 97. Glehen O, Passot G, Villeneuve L, et al. GASTRICHIP: D2resection and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in locally advanced gastric carcinoma: a randomized and multi-center phase III study. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:183.
- Hildebrandt B, Wust P, Ahlers O, Dieing A, Sreenivasa G, Kerner T, Felix R, Riess H. The cellular and molecular basis of hyperthermia. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2002;43(1):33–56.
- 99. Raaphorst GP, Yang DP. The evaluation of thermal cisplatin sensitization in normal and XP human cells using mild hyperthermia at 40 and 41 degrees C. Anticancer Res. 2005;25(4):2649–53.
- Pestieau SR, Belliveau JF, Griffin H, Stuart OA, Sugarbaker PH. Pharmacokinetics of intraperitoneal oxaliplatin: experimental studies. J Surg Oncol. 2001;76(2):106–14.
- 101. Jacquet P, Averbach A, Stuart OA, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal doxorubicin: pharmacokinetics, metabolism, and tissue distribution in a rat model. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1998;41(2):147–54.
- 102. Los G, Sminia P, Wondergem J, Mutsaers PHA, Havemen J, Huinink DT, Smals O, Gonzalezgonzalez D, Mcvie JG. Optimization of intraperitoneal cispla-

tin therapy with regional hyperthermia in rats. Eur J Cancer. 1991;27(4):472–7.

- Elias DM, Ouellet JF. Intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia: rationale, technique, indications, and results. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2001;10(xi):915–33.
- 104. Cotte E, Colomban O, Guitton J, et al. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of cisplatinum during hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy using a closed abdominal procedure. J Clin Pharmacol. 2011;51(1):9–18.
- 105. Hetting VE, Lemstra W, Meijer C, et al. Mechanism of hyperthermic potentiation of cisplatin action in cisplatin sensitive and -resistant tumor cells. Br J Cancer. 1997;75:1735–43.
- Hettinga VE. Reduction of cisplatin resistance by hyperthermia (PhD Thesis, Univ. of Groningen, ISBN 90-367-0648-3) (Printpartners Ipskamp bv, Enschede), 1996.
- 107. Hettinga JV, Konings AW, Kampinga HH. Reduction of cellular cisplatin resistance by hyperthermia — a review. Int J Hyperth. 1997;13:439–57.
- 108. van de Vaart PJ, van der Vange N, Zoetmulder FA, van Goethem AR, van Tellingen O, ten Bokkel Huinink WW, Beijnen JH, Bartelink H, Begg AC. Intraperitoneal cisplatin with regional hyperthermia in advanced ovarian cancer: pharmacokinetics and cisplatin-DNA adduct formation in patients and ovarian cancer cell lines. Eur J Cancer. 1998;34(1):148–54.
- 109. Gouy S, Ferron G, Glehen O, Bayar A, Marchal F, Pomel C, Quenet F, Bereder JM, Le Deley MC, Morice P. Results of a multicenter phase I dose-finding trial of hyperthermic intraperitoneal cisplatin after neoadjuvant chemotherapy and complete cytoreductive surgery and followed by maintenance bevacizumab in initially unresectable ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;142(2):237–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2016.05.032. Epub 2016 Jun 2.
- 110. Zivanovic O, Abramian A, Kullmann M, Fuhrmann C, Coch C, Hoeller T, Ruehs H, Keyver-Paik MD, Rudlowski C, Weber S, Kiefer N, Poelcher ML, Thiesler T, Rostamzadeh B, Mallmann M, Schaefer N, Permantier M, Latten S, Kalff J, Thomale J, Jaehde U, Kuhn WC. HIPEC ROC I: a phase 1 study of cisplatin administered as hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemoperfusion followed by postoperative intravenous platinum-based chemotherapy in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:699–708. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29011.
- 111. Fagotti A, Paris I, Grimolizzi F, et al. Secondary cytoreduction plus oxaliplatin-based HIPEC in platinum-sensitive recurrent ovarian cancer patients: a pilot study. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;113:335–40.
- 112. Ceelen WP, Van Nieuwenhove Y, Van Belle S, et al. Cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion in women with heavily pre-

treated recurrent ovarian cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;19(7):2352–9.

- 113. Frenel JS, Leux C, Pouplin L, Ferron G, Berton Rigaud D, Bourbouloux E, Dravet F, Jaffre I, Classe JM. Oxaliplatin-based hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in primary or recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer: a pilot study of 31 patients. J Surg Oncol. 2011;103(1):10–6.
- 114. Elkas JC, Winter WE III, Chernofsky MR, et al. A phase I trial of oxaliplatin and topotecan in recurrent ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;104:422–7.
- 115. Piccart MJ, Lacave AJ, Reed N, et al. Oxaliplatin or paclitaxel in patients with platinum-pretreated advanced ovarian cancer: a randomized phase II study of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Gynecology Group. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:1193–202.
- 116. Los G, van Vugt MJ, Pinedo HM. Response of peritoneal solid tumors after intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia treatment with cisplatin or carboplatin. Br J Cancer. 1994;69(2):235–41.
- 117. Jandial DD, Messer K, Farshchi-Heydari S, Pu M, Howell SB. Tumor platinum concentration following intraperitoneal administration of cisplatin versus carboplatin in an ovarian cancer model. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;115(3):362–6.
- 118. Xu MJ, Alberts DS. Potentiation of platinum analogue cytotoxicity by hyperthermia. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1988;21:191–6.
- 119. Lentz SS, Miller BE, Kucera GL, Levine EA. Intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy using carboplatin: a phase I analysis in ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;106(1):207–10. [21].
- 120. Steller MA, Egorin MJ, Trimble EL, Bartlett DL, Zuhowski EG, Alexander HR, et al. A pilot phase I trial of continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion with high-dose carboplatin as primary treatment of patients with small-volume residual ovarian cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1999;43(2):106–14.
- 121. Argenta PA, Sueblinvong T, Geller MA, Jonson AL, Downs LS Jr, Carson LF, Ivy JJ, Judson PL. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with carboplatin for optimally-cytoreduced, recurrent, platinum-sensitive ovarian carcinoma: a pilot study. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;129(1):81–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2013.01.010.
- 122. Ansaloni L, Coccolini F, Morosi L, et al. Pharmacokinetics of concomitant cisplatin and paclitaxel administered by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy to patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from epithelial ovarian cancer. Br J Cancer. 2015;112(2):306–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/ bjc.2014.602.
- 123. Cascales-Campos PA, Gil J, Feliciangeli E, Gil E, González-Gil A, López V, Ruiz-Pardo J, Nieto A, Parrilla JJ, Parrilla P. The role of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy using paclitaxel in platinum-sensitive recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer patients with microscopic residual disease after

cytoreduction. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(3):987–93. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-4049-z. Epub 2014 Sep 12.

- 124. de Bree E, Rosing H, Filis D, Romanos J, Melisssourgaki M, Daskalakis M, Pilatou M, Sanidas E, Taflampas P, Kalbakis K, Beijnen JH, Tsiftsis DD. Cytoreductive surgery and intraoperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with paclitaxel: a clinical and pharmacokinetic study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:1183–92.
- 125. Cashin PH, Ehrsson H, Wallin I, Nygren P, Mahteme H. Pharmacokinetics of cisplatin during hyperthermic intraperitoneal treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;69:533–40.
- 126. Muller M, Chérel M, Dupré PF, Gouard S, Collet M, Classe JM. The cytotoxic effect of combined hyperthermia and taxane chemotherapy on ovarian cancer cells: results of an in vitro study. Eur Surg Res. 2012;48(2):55–63. https://doi.org/10.1159/000333393. Epub 2011 Dec 23.
- 127. Bijelic L, Sugarbaker PH, Stuarte O. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with melphalan: a summary of clinical and pharmacological data in 34 patients. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:827534.
- 128. Sardi A, Jimenez W, Nieroda C, Sittig M, Shankar S, Gushchin V. Melphalan: a promising agent in patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(3):908–14. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-013-3407-6. Epub 2013 Nov 26.
- 129. Bhangu A, Broom L, Nepogodiev D, Gourevitch D, Desai A. Outcomes of isolated limb perfusion in the treatment of extremity soft tissue sarcoma: a systematic review. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39(4):311–9.
- 130. Raymond AK, Beasley GM, Broadwater G, et al. Current trends in regional therapy for melanoma: lessons learned from 225 regional chemotherapy treatments between 1995 and 2010 at a single institution. J Am Coll Surg. 2011;213(2):306–16.
- Urano M, Ling CC. Thermal enhancement of melphalan and oxaliplatin cytotoxicity in vitro. Int J Hyperth. 2002;18(4):307–15.
- 132. Sugarbaker PH, Stuart OA. Pharmacokinetic and phase II study of heated intraoperative intraperitoneal melphalan. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2007;59(2):151–5.
- 133. Mohamed F, Stuart OA, Glehen O, Urano M, Sugarbaker PH. Optimizing the factors which modify thermal enhancement of melphalan in a spontaneous murine tumor. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2006;58(6):719–24.
- 134. Glehen O, Stuart OA, Mohamed F, Sugarbaker PH. Hyperthermia modifies pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution of intraperitoneal melphalan in a rat model. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2004;54(1):79–84.
- 135. Helm CW, Richard SD, Pan J, Bartlett D, Goodman MD, Hoefer R, et al. Hyperthermic intraperito-

neal chemotherapy in ovarian cancer first report of the HYPER-O registry. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2010;20:61–9.

- 136. Van der Speeten K, Stuart OA, Mahteme H, Sugarbaker PH. Pharmacokinetic study of perioperative intravenous Ifosfamide. Int J Surg Oncol. 2011;2011:185092. https://doi. org/10.1155/2011/185092. Epub 2011 Sep 21.
- 137. Deraco M, Baratti D, Cabras AD, et al. Experience with peritoneal mesothelioma at the Milan National Cancer Institute. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(2):76–84. https://doi.org/10.4251/wjgo. v2.i2.76.
- 138. Sugarbaker PH, Stuart OA, Bijelic L. Intraperitoneal gemcitabine chemotherapy treatment for patients with resected pancreatic cancer: rationale and report of early data. Int J Surg Oncol. 2011;2011:161862. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/161862.
- 139. Mulier S, Claes JP, Dierieck V, Amiel JO, Pahaut JP, Marcelis L, Bastin F. Survival benefit of adding hyperthermic IntraPEritoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) at the different time-points of treatment of ovarian cancer: review of evidence. Curr Pharm Des. 2012;18:3793–803.
- 140. Cowan RA, O'Cearbhaill RE, Zivanovic O, Chi DS. Current status and future prospects of Hyperthermic Intraoperative Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) clinical trials in ovarian cancer. Int J Hyperth. 2017;16:1–21. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02656736.2017.1283066.
- 141. Bhatt A, Glehen O. The role of cytoreductive surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) in ovarian cancer: a review. Ind J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2):188–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-016-0501-9. Epub 2016 Feb 16.
- 142. van der Vange N, van Goethem AR, Zoetmulder FAN, et al. Extensive cytoreductive surgery combined with cisplatin under hyperthermic conditions (OVHIPEC) in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer: a feasibility pilot. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2000;26:663–8.
- 143. Zanon C, Clara R, Chiappino I, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia for recurrent peritoneal carcinomatosis from ovarian cancer. World J Surg. 2004;28:1040–5.
- 144. Piso P, Dahlke MH, Loss M, Schlitt HJ. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in peritoneal carcinomatosis from ovarian cancer. World J Surg Oncol. 2004;2:21.
- 145. Rufián S, Muñoz-Casares FC, Briceño J, et al. Radical surgery peritonectomy and intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis in recurrent or primary ovarian cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2006;94:316–24.
- 146. Cotte E, Glehen O, Mohamed F, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia for chemoresistant and recurrent advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: prospective study of 81 patients. World J Surg. 2007;31:1813–20.

- 147. Di Giorgio A, Naticchioni E, Biacchi D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery (peritonectomy procedures) combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in the treatment of diffuse peritoneal carcinomatosis from ovarian cancer. Cancer. 2008;113(2):315–25.
- 148. Pavlov MJ, Kovacevic PA, Ceranic MS, Stamenkovic AB, Ivanovic AM, Kecmanovic DM. Cytoreductive surgery and modified heated intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for advanced and recurrent ovarian cancer - 12-year single center experience. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009;35(11):1186–91.
- 149. Carrabin N, Mithieux F, Meeus P, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin and without adjuvant chemotherapy in stage IIIC ovarian cancer. Bull Cancer. 2010;97(4):E23–32.
- 150. Roviello F, Pinto E, Corso G, et al. Safety and potential benefit of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in peritoneal carcinomatosis from primary or recurrent ovarian cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102(6):663–70.
- 151. Königsrainer I, Beckert S, Becker S, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC in peritoneal recurrent ovarian cancer: experience and lessons learned. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2011;396(7):1077–81.
- 152. Bakrin N, Bereder JM, Decullier E, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for advanced ovarian carcinoma: a French multicentre retrospective cohort study of566 patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:1435–43.
- 153. Königsrainer I, Horvath P, Struller F, Grischke EM, Wallwiener D, Königsrainer A, Beckert S. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer with peritoneal metastases: a single centre experience. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2014;399(5):589–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00423-014-1207-5.
- 154. Massari R, Barone M, Basilico R, Carella C, Colasante A, De Tursi M, Filippone A, Guetti L, Mani A. Peritonectomy and hyperthermic chemotherapy in patients with advanced or recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer: a single center cohort study. Minerva Chir. 2014;69(1):17–26.
- 155. Coccolini F, Campanati L, Catena F, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with cisplatin and paclitaxel in advanced ovarian cancer: a multicenter prospective observational study. J Gynecol Oncol. 2015;26(1):54–61. https://doi. org/10.3802/jgo.2015.26.1.54.
- 156. Boisen MM, Richard SD, Holtzman MP, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for epithelial ovarian cancers: is there a role? J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;7(1):10–7. https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2078-6891.2015.103.
- 157. Petrillo M, De Iaco P, Cianci S, Perrone M, Costantini B, Ronsini C, Scambia G, Fagotti A. Long-term survival for platinum-sensitive recurrent ovarian cancer

patients treated with secondary cytoreductive surgery plus Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1660–5. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-5050-x. Epub 2015 Dec 29.

- 158. Cripe J, Tseng J, Eskander R, Fader AN, Tanner E, Bristow R. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for recurrent ovarian carcinoma: analysis of 30-day morbidity and mortality. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(2):655–61. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-014-4026-6. Epub 2014 Aug 26.
- 159. Armstrong DK, White AJ, Weil SC, Phillips M, Coleman RL. Farletuzumab (a monoclonal antibody against folate receptor alpha) in relapsed platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;129:452–8.
- 160. Harrison ML, Gore ME, Spriggs D, Kaye S, Iasonos A, Hensley M, et al. Duration of second or greater complete clinical remission in ovarian cancer: exploring potential endpoints for clinical trials. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;106:469–75.
- 161. Huo YR, Richards A, Liauw W, Morris DL. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) and cytoreductive surgery (CRS) in ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(12):1578–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2015.08.172.
- 162. Munoz-Casares FC, Rufian S, Rubio MJ, et al. The role of hyper-thermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis in recurrent ovarian cancer. Clin Transl Oncol. 2009;11:753–9.
- 163. Spiliotis J, Vaxevanidou A, Sergouniotis F, Lambropoulou E, Datsis A, Christopoulou A. The role of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the management of recurrent advanced ovarian cancer: a prospective study. J BUON. 2011;16:74–9.
- 164. Fagotti A, Costantini B, Petrillo M, et al. Cytoreductive surgery plus HIPEC in platinumsensitive recurrent ovarian cancer patients: a casecontrol study on survival in patients with two-year follow-up. Gynecol Oncol. 2012;127:502–5.
- 165. Le Brun JF, Campion L, Berton-Rigaud D, Lorimier G, Marchal F, Ferron G, Oger AS, Dravet F, Jaffre I, Classe JM. Survival benefit of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for recurrent ovarian cancer: a multi-institutional case control study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(11):3621–7. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-014-3693-7.
- 166. Baiocchi G, Ferreira FO, Mantoan H, da Costa AA, Faloppa CC, Kumagai LY, de Mello CA, Takahashi RM, Nakagawa WT, Aguiar S Jr, Lopes A. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy after secondary cytoreduction in epithelial ovarian cancer: a single-center comparative analysis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(4):1294–301. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-015-4991-4. Epub 2015 Dec 1.

- 167. Safra T, Grisaru D, Inbar M, Abu-Abeid S, Dayan D, Matceyevsky D, Weizman A, Klausner JM. Cytoreduction surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in recurrent ovarian cancer improves progression-free survival, especially in BRCA-positive patients- a case-control study. J Surg Oncol. 2014;110(6):661–5. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jso.23688. Epub 2014 Jun 24.
- 168. Lim MC, Kang S, Choi J, Song YJ, Park S, Seo SS, Park SY. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy after extensive cytoreductive surgery in patients with primary advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: interim analysis of a phase II study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16(4):993–1000. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-008-0299-y. Epub 2009 Jan 24.
- 169. Gremonprez F, Willaert W, Ceelen W. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC) for peritoneal carcinomatosis: review of animal models. J Surg Oncol. 2014;109(2):110–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jso.23464. Review.
- 170. Gerestein CG, Damhuis RA, de Vries M, Reedijk A, Burger CW, Kooi GS. Causes of postoperative mortality after surgery for ovarian cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2009;45:2799–803.
- 171. Chua TC, Yan TD, Saxena A, Morris DL. Should the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy still be regarded as a highly morbid procedure? A systematic review of morbidity and mortality. Ann Surg. 2009;249:900–7.
- 172. Wright JD, Ananth CV, Ojalvo L, Herzog TJ, Lewin SN, Lu YS, Neugut AI, Hershman DL. Failure to rescue after major gynecologic surgery. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2013;209(420):e1–8.
- 173. Leitao MM Jr, Kardos S, Barakat RR, Chi DS. Tertiary cytoreduction in patients with recurrent ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2004;95:181–8.
- 174. Shih KK, Chi DS, Barakat RR, Leitao MM Jr. Tertiary cytoreduction in patients with recurrent epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube, or primary peritoneal cancer: an updated series. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;117:330–5.
- 175. Karam AK, Santillan A, Bristow RE, et al. Tertiary cytoreductive surgery in recurrent ovarian cancer: selection criteria and survival outcome. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;104:377–80.
- 176. Gultekin M, Velipaşaoğlu M, Aksan G, et al. A third evaluation of tertiary cytoreduction. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:530–4.
- 177. Tang J, Liu DL, Shu S, Tian WJ, Liu Y, Zang RY. Outcomes and patterns of secondary relapse in platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer: implications for tertiary cytoreductive surgery. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39(7):786–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2013.02.006. Epub 2013 Mar 13.
- 178. Fotopoulou C, Richter R, Braicu IE, et al. Clinical outcome of tertiary surgical cytoreduction in patients with recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:49–57.A.



12

Multimodality Treatment for Colorectal Peritoneal Metastases

Aditi Bhatt, Sanket Mehta, and François Quénet

12.1 Introduction

Peritoneal metastases (PM) of colorectal cancer are present in 5-10% of patients at the time of presentation for primary cancer treatment and in about 15-30% of patients with recurrent disease [1-3]. About 4–8% of these present with isolated peritoneal metastases with no evidence of other visceral metastases [4]. Though PM have poorer prognosis than other sites of metastases like the liver, over the past two decades the use of an aggressive locoregional strategy of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) has shown a significant benefit in overall survival as compared to systemic chemotherapy alone in selected patients. The role of HIPEC is currently being evaluated in randomized controlled trials (PRODIGE 7-ACCORD 15 trial (NCT00769405)). Moreover, the patients who are candidates for such treatment are a small percentage of all patients with

A. Bhatt

Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India

S. Mehta

Division of Peritoneal Surface Oncology, Saifee Hospital, Mumbai, India

F. Quénet (🖂)

colorectal PM (CPM). Newer treatment strategies are being investigated to improve the outcomes in other patients. Since the patients who benefit most from such treatment are those with limited disease, the focus has been on more proactive approaches for prevention and early detection of colorectal PM (CPM). This chapter provides an approach to management of patients with CPM based on the current evidence and an update on the ongoing research in this field.

12.1.1 Approach to a Patient with CPM

Management of CPM requires a multidisciplinary team and is best carried out in centers experienced in delivering this form of treatment.

12.2 Pathophysiology of Peritoneal Dissemination

Understanding the disease biology forms the basis of treating CPM. The most common mechanism of dissemination of peritoneal metastases is by direct extension of the primary malignancy into the free peritoneal space. This can occur due to full-thickness involvement of the bowel wall (local peritoneal involvement) or due to spillage caused during surgery [5]. Once a viable, free cancer cell is present in the peritoneal cavity,

Department of Surgical Oncology, Institut régional du Cancer de Montpellier (ICM), Montpellier, France e-mail: francois.quenet@icm.unicancer.fr

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_12

adhesion to the peritoneal surface is required in order to ultimately invade the peritoneum, proliferate, and produce peritoneal deposits. In the postoperative period, production of reactive oxygen species and inflammatory cytokines leads to upregulation of specific cell surface adhesion molecules leading to increased adhesiveness of cancer cells. Surgical trauma caused to the peritoneum is also known to increase the adhesiveness and metastatic potential of free intraperitoneal cells [6]. This creates a milieu that favors the development of PM. The adhesion molecules that have been implicated in this process are CD44, integrin $\alpha 2\beta 1$, and mucin 16 (MUC 16) [7].

In cases of full-thickness involvement of the bowel wall, PM are seen in the vicinity of the primary malignancy, layered out under the right hemidiaphragm or involving the pelvic peritoneum. Despite the fact that PM are present, cytological study of the peritoneal fluid is often negative. In women, a frequent site of the progression of peritoneal metastases is the ovaries, especially in the premenopausal women [8].

The most common site of metastatic spread from colorectal primary tumors is the liver. However, liver metastases have a more protracted course as compared to CPM which are more aggressive; Sugarbaker pointed out several differences in the biology of CPM and colorectal liver metastases (Table 12.1). Liver metastases arise as a result of portal dissemination and have a lower metastatic potential as compared to PM which spread more rapidly.

Franko et al. analyzed individual patient data for previously untreated patients enrolled in 14 phase III randomized trials done between 1997 and 2008. This analysis concluded that patients with colorectal PM have a significantly shorter overall survival than those with other isolated sites of metastases. In patients with several sites of metastasis, poor survival is a function of both increased number of metastatic sites and peritoneal involvement. The pattern of metastasis and, in particular, peritoneal involvement results in prognostic heterogeneity of metastatic colorectal cancer [9]. **Table 12.1** Comparison and contrast of liver metastaseswith peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer[Adapted with permission from Ref. 8]

		Peritoneal
	Liver metastases	metastases
Mechanism of	Portal vein	Peritoneal
dissemination		space
Mode of progression	Expansion of	Exfoliation
	a parenchymal	
	mass	
Metastatic efficiency	Low	High
Incidence with	20%	10%
primary resection		
Incidence with	50%	60%
diagnosis of		
recurrence		
Response to	60%	30%
modern systemic		
chemotherapy		
Benefit from	Yes	Yes
reoperative surgery		
requires R-0		
resection		
Preventive strategies	No	Yes
in existence		

Apart from full-thickness bowel wall involvement which is associated with PM in 50% of the cases, the risk of metachronous PM in patients with mucinous or signet ring cell carcinoma is 11–36% and 9–36% in patients with a positive peritoneal cytology [10–13]. Mucinous histology is associated with a poorer overall and diseasefree survival regardless of the presence of peritoneal dissemination.

Honore et al. performed a systematic review of the literature that included 16 clinical studies, all nonrandomized, 3 prospective and 13 retrospective, including 4395 patients. There were three situations that could result in a real higher risk of recurrent PM: synchronous PM, synchronous isolated ovarian metastases, and a perforated primary tumor [14]. The risk was similar in patients with spontaneous and iatrogenic tumor rupture.

Patients with BRAF mutation have a higher risk of developing PM though the prognosis of patients of CPM with or without this mutation is similar [15].

12.3 Clinical Presentation

Early peritoneal dissemination does not produce any symptoms. Symptoms occur when the disease is advanced and are usually nonspecific [16, 17]. Ascites is seen at presentation in 28–30% of the patients with synchronous metastases and small bowel obstruction in 8–20% of the patients [3]. Hence, the use of imaging studies and diagnostic laparoscopy should be made in patients with a high risk for peritoneal dissemination to detect it early.

12.3.1 Evaluating the Extent of Disease Spread

CT scan is the most commonly used imaging modality for evaluating the disease extent though its sensitivity is only 23–76%, and it has a limited value in detecting low-volume disease and small tumor nodules [18, 19]. In general, the use of contrast-enhanced CT scan assists in identifying primary lesions of bowel, solid organ metastases, and nodal metastases. Visible cardiophrenic angle lymph nodes on CT scan are strongly associated with the presence of peritoneal metastases. In a study of 114 patients, Elias et al. showed that the presence of these nodes had no prognostic impact after optimal cytoreductive surgery plus HIPEC [20].

Jacquet et al. compared the PCI predicted on preoperative CT scan with the surgical PCI and found that the accuracy of the CT scan was dependent on the lesion size. Small peritoneal nodules or masses less than 0.5 cm were detected in 28% of the patients preoperatively, moderatesized nodules 0.5–5.0 cm were detected in 72%, and gross nodules greater than 5 cm were detected in 90% [21]. When the nine abdominopelvic regions were compared, the pelvic region was the least accurate. Similarly, other investigators have reported a sensitivity of 11% for nodules less than 0.5 cm, 37% for nodules 0.5–5.0 cm, and 94% for nodules greater than 5 cm [22]. Since here is such a strong relationship of extent of disease to outcomes, it is important to diagnose limited extent PM to improve outcomes [23-25]. Other imaging modalities have been investigated in an attempt to accurately predict the extent of PM, including diffusion-weighted MRI and PET-CT scan [25–30]. In a study by Low et al., MRI correctly categorized the tumor volume in 20 of 22 patients, with an overall sensitivity and specificity of 88% and 74% [28]. Espada et al. developed a scoring system with a diagnostic accuracy of 91% by evaluating DWI for detection of PM [31]. However, the sample size was small for both these studies, and other studies have not been able to replicate these results. In a recent meta-analysis based on 22 studies, MRI and PET-CT were shown to have similar perpatient diagnostic accuracy to CT scan in predicting the PCI, but the data was more robust for CT scan [32]. MRI requires 6 h of fasting and a stringent protocol and is more accurate when used by experienced radiologists. It has shown a greater accuracy in detecting small-volume disease [33, 34]. The use of these investigations needs to be individualized, keeping in mind that PM is usually more extensive than predicted by any one investigation [35].

The BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE working groups have developed the PeRitOneal MalIgnancy Stage Evaluation (PROMISE) Internet application (www.e-promise.org) to facilitate tabulation and automatically calculate the peritoneal cancer index (PCI) [36]. This application offers computer assistance to produce simple, quick, but precise and standardized pre-, intra-, and postoperative reports of the extent of peritoneal metastases. In addition to the radiological score, pathological and surgical scores can be generated as well. Not only the peritoneal metastases but other aspects like peritoneal thickening, involvement of adipose tissue, and fluid density are taken into consideration in this application. It can be used by less experienced centers as well and can help in research and multicentric studies related to peritoneal metastases [36].

CT scan may be required in the postoperative period for the management of complications.

Dromain et al. reported CT findings in 51 patients in the first 15 days of CRS and HIPEC and found all the scans to have some abnormal findings. They concluded that findings like bowel and peritoneal thickening, increased intraperitoneal fat density, and compartmentalized ascites result from an inflammatory mesenteric reaction or inflammation of the small bowel or the peritoneum and do not require specific treatment. A knowledge of these findings is essential for appropriate management of these patients [37].

12.3.2 Diagnostic/Staging Laparoscopy

A diagnostic/staging laparoscopy allows direct visualization of the peritoneal surfaces and can pick up small peritoneal nodules that cannot be detected by imaging studies. Laparoscopy can be used for early diagnosis of PM as well as selection of patients for CRS and HIPEC. Laparoscopy has been shown to prevent an unnecessary laparotomy in 7–41% of the cases [38, 39]. The preferred site of port placement is the midline to facilitate resection of the port sites in future CRS. Laparoscopy allows sampling of the peritoneal fluid for cytology and biopsy of suspicious areas in evaluating response to chemotherapy [40]. It may be challenging to perform this procedure in patients with multiple prior surgeries. Extensive adhesions may preclude a thorough evaluation. Certain areas where a laparoscopic evaluation may be suboptimal are infiltration of the diaphragm muscle, involvement of the porta hepatis and pancreas, and in the region of the celiac axis. In addition, involvement of the ureters and pelvic sidewall may also be inaccurate. Iversen et al. reported that laparoscopy correctly predicted complete cytoreduction in only 29% of patients with recurrent colorectal cancers, compared to 33, 80, and 87.5% of patients with mesothelioma, PMP, and synchronous colorectal PC, respectively [41]. This has been attributed to the fact that recurrent CRC often tends to infiltrate retroperitoneal structures like the ureters or pancreas. However, these areas are more accurately assessed on imaging, and a combination of imaging techniques with laparoscopy should be used to select patients most likely to benefit from CRS and HIPEC [42].

12.4 Multimodality Treatment of Colorectal PM

The conventional treatment for colorectal PM is systemic chemotherapy. In the absence of definitive treatment, patients are administered systemic chemotherapy with the goal of obtaining some prolongation in survival and symptomatic relief or both. The treatment of colorectal PM with CRS and HIPEC has significantly improved the survival of these patients though this is possible only in selected patients who are in good general health and have no extra-abdominal disease, and the extent of PM is limited. This treatment may not be a replacement for systemic therapies, and majority of the patients require systemic chemotherapy in addition to CRS and HIPEC. The optimal treatment strategy needs to be individualized for each patient, and such decisions are best made by multidisciplinary teams at centers experienced in delivering this treatment.

12.4.1 Outcomes of Systemic Therapy as the Sole Treatment for CPM

Combination chemotherapy with or without targeted therapy is the cornerstone of treatment for colorectal PM. With the introduction of new agent like oxaliplatin and irinotecan, the overall survival which was rarely more than 12 months with 5-fluourouracil and leucovorin improved to almost 20 months (15.6 months with FOLFIRI regimen and 19.5 months with the FOLFOX regimen) [42, 43]. It improved further with the addition of targeted agents like bevacizumab to 20.3 months with FOLFIRI and 21.3 months with FOLFOX [44, 45]. Similarly, the addition of cetuximab to FOLFIRI increased the median survival to 19.9 months and 22.8 months with FOLFOX. This benefit was seen only in KRAS non-mutated tumors [46, 47]. However, these

studies were not carried out exclusively for patients with colorectal PM, and a large proportion of the patients in these studies had liver only metastases which is a more favorable prognostic group.

Franko et al. reported the outcome of patients with colorectal PM from a pooled analysis of two large phase III trials from the North Central Cancer Treatment Group (NCCTG) that included 2101 patients treated with systemic chemotherapy, out of which 1646 patients were undergoing evaluation of first-line therapy and 455 for second-line therapy [48]. Only 44 patients (2.1%) had PM which is a significantly low rate as compared to the expected incidence of 15-20%. Patients with PM had 30% reduction in overall survival as compared to those with other metastatic sites, with a median survival of 12.7 months compared to 17.6 months when patients had no PM (HR = 1.32, 95% CI, 1.15–1.50; *P* < 0.001). The authors opined that the presence of PM should not affect the choice of the chemotherapeutic regimen.

Klaver et al. reported the results of two similar studies from the Dutch Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG) and came to the same conclusion as the North American group, both of which had a small percentage of patients with PM (4% and 6%, respectively) [49]. The proportion of patients with isolated PM were even lower-only 4/850 in the CAIRO study and 5/755 in the CAIRO 2 study [50, 51]. The studies analyzed the efficacy of different chemotherapy regimens in the first and subsequent lines of therapy in the metastatic setting. In the CAIRO study, median OS was 10.4 months for patients with PM vs. 17.3 months for patients with no PM, (P < 0.001), and in CAIRO 2, this was 15.2 months vs. 20.7 months, respectively (P < 0.001). These studies once again demonstrated the poor efficacy of modern chemotherapy regimens in patients with colorectal PM. There was no dose reduction in these patients or problem of tolerance, and the authors attributed the poor results to a biologically more aggressive nature of PM and a relative resistance to therapy.

Thus, although systemic chemotherapy is widely used to treat colorectal PM, there is no strong evidence showing its efficacy in this pattern of spread of colorectal cancer, and there is a need for a more aggressive locoregional therapy that could address PM [52].

12.4.2 CRS and HIPEC for CPM: Current Evidence

In comparison to only systemic therapy, patients with PM treated with CRS and HIPEC can reach a median survival of 63 months and 2- and 5-year survival rates of 81% and 51%, respectively [53]. The aim of CRS is to achieve a complete resection of all macroscopic disease within the peritoneal cavity so that the residual microscopic disease can then be treated with HIPEC. Two retrospective and one prospective studies have looked at the role of cytoreductive surgery only, without adding any intraperitoneal chemotherapy treatment. In the patients that received complete resection of peritoneal disease, the 5-year survival ranged from 24 to 36% [54-56]. However, these studies included a heterogeneous group of patients, including 40-66% patients with the presence of distant metastases at the time of treatment of peritoneal metastases; the absolute numbers were quite small, ranging from 31 to 125 patients, and the data was collected over long periods ranging from 9 to 16 years [55, 57]. Considering these drawbacks and the nonrandomized nature of the studies, it is difficult to draw inferences, but these studies do show the beneficial effect of CRS in PM.

Several single-institution and multicentric studies have been published regarding the outcomes of this combined modality treatment, but few studies have compared CRS and HIPEC to systemic chemotherapy. Verwaal et al. conducted a phase III randomized trial comparing CRS and HIPEC to the then existing systemic chemotherapy 5-FU and leucovorin [58]. One hundred and five patients were randomized to either systemic chemotherapy with palliative surgery for prevention or treatment of complications, which was the standard treatment at the time of the study, or CRS and HIPEC with mitomycin C. The median overall survival was significantly better in the HIPEC group (22.2 months vs. 12.6 months;
P = 0.028). This benefit was despite the fact that over half the patients in the HIPEC group did not receive a CC-0/CC-1 resection due to extensive disease, indicating that they were not good candidates for HIPEC. For the patients receiving CC-0 resection, the 5-year survival was 45%, and these findings were confirmed even after an 8-year follow-up, when more than 90% of the events had occurred [59]. The main criticism of this study is that although this was a randomized trial, it was performed in the era of 5-FU-leucovorin, and chemotherapy and targeted therapy for colorectal cancer have evolved since then with good long-term survival. To address this issue, Elias et al. compared 48 PM patients treated at various centers in France receiving palliative systemic oxaliplatin- and/or irinotecan-based chemotherapy to 48 patients who underwent additional CRS and HIPEC with oxaliplatin [53]. Both groups received a mean of 2.3 lines of chemotherapy. Two-year and 5-year overall survival rates were 81% and 51% for the HIPEC group versus 65% and 13% for the standard group, respectively. The median survival was 62.7 months in the HIPEC group, which compared favorably to 23.9 months in the standard group (P < 0.05). The results of this study showed that a median survival of 63 months and a 5-year survival of 51% could be achieved in patients with isolated colorectal PM which was significantly longer than the 24-month median survival achieved with systemic chemotherapy alone in patients with a similar disease extent.

Franko et al. performed a case-control study comparing 67 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC in addition to systemic chemotherapy to 38 others receiving systemic chemotherapy alone and reported a significantly longer median survival in the CRS and HIPEC group (34.7 months vs. 16.8 months; P < 0.001) [60]. In another study by Franko et al., they performed a pooled analysis of the survival data of patients with PM from two phase III chemotherapy trials (N9741 and N9841) and compared the outcomes to non-PM metastatic colorectal cancer [48]. The median OS (12.7 vs. 17.6 months, hazard ratio [HR] = 1.3; P < 0.001) and PFS (5.8 vs. 7.2 months, HR = 1.2; P = 0.001) were shorter for PM versus non-PM patients, and this unfavorable prognostic influence of PM remained even after adjusting for other factors.

Cavaliere et al. reported the results of 120 patients treated with the Italian Society of Locoregional Treatment in Oncology (SITILO) protocol at six Italian centers. Patients were treated with CRS and HIPEC with cisplatin (CDDP) and mitomycin C (MMC), and only 11 underwent HIPEC with an oxaliplatin-based regimen [61]. A complete cytoreduction CC-0 was achieved in 85.2% of the patients. The 3-year survival was 25.8% and increased to 33.5% in patients who had an optimal cytoreduction (CC-0) (P < 0001). In a multicentric study of 523 patients from 23 French-speaking centers, Elias et al. reported a median overall survival of 30.1 months, 5-year overall survival of 27%, and a 5-year disease-free survival of 10% with CRS and HIPEC in PM [62]. The 5-year survival was 29% in patients with no residual disease and 14% in patients with residual disease <2.5 mm, and the group of patients with residual disease >2.5 mm had no 5-year survivors. On multivariate analysis, the independent variables for survival were completeness of CRS, extent of PM evaluated by PCI, lymph node positivity, and the use of adjuvant chemotherapy. This study showed that CRS and HIPEC could be performed with a low morbidity and mortality and resulted in a prolonged survival in patients with a PCI of <20. In another bi-institutional French study of 146 patients by Quenet et al., where they included only those patients who had completely resected PM and PCI < 25 treated with either oxaliplatin or oxaliplatin with irinotecan as the HIPEC agents, the median overall survival (OS) was 41 months and median relapse-free survival was 15.7 months, with a 5-year overall survival rate of 42% and 5-year relapse-free survival of 16% [63]. Lymph node metastases and PCI were the only independent prognostic variables, and there was no difference in the survival outcomes between the two HIPEC regimes [63]. Sugarbaker et al. presented their experience of CRS and HIPEC for PM in 318 patients [64].

The median survival was 21.5 months for the whole cohort, but in patients receiving CC-0/ CC-1 resections, the median survival was 36.6 months, compared to 18.3 months and 7.6 months for CC-2 and CC-3 resections, again emphasizing the effect of completeness of CRS. This prognostic impact of completeness of CRS was maintained on multivariate analysis. The 3- and 5-year survival rates were 35% and 25%, which are quite encouraging considering the fact that the mean PCI was 15.2, which is quite high compared to other studies in colorectal PM. In another national patient cohort from Norway, Froysnes et al. reported a median survival of 47 months and a 5-year overall survival of 36% for their 118 patients; >95% of their patients had a CC-0 resection which further confirms the significant prognostic impact of a complete cytoreduction [65].

In a systematic review of CRS and HIPEC in colorectal PM, Baratti et al. reported that in the eight studies where patients underwent CC-0 or CC-1 cytoreduction, the median survival period ranged from 16 to 51 months (weighted average, 31.6 ± 10.3 months). The 5-year survival rates reported in nine series ranged from 22 to 50.5% (weighted average, $31.0 \pm 9.4\%$) [66].

The results of all these studies (summarized in Table 12.2) suggest that CRS and HIPEC as a combined modality definitely offers a potential benefit in the scenario of PM, and possibly a major part of the benefit seems to be because of the cytoreduction. The role of HIPEC has been questioned for several reasons-a lack of uniformity of HIPEC protocols, drugs, and carrier solutions used, different methods of HIPEC administration (open, semi-open, closed techniques), heterogeneity of patient populations treated, and lack of randomized trials in the era of modern chemotherapy and targeted therapy. Future clinical trials will also have to address these concerns to establish the position of this promising treatment in the treatment of colorectal PM. Whether HIPEC adds a benefit over and above the CRS will be further clarified by the results of the hugely anticipated PRODIGE 7 trial (NCT00769405).

12.4.3 Role for HIPEC

Studies evaluating the drugs used during HIPEC have shown that the drug penetration is limited to a few cell layers and hence complete resection of all macroscopic disease is essential to have a beneficial effect of HIPEC. HIPEC has several theoretical benefits. HIPEC is performed immediately after the surgery which ensures free dispersion of the hyperthermia and chemotherapy prior to formation of peritoneal adhesions in which cancer cells may be trapped [67–69, 71]. Heat itself is cytotoxic and potentiates the cytotoxicity of chemotherapeutic agents. Animal studies have shown the additive effect of combining hyperthermia with intraperitoneal chemotherapy compared to either of them alone [71, 72].

However, its additive effect in humans with colorectal PM has not been conclusively proven. There is a lack of fundamental research on intraperitoneal chemotherapy which has moved very rapidly from the laboratory bench to the bedside [73].

Very few prospective clinical trials have been set up to determine the ideal parameters in terms of time, temperature, perfusion technique, and cytotoxic drug dose or type. There are no definitive guidelines for surgeons, and choice of technique is often determined by personal preference and experience [73]. However, for colorectal cancer, the protocol for oxaliplatin- and mitomycin C-based HIPEC has been standardized through consensus meetings and is widely adhered to (described later).

Conducting clinical trials in CRS and HIPEC is not only expensive, but the outcomes are difficult to evaluate, as pointed out by David Bartlett [74]. Unlike systemic therapy, the dose can be limited by a complication unrelated to the systemic effects of the drug in phase I studies which makes drawing conclusions difficult. In phase II and III studies, the concerns are patient accrual, funding, lack of endpoints other than DFS and OS, and comparison with the outcomes of systemic therapies which represents a "moving target" [74].

Table 12.2	Outcomes of c	ytoreductive	e surgery an	d HIPEC in p	atients with	i colorectal P	M					
Ref. no.	Type of study	No. of patients	PM alone	CC-0/CC-1	HIPEC	Drug	5-year disease-free survival	3-year OS	5-year OS	Median OS	P-value	Survival in CC-0/ CC-1
55 (2011)	Prospective	125	41	24.8%	I	I	1	I	4.8%	12 M	I	22%
56 (2012)	Retrospective	153	I	31%	I	I	1	I	1	1	I	36%
57 (2015)	Retrospective	50	27	I	I	I	1	45.5%	29.64%	32.4 M	1	1
61 (2006)	Prospective	122	122	85.2%	Yes	CDDP MMC OX	I	25.8%	I	1		33.5 (3-year OS)
53 (2008)	Prospective Comparative	48 (96)	48	100%	Yes	XO	1	I	51%	62.7 M	<0.05	51%
62 (2010)	Retrospective	523	523	84%	Yes (86%)	MMC 0X	10%	41%	27%	30.1 M	1	29%
60 (2010)	Prospective Case control	67	67	I	Yes	MMC	1	I	I	34.7 M	0.001	1
58 (2003)	Prospective RCT	52 (105)	52		Yes	MMC	1	I	I	22.3 M	1	45%
59 (2008)	Prospective RCT	52 (105)	52		Yes	MMC	1	I	45%	22.2 M (CC-0/1)	0.028	1
63 (2011)	Retrospective	146	146	90.4%	Yes	XO	14.2%	I	42.4%	41 M	I	1
654 (2016)	Retrospective	318	318	61.6%	Yes	MMC MMC + A	1	35%	25%	I		36.6
665 (2016)	Retrospective	119	119	95%	Yes	MMC	14%	I	36%	I		1
CDDP cisp	Matin, MMC mitc	omycin C, O	X oxaliplati	n, A adriamyc	in, OS ove	rall survival						

Since all aspects of intraperitoneal chemotherapy cannot be evaluated in clinical trials, researchers develop innovative animal experiments to study distinct aspects of HIPEC and other forms of intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Peritoneal metastases similar to that in humans can be induced in animals, and several small and large animal models have been developed and used for experimental purposes. Surgical techniques as well as various aspects of intraperitoneal chemotherapy have been studied [75, 76].

Most studies have successfully developed a clinically relevant model, and the focus of experimental research has now shifted toward enhancing and refining intraperitoneal chemotherapy [74]. Pelz et al. showed that HIPEC is an effective treatment for peritoneal metastases in animal models and reduced macroscopic and microscopic intraperitoneal tumor spread [73]. Another study showed that raised intra-abdominal pressure combined with hyperthermia increased the tissue concentration of oxaliplatin [77].

Klaver et al. compared CRS with CRS and heated saline perfusion, CRS and normothermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy, and CRS and HIPEC in a syngeneic rat CRC model. Every group consisted of 20 animals with a comparable PCI and surgical resection score. The primary endpoint was survival. The temperature for hyperthermia was set at 41–42°C as in the trial by Verwaal et al. [56]. A significant survival benefit was reported in both the HIPEC and the normothermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy groups, but with the latter achieving the best result [78].

These animal studies provide a proof of principle for both CRS and HIPEC. These studies do not evaluate pharmacokinetic aspects and tissue drug concentrations which are important.

The PRODIGE 7-ACCORD 15 trial (NCT00769405) has finished accrual, and the results will be available at the end of this year. Two hundred and sixty-four patients with CPM have been randomized to undergo CRS alone or CRS and HIPEC with oxaliplatin. The trial hypothesized that the addition of HIPEC to CRS should produce an overall survival benefit of 18 months over CRS alone. The secondary endpoints are recurrence-free survival, treatment

toxicity, surgical morbidity, and factors influencing survival.

There are two concerns in the surgical community treating CPM.

1. Should HIPEC be used in the treatment of CPM with CRS pending the results of PRODIGE 7?

Based on the above evidence, there seems to be a benefit of adding HIPEC to CRS as compared to performing CRS without HIPEC, since the reported survival in studies in which CRS and HIPEC both were used is longer. It is considered the standard of care in several countries for treating CPM with limited peritoneal spread. Hence, in the current scenario, when CRS is being performed for CPM, it should be coupled with HIPEC.

2. How will the results of PRODIGE 7 influence current practice?

If the results of PRODIGE 7 favor the use of HIPEC, its role will be clearly established; however, if the result is negative, efforts will continue to determine the optimal drugs and regimens and methodology and to optimize other aspects to provide a clinical benefit of this therapeutic strategy which, in selected patients, has dramatically changed the prognosis of this disease.

At the same time, it is important to keep in mind that the role of CRS is already established and cannot be undermined even though the importance of HIPEC is reduced. Patients should continue to be treated in specialized centers in order to give them the benefit of a high quality of cytoreduction which deeply influences the prognosis of the disease in terms of disease-free and overall survival.

12.4.4 Systemic Chemotherapy in Addition to CRS and HIPEC: Before or After?

Both CRS + HIPEC and systemic therapy are increasingly used for the treatment of colorectal PM. Subsequently, combined treatment strategies have been introduced. However, there is a worldwide controversy on the indication, effectiveness, timing, and risks of perioperative systemic therapy as adjunct to CRS + HIPEC for PM. The rationale for using systemic therapy is the prevention of hematogenous spread as more than 50% of the patients treated with CRS and HIPEC develop extraperitoneal recurrence [79]. Several large studies have shown a benefit of adding systemic chemotherapy to CRS and HIPEC, whereas some others have not [18, 80– 83]. In a study comprising of 231 patients with limited peritoneal disease treated with CRS and HIPEC at four expert French centers, patients who received early adjuvant systemic chemotherapy (within 3 months of surgery) experience a better DFS and OS compared to those who did not though this difference did not reach statistical significance [84]. The reasons for not administering adjuvant chemotherapy were a lack of evidence, delayed recovery from surgery, patient refusal, and early disease progression [84].

The use of perioperative systemic therapy in the neoadjuvant (neoadjuvant chemotherapy-NACT) or adjuvant setting has not been prospectively investigated for patients undergoing CRS + HIPEC [80]. A neoadjuvant treatment strategy in order to downstage intraperitoneal tumor load, limit extensiveness of CRS, and predict the biological behavior of the tumor may be of potential benefit in these patients. Additionally, in patients who proved to respond to neoadjuvant treatment, adjuvant systemic therapy in the same regimen may be of value by treating systemic micrometastases. In a systematic review of the role of neoadjuvant and adjuvant systemic chemotherapy as an adjunct to CRS + HIPEC, Waite et al. found seven eligible studies related to neoadjuvant chemotherapy, none of which showed strong evidence in favor of neoadjuvant systemic therapy [85].

A lack of response to NACT should not be considered an absolute contraindication to surgery, and patients with limited disease amenable to a complete cytoreduction and no extraperitoneal spread can still be treated with CRS and HIPEC with good long-term outcomes [86].

Ongoing clinical trials may provide more insight into patient selection and outcomes of neoadjuvant and adjuvant systemic chemotherapy with targeted therapy combined with CRS and HIPEC. The COMBATAC study (NCT01540344) is a phase II study that evaluates the effect as assessed by progression-free survival of perioperative systemic chemotherapy including cetuximab, combined with CRS and HIPEC in RAS wild-type colorectal PM patients.

The CAIRO 6 study (NCT02758951) is a prospective multicenter randomized parallel group study in which colorectal PM patients of nonsignet histology, with PCI < 20 and in whom CC-0/CC-1 CRS seems likely, will be randomized to neoadjuvant combination chemotherapy plus bevacizumab and CRS + HIPEC followed by adjuvant combination chemotherapy (experimental arm) or CRS + HIPEC alone (control arm). The study will start as a randomized phase II study, and if the criteria of feasibility and safety are met, the study will continue as a phase III study with 3-year overall survival as primary endpoint. Clinical trials evaluating various aspects of treatment with CRS and HIPEC for CPM are listed in Table 12.3.

12.4.5 Long-Term Survival with CRS and HIPEC: Is There a Possibility of Cure?

Few patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC experience a prolonged DFS and OS. Goéré et al. analyzed the outcomes in 107 patients treated from 1995 to 2005 who had a follow-up of more than 5 years [87]. The median follow-up was 77 months, and the 5-year and 10-year survival rates were 35% and 15%, respectively. Patients who were disease-free for 5 years after treatment of colorectal PM or its recurrence were considered cured, and 17 patients (16%) belonged to this group; 14 of these 17 patients never developed recurrence. The analysis excluded patients who died in the perioperative period or due to other causes. Cured patients had a significantly lower median PCI than patients who were not cured, 4 (3-16) and 12 (2-36) (P = 0.0002), respectively. On multivariate analysis, a PCI of 10 or less was the only independent factor predicting cure. A similar cure rate has

lable 12.3 Ungo	ng clinic		W	-	-	
ClinicalTrials.				Number	Primary outcome	
gov ID	Phase	Country	Primary institution/group	of patients	measure	Treatment arms
Clinical trials eval	uating va	arious aspects o	of CRS and HIPEC in the treat	ment of CPM		
NCT00769405 (PRODIGE 7)	3	France	Unicancer	264	Overall survival	CRS and systemic chemotherapy vs. CRS + HIPEC with oxaliplatin and systemic chemotherapy in PM
NCT01815359 (ICARuS)	5	NS	Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center	220	Disease-free survival	CRS and HIPEC vs. CRS and EPIC in PM of colorectal and appendiceal origin
NCT02830139	5	China	Wuhan University	100	Overall survival	Surgery vs. surgery and HIPEC for locally advanced colorectal cancer, both groups under systemic therapy
NCT02758951 (CAIRO 6)	2/3	Netherlands	Catharina Ziekenhuis Eindhoven	340	 Major postop complications (gr 3/4) Overall survival 	CRS/HIPEC with preop systemic + bevacizumab and postoperative systemic therapy vs. CRS/HIPEC alone
NCT02399410 (Bev-IP)	5	Belgium	University Hospital, Ghent	45	Surgical morbidity and mortality (at 3 months postop)	CRS and HIPEC with perioperative systemic bevacizumab
NCT02866903 (IPOXA)	1/2	France	Hospices Civils de Lyon	47	 Adverse events up to 14 days of each administration Dose-limiting toxicity up to 14 days of each administration 	Administration of IP oxaliplatin (normothermic port-directed) with systemic FOLFIR1 and bevacizumab in PM of uncertain resectability
NCT02614534	3	Spain	Maimónides Biomedical Research Institute of Córdoba	Not provided	Locoregional control at 3 years	Study design not provided but objective to study the role of HIPEC in prevention of PM in high-risk T3/T4 tumors
NCT02949791 (HIPEC-IAP)	7	Italy	Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milano	38	Tumor and normal tissue concentration of cisplatin	Low intra-abdominal pressure HIPEC vs. high intra- abdominal pressure HIPEC with mitomycin C + cisplatin in colorectal PM and pseudomyxoma peritonei

 Table 12.3
 Ongoing clinical trials for CPM

Table 12.3 (conti	nued)					
ClinicalTrials.				Number	Primary outcome	
gov ID	Phase	Country	Primary institution/group	of patients	measure	Treatment arms
Trials evaluating th	he role of	f HIPEC in prev	vention of CPM			
NCT02965248 (APEC)	2	China	Fudan University	147	Peritoneal metastases rate at 3 years	Surgery alone, surgery and HIPEC with raltitrexed, or surgery and HIPEC with oxaliplatin
NCT02179489	e S	China	Zhejiang University	300	Disease-free survival	Surgery vs. surgery and HIPEC for patients at high risk of PM
NCT02974556 (promenade)	ŝ	Italy	University of Roma la Sapienza	140	Incidence of peritoneal metastases at 36 months	Prophylactic target-organ resection (along with primary resection) + HIPEC and systemic therapy vs. systemic therapy only after primary resection for prevention of PM for high-risk T3/T4 tumors
NCT02231086 (COLOPEC)	\mathfrak{S}	Netherlands	Academisch Medisch Centrum—Universiteit van Amsterdam (AMC-UvA)	176	Peritoneal recurrence- free survival at 18 months	Adjuvant systemic therapy only vs. adjuvant HIPEC and systemic therapy for the prevention of PM in high-risk patients
NCT01226394 (ProphyloCHIP)	ю	France	Gustave Roussy, Cancer Campus, Grand Paris	130	Increase in 3-year disease-free survival	Surveillance vs. follow-up laparotomy with HIPEC with oxaliplatin after primary resection
NCT02614534	ε	Spain	Maimónides Biomedical Research Institute of Córdoba	Not provided	Locoregional control at 3 years	Study design not provided but objective to study the role of HIPEC in prevention of PM in high-risk T3/T4 tumors

been reported in patients undergoing surgical resection of colorectal liver metastases [88–90]. Another study by the same authors confirmed these findings—the 5-year OS in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC was not significantly different from those undergoing resection of liver metastases (36.5% and 38.5%, respectively) [91].

12.4.6 Role of Early Postoperative Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (EPIC)

EPIC comprises of multiple intraperitoneal chemotherapy applications administered through drains placed during surgery. Typically, three to five instillations are performed starting on postoperative day 1. Some centers give multiple cycles of intraperitoneal chemotherapy combined with systemic chemotherapy, and this treatment continues for a few months after surgery-it is termed as sequenced intraperitoneal chemotherapy (SIPC). 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU) alone or in combination with mitomycin C (MMC) is used. MMC 10–12 mg/m² is administered on day 1 followed by 5-FU based on body surface area $(500 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ and } 800 \text{ mg/m}^2)$ or on body mass (15 mg/kg) from days 2 to 5 [92, 93]. Alternatively, only 5-FU is used for 3–5 days [94].

Most of the evidence comes from small retrospective studies that include patients with PM from various primary sites, and the role of EPIC has not been evaluated separately in those. Elias et al. performed a retrospective study of 64 patients who had PC arising from CRC; 19 (29.6%) of whom also had systemic metastases [79]. Seven patients were treated with CRS and EPIC and 27 patients with CRS and HIPEC. OS was lower in the EPIC group than in the HIPEC group, but not significantly.

They subsequently compared 23 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC with oxaliplatin to 23 others receiving EPIC following CRS which showed similar results though the morbidity with EPIC was more [95].

Mahteme et al. compared 18 patients who underwent CRS with SIPC to historical controls with similar features treated with systemic chemotherapy alone [96]. The 2- and 5-year survivals in the SIPC group were 60 and 28%, respectively, whereas corresponding values in the control group were 10 and 5%, respectively. In all, 11 patients who were considered macroscopically tumor-free after CRS had a longer survival (34.5 months, 95% CI 28.7–75.7) than those who did not undergo CRS (10 months, 95% CI 15.7–70.0) (P = 0.02). Five patients in the CRS and SIPC group experienced long-term survival after surgery (median 8.3 years, range 6.8– 9.1) [96].

In 1996, Elias et al. initiated a study comparing CRS and EPIC to CRS alone that had to be closed prematurely due to poor accrual and patient dissatisfaction in the control arm. The 2-year survival in this study was 60% in patients who underwent a complete cytoreduction compared to 10% in patients who received palliative therapy, demonstrating the benefit of a surgical intervention [97].

Glehen et al. reported results of a multiinstitutional study of 506 patients who underwent CRS and HIPEC with or without EPIC from 28 institutions, in which 76% of the patients had HIPEC, 46% had EPIC, and 22% had both HIPEC and EPIC. A complete cytoreduction was obtained in 75%; HIPEC was commonly performed using mitomycin C (71%), mitomycin C and cisplatin (13%), and oxaliplatin (8%). EPIC was performed with 5-FU with or without mitomycin C (96%). With a median follow-up of 53 months, the median overall survival was 19.2 months and was 32.4 months in patients with a CC-0 resection and 34.8 months in patients with a low PCI. Moreover, no statistically significant difference was seen among patients treated with HIPEC, EPIC, or combined HIPEC/EPIC (overall survival, 19.2, 19.2, and 21.6 months, respectively) [98]. Cashin et al. performed a case-control study comparing 16 patients treated with CRS and HIPEC to 16 others treated with CRS and SIPC. The HIPEC group had a significantly better DFS and OS with a similar morbidity, and the authors recommended that it should be the preferred treatment for patients with CPM [99].

In another study comparing CRS and HIPEC with EPIC with CRS and HIPEC alone that included 69 patients with CPM, there was no difference in the two groups though the morbidity was higher in the group receiving EPIC [100].

The above evidence does not answer any of the questions pertaining to the use of EPIC.

Is EPIC an alternative to HIPEC? Is there a role of EPIC in addition to HIPEC?

Currently the ICARuS trial (NCT01815359) which is a phase II trial is accruing patients in the United States at the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center. In this trial HIPEC with mitomycin C will be compared to EPIC with FUDR in patients with colorectal and appendiceal primary tumors following complete cytoreduction. The main caveat will be EPIC with FUDR which is not used at most centers.

Currently, several "expert" centers used EPIC in addition to HIPEC routinely; other centers don't advocate its use.

12.5 Practical Concerns with CRS and HIPEC

12.5.1 Patient Selection for CRS and HIPEC

12.5.1.1 Patient-Related Factors

The two most important factors in selecting patients for the combined modality treatment are disease-specific factors (extent, histology) and the ability of the patients to withstand the procedure. Recently, there has been a lot of attention being paid to patient factors that can influence outcomes, and these need to be considered while selecting patients for CRS and HIPEC. The Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance score of 2 or less has been recommended as a cutoff in a Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group International (PSOGI) consensus statement in 2007 [101]. In one of the largest single-institution series to date, Levine et al. demonstrated that compared to patients with ECOG 0 or 1, ECOG 2 patients had a HR of 2.8, and ECOG 3 or 4 had a HR of 4.3 for a poorer overall survival following CRS and HIPEC [102]. Other studies have demonstrated similar findings and confirmed its impact in multivariate analyses [103, 104]. Diabetics are more likely to develop complications compared to nondiabetics (27.5% vs. 15.3%; *P* < 0.001), as shown in a retrospective series of 977 patients of which 91 were diabetic [105]. In this cohort, although the DFS of diabetics remained similar to nondiabetics, they had a significantly higher 30-day (8.8%) vs. 2.7%; P = 0.007) and 90-day mortality rates (13.2% vs. 5.2%; P = 0.008). Similarly, age > 70 seems to have a higher 30-day (13.6% vs. 3.9%; P < 0.001) and 90-day (27.4% vs. 10.2%; P < 0.001) mortality rates, although these outcomes seem to improve with increasing surgical experience of a well-established program [105]. It is estimated that up to one-third of the patients with advanced colorectal cancer are malnourished [106]. Several methods of assessment of nutritional status have been used like the Subjective Global Assessment (SGA) scale, presence or absence of sarcopenia as assessed on CT scan, and preoperative serum albumin levels. Malnourished patients as assessed by SGA had longer hospital stay and poorer survival [107]. Sarcopenic patients had a significantly higher rate of reoperation (25.6% vs. 12.1%; *P* = 0.012) and higher complication rates (OR 0.93; P = 0.018) compared to non-sarcopenic patients in a retrospective study of 206 patients by Vugt et al. [107]. Valle et al. showed that a serum albumin level of <35 gm/dl was associated with a significantly higher rate of complications and enterocutaneous fistulas [108]. The presence of ascites appears to be a poor prognostic factor for most disease types treated with CRS and HIPEC. In one series of 1000 patients, the 229 patients who had malignant ascites significantly reduced the possibility of a CC-0/CC-1 resection (15% vs. 59%; P < 0.001) and were predictive of a worse overall survival [109].

12.5.1.2 CRS and HIPEC in the Elderly

Conventionally, age > 70 years has been considered a relative contraindication for performing CRS and HIPEC. Elderly patients have a reduced physical capacity to recover from surgery and other medical comorbidities [110, 111]. However, based on the favorable outcomes in elderly patients undergoing major oncologic procedures, experienced centers have used this treatment for selected patients over the age of 70 [112, 113]. Passot et al. reported outcomes in 188 patients over the age of 70 years undergoing CRS and HIPEC for various indications and reported a higher rate of "failure to rescue" in older patients leading to a higher mortality from surgical complications. The overall morbidity in both groups was similar. A PCI > 12 was an independent predictor of increased morbidity [114]. Another study of 85 patients over the age of 75 reported a similar morbidity and mortality compared to younger patients in carefully selected patients [115]. Selected patients over the age of 70 years with a good performance status and limited disease spread can be taken up for CRS and HIPEC in experienced centers where treatment is carried out by multidisciplinary teams.

12.5.1.3 Disease-Specific Factors

A consensus statement from representatives from the major peritoneal surface malignancy centers from around the world listed eight clinical and radiographic variables associated with increased chances of achieving a complete cytoreduction: [116]

- Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status 1 or less
- No evidence of extra-abdominal disease
- Up to three small, resectable parenchymal hepatic metastasis
- No evidence of biliary obstruction
- No evidence of ureteral obstruction
- No evidence of intestinal obstruction at more than one site; small bowel involvement
- No evidence of gross disease in the mesentery with several segmental sites of partial obstruction
- Small-volume disease in the gastro-hepatic ligament

However, there are certain other factors that need to be considered.

12.5.1.4 Sugarbaker's Peritoneal Cancer Index (PCI)

Though CRS and HIPEC can produce long-term survival reaching up to 50% at 5 years, this is only possible in selected patients. One of the two most important prognostic factors is the PCI. Elias et al. in a retrospective study of 180 patients demonstrated that there was no benefit of CRS and HIPEC in patients with a PCI of >17 even if complete cytoreduction could be obtained. The survival was similar to patients with palliative debulking in patients with a higher PCI [117]. This may not be an absolute contraindication as some selected patients with a higher PCI may still benefit from CRS and HIPEC especially patients with mucinous tumors. In another multicentric retrospective French study comprising of 523 patients, the 5-year survival of patients with a PCI of >20 was 10%. The authors considered a PCI of >20 with other poor prognostic factors like poor performance status, lymph node involvement, and poor response to chemotherapy as absolute contraindications for CRS and HIPEC [62].

Sugarbaker et al. in their study of 380 patients performed a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis and identified PCI >12 as a predictive marker for disease recurrence with 100% specificity [64]. Similar findings were reported by a Norwegian study of 47 patients [63]. Another study of 72 patients found no benefit of CRS and HIPEC for a PCI of >16 [118]. CRS and HIPEC is not recommended for patients with a PCI of >17-20. A combination of imaging studies and diagnostic laparoscopy should be employed to select patients with limited disease extent and avoid unnecessary laparotomy in patients with more extensive disease. Long-term survival is possible only in patients with a PCI of <10.

12.5.1.5 Completeness of Cytoreduction

The second most important predictor of survival is the completeness of tumor removal. The commonly used score for this is the completeness of cytoreduction score (CCR) as defined by Sugarbaker. Only patients in whom a complete cytoreduction (CC-0/CC-1) is deemed possible should be taken up for surgery. The survival in patients having a CC-2/3 resection is similar to those receiving systemic therapy alone, and such procedures should not be undertaken [119]. In a large study, analysis of outcomes in 506 patients treated with CRS and HIPEC found completeness of cytoreduction to be the strongest predictor of survival on multivariate analysis (P < 0.0001) [98]. In the PRODIGE 7 trial, only patients who have residual disease <1 mm were considered to have a complete cytoreduction and subject to randomization.

12.5.1.6 The Peritoneal Surface Disease Severity Score (PSDSS)

The peritoneal surface disease severity score has been suggested as a method of preoperative prognostication of outcomes following CRS and HIPEC. The PSDSS incorporates clinical symptom severity, extent of disease as peritoneal cancer index (PCI) calculated on CT scan or laparoscopy, and primary tumor histology [120]. This score was validated by a study evaluating 1013 patients with PM and showed that PSDSS was capable of defining populations with a high or considerably lower likelihood of long-term survival after CRS/HIPEC [121]. However, other studies have not shown additional benefit of the PSDSS over PCI [122]. PCI continues to be used as the preferred tool in clinical practice and in clinical trials as well.

12.5.1.7 Response to Chemotherapy

Response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) is predictive of a more favorable prognosis. In a study by Passot et al. of colorectal cancer patients receiving NACT prior to CRS and HIPEC, patients who had a complete or major response to chemotherapy had a significant improvement in survival compared to those who had a minor or no response (P = 0.0019). These survival differences were determined by an assessment of histopathologic specimens removed at the time of CRS and HIPEC. They concluded that histopathologic response to NACT was a new prognostic tool for the management of peritoneal metastases

from colorectal cancer [123]. Paul Sugarbaker proposes a differential approach to patients depending on the response to chemotherapy [124]. Ten percent of the patients are expected to have a complete response, and in these patients, HIPEC may not add to the survival benefit that has been obtained with chemotherapy alone. CRS may be performed for staging purposes with a thorough exploration and generous biopsies. In situations where the surgeon is confident, the same can be performed laparoscopically. Seventy percent of the patients receiving neoadjuvant systemic chemotherapy have a minor response or no response. Though the probability of benefit of CRS and HIPEC is less in these patients, they should still undergo the procedure provided there is no extraperitoneal spread and a complete cytoreduction can be obtained [86]. If these patients received FOFOX as neoadjuvant therapy, then the drug for HIPEC should be mitomycin C with or without adriamycin instead of oxaliplatin. In those 20% of patients with a major response that falls short of complete response, CRS and HIPEC should be performed preferably using the same drug that was used for NACT [124].

12.5.1.8 Other Prognostic Factors

Several other factors have an impact on the outcomes of patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC.

Peritoneal lavage cytology to detect free intraperitoneal cancer cells is accepted as part of staging for ovarian epithelial cancers and has prognostic significance in gastric cancer [125-128]. In a large multicenter prospective study, EVOCAPE 2, peritoneal cytology was found to lack prognostic significance and furthermore did not predict for future development of PM in these same patients, including colorectal cancers [129]. However, it may have a role in predicting the risk of development of PM. There are currently two systematic reviews of intraoperative peritoneal lavage in colorectal cancer to determine risk of development of PM [130, 131]. Mohan et al. evaluated 18 studies (3197 patients) which evaluated the presence of free tumor cells and/or tumorassociated antigens (CEA, Ras, Ca 19-9) in peritoneal lavage, while Bosanquet et al. evaluated 12 studies (2580 patients) which used positive peritoneal lavage cytology, immunohistochemistry, or PCR [130, 131]. In both these studies, a positive peritoneal lavage portended a negative impact on prognosis and risk of peritoneal metastases. However, both reviews were limited by the heterogeneity of method of analysis of peritoneal lavage and therefore cannot be recommended for routine use in staging strategies.

Serum tumor markers are routinely used for surveillance in colorectal cancer patients. Pita-Fernandez et al. showed in a meta-analysis of 11 randomized studies comparing intensive followup compared to less intensive or no follow-up showed increased detection of asymptomatic recurrences and improved overall survival [132]. Serum carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) is a widely used biomarker used for surveillance with sensitivity for relapse ranging from 41 to 97% [133]. Although not commonly used in the surveillance of colorectal cancer, serum Ca 19-9 has a higher specificity compared to serum CEA for peritoneal metastases [134]. Moreover, in a study of 105 patients, although CT scan was the most sensitive investigation to detect PM, about 27% of the patients had elevation of the CEA and/or Ca 19-9 as their earliest indicator of disease recurrence. In a study of over 870 Chinese patients, elevated CEA and CA 19-9 levels were risk factors for peritoneal metastases [135]. Thus, serum tumor markers can be used in surveillance for detection of PM, in particular early recurrence when imaging may be nondiagnostic.

Tumor histology seems to play an important role in outcomes. Although adenocarcinoma is the commonest histological subtype, mucinous adenocarcinoma and signet ring cell adenocarcinoma subtypes have more frequent peritoneal involvement [136]. The outcomes seem to be better for mucinous adenocarcinoma than for the other types. In a retrospective analysis of the Netherlands Cancer Registry, PM of mucinous adenocarcinoma had a median survival of 10.9 months vs. 7.4 months for adenocarcinoma vs. 6.6 months for signet ring histology (P < 0.0001) [137]. Multiple retrospective analyses have shown that the overall survival in signet ring histology PM patients undergoing CRS/ HIPEC is dramatically worse than other subtypes, with median survival ranging 12-14 months and 5-year survival rates of 0-7% [138, 139]. In fact, in both the PSDSS and the colorectal peritoneal metastases prognostic surgical score (COMPASS), signet ring cell histology has been given special consideration signifying poorer outcomes [120, 140].

12.5.2 Surgical Strategies for Obtaining a Complete Cytoreduction

Cytoreductive surgery attempts to remove all macroscopic disease using a combination of peritonectomy procedures and visceral resections which have been described by Sugarbaker [141]. When tumor involves visceral peritoneal surfaces, organ resections (splenectomy, large bowel or small bowel resection) are needed. When tumor involves parietal peritoneal surfaces, one of the five peritonectomies or stripping of the peritoneum is required [142]. One of the major limiting factors in obtaining a complete cytoreduction is the extent of small bowel involvement as resection of large portion has nutritional consequences [142].

12.5.2.1 Synchronous Resection of CPM and Liver Metastases

The presence of simultaneous liver and peritoneal metastases has been considered a contraindication for aggressive treatment at either of the disease sites [98, 143–145]. However, with reports of better results with liver resection done even in the presence of extrahepatic disease, including PM, these contraindications have become less absolute [145]. In a study by Kianmanesh et al., 43 patients had management of PM and liver metastases, 3 with liver resection prior to CRS/HIPEC, 10 done concurrently with CRS/HIPEC, and 2 done 2 months following CRS/HIPEC [146]. The survival of patients in the CRS + HIPEC and liver resection group was similar to the CRS + HIPEC alone group (median survival 36.0 vs. 35.3 months; P = 0.73). Three other studies, with sample size ranging from 14 to 37 patients, have addressed the outcomes of patients undergoing CRS + HIPEC

with synchronous liver resection, in highly selected patient cohorts [147-149]. Elias et al. selected 24 young patients with good performance status, mild to moderate PM, moderate operative risk (no invasion of hilum, vena cava, hepatic veins, extensive PM), and responding or stable liver metastases after 3 months of systemic chemotherapy. At a median follow-up of 6.1 years, the only prognostic factor significant for recurrence was number of liver metastases >3 [147]. Maggiori et al. compared 37 patients with synchronous resection of liver metastases and PM with 61 patients with PM alone. CRS + HIPEC with liver resection fared worse in terms of overall survival compared to CRS + HIPEC alone (40% vs. 66%; P = 0.04). Moreover, patients with PCI < 12 and no liver metastases had a median OS of 76 months compared to PCI < 12 and 1–2 liver metastases (40 months) and PCI >12 or >3 liver metastases (27 months) [149]. Based on these studies, it appears that performing concurrent liver resection and CRS for more than three liver metastases does not confer a significant OS benefit and should be avoided. Elias and collaborators in a study of 287 patients with LM or PM or both found no difference in survival in the three groups of patients treated with liver resection, CRS and HIPEC, or both (Fig. 12.1) [150]. Based on this study, they developed a graphic nomogram that is simple to calculate and easy to use and can determine the prognosis of patients according to the



Fig. 12.1 Overall survival in patients with colorectal LM, PM, or both (From Ref. [151] with permission)

number of LM, the PCI, or both. This nomogram needs to be validated in prospective studies.

12.5.2.2 Resection of Ovaries

Synchronous ovarian metastases (OM) are reported in 1–9% of women undergoing surgical resection of a primary CRC, and metachronous OM occur in 1-7% [151, 152]. In patients with CPM, more than half of the women have OM diagnosed either before or synchronously shown in a study of 194 patients by Verwaal et al. [153]. These investigators recommended that a bilateral oophorectomy should be performed for all patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC. Patients with OM and PM have a similar OS and DFS when treated with CRS and HIPEC [154]. Women undergoing this treatment may not have completed their families and may be desirous of a future pregnancy. Of interest is the fact that in colorectal cancer, stromal involvement as opposed to capsular involvement is seen in majority of the patients as indicative to hematogenous spread [155]. Elias et al. evaluated the feasibility of ovarian preservation in 106 women aged less than 41 years undergoing CRS and HIPEC for PM [154]. Oophorectomy was done (1) when the ovary was macroscopically involved with tumor; (2) in case of clinical suspicion for tumor involvement based on intraoperative macroscopic inspection (presence of superficial tiny granulations or cysts); (3) systematically (contralateral oophorectomy) in patients who had previous unilateral oophorectomy at the time of initial surgery due to macroscopic involvement of one ovary, while the other macroscopically normalappearing ovary was left in place; (4) when hysterectomy was needed due to tumor extent; and (5) in women who clearly did not want future pregnancy. Based on their findings, they recommend that a bilateral oophorectomy should be performed in all women who have suspicious involvement of both ovaries, when a hysterectomy is needed, and in women who do not wish to have anymore children. In women who have metastases in one ovary, the risk of contralateral ovarian metastases is 46% and a bilateral oophorectomy is recommended in these women as well. In women with grossly normal ovaries, the

risk of occult metastases is 17% and the risk of future metastases to the ovary is over 50%. They recommend conservation of ovaries in some of these patients though pregnancy following CRS and HIPEC in patients with CPM has not been reported in the literature [154, 156].

12.5.2.3 Urological Procedures

Some patients with limited disease may require a resection of the kidneys, ureters, or bladder like nephrectomy, partial cystectomy, and resection of a segment of the ureter, to attain a complete cytoreduction [157]. If complete cytoreduction can be obtained, these procedures show a survival similar to other patients with limited CPM. In this setting, resection of the ureters is very common and is never itself a contraindication to CRS; similarly, a nephrectomy is performed when required for a complete cytoreduction. However, a total cystectomy though technically feasible could be considered unethical as it is unlikely to offer any oncological benefit. At the senior author's institution, the procedure is never performed in the context of CRS/ HIPEC. One small study reported increased morbidity with such procedures-the incidence of bowel fistulas and intra-abdominal abscesses was reported to be significantly higher though it was attributed to the extent of bowel resection rather than the urological procedure itself. Several other studies have reported no increase in morbidity [157-159].

12.5.3 HIPEC Methodology and Drugs

Several different HIPEC techniques have been elaborated for application in colorectal PM. Several drugs have been successfully used singly or in combination, at different concentrations, in different perfusates, for different durations, and at different effective temperatures [160]. Each modification of one of these parameters implies conducting a new pharmacokinetic study, which is not feasible. While this topic has been dealt with elsewhere, broadly the commonly used techniques are open and closed tech-

niques. In an experimental study which compared the open to the closed technique, using intraperitoneal oxaliplatin at a temperature of 42°C, the systemic absorption and tissue concentration of oxaliplatin were higher by the open method. The closed method produced higher temperatures in the diaphragmatic cupolas, whereas the open technique performed better in other areas. Effective intraperitoneal hyperthermia could be achieved with both techniques, but systemic absorption and accumulation in the abdominal cavity were higher with the open technique [161]. There is no reported difference in the perioperative and survival outcomes between the two techniques [162]. In effect, it is very important to obtain a high and homogeneous temperature throughout the abdominal cavity, to routinely perform the same technique, which would render homogenous data for validation and analysis, as no prospective comparison of open and closed techniques of HIPEC in terms of survival, morbidity, or pharmacokinetics has ever been reported [163].

There are two commonly used regimens for HIPEC for colorectal PM: the first using mitomycin C (MCC) over 60 to 90 min at 41-43°C with a closed or open technique and the other using oxaliplatin (460 mg/m² of oxaliplatin in 2 L/m² of isoosmotic 5% dextrose) over 30 min, at a homogeneous temperature of 43°C (range, 42–44°C) with an open technique [164]. A bidirectional (intraperitoneal + systemic) intraoperative chemotherapy which combines intraperitoneal oxaliplatin preceded by an intravenous infusion of 5-FU (400 mg/m²) with leucovorin (20 mg/m²) is now mostly used for PM from CRC in Europe [164]. Current evidence does not show that one is superior to the other though there is a trend favoring the use of oxaliplatin. The various regimens in use of CPM are listed in Table 12.4. MMC has been used due to its high molecular weight, tissue penetration up to 5 mm, and a favorable pharmacokinetic profile that permits increased intraperitoneal concentration with limited systemic toxicity [165]. Oxaliplatin has a higher response rate when used intravenously in the metastatic setting as compared to MMC. Elias et al. have shown the efficacy and safety of intraperitoneal

6 6				
Regimen	IP drugs	IV drugs	Carrier solution	Duration
Mitomycin C based				
Sugarbaker regimen [172]	Mitomycin C 15 mg/m ² Adriamycin 15 mg/m ²	5-Fluorouracil 400 mg/m ² Leucovorin 25 mg/m ²	2 liters of 1.5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis solution	90
Dutch high-dose mitomycin C regimen [173]	Mitomycin C 35 mg/m ² 17.5 mg/m ² followed by 8.8 mg/m ² at 30 and 60 min		3 liters of 1.5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis solution	90
ASPSM low-dose regimen: "concentration-based regimen [174]	Mitomycin C 40 mg/m ² 30 mg/m ² followed by 10 mg/m ² at 60 min		3 liters of 1.5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis solution	90
Oxaliplatin-based regimens				
Elias high-dose oxaliplatin regimen [175]	Oxaliplatin 460 mg/m ²	5-Fluorouracil 400 mg/m ² Leucovorin 25 mg/m ²	2 liters/m2 5% dextrose solution	30
Glehen medium-dose oxaliplatin regimen	Oxaliplatin 360 mg/m ²	5-Fluorouracil 400 mg/m ² Leucovorin 25 mg/m ²	2 liters/m ² 5% dextrose solution	30
Wake Forest University oxaliplatin regimen [167]	Oxaliplatin 200 mg/m ²		3 liters of 5% dextrose solution	120

Table 12.4 Various drug regimens for HIPEC for colorectal PM

oxaliplatin in pharmacological and clinical studies [166]. Its efficacy and tolerance have been demonstrated in another phase I study from the United States [167]. Three retrospective studies have tried to compare outcomes of mitomycin vs. oxaliplatin HIPEC [168–170]. The Dutch study by Homes et al. included 95 patients from two centers and did not show any difference in the survival outcomes between the two regimens [168]. In another retrospective multicentric study, 539 patients were included with stratification as per the PSDSS and survival results analyzed. For favorable histologies and low-burden patients (PSDSS I/II), the outcomes seemed to be better with mitomycin C with a median OS of 54.3 months with mitomycin C and 28.2 months for oxaliplatin [169]. However, the retrospective nature of this study and the non-standardized dose of oxaliplatin preclude definite conclusions from this study. Another Australian study of 201 patients showed a survival benefit of performing HIPEC with oxaliplatin as compared to MMC [170]. Currently, three randomized controlled trials—PRODIGE 7, PHOPHYLOCHIP, and

COLOPEC—are using oxaliplatin-based HIPEC in the experimental arm. There is a high incidence of hemorrhagic complications when oxaliplatin is used, and its cautious use in patients with a high PCI is recommended [171]. In a preliminary analysis of the PRODIGE 7 trial that has completed accrual, the 30-day grades 3–5 morbidity was similar in the both the arms, whereas the 60-day grades 3–5 morbidity was higher in the HIPEC arm (unpublished data). HIPEC was performed using oxaliplatin.

12.6 Morbidity and Mortality

With an improvement in the patient selection, surgical techniques, perioperative management, and growing experience of certain "high-volume" or "expert centers," there has been a considerable reduction in the morbidity and mortality from this procedure, and it is similar to that of other major gastrointestinal surgeries. Reported morbidity and mortality rates range from 23 to 45% and 0 to 12%, respectively [147, 176, 177–179]. The surgical complications include anastomotic leakage, bleeding, and wound infection, and chemotherapyrelated complications include neutropenia, cardiac arrhythmia, or renal insufficiency. Other complications common to surgical procedures in general include thrombosis, lung embolism, or pneumonia [180]. A learning curve exists for CRS plus HIPEC, and it's both the surgeon's and the institutional experience that has an impact on the morbidity and mortality [181, 182].

Several factors have been associated with an increased risk of complications. They include the duration of surgery, the age, the number of visceral resections, the need for a stoma, an increasing dose of chemotherapeutic agent, and recurrent cancer [178, 182–186]. The most widely accepted factor prognostic of morbidity and mortality is the extent of the peritoneal disease measured by PCI, with an increased risk of grade 4 morbidity (life-threatening complications) when the PCI is greater than 12 [184, 187, 188]. One study found an extensive disease involvement in the left hemidiaphragm to be the only significant predictor of severe morbidity on multivariate analysis, probably because this procedure results in respiratory complications, and in a higher risk of pancreatic leak, bleeding, and intra-abdominal abscess, due to the dissection of the hilum of the spleen [188]. There is a high incidence of hemorrhagic complications when oxaliplatin is used and its cautious use in patients with a high PCI is recommended [171]. In an interim analysis of the PRODIGE 7, male sex, transverse colon primary tumors, ureteral anastomosis, two or more bowel anastomosis, and two or more sites of bowel suturing were associated with a greater 30-day grades 3–5 morbidity. This analysis which is at present under review for publication highlighted two important points. Firstly, the rate of gastrointestinal fistulas was higher in the HIPEC group as compared to the non-HIPEC group. Though this difference did not reach statistical significance, fistulas occurred even in the presence of a diverting ostomy. The presence of a stoma did not prevent fistulas but reduced the incidence of peritonitis. Hence, the authors recommend that a protective ostomy should be performed in case of more than two areas of intestinal stiches, of more

than two bowel anastomoses, or in case of rectal resection (unpublished data). Secondly, adding HIPEC with oxaliplatin to CRS did not significantly increase the overall rate of postoperative complications, and at 30 days it resulted in a mortality rate similar to that of CRS alone. The dose of oxaliplatin used in this study was 460 mg/m² for the open procedure and adapted to 360 mg/m² for the closed procedure. However, it increased significantly the rate of grades 3-4 complications at 60 days. However, the authors suggest that this should be interpreted with caution since the actual number of patients experiencing such complications was small and other studies have not reported similar findings. In this study, the grades 3-4 hematological toxicity was higher in the HIPEC arm. It was not of and consequence as most of these patients were managed without any clinical consequences. Passot et al. have suggested that a better indicator of the quality of surgery is "failure to rescue" rather than the morbidity [189]. In experienced centers, patients with complications are managed better, leading to a reduction in the mortality from the procedure.

12.7 Reiterative Procedures

Though CRS and HIPEC are performed with the intent of cure, around 70–80% of the patients will develop recurrent disease, and about half of these recurrences are confined to the peritoneal cavity [190–193].

Over the years, evidence has accumulated showing the feasibility and survival benefit of a repeat CRS and HIPEC in selected patients [194, 195]. Bijelic et al. reported recurrent disease in 49 out of 70 patients with complete cytoreduction and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy [193]. The median survival of patients who underwent a second surgery was significantly longer than that of patients who did not have a second operation (39 vs. 20 months; P = 0.0003). Diffuse peritoneal recurrence, isolated distant metastases, and diagnosis of recurrence within 6 months after CRS were associated with a worse prognosis. Median survival in complete

secondary CRS was 42 months as compared to 30 months for the whole cohort [193]. In another small study by de Simone et al., the survival after the second procedure was similar to that after the procedure. However, patients with PM from other primary sites were included in this study [196]. The morbidity and mortality of such procedures are similar to that of the first procedure in high-volume centers [197]. In the largest multiinstitutional study from 11 institutions across the world comprising of 189 patients, the reported median survival was 26.4 months, disease-free survival 10.1 months, and 5-year overall survival 20% following a repeat CRS and HIPEC [198]. The median PCI was 6.9 and 81% of the patients had a complete cytoreduction. A PCI of <10 during the second procedure, a complete cytoreduction, and absence of grades 3-5 morbidity were associated with a favorable prognosis. Patients who had positive nodes during the first procedure had poorer outcomes. Though this study had limitations like the lack of a control group, and its retrospective nature, it showed that longterm survival is possible with a repeat procedure in selected patients.

12.8 New Treatment Strategies for Patients with Extensive CPM

There are still a large proportion of patients with CPM that are not candidates for CRS and HIPEC. Systemic chemotherapy leads to a favorable response only in a small percentage of patients.

Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) is an innovative intraperitoneal chemotherapy concept that seems to enhance the effectivity of IPC by taking advantage of the physical properties of gas and pressure [199]. PIPAC pharmacokinetics permit the use of a minimal drug dose which reaches a higher intraperitoneal concentration than in HIPEC. Increased intra-abdominal pressure is known to increase tissue uptake and intra-tumoral drug concentration [200, 201]. In addition, there is micronization of the cytostatic agent which creates a thin film of microdroplets over the entire peritoneal cavity, increasing the contact surface area between drugs and tissues. It is given in multiple sittings usually at three-weekly intervals through a laparoscopic approach. Systemic chemotherapy is used with it. The reported toxicity profile is acceptable in preliminary studies [202]. In patients pretreated with surgery and multiple lines of chemotherapy, it has produced symptom control, clinical response, and a prolongation of survival [203]. Prospective studies are needed to further define and expand its role [203]. A new bidirectional chemotherapy (neoadjuvant intraperitoneal-systemic chemotherapy protocol (NIPS)) was developed by Yonemura and his collaborators from Japan to induce a reduction of the peritoneal cancer index of patients with gastric PM [204]. NIPS can attack PM from both sides of peritoneum, not only from the peritoneal cavity but also from the subperitoneal blood vessels, and is considered a bidirectional chemotherapy [204]. Following a response to NIPS, selected patients become candidates for CRS and HIPEC. This treatment which has produced response rates of over 70% in patients with gastric PM is being investigated by Francois Quenet from Montpellier for CPM in the NIPOX trial (Fig. 12.2) [205]. In a pilot study, six patients with unresectable peritoneal disease of colorectal origin were included in the study. An intraperitoneal implantable chamber catheter was inserted during the laparotomy that evaluated the extent of the peritoneal disease (peritoneal cancer index 25 to 39). Patients then underwent intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin 85 mg/m² in combination with systemic chemotherapy (FOLFIRI or simplified LV/5-FU) and a targeted therapy every 2 weeks. Two patients completed the four intraperitoneal (IP) chemotherapy cycles without major toxicity. Two catheter perfusion incidents were reported due to the abdominal wall thickness. For one patient with aggressive disease, best supportive care was initiated after the first course of chemotherapy. The tolerance was acceptable for 85 mg/ m² IP oxaliplatin combined with systemic therapy



Fig. 12.2 The NIPOX trial

in these patients. This study formed the basis for the NIPOX trial [206].

Patients with a PCI of >17 are given a combination of systemic chemotherapy and intraperitoneal chemotherapy through two intraperitoneal catheters with implantable chambers. Responders are subsequently evaluated for CRS and HIPEC. Simultaneously, a dose escalation study for intraperitoneal oxaliplatin is being performed. Along similar lines is the IPOXA trial (NCT02866903), which is a phase I/II trial studying the administration of IP oxaliplatin (normothermic port-directed) with systemic FOL-FIRI and bevacizumab in CPM of uncertain respectability. Currently, this trial is looking at morbidity, dose-limiting toxicity, and overall response rates of this treatment strategy.

12.9 Preventive Strategies for CPM

Majority of the patients with PM eventually succumb to the disease. The most appropriate treatment strategy would be to prevent the occurrence of PM.

12.9.1 The Cautious and Proactive Surgeon

While surgical teams across the world have been focusing on developing the skill to perform CRS and setting up HIPEC centers, how the primary tumor is dealt with has become equally important once again, as improper surgical handling can lead to peritoneal dissemination even in patients without high-risk features (described below) for peritoneal spread [207]. Cancer spread following resection of the primary can occur in the following ways—through portal dissemination, lymph nodal recurrence, recurrence at the operative site, and peritoneal spread [207]. Whereas portal dissemination cannot be prevented, other recurrences could be minimized by proper surgical technique. Patients with colorectal have decreased local recurrence and a longer disease-free survival when the resection of the primary tumor is performed by experienced surgeons at high-volume centers [208]. Hermanek et al. reported a variation in local recurrence from 5 to 55% between different surgeons which resulted in a 5-year survival rate varying from 34 to 85% [209].

Turnbull in his publication on *No-Touch Isolation Techniques* described a mechanism of cancer dissemination that is no longer acceptable [210]. However, the results of using this technique were far superior to any others published in the same time period [210].

Sugarbaker suggested that proper surgical technique can prevent peritoneal dissemination to a certain extent. In order to limit peritoneal spread, "containment" should be one of the main goals of the gastrointestinal cancer surgeon. He described a technique called "centripetal surgery" in which one must move around the tumor mass with perfect hemostasis, adequate margins of dissection, and sufficient visualization so that the vital structures are not damaged. If all of these requirements are not met, the surgeon must approach the malignant disease from another anatomic site [211, 212].

The other important aspect of prevention is surgical handling of patients with positive peritoneal fluid cytology or with peritoneal nodules at presentation. Non-definitive procedures except those needed in the emergency setting, i.e., for perforated or obstructed tumors, should be avoided. Sugarbaker pointed out that the peritoneum itself acts as a first line of defense against carcinomatosis, and in its absence, cells become implanted wherever a raw surface is created [213]. Non-definitive surgery in these situations has some adverse consequences. These patients become poor candidates for subsequent curative approach using CRS and HIPEC, the lymph nodal clearance becomes more difficult, and there is tumor cell entrapment in avascular scar tissue which cannot be treated with chemotherapy. Retroperitoneal implantation of tumor cells can involve tubular structures like the ureters leading to obstruction. When such a situation is encountered during laparotomy or laparoscopy, further surgical intervention should stop and the patients should be referred to a center experience in treating peritoneal metastases [213].

Laparoscopic surgery minimizes surgical trauma and, compared with open surgery, has been associated with less peritoneal as well as metastatic tumor growth in several animal models [214]. The technique has raised concerns regarding the potential effect of a CO₂ pneumoperitoneum on peritoneal cancer spread [215]. However, large clinical trials comparing open surgery with laparoscopic colectomy for colorectal cancer did not identify an increased risk of peritoneal recurrence associated with the laparoscopic approach [216]. The minimally invasive approach requires considerable amount of skill and should not be performed at the risk of compromising other oncological requirements like adequate margins, lymph node yield, and avoiding intraoperative tumor rupture and spill.

One of the most important prognostic factors determining the treatment outcomes in patients with PM is the disease extent determined by the peritoneal cancer index (PCI). In general, patients with less extensive disease have better outcomes, and one of the first treatment goals is to detect PM early in the course of disease evolution. In a study evaluating the Swedish registry data, which analyzed 11,124 patients with CRC treated between 1995 and 2007, PM was diagnosed in 8.3%, the prevalence of synchronous PM being 4.3%, and that of metachronous PM was 4.2%, with median time to recurrence around 14–16 months [217]. The known risk factors for peritoneal spread in patients with colorectal cancer are female sex; patients with primary mucinous adenocarcinomas; tumor stage T4; lymph node stage N2; a colonic primary, emergency surgery; and patients with positive resection margins [217, 218]. At the time of treatment of the primary malignancy, imaging modalities may fail to pick up low-volume disease, and during an open or laparoscopic resection, PM should be searched for and the extent documented in detail, especially in patients with known risk factors for peritoneal dissemination. For patients on surveillance also, the index of suspicion should be high. An elevation in tumor markers without evidence of disease on imaging should prompt the use of diagnostic laparoscopy for detection of early peritoneal cancer spread.

12.9.2 Role of HIPEC Is Prevention and Early Treatment of Peritoneal Metastases

One of the main concerns regarding the management of colorectal PM is that the disease is detected when the PM are extensive and patients are not eligible for a curative approach [218]. As the extent of the disease (PCI) and the completeness of resection are the main prognostic factors determining survival outcomes, it is obvious that survival results are dramatically better in patient detected with a low PCI [219].

Elias et al. performed a seminal study that has formed a basis of two randomized trials. They devised a strategy of systematic second-look surgery in patients at high risk of developing PM. In a systematic review of the literature comprising 16 studies evaluating 4395 patients, the same authors concluded that the only three factors that were consistently associated with a high risk of developing PM were synchronous PM completely resected, isolated ovarian metastases, and perforated primary tumor [14]. Based on this, they devised a new strategy which evaluated the role of systematic second-look surgery in 41 patients without clinical, radiological, or biological evidence of recurrence [220]. Patients considered to have high risk of developing PM were based on the three criteria mentioned above, present at the time of surgery for the primary tumor: resected minimal synchronous macroscopic PM (n = 25), synchronous ovarian metastases (n = 8), and perforation of the colon (n = 8). PM was discovered and resected in 23 (55%) patients during the second-look surgery, in spite of normal investigations. The mean PCI was low (8 ± 6) and peritoneal deposits were resectable in all of the patients. Grades 3-4 morbidity rate was low (9.7%). After a median follow-up of 30 months, OS and DFS of all patients at 5 years were 90% and 44%, respectively. Peritoneal recurrences occurred in seven patients (17%), six of whom had macroscopic PM discovered during the second-look surgery (26%). Based on these encouraging results, the phase III randomized study ProphyloCHIP (NCT01226394) was initiated. In this trial, patients who are at high risk of peritoneal recurrence and are clinically diseasefree after completing 6 months of adjuvant therapy are randomized to a standard follow-up comprising of a 3 monthly follow-up for 2 years and then a 6 monthly follow-up for 3 years or a systematic second-look surgery followed by HIPEC with oxaliplatin. Another similar study sponsored by the NCI was underway in the United States (NCT01095523) [221], in which patients with CRC at high risk of developing PM who underwent curative surgery and subsequently received standard of care adjuvant chemotherapy were randomized to routine surveillance or second-look surgery and HIPEC 1 year after the primary surgery. This study, however, was abandoned before recruitment was complete.

In a case-control study carried out by Sammartino et al. in patients with advanced (T3/ T4, any N, M0) colonic cancer of mucinous or signet ring cell histology, or perforated primary tumor of any histology without PM or other metastases, patients were either treated with standard colectomy (n = 50) or with additional surgical procedures apart from a colectomy that included omentectomy, bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy, resection of the hepatic round ligament, appendectomy, and HIPEC with oxaliplatin (n = 25) at the time of diagnosis [222]. The study group comprised of 25 patients with mucinous or signet ring cell histology T3/T4, any N, and M0 colonic cancer who underwent hemicolectomy, omentectomy, bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy, hepatic round ligament resection, and appendectomy followed by HIPEC with oxaliplatin during the resection of the primary, while the control group of 50 patients was treated by standard surgical resection during the same time period. There was no increase in the morbidity due to the additional surgical procedures performed in the experimental group; however, the recurrence rate was significantly lower than that in the control group (4% versus 22%; P < 0.05). The OS was similar in both groups, but the DFS was significantly longer in the experimental group (36.8 versus 21.9 months; P < 0.01). Thus, this aggressive preventive surgical approach increased the disease-free survival significantly without increasing the morbidity. Based on these results, the PROMENADE trial (NCT02974556) has been initiated, which aims to determine the oncological effectiveness, compared to standard surgical treatment, of proactive management including target organ resection (omentectomy, bilateral adnexectomy, appendectomy, hepatic round ligament resection) and preventive HIPEC (intraperitoneal oxaliplatin with concomitant i.v. 5-fluorouracil/ leucovorin) during a curative resection of highrisk (>/=5 mm tumor invasion beyond the muscularis propria) T3 and T4 colon cancer in preventing the development of peritoneal metastases. The primary outcome measure is incidence of PM at 36 months. Along the same lines, a Dutch study named the COLOPEC trial (NCT02231086) is a phase III randomized trial that aims to determine the oncological effectiveness of adjuvant HIPEC, using intraperitoneal oxaliplatin with concomitant i.v. 5-FU/LV, following a curative resection of a T4 or intra-abdominally perforated colon cancer in preventing the development of PM in addition to the standard adjuvant systemic treatment. However, in this trial the adjuvant HIPEC is given without any target organ resection, and the primary outcome measure is peritoneal recurrencefree survival at 18 months. Along the same lines, a multicentric phase III study is ongoing in China (NCT02179489) that will evaluate the diseasefree survival of 300 patients at high risk of developing PM after HIPEC with mitomycin C after primary surgery (without target organ resection). Another study, the APEC trial (NCT02965248), is a phase II randomized study that plans to randomize 147 patients with colon cancer having T4NanyM0 or T3NanyM0 mucinous or signet ring adenocarcinoma undergoing an R0 resection into three arms, viz., (1) standard adjuvant chemotherapy only (control group), (2) HIPEC with raltitrexed (3 mg/m²) intraperitoneally for 60 min during surgery or within 10 days after the operation, or (3) HIPEC comprising oxaliplatin (130 mg/m^2) during surgery for 30 min. The primary outcome measure is the incidence of PM at 3 years.

The above studies highlight the fact that the best way to deal with PM is to treat it early or prevent it and can potentially form the basis of future treatment for PM from CRC.

Conclusion

PM from colorectal cancer represents a subgroup of patients who are often diagnosed with advanced disease and have poor outcomes in spite of advances in modern chemotherapy and targeted therapy. The combined modality treatment of CRS and HIPEC offers a promising strategy especially if offered when the extent of peritoneal involvement is limited. Adequate patient selection is paramount in ensuring good results. Future strategies for prevention or early treatment of PM seem promising but require validation in the ongoing randomized trials. At the same time, new therapies for patients with extensive disease that is not amenable to aggressive therapy need to be further developed.

References

- Lemmens VE, Klaver YL, Verwaal VJ, Rutten HJ, Coebergh JWW, De Hingh IH. Predictors and survival of synchronous peritoneal carcinomatoses of colorectal origin: a population-based study. Int J Cancer. 2011;128(11):2717–25.
- Jayne DG, Fook S, Loi C, Seow-Choen F. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2002;89(12):1545–50.
- Sadeghi B, Arvieux C, Glehen O, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from non-gynecologic malignancies: results of the EVOCAPE 1 multicentric prospective study. Cancer. 2000;88(2):358–63.
- Segelman J, Granath F, Holm T, Machado M, Mahteme H, Martling A. Incidence, prevalence and risk factors for peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2012;99:699–705.
- Shepherd NA, Baxter KJ, Love SB. The 36 prognostic importance of peritoneal involvement in colonic cancer: a prospective evaluation. Gastroenterology. 1997;112(4):1096–102.
- Joyce JA, Pollard JW. Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9(4):239–52.
- Iuiter N, De Cuba E, Kwakman R, Kazemier G, Meijer G, Te Velde EA. Adhesion molecules in peritoneal dissemination: 35 function, prognostic relevance and therapeutic options. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2016. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10585-016-9791-9790.

- Sugarbaker PH. Colorectal cancer: prevention and management of metastatic disease. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:782890. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/ 782890.
- Franko J, Shi Q, Meyers J, et al. Prognosis of patients with peritoneal metastatic colorectal cancer given systemic therapy: an analysis of individual patient data from prospective randomised trials from the analysis and research in cancers of the digestive system (ARCAD) database. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(2):1709–19.
- Hompes D, Tiek J, Wolthuis A, et al. HIPEC in T4a colon cancer: a defendable treatment to improve oncologic outcome? Ann Oncologia. 2012;23(12): 3123–9.
- Pande R, Sunga A, Levea C, et al. Significance of signet-ring cells in patients with colorectal •• cancer. Dis Colon Rectum. 2008;51(1):50–5.
- Noura S, Ohue M, Seki Y, Yano M, Ishikawa O, Kameyama M. Long-term prognostic value of conventional peritoneal lavage cytology in patients undergoing curative colorectal cancer resection. Dis Colon Rectum. 2009;52(7):1312–20.
- Nishikawa T, Sunami E, Tanaka T, et al. Incidence and prognostic significance of positive peritoneal lavage in colorectal cancer. Surg Today. 2015;45(9): 1073–81.
- Honoré C, Goere D, Souadka A, Dumont F, Elias D. De nition of patients presenting a high risk of developing peritoneal carcinomatosis after curative surgery for colorectal cancer: a systematic review. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(1):183–92.
- 15. Sasaki Y, Hamaguchi T, Yamada Y, Takahashi N, Shoji H, Honma Y, Iwasa S, Okita N, Takashima A, Kato K, Nagai Y, Taniguchi H, Boku N, Ushijima T, Shimada Y. Value of KRAS, BRAF, and PIK3CA mutations and survival benefit from systemic chemotherapy in colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2016;17(2):539–43.
- 16. Russell AH, Tong D, Dawson LE, Wisbeck WM, Griffin TW, Laramore GE, Luk KH. Adenocarcinoma of the retroperitoneal ascending and descending colon: sites of initial dissemination and clinical patterns of recurrence following surgery alone. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1983;9(3):361–5.
- Russell AH, Tong D, Dawson LE, Wisbeck W. Adenocarcinoma of the proximal colon. Sites of initial dissemination and patterns of recurrence following surgery alone. Cancer. 1984;53(2):360–7.
- Chua TC, Morris DL, Saxena A, et al. Influence of modern systemic therapies as adjunct to cytoreduction and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for patients with colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: a multicenter study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:1560–7.
- Sugarbaker PH, Re: Verwaal VJ, van Tinteren H, Ruth SV, et al. Toxicity of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intra-peritoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2004;88:276–8.
- Elias D, Borget I, Farron M, Dromain C, Ducreux M, Goéré D, Honoré C, Boige V, Dumont F, Malka D, Pottier E, Caramella C. Prognostic significance of

visible cardiophrenic angle lymph nodes in the presence of peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancers. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39(11):1214–8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2013.08.006.

- Jacquet P, Jelinek JS, Steves MA, Sugarbaker PH. Evaluation of computer tomography in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer. 1993;72(5): 1631–6.
- Koh JL, Yan TD, Glenn D, Morris DL. Evaluation of preoperative computed tomography in estimating peritoneal cancer index in colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16:327–33.
- 23. Esquivel J, Chua T, Stojadinovic A, Torres Melero J, Levine E, Gutman M, et al. Accuracy and clinical relevance of computed tomography scan interpretation of peritoneal cancer index in colorectal cancer peritoneal carcinomatosis: a multi-institutional study. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102:565.
- 24. Coakley F, Choi P, Gougoutas C, Pothuri B, Venkatraman E, Chi D, et al. Peritoneal metastases: detection with spiral CT in patients with ovarian cancer. Radiology. 2002;223(2):495.
- Suzuki A, Kawano T, Takahashi N, Lee J, Nakagami Y, Miyagi E, Hirahara F, Togo S, Shimada H, Inoue T. Value of 18F-FDG PET in the detection of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2004;31(10):1413–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-004-1577-y.
- Turlakow A, Yeung HW, Salmon AS, Macapinlac HA, Larson SM. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: role of (18)F-FDG PET. J Nucl Med. 2003;44(9): 1407–12.
- 27. Satoh Y, Ichikawa T, Motosugi U, Kimura K, Sou H, Sano K, Araki T. Diagnosis of peritoneal dissemination: comparison of 18F-FDG PET/CT, diffusionweighted MRI, and contrast-enhanced MDCT. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2011;196(2):447–53. https://doi. org/10.2214/AJR.10.4687.
- Low RN, Barone RM, Lucero J. Comparison of MRI and CT for predicting the peritoneal cancer index (PCI) preoperatively in patients being considered for cytoreductive surgical procedures. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-4041-7.
- Soussan M, Des Guetz G, Barrau V, Aflalo-Hazan V, Pop G, Mehanna Z, Rust E, Aparicio T, Douard R, Benamouzig R, Wind P, Eder V. Comparison of FDG-PET/CT and MR with diffusion-weighted imaging for assessing peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal malignancy. Eur Radiol. 2012;22(7):1479–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00330-012-2397-2.
- Dromain C, Leboulleux S, Auperin A, Goere D, Malka D, Lumbroso J, Schumberger M, Sigal R, Elias D. Staging of peritoneal carcinomatosis: enhanced CT vs PET/CT. Abdom Imaging. 2008;33(1):87–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00261-007-9211-7.
- 31. Espada M, Garcia-Flores JR, Jimenez M, Alvarez-Moreno E, De Haro M, Gonzalez-Cortijo L, Hernandez-Cortes G, Martinez-Vega V, Sainz De La Cuesta R. Diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging evaluation of intra-abdominal sites of implants to predict likelihood of suboptimal cytoreductive

surgery in patients with ovarian carcinoma. Eur Radiol. 2013;23(9):2636–42.

- 32. Laghi A, Bellini D, Rengo M, Accarpio F, Caruso D, Biacchi D, Di Giorgio A, Sammartino P. Diagnostic performance of computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging for detecting peritoneal metastases: systematic review and meta-analysis. Radiol Med. 2017;122(1):1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11547-016-0682-x.
- Fujii S, Matsusue E, Kanasaki Y, et al. Detection of peritoneal dissemination in gynecological malignancy: evaluation by diffusion-weighted MR imaging. Eur Radiol. 2008;18(1):18–23.
- 34. Low RN, Sebrechts CP, Barone RM, Muller W. Diffusion-weighted MRI of peritoneal tumors: comparison with conventional MRI and surgical and histopathologic findings—a feasibility study. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2009;193(2):461–70.
- Bhatt A, Goéré D. Cytoreductive surgery plus HIPEC for peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7:177. https://doi. org/10.1007/s13193-016-0499-z.
- 36. Villeneuve L, Thivolet A, Bakrin N, Mohamed F, Isaac S, Valette PJ, Glehen O, Rousset P, BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE Working Groups. A new internet tool to report peritoneal malignancy extent. PeRitOneal Malignancy Stage Evaluation (PROMISE) application. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(6):877–82. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.03.015.
- Dromain C, Bisdorff A, Elias D, Antoun S, Boige V, Lasser P, Sigal R. Computed tomographic features of peritoneal carcinomatosis treated by intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2003;27(3):327–32.
- Tabrizian P, Jayakrishnan TT, Zacharias A, et al. Incorporation of diagnostic laparoscopy in the management algorithm for patients with peritoneal metastases: a multi-institutional analysis. J Surg Oncol. 2015. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23924.
- 39. Jayakrishnan TT, Zacharias AJ, Sharma A, et al. Role of laparoscopy in patients with peritoneal metastases considered for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). World J Surg Oncol. 2014;12:270. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1477-7819-12-270.
- Valle M, Federici O, Garofalo A. Patient selection for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy, and role of laparoscopy in diagnosis, staging, and treatment. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2012;21:515–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. soc.2012.07.005.
- Iversen LH, Rasmussen PC, Laurberg S. Value of laparoscopy before cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis. Br J Surg. 2013;100:285–92. https:// doi.org/10.1002/bjs.8908.
- 42. Seshadri RA, Hemanth Raj E. Diagnostic laparoscopy in the pre-operative assessment of patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for peritoneal surface malignancies. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7:230–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-015-0486-9.

- 43. Goldberg RM, Sargent DJ, Morton RF, et al. A randomized controlled trial of fluorouracil plus Leucovorin, Irinotecan, and Oxaliplatin combinations in patients with previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:23–30. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2004.09.046.
- 44. Hurwitz H, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny W, et al. Bevacizumab plus Irinotecan, fluorouracil, and Leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:2335–42. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa032691.
- Saltz LB, Clarke S, Díaz-Rubio E, et al. Bevacizumab in combination with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy as first-line therapy in metastatic colorectal cancer: a randomized phase III study. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:2013– 9. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2007.14.9930.
- 46. Van Cutsem E, Köhne C-H, Hitre E, et al. Cetuximab and chemotherapy as initial treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2009;360:1408–17. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0805019.
- 47. Bokemeyer C, Bondarenko I, Hartmann JT, et al. Efficacy according to biomarker status of cetuximab plus FOLFOX-4 as first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: the OPUS study. Ann Oncol. 2011;22:1535–46. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/ mdq632.
- 48. Franko J, Shi Q, Goldman CD, et al. Treatment of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis with systemic chemotherapy: a pooled analysis of north central cancer treatment group phase III trials N9741 and N9841. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:263–7. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2011.37.1039.
- 49. Klaver YLB, Simkens LHJ, Lemmens VEPP, et al. Outcomes of colorectal cancer patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with chemotherapy with and without targeted therapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2012;38:617–23.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2012. 03.008.
- 50. Koopman M, Antonini NF, Douma J, et al. Sequential versus combination chemotherapy with capecitabine, irinotecan, and oxaliplatin in advanced colorectal cancer (CAIRO): a phase III randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2007;370:135–42. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61086-1.
- 51. Tol J, Koopman M, Rodenburg CJ, et al. A randomised phase III study on capecitabine, oxaliplatin and bevacizumab with or without cetuximab in first-line advanced colorectal cancer, the CAIRO2 study of the Dutch Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG). An interim analysis of toxicity. Ann Oncol. 2007;19:734–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdm607.
- Esquivel J. Current status and future directions of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Intervent Oncol 360. 2014;2(6):E45–52.
- Elias D, Lefevre JH, Chevalier J, et al. Complete cytoreductive surgery plus intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia with oxaliplatin for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:681–5. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.19.7160.
- Russell AH, Tong D, Dawson LE, Wisbeck W. Adenocarcinoma of the proximal colon sites of initial dissemination and patterns of recurrence following

surgery alone. Cancer. 1984;53:360–7. https://doi. org/10.1002/1097-0142(19840115)53:2<360::AID-CNCR2820530232>3.0.CO;2-U.

- 55. Mulsow J, Merkel S, Agaimy A, Hohenberger W. Outcomes following surgery for colorectal cancer with synchronous peritoneal metastases. Br J Surg. 2011;98:1785–91. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bjs.7653.
- Matsuda K, Hotta T, Takifuji K, et al. Clinical impact of a macroscopically complete resection of colorectal cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Surgery. 2012;151:238–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. surg.2010.10.018.
- Désolneux G, Mazière C, Vara J, et al. Cytoreductive surgery of colorectal peritoneal metastases: outcomes after complete cytoreductive surgery and systemic chemotherapy only. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0122816. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0122816.
- Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, de Bree E, et al. Randomized trial of cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy and palliative surgery in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:3737–43. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2003.04.187.
- 59. Verwaal VJ, Bruin S, Boot H, et al. 8-year follow-up of randomized trial: cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal Carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:2426–32. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-008-9966-2.
- Franko J, Ibrahim Z, Gusani NJ, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion versus systemic chemotherapy alone for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer. 2010;116:3756–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr. 25116.
- Cavaliere F, Valle M, De Simone M, et al. 120 peritoneal carcinomatoses from colorectal cancer treated with peritonectomy and intra-abdominal chemohyperthermia: a S. I. T. I. L. O. multicentric. study. In Vivo. 2006;20(6A):747–50.
- 62. Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative Intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:63–8. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2009.23.9285.
- 63. Quenet F, Goéré D, Mehta SS, et al. Results of two biinstitutional prospective studies using intraperitoneal oxaliplatin with or without Irinotecan during HIPEC after cytoreductive surgery for colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2011;254:294–301. https://doi. org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182263933.
- 64. Ihemelandu C, Sugarbaker PH. Management for peritoneal metastasis of colonic origin: role of cytoreductive surgery and perioperative Intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a single Institution's experience during two decades. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24:898– 905. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-016-5698-x.
- 65. Frøysnes IS, Larsen SG, Spasojevic M, et al. Complete cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic

intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal metastasis in Norway: prognostic factors and oncologic outcome in a national patient cohort. J Surg Oncol. 2016;114:222–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jso.24290.

- 66. Baratti D, Kusamura S, Pietrantonio F, et al. Progress in treatments for colorectal cancer peritoneal metastases during the years 2010–2015. A systematic review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2016;100:209–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2016.01.017.
- Zoetmulder FA. Cancer cell seeding during abdominal surgery: experimental studies. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:155–61.
- Jacquet P, Averbach AM, Jacquet N. Abdominal wall metastasis and peritoneal carcinomatosis after laparoscopic-assisted colectomy for colon cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 1995;21(5):568–70.
- 69. Elias D, Di Pietrantonio D, Boulet T, Honore C, Bonnet S, Goere D, Kohneh-Shahri N, Raynard B. Natural history of complete cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009;35(4):434–8.
- Sugarbaker PH. Strategies for the prevention and treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal cancer. Cancer Investig. 2005;23(2):155–72.
- Shimizu T, Maeta M, Koga T. Influence of local hyperthermia on the healing of small intestinal anastomoses in the rat. Br J Surg. 1991;78(1):57–9.
- Pelz JO, Doerfer J, Dimmler A, et al. Histological response of peritoneal carcinomatosis after hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion (HIPEC) in experimental investigations. BMC Cancer. 2006;6:162. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-6-162.
- Gremonprez F, Willaert W, Ceelen W. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC) for peritoneal carcinomatosis: review of animal models. J Surg Oncol. 2014;109(2): 110–6.
- Bartlett DL. HIPEC: the complexities of clinical trials. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(5):1277–9. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-007-9768-y.
- 75. Zeamari S, Floot B, van der Vange N, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of cisplatin after intraoperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion (HIPEC). Anticancer Res. 2003;23: 1643–8.
- 76. Tang L, Mei LJ, Yang XJ, et al. Cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy improves survival of gastric cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis: evidence from an experimental study. J Transl Med. 2011;9:53.
- 77. Facy O, Al Samman S, Magnin G, et al. High pressure enhances the effect of hyperthermia in intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin: an experimental study. Ann Surg. 2012;256:1084–8.
- Klaver YL, Hendriks T, Lomme RM, et al. Hyperthermia and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis: an experimental study. Ann Surg. 2011;254:125–30.
- 79. Elias D, Blot F, El Otmany A, et al. Curative treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis arising from colorectal cancer by complete resection and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer. 2001;92:71–6.

- Ceelen W, Van Nieuwenhove Y, Putte DV, Pattyn P. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy with Bevacizumab may improve outcome after cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion (HIPEC) for colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:3023–8. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-3713-7.
- Yonemura Y, Canbay E, Ishibashi H. Prognostic factors of peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer following cytoreductive surgery and perioperative chemotherapy. ScientificWorldJournal. 2013;2013:978394. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/978394.
- 82. Adachi T, Hinoi T, Egi H, et al. Oxaliplatin and molecular-targeted drug therapies improved the overall survival in colorectal cancer patients with synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis undergoing incomplete cytoreductive surgery. Surg Today. 2015;45:986–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00595-014-1017-y.
- Hompes D, Aalbers A, Boot H, et al. A prospective pilot study to assess neoadjuvant chemotherapy for unresectable peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Color Dis. 2014;16:O264–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/codi.12560.
- 84. Maillet M, Glehen O, Lambert J, Goere D, Pocard M, Msika S, Passot G, Elias D, Eveno C, Sabaté JM, Lourenco N, André T, Gornet JM; BIG-RENAPE Working Group. Early postoperative chemotherapy after complete cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for isolated peritoneal carcinomatosis of colon cancer: a multicenter study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(3):863–9. https://doi.org/ 10.1245/s10434-015-4914-4.
- Waite K, Youssef H. The role of neoadjuvant and adjuvant systemic chemotherapy with cytoreductive surgery and heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal metastases: a systematic review. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24:705. https://doi.org/ 10.1245/s10434-016-5712-3.
- 86. Passot G, Vaudoyer D, Cotte E, You B, Isaac S, Gilly FN, et al. Progression following neoadjuvant systemic chemotherapy may not be a contraindication to a curative approach for colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2012;256:125–9.
- Goéré D, Malka D, Tzanis D, et al. Is there a possibility of a cure in patients with colorectal peritoneal Carcinomatosis amenable to complete cytoreductive surgery and Intraperitoneal chemotherapy? Ann Surg. 2013;257:1065–71. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.0b013e31827e9289.
- Tomlinson JS, Jarnagin WR, DeMatteo RP, et al. Actual 10-year survival after resection of colorectal liver metastases defines cure. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:4575– 80. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2007.11.0833.
- Adam R, Wicherts DA, de Haas RJ, et al. Patients with initially unresectable colorectal liver metastases: is there a possibility of cure? J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:1829– 35. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.19.9273.
- Adam R, De Gramont A, Figueras J, et al. The oncosurgery approach to managing liver metastases from colorectal cancer: a multidisciplinary international consensus. Oncologist. 2012;17:1225–39. https://doi. org/10.1634/theoncologist.2012-0121.

- 91. Goéré D, Souadka A, Faron M, et al. Extent of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: attempt to define a threshold above which HIPEC does not offer survival benefit: a comparative study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:2958–64. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-015-4387-5.
- 92. Sugarbaker PH, Graves T, DeBruijn E, Cunliffe W, Mullins R, Hull W, et al. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy as an adjuvant therapy to surgery for peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal cancer: pharmacological studies. Cancer Res. 1990;50:5790–4.
- Sugarbaker PH, Gianola FJ, Speyer JC, Wesley R, Barofsky I, Meyers CE, et al. Prospective, randomized trial of intravenous versus intraperitoneal 5-fluorouracil in patients with advanced primary colon or rectal cancer. Surgery. 1985;98:414–22.
- 94. Sugarbaker PH, Jablonski KA. Prognostic features of 51 colorectal and 130 appendiceal cancer patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated by cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg. 1995;221:124–32.
- 95. Elias D, Benizri E, Dipietrantonio D, Menegon P, Malka D, Raynard B. Comparison of two kinds of intraperitoneal chemotherapy following complete cytoreductive surgery of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006;14:509–14.
- Mahteme H, Hansson J, Berglund Å, et al. Improved survival in patients with peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: a preliminary study. Br J Cancer. 2004;90(2):403–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.bjc.6601586.
- Elias D, Delperro JR, Sideris L, Benhamou E, Pocard M, Baton O, Giovannini M, Lasser P. Treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: impact of complete cytoreductive surgery and difficulties in conducting ran domized trials. Ann Surg Oncol. 2004;11:518–21. https://doi.org/10.1245/ ASO.2004.09.008.
- 98. Glehen OKF, Sugarbaker PH, Elias D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a multi-institutional study. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22: 3284–92.
- 99. Duraj FF, Cashin PH. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal and hepatic metastases: a case-control study. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2013;4(4):388–96. https://doi. org/10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2013.026.
- 100. Lam JY, McConnell YJ, Rivard JD, Temple WJ, Mack LA. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy + early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy alone: assessment of survival outcomes for colorectal and high-grade appendiceal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Am J Surg. 2015;210:424–30.
- 101. Esquivel J, Sticca R, Sugarbaker P, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the management of peritoneal surface malignancies of colonic origin: a consensus statement.

Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:128–33. https://doi.org/ 10.1245/s10434-006-9185-7.

- 102. Levine EA, Stewart JH, Shen P, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy: experience with 1,000 patients. J Am Coll Surg. 2014;218:573–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jamcollsurg.2013.12.013.
- 103. Ihemelandu CU, McQuellon R, Shen P, et al. Predicting postoperative morbidity following cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (CS+HIPEC) with preoperative FACT-C (functional assessment of cancer therapy) and patient-rated performance status. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:3519–26. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-013-3049-8.
- 104. Votanopoulos KI, Newman NA, Russell G, et al. Outcomes of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in patients older than 70 years; survival benefit at considerable morbidity and mortality. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:3497–503. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-013-3053-z.
- 105. Barbosa LRLS, Lacerda-Filho A, Barbosa LCLS. Immediate preoperative nutritional status of patients with colorectal cancer: a warning. Arq Gastroenterol. 2014;51:331–6. https://doi.org/10.1590/ S0004-28032014000400012.
- 106. Vashi PG, Gupta D, Lammersfeld CA, et al. The relationship between baseline nutritional status with subsequent parenteral nutrition and clinical outcomes in cancer patients undergoing hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Nutr J. 2013;12:118. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2891-12-118.
- 107. van Vugt J, Braam HJ, van Oudheusden TR, Vestering A, Bollen TL, Wiezer MJ, de Hingh I, Bert van Ramshorst DB (2015) Skeletal muscle depletion is associated with severe postoperative complications in patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 22(11):3625.
- 108. Valle SJ, Alzahrani N, Alzahrani S, et al. Enterocutaneous fistula in patients with peritoneal malignancy following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: incidence, management and outcomes. Surg Oncol. 2016;25:315–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.suronc.2016.05.025.
- 109. Randle RW, Swett KR, Swords DS, et al. Efficacy of cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the management of malignant ascites. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1474–9. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-013-3224-y.
- 110. Faivre J, Lemmens VE, Quipourt V, Bouvier AM. Management and survival of colorectal cancer in the elderly in population based studies. Eur J Cancer (Oxford, England: 1990). 2007;43(15):2279–84.
- 111. Polanczyk CA, Marcantonio E, Goldman L, Rohde LE, Orav J, Mangione CM, et al. Impact of age on perioperative complications and length of stay in patients undergoing noncardiac surgery. Ann Intern Med. 2001;134(8):637–43.

- 112. Pratt WB, Gangavati A, Agarwal K, Schreiber R, Lipsitz LA, Callery MP, et al. Establishing standards of quality for elderly patients undergoing pancreatic resection. Arch Surg (Chicago, Ill: 1960). 2009;144(10):950–6. 32.
- 113. Barrier A, Ferro L, Houry S, Lacaine F, Huguier M. Rectal cancer surgery in patients more than 80 years of age. Am J Surg. 2003;185(1):54–7.
- 114. Alyami M, Lundberg P, Kepenekian V, Goéré D, Bereder JM, Msika S, Lorimier G, Quenet F, Ferron G, Thibaudeau E, Abboud K, Lo Dico R, Delroeux D, Brigand C, Arvieux C, Marchal F, Tuech JJ, Guilloit JM, Guyon F, Peyrat P, Pezet D, Ortega-Deballon P, Zinzindohoue F, de Chaisemartin C, Kianmanesh R, Glehen O, Passot G, BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE Working Groups. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis in the elderly: a case-controlled, multicenter study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(Suppl 5):737–45.
- 115. Cascales-Campos PA, López-López V, Muñoz-Casares FC, Feliciangeli E, Torres Melero J, Barrios P, Morales R, Ramos I, Ortega G, Camps B, González-Bayón L, Bretcha-Boix P, Farré-Alegre J, González-Moreno S, Gil J. Morbidity and mortality outcomes after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients aged 75 years and over: Spanish group of peritoneal cancer surgery (GECOP) multicenter study.Surg Oncol. 2016;25:111–6
- 116. Esquivel J, Elias D, Baratti D, et al. Consensus statement on the loco regional treatment of colorectal cancer with peritoneal dissemination. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:263–7.
- 117. Goéré D, Souadka A, Faron M, Cloutier AS, Viana B, Honoré C, Dumont F, Elias D. Extent of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: attempt to define a threshold above which HIPEC does not offer survival benefit: a comparative study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(9):2958–64. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-4387-5.
- 118. Vaira M, Cioppa T, D'Amico S, de Marco G, D'Alessandro M, Fiorentini G, De Simone M. Treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colonic cancer by cytoreduction, peritonectomy and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Experience of ten years. In Vivo. 2010;24(1):79–84.
- 119. Mirnezami R, Moran BJ, Harvey K, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal metastases. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(38):14018–32. https://doi. org/10.3748/wjg.v20.i38.14018.
- 120. Pelz JOW, Stojadinovic A, Nissan A, Hohenberger W, Esquivel J. Evaluation of a peritoneal surface disease severity score in patients with colon cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2009;99:9– 15. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.21169.
- 121. Esquivel J, Lowy AM, Markman M, Chua T, Pelz J, Baratti D, et al. The American Society of Peritoneal Surface Malignancies (ASPSM) multiinstitution evaluation of the peritoneal surface disease severity

score (PSDSS) in 1,013 patients with colorectal cancer with peritoneal Carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(13):4195–201. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-3798-z.

- 122. Ng JL, Ong WS, Chia CS, Tan GHC, Soo K-C, Teo MCC. Prognostic relevance of the peritoneal surface disease severity score compared to the peritoneal cancer index for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Int J Surg Oncol. 2016;Article ID 2495131, 7 p. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2495131.
- 123. Passot G, You B, Boschetti G, Fontaine J, Isaac S, Decullier E, Maurice C, Vaudoyer D, Gilly FN, Cotte E, Glehen O. Pathological response to neoad-juvant chemotherapy: a new prognosis tool for the curative management of peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:2608–14.
- Sugarbaker PH. Preoperative assessment of cancer patients with peritoneal metastases for complete cytoreduction. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(3):295–302.
- 125. Benedet JL, Bender H, Jones H, et al. FIGO staging classifications and clinical practice guidelines in the management of gynecologic cancers. FIGO committee on Gynecologic oncology. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2000;70:209–62.
- 126. La Torre M, Ferri M, Giovagnoli MR, et al. Peritoneal wash cytology in gastric carcinoma. Prognostic significance and therapeutic consequences. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36:982–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2010.06.007.
- 127. Katsuragi K, Yashiro M, Sawada T, et al. Prognostic impact of PCR-based identification of isolated tumour cells in the peritoneal lavage fluid of gastric cancer patients who underwent a curative R0 resection. Br J Cancer. 2007;97:550–6. https://doi. org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603909.
- 128. Euanorasetr C, Lertsithichai P. Prognostic significance of peritoneal washing cytology in Thai patients with gastric adenocarcinoma undergoing curative D2 gastrectomy. Gastric Cancer. 2007;10:18–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-006-0402-7.
- 129. Cotte E, Peyrat P, Piaton E, et al. Lack of prognostic significance of conventional peritoneal cytology in colorectal and gastric cancers: results of EVOCAPE 2 multicentre prospective study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:707–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2013.03.021.
- 130. Bosanquet DC, Harris DA, Evans MD, Beynon J. Systematic review and meta-analysis of intraoperative peritoneal lavage for colorectal cancer staging. Br J Surg. 2013;100:853–62. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/bjs.9118.
- 131. Mohan HM, O'Connor DB, O'Riordan JM, Winter DC. Prognostic significance of detection of microscopic peritoneal disease in colorectal cancer: a systematic review. Surg Oncol. 2013;22:e1–6. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.suronc.2013.01.001.
- 132. Pita-Fernandez S, Alhayek-Ai M, Gonzalez-Martin C, et al. Intensive follow-up strategies improve outcomes in nonmetastatic colorectal cancer patients after curative surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Oncol. 2015;26:644–56. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdu543.

- 133. Nicholson BD, Shinkins B, Pathiraja I, et al. Blood CEA levels for detecting recurrent colorectal cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;CD011134. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011134.pub2.
- Park IJ, Choi G-S, Jun SH. Prognostic value of serum tumor antigen CA19-9 after curative resection of colorectal cancer. Anticancer Res. 2009;29: 4303–8.
- 135. Liu F, Yu J, Liang Y, et al. Associated risk factors of peritoneal metastasis in colorectal cancer. Zhonghua Wei Chang Wai Ke Za Zhi. 2011;14:254–6.
- 136. Hugen N, van de Velde CJH, de Wilt JHW, Nagtegaal ID. Metastatic pattern in colorectal cancer is strongly influenced by histological subtype. Ann Oncol. 2014;25:651–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/ annonc/mdt591.
- 137. Razenberg LGEM, van Gestel YRBM, Lemmens VEPP, et al. The prognostic relevance of histological subtype in patients with peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: a nationwide populationbased study. Clin Colorectal Cancer. 2015;14:e13–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clcc.2015.05.011.
- 138. Winer J, Zenati M, Ramalingam L, et al. Impact of aggressive histology and location of primary tumor on the efficacy of surgical therapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1456–62. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-013-3328-4.
- 139. Van Oudheusden TR, Braam HJ, Nienhuijs SW, et al. Poor outcome after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis with signet ring cell histology. J Surg Oncol. 2015. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23784.
- 140. Simkens GA, van Oudheusden TR, Nieboer D, et al. Development of a prognostic nomogram for patients with peritoneally metastasized colorectal cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:4214–21. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-016-5211-6.
- 141. Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Ann Surg. 1995;221:29–42.
- 142. Cotte E, Passot G, Mohamed F, Vaudoyer D, Gilly FN, Glehen O. Management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: current state of practice. Cancer J. 2009;15:243–8.
- 143. Hughes KS, Rosenstein RB, Songhorabodi S, et al. Resection of the liver for colorectal carcinoma metastases. A multi-institutional study of long-term survivors. Dis Colon Rectum. 1988;31:1–4.
- 144. Fong Y, Fortner J, Sun RL, et al. Clinical score for predicting recurrence after hepatic resection for metastatic colorectal cancer: analysis of 1001 consecutive cases. Ann Surg 1999;230:309-18-21.
- 145. Elias D, Ouellet J-F, Bellon N, et al. Extrahepatic disease does not contraindicate hepatectomy for colorectal liver metastases. Br J Surg. 2003;90:567–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.4071.
- 146. Kianmanesh R, Scaringi S, Sabate J-M, et al. Iterative cytoreductive surgery associated with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin with or with-

out liver metastases. Ann Surg. 2007;245:597-603. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.sla.0000255561.87771.11.

- 147. Elias D, Benizri E, Pocard M, et al. Treatment of synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis and liver metastases from colorectal cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32:632–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2006.03.013.
- 148. Varban O, Levine EA, Stewart JH, et al. Outcomes associated with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy in colorectal cancer patients with peritoneal surface disease and hepatic metastases. Cancer. 2009;115:3427–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.24385.
- 149. Maggiori L, Goéré D, Viana B, et al. Should patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin with synchronous liver metastases be treated with a curative intent? A case-control study. Ann Surg. 2013. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182778089.
- 150. Elias D, Faron M, Goéré D, Dumont F, Honoré C, Boige V, Malka D, Ducreux M. A simple tumor load-based nomogram for surgery in patients with colorectal liver and peritoneal metastases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(6):2052–8. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-3506-z.
- 151. Goere D, Daveau C, Elias D, et al. The differential response to chemotherapy of ovarian metastases from colorectal carcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34:1335–9.
- 152. Segelman J, Floter-Radestad A, Hellborg H, Sjovall A, Martling A. Epidemiology and prognosis of ovarian metastases in colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2010;97:1704–9.
- Evers DJ, Verwaal VJ. Indication for oophorectomy during cytoreduction for intraperitoneal metastatic spread of colorectal or appendiceal origin. Br J Surg. 2011;98:287–92.
- 154. Eveno C, Goéré D, Dartigues P, Honoré C, Dumont F, Tzanis D, Benhaim L, Malka D, Elias D. Ovarian metastasis is associated with retroperitoneal lymph node relapses in women treated for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(2):491–6. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-012-2623-9.
- 155. Moore RG, Chung M, Granai CO, et al. Incidence of metastasis to the ovaries from nongenital tract primary tumors. Gynecol Oncol. 2004;93:87–91.
- 156. Ortega-Deballon P, Glehen O, Levine E, et al. Childbearing after hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: results from an international survey. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:2297.
- 157. Braam HJ, van Oudheusden TR, de Hingh IH, Nienhuijs SW, Boerma D, Wiezer MJ, van Ramshorst B. Urological procedures in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer treated with HIPEC: morbidity and survival analysis. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(1):295–300.
- 158. Honore C, Souadka A, Goere D, Dumont F, Deschamps F, Elias D. HIPEC for peritoneal carcinomatosis: Does an associated urologic procedure increase morbidity? Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(1): 104–9, 15.

- 159. Leapman MS, Jibara G, Tabrizian P, Franssen B, Yang MJ, Romanoff A, Hall SJ, Palese M, Sarpel U, Hiotis S, Labow D. Genitourinary resection at the time of cytoreductive surgery and heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis is not associated with increased morbidity or worsened oncologic outcomes: a case-matched study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(4):1153–8.
- 160. Elias D, Antoun S, Goharin A, Otmany AE, Puizillout JM, Lasser P. Research on the best chemohyperthermia technique of treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis after complete resection. Int J Surg Investig. 2000;1(5):431–9.
- 161. Ortega-Deballon P, Facy O, Jambet S, Magnin G, Cotte E, Beltramo JL, Chauffert B, Rat P. Which method to deliver hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin? An experimental comparison of open and closed techniques. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(7):1957–63.
- 162. Glehen O, Cotte E, Kusamura S, Deraco M, Baratti D, Passot G, Beaujard A-C, Noel GF. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: nomenclature and modalities of perfusion. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:242– 6. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.21061.
- 163. Sarnaik AA, Sussman JJ, Ahmad SA, McIntyre BC, Lowy AM. Technology for the delivery of hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a survey of techniques. Recent Results Cancer Res. 2007;169:75–82.
- 164. Kusamura S, Dominique E, Baratti D, Younan R, Deraco M. Drugs, carrier solutions and temperature in hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:247–52. https://doi. org/10.1002/jso.21051.
- 165. Kuzuya T, Yamauchi M, Ito A, et al. Pharmacokinetic characteristics of 5-fluorouracil and mitomycin C in intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Pharm Pharmacol. 1994;46:685–9.
- 166. Elias D, Bonnay M, Puizillou JM, Antoun S, Dermirdjian S, El Otomany A, et al. Heated intraoperative intraperitoneal oxaliplatin after complete resection of peritoneal carcinomatosis: pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution. Ann Surg Oncol. 2002;13:267–72.
- 167. Stewart JH, Shen P, Russell G, et al. A phase I trial of oxaliplatin for intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemoperfusion for the treatment of peritoneal surface dissemination from colorectal and appendiceal cancers. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(8):2137–45. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-008-9967-1.
- 168. Hompes D, D'Hoore A, Wolthuis A, Fieuws S, Mirck B, Bruin S, Verwaal V. The use of oxaliplatin or mitomycin C in HIPEC treatment for peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a comparative study. J Surg Oncol. 2014;109:527–32. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jso.23546.
- 169. Prada-Villaverde A, Esquivel J, Lowy AM, Markman M, Chua T, Pelz J, Baratti D, Baumgartner JM, Berri R, Bretcha-Boix P, Deraco M, Flores-Ayala G, Glehen O, Gomez-Portilla A, González-Moreno S, Goodman M, Halkia E, Kusamura S,

Moller M, Passot G, Pocard M, Salti G, Sardi A, Senthil M, Spiliotis J, Torres-Melero J, Turaga K, Trout R. The American Society of Peritoneal Surface Malignancies evaluation of HIPEC with mitomycin C versus oxaliplatin in 539 patients with colon cancer undergoing a complete cytoreductive surgery. J Surg Oncol. 2014;110:779–85. https://doi. org/10.1002/jso.23728.

- 170. Leung V, Huo YR, Liauw W, Morris DL. Oxaliplatin versus mitomycin C for HIPEC in colorectal cancer peritoneal carcinomatosis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(1):144–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2016.09.015.
- 171. Charrier T, Passot G, Peron J, Maurice C, Gocevska S, Quénet F, Eveno C, Pocard M, Goere D, Elias D, Ortega-Deballon P, Vaudoyer D, Cotte E, Glehen O. Cytoreductive surgery combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin increases the risk of postoperative hemorrhagic complications: analysis of predictive factors. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(7):2315–22. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-016-5143-1.
- 172. Van der Speeten K, Stuart OA, Chang D, et al. Changes induced by surgical and clinical factors in the pharmacology of intraperitoneal mitomycin C in 145 patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2011;68:147. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00280-010-1460-4.
- 173. Witkamp AJ, van Coevorden F, Kaag MM, van Slooten GW, Beijnen JB, Boot H, et al. Dose finding study of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with mitomycin C in patients with carcinosis of colorectal origin. Eur J Surg Oncol. 1998;24:214.
- 174. Turaga K, Levine E, Barone R, et al. Consensus guidelines from the American Society of Peritoneal Surface Malignancies on standardizing the delivery of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in colorectal cancer patients in the United States. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1501. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-013-3061-z.
- 175. Elias D, Bonnay M, Puizillou JM, Antoun S, Demirdjian S, El OA, Pignon JP, Drouard-Troalen L, Ouellet JF, Ducreux M. Heated intra-operative intraperitoneal oxaliplatin after complete resection of peritoneal carcinomatosis: pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution. Ann Oncol. 2002;13(2):267–72.
- 176. Stephens AD, Alderman R, Chang D, et al. Morbidity and mortality analysis of 200 treatments with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy using the coliseum technique. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:790–6.
- 177. Pilati P, Mocellin S, Rossi CR, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal intraoperative chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis arising from colon adenocarcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2003;10:508–13.
- 178. Kusamura S, Younan R, Baratti D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery followed by intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion. Cancer. 2006;106:1144–53. https:// doi.org/10.1002/cncr.21708.

- 179. Franko J, Gusani NJ, Holtzman MP, et al. Multivisceral resection does not affect morbidity and survival after cytoreductive surgery and chemoperfusion for carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:3065–72. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-008-0105-x.
- 180. Glockzin G, Ghali N, Lang SA, et al. Results of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100:306–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.21332.
- Smeenk RM, Verwaal VJ, Zoetmulder FAN. Learning curve of combined modality treatment in peritoneal surface disease. Br J Surg. 2007;94:1408–14. https:// doi.org/10.1002/bjs.5863.
- 182. Levine EA, Stewart JH, Russell GB, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy: experience with 501 procedures. J Am Coll Surg 2007;204:943-53-5. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2006.12.048.
- 183. Elias D, Goere D. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: recent advances and future evolution toward a curative treatment. Recent Results Cancer Res. 2007;169:115–22.
- 184. Glehen O, Osinsky D, Cotte E, et al. Intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia using a closed abdominal procedure and cytoreductive surgery for the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis: morbidity and mortality analysis of 216 consecutive procedures. Ann Surg Oncol. 2003;10:863–9.
- 185. Jacquet P, Stephens AD, Averbach AM, et al. Analysis of morbidity and mortality in 60 patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated by cytoreductive surgery and heated intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer. 1996;77:2622–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (SICI)1097-0142(19960615)77:12<2622::AID-CNCR28>3.0.CO;2-T.
- 186. Hansson J, Graf W, Påhlman L, et al. Postoperative adverse events and long-term survival after cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2009;35:202–8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejso.2008.04.002.
- 187. Verwaal VJ, Tinteren H, van Ruth SV, Zoetmulder FAN. Toxicity of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intra-peritoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2004;85:61–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.20013.
- Saxena A, Yan TD, Morris DL. A critical evaluation of risk factors for complications after cytoreductive surgery and perioperative Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Surg. 2010;34:70–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00268-009-0206-0.
- Mercier F, Cotte E, Glehen O, Passot G. Why morbidity is not an adequate metric for evaluation of surgical quality. Ann Surg. 2017. https://doi. org/10.1097/SLA.00000000002256.
- 190. Bijelic L, Yan TD, Sugarbaker PH. Treatment failure following complete cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal

dissemination from colorectal or appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:295–9.

- 191. Portilla AG, Sugarbaker PH, Chang D. Secondlook surgery after cytoreduction and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: analysis of prognostic features. World J Surg. 1999;23:23–9.
- 192. Verwaal VJ, Boot H, Aleman BM, et al. Recurrences after peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin treated by cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: location, treatment, and outcome. Ann Surg Oncol. 2004;11:375–9.
- 193. Bijelic L, Yan TD, Sugarbaker PH. Failure analysis of recurrent disease following complete cytoreduction and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:2281–8.
- 194. Saxena A, Yan TD, Morris DL. Critical assessment of preoperative and operative risk factors for complications after iterative peritonectomy procedures. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36:309–14.
- 195. Cashin PH, Graf W, Nygren P, Mahteme H. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: prognosis and treatment of recurrences in a cohort study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2012;38:509–15.
- 196. Vaira M, Robella M, Mellano A, Sottile A, De Simone M. Iterative procedures combining cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for isolated peritoneal recurrence. Int J Hyperthermia. 2014;30(8):565–9. doi: https://doi. org/10.3109/02656736.2014.974693.
- 197. Golse N, Bakrin N, Passot G, Mohamed F, Vaudoyer D, Gilly FN, Glehen O, Cotte E. Iterative procedures combining cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal recurrence: postoperative and long-term results. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106(2):197–203. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23062.
- 198. Alzharani N, Huang Ye, Baratti D, Deraco M et al. Repeat Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in colorectal cancer in 189 patients (PSOGI collaboration). J Peritoneum. 2016;1(1):1 (abstract).
- 199. Solass W, Kerb R, Mürdter T, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy of peritoneal carcinomatosis using pressurized aerosol as an alternative to liquid solution: first evidence for efficacy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(2):553–9. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-013-3213-1.
- 200. Esquis P, Consolo D, Magnin G, et al. High intraabdominal pressure enhances the penetration and antitumor effect of intraperitoneal cisplatin on experimental peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2006;244(1):106–112. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. sla.0000218089.61635.5f. [PMC free article] [PubMed][Cross Ref].
- 201. Jacquet P, Stuart OA, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Effects of intra-abdominal pressure on pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution of doxorubicin after intraperitoneal

administration. Anticancer Drugs. 1996;7(5):596–603. doi: https://doi.org/10.1097/00001813-199607000-00016. [PubMed] [Cross Ref].

- 202. Robella M, Vaira M, De Simone M. Safety and feasibility of pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) associated with systemic chemotherapy: an innovative approach to treat peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Surg Oncol. 2016;14:128. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12957-016-0892-7.
- 203. Demtröder C, Solass W, Zieren J, Strumberg D, Giger-Pabst U, Reymond MA. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy with oxaliplatin in colorectal peritoneal metastasis. Colorectal Dis. 2016;18(4):364– 71. https://doi.org/10.1111/codi.13130.
- 204. Yonemura Y, Elnemr A, Endou Y, et al. Effects of neoadjuvant intraperitoneal/systemic chemotherapy (bidirectional chemotherapy) for the treatment of patients with peritoneal metastasis from gastric cancer. Int J Surg Oncol. 2012;2012:148420. https://doi. org/10.1155/2012/148420.
- 205. Yonemura Y, Ishibashi H, Hirano M, Mizumoto A, Takeshita K, Noguchi K, Takao N, Ichinose M, Liu Y, Li Y. Effects of neoadjuvant laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy and neoadjuvant intraperitoneal/systemic chemotherapy on peritoneal metastases from gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24(2):478–85. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-016-5487-6.
- 206. Sgarbura O, Samalin E, Carrere S, Mazard T, de Forges H, Alline M, Pissas MH, Portales F, Ychou M, Quénet F. Preoperative intraperitoneal oxaliplatin for unresectable peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: a pilot study. Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(4):209–15.
- Sugarbaker PH. It's what the surgeon does'nt see that kills the patient. J Nippon Med Sch. 2000;67:5–8.
- Renzulli P, Lowy A, Maibach R, et al. The influence of the surgeon's and the hospital's caseload on survival and local recurrence after colorectal cancer surgery. Surgery. 2006;139:296–304.
- 209. Hermanek P, Wieblet H, Staimmer D, Riedl S. SGCRC: prognostic factors of rectum carcinomaexperience of the German multicentre study SGCRC. Tumori. 1995;81(supplement):60–64.
- 210. Turnbull RB, Kyle K, Watson FR, Spratt J. Cancer of the colon: the influence of notouch isolation technic on survival rates. Ann Surg. 1967;166(3): 420–7.
- Sugarbaker PH. Carcinoma of the colon-prognosis and operative choice. Curr Probl Surg 1981;18:755– 802. 4.
- 212. Averbach AM, Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Surgical technique and colorectal cancer: impaction on local recurrence and survival. Tumori. 1995;81 (supplement):65–71.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritoneum as the first-line of defense in carcinomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2007;95(2):93–6.
- 214. Carter JJ, Feingold DL, Kirman I, et al. Laparoscopicassisted cecectomy is associated with decreased formation of postoperative pulmonary metastases

compared with open cecectomy in a murine model. Surgery. 2003;134:432–36. 54.

- 215. Canis M, Botchorishvili R, Wattiez A, et al. Cancer and laparoscopy, experimental studies: a review. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2000;91:1–9. 55.
- 216. Jayne DG, Guillou PJ, Thorpe H, et al. Randomized trial of laparoscopic-assisted resection of colorectal carcinoma: 3-year results of the UK MRC CLASICC trial group. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:3061–8.
- 217. Segelman J, Granath F, Holm T, Machado M, Mahteme H, Martling A. Incidence, prevalence and risk factors for peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2012;99:699–705. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.8679.
- 218. Van Gestel YR, Thomassen I, Lemmens VE, Pruijt JF, van Herk-Sukel MP, Rutten HJ, Creemers GJ, de Hingh IH. Metachronous peritoneal carcinomatosis after curative treatment of colorectal cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40:963–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejso.2013.10.001.

- 219. González-Moreno S. Peritoneal surface oncology: a progress report. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32(6):593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2006.03.001.
- 220. Elias D, Honoré C, Dumont F, et al. Results of systematic second-look surgery plus HIPEC in asymptomatic patients presenting a high risk of developing colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2011;254:289–93. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.0b013e31822638f6.
- 221. Ripley RT, Davis JL, Kemp CD, et al. Prospective randomized trial evaluating mandatory second look surgery with HIPEC and CRS vs. standard of care in patients at high risk of developing colorectal peritoneal metastases. Trials. 2010;11:62. https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-6215-11-62.
- 222. Sammartino P, Sibio S, Biacchi D, et al. Prevention of peritoneal metastases from colon cancer in high-risk patients: preliminary results of surgery plus prophylactic HIPEC. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:1– 7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/141585.



13

Pseudomyxoma Peritonei Arising from Epithelial Appendiceal Tumours

Aditi Bhatt, Guillaume Passot, and Olivier Glehen

13.1 Introduction

Appendiceal tumours and pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP), two rare entities, are often described in conjunction because of their close association. PMP is a clinical condition characterized by mucinous ascites and peritoneal implants, generally originating from a perforated mucinous tumour of the appendix. Mucinous appendiceal tumours are the cause of PMP in over 90% of the cases.

PMP represents a disease spectrum ranging from mucinous ascites with a benign mucinous tumour of the appendix at its origin to a highgrade mucinous adenocarcinoma. With cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC), these patients experience a prolonged survival. Selecting appropriate patients for this treatment is necessary for achieving optimal results. The

A. Bhatt

Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India

G. Passot • O. Glehen (⊠) Department of Surgical Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Lyon Sud, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Pierre Bénite, France

Université Lyon 1, EMR 3738, Oullins, France e-mail: olivier.glehen@chu-lyon.fr

completeness of cytoreductive surgery and the disease biology are two major factors influencing the outcome.

13.2 Mucinous Appendiceal Tumours

A wide variety of tumours arise from the appendix, but the mucinous tumours are of particular concern due to their propensity for peritoneal dissemination. More specifically, it is the low-grade mucinous tumours that have generated a lot of debate. Despite having bland histopathological features, these tumours can invade through the appendiceal wall, cause rupture of the appendix and produce peritoneal implants.

Appendiceal tumours constitute 1% of all the intestinal neoplasms and 2% of colorectal cancers [1]. They are broadly classified as epithelial and non-epithelial tumours [2]. Carcinoid tumours are the commonest epithelial tumours followed by mucinous tumours. This chapter focuses on mucinous appendiceal tumours and some other tumours that have potential for peritoneal spread. There are several classifications that have been used to classify mucinous appendiceal tumours [3–5]. The first was proposed by Woodruff and Macdonald in 1940; the authors classified these tumours as benign mucocoeles and cystadenocarcinomas [3]. Currently, the two most popular classifications are the WHO classification (Table 13.1)

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_13

Epithelial tumours of the appendix	Non-epithelial tumours
Adenoma	Neuroma
• Tubular	Lipoma
Villous	Leiomyoma
Tubulovillous	Gastrointestinal stromal tumour
Serrated	Leiomyosarcoma
Carcinoma	Kaposi's sarcoma
 Adenocarcinoma 	Others
Mucinous adenocarcinoma	Malignant lymphoma
Signet ring cell carcinoma	Secondary tumours
Small cell carcinoma	Hyperplastic polyps
Undifferentiated carcinoma	
Tubular carcinoid	
Goblet cell carcinoid (mucinous carcinoid)	
Mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma	
Others	

Table 13.1 WHO classification of epithelial appendiceal tumours (Adapted from Ref. [6])

and the PSOGI expert consensus classification (Table 13.2).

In both these systems, a tumour in which the muscularis mucosa has not been breached is termed as an adenoma. Controversy exists when there is a breach of the muscularis mucosa. While the WHO classification considers any invasion beyond the muscularis mucosa as an adenocarcinoma, the PSOGI expert committee has classified these tumours based on the type of invasion (pushing or infiltrative) [6, 7]. In 'pushing' invasion, a broad front of cells expands into surrounding tissue without destructive features. Desmoplasia is not seen in these tumours. Features of infiltrative invasion include tumour budding (discohesive single cells or clusters of up to five cells) and/or small, irregular glands, typically within a desmoplastic stroma characterized by a proteoglycan-rich extracellular matrix with myofibroblasts with vesicular nuclei. Tumours showing the pushing type of invasion have been given the term 'low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm (LAMN)'. These tumours have fibrosis but no desmoplas-

Table 13.2	PSOGI	expert	consensus	classification	ı of
appendiceal e	epithelial	tumou	rs (Adapted	from Ref. [7])

Classification of non-carcinoi the appendix	d epithelial neoplasia of
Lesion	Terminology
Adenoma resembling traditional colorectal type, confined to mucosa, muscularis mucosa intact	Tubular, tubulovillous or villous adenoma with low- or high-grade dysplasia
Tumour with serrated features, confined to the mucosa, muscularis mucosa intact	Serrated polyp with or without dysplasia (low- or high-grade)
Mucinous neoplasia with low-grade cytological features and any of	Low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm
Loss of muscularis mucosa Fibrosis of submucosa	
Pushing invasion Dissection of acellular mucin	
• Undulating or flattened epithelial growth	
• Rupture of the appendix	
• Mucin and/or cells outside the appendix	
Mucinous neoplasm with architectural features of LAMN and no infiltrative invasion but high-grade cytological atypia	High-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm
Mucinous neoplasm with infiltrative invasion	Mucinous adenocarcinoma: well, moderately or poorly differentiated
Neoplasm with signet ring cells (<50% of cells)	Poorly differentiated (mucinous) adenocarcinoma with signet ring cells
Neoplasm with signet ring cells (>50% of cells)	(Mucinous) signet ring cell carcinoma
Non-mucinous adenocarcinoma resembling the traditional colorectal type	Adenocarcinoma, well, moderately or poorly differentiated

tic response. Desmoplastic reaction is essential for classifying the tumour as an adenocarcinoma. There is another subgroup of tumours which have low-grade architectural features and high-grade cytological features. These are termed as 'high-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm' (HAMN) [7]. Both LAMN and HAMN were grouped together by Carr et al. as tumours of uncertain malignant potential (TUMP); this term is not used anymore. The term 'mucinous adenocarcinoma' is used for mucinous tumours with infiltrative invasion. They are further classified as well, moderately or poorly differentiated.

According to the WHO classification, the diagnosis of an adenocarcinoma is made when the tumour invades beyond the muscularis mucosa. Adenocarcinomas are further classified as adenocarcinoma, not otherwise specified (NOS), mucinous adenocarcinoma, signet ring adenocarcinoma and an undifferentiated carcinoma [6].

The term 'mucocoele' is no longer used for neoplastic lesions of the appendix. It is used as a descriptive term and not a pathological diagnosis. Distension of the appendix with mucous ensuing from an inflammatory process with no evidence of hyperplasia or neoplasia is a mucocoele [4]. Similarly, the terms cystadenoma and cystadenocarcinoma are no longer used as pathological diagnosis.

In both the classifications, the term signet ring cell carcinoma is used for tumours in which >50% of all cells show signet ring morphology and >50% extracellular mucin defines a lesion as mucinous.

Most primary appendiceal adenocarcinomas arise from an adenomatous polyp or serrated adenoma. The non-mucinous tumours are also termed as 'intestinal type' or colonic type of appendiceal adenocarcinoma. The adenomacarcinoma sequence seen in colorectal cancers is seen in appendiceal tumours as well.

13.3 Other Epithelial Appendiceal Tumours

Of the other appendiceal tumours, those that require special mention are the mixed exocrine and endocrine tumours that show features of both glandular and endocrine differentiation, because of their propensity for peritoneal spread and the potential for treatment with CRS and HIPEC.

13.3.1 Goblet Cell Carcinoids (GCC)

These are rare endocrine tumours that have various names, such as adenocarcinoid, mucinous carcinoid, crypt cell carcinoma and mucinproducing neuroendocrine tumour, but were first termed goblet cell carcinoid, in 1974 by Subbuswamy et al. [8]. GCCs are believed to be amphicrine tumours which originate from a single undifferentiated pluripotent intestinal epithelial crypt base progenitor stem cell that has dual neuroendocrine and mucinous differentiation. The natural history of these tumours is intermediate between carcinoids and classical adenocarcinomas. There is characteristic sparing of the mucosa. These tumours express CEA, CDX2, CK7 and CK20, but unlike adenocarcinomas, KRAS and b-catenin expression is absent. Most GCCs have been shown to stain inconsistently with neuroendocrine markers and contain very few endocrine cells (APUD cells).

Metastatic disease at presentation is seen in 14–63% of the patients, the commonest sites being the peritoneum and the ovaries [9]. Peritoneal metastases from these tumours have a poor prognosis than those form mucinous adenocarcinomas and similar to adenocarcinomas signet ring cells [10].

13.3.2 Mixed Adenoneuroendocrine Carcinoma (MANEC)

This term is used for carcinomas arising in a preexisting goblet cell carcinoid. The other name used is adenocarcinoma ex-goblet cell carcinoid [7]. These carcinomas occur in apparent absence of neoplastic change in the mucosal epithelium.

13.4 Management

13.4.1 Clinical Presentation

Appendiceal tumours can be incidental, investigational or surgical findings or present with a wide variety of symptoms which may make them difficult to diagnose correctly at the first instance. Some of the common presentations are as an incidental finding in the appendectomy specimen or, in a case of suspected appendicitis, as a pelvic or ovarian mass or during hernia surgery [11]. Patients with peritoneal dissemination can present with abdominal distension, increasing abdominal girth, fatigue, weight gain, shortness of breath and early satiety.

13.4.2 Surgical Treatment

An appendiceal tumour may be an incidental finding during an open or laparoscopic surgery performed for another indication, most commonly acute appendicitis, and the operating surgeon must be careful and well versed in dealing with it. If the tumour has not perforated or ruptured, every attempt must be made to avoid an iatrogenic rupture [12]. For benign non-carcinoid epithelial tumours, an appendectomy is sufficient provided the margin is free. For malignant tumours, conventionally, a right hemicolectomy is performed to clear the regional lymph nodes that could harbour occult metastases. For the intestinal type of adenocarcinomas, the reported incidence of lymph node metastases is high, 66.7% reported by Moreno et al. in an analysis of 501 patients. A right hemicolectomy is recommended for these patients. However, the same authors reported that, for mucinous appendiceal tumours, the incidence of lymph node metastases was only 4.2% and had no impact on survival [13]. There was no survival benefit of performing a right hemicolectomy over appendectomy if the tumour can be resected with clear margins. Similar results have been reported by other authors subsequently [14]. Sugarbaker et al. recommend the use of the sentinel node concept to decide if a right hemicolectomy is needed for a mucinous appendiceal tumour. At the time of the initial surgery or reoperation, the appendiceal nodes are dissected away from the posterior aspect of the caecum. Four to seven nodes lie in and along the appendiceal artery. This en bloc resection of the mesoappendix is submitted for frozen section. A right hemicolectomy is performed only if the nodes show metastases. To obtain a negative margin, a caecectomy can be instead performed of а hemicolectomy. Preserving the right colon is beneficial since many of these patients require a resection of the left colon/rectum [12]. In a recent report, Sugarbaker found low incidence (6.0%) of positive lymph nodes in patients with well or moderdifferentiated ately peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis (PMCA). In patients with highgrade disease, lymph node involvement was seen in 29.0%, and a right colectomy is advocated. For the mixed exocrine and endocrine tumours, a right hemicolectomy is recommended [15].

Sugarbaker also recommends that for both benign and malignant tumours, a thorough examination of the periappendiceal region and peritoneal spaces should be done for the presence of mucous, free fluid and/or tumour nodules, and if found, these should be sampled and sent for cytological examination. This practice helps in taking appropriate treatment-related decisions at a later stage. In female patients, the ovaries should be examined for the presence of metastases.

About 20% of patients with a mucinous neoplasm of the appendix develop PMP [16].

13.4.3 Proactive Management of Appendiceal Tumours

Fifty percent of the appendiceal tumours present with peritoneal dissemination [17] and 75% with acute appendicitis. A proactive approach can lead to early diagnosis and/or prevention of PMP leading to an improvement in the long-term outcomes.

Misdraji et al. found in a retrospective analysis of 107 patients with low-grade mucinous neoplasms that tumours confined to the appendix behaved in a benign manner with no recurrence after 6 years of follow-up, while the low-grade tumours with mucin and/or cells on the serosal surface had a 5-year and 10-year survival of 86 and 45%, respectively [5]. Macdonald et al. identified two subtypes of LAMN: LAMN I (disease confined to the appendiceal lumen) and LAMN II (mucin or neoplastic epithelium or in the appendiceal submucosa, wall or periappendiceal tissue or both with and without perforation). Patients with LAMN II lesions were found to have an increased risk of developing peritoneal dissemination [18, 19]. When an appendiceal tumour presents as acute appendicitis, the patients are usually treated by general surgeons who may not be well versed in the management of these tumours and/or may not have the set-up to perform CRS and HIPEC. Moreover, the final diagnosis is usually made only after the surgical exploration and pathological diagnosis [17]. It is important that all tumours submitted for pathological examination are evaluated thoroughly for the presence of epithelial cells or mucin on the surface. For patients with a non-invasive mucinous tumour with mucin and/or epithelial cells on the serosal surface and no peritoneal spread, active surveillance with tumour marker evaluation and a CT scan every 6-12 months for 5–10 years is recommended [12, 18]. Peritoneal spread develops in 23-52% of patients with appendiceal neoplasms on surveillance after the initial surgery [20, 21]. Honore et al. in a retrospective study of 25 patients only 64% could undergo a complete cytoreductive surgery for PMP arising in patients who had undergone removal of a mucinous appendiceal tumour [21]. Hence, all efforts should be made to detect disease progression at the earliest. If peritoneal metastases are present, the patient should undergo CRS and HIPEC in an expert centre.

For an adenocarcinoma of the appendix, the approach is more aggressive. Sugarbaker recommends the following strategy: a second-look open surgery with a thorough exploration of all the peritoneal surfaces. If no peritoneal spread is found, a prophylactic surgery comprising of greater and lesser omentectomy, sampling of the appendiceal nodes (and a right hemicolectomy if they are positive) and bilateral oophorectomy with HIPEC should be performed. The ideal timing of such a procedure would be 6 months after the first procedure. If peritoneal spread is found during the second-look surgery, a complete CRS is performed in addition to the procedures listed above along with HIPEC. The rationale for such treatment is that for adenocarcinomas, the longterm outcome depends on the extent of the disease, and early disease could be missed by CT scans and tumour marker surveillance (CEA and CA-19-9) [11].

13.5 Pseudomyxoma Peritonei

PMP refers to the accumulation of mucin within the peritoneal cavity secondary to mucinous epithelial neoplasia.

It is defined as a clinical syndrome characterized by the presence of free or organized mucin with or without neoplastic cells in the peritoneal cavity and the typical pattern of redistribution [7].

It is considered a misnomer, and many authors do not use it anymore; however, in the absence of a more acceptable alternative, the term continues to be used widely [7]. Around 94% of cases of PMP develop from a mucinous tumour of the appendix [22, 23]. The less common sites of origin are a primary mucinous carcinoma of the ovary and adenocarcinomas of the gall bladder, stomach, colorectum, pancreas, fallopian tubes, urachus, lung and breast [23, 24]. When PMP develops from an ovarian tumour, it generally does so from a mature teratoma within which a mucinous neoplasm has developed [25, 26]. Primary ovarian mucinous tumours can closely mimic appendiceal metastases histologically, although there are some morphologic features in the ovary that may point to the appendix as the source [27]. PMP is now considered a malignant condition [7].

13.6 The Genesis of PMP

To begin with, there is neoplastic transformation of the appendiceal goblet cells resulting in a mucinous tumour. The tumour cells proliferate and secrete mucin leading to mucin accumulation. When the pressure within the tumour rises, it ruptures releasing mucin and tumour cells into the peritoneal cavity [28]. These tumour cells lack cell surface adhesion molecules and circulate passively with the peritoneal fluid. They get redistributed throughout the peritoneal cavity. This leads to mucinous tumour implants at the
sites of reabsorption of peritoneal fluid and dependent portions of the abdomen and pelvis which is characteristic of PMP and is known as the 'redistribution phenomenon'. Tumour deposits are commonly found in the pelvis/pouch of Douglas, right retrohepatic space, paracolic gutters, greater omentum, lesser omentum, ligamentum teres and the undersurface of the right hemidiaphragm [29, 30]. There is sparing of the peritoneal surfaces of the small bowel and its mesentery due to continuous peristaltic activity. Extensive tumour seeding may be seen around the antrum and the pylorus, the ileocaecal region and the rectosigmoid region; these areas are retroperitoneal and have limited mobility. Tumour deposits comprise of acellular mucin or mucin with cells with varying degrees of atypia with or without invasion. Fibrosis and/or a desmoplastic reaction is often present.

13.7 Classification of PMP

PMP has generally been classified according to the histology of the peritoneal disease rather than the primary tumour, since the outcome depends on the grade of the peritoneal disease and not the primary tumour; this is unusual in oncology [5, 31]. The classification has been confusing and a source of constant debate for several reasons. PMP is essentially the proliferation of mucin with varying amounts of epithelium which is usually bland, in the peritoneal cavity, yet it pursues a relentless course and if left untreated leads to death. However, unlike other malignant tumours, the disease remains confined to the peritoneal cavity for prolonged periods, and hematogenous spread which is characteristic of malignant disease is seldom seen. Organ invasion is uncommon except for the ovarian and splenic surfaces. This raises the question as to whether it should be considered benign or malignant [32]. The pathological classification is important as it provides an indication of prognosis following CRS and HIPEC and thus useful for selecting patients for this procedure. Patients with lowgrade PMP appear to gain maximal benefit.

There are several classifications that have been used for the past few decades. The first and most popular is the classification proposed by Ronnet et al. in 1995 that divides PMP into three groups-disseminated peritoneal adenomucinosis (DPAM), peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis (PMCA) and an intermediate group called PMCA-I. According to this classification, DPAM represents the classic PMP with paucicellular mucinous ascites on the surface of the peritoneum without invasion, and an indolent clinical course, whereas PMCA has a higher percentage of overtly malignant cells/cell groups invading the tissue and a poorer prognosis. Peritoneal mucinous adenocarcinoma with intermediate features (hybrid tumours) has both features with PMCA representing at least 5% of the tumour [33]. Subsequently, Ronnet regrouped hybrid tumours with PMCA based on prognostic similarity [34].

Conversely, others like Bradley grouped the DPAM and hybrid tumours together [35].

The main pitfall of the Ronnet classification is that DPAM was considered benign, though it has a malignant behaviour. In 2010, the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) and WHO proposed a two-tiered classification for PMP:

- Low-grade PMP that is characterized by mucin pools with low cellularity (<10%), bland cytology and non-stratified cuboidal epithelium
- High-grade PMP that is characterized by mucin pools with high cellularity, moderate/ severe cytological atypia and cribriform/signet ring morphology with desmoplastic stroma [36]

Though PMP is a clinical entity and not a pathological diagnosis, the WHO retains this term as a histological diagnosis [36].

Participants of the PSOGI expert consensus meeting have proposed a similar classification (Table 13.3); however, they recommend that the spread of mucin and epithelial cells should both be described separately. They also concluded that PMP should be regarded as a malignant condition

Lesion	Terminology
Mucin without epithelial cells	Acellular mucin
PMP with low-grade histologic features*	Low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei OR disseminated peritoneal adenomucinosis (DPAM)
PMP with high-grade histologic features*	High-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei OR peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis (PMCA)
PMP with signet ring cells	High-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei with signet ring cells OR peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis with signet ring cells (PMCA-S)
* Omental cake and o consistent with a di	ovarian involvement can be agnosis of either low-grade or

 Table 13.3
 PSOGI expert consensus classification of PMP (Adapted from Ref. [7])

and recommended the use of the term 'mucinous carcinoma peritonei' in favour of PMP.

high-grade disease

The classification of PMP into low- or highgrade depends essentially on the epithelial component. Invasion of PMP through the peritoneum into the parenchyma of abdominal viscera can be seen in both low-grade and high-grade lesions as demonstrated by Carr et al. in their retrospective study of 274 patients [31]. They found no association between the grade and the frequency of organ invasion. Invasion was seen to spread inwards from the serosa and exhibited a rounded rather than infiltrative edge. It appeared to be due to direct spread and not blood-borne metastases. As opposed to this 'infiltrative' invasion of single cells or complex small glands, a desmoplastic stroma was associated with high-grade lesions. Thus, low-grade peritoneal deposits could have acellular mucin alone, mucin with non-invasive epithelium or mucin with non-infiltrative invasive epithelium. High-grade lesions showed infiltrative invasion with or without signet ring cells. The authors found a concordance between the degree of atypia in the primary lesion and the PMP except in two cases where high-grade appendiceal adenocarcinomas were associated with bland, low-grade PMP. Thus, in general, low-grade PMP is usually associated with LAMN, high-grade PMP with mucinous adenocarcinoma or signet ring cell carcinoma [31].

These classifications still do not clarify how the hybrid tumours (PMCA-I) are to be classified. The presence of epithelium with infiltrative invasion would warrant grouping them with highgrade PMP or high-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei (Fig. 13.1).

13.8 The Importance of Signet Ring Cells

According to the Ronnet classification, even PMCA-I tumours can have signet ring cells, and some researchers classify PMCA-I with lowgrade tumours which raises the question whether low-grade tumours can have signet ring cells. However, both the WHO and the PSOGI classification classify tumours with any percentage of signet ring cells as high-grade. In a retrospective study of 55 patients, Sirintrapun et al. demonstrated that the behaviour of tumours with signet ring cells floating freely in mucin pools was similar to high-grade adenocarcinomas with signet ring cells, whereas tumours in which the signet ring cells invaded the tissue had a poorer prognosis. Free-floating signet ring cells were usually present focally in their study [37]. Shetty et al. used a three-tiered grading system for PMP [38]. In their system, PMP1 was analogous to DPAM; tumours with any amount of signet ring cell morphology were classified as PMP3; and PMP2 was reserved for tumours that did not meet the criteria for PMP1 or PMP3 [38]. Tumours with any percentage of signet ring cells are considered to be of 'high-grade' though those with a smaller percentage may have a better outcome.

13.9 The Mucin in PMP

The mucin that is seen in PMP has certain characteristic features that differentiate it from mucinous peritoneal deposits arising from mucinous adenocarcinomas. Acellular mucin is seen in patients with PMP. The mucin in PMP is associ-



Fig. 13.1 Pathological spectrum of PMP. (**a**) Low-grade PMP with a single layer of cuboidal epithelium with basal nuclei. (**b**) Low-grade PMP-pseudostratified columnar epithelium with basal nuclei and apical mucin, without desmoplasia. (**c**) Low-grade tumour with high-grade cyto-

logical atypia—area of epithelium with high-grade cytological features and foci of necrosis (red arrow); however, no infiltrative invasion/organ invasion was seen. (d) Highgrade PMP epit, characteristic of infiltrative invasion

ated with an inflammatory reaction and has fibrosis and ingrowth of blood vessels [39].

Mucins are secreted by normal epithelial cells in the body and line the mucosal surfaces. They are a group of high molecular weight heavily glycosylated proteins also called MUC proteins. There are two types of mucins—membraneassociated mucins and secreted mucins. There are two types of secreted mucins—gel-forming and non-gel-forming [40, 41]. Colonic mucin is a gel-forming mucin, and this is the mucin that is secreted in PMP. There are various gel-forming mucins of which MUC2 is specifically secreted in the small intestine and colon [42].

MUC2 is more extensively glycosylated and more voluminous, and hence there is abundant mucin collection with an average mucin/cell ratio of >10:1. O Connell showed that primary ovarian mucinous tumours express MUC5AC, while solitary appendiceal mucinous tumours express MUC2 and MUC5B. MUC2 is a molecular marker for PMP [43, 44]. The mucin in PMP is ectopically secreted and increasingly deposited in the peritoneal cavity where it is unable to degrade or drain away forming voluminous gels over months and years. Most of the tumour cells are surrounded by the mucin coat that allows them to move freely, disseminate and redistribute within the peritoneal cavity. This coating also acts as a protective shield against immune recognition and chemotherapy [42].

13.10 Management

13.10.1 Presentation: Symptoms and Signs

PMP tends to be an incidental finding either on imaging or during exploratory surgery performed for other indications, most commonly acute appendicitis or evaluation of a pelvic mass, less commonly during hernia surgery. Intraperitoneal accumulation of mucin itself produces almost no symptoms till there is gross distention resulting in abdominal discomfort and breathlessness. These patients are usually well preserved till very late in the course of the disease when obstruction sets in and oral intake is compromised. Typically, the symptoms are out of proportion with the clinical findings.

13.10.2 Establishing a Diagnosis

A history of appendectomy with subsequent development of peritoneal metastases/ascites may point towards the diagnosis. PMP has certain classical imaging features like scalloping of the liver, spleen, etc. which also help in the diagnosis. In less advanced cases, the density (high attenuation due to mucin) of the ascitic fluid on CT scan is suggestive of mucinous ascites and PMP [45]. When a complete cytoreduction is deemed possible and the clinical picture befits PMP, a biopsy may not be necessary. When the diagnosis is in doubt or a non-surgical intervention is planned, it is prudent to perform a biopsy for confirmation of the diagnosis and to determine the grade of PMP. An ultrasound-guided aspiration of the mucinous fluid which is often the first test to be performed may yield only fluid without cells and may be inadequate [46]. A peritoneal or omental biopsy performed laparoscopically or at open surgery is ideal. For paracentesis and laparoscopy both, no lateral puncture or port sites should be used as this may result in abdominal wall tumour seeding, reducing the probability of disease eradication. Many times, laparoscopic access and visualization may be compromised by disease extent, in particular a large omental cake, rendering accurate laparoscopic assessment impossible [47].

13.10.3 Investigations

13.10.3.1 Tumour Markers: CEA, CA125, and CA19.9

These should be performed for all patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC. Several studies have found that preoperative marker elevation correlated with an inferior survival. Patients with one or more marker elevations are less likely to have a complete cytoreduction, have a propensity to recur and have a poor survival compared to those that have normal markers [47–49]. These markers can be used for follow-up as well, and rising markers post-surgery are indicative of disease recurrence [50].

13.10.3.2 Imaging for PMP

CT scan The most commonly performed investigation is a contrast enhanced CT scan of the thorax, abdomen and pelvis. Mucinous disease is typically represented by areas of low attenuation with islands of high attenuation due to solid material within the mucinous ascites.

Some of the findings characteristic of PMP are (Fig. 13.2):

- Scalloping of the surfaces of the liver and spleen by the mucinous deposits
- Sparing of the small bowel serosa
- Extensive omental involvement
- Loculated intraperitoneal collections
- Curvilinear calcifications
- Fluid around the appendix or a mass in the appendiceal region [51]



Fig. 13.2 Characteristic CT findings in PMP. (a) Loculated fluid collections with areas of calcification, sparing of the small bowel; (b) scalloping of the surfaces

of the liver and the spleen; (C) mass in the region of the appendix

A CT scan is also used to evaluate the extent of the disease and determine the peritoneal cancer index (CT-PCI). The accuracy of a CT in predicting the PCI is dependent on the lesion size. For lesions <0.5 cm, it is 11% as opposed to 37 and 94% for lesions measuring 0.5-5.0 cm and those >5 cm, respectively [52]. The BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE working groups have developed the MalIgnancy Stage PeRitOneal Evaluation (PROMISE) Internet application (www.e-promise. org) to facilitate tabulation and automatically calculate the peritoneal cancer index (PCI). This application offers computer assistance to produce simple, quick but precise and standardized pre-, intra- and postoperative reports of the extent of peritoneal metastases [53].

In contrast to colorectal and gastric cancer, there is no cut-off for PCI beyond which a CRS should not be performed provided a complete tumour removal is possible. However, it does have prognostic significance as patients with lower PCI have a longer survival [12]. The small bowel and its mesentery are the areas that are most difficult to clear of all the disease, and predicting the extent of disease in this area is an important part of the preoperative evaluation. Sugarbaker et al. defined two kinds of small bowel involvement:

- Compartmentalization: In this situation, a large volume of mucinous tumour surrounds a compartmentalized small bowel. The bowel loops may be pushed to one side of the peritoneal cavity. However, the contour of the bowel loops is normal, and the patient has no gastrointestinal symptoms. Such a patient would have a high probability of a complete cytoreduction (Fig. 13.3).
- 2. Diffuse involvement of the small bowel: In this situation, there is diffuse infiltration of the spaces between the small bowel with mucinous tumour, and the patient has a low likelihood of a complete cytoreduction (Fig. 13.4) [12].



Fig. 13.3 Compartmentalization of the small bowel on CT scan—the small bowel is pushed to the left upper quadrant of the abdomen but is uninvolved by tumour



Fig. 13.4 CT scan showing mucinous tumour involving the serosa of the small bowel at multiple sites

Other adverse radiological features associated with small bowel involvement include segmental obstruction and tumour masses greater than 5 cm on the small bowel and its mesentery. When both features are present, there is an 88% probability of incomplete resection compared with a 92% probability of complete resection when both are absent [54].

Other adverse features of CT scan which would preclude a complete cytoreduction are:

- Involvement of the bladder trigone, pancreatic head and porta hepatis
- Massive or diffuse involvement of the pleural space [55]

A simplified preoperative assessment for appendix tumour (SPAAT) score has been developed by Fournier et al. based on computed tomography scan findings thought to predict incomplete cytoreduction. This score is based on scalloping on organs by mucinous deposits and the degree of small bowel mesentery foreshortening. A score of >3 is a predictor of inoperability [56]. However, it is possible to attain a complete cytoreduction even in the presence of organ indentation, and hence the value of such a score is questionable.

MRI

MRI is being increasingly used for assessment of peritoneal metastases, and some have reported a greater accuracy in predicting the PCI [57]. However, it requires a stringent protocol: bowel preparation, 6 h of fasting and prolonged scan time. In the hands of experienced radiologists, it has been found to be more accurate in predicting small bowel involvement as compared to a CT scan. MRI may be better for detecting small volume disease as compared to CT [58]. Both CT and MRI can be used in conjunction to accurately predict operability.

FDG-PET Scan

FDG-PET is used by some in patients with appendiceal adenocarcinoma for detecting distant metastases, whereas most would prefer a CT scan of the thorax, abdomen and pelvis [59]. In a prospective study of 34 patients, Passot et al. found that though CT was more accurate in predicting the extent of peritoneal spread, preoperative 18F-FDG-PET distinguished DPAM from PMCA or hybrid forms, with a sensitivity of 90% and a specificity of 77%. The authors concluded that preoperative 18F-FDG-PET may be useful in differentiating between pathological grades based on uptake of 18F-FDG and that the combination of 18F-FDG-PET with CT scan improves evaluation of peritoneal spread [60].

13.10.4 Patient Selection

Two issues need to be addressed while selecting patients for the procedure: the patient's ability to withstand the procedure and the ability of the surgeon to completely remove the tumour. Patients with a good performance status (ECOG 0-1) fare better and those with a poor performance status and these patients should be excluded. Similarly, patients with a serum albumin level of less than 3 g per decilitre have a poor outcome. A complete blood count and biochemistry and anaesthesia evaluation is done for all patients. For both high- and low-grade tumours provided that a complete cytoreduction is possible, a surgery is warranted irrespective of the PCI. For high-grade tumours, preoperative chemotherapy may be considered for patients in whom the surgeon is not confident of a CC-0/1 [12]. There is no cut-off of PCI beyond which a complete cytoreduction cannot be achieved. Similarly, a poor general condition does not always preclude an aggressive surgical approach. However, such decisions are best made by a multidisciplinary team in an expert centre. Evaluation of patients at expert centres ensures that no patient is denied the opportunity to undergo a curative resection.

13.10.5 Treatment

Compared to colon cancer, mucinous appendiceal tumours with peritoneal spread tend to remain confined to the peritoneal cavity with a low incidence of spread to the lymph nodes, liver and other distant sites of metastases. This unique tumour biology makes them candidates for aggressive loco-regional therapy. Recurrences outside the abdomen and pelvis are uncommon.

The standard of care for PMP is aggressive loco-regional therapy comprising of complete cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC [61-63]. The conventional treatment used to be repeated is drainage of mucin or debulking surgery comprising of removal of the primary tumour and the omentum. In two publications from the Mayo Clinic, reporting the results of debulking surgery for low-grade appendiceal mucinous tumours, the 10-year survival was 32% in one series and 5-year survival 6% in another [64, 65]. In 2005, Miner et al. reported a 10-year survival of 21% (12% disease-free) in 97 patients treated by serial debulking, systemic chemotherapy and/or delayed intermittent intraperitoneal 5-fluorouracil over a 22-year period at Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center [66].

Contrary to this, Sugarbaker reported a 5-year survival of 86% in patients with low-grade tumours undergoing a complete cytoreduction in a series of 385 patients [67]. An expert consensus panel discussion at the Fifth International Workshop on Peritoneal Surface Malignancy in Milan, Italy, concluded that there was a survival benefit of the procedure compared with historical controls [62]. Subsequently, 2298 patients from 16 specialized institutions around the world treated with cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC experienced a median survival rate of 196 months (16.3 years) and the median progression-free survival rate of 98 months (8.2 years), with 10- and 15-year survival rates of 63 and 59%, respectively [68]. In the largest single institution series of 1000 patients, Moran et al. reported a 5- and 10-year overall survival of 87.4 and 70.3%, respectively, in the 738 patients who had CC-0/1 compared with 39.2 and 8.1%, respectively, in patients who had a CC-2/3 resection [69].

Though the reports from expert centres report a mortality of 2% and a grade 3–4 morbidity of 24%, these could be significantly higher when the procedure is undertaken by less experienced teams [68]. Selecting patients is crucial, and only those patients who will derive benefit from the procedure should be subjected to it. The goal of CRS should be complete removal of macroscopic disease. Several prognostic indicators have been identified for patient selection.

13.10.6 Surgical Interventions

The goal of cytoreductive surgery is to attain a complete cytoreduction (cc0, no residual tumour; or CC-1, residual tumour <2.5 mm). A midline incision from the xiphoid to the pubis is required with resection of all the previous scars.

For this one or more of the five peritonectomies with resection of adjacent viscera are required. Only the areas of disease involvement are resected. Normal peritoneal surfaces are not resected. The only exception is a total omentectomy which is performed even with no macroscopic tumour deposits in the omentum. A detailed description is provided elsewhere [70]. When the disease is extensive, a thorough exploration is performed to look for contraindication for CRS, and no bowel should be resected till the surgical plan is finalized. Sugarbaker advocates the use a ball-tipped cautery at high voltage that leaves a margin of heat necrosis and devoid of tumour cells [71]. However, several surgeons have their preferences, including the use of bipolar scissors, the ultrasonic scalpel or a combination of any of the above.

Of particular mention is the technique of resection of Glisson's capsule that is frequently involved in PMP.

Conventionally, the tumour is destroyed using high-voltage pure-cut electro-evaporation. But complete tumour removal like that of a peritoneal resection may not be achieved by this method. Glehen and his collaborators have described the technique of digital glissonectomy using blunt finger dissection and a bipolar scissors by which a fast and bloodless Glisson's capsulectomy can be performed [72]. The procedure can be combined with an atypical liver resection if required. In their institutional experience of 91 procedures, the authors reported that it did not add to either the morbidity or mortality of CRS significantly [73].

13.10.7 Multi-visceral Resection for Achieving Complete Cytoreduction

Approximately one third of the patients with PMP present with extensive disease. While there is no standard definition of what constitutes extensive disease, Elias et al. have defined it as a PCI of >28 as 'huge PMP' [74]. Patients with extensive disease usually require resection of multiple viscera and one or more segments of the bowel.

Sacrificing large segments of the small bowel that leads to a remnant 2 m is often the limiting factor for achieving a complete CRS. When the remnant is smaller than 2 m, patients require total parenteral nutrition. When the total colectomy is required, at least 3 m of small bowel needs to be preserved, and if the colonic remnant is less than 30–50 cm, at least 2.5 m should be preserved [74].

Mucinous tumour that enters the lesser sac through the foramen of Winslow will accumulate by gravity in the sub-pyloric space which is a culde-sac beneath the pylorus [74]. For complete cytoreduction, mucinous tumour accumulation in the sub-pyloric space must be cleared.

If there is tumour accumulation in the subpyloric space and the left gastric artery can be preserved, a complete cytoreduction can be achieved without gastrectomy. In other cases, complete tumour clearance requires a partial or total gastrectomy [75] (Fig. 13.5).

Sugarbaker initially used a staged procedure performing a high jejunostomy to drain the enteric secretions followed by a Roux-en-Y anastomosis few months later in patients who required a total gastrectomy for achieving a complete cytoreduction [76]. Recent studies have shown



Fig. 13.5 CT scan showing extensive upper abdominal disease with encasement of the antrum of the stomach and serosal involvement—the patient will require at least a partial gastrectomy to clear the disease around the stomach

that in experienced centres, immediate restoration of gastrointestinal continuity is feasible and safe [77, 78]. In a review of 1014 patients of PMP by Moran et al., 12% of the patients received a total or partial gastrectomy. The morbidity was significantly higher in patients undergoing a gastrectomy (31 vs 13%, p = 0.001), but there was no difference in the mortality. Patients requiring a gastrectomy experienced a good long-term survival (5-year DFS of 48% and 5-year OS of 77%) though this was significantly inferior to that in patients not requiring a gastrectomy [79].

Contrary to these reports, Elias et al. do not recommend a total gastrectomy for patients with PMP, stating that these patients require extensive small bowel resection that precludes maintaining a good nutritional status and quality of life [74]. A total gastrectomy should not be performed in patients who have undergone extensive small bowel resection.

Yonemura et al. reported the results of performing a total gastrectomy and total colectomy in 48 patients with a median PCI of 33. Grade 3–5 complications were seen in 18 (37.5%) patients, and the mortality was 2.1% [80]. Patients who had staged resections had an acceptable quality of life.

For tumour seeding in the pelvis, resection of the pelvic peritoneum along with the prevesical peritoneum, pouch of Douglas and the rectosigmoid may be needed to attain a complete cytoreduction. Pelvic peritonectomy begins in a centripetal fashion from the pelvic and prevesical peritoneum towards the rectum and the mesorectum preserving the retroperitoneal structures like the ureters, gonadal vessels and iliac vessels [81]. The plane of dissection is anterior to these structures and is largely an avascular plane. The inferior limit of the dissection is the seminal vesicles in males (and the uterine cervix in females). Once the anterior wall of the rectum is completely freed and the cul-de-sac dissected en bloc with the pelvic peritoneum, the rectum is transacted in its mid portion after clearing the mesorectum [81]. A stapled end-to-end tension-free anastomosis is performed. When the anastomosis is above the peritoneal reflection, a temporary

ileostomy can be avoided. Sugarbaker has described the technique of inverting the stapled anastomosis with a layer of interrupted silk sutures and avoiding a temporary ileostomy provided 10–15 cm of the rectum is preserved [82]. In a series of 958 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC from Basingstoke, 34.5% of the patients required a stoma for achieving complete CRS of which 25% of the patients had a permanent stoma. All temporary stomas in this series were subsequently reversed [83].

13.10.8 Laparoscopic CRS and HIPEC

For selected patients with limited disease extent (PCI < 10) and low PMP, laparoscopic CRS and HIPEC have been used with the goal of reducing the morbidity and hospital stay [84–86]. The reported conversion rates were low and improved with experience. Patient selection is important. The drawbacks of this approach are difficulty in properly assessing certain areas like the small bowel mesentery, technical difficulty in obese patients and those with extensive prior surgery, the potential for dissemination of malignant cells (debatable) and prolonged operative times [86]. With growing experience, the utility of such procedures could increase specifically in patients with more extensive disease.

13.10.9 Small Bowel Transplant

The peritoneal surface malignancy team from Basingstoke in conjunction with an organ transplant team has performed small bowel and multivisceral transplant for four patients of PMP with end-stage disease and intestinal failure over a period of 2 years. Two patients died of postoperative complications. The two patients who survived were independent of TPN for over a year and experienced a good quality of life [87]. The long-term outcomes of such procedures need to be looked into to determine their role in the treatment of PMP.

13.10.10 HIPEC

HIPEC is performed after complete tumour removal by the open, semiopen or closed technique for a duration of 30–120 min using a mitomycin C or oxaliplatin-based regimen. There are various protocols used in clinical practice, and current evidence does not show the superiority of one over the other (Table 13.4). Oxaliplatin is cleared rapidly from the peritoneal cavity (80% in 60 min); hence, HIPEC is performed for 30 min, while mitomycin C takes a longer time (80% in 90 min) to clear; hence, the HIPEC duration is 90 min [93]. A simultaneous intravenous infusion of 5FU is included in some protocols.

The mechanism is enhanced concentration of the drug in the heated peritoneal surfaces leading to prolonged exposure of the tumour to the drug [93]. There is a variation in the toxicity profile of the two drugs, but a head-to-head comparison in terms of efficacy is not available. The carrier solution for oxaliplatin is 5% dextrose which can result in hyperglycaemia, hyponatremia and met-

abolic acidosis in the postoperative period [94]. These effects become more pronounced at a perfusion temperature of 42-43° C [95]. In a recent report by Verwaal et al., using Dianeal instead of 5% glucose leads to a significant reduction in the electrolyte imbalance and hyperglycaemia in the perioperative period [96]. HIPEC with oxaliplatin is also associated with a greater reduction in the neutrophil and platelet count in the postoperative period as compared to a mitomycin-based protocol [97]. There is a significant increase in haemorrhagic complications following the HIPEC with oxaliplatin as reported by the retrospective multicentric French study of 771 patients. The incidence of postoperative haemorrhage was 14.3%, and a PCI of >12 was an inderisk factor for haemorrhagic pendent complications (p = 0.040) [98]. The dose of oxaliplatin is according to the Elias protocol of 460 mg/m² which is several times higher than that for intravenous administration [91]. Currently, two other regimens that use a lower dose of oxaliplatin are in clinical use.

Table 13.4 Various drug regimens for HIPEC for appendiceal tumours

Regimen	IP drugs	IV drugs	Carrier solution	Duration
Mitomycin C based				
Sugarbaker regimen [88]	Mitomycin C 15 mg/m ²	5-Fluorouracil 400 mg/m ²	2 L of 1.5% dextrose peritoneal dialysis	90
	Autanyem 15 mg/m	Leucovorin 25 mg/m ²	solution	
Dutch high-dose mitomycin C	Mitomycin C 35 mg/m ²		3 L of 1.5% dextrose	90
regimen [89]	17.5 mg/m ² followed by 8.8 mg/m^2 at 30 and 60 min		peritoneal dialysis solution	
ASPSM low-dose regimen:	Mitomycin C 40 mg/m ²		3 L of 1.5% dextrose	90
'concentration-based regimen' [90]	30 mg/m^2 followed by 10 mg/m^2 at 60 min		peritoneal dialysis solution	
Oxaliplatin-based regimens				
Elias high-dose oxaliplatin regimen [91]	Oxaliplatin 460 mg/m ²	5-Fluorouracil 400 mg/m ²	2 L/m ² 5% dextrose solution	30
		Leucovorin 25 mg/m ²		
Glehen medium-dose oxaliplatin regimen	Oxaliplatin 360 mg/m ²	5-Fluorouracil 400 mg/m ²	2 L/m ² 5% dextrose solution	30
		Leucovorin 25 mg/m ²		
Wake Forest University oxaliplatin regimen [92]	Oxaliplatin 200 mg/m ²		3 L 5% dextrose solution	120

13.10.11 EPIC and Postoperative Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy

Some surgeons administer early postoperative chemotherapy in addition of HIPEC or as an alternative. Many others do not administer it because of the probability of a prolonged hospital stay and complications and uncertain benefit. The most commonly used regimen of EPIC is the one by Sugarbaker in which 5-fluorouracil is given for 4 days as an intraperitoneal instillation in 1.5% peritoneal dialysis fluid at 400 mg/m² [12]. The total dose should not exceed 2 g/m² including what has been given as part of the bidirectional chemotherapy. Patients who have had systemic chemotherapy previously may not tolerate the full dose. EPIC should be avoided in patients who are at a high risk of developing bowel fistula in the postoperative period-patients who have had extensive surgery over the bowel or bowel damage fall into this category [12].

In the largest multi-institutional study by Chua et al., EPIC had a favourable impact on the overall survival, but less than half the patients received it [68]. In a retrospective study of 250 patients, Morris et al. demonstrated that the combination of HIPEC + EPIC leads to a significant benefit in overall survival for patients with LAMNs with PMP compared with HIPEC alone without increasing postoperative morbidity and mortality [99]. In another retrospective study of 93 patients, no difference in OS and DFS was observed between patients with high-grade appendiceal adenocarcinoma treated with CRS and HIPEC + EPIC versus HIPEC alone. However, HIPEC + EPIC patients experienced a greater morbidity [100].

At Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, patients are given multiple cycles of postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy through an intraperitoneal catheter: intraperitoneal 5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine (1000 mg/m daily for 3 days) plus leucovorin (240 mg/m²) during each cycle. The number of such cycles is variable and depends on the tolerance of the patient. In a retrospective study of 50 patients who received 1–9 cycles of such treatment, the authors reported a 5-year DFS of 43% and a median OS of 9.8 years [101].

Another retrospective study in Norway of 93 patients compared EPIC and HIPEC following complete cytoreduction and showed no difference in 10-year OS and DFS [102]. However, both these are small retrospective studies, and the survival is inferior to that shown by CRS and HIPEC in larger studies. A randomized, non-blinded, phase II clinical trial is currently ongoing at MSK—'Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy After cytoreductive Surgery' (ICaRuS). It is the first head-to-head comparison between HIPEC and EPIC after complete cytoreduction in patients with neoplasms of the appendix, colon or rectum with isolated peritoneal metastases (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01815359).

13.11 Prognostic Indicators

Proper selection of patients for treatment is important to ensure that only those patients who actually benefit from the procedure are subjected to it. Quantitative prognostic indicators have been established that allow the surgeon to predict the likelihood of long-term benefit. Apart from the general health and fitness for the procedure, these indicators should be taken into consideration before taking up a patient for surgery [103].

The most important prognostic indicator is the completeness of cytoreduction (CC) score; a complete cytoreduction indicates that either there is no visible residual disease (CC-0) or the residual tumour deposits measure less than 2.5 mm in size and can be eradicated by the HIPEC (CC-1). Any residual disease >2.5 mm (CC-2 residual disease measuring 2.5 mm-5 cm or CC-3 residual disease measuring >5 cm) is considered debulking. Chua et al. reported a 5-year survival of 85% in patients with CC-0 and 80% in patients with a CC-1 resection as opposed to only 24% in patients with gross residual disease (CC-2/3) in the largest multiinstitutional study published so far. The difference was statistically significant and was not influenced either by the tumour grade or PCI [68]. Similarly in the largest single institutional study of 1000 patients, the 5- and 10-year overall survival was 87.4 and 70.3%, respectively, in the 738 patients who had a complete CRS compared with 39.2 and 8.1%, respectively, in patients with CC-2/3 resections [69]. Achieving a complete cytoreduction especially in patients with a high tumour burden requires a considerable amount of skill and is associated with a prolonged learning curve (90 procedures for the surgeon and 100 procedures for the centre) [104]. Hence, such procedures should be taken up by surgeons and centres that have the necessary expertise and experience, baring which referral to someone more experienced is warranted.

This is reiterated by the fact that patients with carcinoma low-grade mucinous peritonei (DPAM) and high-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei (PMCA) experience a 5-year and 10-year survival of 73 and 68% (for DPAM), respectively, and 56 and 46% (for PMCA), respectively, for PCI >31-39 [68]. In another series of 48 patients with a median PCI of 33, Yonemura et al. reported a 5-year overall survival of 48.6% [80]. PCI is still an important prognostic variable for patients with DPAM and PMCA both. However, unlike colorectal and gastric cancers, there is no cut-off of the PCI level beyond which a complete cytoreduction should not be attempted. For some patients, rather than the actual PCI, it is the anatomical location of the disease which is important. Especially in cases of small bowel involvement where despite a PCI that is not very high, it may be impossible to clear the entire tumour from the bowel surface and its mesentery. Another group of patients is those who have had multiple prior attempts at cytoreduction and have unresectable disease at crucial anatomic sites like the common bile duct, the base of the bladder or pelvic sidewall. The presence of residual unresectable disease at these crucial anatomic sites overrides the favourable effect on the prognosis of low PCI score [105].

The other important prognostic factor is the tumour grade or the histologic subtype. Ronnet and colleagues originally described diffuse peritoneal adenomucinosis (DPAM, median survival 112 months) and the more aggressive peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis (PMCA, median survival 24 months).

Chua et al. reported a significantly better 5and 10-year overall survival for patients with DPAM and hybrid tumours as compared to PMCA (81 and 70%, respectively, for DPAM; 78 and 63%, respectively, for hybrid tumours; and 59 and 49% for PMCA) [68]. In contrast to this, Levine et al. reported a median OS of only 18 months in 110 patients with high-grade tumours which increased to 36 months in patients who had a complete removal of macroscopic disease (CC-0). However, included in this analysis were nonmucinous tumours, and neuroendocrine tumours with or without goblet cell differentiation were included as well [106]. For both high- and lowgrade tumours, where a complete CRS is possible, it should be the first line of treatment.

13.12 Other Prognostic Factors

13.12.1 Prior Surgical Score

The prior surgical score quantifies the extent of non-definitive surgery that was performed prior to CRS and HIPEC. Prior surgical score (PSS) ranged from 0 to 3 and looks at abdominal regions 0–8. PSS-0 indicates no prior surgery or only a biopsy, PSS-1 for surgery in one abdominal region only, PSS-2 for surgery in two to five regions and PSS-3 for surgery in more than five regions [12]. The biopsy could be an open or laparoscopic biopsy, a CT-guided biopsy or a paracentesis with cytology. The number of abdominopelvic regions is additive for all prior surgical procedures; hence, the PSS is a composite of all prior surgeries [105].

Sugarbaker has demonstrated that in most areas, the peritoneum serves as the first line of defence against peritoneal metastases and cancer does not spread to the connective tissue below the peritoneum at least in early stages of the disease [107]. The exceptions are the milky spots in the omenta, at the junction of the small bowel and its mesentery, the lacuna in the diaphragm and naturally occurring raw areas on the surface of the ovary due to corpus haemorrhagic. The commonest cause of breach in the peritoneum is prior debulking surgery that leads to the implantation of intraperitoneal tumour cells at the surgical resection sites, deep to the peritoneum. Tumour implanted in the scar tissue deep to the peritoneum may be impossible or difficult to remove by peritonectomy or eradicate by intraperitoneal chemotherapy [107]. Moreover there is formation of intra-abdominal adhesions that makes subsequent cytoreduction technically challenging. In a retrospective study of 83 patients, Chua et al. demonstrated that upfront treatment conferred a superior 5-year recurrence-free survival rate (77 vs 37%, p = 0.011) and 10-year overall survival benefit (67 vs 35%, p = 0.054) [10]. A prior surgical score of >2 has a negative impact on both DFS and OS [68].

13.12.2 Lymph Node Involvement

Chua et al. demonstrated an inferior survival in patients with lymph node involvement both in low-grade and high-grade PMP. The 5-year survival was similar in node-positive patients in both these subgroups (50% for DPAM, 43% for PMCA) [68]. In another retrospective study of 250 patients, patients with positive lymph node involvement had a greater risk of death than those without (HR = 2.87, p = 0.009) [108].

Wagner et al. identified three high-risk features: high tumour grade, lymph node involvement and incomplete cytoreduction. They found that the presence of one or more of these features was associated with an inferior survival, and subsequently they came up with a prognostic staging system and nomograms [109].

13.12.3 Prior Chemotherapy

Prior chemotherapy has been associated with a poorer overall and disease-free survival. This is probably due to the fact that patients with either high tumour burden or PMCA would be the ones receiving chemotherapy [68, 108].

13.13 Debulking Surgery

Patients with extensive disease may be declared inoperable before the procedure. Without treatment, these patients experience worsening of symptoms, bowel obstruction and death. They might obtain some symptom relief and prolongation of life by a debulking surgery. The likelihood of benefit from surgical treatment in such cases has to be balanced against the risk of postoperative complication and the ensuing deterioration in the quality of life. Some patients planned for a complete cytoreduction are found to have unresectable disease during surgery and end up with a CC-2/3 resection.

There is no consensus on what is the most appropriate treatment for such patients.

The questions that arise in this situation are:

- Should a debulking surgery be performed in patients that seem inoperable?
- Which patients benefit from debulking surgery?
- What should be the extent of surgery?
- Should such procedures be combined with perioperative chemotherapy?

Moran et al. in their study of 1000 patients reported a 5- and 10-year overall survival of 39.2 and 8.1%, respectively, in 242 patients who had a major tumour debulking [69]. Major debulking in their series comprised of an extended right hemicolectomy, greater omentectomy and splenectomy with an ileocolic anastomosis or a total colectomy with an end ileostomy [69].

Another strategy as proposed by Delhorme et al. is to perform maximal tumour debulking, leaving less than 20% of the disease in areas where it is not likely to cause symptoms, with the goal of obtaining prolonged OS and long-lasting relief of the symptoms, thus ensuring a good quality of life [110]. The visceral resections mostly performed comprise the distal portion of the stomach, a total or subtotal colectomy and a part of the small bowel preserving at least 2.5 m. The areas on which tumour may be left behind are the undersurfaces of the diaphragms, Glisson's capsule, the whole rectum (if there is no stenosis) and the nonobstructive nodules measuring less than 10 mm on the small bowel. The authors recommend that all efforts should be made to avoid creating a stoma as stomas created in such situations have a greater likelihood of being permanent. Use of any form of intraperitoneal chemotherapy is not recommended by them in view of the higher risk of major morbidity. The 5-year overall survival was 46% in this series compared to 15 and 30% in other series [66, 110].

Glehen et al. reported 3-year and 5-year survival rates of 34% and 15%, respectively, in 174 patients who had incomplete cytoreductive surgery with or without perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy [111]. Thirty-seven patients who did not receive any form of intraperitoneal chemotherapy due to inter-bowel adhesions had an inferior survival than those who received either HIPEC or EPIC or both (p < 0.001). Sixty-one patients had HIPEC, and these patients had a better survival that those who did not (p < 0.001). The authors also mentioned that there was a selection bias in favour of patients who had perioperative chemotherapy (POC). No patients with lymph node involvement were alive at 2 years, and the 2-year survival of patients with signet ring cells was less than 30%. The authors did not recommend an incomplete CRS and POC for these patients [111].

Thus, there is enough evidence to suggest that such procedures may provide a prolongation of life and symptomatic relief in selected patients. However, such decisions should be made by multidisciplinary teams and the treatment executed in experienced centres, to ensure that no patient is deprived of a complete cytoreduction where it is possible. Whereas the use of HIPEC is recommended by some, others do not advocate it.

13.14 Morbidity and Mortality

The crux of the combined modality treatment has been the morbidity. It has been demonstrated quite clearly that an increase in the experience leads to a reduction in the morbidity and mortality both, this being attributed to an improvement in patient selection, perioperative management and surgical expertise [112]. According to recent reports, the grade 3 and 4 complication rate ranges from 22 to 34% and mortality from 0.8 to 4.1% [68, 113–115]. Some of the factors associated with increased morbidity are increasing number of prior surgeries, prior surgical score of 3 and a PCI > 20 [66]. Several studies have shown that two or more bowel anastomosis have a significant impact on morbidity of patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC [116–118]. Increasing number of peritonectomies also increases the morbidity. Only the number of anastomoses seems to have an impact on morbidity, not the number of organs resected [119].

13.15 Role of Chemotherapy

Though peritoneal dissemination from mucinous appendiceal tumours is a stage 4 disease, the standard of care is CRS and HIPEC irrespective of the tumour grade. The role of chemotherapy is not clear in these patients. It may be used as adjuvant therapy in patients with high-grade disease or with other poor prognostic factors. It may also be of use in patients deemed unresectable or those having a recurrence after CRS and HIPEC.

Evidence to support the use of systemic chemotherapy after complete CRS and HIPEC in patients with high-grade PMP is scarce. Though some authors still claim that chemotherapy is the standard of care for high-grade PMP, the evidence to support such a recommendation is even more scarce [120].

Analysis of a national cancer database showed that the use of chemotherapy did not improve the OS in patients with mucinous histology, while there was a benefit in patients with non-mucinous histology. The surgical details were not available, but patients who had some kind of surgery in addition to chemotherapy had better outcomes. Stratification according to grade is not available either [121].

Some small retrospective studies have shown a benefit of adjuvant chemotherapy for highgrade tumours; others have not [122].

FOLFOX 4 has shown to be active in patients who are deemed unresectable or have relapsed after CRS and HIPEC [123]. The addition of bevacizumab to chemotherapy in such patients has shown to improve both the progression-free and overall survival [124]. An older study showed a benefit in 38% of patients with unresectable disease receiving mitomycin C and capecitabine [125]. FOLFIRI has also shown activity in these tumours [126].

In a prospective study of 34 patients, Sugarbaker et al. concluded that CRS may be facilitated in 20% of the patients. There was no difference in outcomes between 3 and 6 months of FOLFOX. There was less toxicity if the treatment was given for 3 months and disease progression is minimized in nonresponders. An accurate assessment of response was possible only by exploratory laparotomy. Three patients experienced downstaging to DPAM from PMCA, and 29% had a complete or near-complete histopathologic response [127]. In another series of 26 patients receiving systemic chemotherapy \pm bevacizumab, 58% had a response based on improvement in imaging, biomarkers or both, and 34% had stable disease [128]. Another study showed a benefit only in signet ring cell tumours [129].

13.16 Lysis of Mucin as a Therapeutic Option for PMP

Recurrence is common in patients with PMP. The progressive accumulation of mucin is debilitating. There is a theoretical possibility to using a mucolytic agent in addition to CRS and HIPEC to reduce the risk of recurrence. Similarly, it can be used to dissolve mucinous masses and aid surgery or be used as a palliative option. Dextrose has been proposed as mucolytic agent, but its clinical benefit is unproven [130–133]. There are case reports showing benefit of other agents like sodium bicarbonate [134]. Other in vitro studies showed a benefit of agents like ascorbic acid and hydrogen peroxide used in combination [135]. Morris et al. have demonstrated the mucin-lysing effects of a combination of N-acetyl cysteine and bromelain in in vitro studies as well as in in vivo studies in animal models without significant adverse effects [136, 137]. In in vitro models, this combination has also shown to limit tumour growth [138]. This approach appears to be promising in preclinical studies.

13.17 Follow-Up of Patients

Following definitive treatment, patients are followed up with tumour markers CEA and CA19-9. A CT scan of the thorax, abdomen and pelvis is performed every 6 months for 5 years. The rationale for active follow-up is the ability to detect and treat recurrent disease. Elective reoperation for recurrent disease is beneficial for selected patients.

13.18 Recurrence and Its Management

Approximately one in four patients develops recurrence after complete CRS and HIPEC for PMP of appendiceal origin [139]. Recurrence can be diffused or localized. A diffuse recurrence represents an aggressive disease biology or insensitivity of the tumour to intraperitoneal chemotherapy especially if the recurrence-free interval is short. This type of recurrence is associated with a poorer survival. Localized recurrence is probably due to tumour cell entrapment at the suture line or in adhesions and has a better prognosis [140]. In some cases, the cause of recurrence is technical failure as in the subhepatic region which is a very difficult area to clear [141].

The rationale of a repeat CRS and HIPEC is the probability of infrequent metastasis outside the peritoneal cavity, compressive rather than invasive behaviour of the recurrent disease, relative sparing of small bowel and a good response to intraperitoneal chemotherapy as shown by Sugarbaker et al. in one of the first published series of second-look surgery [142]. A repeat CRS+ HIPEC was performed in 79/111 in their series resulting in a 3-year survival of 73.6%. Subsequently many other series have shown favourable outcomes with repeat CRS and HIPEC not just for the first but also for subsequent recurrences (Table 13.5) [143].

Some of the factors associated with an increased incidence of recurrence are a high PCI at initial surgery, higher tumour grade and those who have received preoperative chemotherapy [149].

Ref	Year	N	PCI	High- grade	Overall survival	PFS	Median follow-up (months)	Grade 3 and 4 morbidity	Mortality	CC-0/1
[142]	2001	98	NA	NA	5-year 73.6%	NA	NA	NA	NA	68.4% (Second CRS)
[140]	2007	98	19.0 (mean)	38.0%	5-year 90%	5-year 70%	66.0	NA	NA	78.0% (Second CRS)
[144]	2003	45	NA	5.0%	5-year 70%	NA	NA	11.0%	4.4%	57.8% (Third CRS)
[145]	2005	38/97	NA	48.0%	Median survival 9.8 years	NA	BA	16% (of all operations)	4.0% (entire population)	35.% (Overall)
[146]	2013	26	>20 (65%)	61.5%	5-year 33.9 months	NA	28.0	27.0%	0.0%	96.0%
[147]	2012	33/62	9.2 (mean)	15.2%	Median survival 52.1 months	NA	60.8	14.5%	3.2%	R0-R1 43.5%
[148] ^a	2017	66	NA	66%	5-year 68%	5 years	85	38%	NA	83%
					10-year 61%	39% 10	_			
						years 19%				

Table 13.5 Outcomes of repeat CRS and HIPEC (Adapted from Ref. [143])

N number of patients, *PCI* peritoneal cancer index, *PFS* progression-free survival, *NA* not available ^aStudy included ten patients with isolated extraperitoneal recurrence

Patients with elevated tumour markers before surgery are more likely to have a recurrence. Dubreil et al. found a SUV max on preoperative FDG-PET/CT of >2.02, an independent predictive factor for PFS in PMP [149].

Patient selection is important and should be discussed in a multidisciplinary meeting. Some of the factors to be considered are the performance status, the extent of the peritoneal disease, recurrence-free interval from the first surgery, the completeness of primary surgery and the grade of the PMP [149]. The commonest sites of recurrence are the small bowel and the pelvis [139]. Elias et al. have suggested that if HIPEC has failed, a second attempt would not be successful as well. For localized recurrence, they recommend a CRS alone especially if the time interval from the first procedure is less than 1 year. If the relapse is diffuse and develops after a long disease-free inter-

val, but is amenable to a complete CRS, they recommend intraperitoneal chemotherapy with a different drug [150]. The role of systemic chemotherapy in such patients is not clear. For a diffuse relapse occurring at a short interval from the first procedure, with dedifferentiation to a more aggressive tumour, a surgical intervention is unlikely to be useful, and these patients are candidate for systemic chemotherapy [150].

Sugarbaker et al. reported the results in patients with three or more operative procedures. The 5- and 10-year survival rates reported were 60 and 48% for 3 interventions, 78% and 36% for 4 and 100 and 80% for 5 or more interventions, respectively [144]. Complete cytoreduction, especially at the subsequent procedures, was associated with improvement in survival. The authors noted a change in histologic type in subsequent procedures in 47% of the patients. In 14

patients, a more aggressive histologic type was noted, whereas the remaining had less aggressive pathologic type noted on repeat CRS; however, survival was not statistically impacted by change in tumour histology [144].

Thus, repeat CRS/HIPEC for appendiceal primaries results in long-term survival in appropriately selected patients not just at the first recurrence but for the subsequent recurrences as well.

13.19 Molecular Profile of Appendiceal Tumours and PMP

The long-term outcomes of CRS and HIPEC for PMP are heterogeneous even in subgroups based on clinical and pathological variables. The identification of additional prognostic and predictive biomarkers is an unmet clinical need [151]. Some mutations have been found to occur in a high proportion of these patients. KRAS mutations are the commonest, in both appendiceal tumours (53-100%) and PMP (57-100%) [152-156]. It is more frequently seen than in colorectal cancers. Some series report a higher incidence of these mutations in patients with PMCAs, whereas others have reported a similar incidence in both DPAM and PMCA. Most of mutations are found on codons 12 and 13 of exon 2. The difference between the lowest and highest frequencies could be due to a variation in the sensitivity of the detection method and the tumour cell percentages in the samples; most of these tumours have a low cellularity which makes analysis difficult [157]. The second commonest mutation is the GNAS codon 201 mutation which has been found in 40–70% of the patients with PMP and 40-77%of the patients with LAMN [156–158].

GNAS encodes the α -subunit of a stimulatory G-protein (G α s) responsible for the production of adenylyl cyclase. GNAS mutations cause the constitutive activation of adenylyl cyclase and an elevated cAMP level, regardless of the presence or absence of receptor agonists [159, 160]. GNAS mutation promotes tumorigenesis only, not cell growth, thus leading to the indolent behaviour of mucinous tumours. But it increases the expression of MUC2 and MUC5AC implying the role of this pathway in mucin overproduction. However, this is not the only pathway responsible for mucin overproduction [161]. *GNAS* mutations are also seen in other tumours of the gastrointestinal tract like villous adenomas of the gastrointestinal tract like villous adenomas of the stomach and duodenum and intra-pancreatic mucinous neoplasms suggesting a preferential association with tumours having a benign or indolent behaviour [162–165]. They are rare or absent in adenocarcinomas arising from these organs [163, 165].

Both *KRAS* and *GNAS* mutations have been shown to have a negative impact on the progression-free survival [151, 166].

BRAF V600E, *PIK3CA*, *AKT1*, *SMAD4* and *APC* mutations are rare in PMP tumours, and they express mismatch repair enzymes.

BRAF V600E, PIK3CA, AKT1, SMAD4 and *APC* mutations are relatively uncommon in PMP tumours [157, 166, 167].

Microsatellite instability and p53 overexpression are reported to be infrequent [161]. However, p53 has been associated with high-grade histology and a reduced survival [168, 169]. Deregulation of PI3K-AKT pathway has also been implicated in the progression to PMCA [169].

Conclusion

Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC substantially prolong the disease-free and overall survival in patients with PMP arising from mucinous appendiceal tumours. The best results are obtained when such treatment is carried out at expert centres. An accurate diagnosis and classification, institution early definitive surgical treatment and aggressive surgical efforts to achieve complete tumour removal yield the best results. Even patients with recurrent disease benefit from CRS and HIPEC and experience a prolonged survival. About one fourth of the patients have disease that is not completely resectable, and other treatment modalities need to be employed. An increase in the knowledge about the molecular biology of these tumours has led to the identification of molecular targets for drug therapy. New therapeutic approaches like small bowel and multivisceral transplant and mucin-lysing therapy are currently being investigated and developed for the management of these patients.

References

- Shankar S, Ledakis P, El Halabi H, Gushchin V, Sardi A. Neoplasms of the appendix current treatment guidelines. Hematol Oncol Clin N Am. 2012;26:1261–90.
- Connor SJ, Hanna GB, Frizelle FA. Appendiceal tumors: retrospective clinicopathologic analysis of appendiceal tumors from 7,970 appendectomies. Dis Colon Rectum. 1998;41(1):75.
- Woodruff R, McDonald JR. Benign and malignant cystic tumors of the appendix. Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1940;71:750–5.
- Carr NJ, McCarthy WF, Sobin LH. Epithelial noncarcinoid tumors and tumor-like lesions of the appendix. A clinicopathologic study of 184 patients with a multivariate analysis of prognostic factors. Cancer. 1995;75(3):757–68.
- Misdraji J, Yantiss RK, Graeme-Cook FM, et al. Appendiceal mucinous neoplasms: a clinicopathologic analysis of 107 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2003;27(8):1089–103.
- Panarelli N, Yantiss R. Mucinous neoplasms of the appendix and peritoneum. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2011;135(10):1261–8. https://doi.org/10.5858/ arpa.2011-0034-RA.
- Carr NJ, Cecil TD, Mohamed F, Sobin LH, Sugarbaker PH, González-Moreno S, Taflampas P, Chapman S, Moran BJ. A consensus for classification and pathologic reporting of pseudomyxoma peritonei and associated Appendiceal Neoplasia: the results of the peritoneal surface oncology group international (PSOGI) modified Delphi process. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40(1):14–26.
- Subbuswamy SG, Gibbs NM, Ross CF, Morson BC. Goblet cell carcinoid of the appendix. Cancer. 1974;34:338–44.
- Roy P, Chetty R. Goblet cell carcinoid tumors of the appendix: an overview. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(6):251–8. https://doi.org/10.4251/wjgo. v2.i6.251.
- Ihemelandu C, Sugarbaker PH. Clinicopathologic and prognostic features in patients with peritoneal metastasis from mucinous adenocarcinoma, adenocarcinoma with signet ring cells, and Adenocarcinoid of the appendix treated with cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1474–80. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-015-4995-0. Epub 2015 Nov 23.
- Esquivel J, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical presentation of the pseudomyxoma peritonei syndrome. Br J Surg. 2000;87:1414–8.

- 12. Sugarbaker PH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei and peritoneal metastases from appendiceal malignancy. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Cytoreductive surgery & perioperative chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy. Textbook and video atlas. Woodbury, CT: Cine-Med Publishers; 2012.
- 13. González-Moreno S, Brun E, Sugarbaker PH. Lymph node metastasis in epithelial malignancies of the appendix with peritoneal dissemination does not reduce survival in patients treated by cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12(1):72–80. Epub 2004 Dec 27.
- Foster JM, Gupta PK, Carreau JH, Grotz TE, Blas JV, Gatalica Z, Nath S, Loggie BW. Right hemicolectomy is not routinely indicated in pseudomyxoma peritonei. Am Surg. 2012;78(2):171–7.
- Sugarbaker PH. When and when not to perform a right colon resection with mucinous appendiceal neoplasms. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;24(3):729–32.
- Smeenk RM, van Velthuysen ML, Verwaal VJ, et al. Appendiceal neoplasms and pseudomyxoma peritonei: a population based study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34:196–201.
- Sammartino P, Biacchi D, Cornali T, Cardi M, Accarpio F, Impagnatiello A, Sollazzo BM, Di Giorgio A. Proactive management for gastric, colorectal and appendiceal malignancies: preventing peritoneal metastases with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2):215–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-016-0497-1. Epub 2016 Jan 26.
- Murphy EM, Farquharson SM, Moran BJ. Management of an unexpected appendiceal neoplasm. Br J Surg. 2006;93:783–92.
- McDonald JR, O'Dwyer ST, Rout S, Chakrabarty B, Sikand K, Fulford PE, Wilson MS, Renehan AG. Classification of and cytoreductive surgery for low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Br J Surg. 2012;99(7):987–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bjs.8739. Epub 2012 Apr 20.
- Honoré C, Caruso F, Dartigues P, Benhaim L, Chirica M, Goéré D, Elias D. Strategies for preventing pseudomyxoma peritonei after resection of a mucinous neoplasm of the appendix. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(9):4943–7.
- Foster JM, et al. Early identification of DPAM in at-risk low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm patients: a new approach to surveillance for peritoneal metastasis. World J Surg Oncol. 2016;14(1):243.
- Young RH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei and selected other aspects of the spread of appendiceal neoplasms. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2004;21:134–50.
- Pai RK, Longacre TA. Appendiceal mucinous tumors and pseudomyxoma peritonei: histologic features, diagnostic problems and proposed classification. Adv Anat Pathol. 2005;12:291–311.
- Agrawal AK, Bobiński P, Grzebieniak Z, Rudnicki J, Marek G, Kobielak P, Hałoń A. Pseudomyxoma peritonei originating from urachus—case report and review of the literature. Curr Oncol. 2014;21(1):e155–65.

- 25. Vang R, Gown AM, Zhao C, et al. Ovarian mucinous tumors associated with mature cystic teratomas: morphologic and immunohistochemical analysis identifies a subset of potential teratomatous origin that shares features of lower gastrointestinal tract mucinous tumors more commonly encountered as secondary tumors in the ovary. Am J Surg Pathol. 2007;31:854–69.
- McKenney JK, Soslow RA, Longacre TA. Ovarian mature teratomas with mucinous epithelial neoplasms: morphologic heterogeneity and association with pseudomyxoma peritonei. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32:645–55.
- 27. Stewart CJ, Ardakani NM, Doherty DA, et al. An evaluation of the morphologic features of low-grade mucinous neoplasms of the appendix metastatic in the ovary and a comparison with primary ovarian mucinous tumors. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2014;33:1–10.
- Hinson FL, Ambrose NS. Pseudomyxoma peritonei. Br J Surg. 1998;85:1332–9.
- Sugarbaker PH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei. A cancer whose biology is characterized by a redistribution phenomenon. Ann Surg. 1994;219:109–11.
- Carmignani CP, Sugarbaker TA, Bromley CM, Sugarbaker PH. Intraperitoneal cancer dissemination: mechanisms of the patterns of spread. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2003;22:465–72.
- Carr NJ, et al. Pathology and prognosis in pseudomyxoma peritonei: a review of 274 cases. J Clin Pathol. 2012;65(10):919–23.
- Misdraji J. Appendiceal mucinous neoplasms: controversies. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010;134:864–70.
- 33. Ronnett BM, et al. Disseminated peritoneal adenomucinosis and peritoneal mucinous adenocarcinoma: a clinicopathologic analysis of 109 cases with emphasis on distinguishing pathologic features, site of origin, prognosis and relationship to pseudomyxoma peritonei. Am J Surg Pathol. 1995;19(12):1390–408.
- 34. Ronnett BM, Yan H, Kurman RJ, et al. Patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei associated with disseminated peritoneal adenomucinosis have a significantly more favorable prognosis than patients with peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis. Cancer. 2001;92:85–91.
- Bradley RF, Cortina G, Geisinger KR. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: review of the controversy. Curr Diagn Pathol. 2007;13(5):410–6.
- Carr NJ, Sobin LH. Adenocarcinoma of the appendix. In: Bosman FT, Carneiro F, Hruban RH, Theise ND, editors. WHO classification of tumors of the digestive system. Lyon: IARC; 2010. p. 122–5.
- 37. Sirintrapun SJ, Blackham AU, Russell G, et al. Significance of signet ring cells in high-grade mucinous adenocarcinoma of the peritoneum from appendiceal origin. Hum Pathol. 2014;45(8):1597–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humpath.2014.03.007.
- Davison JM, Choudry HA, Pingpank JF, Ahrendt SA, Holtzman MP, Zureikat AH, Zeh HJ, Ramalingam L, Zhu B, Nikiforova M, Bartlett DL, Pai RK. Clinicopathologic and molecular analysis

of disseminated appendiceal mucinous neoplasms: identification of factors predicting survival and proposed criteria for a three-tiered assessment of tumor grade. Mod Pathol. 2014;27(11):1521–39. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2014.37.

- Lohani K, Shetty S, Sharma P, Govindarajan V, Thomas P, Loggie B. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: inflammatory responses in the peritoneal microenvironment. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1441–7.
- Hollingsworth MA, Swanson BJ. Mucins in cancer: protection and control of the cell surface. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4:45–60.
- Rachagani S, Torres MP, Moniaux N, Batra SK. Current status of mucins in the diagnosis and therapy of cancer. Biofactors. 2009;35:509–27.
- 42. Amini A, Masoumi-Moghaddam S, Ehteda A, Morris DL. Secreted mucins in pseudomyxoma peritonei: pathophysiological significance and potential therapeutic prospects. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2014;9:71. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1172-9-71.
- O'Connell JT, Tomlinson JS, Roberts AA, McGonigle KF, Barsky SH. Pseudomyxoma peritonei is a disease of MUC2-expressing goblet cells. Am J Pathol. 2002;161:551–64.
- O'Connell JT, Hacker CM, Barsky SH. MUC2 is a molecular marker for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Mod Pathol. 2002;15:958–72.
- Lee NK, Kim S, Kim HS, et al. Spectrum of mucinproducing neoplastic conditions of the abdomen and pelvis: cross-sectional imaging evaluation. World J Gastroenterol WJG. 2011;17(43):4757–71. https:// doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v17.i43.4757.
- Bevan KE, Mohamed F, Moran BJ. Pseudomyxoma peritonei. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(1):44– 50. https://doi.org/10.4251/wjgo.v2.i1.44.
- 47. Baratti D, Kusamura S, Martinetti A, Seregni E, Laterza B, Oliva DG, Deraco M. Prognostic value of circulating tumor markers in patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:2300–8.
- 48. van Ruth S, Hart AA, Bonfrer JM, Verwaal VJ, Zoetmulder FA. Prognostic value of baseline and serial carcinoembryonic antigen and carbohydrate antigen 19.9 measurements in patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei treated with cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2002;9:961–7.
- 49. Carmignani CP, Hampton R, Sugarbaker CE, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Utility of CEA and CA 19-9 tumor markers in diagnosis and prognostic assessment of mucinous epithelial cancers of the appendix. J Surg Oncol. 2004;87:162–6.
- Alexander-Sefre F, Chandrakumaran K, Banerjee S, Sexton R, Thomas JM, Moran B. Elevated tumour markers prior to complete tumour removal in patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei predict early recurrence. Color Dis. 2005;7:382–6.
- Diop AD, Fontarensky M, Montoriol PF, Da Ines D. CT imaging of peritoneal carcinomatosis and its

mimics. Diagn Interv Imaging. 2014;95(9):861–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diii.2014.02.009.

- 52. Koh JL, Yan TD, Glenn D, Morris DL. Evaluation of preoperative computed tomography in estimating peritoneal cancer index in colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16(2):327–33. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-008-0234-2.
- 53. Villeneuve L, Thivolet A, Bakrin N, Mohamed F, Isaac S, Valette PJ, Glehen O, Rousset P, BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE Working Groups. A new internet tool to report peritoneal malignancy extent. PeRitOneal MalIgnancy stage evaluation (PROMISE) application. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(6):877–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.03.015. Epub 2016 Mar 28.
- 54. Jacquet P, Jelinek JS, Chang D, Koslowe P, Sugarbaker PH. Abdominal computed tomographic scan in the selection of patients with mucinous peritoneal carcinomatosis for cytoreductive surgery. J Am Coll Surg. 1995;181(6):530–8.
- Cotte E, Passot G, Gilly F-N, Glehen O. Selection of patients and staging of peritoneal surface malignancies. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(1):31–5.
- 56. Dineen SP, Royal RE, Hughes MS, et al. A simplified preoperative assessment predicts complete cytoreduction and outcomes in patients with low-grade mucinous adenocarcinoma of the appendix. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(11):3640–6. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-4446-y.
- 57. Low RN, Barone RM, Lucero J. Comparison of MRI and CT for predicting the peritoneal cancer index (PCI) preoperatively in patients being considered for cytoreductive surgical procedures. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:1708. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-4041-7.
- Menassel B, Duclos A, Passot G, Dohan A, Payet C, Isaac S, Valette PJ, Glehen O, Rousset P. Preoperative CT and MRI prediction of nonresectability in patients treated for pseudomyxoma peritonei from mucinous appendiceal neoplasms. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(4):558– 66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.01.005. Epub 2016 Jan 22.
- 59. Lansom J, Alzahrani N, Liauw W, Morris DL. Cytoreductive surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for Pseudomyxoma peritonei and appendix tumours. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2):166–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-015-0478-9. Epub 2015 Oct 24.
- 60. Passot G, Glehen O, Pellet O, Isaac S, Tychyj C, et al. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: role of 18F-FDG PET in preoperative evaluation of pathological grade and potential for complete cytoreduction. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36(3):315.
- Mohamed F, et al. A new standard of care for the management of peritoneal surface malignancy. Curr Oncol. 2011;18(2):e84–96. ISSN 1718-7729.
- 62. Moran B, Baratti D, Yan TD, Kusamura S, Deraco M. Consensus statement on the locoregional treatment of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms with peritoneal dissemination (pseudomyxoma perito-

nei). J Surg Oncol. 2008;98(4):277–82. https://doi. org/10.1002/jso.21054.

- 63. Yan TD, Black D, Savady R, Sugarbaker PH. A systematic review on the efficacy of cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(2):484–92. Epub 2006 Oct 12.
- 64. Gough DB, Donohue JH, Schutt AJ, Gonchoroff N, Goellner JR, Wilson TO, Naessens JM, O'Brien PC, van Heerden JA. Pseudomyxoma peritonei. Longterm patient survival with an aggressive regional approach. Ann Surg. 1994;219:112–9.
- Nitecki SS, Wolff BG, Schlinkert R, et al. The natural history of surgically treated primary adeno- carcinoma of the appendix. Ann Surg. 1994;219:51–7.
- 66. Miner TJ, Shia J, Jaques DP, Klimstra DS, Brennan MF, Coit DG. Long-term survival following treatment of pseudomyxoma peritonei: an analysis of surgical therapy. Ann Surg. 2005;241:300–8.
- Sugarbaker PH, Chang D. Results of treatment of 385 patients with peritoneal surface spread of appendiceal malignancy. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:727–31.
- 68. Chua TC, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, Levine EA, Glehen O, Gilly FN, Baratti D, Deraco M, Elias D, Sardi A, Liauw W, Yan TD, Barrios P, Gómez Portilla A, de Hingh IH, Ceelen WP, Pelz JO, Piso P, González-Moreno S, Van Der Speeten K, Morris DL. Early- and long-term outcome data of patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from appendiceal origin treated by a strategy of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(20):2449–56.
- 69. Ansari N, Chandrakumaran K, Dayal S, Mohamed F, Cecil TD, Moran BJ. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 1000 patients with perforated appendiceal epithelial tumours. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(7):1035–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.03.017.
- Mehta SS, Bhatt A, Glehen O. Cytoreductive surgery and peritonectomy procedures. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2):139–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13193-016-0505-5.
- Sugarbaker PH. Dissection by electrocautery with a ball tip. J Surg Oncol. 1994;56:246–8.
- Dagbert F, Passot G, Glehen O, Bakrin N. Glisson capsulectomy for extensive superficial liver involvement in peritoneal carcinomatosis (with video). J Visc Surg. 2015;152(5):332–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jviscsurg.2015.08.002.
- Passot G, Kim BJ, Vaudoyer D, Kepenekian V, Bonnefoy I, Bakrin N, Cotte E, Glehen O. Digital Glissonectomy: a safe perihepatic peritonectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(12):3978–85.
- 74. Benhaim L, Honoré C, Goéré D, Delhorme JB, Elias D. Huge pseudomyxoma peritonei: surgical strategies and procedures to employ to optimize the rate of complete cytoreductive surgery. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(4):552–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2016.01.015.

- Sugarbaker PH. The subpyloric space: an important surgical and radiologic feature in pseudomyxoma peritonei. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2002;28(4):443–6.
- Sugarbaker PH. Cytoreduction including total gastrectomy for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Br J Surg. 2002;89(2):208–12.
- 77. Piso P, Slowik P, Popp F, Dahlke MH, Glockzin G, Schlitt HJ. Safety of gastric resections during cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2009;16(8):2188–94.
- Deraco M, Baratti D, Kusamura S, Laterza B, Balestra MR. Surgical technique of parietal and visceral peritonectomy for peri-toneal surface malignancies. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100(4):321–8. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jso.21388.
- 79. Di Fabio F, Mehta A, Chandrakumaran K, Mohamed F, Cecil T, Moran B. Advanced pseudomyxoma peritonei requiring gastrectomy to achieve complete cytoreduction results in good long-term oncologic outcomes. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(13):4316–21. Epub 2016 Jul 5.
- Liu Y, Mizumoto A, Ishibashi H, Takeshita K, Hirano M, Ichinose M, Takegawa S, Yonemura Y. Should total gastrectomy and total colectomy be considered for selected patients with severe tumor burden of pseudomyxoma peritonei in cytoreductive surgery? Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(7):1018–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.04.059.
- Dagbert F, Bakrin N, Glehen O, Passot G. Colorectal resection with pelvic peritoneal carcinomatosis enbloc resection in a male patient (with video). J Visc Surg. 2016;153(1):71–2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jviscsurg.2015.11.006. Epub 2016 Jan 18.
- Sugarbaker PH. Avoiding diverting ileostomy in patients requiring complete pelvic peritonectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;23(5):1481–5. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-015-4961-x.
- Riss S, Chandrakumaran K, Dayal S, Cecil TD, Mohamed F, Moran BJ. Risk of definitive stoma after surgery for peritoneal malignancy in 958 patients: comparative study between complete cytoreductive surgery and maximal tumor debulking. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(3):392–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2014.09.002.
- 84. Esquivel J, Averbach A, Chua TC. Laparoscopic cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with limited peritoneal surface malignancies: feasibility, morbidity and outcome in an early experience. Ann Surg. 2011;253(4):764–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.0b013e31820784df.
- Esquivel J, Averbach A. Laparoscopic cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC in patients with limited pseudomyxoma peritonei of appendiceal origin. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:1–5. 981245.
- 86. Passot G, Bakrin N, Isaac S, Decullier E, Gilly FN, Glehen O, Cotte E. Postoperative outcomes of laparoscopic vs open cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment of peritoneal surface malignancies.

Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(8):957–62. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejso.2013.10.002. Epub 2013 Oct 16.

- 87. Cecil T, Allan P, Reddy S, Vrakas G, Giele H, Mohamed F, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and multivisceral small bowel transplantation. A technically feasible option for patients with end-stage pseudomyxoma peritonei. J Peritoneum. 2016;1(S1):11.
- 88. Van der Speeten K, Stuart OA, Chang D, et al. Changes induced by surgical and clinical factors in the pharmacology of intraperitoneal mitomycin C in 145 patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2011;68:147. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00280-010-1460-4.
- 89. Witkamp AJ, van Coevorden F, Kaag MM, van Slooten GW, Beijnen JB, Boot H, et al. Dose finding study of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with mitomycin C in patients with carcinosis of colorectal origin. Eur J Surg Oncol. 1998;24:214.
- 90. Turaga K, Levine E, Barone R, et al. Consensus guidelines from the American Society of Peritoneal Surface Malignancies on standardizing the delivery of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in colorectal cancer patients in the United States. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1501. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-013-3061-z.
- 91. Elias D, Bonnay M, Puizillou JM, Antoun S, Demirdjian S, El OA, Pignon JP, Drouard-Troalen L, Ouellet JF, Ducreux M. Heated intra-operative intraperitoneal oxaliplatin after complete resection of peritoneal carcinomatosis: pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution. Ann Oncol. 2002;13(2):267–72.
- 92. Stewart JH, Shen P, Russell G, et al. A phase I trial of oxaliplatin for intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemoperfusion for the treatment of peritoneal surface dissemination from colorectal and Appendiceal cancers. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(8):2137–45. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-008-9967-1.
- Sugarbaker PH, Van der Speeten K. Surgical technology and pharmacology of hyperthermic perioperative chemotherapy. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;7(1):29–44. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2015.105.
- 94. De Somer F, Ceelen W, Delanghe J, De Smet D, Vanackere M, Pattyn P, Mortier E. Severe hyponatremia, hyperglycemia, and hyperlactatemia are associated with intraoperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion with oxaliplatin. Perit Dial Int. 2008;28(1):61–6.
- 95. Ceelen W, De Somer F, Van Nieuwenhove Y, Vande Putte D, Pattyn P. Effect of perfusion temperature on glucose and electrolyte transport during hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion (HIPEC) with oxaliplatin. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39(7):754–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2012.07.120. Epub 2012 Aug 9.
- 96. Mehta AM, Huitema AD, Burger JW, Brandt-Kerkhof AR, van den Heuvel SF, Verwaal VJ. Standard clinical protocol for bidirectional hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC): systemic Leucovorin, 5-fluorouracil, and heated intraperito-

neal oxaliplatin in a chloride-containing carrier solution. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;24(4):990–7.

- 97. Votanopoulos K, Ihemelandu C, Shen P, Stewart J, Russell G, Levine EA. A comparison of hematologic toxicity profiles after heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin and mitomycin C. J Surg Res. 2013;179(1):e133–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jss.2012.01.015.
- 98. Charrier T, Passot G, Peron J, Maurice C, Gocevska S, Quénet F, Eveno C, Pocard M, Goere D, Elias D, Ortega-Deballon P, Vaudoyer D, Cotte E, Glehen O. Cytoreductive surgery combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin increases the risk of postoperative hemorrhagic complications: analysis of predictive factors. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(7):2315–22. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-016-5143-1.
- 99. Huang Y, Alzahrani NA, Liauw W, Traiki TB, Morris DL. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for low-grade Appendiceal mucinous neoplasms with pseudomyxoma peritonei: is it beneficial? Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24(1):176–83. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-016-5529-0.
- 100. Lam JY, McConnell YJ, Rivard JD, Temple WJ, Mack LA. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy + early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy alone: assessment of survival outcomes for colorectal and high-grade appendiceal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Am J Surg. 2015;210(3):424–30. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2015.03.008.
- 101. Wagner PL, Jones D, Aronova A, et al. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy following cytoreductive surgery for appendiceal mucinous neoplasms with isolated peritoneal metastasis. Dis Colon Rectum. 2012;55:407–15.
- 102. Sørensen O, Flatmark K, Reed W, et al. Evaluation of complete cytoreductive surgery and two intraperitoneal chemotherapy techniques in pseudomyxoma peritonei. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2012;38:969–76.
- 103. Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:359–74.
- 104. Kusamura S, Moran B, Sugarbaker PH, et al. Multicentre study of the learning curve and surgical performance of cytoreductive surgery with intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Br J Surg. 2014;101:1758–65.
- 105. Sugarbaker PH. Cytoreductive surgery and perioperative chemotherapy: textbook and video atlas. Connecticut: Cine-Med Publishing; 2013.
- 106. Cummins KA, Russell GB, Votanopoulos KI, Shen P, Stewart JH, Levine EA. Peritoneal dissemination from high-grade appendiceal cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;7(1):3–9. https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2078-6891.2015.101.

- 107. Sugarbaker PH. Peritoneum as the first-line of defense in carcinomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2007;95(2):93–6.
- 108. Austin F, Mavanur A, Sathaiah M, et al. Aggressive management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from mucinous appendiceal neoplasms. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(5):1386–93. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-012-2241-6.
- 109. Wagner PL, Austin F, Zenati M, Jaech A, Mavanur A, Ramalingam L, Jones HL, Holtzman MP, Ahrendt SA, Zureikat AH, Pingpank JF, Zeh HJ, Bartlett DL, Choudry HA. Oncologic risk stratification following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for appendiceal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1587–93. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-5037-7. Epub 2016 Jan 7.
- 110. Delhorme JB, Elias D, Varatharajah S, Benhaim L, Dumont F, Honoré C, Goéré D. Can a benefit be expected from surgical debulking of unresect-able pseudomyxoma peritonei? Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1618–24. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-5019-9. Epub 2015 Dec 17.
- 111. Glehen O, Mohamed F, Sugarbaker PH. Incomplete cytoreduction in 174 patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from appendiceal malignancy. Ann Surg. 2004;240:278–85.
- 112. Mohamed F, Moran BJ. Morbidity and mortality with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy: the importance of a learning curve. Cancer J. 2009;15(3):196–9.
- 113. Newton AD, Bartlett EK, Karakousis GC. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a review of factors contributing to morbidity and mortality. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;7(1):99–111. https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2078-6891.2015.100.
- 114. Elias D, Gilly F, Quenet F, et al. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: a French multicentric study of 301 patients treated with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2010;36:456–62.
- 115. Kuijpers AM, Mirck B, Aalbers AG, et al. Cytoreduction and HIPEC in the Netherlands: nationwide long-term outcome following the Dutch protocol. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:4224–30.
- 116. Verwaal VJ, van Tinteren H, Ruth SV, Zoetmulder FAN. Toxicity of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2004;85:61–7.
- 117. Kusamura S, Younan R, Baratti D, Costanzo P, Favaro M, Gavazzi C, et al. Cytoreductive surgery followed by intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion: analysis of morbidity and mortality in 209 peritoneal surface malignancies treated with closed abdomen technique. Cancer. 2006;106:1144–53.
- 118. Stephens AD, Alderman R, Chang D, Edwards GD, Esquivel J, Sebbag G, et al. Morbidity and mortality analysis of 200 treatments with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal

chemotherapy using the coliseum technique. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:790-6.

- 119. Franko J, Gusani NJ, Holtzman MP, Ahrendt SA, Jones HL, Zeh HJ 3rd, Bartlett DL. Multivisceral resection does not affect morbidity and survival after cytoreductive surgery and chemoperfusion for carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(11):3065–72.
- 120. Faris JE, Ryan DP. Controversy and consensus on the management of patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei. Curr Treat Options in Oncol. 2013;14(3):365– 73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11864-013-0240-x.
- 121. Asare EA, Compton CC, Hanna NN, Kosinski LA, Washington MK, Kakar S, Weiser MR, Overman MJ. The impact of stage, grade, and mucinous histology on the efficacy of systemic chemotherapy in adenocarcinomas of the appendix: analysis of the National Cancer Data Base. Cancer. 2016;122:213– 21. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.29744.
- 122. Blackham AU, Swett K, Eng C, et al. Perioperative systemic chemotherapy for appendiceal mucinous carcinoma Peritonei treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2014;109(7):740–5. https://doi. org/10.1002/jso.23547.
- 123. Pietrantonio F, Maggi C, Fanetti G, et al. FOLFOX-4 chemotherapy for patients with unresectable or relapsed peritoneal pseudomyxoma. Oncologist. 2014;19(8):845–50. https://doi.org/10.1634/ theoncologist.2014-0106.
- 124. Choe JH, Overman MJ, Fournier KF, Royal RE, Ohinata A, Rafeeq S, Beaty K, Phillips JK, Wolff RA, Mansfield PF, Eng C. Improved survival with anti-VEGF therapy in the treatment of unresectable appendiceal epithelial neoplasms. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(8):2578–84. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-4335-9.
- 125. Farquharson AL, Pranesh N, Witham G, et al. A phase II study evaluating the use of concurrent mitomycin C and capecitabine in patients with advanced unresectable pseudomyxoma peritonei. Br J Cancer. 2008;99:591–6.
- 126. Sugarbaker PH, Bijelic L, Chang D, Yoo D. Neoadjuvant FOLFOX chemotherapy in 34 consecutive patients with mucinous peritoneal carcinomatosis of appendiceal origin. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102(6):576–81. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jso.21679.
- 127. Shapiro JF, Chase JL, Wolff RA, Lambert LA, Mansfield PF, Overman MJ, Ohinata A, Liu J, Wang X, Eng C. Modern systemic chemotherapy in surgically unresectable neoplasms of appendiceal origin. Cancer. 2010;116:316–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.24715.
- 128. Turner KM, Hanna NN, Zhu Y, Jain A, Kesmodel SB, Switzer RA, Taylor LM, Richard Alexander H Jr. Assessment of neoadjuvant chemotherapy on operative parameters and outcome in patients with peritoneal dissemination from high-grade appendi-

ceal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(4):1068–73. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-012-2789-1.

- 129. Milovanov V, Sardi A, Ledakis P, Aydin N, Nieroda C, Sittig M, Nunez M, Gushchin V. Systemic chemotherapy (SC) before cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (CRS/HIPEC) in patients with peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis of appendiceal origin (PMCA). Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(5):707–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2015.01.005.
- Piver MS, Lele SB, Patsner B. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: possible prevention of mucinous ascites by peritoneal lavage. Obstet Gynecol. 1984;64(3 Suppl):95S–6S.
- 131. Haid M, Bowie L, Kim D, Khandekar JD, Victor TA. Peritoneal washing therapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei. South Med J. 1981;74(8):913–5.
- 132. Machado MA, Rodrigues JG, Laurino RM, Garrido Júnior A, Pinotti HW. Conservative treatment of pseudomyxoma peritonei. Rev Hosp Clin Fac Med Sao Paulo. 1993;48(6):301–4.
- 133. Shyr YM, Su CH, Wang HC, Lo SS, Lui WY. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: does a true mucolytic agent exist? In vitro and in vivo studies. Am Surg. 1995;61(3):265–70.
- 134. Shirasawa Y, Orita H, Ishida K, Morimoto Y, Matsumoto M, Sakabe T. Critical alkalosis following intraperitoneal irrigation with sodium bicarbonate in a patient with pseudomyxoma peritonei. J Anesth. 2008;22(3):278–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00540-008-0612-8. Epub 2008 Aug 7.
- 135. Pillai K, Akhter J, Chua TC, Morris DL. Mucolysis by ascorbic acid and hydrogen peroxide on compact mucin secreted in pseudomyxoma peritonei. J Surg Res. 2012;174(2):e69–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jss.2011.10.038. Epub 2011 Nov 19.
- 136. Pillai K, Akhter J, Chua TC, Morris DL. A formulation for in situ lysis of mucin secreted in pseudomyxoma peritonei. Int J Cancer. 2014;134(2):478–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28380. Epub 2013 Aug 7.
- 137. Amini A, Masoumi-Moghaddam S, Ehteda A, Morris DL. Bromelain and N-acetylcysteine inhibit proliferation and survival of gastrointestinal cancer cells in vitro: significance of combination therapy. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2014;33(1):92. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13046-014-0092-7.
- 138. Amini A, Masoumi-Moghaddam S, Ehteda A, Liauw W, Morris DL. Depletion of mucin in mucin-producing human gastrointestinal carcinoma: results from in vitro and in vivo studies with bromelain and N-acetylcysteine. Oncotarget. 2015;6(32):33329–44.
- 139. Lord AC, Shihab O, Chandrakumaran K, Mohamed F, Cecil TD, Moran BJ. Recurrence and outcome after complete tumour removal and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 512 patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from perforated appendiceal mucinous tumours. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(3):396–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2014.08.476.

- 140. Yan TD, Bijelic L, Sugarbaker PH. Critical analysis of treatment failure after complete cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal dissemination from appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(8):2289–99.
- 141. Smeenk RM, Verwaal VJ, Antonini N, Zoetmulder FA. Progression of pseudomyxoma peritonei after combined modality treatment: management and outcome. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(2):493–9.
- 142. Esquivel J, Sugarbaker PH. Second-look surgery in patients with peritoneal dissemination from appendiceal malignancy: analysis of prognostic factors in 98 patients. Ann Surg. 2001;234:198–205.
- 143. Mogal H, Chouliaras K, Levine EA, Shen P, Votanopoulos KI. Repeat cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: review of indications and outcomes. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;7(1):129–42. https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2078-6891.2015.131.
- 144. Mohamed F, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Third look surgery and beyond for appendiceal malignancy with peritoneal dissemination. J Surg Oncol. 2003;83:5–12.
- 145. Chua TC, Liauw W, Zhao J, et al. Upfront compared to delayed cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei is associated with considerably lower perioperative morbidity and recurrence rate. Ann Surg. 2011;253:769–73.
- 146. Sardi A, Jimenez WA, Nieroda C, et al. Repeated cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in peritoneal carcinomatosis from appendiceal cancer: analysis of survival outcomes. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:1207–13.
- 147. Votanopoulos KI, Ihemelandu C, Shen P, et al. Outcomes of repeat cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of peritoneal surface malignancy. J Am Coll Surg. 2012;215:412–7.
- 148. Dubreuil J, Giammarile F, Rousset P, Bakrin N, Passot G, Isaac S, Glehen O, Skanjeti A. FDG-PET/ ceCT is useful to predict recurrence of pseudomyxoma peritonei. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2016;43(9):1630–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00259-016-3347-z.
- 149. Golse N, Bakrin N, Passot G, Mohamed F, Vaudoyer D, Gilly FN, Glehen O, Cotte E. Iterative procedures combining cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal recurrence: postoperative and long-term results. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106(2):197–203. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23062. PMID: 22331814.
- 150. Delhorme JB, Honoré C, Benhaim L, Dumont F, Dartigues P, Dromain C, Ducreux M, Elias D, Goéré D. Long-term survival after aggressive treatment of relapsed serosal or distant pseudomyxoma peritonei. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(1):159–67. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.08.021.

- Pietrantonio F, Perrone F, Mennitto A, et al. Toward the molecular dissection of peritoneal pseudomyxoma. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(11):2097–103.
- 152. Kabbani W, Houlihan PS, Luthra R, Hamilton SR, Rashid A. Mucinous and nonmucinous appendiceal adenocarcinomas: different clinicopathological features but similar genetic alterations. Mod Pathol. 2002;15(6):599–605.
- 153. Szych C, Staebler A, Connolly DC, Wu R, Cho KR, Ronnett BM. Molecular genetic evidence supporting the clonality and appendiceal origin of pseudomyxoma peritonei in women. Am J Pathol. 1999;154(6):1849–55.
- 154. Zauber P, Berman E, Marotta S, Sabbath-Solitare M, Bishop T. Ki-ras gene mutations are invariably present in low-grade mucinous tumours of the vermiform appendix. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2011;46(7–8):869–74.
- 155. Liu X, Mody K, de Abreu FB, et al. Molecular profiling of appendiceal epithelial tumors using massively parallel sequencing to identify somatic mutations. Clin Chem. 2014;60:1004–11.
- 156. Alakus H, Babicky ML, Ghosh P, et al. Genomewide mutational landscape of mucinous carcinomatosis peritonei of appendiceal origin. Genome Med. 2014;6:43.
- 157. Nummela P, Saarinen L, Thiel A, Järvinen P, Lehtonen R, Lepistö A, Järvinen H, Aaltonen LA, Hautaniemi S, Ristimäki A. Genomic profile of pseudomyxoma peritonei analyzed using nextgeneration sequencing and immunohistochemistry. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:E282–9.
- 158. Sio TT, Mansfield AS, Grotz TE, et al. Concur- rent MCL1 and JUN amplification in pseudomyxoma peritonei: a comprehensive genetic profiling and survival analysis. J Hum Genet. 2014;59:124–8.
- 159. Landis CA, Masters SB, Spada A, Pace AM, Bourne HR, Vallar L. GTPase inhibiting mutations activate the alpha chain of Gs and stimulate adenylyl cyclase in human pituitary tumours. Nature. 1989;340(6236):692–6.
- 160. Lyons J, Landis CA, Harsh G, Vallar L, Grunewald K, Feichtinger H, Duh QY, Clark OH, Kawasaki E, Bourne HR, et al. Two G protein oncogenes in human endocrine tumors. Science. 1990; 249(4969):655–9.
- 161. Nishikawa G, Sekine S, Ogawa R, et al. Frequent GNAS mutations in low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Br J Cancer. 2013;108(4):951–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.47.
- 162. Furukawa T, Kuboki Y, Tanji E, Yoshida S, Hatori T, Yamamoto M, Shibata N, Shimizu K, Kamatani N, Shiratori K. Whole-exome sequencing uncovers frequent GNAS mutations in intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms of the pancreas. Sci Rep. 2011;1:161.
- 163. Matsubara A, Sekine S, Kushima R, Ogawa R, Taniguchi H, Tsuda H, Kanai Y. Frequent GNAS and KRAS mutations in pyloric gland adenoma of the

stomach and duodenum. J Pathol. 2012; pub ahead of prime 3. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4153.

- 164. Wu J, Matthaei H, Maitra A, Dal Molin M, Wood LD, Eshleman JR, Goggins M, Canto MI, Schulick RD, Edil BH, Wolfgang CL, Klein AP, Diaz LA, Allen PJ, Schmidt CM, Kinzler KW, Papadopoulos N, Hruban RH, Vogelstein B. Recurrent GNAS mutations define an unexpected pathway for pancreatic cyst development. Sci Transl Med. 2011;3(92):92ra66.
- 165. Yamada M, Sekine S, Ogawa R, Taniguchi H, Kushima R, Tsuda H, Kanai Y. Frequent activating GNAS mutations in villous adenoma of the colorectum. J Pathol. 2012;228(1):113–8.
- 166. Pietrantonio F, Berenato R, Maggi C, et al. GNAS mutations as prognostic biomarker in patients with relapsed peritoneal pseudomyxoma receiving met-

ronomic capecitabine and bevacizumab: a clinical and translational study. J Transl Med. 2016;14:125. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-016-0877-x.

- 167. Schonleben F, Qiu W, Bruckman KC, et al. BRAF and KRAS gene mutations in intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm/carcinoma (IPMN/ IPMC) of the pancreas. Cancer Lett. 2007;249:242–8.
- 168. Shetty S, Thomas P, Ramanan B, Sharma P, Govindarajan V, Loggie B. Kras mutations and p53 overexpression in pseudomyxoma peritonei: association with phenotype and prognosis. J Surg Res. 2013;180:97–103.
- 169. Noguchi R, Yano H, Gohda Y, et al. Molecular profiles of high-grade and low-grade pseudomyxoma peritonei. Cancer Med. 2015;4(12):1809–16. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.542.



14

Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Gastric Cancer

Mayank Jain and Shivendra Singh

14.1 Introduction

Gastric cancer (GC) is the world's fourth fastest growing cancer [1]. It is an aggressive cancer with poor prognosis. Peritoneal metastasis (PM) is present synchronously in 14-40% of cases [2, 3], and metachronous PM is present in 10-46% of patients after curative surgery [4]. Almost 60% of deaths occur due to PM. The peritoneum is the sole site of recurrence in 12-40% of patients with a median survival of only 6 months [2, 4]. Both neoadjuvant and adjuvant chemotherapy protocols have marginally improved the survival without decreasing the incidence of PM. With all modern chemotherapeutic agents like S1 and docetaxel, the survival for PM is only 8-14 months [5, 6]. Risk factors for peritoneal recurrence following curative surgery are advanced T and N stage, female gender, young age, positive cytology with no macroscopic evidence of metastasis, and signet ring histology [2, 7, 8].

Gastric cancer usually spreads by three methods—hematogenous, lymphatic, or peritoneal. Peritoneal metastasis (PM) is usually considered as a locoregional disease. Free cancer cells first exfoliate from primary tumor, then attach to the peritoneal surface invading into the subperitoneal space, and thus form tumor nodules [9, 10]. Incidence of free cancer cells increases with the thickness of the primary tumor and presence of lymph nodes. It can be seen in up to 24% in stage I and 40% in stage II [11]. Another way of free cancer cell dissemination in the abdomen is due to iatrogenic spread during surgery of primary tumor. Tumor cells spread from transected lymphatics, tissues at narrow margin, and tumor-contaminated blood lost from the cancer specimen [12–14].

This concept of locoregional spread of PM from GC and poor outcome of systemic chemotherapy has led to interest in regional therapies for GC especially cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). The peritoneum is poorly supplied by blood vessels. As a result, systemic chemotherapy reaches in very low concentrations in peritoneal deposits. Thus, in order to achieve adequate chemotherapy concentration in tumor nodules, very high doses need to be administered systemically which might not be tolerated by the patient. On the other hand, chemotherapy delivered intraperitoneally has higher intraperitoneal bioavailability leading to higher concentrations in tumor deposits [15]. Another benefit of intraperitoneal chemotherapy is that it is absorbed via portal vein thus passing through liver and may have higher antitumor effect on liver micrometastasis [16].

M. Jain • S. Singh (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology, Rajiv Gandhi Cancer Institute and Research Centre, Delhi, India e-mail: shiven_24@yahoo.co.in

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_14

Intraperitoneal chemotherapy plays a role in three different situations in gastric cancer—prophylactic HIPEC/intraperitoneal chemotherapy in advanced gastric cancer to prevent PM after curative surgery, in established cases of PM, and lastly in management of intractable ascites due to extensive PM.

14.2 Prophylactic HIPEC/ Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy

Positive peritoneal lavage is considered to be a poor prognostic factor in the outcome of gastric cancer surgery. Despite curative resection, the disease tends to recur with the 5-year survival being less than 2% [17]. In patients with a positive peritoneal fluid cytology, despite a curative resection, the peritoneal failure rate is around 80% compared to 45% in cytology-negative patients [18-20]. This implies that patients with a positive peritoneal cytology without evidence of visible peritoneal disease (Cy+/P0) should be treated differently. In this scenario, intraperitoneal chemotherapy/HIPEC has been used to destroy the free intraperitoneal cancer cell [21– 23]. Yonemura et al. have shown a significantly better survival after HIPEC in Cy+/P0 with 5-year survival reaching up to 42% [9/78].

Advanced gastric cancers have shown poor outcome after curative surgery especially tumors with serosal involvement. Literature is replete with the outcome favoring HIPEC in these with level 1 evidence in its favor [24–30]. There are several randomized controlled trials comparing radical surgery with adjuvant HIPEC to radical surgery alone. Most of them have used serosal involvement and nodal involvement as inclusion criteria. Ikeguchi et al. in 1995 randomized 174 patients with serosal involvement in two treatment arms (those receiving HIPEC and those undergoing only curative surgery). Five-year survival was 51% compared to 45% in HIPEC arm [26]. In the meta-analysis conducted by Coccolini et al. [31], comprising over 2000 patients, there was significant improvement in the overall survival in the HIPEC group at 1, 2, and 3 years. HIPEC also demonstrated a significantly lower overall and peritoneal recurrence rate with no difference in the rate of nodal recurrence. There was, however, some increase in the morbidity. The choice of chemotherapy also remains unclear. Larger well-designed studies are required to clear the issue.

Prophylactic HIPEC is hence indicated in patients with serosal involvement, extensive nodal involvement, and positive peritoneal wash cytology. Table 14.1 shows the studies done for gastric cancer with serosal involvement treated with HIPEC. The role of adjuvant HIPEC is being prospectively evaluated in two randomized controlled trials.

The GASTRICHIP study is a phase III randomized European multicenter study evaluating the role of HIPEC with oxaliplatin in patients undergoing curative gastrectomy and showing high-risk features for developing PM like serosal involvement, regional lymph node involvement, or positive peritoneal fluid cytology [32]. The primary end point is the 5-year overall survival and the secondary end points include disease-free survival, morbidity, pattern of recurrence, and quality of life. In another ongoing trial in Europe, patients with high-risk GC who have received neoadjuvant chemotherapy are randomized to have a curative gastrectomy with or without HIPEC [33].

Apart from HIPEC, normothermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy has also been used and adjuvant treatment in high-risk gastric cancer. Takahashi et al. randomized patients to receive mitomycin C bound to activated carbon particles in addition to gastrectomy or no intraperitoneal therapy and demonstrated a significant survival benefit [34]. The 3-year survival was 66% in the experimental group versus 20% in the control group (P < 0.01). HIPEC was proven to be superior to normothermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (NIIC) in two studies resulting in a significantly longer disease-free and overall survival in patients with high risk of developing PM [27, 35].

Table 14.1	Prophylac	stic HIPEC in ma	unagement of gastri	ic cancer					
Reference	Country	Study design	Treatment given [no. of patients]	Drug used	Curative surgery	Postoperative morbidity	Postoperative mortality	Survival	Peritoneal recurrence
Koga et al. [60]	Japan	RCT	Surgery + HIPEC (26) vs. surgery alone (21)	MMC 64-100 mg	100% vs. 100%	Leak 3.1% vs. 7.1%	NR	30-month OS rate: 83% vs. 67%	NR
Hamazoe et al. [71]	Japan	RCT	Surgery + HIPEC (41) vs. surgery alone (39)	MMC 10 mg/mL	95% vs. 88%	Leak 4.8% vs. 7.5%	0% vs. 0%	Median OS: 77 vs. 66 months; 5-year 64% vs. 52%	39% vs. 59%
Ikeguchi et al. [26]	Japan	RCT	Surgery + HIPEC (75) vs. surgery alone (96)	MMC 80-100 mg/m ²	100% vs. 100%	1.2% vs. 2.08%	NR	5-year OS: 51% vs. 46%	35% vs. 40%
Fujimoto et al. [25]	Japan	RCT	Surgery + HIPEC (69) vs. surgery alone (68)	MMC 10 mg/mL	94.3% vs. 92.8%	2.8% vs. 2.8%	0% vs. 0%	2-year OS: 88% vs. 77%; 4-year OS: 76% vs. 58%; 8-year OS: 62% vs. 49%	1.4% vs. 23%
Hirose et al. [24]	Japan	Prospective case-control	Surgery + HIPEC (15) vs. surgery alone (39)	MMC 20 mg + CDDP 100 mg + VP16 100 mg	NR	60% vs. 42.5%	0% vs. 12.5%	Median OS: 33 vs. 22 months; 3-year OS: 48.9% vs. 28.8%; 5-year OS: 39.1% vs. 17.3%	26.7% vs. 45%
Kim et al. [29]	Korea	Prospective case-control	Surgery + HIPEC (51) vs. surgery alone (50)	MMC 40 mg	NR	36.5% vs. 33.3%	NR	5-year OS: 32.7% vs. 27.1%	7.6% vs. 25%
Zhu et al. [72]	China	Prospective case-control	Surgery + HIPEC (41) vs. surgery alone (53)	MMC 30 mg + CDDP 300 mg	73.8% vs. 66.7%	23.1% vs.12.1%	960	Mean OS: 61 vs. 43 months; 2-year OS: 83.0% vs. 63.7%; 4-year OS: 70.5% vs. 52.1%; 6-year OS: 67.9% vs. 37.7%	10.3% vs. 34.7%
MMC mitom	vcin C, Ci	DDP cisplatin, Vi	P16 etoposide						

14 Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Gastric Cancer

A similar benefit in overall survival was shown with the use of EPIC in patients with high risk of developing PM. In a randomized controlled trial, 248 patients were randomized to either undergo surgery alone or surgery followed by EPIC from days 1–5 [36]. The 5-year survival was significantly higher in the EPIC group compared to the surgery-only group (54% vs. 38%, P = 0.02). Patients with serosal invasion (5-year survival 52% vs. 25%, P = 0.004) and those with nodal metastasis (5-year survival 46% vs. 22%, P = 0.02) were benefited most by EPIC.

14.3 Established Peritoneal Metastases

In the management of established PM, two approaches have been described.

14.3.1 As an Adjunct to Cytoreductive Surgery

Various studies have been published after Fujimoto first published their experience of HIPEC in established cases of gastric PM in which they showed 2-year survival of up to 45% after HIPEC with CRS compared to 0% with CRS alone (Table 14.2) [37, 38]. Such dismal results were improved for the first time by Yonemura et al. who reported 5-year survival of 11% [39].

Glehen et al. reported an overall median survival of 10.3 months with 5-year survival reaching up to 16% in a single institution study from France [40]. Subsequently, the same investigators reported the outcomes of a multi-institutional study involving 159 patients. Patients had a median PCI score of 9.4. It also showed overall median survival of 9.2 months with 5-year survival of 13%, while patients having complete cytoreduction had a median survival of 15 months with 5-year survival of 23% [41]. The first randomized controlled trial was reported by Yang et al. who showed a significantly higher median survival of 11 months for CRS and HIPEC group compared to 6.5 months

for CRS alone group [42]. The 3-year survival in the CRS with HIPEC arm was 5.9% compared to 0% in the CRS alone arm.

Median PCI score was 15 in this study. The authors concluded that compared to CRS alone, CRS with HIPEC is likely to increase survival by 2.6 times. The most important prognostic factor in patients undergoing this treatment is the disease extent as determined by the peritoneal cancer index (PCI).

However, selection criteria in most of the studies have varied considerably. Also the drugs used have also varied although most have used the combination of cisplatin and mitomycin.

14.3.2 Neoadjuvant Therapy

A recent introduction is neoadjuvant intraperitoneal chemotherapy plus systemic chemotherapy (NIPS) in established cases of PM. The goal is to reduce the disease burden, eradicate the free intraperitoneal cells, and thus enable a complete CRS. Yonemura et al. first published their criteria regarding the use of NIPS in 2006 [43]. The intra-abdominal catheter was placed in the pouch of Douglas. Both intraperitoneal chemotherapy (docetaxel and carboplatin) and systemic chemotherapy (methotrexate and 5-FU) were administered simultaneously. This treatment resulted in a negative peritoneal cytology in 56% of patients. Those who received complete resection had a median survival of 20 months.

In another study by Yonemura et al. [44] involving 96 patients having PM, intraperitoneal Taxotere and cisplatin were instilled together with oral S-1. Patients with nonprogressive disease were taken for CRS, and those achieving complete cytoreduction underwent HIPEC. Negative peritoneal cytology was achieved in 69% of patients and complete cytoreduction (CC-0) in 70%. CC-0 of 96% was achieved in those with PCI \leq 6. Patients with CC-0 had a median survival of 21 months, and those with PCI \leq 6 had a median survival of 20 months. Because of high morbidity and mortality, strict selection criteria are required.

	-	-		¢					
Reference	Country	Study design	Treatment arms	Drug used	Duration	Complete	Morhidity	Mortality	Outcome
Fujimoto et al. [37]	Japan	Prospective	Surgery +HIPEC (20) vs. surgery alone (7)	MMC 10 µg/mL	120	NA	NA	NA	6-month survival: 94% vs. 57% 2-year: 45%
Yonemura et al. [39]	Japan	Prospective	Surgery + HIPEC (40)	MMC 5 µg/mL + CDDP 30 µg/mL	4060	NR	12.0%	%0	Median OS: 14.5 months; 3-year: 28.5%
Yonemura et al. [39]	Japan	Prospective	Surgery + HIPEC (83)	MMC 30 mg + CDDP 300 mg	60	33.7%	NR	NR	1-year OS: 43.0%; 5-year OS: 11.0%
Fujimoto et al. [38]	Japan	Prospective case-control	Surgery + HIPEC (47) vs. surgery alone (18)	VP16 150 mg + MMC 10 µg/mL	120	NR	NR	NR	1-year OS: 54.0% vs. 11.0%; 3-year OS: 42.0% vs. 0%; 5-year OS: 31.0% vs. 0%; 8-year OS: 25.0% vs. 0%
Hirose et al. [24]	Japan	Prospective case-control	CRS + HIPEC (17) vs. CRS alone (20)	MMC 20 mg + CDDP 100 mg + VP16 100 mg	50	35.2% vs. 20%	35.2% vs. 20.0%	5.8% vs. 0%	Median OS: 11 vs. 6 months; 1-year OS: 44.4% vs. 15.8%
Glehen et al. [40]	France	Prospective	CRS + HIPEC (48)	MMC 40-60 mg	06	10.2%	27.0%	4.0%	Median OS: 10.3 months; 5-year OS: 16.0%
Hall et al. [73]	USA	Prospective case-control	CRS + HIPEC (34) vs. surgery alone (39)	MMC 40 mg	120	21%	35.0%	%0	Median OS: 8 months; 1-year OS: 36.0%; 2-year OS: 26.0%; 5-year OS: 12.0% (all patients)
Yonemura et al. [61]	Japan	Retrospective	Peritonectomy + HIPEC (41) vs. conventional surgery + HIPEC (63)	MMC 30 mg + CDDP 300 mg + VP16 150 mg	60	69% vs. 28%	43.0% vs. 8.0%	7.0% vs. 0%	Median OS: 11 months; 5-year OS: 6.7% (all patients)

 Table 14.2
 Therapeutic HIPEC for peritoneal carcinomatosis for gastric cancer

(Continued)

Table 14.2	Continue	(p							
Reference	Country	Study design	Treatment arms	Drug used	Duration	Complete cytoreduction	Morbidity	Mortality	Outcome
Zhu et al. [72]	China	Prospective case-control	Surgery + HIPEC (10) vs. surgery alone (12)	CDDP 50 μg/mL + MMC 5 μg/ mL	60		NR	%0	Median OS: 10 vs. 5 months
Scaringi et al. [74]	France	Retrospective	CRS + HIPEC (26)	MMC 120 mg + CDDP 200 mg/ m^2	06-09	30.7%	27.0%	3.8%	Median OS: 6.6 months (all patients); CC0 vs. CC ≥ 1 : 15 vs. 3.9 months
Glehen et al. [41]	France	Retrospective	or EPIC (159)	HIPEC: MMC 30–50 mg/ m ² + CDDP 50–100 mg/m ² ; or OX 360–460 mg/m ² \pm irinotecan 100–200 mg/m ² \pm i.v. 5-FU and leucovorin; EPIC: MMC 10 mg/ m ² + 5-FU 600 mg/m ²	60–120	56.0%	27.8%	6.5%	Median OS: 9.2 months; 5-year OS: 13%
Yang et al. [75]	China	Prospective	CRS + HIPEC (28)	MMC 30 mg + CDDP 120 mg	90–120	CC0, 39.2%; CC1, 21.4%	14.3%	0%0	1-year OS: 78.6%; 2-year OS: 42.8%
Yang et al. [42]	China	RCT	CRS + HIPEC (34) vs. CRS alone (34)	MMC 30 mg + CDDP 120 mg	06-09	58.8% vs. 58.8%	14.7% vs. 11.7%	NR	Median OS: 11.0 vs. 6.5 months; 1-year OS: 41.2% vs. 29.4%; 2-year OS: 14.7% vs. 5.9% vs. 3-year OS: 5.9% vs.
Magge et al. [76]	USA	Prospective	CRS + HIPEC (23)	MMC 40 mg	100	95.6%	52.0%	4.3%	Median OS: 9.5 months; 3-year OS: 18%
Rudloff et al. [77]	USA	RCT	CRS + HIPEC (9) vs. chemotherapy alone (8)	OX 460 mg/m ²	30		11.0%	NR	Median OS: 11.3 vs. 4.3 months

14.3.2.1 Prognostic Factors for Patients with Gastric PM

One of the most important prognostic factors in patients with gastric PM undergoing CRS and HIPEC is the disease extent as determined by the PCI. Yonemura et al. reported complete cytoreduction in 86%, 39%, and 7% of patients with GCPC if the PCI score was ≤ 6 , >7, and >13, respectively [45]. In the multi-institutional French study, the PCI was the only independent factor predicting survival; in patients with a PCI >19, no patients survived for more than 6 months, and in those with a PCI >12, none survived for more than 3 years [41]. Yang et al. reported a significant difference in the median survival if the PCI score was ≤ 20 or > 20 (27.7 months vs. 6.4 months, P = 0.0001 [42]. Canbay et al. found a PCI of ≤ 6 to be an independent prognostic factor for survival in patients treated by NIPS followed by CRS and HIPEC (HR = 2.16; 95% CI, 1.17-3.98; P = 0.013) [46].

The presence of preoperative ascites seems to be a poor prognostic factor, with a median survival of only 5 months in the presence of ascites compared to 15.6 months in its absence [40]. Using a scoring system for ascites, Randle et al. found that each point increase in ascites score conferred 33% greater odds of incomplete macroscopic resection (OR = 1.33; 95% CI, 1.14– 1.55; P < 0.001) [47].

The survival also improves with institutional experience—one study showed a 5-year survival of 8% in institutes with less than 3 years of experience and 16% in those with >11 years of experience [41]. The learning curve for the procedure is long with surgeons requiring 70–180 cases to achieve operative proficiency, reduce complications, and achieve good oncological outcomes [48–50].

14.3.2.2 Possibility of Cure in Patients Undergoing CRS and HIPEC for Gastric PM

A small percentage of patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC for gastric PM remain disease-free for >5 years and are considered to be cured. This was demonstrated in the BIG-RENAPE study of 81 patients treated from 1989 to 2009 [51]. Fiftynine patients had no macroscopic and the median PCI was 6. Mitomycin C was the most commonly used drug during HIPEC (88%). The 5-year overall survival (OS) rate was 18%, with nine patients still disease-free at 5 years, for a cure rate of 11%. All "cured" patients had a PCI score below 7 and a CC-0. Factors associated with improved OS on multivariate analysis were synchronous resection (P = 0.02), a lower PCI score (P = 0.12), and the completeness of cytoreduction (P = 0.09). The authors concluded that the cure rate of 11% for patients with gastric PM who are deemed terminal emphasizes that CRS and HIPEC should be considered in highly selected patients (low disease extent and complete CRS).

14.3.2.3 C-Palliative HIPEC

PM may be complicated by malignant ascites which may be debilitating. Control of ascites will improve quality of life. HIPEC has been used to palliate ascites due to PC. Fujimoto et al. and Yonemura et al. initially reported complete resolution of ascites with HIPEC [44]. The procedure may be done laparoscopically as well [52–54]. In a systemic review involving 76 patients, ascites control was achieved in 95% patients with no major complications [53]. Ultrasound-guided HIPEC has also been reported, showing comparable ascites control with shorter hospitalization and reduced costs [55].

CRS with HIPEC has also been used in patients with malignant ascites with ascites control in 93% of patients, but survival was improved only when CRS was complete. Because of associated morbidity, the procedure is advisable only if complete cytoreduction seems possible [47].

14.3.2.4 Other Palliative Therapies

Pressurized intraperitoneal chemotherapy (PIPAC) is a new method of intraperitoneal drug delivery that uses aerosolized chemotherapy in the setting of a capnoperitoneum to produce a high tumor drug concentration [56]. It has shown good response rates in metachronous gastric PM where the results are much worse than that for synchronous PM for gastric cancer.

Reymond et al. evaluated the role of PIPAC in gastric PM retrospectively. Sixty PIPAC were applied in 24 consecutive patients with PM from gastric cancer. Sixty-seven percent of patients had previous surgery, and 79% had previous platinum-based systemic chemotherapy. Mean PCI was 16 ± 10 and 18/24 patients had tumors with signet ring cells. Cisplatin 7.5 mg/m² and doxorubicin 1.5 mg/m² were given for 30 min at 37°C and 12 mmHg at 6-week intervals. Median follow-up was 248 days (range 105-748), and median survival time was 15.4 months. Seventeen patients had >1 PIPAC. Objective tumor response was documented in half of the patients after PIPAC, including complete histological regression in six patients. This study showed that there was a benefit of PIPAC in patients with recurrent platinum-resistant gastric PM, and it needed further prospective evaluation. Though the selection criteria for PIPAC could not be defined based on this study, the authors suggested using PIPAC soon after development of recurrence would be most beneficial [57].

Clinical trials are currently underway to further evaluate the role of PIPAC in gastric PM. The PIPAC-GAO1 (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01854255) a phase II study has completed accrual. This study will evaluate the role of PIPAC in patients with recurrent gastric cancer in terms of clinical benefit rate and objective response at 3 months after treatment completion and overall survival at 1 year after treatment completion. PIPAC is performed using cisplatin and doxorubicin, and three procedures should be performed for each patient.

The PIPAC EstoK 01 is a prospective, multicentric, randomized, open-label, controlled, parallel-group, phase II trial designed to evaluate the effect of PIPAC with oxaliplatin combined with systemic chemotherapy in patients with gastric PM with a PCI >8. The primary end point of this trial is the progression-free survival at 24 months. The secondary end points are the 24-month OS, safety, tolerability, and quality of life. It will also evaluate the feasibility of three successive PIPAC procedure and secondary resectability rate in these patients. Six specialized centers target to recruit 2×47 patients over 36 months.

PIPOX 01 is a phase I/II multicentric study in which a dose escalation study for oxaliplatin will be performed to treat patients with unresectable gastric, colorectal, and small bowel peritoneal metastases. The primary end point of the phase I study is the dose-limiting toxicity and that of the phase II study is the secondary resectability rate. Four centers in France will recruit 6 and 50 patients for the 2 studies.

14.3.2.5 Drugs Used in HIPEC

Multiple drugs have been used in HIPEC for gastric cancer including mitomycin C, cisplatin, and taxanes. The characteristics of an ideal drug include proven systemic activity, favorable pharmacokinetics, concentration-related cytotoxicity, adequate tissue penetration, acceptable local toxicity, synergistic activity with hyperthermia, and safety of hospital personnel. Whether to use them as monotherapy or as a combination is not yet clear, and which combination is best is yet to be determined.

Mitomycin C was the first drug used based on the experience from pseudomyxoma peritonei and PM from colorectal carcinoma [58]. It is usually given in a dose of 15 mg/m² for duration of 90 min. However, both dose and duration have varied in literature [25, 26, 39, 58]. It was initially used alone, but more recently, it is used in combination of cisplatin or cisplatin and etoposide both [29, 58–61].

Platinum-based agents both cisplatin and oxaliplatin have been used in HIPEC. Cisplatin has been used in combination with mitomycin C in dose ranging from 50 to 200 mg/m² with perfusion time between 60 and 90 min [60].

Oxaliplatin has been used recently in a dose of 460 mg/m² for duration of either 30 or 60 min [35]. Due to synergistic effect of oxaliplatin with 5 FU, 5 FU and leucovorin are given intravenously either just prior to or during HIPEC to

increase the cytotoxic effect of oxaliplatin. Both have acceptable hematological toxicity, but cisplatin is more nephrotoxic compared to oxaliplatin. Oxaliplatin is degraded in sodium-based solutions and, hence, is given in 5% dextrose, which may cause severe electrolyte disturbance [62, 63].

Taxanes both paclictaxel and docetaxel have been used as systemic agents for gastric cancers. They have mainly been studied in ovarian malignancies with limited utility in gastric cancer.

Epirubicin and doxorubicin have also been used for PM from appendiceal cancer and peritoneal sarcomatosis but have not been used in gastric cancer. Intraperitoneal doxorubicin is used in dose of 15 mg/m². It is toxic at dose of 30 mg/m² causing peritoneal inflammation leading to fibrosis and obstruction [64].

In a consensus statement on peritoneal surface malignancy, 5-fluorouracil is not considered an appropriate drug for intraperitoneal chemotherapy [65]. It is, however, used as bidirectional therapy in HIPEC.

Catumaxomab, a monoclonal antibody, binds to EpCAM-positive cells causing tumor killing. Its intraperitoneal infusions have been used in malignant ascites with high efficacy and have shown improvement in paracentesis-free survival [66]. Its role in peritoneal carcinomatosis of gastric cancer is not known, while its safety has been shown in a phase II trial [67].

At present various trials are going on in Europe and China using oxaliplatin, oxaliplatin and paclitaxel, and mitomycin and cisplatin for peritoneal carcinomatosis or prophylactic HIPEC for locally advanced tumors.

14.3.2.6 Morbidity of HIPEC

HIPEC seems promising in the management of advanced gastric cancer, but is not free from complications. These can be either related to surgery or the chemotherapeutic agent.

Chemotherapy impairs wound healing and increases the infections. HIPEC is therefore associated with increased abscess, wound infection, and anastomotic leak. Other associated morbidity includes postoperative ileus, bleeding, and thrombosis. However, Mizumoto found a reduced postoperative complication rate [59]. In addition, the chemotherapeutic agent is absorbed from the peritoneum into systemic circulation leading to leukopenia, anemia, thrombocytopenia, and organ failure (heart, liver, or renal).

The initial reported morbidity was 50% with re-exploration rate of 33% [60]. The results have improved with time with a current morbidity of 20%. The reported mortality has varied from 0% to 14.3% with a median of 4.8% [68]. Chua et al. have opined that such high morbidity and mortality may be acceptable owing to the fatal nature of the disease [69]. Age >60 years, poor performance status, neoadjuvant therapy, and duration of procedure have been identified as the risk factors for high morbidity, but the "independent" reported risk factor is institution [35, 49, 70].

To improve on the results, institutional and surgical awareness and willingness are paramount. Feingold et al. suggested few technical tips like complete drainage and lavage before reconstruction, freshening of the bowel edges before reconstruction, and avoidance of excessive peritoneal stripping to improve the morbidity.

Conclusion

Prophylactic HIPEC against peritoneal carcinomatosis in advanced gastric cancer is safe, significantly improves survival, and reduces peritoneal recurrence. CRS+ HIPEC is the optimal treatment in selected patients of gastric cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis which has been shown to prolong survival. There is very limited role of HIPEC in malignant ascites from gastric cancer.

However, some issues still remain unresolved like the chemotherapeutic agent, dose, and duration of therapy. Apart from this, surgeon and institution sensitization are lacking with the unavailability of the required equipment.

References

- Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61(2):69–90.
- Thomassen I, van Gestel YR, van Ramshorst B, Luyer MD, Bosscha K, Nienhuijs SW, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of gastric origin: a population-based study on incidence, survival and risk factors. Int J Cancer. 2014;134(3):622–8.
- Abbasi SY, Taani HE, Saad A, Badheeb A, Addasi A. Advanced gastric cancer in Jordan from 2004 to 2008: a study of epidemiology and outcomes. Gastrointest Cancer Res GCR. 2011;4(4):122–7.
- Yoo CH, Noh SH, Shin DW, Choi SH, Min JS. Recurrence following curative resection for gastric carcinoma. Br J Surg. 2000;87(2):236–42.
- Van Cutsem E, Moiseyenko VM, Tjulandin S, Majlis A, Constenla M, Boni C, et al. Phase III study of docetaxel and cisplatin plus fluorouracil compared with cisplatin and fluorouracil as first-line therapy for advanced gastric cancer: a report of the V325 study group. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(31):4991–7.
- Koizumi W, Narahara H, Hara T, Takagane A, Akiya T, Takagi M, et al. S-1 plus cisplatin versus S-1 alone for first-line treatment of advanced gastric cancer (SPIRITS trial): a phase III trial. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9(3):215–21.
- Roviello F, Marrelli D, de Manzoni G, Morgagni P, Di Leo A, Saragoni L, et al. Prospective study of peritoneal recurrence after curative surgery for gastric cancer. Br J Surg. 2003;90(9):1113–9.
- Aoyama T, Yoshikawa T, Hayashi T, Kuwabara H, Mikayama Y, Ogata T, et al. Risk factors for peritoneal recurrence in stage II/III gastric cancer patients who received S-1 adjuvant chemotherapy after D2 Gastrectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(5): 1568–74.
- Sugarbaker PH. Observations concerning cancer spread within the peritoneal cavity and concepts supporting an ordered pathophysiology. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:79–100.
- Sugarbaker PH, Yu W, Yonemura Y. Gastrectomy, peritonectomy, and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: the evolution of treatment strategies for advanced gastric cancer. Semin Surg Oncol. 2003;21(4):233–48.
- 11. Juhl H, Stritzel M, Wroblewski A, Henne-Bruns D, Kremer B, Schmiegel W, et al. Immunocytological detection of micrometastatic cells: comparative evaluation of findings in the peritoneal cavity and the bone marrow of gastric, colorectal and pancreatic cancer patients. Int J Cancer. 1994;57(3):330–5.
- XF Y, Ren ZG, Xue YW, Song HT, Wei YZ, Li CM. D2 lymphadenectomy can disseminate tumor cells into peritoneal cavity in patients with advanced gastric cancer. Neoplasma. 2013;60(2):174–81.
- Marutsuka T, Shimada S, Shiomori K, Hayashi N, Yagi Y, Yamane T, et al. Mechanisms of peritoneal metastasis after operation for non-serosa-invasive

gastric carcinoma: an ultrarapid detection system for intraperitoneal free cancer cells and a prophylactic strategy for peritoneal metastasis. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(2):678–85.

- 14. Han T-S, Kong S-H, Lee H-J, Ahn H-S, Hur K, Yu J, et al. Dissemination of free cancer cells from the gastric lumen and from perigastric lymphovascular pedicles during radical gastric cancer surgery. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(10):2818–25.
- González-Moreno S, González-Bayón LA, Ortega-Pérez G. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: rationale and technique. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(2):68–75.
- Speyer JL, Sugarbaker PH, Collins JM, Dedrick RL, Klecker RW, Myers CE. Portal levels and hepatic clearance of 5-fluorouracil after intraperitoneal administration in humans. Cancer Res. 1981;41(5):1916–22.
- Bando E, Yonemura Y, Takeshita Y, Taniguchi K, Yasui T, Yoshimitsu Y, et al. Intraoperative lavage for cytological examination in 1,297 patients with gastric carcinoma. Am J Surg. 1999;178(3):256–62.
- Kodera Y, Yamamura Y, Shimizu Y, Torii A, Hirai T, Yasui K, et al. Peritoneal washing cytology: prognostic value of positive findings in patients with gastric carcinoma undergoing a potentially curative resection. J Surg Oncol. 1999;72(2):60–4. discussion 64-65
- Bentrem D, Wilton A, Mazumdar M, Brennan M, Coit D. The value of peritoneal cytology as a preoperative predictor in patients with gastric carcinoma undergoing a curative resection. Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12(5):347–53.
- Yonemura Y. Multidisciplinary therapy for treatment of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2(2):85.
- Overgaard J. Effect of hyperthermia on malignant cells in vivo. A review and a hypothesis. Cancer. 1977;39(6):2637–46.
- Glehen O, Mohamed F, Gilly FN. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from digestive tract cancer: new management by cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia. Lancet Oncol. 2004;5(4):219–28.
- Sticca RP, Dach BW. Rationale for hyperthermia with intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy agents. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12(3):689–701.
- 24. Hirose K, Katayama K, Iida A, Yamaguchi A, Nakagawara G, Umeda S, et al. Efficacy of continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion for the prophylaxis and treatment of peritoneal metastasis of advanced gastric cancer: evaluation by multivariate regression analysis. Oncology. 1999;57(2): 106–14.
- 25. Fujimoto S, Takahashi M, Mutou T, Kobayashi K, Toyosawa T. Successful intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemoperfusion for the prevention of postoperative peritoneal recurrence in patients with advanced gastric carcinoma. Cancer. 1999;85(3):529–34.
- Ikeguchi M, Kondou A, Oka A, Tsujitani S, Maeta M, Kaibara N. Effects of continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion on prognosis of gastric cancer with serosal invasion. Eur J Surg. 1995;161(8):581–6.

- Fujimura T, Yonemura Y, Muraoka K, Takamura H, Hirono Y, Sahara H, et al. Continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion for the prevention of peritoneal recurrence of gastric cancer: randomized controlled study. World J Surg. 1994;18(1):150–5.
- Zuo Y, Xu M, Shen D, Lu W-D, Lu J-F. Postoperative intraperitioneal hyperthermic chemoperfusion combined with intravenous chemotherapy for 82 advanced gastric cancer patients. Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi. 2004;26(4):247–9.
- Kim JY, Bae HS. A controlled clinical study of serosainvasive gastric carcinoma patients who underwent surgery plus intraperitoneal hyperthermo-chemoperfusion (IHCP). Gastric Cancer. 2001;4(1):27–33.
- 30. Yonemura Y, de Aretxabala X, Fujimura T, Fushida S, Katayama K, Bandou E, et al. Intraoperative chemohyperthermic peritoneal perfusion as an adjuvant to gastric cancer: final results of a randomized controlled study. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2001;48(42):1776–82.
- Coccolini F, Cotte E, Glehen O, Lotti M, Poiasina E, Catena F, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy in advanced gastric cancer. Meta-analysis of randomized trials. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(1):12–26.
- 32. Glehen O, Passot G, Villeneuve L, Vaudoyer D, Bin-Dorel S, Boschetti G, Piaton E, Garofalo A. GASTRICHIP: D2 resection and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in locally advanced gastric carcinoma: a randomized and multicenter phase III study. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:183.
- 33. Roviello F, Caruso S, Neri A, Marrelli D. Treatment and prevention of peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: overview and rationale. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:1309–16.
- 34. Takahashi T, Hagiwara A, Shimotsuma M, Sawai K, Yamaguchi T. Prophylaxis and treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis: intraperitoneal chemotherapy with mitomycin C bound to activated carbon particles. World J Surg. 1995;19:565–9.
- 35. Yonemura Y, de Aretxabala X, Fujimura T, Fushida S, Katayama K, Bandou E, Sugiyama K, Kawamura T, Kinoshita K, Endou Y, et al. Intraoperative chemo-hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion as an adjuvant to gastric cancer: final results of a randomized controlled study. Hepatogastroenterology. 2001;48:1776–82.
- 36. Yu W, Whang I, Chung HY, Averbach A, Sugarbaker PH. Indications for early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy of advanced gastric cancer: results of a prospective randomized trial. World J Surg. 2001;25:985–90.
- Fujimoto S, Shrestha RD, Kokubun M, Kobayashi K, Kiuchi S, Konno C, et al. Positive results of combined therapy of surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion for far-advanced gastric cancer. Ann Surg. 1990;212(5):592–6.
- Fujimoto S, Shrestha RD, Kokubun M, Ohta M, Takahashi M, Kobayashi K, et al. Intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion combined with surgery effective for gastric cancer patients with peritoneal seeding. Ann Surg. 1988;208(1):36–41.

- Yonemura Y, Fujimura T, Nishimura G, Falla R, Sawa T, Katayama K, et al. Effects of intraoperative chemohyperthermia in patients with gastric cancer with peritoneal dissemination. Surgery. 1996;119(4):437–44.
- Glehen O, Schreiber V, Cotte E, Sayag-Beaujard AC, Osinsky D, Freyer G, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia for peritoneal carcinomatosis arising from gastric cancer. Arch Surg. 2004;139(1):20–6.
- 41. Glehen O, Gilly FN, Arvieux C, Cotte E, Boutitie F, Mansvelt B, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: a multi-institutional study of 159 patients treated by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(9):2370–7.
- 42. Yang X-J, Huang C-Q, Suo T, Mei L-J, Yang G-L, Cheng F-L, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy improves survival of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: final results of a phase III randomized clinical trial. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(6):1575–81.
- Yonemura Y, Bandou E, Sawa T, Yoshimitsu Y, Endou Y, Sasaki T, et al. Neoadjuvant treatment of gastric cancer with peritoneal dissemination. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32(6):661–5.
- 44. Yonemura Y, Elnemr A, Endou Y, Ishibashi H, Mizumoto A, Miura M, et al. Effects of Neoadjuvant Intraperitoneal/systemic chemotherapy (bidirectional chemotherapy) for the treatment of patients with peritoneal metastasis from gastric cancer. Int J Surg Oncol. 2012;2012:e148420.
- 45. Yonemura Y, Elnemr A, Endou Y, Hirano M, Mizumoto A, Takao N, Ichinose M, Miura M, Li Y. Multidisciplinary therapy for treatment of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2:85–97.
- 46. Canbay E, Mizumoto A, Ichinose M, Ishibashi H, Sako S, Hirano M, Takao N, Yonemura Y. Outcome data of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric origin treated by a strategy of bidirectional chemotherapy prior to cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in a single specialized center in Japan. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1147–52.
- 47. Randle RW, Swett KR, Swords DS, Shen P, Stewart JH, Levine EA, Votanopoulos KI. Efficacy of cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the management of malignant ascites. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1474–9.
- Mohamed F, Moran BJ. Morbidity and mortality with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy: the importance of a learning curve. Cancer J. 2009;15:196–9.
- Smeenk RM, Verwaal VJ, Zoetmulder FA. Learning curve of combined modality treatment in peritoneal surface disease. Br J Surg. 2007;94:1408–14.
- Kusamura S, Baratti D, Deraco M. Multidimensional analysis of the learning curve for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in peritoneal surface malignancies. Ann Surg. 2012;255:348–56.
- 51. Chia CS, You B, Decullier E, Vaudoyer D, Lorimier G, Abboud K, Bereder JM, Arvieux C, Boschetti G, Glehen O, BIG RENAPE Group. Patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: is cure a possibility? Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(6):1971–9. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-5081-3. Epub 2016 Jan 11.
- 52. Facchiano E, Scaringi S, Kianmanesh R, Sabate JM, Castel B, Flamant Y, et al. Laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for the treatment of malignant ascites secondary to unresectable peritoneal carcinomatosis from advanced gastric cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34(2):154–8.
- Facchiano E, Risio D, Kianmanesh R, Msika S. Laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: indications, aims, and results: a systematic review of the literature. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(9):2946–50.
- 54. Valle M, Van der Speeten K, Garofalo A. Laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal peroperative chemotherapy (HIPEC) in the management of refractory malignant ascites: a multi-institutional retrospective analysis in 52 patients. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100(4):331–4.
- 55. Ba M-C, Long H, Cui S-Z, Tang Y-Q, Y-B W, Zhang X-L, et al. Multivariate comparison of B-ultrasound guided and laparoscopic continuous circulatory hyperthermic intraperitoneal perfusion chemotherapy for malignant ascites. Surg Endosc. 2013;27(8): 2735–43.
- Solass W, Kerb R, Mürdter T, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy of peritoneal Carcinomatosis using pressurized aerosol as an alternative to liquid solution: first evidence for efficacy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(2):553– 9. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-013-3213-1.
- Nadiradze G, Giger-Pabst U, Zieren J, Strumberg D, Solass W, Reymond M-A. Pressurized Intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) with low-dose Cisplatin and doxorubicin in gastric peritoneal metastasis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2016;20:367–73. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11605-015-2995-9.
- Koga S, Hamazoe R, Maeta M, Shimizu N, Murakami A, Wakatsuki T. Prophylactic therapy for peritoneal recurrence of gastric cancer by continuous hyperthermic peritoneal perfusion with mitomycin C. Cancer. 1988;61(2):232–7.
- 59. Mizumoto A, Canbay E, Hirano M, Takao N, Matsuda T, Ichinose M, et al. Morbidity and mortality outcomes of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy at a single institution in Japan. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:836425.
- 60. Fujimura T, Yonemura Y, Nakagawara H, Kitagawa H, Fushida S, Nishimura G, et al. Subtotal peritonectomy with chemohyperthermic peritoneal perfusion for peritonitis carcinomatosa in gastrointestinal cancer. Oncol Rep. 2000;7(4):809–14.
- 61. Yonemura Y, Kawamura T, Bandou E, Takahashi S, Sawa T, Matsuki N. Treatment of peritoneal dissemination from gastric cancer by peritonectomy and

chemohyperthermic peritoneal perfusion. Br J Surg. 2005;92(3):370-5.

- 62. De Somer F, Ceelen W, Delanghe J, De Smet D, Vanackere M, Pattyn P, et al. Severe hyponatremia, hyperglycemia, and hyperlactatemia are associated with intraoperative hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion with oxaliplatin. Perit Dial Int. 2008;28(1):61–6.
- 63. Rueth NM, Murray SE, Huddleston SJ, Abbott AM, Greeno EW, Kirstein MN, et al. Severe electrolyte disturbances after hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: oxaliplatin versus mitomycin C. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(1):174–80.
- 64. Sugarbaker PH. Early postoperative intraperitoneal adriamycin as an adjuvant treatment for advanced gastric cancer with lymph node or serosal invasion. Cancer Treat Res. 1991;55:277–84.
- Kusamura S, Dominique E, Baratti D, Younan R, Deraco M. Drugs, carrier solutions and temperature in hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98(4):247–52.
- 66. Heiss MM, Murawa P, Koralewski P, Kutarska E, Kolesnik OO, Ivanchenko VV, et al. The trifunctional antibody catumaxomab for the treatment of malignant ascites due to epithelial cancer: results of a prospective randomized phase II/III trial. Int J Cancer. 2010;127(9):2209–21.
- 67. Krueger CM, Berdov BA, Roman LA, Luft AV, Lampe P, Lindhofer H, et al. Intraoperative, adjuvant treatment of gastric cancer with the trifunctional antibody catumaxomab compared to surgery alone: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(15):15529.
- 68. Gill RS, Al-Adra DP, Nagendran J, Campbell S, Shi X, Haase E, et al. Treatment of gastric cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis by cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC: a systematic review of survival, mortality, and morbidity. J Surg Oncol. 2011;104(6): 692–8.
- 69. Chua TC, Yan TD, Saxena A, Morris DL. Should the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy still be regarded as a highly morbid procedure?: a systematic review of morbidity and mortality. Ann Surg. 2009;249(6):900–7.
- Moradi BN, Esquivel J. Learning curve in cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100(4):293–6.
- Hamazoe R, Maeta M, Kaibara N. Intraperitoneal thermochemotherapy for prevention of peritoneal recurrence of gastric cancer. Final results of a randomized controlled study. Cancer. 1994;73(8):2048–52.
- 72. Zhu ZG, Tang R, Yan M, Chen J, Yang QM, Li C, et al. Efficacy and safety of intraoperative peritoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy for advanced gastric cancer patients with serosal invasion. A long-term follow-up study. Dig Surg. 2006;23(1–2):93–102.
- Hall JJ, Loggie BW, Shen P, Beamer S, Douglas Case L, McQuellon R, et al. Cytoreductive surgery with intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy for advanced gastric cancer. J Gastrointest Surg. 2004;8(4):454–63.

- 74. Scaringi S, Kianmanesh R, Sabate JM, Facchiano E, Jouet P, Coffin B, et al. Advanced gastric cancer with or without peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a single western center experience. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34(11):1246–52.
- 75. Yang X-J, Li Y, Yonemura Y. Cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat gastric cancer with ascites and/or peritoneal carcinomatosis: results from a Chinese center. J Surg Oncol. 2010;101(6):457–64.
- Magge D, Zenati M, Mavanur A, Winer J, Ramalingam L, Jones H, et al. Aggressive locoregional surgical therapy for gastric peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(5):1448–55.
- 77. Rudloff U, Langan RC, Mullinax JE, Beane JD, Steinberg SM, Beresnev T, et al. Impact of maximal cytoreductive surgery plus regional heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) on outcome of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of gastric origin: results of the GYMSSA trial. J Surg Oncol. 2014;110(3):275–84.



15

Malignant Peritoneal Mesothelioma

Elizabeth Poli, Ashvin Rangole, and Kiran K. Turaga

15.1 Introduction

One of the first descriptions of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma (MPM) was in a case report published 100 years ago [1]. In 1972, Moertel published a review of MPM and described the clinical presentation, histological features, and biological behavior of 169 patients [2].

Today, MPM accounts for approximately 10–30% of all mesothelioma diagnosed, with the majority being the pleural variant [3, 4]. Men are affected more frequently than women, likely because of higher occupational exposure to asbestos in men [5]. Until recently, treatment options were limited, and a diagnosis of MPM predicted a survival of less than a year. However, new advances in therapy are beginning to change the course of this disease, and now more than 50% of patients survive in the past 5 years [6].

E. Poli • K. K. Turaga Department of Surgical Oncology, Chicago University Hospital Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA

A. Rangole (⊠) Department of Surgical Oncology, CHL-CBCC Cancer Centre, Indore, India e-mail: ashvin.rangole@gmail.com

15.2 Epidemiology and Risk Factors

MPM is a rare disease [5]. Incidence data is now available through European registries and the SEER database from the United States. Currently, standardized incidence rates among men range from 0.5 to about 3 cases per million population, while rates among women are in the range of 0.2–2 per million [7]. However, data on incidence of MPM is not available from non-industrialized countries.

The relationship between cancer and exposure to asbestos, a silicate mineral fiber used as a building textile, was originally suspected in the 1930s. In 1960, Dr. J Christopher Wagner described a large group of patients in South Africa with peritoneal and pleural mesothelioma. It was suspected that they had been exposed to a blue type of asbestos, named crocidolite [8]. There are now several retrospective case-control studies, which have elucidated the important role of occupational and non-occupational asbestos exposure in the development of peritoneal and pleural mesothelioma [9, 10]. Further research has determined that the crocidolite type of asbestos offers the highest risk compared to other types, such as chrysotile and amosite. Furthermore, the risk for developing peritoneal mesothelioma is proportional to the square of cumulative exposure to asbestos, and the interval between exposure and disease is around 20-40 years [11, 12]. The risk

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_15

of peritoneal mesothelioma is 2.2-fold increased per kg of asbestos exposure per year according to ecological studies on international populations [13]. However, others have argued that the relationship between peritoneal mesothelioma and asbestos exposure is not as clear—Sugarbaker et al. suggested that in their study of 40 patients with MPM and their matched controls, there only appeared to be a strong relationship between exposure to asbestos and the development of the disease in men [5].

It has been hypothesized that the incidence of mesothelioma in several countries has reached its peak, given that the use of hazardous asbestos declined several decades ago. It is postulated, however, that the incidence of mesothelioma is yet to reach its peak in India, China, Russia, and Brazil since the use of asbestos has been increased and the latency period is yet to be completed. However, there is a large range in the literature of the percentage of cases of MPM that are thought to be due to asbestos exposure, but it is likely around 50-60% [12, 14]. Other risk factors that have been reported through animal studies, case reports, and case series include prior radiation therapy, various other mineral fibers, organic chemicals, simian virus 40, and pancreatitis [12, 15-18].

Although there is a well-documented relationship between asbestos exposure and MPM, asbestos is not the only risk factor implicated in the pathophysiology of the disease. Therefore, one should not allow a history of exposure or non-exposure to bias the diagnosis.

15.3 Genetics of Peritoneal Mesothelioma

Recent studies have suggested a deletion in the germline and somatic BRCA-associated protein (BAP)-1 gene with an increased incidence of peritoneal mesothelioma [19]. While germline mutations can be associated with other malignancies such as uveal melanomas and renal cell carcinomas, the significance of a somatic mutation is unclear. Current epidemiological studies are investigating this association, and patients with family history or the absence of clear exposure must be considered for BAP-1 testing.

15.4 Diagnosis and Evaluation

Much like other peritoneal neoplasms, MPM can present with vague abdominal symptoms, including pain, loss of appetite, increasing abdominal girth and bloating, weight loss, and a decrease in energy [20, 21]. These symptoms are frequently the result of a large tumor burden and ascites. In up to one-third of patients, a mass may be palpated on physical exam [22]. The lack of overt symptoms can often delay the diagnosis, and the disease is often discovered when it is already very advanced. One key feature of MPM is that it rarely spreads beyond the peritoneal cavity. However, long-standing disease can extend into the pleural space or metastasize to extraabdominal lymph nodes [23]. Despite the rarity of the development of metastases in MPM, the progression of the disease in the peritoneal cavity is terminal.

Although ultrasound is not the gold standard for the diagnosis of MPM, patients with vague abdominal symptoms may undergo a screening abdominal ultrasound. Under this modality, MPM may be seen as sheet-like hypoechoic to echogenic masses, omental thickening, or ascites. A computed tomography (CT) scan is frequently the first-line imaging modality when a peritoneal neoplasm is suspected. A CT scan can be useful in distinguishing MPM from other peritoneal malignancies, such as ovarian cancer or carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal cancers. CT scan findings can range from just a few soft tissue and omental masses or a thickened peritoneum with ascites to diffuse nodular thickening of greater than a few centimeters, loss of the normal architecture of the bowel,

and segmental obstruction [21, 24, 25]. The clinical presentation and CT findings of MPM can be subgrouped into the "dry type," which presents with abdominal pain and has CT features of localized peritoneal masses with little or no ascites; the "wet type," which presents with abdominal distension and CT features of ascites with widespread nodules and plaques; and the "mixed type," which presents with ascites and pain [5, 26].

For peritoneal tumors that are less than 1 cm, CT scans only have a sensitivity of 25–33%. Therefore, some centers are starting to use magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to help determine a patient's burden of disease prior to surgery [27]. Figure 15.1 shows examples of peritoneal mesothelioma seen on different imaging modalities.

Potentially useful serum markers for patients with peritoneal mesothelioma include mesothelin, which has been found to be elevated in 71% of patients, and CA-125, which is elevated in 53% of patients. However, both of these markers are also elevated in patients with ovarian cancer, making them more useful for disease surveillance, rather than diagnosis [28, 29].

Cytologic analysis of ascites has a low diagnostic potential due to an absence of large quantities of malignant cells in the fluid [21, 28]. Ultimately, the diagnosis of MPM relies on a tissue diagnosis, either from a core needle biopsy or surgery.

15.5 Pathology

On gross pathologic analysis, the peritoneum in MPM can be thickened and studded with tumor nodules or covered in a diffuse plaque. The omentum can be caked with tumors (Fig. 15.2). In the advanced stage, tumors can invade and encase bowel, which results in obstruction.

The pathologic diagnosis of MPM is complex, as there have been seven described histologic subtypes: epithelioid, which makes up 75% of cases, sarcomatoid, biphasic/mixed, papillary well differentiated, low-grade (tubulopapillary) mesothelioma, multicystic, and deciduoid [5, 30]. Patients with the epithelial subtype typically have a better prognosis, with a reported median survival of 55 months compared to a 13-month



Fig. 15.2 Intraoperative image showing tumor caking of the omentum



Fig. 15.1 (a) Contrast-enhanced computed tomography—(arrows) low-attenuation material along the perihepatic, lesser sac, and perigastric regions representing mucinous ascites; (b) axial, T2-weighted magnetic

resonance imaging; (c) diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (used with permission from Rajeev R, Turaga KK, Cancer Control 2016;23(1):36–46)

median survival for mixed, sarcomatoid, and deciduoid tumors [21]. Multicystic mesotheliomas and well-differentiated papillary mesothelioma have also been described and should be included in the differential diagnosis of peritoneal lesions, but they are benign and associated with a long survival [31].

The definitive diagnosis of MPM is made with immunohistochemistry, especially to distinguish it from papillary serous carcinoma or adenocarcinoma of the gastrointestinal organs. However, there does not exist one specific marker that can make the diagnosis by itself; rather, at least two or more markers should be stained for. Markers which are positive in MPM include calretinin, D2-40, cytokeratin, and WT-1. MPM is also characterized by the absence of certain antigens, such as BG8, Ber-EP4, B72.3, CEA, estrogen receptor, and MOC-31 [31, 32]. Synoptic reporting of the Ki-67, necrosis, mitosis, and grade and histological subtype is essential in the pathological reporting of mesothelioma [33].

Distinguishing malignant mesothelioma from mesothelial hyperplasia and reactive mesothelium can also be challenging. MPM tumors typically stain positive for cytokeratins and demonstrate stromal and fat invasion. In a study by Kato et al., GLUT-1 reactivity was found in 40/40 malignant mesothelioma cases, whereas all 40 cases of reactive mesothelium were negative [34]. Similarly, a study done at the University of Chicago showed all benign mesothelial tissues to be negative for GLUT-1. Of the malignant mesotheliomas, 20% were negative, 53% were weakly positive, and 27% were strongly positive for GLUT-1 [35]. This data suggests that GLUT-1 positivity in biopsy samples can be an adjunct to other IHC studies for the diagnosis of malignant mesothelioma. BAP-1 deletion strongly supports the diagnosis of a malignant peritoneal mesothelioma versus reactive mesothelium.

15.6 Staging

Currently, there is no universally accepted staging system for MPM. The peritoneal cancer index (PCI) has been used to standardize the description of the burden of disease in patients with cancer of the peritoneum, including MPM. To calculate the PCI, the abdomen is divided into 13 regions, and each region is given a score of 0-3, depending on the size and appearance of the tumors in that region. Those scores are summed to give a total score between 0 and 29 [36]. Yan et al. combined data on MPM patients from eight institutions in the Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group International (PSOGI) to determine a clinicopathologic staging system. In this system, PCI is grouped into T categories: T1 is PCI 1–10, T2 is PCI 11–20, T3 is PCI 21–30, and T4 is 30–39. Although nodes are not typically involved in MPM, if there is nodal disease, it is classified as N1. Systematic sampling of retroperitoneal nodes is often essential for nodal staging. M1 represents disease that has extended past the peritoneal cavity. Using these categories, a staging classification was described that correlated with outcomes. Stage I included T1N0M0 disease and had an 87% 5-year survival rate. Stage II included T2-3N0M0 tumors and had a 53% 5-year survival. Stage III included patients with T4 tumors or evidence of nodal or distant metastasis, which had a 5-year survival. This staging system has not been formally standardized by the American Joint Committee on Cancer [37, 38].

15.7 Treatment

Prior to 2000, treatment for peritoneal mesothelioma included a combination of systemic chemotherapy, and palliative surgical procedures, which offered a modest survival benefit, ranging between 6 and 16 months with median survival of approximately 1 year [6, 39].

Operative therapies were largely focused on palliative cytoreduction. The addition of debulking procedures to the treatment of MPM initially only offered a survival benefit of 7 months [40].

The use of conventional systemic chemotherapy has also not significantly impacted the course of peritoneal mesothelioma. Cisplatin- and pemetrexed-based chemotherapies are the drugs most frequently used and typically have good response rates for pleural mesothelioma. However, when they are used for the treatment of MPM, these drugs have response rates between 11 and 28% and median OS 10–26.8 months. Monotherapy with intraperitoneal chemoperfusion has also not resulted in any significant benefit with a median survival of 9–12 months [6].

More recently, aggressive locoregional treatment strategies, such as cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC), have proven to offer a significant survival benefit. The aim of cytoreductive surgery is to remove as much tumor as possible with an optimal cytoreduction defined as residual disease <2.5 mm in thickness (CC-1). Depending on the burden of disease, the operation can consist of a greater omentectomy with splenectomy, right upper quadrant peritonectomy, left upper quadrant peritonectomy, lesser omentectomy with removal of the gallbladder, and/or pelvic peritonectomy with resection of the rectosigmoid colon [25].

The completeness of cytoreduction is scored depending on the residual peritoneal seeding within the abdomen as CC-0, no residual tumors; CC-1, residual tumor size less than 0.25 cm; CC-2, residual tumor between 0.25 and 2.5 cm; and CC-3, residual tumor >2.5 cm [21]. Direct exposure of antitumor agent to the peritoneal surface is considered to be the most effective treatment modality against malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy instilled at the time of surgery gives maximum advantage by exposing a larger area of tumor to the chemotherapy drug solution and can greatly enhance drug concentrations in the peritoneal cavity while having decreased systemic toxicity. During HIPEC, a preheated (42.5 °C) perfusate with two or three drugs (cisplatin, mitomycin C, fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and/or paclitaxel) is infused continuously into the closed or open abdomen after surgery. Earliest reports of use of cytoreduction with HIPEC had varied results. Yan et al. published the largest early studies with 405 patients. Overall median survival was 53 month, and 5-year survival was 47% [41].

Recent meta-analysis by Helm et al. reports that survival after cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy is 34–100 months and that 67% of patients were able to have a CC-0 or CC-1 resection. The pooled 1- and 5-year survival rates were 84 and 42%, respectively. Epithelioid histology, the extent of disease (PCI score), and completeness of cytoreduction were found to be favorable prognostic factors [3]. This review confirmed the safety of CRS and HIPEC for MPM; the reported operative mortality was between 0 and 5%.

A study from NCI Milan reported outcomes in MPM using neoadjuvant or adjuvant systemic chemotherapy in addition to HIPEC. They did not find any association between the use of neoadjuvant or perioperative chemotherapy and operative morbidity or improved survival [42].

A recent analysis of patients with MPM in the SEER database identified parameters associated with increased risk of shortened survival to be advancing age, male gender, histology, and extent of disease. The study also found that surgical resection was associated with improved overall survival and that survival after surgical resection improved over time. However, the authors stated that currently almost 57% of individuals with a diagnosis of MPM do not undergo any type of surgical resection [43]. This result is striking and points to the need for further dissemination of successful surgical treatment modalities for MPM.

Recent reports in the use of long-term intraperitoneal pemetrexed with intravenous cisplatin have been shown to have encouraging long-term survival. The consideration of adjuvant therapy, either intraperitoneal or systemic, is controversial and is currently being investigated. Additionally, for patients with good biology, recurrence can be treated safely with iterative cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC with low mortality rates and acceptable morbidity and long-term survival [44]. A proposed algorithm for the management of MPM from Sugarbaker et al. is shown in Fig. 15.3 [45].

15.8 Novel Agents

While cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC remain the standard of care for patients with peritoneal mesothelioma, there are several novel agents that are being considered in the management of patients. Some of the ongoing clinical trials for



Fig. 15.3 Treatment algorithm for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. *CRS* cytoreductive surgery, *CT* computed tomography, *EPIC* early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy, *HIPEC* hyperthermic perioperative chemotherapy, *MRI* magnetic resonance imaging, *PET* positron emission tomography. *Consider second-look laparos-

copy in 6 months to 1 year. †No adjuvant chemotherapy regimen has been studied extensively. Maintenance intraperitoneal pemetrexed plus intravenous cisplatin may be considered after CRS plus HIPEC. ‡HIPEC for palliation of ascites, which can be performed laparoscopically, may be considered

patients with peritoneal mesothelioma include trials with the anti-mesothelin antibody (anetumab) and with the PD-L1 checkpoint inhibitor (pembrolizumab). A current listing of peritoneal mesothelioma trials is included in Table 15.1.

15.9 Special Considerations

While the majority of patients diagnosed with MPM are treated with cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC first, patients in whom complete cytoreduction is not possible may be treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy, which has been reported to have response rates as high as 60%. In addition, patients with wet dominant mesothelioma (ascites) can also be treated with laparoscopic HIPEC to control the ascites while they undergo neoadjuvant therapy in order to make a more complete cytoreduction possible.

Patients with bicavitary disease pose a difficult problem since a diaphragmatic resection at the time of CRS + HIPEC is difficult for postoperative recovery. Such patients can undergo either a perfusion of the chest and abdomen at the same time with a higher volume of perfusate or undergo sequential treatment with the peritoneum first followed by the pleural cytoreduction.

Trial	Study title	Phase
NCT02535312	Methoxyamine, cisplatin, and pemetrexed disodium in treating patients with advanced solid tumors or mesothelioma that cannot be removed by surgery or mesothelioma that is refractory to cisplatin and pemetrexed	Phase 1/ phase 2
NCT03102320	Phase 1b multi-indication study of anetumab ravtansine in mesothelin expressing advanced solid tumors	Phase 1b
NCT01655225	A study of LY3023414 in participants with advanced cancer	Phase 1
NCT02399371	Pembrolizumab in treating patients with malignant mesothelioma	Phase 2
NCT01583686	CART T cell receptor immunotherapy targeting mesothelin for patient with metastatic cancer	Phase 1/ phase 2
NCT02798536	Reduced immunogenicity mesothelin-targeted immunotoxin LMB-100 in people with malignant mesothelioma	Phase 1

Table 15.1 List of selective current ongoing clinical trials that include patients with MPM

Conclusion

Recent advances in the understanding of the biology of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma and in treatment options have significantly improved the outcomes from this previously devastating diagnosis. There is growing evidence that aggressive local-regional strategies, including CRS and HIPEC, will likely become the standard of care for these patients.

References

- Bridda A, Padoan I, Mencarelli R, Frego M. Peritoneal mesothelioma: a review. Med Gen Med. 2007;9:32.
- Moertel CG. Peritoneal mesothelioma. Gastroenterology. 1972;63(2):346–50.
- Helm JH, Miura JT, Glenn JA, Marcus RK, Larrieux G, Jayakrishnan TT, Donahue AE, Gamblin TC, Turaga KK, Johnston FM. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(5):1686–93.
- Price B, Ware A. Time trend of mesothelioma incidence in the United States and projection of future cases: an update based on SEER data for 1973 through 2005. Crit Rev Toxicol. 2009;39:576–88.
- Sugarbaker PH, Welch LS, Mohamed F, Glehen O. A review of peritoneal mesothelioma at the Washington Cancer Institute. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12: 605–21.
- Sugarbaker PH, Yan TD, Stuart OA, Yoo D. Comprehensive management of diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. EJSO. 2006;32:686–91.
- 7. Boffetta P. Epidemiology of peritoneal mesothelioma: a review. Ann Oncol. 2007;18:985–90.
- Wagner JC, Gilson JC, Berry G, Timbrell V. Epidemiology of asbestos cancers. Br Med Bull. 1971;27(1): 71–6.

- Spirtas R, Heineman EF, Bernstein L, et al. Malignant mesothelioma: attributable risk of asbestos exposure. Occup Environ Med. 1994;51:804–11.
- Newhouse ML, Thopson H. Mesothelioma of pleura and peritoneum following exposure to asbestos in the London area. 1965. Br J Ind Med. 1993;50:769–78.
- Hodgson JT, Darnton A. The quantitative risks of mesothelioma and lung cancer in relation to asbestos exposure. Ann Occup Hyg. 2000;44:565–601.
- Peterson JT, Greenberg SD, Buffler PA. Nonasbestos-related malignant mesothelioma: a review. Cancer. 1984;54:951–60.
- Lin RT, Takahashi K, Karjalainen A, Hoshuyama T, Wilson D, Kameda T, Chan CC, Wen CP, Furuya S, Higashi T, Chien LC, Ohtaki M. Ecological association between asbestos-related diseases and historical asbestos consumption: an international analysis. Lancet. 2017;369(9564):844–9.
- Weill H, Hughes JM, Chrug AM. Changing trends in US mesothelioma incidence. Occup Environ Med. 2004;61:438–41.
- Stock RJ, YS F, Carter JR. Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma following radiotherapy for seminoma of the testis. Cancer. 1979;44:914–9.
- Baris YI, Grandjean P. Prospective study of mesothelioma mortality in Turkish villages with exposure to fibrous zeolite. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006;98(6):414–7.
- Hueper WC. Cancer induction by polyurethane and polysilicone plastics. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1964;33:1005–27.
- Shivapurkar N, Weithege T, Wistuba II, Milchgrub S, Muller KM, Gazdar AF. Presence of simian virus 40 sequences in malignant pleural, peritoneal and noninvasive mesotheliomas. Int J Cancer. 2000;85:743–5.
- Alakus H, Yost SE, Woo B, French R, Lin GY, Jepsen K, Frazer KA, Lowy AM, Harismendy O. BAP1 mutation is a frequent somatic event in peritoneal malignant mesothelioma. J Transl Med. 2015;13:122.
- Park JY, Kim KW, Kown HJ, Park MS, Kwon GU, Jun SY, Yu ES. Peritoneal mesotheliomas: clinicopathologic features, CT findings, and differential diagnosis. AJR. 2009;191:814–21.

- Alexander HR, Burk AP. Diagnosis and management of patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;7(1):79–86.
- Antman KH. Clinical presentation and natural history of benign and malignant mesothelioma. Semin Oncol. 1981;8(3):313–20.
- 23. Feldman AL, Libutti SK, Pingpank JF, Bartlett DL, Beresnev TH, Mavroukakis SM, Steinberg SM, Liewehr DJ, Kleiner DE, Alexander HR. Analysis of factors associated with outcome in patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma undergoing surgical debulking and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:4560–7.
- Reuter K, Raptopoulos V, Reale F, Krolikowski FJ, D'Orsi CJ, Graham S, Smith EH. Diagnosis of peritoneal mesothelioma: computed tomography, sonography, and fine-needle aspiration biopsy. AJR. 1983; 140(6):1189–94.
- 25. Yan TD, Haveric N, Carmignani CP, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Abdominal computed tomography scans in the selection of patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma for comprehensive treatment with cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer. 2005;103(4):839–49.
- Sharma H, Bell I, Schofield J, Bird G. Primary peritoneal mesothelioma: case series and literature review. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol. 2011;35(1):55–9.
- 27. Low RN, Barone RM. Combined diffusion-weighted and gadolinium-enhanced MRI can accurately predict the peritoneal cancer index preoperatively in patients being considered for cytoreductive surgical procedures. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19:1394–401.
- Hassan R, Remaely AT, Sampson ML, Zhang J, Cox DD, Pingpak J, Alexander R, Willingham M, Pastan I, Onda M. Detection and quantification of serum mesothelin, a tumor marker for patients with mesothelioma and ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(2):447–53.
- 29. Baratti D, Kusamura S, Martinetti A, Seregni E, Oliva DG, Laterza B, Deraco M. Circulating CA125 in patients with peritoneal mesothelioma treated with cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:500–8.
- Sebbag G, Yan H, Shmookler M, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Results of treatment of 33 patients with peritoneal mesothelioma. Br J Surg. 2000;87:1587–93.
- Husain A, Colby TV, Travis WD, Wick M. Guidelines for pathologic diagnosis of malignant mesothelioma. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2009;133:1317–31.
- Lee M, Alexander HR, Burke A. Diffuse mesothelioma of the peritoneum: a pathological study of 64 tumours treated with cytoreductive therapy. Pathology. 2013;45(5):464–73.
- 33. Husain AN, Colby T, Ordonez N, Krausz T, Attanoos R, Beasley MB, Borczuk AC, Butnor K, Cagle PT, Chirieac LR, Churg A, Dacic S, Fraire A, Galateau-Salle F, Gibbs A, Gown A, Hammar S, Litzky L, Marchevsky AM, Nicholson AG, Roggli V, Travis WD, Wick M, International Mesothelioma Interest Group. Guidelines for pathologic diagnosis of malignant mesothelioma: 2012 update of the consensus statement from the International Mesothelioma Interest Group. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2013;137(5):647–67.

- 34. Kato Y, Tsuta K, Seki K, Maeshima AM, Watanabe S, Suzuki K, Asamura H, Tsuchiya R, Matsuno Y. Immunohistochemical detection of GLUT-1 can discriminate between reactive mesothelium and malignant mesothelioma. Mod Pathol. 2007;20:215–20.
- 35. Husain AN, Miraza MK, Gibbs A, Hiroshima K, Chi Y, Boumendjel R, Stang N, Krausz T, Galateau-Salle F. How useful is GLUT-1 in differentiating mesothelial hyperplasia and fibrosing pleuritis from epithelioid and sarcomatoid mesotheliomas. In international collaborative study. Lung Cancer. 2014;83:324–8.
- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:359–74.
- 37. Yan TD, Deraco M, Elias D, Glehen O, Levine EA, Moran BJ, Morris DL, Chua TC, Piso P, Sugarbaker PH, Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group. A novel tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) staging system of diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma using outcome analysis of a multi-institutional database. Cancer. 2011;117(9):1855–63.
- Chua TC, Chong CH, Morris DL. Peritoneal mesothelioma: current status and future directions. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2012;21:635–43.
- Baratti D, Kusamura S, Deraco M. Diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: systematic review of clinical management and biological research. J Surg Oncol. 2011;103:822–31.
- 40. Eltabbakh GH, Piver MS, Hempling RE, Recio FO. Clinical picture, response to therapy, and survival of women with diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. J Surg Oncol. 1999;70:6–12.
- 41. Yan TD, Deraco M, Barrati D, Kusamua S, Elias D, Glehen O, Gilly FN, Levine EA, Shen P, Moahmed F, Moran BJ, Morris DL, Chua TC, Piso P, Sugarbaker PH. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: multi-institutional experience. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:6237–42.
- 42. Deraco M, Baratti D, Hutanu I, Bertuli R, Kusamura S. The role of perioperative systemic chemotherapy in diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma patients treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:1093–100.
- Miura JT, Johnston FM, Gamblin TC, Turaga KK. Current trends in the management of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:3947–53.
- 44. Ihemelandu C, Bijelic L, Sugarbaker PH. Iterative cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for recurrent or progressive diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: clinicopathologic characteristics and survival outcome. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(5):1680–5.
- 45. Sugarbaker PH, Turaga KK, Alexander R, Deraco M, Hesdorffer M. Management of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma using cytoreductive surgery and perioperative chemotherapy. J Oncol Pract. 2016;12(10): 928–35.



16

Rare Indications for Cytoreductive Surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy

Aditi Bhatt and Ramakrishnan Ayloor Seshadri

16.1 Introduction

There are some rare primary and secondary tumors involving the peritoneum that have been treated with cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) [1-5]. The incidence of these tumors is rare with a limited number of cases reported in literature. Some tumors arise from the peritoneum itself, and some others are rare histologies arising from various primary sites and metastasizing to the peritoneum. Some common cancers that metastasize to the peritoneum like hepatobiliary, pancreatic, cervical, and breast cancers are generally treated with systemic chemotherapy alone. However, in the rare situation when there is limited disease confined to the peritoneal cavity alone, patients with PM from these primary sites have been treated with CRS and HIPEC. Put together, all these cases form "rare indications" for CRS and HIPEC. CRS and HIPEC in these situations has been used on the basis of logic

Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India e-mail: aditimodi31@gmail.com

R. A. Seshadri Department of Surgical Oncology, Cancer Institute (WIA), Chennai, India rather than evidence with the hope of providing a survival benefit to these patients. The only other treatment for such patients would be systemic chemotherapy, which has a poor response rate in most of these cases.

Several aspects need to be considered when treating these patients. The natural history may not be properly known in case of rare histologies. Similarly, the benefits of various treatments are difficult to quantify since most published reports comprise of retrospective case series comprising of a small number of patients treated over prolonged periods and from case reports. However, in a recent undertaking by the peritoneal surface oncology group international and the BIG-RENAPE, data pertaining to the outcomes of CRS and HIPEC for rare indications from 53 centers across the world were pooled together and published which has provided evidence and insights into the treatment of some of these tumors [6]. A review of the rare indications for CRS and HIPEC, their natural history as is known, and the results of various treatments are provided here.

16.2 Classification

The rare indications for CRS and HIPEC can be divided into three broad categories—primary peritoneal tumors, rare secondary peritoneal tumors, and peritoneal metastases from common primary

A. Bhatt (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_16

sites, which are not usually treated with CRS and HIPEC (Table 16.1). This classification is not exhaustive and includes the common subtypes in each group treated with CRS and HIPEC. The role of cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC in these tumors is described separately for each tumor.

Table 16.1 Rare indications for CRS and HIPEC

Primary peritoneal tumors
Mesothelial tumors
 Peritoneal malignant mesothelioma Well-differentiated papillary mesothelioma Multicystic mesothelioma
Adenomatoid tumor
Epithelial tumors
Primary peritoneal serous carcinomaPrimary peritoneal serous borderline tumor
Smooth muscle tumor
Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata
Tumors of uncertain origin
Desmoplatic small round cell tumorFibromatous tumor
Rare secondary peritoneal tumors (PM from rare tumors)
Uncommon histologies of ovarian cancer
Mucinous ovarian tumors
Granulosa cell tumors
• Malignant germ cell tumors
Sarcomas
• Uterine leiomyosarcoma
• Others
Neuroendocrine tumors
Small bowel adenocarcinoma
Fibrolamellar hepatocellular cancer
Papillary serous carcinoma of the endometrium
Mucinous urachal tumors
Gastrointestinal stromal tumors
Miscellaneous tumors
Peritoneal metastases from common primary tumors
Hepatobiliary and pancreatic tumors
Gallbladder carcinoma
Hepatocellular carcinoma
Cholangiocarcinoma
Pancreatic tumors
Gynecological primary sites
Uterine cervical carcinoma
Endometrial adenocarcinoma
Extra-addominal primary sites
Dreast cancer Lung cancer

16.3 Primary Peritoneal Tumors

16.3.1 Peritoneal Desmoplastic Small Round Cell Tumors

Desmoplastic small round cell tumor (DSRCT) is a malignant neoplasm that usually arises from the peritoneal surface of the abdomen and pelvis. The disease entity was first described in 1989 by Gerald and Rosai and Ordonez and Zirkin [7, 8]. Other primary sites have been reported, including the paratesticular region, the pleural serosa, the posterior cranial fossa, soft tissues and bone, the ovary, and the parotid gland [9–20]. DSRCT has a highly aggressive clinical course with multiple local recurrences but few distant metastases.

No large population data exists regarding the epidemiology of this tumor due to its rarity. Previous studies reported that DSRCT was found to be more prevalent in males, more specifically young Caucasian boys. Presenting symptoms include abdominal pain, constipation, and abdominal distension with ascites.

This tumor type has a strong tendency to spread within the peritoneum but can also give rise to extraperitoneal metastases, mainly in the liver and lungs [21].

16.3.1.1 Pathology

The tumor usually forms a large intra-abdominal mass consisting of nests or strands of small round cells embedded in a dense desmoplastic stroma. The cells show polyphenotypic differentiation, typically a mixture of epithelial, mesenchymal, and neural features. The immunohistochemical profile of DSRCT shows reactivity for epithelial (keratin, epithelial membrane antigen), mesenchymal (vimentin), neural (neuron-specific enolase and CD56), and myogenic (desmin) markers.

Less than 500 cases have been reported in the medical literature. Its histological and clinical attributes do, however, overlap with other primitive tumor types including Ewing sarcoma, primitive neuroectodermal tumor (PNET), rhadomyosarcoma, rhabdoid tumor, and Wilms tumor [22]. The cell of origin and molecular pathogenesis of DSRCT remain unknown. The concept of DSRCT as a separate entity is supported by the identification of a specific recurrent chromosomal abnormality. A specific translocation, t (11; 22) (p13; q12), is seen in almost all cases, juxtaposing the Ewing sarcoma (EWS) gene to the Wilms tumor (WT)-WT1 tumor suppressor gene [22–24].

DSRCT, WT, and EWS share a chimeric relationship with one another. DSRCT is caused by the translocation of the EWSR1 gene from chromosome 22 to chromosome 11, resulting in a fusion product EWSR1/WT1 [25]. EWS is caused by the translocation of the EWSR1 gene from chromosome 22 to chromosome 11 in most cases (EWSR1-FLI1) and chromosome 21 to chromosome 7 in rare cases (EWSR1-ERG and *EWSR1-ETV1*) [26–28]. Mutation of the *WT1* gene on chromosome 11 is observed in 20% of WT cases [29, 30]. Thus, DSRCT, ES, and WT seem to be genetically related and present in young adults. These genes code for transcription factors and tumor-specific translocations result in oncogenicity of chimeric transcription factors [31, 32]. This phenomenon of pairing of the EWS gene with other genes is similar to such pairings that are found more commonly in hematological malignancies and are used for diagnosis [33–35].

16.3.1.2 Clinical Manifestations

DSRCT typically affects men in 5–25-year age group [36]. The commonest presentation is a large intra-abdominal mass with other smaller deposits over the visceral and parietal peritoneum. The peritoneal deposits interfere with the absorption of peritoneal fluid leading to ascites formation, which is another common presentation. The symptoms are nonspecific and include abdominal pain, distension, loss of appetite, and nausea and vomiting [36]. Common sites of metastases are the liver, lungs, and lymph nodes (retroperitoneal, groin, mediastinum, and neck) [36].

16.3.1.3 Diagnostic Evaluation

Imaging of the abdomen with ultrasound, computed tomography (CT), or magnetic resonance imaging reveals multiple tumor nodules "studding" the peritoneal cavity (almost always more than one nodule) [37, 38]. Nodules on the subphrenic peritoneum produce indentation of the

 Table 16.2
 Staging of desmoplastic small round cell tumors (From Ref. [41] with permission)

		Liver	Extra-abdominal
Stage	PCI	metastases	metastases
Ι	<12	Absent	Absent
II	≥12	Absent	Absent
III	Any PCI	Present	Absent
IV	Any PCI	Present/ absent	Present

liver surface (scalloping). Large pelvic masses are a common finding. Less common nonspecific clinical findings that should raise a suspicion of DSRCT in a young male are retroperitoneal lymphadenopathy, hydronephrosis, bowel obstruction, calcifications, and nodular peritoneal thickening, especially when these findings are supported by radiographic evidence of a disseminated intra-abdominal neoplasm [38, 39].

A histopathologic and cytogenic diagnosis is needed for all cases. A CT thorax abdomen pelvis or a PET CT is performed to determine the extent of disease [39, 40].

A staging system (Table 16.2) has been proposed by Jordan et al. from the MD Anderson Cancer Center that incorporates abdominal disease burden (stage I or II) and sites of metastasis such as the liver (stage III) or lung (stage IV) [41]. The authors demonstrated a trend toward stage-specific survival in their patients. An important inference is that a patient with extensive intra-abdominal disease (peritoneal metastases) with no liver and extraperitoneal metastases can experience a prolonged disease-free survival after CRS with or without HIPEC.

16.3.1.4 Treatment

Patients with DSRCT require aggressive multimodal therapy. The treatment protocol introduced by Kushner is commonly used. It comprises an intensive chemotherapy regimen based on alkylating agents (P6 regimen). Seven cycles of doxorubicin and vincristine alternating with ifosfamide and etoposide were administered to 12 patients in the initial study. In addition, debulking surgery, radiotherapy, autologous stem cell rescue, or a combination of these was used. In the initial publication, the median overall survival (OS) was 19 months for all patients and 22 months for the 7 achieving complete response to chemotherapy [42, 43].

As DSRCT is a tumor arising from the peritoneum itself and is chemosensitive, hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) has been used in addition to surgery. The results of multimodality treatment including cytoreductive surgery with or without HIPEC are described in Table 16.3.

La Quaglia and Brennan treated 66 patients with a median age of 19 years (range, 7–58) with multimodality therapy [42, 43]. In 96% of the patients, the primary tumor site was intraabdominal; 50% had lymph node involvement and 41% had distant organ metastases at diagnosis. The 3- and 5-year overall survival was 44% and 15%, respectively. Twenty-nine of these patients (44%) underwent induction chemotherapy (P6), surgical debulking, and radiotherapy. Surgical debulking was carried out in an attempt to achieve greater than 90% resection of the gross tumor burden. Attempts were not made to achieve microscopic negative margins. Three-year survival was 55% in those receiving chemotherapy, surgery, and radiotherapy vs 27% when all three modalities were not used (p < 0.02). The 3-year survival was 58% in patients treated with gross tumor resection compared to no survivors past 3 years in the non-resection cohort (p < 0.00001). Ten patients (15%) had no evidence of disease with a median follow-up of 2.4 years (range, 0.4–11.2 years).

Jordan et al. first reported the use of HIPEC in addition to debulking surgery in eight patients and compared the outcomes with 16 historical controls who received chemotherapy \pm radiation therapy or

 Table 16.3
 Outcomes of CRS and HIPEC/CRS alone as part of multimodality treatment for DSRCT

Ref no.		HIPEC				Peritoneal	Prognostic	
year	No.	(no)	Drugs	CC-0/1	Morbidity	recurrence	factors	Survival
[43] 2005	66	0		NR	NR	NR	>90 tumor debulking, use of P6 protocol; multimodal therapy	3 year OS 44% 5-year OS 15%
[41] 2010	8	8	Cisplatin	NR	27.5%		Extra- abdominal metastases	3 year OS 71%
[3] 2014	26	26	Cisplatin	24	Wound dehiscence 19% Renal toxicity 23%		Complete CRS (CC-0/1); extra- abdominal disease; RT	Median OS 63 months
[44] 2010	3	3	Cisplatin	2	1/3	2 within 12 months		
[45] 2015	23	5	Oxaliplatin	52%			No extraperitoneal metastases complete tumor removal, post op radiotherapy, post op chemotherapy	Median OS 37.7 months Median DFS 15.5 months
[46] 2017	48	11	Cisplatin Mitomycin + Cisplatin Oxaliplatin Oxaliplatin + irinotecan	48	1/3 grade 3–4	69% (median time to recurrence 13 months)	No prognostic factor identified	5 year DFS 12% Median OS 42 months 5 year OS 19%

surgery alone. HIPEC was performed with cisplatin at 100 or 150 mg/m², for 90 min at 40–41 °C [41]. There was no mortality in the series, and major morbidity included renal insufficiency and gastroparesis. Comparisons were made between three groups: (1) those who received no surgery, (2) those who received debulking surgery, and (3) those who received cytoreductive surgery with HIPEC. The projected 3-year survival was 71% in patients who had HIPEC and 26% in patients who did not undergo surgery with or without HIPEC. Extra-abdominal metastasis correlated with poor survival (p = 0.021) [41].

The same group reported outcomes in 26 pediatric and adult patients treated with CRS and HIPEC, most of whom received postoperative radiotherapy as well, as part of a phase I trial. All patients received neoadjuvant and adjuvant chemotherapy. Five patients (19%) were less than 12 years of age at surgery. A median survival of 63.1 months and 100% survival at 4 years was reported in a subset of DSRCT patients receiving HIPEC. The role of HIPEC was assessed even in patients who did not have a complete cyoreduction [3].

The absence of extra-abdominal metastases and CC-0/1 resection had a favorable impact on survival [3]. The authors stated that, technically, cytoreduction was easier to perform in patients with DSRCT as compared to other tumors with a similar tumor burden as it is less invasive leading to a lesser degree of organ invasion.

Of importance is the fact that Jordan et al. performed CRS and HIPEC in patients with liver metastases and/or extra-abdominal disease as well.

Msika et al. reported on three patients of DSRCT treated with CRS and HIPEC who had received multiple cycles of chemotherapy, and the procedure was only palliative in two patients [44]. There was no perioperative mortality. Complete cytoreduction (CCR-0/CCR-1) was obtained in two patients. One patient died 14 months after initial diagnosis of recurrent disease; the other patient had a CC-0 and was disease-free for 10 months after the procedure. One patient had a complete response to chemotherapy, and the only residual lesions were intraperitoneal calcified nodules after chemotherapy. The probable role

of CRS was as a second look staging procedure in the patient. The third patient died of disease progression within 6 months of the surgery. The authors concluded that calcified nodules following chemotherapy could be considered sterile lesions, yet a systematic second look should be performed for staging purposes [44].

In another series of 38 patients, 47.4% has extraperitoneal metastases (78% in the liver and 11% in the lungs). The median survival was 21.1 months in 14 patients (37%) who were treated with chemotherapy alone [45]. 23 patients underwent surgery, in 52% complete removal of macroscopic disease was achieved, 5 received intraperitoneal chemotherapy, and 7 received postoperative whole abdominopelvic radiotherapy (WAP-RT). The median follow-up was 59.9 months, the median OS was 37.7 months, and the median DFS was 15.5 months. Absence of extraperitoneal disease, complete tumor removal, use of post-op WAP-RT, and postoperative systemic chemotherapy were independent predictors of survival, while intraperitoneal chemotherapy had no impact.

Honore et al. carried out a retrospective nationwide survey of the prospective and retrospective databases of the French Network for Rare Peritoneal Malignancies, French Reference Network in Sarcoma Pathology, French Sarcoma Clinical Network, and French Pediatric Cancer Society [46].

Among the 107 patients with DSRCT, 48 had no extraperitoneal metastases (EPM) and underwent a complete CRS. The median peritoneal cancer index (PCI) was 9 (range, 2–27). Among these 48 patients, 38 (79%) had pre- and/or postoperative chemotherapy and 23 (48%) postoperative whole abdominopelvic radiotherapy (WAP-RT). Intraperitoneal chemotherapy was administered to 11 patients (23%): two received early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC) and nine HIPEC. The drugs used during HIPEC were oxaliplatin alone, cisplatin alone, oxaliplatin and irinotecan, and mitomycin and cisplatin with or without irinotecan in combination. After a median follow-up of 30 months, the median overall survival (OS) of the entire cohort was 42 months. The 2- and 5-year OS were 72 and 19%. The 2- and

5-year disease-free survival (DFS) were 30 and 12%. Thirty-seven patients (77%) had a recurrence, and the median time to recurrence was 12 months (range, 5–73 months). The first recurrence was located in the peritoneum in 23 patients (62%), outside the peritoneum in six patients (16%), or synchronously in and outside the peritoneum in seven patients (19%). The authors stated that with a 5-year DFS of 12% despite an optimal locoregional treatment, a prolonged adjuvant treatment could be evaluated in a prospective trial [46].

Whole abdominopelvic radiotherapy was the only variable associated with longer peritoneal recurrence-free survival and DFS after complete CRS. The influence of HIPEC/EPIC on OS and DFS was not statistically conclusive. The probable reasons for this were the lack of statistical power in the study to determine this difference, the significantly higher PCI in the HIPEC group, the benefit of HIPEC/EPIC undermined by another locoregional treatment (radiotherapy), and the heterogeneity of drug regimens with some drug inappropriate for mesenchymal tumors.

Several case reports have shown a variable benefit of multimodality treatment in patients with DSRCT with few reports of long-term survivors as well [47–51].

Fan et al. reported outcomes in three patients with CRS and HIPEC. Two of these recurred at 6 months following surgery, and one patient was disease-free 6 months after treatment completion [52].

16.3.1.5 Summary

- DSRCT is an aggressive tumor that needs multimodality treatment. With nonsurgical treatment complete remission is uncommon.
- Surgical debulking has a survival benefit in patients who do not have extraperitoneal disease. There is also a survival benefit of complete tumor removal (residual disease <2.5 mm, CC-0/1 resections). However, even patients having CC-2/3 resections have experienced a benefit in survival compared to no surgical treatment. The criteria for patient selection for CRS need to be defined.
- There is no PCI cutoff for surgery in these patients though patients with PCI > 12 have an inferior survival.

- The role of intraperitoneal chemotherapy is not known and needs further prospective evaluation.
- Other treatments like targeted therapies and whole abdominopelvic radiotherapy are being evaluated as well and may be used as a replacement for/in addition to intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC).
- Prognostic factors like response to chemotherapy need to be identified.
- Despite optimal locoregional and systemic therapy, the recurrence rates are high.

16.3.2 Primary Peritoneal Serous Carcinoma

Extraovarian peritoneal serous papillary carcinoma (EPSPC) was recognized as a clinical entity in 1959 [53]. Subsequently the terms primary peritoneal cancer (PPC) or primary peritoneal serous cancer (PPSC) have been used for it [53, 54]. The histological characteristics and clinical behavior of this tumor are similar to that of epithelial ovarian cancer though it is much rarer (6.78 cases per million vs 120.5 cases per million, respectively) [55, 56].

16.3.2.1 Origin of Ovarian Tumors and PPSC

The similarities between ovarian serious carcinomas, fallopian tube carcinomas, and primary peritoneal serous carcinoma and their resemblance to tumors of Mullerian origin have led to the suggestion that both these cancers develop from the embryonic Mullerian system [57].

The hypothesis that ovarian cancer does not arise from ovarian tissue is supported by clinical findings, indirect evidence, and logic, and concrete evidence to support the cell of origin is lacking.

- The three most common subtypes of these tumors, referred to as serous, endometrioid, and mucinous, are morphologically identical to carcinomas of the fallopian tube, endometrium, and endocervix, respectively.
- A cystic component comprising of epithelial cells of non-ovarian origin is often seen in

serous epithelial tumors, and both benign and mucinous epithelial tumors form cystic lesions.

- Benign ovarian epithelial-like tumors are at least as frequent outside the ovary (para-tubal and para-ovarian cystadenomas) as they are within this organ.
- Primary peritoneal cancers that are histologically and clinically identical to ovarian carcinomas may be seen outside the ovary and may develop in individuals in whom the ovaries were removed several years previously and for reasons other than cancer [58–61].
- Women with familial ovarian carcinoma predisposition due to germline mutations in either BRCA1 or BRCA2 continue to be at an increased risk of developing serous extraovarian carcinomas (usually referred to as primary peritoneal carcinomas) after undergoing prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomies [62–64].
- Serous, endometrioid, and mucinous ovarian carcinomas express the same set of HOX genes as epithelial cells from normal fallopian tube, endometrium, and endocervix, respectively [65]. HOX genes are specific for different body parts.

The various tissues to which ovarian epithelial tumors resemble, including the lining of fallopian tubes, endometrium, and endocervix, share a common embryological origin, unrelated to that of the ovary, which is the paramesonephric or Mullerian duct.

There are two hypotheses for the origin of epithelial ovarian cancer and that of PPSC.

The coelomic theory (no longer accepted) proposed that coelomic epithelium that is present on the surface of the ovaries first undergoes Mullerian metaplasia and then malignant change.

The Mullerian theory (widely accepted) proposes that Mullerian epithelium is present on the ovarian surface or within its substance and around it as well and these Mullerian cells undergo malignant degeneration.

16.3.2.2 Diagnostic Criteria

The following criteria to discriminate PPSC from ovarian papillary serous carcinoma have been suggested by Gynecologic Oncology Group in 1993:

- Both ovaries must be normal in size or enlarged by a benign process.
- The involvement in extra-ovarian sites must be greater than the involvement on the surface of either ovary.
- Microscopically, the ovarian component must be nonexistent and confined to ovarian surface epithelium with no evidence of cortical invasion, or involving ovarian surface epithelium and underlying cortical stroma but with tumor size less than 5 × 5 mm.
- Histological and cytological characteristics of the tumor must be predominantly of the serous type that is similar or identical to ovarian serous adenocarcinoma of any grade [54].

The tumors are histologically similar to papillary serous ovarian cancer, being composed of irregular, interconnecting clusters of malignant cells that show solid, cribriform, or cystic architecture [66]. Due to the frequent and abundant presence of psammoma bodies, some authors have called this tumor psammomacarcinoma [67].

The immunohistochemistry (IHC) expression by PPSC is used to distinguish it from other secondary peritoneal tumors. PPSCs express CD15, CK7, S-100, and CA12, have a variable expression of ER and PR, and do not express CK20 and CEA [56]. PPSC and ESOC both exhibit similar histological features and have a tendency to involve the peritoneum, mimicking both clinically and morphologically, diffuse peritoneal mesothelioma. PAX8 and claudin-4 have been being investigated as IHC markers for discriminating peritoneal papillary serous carcinomas and peritoneal epithelioid mesotheliomas [68].

PAX8 is usually absent in peritoneal epithelioid mesotheliomas and is expressed in ESOC and PPSC.

When the appropriate IHC markers have not been tested, other tumors like peritoneal mesothelioma or benign conditions may be difficult to distinguish from PPSC [69].

The staging of PPSC is similar to that of ESOC. PPSC is likened to stage II–IV ESOC depending on the disease extent and sites.

16.3.2.3 Difference Between PPSC and ESOC

Some of the risk factors for EOC also increase the risk of PPSC like BRCA-1 mutations, hysterectomy, and age > 35 at last pregnancy. Tubal ligation is known to have a protective effect for both cancers, though there are some conflicting reports suggesting an increased risk of PPSC after tubal ligation [70–72].

A distinct pattern of diffuse micronodular involvement of the upper abdomen and diaphragmatic surfaces by serous peritoneal cancer with the presence of dense adhesions is a finding specific to this tumor. Deposits are seldom large in size [73].

PPSCs are more anaplastic and proliferative tumors overexpressing HER2 more often than serous ovarian carcinomas, which points toward a more aggressive biology and distinct pathogenesis [72, 74, 75].

There are reports that have shown that PPSC is multifocal in origin, and that is also a possible explanation for its more aggressive behavior [76–79].

Recent studies have shown altered expression of β -catenin, E-cadherin, vimentin, VEGF, p53, EGFR, Ber-EP4, mesothelin, MOC31, and Ki-67 in these patients [80, 81].

16.3.2.4 Presentation

Primary peritoneal serous carcinoma almost always occurs in women (mean age, 56–62 years). Nevertheless, PPSC in male patients occurs in rare cases and is a known entity [82]. PPSC is uncommon and is usually diagnosed when the disease is advanced [82, 83]. According to recent reports, PPSC is more common than previously thought, with 15% of epithelial ovarian carcinomas actually being PPSC, though this may just be due to increased reporting of these tumors [84].

The presentation is similar to that of ovarian cancer with abdominal discomfort, distension, loss of appetite, and an alteration in the bowel habits [84]. Imaging reveals ascites, peritoneal nodules, and omental thickening/nodularity/caking, but no primary site can be identified. CT scan usually demonstrates ascites, peritoneal nodules, and omental thickening but seldom identifies origin of the tumor. The majority of patients have an elevated level of serum CA-125, but the preoperative serum CA-125 levels have no significant predictive value for OS [84].

16.3.2.5 Treatment of PPSC

PPSC has been treated in a similar manner as epithelial ovarian cancer. Though epidemiological data describing the natural history of the disease is lacking, since PPC arises from the peritoneum and like ovarian cancer remains confined to the peritoneal cavity, locoregional therapy comprising of CRS with or without HIPEC in addition to systemic chemotherapy is used for treatment. The studies reporting outcomes in PPSC are heterogeneous. Some have reported response to chemotherapy regimens used for ESOC, others have reported clinicopathological features and outcomes of CRS and systemic chemotherapy, there are case-matched studies comparing clinical features and treatment outcomes in patients with PPSC and EOC, and some reports of the use of CRS and HIPEC in addition to systemic chemotherapy in these patients.

16.3.2.6 Response to Systemic Chemotherapy in PPSC

The reported response rates to platinum-based chemotherapy are similar to those obtained in patients with EOC [85]. Bloss et al. compared the response to a combination of cyclophosphamide and cisplatin in women with ESOC and PPC in a phase II trial [86]. The estimated probability of clinical response (complete and partial) to the treatment regimen for PPC was 65% (95% confidence interval [CI], 41-85%) compared with 59% (95% CI, 47–71%) for women with EOC. Surgical complete responses were similar (20% vs 19%) in the two patient groups. The authors concluded that since results of ovarian cancer trials are extrapolated to patients with PPSC, and the outcomes of treatment with systemic chemotherapy are similar, these patients should be included in trials involving advanced ESOC [86].

16.3.2.7 Outcomes of CRS and Systemic Chemotherapy

Some of the studies reporting outcomes of CRS and systemic chemotherapy in patients with PPSC are listed in Table 16.4.

Nah et al. treated 27 patients of PPSC (stages III–IV) with a combination of cytoreductive surgery and platinum-based chemotherapy. Optimal CRS was obtained in 70.4% and all patients received adjuvant chemotherapy. The median overall survival time was 41 months, and the overall 5-year survival rate was 18.1%. Patients who had optimal cytoreduction had a longer median survival (42 months) than those who had suboptimal cytoreduction (10 months; p < 0.05) [98].

Iavazzo reported a median disease-free survival of only 7 months and median OS of 2.5 years in nine patients treated with CRS and Taxol-platinum combination chemotherapy. This may be attributed to an optimal debulking rate of 33% and complete response only in one patient [84].

Similarly, Roh et al. reported a median OS of 23.1 months in 22 patients of PPSC treated with CRS and platinum-based chemotherapy. The estimated 3-year survival rate was 29% (SE, 13%). The response rate to first-line platinum-based chemotherapy was 79%, and the median time to treatment failure was 9.9 months (95% confidence interval, 1.38–18.4 months). The only independent predictor of survival was the performance status. Once again, optimal CRS was obtained in 6/17 (28.3%) patients undergoing CRS upfront which may be the cause of the poor results [95].

Currently, the results of PPSC are reported with ESOC and hence it can be presumed that the outcomes are also the same. Whether the prognosis and long-term survival are similar or inferior to ESOC is not known; there are no reports that have shown a better prognosis compared to ESOC.

16.3.2.8 Case-Matched Studies

Several studies have compared outcomes of PPSC with matched cases of ESOC treated along the same lines. The outcomes of these studies are provided in Table 16.5.

Killackey et al. compared 29 patients with PPSC to 170 with ESOC undergoing debulking surgery with systemic chemotherapy treated from 1984 to 1991 and found a higher rate of suboptimal debulking (p = 0.04), a poorer response to chemotherapy, and a shorter DFS (3.4 vs 11.7 months; p = 0.005) and shorter OS (19 vs 31 months; p = 0.12) in patients with PPSC compared to ESOC, though the shorter DFS did not produce a significant difference between the OS between the two groups [99].

Eisenhauer et al. evaluated the difference between chemotherapy response, platinum resistance, DFS, and OS between 43 patients with PPSC and 129 matched patients with ESOC, stages III–IV treated at their institution from 1998 to 2004. They reported similar rates of response to initial platinum-based chemotherapy but a higher rate of platinum resistance and a shorter DFS and OS [104].

Ben-Baruch found no significant difference in 22 patients with PPSC compared to 63 others with ESOC in terms of clinical characteristics, DFS, or OS. The factor influencing survival in both groups was optimal cytoreduction which was defined as residual disease <2 cm in size. The authors concluded that patients with PPC should be treated like other patients with stages II–IV ESOC [101].

Halperin et al. reported a higher rate of incomplete cytoreduction (p = 0.0087) and a lower 3-year survival (p = 0.017) in patients with PPSC as compared ESOC. A significant increase in the prevalence of PPSC compared with ESOC was observed during the study years (p = 0.00001). The authors concluded that PPSC and ESOC might be two distinct cancers, presenting a new epidemiologic trend regarding the increased incidence of PPSC [84].

Most of these studies were carried out before the use of radical surgical procedures, and intraperitoneal chemotherapy became more widely adopted and some of them have not used platinum-Taxol regimens which are now the standard of care for treatment of ESOC. Moreover they have a small number of patients with PPSC and are

Table 16.4 (Dutcome	s of CRS and syste	emic chemotherapy in patie	ents with PPSC			
Ref year	No.	Optimal CRS	Chemotherapy regimen	Median OS (months)	DFS (months)	Prognostic factors	Conclusions
[87] 1990	33	%69	P + alkyl or A	17			No difference in natural history, response to treatment or outcome
[83] 1990	22	%06	P and alkyl	14.7			Worse outcome for PPSC compared to ESOC
[88] 1995	10	960%	CAP	27			Similar behavior and management
[89] 1996	10		P and alkyl	15			Similar behavior and outcome as in suboptimally debulked ESOC
[90] 1997	18	33%	P and alkyl	10		Optimal debulking	Debulking problematic in PPSC due to diffuse upper abdominal disease
[<mark>91</mark>] 1997	46	70%	CAP in 25, TP in 21	23		Optimal debulking	Optimal debulking feasible in PPSC. Trend for better outcome with taxol and P
[92] 1998	38	34%	P + taxol	40		Optimal debullking	Low rate of optimal debulking in PPSC, outcome similar to suboptimally debulked ESOC patients
[93] 2004	11	45.4%	P + taxol P + cyclophosphamide	22	NA		
[94] 2005	47	35%	P + taxol	15		High CA125, normal CA19-9	SPPC patient outcome similar to optimally debulked ESOC
[95] 2007	22	17	Platinum based	23.1	13.8	Performance status	Long-term survival is possible in patients with PPSC
[96] 2007	20	55%	P + taxol	Not reached			Similar outcome to ESOC
[84] 2008	6	33.3%	P + Taxol	30	NA		PPSC mimics ESOC but has a poorer survival
[97] 2008	24	13%	P + taxol or CAP	42		Platinum/taxane chemo, low grade. Optimal cytoreduction NS	Platinum/taxane combo very effective, while the impact of aggressive cytoreduction remains unproven
[67] 2011	22	81.8%	Platinum based	21	NA		CRS and systemic chemotherapy may be effective in patients with PPSC
[69] 2014	10	80%	P + Taxol		22		PPSC presents in advanced stages and may be misdiagnosed as tuberculosis in tropical countries. Survival is inferior to ESOC

378

P Cisplatin, A Adriamycin, C cyclophosphamide

Ref/year	No. of patients ^a	Optimal CRS	Chemotherapy regimen	Median OS (months)	Prognostic factors	Conclusions
[61] 1990	74 vs 743	41%	Platinum + alkyl combinations in 71%	24 vs 27	Combination chemo, low grade. Optimal debulking	Management and outcomes similar in both PPSC and ESOC
[99] 1993	29 vs 170	65% vs 79%	P + alkyl ± doxorubicin	19 vs 31	Low ascites volume, optimal debulking	Poorer outcome in PPSC which could be due to disease biology or suboptimal CRS
[54] 1993	33 vs 33	33% vs 36%	Cyclophosphamide + P	20 vs 27.8		Debulking often suboptimal in SPPC. Behavior and outcome similar to suboptimally debulked SOC
[100] 1994	34 vs 70	44%	P + cyclophosphamide	18 s vs 22	Platinum. Optimal debulking	Similar behavior and outcomes in PPSC and ESOC
[101] 1996	25 vs 71	28% vs 22%	$P + cyclophosphamide \pm A$	21 vs 26	Optimal debulking	Similar behavior, management and outcome
[86] 2003	36 vs 130		P + cyclophosphamide	22 vs 27	_	When confounding covariates are matched, there is no difference between PPSC and EOC
[102] 1998	15 vs 52	67% vs 52%	P + taxol or cyclophosphamide	36 vs 30 s	_	Similar surgical and chemotherapeutic management result in similar outcomes in PPSC and ESOC
[103] 2000	38 vs 38	79% vs 76%	P + taxol	40 vs 34	-	Similar outcomes in PPSC and ESOC
[84] 2001	28 vs 35	39% vs 60%	P + taxol	17 vs 40	_	Inferior outcome in patients with PPSC due to aggressive biology and suboptimal debulking $(p = 0.02)$

Table 16.5 Comparison of outcomes of CRS and systemic chemotherapy in patients with PPSC and ESOC

P cisplatin, *A* adriamycin

^aPPSC versus ESOC

retrospective in nature. Most clinical trials have pooled patients of PPSC with ESOC, and the outcomes of PPSC have not been reported separately [105, 106]. PPSC is treated on the same lines as ESOC with a combination of complete cytoreductive surgery and systemic chemotherapy with or without intraperitoneal chemotherapy.

16.3.2.9 Should PPSC Be Considered a Variant of ESOC or a Separate Entity?

Pentheroudakis et al. systematically reviewed all articles studying molecular biology, pathophysiology, clinical presentation, management, and outcomes of at least ten patients with PPSC from 1980 to 2008 in English medical journals and critically analyzed the data [73]. Based on their exhaustive review, the authors recommended that patients with PPSC should be evaluated as a predefined subgroup in ESOC clinical trials and outcome analysis and basic translational research should be performed separately in these patients to determine if a difference exists between ESOC and PPSC which seems to be a more aggressive phenotype.

They based this conclusion on the following findings:

- Patterns of loss of heterozygosity at several chromosomal loci in PPSC differ from those seen in ESOC. The overexpression of the HER2 oncogene is encountered more often.
- PPSC affects older patients, tends to be multifocal, and exhibits a more aggressive genotype at metastatic sites.
- The disease tends to be more extensive and diffuse, making it difficult to achieve a complete CRS if the surgical expertise is not available.
- The overall survival tends to be inferior in these patients despite a complete response to frontline therapy [73].

Despite a good response to chemotherapy and few prolonged remissions, patients with PPSC survive a few months less than ovarian cancer patients.

16.3.2.10 Role of HIPEC in Addition to CRS

The role of HIPEC is less clear in these patients because of its rarity and also because the results are often reported with those of patients with ESOC. Look et al. reported outcomes of CRS with intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 28 patients in epithelial ovarian cancer of which 10 patients had PPSC. Some patients received HIPEC, others EPIC and/or systemic chemotherapy alone. A complete cytoreduction (residual disease <2.5 mm) was obtained in 57.1% if the patients. Outcomes in patients with PPSC were not reported separately. The prognostic indicators associated with a statistically significant

impact on survival were the prior surgery score (p < 0.001), the completeness of cytoreduction score (CC; p = 0.037), and response to chemotherapy prior to surgery (p = 0.012) [107].

Bakrin et al. reported outcomes in 36 patients with PPSC from nine institutions treated with CRS and HIPEC. A complete cytoreduction was obtained in 89.1% of the patients. Survival analyses were performed in 32 patients. One-, three-, and five-year survival was 93.6%, 71.5%, and 57.4%, respectively. Median disease-free survival was 16.7 months, and disease-free survival at 1, 3, and 5 years were 59.5%, 40%, and 24%, respectively. By univariate analysis, the only factor that had prognostic value was PCI (p = 0.03) [108].

In a recent publication on outcomes of CRS and HIPEC for rare indications by the PSOGI and BIG-RENAPE working groups, of 850 procedures performed in 781 patients, PPSC was not listed separately as a rare tumor and outcomes were not reported, most likely due to a small number [6].

There are several case reports of patients treated with CRS and HIPEC [109, 110].

The above results are obtained in centers that specialize in the management of peritoneal surface malignancies, and therefore the quality of surgery and rates of complete CRS are high, which may be one of the factors for the comparatively high survival rates. One conclusion that can be drawn is that a complete CRS leads to a survival benefit. Whether HIPEC is of benefit cannot be concluded from the above data.

16.3.2.11 Summary

- Primary peritoneal serous cancer is a rare primary tumor that is clinically and histologically similar to epithelial serous ovarian cancer.
- It may be a biologically more aggressive tumor, but further evidence is needed to prove or disprove this notion.
- Cytoreductive surgery and systemic chemotherapy can be considered the standard treatment for these patients.
- There is a potential for treating these patients with intraperitoneal chemotherapy/HIPEC; in addition, this needs further prospective evaluation.

 Clinical trials for ovarian cancer should evaluate the results of this subgroup of patients separately to better understand it biology and develop future treatment strategies accordingly.

16.3.2.12 Primary Peritoneal Serous Borderline

Primary peritoneal serous borderline tumor (also known as peritoneal serous micropapillomatosis) is a rare lesion of low malignant potential that is histologically identical to borderline surface epithelial stromal tumors of the ovary [111]. The tumor does not invade the submesothelium or omental fat which distinguishes these tumors from PPSC. These tumors are commonly seen in female patients aged 16-67 years (mean, 33 years) and are most often discovered incidentally during laparotomy or laparoscopy as focal or diffuse miliary nodules on the peritoneal and omental surfaces [112]. Surgical staging similar to that for ovarian cancer is performed in these patients. A systematic lymphadenectomy is not indicated in these patients [84, 113].

16.3.3 Diffuse Peritoneal Leiomyomatosis

In 1952, diffuse peritoneal leiomyomatosis (DPL) was discovered by Wilson and Peale; however, the first scientific description was attributed to H.D. Taubert in 1971 [114].

Diffuse peritoneal leiomyomatosis (DPL) is characterized by the proliferation of multiple benign nodules comprising of smooth muscle cells in the peritoneal cavity. Fewer than 150 cases have been reported in history. The exact etiology is not known though several theories have been proposed [115, 116]. Its presentation in adult women, response to hormonal therapies, and possibility of degeneration into malignancy pose need to be taken into account while planning treatment for these women which usually comprises of CRS. Only one case of DPL has been reported in male patients as well [117–119].

16.3.3.1 Etiology of DPL

The pelvic peritoneum in females retains its ability to differentiate into specialized epithelia and stroma producing various pathologic conditions even in adult life. This is also referred to as the "secondary Mullerian system" or "Mullerianosis" [120–122]. Smooth muscle cells that are present in the subperitoneal stroma are a part of this system, and this has been demonstrated in peritoneal biopsies taken from patients with endometriosis and pelvic pain [122]. These muscles cells express estrogen receptors (ER) and progesterone receptors (PR) [123]. LPD is a nodular proliferation of smooth muscle cells in the subperitoneal mesenchyme. The expression of ER and PR distinguishes it from other retroperitoneal smooth muscle tumors that do not arise from this secondary Mullerian system and therefore do not express these receptors. There are several theories about the pathogenesis of DPL.

Parmley et al. proposed that DPL is a benign reparative process in which benign smooth muscle cells replace decidual cells, also called the "fibrosing deciduosis" theory. This theory is not accepted anymore [124, 125].

The second theory that is widely accepted is that DPL results from Mullerianosis development of multipotent Mullerian stem cells in the subperitoneal mesenchyme [126, 127]. This development can be triggered by various stimuli, the most common being the hormonal stimulus.

16.3.3.2 Hormonal Stimulus

DPL can be stimulated and aggravated by high estrogen states like pregnancy, long-term use of oral contraceptives, use of hormone replacement therapy, adjuvant tamoxifen for breast cancer, and estrogen-producing ovarian tumors [128–135]. An association between endometriosis and DPL has been described as well. The changes taking place in the subperitoneal mesenchyme due to endometriosis make the tissue more sensitive to hormonal stimuli and thus the development of leiomyomata [136, 137].

There is a rare possibility that DPL is brought on by increased levels of luteinizing hormone in postmenopausal women, and the presence of LH receptors has been demonstrated in postmenopausal women [138].

16.3.3.3 latrogenic Implantation/ Spontaneous Dissemination

Another theory is that DPL arises form implantation and proliferation of benign smooth muscles or cells from a uterine leiomyoma which typically occurs during a laparoscopic morcellation [7]. The tumor cells can get implanted during surgery, and the pneumoperitoneum facilitates the distribution throughout the peritoneal cavity. Miyake et al. in a case report proved the occurrence of iatrogenic dissemination [139, 140]. It is also possible that cells are shed from a leiomyoma as in the case of borderline ovarian tumors.

16.3.3.4 Genetic Alterations

DPL has molecular, genetic, and cytogenetic features that suggest individual tumorlets are monoclonal and may have a pathogenesis similar to that of uterine leiomyoma. DPL can arise from a single uterine leiomyoma. Quade et al. analyzed multiple nodules of DPL from four patients and found the same pattern of X chromosome inactivation in all patients, which was contrary to the expectation that the inactivation would be random and polyclonal. It is uncertain at present whether DPL tumorlets are metastatic deposits of unicentric disease or multicentric deposits having inactivation of the same X chromosome [139]. Similar findings were reported by Miyake et al. [140].

16.3.3.5 Presentation

DPL is commonly seen in women in the reproductive age group though it has been diagnosed in postmenopausal women as well. Patients are asymptomatic, and DPL is an incidental finding on imaging or is diagnosed during a surgical exploration. It may present with nonspecific symptoms like abdominal pain and discomfort, nausea and vomiting, pelvic pain, and discomfort.

16.3.3.6 Diagnosis

Cross-sectional imaging studies show numerous well-circumscribed solid masses in the peritoneal cavity that vary in size from several millimeters to many centimeters that have heterogenous attenuation and enhance like uterine leiomyomas [141, 142]. Typical MR findings show masses that are isointense with muscle on T1-weighted sequences, enhance heterogeneously after gadolinium contrast, and have low signal intensity on T2-weighted images (Figs. 16.1 and 16.2) [143].

The diagnosis needs to be confirmed by performing a biopsy and immunohistochemistry where required. The nodules are histologically composed of spindle cells that are bland and have few or no mitosis [66]. The mitotic index is less than 3/10 HPF. High-grade features are absent. The nodules may contain fibroblasts, myofibroblasts, decidual cells, and, sporadically, endometrial stromal cells in addition to smooth muscle



Fig. 16.1 T2-weighted MRI of a patient with DPL and a large uterine fibroid; white arrows point to the peritoneal leiomyomata; red arrow, uterine fibroid



Fig. 16.2 Post-contrast mild enhancement of the lesions (white arrows)

cells. Evaluation of the ER and PR receptor status should be performed in all patients.

Differential diagnoses for multiple peritoneal nodules include peritoneal carcinomatosis, peritoneal leiomyosarcomatosis, mesothelioma, tuberculosis, and lymphoma [142, 144–146].

A benign metastasizing leiomyoma is characterized by fewer nodules and often presents with metastases in the lungs, and a gastrointestinal stromal tumor does not have smooth muscle cells in the nodules [118, 147].

16.3.3.7 Treatment

Spontaneous regression has often been described in LPD, mostly when the estrogen stimulus is removed (stopping oral contraceptive pills, hormone replacement therapy, postpartum). A conservative approach is recommended when DPL is diagnosed in association with pregnancy, due to exogenous estrogen exposure, or uterine leiomyomas and the nodules express ER and PR receptors. GnRH analogues or surgical castration with or without a total abdominal hysterectomy can be used for patients with progressive disease, recurrence, or those who are symptomatic. A conservative approach is preferred in benign cases when a hormonal excess is the underlying cause [126, 148-151]. TAH with unilateral or bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy is recommended only in cases when the family is complete for control of symptoms or in patients who do not respond.

Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) agonists, aromatase inhibitors, and danazol are the other drugs that have been used for treating DPL [152].

In nonresponders to the above therapy, a complete tumor removal is advocated that may require one or more of the peritonectomy procedures and visceral resections. Even when the response is partial and there is incomplete resolution of the tumor nodules, CRS is advocated [153]. As described below, nonresponders to therapy are the ones who are at risk of developing metastatic disease and should be subjected to radical surgery.

The role of HIPEC in DPL is undefined. It has been performed in patients with sarcomatosis but not those with DPL.

16.3.3.8 Does a Malignant Change Occur in Patients with DPL?

Patients with DPL without exogenous or endogenous estrogen exposure, without uterine leiomyomas, and without ER and PR expression on the tumor nodules are considered to be at high risk of developing malignancy. Often the malignant change develops within months or a year of diagnosis of DPL [142, 154, 155]. In some cases, a low-grade leiomyosarcoma may be misdiagnosed as DPL or is already present in one of the nodules that was not biopsied. In 1196, Raspagleisi et al. reviewed the published literature and reported a 10% incidence of progression to sarcomatosis in patients with DPL (5/49 cases) [156].

Hence women, who do not respond to therapy, should undergo radical surgery with removal of all the tumor. Another alternative would be active surveillance with periodic laparoscopic evaluation and biopsies of suspicious lesions. However, the benefit of such procedures and progression rates has not been reported [156].

16.3.3.9 Summary

- Diffuse peritoneal leiomyomatosis is a benign disease with malignant potential.
- In most instances, increased exposure to endogenous or exogenous estrogens is the underlying cause. ER and PR receptor status should be evaluated in all patients. In case of hormonal excess, withdrawal of the hormonal stimulus leads to disease regression. Medical management involving the use of GnRH analogues or aromatase inhibitors can be used in those who do not respond to hormonal withdrawal.
- In patients developing DPL in the absence of increased estrogen exposure or without ER/PR receptor positivity, surgical resection of the tumors is recommended, and this may require peritonectomy and visceral resections to be performed depending on the extent of the disease.
- DPL is known to occur after morcellation of uterine fibroids and myomectomy as well. Patients who have undergone morcellation should be kept on surveillance.

16.4 Secondary Peritoneal Metastases

16.4.1 Peritoneal Metastases from Sarcomas

Soft tissue sarcomas consist of approximately 100 distinct pathological, biological, and clinical diagnoses, many of which may cause PM [157]. Thirty percent of all patients with soft tissue sarcomas have intra-abdominal disease. Fifty to seventy percent of the intraabdominal sarcomas recur and majority of them will develop peritoneal metastases. Intra-abdominal sarcomas include the retroperitoneal sarcomas, as well as those arising from intraperitoneal structures and the pelvic sidewall. Retroperitoneal sarcomas are more common than intraperitoneal sarcomas. In rare instances, sarcomas arise from intraperitoneal structures. Figure 16.3 shows the CT image of an epithelioid leiomyosarcoma arising from the omentum.



Fig. 16.3 CT scan showing a huge epithelial leiomyosarcoma arising from the omentum. The tumour shows increased vascularity with areas of necrosis

Pelvic sidewall and retroperitoneal sarcomas tend to be large and follow a clinical course that differs from that of adenocarcinomas and visceral sarcomas [158–162]. These tumors are fleshy and have pushing edges; because of their deep location, they grow to a considerable size before a diagnosis is made [163]. All the patients with recurrent disease have local recurrence, and it's the only site of recurrence in 50% of the patients [164, 165].

Peritoneal metastases from sarcomas can be present at the time of diagnosis but usually occur in the recurrent setting and are largely due to tumor spillage during surgery.

Intraperitoneal sarcoma emboli may occur because of the following:

- Spontaneous tumor emboli leading to involvement of the peritoneum before surgery
- Tumor embolization that takes place during surgery in the venous blood that is shed
- Surgical trauma leading to intraperitoneal spillage of tumor cells [165]

Local recurrence after resection of a retroperitoneal or pelvic sidewall recurrence has a fusiform recurrence. There are heavy deposits of tumor cells at the site of resection of the primary and low-density seeding on peritoneal surfaces caused by tumor emboli. The low-density deposits are seen within adhesions as the tumor emboli get covered with fibrin [165].

In addition, extra-abdominal sarcomas can metastasize to the peritoneum. Sarcomas that spread or recur by seeding nearby peritoneal surfaces represent a particularly ominous moiety [163]. Peritoneal metastases in sarcomas have a dismal prognosis largely due to their propensity for hematogenous spread.

The commonest sarcomas that give rise to PM are gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST), liposarcomas, and leiomyosarcomas. GIST is discussed separately. Some of the common sarcomas producing PM are described here.

16.4.1.1 Liposarcoma

Liposarcoma accounts for 20% of all soft tissue sarcomas in adults and is the most common retroperitoneal sarcoma [166, 167]. Five histological subtypes of liposarcoma in order of increasing malignant behavior are well-differentiated, dedifferentiated, myxoid, round cell, and pleomorphic. Most retroperitoneal liposarcomas are well-differentiated and dedifferentiated subtypes [168]. Liposarcomas can also arise intraperitoneally from the omentum and mesentery and present as large intraperitoneal masses [169]. Retroperitoneal liposarcoma is known to recur frequently with multiple intra-abdominal masses after resection [170].

16.4.1.2 Leiomyosarcoma

Leiomyosarcoma is a malignant neoplasm of smooth muscle origin arising most commonly from the genitourinary tract, usually the uterus, retroperitoneum, and gastrointestinal tract [171]. Primary involvement of the peritoneum by leiomyosarcoma occurs in rare instances, and late recurrences have been reported [172].

16.4.1.3 Uterine Leiomyosarcomas

Uterine leiomyosarcoma (ULMS) is an uncommon mesenchymal neoplasm accounting for 1.3% of all uterine malignancies and 30-40% of all uterine sarcomas. ULMS have a high propensity for hematogenous spread most commonly to the lungs. The peritoneum is the next common site of metastases [173]. Uterine sarcomas can arise in patients who have undergone morcellation of a fibroid as an early tumor may be missed in some of these patients, and the surgical procedure can lead to peritoneal tumor dissemination. Current estimates are that approximately 1 in 350 patients will be exposed to this risk of widespread sarcomatosis [173]. Sugarbaker et al. based on their experience proposed that a prophylactic CRS and HIPEC should be performed in patients who have undergone morcellation of a ULMS since most of these patients will eventually develop sarcomatosis [174]. A similar strategy has been recommended by other investigators as well [175].

16.4.1.4 Other Uterine Sarcomas

The other uterine sarcomas are endometrial stromal sarcomas and carcinosarcomas. Endometrial stromal sarcomas can be high grade or low grade, the former pursuing a more aggressive course. Metastases to the peritoneum are common in these tumors though they are often associated with other sites of metastases especially the lung [176].

16.4.1.5 Imaging Findings

Some of these tumors have characteristic radiologic findings leading to the diagnosis. The amount of macroscopic fat within the tumor decreases with more aggressive histological subtypes. Myxoid liposarcoma is a distinct subtype characterized by homogeneous low-density masses with a propensity for spread to the peritoneum, mesentery, retroperitoneum, spine, and paraspinal soft tissues [177]. Retroperitoneal liposarcoma is known to recur frequently with multiple intra-abdominal masses after resection [170]. The peritoneal masses are often heterogeneous in density, with variable proportions of fat and soft tissue and with occasional calcification. The soft tissue component tends to show mild to moderate enhancement. Ascites is typically not seen.

In leiomyosarcomas, peritoneal spread may be seen as diffuse peritoneal thickening or focal masses. Tumor implants are often large, heterogeneous, and intensely enhancing and may show calcification. Ascites is not a dominant finding. Complications include bowel obstruction or hemoperitoneum [172].

16.4.1.6 Management of Peritoneal Metastases from Sarcomas

Peritoneal sarcomatosis has traditionally been viewed as a terminal disease with median survival of less than 1 year, with surgery only reserved for associated complications such as intestinal obstruction and ureteral obstruction [178–180]. Bilimoria et al. found the median survival of patients with sarcomatosis treated with palliative surgery and/or chemotherapy to be 13 months with the only negative prognostic factor being tumor volume [178]. An overall survival of 7–15 months has been reported in patients undergoing palliative procedures [178–181]. Except for imatinib that has shown a significant benefit in patients with GIST, for other patients with PM

from sarcomas, the outcomes of systemic therapies remain poor.

The radical approach of complete cytoreductive surgery (CRS) combined with perioperative chemotherapy comprising of either HIPEC or early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC) that had yielded a significant survival benefit in other PM was used to treat sarcomas as well. Most of these investigators have reported the outcomes of a variety of sarcomas pooled together making interpretation difficult. Some authors have reported just the retroperitoneal versus visceral source of PS, and others only the site of origin, or the histological diagnosis [163, 182–184].

In a study of 43 patients with recurrent sarcomatosis undergoing CRS, Berthet et al. were able to achieve a complete cytoreduction in 30 patients and used EPIC with doxorubicin or cisplatin and doxorubicin in these patients. The median OS of the whole group was 20 months.

A significant survival benefit was seen in patients who had involvement of less than six abdominopelvic regions (p = 0.0009), less than ten anatomic sites (p = 0.0002), complete cytoreduction (CC-0/1) (p = 0.005), and PCI less than 13 (p = 0.01). Histological type and grade of recurrent sarcoma did not have an impact on the prognosis.

This shows that selected patients with recurrent sarcomas can be treated with CRS and intraperitoneal chemotherapy and outcomes largely depend on the volume and distribution of disease at the commencement of therapy [182].

Baratti et al. reported outcomes in 37 patients who underwent CRS and HIPEC with cisplatin and doxorubicin or mitomycin C and included patients with GIST (pre-imatinib era), uterine leiomyosarcomas, and retroperitoneal liposarcomas [157]. Complete CRS was achieved in 28 patients (75.7%). After median follow-up of 104 (range, 1–131) months, peritoneal recurrence was seen in 16 patients, distant metastases in 5, and both in 13. For all patients, median OS was 26.2 months; seven patients were alive at 46–130 months.

Retroperitoneal liposarcomas had the best OS (median, 34 months) but a peritoneal relapse

in 100% of the cases; GIST had a dismal overall survival and high rate of local and distant failures; ULMS had the higher proportion of long-term survivors and lowest rate of local recurrence. Patients who had low-grade tumors, a complete cytoreduction, and had received systemic chemotherapy had a better OS; the only independent predictor of a better OS was tumor grade. Patients with low-grade tumors had a significantly better DFS as well [157].

Bonvalot et al. randomized 38 patients with PM sarcomas undergoing CRS to receive EPIC or not after complete cytoreduction (CC-0). EPIC was performed with five postoperative days with doxorubicin 0.1 mg/kg and cisplatin 15 mg/m² diluted in 2 L of Ringer's lactate every day. Histological grade, Sugarbaker's score, and mean number of resected organs were similar in both groups. There was no mortality and morbidity was similar in both groups. The median follow-up is 60 months. The median local relapse-free, metastatic relapse-free survival, and overall survival were identical in both groups (12.5, 18, and 29 months, respectively), with no difference in patients with retroperitoneal and visceral sarcomas. There were ten patients with GIST (pre-imatinib era) of whom three received imatinib subsequently [184].

In another study of 17 patients with PM from sarcomas of different varieties, the median simplified PCI was 6 (range 3-9) and a complete cytoreduction was obtained in all the patients. HIPEC was performed with mitomycin C, cisplatin, or doxorubicin [185]. The median intra-abdominal disease-free and overall survival after CRS/ HIPEC was 17.2 months (95% CI, 2.4–19.7) and 22.6 months (95% CI, 6.1-62.6 months), respectively. Since all the patients had a CRS before without HIPEC, the authors compared the DFS after the first and second surgeries and found that there was a trend toward delayed recurrence after combined CRS/HIPEC than after prior CRS alone (17.2 months vs 10.7 months, respectively; p = 0.52). The study was underpowered to detect this difference. The median OS varied according to the histology; it was 38.5 months for leiomyosarcomas, 23.9 months for GISTs, 22.6 months for synovial cell sarcomas, 17.7 months for liposarcomas, and 6.2 months for other sarcomas, though these differences also did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.56).

The authors concluded that CRS and HIPEC could improve the locoregional control in these patients though the benefit of HIPEC could not be clearly defined given the lack of studies comparing outcomes between CRS and HIPEC and CRS alone [185].

In an analysis of 850 procedures for unusual cases performed in 781 patients, in 53 centers worldwide, nearly two-thirds of the procedures were performed for three indications: rare ovarian carcinoma (n = 224), sarcoma (n = 189), and neuroendocrine tumors (n = 127). For the three main indications, 5-year OS was significantly greater in patients with PM from rare ovarian carcinoma (57.7%), than that of patients with PM from neuroendocrine tumors (39.9%), and from sarcoma (29.3%; p < 0.0001) and not significantly inferior to that in PM from neuroendocrine tumors (39.9%). The authors concluded that the respective roles of CRS and HIPEC in prolonging survival were difficult to determine in these patients. Outcomes in patients with GIST were analyzed separately [6].

Outcomes of CRS and perioperative chemotherapy in patients with PM from sarcomas are described in Table 16.6.

16.4.1.7 Summary

- Soft tissue sarcomas represent a biologically aggressive group of tumors with a propensity for hematogenous spread.
- CRS has shown to be effective in producing disease control and prolonging survival in selected patients with peritoneal metastases though the role of HIPEC remains undefined. The evidence comes from retrospective studies and one randomized controlled trial all having a limited number of patients. The patient population in these studies included a mixture of patients with tumors of various histologies, anatomic sites of origin, and some with synchronous liver and peritoneal metastases which makes it even more difficult to derive meaningful conclusions.

- Patients with a limited disease spread as indicated by the PCI < 10–14, a complete cytoreduction (CC-0/1), low-grade tumors, and certain primaries like uterine leiomyosarcomas have a better overall survival.
- Some centers have stopped performing HIPEC given the lack of demonstrable benefit and added morbidity of the procedure.
- The results of CRS and HIPEC have to be compared with those obtained with systemic therapies alone with the availability of new targeted therapies and different and more effective regimens for some histologies.
- A multidisciplinary evaluation and decision making is the preferred way of treating these patients.
- The role of targeted therapies in STS is evolving and future studies in this direction will probably yield improved outcomes. These should be incorporated into the treatment plan where indicated [194].

16.4.2 Neuroendocrine Tumors

Peritoneal metastases from neuroendocrine tumors (NET) are often considered part of widespread metastatic disease and treated with systemic therapies. PM are not uncommon in patients with carcinoid tumors and other endocrine tumors of gastroenteropancreatic origin [195].

16.4.2.1 Incidence

Data from a prospective French National Registry found the incidence of PM to be 17.5% in 508 patients with gastrointestinal NET [196]. The incidence was 17% in 603 patients with small intestinal NET treated at Uppsala from 1985 to 2010 [197]. In this report which analyzed the outcomes of surgery, the presence of PM had a negative impact on survival. According to the US National Cancer Institute Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) report in 2013 in 13,715 patients with NET, metastatic disease was present in 13.5% [198]. In patients with metastatic disease, PM are present in 33% of the patients [199].

able 16.	6 Outcom	nes of CRS and perioperat	tive chemothe	erapy in pati	ents with PM	from sarcomas				
Ref year	No. of patients	Commonest histology	Grade	PCI	CC-0/1	HIPEC	Drugs used	Morbidity	Prognostic factors	Survival
[186] 1997	28		NR		79%	EPIC	Cisplatin	NR	NR	5 year OS—7%
1998	43	Leiomyosarcoma Liposarcoma, fibrous sarcoma	I-10 II-11 III-22	<13-9 >13-34	62.7%	HIPEC-16 EPIC-27	Cisplatin Cisplatin and doxorubicin	19%	PCI < 13; CC-0/1 resection, involvement of <4 abdominopelvic regions	Median OS—20 months
[187]	54	GIST Leiomyosarcoma Liposarcoma Hepatic metastases in 35%	High grade 72% Low 18%	NR	100%	Normothermic postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy	Mitoxantrone	%6	Stage, grade	Median DFS—9 m Median OS—18 m 5-year OS—31% Peritoneal recurrence—48% hepatic recurrence 69%
2004	09	GIST Retroperitoneal sarcoma Uterine sarcoma	High grade 48% Low grade 52%	7.7	100%	НГРЕС	Cisplatin and doxorubicin	33%	Grade Completeness of cytoreduction	Median DFS—22 m Median OS—34 m 5-year OS–38% Peritoneal recurrence 71%
[188] 2005	10			NR	%06	HIPEC	Cisplatin and doxorubicin Cisplatin and Mitomycin C	%0		Median DFS 15 months 5-year OS 65% Peritoneal recurrence 60%
2005	38	Retroperitoneal sarcomas Visceral sarcomas GIST (pre-imatinib)		13.7	100%	EPIC 19 None 19	Cisplatin and doxorubicin	21%		Median DFS— 12.5 months Median OS—29 months 5-year OS—40%

388

Median OS 8.1 m	-year OS 15%	Median OS 19.5 m 3-year 05—50%	Median OS 6.3 m 5-year 0S—24.3%	dedian DFS—10 m dedian DS—12 M	Median DFS— 7.2 months Median DS—22.6 months	Median OS 11.6 m 5-year OS 13% tecurrent disease n 71%	a alive and lisease free; 1 live with disease	
	41	2 00 0	Tumor grade, T CC-0/1, 2 systemic C chemotherapy	CC-0/1 1 PCI > 10 1 Low grade N tumors had a 0 OS	Intra-abdominal I disease free I interval N			PCI < 20
43%	16/44%	29.8%	21.6%	38.5%	24%	50%		35%
Mitomycin C ± Mitoxantrone	HIPEC cisplatin	Cisplatin Cisplatin and mitoxantrone	CIS + adria Mitomycin	Cisplatin and doxorubicin		Mitomycin C Mitomycin C and mitoxantrone	Doxorubicin and cisplatin Melphalan	Mitomycin, Cisplatin Doxorubicin
HIPEC	HIPEC	HIPEC/EPIC	HIPEC	HIPEC	HIPEC-16 delayed HIPEC 1	HIPEC	HIPEC	HIPEC
	94.7/100%		75.7%	70%	100%	60%		62.2%
			14.7 (2–34)	12.1	Mean6			
					High 71% Low 6% Unknown 24%		High grade 100%	
	Leiomyosarcoma/ GIST DSRCT Liposarcoma		GIST (pre-imatinib) Uterine leiomyosarcoma Retroperitoneal sarcoma	Liposarcoma pleomorphic sarcoma	Synovial sarcoma liposarcoma leiomyosarcoma	Hemangiopericytoma Leiomyosarcoma Spindle cell sarcoma	Uterine leiomyosarcoma Uterine adenosarcoma	Liposarcoma
6	28	6	37	13	17	10	m	×
[189] 2007	[163] 2007	[1 <mark>90</mark>] 2008	[1 57] 2010	[4] 2012	[185] 2013	[191] 2013	[<mark>192</mark>] 2014	[193] 2016

16.4.2.2 Site of Origin

PM are more commonly seen in patients with NET arising from the midgut and those with large pancreatic NET, and they are infrequently the only site of metastases [200]. Vasseur et al. studied 116 consecutive patients with gastroenteropancreatic NET treated over a 3-year period of which 15 were gastrinomas, 30 carcinoid tumors, and 27 other endocrines, the majority being nonfunctioning tumors [195]. Diagnosis of PM was based on clinical symptoms (ascites and König's syndrome), findings of computed tomography scans that were performed at least yearly, and pathologic confirmation of tumor nodules or positive cytology in the peritoneal fluid. PM was found in 11 patients (overall prevalence of PM, 10%, with 27% in patients with carcinoid tumors, 11% in those with non-gastrinoma pancreatic endocrine tumors, and 0% in patients with gastrinomas). Nine of 11 patients with PM also had liver metastases [195].

NET-derived PM arise mainly from midgut tumors and usually are associated with other sites of distant metastases, notably liver metastases, and usually represent only a small part of the tumor load. Elias et al. observed that the focus was surgical treatment of liver metastases, while the PM were neglected, and this led to progressive peritoneal disease and its consequences [199]. This provides a rationale for treating NET-PM with CRS similar to PM from other sites. The presence of the liver and lymph node metastases which is a common occurrence makes it mandatory to resect those metastases as well.

NET arising from the small intestine tend to develop PM and lymph node metastases early in course of the disease [201]. The peritoneal spread has been attributed to the proximity of the peritoneum.

16.4.2.3 Presentation

PM may produce no symptoms themselves and may be an incidental finding during surgery or during preoperative imaging [202]. The patients may be symptomatic from the primary tumor. Nonspecific symptoms include abdominal pain and discomfort [203–205]. In advanced cases, there may be abdominal distension due to ascites. Some patients may present with acute or subacute intestinal obstruction. Carcinoid syndrome may be present especially in patients with liver metastases [206, 207].

16.4.2.4 Diagnosis

The presence of PM should be confirmed on histopathology. The specimen can be procured during a diagnostic laparoscopy or surgical exploration. Immunohistochemistry should be performed for chromogranin A, synaptophysin, and the Ki-67 proliferation index. WHO tumor staging and TNM staging/grading should be performed. A positive peritoneal fluid cytology may also confirm the presence of PM.

Standard imaging is performed to detect and determine the extent of PM. There are some points regarding the biological behavior of neuroendocrine tumors that should be borne in mind especially those arising from the midgut.

- Even in patients with tumors that have a low Ki-67 proliferative index and are grade I tumors, lymph node metastases are present in nearly half the patients.
- Mesenteric tumor deposits (defined as nodules >1 mm in size that are distinct from lymph nodes) are present, often along the large blood vessels and are not diagnosed on imaging. Palpation may be required to determine the exact extent of the disease [208–210].
- The average size of the metastatic nodules is <2 mm which cannot be picked up on imaging [211].

The common imaging modalities used are CT, MRI, and/or somatostatin receptor scintigraphy which will detect nodules >1 cm [212].

Somatostatin receptor-based PET/CT technology is clearly superior to standard cross-sectional imaging in the detection of grade I and grade II NET in many aspects and bears influence on therapeutic strategies [213–215]. ⁶⁸Ga-DOTATOC PET/CT can detect primary tumor recurrence, lymph node metastases, bone metastases, and lung metastases more frequently than standard imaging [215]. The physiological uptake of the tracer by the normal liver parenchyma and the small bowel loops increases both the false-negative and false-positive findings [215].

Thus, it is likely that preoperative evaluation will underestimate the extent of disease.

The presence of ascites requires cytological confirmation for the presence of malignant cells. A negative fluid cytology does not rule out the presence of PM [4].

In patients with small bowel obstruction, which may be secondary to the primary tumor, peritoneal nodules and/or associated mesenteric retraction, a CT or MRI enteroclysis may be useful both for diagnosis and planning of treatment.

16.4.2.5 Treatment of NET-PM

The evidence supporting or disfavoring surgical resection of NET-PM is limited. Elias found that patients with PM from NET become symptomatic of them and hence proposed performing complete cytoreductive surgery for patients with NET-PM similar to other patients with PM. Kianmanesh et al. listed the potential benefits of surgical resection:

- Prevention of luminal obstruction or invagination
- Prevention of the consequences of fibrosis due to mesenteric or vascular involvement
- Prevention of hemorrhage [216]

PM from NET have a tendency to infiltrate surrounding structures early in the course of disease. PM from other sites increase in volume first and compress surrounding structures before they invade the underlying organs. Hence, in NET-PM, a wider resection with resection of underlying structures is required more often even in cases with a low tumor burden [199].

Moreover, most cases require extensive surgery comprising of resection of the primary, regional nodes, PM, and LM since metastases are present at multiple sites in most patients.

In a consensus statement by the ENETS published in 2010, the authors recommended surgical resection without adequate referential data of both PM and LM in specialized centers when the surgical risk was acceptable and patients had a good performance status [216]. In patients requiring major liver resection, such as for bilobar liver metastases, staged resections should be employed. In females >55 years, it is usually recommended to remove both ovaries (after preoperative discussion and consent); in younger patients, the ovaries are removed only if involved by metastases. In patients whom CC-0/1 resections are not possible, palliative procedures can be performed to avoid complications later. Where resection of multiple segments of bowel is required, the risk of short bowel syndrome versus the benefit of complete resection should be considered [216]. A grading system was developed based on the extent of the peritoneal disease (quantified by the Lyon prognostic index), the lymph node involvement, and extrahepatic disease (Table 16.7). Surgery is recommended for patients falling into groups A and B. The Lyon prognostic index is described in Table 16.8.

Table 16.7 European Neuroendocrine Tumor Society (ENETS) proposal of GPS grading system based on the association of PM with lymph node and liver metastases [216]

	0 points	1 point	2 points	3 points
Lymph node metastases	None or local ^a	Regional ^b	Para-aortic or hepatic pedicle	Extra-abdominal
Liver metastases	No macroscopic nodules	One lobe less than 5 nodules	Both lobes, 5–10 nodules	Both lobes, more than 10 nodules
Peritoneal metastases	No macroscopic nodules	Lyon I-II resectable	Lyon III–IV resectable	Lyon I–IV unresectable

GPS Global peritoneal carcinomatosis score

GPS Grade A = 0-3 points, Grade B = 4-6 points, Grade C = 7-9 points

^aLocal—first (adjacent to the primary tumor)

^bRegional-second level of drainage

Stage	Description
Stage 0	No macroscopic disease
Stage I	Localized nodules in one part of the abdomen <5 mm in size
Stage II	Localized nodules spread to the whole abdomen <5 mm in size
Stage III	Localized or diffuse nodules 5–20 mm in size
Stage IV	Localized or diffuse nodules or masses >20 mm in size

Table 16.8 Lyon prognostic index (Gilly's peritoneal carcinomatosis score) for quantifying the extent of PM [216]

16.4.2.6 Evidence for CRS and HIPEC

Elias et al. performed surgery in 37 patients with NET-PM that constituted 33% of all the patients (n = 189) treated at their institute from 1993 to 2003. They divided the patients in two groups; the first comprising of 20 patients in whom complete resection of PM was not possible. Ten patients had bulky disease that was symptomatic but in the other ten, the diagnosis of PM was made during surgery being performed for resection of liver metastases. The extent of the liver disease precluded complete resection, and most of these patients had tumor debulking with palliative bypass procedures where required. In the other group, complete resection of all nodules >2 mm was performed with intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC with mitomycin C in five patients and EPIC with mitomycin C and 5-fluorouracil in 12 patients). The PCI was >10 in 14 of these patients and >20 in 4 patients. Sixty-five percent of the patients had liver resection as well. The morbidity was 47% in group 2 [217].

The 5-year survival rates were 40.9% (95% CI, 22–62) for patients in group 1 and 66.2% (95% CI, 45–85) for patients in group 2 (p = 0.0068). Seven-year survival rates were 14.6% and 55.2%, respectively. Forty-one percent of patients were disease-free just after surgery, and only 10% were disease-free 5 years later [217].

This study also provided important insights into the natural history of the disease in patients with NET-PM. In 81% of the cases with PM, the primary tumor was located in the ileum or the appendix and was of pancreatic origin only in 5.4%. Eighty-nine percent of the patients with PM had liver metastases. Those patients who did not have LM at the time of surgery for PM went on to develop metastases within 18 months of surgery. Thus, NET-PM are associated with extensive multicentric metastatic disease. In group 1, the cause of death was related to the PM in 40% of the patients. Bone marrow suppression was seen in patients who had extensive liver resection, and the authors advice a dose reduction when IPC is used in these patients [217].

The authors concluded that though resection of PM and other metastatic diseases leads to a survival benefit, cure was not possible since most of the patients developed recurrent disease.

The same group questioned the benefit of HIPEC in addition to CRS. In a subsequent publication, they compared outcomes of CRS alone (n = 13) to those of CRS and HIPEC (n = 28). Liver metastases were treated during the same operative procedure in 66% of the patients. Mortality was 2% and morbidity 56%. OS at 5 and 10 years was 69% and 52%, respectively, and DFS at 5 and 10 years was 17% and 6%, respectively. At 5 years, PM and LM recurred in 47% and in 66% of cases, respectively. Overall survival was not different between patients treated with or without HIPEC, but disease-free survival was greater in the HIPEC group (p = 0.018), mainly because of fewer lung and bone metastases. They concluded that complete CRS of peritoneal metastases from a NET is feasible in most of the patients and could increase the survival; the additional benefit of HIPEC remained undetermined.

In a series of 1001 surgical procedures performed for 800 patients with NET arising from various sites at a single center, 189 patients had PM [218]. Though the outcomes in patients with PM were not reported separately, the authors concluded that surgical resection was the only curative option for these patients. In patients with advanced disease, they performed a resection of the primary with cholecystectomy (patients who receive somatostatin analogues have a propensity to develop gallstones) and resection of as much hepatic and extrahepatic disease as possible. Ablative methods like radiofrequency ablation, microwave ablation, and tumor ablation with the other high-energy devices were used to achieve cytoreduction. For patients with residual disease, further surgical resection was performed or staged resections were planned. Where this is not possible, liver-directed therapy, targeted therapy with radiolabeled somatostatin analogues, and/or systemic therapies were used. These authors also reported a benefit in survival when resection of 70–90% of the tumor could be resected though it is less than those that have resection of >90% of the tumor [218, 219].

In a single institutional study of 562 patients with small bowel NETs, Norlén et al. compared survival rates in surgically resected patients to non-resected patients [220]. In the surgical cyto-reduction group, 5- and 10-year OS were 75% and 51%, respectively, versus 28% and 6%, respectively, in the non-resected group. Similar findings were also reported in a smaller study (n = 258) of surgically resected patients with small bowel NETs by Bergestuen et al. [221].

In the series of 850 procedures carried out at 53 centers across the world, 114 (15.5) of the patients had PM from NET. The 5-year OS in these patients was 39.9%. The DFS, which was calculated only in patients, who have CC-0/1 resection, was 40.2% at 5 years. The extent of resection performed in these patients and the selection criteria were not reported though the authors recommend surgery only in those patients where a complete CRS is possible. Once again, the role of HIPEC/ EPIC was not clear these patients.

In another study, 73 patients with PM from small intestinal NET undergoing cytoreductive surgery were compared to 468 others without PM treated from 1985 to 2012. The presence of PM had a negative impact on survival. Residual peritoneal disease after surgery also had a negative impact on survival. The authors also reported genotypic differences between patients with and without PM and recommended further evaluation of this aspect [221].

16.4.2.7 Summary

 PM are common in patients with NET specifically in tumors arising from the midgut. PM are accompanied by multicentric metastatic disease in most cases involving the primarily the liver and lymph nodes. If left untreated, PM can be the cause of death in these patients.

- Aggressive surgical treatment performed with the goal of complete tumor removal at all sites has a survival benefit.
- In patients whom complete resection is not possible, staged procedures can be performed for liver metastases. Debulking surgery also has a survival benefit in these patients over systemic therapies alone if >70% of the tumor can be removed.
- Systemic therapies and liver-directed therapies should be used as adjuncts to surgery.
- Such surgeries are complex, carry a high morbidity, and should be carried out in centers having the expertise in delivering such treatment.
- In most patients, such procedures prolong survival but do not lead to a cure.
- All the above recommendations are for patients with grade I and grade II well-differentiated tumors.

16.4.3 Rare Ovarian Tumors

The World Health Organization Histological Classification for ovarian tumors separates ovarian neoplasms according to the most probable tissue of origin: surface epithelial (65%), germ cell (15%), sex cord-stromal (10%), metastases (5%), and miscellaneous [222]. Of the epithelial tumors, serous tumors are common, while the other subtypes (mucinous, endometrioid, clear cell, and transitional cell tumors) are relatively rare. CRS is routinely performed for PM arising from non-serous epithelial ovarian tumors. HIPEC has been used for the treatment of some of these tumors as well.

16.4.3.1 Mucinous Ovarian Tumors

Though conventionally reported and treated on the same lines as other epithelial tumors of the ovary, mucinous borderline and invasive tumors have distinct clinical, pathological, and molecular features [223].

Collaborative phase III trials in ovarian cancer have not analyzed results according to the histological subtype, and mucinous tumors comprise only a small percentage of the patients in these trials [224–227].

The reported incidence of these tumors varies from 2 to 4% to up to 11%. The probable reasons for these differences in various reports are:

- Misclassification of a gastrointestinal primary tumor as an ovarian primary tumor (80% of mucinous epithelial to ovarian tumors are of extra-ovarian origin).
- Misclassification of a mucinous borderline tumor as an invasive cancer.
- Classification of pseudomyxoma peritonei as being of ovarian origin—in over 90% of the cases, the primary site is the appendix.
- Most of these reports come from referral centers where complex cases get referred, and therefore they have a larger proportion of mucinous tumors [223].

16.4.3.2 Pathological and Molecular Features

Ovarian mucinous carcinoma is divided into intraepithelial (noninvasive) carcinoma and invasive carcinoma. Intraepithelial (noninvasive) mucinous carcinoma is characterized by the presence of marked epithelial atypia in the absence of stromal invasion. Invasive mucinous carcinoma is diagnosed once stromal invasion measuring more than 5 mm or more than 10 mm² is detected [228, 229]. Two types of invasive mucinous carcinoma are recognized: (1) expansile (confluent) type and (2) infiltrative type.

Mucinous tumors have an increased incidence of *KRAS* mutations and a significantly lower incidence of *BRCA* and p53 mutations in comparison to the serous epithelial tumors.

Serous and mucinous ovarian tumors have distinct gene expression profile and can be easily distinguished from each other [228, 229].

16.4.3.3 Clinical Features and Prognosis

Mucinous tumors are usually diagnosed in the first stage, tend to be unilateral, have a larger mean tumor diameter, have a lower incidence of occult lymph node involvement, and respond poorly to platinum-based chemotherapy [230–234].

An appendiceal primary tumor should always be ruled out in patients presenting with mucinous ovarian tumors with or without pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP). If the appendix has not been removed, immunohistochemistry can point to the site of origin of the tumor.

Patients diagnosed with stage I disease have a significantly better OS survival compared to serous tumors presenting with stage I disease. Contrary to this, the prognosis of stage III mucinous ovarian cancer is much worse than that of serous ovarian cancer.

In a retrospective analysis of 1895 women with stage III epithelial ovarian cancer enrolled in 6 GOG phase III trials, 74% had serous ovarian cancer, while only 2% had mucinous ovarian cancer. Women with mucinous tumors had a progression-free survival of 10.5 months, compared to 16.9 months for women with serous tumors. The relative risk of progression in women with mucinous tumors was 2.18 times that of those with serous tumors (p < 0.001). Similarly, the median OS was only 14.8 months for women with mucinous ovarian cancer, compared to 45.2 months for women with serous ovarian cancer. The relative risk of death from mucinous cancer for mucinous cancer compared to serous cancer was 4.14 (p < 0.001) [235].

Kikkawa et al. reported a 5-year OS of 75% in 169 women with mucinous carcinomas of the ovary and a survival rate of about 28% for those with stage III disease [236]. Chaitin et al. reported a 7-year OS of 72% for stage I mucinous carcinoma but only 8% for patients of stage II or higher in 70 patients with mucinous ovarian carcinoma [237].

The poor survival in patients with mucinous ovarian cancer can be attributed to an intrinsic aggressiveness of the tumors, resistance to platinum-based chemotherapy, and misclassification of metastatic tumors that are primary ovarian carcinomas.

A phase III trial enrolled 4000 women with stage III or IV ovarian carcinoma, treated by surgical staging and debulking, with randomization to one of five chemotherapeutic arms. A review of patients with mucinous carcinoma was performed by three pathologists independently, and
the tumors were classified as primary or metastatic. The median OS did not differ significantly between the groups interpreted as primary or metastatic, but the OS was significantly less than that for women with serous carcinoma (14 vs 42 months, p < 0.001) [238].

16.4.3.4 Response to Chemotherapy

Mucinous ovarian carcinoma responds poorly to platinum and Taxol chemotherapy as compared to serous ovarian cancer [239, 240].

In an experimental study, in ovarian cell lines resistant to platinum compounds, the combinations of oxaliplatin and 5-fluorouracil were inhibitory in 4/5 cell lines [241].

This combination is being compared to the Taxol and platinum combination in a GOG trial.

16.4.3.5 Role of Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC

Mucinous ovarian cancer with PM has been compared to pseudomyxoma peritonei arising from mucinous appendiceal tumors and hence treated with CRS and HIPEC. In the PSOGI and BIG-RENAPE study of 850 patients, 199 patients had as the primary site an uncommon histology of ovarian cancer, most of which were mucinous ovarian tumors. These patients had the longest survival rates among all patients with 5-year OS and DFS rates of 57.7% and 38.9%, respectively. The authors concluded that the prolonged survival rates obtained for mucinous ovarian carcinoma with PM confirmed that this histological type can be likened to pseudomyxoma peritonei, with mucinous peritoneal implants, and thus should be treated similarly, with complete radical surgery and HIPEC [6]. There are no other reports evaluating the role of CRS and HIPEC in advanced mucinous ovarian cancer as the results are reported with those of serous epithelial tumors. In a study of 46 patients from advanced epithelial ovarian cancer (group A) or recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer (group B) who were treated by 50 CRS + HIPEC procedures, 11 (23.9%) patients had mucinous adenocarcinomas. The median OS was 74.0 months for group A versus 57.5 months for group B. The median PFS was not reached for group A versus 8.5 months (95% CI, 0–17.5) for group B (p = 0.034). The impact of histology on survival outcomes was not evaluated in this study [242].

16.4.3.6 Granulosa Cell Tumors

Granulosa cell tumor (GCT) is the most common form of ovarian sex cord-stromal tumors presenting in two histopathologically different forms, as common adult granulosa cell tumor (AGCT) and as the less frequent juvenile granulosa cell tumor (JGCT) [243]. These tumors have a long natural history and tend to relapse even after more than 10 years after the initial diagnosis. Reported 5-year OS for patients with stage I disease ranges from 75 to 95%, with many studies demonstrating survival rates in excess of 90%; it drops to 55–75% for patients with stage II disease and 22–50% for patients with stage III/IV disease [244, 245]. The overall 10-year survival rate has been reported as between 85 and 95% [246].

Reported rates of recurrence after frontline therapy range from 17 to 50% [247]. One-third of recurrences develop after 5 years or treatment and one-fifth after 10 years [248–250]. A high initial stage increases the risk of relapse.

In a multi-institutional study of 97 patients with primary GCT with a median follow-up of 88 months (range, 6–498), 33 patients had at least one episode of disease recurrence, with a median time to recurrence of 53 months (range, 9–332). Forty-seven percent of recurrences occurred after 5 years from initial diagnosis. At multivariate analysis, age and stage were independent poor prognostic indicators for survival; surgical treatment outside specialized centers and incomplete surgical staging retained significant predictive value for recurrence in both univariate and multivariate analyses [244].

The standard treatment is surgery, but the extent of surgery is not clearly defined. Fertilitysparing approaches have been used for women desirous of preserving their fertility where as more radical surgery comprising of total abdominal hysterectomy, bilateral salpingooophorectomy, and lymphadenectomy is performed when fertility preservation is not desired. A systematic review from the Cochrane database comprising five retrospective cohort studies with data on 535 women was performed by Gurumurthy et al. The authors found the overall quality of evidence to be low and were unable to offer clear recommendations about the type of surgery that should be offered to these patients [251]. Similarly, though one study showed a benefit of adjuvant radiotherapy, there was a high risk of bias, and the authors could not make definite conclusions on the best adjuvant therapy either, whether it was needed at all.

16.4.3.7 Role of CRS and HIPEC

Peritoneal cancer spread is more common in patients with recurrent adult GCT. Fotopoulou et al. analyzed 45 patients with adult GCT, of which 18 had primary and 27 recurrent GCT [252]. Peritoneal involvement is more common in recurrent tumors as compared to primary tumors (52% vs 15.8%; p = 0.027), and involvement of the middle (48.1% vs 15.8%; p = 0.05) and upper abdomen (33.3% vs 0%; p = 0.006) is also higher in recurrent tumors. A complete CRS was possible in all the patients with primary disease and only in 85.2% of the relapsed patients (p = 0.13). Complex procedures including multiple peritonectomies, intestinal or diaphragmatic resection, splenectomy, and partial hepatectomy/pancreatectomy had to be performed only in recurrent GCT (55.6%). Extensive peritoneal involvement is uncommon in patients with primary GCT.

Consequently, there are no studies reporting outcomes of CRS with or without HIPEC in patients with advanced primary GCT. However, it has been used to treat recurrent disease.

There are no standard guidelines for the treatment of recurrent GCT, and multiple modalities such as surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and hormonal therapy have been proposed. Despite the lack of evidence of large randomized studies, many clinicians recommend surgical resection of the recurrent disease. Complete tumor removal has a survival benefit in these patients [253].

In the event of a relapse, there is no consensus concerning adjuvant treatment after debulking surgery [254–256]. One of the chemotherapy regimens commonly used comprises a combination of bleomycin, etoposide, and cisplatin (BEP).

Since granulosa cell tumors are not chemosensitive, HIPEC has been considered as an alternative to reduce the risk of further recurrence.

Canbay et al. treated four patients with recurrent granulosa cell tumors with CRS and HIPEC with cisplatin. These patients were treated with total abdominal hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy with the diagnosis of primary adult type GCT of the ovary. The median disease-free survival after primary treatment was 4.7 (range, 1–9) years. After a median follow-up of 4 (range, 1–6) years, one patient died and the other three patients were alive with no disease progression [257].

In another series of six patients with recurrent GCT, all patients achieved a complete cytoreduction (CC-0/1) and underwent HIPEC with cisplatin and doxorubicin. From 2010 to 2013, six patients underwent CRS + HIPEC. Five patients had recurrences in both the abdomen and pelvis, while one had it only in the abdomen. Chemotherapy was given to four patients who had not received it before. At their last follow-ups which were at 40, 32, 27, 24, 20, and 16 months post-surgery, all the patients were alive and disease-free [253].

In another retrospective series of seven patients, all the patients had complete cytoreduction and HIPEC with oxaliplatin and irinotecan. Two patients had recurrent disease in the pelvis alone, while the other five had disease in both the abdomen and pelvis [258]. Median followup after CRS plus HIPEC was 32 months (range, 25–56). Two patients were disease-free at the time of the last follow-up; three had developed peritoneal metastases and two other liver metastases. The authors did not recommend the use of HIPEC using oxaliplatin to treat recurrent GCT but suggested that other therapies like bevacizumab should be tried in addition to CRS [258, 259].

There is a role of CRS in patients with advanced and recurrent GCT. Recurrent disease can develop after >10 years of diagnosis of the primary tumor. The prognostic factors are not clearly defined and even patients with recurrence experience a prolonged survival. Once the disease recurs, subsequent recurrences are common. The role of HIPEC in these patients is undefined.

16.4.3.8 Malignant Ovarian Germ Cell Tumors

Malignant ovarian germ cell tumors are rare tumors that occur in adolescent and young females, are predominantly unilateral, are diagnosed at an early stage, are chemosensitive, and have a high cure rate [260]. For early-stage disease, the cure rate approaches 100% and is approximately 75% for those with advanced tumors [260]. Practically, it is most helpful to subdivide MOGCT into dysgerminoma-the most common type and the counterpart of the male seminoma-and nondysgerminomatous tumors. The most common types of non-dysgerminomatous tumors are yolk sac tumor, immature teratoma, and mixed germ cell tumors, with embryonal carcinoma, nongestational choriocarcinoma, and polyembryoma being much less common [261]. In the most recent version of the WHO classification system, MOGCT are divided into three categories: primitive germ cell tumors, biphasic or triphasic teratoma, and monodermal teratoma and somatictype tumors associated with dermoid cysts [262]. Dysgerminomas and low-grade immature teratomas have a good prognosis. Endodermal sinus tumors, choriocarcinomas, and high-grade immature teratomas are the more aggressive tumors.

16.4.3.9 Cytoreductive Surgery for Advanced Disease

The peritoneum is one of the sites of disease spread in these patients. The principle of primary cytoreductive surgery for patients with advancedstage malignant ovarian germ cell tumors has also been extrapolated from experience with epithelial ovarian cancer [260]. Most of these tumors are very chemosensitive; when the PM are extensive, CRS can be morbid. However, studies have shown a benefit of complete tumor removal in patients treated with both platinum- and nonplatinum-based regimens [263]. In a study of 76 patients, only 28% of the patients who had complete CRS recurred compared to 68% with incomplete CRS [264]. Hence, when the morbidity is acceptable, complete tumor removal should be attempted in patients with malignant germ cell tumors with PM [264].

16.4.3.10 Secondary Cytoreductive Surgery for Recurrent Disease

The treatment options for patients who have recurrent or residual disease are either second-line/ salvage chemotherapy alone or a combination of chemotherapy and secondary cytoreductive surgery [265]. These tumors have lower rates of residual disease as compared to patients with testicular tumors and are commonly treated with second-line chemotherapy [265]. The rarity of the disease with the small percentage of patients who recur makes it difficult to have sufficient numbers for comparison or to conduct a randomized trial. Munkarah et al. who treated 20 patients with various subtypes of malignant ovarian germ cell tumors concluded that though the role of secondary CRS remained undefined, it could benefit patients with immature teratomas, those who had fewer sites of disease, and those to whom a complete cytoreduction was possible [266]. Once again, the patients include not just those with PM but other sites of disease as well.

16.4.3.11 Role of HIPEC

Hayes-Jordan et al. have performed CRS and HIPEC for adolescents and young adults with PM from various primary sites [267]. In their series of 50 patients, three patients had rare ovarian tumors (one PNET, one Leydig cell tumor, one yolk sac tumor). While no definite conclusions could be drawn regarding the role of HIPEC for these patients, this study showed that HIPEC could be performed safely in this patient population. In a subsequent publication, the authors reported outcomes in 101 pediatric patients treated with CRS and HIPEC of whom eight had ovarian primary tumors and multifocal peritoneal disease. There were three yolk sac tumors (germ cell, mixed teratoma), one Sertoli-Leydig, one PNET of the ovary, one choriocarcinoma, one juvenile granulosa cell tumor, and one adenocarcinoma. Age ranged 4-18 years. Three of the eight (37%) recurred and died. For the remaining 63% of the patients, the disease-free survival ranged from 2 to 6 years. Patients treated for a third or fourth relapse did not experience a survival benefit. The pediatric patients had a better outcome as compared to the adults [268].

16.4.3.12 Other Rare Ovarian Tumors

For other tumors like Sertoli-Leydig cell tumors and uncommon epithelial tumors, only case reports exist, and it's not possible to derive conclusions regarding the benefit of HIPEC in these [268]. Cytoreductive surgery is used for treating patients with advanced disease as in patients with epithelial tumors.

16.4.3.13 Summary

- Mucinous ovarian tumors with PM behave like pseudomyxoma peritonei arising from mucinous appendiceal tumors and should be treated with CRS and HIPEC.
- An appendix primary tumor should always be ruled out in these patients.
- For recurrent granulosa cell tumors, CRS should be offered when complete cytoreduction is possible; the role of HIPEC is undefined for these tumors.
- Late recurrences are common in patients with GCT, but treatment of recurrence results in a prolonged survival. The prognostic factors for these tumors are not known.
- Similarly, for malignant germ cell tumors with PM, there is a benefit of CRS, and it should be offered, whereas the role of HIPEC is uncertain.
- In all these patients, CRS should be done only for those patients where a complete cytore-duction is possible.

16.4.4 Mucinous Carcinoma of the Urachus

Most cases of pseudomyxoma peritonei arise from mucinous appendiceal tumors [269]. Mucinous tumors are known to arise in the urachus and give rise to pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) [270]. The urachus is an embryonic remnant resulting from involution of the allantoic duct and the ventral cloaca, which connects the bladder dome to the umbilicus and is found in one-third of adults [271]. Urachal carcinoma is rare, accounting for less than 1% of all bladder cancers [272]. The urachus is lined by transitional epithelium that undergoes glandular metaplasia to give rise to mucinous tumors [273]. The tumor presents as a cystic mass in the lower midline and may communicate with the bladder if the urachus is patent producing mucosuria (passage of mucin in the urine) which is rare but points to the diagnosis. The urachal tumor ruptures into the peritoneal cavity producing PMP.

Sometimes when the pressure inside the tumor rises, cells are shed into the peritoneal cavity producing PMP even though the primary tumor is intact. Stenhouse et al. reported a case of PMP arising from a urachal cystadenoma, which can be explained by this phenomenon [274].

The spectrum of mucinous tumors that is seen in the appendix is also seen in urachal tumors though most of the tumors tend to be of a high grade [275–277]. In some patients, the epithelial cells are described as bland, well-differentiated, and noninvasive and thought to be of borderline malignancy, whereas other may show signet ring cells. Sugarbaker et al. proposed the term "mucinous urachal neoplasms" to be used for the range of mucinous urachal tumors [273].

16.4.4.1 Treatment of Mucinous Urachal Tumors

Localized Tumors

The handling of the urachal tumor is important, and in case of an intact tumor, excision with wide margins without causing rupture should be performed. A partial cystectomy is sufficient in most cases. Performing a radical cystectomy does not increase the cure rate [277]. Moreover, most of these tumors do not infiltrate into the wall of the bladder [273].

Amin et al. studied the clinicopathological features of 55 patients with glandular tumors of the urachus and divided them into two broad categories—mucinous cystic neoplasms and invasive non-cystic adenocarcinomas [278]. The mucinous cystic neoplasms were predominantly unilocular, filled with mucin, and had mucin extravasation into the cyst walls, often with calcification or rarely ossification. The cyst lining ranged from flat to cuboidal to typical mucinous columnar to pseudostratified to papillary; scattered areas had goblet cell differentiation. Of the 31 patients with mucinous cystic tumors, the pathological spectrum ranged from benign to malignant including mucinous cystadenomas (n = 4), mucinous cystic tumors of low malignant potential (n = 22), including two cases with intraepithelial carcinoma), and mucinous cystadenocarcinomas with microscopic (n = 4) or frank invasion (n = 1). Follow-up information was available for 13 patients with mucinous cystic tumors (mean, 41 months); no local recurrence or distant metastasis was observed [278].

PMP Arising from Mucinous Urachal Tumors

The standard approach should be to treat PMP from urachal tumors with CRS and HIPEC like PMP arising from mucinous epithelial tumors as recommended by Honore et al. though the prognosis of these tumors may be worse [279]. Of the three patients in their series, two were alive and disease-free at 20 and 37 months. The third patient developed early peritoneal recurrence and liver metastasis, demonstrating unusual tumor aggressiveness, and died after 14 months. The median PCI was 11 in these three patients [279].

The largest series reported so far comprised of nine patients treated with CRS and HIPEC with cisplatin and mitomycin C. The diagnostic criteria included:

- A MRI or CT scan showing a tumor in the lower abdomen in the midline in the region of the urachus or the presence of mucin in urine
- Tumor connected to both the posterior surface of the umbilicus and the bladder during surgery
- A pathology in the urachus without any other site of origin found on pathological examination

Six patients had low-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei, and three had high-grade mucinous carcinoma peritonei according to the WHO classification. Four patients had signet ring cells. All tumor specimens of nine patients were diffusive positive for CK-20, CDX-2, MUC-2, and MUC-5 AC and were variant positive for CK-7. The median PCI was 10 (mean, 13.5; range, 2–33). A complete CRS was obtained in all the patients. One patient developed recurrence, while eight others were disease-free at a median follow-up of 27.5 months [280]. There are numerous case reports on PMP arising from mucinous tumors of the urachus (Table 16.9). The disease-free survival in all these reports ranges from 6 to 108 months.

16.4.4.2 Summary

- PMP arising from urachal mucinous tumors has the same spectrum as that of PMP of appendiceal origin and should be treated on the same lines with CRS and HIPEC.
- The prognostic factors are not defined, and some authors have suggested the possibility of a more aggressive tumor biology.
- Most cases do not require bladder resection.

16.4.5 Endometrial Carcinoma

Endometrial carcinoma is a common gynecological malignancy that is generally diagnosed in the early stages. Patients with advanced-stage endometrial cancer represent only 10-15% of all newly diagnosed cases but account for over half of all uterine cancer-related deaths [293, 294]. The 5-year survival rate for regional disease (FIGO stage III) is 57% and 5–20% for stage IV disease [295–297]. Cytoreductive surgery has a role to play in patients of endometrial cancer with PM. Approximately 11% of endometrial cancer patients develop a recurrence [298]. Though most of the recurrences are central pelvic recurrence managed with pelvic exenteration, patients with PM have been treated with CRS with or without HIPEC.

16.4.5.1 Endometrial Cancer with Peritoneal Metastases

The most common histology of endometrial cancer is endometrioid adenocarcinoma that presents with localized disease in majority of the cases. Papillary serous carcinomas comprise 1–10% of the endometrial tumors and are also called uterine serous carcinomas (USC) [299–301].

		0					
Ref no. year	No. of patients	Pathology	CRS	Cystectomy	HIPEC	Survival (months)	Current status
[270] 1971	1	MAC	Debulking	I	1	28	DOD
[281] 1997	1	Adenoma	I	I	I	1	
[276] 1997	1	Signet ring cell adenocarcinoma	Extensive	Yes	Mitomycin C	31	DOD
[275] 2000	1	Low grade mucinous tumor	Extensive	No	Mitomycin C	108	NED
[282] 2003	1	MAC	Oophorectomy	I	1	1	NED
[274] 2003	1	Low grade mucinous tumor	1	1	I	1	1
[274] 2004	1	MAC	Minimal	I	1	1	1
[283] 2006	1	Mucinous tumor of low malignant potential	Extensive	Partial	5-Fluorouracil	84	NED
[284] 2006	2	MAC	Limited	No	No	12	NED
		MAC	Extensive	No	Mitomycin C & doxorubicin	18	NED
[273] 2007	2	MAC	Extensive	No	EPIC	132	DOD
		MAC	Extensive	No	Mitomycin C	20	NED
[285] 2008	1	MAC	Limited	Partial		6	NED
[286] 2009	1	MAC	Extensive	I	1	1	I
[287] 2010	1	MAC	Extensive	Partial		18	DOD
[288] 2011	1	Mucinous tumor of low malignant potential	Extensive	1	1	54	NED
[289] 2012	1	MAC	Limited	1	1	36	DOD
[290] 2012	1	MAC	Extensive	Partial	Oxaliplatin	24	NED
[291] 2014	1	Low grade mucinous tumor	Extensive	I	1	I	1
[292] 2017	1	MAC	I	I	I	I	LWD
MAC mucinous ad	lenocarcinoma, DOL) died of disease, NED no evide	ence of disease, LWD li	iving with disease			

 Table 16.9
 Case reports of PMP arising from mucinous tumors of the urachus and treatment outcomes

400

Endometrioid tumors do not produce lymph node metastases until myometrial invasion has occurred. Peritoneal spread occurs late in the course of disease and is relatively uncommon. In contrast, serous tumors have an intrinsic ability to spread through lymphatic/vascular (LV) channels without invading the myometrium. This is certainly one mechanism of spread to account for the more aggressive clinical course of serous tumors, and it has been shown that LV invasion is associated with a poor prognosis except in stage I patients [302]. In addition, to LV invasion, transtubal spread of tumor cells has been demonstrated to occur and could explain the occurrence of PM in the absence of LV or myometrial invasion [302, 303].

Most reports of cytoreductive surgery have pooled patients with endometrioid adenocarcinomas and USCs.

16.4.5.2 Advanced Endometrial Cancer

Initially, endometrial cancer was treated with radiotherapy and surgery was used as an adjunct to radiotherapy. Early studies investigating the role of radiotherapy showed that patients who underwent surgery in addition to radiotherapy and had residual disease <2 cm experienced a benefit in survival [304–306]. Several retrospective studies have demonstrated a benefit of CRS in advanced and recurrent endometrial cancer of various histological subtypes [307].

Barlin et al. performed a meta-analysis that included 14 retrospective cohorts with advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer (672 patients) [307]. The percentage of patients with stage IV disease and USCs was small. Cohort median overall survival time was positively associated with increasing proportion of patients undergoing complete surgical cytoreduction (each 10% increase improving survival by 9.3 months; p = 0.04) and receiving postoperative radiation therapy (each 10% increase improving survival by 11.0 months; p = 0.004), while an increasing proportion of patients receiving chemotherapy was negatively associated with survival (each 10% increase decreasing survival by 10.4 months; p = 0.007).

Optimal cytoreduction was defined as follows: $\leq 2 \text{ cm}$ in three studies (140 patients or 20.8%), $\leq 1 \text{ cm}$ in seven studies (375 patients or 55.8%), and no gross evidence of disease in four studies (157 patients or 23.3%). Fifty-two to seventy-five percent of the patients had an optimal cytoreduction, and 18–75% of the patients had a complete cytoreduction [307].

The conclusions drawn from this study were that:

- Complete cytoreduction leads to a statistically significant improvement in median OS, such that each 10% increase in cytoreduction to no gross evidence of disease was associated with a 9.3-month increase in survival.
- Surgical resection of all visible disease should be the goal for patients with advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer undergoing operative intervention.
- Further studies were need for defining the selection criteria for such procedures [307].

Abu-Zaid reported outcomes in two patients with advanced endometrial cancer and four with recurrent disease treated with CRS and HIPEC. Three patients had endometrioid adenocarcinomas, one USC, one clear cell carcinoma, and one mesonephric carcinoma. The median PCI was 19. Complete cytoreduction (CC-0) was achieved in five patients and CC-2 in one patient. HIPEC was performed with cisplatin (50 mg/m²) and doxorubicin (15 mg/ m²) and allowed to circulate in abdominopelvic cavity for 90 min at 41.0–42.2 °C.

Two patients developed grade IV complications and no intraoperative mortality occurred. Postoperatively, all patients received chemotherapy (carboplatin and paclitaxel). Two patients died of progressive disease, whereas four others were alive and disease-free without evidence of recurrence of follow-ups at 35, 34, 19, and 7 months [308]. Most other series have reported outcomes in patients with recurrent disease and are described below.

16.4.5.3 Recurrent Endometrial Cancer

Approximately 50% of the patients with recurrent endometrial cancer have local recurrence, while in others the recurrent disease is distant or multifocal [309–312]. Patients with recurrent disease have been treated with intravenous chemotherapy, hormonal therapy, radiotherapy, and surgery.

Although combination of paclitaxel and carboplatin produces good response rates, the benefits are short lived in most cases with a median progression-free survival of 7 months and overall survival of 14 months reported in one series. Response rates to hormonal therapy are between 21 and 31%, 26% with low-dose medroxyprogesterone acetate (39), 26% with megestrol acetate (40), and 31% with arzoxifene (41) [313–318]. For the pelvic recurrences, pelvic exenteration has been performed with a survival benefit in selected patients. Several investigators used cytoreductive surgery to treat patients with PM reported a survival benefit (Table 16.10). Some reports include a heterogeneous group comprising of patients with local pelvic recurrence and nodal recurrence as well which makes it difficult to draw conclusions for outcomes in patients with peritoneal disease alone.

Scarabelli et al. reported outcomes in 20 women at their first large pelvic or abdominal

recurrence from endometrial carcinoma treated with maximal cytoreductive surgery [319].

Complete macroscopic resection of tumor was feasible in 13 women (65%), and these women experienced a significant benefit in both DFS (median, DFS -9.1 months) and OS (median, OS-11.8 months) compared to women with residual disease. In patients with a complete cytoreduction, not only was survival significantly improved, but 84.6% of the patients did not develop local recurrence [319].

Campagnutta et al. reported outcomes in 75 patients who underwent a secondary surgery for recurrent endometrial cancer [320]. This series included patients undergoing pelvic exenterations for isolated pelvic recurrences. They were able to optimally (residual disease <1 cm) cytoreduce 75% of patients and demonstrated that patients who underwent an optimal cytoreduction had a significantly improved survival compared to those with residual disease (36% vs 0%, 5-year survival). In addition, the use of chemotherapy after secondary surgery and central or pelvic recurrence was also associated with improved survival [320].

Awtrey et al. treated 27 patients with recurrence at various sites including those with PM [321]. Patients who underwent exenterative procedures were excluded from the analysis. Fifteen patients (56%) had disease limited to the retro-

Ref no./year	No. of patients	Disease sites	Optimal CRS (% of patients)	HIPEC	Survival
[319] 1998	20	РМ	Not defined (65%)	_	Median DFS—9.1 m; median OS 11.8 m for optimal CRS
[320] 2004	75	PM + others	<1 cm (75%)	_	5 year OS—36% for optimal CRS vs 0% for residual disease > 1 cm
[321] 2006	27	PM (44%)	<2 cm (67%)	-	Median DFS 14 m; median OS 35 m (43 m for residual disease <2 cm
[322] 2007	5	PM	CC-0 (80%)	+	-
[323] 2010	5	PM	CC-0/1 (100%)	+	_
[324] 2014	13	PM	CC-0/1 (61%)	+	-
[325] 2015	8	PM	-	+	-

Table 16.10 Outcomes of CRS with or without HIPEC for recurrent endometrial cancer

peritoneum, ten patients (37%) had intraperitoneal disease, and two patients (7%) had both intra- and retroperitoneal disease. Cytoreduction to ≤ 2 cm of residual disease was achieved in 18 patients (67%), while nine patients (33%) had residual disease >2 cm. The median progressionfree survival was 14 months (95% CI, 6-23), and the median disease-specific survival was 35 months (95% CI, 24-not reached). Patients with residual disease ≤ 2 cm had a median disease-specific survival of 43 months (95% CI, 35-not reached) compared with 10 months (95% CI, 7–29) for those with N2 cm residual (p = 0.01). The only prognostic factor was the size of the residual disease. The author was not certain if a biologically less aggressive disease process made a complete cytoreduction possible in certain patients leading to an improvement in the survival. Though they did not find a negative impact of either the grade or histological subtype on the probability of obtaining a complete cytoreduction, this could not be determined conclusively due the small number of patients in the study [321].

Helm et al. treated five patients with CRS and HIPEC for PM from USC (n = 1), endometrioid adenocarcinoma (n = 3), and endometrioid adenocarcinoma with clear cell features (n = 1) [322]. The mean interval between the first treatment and CRS and HIPEC was 47 (29-66) months. Four patients had a CC-0 resection and one patient had a CC-2 resection. Two patients were alive and disease-free at 28 and 32 months, and two were alive with disease at 12 and 36 months. There was one death unrelated to the disease. The patients who were alive with disease had a good performance status. The authors concluded that this therapy was well tolerated, could lead to prolonged survival in some patients, and needed further prospective evaluation in a phase II trial. The patients who had residual disease after CRS had a significantly shorter DFS, and the goal of surgery should be to obtain a complete CRS [322].

Bakrin et al. reported outcomes in five patients with recurrent endometrial carcinoma confined to the peritoneal cavity treated with CRS and HIPEC [323]. Four patients had endometrioid adenocarcinomas, while one had endometrioid adenocarcinoma with a pseudosarcomatoid component. The mean interval from the first surgery was 47.5 months (10–120 months); HIPEC was performed by the closed method using cisplatin 1 mg/kg and mitomycin C 0.7 mg/kg at an inflow temperature of 46–48 °C. Two patients died of progressive disease in the first year following surgery, while the remaining three were alive and disease-free at 7, 23, and 39 months from surgery with a good performance status. The authors concluded that patient selection was important for obtaining good results and only when a complete cytoreduction is possible should surgery be undertaken [323].

Deloitte et al. reported outcomes in 13 patients with primary (n = 2) and recurrent (n = 11) endometrial cancer with PM treated with CRS and HIPEC. Two patients had USC and 11 had endometrioid adenocarcinoma [324]. The average duration of tumor progression between the end of initial treatment and the HIPEC procedure was 18.5 months (range, 0–53). The median exposure to chemotherapy was of one line (mean, 1.23; range values, 0–3).

The median PCI at laparotomy was 12 (mean, 11.46; extreme values, 3-24). The CC-S after surgery was 0 for eight patients, 1 for three patients, and 2 in the last two cases. Two patients had persistent disease at the end of the procedure. The median overall survival is 19.4 months, and the median disease-free survival is 11.4 months (range values, 1.5-124.83). No complication of grade III or IV severity or perioperative deaths was recorded. The preoperative PCI was a major prognostic factor. If the PCI was greater than ten, patients all died within 48 months following the HIPEC procedure. In contrast, for patients whose PCI was less than ten, the median survival was not reached, and, for one of them, survival exceeded 120 months. The authors concluded the following:

- Complete cytoreduction was essential to obtain a survival benefit.
- Patients with PCI < 10 experienced a prolonged survival.

 Given the prolonged survival experienced by selected patients undergoing HIPEC, its role needed further evaluation in a randomized trial [324].

In a single-institution study of eight patients with USC treated with CRS and HIPEC, there were two early deaths due to disease progression. Two patients were alive with disease at 19 and 26 months, while four were alive and diseasefree at 9, 14, 26, and 33 months. Various studies have identified the tumor histology, extent of disease, and completeness of cytoreduction as factors affecting survival. Since the survival with aggressive surgery was longer in the observational studies, a more aggressive approach can be justified in these patients provided complete tumor removal is possible [325].

There are two other reports of one case each treated with CRS and HIPEC [279, 326].

16.4.5.4 Summary

- Endometrial cancer with peritoneal metastases can be treated effectively with CRS with a survival benefit.
- The role of HIPEC is undefined.
- Completeness of cytoreduction is the only known prognostic factor.
- Further prospective evaluation is needed to better define the selection criteria, the prognostic factors, and the role of HIPEC.
- In the setting of recurrent disease presenting with PM, cytoreductive surgery has a role with few patients experiencing long-term survival.
- Completeness of cytoreduction (CC-0/1) and a PCI < 10 lead to a better survival.
- HIPEC may have a role to play but needs further evaluation.
- The prognostic impact of histology in outcomes of these patients is undetermined.
- Clinical trials though difficult to conduct may be helpful in filling the gaps in the existing knowledge.

16.4.6 Hepatic Cancer

Hepatic cancer included hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and its variants like fibrolamellar HCC

and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. There is no evidence regarding the incidence and treatment of these patients except few cases reported as part of larger series treated with CRS and HIPEC in which the outcomes of these patients were not described separately [325, 327, 328].

In the pooled data published by the PSOGI and BIG-RENAPE network, 23 patients had hepatic cancers, of which a survival analysis was performed in 19 (2.6% of the 761 patients in the study). These patients seemed to have a better survival (hazard ratio, 0.77 (95% CI, 0.29–2.03)) as compared to other histologies though the results were not elaborated in the publication [6].

Fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma is a rare malignancy, with an estimated age-adjusted incidence of 0.02 per 100,000 in the USA and constitutes 1% of all the hepatocellular carcinomas. Despite its rarity, it is the more common liver cancer in adolescents and young adults and occurs in the absence of hepatitis or cirrhosis [329, 330]. Fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma was first described by Edmondson in 1956. Fibrolamellar carcinoma is distinct from HCC in both its clinical and pathologic manifestations, often affecting younger patients and having a higher incidence in women [331, 332]. In general fibrolamellar HCC has a better prognosis as compared to HCC and has generated interest in managing this tumor more aggressively [329, 332, 333].

Using the SEER data, Mayo et al. examined differences in clinicopathologic and surgical factors associated with long-term survival in 7225 patients with fibrolamellar HCC or HCC undergoing surgical resection from 1986 to 1988 [334].

The overall median survival of patients with surgically managed fibrolamellar HCC was 75.0 months (95% CI, 52.3–97.7 months), which was longer than the median survival of 43.0 months (95% CI, 40.6–45.4 months) for patients with HCC (p = 0.001). Among individuals managed with a liver-directed procedure, fibrolamellar HCC and HCC patients had 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates of 91.0%, 65.7%, and 54.1% vs 77.1%, 53.6%, and 41.7%, respectively (all p < 0.001) [334].

Unlike conventional HCC, in fibrolamellar HCC, the incidence of regional lymph node involvement was 40% which was double the incidence in patients with conventional HCC [334].

Although long-term outcomes after surgical management were better than those after conventional HCC, 5-year survival of patients with fibrolamellar HCC was only 54%. Given this background, Elias et al. treated two patients of fibrolamellar HCC with peritoneal metastases with CRS and HIPEC. In their experience, all the patients developed peritoneal recurrence with distant metastases within 2 years, and the median disease-free survival was only 13 months. The authors did not recommend CRS and HIPEC for PM arising from fibrolamellar HCC [325].

16.4.7 Small Bowel Adenocarcinoma

Small bowel tumors constitute 1-3% of all the gastrointestinal malignancies [335, 336]. Of the various tumors arising from the small bowel, adenocarcinomas are the commonest and constitute 30–45% of all the tumors [337, 338]. Small bowel adenocarcinoma (SBA) is known to have a poor prognosis with a median overall survival ranging from 12 to 20 months [339, 340].

SBA do not become symptomatic early and have vague symptoms, which makes an early diagnosis difficult. The index of suspicion for these tumors is usually low, and endoscopic non-accessibility in most cases and inability of imaging to pick up early lesions lead to diagnosis in an advanced stage [341, 342]. Consequently, by the time a diagnosis is made, the tumor has already spread to the regional nodes or to the peritoneal cavity [343]. The 5-year survival rates range from 10 to 26% [343]. PM is the most common site of metastases in patients with SBA, being present in 25–50% of the patients with metastatic disease. Patients are treated with chemotherapy alone or a combination of chemotherapy and surgery [343, 344].

16.4.7.1 Treatment of PM Arising from Small Bowel Adenocarcinoma

Systemic Chemotherapy

Conventionally, systemic chemotherapy has been used to treat PM arising from SBA like

other metastatic disease sites. Since SBA share genotypic and phenotypic features with colorectal cancer, chemotherapy regimens used for the treatment of colorectal cancer have been used to treat patients with SBA [345, 346]. The evidence comes from retrospective studies and phase II trials [347–355]. There are no phase III trials, however, showing the benefit of one regimen over the other. Rovers et al. performed a review of 15 published studies that reported outcomes of first-line systemic therapy for SBA with metastatic disease [356]. The overall response rates in these studies ranged from 6 to 50%, the disease controlled rates from 50 to 90%, the median progressionfree survival was 3-11 months, and the median OS was 8-20 months. The combination of oxaliplatin and 5-fluorouracil had better outcomes as compared to other regimens.

Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC

Sugarbaker first used cytoreductive surgery and EPIC to treat PM arising from SBA [343]. The rationale, selection criteria, methodology, and prognostic factors used to treat patients with PM from other primary sites like colorectal and appendiceal cancers were applied to these patients as well. Six patients with tumors arising from the ileum and jejunum, two of the intestinal type, and four of the mucinous type underwent cytoreductive surgery and EPIC with mitomycin C and 5-fluorouracil. Two patients required additional procedures to obtain complete tumor removal. The median survival was 12 months with one patients surviving for 4.5 years [343]. The outcomes of CRS and HIPEC in patients with SBA are described in Table 16.11.

Jacks et al. reported a median survival of 45 months in six patients with PM from SBA treated with CRS and HIPEC. All patients received chemotherapy before or after HIPEC. One patient underwent a second CRS and HIPEC for recurrence after the first procedure [344].

Chua et al. reported a median OS of 25 months and median DFS of 12 months in seven patients of PM from SBA treated with CRS and HIPEC. The 1-, 2-, and 3-year survival rates were 57%, 38%, and 20%, respectively. Patients with poorly differentiated and signet ring cell tumors, tumor histology of poorly differentiated adenocarcinoma with

Ref no. vear	z	Primary site	Median PCI	CC-0/1	IPC	HIPEC drugs	Grade 3/4 morbidity	Median DFS (months)	Median OS (months)
[343] 2002	9	Jejunum (50%) Ileum (50%)			HIPEC EPIC	Mitomycin C 5-FU			12
[344] 2005	9								45
[357] 2009	7		12 (6–22)	100%	HIPEC ± EPIC	Mitomycin C 5-FU	29%	12	25
[358] 2010	31		11	100%	HIPEC EPIC	Oxaliplatin/ Mitomycin C Mitomycin C/5-FU	35%		47
[359] 2013	17	Duodenum (6%) Jejunum (53%) Ileum (41%)		82%	HIPEC	Mitomycin C	12%		18
[360] 2015	16	Duodenum 3% Jejunum 58% Ileum 39%		94%	HIPEC	Mitomycin C	25%	10	31
[361] 2015	31	Duodenum 3% Jejunum 58% Ileum 59%	11 (1–39)	68%	HIPEC	Mitomycin C and Cisplatin	26%		36
[325] 2015	4		I	I	HIPEC		I	I	I

 Table 16.11
 Outcomes of CRS and HIPEC in patients with PM from SBA

signet ring, lymphovascular invasion, and perineural invasion had an inferior outcome [357].

In a pooled analysis of patients with PM arising from four primary sites treated at 23 French centers from 1989 to 2007, outcomes of 440 patients who had complete cytoreductive surgery were reported by Elias et al. in 2010. Of these 31 patients had PM secondary to SBA. The median PCI was 11. Twenty-one patients underwent HIPEC and 10 EPIC. The mortality in these 31 patients was 2.9% and major morbidity 32%. The 5-year OS for all the 440 patients was 33% and the DFS was 18%. The origin of the PM was of borderline significance (p = 0.06), with a 15% increase in the risk of death for patients with rectal cancer, a decreasing risk of death of 44.5% for appendix cancer, and 32.5% for small bowel tumors, compared with colon cancer taken as the reference [358]. The PCI was the most significant prognostic factor; a single-point increase on this index increased the risk of death by 4.9%. The two others were the presence of positive lymph nodes (p = 0.001) and adjuvant systemic chemotherapy (p = 0.002). The presence of liver metastases, whether resected at the same time as the combined treatment, did not impact negatively (p = 0.19) on survival.

There was no significant difference between the survival for different primary sites [359]. Sun et al. performed 20 procedures in 17 patients with a morbidity of 47% [359]. Thirteen of 17 received chemotherapy before their HIPEC (76%); five patients received chemotherapy after HIPEC (29%). A complete cytoreduction was obtained only in 14 patients (70%). The median OS was 37 months after diagnosis and 18.4 months after HIPEC. The 1-, 2-, 3-, and 5-year overall survival was 94.1%, 75.3%, 48.3%, and 6.9%, respectively. Eight patients (47%) experienced postoperative complications, in which two patients had major postoperative complications (12%) [359].

Sixteen patients with PM from SBA underwent CRS and HIPEC at four tertiary referral centers in the Netherlands. A complete macroscopic resection was achieved in 93.8%. Serious adverse events requiring re-intervention occurred in 25%, and no in-hospital mortality was observed. Recurrent disease was observed in 50% of patients and median survival after CRS and HIPEC was 31 months. Patients who did not undergo CRS and HIPEC had a median survival of 2.3–7.1 months. The median survival was not reached in patients who did not receive chemotherapy and hence the benefit of chemotherapy could not be determined. Of the 15 patients who had a complete cytoreduction, ten survived for more than a year and eight of these developed recurrence which was intraperitoneal in seven patients [360].

The median OS in 25 patients of PM from SBA treated at a Japanese center was 36 months (range, 6–95 months), and the median survival after diagnosis was 50 months (range, 18–101 months). Multivariate analysis revealed that peritoneal cancer index <15 (p = 0.009) and HIPEC (p < 0.001) were independent predictors of better survival [361].

In four patients treated by Cardi et al., mean survival was 31.2 months, with two patients alive disease-free at 43 and 22 months and two alive with disease at 33 (pulmonary metastases) and at 27 (abdominal recurrence) months.

All the studies show better results when compared to conventional treatments [325]. CRS and HIPEC has been used a palliative treatment to relieve bowel obstruction and control ascites.

The median OS of 31–36 months in these studies similar to that obtained in the patients with CRC PM with limited peritoneal disease [56]. Rovers et al. pointed out that there is a lack of awareness about the treatment of PM from SBA with CRS and HIPEC stating the example of the Netherlands where 16 patients underwent CRS and HIPEC of the 167 diagnosed with synchronous PM during the same time frame. Sixty percent of these patients had limited peritoneal disease. The incidence of metachronous PM was not reported which would further increase the actual number of patients with PM [362].

The available data points toward a probability of improved survival with CRS and HIPEC in patients with PM from SBA. The studies are retrospective, with a small number of patients treated over prolonged periods. The selection criteria for surgery (limited vs extensive PM), the nature of surgery (complete vs incomplete), the type of intraperitoneal chemotherapy used (HIPEC vs EPIC), and the drug regimens used were variable. The use of systemic chemotherapy before or after the procedure was not uniform. This makes it difficult to draw conclusions. However, the prognostic impact of a complete cytoreduction has been shown in most of these studies, with no long-term survivors among patients who had CC-2/3 resections. Though few patients experienced long-term survival, most of them developed recurrent disease and 5-year survivors have not been reported.

16.4.7.2 Summary

- CRS and HIPEC may be used to treat these patients though further prospective evaluation is needed.
- Only patients in whom a CC-0/1 resection can be attained should be subjected to such procedures.
- Other prognostic factors need to be defined.
- Multi-institutional studies and registries may be useful given the rarity of the disease.
- The added benefit of newer systemic therapies that include targeted therapies needs to be considered and evaluated.

16.4.8 Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumor

Gastrointestinal stromal tumor is the most common sarcoma arising from the gastrointestinal tract [363]. A complete surgical resection can cure patients who have localized disease and adjuvant imatinib has led to an additional survival benefit [364, 365]. However, relapses do occur, and these are most common in patients with large tumors (>5 cm in size), those with a faster growth rate (as measured by mitotic counts), and in primary anatomic location outside the stomach, despite optimal frontline therapy [366].

In the metastatic setting, once again the use of imatinib and other tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) has tripled the median OS which was 18 months in the pre-imatinib (TKI) era. Some of the patients have stable disease for prolonged periods, while others eventually develop disease progression and die. However, the vast majority of patients eventually progresses and dies of their disease [367, 368].

There are two situations in metastatic disease. Treatment with TKIs is the cornerstone of therapy. The role of surgery needs to be evaluated in:

- Patients who are responsive to TKIs and will continue to receive it post-surgery
- Patients who have become unresponsive to TKIs

Metastasectomy has been performed for both liver metastases and PM with an acceptable morbidity [369–371]. In patients who developed metastases after a prolonged disease-free interval, the survival was prolonged with the combination of surgery and TKIs. A trial would be ideal to evaluate the role of surgery in such situations since TKIs has to be used even after surgery, but in the past, such a trial could not be conducted due to difficulties in recruiting patients. Randomizing patients to a surgical versus nonsurgical intervention is not acceptable to many surgeons and physicians.

In patients who had progressive disease on TKIs, the outcomes of surgery were poor with no benefit in survival.

Bauer et al. performed a retrospective analysis of 329 patients who underwent surgical resection of metastatic disease. Forty-six percent had PM and 18% had both liver metastases and PM [369]. All the patients received imatinib starting within 3 months of surgery till disease progression. Median OS was 8.7 years for patients who had complete tumor removal or microscopic residual disease (R0/R1) compared to 5.3 years in patients with gross residual disease (R2) (p = 0.0001). Median OS from time of metastasectomy was 3.8 years for patients in remission versus 1.5 years (p = 0.2) in patients progressing at the time of surgery. When patients with progressing disease (focal or general progression) at time of surgery were excluded, the median OS was not reached in the R0/R1 group and 5.1 years in the R2 arm (p = 0.0001).

The median OS was not reached in patients who had only liver metastases, 7 years in those with PM and 3.7 years in those with both liver metastases and PM (p = 0.003, log-rank test). Notably, in patients who were operated in remission and in whom complete macroscopic resection was achieved, the median OS was not reached in the liver metastases group, 8.7 years in patients with PM but also 8.1 years in patients who had both liver and peritoneal disease (p = 0.018). The authors stated that there was a bias in selecting patients since patients selected for surgery are more likely to have fewer comorbidities, a lower tumor load, a better response to imatinib therapy, and have also been treated at high-volume centers which may have given them access to more salvage therapies through clinical trials. And hence, these outcomes may represent a selection of patients with a good prognosis who would have lived longer anyway. They recommended a matched-pair analysis given the difficulties in performing a randomized trial.

Bryan et al. evaluated the role of CRS and HIPEC in 16 patients with PM from GIST treated at their institution. Of a total of 18 procedures performed in these patients, nine were performed in the pre-TKI era and the remaining, thereafter. Hence, six of these patients never received targeted therapy, and the median OS in these patients was 1.04 years compared to 7.89 years in patients who received targeted therapy. Within patients with an R0/1 resection, those who never received TKI at any point before or after CRS/ HIPEC had a median survival of 1.09 years versus median survival was not reached in those who received TKI (p = 0.28).

Median survival in patients who progressed on TKI preoperatively was 1.35 years post-CRS/ HIPEC as compared with a median survival that was not reached in those without progression on TKIs (p = 0.007).

Based on these results, the authors recommend CRS alone without HIPEC in patients with PM from GISTs who on preoperative imaging have disease responsive or stable on TKIs. They do not recommend HIPEC based on previous reports that did not show a benefit in patients with sarcomas. The extent of the cytoreduction according to them should be based on morbidity and quality of life criteria and not necessarily by achieving negative microscopic margins, as long as macroscopic margins are obtained, while TKIs are continued indefinitely after CRS.

Contrary to these reports, Cardi et al. found a benefit of CRS and HIPEC in patients with GIST resistant to TKIs. In three patients with small bowel imatinib-resistant GIST treated with CRS and HIPEC, two patients were alive disease-free at 34 and 108 months; one patient died of disease at 38 months [325]. Other series comprising of patients with PM from various primary sites have 2–6 patients with GIST treated with CRS and HIPEC, but no definite conclusions can be drawn from these [327, 372].

In the PSOGI-BIG-RENAPE collaborative series, 47 patients (6.4%) had GISTs. These patients had a significantly inferior survival compared to patients with rare ovarian cancers and neuroendocrine PM [6].

16.4.8.1 Summary

- Based on the above evidence, CRS may be offered to patients with PM from GIST. A case-matched study would help to further define the role of CRS in addition to TKIs alone.
- The important prognostic factors are response to TKIs and complete tumor removal.
- The role of HIPEC is undefined and many do not recommend its use.
- For patients in whom removal of all macroscopic disease is not possible and in those who have progressed on TKIs, the role of CRS needs further evaluation.

16.4.9 Adrenocortical Carcinoma with PM

PM in adrenocortical carcinoma (ACC) is unusual and has been reported in 4–15% of the patients [373, 374]. Some studies have reported an incidence of local recurrence and PM as high as 50% [375]. Improper surgical technique has been recognized as one of the reasons for an increased incidence of peritoneal spread especially in patients who undergo laparoscopic resection of these tumors. Laparoscopic resection is recommended for benign tumors less than 6 cm in size [376]. The reported incidence of locoregional failure including PM is as high as 67% with laparoscopic adrenalectomy for ACC.

The reported rates of PM after open and laparoscopic surgery range from 16 to 27% and 21 to 67%, respectively. When comparing open and laparoscopic resections performed by the same surgeons, the incidence of PM after laparoscopic resection was higher [377-379]. Amini et al. reported recurrence in two-thirds of the patients undergoing curative resection for ACC. This was local only in 36.3%, distant only in 45.1%, and combined locoregional and distant in 18.6%. Increasing T-stage was associated with locoregional recurrence (p = 0.02) [376]. In a study of 126 patients, the median and 5-year overall survival for patients undergoing R0 resection were 96.3 months and 64.8% as compared to 25.1 months and 33.8% for patients having an R1 resection (p < 0.001). The authors concluded that proper surgical techniques should be used to achieve negative margins, which is a determinant of long-term survival [380].

Currently, no strategies exist for prevention of recurrence and PM during or following surgical resection of ACC, and proper surgical exposure and technique to ensure adequate margins and avoid intraoperative tumor spillage are the only methods that can be employed by surgeons.

There is not much data regarding the management of patients with PM arising from ACC. A clinical trial evaluating the role of HIPEC after complete cytoreduction in these patients is currently on going in the USA and is expected to complete accrual in 2018 (Clinical Trials.gov Identifier: NCT01833832). HIPEC is performed with cisplatin, and the primary endpoint is disease-free survival, with secondary endpoints including the morbidity and quality of life following surgery.

There are reports on five patients treated with CRS and HIPEC for PM arising from ACC. Honore et al. reported a median disease-free survival of 12 months at a median follow-up of 40 months in four patients with PM from ACC. Three patients had localized disease, three had metachronous PM, and the median PCI was 11.

Sugarbaker reported one single case of ACC with peritoneal and pleural metastases following resection of the primary tumor infiltrating the liver that was treated with extensive CRS and HIPEC with melphalan. Within a year, the patient developed a second primary tumor and had resection of the tumor with a second look for PM and prophylactic HIPEC with melphalan again. Sugarbaker pointed out that effective strategies need to be developed for prevention of PM during surgical resection of ACC [381].

16.4.10 Peritoneal Metastases from Breast Cancer

The common sites of metastatic spread from breast cancer are the bone, liver, lungs, and brain with the peritoneum being relatively uncommon [382].

In a study including 3096 patients who underwent surgery for invasive breast cancer and had at least a 4-year follow-up, 289 (9.335) had or developed distant metastases.

Distant metastases were seen in 9.3% (289/3096); in 19.7% the metastases were synchronous, whereas in the remaining 80.3% metastases were metachronous after 83 months of median follow-up. PM had a prevalence of 0.7% (22/3096) and developed later than all other secondary sites. On multivariate analysis, high tumor grade, invasive lobular carcinoma, and a higher TNM stage emerged as risk factors for development of PM. Median OS after the detection of metastases was 28 months and was significantly lower for brain metastases and PM as compared to other disease sites [383].

Some studies have shown a poor survival of patients with PM from breast cancer. In a review of 1628 patients from a NHS trust hospital, 44 individuals (2.7% of the cohort) had PM. Of these, the majority (77%) had invasive ductal carcinomas (IDCs). While the median survival from the diagnosis of metastatic breast cancer measured 20.5 months (range, 0.1–125 months), the median survival of patients with peritoneal disease was 1.56 months (range, 0.2–27 months) [384].

PM can develop metachronously many years (5–30 years) after the diagnosis of breast cancer [385–387]. This may represent a unique feature of the disease biology of breast cancer—it is known to be one of the most slowly growing solid tumors given that metastases may appear many years, even decades, after the initial diagnosis [382].

16.4.10.1 Presentation and Diagnosis

PM may be a manifestation of widespread metastatic disease with metastases at one or more other sites. In such cases, the diagnosis is straightforward. When isolated peritoneal spread occurs, the presentation may be variable. Patients may present with ascites and its associated symptoms or other nonspecific symptoms like abdominal pain, bloating, and loss of appetite [388]. In other cases, patients may present with an ovarian mass or pelvic mass with or without peritoneal metastases [389]. In such patients, other more probable differential diagnoses need to be considered like ovarian cancer. When a woman with a history of breast cancer presents with an ovarian mass, it is three times more likely to be a primary ovarian tumor than metastases to the ovary from breast cancer [390]. This and other differential diagnoses like primary peritoneal serous carcinoma and malignant mesothelioma need to be excluded. Immunohistochemistry markers that could be performed include human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 (HER-2), Wilms tumor 1 suppressor gene (WT1), cancer antigen 125 (CA-125), cytokeratin-7 (CK7), cytokeratin-20 (CK20), estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), PAX-8, and gross cystic disease fluid protein (GCDFP-15) [391]. WT1 is a tumor suppressor gene that is positive in over 90% of primary ovarian tumors and never found in primary and metastatic breast cancer [392, 393]. CA-125 is a glycoprotein expressed in up to 90% of ovarian malignancies and from 10 to 30% of primary breast cancer [394]. GCDFP-15 is a relatively specific and sensitive marker for breast cancer (expressed in about 50% of the cases) and never in ovarian malignancies [392, 394].

BRCA testing is also indicated for these patients.

16.4.10.2 Management

The conventional management of metastatic disease in breast cancer is systemic therapy. And this is the treatment for most patients with PM from breast cancer that occurs in addition to metastases at other sites. In a small percentage of patients, metastases develop late after a prolonged disease-free interval and are isolated. The role of a surgical intervention has been evaluated in such patients.

In one of the early reports comparing outcomes of various types of surgery in 168 patients with ovarian and peritoneal metastases from various primary sites, the median OS was better for patients with breast cancer as compared to colorectal cancer (28.3 vs 24 months), but the 5-year survival was worse in breast cancer patients. This was attributed to the temporary benefit obtained from oophorectomy in breast cancer. The extent of surgery ranged from just a biopsy and/or resection of the ovarian mass to more extensive procedures comprising of peritonectomies and visceral resections. There was a trend toward a better survival in patients who had more extensive surgery. This study is over 20 years old and a lot has changed since then, especially, the availability of more effective systemic therapies for different subtypes of breast cancer [395]. Other studies did not report a significant difference in survival compared to gastrointestinal tumors as well [396, 397].

Petru et al. discussed the importance of residual tumor volume in women with metastatic cancers other than ovarian to the abdomen and pelvis, reporting a higher 5-year survival rate for patients with residual disease 2 cm (16% vs 3%) [398].

Abu Rustum et al. evaluated the role of surgery in patients with PM from ovarian cancer in 40 patients treated at their institution [389]. The median interval from the diagnosis of breast cancer and a surgical intervention of pelvic tumor/ PM was 80 months (range, 9–264 months). The median survival for all patients was 24.1 months. Patients who had no gross residual disease in the abdomen or pelvis after surgery had a median survival of 41.6 months, which did not significantly differ from those with gross residual < or =2 cm (16.1 months) or >2 cm (18.4 months) (p = 0.624). Though the disease extent was not quantified, from the type of surgical procedures performed (only an adnexectomy in 82.5% of the patients) and the percentage of patients undergoing a complete cytoreduction (49%), it could be concluded that a large proportion of the patients had limited disease. The authors stated that the small numbers in the study and the heterogeneity of the salvage systemic therapies could be the reasons for a lack of significant benefit from a surgical intervention [389].

Subsequently the same authors published outcomes in 59 patients undergoing surgery for PM in patients with breast cancer [399]. The patients population comprised mainly of those presenting with a pelvic/ovarian mass with a previous history of breast cancer. The median time to surgery from the initial diagnosis of breast cancer was 5 years (range, 0-25 years). Median OS from the time of diagnosis of abdominopelvic recurrent disease was 23 months and 5-year survival was 24%. Survival was 36 months for optimally debulked patients (residual disease <2 cm) and 20 months for suboptimally debulked patients (p = 0.07). Patients diagnosed 5 or more years after initial breast cancer diagnosis had a median survival of 36 months versus 17 months if diagnosed earlier (p = 0.01). The two significant factors affecting survival were the time to abdominal recurrence and optimal debulking with the hazard ratio for dying of disease if recurring before 5 years was 2.7 (CI, 1.45–5.03) [p 0.01] and for suboptimal debulking was 2.14 (CI, 1.13–4.02) [p 0.02] [399].

16.4.10.3 The Role of CRS and HIPEC

These patients often present to surgical oncologists who specialize in the management of peritoneal surface malignancies and a more aggressive approach comprising of CRS and HIPEC has been used to treat these patients as well.

Cardi et al. reported outcomes in five patients (mean age, 59.4 years) with PM from breast cancer treated with maximal cytoreduction and HIPEC at 40 °C for 1 h with cisplatin 75 mg/m² [371]. The primary breast cancer was a ductal carcinoma in three patients and a lobular carcinoma in two. Mean peritoneal cancer index was 20.2. In four of the five patients, surgery achieved macroscopic complete cytoreduction. One patient died of disease at 56 months; four are alive and disease-free at 13, 45, 74, and 128 months. All patients received adjuvant hormone therapy after CRS and HIPEC [325].

Notably, the median time interval from the diagnosis of breast cancer to the development of PM in this study was 18 years (range, 10–30 years). There was one patient in whom both the primary tumor and PM did not express ER, PR, or HER-2 (triple negative breast cancer). There were two patients in whom the PM expressed HER-2. This study showed that in selected patients, CRS and HIPEC could achieve a prolonged survival (>10 years in one patient) maintaining a good quality of life.

In the PSOGI-BIG-RENAPE collaborative series, 17 patients (2.3%) had PM from breast cancer. These patients experienced an inferior survival to patients with PM from other primary sites like mucinous ovarian tumors and neuro-endocrine tumors (hazard ratio, 2.26 (95% CI, 1.10–5.05)) [6]. There are other isolated reports of CRS and HIPEC for treating PM from breast cancer [327, 372].

16.4.10.4 Summary

- Isolated PM from breast cancer in general occurs metachronously and several years after the initial diagnosis of breast cancer.
- Cytoreductive surgery with or without HIPEC has the potential to provide a survival benefit to these patients in addition to systemic therapies.
- The rapid progress is development of new systemic therapies for these patients, and the survival benefit by those should be considered while planning the treatment for these patients.

16.5 Miscellaneous Indications

There are several other rare and common primary tumors for which CRS and HIPEC has been used for the treatment of PM. Few cases have been reported for each one, and it is difficult to derive any conclusions from those.

Two cases of Wilms tumor and one case of Sertoli-Leydig cell tumor have been reported as part of a larger series, and outcomes in these patients have not been reported [268].

This series also included seven patients with rhabdomyosarcoma of unspecified histological subtype; the authors showed that this etiology was individually associated with a very poor prognosis, having an overall 1- and 2-year survival of 29% and 14%, respectively [268].

Solid pseudopapillary epithelial neoplasms occur in young women, and 11 cases of PM arising from these tumors had been reported, probably related to tumor rupture and spillage. In patients who had CRS alone, the recurrence rate is 58% at an interval of 12–228 months [400]. Honore et al. treated two patients with metachronous PM from SPEN with CRS and HIPEC. The median PCI was 13 and the median DFS was 47 months. One patient who recurred at 8 months after CRS alone was disease-free at 57 months following CRS and HIPEC.

Patients with PM from gall bladder and pancreatic adenocarcinomas have been treated with CRS and HIPEC. The numbers are few in large case series. In the PSOGI-BIG-RENAPE collaborative series, 39 (5.3%) patients had PM from cholangiocarcinoma and 30(4.1%) had PM from pancreatic tumors. The survival of these patients was inferior with a hazard ratio of 2.85 (cholangiocarcinomas) and 3.23(pancreatic tumors) as compared to rare ovarian tumors that had a more favorable prognosis [6]. Sugarbaker has listed some more rare conditions in which CRS and HIPEC could be used. These include borderline ovarian tumors, mesenteric cysts giving rise to PMP, pararectal hamartoma, nephroblastoma, cylindroma, endocervical mucinous adenocarcinoma, testicular germ cell tumor, and adenocarcinoma of unknown primary site (normal appendix identified).

16.6 Current Recommendations for CRS with or Without HIPEC in Uncommon Situations

The rare primary and secondary peritoneal tumors pose a therapeutic challenge for the surgeon treating peritoneal surface malignancies. With the increase in experience with CRS and HIPEC,

the morbidity and mortality can be controlled by careful patient selection and treatment strategies and is no longer a barrier to offering this treatment to patients. The evidence to support its use in rare tumors comes from retrospective series, most of them having relatively small numbers of patients, with varied treatment protocols, treated over prolonged time periods. The patient population in these studies is heterogeneous; some include patients with different histologies or those with both primary and recurrent disease; the use of intraperitoneal chemotherapy is variable; some include patients with only CRS; others have included those treated with HIPEC and/ or EPIC; the regimens for HIPEC and EPIC are variable as well. Level I/II evidence is not available as it is difficult to conduct randomized trials for a surgical intervention especially for rare conditions. Case-control studies have also not been performed for most indications. Moreover, new systemic therapies are available, and the results of CRS and HIPEC have to be compared to those obtained with these therapies. Based on the available evidence, a brief summary of the outcomes of CRS and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for rare peritoneal tumors is provided in Table 16.12.

There are some tumors for which both CRS and HIPEC may be beneficial, other in which there is an obvious benefit of CRS but that of HIPEC is uncertain and other tumors in which the benefit of both CRS and HIPEC is questionable. Sugarbaker has provided a list of rare tumors that could benefit from CRS and HIPEC (Table 16.13) [381].

Based on their vast experience with treatment of rare tumors and after performing an exhaustive review, Elias et al. categorized tumors based on the benefit derived from CRS and HIPEC (Table 16.14) [279].

The above classifications can aid in decision making as CRS and/or HIPEC may not be of benefit even if the disease is completely resectable.

Other factors that need to be considered were outlined by Goéré et al. Patients should have a good performance status, the risk of complications should be low, they should be responsive to systemic therapy if used, and they should have a prolonged disease-free interval and a limited disease extent as defined by the PCI [6]. For the

	Benefit of HIPEC	Uncertain	Uncertain	Uncertain	Uncertain	Beneficial extrapolating from PMP	Uncertain	Beneficial extrapolating from patients with PMP of appendiceal origin	Maybe beneficial— further evaluation is needed	Maybe beneficial extrapolating from colorectal cancer
	Benefit of CRS	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Prognostic factors	Complete CRS; no extra-abdominal disease; PORT; systemic chemotherapy	Complete/optimal CRS; PCI	Low grade; CC-0/1, PCI < 13-20, Leiomyosarcoma	Complete resection of tumor at all metastatic sites	Not specified	1		CC-0/1; PCI < 10 for recurrent tumors	Not defined
	Median OS (months)	37–63	10-42	12–39.5	5-year OS 39.9%	5-year OS 57.7%	I	12–132	11.8–19.4	12–47
	Drugs	Cisplatin Mitomycin Oxaliplatin	Cisplatin Doxorubicin	Cisplatin Doxorubicin Mitomycin C Mitoxantrone	Mitomycin C	Not specified	Oxaliplatin Cisplatin and doxorubicin	Oxaliplatin Mitomycin C Doxorubicin	Cisplatin	Oxaliplatin Mitomycin C 5-FU
hemotherapy	Intraperitoneal chemotherapy	HIPEC	HIPEC (48)	HIPEC EPIC	HIPEC (5) EPIC (10)	HIPEC	HIPEC	HIPEC EPIC	HIPEC	HIPEC EPIC
intraperitoneal c	Systemic chemotherapy	Yes	Yes	Yes			Yes			Yes
d HIPEC/	Total no. of patients	174	702	363	299	199	56	32	159	118
or CRS an	Total no. of studies	9	24 + 4 ^a	15	3	1	ŝ	18	×	×
dications 1	Level of evidence	III/IV	VI/III	IV	IV	IV	IV	IV	IV	IV
Table 16.12 Rare ir	Primary site	DSRCT	PPSC	Soft tissue sarcomas	Neuroendocrine tumors	Mucinous ovarian tumors	Granulosa cell tumors of the ovary ^a	Mucinous urachal tumors with PM	Endometrial carcinoma (including USC)	Small bowel adenocarcinoma

414

	Total no.							
Total no. of studies	of patients	Systemic chemotheranv	Intraperitoneal	Drugs	(months)	Prognostic factors	Benefit of CRS	Benefit of HIPEC
 e S	229	Yes	No	þ	7–8 years	Response to TKI, R0/ R1 resection	Uncertain	Uncertain
 ю	81	Yes	HIPEC (<50%)	Cisplatin	36-60	Time to recurrence, complete CRS	Uncertain	Uncertain

Patients received CRS and HIPEC in four studies "Includes advanced and recurrent tumour both

Abdominal/pelvic	Endocervical mucinous
sarcoma	adenocarcinoma
Neuroendocrine	Hepatocellular carcinoma
tumors	
Urachal	Fibrolamellar hepatocellular
adenocarinoma	carcinoma
Borderline ovarian	Testicular germ cell tumor
tumors	
Colonic polyps	Solid pseudopapillary
(traumatic resection)	epithelial tumor of the
	pancreas
Mesenteric cysts	Nephroblastoma
Pararectal	Cylindroma
hamartoma	
Adrenocortical	Adenocarcinoma of unknown
carcinoma	primary site (normal appendix
Desmoplastic small	identified)
round cell tumor	

Table 16.13 Rare disease having isolated peritoneal metastases that could possibly benefit from CRS and HIPEC (adapted from Ref. [381])

Table 16.14 Categorization of rare tumors according to the probability of benefit from CRS and HIPEC (with permission from [279])

Category	Tumor origin
Probable benefit from CRS and HIPEC	PM arising from mucinous carcinoma of the urachus, solid pseudopapillary epithelial neoplasms of the pancreas, thymoma
Probable benefit of CRS but with uncertain, controversial or unverifiable benefit of HIPEC	PM from DSRCT, Sertoli-Leydig tumors, granulosa cell tumors, PPSC
Uncertain or unverifiable benefit of CRS	PM from breast cancer, endometrial cancer, non- seminomatous germ cell tumor, malignant adrenocortical carcinoma, adenoid cystic carcinoma, nephroblastoma, fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinomas, cervical carcinoma, embryonic rhabdomyosarcoma

use of HIPEC, the authors recommended that the decision should be based on the site of origin of the tumor, on the histological subtype, and on whether extraperitoneal disease is present or not. According to them, HIPEC should be preferentially offered to young patients, in good general

Table 16.15 Clinical features predictive of favorable/unfavorable outcome in patients undergoing CRS andHIPEC for PM (with permission from [381])

Clinical features predictive of a favorable outcome
1. Good performance status
2. Possibility of a complete or near complete CRS
Sparing of the small bowel
No extra-abdominal disease
Few, easily resectable hepatic metastases
Absence of disease at the porta hepatis
3. In patients with a high grade malignancy—the PCI
is low or moderate
4. Symptomatic patients
Clinical features predictive of an unfavorable outcome
1. Poor performance status
2. Rapidly progressive high grade disease
3. Low likelihood of response to preoperative
chemotherapy
4. Prior abdominal or pelvic radiotherapy
5. Asymptomatic patient

condition, without extraperitoneal disease, and with PM from an intra-abdominal primary site or from mucinous histology. Sugarbaker listed the clinical features that are predictive of a favorable outcome (Table 16.15) [381].

There are few other important factors that need to be considered:

- 1. The benefit of CRS and HIPEC should be considered separately. There are situations where there is a definite role of CRS, but HIPEC is of uncertain benefit as discussed above. In these situations, it only adds to the morbidity and should be avoided. IPC has several pharmacokinetic limitations, and there are no clear guidelines/evidence about which regimen is most suited for a particular tumor/ histological subtype.
- New systemic therapies and the results obtained with their use should be considered. A multidisciplinary approach is the best that integrates various treatments to provide the maximum survival benefit to the patient.
- 3. Surgery should be undertaken with the goal of performing a complete cytoreduction (CC-0/1). Patients in whom this is unlikely should not be taken up for surgery. Patients with NET-PM are an exception where debulking

has a role if >70% of the tumor can be removed and also for palliation to prevent/treat the symptoms of PM. In DSRCT, the role of debulking is undefined and needs further evaluation. Attempts should be made to achieve a CC-0/1 as far as possible.

- 4. PCI should be determined and reported in all cases. For some histologies, the prognostic value of PCI has been established. As indicated in the PSOGI- BIG-RENAPE series, a high PCI > 10–14 points to a poor long-term outcome.
- 5. The possibility of use of emerging therapies like pressurized intraperitoneal chemotherapy (PIPAC) that can be combined with systemic chemotherapy as well should be considered as a treatment option. Where the disease is extensive and the risk of morbidity is high, PIPAC could provide effective palliation, though it had not been used for many of the rare tumors yet.

Conclusions

CRS and HIPEC can be used to treat highly selected patients with certain uncommon peritoneal metastases in patients with a good performance status, limited peritoneal spread, in absence of extraperitoneal disease, in metastases from intra-abdominal primary sites, and in patients with tumors of mucinous histology. However, there is no level I evidence to support its use, and most evidence is in the form of retrospective studies or pooled data from registries. Given the rarity of these diseases, it is highly unlikely that level I evidence will ever be available. Hence, CRS with or without HIPEC for these rare tumors should be performed only in the context of a clinical trial or protocol, and the outcomes must be prospectively recorded and audited. The data should preferably be pooled into national/international registries so that a large body of evidence is obtained in the future. Surgery should be performed only in those patients where a complete cytoreduction (CC-0/1) is possible with very few exceptions. The roles of CRS and HIPEC should be considered separately and treatment decisions should be made by multidisciplinary teams in specialized centers. The prognostic impact of a PCI > 10–14 should be considered in the decision making. The use of HIPEC/intraperitoneal chemotherapy should be avoided in situations where the benefit is uncertain and the risk of morbidity is high. New therapeutic modalities like pressurized intraperitoneal chemotherapy (PIPAC) should be considered as an alternative in these situations as a palliative option with or without systemic chemotherapy.

The use of systemic therapies should be integrated in the treatment plan where such therapies have shown a benefit to provide the maximum benefit to the patient.

References

- Bryan ML, Fitzgerald NC, Levine EA, Shen P, Stewart JH, Votanopoulos KI. Cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in sarcomatosis from gastrointestinal stromal tumor. Am Surg. 2014;80(9):890–5.
- Al-Badawi IA, Abu-Zaid A, Azzam A, AlOmar O, AlHusaini H, Amin T. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for management of recurrent/relapsed ovarian granulosa cell tumor: a single-center experience. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2014;40(9):2066–75.
- Hayes-Jordan A, Green HL, Lin H, Owusu-Agyemang P. Complete cytoreduction and HIPEC improves survival in desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(1):220–4.
- Salti G, Ailabouni L, Undevia S. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of peritoneal sarcomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(5):1410–5.
- 5. van Oudheusden TR, Lemmens VE, Braam HJ. Peritoneal metastases from small bowel cancer: results of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in The Netherlands. Surgery. 2015;157(6):1023–7.
- Goéré D, Passot G, Gelli M, Levine EA, Bartlett DL, Sugarbaker PH, Glehen O, On behalf the PSOGI; BIG-RENAPE Working Groups. Complete cytoreductive surgery plus HIPEC for peritoneal metastases from unusual cancer sites of origin: results from a worldwide analysis issue of the Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group International (PSOGI). Int J Hyperth. 2017;33(5):520–7. https://doi.org/10.108 0/02656736.2017.1301576.
- Gerald WL, Miller HK, Battifora H, Miettinen M, Silva EG, Rosai J. Intra-abdominal desmoplastic small round-cell tumor. Report of 19 cases of a distinctive type of high-grade polyphenotypic malignancy affecting young individuals. Am J Surg Pathol. 1991;15:499–513.

- Ordonez NG, Zirkin R. Malignant small-cell epithelial tumor of the peritoneum coexpressing mesenchymal-type intermediate filaments. Am J Surg Pathol. 1989;13:413–21.
- Furman J, Murphy WM, Wajsman Z, et al. Urogenital involvement by desmoplastic small round-cell tumor. J Urol. 1997;158:1506–9.
- Kawano N, Inayama Y, Nagashima Y, et al. Desmoplastic small round-cell tumor of the paratesticular region: report of an adult case with demonstration of EWS and WT1 gene fusion using paraffin-embedded tissue. Mod Pathol. 1999;12:729–34.
- Ordonez NG, el-Naggar AK, Ro JY, et al. Intraabdominal desmoplastic small cell tumor: a light microscopic, immunocytochemical, ultrastructural, and flow cytometric study. Hum Pathol. 1993;24:850–65.
- Parkash V, Gerald WL, Parma A, et al. Desmoplastic small round cell tumor of the pleura. Am J Surg Pathol. 1995;19:659–65.
- Prat J, Matias-Guiu X, Algaba F. Desmoplastic small round-cell tumor. Am J Surg Pathol. 1992;16:306–7.
- Roganovich J, Bisogno G, Cecchetto G, et al. Paratesticular desmoplastic small round cell tumor: case report and review of the literature. J Surg Oncol. 1999;71:269–72.
- Slomovitz BM, Girotra M, Aledo A, et al. Desmoplastic small round cell tumor with primary ovarian involvement: case report and review. Gynecol Oncol. 2000;79:124–8.
- Tison V, Cerasoli S, Morigi F, et al. Intracranial desmoplastic small-cell tumor: report of a case. Am J Surg Pathol. 1996;20:112–7.
- Young RH, Eichhorn JH, Dickersin GR, et al. Ovarian involvement by the intraabdominal desmoplastic small round cell tumor with divergent differentiation: a report of three cases. Hum Pathol. 1992;23:454–64.
- Wolf AN, Ladanyi M, Paull G, et al. The expanding clinical spectrum of desmoplastic small round-cell tumor: a report of two cases with molecular confirmation. Hum Pathol. 1999;30:430–5.
- Ariza-Prota MA, Pando-Sandoval A, Fole-Vázquez D, Casan P. Desmoplastic small round cell tumor of the lung: a case report and literature review. Respir Med Case Rep. 2015;16:112–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rmcr.2015.08.010.
- Neff RT, Kellert B, Isley M, Backes F. Management of a rapidly enlarging new adnexal mass: a rare case of desmoplastic small round cell tumor of the ovary arising in pregnancy. Gynecol Oncol Rep. 2016;17:23–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gore.2016.05.008.
- Lettieri CK, Garcia-Filion P, Hingorani P. Incidence and outcomes of desmoplastic small round cell tumor: results from the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results database. J Cancer Epidemiol. 2014;2014:680126. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/680126.

- Chan AS, MacNeill S, Thorner P, Squire J, Zielenska M. Variant EWS-WT1 chimeric product in the desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Pediatr Dev Pathol. 1999;2:188–92.
- Rodriguez E, Sreekantaiah C, Gerald W, Reuter VE, Motzer RJ, Chaganti RS. A recurring translocation, t(11;22)(p13;q11.2), characterizes intra-abdominal desmoplastic small round-cell tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 1993;69:17–21.
- Ladanyi M, Gerald W. Fusion of the EWS and WT1 genes in the desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Cancer Res. 1994;54:2837–40.
- Sawyer JR, Tryka AF, Lewis JM. A novel reciprocal chromosome translocation t(11;22)(p13;q12) in an intraabdominal desmoplastic small round-cell tumor. Am J Surg Pathol. 1992;16:411–6.
- Delattre O, Zucman J, Plougastel B, Desmaze C, Melot T, et al. Gene fusion with an ETS DNAbinding domain caused by chromosome translocation in human tumours. Nature. 1992;359:162–5.
- 27. Sorensen PH, Lessnick SL, Lopez-Terrada D, Liu XF, Triche TJ, et al. A second Ewing's sarcoma translocation, t(21;22), fuses the EWS gene to another ETS-family transcription factor, ERG. Nat Genet. 1994;6:146–51.
- Jeon IS, Davis JN, Braun BS, Sublett JE, Roussel MF, et al. A variant Ewing's sarcoma translocation (7;22) fuses the EWS gene to the ETS gene ETV1. Oncogene. 1995;10:1229–34.
- 29. Huff V. Wilms tumor genetics. Am J Med Genet. 1998;79:260–7.
- Maiti S, Alam R, Amos CI, Huff V. Frequent association of beta-catenin and WT1 mutations in Wilms tumors. Cancer Res. 2000;60:6288–92.
- 31. Galii N, Davis RJ, Fredericks WJ, Mukhopadhyay S, Rauscher FJ III, Emanuel BJ, Rovera G, Barr FG. Fusion of a fork head domain gene to PAX3 in the solid tumour alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. Nat Genet. 1993;5:230–5.
- 32. Shapiro D, Sublett JE, Li B, Downing JR, Naeve CW. Fusion of PAX3 to a member of the forkhead family of transcription factors in human alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. Cancer Res. 1993;53(21):5108–12.
- Cleary ML. Oncogenic conversion of transcription factors by chromosomal translocations. Cell. 1991;66(4):619–2.
- 34. Forster A, Thompson S, Lampert F, Kaneko Y, Slater R, Kroes WG, van derm E, Ludwig WD, Karpas A, Pocock C, Cotter F, Rabbitts TH. Acute leukemias of different lineages have similar MLL gene fusions encoding related chimeric proteins resulting from chromosomal translocation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90:8538–42.
- Hunger SP, Thachuk DC, Amylon MD, Unk MP, Carroll AJ, Welborn JL, Willman CL, Cleary ML. HRX involvement in de novo and secondary leukemias with diverse chromosome iiq23 abnormalities. Blood. 1993;81:3197–203.

- 36. Angarita FA, Hassan S, Cannell AJ, Dickson BC, Gladdy RA, Swallow CJ, Gupta A, Blackstein ME, McCart JA. Clinical features and outcomes of 20 patients with abdominopelvic desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(2):423– 31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.08.017.
- Chang F. Desmoplastic small round cell tumors: cytologic, histologic, and immunohistochemical features. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130(5):728–32.
- Thandassery RB, Elbedawi M, El-Malik H, John AK, Al-Bozom IA, Al Kaabi SR. Intra-abdominal desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Ann Gastroenterol. 2013;27(3):287–8.
- Quaglia MPL, Brennan MF. The clinical approach to desmoplastic small round cell tumor. Surg Oncol. 2000;9(2):77–81.
- 40. Li G, Wang H, Gao Y, Cui X, Zhang G. Primary abdominopelvic desmoplastic small round cell tumor: CT and correlated clinicopathologic features. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2014;18(18):2670–7.
- Hayes-Jordan A, Green H, Fitzgerald N, Xiao L, et al. Novel treatment for desmoplastic small round cell tumor: hyperthermic intraperitoneal perfusion. J Pediatr Surg. 2010;45(5):1000–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2010.02.034.
- 42. Kushner BH, LaQuaglia MP, Wollner N, et al. Desmoplastic small round-cell tumor: prolonged progression-free survival with aggressive multimodality therapy. J Clin Oncol. 1996;14:1526–31.
- Lal DR, Su WT, Wolden SL, et al. Results of multimodal treatment for desmoplastic small round cell tumors. J Pediatr Surg. 2005;40:251–5.
- 44. Msika S, Gruden E, Sarnacki S, Orbach D, Philippe-Chomette P, Castel B, et al. Cytoreductive surgery associated to hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion for desmoplastic round small cell tumor with peritoneal carcinomatosis in young patients. J Pediatr Surg. 2010;45:1617–21. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2010.03.002.
- 45. Honoré C, Amroun K, Vilcot L, Mir O, Domont J, Terrier P, et al. Abdominal desmoplastic small round cell tumor: multimodal treatment combining chemotherapy, surgery, and radiotherapy is the best option. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:1073–9.
- 46. Honoré C, Atallah V, Mir O, et al. Abdominal desmoplastic small round cell tumor without extraperitoneal metastases: is there a benefit for HIPEC after macroscopically complete cytoreductive surgery? PLoS One. 2017;12(2):e0171639. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171639.
- 47. da Silva Pechutti DC, de Arruda Lourençao PL, Takegawa BK, Oliveira CC, Neto A. Requirement for novel surgical and clinical protocols for the treatment of desmoplastic small round cell tumor: a report of two cases and a review of the literature. Oncol Lett. 2015;10(2):1103–8. https://doi.org/10.3892/ ol.2015.3283.
- Shimazaki J, Motohashi G, Nishida K, Tabuchi T, Ubukata H, Tabuchi T. Removal of an intra-

abdominal desmoplastic small round cell tumor by repetitive debulking surgery: a case report and literature review. Oncol Lett. 2014;7(5):1464–8. https:// doi.org/10.3892/ol.2014.1913.

- 49. Koniari K, Mahera H, Nikolaou M, et al. Intraabdominal desmoplastic small round cell tumor: report of a case and literature review. Int J Surg Case Rep. 2011;2(8):293–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijscr.2011.08.013.
- Chang C-C, Hsu J-T, Tseng J-H, Hwang T-L, Chen H-M, Jan Y-Y. Combined resection and multi-agent adjuvant chemotherapy for desmoplastic small round cell tumor arising in the abdominal cavity: report of a case. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12(5):800–3. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v12.i5.800.
- Watanabe T, Miyamoto S, Kitagori K, et al. A case of long-term survival of metastatic desmoplastic small round cell tumor treated with multimodal therapy. Oncol Lett. 2012;3(1):30–4. https://doi.org/10.3892/ ol.2011.457.
- Fan HS, I'Ons B, McConnell R, Kumar V, Alzahrani S, Morris DL. Peritonectomy and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy as treatment for desmoplastic small round cell tumour. Int J Surg Case Rep. 2015;7C:85–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijscr.2014.09.022.
- Swerdlow M. Mesothelioma of the pelvic peritoneum resembling papillary cystadenocarcinoma of the ovary; case report. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1959;77(1):197–200.
- 54. Bloss JD, Liao SY, Buller RE, Manetta A, Berman ML, McMeekin S, et al. Extraovarian peritoneal serous papillary carcinoma: a case-control retrospective comparison to papillary adenocarcinoma of the ovary. Gynecol Oncol. 1993;50(3):347–51.
- Goodman MT, Shvetsov YB. Rapidly increasing incidence of papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum in the United States: fact or artifact? Int J Cancer. 2009;124(9):2231–5.
- Goodman MT, Shvetsov YB. Incidence of ovarian, peritoneal, and fallopian tube carcinomas in the United States, 1995–2004. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2009;18(1):132–9.
- 57. Dubeau L. The cell of origin of ovarian epithelial tumours. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9(12):1191–7.
- Altaras MM, Aviram R, Cohen I, Cordoba M, Weiss E, Beyth Y. Primary peritoneal papillary serous adenocarcinoma: clinical and management aspects. Gynecol Oncol. 1991;40:230–6.
- August CZ, Murad TM, Newton M. Multiple focal extraovarian serous carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1985;4:11–23.
- Dalrymple JC, Bannatyne P, Russell P, et al. Extraovarian peritoneal serous papillary carcinoma. Cancer. 1989;64:110–5.
- Fromm G-L, Gershenson DM, Silva EG. Papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum. Obstet Gynecol. 1990;75:89–95.
- 62. Finch A, Beiner M, Lubinski J, et al. Salpingooophorectomy and the risk of ovarian, fallopian tube,

and peritoneal cancers in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation. JAMA. 2006;296:185–92.

- Levine DA, Argenta PA, Yee CJ, et al. Fallopian tube and primary peritoneal carcinomas associated with BRCA mutations. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:4222–7.
- 64. Olivier RI, van Beurden M, Lubsen MA, Rookus MA, Mooij TM, van de Vijver MJ, van't Veer LJ. Clinical outcome of prophylactic oophorectomy in BRCA1/BRCA2 mutation carriers and events during follow-up. Br J Cancer. 2004;90:1492–7.
- 65. Cheng W, Liu J, Yoshida H, Rosen D, Naora H. Lineage infidelity of epithelial ovarian cancers is controlled by HOX genes that specify regional identity in the reproductive tract. Nat Med. 2005;11:531–7.
- 66. Churg A, Cagle PT, Roggli VL. Tumors of the serosal membranes. Silver Spring: ARP; 2006.
- 67. Liu Q, Lin JX, Shi QL, Wu B, Ma HH, Sun GQ. Primary peritoneal serous papillary carcinoma: a clinical and pathological study. Pathol Oncol Res. 2011;17:713–9.
- Ordonez NG. Value of PAX8, PAX2, claudin-4, and h-caldesmon immunostaining in distinguishing peritoneal epithelioid mesotheliomas from serous carcinomas. Mod Pathol. 2013;26:553–62.
- 69. Ifthikar AM, Rathod PS, Shruthi S, et al. Primary peritoneal carcinoma: regional cancer institute experience. Indian J Surg Oncol. 2014;5(3):232–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-014-0347-y.
- Grant DJ, Moorman PG, Akushevich L, et al. Primary peritoneal and ovarian cancers: an epidemiological comparative analysis. Cancer Causes Control. 2010;21:991. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10552-010-9525-6.
- Eltabbakh GH, Piver MS, Natarajan N, Mettlin CJ. Epidemiologic differences between women with extraovarian primary peritoneal carcinoma and women with epithelial ovarian cancer. Obstet Gynecol. 1998;91(2):254–9.
- 72. Halperin R, Zehavi S, Langer R, Hadas E, Bukovsky I, Schneider D. Primary peritoneal serous papillary carcinoma: a new epidemiologic trend? A matched-case comparison with ovarian serous papillary cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2001;11(5):403–8.
- Pentheroudakis G, Pavlidis N. Serous papillary peritoneal carcinoma: unknown primary tumour, ovarian cancer counterpart or a distinct entity? A systematic review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2010;75:27–42.
- Kowalski LD, Kanbour AI, Price FV, et al. A casematched molecular comparison of extraovarian versus primary ovarian adenocarcinoma. Cancer. 1997;79:1587–94.
- Chen LM, Yamada SD, Fu YS, Baldwin RL, Karlan BY. Molecular similarities between primary peritoneal and primary ovarian carcinomas. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2003;13:749–55.
- Tsao SW, Mok CH, Knapp RC, et al. Molecular genetic evidence of a unifocal origin for human serous ovarian carcinomas. Gynecol Oncol. 1993;48:5–10.

- Muto MG, Welch WR, Mok SC, et al. Evidence for a multifocal origin of papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum. Cancer Res. 1995;55:490–2.
- Schorge JO, Muto MG, Welch WR, et al. Molecular evidence for multifocal papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum in patients with germline BRCA1 mutations. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1998;90:841–5.
- Bandera CA, Muto MG, Welch WR, Berkowitz RS, Mok SC. Genetic imbalance on chromosome 17 in papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum. Oncogene. 1998;16:3455–9.
- Hou T, Liang D, He J, Chen X, Zhang Y. Primary peritoneal serous carcinoma: a clinicopathological and immunohistochemical study of six cases. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2012;5(8):762–9.
- Barnetson RJ, Burnett RA, Downie I, Harper CM, Roberts F. Immunohistochemical analysis of peritoneal mesothelioma and primary and secondary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum: antibodies to estrogen and progesterone receptors are useful. Am J Clin Pathol. 2006;125:67–76.
- Schorge JO, Muto MG, Lee SJ, et al. BRCA1related papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum has a unique molecular pathogenesis. Cancer Res. 2000;60:1361–4.
- Truong LD, Maccato ML, Awalt H, Cagle PT, Schwartz MR, Kaplan AL. Serous surface carcinoma of the peritoneum: a clinicopathologic study of 22 cases. Hum Pathol. 1990;21:99–110.
- Iavazzo C, Vorgias G, Katsoulis M, Kalinoglou N, Dertimas V, Akrivos T. Primary peritoneal serous papillary carcinoma: clinical and laboratory characteristics. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2008;278:53–6.
- 85. Kennedy AW, Markman M, Webster KD, et al. Experience with platinum-paclitaxel chemotherapy in the initial management of papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum. Gynecol Oncol. 1998;72(1):288–90.
- 86. Bloss JD, Brady MF, Liao SY, Rocereto T, Partridge EE, Clarke-Pearson DL. Extraovarian peritoneal serous papillary carcinoma: a phase II trial of cisplatin and cyclophosphamide with comparison to a cohort with papillary serous ovarian carcinomaa Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;89:148–54.
- Ransom DT, Shreyaskumar RP, Keeney GL, Malkasian GD, Edmonson JH. Papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum. A review of 33 cases treated with platin-based chemotherapy. Cancer. 1990;66:1091–4.
- Zhou J, Iwasa Y, Konishi I, et al. Papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum in women. A clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study. Cancer. 1995;76:429–36.
- Liapis A, Condi-Paphiti A, Pyrgiotis E, Zourlas PA. Ovarian surface serous papillary carcinomas: a clinicopathologic study. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 1996;17:79–82.
- 90. Taus P, Petru E, Gucer F, Pickel H, Lahousen M. Primary serous papillary carcinoma of the perito-

neum: a report of 18 patients. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 1997;18:171–2.

- Piver MS, Eltabakkh GH, Hempling R, Recio F, Blumenson L. Two sequential studies for primary peritoneal carcinoma: induction with weekly cisplatin followed by either cisplatin doxorubicincyclophosphamide or paclitaxel-cisplatin. Gynecol Oncol. 1997;67:141–6.
- 92. Kennedy AW, Markman M, Webster K, et al. Experience with platinumpaclitaxel chemotherapy in the initial management of papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum. Gynecol Oncol. 1998;71: 288–90.
- Morita H, Aoki J, Taketomi A, Sato N, Endo K. Serous surface papillary carcinoma of the peritoneum: clinical, radiologic, and pathologic findings in 11 patients. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2004;183:923–8.
- 94. Pentheroudakis G, Briasoulis E, Karavasilis V, et al. Chemotherapy for patients with two favourable subsets of unknown primary carcinoma: active, but how effective? Acta Oncol. 2005;44:155–60.
- 95. Roh SY, Hong SH, Ko YH, Kim TH, Lee MA, Shim BY, Byun JH, Woo IS, Kang JH, Hong YS, Lee KS. Clinical characteristics of primary peritoneal carcinoma. Cancer Res Treat. 2007;39:65–8.
- 96. Choi CH, Kim TJ, Kim WY, et al. Papillary serous carcinoma in ovaries of normal size: a clinicopathologic study of 20 cases and comparison with extraovarian peritoneal papillary serous carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2007;105:762–8.
- Zhang C, Li XP, Cui H, Shen D, Wei L. Advanced primary peritoneal carcinoma: clinicopathologic and prognostic factor analyses. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B. 2008;9:435–40.
- Nam JH, Kim YM, Jung MH, et al. Primary peritoneal carcinoma: experience with cyto reductive surgery and combination chemotherapy. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2006;16(1):23–8.
- 99. Killackey MA, Davis AR. Papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneal surface: matched-case comparison with papillary serous ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 1993;51(2):171–4.
- 100. Fowler JM, Nieberg RK, Schooler TA, Berek JS. Peritoneal adenocarcinoma serous of Mullerian type: a subgroup of women presenting with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 1994;4:43–51.
- 101. Baruch GB, Sivan E, Moran O, Rizel S, Menczer J, Seidman DS. Primary peritoneal serous papillary carcinoma: a study of 25 cases and comparison with stage III-IV ovarian papillary serous carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 1996;60:393–6.
- 102. Piura B, Meirovitz M, Bartfeld M, Yanai-Inbar I, Cohen Y. Peritoneal papillary serous carcinoma: study of 15 cases and comparison with stage III–IV ovarian papillary serous carcinoma. J Surg Oncol. 1998;68:173–8.
- Schorge JO, Miller YB, Qi LG, et al. Genetic alterations of the WT1 gene in papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum. Gynecol Oncol. 2000;76:369–72.

- 104. Eisenhauer EL, Sonoda Y, Levine DA, Abu-Rustum NR, Gemignani ML, Sabbatini PJ, Barakat RR, Chi DS. Platinum resistance and impaired survival in patients with advanced primary peritoneal carcinoma: matched-case comparison with patients with epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2008;198(213):e1–7.
- 105. Gershenson DM, Bodurka DC, Lu KH, et al. Impact of age and primary disease site on outcome in women with low-grade serous carcinoma of the ovary or peritoneum: results of a large single-institution registry of a rare tumor. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(24):2675–82. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2015.61.0873. https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01767675.
- 106. Armstrong DK, Bundy B, Wenzel L, Huang HQ, Baergen R, Lele S, Copeland LJ, Walker JL, Burger RA, Gynecologic Oncology Group. Intraperitoneal cisplatin and paclitaxel in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(1):34–43.
- 107. Look M, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Long-term results of cytoreductive surgery for advanced and recurrent epithelial ovarian cancers and papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2004;14(1):35–41.
- 108. Bakrin N, Gilly FN, Baratti D, Bereder JM, Quenet F, Lorimier G, Mohamed F, Elias D, Glehen O, Association Française de Chirurgie. Primary peritoneal serous carcinoma treated by cytoreductive surgery combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. A multi-institutional study of 36 patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39(7):742–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2013.02.018.
- 109. Yuan J, He L, Han B, Li Y. Long-term survival of high-grade primary peritoneal papillary serous adenocarcinoma: a case report and literature review. World J Surg Oncol. 2017;15:76. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12957-017-1134-3.
- Yun W-S, Bae J-M. Primary peritoneal serous carcinoma, an extremely rare malignancy: a case report and review of the literature. Oncol Lett. 2016;11(6):4063– 5. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2016.4525.
- 111. Levy AD, Arnáiz J, Shaw JC, Sobin LH. From the archives of the AFIP: primary peritoneal tumors: imaging features with pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 2008;28(2):583–607; quiz 621-2. https://doi.org/10.1148/rg.282075175.
- 112. Biscotti CV, Hart WR. Peritoneal serous micropapillomatosis of low malignant potential (serous borderline tumors of the peritoneum): a clinicopathologic study of 17 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 1992;16:467–75.
- 113. Mok SC, Schorge JO, Welch WR, Hendrickson MR, Kempson RL. Peritoneal tumours. In: Tavassoli FA, Devilee P, editors. Pathology and genetics of tumours of the breast and female genital organs. Lyon: IARC; 2003. p. 197–202.
- 114. Taubert H, Wissner S, Haskins A. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata: an unusual complication of genital leiomyomata. Obstet Gynecol. 1965;25:561–74.

- 115. Lausen I, Jensen O, Andersen E, Lindahl F. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis with malignant change, in a male. Vichows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol. 1990;417:173–5.
- 116. Yamaguchi T, Imamura Y, Yamamoto T, Fukuda M. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata with malignant change in a man. Pathol Int. 2003;53:179–85.
- 117. Bourgain RH, Paubert-Braquet M, Shen S, et al. An optoelectronic registration method as applied to PAFmediated hydrogen peroxide induced arterial thrombosis. J Lipid Mediat Cell Signal. 1994;9:79–88.
- 118. Tavassoli FA, Norris HJ. Peritoneal leiomyomatosis (leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata): a clinicopathologic study of 20 cases with ultrastructural observations. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1982;1:59–74.
- 119. Kratz KG, Santillan A, Gu M, Bristow RE. Radical surgical cytoreduction of progressive leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata: a case report. J Reprod Med. 2009;54:447–50.
- Lauchlan S. The secondary Mullerian system. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1972;27:133–46.
- 121. Clement P, Young R, Scully R. The peritoneum. In: Sternberg S, editor. Diagnostic surgical pathology. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 1999. p. 2427–31.
- 122. Fredericks S, Russel P, Cooper M, et al. Smooth muscle in the female pelvic peritoneum: a clinicopathological analysis of 31 women. Pathology. 2005;37(1):14–21.
- 123. Paal E, Miettinen M. Retroperitoneal leiomyomas: a clinicopathologic and immunohistochemical study of 56 cases with a comparison to retroperitoneal leiomyosarcomas. Am J Surg Pathol. 2001;25(11):1355–63.
- 124. Herr J, Platz C, Heidger P, et al. Smooth muscle within ovarian decidual nodules: a link to leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata? Obstet Gynecol. 1979;53:451–6.
- 125. Goldberg M, Hurt W, Frable W. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminate. Report of a case and review of the literature. Obstet Gynecol. 1977;49(Suppl):46–52.
- Due W, Pickartz H. Immunohistologic detection of estrogen and progesterone receptors in disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1989;8:46–53.
- 127. Nogales F, Matilla A, Carrascal E. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. An ultrastructural study. Am J Clin Pathol. 1978;69:452–7.
- Sobiczewski P, Bidzinski M, Radziszewski J, et al. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis case report and literature review. Ginekol Pol. 2004;75(3):215–20.
- 129. Bekkers R, Willemsen W, Schijf C, et al. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminate: does malignant transformation occur? A literature review. Gynecol Oncol. 1999;75(1):158–63.

- 130. Minassian S, Frangipane W, Polin J, et al. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. A case report and literature review. J Reprod Med. 1986;31(10):997–1000.
- 131. Herrero J, Kamali P, Kirschbaum M. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata associated with endometriosis: a case report and literature review. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1998;76(2):189–91.
- 132. Heinig J, Neff A, Cirkel U, et al. Recurrent leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata after hysterectomy and bilateral salpingooophorectomy during combined hormone replacement therapy. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2003;111(2):216–8.
- Bristow R, Montz F. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata and ovarian Brenner tumor associated with tamoxifen use. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2001;11(4):312–5.
- 134. Drake A, Dhundee J, Buckley C, et al. Disseminated leiomyomatosis peritonealis in association with oestrogen secreting ovarian fibrothecoma. BJOG. 2001;108(6):661–4.
- 135. Deering S, Miller B, Kopelman J, et al. Recurrent leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata exacerbated by in vitro fertilization. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2000;182(3):725–6.
- Kaplan C, Benirschke K, Johnson K. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata with endometrium. Obstet Gynecol. 1980;55:119–22.
- 137. Zotalis G, Nayar R, Hicks D. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata, endometriosis, and multicystic mesothelioma: an unusual association. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1998;17:178–82.
- Danikas D, Vasilios T, Goudas C, et al. Luteinizing hormone receptor expression in leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminate. Obstet Gynecol. 2000;95:1009–11.
- 139. Quade BJ, McLachlin CM, Soto-Wright V, Zuckerman J, Mutter GL, Morton CC. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis. Clonality analysis by X chromosome inactivation and cytogenetics of a clinically benign smooth muscle proliferation. Am J Pathol. 1997;150:2153–66.
- 140. Miyake T, Enomoto T, Ueda Y, et al. A case of disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis developing aft er laparoscope-assisted myomectomy. Gynecol Obstet Investig. 2009;67:96–102.
- 141. Papadatos D, Taourel P, Bret PM. CT of leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata mimicking peritoneal carcinomatosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1996;167:475–6.
- 142. Abulafia O, Angel C, Sherer DM, Fultz PJ, Bonfiglio TA, DuBeshter B. Computed tomography of leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata with malignant transformation. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1993;169:52–4.
- 143. Fulcher AS, Szucs RA. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata complicated by sarcomatous transformation and ovarian torsion: presentation of two

cases and review of the literature. Abdom Imaging. 1998;23:640–4.

- 144. Mueller F, Kuehn K, Neudeck H, Nina S, Uwe U, et al. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis with endometriosis. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2012;19(3):380–2.
- 145. Hamrick-Tumer JE, Chiechi MV, Abbitt PL, et al. Neoplastic and inflammatory processes of the peritoneum, omentum and mesentery: diagnosis with CT. Radiographics. 1992;12(6):1051–68.
- 146. Tourlakis D, Tas B, Van Herendael B. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis. Gynecol Surg. 2010;7(3):241–3.
- 147. Valente PT, Fine BA, Parra C, Schroeder B. Gastric stromal cell tumor with peritoneal nodules in pregnancy: tumor spread or rare variant of diffuse leiomyomatosis. Gynecol Oncol. 1996;63:392–7.
- Tjels H, Pettersson B, Nordlinder H. Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 1986;65:373–4.
- Lottge M, Canzler E, Spormann H. Demonstration zur leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Zent bl Gynaecol. 1987;109:459–62.
- Aterman K, Fraser GM, Leah RH. Disseminated peritoneal leiomyomatosis. Virchows Arch A Path Anat Histolpathol. 1977;374:13–26.
- Buettner A, Bassler R, Theele CH. Pregnancy associated ectopic decidua (deciduosis) of the greater omentum. Pathol Res Pract. 1993;189:352–9.
- 152. Takeda T, Masuhara K, Kamiura S. Successful management of a leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata with an aromatase inhibitor. Obstet Gynecol. 2008;112:491–3.
- 153. Ramos A, Fader AN, Roche KL. Surgical cytoreduction for disseminated benign disease after open power uterine morcellation. Obstet Gynecol. 2015;125(1):99–102. https://doi.org/10.1097/ AOG.000000000000549.
- 154. Rubin SC, Wheeler JE, Mikuta JJ. Malignant leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Obstet Gynecol. 1986;68:126–9.
- 155. Akkersdijk GJ, Flu PK, Giard RW, van Lent M, Wallen-burg HD. Malignant leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1990;163:591–3.
- 156. Raspagliesi F, Quattrone P, Grosso G, Cobellis L, Di Re E. Malignant degeneration in leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata. Gynecol Oncol. 1996;61(2):272–4.
- 157. Baratti D, Pennacchioli E, Kusamura S, et al. Peritoneal sarcomatosis: is there a subset of patients who may benefit from cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy? Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:3220–8.
- 158. Soufi M, Mdaghri J, Benamr S, et al. Giant liposarcoma of the omentum mimicking an ovarian tumor. A case report. Indian J Surg. 2012;74(5):425–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12262-012-0718-y.

- 159. Sondak VK, Economou JS, Eilber FR. Soft tissue sarcomas of the extremity and retroperitoneum: advances in management. Adv Surg. 1991;24P:333–59.
- 160. Van Dam PA, Lowe PG, McKenzie-Gray B, Shepherd JH. Retroperitoneal soft tissue sarcomas. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1990;45:670–82.
- 161. Lawrence W Jr, Neifeld JP. Soft tissue sarcomas. Curr Probl Surg. 1989;26:753–827.
- 162. Storm FK, Sondak VK, Economou JS. Sarcomas of the retroperitoneum. In: Eilber FC, et al., editors. Soft tissue sarcomas. New York: Grune & Stratton; 1987. p. 239–48.
- 163. Lim SJ, Cormier JN, Feig BW, et al. Toxicity and outcomes associated with surgical cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for patients with sarcomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:2309–18.
- 164. Glenn J, Sindelar WF, Kinsella T, et al. Results of multimodality therapy of resectable soft-tissue sarcomas of the retroperitoneum. Surgery. 1985;97:316–25.
- 165. Potter DA, Glenn J, Kinsella T, et al. Patterns of recurrence in patients with high-grade soft-tissue sarcomas. J Clin Oncol. 1985;3:353–66.
- Dalal KM, Antonescu CR, Singer S. Diagnosis and management of lipomatous tumors. J Surg Oncol. 2008;97:298–313.
- 167. Kim EY, Kim SJ, Choi D, et al. Recurrence of retroperitoneal liposarcoma: imaging findings and growth rates at follow-up CT. AJR. 2008;191:1841–6.
- Milic DJ, Rajkovic MM, Pejcic VD. Primary omental liposarcoma presenting as an incarcerated inguinal hernia. Hernia. 2005;9(1):88–9.
- 169. Fotiadis C, Zografos GN, Karatzas G, Papachristodoulou A, Sechas MN. Recurrent liposarcomas of the abdomen and retroperitoneum: three case reports. Anticancer Res. 2000;20(1B):579–83.
- 170. Jaques DP, Coit DG, Hajdu SI, Brennan MF. Management of primary and recurrent softtissue sarcoma of the retroperitoneum. Ann Surg. 1990;212:51–9.
- Rossi CR, Casali P, Kusamura S, et al. The consensus statement on the locoregional treatment of abdominal sarcomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:291–4.
- 172. Pickhardt PJ, Bhalla S. Primary neoplasms of peritoneal and subperitoneal origin: CT findings. Radiographics. 2005;25:983–95.
- 173. Tirumani SH, Deaver P, Shinagare AB, et al. Metastatic pattern of uterine leiomyosarcoma: retrospective analysis of the predictors and outcome in 113 patients. J Gynecol Oncol. 2014;25(4):306–12. https://doi.org/10.3802/jgo.2014.25.4.306.
- 174. Sugarbaker P, Ihemelandu C, Bijelic L. Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC as a treatment option for laparoscopic resection of uterine leiomyosarcoma with morcellation: early results. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1501–7. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-015-4960-y.

- 175. Oduyebo T, Rauh-Hain AJ, Meserve EE, Seidman MA, HinchcliffE, George S, Quade B, Nucci MR, Del Carmen MG, Muto MG. The value of re-exploration in patients with inadvertently morcellated uterine sarcoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;132(2):360–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2013.11.024.
- 176. Rose PG, Piver MS, Tsukada Y, Lau T. Patterns of metastasis in uterine sarcoma. An autopsy study. Cancer. 1989;63(5):935–8.
- 177. Estourgie SH, Nielsen GP, Ott MJ. Metastatic patterns of extremity myxoid liposarcoma and their outcome. J Surg Oncol. 2002;80:89–93.
- Bilimoria MM, Holtz DJ, Mirza NQ, Feig BW, Pisters PW, Patel S, et al. Tumor volume as a prognostic factor for sarcomatosis. Cancer. 2002;94:2441–6.
- 179. Chu DZ, Lang NP, Thompson C, Osteen PK, Westbrook KC. Peritoneal carcinomatosis in nongynecologic malignancy. A prospective study of prognostic factors. Cancer. 1989;63:364–7.
- Mudan SS, Conlon KC, Woodruff JM, Lewis JJ, Brennan MF. Salvage surgery for patients with recurrent gastrointestinal sarcoma: prognostic factors to guide patient selection. Cancer. 2000;88:66–74.
- 181. Confuorto G, Giuliano ME, Grimaldi A, Viviano C. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: HIPEC? Surg Oncol. 2007;16(Suppl 1):S149–52.
- 182. Berthet B, Sugarbaker TA, Chang D, Sugarbaker PH. Quantitative methodologies for selection of patients with recurrent abdominopelvic sarcoma for treatment. Eur J Cancer. 1999;35:413–9.
- 183. Rossi CR, Deraco M, De Simone M, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal intraoperative chemotherapy after cytoreductive surgery for the treatment of abdominal sarcomatosis: clinical outcome and prognostic factors in 60 consecutive patients. Cancer. 2004;100:1943–50.
- 184. Bonvalot S, Cavalcanti A, Le Pechoux C, et al. Randomized trial of cytoreduction followed by intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus cytoreduction alone in patients with peritoneal sarcomatosis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2005;31:917–23.
- 185. Baumgartner JM, Ahrendt SA, Pingpank JF, Holtzman MP, Ramalingam L, Jones HL, Zureikat AH, Zeh HJ, Bartlett DL, Choudry HA. Aggressive locoregional management of recurrent peritoneal sarcomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2013;107(4):329–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23232.
- Karakousis CP, Kontzoglou K, Driscoll DL. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy in disseminated abdominal sarcoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 1997;4:496–8.
- 187. Eilber FC, Rosen G, Forscher C, Nelson SD, Dorey FJ, Eilber FR. Surgical resection and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for recurrent abdominal sarcomas. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:645–50.
- 188. Kusamura S, Raspagliesi F, Baratti D, Gronchi A, Casali P, Deraco M. Uterine sarcoma treated by cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic perfusion: a feasibility study. J Chemother. 2004;16(Suppl 5):19–22.

- 189. Levine EA, Stewart JH, Russell GB, Geisinger KR, Loggie BL, Shen P. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy: experience with 501 procedures. J Am Coll Surg. 2007;204:943–53; discussion 953–5.
- 190. Gusani NJ, Cho SW, Colovos C, Seo S, Franko J, Richard SD, et al. Aggressive surgical management of peritoneal carcinomatosis with low mortality in a high-volume tertiary cancer center. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:754–63.
- 191. Randle RW, Swett KR, Shen P, Stewart JH, Levine EA, Votanopoulos KI. Cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in peritoneal sarcomatosis. Am Surg. 2013;79(6):620–4.
- 192. Jimenez WA, Sardi A, Nieroda C, Gushchin V. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the management of recurrent high-grade uterine sarcoma with peritoneal dissemination. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2014;210(3):259. e1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2013.11.002.
- 193. Spiliotis J, Kopanakis N, Argyriou EO, Vafias E, Efstathiou E. Locoregional treatment of peritoneal sarcomatosis A single-centre experience. Ann Ital Chir. 2016;87:333–6.
- 194. Hatcher H, Benson C, Ajithkumar T. Systemic treatments in soft tissue sarcomas. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 2017;29(8):507–515. pii: S0936-6555(17)30227-3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clon.2017.05.002.
- 195. Vasseur B, Cadiot G, Zins M, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis in patients with digestive endocrine tumors. Cancer. 1996;78:1686–92.
- 196. Mitry E, O'Toole D, Louvet C, et al. Resultats de l'enqu^ete nationale FFCD-ANGH-GERCOR sur les tumeurs endocrines a localisation digestive. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 2003;27:A135.
- 197. Norlen O, Stalberg P, Oberg K, et al. Long-term results of surgery for small intestinal neuroendocrine tumors in a tertiary referral center. World J Surg. 2012;36:1419–31.
- Modlin IM, Lye KD, Kidd M. A 5-decade analysis of 13,715 carcinoid tumors. Cancer. 2003;97:934–59.
- 199. Elias D, Goéré D, Dumont F, Honoré C, Dartigues P, Stoclin A, Malka D, Boige V, Ducreux M. Role of hyperthermic intraoperative peritoneal chemotherapy in the management of peritoneal metastases. Eur J Cancer. 2014;50(2):332–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2013.09.024.
- Ruiz-Tovar J, Alonso HN, Morales CV, Lobo ME, Sanjuanbenito DA, Martinez ME. Peritoneal carcinomatosis secondary to carcinoid tumour. Clin Transl Oncol. 2007;9:804–5.
- 201. Vinik AI, Thompson N, Eckhauser F, Moattari R. Clinical features of carcinoid syndrome and the use of somatostatin analogue in its management. Acta Oncol. 1989;28:389–402.
- 202. Koppe MJ, Boerman OC, Oyen WJ, Bleichrodt RP. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin:

incidence and current treatment strategies. Ann Surg. 2006;243:212–22.

- 203. Glockzin G, Schlitt HJ, Piso P. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: patients selection, perioperative complications and quality of life related to cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. World J Surg Oncol. 2009;7:5.
- Royal RE, Pingpank JF Jr. Diagnosis and management of peritoneal carcinomatosis arising from adenocarcinoma of the colon and rectum. Semin Oncol. 2008;35:183–91.
- 205. Glehen O, Osinsky D, Beaujard AC, Gilly FN. Natural history of peritoneal carcinomatosis from nongynecologic malignancies. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2003;12:729–39, xiii.
- 206. Lifante JC, Glehen O, Cotte E, Beaujard AC, Gilly FN. Natural history of peritoneal carcinomatosis from digestive origin. Cancer Treat Res. 2007;134:119–29.
- 207. Konig HH, Ulshofer A, Gregor M, von Tirpitz C, Reinshagen M, Adler G, Leidl R. Validation of the EuroQol questionnaire in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2002;14:1205–15.
- 208. Gonzalez RS, Liu EH, Alvarez JR, Ayers GD, Washington MK, Shi C. Should mesenteric tumor deposits be included in staging of well differentiated small intestine neuroendocrine tumors? Mod Pathol. 2014;27:1288–95.
- 209. Chambers AJ, Pasieka JL, Dixon E, Rorstad O. Role of imaging in the preoperative staging of small bowel neuroendocrine tumors. J Am Coll Surg. 2010;211:620–7.
- 210. Søreide O, Berstad T, Bakka A, Schrumpf E, Hanssen LE, Engh V, Bergan A, Flatmark A. Surgical treatment as a principle in patients with advanced abdominal carcinoid tumors. Surgery. 1992;111:48–54.
- 211. Elias D, Lefevre JH, Duvillard P, Goéré D, Dromain C, Dumont F, Baudin E. Hepatic metastases from neuroendocrine tumors with a thin slice CT scan and pathological examination: they are many more than you think. Ann Surg. 2010;251:307–10.
- 212. Dromain C, de Baere T, Lumbroso J, Caillet H, Laplanche A, Boige V, Ducreux M, Duvillard P, Elias D, Schlumberger M, Sigal R, Baudin E. Detection of liver metastases from endocrine tumors: a prospective comparison of somatostatin receptor scintigraphy, computed tomography, and magnetic resonance imaging. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:70–8.
- 213. Frilling A, Sotiropoulos GC, Radtke A, Malago M, Bockisch A, Kuehl H, Broelsch CE. The impact of 68Ga-DOTATOC positron emission tomography/ computed tomography on the multimodal management of patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Ann Surg. 2010;252:850–6.
- 214. Ruf J, Heuck F, Schiefer J, Denecke T, Elgeti F, Pascher A, Pavel M, Stelter L, Kropf S, Wiedenmann B, Amthauer H. Impact of multiphase 68Ga-DOTATOC-PET/CT on therapy man-

agement in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2010;91:101–9.

- 215. Ambrosini V, Campana D, Bodei L, Nanni C, Castellucci P, Allegri V, Nanni C, Malvi D, Tonveronachi E, Fasano L, Fabbri M, Fanti S. 68Ga-DOTANOC PET/CT clinical impact in patients with neuroendocrine tumors. J Nucl Med. 2010;51:669–73.
- 216. Kianmanesh R, Ruszniewski P, Rindi G, et al. ENETS consensus guidelines for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2010;91:333–40.
- 217. Elias D, Sideris L, Liberale G, Ducreux M, Malka D, Lasser P, Duvillard P, Baudin E. Surgical treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from well-differentiated digestive endocrine carcinomas. Surgery. 2005;137:411–6.
- 218. Touzios J, Kiely J, Pitt S, et al. Neuroendocrine hepatic metastases. Ann Surg. 2005;241:776–85.
- 219. Maxwell JE, Sherman SK, O'Dorisio TM, et al. Liver-directed surgery of neuroendocrine metastases: what is the optimal strategy? Surgery. 2016;159:320–35.
- 220. Norlén O, Stålberg P, Öberg K, et al. Long-term results of surgery for small intestinal neuroendocrine tumors at a tertiary referral center. World J Surg. 2012;36:1419–31.
- 221. Norlén O, Edfeldt K, Akerstrom G, Westin G, Hellman P, Bjorklund P, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from small intestinal neuroendocrine tumors: clinical course and genetic profiling. Surgery. 2014;156:1512–21.
- 222. WHO classification of ovarian neoplasms. PathologyOutlines.com website. http://www.pathologyoutlines.com/topic/ovarytumorwhoclassif.html. Accessed 1 July 2017.
- 223. Frumovitz M, Schmeler KM, Malpica A, Sood AK, Gershenson DM. Unmasking the complexities of mucinous ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;117(3):491–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ygyno.2010.02.010.
- 224. McGuire WP, Hoskins WJ, Brady MF, Kucera PR, Partridge EE, Look KY, Clarke-Pearson DL, Davidson M. Cyclophosphamide and cisplatin compared with paclitaxel and cisplatin in patients with stage III and stage IV ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 1996;334:1–6.
- 225. Piccart MJ, Bertelsen K, James K, et al. Randomized intergroup trial of cisplatin-paclitaxel versus cisplatin-cyclophosphamide in women with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: three-year results. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000;92:699–708.
- 226. Muggia FM, Braly PS, Brady MF, Sutton G, Niemann TH, Lentz SL, Alvarez RD, Kucera PR, Small JM. Phase III randomized study of cisplatin versus paclitaxel versus cisplatin and paclitaxel in patients with suboptimal stage III or IV ovarian cancer: a gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:106–15.

- 227. Bookman MA, Brady MF, McGuire WP, Harper PG, Alberts DS, Friedlander M, Colombo N, Fowler JM, Argenta PA, De Geest K, Mutch DG, Burger RA, Swart AM, Trimble EL, Accario-Winslow C, Roth LM. Evaluation of new platinum-based treatment regimens in advanced-stage ovarian cancer: a phase III trial of the gynecologic cancer intergroup. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:1419–25.
- 228. Marchini S, Mariani P, Chiorino G, Marrazzo E, Bonomi R, Fruscio R, Clivio L, Garbi A, Torri V, Cinquini M, Dell'Anna T, Apolone G, Broggini M, D'Incalci M. Analysis of gene expression in early-stage ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:7850–60.
- 229. Heinzelmann-Schwarz VA, Gardiner-Garden M, Henshall SM, Scurry JP, Scolyer RA, Smith AN, Bali A, Vanden Bergh P, Baron-Hay S, Scott C, Fink D, Hacker NF, Sutherland RL, O'Brien PM. A distinct molecular profile associated with mucinous epithelial ovarian cancer. Br J Cancer. 2006;94:904–13.
- 230. Seidman JD, Horkayne-Szakaly I, Haiba M, Boice CR, Kurman RJ, Ronnett BM. The histologic type and stage distribution of ovarian carcinomas of surface epithelial origin. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2004;23:41–4.
- 231. Shimada M, Kigawa J, Ohishi Y, Yasuda M, Suzuki M, Hiura M, Nishimura R, Tabata T, Sugiyama T, Kaku T. Clinicopathological characteristics of mucinous adenocarcinoma of the ovary. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;113:331–4.
- 232. Riopel MA, Ronnett BM, Kurman RJ. Evaluation of diagnostic criteria and behavior of ovarian intestinaltype mucinous tumors: atypical proliferative (borderline) tumors and intraepithelial, microinvasive, invasive, and metastatic carcinomas. Am J Surg Pathol. 1999;23:617–35.
- 233. Leblanc E, Querleu D, Narducci F, Occelli B, Papageorgiou T, Sonoda Y. Laparoscopic restaging of early stage invasive adnexal tumors: a 10-year experience. Gynecol Oncol. 2004;94:624–9.
- 234. Ji J, Forsti A, Sundquist J, Lenner P, Hemminki K. Survival in ovarian cancer patients by histology and family history. Acta Oncol. 2008;47:1133–9.
- 235. Winter WE, Maxwell GL, Tian C, Carlson JW, Ozols RF, Rose PG, Markman M, Armstrong DK, Muggia F, McGuire WP. Prognostic factors for stage III epithelial ovarian cancer: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:3621–7.
- 236. Kikkawa F, Nawa A, Kajiyama H, Fletcher Allen Health Care, et al. Clinical characteristics and prognosis of mucinous tumors of the ovary. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;103:171–5.
- 237. Chaitin B, Gershenson D, Evans H. Mucinous tumors of the ovary. Cancer. 1985;55:1958–62.
- 238. Zaino RJ, Brady MF, Lele SM, Michael H, Greer B, Bookman MA. Advanced stage mucinous adenocarcinoma of the ovary is both rare and highly lethal: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. Cancer. 2011;117(3):554–62. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.25460.

- Hess V, A'Hern R, Nasiri N, et al. Mucinous epithelial ovarian cancer: a separate entity requiring specific treatment. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:1040–4.
- 240. Pisano C, Greggi S, Tambaro R, et al. Activity of chemotherapy in mucinous epithelial ovarian cancer: a retrospective study. Anticancer Res. 2005;25:3501–5.
- 241. Pectasides D, Fountzilas G, Aravantinos G, et al. Advanced stage mucinous epithelial ovarian cancer: the Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group experience. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;97:436–41.
- 242. Sun J-H, Ji Z-H, Yu Y, et al. Cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat advanced/recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer: results from a retrospective study on prospectively established database. Transl Oncol. 2016;9(2):130– 8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranon.2016.02.002.
- 243. Dogan A, Solass W, Tempfer CB. Cytoreductive surgery followed by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for recurrent adult granulosa cell tumor: a case report. Gynecol Oncol Rep. 2016;16:21–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gore.2016.03.005.
- 244. Mangili G, Ottolina J, Gadducci A, Giorda G, Breda E, Savarese A, et al. Long-term follow-up is crucial after treatment for granulosa cell tumours of the ovary. Br J Cancer. 2013;109:29–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.241.
- 245. Colombo N, Sessa C, Landoni F, Sartori E, Pecorelli S, Mangioni C. Cisplatin, vinblastine, and bleomycin combination chemotherapy in metastatic granulosa cell tumor of the ovary. Obstet Gynecol. 1986;67(2):265–8.
- 246. Savage P, Constenla D, Fisher C, Shepherd JH, Barton DP, Blake P, et al. Granulosa cell tumours of the ovary: demographics, survival and the management of advanced disease. Clinical Oncol (R Coll Radiol). 1998;10(4):242–5.
- 247. Ayhan A, Salman M, Velipasaoglu M, Sakinci M, Yuce K. Prognostic factors in adult granulosa cell tumors of the ovary: a retrospective analysis of 80 cases. J Gynecol Oncol. 2009;20(3):158–63.
- 248. Kim YM, Jung M, Kim K, Kim YT, Nam J, Mok J. Adult granulosa cell tumor of the ovary: 35 cases in a single Korean institute. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2006;85:112–5.
- 249. Savage P, Constenla D, Fisher C, Shepherd J, Barton D, Blake P, et al. Granulosa cell tumors of the ovary: demographics, survival and the management of advanced disease. Clin Oncol. 1998;10:242–5.
- Aboud E. Adult granulosa cell tumours of the ovary. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 1997;XVIII(6):520–2.
- 251. Gurumurthy M, Bryant A, Shanbhag S. Effectiveness of different treatment modalities for the management of adult-onset granulosa cell tumours of the ovary (primary and recurrent). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;21(4):CD006912.
- 252. Fotopoulou C, Savvatis K, Braicu EI, et al. Adult granulosa cell tumors of the ovary: tumor dissemination pattern at primary and recurrent situation, surgical outcome. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;119:285–90.

- 253. Al-Badawi IA, Brasher PM, Ghatage P, Nation JG, Schepansky A, Stuart GC. Postoperative chemotherapy in advanced ovarian granulosa cell tumors. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2002;12:119–23.
- 254. Colombo N, Parma G, Zanagnolo V, Insinga A. Management of ovarian stromal cell tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:2944–51.
- Schumer ST, Cannistra SA. Granulosa cell tumor of the ovary. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:1180–9.
- 256. Pautier P, Gutierrez-Bonnaire M, Rey A, et al. Combination of bleomycin, etoposide, and cisplatin for the treatment of advanced ovarian granulosa cell tumors. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2008;18:446–52.
- 257. Canbay E, Ishibashi H, Sako S, Miyata R, Nishino E, Yonemura Y. Management of peritoneal dissemination of recurrences granulosa cell tumor of the ovary. Gan To Kagaku Ryoho. 2012;39(12):2435–7.
- 258. Gouy S, Uzan C, Pautier P, Lhomme C, Duvillard P, Morice P. Results of oxaliplatin-based hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in recurrent ovarian granulosa cell tumors. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2013;170(2):464–7.
- 259. Tao X, Sood AK, Deavers MT, et al. Antiangiogenesis therapy with bevacizumab for patients with ovarian granulosa cell tumors. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;114:431–6.
- 260. Gershenson DM. Management of ovarian germ cell tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(20):2938–43.
- 261. Tavassoli FA, Deville P. Pathology and genetics of tumours of the breast and female genital organs. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2003.
- 262. Roth LM, Talerman A. Recent advances in the pathology and classification of ovarian germ cell tumors. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2006;25:305–20.
- 263. Williams SD, Blessing JA, Moore DH, et al. Cisplatin, vinblastine, and bleomycin in advanced and recurrent ovarian germ-cell tumors: a trial of the Gynecologic Oncology Group. Ann Intern Med. 1989;111:22–7.
- 264. Slayton RE, Park RC, Silverberg SG, et al. Vincristine, dactinomycin, and cyclophosphamide in the treatment of malignant germ cell tumors of the ovary: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study (a final report). Cancer. 1985;56:243–8.
- 265. Messing MJ, Gershenson DM, Morris M, et al. Primary treatment failure in patients with malignant ovarian germ cell neoplasms. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 1992;2:295–300.
- 266. Munkarah A, Gershenson DM, Levenback C, et al. Salvage surgery for chemorefractory ovarian germ cell tumors. Gynecol Oncol. 1994;55:217–23.
- 267. Hayes-Jordan A, Lopez C, Green H, Xiao L, Huh W, Herzog C. Cytoreductive Surgery (CRS) and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) in pediatric ovarian tumors: a novel treatment approach. Pediatr Surg Int. 2016;32(1):71–3. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00383-015-3814-9.
- Hayes-Jordan A, Green H, Lin H, et al. Cytoreductive Surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) for children, adolescents,

and young adults: the first 50 cases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22:1726. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-014-4289-y.

- 269. Gough DB, Donohue JH, Schutt AJ, et al. Pseudomyxoma peritonei. Long-term patient survival with an aggressive regional approach. Ann Surg. 1994;219:112–9.
- 270. Mendeloff J, McSwain NE Jr. Pseudomyxoma peritonei due to mucinous adenocarcinoma of the urachus. South Med J. 1971;64:497–8.
- 271. Cappele O, Sibert L, Descargues J, Delmas V, Grise P. A study of the anatomic features of the duct of the urachus. Surg Radiol Anat. 2001;23:229–35.
- 272. Sheldon CA, Clayman RV, Gonzalez R, Williams RD, Fraley EE. Malignant urachal lesions. J Urol. 1984;131:1–8.
- 273. Sugarbaker PH, Verghese M, Yan TD, Brun E. Management of mucinous urachal neoplasm presenting as pseudomyxoma peritonei. Tumori. 2008;94(5):732–6.
- Stenhouse G, McRae D, Pollock AM. Urachal adenocarcinoma in situ with pseudomyxoma peritonei: a case report. J Clin Pathol. 2003;56:152–3.
- 275. de Bree E, Witkamp A, Van de Vijver M, Zoetmulder F. Unusual origins of pseudomyxoma peritonei. J Surg Oncol. 2000;75:270–4.
- Loggie BW, Fleming RA, Hosseinian AA. Peritoneal carcinomatosis with urachal signet-cell adenocarcinoma. Urology. 1997;50:446–8.
- 277. Santucci RA, True LD, Lange PH. Is partial cystectomy the treatment of choice for mucinous adenocarcinoma of the urachus? Urology. 1997;49:536–40.
- 278. Amin MB, Smith SC, Eble JN, Rao P, Choi WW, Tamboli P, Young RH. Glandular neoplasms of the urachus: a report of 55 cases emphasizing mucinous cystic tumors with proposed classification. Am J Surg Pathol. 2014;38(8):1033–45. https://doi. org/10.1097/PAS.00000000000250.
- 279. Honoré C, Goéré D, Macovei L, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from unusual cancer origins: is there a role for hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy? J Visc Surg. 2015;153(2):101–7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jviscsurg.2015.11.010.
- 280. Liu Y, Ishibashi H, Hirano M, Takeshita K, Mizumoto A, Ichinose M, Nishino E, Kashu I, Yamamoto Y, Sugarbaker PH, Yonemura Y. Cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei arising from urachus. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(8):2799–805.
- Sasano H, Shizawa S, Naguro H, Yamaki T. Mucinous adenocarcinoma arising in a giant urachal cyst associated with pseudomyxoma peritonei and stromal osseus metaplasia. Pathol Int. 1997;47:502–5.
- Yanagisawa S, Fujinaga Y, Kadoya M. Urachal mucinous cystadenocarcinoma with a cystic ovarian metastasis. AJR. 2003;180:1183–4.
- 283. Shinohara T, Misawa K, Sano H, Okawa Y, Takada A. Pseudomyxoma peritonei due to mucinous cystadenocarcinoma in situ of the urachus presenting as an inguinal hernia. Int J Clin Oncol. 2006;11:416–9.

- 284. Soto Delgado M, Pedrero Márquez G, Varo Solís C, et al. Mucinous adenocarcinoma of the urachus and peritoneal pseudomyxoma. Actas Urol Esp. 2006;30:222–6.
- 285. Khalid K, Ahmed MS, Malik MS. Adenocarcinoma of urachal cyst associated with pseudomyxoma peritonei masquerading as abdominal tuberculosis: a case report and review of literature. Indian J Urol. 2008;24:258–60.
- Sugiyama K, Ito N. Mucinous cystadenocarcinoma of the urachus associated with pseudomyxoma peritonei with emphasis on MRI findings. Magn Reson Med Sci. 2009;8:85–9.
- 287. Lamb BW, Vaidyanathan R, Laniado M, Karim O, Motiwala H. Mucinous adenocarcinoma of the urachal remnant with pseudomyxoma peritonei. Urol J. 2010;7:138–9.
- 288. Nozaki T, Yasuda K, Watanabe A, Fuse H. Laparoscopic management of urachal mucinous borderline tumor associated with pseudomyxoma peritonei. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2011;21:e152–5.
- Kebapci M, Saylisoy S, Can C, Dundar E. Radiologic findings of urachal mucinous cystadenocarcinoma causing pseudomyxoma peritonei. Jpn J Radiol. 2012;30:345–8.
- 290. Martínez A, Ferron G, Mery E, Gladieff L, Delord JP, Querleu D. Peritoneal pseudomyxoma arising from the urachus. Surg Oncol. 2012;21:1–5.
- 291. Agrawal AK, Bobiński P, Grzebieniak Z, et al. Pseudomyxoma peritonei originating from urachus—case report and review of the literature. Curr Oncol. 2014;21(1):e155–65. https://doi.org/10.3747/ co.21.1695.
- 292. Shelekhova K, Zhuravlev A, Krylova D, et al. Pseudomyxoma peritonei as a first manifestation of *KRAS*-mutated urachal mucinous cystadenocarcinoma of the bladder: a case report. Int J Surg Pathol. 2017;25(6):563–6. https://doi. org/10.1177/1066896917707041.
- 293. Behbakht K, Yordan EL, Casey C, et al. Prognostic indicators of survival in advanced endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 1994;55:363–7.
- 294. Cook AM, Lodge N, Blake P. Stage IV endometrial carcinoma: a 10 year review of patients. Br J Radiol. 1999;72:485–8.
- 295. Vardi JR, Tadros GH, Anselmo MT, Rafla SD. The value of exploratory laparotomy in patients with endometrial carcinoma according to the new International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics staging. Obstet Gynecol. 1992;80:204–8.
- 296. Wolfson AH, Sightler SE, Markoe AM, et al. The prognostic significance of surgical staging for carcinoma of the endometrium. Gynecol Oncol. 1992;45:142–6.
- 297. Trope CG, Alektiar KM, Sabbatini PJ, Zaino RJ. In: Hoskins WP, Perez CA, Young RC, Barakat R, Markman M, Randall M, editors. Principles and practice of gynecologic oncology. 4th ed.

Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2005. p. 823–72.

- 298. Aalders JG, Abeler V, Kolstad P. Recurrent adenocarcinoma of the endometrium: a clinical and histopathological study of 379 patients. Gynecol Oncol. 1984;17:85–103.
- 299. Gallion HH, Van Nagell JR, Powell DF, et al. Stage I serous papillary carcinoma of the endometrium. Cancer. 1989;63:2224–8.
- 300. Abeler VM, Kjorstad KE. Serous papillary carcinoma of the endometrium: a histopathological study of 22 cases. Gynecol Oncol. 1990;39:266–71.
- 301. Cirisano FD, Robboy SJ, Dodge RK, et al. Epidemiologic and surgicopathologic findings of papillary serous and clear cell endometrial cancers when compared to endometrioid carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 1999;74:385–94.
- 302. Silva EG, Jenkins R. Serous carcinoma in endometrial polyps. Mod Pathol. 1990;3:120–8.
- 303. Snyder MJ, Bentley R, Robboy SJ. Trans-tubal spread of serous adenocarcinoma of the endometrium: an under recognized mechanism of metastasis. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2006;25:155–60.
- 304. Greer BE, Hamberger AD. Treatment of intraperitoneal metastatic adenocarcinoma of the endometrium by the whole-abdomen moving-strip technique and pelvic boost irradiation. Gynecol Oncol. 1983;16:365–73.
- 305. Martinez A, Podratz K, Schray M, Malkasian G. Results of whole abdominopelvic irradiation with nodal boost for patients with endometrial cancer at high risk of failure in the peritoneal cavity. A prospective clinical trial at the Mayo Clinic. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 1988;2:431–46.
- 306. Pliskow S, Penalver M, Averette HE. Stage III and stage IV endometrial carcinoma: a review of 41 cases. Gynecol Oncol. 1990;38:210–5.
- 307. Barlin JN, Puri I, Bristow RE. Cytoreductive surgery for advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer: a meta-analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;118(1):14–8.
- 308. Abu-Zaid A, Azzam AZ, AlOmar O, Salem H, Amin T, Al-Badawi IA. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for managing peritoneal carcinomatosis from endometrial carcinoma: a single-center experience of 6 cases. Ann Saudi Med. 2014;34:159–66.
- Burke TW, Heller PB, Woodward JE, et al. Treatment failure in endometrial carcinoma. Obstet Gynecol. 1990;75:96–101.
- 310. Creasman W, Odicino F, Maisonneuve P, et al. Carcinoma of the corpus uteri. In: Percolli S, Creaseman WT, Pettersson F, Benedet JL, et al., editors. FIGO annual report on the results of treatment in gynaecological cancer, vol. 23. Oxford: Isis Medical Media, Ltd.; 1998.
- 311. Reddoch JM, Burke TW, Morris M, et al. Surveillance for recurrent endometrial carcinoma: development of a follow-up scheme. Gynecol Oncol. 1995;59:221–5.

- 312. Yoonessi M, Anderson DG, Morley GW. Endometrial carcinoma: causes of death and sites of treatment failure. Cancer. 1979;43:1944–50.
- 313. Price FV, Edwards RP, Kelley JL, Kunschner AJ, Hart LA. A trial of outpatient paclitaxel and carboplatin for advanced, recurrent and histologic high-risk endometrial carcinoma: preliminary report. Semin Oncol. 1997;24:S15-78–82.
- 314. Hoskins PJ, Swenerton KD, Pike JA, et al. Paclitaxel and carboplatin, alone or with irradiation, in advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:4048–53.
- 315. Scudder SA, Liu PY, Wilczynski SP, et al. Paclitaxel and carboplatin with amifostine in advanced, recurrent, or refractory endometrial adenocarcinoma: a phase II study of the Southwest Oncology Group. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;96:610–5.
- 316. Thigpen JT, Blessing JA, Hatch KD, Barrett R, Adelson M, DiSaia PJ. Oral medroxyprogesterone acetate in the treatment of advanced or recurrent endometrial carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:1736–44.
- 317. Lentz SS, Brady MF, Major FJ, Reid GC, Soper JT. A phase II trial of high dose megestrol acetate (Megace) in advanced or recurrent endometrial carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 1996;14:357–61.
- 318. McMeekin DS, Gordon A, Fowler J, et al. A phase II trial of arzoxifene, a selective estrogen response modulator, in patients with recurrent or advanced endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;90:64–9.
- Scarabelli C, Campagnutta E, Giorda G, et al. Maximal cytoreductive surgery as a reasonable therapeutic alternative for recurrent endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 1998;70:90–3.
- Campagnutta E, Giorda G, DePiero G, et al. Surgical treatment of recurrent endometrial carcinoma. Cancer. 2004;100:89–96.
- 321. Awtrey CS, Cadungog MG, Leitao MM, et al. Surgical resection of recurrent endometrial carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;102:480–8.
- 322. Helm CW, Toler CR, Martin RS, et al. Cytoreduction and intraperitoneal heated chemotherapy for the treatment of endometrial carcinoma recurrent within the peritoneal cavity. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2007;17:204–9.
- 323. Bakrin N, Cotte E, Sayag-Beaujard A, et al. Cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of recurrent endometrial carcinoma confined to the peritoneal cavity. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2010;20:809–14.
- 324. Delotte J, Desantis M, Frigenza M, et al. Cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of endometrial cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2014;172:111–4.
- 325. Cardi M, Sammartino P, Mingarelli V, et al. Cytoreduction and HIPEC in the treatment of "unconventional" secondary peritoneal carcinoma-

tosis. World J Surg Oncol. 2015;13:305. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12957-015-0703-6.

- 326. Santeufemia DA, Lumachi F, Basso SM, et al. Cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy as salvage treatment for a late wound recurrence of endometrial cancer. Anticancer Res. 2013;33:1041–4.
- 327. Gusani NJ, Cho SW, Colovos C, Seo S, Franko J, Richard SD, et al. Aggressive surgical management of peritoneal carcinomatosis with low mortality in a high volume tertiary center. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:654–63. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-007-9701-4.
- 328. Glehen O, Gilly F, Arvieux C. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: a multi institutional study of 159 patients treated by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:2370–7. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-010-1039-7.
- 329. El-Serag HB, Davila JA. Is fibrolamellar carcinoma different from hepatocellular carcinoma? A US population-based study. Hepatology. 2004;39:798–803.
- 330. Stipa F, Yoon SS, Liau KH, et al. Outcome of patients with fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer. 2006;106:1331–8.
- 331. Craig JR, Peters RL, Edmondson HA, Omata M. Fibrolamellar carcinoma of the liver: a tumor of adolescents and young adults with distinctive clinicopathologic features. Cancer. 1980;46:372–9.
- 332. Nagorney DM, Adson MA, Weiland LH, et al. Fibrolamellar hepatoma. Am J Surg. 1985;149:113–9.
- 333. Ang CS, Kelley RK, Choti MA, et al. Clinicopathologic characteristics and survival outcomes of patients with fibrolamellar carcinoma: data from the fibrolamellar carcinoma consortium. Gastrointest Cancer Res. 2013;6:3–9.
- 334. Mayo SC, Mavros MN, Nathan H, et al. Treatment and prognosis of patients with fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma: a national perspective. J Am Coll Surg. 2014;218(2):196–205. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2013.10.011.
- 335. Dabaja BS, Suki D, Pro B, et al. Adenocarcinoma of the small bowel: presentation, prognostic factors, and outcome of 217 patients. Cancer. 2004;101:518–26.
- 336. Locher C, Malka D, Boige V, et al. Combination chemotherapy in advanced small bowel adenocarcinoma. Oncology. 2005;69:290–4.
- 337. Overman MJ, Kopetz S, Wen S, et al. Chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil and a platinum compound improves outcomes in metastatic small bowel adenocarcinoma. Cancer. 2008;113:2038–45.
- 338. Talamonti MS, Goetz LH, Rao S, et al. Primary cancers of the small bowel: analysis of prognostic factors and results of surgical management. Arch Surg. 2002;137:564–70.
- 339. North JH, Pack MS. Malignant tumors of the small intestine: a review of 144 cases. Am Surg. 2000;66:46–51.

- 340. Frost DB, Mercado PD, Tyrell JS. Small bowel cancer: a 30-year review. Ann Surg Oncol. 1994;1:290–5.
- 341. Bilimoria KY, Bentrem DJ, Wayne JD, et al. Small bowel cancer in the United States. Changes in epidemiology, treatment and survival over the last 20 years. Ann Surg. 2009;249:63–71.
- 342. Sadeghi B, Arvieux C, Glehen O, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from non-gynecologic malignancies: results of the EVOCAPE 1 multicentric prospective study. Cancer. 2000;88:358–63.
- 343. Marchettini P, Sugarbaker PH. Mucinous adenocarcinoma of the small bowel with peritoneal seeding. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2002;28(1):19–23.
- 344. Jacks SP, Hundley JC, Shen P, Russell GB, Levine EA. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis from small bowel adenocarcinoma. J Surg Oncol. 2005;91(2):112–7.
- 345. Aparicio T, Svrcek M, Zaanan A, Beohou E, Laforest A, Afchain P, et al. Small bowel adenocarcinoma phenotyping, a clinicobiological prognostic study. Br J Cancer. 2013;109(12):3057–66.
- 346. Zaaimi Y, Aparicio T, Laurent-Puig P, Taieb J, Zaanan A. Advanced small bowel adenocarcinoma: molecular characteristics and therapeutic perspectives. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol. 2016;40(2):154–60.
- 347. Czaykowski P, Hui D. Chemotherapy in small bowel adenocarcinoma: 10-year experience of the British Columba Cancer Agency. Clin Oncol. 2007;19(2):143–9.
- 348. Ono M, Shirao K, Takashima A, Morizane C, Okita N, Takahari D, et al. Combination chemotherapy with cisplatin and irinotecan in patients with adenocarcinoma of the small intestine. Gastric Cancer. 2009;11(4):201–5.
- 349. Suenaga M, Mizunuma N, Chin K, Matsusaka S, Shinozaki E, Oya M, et al. Chemotherapy for smallbowel adenocarcinoma at a single institution. Surg Today. 2009;39(1):27–31.
- 350. Moon YW, Rha SY, Shin SJ, Chang H, Shim HS, Roh JK. Adenocarcinoma of the small bowel at a single Korean institute: management and prognosticators. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2010;136(3):387–94.
- 351. Zhang L, Wang LY, Deng YM, Wang FH, Feng F, Chen YC, et al. Efficacy of the FOLFOX/CAPOX regimen for advanced small bowel adenocarcinoma: a three-center study from China. J BUON. 2011;16(4):689–96.
- 352. Khan K, Peckitt C, Sclafani F, Watkins D, Rao S, Starling N, et al. Prognostic factors and treatment outcomes in patients with Small Bowel Adenocarcinoma (SBA): the Royal Marsden Hospital (RMH) experience. BMC Cancer. 2015;15:15.
- 353. Assersohn L, Norman A, Cunningham D, Benepal T, Ross PJ, Oates J. Influence of metastatic site as an additional predictor for response and outcome in advanced colorectal carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 1999;79(11–12):1800–5.

- 354. Tsushima T, Taguri M, Honma Y, Takahashi H, Ueda S, Nishina T, et al. Multicenter retrospective study of 132 patients with unresectable small bowel adenocarcinoma treated with chemotherapy. Oncologist. 2012;17(9):1163–70.
- 355. Xiang XJ, Liu YW, Zhang L, Qiu F, Yu F, Zhan ZY, et al. A phase II study of modified FOLFOX as firstline chemotherapy in advanced small bowel adenocarcinoma. Anti-Cancer Drugs. 2012;23(5):561–56.
- 356. Rovers KP, de Bree E, Yonemura Y, de Hingh IH. Treatment of peritoneal metastases from small bowel adenocarcinoma. Int J Hyperth. 2016;33(5):571–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/0265673 6.2016.1266700.
- 357. Chua TC, Koh JL, Yan TD, Liauw W, Morris DL. Cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis from small bowel adenocarcinoma. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100(2):139–43.
- 358. Elias D, Glehen O, Pocard M, Quenet F, Goéré D, Arvieux C, et al. A comparative study of complete cytoreductive surgery plus intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat peritoneal dissemination from colon, rectum, small bowel, and nonpseudomyxoma appendix. Ann Surg. 2010;251(5):896–901.
- 359. Sun Y, Shen P, Stewart JH, Russell GB, Levine EA. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis from small bowel adenocarcinoma. Am Surg. 2013;79(6):644–8.
- 360. Ramshorst B, Meijerink J, te Velde EA, et al. Peritoneal metastases from small bowel cancer: results of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the Netherlands. Surgery. 2015;157(6):1023–7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.surg.2015.01.021.
- 361. Liu Y, Ishibashi H, Takeshita K, Mizumoto A, Hirano M, Sako S, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal dissemination from small bowel malignancy: results from a single specialized center. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1625–31.
- 362. Legué LM, Bernards N, Gerritse SL, van Oudheusden TR, de Hingh IH, Creemers GM, et al. Trends in incidence, treatment and survival of small bowel adenocarcinomas between 1999 and 2013: a population-based study in the Netherlands. Acta Oncol. 2016;55(9–10):1183–9.
- 363. Perez EA, Livingstone AS, Franceschi D, et al. Current incidence and outcomes of gastrointestinal mesenchymal tumors including gastrointestinal stromal tumors. J Am Coll Surg. 2006;202:623–9.
- 364. Hirota S, Isozaki K, Moriyama Y, et al. Gain-offunction mutations of c-kit in human gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Science. 1998;279:577–80.
- 365. Joensuu H, Eriksson M, Sundby HK, et al. One vs three years of adjuvant imatinib for operable gastrointestinal stromal tumor: a randomized trial. JAMA. 2012;307:1265–72.
- 366. Miettinen M, Lasota J. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors: pathology and prognosis at different sites. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2006;23:70–83.
- 367. Demetri GD, Von Mehren M, Blanke CD, et al. Efficacy and safety of imatinib mesylate in advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumors. N Engl J Med. 2002;347:472–80.
- 368. Demetri G, Desai J, Fletcher JA, et al. SU11248, a multi-targeted tyrosine kinase inhibitor, can overcome imatinib (IM) resistance caused by diverse genomic mechanisms in patients (pts) with metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST). Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol. 2004;22:3001.
- 369. Bauer S, Hartmann JT, de Wit M, et al. Resection of residual disease in patients with metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumors responding to treatment with imatinib. Int J Cancer. 2005;117:316–25.
- 370. Rutkowski P, Nyckowski P, Grzesiakowska U, et al. The clinical characteristics and the role of surgery and imatinib treatment in patients with liver metastases from c-Kit positive gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST). Neoplasma. 2003;50:438–42.
- 371. Raut CP, Posner M, Desai J, et al. Surgical management of advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumors after treatment with targeted systemic therapy using kinase inhibitors. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:2325–31.
- 372. Glehen O, Gilly F, Boutitie F, Bereder JM, Quenet F, Sideris L, et al. Toward curative treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from non ovarian origin by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer. 2010;16:5608–18.
- 373. Pommier RF, Brennan MF. An eleven-year experience with adrenocortical carcinoma. Surgery. 1992;112:963–70; discussion 970–1.
- 374. Assie G, Antoni G, Tissier F, et al. Prognostic parameters of metastatic adrenocortical carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92:148–54.
- 375. Amini N, Margonis GA, Kim Y, et al. Curative resection of adrenocortical carcinoma: rates and patterns of postoperative recurrence. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(1):126–33.
- 376. Gonzalez RJ, Shapiro S, Sarlis N, et al. Laparoscopic resection of adrenal cortical carcinoma: a cautionary note. Surgery. 2005;138:1078–85; discussion 1085–6.
- 377. Leboulleux S, Deandreis D, Al Ghuzlan A, et al. Adrenocortical carcinoma: is the surgical approach a risk factor of peritoneal carcinomatosis? Eur J Endocrinol. 2010;162(6):1147–53.
- 378. Miller BS, Gauger PG, Hammer GD, Doherty GM. Resection of adrenocortical carcinoma is less complete and local recurrence occurs sooner and more often after laparoscopic adrenalectomy than after open adrenalectomy. Surgery. 2012;152(6):1150–7.
- 379. Lombardi CP, Raffaelli M, De Crea C, et al. Open versus endoscopic adrenalectomy in the treatment of localized (stage I/II) adrenocortical carcinoma:

results of a multiinstitutional Italian survey. Surgery. 2012;152(6):1158–64.

- 380. Margonis GA, Kim Y, Prescott JD, et al. Adrenocortical carcinoma: impact of surgical margin status on long-term outcomes. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(1):134–41.
- Sugarbaker PH. Peritoneal metastases from adrenal cortical carcinoma treated by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Tumori. 2016;102(6):588–92. https://doi. org/10.5301/tj.5000567.
- 382. Sheen-Chen SM, Liu YW, Sun CK, Lin SE, Eng HL, Huang WT, Ko SF. Abdominal carcinomatosis attributed to metastatic breast carcinoma. Dig Dis Sci. 2008;53(11):3043–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10620-008-0529-y.
- 383. Bertozzi S, Londero AP, Cedolini C, et al. Prevalence, risk factors, and prognosis of peritoneal metastasis from breast cancer. SpringerPlus. 2015;4:688. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-015-1449-x.
- 384. Tuthill M, Pell R, Giuliani R, Lim A, Gudi M, Contractor KB, et al. Peritoneal disease in breast cancer: a specific entity with an extremely poor prognosis. Eur J Cancer. 2009;45:2146–9. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2009.04.027.
- 385. Nazareno J, Taves D, Preiksaitis HG. Metastatic breast cancer to the gastrointestinal tract: a case series and review of the literature. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12:6219–34.
- 386. Harris JR, Morrow M, Bonadonna G. Cancer of the breast. In: De Vita VT, Hellman S, Rosemberg SA, editors. Cancer, principles and practice of oncology. 4th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott; 1993. p. 1264e332.
- 387. Mc Lemore EC, Pockaj BA, Reynolds C, Gray RJ, Hernandez JL, Grant CS, et al. Breast cancer: presentation and intervention in women with gastrointestinal metastases and carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12:886–94.
- 388. Cardi M, Sammartino P, Framarino ML, Biacchi D, Cortesi E, Sibio S, et al. Treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from breast cancer by maximal cytoreduction and HIPEC: a preliminary report on 5 cases. Breast. 2013;22:845–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. breast.2013.02.020.
- 389. Abu-Rustum NR, Aghajanian CA, Venkatraman ES, Feroz F, Barakat RR. Metastatic breast carcinoma to the abdomen and pelvis. Gynecol Oncol. 1997;66:41–4.
- 390. Curtin JP, Barakat RR, Hoskins WJ. Ovarian disease in women with cancer preoperatively breast cancer. Obstet Gynecol. 1994;84:449–52.
- 391. Tornos C, Soslow R, Chen S, Akram M, Hummer AJ, Abu Rustum N, et al. Expression of WT1, Ca125 and GCDFP-15 as useful markers in the differential diagnosis of primary ovarian carcinomatosis versus metastatic breast cancer to the ovary. Am J Surg Pathol. 2005;20:1482e9.
- 392. Silbersten GB, Vanhorn K, Strickland P, Roberts CT Jr, Daniel CW. Altered expression of the WT1

Wilms tumor suppressor gene in human breast cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1997;94:8132e7.

- 393. Chieng DC, Rodriguez-Burford C, Talley LI, Sviglin H, Stockard CR, Kleinberg MJ, et al. Expression of CEA, Tag72 and Lewis-Y antigen in primary and metastatic lesions of ovarian carcinomas. Hum Pathol. 2003;34:1016e21.
- 394. Wick MR, Lillemoe TJ, Copland GJ, Swanson PE, Manivel JC, Klang DT. Gross cystic disease fluid protein-15 as a marker for breast cancer: immunohistochemical analysis of 690 human neoplasms and comparison with alpha lactalbumin. Hum Pathol. 1989;20:281e7.
- 395. Ayhan A, Tuncer S, Bukulmez O. Malignant tumors metastatic to the ovaries. J Surg Oncol. 1995;60:268–76.

- Demopoulos R, Touger L, Dubin N. Secondary ovarian carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 1987;6:16–175.
- 397. Webb M, Decker D, Musey E. Cancer metastatic to the ovary. Obstet Gynecol. 1975;45:391–6.
- 398. Petru E, Pickel H, Heiderfadai M, Lahousen M, Haas J, Scheider H, et al. Nongenital cancers metastatic to the ovary. Gynecol Oncol. 1992;44:83–6.
- 399. Eitan R, Gemignani ML, Verkatraman ES, Barakat RR, Abu-Rustum RR. Breast cancer metastatic to abdomen and pelvis. Role of surgical resection. Gynecol Oncol. 2003;90:397e401.
- 400. Honoré C, Goèré D, Dartigues P, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from solid pseudopapillary neoplasm of the pancreas treated with HIPEC. Anticancer Res. 2012;32:1069–73.



17

Clinical Trials in CRS and HIPEC: Ongoing Trials and Future Directives

William F. Morano, Wilbur B. Bowne, and Jesus Esquivel

17.1 Introduction

The management of peritoneal metastasis (PM) from colorectal malignancies has faced a difficult history in attempting to adapt cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and concomitant use of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). These treatment modalities have become the standard of care for pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) and peritoneal mesothelioma. Conducting clinical trials to validate potential treatment efficacy in PM from other gastrointestinal malignancies has proven equally difficult [1, 2]. Despite treatment efficacy shown in these peritoneal malignancies, as well as a host of retrospectively analyzed data to support use in PM of other origins, there have been few prospective, controlled clinical trials for HIPEC. Challenges include trial design, oncology-community bias, and poor patient accrual. In the USA, Stojadinovic et al., in collaboration with the US Military Cancer Institute, the American College of Surgeons Oncology Group, and the National Cancer Institute,

attempted to enroll 328 patients for a randomized controlled trial (RCT) investigating the role of CRS and HIPEC for the management of colorectal PM; however, they were only able to recruit a single patient. Lack of patient accrual is a common factor in the failure of most clinical trials for CRS and HIPEC, despite a growing need for clinical evidence to validate an aggressive treatment approach toward peritoneal malignancies.

CRS and HIPEC have slowly gained acceptance in the wider oncology community, even being included in the 2017 National Cancer Comprehensive Network guidelines for colon cancer, stating that "if R0 resection can be achieved, surgical resection of isolated peritoneal disease may be considered at experienced centers [3]." This treatment paradigm appears necessary, as at the time of primary colon cancer resection, as many as 10-15% of patients may present with synchronous PM [4]. Furthermore, in patients with recurrences, the peritoneum may be the only site of disease in 10–35% [5, 6]. Limited clinical trials, as well as significant retrospective data, already published have provided a foundation from which more prospective trials have developed.

17.2 Published Clinical Trials

Few clinical trials have reached completion regarding the benefits of CRS and HIPEC in patients with PM. The current NCCN Guidelines

W. F. Morano • W. B. Bowne Department of Surgery, Drexel University College of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: morano.william@gmail.com; wbb28@drexel.edu

J. Esquivel (🖂) Department of Surgery, Frederick Memorial Hospital, Frederick, MD, USA e-mail: jesusesquivel@yahoo.com

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_17

for the management of PM from colon cancer highlight the significance of the only randomized controlled trial investigating the effectiveness of CRS and HIPEC specifically for CRC published by Verwaal et al. [3, 7]. Between January 1998 and August 2001, this group randomized 105 patients. Patients in the control arm received treatment with standard chemotherapy, and palliative surgery when necessary, comprised of 5-fluorouracil (FU) and leucovorin for up to 26 weeks or irinotecan for 6 months if previously treated with FU, as well as palliative surgery, when necessary. The experimental group underwent CRS and HIPEC with mitomycin-C (MMC), followed by adjuvant chemotherapy within 3 months of surgery. Ultimately, 44 patients were included in the standard therapy group and 49 patients underwent CRS and HIPEC, with 33 patients proceeding to adjuvant therapy. This study demonstrated a significant improvement in median survival, 12.6 months in the control group, compared to 22.4 months in the CRS/HIPEC group (p = 0.032). Importantly, survival was nearly 2 years longer in the CRS/ HIPEC treatment group. Verwaal's data suggests a 20% 5-year survival rate in the patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC, compared to control. The authors also noted that patients with PM involving greater than six regions of the abdomen had worse survival compared to those with less than five regions involved, as previously reported by Sugarbaker et al. and Elias et al. [8, 9].

Furthermore, this group from the Netherlands Cancer Institute analyzed a subset of the randomized patients who underwent "standard therapy" [10]. At this time, many were pushing for clinical trials investigating the use of CRS/HIPEC for PMs from colorectal cancer, yet the full benefit of this "standard therapy" was not fully understood. The goal of this subgroup analysis was to demonstrate the effectiveness of standard therapy, including conventional surgery and systemic chemotherapy. Ultimately, 50 patients were randomized to treatment with standard therapy, with 25 completing the full 26-week treatment schedule. Fifteen patients stopped systemic therapy due to progression of disease. They demonstrated a median survival of 12.6 months (37–58 months),

longer than observed by previous studies, likely due to patient selection [11]. However, the patients that underwent a more radical resection had a survival of 17.3 months, demonstrating a potential survival benefit beyond that of standard treatment.

The Verwaal group later published a followup to their RCT in 2008 [12]. The median followup time was 8 years (72-115 months). Median progression-free survival was 7.7 months for patients with standard therapy and 12.6 months after CRS and HIPEC with adjuvant chemotherapy (p = 0.02). Disease-specific survival was 12.6 months for control group and 22.2 months for CRS and HIPEC group (p = 0.28). At time of follow-up, four patients from the control arm, two with disease and two without, were still living. In the CRS and HIPEC arm, five patients were alive, two with disease and three without. Ultimately, the major impact on survival was completeness of cytoreduction. Patients who underwent a complete cytoreduction had a 5-year survival of 45%, with no treatment-related deaths occurring, as compared to those with incomplete cytoreduction.

Glehen et al. conducted an open, prospective, nonrandomized trial between 1998 and 2001 [13]. This study included 56 patients with PM of varying origins: 26 colonic adenocarcinoma, 7 PMP, 7 ovarian carcinoma, 6 gastric adenocarcinoma, 5 peritoneal mesothelioma, 3 small bowel adenocarcinoma, and 2 of unknown primary. The goal of this early study was to evaluate the outcomes of aggressive peritonectomy procedures and "intraperitoneal (IP) chemohyperthermia" in patients with these various forms of PM. In this study, the 27 patients who underwent a complete macroscopic resection (R0 and R1) had a 2-year survival rate of 79.0%, as compared to 44.7% in the 29 patients who received an R2 resection (mean survival 558.2 vs. 360.1 days, respectively, p = 0.006). This study demonstrated a 28.6% (16/56) morbidity rate, with seven patients suffering cutaneous fistulas. Of note, three patients were included in this study twice due to recurrence at 11, 16, and 29 months after the first surgery. These patients survived 36, 20, and 22 months, respectively, after the second procedure. By August of 2002, 13 patients died from disease recurrence, with an additional mortality due to myocardial infarction. Additionally, this group monitored tolerance to hyperthermic chemotherapy, reporting a mean maximal body temperature via pulmonary artery monitoring of 38.5 °C, returning to normal values within 2–5 h.

Similar studies have been conducted investigating the impact of CRS with or without HIPEC on gastric cancer. Gastric cancer may spread via hematogenous, lymphatic, or intra-abdominal metastases; however, despite surgery and adjuvant chemotherapy, most patients recur locoregionally, as demonstrated by the MAGIC, INT-0116, and ACTS-GC trials [14–16]. Importantly, up to 30% of patients with primary gastric cancer may present with synchronous PM, demonstrating a need for a more aggressive approach toward treatment [17]. Yang et al. conducted a phase III trial in which 68 patients with PM of gastric origin were randomized to CRS alone or CRS with HIPEC [18]. Median survival in the CRS group was 6.5 months as compared to 11 months in the CRS and HIPEC cohort (p = 0.046), with 1-, 2-, and 3-year survival rates of 29.4, 5.9, and 0 vs. 41.2, 14.7, and 5.9%, respectively. Subgroup analysis was performed based on peritoneal carcinomatosis index (PCI) and completeness of cytoreduction (CCR) scores, to assess the impact of each on survival [19]. In the 23 patients with a high PCI (≥ 20), the median overall survival of the CRS and HIPEC group was 13.5 months as compared to 3-month survival in the CRS-only group (p = 0.012). Importantly, in patients with incomplete cytoreduction (CCR 2–3), CRS and HIPEC provided a longer median overall survival (8.2 months), as compared to the CRS-only group (4 months) (p = 0.024) [18].

The current standard of care for ovarian cancer involves a combination of CRS and platinumbased, systemic chemotherapy. In a comparison of retrospective studies, Chi et al. demonstrated an improved median overall survival of 54 months in patients who underwent optimal cytoreduction, including upper abdominal procedures, as compared to 43 months in patients who underwent more traditional resection, involving just the lower abdominopelvic region. Yet despite maximal treatment, most patients recurred within 2 years, many with platinum-resistant disease, leading to investigations into the oncologic benefit of intraperitoneal chemotherapy [20, 21]. A phase III RCT by the Gynecologic Oncology Group, published in 2006, randomly assigned 415 patients with stage III ovarian carcinoma or primary peritoneal carcinoma who had already undergone maximal debulking, with no residual mass greater than 1.0 cm, to treatment with adjuvant systemic paclitaxel plus cisplatin or systemic paclitaxel with intraperitoneal (IP) cisplatin and paclitaxel. While grade 3 and 4 toxicities were more common in the IP arm, the authors demonstrated a median progression-free survival of 23.8 months in this group as compared to the control arm (p = 0.05), with a median overall survival of 65.6 and 49.7 months, respectively (p = 0.03). Though patient quality of life was worse after IP therapy in the short term (3–6 weeks after treatment), by 1 year this group reported improved quality of life as compared to the systemically treated patients [21].

Spiliotis et al. later conducted a prospective randomized phase III study investigating the efficacy of HIPEC for epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) [22]. EOC often presents at an advanced stage with spread throughout the abdominopelvic region due to its indolent pathogenesis, leading to poor overall median survival [23]. This study represented the first randomized control trial for recurrent EOC. Over 8 years, from 2006 to 2013, this group randomized 120 women, who previously underwent CRS/debulking and adjuvant chemotherapy, with stage IIIC or IV recurrent EOC. Patients were randomized to CRS and HIPEC with subsequent systemic chemotherapy or CRS with systemic chemotherapy only. For HIPEC paclitaxel and cisplatin were used in platinum-sensitive disease, while doxorubicin and paclitaxel or MMC were used for platinumresistant disease. In the HIPEC treatment group, mean survival was 26.9 and 26.4 months in the stage IIIC and IV groups, respectively. In those treated with CRS and systemic chemotherapy only, mean overall survival was 14.2 and 11.9 months in patients with stage IIIC and IV,

respectively. This study also demonstrated the significant treatment benefit of HIPEC in stage IIIC and IV disease with both platinum sensitivity and platinum resistance.

17.3 Ongoing Clinical Trials

Despite the few RCTs that have been completed, retrospective data has shown a significant impact on the combined use of CRS and HIPEC for CRC, as well as gastric and ovarian malignancies. A number of trials, internationally, are currently enrolling patients to determine the effects of both HIPEC and early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC) on PM of various origins. These studies vary in phase, as well as their approach to HIPEC. We seek to highlight some of the more notable RCTs currently ongoing and actively enrolling patients, while a complete list can be found in Table 17.1.

17.3.1 Colorectal/Appendiceal

The ICARuS (Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy After Cytoreductive Surgery) trial (NCT01815459), with principal investigator Garrett M. Nash of Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center (MSKCC), seeks to determine the benefit of HIPEC with MMC versus early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC) with floxuridine after optimal CRS in patients with appendiceal and colorectal cancers. Enrollment began in March 2013, with an estimated completion date of March 2018. The primary outcome measure of the study is disease-free survival, within 3 years, though secondary measures will monitor surgical and chemotherapy-related toxicities (grades 3–5) up to 60 days postoperative.

At Wake Forest University Health Sciences, Levine et al., in collaboration with the National Cancer Institute (NCI), are conducting a phase II, non-blinded randomized investigation comparing the hematologic toxicity profiles of CRS and HIPEC with MMC to CRS and HIPEC with oxaliplatin for the management of PM from carcinoma of the appendix or primary peritoneal cavity malignancies (NCT01580410). Because CRS and HIPEC are considered the mainstay of treatment for these types of malignancies, this group is seeking to identify the safer intraperitoneal chemotherapeutic [1, 2]. The primary outcome measure will be the difference in rate of grade 3 or 4 hematologic toxicities between the two groups, with secondary outcome measures of disease-free survival and quality of life assessments (3 years) between MMC and oxaliplatin-treated patients. As of December 2015, this study has completed patient recruitment, with an initial estimated enrollment of 116 patients.

PRODIGE 7 is a randomized, multicenter, phase III trial led by François Quénet, of the Insitut du Cancer de Montpellier Val d'Aurelle (Montpellier, France), in which 270 patients with colorectal cancer and limited peritoneal dissemination were randomized intraoperatively to receive HIPEC or not, if complete cytoreduction was achieved. The study was designed to evaluate the added benefit of HIPEC to a complete cytoreductive surgery. This study finished accrual at the end of 2013 and results are pending. In this study oxaliplatin (460 mg/m²) in 2 L/m² of dextrose 5% over 30 min at a minimal temperature of 42 °C was used. One hour before the HIPEC, 20 mg/m² of leucovorin and 400 mg/m² of 5-fluorouracil were given intravenously. While this study is promising, it does come with potential issues. The participation of multiple institutions with varying degrees of experience and the fact that the timing of incorporation of systemic therapies and the agents used were not mandated to participate on the trial may cloud the definitive role of HIPEC in the management of these patients. In addition, it is possible that patients randomized to the no-HIPEC arm might receive another surgery with HIPEC after they recur. However, a very important contribution will be that it will show the value of having surgery to remove the peritoneal metastases and receiving systemic chemotherapy. Therefore, this may become a landmark study highlighting the importance of a multidisciplinary management of patients with CRC-PM.

The APEC study, a multicenter, randomized, phase II trial sponsored by Fudan University (Shanghai, China), will investigate the addition of HIPEC with raltitrexed or oxaliplatin to CRS and

ClinicalTrials.			Primary institution/		
gov ID	Phase	Country	group	Malignancy	Treatment arms
NCT02349958	2	USA	Bay Area Gynecology Oncology	Ovarian, fallopian tube, uterine, mesothelioma, GI, cervical, primary peritoneal	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC
NCT02124421	2	USA	Mercy Medical Center	Ovarian, fallopian tube, primary peritoneal	CRS/HIPEC vs. adjuvant chemotherapy vs. CRS and combo adjuvant IV/IP chemotherapy
NCT01970722	2	USA	City of Hope Medical Center	Ovarian, uterine, fallopian tube, primary peritoneal	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC, ± adjuvant IP or IV therapy
NCT01539785	3	Italy	Catholic University of the Sacred Heart	Recurrent ovarian	CRS vs. CRS and HIPEC; both arms undergo adjuvant systemic chemotherapy
NCT02672098	1	USA	Loma Linda University Cancer Center	Recurrent ovarian	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC
NCT01767675	2	USA	Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center	Recurrent ovarian	CRS vs. CRS and HIPEC; both arms undergo adjuvant systemic chemotherapy
NCT02567253	2	Belgium	University Hospital, Ghent	Ovarian	CRS and HIPEC, varying temperature and dosage
NCT01628380	3	Italy	A.O. Ospedale Papa Giovanni XXIII	Ovarian	CRS vs. CRS and HIPEC
NCT02681432	3	Spain	Hospital General de la Ciudad Real	Ovarian	CRS vs. CRS and HIPEC
NCT01376752	3	Multiple European countries	UNICANCER	Recurrent ovarian	CRS vs. CRS and HIPEC
NCT02356276	3	China	Affiliated Tumor Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University	Gastric	Surgery vs. surgery and surgery; both arms undergo adjuvant systemic chemotherapy
NCT02891447	2	USA	MD Anderson Cancer Center	Gastric	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC
NCT02672865	1	USA	Loma Linda University Cancer Center	Gastric	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC
NCT02158988	3	Germany	Charité University	Gastric	Neoadjuvant/CRS/adjuvant vs. neoadjuvant/CRS and HIPEC/ adjuvant

Table 17.1 All studies on the ClinicalTrials.gov registry investigating the role of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy on peritoneal malignancies

(continued)

ClinicalTrials			Primary institution/		
gov ID	Phase	Country	group	Malignancy	Treatment arms
NCT02240524	3	China	Affiliated Tumor Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University	Gastric	Surgery/systemic chemotherapy vs. surgery/HIPEC/systemic chemotherapy
NCT02356276	3	China	Affiliated Tumor Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University	Gastric	Surgery/systemic chemotherapy vs. surgery/HIPEC/systemic chemotherapy
NCT02960061	3	China	Sixth Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University	Gastric	Neoadjuvant/surgery/peritoneal lavage/adjuvant vs. neoadjuvant/ surgery/HIPEC/adjuvant
NCT02549911	2	China	Zhejiang Cancer Hospital	Gastric	All patients will undergo HIPEC/ surgery/adjuvant chemotherapy and secondary CRS if necessary
NCT03023436	3	China	Nanfang Hospital of Southern Medical University	Gastric	CRS, HIPEC, and systemic therapy vs. systemic therapy alone
NCT02396498	3	China	Tangdu Hospital	Gastric	Surgery/systemic therapy plus S-1 vs. surgery/HIPEC/systemic therapy plus S-1
NCT02528110	2	China	Wuhan University	Gastric	Gastrectomy with or without HIPEC
NCT02969122	2	China	Peking University	Gastric	HIPEC during laparoscopic staging followed by systemic therapy and later resection if peritoneal cytology negative vs. resection and HIPEC followed by systemic therapy
NCT02381847	3	China	The Affiliated Nanjing Drum Tower Hospital of Nanjing University Medical School	Gastric	Radical gastrectomy with or without HIPEC
NCT01683864	2/3	Germany	University Hospital Tübingen	Gastric	Gastrectomy with or without HIPEC
NCT01882933	3	France	Hospices Civils de Lyon	Gastric	Resection with or without HIPEC
NCT02995850	1b/2	South Korea	Yonsei University	Gastric	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC with EPIC
NCT02420509	2	USA	University of California, San Diego	Appendiceal	All patients will undergo systemic therapy after CRS and HIPEC
NCT01815359	2	USA	Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center	Colorectal and appendiceal	CRS and HIPEC vs. CRS and EPIC

Table 17.1 (continued)

ClinicalTrials.			Primary institution/		
gov ID	Phase	Country	group	Malignancy	Treatment arms
NCT02965248	2	China	Fudan University	Colorectal	Surgery alone, surgery and HIPEC with raltitrexed, or surgery and HIPEC with oxaliplatin
NCT02179489	3	China	Zhejiang University	Colorectal	Surgery vs. surgery and HIPEC for prevention of PM in high-risk patients
NCT02830139	2	China	Wuhan University	Colorectal	Surgery vs. surgery and HIPEC, both groups under systemic therapy
NCT02758951	2/3	Netherlands	Catharina Hospital	Colorectal	CRS/HIPEC with pre/ postoperative systemic therapy vs. CRS/HIPEC
NCT02231086	3	Netherlands	Academisch Medisch Centrum, Universiteit van Amsterdam	Colorectal	Adjuvant systemic therapy only vs. adjuvant HIPEC and systemic therapy for prevention of PM in high-risk patients
NCT02399410	2	Belgium	Ghent University Hospital	Colorectal	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC with perioperative systemic bevacizumab
NCT01226394	3	France	Gustave Roussy, Cancer Campus, Grand Paris	Colorectal	Surveillance vs. follow-up laparotomy with HIPEC after primary resection
NCT02866903	1/2	France	Hospices Civils de Lyon	Colorectal	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC with systemic FOLFIRI and bevacizumab
NCT02974556	3	Italy	University of Roma La Sapienza	Colorectal	Prophylactic CRS/HIPEC and systemic therapy vs. systemic therapy only after primary resection for prevention of PM
NCT02614534	3	Spain	Maimónides Biomedical Research Institute of Córdoba	Colorectal	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC
NCT02863471	1/2	Germany	University Hospital Tübingen	Pancreatic	All patients undergo R0/R1 resection and HIPEC
NCT02850874	2	USA	Carolinas Medical Center	Pancreatic	Pancreaticoduodenectomy with HIPEC compared to historic controls
NCT01833832	2	USA	National Cancer Institute	Adrenocortical	All patients will undergo CRS and HIPEC

Table 17.1 (continued)

systemic therapy (NCT02965248). Patients will be randomized to CRS without HIPEC, CRS, and HIPEC with raltitrexed or CRS and HIPEC with oxaliplatin. The primary outcome measure will be "peritoneal metastasis rate," with secondary outcome measures including overall survival, diseasefree survival, toxicity, liver metastasis rate, and a questionnaire on the quality of life. Enrollment began in 2016, with an accrual goal of 147 patients and estimated completion date of 2023.

The CAIRO6 study will focus on the role of perioperative systemic therapy in improving survival in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC for CRC (NCT02758951). This phase II/III study will randomize patients to undergo neoadjuvant systemic therapy with FOLFOX (5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, oxaliplatin) or CAPOX (capecitabine, oxaliplatin) with bevacizumab followed by CRS and HIPEC and then adjuvant systemic therapy with FOLFOX or CAPOX [24, 25]. The control arm will undergo CRS and HIPEC only. The primary measures will be Clavien-Dindo grade III–V postoperative complications and overall survival, with up to 3 years of follow-up [26].

In Amsterdam, at the Academisch Medisch Centrum, Universiteit van Amsterdam, the COLOPEC study aims to determine the effectiveness of adjuvant HIPEC in preventing PM (NCT02231086). Up to 176 patients with T4 or intra-abdominally perforated colon cancer that have undergone curative resection will be randomized to receive adjuvant HIPEC with oxaliplatin or not. The investigators hypothesize that, because the peritoneum is the second most common site of recurrence in CRC patients, HIPEC may prevent peritoneal spread in this cohort of high-risk patients. Patients will be followed for recurrencefree survival up to 18 months postoperatively, as well as with endpoints related to safety/toxicity, disease-free survival, overall survival, and presence of concomitant liver or lung metastases.

Lastly, the "Trial Comparing Simple Follow-up to Exploratory Laparotomy Plus "in Principle" (Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy) HIPEC in Colorectal Patients," or ProphyloCHIP, began patient enrollment in 2010, with a goal of 130 patients (NCT01226394). This multicenter, randomized, phase III study aims to compare the effectiveness of exploratory laparotomy and HIPEC as a prophylactic, follow-up procedure, as compared to standard surveillance. After primary resection of disease, patients will undergo 6 months of standard, adjuvant chemotherapy (currently FOLFOX-4 regimen); if work-up is then negative, patients will be randomized and undergo surveillance or laparotomy with HIPEC. The primary outcome measure will be 3-year disease-free survival, with secondary measures of 3-year, 5-year, and peritoneal disease-free survival.

17.3.2 Ovarian

At MSKCC, an initial small, phase I study demonstrated the safety of CRS and HIPEC in patients with recurrent, platinum-sensitive, epithelial ovarian cancers undergoing secondary cytoreduction [27]. With this information, a multicenter, phase II RCT is currently enrolling patients with ovarian, fallopian tube, and primary peritoneal cancers, led by Dennis Chi and Roisin O'Cearbhaill at MSKCC (NCT01767675). The study, entitled "A Phase II Randomized Study: Outcomes After Secondary Cytoreductive Surgery With or Without Carboplatin Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) Followed by Systemic Combination Chemotherapy for Recurrent Platinum-Sensitive Ovarian, Fallopian Tube, or Primary Peritoneal Cancer," will randomize patients to secondary CRS with or without carboplatin-based HIPEC, followed by systemic chemotherapy; the HIPEC arm will receive five cycles, and the CRS-only arm six cycles of platinum-based therapy. Despite initiating patient enrollment in January 2013, with a goal of 98 patients, this study has been significantly hampered by a lack of patient accrual.

Similarly, UNICANCER, comprised of HIPEC centers in Belgium, France, and Spain, is recruiting patients for a study entitled "A Phase III Randomized Study of Phase III Evaluating Hyperthermic Intra-Peritoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) in the Treatment of Relapse Ovarian Cancer" (NCT01376752). Much like the MSKCC trial, this group is investigating the effect of CRS with or without HIPEC on overall survival (primary outcome) and relapse-free survival (secondary outcome) of patients with resectable, recurrent, platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer isolated to the peritoneum. With an initial start date of April 2011, this group aims to enroll 444 patients and complete data collection, with up to 4 years of follow-up, by December 2020. This study, however, has met similar challenges with patient accrual.

Mercy Medical Center (Baltimore, MD) is currently investigating the combination of CRS and HIPEC (carboplatin) with adjuvant chemotherapy (carboplatin and paclitaxel) as compared to CRS with adjuvant, combination systemic (paclitaxel) and IP (cisplatin and paclitaxel) chemotherapy in patients with stage III/IV ovarian, fallopian tube, or primary peritoneal cancer (NCT02124421). The planned accrual of 48 patients in this phase II study will be newly diagnosed, without prior intervention. The goal of this trial will be to determine the safety of HIPEC in the perioperative period, with a primary outcome measure of 30-day postoperative complication rates. Secondary outcome measures will track progression-free survival (at 24 months), overall survival (up to 5 years), and quality of life. This study is unique in that it acknowledges the effectiveness of IP chemotherapy in the management of PM of ovarian or fallopian tube origin but seeks to identify the safest timing of intraperitoneal delivery.

Recently, Loma Linda University began enrollment in 2015 for a phase I investigation into the efficacy of CRS and HIPEC with carboplatin for recurrent ovarian cancer (NCT02672098). All patients will undergo complete cytoreduction and HIPEC, followed by systemic therapy 4–6 weeks later. This single-arm study will be compared to historical controls and followed for recurrencefree survival at 6, 9, 12, and 18 months after surgery based on RECIST 1.1 guidelines [28].

17.3.3 Gastric

The incidence of gastric cancer in China remains one of the highest in the world, with many diagnosed at an advanced stage, leading to poor survival and frequent recurrence [29]. This has led to a number of studies developed in China to employ HIPEC in managing disease recurrence. Peng et al. from the Sixth Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University in China will soon begin a randomized phase III trial to investigate the addition of HIPEC to standard treatment for patients with primary gastric cancer (NCT02960061). All patients will undergo neoadjuvant chemotherapy, followed by gastric resection with D2 lymphadenectomy, and adjuvant chemotherapy. The experimental arm will receive HIPEC, while controls will receive only peritoneal lavage with distilled water. While HIPEC has previously been shown as an effective tool to prolong survival in patients with PM from gastric cancer, and is currently recommended in treatment guidelines from the Health Committee of China, this group seeks to determine the safety and efficacy of HIPEC prophylactic measure to prevent recurrence due to potential peritoneal seeding at initial resection [30]. Their estimated enrollment of 640 patients will be followed for overall survival for up to 5 years and progression-free survival for 1–3 years.

Cui et al. of the Affiliated Tumor Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University in China are currently recruiting patients for a similar study. This randomized phase III trial, which began in July 2014 and estimates enrolling 582 patients, will similarly study the effect of HIPEC after gastrectomy with D2 lymphadenectomy for locally advanced gastric cancer (NCT02240524). Patients will be randomized to surgery with adjuvant therapy or surgery with HIPEC and adjuvant therapy. Primary outcome will be overall survival for up to 5 years, with secondary measures of recurrence-free, locoregional-free, and hepatic metastases-free survival with a planned final completion date in July 2019.

The phase III study from the Affiliated Nanjing Drum Tower Hospital of Nanjing University Medical School is unique in that it will be doubleblinded (NCT02381847), investigating the role of HIPEC in stage T3–T4 gastric cancer treatment. Patients will undergo D2 radical gastrectomy, subsequently randomized to receiving HIPEC or not, with both groups undergoing adjuvant, systemic therapy. This group hopes to show improved overall survival (at 24 months) while also monitoring complication rates, time to progression, and time to distant metastases.

While the USA has a lower incidence of gastric cancer, it accounts for 1.3% of new cancer diagnoses annually [31]. Senthil et al. at Loma Linda University Cancer Center (Loma Linda, CA) aim to enroll 15 patients for a phase I trial to determine the safety and tolerability of HIPEC with cisplatin and MMC within the 90-day postoperative period (NCT02672865). All patients will be stage T3 or T4 and/or have clinically positive nodes. Enrollment is ongoing with a study completion date of December 2018. MD Anderson Cancer Center is currently recruiting up to 18 patients for a phase II study investigating the efficacy of HIPEC with MMC and cisplatin, in addition to gastrectomy and cytoreduction for patients with PM from gastric cancer (NCT02891447).

Charité University (Berlin, Germany) has taken this further with a phase III trial, the GASTRIPEC study, which began in March 2014. All patients will receive neoadjuvant therapy, followed by CRS, and adjuvant therapy, but patients in the experimental arm will also receive HIPEC. Overall survival will be the primary outcome in this study (2.5 years), as well as secondary measures, which include time to progression, quality of life, time to distant metastases, toxicity, and requirement of second surgery.

17.3.4 Pancreatic

Beckert et al. of University Hospital Tübingen (Tübingen, Baden-Württemberg, Germany) seek to expand the accepted use of CRS and HIPEC to metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma (PANHIPEC; EUDRA-CT 2015-002288-41) [32]. Only 15–20% of patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma are eligible for curative resection, and 66-92% will eventually develop recurrent disease, typically locoregionally [33]. The primary endpoint of this study is 30-day mortality, with secondary endpoints of safety and toxicity based on Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) 4.0. This study seeks to validate this aggressive treatment strategy for pancreatic cancer, as often, due to anatomic location and advanced disease at diagnosis, an R0 resection may not be possible. The investigators seek to weigh the increased risk of morbidity and mortality with the increase in survival benefit that has been previously demonstrated in previous studies [34, 35]. Enrollment for this study is ongoing, with only two patients included thus far.

Carolinas Medical Center plans to similarly investigate the surgical outcomes and clinicopathological results of treating patients with T1– T3, resectable pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma with pancreaticoduodenectomy and HIPEC with gemcitabine, in conjunction with perioperative systemic therapy (NCT02850874). This phase II, proof-of-concept study is enrolling a small cohort of ten patients and will primarily examine peritoneal disease-free survival, as well as overall survival. Postoperative morbidity and mortality will also be monitored. These patients will be compared to historical controls that have been treated with 6 months of adjuvant gemcitabine per their institution's protocol.

17.3.5 Improving CRS and HIPEC

Further studies are being conducted internationally that seek to improve the delivery of chemotherapeutics during HIPEC, as well as eliminate remaining disease after maximal cytoreduction. These studies investigate the dosage, temperature, pressure, and timing of intraperitoneal chemotherapy in an effort to define the most effective treatment strategies.

The Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori (Milan, Italy) is investigating the ability to improve the uptake of chemotherapy by neoplastic tissue after CRS. This will be achieved by using high intra-abdominal pressure (IAP) (18-22 mmHg). Currently enrolling up to 38 patients, this phase II study will randomize each patient to undergo CRS and HIPEC, with low IAP (8-12 mmHg) in the control arm and high pressure in the experimental arm (NCT02949791). Postoperatively, tumor tissue concentration of cisplatin, collected within 15 min of procedure, will be compared to that of normal tissue. Secondary outcome measures will track pharmacokinetic advantage and patient physiologic parameters, as well as toxicity and postoperative complications.

A phase III study at Hasselt University, in collaboration with Ziekenhuis **Oost-Limburg** (Belgium), is enrolling up to 60 patients in order to compare the effectiveness of a concentrationbased versus body surface area-based protocol for dosing intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Many institutions utilize a body surface area (BSA)-based approach; however, this group postulates that sex, pathophysiologic changes, and presence of ascites can affect the initial homogenous drug concentration delivered to the patient. Others using a concentration-based approach face unpredictability in the levels of plasmatic chemotherapy and the toxicity profile of chosen dosage. These two methods will be compared by randomizing patients to receiving either a BSA-based or concentrationbased regimen of HIPEC after CRS, for a duration of 30 min. Primary outcome measures will be an assessment of pharmacologic advantage via areaunder-the-curve ratio of IP fluid oxaliplatin concentration versus time, as well as drug excretion in urine, intraoperative drug concentration within tumor nodules, and 3-month overall morbidity and mortality. Secondary measures will track the quality of life at discrete time points and overall 1-year survival.

Andersson et al. in Norway are currently conducting a phase I/II clinical trial (NCT02219893) investigating the use of a novel immunotoxin, MOC31PE, comprised of a monoclonal antibody that targets EpCAM found in a number of peritoneal malignancies, a tumor-associated cell surexotoxin face antigen and pseudomonas (ImmunoPeCa trial) [36–38]. In 15 patients, the phase I portion of this trial demonstrated no major toxicity in the maximum tested dosage of 10 µg/kg. Interestingly, MOC31PE was not detected in the serum of any treated patients, suggesting a lack of systemic absorption. Additionally, in patients treated at the highest dosage, the toxin was detected in peritoneal fluid samples collected at 6 and 24 h post-HIPEC, still in its fully active form. The lack of systemic absorption is consistent with the lack of major toxicity demonstrated in this study. With this data, the Norwegian group plans to continue recruitment for an expanded phase II trial utilizing MOC31PE for post-CRS and HIPEC treatment [39].

17.4 What is the Ideal Trial?

Ethical and moral dilemmas make designing the perfect surgical trial difficult. Physicians and patients must weigh the safety and efficacy of treatment options when determining the proper strategy for management of PM. CRS and HIPEC have been shown to prolong overall and diseasefree survival in a number of retrospective studies and previous clinical trials, yet the ideal study remains unperformed. Oncologists and surgeons desire a study that will clearly define the proper sequence and duration of the currently available strategies. A number of questions have to be answered via clinical trials in order to accomplish this daunting task: What is the role of HIPEC for each diagnosis? Which drugs should be used? At what temperature should they be delivered? How long should they remain in the abdomen? Which technique is more effective, open or closed? Is there a role for repeat CRS and HIPEC in all diagnoses?

Using the example of PM from CRC, one such possibility for a clinical trial would be based on patient stratification using the peritoneal surface disease severity score (PSDSS) to determine resectability of those with an initial diagnosis of PM [40-42]. Upon diagnosis patients would receive 2-3 months of best systemic therapy. Patients would then be restaged and, if still surgical candidates, would be randomized to one of three arms: continued systemic therapy, CRS only followed by systemic therapy, or CRS and HIPEC followed by systemic therapy. Patients would cross over to more aggressive treatment at first signs of progression. This model would allow for direct comparison between traditional chemotherapy and CRS/HIPEC while also clarifying the role of HIPEC in improving survival and delaying progression in these patients.

Conclusion

CRS and HIPEC have become preferred treatments for a number of peritoneal malignancies; however, further studies will be crucial toward validating these strategies before they can become the standard of care and earn the full support of the wider oncologic community.

References

- Sugarbaker PH, Graves T, DeBruijn EA, et al. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy as an adjuvant therapy to surgery for peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastrointestinal cancer: pharmacological studies. Cancer Res. 1990;50(18):5790–4.
- Feldman AL, Libutti SK, Pingpank JF, et al. Analysis of factors associated with outcome in patients with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma undergoing surgical debulking and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(24):4560–7.

- Network NCC. NCCN Guidelines Version 2.2016 Colon Cancer. Available from: https://www.nccn.org/ professionals/physician_gls/pdf/colon.pdf.
- Knorr C, Reingruber B, Meyer T, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer: incidence, prognosis, and treatment modalities. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2004;19(3):181–7.
- Brodsky JT, Cohen AM. Peritoneal seeding following potentially curative resection of colonic carcinoma: implications for adjuvant therapy. Dis Colon Rectum. 1991;34(8):723–7.
- Glehen O, Kwiatkowski F, Sugarbaker PH, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a multi-institutional study. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(16):3284–92.
- Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, de Bree E, et al. Randomized trial of cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy and palliative surgery in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(20):3737–43.
- Sugarbaker PH, Schellinx ME, Chang D, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from adenocarcinoma of the colon. World J Surg. 1996;20(5):585–91.
- Elias DM, Ouellette JF. Intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia: rationale, technique, indications, and results. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2001;10(4):915–33.
- Bloemendaal ALA, Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, et al. Conventional surgery and systemic chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: a prospective study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2005;31(10):1145–51.
- Jayne DG, Fook S, Loi C, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2002;89(12):1545–50.
- Verwaal VJ, Bruin S, Boot H, et al. 8-year followup of randomized trial: cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(9):2426–32.
- Glehen O, Mithieux F, Osinsky D, et al. Surgery combined with peritonectomy procedures and intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia in abdominal cancers with peritoneal carcinomatosis: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(5):799–806.
- Cunningham D, Allum WH, Stenning SP, et al. Perioperative chemotherapy versus surgery alone for resectable gastroesophageal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(1):11–20.
- Macdonald JS, Smalley SR, Benedetti J, et al. Chemoradiotherapy after surgery compared with surgery alone for adenocarcinoma of the stomach or gastroesophageal junction. N Engl J Med. 2001;345(10):725–30.
- Sakuramoto S, Sasako M, Yamaguchi T, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for gastric cancer with S-1, an oral fluoropyrimidine. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(18):1810–20.

- Yonemura Y, Endou Y, Shinbo M, et al. Safety and efficacy of bidirectional chemotherapy for treatment of patients with peritoneal dissemination from gastric cancer: selection for cytoreductive surgery. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100(4):311–6.
- Yang XJ, Huang CQ, Mei LJ, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy improves survival of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: final results of a phase III randomized clinical trial. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(6):1575–81.
- Sugarbaker PH. Management of peritoneal surface malignancy: the surgeon's role. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 1999;384(6):576–87.
- Pölcher M, Zivanovic O, Chi D. Cytoreductive surgery for advanced ovarian cancer. Womens Health. 2014;10(2):179–90.
- Armstrong DK, Bundy B, Wenzel L, et al. Intraperitoneal cisplatin and paclitaxel in ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;534(1):34–43.
- 22. Spilliotis J, Halkia E, Lianos E, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC in recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer: a prospective randomized phase III study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(5):1570–5.
- Kurman RJ, Shih IM. Molecular pathogenesis and extraovarian origin of epithelial ovarian cancer—shifting the paradigm. Hum Pathol. 2011;42(7):918–31.
- 24. Goldberg RM, Sargent DJ, Morton RF, et al. A randomized controlled trial of fluorouracil plus leucovorin, irinotecan, and oxaliplatin combinations in patients with previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(1):23–30.
- 25. Souglakos J, Kalykaki A, Vamvakas L, et al. Phase II trial of capecitabine and oxaliplatin (CAPOX) plus cetuximab in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer who progressed after oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy. Ann Oncol. 2007;18(2):305–10.
- Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien PA. Classification of surgical complications: a new proposal with evaluation in a cohort of 6336 patients and results of a survey. Ann Surg. 2004;240(2):205–13.
- 27. Zivanovic O, Abramian A, Kullmann M, et al. HIPEC ROC I: a phase I study of cisplatin administered as hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemoperfusion followed by postoperative intravenous platinum-based chemotherapy in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Cancer. 2014;136(3):699–708.
- Eisenhauer EA, Therasse P, Bogaerts J, et al. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). Eur J Cancer. 2009; 45(2):228–47.
- Zhou L, Guan P, Sun L, et al. Health economic assessment for screening of gastric cancer in a high risk population in northeastern China. Chin J Cancer Res. 2011;23(1):21–4.
- Beeharry MK, Liu WT, Yao XX, et al. A critical analysis of the cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic

intraperitoneal chemotherapy combo in the clinical management of advanced gastric cancer: an effective multimodality approach with scope for improvement. Transl Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;20(1):77.

- 31. Lowe KA, Danese MD, Gleeson ML, et al. Racial and ethnic variability in the prevalence and incidence of comorbidities associated with gastric cancer in the United States. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2016;47(2):168–81.
- 32. Beckert S, Löffler M, Meisner C, et al. Open-label pilot phase I/II study of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in addition to macroscopic complete resection (R0/R1) of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Peritoneum. 2016;1(s1):75.
- Castellanos JA, Mechant NB. Intensity of follow-up after pancreatic cancer resection. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(3):747–51.
- 34. Tentes AA, Stamou K, Pallas N, et al. The effect of hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) as an adjuvant in patients with resectable pancreatic cancer. Int J Hyperthermia. 2016;32(8):895–9.
- 35. Tentes AA, Kyziridis D, Kakolyris S, et al. Preliminary results of hyperthermic intraperitoneal intraoperative chemotherapy as an adjuvant in resectable pancreatic cancer. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012:506571.
- 36. Flatmark K, Guldvik IJ, Svensson H, et al. Immunotoxin targeting EpCAM effectively inhibits peritoneal tumor growth in experimental models

of mucinous peritoneal surface malignancies. Int J Cancer. 2013;133(6):1497–506.

- Imano M, Okuno K. Treatment strategies for gastric cancer patients with peritoneal metastasis. Surg Today. 2014;44(3):399–404.
- Nummela P, Leinonen H, Järvinen P, et al. Expression of CEA, CA19-9, CA125, and EpCAM in pseudomyxoma peritonei. Hum Pathol. 2016;54:47–54.
- 39. Andersson Y, Frøysnes IS, Larsen S, et al. Novel Intraperitoneal treatment for peritoneal metastases. Results from the immunotoxin in peritoneal carcinomatosis phase I trial. J Peritoneum. 2016;1(s1):27.
- 40. Pelz JO, Chua TC, Esquivel J, et al. Evaluation of best supportive care and systemic chemotherapy as treatment stratified according to the retrospective peritoneal surface disease severity score (PSDSS) for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. BMC Cancer. 2010;22:689.
- 41. Yoon W, Alame A, Berri R. Peritoneal surface disease severity score as a predictor of resectability in the treatment of peritoneal surface malignancies. Am J Surg. 2014;207(3):403–7.
- 42. Esquivel J, Lowy AM, Markman M, et al. The American Society of Peritoneal Surface Malignancies (ASPSM) multiinstitution evaluation of the Peritoneal Surface Disease Severity Score (PSDSS) in 1,013 patients with colorectal cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(13):4195–201.

Part III

Beyond Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC



18

Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC in the Elderly

Joseph Dux, Almog Ben-Yaacov, and Aviram Nissan

18.1 Introduction

With an increase in the overall life expectancy worldwide, there has been an increase in the aging/elderly population. The life expectancy of a 65-year-old individual is about 20 years and that of an octogenarian is more than 9 years. As estimated by the UN and some other health authorities, this tendency will prevail from the present 14.5% to above 20% in 2040 [1]. Despite advances in surgical techniques and perioperative management, age has remained an independent predictor of worse short-term outcomes after major oncologic resection [2]. Similar to other major surgeries like hepatic, pancreatic, and gastric resections in the elderly population that are now performed with a controlled morbidity and mortality, the feasibility of CRS and HIPEC has been demonstrated with morbidity and mortality rates between 20-42% and 0-10%, respectively [3-8]. There is no strict definition of what constitutes "elderly," and different investigators use this term for patients aged >65, 70, or 75 years [9-14]. Previously, the age of >65 or >70 or >75 years was used as a cutoff for excluding patients from clinical trials/prospective stud-

J. Dux • A. Ben-Yaacov • A. Nissan (🖂)

Department of General and Oncological Surgery (Surgery-C), The Chaim Sheba Medical Center, Tel Hashomer, Israel e-mail: Aviram.nissan@sheba.health.gov.il ies related to CRS and HIPEC due to uncertainty of the benefit in this patient population [15].

18.2 Cancer Incidence in the Elderly

Approximately 60% of all newly diagnosed neoplasms and 70% of cancer-related mortality occur in patients 65 years of age and older [9]. Peritoneal metastases occur in 8% of colorectal cancer (CRC) cases [10]. Colorectal cancer liver metastases (CRLM) are the most common followed by lung metastasis and metastasis to the peritoneum (CPM). In Western countries, CPM is a major health issue especially in elderly patients since most of the CRC patients are diagnosed at an age of 65 and above with a major increase in the patients diagnosed at the age of 75 or older [11]. CRPM may be synchronous, but it is often metachronous, diagnosed months or even years after resection of the primary tumor.

Another common indication of CRS and HIPEC is peritoneal metastases arising from appendiceal primary tumors. The mean age of presentation of appendiceal cancer varies, but in the most common types, i.e., mucinous and colonic, the mean age is above 60 years of age [12].

Cytoreductive surgery (CRS) with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) has been established as one of the most effective therapeutic options for peritoneal metastases (PM)

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_18

originating from the colon and rectum and appendix as well as some other malignancies that are abundant in older ages, such as mesothelioma and gastric cancer [13, 14, 16, 17].

The exact incidence of PSM diagnosed at old age is yet to be defined, but it was shown in different studies that patients at the age of 70 years and above comprise of 8.5% of PSM diagnosed and comprise up to 30% of the patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC [18, 19]. Since, this data mainly comes from studies in which elderly patients have undergone surgery, those that were not offered surgical treatment have been excluded, and the actual incidence of PM in the elderly is likely to be higher.

18.3 Aging Considerations

Although age by itself is not a contraindication for major surgery, still many surgeons are reluctant to operate on elderly patients. More than 75% of patients above the age of 65 years suffer of at least one chronic medical condition [20]. Furthermore, aging is accompanied by physiologic decline in different organ systems, an aspect that may adversely affect the postoperative course of the elderly patient.

18.3.1 Respiratory System

The most frequent postoperative complications in elderly patients are respiratory failure and superimposed infection. The age-dependent decline in respiratory function is attributed to diminished chest wall compliance and the weakening of the respiratory muscles. Loss of elasticity leads to decreased alveolar compliance and to gradual decline in arterial oxygen tension. The risk of pneumonia increases with age mainly due to compromised immune system and less effective mucociliary performance.

18.3.2 Cardiovascular System

The cardiovascular system is also a major concern for perioperative complications. With aging, morphologic changes in the myocardium, conducting pathways, and heart valves develop. Endothelial dysfunction evolves with aging including vasculature of the heart and great vessels. There is also a decreased ability for an adequate stress response and increased dependence on preload and atrial function (atrial kick). These changes lead to increased risk for cardiac ischemia and failure [21]. Almost 50% of elderly individuals are hypertensive and treated by various medications affecting the cardiovascular and other systems [22], and these issues need to be addressed in the postoperative period.

18.3.3 Mental Status

In elderly patients, diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, depression, and dementia are common. Even elderly individuals without mental disorders may respond to major surgery with disorientation and even delirium. Noncompliant patients due to disorientation or delirium are difficult to manage postoperatively.

18.3.4 Nutritional Status

In elderly individuals, especially in nursing homes, caloric intake, as well as daily protein consumed, is reduced leading to poor nutritional status. Mild malnutrition may interfere with wound healing, immune function, and cardiac and pulmonary function.

18.3.5 Immune System

Immunosenescence is characterized by enhanced susceptibility to infections, an increase in autoantibodies and monoclonal immunoglobulins, and an increase in tumorigenesis. The main difference in T cells is the type of lymphocyte (a decrease in the naïve T cells vs. an increase in the memory T cells) rather than the absolute number of T cells. The function of B cells is affected due to a change in the helper T-cell activity. These changes are apparent only during active infectious process and are not seen in regular state and ordered WBC count [23]. It is well known that the risk of developing cancer increases with age [24–27], and older patients may also exhibit larger and more aggressive tumors [28]. The decline in the immune function may be one of the reasons for the increased risk of cancer in the elderly.

Functional decline is present in other organ systems as well such as the renal system, hepatobiliary system, and hormonal homeostasis.

18.4 Preoperative Evaluation

A comprehensive evaluation of elderly patients for fitness for the procedure and functional optimization is necessary before taking up these patients for CRS and HIPEC. Preoperative workup should include a full history and physical examination; imaging of the thorax, abdomen, and pelvis; and preoperative blood work including relevant tumor markers. The cardiac evaluation should comprise of a 12-lead electrocardiogram and 2D echocardiography. Further testing will depend on the associated comorbidities and functional status. In high-risk patients, exercise stress testing may be performed if the functional status is poor or unknown. A specialist's opinion should be sought where required.

Each patient should undergo multidisciplinary evaluation by a team comprising of medical and surgical oncologists, radiologists, anesthesiologists, pathologists, and nutritionists to determine the oncological benefit in terms of survival and improvement in the quality of life as opposed to the risk of morbidity and mortality entailed.

The response to surgical stress is diminished in elderly patients, and this should be kept in mind during the decision-making process.

Several scoring systems are used for evaluation of patients undergoing surgery. One or more of these scores may be used to determine the functional status before the procedure.

American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) score is based on the severity of comorbid conditions. Even though it does not include the patient's age, the ASA score has been shown to accurately predict postoperative mortality up to and above 80 years of age.

It is important to emphasize that all patients that are candidates for CRS-HIPEC are at least scored at ASA III due to their underlying disease.

Metabolic Equivalents (METs) It is possible to assess the functional status of a patient from the activities of his/her daily life [29, 30]. Functional capacity is often expressed in terms of metabolic equivalents (METs), where 1 MET is the resting or basal oxygen consumption of a 40-year-old, 70 kg man. In patients undergoing surgery, functional capacity is classified as excellent (>10 METs), good (7 METs to 10 METs), moderate (4 METs to 6 METs), poor (<4 METs), or unknown. Inability to perform 4 METs of work as part of routine daily activities has been associated with an increased perioperative and cardiovascular risk as well as long-term adverse consequences. Examples of activities associated with <4 METs are slow ballroom dancing, golfing with a cart, playing a musical instrument, and walking at approximately 2-3 miles per hour. Examples of activities associated with >4 METs are climbing a flight of stairs or walking up a hill, walking on level ground at 4 mph, and performing heavy work around the house. In patients who have a high surgical risk but a good functional capacity of >4-10 METs, further exercise testing can be omitted.

"*Up and go test*": Testing gait and mobility is also important. In addition, history of falls should also be taken into account.

Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) Test The ECOG performance status has been extensively used for selecting patients for CRS and HIPEC [31, 32].

The performance status is an expression of both the physiological and functional capacities, and though it is of great prognostic significance in younger patients, its importance is less in the elderly. In young patients, loss of functional capacity can be correlated with the extent of disease; in the elderly, aging may be in part responsible for the deterioration. Younger patients with performance status of ECOG 0 or 1 have superior survival over ECOG 2 patients. In elderly patients, ECOG has less prognostic significance, possibly because it functions as an expression of both physiologic aging and volume of disease. Frailty is a better marker of physiological reserves in the elderly [33].

Frailty Geriatricians define frailty as a biologic syndrome of decreased reserve and resistance to stressors, resulting from cumulative declines across multiple physiologic systems and causing vulnerability to adverse outcomes [34–39]. Frailty is not the same as disability [40, 41]. An objective and reproducible measurement of frailty has been developed by Fried and collaborators. Frailty is defined as a clinical syndrome in which three or more of the following criteria are present: unintentional weight loss (10 lbs. in the past year), self-reported exhaustion, weakness (grip strength), slow walking speed, and low physical activity. An operational method of calculating frailty is provided in Table 18.1 [42].

Frailty is known to cause disability, independent of clinical and subclinical diseases. The syndrome of frailty may be a physiologic precursor

 Table 18.1 Operational method of calculating frailty
 [adapted from Ref. 42]

A. Characteristics of frailty	B. Cardiovascular Health Study Measure
Shrinking—weight loss (unintentional) Sarcopenia (loss of muscle mass)	Baseline: >10 pounds lost unintentionally in the previous year
Weakness	Grip strength: lowest 20% (by gender, body mass index)
Poor endurance— exhaustion	Exhaustion (self-report)
Slowness	Walking time/15 feet: slowest 20% (by gender, height)
Low activity	Kcals/week: lowest 20% Males: <383 Kcals/week Females: <270 Kcals/week
	C. Presence of frailty
	Positive for frailty phenotype: >3 criteria present
	Intermediate or prefrail: 1–2 criteria present

and etiologic factor in disability, due to its central features of weakness, decreased endurance, and slowed performance. This test could be specifically useful in elderly patients with no overt comorbidities.

18.4.1 Charlson Comorbidity Index

Charlson comorbidity index (CCI) is a valid and reliable comorbidity score. Each comorbidity (such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes mellitus, renal failure, AIDS, and malignancy) is scored from 1 to 6. The total score is correlated with the risk of death in 1 year, acute disease surgery, and other stressors [43]. It was also validated for acutely hospitalized elderly adults [44].

Of the various methods of functional assessment, one or more may be used to evaluate the functional status. The choice of the method will depend on the individual patient as well as institutional protocols.

18.5 Reported Outcomes of CRS and HIPEC in the Elderly

Elderly patients have been either underrepresented or totally excluded from most prospective randomized clinical trials relating to cancer treatments [15]. In the few randomized trials that were performed studying CRS and HIPEC, age was used as a selection criterion, excluding patients older than 71 or 65 years of age [45, 46]. Moreover, some authors considered age >75 as a contraindication for CRS and HIPEC [47].

However, this exclusion criterion has been challenged by several investigators, and recent studies have shown that similar surgical and oncological outcomes in selected elderly patients with CRS and HIPEC appear outdated, and several recent studies show that age does not influence the oncologic outcome of surgery and that cancer-specific survival in these patients is similar to that of younger patients.

In one of the first multi-institutional studies evaluating risk factors in CRS with HIPEC, age over 65 years appeared to be an unfavorable prognostic factor in both univariate and multivariate analyses [48].

The first study reporting CRS and HIPEC in the elderly was published in 2011 by Macri et al. [49]. They compared the outcome of 11 patients older than 65 to 19 patients younger than 65. Severe complications and perioperative mortality as well as median overall survival were similar in both groups. Subsequently, several other small and large single and multi-institutional studies have reported outcomes of CRS and HIPEC in the elderly (Table 18.2).

Two studies included patients aged 65 years and older, and two other studies used 75 years old as a cutoff, while the patients older than 70 years were considered elderly in the remaining studies. All except two series included patients with PM arising from various primary sites. 4/8 studies used a control group for comparison. Three studies focused only on the perioperative outcomes while others reported survival outcomes as well.

18.6 Morbidity and Mortality

CRS and HIPEC is a complex surgical procedure. The incidence of morbidity and mortality at 1 month postoperatively may not capture the physiological impact of the procedure completely; hence some investigators have recorded and reported these outcomes at 3 months as well [18, 56].

The reported morbidity rates across age groups range from 27 to 56% and mortality rates from 0 to 4% [32, 59, 60]. The reported morbidity rates for CRS and HIPEC in the elderly range from 14.1 to 56%. One study reported grade I-IV complications together, and hence the incidence of morbidity was higher in this series, whereas others reported major morbidity (grades III-IV) separately. The highest morbidity of 76% was observed in a study of 29 patients aged over 70 years with PM from multiple primary sites [55]. In the largest multi-institutional study, Alyami et al. reported a major morbidity of 45.7% and mortality of 5.4% at 90 days [56]. The 188 patients were matched with a control group of 704 patients, and in the control group, the morbidity and mortality were 44.5 and 2.7%, respectively, which

were not statistically different. The incidence of surgical complications was similar in both groups except for a higher rate of wound dehiscence in the elderly. The renal toxicity was higher though it did not reach statistical significance. The hematological toxicity was also significantly higher though it did not have a significant impact on the clinical outcome [56]. The elderly patients had significantly more cardiovascular complications (13.8 vs. 9.2%, p = 0.044). A PCI >7 (odds ratio 2.469; 95% CI 1.051–5.798, p = 0.038) and the HIPEC duration (odds ratio 2.626; 95% CI 1.106-6.235, p = 0.028) were independently associated with increased morbidity, and no factor significantly impacted the mortality. A higher rate of cardiovascular complications was also noted in by Tabrizian et al. in a series of 35 patients aged more than 65 years [51].

In a study of 14 patients aged over 70 years, Kitai et al. reported similar rates of surgical site complications between the older and younger age groups but a higher rate of systemic complications. Grade IV-V respiratory failure occurred in three male patients all of whom had a complete cytoreduction; the median operating time was 10.5 h, and bilateral subphrenic peritonectomy which is known to cause respiratory problems was performed in all the patients. Subphrenic peritonectomy restricts the diaphragmatic movements in the postoperative period and causes varying degrees of pleural effusion which combined with the large volumes of fluid transfused in these patients leads to respiratory complications. Severe respiratory distress can lead to early postoperative death, and this is more likely in elderly patients with a decreased functional reserve [58].

Tabrizian reported that the respiratory failure rate was 5.9% in patients aged ≥ 65 years and 6.2% in those aged <65 years [51].

Contrary to other reports, Votanopoulos et al. in their 20-year institutional experience observed high mortality rates of 13.6 and 27.4% at 1 and 3 months, respectively, which was significantly higher than that in a matched group of patients younger than 70 years (p < 0.0001) [18]. Similarly, the morbidity of 38% in the elderly group was significantly higher than that in the younger age group (p = 0.002). The authors attributed this to

Ref no.	Age limit	No.	Primary site	Morbidity	$(0)^{\prime}$	<i>p</i> value	Mortality	(0)	<i>p</i> value	Median DFS	Median OS
year	(years)			Control	Study		Control	Study		(months)	(months)
[49] 2011	>65	11	Multiple primary sites	I	27.3		Ι	18.2		Not reported	Not reported
[50] 2012	>70	24	Colorectal	I	34		I	0		12	35
[18] 2013	>70	81	Multiple primary sites	23	38	0.002	10.2	27.4**	<0.0001	Not reported	47
[51] 2013	>65	35	Multiple primary sites	21.8	19.4	0.05	5.9	11.4^{**}	0.272	Not reported	21.2
[52] 2014	>75	6	Ovarian	16	56	<0.05	0	0		9	13
[19] 2014	>70	30	Multiple primary sites	0	50		1.4	3.3	NS	Reported	30
[53] 2015	>70	15	Recurrent ovarian	I	20		I	0		15.6	35
[54] 2015	>65	124	Multiple primary sites	44	40	0.64	2	3	0.60	Not reported	43
[55] 2015	>70	29	Multiple primary sites	47	76	0.04	0.9	0		Not reported	Not reported
[56] 2016	>70	188	Multiple primary sites	44.5	45.7	0.17	2.7	5.4**	0.05	Not reported	Not reported
[57] 2016	>75	85	Multiple primary sites	Ι	14.1		I	5.9**		Not reported	Not reported
[58] 2017	>70	14	Multiple primary sites	7.6	35.7	0.02	0	14.2**	0.06		

EC	ľ
III	
ΗP	
an s	
CRS	
ing	ŀ
rgo	
unde	
nts	
atie	
Уp	
derl	
l el	ŀ
S II.	
me	
atcc	ſ
t oı	
uen	
eatn	
Tré	ŀ
2	
18	
ble	
Tal	

their own learning curve and selection of patients. Over the years, the indications of this procedure have become better defined, and certain patients who tend to have a poor prognosis are no longer offered this procedure. In their last 42 patients (50%), there was a drop in the 1- and 3-month mortality from 17.9 and 35.9% to 9.5 and 19.3%, respectively, though the 9.5 and 19.3% 1- and 3-month mortality are still higher than reported by most other series [18].

The authors evaluated the impact of comorbidities on the morbidity and found that one comorbid condition led to a more than doubling of the odds of having a complication with an odds ratio of 2.19 (95% CI 1.06–4.53, p = 0.035). The rate of complications was significantly higher in smokers than in nonsmokers (p = 0.012).

A multi-institutional study from ten Spanish hospitals that are part of the Spanish Group Peritoneal Cancer Surgery (GECOP) analysis showed an association between grade III and IV morbidity and preoperative albumin levels of less than 3.5 mg/dl (p < 0.002), diabetes mellitus (p < 0.022), the need for diaphragmatic peritonectomy procedures (p < 0.003), perioperative blood transfusion (p < 0.005), and the need for more than three peritonectomy procedures per patients (p < 0.049) [57]. On multivariate analysis, independent predictors of grade III-IV morbidity were the presence of a preoperative albumin levels <3.5 mg/dl (p < 0.017), the need for diaphragmatic peritonectomy procedures (p < 0.023), and perioperative blood transfusion (p < 0.018).

In addition to morbidity, failure to rescue is an important metric for evaluating the surgical outcomes [61]. In the study by Alyami et al., though there was no increase in the morbidity in older patients, the failure-to-rescue rate was higher (11.6 vs. 6.1%, p = 0.078), implying that elderly patients are at a higher risk of death following a complication.

There is a trend toward increase in the overall morbidity and grade III and IV morbidity in elderly patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC. The incidence of surgical complications tends to be similar to that in younger patients, but the incidence of medical complications is higher. Though reported only in one study, there is a higher rate of "failure to rescue" in elderly patients.

18.7 Survival Outcomes

Elderly patients can experience a prolonged survival after CRS and HIPEC. In 124 patients with PM arising from various primary sites, treated by Huang et al., the median overall survival (OS) of patients who were less than 65 years old was 58.0 months (95% CI = 47.0–68.9) with a 5-year OS of 47.7%, whereas the elderly group had a median OS of 43 months (95% CI = 38.1-47.9) with a 5-year OS of 42.9% [54]. However, such a difference did not reach a statistical significance (p = 0.698). Cox regression analysis showed that age alone is not a prognostic factor for survival of PM (p = 0.795) [54]. Spiliotis et al. reported a 5-year OS of 30% in elderly patients compared to 52% in younger patients. The statistical analysis showed that 3 years after the initial operation, there is a survival benefit in the younger population. A PCI of <10, CC score of 0, and primary tumor histology were the factors influencing overall survival [19]. The impact of PCI was also reported in Delotte et al. In 15 patients aged >70 with advanced ovarian cancer receiving HIPEC in addition to interval CRS, all the patients with a PCI of >13 developed recurrences within 2 years. Similarly, patients who had a complete cytoreduction (CC-0) experienced a prolonged survival as compared to those with CC-1 all of whom recurred within 2 years [52]. Klaver et al. in their study of 24 patients with CRC PM found that none of the factors evaluated which included age >75 years, histologic type of tumor (mucinous adenocarcinoma vs. adenocarcinoma), completeness of cytoreduction score, amount of blood transfused, completeness of cytoreduction as represented by CCR, performance of HIPEC, administration of EPIC, and occurrence of a postoperative complication requiring radiological drainage or return to theater had an influence on survival [50].

In 81 patients aged over 70 with PM arising from various primary sites, Votanopoulos et al. found postoperative morbidity to be the single and most important factor impacting survival [18]. Patients without complications (n = 27) had 1-year survival of 81% (±8%) and 3-year survival of 59% ($\pm 10\%$), while the median survival was 39 months. Patients with postoperative complications (n = 54) had 1-year survival of 53% ($\pm 7\%$) and 3-year survival of 25% (±7%), while the median survival was 13 months [18]. Stepwise multivariate models were created with and without complications as a variable. The presence of any complication has a significant negative impact on the survival in both univariate and multivariate analyses (p = 0.004). The authors concluded that given the negative impact of morbidity on survival in elderly patients, careful selection for CRS and HIPEC should be performed.

In stepwise multivariate analysis, type of primary tumor (p = 0.03), serum albumin level (p = 0.02), and completeness of cytoreduction R status (p = 0.007) were predictive of survival only in the absence of complications. Patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei, malignant mesothelioma, and ovarian cancer experience a better survival than those with colorectal or gastric PM. Splitting the data at the midpoint of surgical experience, there was a drop in 1- and 3-month mortality over time to 9.5 and 19.3%, respectively, while the median survival increased from 11.2 (N = 39) to 46.9 months (N = 42) [18].

In a study of 9 patients with recurrent ovarian cancer aged over 75 years, undergoing CRS and HIPEC, the median DFS was 6 months, and the median OS was 13 months which was significantly lower than patients younger than 75 years of age. Overall survival at 1 and 3 years was 92 and 67%, respectively, in patients <75 years and 55% and 0% at 1 and 3 years in patients \geq 75 years [52].

In a recently published study by Kitai et al. of 14 patients, the survival was significantly inferior in elderly patients, with 5-year survival rates being 41.3 and 74.2%, respectively (p = 0.0166). These poor outcomes were attributed to an increased rate of grade IV–V complications in these patients [58].

CRS and HIPEC can provide a survival benefit to selected patients with PM. Careful selection and management of patients are needed. To optimize the outcomes, it is important to avoid unnecessary resections to prevent potential added morbidity and mortality. Patients with limited disease have less morbidity and experience a longer survival.

The insult of an extensive surgical effort may therefore be potentially fatal in a poorly selected patient with significant comorbidities. Detailed explanation of the risks and benefits of the combined treatment modality and the awareness that major surgery, intensive care stay, and the existence of comorbidities may potentially complicate the recovery and increase the morbidity and mortality is of utmost importance. The increased risk of medical complications can be offset by age-appropriate care, including geriatric consultation, supplemental enteral nutrition, and early rehabilitation placement planning. Pathways for perioperative management of these patients as described by Passot et al. may especially be useful in this setting [62].

Conclusions

The elderly patients with PM pose a therapeutic challenge to peritoneal surface oncologists. They can experience a significant prolongation in survival with CRS and HIPEC which needs to be balanced against the risk of increased morbidity. Preoperative evaluation of functional status using scores like the frailty index helps in selecting patients who have the physical reserve to withstand the procedure irrespective of the chronological age. A multidisciplinary evaluation is also needed to select patients who are most likely to derive a benefit an oncological benefit. Patients with a low PCI and those who undergo complete cytoreduction and have PM from appendiceal and ovarian primary tumors or peritoneal mesothelioma derive the maximum benefit. There is a higher incidence of medical complications in the elderly with a larger proportion of patients succumbing to their complications; hence all efforts should be made to avoid complications in these patients.

References

- ACL.gov: The U.S. Administration for Community Living. https://aoa.acl.gov/Aging_Statistics/Profile/ 2013/3.aspx. Accessed 9 Apr 2017.
- Al-Refaie WB, Parsons HM, Henderson WG, Jensen EH, Tuttle TM, Vickers SM, et al. Major cancer surgery in the elderly: results from the American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program. Ann Surg. 2010;251(2):311–8.
- Adam R, Frilling A, Elias D, Laurent C, Ramos E, Capussotti L, et al. Liver resection of colorectal metastases in elderly patients. Br J Surg. 2010;97(3):366–76.
- Ide T, Miyoshi A, Kitahara K, Noshiro H. Prediction of postoperative complications in elderly patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. J Surg Res. 2013; 185(2):614–9.
- Melis M, Marcon F, Masi A, Pinna A, Sarpel U, Miller G, et al. The safety of a pancreaticoduodenectomy in patients older than 80 years: risk vs. benefits. HPB. 2012;14(9):583–8.
- Gerstenhaber F, Grossman J, Lubezky N, Itzkowitz E, Nachmany I, Sever R, et al. Pancreaticoduodenectomy in elderly adults: is it justified in terms of mortality, long-term morbidity, and quality of life? J Am Geriatr Soc. 2013;61(8):1351–7.
- Kim MG, Kim HS, Kim BS, Kwon SJ. The impact of old age on surgical outcomes of totally laparoscopic gastrectomy for gastric cancer. Surg Endosc. 2013;27(11):3990–7.
- Ahmed S, Stewart JH, Shen P, Votanopoulos KI, Levine EA. Outcomes with cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for peritoneal metastasis. J Surg Oncol. 2014;110(5):575–84.
- Ries LAG, Eisner MP, Kosary CL, Hankey BF, Miller BA, Clegg L, Mariotto A, Fay MP, Feuer EJ, Edwards BK. SEER cancer statistics review, 1975–2000. Bethesda: National Cancer Institute; 2003.
- Segelman J, Granath F, Holm T, Machado M, Mahteme H, Martling A. Incidence, prevalence and risk factors for peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2012;99:699–705.
- Cancer of the colon and rectum—cancer stat facts. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/colorect.html. Accessed 9 Apr 2017.
- McCusker ME, Coté TR, Clegg LX, Sobin LH. Primary malignant neoplasms of the appendix: a population-based study from the surveillance, epidemiology and end-results program, 1973–1998. Cancer. 2002;94:3307–12.
- Koppe MJ, Boerman OC, Oyen WJG, Bleichrodt RP. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: incidence and current treatment strategies. Ann Surg. 2006;243:212–22.
- Chua TC, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, et al. Earlyand long-term outcome data of patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from appendiceal origin treated by a strategy of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2449–56.

- Hutchins LF, Unger JM, Crowley JJ, Coltman CA Jr, Albain KS. Underrepresentation of patients 65 years of age or older in cancer-treatment trials. N Engl J Med. 1999;341:2061–7.
- Mirarabshahii P, Pillai K, Chua TC, Pourgholami MH, Morris DL. Diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma—an update on treatment. Cancer Treat Rev. 2012;38:605–12.
- Gill RS, Al-Adra DP, Nagendran J, Campbell S, Shi X, Haase E, Schiller D. Treatment of gastric cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis by cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC: a systematic review of survival, mortality and morbidity. J Am Coll Surg. 2011;213:S134.
- Votanopoulos KI, Newman NA, Russell G, Ihemelandu C, Shen P, Stewart JH, Levine EA. Outcomes of Cytoreductive Surgery (CRS) with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) in patients older than 70 years; survival benefit at considerable morbidity and mortality. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:3497–503.
- Spiliotis JD, Halkia E, Boumis VA, Vassiliadou DT, Pagoulatou A, Efstathiou E. Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for peritoneal carcinomatosis in the elderly. Int J Surg Oncol. 2014. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/987475.
- Mcclellan MB, Mcginnis JM, Nabel EG, Olsen LM. Evidence-based medicine and the changing nature of healthcare: workshop summary (IOM roundtable on evidence-based medicine). Washington: National Academies Press; 2008.
- Sanders D, Dudley M, Groban L. Diastolic dysfunction, cardiovascular aging, and the anesthesiologist. Anesthesiol Clin. 2009;27:497–517.
- Rubio-Ruiz ME, Pérez-Torres I, Soto ME, Pastelín G, Guarner-Lans V. Aging in blood vessels. Medicinal agents FOR systemic arterial hypertension in the elderly. Ageing Res Rev. 2014;18:132–47.
- Gruver AL, Hudson LL, Sempowski GD. Immunosenescence of ageing. J Pathol. 2007;211: 144–56.
- Gann PH. Risk factors for prostate cancer. Rev Urol. 2002;4(suppl 5):S3–10.
- Lowenfels AB, Maisonneuve P. Epidemiology and risk factors for pancreatic cancer. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2006;20(2):197–209.
- Rosenkranz KM, Bedrosian I, Feng L, Hunt KK, Hartman K, Lucci A, et al. Breast cancer in the very elderly: treatment patterns and complications in a tertiary cancer center. Am J Surg. 2006;192(4):541–4.
- Yancik R. Cancer burden in the aged: an epidemiologic and demographic overview. Cancer. 1997;80(7):1273–83.
- Caraco C, Marone U, Botti G, Celentano E, Lastoria S, Mozzillo N. Age as predictor in patients with cutaneous melanoma submitted to sentinel lymph node biopsy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32(9):970–3.
- Reilly DF, McNeely MJ, Doerner D, et al. Selfreported exercise tolerance and the risk of serious perioperative complications. Arch Intern Med. 1999;159:2185–92.

- Eagle KA, Berger PB, Calkins H, et al. ACC/AHA guideline update on perioperative cardiovascular evaluation for noncardiac surgery. Circulation. 2002;105:1257–67.
- 31. Levine EA, Stewart JH, Russell GB, Geisinger KR, Loggie BL, Shen P. Cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy: experience with 501 procedures. J Am Coll Surg. 2007;204:943–53.
- 32. Shen P, Levine EA, Hall J, Case D, Russell G, Fleming R, et al. Factors predicting survival after intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy with mitomycin C after cytoreductive surgery for patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Arch Surg. 2003;138:26–33.
- 33. da Silva RG, Sugarbaker PH. Analysis of prognostic factors in seventy patients having a complete cytoreduction plus perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. J Am Coll Surg. 2006;203:878–86.
- 34. Campbell AJ, Buchner DM. Unstable disability and the fluctuations of frailty. Age Ageing. 1997;26:315–8.
- Buchner DM, Wagner EH. Preventing frail health. Clin Geriatr Med. 1992;8:1–17.
- Bortz WM II. The physics of frailty. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1993;41:1004–8.
- Lipsitz LA, Goldberger AL. Loss of "complexity" and aging: potential applications of fractals and chaos theory to senescence. JAMA. 1992;267:1806–9.
- Hamerman D. Toward an understanding of frailty. Ann Intern Med. 1999;130:945–50.
- 39. Fried LP, Walston J. Frailty and failure to thrive. In: Hazzard WR, Blass JP, Ettinger Jr WH, Halter JB, Ouslander J, editors. Principles of geriatric medicine and gerontology. 4th ed. New York: McGraw Hill; 1998. p. 1387–402.
- Paw MJMC, Dekker JM, Feskens EJM, Schouten EG, Kromhout D. How to select a frail elderly population? A comparison of three working definitions. J Clin Epidemiol. 1999;52:1015–21.
- Rockwood K. What would make a definition of frailty successful? Age Ageing. 2005;34:432–4.
- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2001;56:M146–56.
- 43. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR, Braham R, Douglas R. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis. 1987;40:373–83.
- 44. Frenkel WJ, Jongerius EJ, Mandjes-van Uitert MJ, van Munster BC, de Rooij SE. Validation of the Charlson Comorbidity Index in acutely hospitalized elderly adults: a prospective cohort study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2014;62:342–6.
- 45. Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, de Bree E, van Slooten GW, van Tinteren H, Boot H, Zoetmulder FAN. Randomized trial of cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy and palliative surgery in patients with

peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:3737–43.

- 46. Elias D, Delperro JR, Sideris L, Benhamou E, Pocard M, Baton O, Giovannini M, Lasser P. Treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: impact of complete cytoreductive surgery and difficulties in conducting randomized trials. Ann Surg Oncol. 2004;11(5):518–21.
- Mo S, Cai G. Multidisciplinary treatment for colorectal peritoneal metastases: review of the literature. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2016;2016:1–8.
- 48. Glehen O, Kwiatkowski F, Sugarbaker PH, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a multi-institutional study. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:3284–92.
- Macri A, Saladino E, Trimarchi G, Bartolo V, Rossitto M, Cannao A, et al. Cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in elderly patients. In Vivo. 2011;25(4):687–90.
- 50. Klaver YLB, Chua TC, de Hingh IHJT, Morris DL. Outcomes of elderly patients undergoing cyto-reductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal cancer peritoneal carcinomatosis. J Surg Oncol. 2012;105(2):113–8.
- 51. Tabrizian P, Jibara G, Shrager B, Franssen B, Yang MJ, Sarpel U, et al. Outcomes for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the elderly. Surg Oncol. 2013;22(3):184–9.
- 52. Cascales-Campos P, Gil J, Gil E, Feliciangeli E, Lopez V, Gonzalez AG, et al. Cytoreduction and HIPEC after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in stage IIIC-IV ovarian cancer. Critical analysis in elderly patients. Eur J Obst Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2014;179:88–93.
- 53. Delotte J, Arias T, Guerin O, Boulahssass R, Bereder I, Bongain A, et al. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of recurrent ovarian cancer in elderly women. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2015;94(4):435–9.
- 54. Huang Y, Alzahrani NA, Alzahrani SE, Zhao J, Liauw W, Morris DL. Cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis in the elderly. World J Surg Oncol. 2015;13:262.
- 55. Beckert S, Struller F, Horvath P, et al. Overall morbidity but not mortality is increased in elderly patients following cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2015;400:693–8.
- 56. Alyami M, Lundberg P, Kepenekian V, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis in the elderly: a case-controlled, multicenter study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:737–45.
- 57. Cascales-Campos PA, López-López V, Muñoz-Casares FC, Feliciangeli E, Torres Melero J, Barrios P, Morales R, Ramos I, Ortega G, Camps B, González-Bayón L, et al. Morbidity and mortality outcomes after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients aged 75 years and over:

Spanish group of peritoneal cancer surgery (GECOP) multicenter study. Surg Oncol. 2016;25(2):111–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.suronc.2016.03.007.

- Kitai T, Yamanaka K, Miyauchi Y, Kawashima M. Indications for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in elderly patients with peritoneal malignancy. Int J Clin Oncol. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10147-016-1078-6.
- 59. Chua TC, Yan TD, Saxena A, Morris DL. Should the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy still be regarded as a highly morbid procedure? A systematic review of morbidity and mortality. Ann Surg. 2009;249(6):900–7.
- Ahmad SA, Kim J, Sussman JJ, Soldano DA, Pennington LJ, James LE, et al. Reduced morbidity following cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemoperfusion. Ann Surg Oncol. 2004;11:387–92.
- Mercier F, Cotte E, Glehen O, Passot G. Why morbidity is not an adequate metric for evaluation of surgical quality. Ann Surg. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.00000000002256.
- 62. Passot G, Vaudoyer D, Villeneuve L, Wallet F, Beaujard AC, Boschetti G. A perioperative clinical pathway can dramatically reduce failure-to-rescue rates after cytoreductive surgery for peritoneal carcinomatosis: a retrospective study of 666 consecutive cytoreductions. Ann Surg. 2017;265(4):806–13. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.000000000001723.



19

Quality of Life Issues in Patients Undergoing Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC

Julianna P. Englisch, Andreas Brandl, Ute Goerling, and Beate Rau

19.1 Introduction

Current treatment of peritoneal surface malignancy (PSM) involves cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Primary peritoneal disease is associated with malignant mesothelioma, pseudomyxoma peritonei, and serous adenocarcinoma of the peritoneum, whereas secondary peritoneal malignant disease arises from solid tumor in the history such as gastrointestinal cancer. In these situations, only palliative chemotherapy is delivered to the patients, because distant metastases especially PSM are associated with a poor prognosis. The mean survival time in the presence of PSM is around 6 months. During the last 20 years, a therapeutic approach was developed to surgically treat PSM and reduce the peritoneal dissemination of the disease. Some of the reasons for the surgical approach are, first, the difficulties for chemotherapy to get into the tumor cells, because of bad blood supply of the peritoneum; second, reduction of the tumor mass;

and Charité Campus Mitte, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany e-mail: Beate.rau@charite.de

U. Goerling

and third, topical intraperitoneal chemotherapy for some free tumor cells.

The role of CRS has become a new role in surgical oncology. Usually, PSM are widely spread in the peritoneal cavity and are often combined with malign ascites. There is a broad range of tumor burden; therefore the indication for surgical cytoreductive treatment has to be taken very carefully.

Complete cytoreductive surgery (CRS) can achieve curation or long-term survival in selected patients with peritoneal malignancies. The procedure aims for complete tumor removal. That means in case of synchronous disease, the primary tumor has to be oncologically resected analogous to the existing guidelines for the primary tumor combined with cytoreductive surgery. Complete macroscopic cytoreductive surgery stands for the removal of peritoneal lesions in the abdomen and can be achieved by parietal and visceral peritonectomy. The completeness of cytoreduction depends on the extent and the kind of the peritoneal tumor manifestation.

The *mucinous type of PSM* including pseudomyxoma peritonei, low-grade adenomucinousis neoplasia (LAMN), peritoneal mucinous adenocarcinoma (PMCA), and mesothelioma usually requires a total peritonectomy and infragastric and lesser omentectomy, whereas in *nonmucinous type of PSM* removing of the tumor-bearing piece of the peritoneum and infragastric omentectomy are recommended.

J. P. Englisch • A. Brandl • B. Rau (⊠) Department of Surgery, Campus Virchow-Klinikum

Charité Comprehensive Cancer Center, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_19

In the case of *infiltrating tumor lesions* of the visceral peritoneum, surgery may include organ resections, such as splenectomy, cholecystectomy, resection of liver capsule, small bowel resection, subtotal colectomy, extraperitoneal anterior rectal resection (and if female combined with hysterectomy and ovariectomy), (subtotal) gastrectomy, hysterectomy, ovariectomy, and urine bladder resection. The extended resection of the organs should only be considered, if the aim of nearly total tumor resection is achievable.

Usually directly after extended CRS, HIPEC is performed for at least 30–90 min depending on the center experiences. The advantage of HIPEC can be explained with a higher concentration of chemotherapy, which might be more effective against tumor cells. However, the treatment itself, also associated with HIPEC is associated with systemic and local toxicity.

Extensive surgery such as complete cytoreductive surgery in huge tumor mass is combined with a higher morbidity. There are a lot of factors which might be responsible for that. There are not CRS-related factors, like preoperative chemotherapy, bad condition of the patient expressed by the ECOG or Karnowsky status, renal dysfunction, extent of tumor burden, and others. Evaluated CRS-related factors are operation time, blood loss, extent of organ resection, and others. The morbidity has to be separated into factors which are related with surgical and nonsurgical treatment. The most common surgicalrelated complications are anastomotic leakage, pancreatic fistula, postoperative bleeding, surgical site infections, compartment syndrome, and pleural effusion.

Nonsurgical-related complications have a wider diversification with neurological, hematological (neutropenia, thrombocytopenia), urinary (infections), cardiovascular (rhythmic disorder, infarction, thrombosis), pulmonary (pneumonia, embolism), and renal complications (dysfunction, dialysis).

Although CRS and HIPEC showed a considerable perioperative morbidity of up to 62% and mortality of up to 10%, selected patients significantly benefit from this treatment regarding patient survival and quality of life [1, 2]. However, CRS followed by HIPEC has resulted in promising survival rates with acceptable treatmentrelated morbidity and mortality [3]. Many retrospective studies showed median overall survival rates >36 months and 5-year survival rates between 30 and 40%. Therefore, CRS and HIPEC is currently considered to be the standard of care in selected patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases in several countries [4].

These tumor-related endpoints, however, are not necessarily validated surrogates for overall survival nor do they translate into significant improvements in the duration and/or quality of survival.

Because of the very aggressive treatment of disseminated disease and the respect to quality of life (QoL) of the patients for their hopefully extended lifetime, the measuring of QoL parameters is important for both, the surgeons and the patients-for the patients to be informed that the future after CRS and HIPEC might be harmful and for the surgeons to be able to inform the adequately. patients Communication and decision-making are important in order to ensure that invasive surgical treatments are not administered to patients who would prefer less aggressive forms of care at the end-of-life.

19.2 Quality of Life (QoL)

Quality of life is a subjective parameter and seems to be very personal to every individual. Nevertheless, there are many approaches to define quality of life to make it measurable and comparable. Quality of life is multidimensional and can be even more meaningful to an individual than overall survival.

McQuellon et al. defined the quality of life as the ability to participate in normal social and physical activities related to the individual health of a person. These questionnaires focus on physical, social, family, functional, and emotional well-being and additional aspects, such as spirituality, family functioning, financial, support resources, psychological resilience, and sexuality [5]. These items mirror the situation of the patient on the basis of symptoms or other important features of the patient's life.

A different definition of QoL is health-related quality of life (HRQoL), which exists as a concept since the 1980s. It is a multidimensional concept considering both physical and mental health. There are validated instruments to measure the quality of life such as questionnaires following below, e.g., FACT-C, SF-36, or EORTC-QLC C30 [6].

Additionally, the QoL is impaired to the disease itself in most of the cases [7].

19.3 Ways of Measuring Quality of Life

The most common and useful way of measuring QoL of patients are questionnaires. One of the most commonly used is the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire score 3.0 (EORTC QLQ-CR30). It contains five functional scales, three symptom scales, a global health status scale (GHS), and six single items for additional symptoms. The score ranges from 0 to 100. A high score means a higher response level, e.g., high healthy status or a high score for symptoms. This may lead to confusion in assessment of the quality of life in patients because a high score does not automatically mean a high quality of life [2]. This questionnaire should be supplemented by modules specific to a tumor site or treatment modality.

Another commonly used questionnaire is the FACT-C (Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Colorectal). This is a specialized and often used version for peritoneal metastases in colorectal cancer consisting of the FACT-G (general) version of 28 items plus 9 items for the colon subscale. The measured items are the physical, functional, social, emotional, and family well-being and the treatment outcome index (TOI). Each item is rated from 0 to 4. The maximum score is 136. A higher score indicates a better quality of life. This questionnaire has its limitations to a defined group of colorectal cancer patients. It emphasizes especially several aspects of quality of daily life [6].

The SF-36 questionnaire (medical outcomes study health survey, short form) includes 36 items and conducts a score ranging from 0 to 100 points. It contains items of physical and emotional functioning, body pain, general and mental health, and vitality. This score is often used for patients with colorectal cancer but can additionally be used for other origins [6].

19.4 Quality of Life in Patients with CRS and HIPEC

CRS and HIPEC is a possible way to treat peritoneal metastases in a (semi-)curative intent. It can be offered to selected patients with peritoneal metastases originating from the stomach, intestine, appendix, and ovaries or patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei or mesothelioma. Due to the multimodal therapy concept of CRS and HIPEC in combination with preoperative and postoperative intravenous chemotherapy, selected patients have a significantly better overall survival and tumor-free survival compared to chemotherapy only. In the initial postoperative phase, the quality of life is reduced and the perioperative morbidity is high, up to 40%. One should consider that quality of life is already reduced through the advanced disease itself. The disease leads to emotional and social stress in most of the cases [2]. However, the number of patients with peritoneal metastases treated with CRS and HIPEC is growing [8].

19.5 Semicurative Intent of CRS and HIPEC

Depending on the underlying primary cancer, the prognosis of disseminated disease with PSM is poor. Therefore, the indication to perform CRS and HIPEC should take the results of QoL parameters into consideration.

Recent investigations have shown that the baseline QoL, before a surgical intervention of an advanced metastatic disease, has a very important impact on the outcome after the surgery and on the coping and surviving of cancer. Also an early colorectal cancer series has shown that preoperative emotional well-being and a low postoperative anxiety are independent predictors for a long-term survival. But a high TNM state remained an independent predictor for survival [9].

McQuellon et al. evaluated change in the quality of life following CRS and HIPEC in 2001. They observed a decrease in the physical and functional well-being scored from the baseline which improved gradually at 3, 6, and 12 months [5]. Most patients returned to their baseline within 3 months postsurgery and the remaining at 1 year; 74% of the patients resumed at least 50% of their activities. In an evaluation of QoL in 17 patients who had survived 3 years or more, 94% had no limitation in performing moderate physical activity [5]. Functional and physical wellbeing scores had all improved compared to their baseline.

The largest prospective single-center study by Dodson et al. included 598 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC and referring to the QoL. Patients with peritoneal metastases treated between 2000 and 2015 were included. Patients answered to different questionnaires such as SF-36 and FACT-C at the postoperative time of 3, 6, 12, and 24 months after operation. The primary tumors were mostly appendiceal cancer (58%) and colorectal cancer (22%). The mortality was significantly associated with age, complications, diabetes, and peritoneal carcinomatosis index (PCI). Most of the attrition of missing was due to other reasons than death, especially in the first 3 months. After the third month, emotional wellbeing improved significantly and remained better than preoperatively. Social well-being declined. Initially, functional well-being and FACT-C declined at 3 months but returned to baseline after 6 months (Table 19.1) [10].

Chia et al. elucidated peritoneal metastases for colonic origins in a prospective way after 3, 6, and 12 months postoperatively. In this smaller collective study, only 23 patients were investigated. QLQ-C30 and QLQ-CR29 were used as questionnaires. These scores are very simplistic and do not integrate additional symptoms or function scores. The mean PCI was 8. Seventysix percent (19 patients) underwent CRS and HIPEC without major complications. The 3-year overall survival was 77%. A higher PCI score, a longer duration of surgery, a CC score of 1, the presence of a stoma, and a recurrence were all associated with a poorer QoL at 3 months. Patients who received adjuvant chemotherapy following CRS and HIPEC had lower QLQ-C30 global health status scores after 12 months compared to patients who did not. Age, longer hospital stay, and the presence of a postoperative complication, including the high-grade ones, did not affect the QoL [11]. QoL after CRS and HIPEC improved or returned to baseline in all categories by 6–12 months after surgery. Patient selection is important not only for improved survival but also for improved QoL [11].

Another prospective study showed similar results concerning the decrease of quality of life up to 6 months and a recovery to baseline within 12 months. They included 216 patients in a single-center study. Furthermore, they pointed out that the origin of the cancer does not play the major role for the recovery after 1 year. More important seems to be the multidimensional postoperative care concept with involving psycho-oncologist and resilience for the patients (Table 19.2) [12].

	Return of questionnaires	QoL (related in	percentage to base	eline)	
Author		After 3 months	After 6 months	After 12 months	After 24 months
Tsilimparis	80%	Unknown	95%	95%	101%
et al.					
Dodson et al.	71%	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown
Hamilton et al.	48%	Unknown	92.00%	Unknown	Unknown
Chia et al.	88%	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown
Passot et al.	81%	88%	95%	98%	Unknown
Hill et al.	81%	56%	70%	73%	Unknown

Table 19.1 QoL questionnaires and outcome

	Number of patients	Questionnaires	Overall survival rate	Tumor entities	Clinical symptoms	Complications	QoL to baseline
Dodson et al.	598	SF-36, FACT-C	1 year 77%	Various	Anxiety, depression	21.70%	6 months
Chia et al.	23	QLQ-C29/30	5 years 58%	Colorectal	Anxiety, depression	76%	6–12 months
Passot et al.	216	GIQLI	1 year 92%	Various	Unknown	42.00%	12 months
Hill et al.	62	FACT-10, SF36	1 year 71%	Colorectal	Depression, pain	48.00%	3–6 months

Table 19.2 Prospective studies of QoL in PSM

In agreement to the studies mentioned above are the results of Hill et al.'s another prospective study from America. They investigated 62 patients with peritoneal metastases of different origins using FACT-C, SF-36, and the depression scale CES-D. The recovery times of QoL were nearly the same as Passot et al. and Dodson et al. with an impairment of QoL for the first postoperative 3 months. A recovery near baseline occurred after 12 months. The emotional function recovered earlier, after 6 months. Additionally, they found out that the presence of a stoma did not influence QoL scales. Patients accepted the new situation very quickly and communicated a better QoL than before [13].

Kirby et al. investigated the quality of life of 63 patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei. They focused in their research on physical, emotional, functional, and social well-being. The mean time of surgery was 9–10 h. Seventy-nine percent of these patients stated that they would repeat CRS and HIPEC, if necessary. Symptoms that occurred most were appetite loss, loss of bowel control, and problems with digestion [14].

The improvement of QoL after CRS and HIPEC may result in a mostly bad initial state of the person's health before surgical treatment. Most of the patients suffer from vomiting, nausea, and pain. Offering CRS and HIPEC should consider the prognosis and surgical consideration, not the sex or preoperative QoL [7].

McQuellon et al. mentioned that 74% of the patients reach more than 50% of their normal activity after 6 and 12 months [15]. These patients mostly suffered from problems such as fatigue, appetite loss, financial problems, and future perspective [2].

One big problem is the depressive status of many patients before CRS and HIPEC. In total, 32% of all patients show depressive symptoms at the baseline. They even decrease within the first months after treatment. That's why a complex treatment with a psycho-oncologist and an interdisciplinary team can achieve a big effort [8].

The prenutritional status is even more important for gastric and colorectal cancer than for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Usually, patients are already starting the therapy with a low bodyweight. The prenutritional assessment and improvement are very important for the outcome and QoL, especially for patients with gastric cancer [5]. Nearly all patients lose weight in the early preoperative phase.

Emotional functioning is mainly getting well with and without major complication, because after an operation there is renewed hope. The recovery of social functioning in patients, who suffer from PSM, needs longer time compared to the other QoL items. This is mainly related to disturbed bowel function, e.g., diarrhea [16].

Most of the studies don't differentiate between the primary cancer of peritoneal metastases. The QoL at the beginning of the studies is reported in most of the studies as very bad and mostly related to the disease itself. An advanced gastric cancer may subjectively cause more problems for the patient than a colorectal cancer. Surprisingly, there was no difference in the recovery time of the quality of life in regard to the different tumor entities in some studies after CRS and HIPEC [7].

While CRS and HIPEC achieved good results in survival of patients with peritoneal metastases of different origins, the benefit has to be counterbalanced with the postoperative QoL and the morbidity and mortality. The usage of scores predicting the QoL after major operations might be very helpful. It is possible to identify predictors for complications and QoL which can be discussed with the patient upfront [8].

There are different scores validated. Some of them were criticized because of being too simplistic. That's why in many studies further symptom or function scores are additionally used [11]. However, just a few studies focusing on the QoL after CRS and HIPEC are prospective, while the majority contains a retrospective study design [11].

Conclusion

In conclusion, many studies showed a drop of quality of life within the first 3 months and a recovery afterwards, especially in emotional and functional well-being. Limitations of these studies were high attrition rates and the inclusion of different primary cancers. The attrition rate is mainly explained by mortality, because of an end-stage disease and incompliance.

References

- Simkens GA, van Oudheusden TR, Luyer MD, Nienhuijs SW, Nieuwenhuijzen GA, Rutten HJ, de Hingh IH. Serious postoperative complications affect early recurrence after cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(8):2656–62.
- Tsilimparis N, Bockelmann C, Raue W, Menenakos C, Perez S, Rau B, Hartmann J. Quality of life in patients after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: is it worth the risk? Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(1):226–32.
- Glehen O, Gilly FN, Boutitie F, Bereder JM, Quenet F, Sideris L, Mansvelt B, Lorimier G, Msika S, Elias D. Toward curative treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from nonovarian origin by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a multi-institutional study of 1290 patients. Cancer. 2010;116(24):5608–18.
- Esquivel J, Lowy AM, Markman M, Chua T, Pelz J, Baratti D, Baumgartner JM, Berri R, Bretcha-Boix P, Deraco M, Flores-Ayala G, Glehen O, Gomez-Portilla A, Gonzalez-Moreno S, Goodman M, Halkia E, Kusamura S, Moller M, Passot G, Pocard M, Salti G, Sardi A, Senthil M, Spilioitis J, Torres-Melero J, Turaga K, Trout R. The American Society of

Peritoneal Surface Malignancies (ASPSM) multiinstitution evaluation of the Peritoneal Surface Disease Severity Score (PSDSS) in 1,013 patients with colorectal cancer with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(13):4195–201.

- McQuellon RP, Russell GB, Shen P, Stewart JH, Saunders W, Levine EA. Survival and health outcomes after cytoreductive surgery with intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy for disseminated peritoneal cancer of appendiceal origin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008b;15(1):125–33.
- Zhu Y, Hanna N, Boutros C, Alexander HR Jr. Assessment of clinical benefit and quality of life in patients undergoing cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for management of peritoneal metastases. J Gastrointest Oncol. 2013;4(1):62–71.
- Albertsmeier M, Hauer A, Niess H, Werner J, Graeb C, Angele MK. Quality of life in peritoneal carcinomatosis: a prospective study in patients undergoing cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Dig Surg. 2014;31(4–5):334–40.
- Polom K, Marano L, Roviello G, Petrioli R, Piagnerelli R, de Franco L, Marrelli D, Roviello F. Evolution and emerging future of cytoreducxtive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion in gastric cancer: from treating the incurable to preventing recurrence. Int J Hyperth. 2015;32:1–7.
- Sharma A, Walker LG, Monson JR. Baseline quality of life factors predict long term survival after elective resection for colorectal cancer. Int J Surg Oncol. 2013;2013:269510. https://doi. org/10.1155/2013/269510.
- Dodson RM, McQuellon RP, Mogal HD, Duckworth KE, Russell GB, Votanopoulos KI, Shen P, Levine EA. Quality-of-life evaluation after cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(Suppl 5):772–83.
- 11. Chia CS, Tan GH, Lim C, Soo KC, Teo MC. Prospective quality of life study for colorectal cancer patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis undergoing cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(9):2905–13.
- Passot G, Bakrin N, Roux AS, Vaudoyer D, Gilly FN, Glehen O, Cotte E. Quality of life after cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a prospective study of 216 patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(5):529–35.
- Hill AR, McQuellon RP, Russell GB, Shen P, Stewart JH, Levine EA. Survival and quality of life following cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colonic origin. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011; 18(13):3673–9.
- Kirby R, Liauw W, Zhao J, Morris D. Quality of life study following cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudo-

myxoma peritonei including redo procedures. Int J Surg Oncol. 2013;2013:461041. https://doi. org/10.1155/2013/461041.

- McQuellon R, Gavazzi C, Piso P, Swain D, Levine E. Quality of life and nutritional assessment in peritoneal surface malignancy (PSM): recommendations for care. J Surg Oncol. 2008a;98(4):300–5.
- Hamilton TD, Taylor EL, Cannell AJ, McCart JA, Govindarajan A. Impact of major complications on patients' quality of life after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(9):2946–52.



20

New Treatment Modalities for the Management of Peritoneal Metastases

Aditi Bhatt and Akash Mehta

20.1 Introduction

Over the last three decades, the management of peritoneal metastases secondary to gastrointestinal and ovarian malignancies has seen a radical change in the approach. From the predominantly palliative approach in the 1980s with an expected survival of no more than a few months, selected patients with PM experience long-term survival when treated with cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) and can even be cured [1]. This combined modality treatment is considered the standard of care for patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases (PM) with limited disease spread, pseudomyxoma peritonei arising from appendiceal primary tumors, and malignant peritoneal mesothelioma [2]. It is under investigation of PM from ovarian and gastric cancer.

However, this treatment can be used only for a highly selected group of patients. Treatment strategies are needed for effective management

Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India e-mail: aditimodi31@gmail.com of patients who are not candidates for this procedure. For colorectal cancer the peritoneal cancer index (PCI) cutoff beyond which CRS and HIPEC is not of clinical benefit is 17–20 [3]. Of these only patients who have a PCI of less than ten can be cured [4]. Moreover, in certain cases (primarily with widespread small bowel involvement), a complete cytoreduction is not possible, irrespective of PCI. While the focus has shifted on preventive strategies, a substantial portion of patients continue to be diagnosed with PM up front. Similarly, in gastric cancer, CRS and HIPEC is ineffective for a PCI of more than 13, and only patients with a PCI of 6 or less can be cured [5, 6]. Secondly, even after CRS and HIPEC, peritoneal recurrence itself is common [7, 8]. In patients with PMP, ovarian cancer, and mesothelioma where there is no PCI cutoff. recurrence rates are more than 50%. Recurrence after complete CRS and HIPEC or other forms of intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC) is considered to be a failure of IPC itself [9]. Broadly, strategies to improve outcomes in patients with PM include

- Improving the efficacy of CRS and IPC
- Locoregional therapies for patients who are not candidates for CRS and HIPEC
- New locoregional therapies for all patients with PM
- · More efficacious systemic therapies

A. Bhatt (🖂)

A. Mehta

Peritoneal Malignancy Institute, Basingstoke & North Hampshire Hospital, Hampshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Basingstoke, UK

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_20

This chapter provides an overview of new modalities of locoregional treatment that are being evaluated in the preclinical or clinical phase and have shown promising results for future use in the management of PM.

20.2 Rationale for Locoregional Therapy for Peritoneal Metastases

It was for long believed that peritoneal cancer spread was similar to other distant metastases and was an incurable consequence of intra-abdominal malignancies amenable only to palliative therapies. Peritoneal cancer dissemination has a propensity to remain confined to the peritoneal cavity for short or long periods depending on the site of origin of the tumor, thus making locoregional therapy a plausible approach in these patients [10]. CRS comprises of complete removal of macroscopic disease. It is coupled with intraperitoneal chemotherapy which is usually performed in the operation theatre immediately after tumor removal and uses hyperthermia-hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). HIPEC acts only on microscopic disease. The penetration of intraperitoneal chemotherapy is only 2-3 mm [11, 12]. An understanding of the pathophysiology of peritoneal cancer spread forms the basis of treatment for peritoneal metastases.

20.3 The Intraperitoneal Route for Chemotherapy Administration

The peritoneum is now considered an organ with structural and protective functions [10, 13]. The peritoneum consists of a single layer of mesothelial cells resting on multiple layers of connective tissue and encloses between its reflections and folds a large space called the peritoneal cavity that lies around major abdominopelvic viscera [14]. The ultrastructure was described in detail by Baron who observed that a layer of mesothelial cells rests on five layers of connective tissue [15]. The total thickness of this membrane is 90 μ m. The connective tissue adjacent to the mesothelial layer has few blood vessels, and most of them are found at a distance of 40 μ m or more from the surface. One of the main functions of the peritoneum is regulating the transport of fluid and cells from the peritoneal cavity to the extraperitoneal systemic compartment [16]. The mesothelial cells secrete a lubricant comprising of phospholipids and gylcosaminoglycans that ensures smooth gliding between the visceral and peritoneal surfaces that is essential for normal intestinal peristalsis [17]. The mesothelium also plays a major role in host defense within the peritoneal cavity.

20.4 The Peritoneal Transport Barrier

The peritoneum is considered to be an anatomic barrier between the peritoneal cavity and systemic circulation/plasma. However, this plasmaperitoneal barrier does not comprise solely of the physical "peritoneum" but is a complex, threedimensional structure made up of the peritoneum (mesothelial layer) and the underlying connective tissue that comprises parenchymal and interstitial cells, endothelial lining of the blood vessels and the pericytes around it, and the interstitial matrix (Fig. 20.1) [14]. In animal experiments it has been shown that the clearance of protein from the peritoneal cavity is not proportional to the rise in its blood levels. Some of the protein leaving the peritoneal cavity reaches the blood stream, while the rest of it gets deposited in the interstitial tissue [18, 19]. The rate of protein transfer was quantitatively the same as the rate of fluid transfer from an isotonic solution placed in the cavity. This means that the protein acts as a marker of fluid transport from the peritoneal cavity into the surrounding tissues and implies that the peritoneum is a very loose barrier to albumin and immunoglobulin.

In a study carried out in rodents, complete removal of the peritoneum did not affect the transfer of fluid or solutes from the peritoneal cavity to the interstitial space [20]. Similar findings




were noted in patients undergoing total or partial peritonectomy for PM in whom the extent of peritoneal resection did not affect the clearance of mitomycin C from the peritoneal cavity [21]. From these studies, it can be concluded that it is the blood vessels and the surrounding interstitium that are barriers to the transport of solutes and macromolecules and not the anatomic peritoneal lining itself. The volume of intraperitoneal fluid also affects the transport. Hence the term peritoneal fluid-plasma barrier is preferable to "peritoneal-plasma barrier" [21].

20.5 Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy

The peritoneal cavity has been used as a route for drug delivery. Pharmacokinetic studies of the intraperitoneal route of administration of chemotherapeutic agents have demonstrated a protracted local concentration as compared to systemic levels. A distribution model was proposed by Dedrick et al. to explain this phenomenon [22]. The Dedrick model is a two-compartment model of peritoneal transport in which transfer of a drug from the peritoneal cavity to the blood occurs across a membrane—the peritoneal membrane (now known as the plasma-peritoneal barrier). This transfer is governed by the permeabilityarea product (PA) which can be calculated by measuring the rate of drug disappearance from the cavity and dividing by the overall concentration difference between the peritoneal cavity and the blood (or plasma).

A simplified mathematical formula describes the transport as follows: rate of mass transfer = PA (*CP*-*CB*), where PA = permeability area (PA = effective contact area *x* permeability), *CP* = concentration in peritoneal cavity, and *CB* = concentration in the blood [23].

This equation allows calculation of the pharmacokinetic advantage, but it does not predict the penetration of chemotherapeutic drugs into tumor nodules or the surrounding tissues [24]. It does not predict the value of the effective contact area either. It simply describes the transfer between two compartments [23]. However, all these factors are important and have an impact on the efficacy of the intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC).

The peritoneal clearance of a drug is inversely proportional to the square root of its molecular weight. This results in a significantly higher concentration in the peritoneal cavity as compared to the plasma after intraperitoneal administration. In the Dedrick model, delayed systemic drug distribution is predictable and dependent on drug diffusivity within the adjacent tissues in the peritoneal cavity and the rate of drug removal from tissue by capillary blood [21]. Low systemic drug concentrations are maintained by a rapid systemic metabolism or excretion by the kidneys and liver. Following the publication by Dedrick in 1978, several studies demonstrated clinical activity in patients including pathologically proven complete responses in patients who had persistent or recurrent disease following systemic chemotherapy [22, 25, 26].

The intraperitoneal route of drug delivery has several pharmacokinetic advantages—it allows the peritoneal tumor deposits to be exposed to significantly higher drug concentrations than those achieved by systemic delivery of the same agents. The drug concentration is important for achieving a therapeutic benefit. Peritoneal tumor deposits are hypoxic and have a poorly developed vasculature which makes targeting these nodules by the systemic route difficult [27]. Any increase in the concentration gradient between the peritoneal compartment and the tumor stroma will theoretically enhance drug delivery. Most chemotherapeutic agents exhibit a steep (near exponential) dose-effect relationship, which is more pronounced in small, rapidly growing tumor deposits [28]. Preclinical data with cisplatin showed an exponential dose-related reduction in survival of human ovarian cancer cells [29]. Also, higher intracellular drug concentrations can partially help to overcome platinum resistance [30]. The activity of cell cycle-independent drugs like alkylating agents and platinum compounds is a function of concentration, while drugs like 5-fluorouracil, gemcitabine, and pemetrexed are time dependent requiring prolonged exposure times [31]. Since approximately 70% of the peritoneum lines the visceral surfaces, the main absorption barrier consists of submesothelial connective and muscle tissue and, ultimately, the endothelial lining of the microvascular network. Transport of drugs from the peritoneal to the vascular compartment occurs mainly via the portal circulation. Moreover, chemotherapeutic drugs administered or absorbed systemically will access the microcirculation of peritoneal nodules and thus act synergistically with the intraperitoneal administered therapy [32].

The two main physical mechanisms of drug transport into tumor tissue are diffusion and convection [33]. For small agents (molecular weight < 6000 daltons), transport occurs mainly by diffusion, which is driven by the concentration gradient. Large solutes, such as proteins diffuse much more slowly, and their transport is typically governed by solvent drag or convection which is driven by the pressure gradient. Conventionally, the pharmacologic efficacy of intraperitoneal chemotherapy regimens is quantified by calculating the area under the curve (AUC) ratio of the intraperitoneal exposure over the AUC of the intravenous exposure. The importance of pharmacodynamic variables was highlighted by Van Der Speeten et al. When the same amount of doxorubicin was administered to patients with

diffuse peritoneal adenomyosis (DPAM) subtype of appendiceal malignancy and those with peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis (PMCA), the concentration in the DPAM patients was significantly lower than in those with PMCA [21]. The identical pharmacokinetic advantage (expressed as AUC IP/IV ratios) resulted in different drug levels according to the density of the tumor nodules; this highlighted the importance of pharmacodynamic variables like density of tumor nodules, their size, and vascularity. Table 20.1 summarizes the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variables involved in perioperative intraperitoneal and intravenous chemotherapy.

Several other models have been developed for a better understanding of IP drug delivery [34–36]. Steuperaert et al. developed a three-dimensional computational fluid dynamics (CFD) model for drug penetration in a tumor nodule to study the impact of various factors like vascular normaliza-

tion therapy, drug diffusivity, the presence of a necrotic core, and tissue permeability on the drug penetration [37]. According to this model, smaller tumors showed better penetration than larger ones, which could be attributed to the lower interstitial fluid pressure in smaller tumors (Fig. 20.2).

Table 20.1 Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic

 variable in IPC (From Ref. [23] with permission)

Pharmacokinetic variables	Pharmacodynamic variables
Dose	Temperature
Volume	Size of residual tumor nodules
Duration	Density
Carrier solution	Binding
Pressure	Interstitial fluid pressure
Vasoactive agents	Charge
Macromolecular vehicles	Vascularity



Fig. 20.2 Three-dimensional computational fluid dynamics model. Figure shows the six different geometries used in the model considering that peritoneal tumor nodules have a large variety of shapes and sizes. (**a** and **d**) Geometries of spherical tumor shape comprising two different zones: a necrotic center of radius r_n (darker gray

area) and the viable tumor zone. A concentration and pressure boundary condition are applied at the outer edge of the tumor. (**b** and **e**) Geometries of an ellipsoid tumor shape. (**c** and **f**) Geometries of the peritoneal tumor shape (Adapted from Ref. [37] with permission)

Vascular normalization therapy led to large improvements in the depth of penetration of the chemotherapeutic drug into the tumor nodule. This model also demonstrated the importance of selecting the appropriate drug for therapy-not just transport parameters but biological factors like protein binding and depth of penetration also had an impact on the efficacy. During IPC, the diffusive and convective drug transport occurs in different directions: the diffusive transport is directed inward into the tumor, whereas the convective transport is directed outward out of the tumor. The convective force is more in large tumor nodules making the drug penetration in these nodules lower than that in smaller tumors [37]. These experimental studies provide important insights about drug transport and penetration during IPC that are important in selecting drugs and devising protocols for IPC in clinical practice.

Currently there are several methods of administering intraperitoneal chemotherapy in clinical practice. In the perioperative period, hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) that is performed immediately after cytoreductive surgery (CRS) in the operation theatre and has the benefit of thermal enhancement is one of the commonly employed methods. Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC) is given for 3–5 days starting from postoperative day 1 and is administered via drainage tubes inserted during surgery. Another method is sequenced intraperitoneal chemotherapy (SIPC) in which an indwelling peritoneal catheter connected to a subcutaneously implanted chamber is used for administering numerous cycles of normothermic chemotherapy over a period of time. Heat itself is cytotoxic to cancer cells and is known to potentiate the action of certain chemotherapeutic agents.

20.6 The Problems with Current Methods of Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy

HIPEC requires dedicated equipment, is expensive, and may not be available at all centers. It is a single time treatment with an exposure time of 30 to 120 min which may not be sufficient to produce the desired therapeutic effect in all cases. The clinical data reporting the benefit of EPIC is lacking, and its current role as the sole method of IPC or in addition to HIPEC remains undefined [38]. It has been associated with higher rates of complications in some studies [39]. SIPC requires an implantable port. There are problems with longterm maintenance of ports and catheter-related problems, such as catheter obstruction, increased risk of infection, and bowel complications [40, 41]. Moreover intraperitoneal adhesions limit the homogenous distribution of the drug.

From the pharmacokinetic perspective, there are two main limitations of IPC—limited penetration of the drugs into tissue and poor exposure of a large proportion of the serosal surface to the drug-containing solution. The solution of these two problems could potentially improve, perhaps dramatically, the efficacy of the procedure [42].

As the basic research to better understand these phenomena continues, new treatment methods have been developed to overcome some of the limitations of IP therapy and for patients who are not candidates for CRS and IPC. These therapies are being evaluated in preclinical or clinical studies. A list of the same is provided in Table 20.2.

Mode of action	Treatment
Enhancing intraperitoneal drug delivery • Increased exposure time • Increasing the IP pressure • Hyperthermia • Reducing the interstitial fluid pressure	 Drug delivery systems PIPAC, laparoscopic HIPEC Noninvasive hyperthermia using nanoparticles Vascular targeting agents and vascular destroying agents
New concepts in intraperitoneal therapy	 Intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy Photodynamic therapy
New drugs for intraperitoneal use	 Intraperitoneal immunotherapy Intraperitoneal monoclonal antibodies Mucin-lysing agents
New surgical strategies for PM	 PDT for diagnosis of occult disease Small bowel transplant

20.6.1 Drug Delivery Systems

Pharmacokinetic approaches to increase drug delivery include maximizing the peritoneal/ plasma AUC ratio and drug exposure time [43]. HIPEC is performed for 30–120 min depending on the protocol, and this exposure time is considered to be short [43]. With such an exposure time, increasing the concentration gradient does not increase the tissue penetration proportionally. The dose-response curves and their dependency on exposure time have been theoretically modelled by Gardner [44]. These studies as well as in vitro experiments have shown that increasing the drug dose will not always compensate for a shorter exposure time [43]. One of the main challenges of IP therapy is to maintain a high intraperitoneal drug concentration to provide a sufficient concentration gradient between the peritoneal cavity and tumor tissue that will drive the drug into the tissue by diffusion. Small molecules do not remain in the peritoneal cavity long enough to have a therapeutic effect as they are rapidly absorbed by the capillaries into the systemic circulation [45].

Inadequate drug delivery to solid tumors is a major cause of IP treatment failure. Most of the drugs used for IPC are intravenous preparations, and preparations for IP use are not available [43]. A number of drug delivery systems (DDSs) that increase the retention time of chemotherapeutic drugs in the peritoneal cavity have been developed and tested in preclinical studies. The rationale behind the additional effect of a carrier includes an increase in intraperitoneal chemotherapy concentration for a longer duration of time without additional systemic toxicity [46]. In experimental settings, nanoparticles, micelles, microspheres, and hydrogels have been used as carriers in the treatment of peritoneal metastasis [47, 48].

All experimental studies used mice as test animals, most commonly BALB/c mice. Comprehensive reviews on the various DDSs that have been tested in animal peritoneal cancer models have been published by de Hingh et al. and Vervaet et al. [9, 43]. A description of the various DDSs and the results of various experimental studies are described below.

20.6.1.1 Hydrogels

Hydrogels are three-dimensional, cross-linked networks of water-soluble polymers [49]. Hydrogels can be made from virtually any watersoluble polymer, encompassing a wide range of chemical compositions and bulk physical properties. Furthermore, hydrogels can be formulated in a variety of physical forms, including slabs, microparticles, nanoparticles, coatings, and films. They have unique physical properties like a highly porous structure and an affinity for the aqueous environment in which they are swollen. Drugs can be loaded into the gel matrix of the hydrogels because of their porosity; subsequent diffusion into the tissues depends on the diffusion coefficient of the drug molecule itself. Hydrogels have many pharmacokinetic benefits. They function as depot formulations from which the drugs are released slowly and over a prolonged period of time, maintaining a high concentration in the local tissues. Hydrogels are also generally highly biocompatible, as reflected in their successful use in the peritoneum and other sites in vivo [50]. Thermosensitive hydrogels used for intraperitoneal therapy have been widely studied [51]. The ideal thermosensitive hydrogels remain in liquid form at low temperatures turning into a gel at body temperature of 37 degrees Celsius [52]. The delivery of chemotherapeutic agents with thermosensitive hydrogels can prolong the exposure time of the peritoneal surfaces to the drug and reduce systemic toxicity [53]. However, drugs loaded directly into hydrogels are often released rapidly from the hydrogels due to the large size of pores and the high water content. The quantity and homogeneity of hydrophobic drug loading into hydrogels may be limited [49, 54]. Liu et al. used a biodegradable DDS consisting of camptothecin (CPT)-loaded polymeric microspheres in a thermosensitive $poly(\varepsilon$ -caprolactone)-poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(ɛ-caprolactone) (PCEC) hydrogel [54]. Combining chemotherapy with microspheres and hydrogel increased survival significantly and showed a dramatically decreased number and weight of tumor nodules indicating that not only growth was inhibited but also the process of metastasizing itself was inhibited. The experimental combination was more effective

Year (ref)	Species	Tumor line	Treatment	DDS	Days after inoculation	Time to death (days)	Result
2013 [55]	Mouse, BALB/c,	C126 IP 2 × 105	4 mg/kg	PCL-PEG-PCL microsphere hydrogel		50	number + weight decrease, hydrogel increased survival
2010 [56]	Mouse, BALB/c,	CT26 IP 2 × 105	5FU 25 mg/kg	PEG-PCL-PEG copolymer hydrogel	5	20	Tumor number + weight decrease, hydrogel increased survival
2007 [57]	Mouse, BALB/c, male	CT26/Luc IP 1 × 105	ED-catalase 0.1 mg/mg	Acidic gelatin hydrogel	0	21	Retardation of tumor growth, increased survival
2013 [58]	Mouse, BALB/ female	MKN45P gastric cancer	Cisplatin 1 mg/m ²	In situ cross- linkable hyaluronic acid gel	7, 14, and 21	28	Decreased tumor weight
2012 [59]	Mouse, BALB/c, male	TMK1 human gastric cancer IP 1 × 107	Docetaxel 10 mg/kg	Linoleic acid- incorporated poloxamer hydrogel	7	28	Reduced tumor cell survival, number decreases, increased survival
2012 [60]	Mouse, BALB/c, male	HSC44Luc human gastric cancer MKN45P	Paclitaxel, 15 mg/kg	Biodegradable thermosensitive hydrogel	3	-	Quantitative photon count decrease
2012 [61]	Mouse, euthymic nu/nu, female	SKOV-3 ovarian cancer	Paclitaxel, 30 mg/kg	Hyaluronic acid-based hydrogel	14	28	IP retention of PTX increased, no difference in reduction of the tumor

Table 20.3 Outcomes of using hydrogels as DDSs in the treatment of PM in animal models

than microspheres loaded with camptothecin or free camptothecin [54]. The experimental studies that used hydrogel, the tumor cell lines used to induce carcinomatosis, and their outcomes are listed in Table 20.3.

20.6.1.2 Microspheres

Microspheres (>1 μ m) can be designed to release the drug gradually over time using a wide variety of biodegradable and biocompatible polymeric substances. The retention time and peritoneal concentration of MS is higher than that of nanoparticles or micelles [62]. Therefore, microspheres are a suitable DDS for intraperitoneal administration. The problem with microsphere is the short retention time in the peritoneal cavity due their size especially when it is less than 8 µm [63]. The various biodegradable substances used for making microspheres are poly(lacticco-glycolic) acid (PLGA) used for cisplatin- or paclitaxel-containing microspheres, phosphoester polymer matrix for paclitaxel microspheres, and the triblock $poly(\varepsilon$ -caprolactone)-poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(ε -caprolactone) (PCL-PEG-PCL) copolymer for camptothecin-loaded microspheres [63-65]. Cisplatin is released from the PLGA matrix by diffusion for up to 14 days after IP administration and has a pharmacokinetic advantage over systemic injection in animal models. The paclitaxel-loaded polyphosphoester polymer matrix microspheres (Paclimer) measure 53 µm and release paclitaxel over a period of 8 weeks. Although these formulations are retained in the peritoneal cavity for longer durations, they are

Year (ref)	Species	Tumor line	Treatment	DDS	Days after inoculation	Time to death (days)	Result
2013 [67]	Mouse, BALB/c, male	CT26 IP 1 × 106	Cisplatin 2 mg/ml	Gelatin microspheres	1 or 4	Survival	Decreased nephron and hematotoxicity, decreased tumor weight, and increased survival
1996 [68]	Mouse, BDF1, male	B-16 PC melanoma IP	5FU 100–400 mg/ kg	Microspheres	4	150	Increased survival

Table 20.4 Outcomes of using microspheres as DDSs in the treatment of PM in animal models

known to induce inflammatory reactions and adhesions [66]. The outcomes of experimental studies in which microspheres were used as drug delivery systems are detailed in Table 20.4.

20.6.1.3 Nanoparticles

Nanoparticles are smaller than microspheres and hence induce less inflammation and adhesions [69]. However, due to their small size, they also undergo rapid clearance from the peritoneal cavity. To overcome this drawback, nanoparticles that can undergo activation by triggers like pH, temperature, light, and ultrasound are being developed and investigated.

Nanoparticles can bypass drug efflux pumps and thus achieve a higher concentration in multidrug-resistant cells compared to unformulated-free drugs [70, 71]. For IPC, paclitaxel-loaded pH-responsive nanoparticles were developed which were designed to deliver paclitaxel intracellularly after endocytosis. These nanoparticles react to an endosomal pH (pH \leq 5) and increase in volume to release their drug load. On intraperitoneal injection in mice with induced peritoneal carcinomatosis, these nanoparticles remain in the peritoneal cavity for 7 days [72].

Epothilone B, a microtubule-stabilizing agent, is many times more effective than paclitaxel, but clinical use is limited by side effects. In an experimental study, this drug was encapsulated into bioadhesive nanoparticles with the goal of releasing the drug only in the proximity of the tumor nodules, thus maintaining its concentration at the site of action and limiting systemic exposure and toxicity [73]. This study showed a higher therapeutic activity and limited toxicity by using epothilone B with bioadhesive nanoparticles in mice with peritoneal carcinomatosis from serous ovarian cancer or uterine serous carcinoma compared to nonadhesive nanoparticles loaded with epothilone B or carrier-free epothilone B [73]. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSNs) containing paclitaxel for intraperitoneal delivery were developed to exploit the tumor-specific accumulation of these nanocarriers after intraperitoneal injection and the slow release of paclitaxel from the MSNs. A 3.5-fold increase in tumor drug uptake was observed for the paclitaxel-loaded MSNs compared with free paclitaxel [74]. Vassileva et al. implanted paclitaxel-loaded nanoparticles in mice inoculated with intraperitoneal ovarian cancer [75]. Mice that were treated with these nanoparticles on day 7 after inoculation had a complete tumor inhibition. This DDS allowed a higher paclitaxel dosage with no observable toxicities.

Reddy et al. used etoposide in a mouse model in which PC was induced using intraperitoneally administered Dalton's lymphoma cells [76]. Incorporation of etoposide, a topoisomerase inhibitor, in a solid lipid nanoparticle had a significant effect on the cell cycle, cytogenetic damage, and survival compared to etoposide or nanoparticles alone. Another study showed prolonged retention of PTX (paclitaxel)-loaded amphiphilic copolymer (PECT, poly (e-caprolactone-co-1,4,8-trioxa [4.6] spiro-9-undecanone)-poly(ethylene glycol)-poly(ecaprolactone-co-1,4,8-trioxa [4.6]spiro-9-undecanone)) nanoparticles and antitumor activity as compared to free paclitaxel (Fig. 20.3) [78].



Table 20.5 Outcomes of using nanoparticles as DDSs in the treatment of PM in animal models

Year (ref)	Species	Tumor line	Treatment	DDS	Days after inoculation	Time to death (days)	Result
2007 [75]	Mouse, CD-1, female	SKOV-3 ovarian cancer IP 1 × 107	Paclitaxel 280 mg/ kg/ week	Polylactide nanoparticles	7 or 14	28 or end point	Induction of apoptosis, complete tumor inhibition
2005 [76]	Mouse, Balb/C, both genders	Dalton lymphoma IP 5 × 106	Etoposide 30 mg/kg	Solid lipid nanoparticles	6	Survival	Induction of apoptosis increased survival
2012 [77]	Mouse, BALB/c, female	MKN45P gastric cancer IP 2 × 106 + SC 1 × 106	Paclitaxel 40 mg/kg	Micellar nanoparticle	7, 14, and 21	19	Decreased number and weight of tumors, enhanced penetration in nodules, and longer retention in circulation

The outcomes of using nanoparticles as DDSs in the treatment of PM in animal models are described in Table 20.5.

20.6.1.4 Liposomes

Liposomes measure 100–1000 nm leading to a fast clearance from the peritoneal cavity. Their lipid composition, surface charge, and properties can be altered according to the therapeutic requirement. Negatively charged liposomes are more rapidly absorbed than those that are positively charged since the peritoneal surface itself is negatively charged, thus attracting the positively charged liposomes. The uptake by macrophages is also less [79]. Changing the type of phospholipid (the main building block of liposomes) has no effect on the retention time in the abdominal cavity, whereas the incorporation of polyethylene glycol in the phospholipid membrane showed a 30% higher peritoneal retention

Fig. 20.3 Prolonged retention of PTX/PECT gel as compared to paclitaxel alone in an experimental study (From ref [78] with permission) which was largely due to a decreased uptake by the macrophages [79]. An experimental study used pegylated liposomes as a carrier for 111In-labelled vinorelbine in a colorectal cancer ascites model [80]. They achieved higher areas under the curve (AUCs) in ascites and tumor in the intraperitoneally administrated group compared to the intravenous group.

20.6.1.5 Micelles

Paclitaxel has been formulated using Cremophor EL (i.e., a polyethoxylated castor oil surfactant), to produce a micellar form of paclitaxel IP treatment of ovarian cancer. This formulation showed a longer residence time in the abdominal cavity compared to free unformulated paclitaxel [81]. Encapsulation of paclitaxel in this way is an effective way of prolonging its retention in the peritoneal cavity and reducing hypersensitivity reactions and neurotoxicity [82]. Another formulation in which nanocrystalline paclitaxel stabilized by Pluronic F127 (i.e., polyethylene oxide-polypropylene oxide (PEO-PPO) block copolymer) has also been tested in animals by intraperitoneal administration [83]. Similarly, docetaxel has also been used with a carrier leading to a prolonged retention time in the peritoneal cavity and AUC values similar to paclitaxel [84, 85].

20.6.1.6 Implantable Systems

Implantable systems were developed for IP treatment of ovarian cancer. One example is an implant that is composed of paclitaxel-loaded poly-D, L-lactide, and poly(lactide)-block-poly (ethylene glycol) (PLA-b-PEG) particles dispersed throughout a chitosan egg-phosphatidylcholine matrix. This formulation provides a sustained and localized release of 1% PTX per day in mice over a period of 3 months [86, 87]. These implants have a higher efficacy and are less toxic and more biocompatible than paclitaxel. Although the implantable systems have promising results, the biggest issue for using those systems is the need for surgical expertise to implant the system.

DDS application does not require any additional machinery and is less time-consuming since no perfusion or heating is required [9]. This makes it possible to use DDSs in the setting of an unexpected finding of PM in nonspecialized centers.

These systems can also be used for the prevention of peritoneal spread after resection of primary gastrointestinal tumors or application of DDSs in the treatment of malignant ascites [88, 89].

There are also several drawbacks in the studies evaluating these DDSs. In most of these studies, the choice and dose of the chemotherapeutic agents was random though it has a significant impact on the treatment outcomes [9]. Most of these experimental studies are performed without the use of hyperthermia which can potentiate the action of chemotherapeutic drugs. In some of these studies, the comparison is made with systemic chemotherapy agents [9]. Moreover, CRS was not performed which is an essential component of curative treatment of PM. In contrast, up to 25% of animal models evaluating standard intraperitoneal chemotherapy involved CRS [9, 90, 91]. This makes a comparison of outcomes impossible.

The advantages and disadvantages of each DDS are described in Table 20.6.

Currently, the use of DDSs is experimental. DDSs are being evaluated in preclinical studies for over a decade now. The formulations have been undergoing constant refinement. There are no studies reporting the use of these therapies in clinical practice, and though the experimental data is promising, further studies are needed before these therapies can be used in clinical practice. Moreover, none of the preclinical studies compared DDSs directly with HIPEC, which is the current standard of care in intraperitoneal chemotherapy.

20.6.2 Increased Intra-Abdominal Pressure

By counterbalancing tumor interstitial and capillary pressure, intra-abdominal pressure increases the depth of penetration of chemotherapeutic drugs in small peritoneal tumor nodules left behind in case of incomplete cytoreduction, thereby potentiating their cytotoxic effect [91, 92].

Drug delivery		
system	Advantages	Disadvantages
Hydrogels	Biocompatible, thermosensitive, prolonged retention time	Risk of adhesions
Microspheres	Prolonged retention time	Limited tumor penetration, risk of peritoneal adhesions
Nanoparticles	Small size, passive targeting, avoiding MDR, lower incidence of peritoneal adhesions	Rapid clearance from the peritoneal cavity
Liposomes	Similar to nanoparticles, active targeting by varying parameters	Similar to nanoparticles
Micelles	Prolonged retention time	Increase systemic toxicity
Implantable systems	Prolonged retention time Localized and sustained drug delivery Lower systemic toxicity Prevention of peritoneal adhesions	Invasive Surgical expertise

Table 20.6 Advantages and disadvantages of various drug delivery systems for intraperitoneal chemotherapy (Adapted from Ref. [43] with permission)

Dedrick et al. postulated that the penetration distance is equal to the square root of the ratio of the tissue diffusivity and the rate constant for drug removal from the tissue [42]. The tissue diffusivity is a property of the interstitium and can be altered. In animal experiments it has been shown that when intra-abdominal pressure is raised, there is increased accumulation and antitumor effect of intraperitoneal cisplatin, oxaliplatin, and doxorubicin [21, 93, 94]. Based on the above findings, it has been suggested that the closed technique of HIPEC may have a benefit over the open method in a study carried out in pigs. Facy et al. reported no benefit of the closed technique of HIPEC though it was easier



Fig. 20.4 Open high-pressure HIPEC (25 cm H_2O) in a pig model. After insertion of the thermal probes (T) and the inflow (IF) and outflow (OF) catheters, a 40 cm latex expander (LE) is stapled to the edge of the incision. The abdomen and the expander are filled in with perfusate to 25 cm above the laparotomy. According to the principle of Pascal, the pressure in the abdominal cavity is at least equal to the level of the liquid (25 cm) (From reference [96] with permission)

to achieve a high intra-abdominal pressure [95]. In another study, they created an intra-abdominal pressure of 25 cm H_2O using a water column in the open technique as well (Fig. 20.4) [96]. A raised IAP led to an increase in the tissue concentration of oxaliplatin, but there was no increase in the depth of penetration. There was no benefit of increasing the IAP to 40 cm H_2O which had hemodynamic consequences. The clinical benefit of this strategy remains to be proven.

Two new treatments/strategies that employ a raised intra-abdominal pressure for increasing the efficacy of IPC are described here.

20.6.2.1 PIPAC

Pressurized Intraperitoneal Aerosol Chemotherapy (PIPAC)

Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) is a novel approach to deliver IP chemotherapy to patients with PM.

Background, Rationale, and Preclinical Data

The concept of a therapeutic pneumoperitoneum was introduced in 2000 by Marc Reymond and colleagues who developed a micropump suitable for minimally invasive surgical procedures in which microdroplets of the drug could be distributed in the carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum, creating a "therapeutic capnoperitoneum" [97]. In vitro, the pump created aerosols from various aqueous solutions including those of chemotherapeutic agents. The size of the microdroplets was optimized to prevent visual artifacts. In an animal model, this therapeutic capnoperitoneum was created during a sigmoid resection and showed drug distribution over the entire peritoneal surface. The aerosol was produced by piezoelectric crystals stimulating three microperforated silicon chips. A feedback system regulated the amount of drug delivery depending on the effective gas flow. In vitro, the micropump was shown to be able to aerosolize various aqueous and ethanol solutions, including cytostatic and bacteriostatic drugs and adhesion-modulating agents. However, the function of the micropump was limited in vivo because of water condensation on the surface of the chips, so that further development was abandoned. Subsequently, the same investigators developed a spraying device, similar to a nebulizer that consisted of an injector, a line, and a nozzle and used mechanical pressure [98]. It could be introduced through a trocar. In an experimental study, it showed a more even distribution of methylene blue and better tissue uptake as compared to simple lavage. The distribution to areas like the unexposed part of the stomach and the cecum, surfaces of the small and large intestines, and undersurfaces of the diaphragm which often remained untouched by simple peritoneal lavage was superior and uniform in this study. The use of a nebulizer laparoscopically has been described by other investigators for different purposes like postoperative pain control and intraperitoneal tumor control [99, 100].

In a review on the therapeutic used of capnoperitoneum, Canis et al. stated that this strategy was promising for development of future therapies and could be considered a "revolution in laparoscopic surgery" [98, 101].

In a proof of principle study, a nontoxic therapeutic agent (Dbait) was aerosolized into a box containing diseased human peritoneum under a pressure of 12 mmHg CO₂ [102]. Dbait (noncoding DNA fragments) acts through jamming DNA damage sensing and signalling, ultimately inhibiting DNA repair system of cancer cells. Dbait was coupled to cholesterol molecules to facilitate intracellular uptake and to cyanine (Cy5) to allow detection by fluorescence. When compared to conventional lavage, uptake by tumor tissue up to a depth of 1 mm was seen in the therapeutic capnoperitoneum group and was not seen in the lavage group. Intranuclear phosphorylation of H2AX was seen in the nebulized sample and no activity in the lavage sample. Detection of histone gamma-H2AX (phosphorylated H2AX) indicated activation of DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK) by Dbait, which has been shown to be the key step for sensitization to genotoxic therapy [102].

Nebulization of the molecule was significantly more effective than conventional lavage.

The authors concluded that proof of principle supported the need for clinical studies applying therapeutic capnoperitoneum together with Dbait for treating peritoneal metastases [102].

Pharmacokinetic Advantages of PIPAC

The term pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) was coined for this therapy which combined the principles of a "therapeutic capnoperitoneum" with that of aerosolized chemotherapy [103]. Instead of distributing the chemotherapeutic substance in the form of a liquid solution into the abdomen, the drug is nebulized with carbon dioxide to create an aerosol. Aerosols consist of two phases: a liquid phase (droplets) and a gaseous phase; if the droplet size is small, the aerosol behaves like a gas which has a more homogenous distributions and can lead to a more even drug concentration in different areas of the abdominal cavity. Parameters, such as composition, temperature, pressure, and humidity, of the gas are well defined [98].

The second advantage of PIPAC is the elevated intra-abdominal pressure during the procedure which creates an artificial gradient between the intraperitoneal and extraperitoneal spaces, thus enhancing the diffusion of liquids, solutes, and macromolecules across the peritoneum. It also reduces the interstitial fluid pressure that forms a major barrier to drug uptake by solid tumors and leads to drug resistance [104].

Thus, PIPAC overcomes several limitations of the commonly used methods of intraperitoneal chemotherapy.

Technique of PIPAC

The technique of PIPAC first described by Marc Raymond and collaborators is as follows: a capnoperitoneum of 12 mmHg at 37 degrees Celsius is created, and two balloon trocars are applied [105]. A laparoscopic evaluation is performed and the PCI is determined. Representative areas

are biopsied and ascites is drained. A biopsy of specific areas can be done for response evaluation in the subsequent procedures, and areas of suspicion can also be biopsied. A nebulizer is connected to a high-pressure injector and inserted into the abdomen through a trocar (Fig. 20.4). A pressurized aerosol containing cisplatin at a dose of 7.5 mg/m² body surface in 150 ml NaCl 0.9% is administered immediately followed by doxorubicin 1.5 mg/m² in 50 ml NaCl 0.9% for gastric PM, ovarian PM, and peritoneal mesothelioma (Fig. 20.5). For colorectal PM and appendiceal tumor, oxaliplatin (92 mg/m²) is used. The system is kept in this steady-state for 30 min (application time). The toxic aerosol is then removed through a closed system. The trocars are removed and the wounds repaired.



Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC)

Fig. 20.5 Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy. A microinjection pump is used to aerosolize the chemotherapy solution that is administered intraperitoneally in the setting of a carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum maintaining an intra-abdominal pressure of 12 mm of Hg for 30 min (Adapted from reference [105] with permission)

Electrostatic PIPAC

Kakchekeeva et al. have introduced electrostatic PIPAC (ePIPAC), proposing that electrostatic charging the aerosol particles may further enhance the pharmacologic properties of PIPAC [106]. The system used for electrostatic precipitation integrates the following components: a generator unit (voltage 7500-9500 V, current $\leq 10 \ \mu$ A), an active cable that charges the aerosol, and a return electrode with a patient return plate. A stream of electrons is emitted by the generator, creates negative gas ions which collide with particulate matter and pass on the negative charge. The return electrode confers a weak positive charge on the subject, which results in the electrostatic attraction of the negatively charged aerosol particles to the tissue surfaces of the contained space-that is, the peritoneum [106].

The performance and safety of this equipment has been demonstrated in bench studies, preclinical testing, and clinical testing, including a clinical study on 30 patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy [107].

They performed a comparative study of PIPAC and ePIPAC assessing the pharmacologic properties using an in vivo porcine model which showed that ePIPAC allowed a more efficient drug uptake as a result of which a lowering of the drug dose and a shorter application time was possible with ePIPAC. The tumor drug concentration with ePIPAC was ten times the concentration obtained with PIPAC.

Current Clinical Evidence

In the first report of safety and efficacy, in which ten PIPAC procedures were performed in three patients, the plasma concentration-time profile analysis of PIPAC was favorable [105]. The nuclear presence of doxorubicin was documented throughout the peritoneum, reaching a high local concentration (\leq 4.1 µmol/g) while maintaining a low plasma concentration (4.0–6.2 ng/ml). PIPAC required only 1/10 of the doxorubicin dose to achieve a higher tumor concentration (0.03–4.1 µmol/g) than HIPEC (0.02 µmol/g). In contrast, systemic availability of doxorubicin after PIPAC and HIPEC was equal as indicated by the approximately ten times lower maximal plasma concentration after PIPAC.

Two patients showed a complete and one a partial histological remission. Mean survival after the first PIPAC was 288 days. Moreover, in contrast to HIPEC, PIPAC was very well tolerated, and the only severe adverse effect observed was a bowel perforation after CRS.

Most of the published reports are case reports, prospective and retrospective case series, and a II trial. Tempfer et al. reported outcomes in a series of 18 women with PM from recurrent ovarian cancer treated with multiple sessions of PIPAC performed at 4-6-week intervals using doxorubicin 1.5 mg/m² and cisplatin 7.5 mg/m² [108]. Thirty-four PIPAC procedures were performed in 18 women, of which 8 underwent CRS before PIPAC. Eight women who had more than one PIPAC were eligible for response evaluation. In eight women who had more than one procedure, response evaluation was possible of which one had complete remission, two had partial remission, and three others had stable disease. Median follow-up was 192 days (range 13-639 days). Cumulative survival after 400 days was 62% and mean actuarial survival time was 442 days. On multivariate analysis, patient age (<75 vs. >75 years), serum CA-125 (<1000 vs. >1000 U/ mL), and the presence of ascites (yes vs. no) did not have an impact on response to therapy. 12/18 patients had mild abdominal pain, fever, and/or elevated acute phase proteins such as C-reactive protein (CRP). Of importance was that five women had CTCAE grade 3-4 events with four of them potentially related to the PIPAC procedure and three of these occurred in women who had CRS with PIPAC. The results of this series indicate that PIPAC has activity in women with recurrent, platinum-resistant ovarian cancer and should not be combined with CRS.

There are case reports of an objective response in a patient with recurrent pseudomyxoma peritonei of appendiceal origin and in an octogenarian with advanced ovarian cancer treated with PIPAC alone [109, 110].

De Simone et al. reported their experience with 40 procedures performed in 14 patients [111]. Most of the patients received systemic chemotherapy in addition to PIPAC, and there was no significant hepatic or renal toxicity of this combined therapy. They reported good symptom control in patients who had symptomatic ascites and subacute intestinal obstruction. The use of systemic therapy permitted the application of PIPAC in patients with retroperitoneal lymphadenopathy and/or extra-abdominal metastases who were symptomatic from PM. They suggested that dose-finding studies were needed to determine ideal dose, and this strategy could have a role in standard frontline therapy for PM [111].

In a phase II trial evaluating the role of PIPAC in patients with recurrent ovarian, fallopian tube, and primary peritoneal cancer, of the 64 patients enrolled, 17% could not undergo PIPAC due to laparoscopic nonaccess. Sixty-two percent of the patients had an objective tumor response-3 had a partial response and 30 patients had stable disease. Thirty-four patients could undergo all three PIPAC sessions in accordance with the study protocol. Tumor regression on histology and peritoneal cancer index (PCI) improvement were observed in 26/34 (76%) and in 26/34 (76%) patients who underwent all 3 PIPACs. There were no treatment-related deaths [112]. In addition, EORTC QLQ-30 global physical health scores, nausea/vomiting, appetite loss, diarrhea, and constipation improved during therapy. The mean time to progression was 144 days. The authors concluded that further evaluation as an alternative to or in addition to systemic therapy as a palliative option is needed in clinical trials.

Reymond et al. evaluated the role of PIPAC in gastric PM retrospectively [113]. Sixty PIPAC were applied in 24 consecutive patients with PM from gastric cancer. Sixty-seven percent of patients had previous surgery and 79% previous platinum-based systemic chemotherapy. Mean PCI was 16 \pm 10 and 18/24 patients had tumors with signet-ring cells. Cisplatin 7.5 mg/m² and doxorubicin 1.5 mg/m² were given for 30 min at 37 °C and 12 mmHg at 6-week intervals. Median follow-up was 248 days (range 105–748), and median survival time was 15.4 months. Seventeen patients had >one PIPAC. Objective tumor response was documented in half of the patients after PIPAC, including complete histological regression in six patients. This study showed that there was a benefit of PIPAC in patients with recurrent platinum-resistant gastric PM, and it needed further prospective evaluation. Though the selection criteria for PIPAC could not be defined based on this study, the authors suggested using PIPAC soon after development of recurrence would be most beneficial [113].

In a retrospective study of 48 PIPAC procedures performed in 17 patients with colorectal PM, all patients had previously undergone surgery, and 16 had undergone previous lines of systemic chemotherapy; objective tumor responses were observed in 12/17 patients (71%) [114]. The mean PCI was 16 ± 10 . PIPAC was performed using oxaliplatin (92 mg/m²) repeated every 6 weeks at 37 °C and 12 mmHg for 30 min. There were no intraoperative complications. The mean number of PIPAC administrations per patient was 2.8 (minimum 1, maximum 6). Postoperative adverse events (CTCAE level 3) were observed in four patients (23%), no CTCAE level 4 adverse events were reported. The hospital mortality was zero, and the overall responses were as follows: complete pathological response (n = 7), major response (n = 4), partial response (n = 1), no response (n = 2), and not eligible (n = 3). The mean survival after first PIPAC was 15.7 months. This study showed that PIPAC with oxaliplatin could induce regression of pretreated colorectal PM and needed further evaluation in prospective studies [114].

In some patients who are not candidates for CRS and HIPEC up front, PIPAC could be used as neoadjuvant therapy to reduce the tumor burden. Reymond et al. reported their institutional experience of 406 patients who had undergone 961 PIPAC procedures. Twenty-one patients underwent a subsequent CRS and HIPEC [115]. Twelve of these patients were candidates for the procedure even without the use of PIPAC; nine patients who were initially not candidates for complete CRS experienced significant down staging making them candidates for CRS and HIPEC. Most of these patients had extensive small bowel involvement precluding a complete cytoreduction up front. In these nine patients,

an objective tumor regression was observed after repeated PIPAC (mean number of cycles 3.5 ± 0.9). Notably, these patients required at least 4 and even up to 6 months for the tumor to become resectable. Six out of these nine patients had colorectal primaries. This early data indicates that the use of PIPAC as neoadjuvant strategy is promising and should be further evaluated prospectively. The advantages in this setting are that it can be combined with systemic therapy, and the 6-week interval between two therapeutic sessions allows effects of both local and systemic therapies to be evaluated.

Toxicity

Toxicity data related to PIPAC have also been published. During PIPAC, only about 10% of a usual systemic drug dose is applied into the abdomen. This dose was in proportion to that used for HIPEC and, considering the pharmacokinetic differences, one tenth of the dose used for HIPEC [116]. The systemic drug concentration is minimal, about 1% of a systemic dose or 5% of a HIPEC dose. Apart from the dose used, the potential for complications is due to the hemodynamic changes, use of intra-abdominal pressure application directly on the surface of organs having the potential for local toxicity. Patients may have chemical peritonitis leading to abdominal discomfort and a rise in C-reactive protein.

In the first report of 3 patients who had undergone 8 PIPAC procedures, Reymond et al. observed no cumulative toxicity after repeated PIPAC application at 4-week intervals. The preoperative mean serum creatinine level was not increased, as compared with the reference value before the first PIPAC which excluded cumulative nephrotoxicity. A similar pattern was observed for liver toxicity: levels of transaminases and bilirubin did not increase significantly and returned to normal within a few days after each PIPAC. There was no cumulative toxicity [116].

In another report of 158 procedures performed in 91 patients, Reymond et al. reported a mortality rate of 3.3% (n = 3) in 91 end-stage patients or 1.9% in 158 PIPAC procedures. Two deaths were in relationship with PIPAC (two iatrogenic bowel injuries during laparoscopic access) and one because of disease progression (small bowel obstruction, refractory ascites). One (1%) CTCAE 4 adverse event (anaphylactic shock after intraoperative metamizol injection) and 8 (8.8%) CTCAE 3 adverse events were observed [117].

Robella et al. reported no major morbidity in 40 PIPAC procedures performed in 14 patients. CTCAE grades 1 and 2 were observed after 6 and 8 procedures, respectively, for abdominal pain and nausea. Renal and hepatic functions were not impaired; no cumulative renal toxicity was observed after repeated PIPAC procedures in association with systemic chemotherapy [111].

Some complications that can arise are trocar site hernias, bowel access lesions, subcutaneous toxic emphysema, small bowel obstruction, port site metastasis, and therapy-resistant ascites. At least some of these, like bowel access lesions, subcutaneous toxic emphysema, and trocar site hernias, can be avoided by the use of proper surgical technique.

Quality of Life

Worldwide the experience with PIPAC is preliminary. PIPAC has been used for patients who are heavily pretreated and symptomatic from their PM. There is a subgroup of patients that have a good performance status despite their extensive disease and numerous lines of therapy who have been treated with PIPAC [117]. Reymond et al. evaluated the quality of life (QoL) in 91 patients who had undergone 158 PIPAC procedures as salvage therapy [117].

QoL was assessed before starting PIPAC and 3 months after the procedure when the treatment was still continuing. Quality of life stabilized in patients undergoing PIPAC with stable functional scores. Gastrointestinal symptoms remained the same, and only pain scores deteriorated though the effect was short lived. PIPAC leads to chemical peritonitis which causes abdominal pain. Common side effects of chemotherapy like mucositis, nausea/vomiting, diarrhea, paresthesia, cutaneous symptoms, and alopecia were not reported by the patients. However, according to the authors, these results should be interpreted with caution since it was a retrospective study; patients who could not tolerate the therapy were excluded, and the stabilization of symptoms could be in part due to discontinuation of systemic therapy. Similar results were reported by Robella et al. for 40 PIPAC procedures performed in 14 patients [111].

Safety Considerations

The use of chemotherapy as an aerosol has the potential to put the exposed healthcare workers at an increased risk of exposure as compared to other routes of administration. Phase 1 studies have demonstrated the feasibility and safety of aerosol delivery of doxorubicin and gemcitabine in lung cancer patients [118, 119]. Solass et al. tested the occupational safety aspects of PIPAC under standardized conditions, using PIPAC in simulation experiments as well as in two human patients using chemotherapeutic drugs (doxorubicin and cisplatin). The air samples were tested for the presence of chemotherapeutic agents [120]. In these tests, no cisplatin was detected in the air (detection limit $< 0.000009 \text{ mg/m}^3$) at the working positions of the surgeon and the anesthesiologist under real PIPAC conditions. To further reduce the risk, all workers stayed out of the operating room throughout the procedure which was remote controlled. It was concluded that PIPAC fulfils the requirements of the European Community working safely law and regulations provided it was performed according to the conditions specified by the authors [120]. However, this test was performed only for cisplatin and may need to be performed separately for other drugs. Because PIPAC is applied within a closed system, the risk of skin contamination with chemotherapy is also minimal. Some of the other measures that can reduce the risk include following standard safely protocols while handling the drug in the drug preparation room and during transport, using one-block systems (nebulizer and infusion tubing), repeated training and drills in order to minimize human errors, and using personal protective equipment like double gloves (or special gloves for handling chemotherapy spills if such are available) and protective glasses. Like in other cases of intraoperative chemotherapy use, the operating room should be cleaned after every case to reduce the risk of other sources of contamination like blood spills. Other waste generated during the procedure like tubes, drapes, and sponges should be disposed in sealed and appropriately labelled containers.

A recent report of 127 procedures in 58 patients showed that with standardized surgical approach and dedicated safety checklist, PIPAC can be safely introduced in routine clinical practice with a minimal learning curve [121].

Clinical Trials

Following the favorable reports of preclinical and clinical studies, several trials are currently underway to further evaluate the role of PIPAC (Table 20.7).

An open-label, single center, single arm, phase II study, PI-CaP (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02604784), evaluating the role of PIPAC in patients with colorectal, ovarian, gastric, and primary peritoneal cancer is currently recruiting patients in Italy. Patients with gastric PM and primary peritoneal cancer should have received at least one line of systemic chemotherapy and patients with colorectal PM and ovarian cancer, at least two lines of chemotherapy. These patients should not be candidates for CRS and HIPEC and should have a tumor mass on CT scan that allows tumor response evaluation by RECIST criteria. The primary end point is tumor response after two-three PIPAC procedures, and other end points include overall survival, histological regression, and time to progression.

Another phase II study (Clinicaltrials.gov identifier NCT02320448) from Denmark evaluating the adverse events and occupational safety has closed for accrual in March 2017, and the results are being evaluated.

For gastric PM, PIPAC-GAO1 (ClinicalTrials. gov Identifier: NCT01854255) a phase II study has completed accrual. This study will evaluate the role of PIPAC in patients with recurrent gastric cancer in terms of clinical benefit rate and objective response at 3 months after treatment completion and overall survival at 1 year after treatment completion. PIPAC is performed using

Trial	Country	Design	Status	Clinical end points	Primary tumor site
NCT02604784 (PI-CaP)	Italy	Single-arm phase II	Recruiting	Feasibility, efficacy, and safety of PIPAC	Colorectal, ovarian, and gastric cancer, PM of unknown origin
NCT02735928 (PARROT)	Italy	Single-arm phase II	Recruiting	Feasibility, efficacy, and safety of PIPAC	Recurrent platinum-resistant ovarian cancer
NCT0230448	Denmark	Single-arm phase II	Active, not recruiting	Feasibility and safety of PIPAC	Various primary sites
NCT01854255 (PIPAC GA-01)	Germany	Single-arm phase II	Completed	Feasibility, efficacy, and safety of PIPAC	Gastric cancer
NCT-2475772	Germany	Single-arm phase 1 Dose escalation	Recruiting	Safety and tolerability of doxorubicin and cisplatin every 4 weeks using a three-group, dose- escalation protocol	Ovarian cancer
PIPAC EstoK-01	France	Parallel-arm phase II, randomized controlled trial	Recruiting	Efficacy, safety, and tolerability of PIPAC with oxaliplatin in patients with PCI > 8	Gastric cancer
PIPOX-01	France	Single-arm phase I/II Dose escalation	Recruiting	Dose-limiting toxicity Efficacy of PIPAC with oxaliplatin	Gastric, colorectal, and small bowel cancer

Table 20.7 Ongoing clinical trials evaluating the role of PIPAC

cisplatin and doxorubicin, and three procedures should be performed for each patient.

PIPAC applied to platinum-resistant recurrence of ovarian tumor (PARROT-ClinicalTrials. gov Identifier: NCT02735928) is a phase II study currently recruiting patients that aims to evaluate the clinical benefit rate (CBR) according to the RECIST/GCOG criteria after three PIPAC procedures using cisplatin and doxorubicin in patients with first or second platinum-sensitive recurrence from epithelial ovarian cancer. The secondary end points include median time to progression, histological response rate, and quality of life assessment.

A phase I dose-escalation study (NCT02475772) for patients with recurrent ovarian cancer who have received at least one line of platinum-based chemotherapy is currently recruiting patients in Italy. The first 5 patients will receive doxorubicin 1.5 mg/m² body surface in 50 ml sodium chloride (NaCl) 0.9% and cisplatin 7.5 mg/m² in 50 ml NaCl 0.9% every 4 weeks for three courses. The next 5 patients will receive doxorubicin 2.25 mg/m² body surface in 50 ml NaCl 0.9% and cisplate in 50 ml NaCl 0.9% an

platin 11.25 mg/m² in 50 ml NaCl 0.9% every 4 weeks for three courses. The next 5 patients will receive doxorubicin 3 mg/m² body surface in 50 ml NaCl 0.9% and cisplatin 15 mg/ m² in 50 ml NaCl 0.9% every 4 weeks for three courses. This schedule represents a three-step, 50% dose-escalation. Dose density will not be changed. The primary end point is adverse events occurring within 12 weeks, and the secondary end point is response at 12 weeks according to RECIST criteria.

The PIPAC EstoK 01 is a prospective, multicenter, randomized, open-label, controlled, parallel-group, phase II trial designed to evaluate the effect of PIPAC with oxaliplatin combined with systemic chemotherapy in patients with gastric PM with a PCI >8. The primary end point of this trial is the progression-free survival at 24 months. The secondary end points are the 24-month OS, safety, tolerability, and quality of life. It will also evaluate the feasibility of three successive PIPAC procedures and secondary resectability rate in these patients. Six specialized centers target to recruit 2×47 patients over 36 months.

Advantages	Disadvantages	Contraindications
 High tumor drug concentration using 1/10 of systemic dose Easy to perform—no learning curve Limited grade 3–5 morbidity Possibility of multiple applications Can be combined with systemic chemotherapy Evaluation of response to therapy possible No risk of port site metastases Minimal adhesion formation Subsequent CRS and HIPEC is possible 	 Cannot be combined with CRS Prior adhesions limit its application and efficacy Certain areas like the lesser sac remain untreated 	 Laparoscopic nonaccess Malignant bowel obstruction Debilitating ascites with malnutrition

Table 20.8 Advantages, disadvantages, and contraindications of PIPAC

PIPOX-01 is a phase I/II multicentric study in which a dose-escalation study for oxaliplatin will be performed to treat patients with unresectable gastric, colorectal, and small bowel peritoneal metastases. The primary end point of the phase I study is the dose-limiting toxicity and that of the phase II study is the secondary resectability rate. Four centers in France will recruit 6 and 50 patients for the 2 studies.

Advantages and Limitations of PIPAC

PIPAC has pharmacokinetic benefits like increased tumor drug penetration using 1/10 the dose used in HIPEC with limited systemic absorption [116]. There is more homogenous drug distribution over the peritoneal surfaces [108]. Overall incidence of complications is low and the average hospital stay is 2–5 days. It can be combined with systemic chemotherapy without significant toxicity. Repeated applications are possible and the time interval of 6 weeks allows evaluation of response to therapy [105].

PIPAC has limitations as well. The current protocol does not allow it to be performed with CRS. Reported toxicity is more when is it performed immediately after CRS [116]. The technical feasibility and the efficacy of PIPAC are largely dependent on the degree of enteroenteral and entero-parietal adhesions. Reported rates of nonaccess are 5-17%. Moreover, only exposed peritoneal surfaces that can be reached by the aerosol can be treated with PIPAC. At present, there is no method of stratifying patients according to adhesions; however, it may be difficult or impossible to perform PIPAC in patients who have had CRS and/or HIPEC before [115].

The advantages, disadvantages, and contraindications are summarized in Table 20.8.

Based on the current evidence, PIPAC can be used for symptom palliation in selected patients with PM and in patients who have failed on one or more lines of systemic chemotherapy. Further clinical evidence is needed before it is used for other indications. Standardization and improvement of certain technical aspects of the procedure like the drug dosage and possibility of use in conjunction with CRS will be important for increasing its future use and efficacy.

Laparoscopic HIPEC

Lotti et al. have described the technique of laparoscopic HIPEC which combines the theoretical advantages of the open and closed techniques. In their technique, stirring of the abdominal contents is performed from time to time during a closed HIPEC procedure [122]. Laparoscopic CRS is performed for patients with limited disease followed by HIPEC by the closed method [123]. In a pig model, a hand-assisted laparoscopic device has been used, but it may not perfuse the anterior abdominal wall completely [94].

In the technique described by Lotti et al., at the end of CRS, four Jackson-Pratt drains, which are the outflow channels, are inserted in the abdominal cavity: the right superior in the right subphrenic space, the right inferior in the hepatorenal recess, the left superior below the left hemidiaphragm, and the left inferior in the pelvis. The length of the wound, between the xiphoid and the pubis, is divided into 4 parts, the skin sutured, and 3 12 mm balloon trocars are placed at the junction between sutures. The upper trocar is connected to the HIPEC inflow tube, the middle trocar to the heated CO₂ insufflator, and the lower trocar to the smoke evacuator device. Balloon trocars with locking gel cones are used which reduced the risk of drug leakage through the wound. After 5 min of stirring, CO_2 insufflation is stopped, the patient is placed in Trendelenburg position, and pneumoperitoneum is evacuated under vision through the lowest trocar. Perfusion continues in a closed-technique fashion for 10 min, so as to perfuse the anterior abdominal wall with the perfusate. During this phase of perfusion, the abdomen is shaken manually and the inclination of the operating bed frequently changed, to further promote the distribution of the perfusate into the abdomen.

After 10 min, pneumoperitoneum is again established, and the cycle restarts. During a 90 min HIPEC, alternating cycles of laparoscopic stirring (5 min) and closed perfusion (10 min) are performed.

The pneumoperitoneum-laparoscopic stirring interspersed with evacuation of the pneumoperitoneum-closed perfusion allows perfusion of the anterior abdominal wall for an adequate time period. An experimental study carried out in pigs showed that the absorption of oxaliplatin in tumor tissue was more in the closed HIPEC procedure as compared to the open procedure [94]. Although the resulting increase in IAP could have a positive effect on penetration of cytotoxic drugs in tissues, this effect is still under study [94, 124]. The authors concluded that further evaluation of this technique is needed, to demonstrate a clinical benefit, and the effect of pneumoperitoneum on the absorption of chemotherapeutic drugs needs to be determined as well.

20.6.3 Noninvasive Hyperthermia

In IPC the use of heat can potentiate the action of chemotherapeutic agents and hyperthermia

itself if cytotoxic. HIPEC requires a dedicated machine and set up to perform and, being invasive, repeated applications are difficult [125]. Wu et al. developed a method of applying hyperthermia by a noninvasive method in mouse ovarian cancer models using nanoshells [126]. Nanoshells have a core of a different material coated by a thin layer of gold. The core material is dielectric, with silica being the most common material used [127]. Gold nanoshells (GNSs) are usually close to 50–150 nm in diameter and are generally moderately stable in solution, especially if stored at low temperatures.

They conjugated pegylated silica-core gold nanoshells (pSGNs) with antihuman CD47 monoclonal antibody and combined this with near-infrared laser (NIR) irradiation [126]. Silica-GNSs that get activated by NIR light are 150 nm in diameter, with a 120 nm diameter silica core [127]. They showed that the NIR laser penetrated the abdominal wall, exerted a photothermal effect (intraperitoneal hyperthermia), and caused tumor cell death without harming normal intraperitoneal tissues. Repeated applications of this therapy were possible. Conjugated pSGNs specifically target and bind to cancer cells inside the peritoneal cavity. This is a new strategy for producing hyperthermia and could have future use in clinical practice. Nanoparticlemediated hyperthermia has shown benefit in preclinical studies in treating other tumors at other anatomical sites as well [128, 129].

20.6.4 Reducing the Interstitial Fluid Pressure

The penetration of drug into tumor tissue is dependent on the intra-tissue diffusivity and the rate constant for drug removal which is fixed [130]. The tissue diffusivity is a function of the tissue structure and the drug properties; it is equal to the diffusivity in the interstitial space of the tissue (which incorporates the tortuous path that a molecule must traverse) and the volume fraction of tissue interstitial space. Reducing the interstitial fluid pressure could be one mechanism that could increase the penetration of drugs into the tissues [130]. High tumor interstitial pressure (TIP) is known to reduce efficacy of cancer therapy via several mechanisms.

- 1. The high TIP is due to increased tumor vessel permeability which impairs convection by reducing the pressure gradient. This leads to a reduced uptake and heterogenous distribution of drugs (chemotherapy, targeted therapy), other macromolecules in the tumor tissue. In this situation, diffusion is the main transport mechanism for the macromolecules which is slow due to the dense extracellular matrix [131].
- Rapidly proliferating cells lead to high pressure within the tumor which compresses the blood vessels and increases the vascular resistance. As a result, the blood flow and drug delivery to the tumor tissue is reduced [132].
- 3. Abnormal and tortuous tumor vasculature causes blood stasis, which leads to the reduction of oxygen and blood flow in tumors and thus hypoxia [133]. There is lactic acidosis which degrades or deactivates some therapeutic drugs and renders them ineffective.

In preclinical models, intraperitoneal drug penetration could be enhanced by lowering the IFP, by using hypotonic carrier fluids, or by increasing the intraperitoneal pressure [97, 134, 135].

Several strategies have been devised to reduce TIP in preclinical studies. Targeting factors like abnormal tumor vasculature, high intratumoral vascular resistance, abnormal lymphatic drainage, and abnormal extracellular matrix components pharmacologically and physically have shown to reduce TIP and improve intratumoral drugs distribution and uptake.

Vascular targeting agents (VTA)—VTAs aim to normalize tumor vasculature making them less permeable [136]. These drugs inhibit the proangiogenic factors like vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF). This "normalization" of tumor vasculature leads to reduced vessel diameter, increased pericyte coverage, and a normal basement membrane and its function, thus making it less permeable and tortuous with suppression of the erratic sprouting of tumor vessels. This in turn reduces the fluid and protein extravasation into the interstitium leading to a reduction in the TIP [137]. Gremonprez et al. investigated whether tumor VTAs enhance the effectiveness of intraperitoneal chemotherapy. A mouse xenograft model with two large peritoneal implants of colorectal cancer cells was developed to study drug distribution and tumor physiology during intraperitoneal oxaliplatin perfusion. Mice were treated for 6 days with either placebo, imatinib (anti-PDGFR, daily), bevacizumab (anti-VEGF, twice), or pazopanib (anti-PDGFR, anti-VEGFR, daily) followed by intraperitoneal oxaliplatin. Bevacizumab and pazopanib significantly lowered interstitial fluid pressure, increased oxaliplatin penetration (assessed by laser ablation inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry), and delayed tumor growth of peritoneal implants (assessed by MRI) [138]. These findings suggest that neoadjuvant therapy with VEGF(R)inhibitors may improve the efficacy of IPC, especially for patients for whom a complete cytoreduction might not be feasible. However, there are several caveats to applying such a strategy in clinical practice. Bevacizumab is not effective alone and is used with cytotoxic agents to have any impact on the tumor burden. The antiangiogenic effect is known to last not more than a month after discontinuation of therapy, and normalization of oxygenation, perfusion, or pressure is not necessarily concurrent [139, 140]. Clinical trials are needed to determine the optimal dosage and the treatment window to achieve the desired effect.

Vascular disrupting agents—VDAs target the existing tumor vasculature by binding to microtubules and destroying the endothelial cells leading to increase vascular permeability and thereby the TIP. At the same time, there is a reduction in the tumor blood flow due to the occlusion of the vessels feeding the tumor that eventually lead to tumor necrosis. Development of necrosis increases the interstitial hydraulic conductivity which decreases the TIP [130]. VDAs that have been shown to reduce TIP include ZD6126, combretastatin A-4, and patupilone [141–143]. Taxanes (paclitaxel and docetaxel) are known to reduce the TIP by both vascular targeting and disrupting properties. Other pharmacological and physical therapies for reducing TIP include TGF-b inhibitors, vasodilators, proteases, irradiation, hypo- and hyperthermia, hyperbaric oxygen therapy, ultrasound therapy, and PDT [130]. However, none of these has been used for potentiating the effect of IPC.

20.6.5 New Concepts in Intraperitoneal Therapy

20.6.5.1 Radioimmunotherapy

Radioimmunotherapy using radiolabeled monoclonal antibodies directed against tumorassociated antigens conjugated with radioactive material has been investigated as an adjuvant therapy for advanced ovarian cancer with PM and colorectal PM in several clinical and preclinical studies for almost three decades [144, 145]. In a prospective study of patients with ovarian cancer who had complete remission after first-line therapy, treatment with one intraperitoneal administration of 25 mg of monoclonal antibody HMFG1 labelled with 18 mCi/ m² of 90Y led to a prolonged disease-free and overall survival (78% at 10 years) [146]. In a randomized controlled phase III study, a single IP administration of 90Y-muHMFG1 to patients with epithelial ovarian cancer who had a negative second look laparotomy after primary therapy did not extend survival or time to relapse [147]. However, these and other studies evaluating intraperitoneal radionuclide therapies have used beta emitter antibody conjugates which have dose-limiting marrow suppression [148–151]. Less toxicity can be expected when radionuclides with shorter half-lives are used, as less radioactivity would distribute systemically [152]. Additionally, application of the more radiobiologically potent alpha emitters such as the ²¹²Pb/²¹²Bi parent-daughter pair (²¹²Pb half-life = 10.6 h) or 211 At (half-life = 7.2 h) can improve efficacy over prior beta emitter radioimmunotherapy while limiting irradiation of neighboring healthy cells [153]. Aarts et al.

compared CRS alone with CRS and HIPEC or CRS and radioimmunotherapy which consisted of intraperitoneal administration of 74 MBq Lutetium-177-labelled MG1. Survival after CRS was significantly increased by the use of radioimmunotherapy with Lutetium-177-MG1 in rats with PM of colorectal origin [154]. In another experimental study, a "brief intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy (bip)" mimicking HIPEC was performed in mice. The mice received intraperitoneal injection of 185 MBq of ¹²⁵I-35A7 (anti-CEA mAb) (740 MBq/mg), and, after 1 h, the peritoneal cavity was abundantly washed with saline solution to remove unbound radioactivity. Bip-125I-35A7-RIT resulted in threefold higher tumor-to-blood uptake ratio than intravenous-125I-35A7-RIT, and the mean absorbed irradiation doses by tumors were 11.6 Gy (Bip-RIT) and 16.7 Gy (intravenous-RIT), respectively. This therapy had a low toxicity and a high tumor to healthy tissue uptake ratio indicating that it might be of clinical benefit especially when used with radiosensitizing agents [155]. A phase 1 study carried out in women in complete clinical remission after second-line chemotherapy for recurrent ovarian cancer showed intraperitoneal administration of ²¹¹At-MX35 F(ab')₂ can achieve therapeutic doses in microscopic tumor clusters without significant toxicity [156]. Patients were infused with ²¹¹At-MX35 F(ab')₂ (22.4–101 MBq/L) in peritoneal dialysis solution via the peritoneal catheter. In another study, ²¹²Pb-TCMC-trastuzumab was delivered IP less than 4 h after giving 4 mg/kg IV trastuzumab to patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis who had failed standard therapies and had HER-2 + 1 or more in a phase I design for dose escalation [157]. ²¹²Pb-TCMC-trastuzumab was expected to provide more potent radiation to targeted malignant cells, while limiting radiation exposure to normal tissues as compared to beta emitter conjugates, due to the shorter halflife and path length of ²¹²Pb alpha radiation. All the planned dose escalations were performed with low toxicity. A follow-up study showed IP Pb-TCMC-trastuzumab up to 27 MBq/m to be safe for patients with PM who have failed standard therapies with no long-term toxicity.

Radioimmunotherapy needs further evaluation in terms of ideal dose and indications for clinical use. Survival data in clinical studies are not available, and the timing of therapy/integration with other therapies needs to be defined.

20.6.5.2 Photodynamic Therapy

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) is a therapy that uses photosensitizers (or their precursors) with an affinity for tumor cells and visible light to trigger a photochemical reaction. Reactive oxygen species are generated in cancer cells, leading to cell death. Photodynamic therapy has been used for treatment of surface lesions like precancerous lesions and early invasive carcinomas of the cervix, esophagus, stomach, and lung [158–160]. Given the high propensity of PM to recur, this therapy has been evaluated as an adjunct to CRS in animal models of colorectal and ovarian cancer. Development of intraperitoneal PDT has been limited by its poor tolerance related to the lack of specificity of photosensitizers and the location of the metastases in proximity to adjacent intraperitoneal organs [161]. Five-aminolevulinic acid methyl ester hydrochloride (methyl-ALA) is a photosensitizer precursor with an affinity for tumor cells has been used in some experimental studies. PDT with hexaminolevulinate (HAL), a second-generation photosensitizer, had a high toxicity but provided the opportunity to diagnose and treat PM at the same time [162]. Azais et al. developed a folate-conjugated photosensitizer (Porph-s-FA) that has an affinity for folate receptor α (FR α) [163]. This receptor is overexpressed in 72-100% of ovarian cancers (81% of the serous carcinomas and only 39.9% of the mucinous carcinomas) [164–167]. This expression is retained in recurrent tumors and is not affected by chemotherapy. They proposed that this new generation folate-targeted photosensitizer is specific to epithelial ovarian peritoneal metastasis in the experimental setting and may allow the development of efficient and safe intraperitoneal PDT procedures.

The other problem is the light source and the type of light. The light source should be able to cover broad surfaces and at the same time deal

with difficult areas like the undersurfaces of the intestines, provide a homogenous distribution, should be portable, easy to maneuver, and occupy less space. Green light is more suitable for intestinal surfaces as the depth of penetration is less as compared to red light that has a deeper penetration [161]. Yokoyama et al. in an experimental study demonstrated that concurrent therapy consisting of PDT with 5-aminolevulinic acid methyl ester hydrochloride (methyl-ALA) and clofibric acid is effective at treating PM from ovarian cancer without damaging the adjacent organs [168]. Mroz et al. used functionalized fullerenes, a new class of functionalized photosensitizer (PS) for PDT to treat colorectal PM in mice. Intraperitoneal injection of a preparation of N-methylpyrrolidinium-fullerene formulated in Cremophor EL micelles, followed by white-light illumination delivered through the peritoneal wall (after creation of a skin flap), produced a statistically significant reduction in bioluminescence and a survival advantage in mice [169]. PDT is conceptually suited to treat PM, but the technical aspects of the procedure and the photosensitizer used need optimization before it can be used in the clinical setting.

20.6.6 New Drugs for Intraperitoneal Use

20.6.6.1 Intraperitoneal Immunotherapy

Just as systemic chemotherapeutic agents have been used for intraperitoneal therapy, various immunotherapies have been evaluated for intraperitoneal use.

20.6.6.2 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) is a protein expressed on the surface of T cells. Its activation dampens the adaptive immune response to malignancy [170]. The programmed death-1 receptors (PD-1) are also present on cytotoxic T cells and block their activity by inducing apoptosis when activated via ligand

binding on the tumor cell surface [171, 172]. In an experimental model of PM, the effect of checkpoint inhibiting antibodies α PD-L1 and/ or α CTLA-4, with or without IL-18, on peritoneal metastases via IP injection or tail vein injection was compared [173]. Intraperitoneal use of immune checkpoint inhibitors had a survival advantage over the control group receiving immunoglobulins, and this effect was augmented by the use of IL-18 [173].

20.6.6.3 Chimeric Antigen Receptor-T Cells (CAR-T Cells)

T cells engineered with chimeric antigen receptors (CAR-T cells) have the ability to bind to tumor cells, causing cell lysis, independent of the action of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) [174-176]. These cells have been applied to the treatment of hematologic malignancies, such as acute lymphoid leukemia and chronic lymphoid leukemia, but more recently as treatment of hepatic metastases from colorectal cancer. In an experimental study, mice with colorectal PM were treated with CAR-T via IP or tail vein injection, in combination with antibodies for inhibition of immunosuppressive cells, over a 2-week period. They reported a 37-fold reduction in PM tumor burden in IP-treated mice as compared with the tail vein injection group [177]. CAR-T cells targeting specific antigens like the MUC-16ecto antigen overexpressed on most ovarian cancer cells and L1-CAM, a cell adhesion molecule, have shown improved survival after intraperitoneal use in ovarian cancer animal models as compared to controls who received no treatment [178, 179]. CAR-T cells have been used in the clinical setting as well. In a study of four patients with recurrent ovarian cancer, autologous T cells stimulated against a hypo-glycosylated MUC1 antigen were instilled intraperitoneally at monthly intervals to complete three sessions each [180, 181]. Treated patients demonstrated elevated levels of MUC1-specific cytolytic activity and generation of both effector and memory T cells leading to diminished CA125 levels, elevated IFNy, and improved survival, ranging from 3 to 16 months [181].

20.6.6.4 Dendritic Cell Vaccine

IP use of dendritic cell vaccine and cytokineinduced killer cells has been investigated in the clinical setting. Ai et al. used this therapy prepared from patient's peripheral blood mononuclear cells in 22 patients. 77.3% of the patients with PM from different primary sites experienced control or reduction in the ascites [182].

20.6.6.5 Catumaxomab

Epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM, CD326) is a surface antigen that is expressed on normal epithelial cells as well as tumor cells [183]. Catumaxomab is a non-humanized chimeric antibody, consisting in a mouse-derived anti-EpCAM Fab (fragment antigen-binding) region and a rat anti-CD3 Fab. Thus, catumaxomab can bind to three different types of cells: tumor cells expressing the epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM-positive), T lymphocytes (CD3 positive), and also accessory cells that are Fcγ receptor positive, such as macrophages, natural killer cells, and dendritic cells [184, 185].

Catumaxomab binds to human EpCAMpositive tumor cells, thereby activating a complex antitumor immune reaction through various mechanisms like antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity, phagocytosis, and T cell-mediated cytotoxicity [186–189]. Catumaxomab after intraperitoneal administration has shown to reduce ascites and delay the requirement for paracentesis in patients with refractory malignant ascites from ovarian and other nongynecologic malignancies [190, 191]. In a phase II/III trial (EudraCT 2004-000723-15; NCT00836654), patients (n = 258) with recurrent symptomatic malignant ascites refractory to conventional chemotherapy were randomized to paracentesis plus catumaxomab (catumaxomab) or paracentesis alone (control) and stratified by cancer type (129 ovarian and 129 nonovarian) [192]. Catumaxomab was administered as an intraperitoneal infusion on days 0, 3, 7, and 10 at doses of 10, 20, 50, and 150 µg, respectively. The puncture-free survival was significantly longer in the catumaxomab group (median 46 days) than the control group (median 11 days) (hazard ratio = 0.254: p < 0.0001) as was median time to next paracentesis (77 versus 13 days; p < 0.0001). Patients were less symptomatic from their ascites in the catumaxomab group. A prospective analysis showed a benefit in OS in the catumaxomab group, and this was more significant in patients with gastric cancer (n = 66; 71 versus 44 days; p = 0.0313). The most commonly reported catumaxomab-related adverse events were cytokine release-related symptoms (pyrexia, nausea, and vomiting) and abdominal pain which were generally mild to moderate in intensity and reversible. There were no cases of catheter-related infections. Fifteen percent of the patients had serious adverse events [193].

Following intraperitoneal injection with catumaxomab, antitumor immunity develops which can be long lasting in some patients [194].

In another randomized study published in 2008, of the 55 patients undergoing surgery for gastric adenocarcinoma (T2b/T3/T4, N±, M0) with a curative intent, 28 received an intraperitoneal catumaxomab infusion in the immediate postoperative period and were compared to 27 patients who underwent resection alone [193]. Catumaxomab was administered during surgery and then postoperatively on days 7, 10, 13, and 16 at increasing doses. The EpCAM antigen was present in 100% of patients. Seventy-eight percent (22/28) of the patients treated with catumaxomab received all 5 infusions. Treatment-related adverse events occurred in 40% of the patients most of which resolved. The most frequent adverse events in the catumaxomab group were anemia, pyrexia, inflammatory syndrome, and abdominal pain. This study demonstrated that adjuvant intraperitoneal catumaxomab, after gastrectomy, is feasible, safe, and well tolerated. The same finding was reported in another study [195].

A multicenter, randomized, phase II study is ongoing comparing dosages of catumaxomab in patients with limited PM (PCI < 12) from gastric cancer, after complete cytoreduction of disease. The goal of this study will be to assess 2-year overall survival, as well as, monitor toxicity and morbidity. Besides this analysis, translational research will be conducted to determine immunological markers of catumaxomab efficacy and to correlate these markers with clinical efficacy [196].

20.6.6.6 Bevacizumab

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a potent stimulator of angiogenesis, is secreted by tumor cells in a paracrine manner and leads to formation of ascites. In addition, peritoneal mesothelial cells and monocytes/macrophages infiltrating malignant effusions and even tumor-infiltrating T cells are known to produce VEGF [197–199]. Bevacizumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody that acts against the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Animal studies have shown that its intraperitoneal administration is safe and can lead to ascites control [200–203]. It has been used in the clinical setting for palliative treatment of refractory malignant ascites with varying results. A few case reports and small case series have shown good control of ascites with IP bevacizumab [204-207]. The dose used varied from 5-15 mg/kg administered every 3-4 weeks. Some studies showed the control of ascites with a single dose [207].

In a study of 29 patients, the median paracentesis-free survival was 17 days and 11 days for patients with ovarian and gastric cancer, respectively, using IP bevacizumab [208].

A multicenter, double-blind, placebocontrolled phase II study—AIO SUP-0108 showed no benefit of intraperitoneal bevacizumab as compared to placebo in patients with chemotherapy refractory malignant ascites of gastrointestinal origin though there was a reduction in the ascites in patients receiving bevacizumab [209]. However, 17 of the 33 patients in the study group had ascites secondary to pancreatic adenocarcinomas which may be responsible for the poor results overall. The complication rate was similar in the experimental and control groups.

20.6.6.7 Mucin-Lysing Therapy

Peritoneal cancer spread from mucinous tumors of gastrointestinal origin is common. Some of these tumors like pseudomyxoma peritonei which usually arise from a mucinous appendiceal primary tumor are associated with debilitating mucinous ascites. Though CRS and HIPEC have resulted in long-term survival in these patients, 25% of the patients with PMP present with advanced disease that is unresectable, and in those undergoing CRS and HIPEC, recurrence is common [210, 211]. The characteristics of the mucin produced by these tumors have been described [212]. The mucinous deposits are hypoxic, acidic, and impenetrable to chemotherapy [213]. MUC2, the prototype of secreted mucins, is expressed in the small intestine and colon and contributes significantly to the peritoneal spread in gastric and colorectal tumors. It is the PMP-specific mucin that is responsible for the high degree of gel formation. The copious secretion of MUC2 gives rise to an "appendiceal mucocele" also leading to its rupture and release of tumor cells. The presence of mucin allows the cells to float freely and redistribute in the peritoneal cavity [214]. MUC5AC is expressed only by a minority of goblet cells, in the normal colon. However, it is frequently expressed in colorectal adenomas and carcinomas and ovarian mucinous tumors and has been associated with adverse clinic-pathological factors [215, 216]. These mucins can lead to resistance to chemotherapy by formation of a physical barrier and resistance to apoptosis and drug metabolism [217].

There is a theoretical possibility to using a mucolytic agent in addition to CRS and HIPEC to reduce the risk of recurrence. Similarly, it can be used dissolve mucinous masses and aid surgery or be used as a palliative option.

Dextrose has been proposed as mucolytic agent, but its clinical benefit is unproven [218–221]. There are case reports showing benefit of other agents like sodium bicarbonate [222]. Other in vitro studies showed a benefit of agents like ascorbic acid and hydrogen peroxide used in combination [223]. N-acetyl cysteine (NAC) is a mucoactive agent with both mucolytic and muco-regulatory functions. Mucolytic activity of NAC has been evaluated in a variety of respiratory and gastrointestinal tract diseases associated with mucus hypersecretion [224, 225]. As a muco-regulatory agent, NAC controls mucin produc-

tion and secretion in a content-dependent manner [226, 227]. Morris et al. have demonstrated the mucin-lysing effects of N-acetyl cysteine and bromelain, enhanced in combination therapy, in in vitro studies as well as in in vivo studies in animal models without significant adverse effects [228, 229]. Subsequently, the same investigators reported that bromelain and NAC decrease production and/or secretion of mucins, in particular when the cells are exposed to combined regimens [230]. In addition, they reported that the mucin-depletion resulting from this therapy led to increased chemosensitivity of the tumors in in vitro and in vivo models. This combined therapy appears to be promising in preclinical studies [229, 231].

20.6.6.8 Personalized Intraperitoneal Therapy

Another problem with the current method of IP drug delivery is the lack of consideration for tumor drug sensitivity. For example, it is known that mitomycin C in its native form is inactive and needs to undergo a process of bioreductive activation for it to be oncologically effective [232–234]. This process is mediated by enzymes in the target tissue, i.e., the tumor, so tumors which do not express these enzymes will have an advantage in that MMC will not be activated [235, 236]. Some retrospective studies have even shown that polymorphisms in the genes encoding some of these enzymes have an effect on the outcomes of CRS and MMC-based HIPEC for colorectal peritoneal metastases [237, 238]. So in future, it would be ideal to use tumor biopsies to devise a "sensitivity profile" for individual patients.

20.6.7 New Surgical Strategies for the Treatment of PM

20.6.7.1 Detection of Occult Peritoneal Metastases

Aminolevulinic acid-mediated (ALA) photodynamic diagnosis (ALA-PDD) has been used for detecting occult peritoneal metastases. ALA is a prodrug of heme biosynthesis that has an affinity for cancer cells. After oral administration, it accumulates in the cancer cells and is converted to protoporphyrin IX (PpIX). When tissue is illuminated with light of a specific wavelength (blue light 440 nm), the tumor tissue emits fluorescence of a specific color (red) leading to its easy identification [238]. This process also leads to the generation of cytotoxic free radicals. ALA-PDT has been used in detecting and treating a variety of precancerous and cancerous lesions like dysplasias arising in Barrett's esophagus, ulcerative colitis and precancerous and cancerous lesions arising from the skin cancers [238–240].

This strategy can be used to detect occult tumors which are missed by white light. Areas of inflammation could produce false positive results [241]. In a study by Kishi et al., staging laparoscopy (SL) using ALA-PDD was performed in 13 advanced gastric cancer patients with serosainvading tumors, and the detection sensitivity of ALA-PDD was compared to the observations using WL [242]. The tumor detection rate using ALA-F was significantly higher than the detection rate using WL (72% vs. 39%, respectively, P < 0.0001). Peritoneal metastases were detected in five patients using SL with ALA-PDD, and liver metastases were detected in one patient. These metastases were confirmed using histological examination. Three metastatic lesions that were invisible under WL were detected under ALA-F.

In a study of 20 patients with primary peritoneal and ovarian cancer, ALA-PDD showed a high sensitivity (95%) and specificity (100%) in detecting peritoneal metastasis. ALA-PDD did not add to the morbidity of CRS and HIPEC [236].

ALA-PDD can be used with staging laparoscopy also and has shown a higher rate of detection of occult metastases compared to white light [243]. The same authors reported outcomes of the same strategy in 38 patients in 2016. Twelve of the 38 patients (32%) were diagnosed with peritoneal metastases by conventional laparoscopy. However, laparoscopy with ALA-PDD detected peritoneal metastases in 4 (11%) of the 26 remaining patients. Three of these four patients had negative cytological results from the evaluation of the peritoneal fluid [244].

20.6.7.2 Small Bowel Transplant

For patients with advanced and recurrent PMP, multi-visceral transplant has been attempted. The peritoneal surface malignancy team from Basingstoke in conjunction with an organ transplant team from Oxford has performed small bowel and multi-visceral transplant for seven patients of PMP with end-stage disease combined with intestinal and abdominal wall failure over a period of 4 years (unpublished data) [245]. Two patients died of postoperative complications. Of the remaining five patients, four have remained disease-free. All patients are independent of TPN and experience a good quality of life and, in some patients, successful return to employment (unpublished data) [245]. The long-term outcomes of such procedures need to be looked into to determine their role in the treatment of PMP.

Conclusion

New therapies have been developed for treatment of PM in addition to CRS and HIPEC. Some of these therapies are designed to overcome the existing drawbacks of various forms of IPC. Preclinical and clinical studies show promising results for future use in clinical practice. New forms of intraperitoneal therapy have been developed, and new drugs that have shown a benefit when used systemically are being evaluated for intraperitoneal use. While most of these therapies are in the preclinical phase, others like PIPAC and PDT are already in clinical use and being evaluated in clinical trials. Ongoing research continues to provide further insight and an improved understanding of the pathophysiology of peritoneal cancer spread and pharmacological aspects of intraperitoneal drug therapy which forms the basis of developing new therapies for treating peritoneal metastases.

References

 Sadeghi B, Arvieux C, Glehen O, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from non-gynecologic malignancies: results of the EVOCAPE 1 multicentric prospective study. Cancer. 2000;88(2):358–63.

- Mohamed F, Cecil T, Moran B, Sugarbaker PA. New standard of care for the management of peritoneal surface malignancy. Curr Oncol. 2011;18(2): e84–96.
- Goéré D, Souadka A, Faron M, Cloutier AS, Viana B, Honoré C, Dumont F, Elias D. Extent of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: attempt to define a threshold above which HIPEC does not offer survival benefit: a comparative study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(9):2958– 64. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-4387-5.
- Goéré D, Malka D, Tzanis D, et al. Is there a possibility of a cure in patients with colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis amenable to complete cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy? Ann Surg. 2013;257:1065–71. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SLA.0b013e31827e9289.
- Glehen O, Gilly FN, Arvieux C, Cotte E, Boutitie F, Mansvelt B, Bereder JM, Lorimier G, Quenet F, Elias D. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: a multi-institutional study of 159 patients treated by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:2370–7. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-010-1039-7.
- Chia CS, You B, Decullier E, et al. Patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: is cure a possibility? Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:1971. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-015-5081-3.
- Bijelic L, Yan TD, Sugarbaker PH. Failure analysis of recurrent disease following complete cytoreduction and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(8):2281–8.
- Konigsrainer I, Horvath P, Struller F, Forkl V, Konigsrainer A, Beckert S. Risk factors for recurrence following complete cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC in colorectal cancer-derived peritoneal surface malignancies. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2013;398(5):745–9.
- Van Oudheusden TR, Grull H, Dankers PY, De Hingh IH. Targeting the peritoneum with novel drug delivery systems in peritoneal carcinomatosis: a review of the literature. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(2): 627–34.
- Lemoine L, Sugarbaker P, Van der Speeten K. Pathophysiology of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: role of the peritoneum. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(34):7692–707. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg. v22.i34.7692.
- Royer B, Kalbacher E, Onteniente S, et al. Intraperitoneal clearance as a potential biomarker of cisplatin after intraperitoneal perioperative chemotherapy: a population pharmacokinetic study. Br J Cancer. 2012;106:460–7.
- 12. Ansaloni L, Coccolini F, Morosi L, et al. Pharmacokinetics of concomitant cisplatin and paclitaxel administered by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy to patients with peritoneal

carcinomatosis from epithelial ovarian cancer. Br J Cancer. 2015;112:306–12.

- Wasnik AP, Maturen KE, Kaza RK, Al-Hawary MM, Francis IR. Primary and secondary disease of the peritoneum and mesentery: review of anatomy and imaging features. Abdom Imaging. 2015;40:626–42.
- Flessner MF. The transport barrier in intraperitoneal therapy. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2005;288: F433–42.
- Baron MA. Structure of the intestinal peritoneum in man. Am J Anat. 1941;69:439.
- Fedorko ME, Hirsch JG, Fried B. Studies on transport of macromolecules and small particles across mesothelial cells of the mouse omentum. II. Kinetic features and metabolic requirements. Exp Cell Res. 1971;69:313–23.
- Ultrastructure and pathology of the peritoneum in peritoneal dialysis. In: Gokal R, Nolph K, editors. Textbook of peritoneal dialysis. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic; 1994. p. 17–24.
- Flessner MF, Parker RJ, Sieber SM. Peritoneal lymphatic uptake of fibrinogen and erythrocytes in the rat. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 1983;244:H89–96.
- Flessner MF, Schwab A. Pressure threshold for fluid loss from the peritoneal cavity. Am J Physiol Renal Fluid Electrolyte Physiol. 1996;270:F377–90.
- Flessner MF, Henegar J, Bigler S, Genous L. Is the peritoneum a significant transport barrier in peritoneal dialysis? Perit Dial Int. 2003;23:542–9.
- De Lima Vazquez V, Stuart OA, Mohamed F, Sugarbaker P. Extent of parietal peritonectomy does not change intraperitoneal chemo therapy pharmacokinetics. Cancer Chemother Rep. 2003;52:108–12.
- Dedrick RL, Myers CE, Bungay PM, DeVita VT Jr. Pharmacokinetic rationale for peritoneal drug administration in the treatment of ovarian cancer. Cancer Treat Rep. 1978;62:1–11.
- 23. Van der Speeten K, Govaerts K, Stuart A, Sugarbaker P. Pharmacokinetics of the perioperative use of cancer chemotherapy in peritoneal surface malignancy patients. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2012;2012.:Article ID 378064, 9 p, https://doi. org/10.1155/2012/378064.
- Flessner MF, Fenstermacher JD, Dedrick RL, Blasberg RG. A distributed model of peritonealplasma transport: tissue concentration gradients. Am J Physiol. 1985;248(3):F425–35.
- Markman M, Blessing JA, Major F, Manetta A. Salvage intraperitoneal therapy of ovarian cancer employing cisplatin and etoposide: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecologic Oncol. 1993;50:191–5.
- Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Peritoneal-plasma barrier. In: Sugarbaker PH, editor. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: principles of management. Cancer Treatment and Research, vol. 82. Boston, MA: Springer; 1996.
- Li XF, et al. Visualization of hypoxia in microscopic tumors by immunofluorescent microscopy. Cancer Res. 2007;67:7646–53.

- Jakobsen A, Mortensen LS. On the importance of sensitivity to the dose-effect relationship in chemotherapy. Acta Oncol. 1997;36:375–81.
- Alberts DS, Young L, Mason N, Salmon SE. *In vitro* evaluation of anticancer drugs against ovarian cancer at concentrations achievable by intraperitoneal administration. Semin Oncol. 1985;12:38–42.
- Andrews PA, Velury S, Mann SC, Howell SB. cis-Diamminedichloroplatinum(Ii) accumulation in sensitive and resistant human ovarian carcinoma sells. Cancer Res. 1988;48:68–73.
- Matsushima Y, et al. Time-schedule dependency of the inhibiting activity of various anticancer drugs in the clonogenic assay. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1985;14:104–7.
- Howell SB. Pharmacologic principles of intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of ovarian cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2008;18:20–5.
- Ceelen WP, Flessner MF. Intraperitoneal therapy for peritoneal tumors: biophysics and clinical evidence. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2010;7(2):108–15. https://doi. org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2009.217.
- 34. El-Kareh A, Secomb T. A theoretical model for intraperitoneal delivery of cisplatin and the effect of hyperthermia on drug penetration distance. Neoplasia. 2004;6:117–27.
- Au J, Guo P, Gao Y, et al. Multiscale tumor spatiokinetic model for intraperitoneal therapy. AAPS J. 2014;16:424–39.
- Winner K, Steinkamp M, Lee R, et al. Spatial modeling of drug delivery routes for treatment of disseminated ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2016;76:1320–34.
- 37. Steuperaert M, Falvo D'Urso Labate G, Debbaut C, De Wever O, Vanhove C, Ceelen W, Segers P. Mathematical modeling of intraperitoneal drug delivery: simulation of drug distribution in a single tumor nodule. Drug Deliv. 2017;24(1):491–501. https://doi.org/10.1080/10717544.2016.1269848.
- 38. Klaver LB, Hendriks T, Lomme R, et al. Intraoperative versus early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy a er cytoreduction for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis: an experimental study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(Supplement 3):S475–82.
- Elias D, Blot F, El Otmany A, et al. Curative treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis arising from colorectal cancer by complete resection and intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer. 2001;92:71–6.
- Poveda AA, Salazar RR, del Campo JJM, Mendiola CC, Cassinello JJ, Ojeda BB, et al. Update in the management of drug delivery systems for intraperitoneal therapy ovarian and cervical carcinoma. Clin Transl Oncol. 2007;9:443–51.
- Wright AA, Cronin A, Milne DE, et al. Use and effectiveness of intraperitoneal chemotherapy for treatment of ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(26):2841–7. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2015.61.4776.
- Dedrick RL, Flessner MF. Pharmacokinetic problems in peritoneal drug administration: tissue penetration and surface exposure. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1997;89(7):480– 7. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/89.7.480.

- 43. De Smet L, Ceelen W, Remon JP, Vervaet C. Optimization of drug delivery systems for intraperitoneal therapy to extend the residence time of the chemotherapeutic agent. Sci World J. 2013;2013:720858. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/720858.
- Gardner SN. A mechanistic, predictive model of dose-response curves for cell cycle phase-specific and -nonspecific drugs. Cancer Res. 2000;60(5):1417–25.
- 45. Hirano K, Hunt CA, Strubbe A, MacGregor RD. Lymphatic transport of liposome-encapsulated drugs following intraperitoneal administration. Effect of lipid composition. Pharm Res. 1985;6:271–8.
- Chung HJ, Park TG. Self-assembled and nanostructured hydrogels for drug delivery and tissue engineering. Nano Today. 2009;4:429–37.
- Farokhzad OC, Langer R. Nanomedicine: developing smarter therapeutic and diagnostic modalities. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2006;58(14):1456–9.
- Markman M. Intraperitoneal antineoplastic drug delivery: rationale and results. Lancet Oncol. 2003;4(5): 277–83.
- Hoare TR, Kohane DS. Hydrogels in drug delivery: progress and challenges. Polymer. 2008;49(8): 1993–2007.
- Sutton C. Adhesions and their prevention. Obstet Gynaecol. 2005;7:168–76.
- Fan R, Tong A, Li X, et al. Enhanced antitumor effects by docetaxel/LL37-loaded thermosensitive hydrogel nanoparticles in peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Int J Nanomedicine. 2015;10:7291–305. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S89066.
- 52. Fan R, Deng X, Zhou L, et al. Injectable thermosensitive hydrogel composite with surfacefunctionalized calcium phosphate as raw materials. Int J Nanomedicine. 2014;9:615–26.
- Deepa G, Thulasidasan AK, Anto RJ, Pillai JJ, Kumar GS. Cross-linked acrylic hydrogel for the controlled delivery of hydrophobic drugs in cancer therapy. Int J Nanomedicine. 2012;7:4077–88.
- Qiu Y, Park K. Environment-sensitive hydrogels for drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2001; 53(3):321–39.
- 55. Liu L, Wu Q, Ma X, Xiong D, Gong C, Qian Z, Zhao X, Wei Y. Camptothecine encapsulated composite drug delivery system for colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis therapy: biodegradable microsphere in thermosensitive hydrogel. Colloids Surf Biointerfaces. 2013;106:93–101.
- 56. Wang Y, Gong C, Yang L, Wu Q, Shi S, Shi H, Qian Z, Wei Y. 5-FU-hydrogel inhibits colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis and tumor growth in mice. BMC Cancer. 2010;10(402)
- 57. Hyoudou K, Nishikawa M, Kobayashi Y, Kuramoto Y, Yamashita F, Hashida M. Inhibition of adhesion and proliferation of peritoneally disseminated tumor cells by pegylated catalase. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2006;23(5–6):269–78.
- 58. Emoto S, Yamaguchi H, Kamei T, Ishigami H, Suhara T, Suzuki Y, Ito T, Kitayama J, Watanabe T. Intraperitoneal administration of cisplatin via an in

situ cross-linkable hyaluronic acid-based hydrogel for peritoneal dissemination of gastric cancer. Surg Today. 2013;44(5):919–26.

- 59. Bae WK, Park MS, Lee JH, Hwang JE, Shim HJ, Cho SH, Kim DE, Ko HM, Cho CS, Park IK, Chung IJ. Docetaxel-loaded thermoresponsive conjugated linoleic acid-incorporated poloxamer hydrogel for the suppression of peritoneal metastasis of gastric cancer. Biomaterials. 2013;34(4):1433–341.
- 60. Yu J, Lee HJ, Hur K, Kwak MK, Han TS, Kim WH, Song SC, Yanagihara K, Yang HK. The antitumor effect of a thermosensitive polymeric hydrogel containing paclitaxel in a peritoneal carcinomatosis model. Investig New Drugs. 2012;30(1):1–7.
- Bajaj G, Kim MR, Mohammed SI, Yeo Y. Hyaluronic acid based hydrogel for regional delivery of paclitaxel to intraperitoneal tumors. J Control Release. 2012;158(3):386–92.
- 62. Gong C, Wang C, Wang Y WQ, Zhang D, Luo F, Qian Z. Efficient inhibition of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis by drug loaded micelles in thermosensitive hydrogel composites. Nanoscale. 2012;4(10):3095–104.
- Tamura T, Imai J, Matsumoto A, et al. Organ distribution of cisplatin a er intraperitoneal administration of cisplatin- loaded microspheres. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2002;54(1):1–7.
- 64. Fujiyama J, Nakase Y, Osaki K, Sakakura C, Yamagishi H, Hagiwara A. Cisplatin incorporated in microspheres: development and fundamental studies for its clinical application. J Control Release. 2003;89(3):397–408.
- 65. Lu Z, Tsai M, Lu D, Wang J, Wientjes MG, Au JLS. Tumor-penetrating microparticles for intraperitoneal therapy of ovarian cancer. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2008;327(3):673–82.
- Jain RK, Stylianopoulos T. Delivering nanomedicine to solid tumors. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2010;7(11):653–64.
- 67. Gunji S, Obama K, Matsui M, Tabata Y, Sakai Y. A novel drug delivery system of intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis using gelatin microspheres incorporating cisplatin. Surgery. 2013;154(5):991–9.
- 68. Hagiwara A, Takahashi T, Sawai K, Sakakura C, Tsujimoto H, Imanishi T, Ohgaki M, Yamazaki J, Muranishi S, Yamamoto A, Fujita T. Pharmacological effects of 5-fluorouracil microspheres on peritoneal carcinomatosis in animals. Br J Cancer. 1996;74(9):1392–6.
- 69. Kohane DS, Tse JY, Yeo Y, Padera R, Shubina M, Langer R. Biodegradable polymeric microspheres and nanospheres for drug delivery in the peritoneum. J Biomed Mater Res A. 2006;77(2):351–61.
- Bennis S, Chapey C, Couvreur P, Robert J. Enhanced cytotoxicity of doxorubicin encapsulated in polyisohexyl- cyanoacrylate nanospheres against multidrugresistant tumour cells in culture. Eur J Cancer A. 1994;30(1):89–93.
- Sadava D, Coleman A, Kane SE. Liposomal daunorubicin overcomes drug resistance in human breast,

ovarian and lung carcinoma cells. J Liposome Res. 2002;12(4):301–9.

- Colson YL, Liu R, Southard EB, et al. The performance of expansile nanoparticles in a murine model of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Biomaterials. 2011;32(3):832–40.
- Deng Y, Yang F, Cocco E, et al. Improved i.p. drug delivery with bioadhesive nanoparticles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(41):11453–8. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1523141113.
- 74. Fu Q, Hargrove D, Lu X. Improving paclitaxel pharmacokinetics by using tumor-specific mesoporous silica nanoparticles with intraperitoneal delivery. Nanomedicine. 2016;12(7):1951–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nano.2016.04.013.
- 75. Vassileva V, Grant J, De Souza R, Allen C, Piquette-Miller M. Novel biocompatible intraperitoneal drug delivery system increases tolerability and therapeutic efficacy of paclitaxel in a human ovarian cancer xenograft model. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2007;60(6):907–14.
- 76. Reddy LH, Adhikari JS, Dwarakanath BS, Sharma RK, Murthy RR. Tumoricidal effects of etoposide incorporated into solid lipid nanoparticles after intraperitoneal administration in Dalton's lymphoma bearing mice. AAPS J. 2006;8(2):254–62.
- 77. Emoto S, Yamaguchi H, Kishikawa J, Yamashita H, Ishigami H, Kitayama J. Antitumor effect and pharmacokinetics of intraperitoneal NK105, a nanomicellar paclitaxel formulation for peritoneal dissemination. Cancer Sci. 2012;103(7):1304–10.
- Xu S, Fan H, Yin L, Zhang J, Dong A, Deng L, Tang H. Thermosensitive hydrogel system assembled by PTX-loaded copolymer nanoparticles for sustained intraperitoneal chemotherapy of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2016;104:251–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.05.010.
- Dadashzadeh S, Mirahmadi N, Babaei MH, Vali AM. Peritoneal retention of liposomes: effects of lipid composition, PEG coating and liposome charge. J Control Release. 2010;148(2):177–86.
- 80. Lin YY, Li JJ, Chang CH, YC L, Hwang JJ, Tseng YL, Lin WJ, Ting G, Wang HE. Evaluation of pharmacokinetics of 1111n- labeled VNB-PEGylated liposomes after intraperitoneal and intravenous administration in a tumor/ascites mouse model. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 2009;24(4):453–60.
- Gelderblom H, Verweij J, van Zomeren DM, et al. Influence of cremophor EL on the bioavailability of intraperitoneal paclitaxel. Clin Cancer Res. 2002;8(4):1237–41.
- Weiss RB, Donehower RC, Wiernik PH, et al. Hypersensitivity reactions from taxol. J Clin Oncol. 1990;8(7):1263–8.
- De Smet L, Colin P, Ceelen W, et al. Development of a nanocrystalline paclitaxel formulation for hipec treatment. Pharm Res. 2012;29:2398–406.
- 84. Tsai M, Lu Z, Wang J, Yeh TK, Wientjes MG, Au JLS. Effects of carrier on disposition and antitumor activity of intraperitoneal paclitaxel. Pharm Res. 2007;24(9):1691–701.

- Yokogawa K, Jin M, Furui N, et al. Disposition kinetics of taxanes a er intraperitoneal administration in rats and in uence of surfactant vehicles. J Pharm Pharmacol. 2004;56(5):629–34.
- 86. Soo PL, Cho J, Grant J, Ho E, Piquette-Miller M, Allen C. Drug release mechanism of paclitaxel from a chitosan-lipid implant system: effect of swelling, degradation and morphology. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2008;69(1):149–57.
- Grant J, Blicker M, Piquette-Miller M, Allen C. Hybrid films from blends of chitosan and egg phosphatidylcholine for localized delivery of paclitaxel. J Pharm Sci. 2005;94(7):1512–27.
- 88. Dakwar GR, Zagato E, Delanghe J, Hobel S, Aigner A, Denys H, Braeckmans K, Ceelen W, De Smedt SC, Remaut K. Colloidal stability of nano-sized particles in the peritoneal fluid: towards optimizing drug delivery systems for intraperitoneal therapy. Acta Biomater. 2014;10(7):2965–75.
- 89. Hagiwara A, Takahashi T, Yamaguchi T, Taniguchi H, Iwamoto A, Yoneyama C, Ito M, Sasabe T, Lee M, Wada R. Intracavitary microspheres incorporating cisplatinum in the treatment of malignant effusions--clinical trials. Gan To Kagaku Ryoho. 1990;17(8 Pt 2):1575–8.
- Gremonprez F, Willaert W, Ceelen W. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC) for peritoneal carcinomatosis: review of animal models. J Surg Oncol. 2014;109(2):110–6.
- 91. Elias D, Lefevre JH, Chevalier J, Brouquet A, Marchal F, Classe JM, Ferron G, Guilloit JM, Meeus P, Goéré D, Bonastre J. Complete cytoreductive surgery plus intraperitoneal chemo- hyperthermia with oxaliplatin for peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(5):681–5.
- 92. Rodríguez Silva C, Moreno Ruiz FJ, Bellido Estévez I, et al. Are there intra-operative hemodynamic differences between the coliseum and closed HIPEC techniques in the treatment of peritoneal metastasis? A retrospective cohort study. World J Surg Oncol. 2017;15:51. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12957-017-1119-2.
- Esquis P, Consolo D, Magnin G, et al. High intraabdominal pressure enhances the penetration and antitumor effect of Intraperitoneal cisplatin on experimental peritoneal carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2006;244(1):106–12. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. sla.0000218089.61635.5f.
- 94. Gesson-Paute A, Ferron G, Thomas F, de Lara EC, Chatelut E, Querleu D. Pharmacokinetics of oxaliplatin during open versus laparoscopically assisted heated intraoperative chemotherapy (HIPEC): an experimental study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(1):339–44.
- 95. Facy O, Al Samman S, Magnin G, et al. High pressure enhances the effect of hyperthermia in intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin: an experimental study. Ann Surg. 2012;256(6):1084–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182582b38.
- Facy O, Combier C, Pussier M, et al. High pressure does not counterbalance the advantages of open tech-

niques over closed techniques during heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin. Surgery. 2015;157(1):72–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. surg.2014.06.006.

- Reymond MA, Hu B, Garcia A, Reck T, Köckerling F, Hess J, Morel P. Feasibility of therapeutic pneumoperitoneum in a large animal model using a microvaporisator. Surg Endosc. 2000;14(1):51–5.
- 98. Solaß W, Hetzel A, Nadiradze G, Sagynaliev E, Reymond MA. Description of a novel approach for intraperitoneal drug delivery and the related device. Surg Endosc. 2012;26(7):1849–55. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00464-012-2148-0.
- 99. Sharon A, Hirsh I, Kaufman Y, Ostrovski L, Brandes-Klein O, Spiegel D, Shenderey A, Lissak A. The effect of continuous intraabdominal nebulization of lidocaine during gynecological laparoscopic procedures: a pilot study. Gynecol Surg. 2008;5:221–5.
- 100. Alkhamesi NA, Ridgway PF, Ramwell A, McCullough PW, Peck DH, Darzi AW. Peritoneal nebulizer. A novel technique for delivering intraperitoneal therapeutics in laparoscopic surgery to prevent locoregional recurrence. Surg Endosc. 2009;19:1142–6.
- 101. Canis M, Matsuzaki S, Bourdel N, Jardon K, Cotte B, Botchorishvili R, Rabischong B, Mage G. Peritoneum and laparoscopic environment [review]. Bull Cancer. 2007;94:1043–51.
- 102. Solass W, Herbette A, Schwarz T, Hetzel A, Sun JS, Dutreix M, Reymond MA. Therapeutic approach of human peritoneal carcinomatosis with Dbait in combination capnoperitoneum: proof of concept. Surg Endosc. 2012;26(3):847–52. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00464-011-1964-y.
- 103. Laube BL. The expanding role of aerosols in systemic drug delivery, genetherapy, and vaccination. Respir Care. 2005;50:1161–76.
- 104. Minchinton AI, Tannock IF. Drug penetration in solid tumors. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006;6:583–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1893.
- 105. Solass W, Kerb R, Mürdter T, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy of peritoneal carcinomatosis using pressurized aerosol as an alternative to liquid solution: first evidence for efficacy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(2):553–9. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-013-3213-1.
- 106. Kakchekeeva T, Demtröder C, Herath NI, et al. In vivo feasibility of electrostatic precipitation as an adjunct to pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (ePIPAC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(Suppl 5):592–8. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-016-5108-4.
- 107. Ansell J, Warren N, Wall P, et al. Electrostatic precipitation is a novel way of maintaining visual field clarity during laparoscopic surgery: a prospective double-blind randomized controlled pilot study. Surg Endosc. 2014;28:2057–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00464-014-3427-8.
- 108. Tempfer CB, Celik I, Solass W, Buerkle B, Pabst U, Zieren J, et al. Activity of pressurized intra-

peritoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) with cisplatin and doxorubicin in women with recurrent, platinum-resistant ovarian cancer: preliminary clinical experience. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;132(2):307–11.

- 109. Tempfer CB, Solass W, Buerkle B, Reymond MA. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) with cisplatin and doxorubicin in a woman with pseudomyxoma peritonei: a case report. Gynecol Oncol Rep. 2014;10:32–5.
- 110. Giger-Pabst U, Solass W, Buerkle B, Reymond MA. Low-dose intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) as an alternative therapy for ovarian cancer in an octogenarian patient. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(4):2309–14.
- 111. Robella M, Vaira M, De Simone M. Safety and feasibility of pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) associated with systemic chemotherapy: an innovative approach to treat peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Surg Oncol. 2016;14:128. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12957-016-0892-7.
- 112. Tempfer CB, Winnekendonk G, Solass W, et al. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy in women with recurrent ovarian cancer: a phase 2 study. Gynecol Oncol. 2015;137(2):223–8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.02.009.
- 113. Nadiradze G, Giger-Pabst U, Zieren J, Strumberg D, Solass W, Reymond M-A. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) with lowdose cisplatin and doxorubicin in gastric peritoneal metastasis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2016;20:367–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11605-015-2995-9.
- 114. Demtröder C, Solass W, Zieren J, Strumberg D, Giger-Pabst U, Reymond MA. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy with oxaliplatin in colorectal peritoneal metastasis. Color Dis. 2016;18(4):364–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/ codi.13130.
- 115. Girshally R, Demtröder C, Albayrak N, Zieren J, Tempfer C, Reymond MA. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) as a neoadjuvant therapy before cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. World J Surg Oncol. 2016;14:253. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12957-016-1008-0.
- 116. Blanco A, Giger-Pabst U, Solass W, Zieren J, Reymond MA. Renal and hepatic toxicities after pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(7):2311–6. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-012-2840-2.
- 117. Odendahl K, Solass W, Demtröder C, Giger-Pabst U, Zieren J, Tempfer C, Reymond MA. Quality of life of patients with end-stage peritoneal metastasis treated with pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC). Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(10):1379–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2015.06.001.
- 118. Otterson GA, Villalona-Calero MA, Sharma S, et al. Phase I study of inhaled doxorubicin for patients

with metastatic tumors to the lungs. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:1246–52. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-1096.

- 119. Lemarie E, Vecellio L, Hureaux J, et al. Aerosolized gemcitabine in patients with carcinoma of the lung: feasibility and safety study. J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv. 2011;24:261–70. https://doi. org/10.1089/jamp.2010.0872.
- 120. Solaß W, Giger-Pabst U, Zieren J, Reymond MA. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC): occupational health and safety aspects. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(11):3504–11. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-013-3039-x.
- 121. Hübner M, Grass F, Teixeira-Farinha H, Pache B, Mathevet P, Demartines N. Pressurized intra peritoneal aerosol chemotherapy - practical aspects. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;pii: S0748-7983(17)30437-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2017.03.019.
- 122. Lotti M, Capponi MG, Piazzalunga D, et al. LaparoscopicHIPEC:abridgebetweenopenandclosedtechniques. J Minimal Access Surg. 2016;12(1):86–9. https://doi.org/10.4103/0972-9941.158965.
- 123. Esquivel J, Averbach A, Chua TC. Laparoscopic cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with limited peritoneal surface malignancies: feasibility, morbidity and outcome in an early experience. Ann Surg. 2011;253:764–8.
- 124. Thomas F, Ferron G, Gesson-Paute A, Hristova M, Lochon I, Chatelut E. Increased tissue diffusion of oxaliplatin during laparoscopically assisted versus open heated intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:3623–4.
- 125. Los G, van Vugt MJ, Pinedo HM. Response of peritoneal solid tumours after intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia treatment with cisplatin or carboplatin. Br J Cancer. 1994;69(2):235–41.
- 126. C-C W, Yang Y-C, Hsu Y-T, et al. Nanoparticleinduced intraperitoneal hyperthermia and targeted photoablation in treating ovarian cancer. Oncotarget. 2015;6(29):26861–75.
- Chatterjee DK, Diagaradjane P, Krishnan S. Nanoparticle-mediated hyperthermia in cancer therapy. Ther Deliv. 2011;2(8):1001–14.
- 128. Carpin LB, Bickford LR, Agollah G, Yu TK, Schiff R, Li Y, Drezek RA. Immunoconjugated gold nanoshell-medi- ated photothermal ablation of trastuzumab-resistant breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;125:27–34.
- 129. Day ES, Thompson PA, Zhang L, Lewinski NA, Ahmed N, Drezek RA, Blaney SM, West JL. Nanoshell-mediated photothermal therapy improves survival in a murine glioma model. J Neuro-Oncol. 2011;104:55–63.
- 130. Ariffin AB, Forde PF, Jahangeer S, Soden DM, Hinchion J. Releasing pressure in tumors: what do we know so far and where do we go from here? A review. Cancer Res. 2014;74(10):2655–62. https:// doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3696.
- Salmon H, Franciskiewicz K, Damatte D, Dieu-Nosjean M-C, Validire P, Trautmann A, Mami-

Charaib F, Donnadieu E. Matrix architecture defines the preferential localization and migration of T cells into the stroma of human lung tumours. J Clin Invest. 2012;122:899–910.

- 132. Cheng J, Sauthoff H, Huang YQ, Kutler DI, Bajwa S, Rom WN, Hay JG. Human matrix metalloproteinase-8 gene delivery increases the oncolytic activity of a replicating adenovirus. Mol Ther. 2007;15:1982–90.
- 133. Padera TP, Stoll BR, Tooredman JB, Capen D, diTomase E, Jain RK. Cancer cells compress intratumour vessels: pressure from proliferatfiing cells impedes transport of therapeutic drugs into tumors. Nature. 2004;247:695.
- 134. Jang SH, Wientjes MG, Au JLS. Enhancement of paclitaxel delivery to solid tumors by apoptosisinducing pretreatment: effect of treatment schedule. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2001;296:1035–42.
- 135. Kondo A, et al. Hypotonic intraperitoneal cisplatin chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis in mice. Br J Cancer. 1996;73:1166–70.
- 136. Siemens DR, Hu N, Sheikhi AK, Chung E, Frederiksen LJ, Pross H, et al. Hypoxia increases tumor cell shedding of MHC class I chainrelated molecule: role of nitric oxide. Cancer Res. 2008;68:4746–53.
- 137. Goel S, Wong AH-K, Jain RK. Vascularnormali zationasatherapeutic strategy for malignant and non-malignant disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2:a006486.
- 138. Gremonprez F, Descamps B, Izmer A, et al. Pretreatment with VEGF(R)-inhibitors reduces interstitial fluid pressure, increases intraperitoneal chemotherapy drug penetration, and impedes tumor growth in a mouse colorectal carcinomatosis model. Oncotarget. 2015;6(30):29889–900.
- Jain RK. Normalizing tumor microenvironment to treat cancer: bench to bedside to biomarkers. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:2205–18.
- 140. Tailor TD, Hanna G, Yarmolenko PS, Dreher MR, Betof AS, Nixon AB, Spasojevic I, Dewhirst MW. Effect of pazopanib on tumor microenvironment and liposome delivery. Mol Cancer Ther. 2010;9:1798–808.
- 141. Fan Y, Pu W, He B, Fu F, Yuan L, Wu H, et al. The reduction of tumor interstitial fluid pressure by liposomal imatinib and its effect on combination therapy with liposomal doxorubicin. Biomaterials. 2013;34:2277–88.
- 142. Skliarenko JV, Lunt SJ, Gordon ML, Vitkin A, Milosevic M, Hill RP. Effects of the vascular disrupting agent ZD6126 on interstitial fluid pressure and cell survival in tumours. Cancer Res. 2006;66:2074–80.
- 143. Ley CD, Horsmann M, PEG K. Early effects of combretastatin A-4 disodium phosphate on tumour perfusion and interstitial fluid pressure. Neoplasia. 2007;9:108–12.
- 144. Meredith RF, Buchsbaum DJ, Alvarez RD, LoBuglio AF. Brief overview of preclinical and clinical studies

in the development of intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy for ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:5643s–45s; Koppe MJ, Soede AC, Pels W, Oyen WJG, Goldenberg DM, Bleichrodt RP, Boerman OC. Experimental radioimmunotherapy of small peritoneal metastases of colorectal origin. Int J Cancer 2003;106:965–72.

- 145. Kinuya S, Yokoyama K, Fukuoka M, Hiramatsu T, Mori H, Shiba K, Watanabe N, Shuke N, Michigishi T, Tonami N. Intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy to treat the early phase of peritoneal dissemination of human colon cancer cells in a murine model. Nucl Med Commun. 2007;28:129–33.
- 146. Epenetos AA, Hird V, Lambert H, Mason P, Coulter C. Long term survival of patients with advanced ovarian cancer treated with intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2000;10:44–6.
- 147. Verheijen RH, Massuger LF, Benigno BB, Epenetos AA, Lopes A, Soper JT, Markowska J, Vyzula R, Jobling T, Stamp G, Spiegel G, Thurston D, Falke T, Lambert J, Seiden MV. Phase III trial of intraperitoneal therapy with yttrium-90-labeled HMFG1 murine monoclonal antibody in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer after a surgically defined complete remission. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:571–8.
- 148. Oei AL, Verheijen RH, Seiden MV, Benigno BB, Lopes A, Soper JT. Decreased intraperitoneal disease recurrence in epithelial ovarian cancer patients receiving intraperitoneal consolidation treatment with yttrium-90-labeled murine Hmfg1 without improvement in overall survival. Int J Cancer. 2007;120:2710–4.
- 149. Vergote IB, Vergote-De Vos LN, Abeler VM, et al. Randomized trial comparing cisplatin with radioactive phosphorus or whole-abdomen irradiation as adjuvant treatment of ovarian cancer. Cancer. 1992;69:741–9.
- 150. Young RC, Brady MF, Nieberg RK, et al. Adjuvant treatment for early ovarian cancer: a randomized phase III trial of intraperitoneal 32P or intravenous cyclophosphamide and cisplatin--a gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:4350–5.
- 151. Nicholson S, Gooden CS, Hird V, et al. Radioimmunotherapy after chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone in the treatment of advanced ovarian cancer: a matched analysis. Oncol Rep. 1998;5:223–6.
- 152. Macey DJ, Meredith RF. A strategy to reduce red marrow dose for intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 1999;5:3044s–7s.
- 153. Elgqvist J, Frost S, Pouget JP, Albertsson P. The potential and hurdles of targeted alpha therapy - clinical trials and beyond. Front Oncol. 2014;3:324–9.
- 154. Aarts F, Hendriks T, Boerman OC, Koppe MJ, Oyen WJG, Bleichrodt RP. A comparison between radioimmunotherapy and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of perito-

neal carcinomatosis of colonic origin in rats. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(11):3274–82. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-007-9509-2.

- 155. Boudousq V, Ricaud S, Garambois V, et al. Brief intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy of small peritoneal carcinomatosis using high activities of noninternalizing ¹²⁵I-labeled monoclonal antibodies. J Nucl Med. 2010;51(11):1748–55. https://doi.org/10.2967/ jnumed.110.080226.
- 156. Andersson H, Cederkrantz E, Back T, et al. Intraperitoneal alpha-particle radioimmunotherapy of ovarian cancer patients: pharmacokinetics and dosimetry of (211)at-Mx35 F(Ab')2--a phase I study. J Nucl Med. 2009;50:1153–60.
- 157. Meredith R, Torgue J, Shen S, et al. Dose escalation and Dosimetry of first in human alpha radioimmunotherapy with ²¹²Pb-TCMC-trastuzumab. J Nucl Med. 2014;55(10):1636–42. https://doi.org/10.2967/ jnumed.114.143842.
- Casson AG. Photofrin PDT for early stage esophageal cancer: a new standard of care? Photodiagn Photodyn Ther. 2009;6:155–6.
- 159. Choi MC, Lee C, Kim SJ. Efficacy and safety of photodynamic therapy for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: a systemic review. Photodiagn Photodyn Ther. 2014;11:479–80.
- 160. Ikeda N, Usuda J, Kato H, et al. New aspects of photodynamic therapy for central type early stage lung cancer. Lasers Surg Med. 2011;43:749–54.
- 161. Azaïs H, Mordon S, Collinet P. Intraperitoneal photodynamic therapy for peritoneal metastasis of epithelial ovarian cancer. Limits and future prospects. Gynecol Obstet Fertil Senol. 2017;45(4):249–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gofs.2017.02.005.
- 162. Guyon L, Farine MO, Lesage JC, Gevaert AM, Simonin S, Schmitt C, Collinet P, Mordon S. Photodynamic therapy of ovarian cancer peritoneal metastasis with hexaminolevulinate: a toxicity study. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther. 2014;11(3):265–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pdpdt.2014.04.006.
- 163. Azaïs H, Schmitt C, Tardivel M, Kerdraon O, Stallivieri A, Frochot C, Betrouni N, Collinet P, Mordon S. Assessment of the specificity of a new folate-targeted photosensitizer for peritoneal metastasis of epithelial ovarian cancer to enable intraperitoneal photodynamic therapy. A preclinical study. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther. 2016;13:130–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pdpdt.2015.07.005.
- 164. Kalli KR, Oberg AL, Keeney GL, Christianson TJH, Low PS, Knutson KL, et al. Folate receptor alpha as a tumor target in epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;108(3):619–26.
- 165. Markert S, Lassmann S, Gabriel B, Klar M, Werner M, Gitsch G, et al. Alpha-folate receptor expression in epithelial ovarian carcinoma and non-neoplastic ovarian tissue. Anticancer Res. 2008;28(6A):3567–72.
- 166. O'Shannessy DJ, Somers EB, Smale R, Fu Y-S. Expression of folate receptor-a (FRA) in gynecologic malignancies and its relationship to the tumor type. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2013;32(3):258–68.

- 167. Crane LMA, Arts HJG, Oosten M, Low PS, Zee AGJ, Dam GM, et al. The effect of chemotherapy on expression of folate receptor-alpha in ovarian cancer. Cell Oncol. 2011;35(1):9–18.
- 168. Yokoyama Y, Shigeto T, Miura R, Kobayashi A, Mizunuma M, Yamauchi A, Futagami M, Mizunuma H. A strategy using photodynamic therapy and clofibric acid to treat peritoneal dissemination of ovarian cancer. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2016;17(2):775–9.
- 169. Mroz P, Xia Y, Asanuma D, Konopko A, Zhiyentayev T, Huang YY, Sharma SK, Dai T, Khan UJ, Wharton T, Hamblin MR. Intraperitoneal photodynamic therapy mediated by a fullerene in a mouse model of abdominal dissemination of colon adenocarcinoma. Nanomedicine. 2011;7(6):965–74. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2011.04.007.
- 170. Ma Z, Li W, Yoshiya S, Xu Y, Hata M, El-Darawish Y, et al. Augmentation of immune checkpoint cancer immunotherapy with IL18. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:2969–80.
- 171. Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the Pd-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med. 2000;192:1027–34.
- 172. Latchman Y, Wood CR, Chernova T, Chaudhary D, Borde M, Chernova I, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. Nat Immunol. 2001;2:261–8.
- Zarour HM. Reversing T-cell dysfunction and exhaustion in cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:1856–64.
- 174. Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified t cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1509–18.
- 175. Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptormodified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2011;365: 725–33.
- 176. Katz SC, Burga RA, McCormack E, Wang LJ, Mooring W, Point GR, et al. Phase I hepatic immunotherapy for metastases study of intra-arterial chimeric antigen receptor-modified T-cell therapy for CEA+ liver metastases. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:3149–59.
- 177. Katz SC, Point GR, Cunetta M, Thorn M, Guha P, Espat NJ, et al. Regional CAR-T cell infusions for peritoneal carcinomatosis are superior to systemic delivery. Cancer Gene Ther. 2016;23:142–8.
- Koneru M, Purdon TJ, Spriggs D, Koneru S, Brentjens RJ. IL-12 secreting tumortargeted chimeric antigen receptor T cells eradicate ovarian tumors in vivo. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4:e994446.
- 179. Hong H, Brown CE, Ostberg JR, Priceman SJ, Chang WC, Weng L, et al. L1 cell adhesion moleculespecific chimeric antigen receptor-redirected human T cells exhibit specific and efficient antitumor activity against human ovarian cancer in mice. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0146885.
- VanLith ML, Kohlgraf KG, Sivinski CL, Tempero RM, Hollingsworth MA. MUC1- specific antitumor

responses: molecular requirements for CD4mediated responses. Int Immunol. 2002;14:873-82.

- 181. Dobrzanski MJ, Rewers-Felkins KA, Quinlin IS, Samad KA, Phillips CA, Robinson W, et al. Autologous MUC1-specific Th1 effector cell immunotherapy induces differential levels of systemic TReg cell subpopulations that result in increased ovarian cancer patient survival. Clin Immunol. 2009;133:333–52.
- 182. Ai YQ, Cai K, JH H, Jiang LW, Gao YR, Zhao H, et al. The clinical effects of dendritic cell vaccines combined with cytokine-induced killer cells intraperitoneal injected on patients with malignant ascites. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2014;7:4272–81.
- 183. Patriarca C, Macchi RM, Marschner AK, Mellstedt H. Epithelial cell adhesion molecule expression (CD326) in cancer: a short review. Cancer Treat Rev. 2012;38(1):68–75.
- 184. Zeidler R, Reisbach G, Wollenberg B, Lang S, Chaubal S, Schmitt B, Lindhofer H. Simultaneous activation of T cells and accessory cells by a new class of intact bispecific antibody results in efficient tumor cell killing. J Immunol. 1999;163:1246–52.
- 185. Chelius D, Ruf P, Gruber P, Plöscher M, Liedtke R, Gansberger E, Hess J, Wasiliu M, Lindhofer H. Structural and functional characterization of the trifunctional antibody catumaxomab. MAbs. 2010;2:309– 19. https://doi.org/10.4161/mabs.2.3.11791.
- Bokemeyer C. Catumaxomab—trifunctional anti-EpCAM antibody used to treat malignant ascites. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2010;10(8):1259–69.
- Ruf P, Lindhofer H. Induction of a long-lasting antitumor immunity by a trifunctional bispecific antibody. Blood. 2001;98(8):2526–34.
- 188. Schmitt M, Schmitt A, Reinhardt P, Thess B, Manfras B, Lindhofer H, et al. Opsonization with a trifunctional bispecific (alphaCD3 x alphaEpCAM) antibody results in efficient lysis in vitro and in vivo of EpCAM positive tumor cells by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Int J Oncol. 2004;25(4):841–8.
- 189. Ruf P, Gires O, Jager M, Fellinger K, Atz J, Lindhofer H. Characterisation of the new EpCAMspecific antibody HO-3: implications for trifunctional antibody immunotherapy of cancer. Br J Cancer. 2007;97(3):315–21.
- Mackey JR, Venner PM. Malignant ascites: demographics, therapeutic effacy and predictors of survival. Can J Oncol. 1996;6:474–80.
- 191. Wimberger P, Gilet H, Gonschior AK, Heiss MM, Moehler M, Oskay-Oezcelik G, et al. Deterioration in quality of life (QoL) in patients with malignant ascites: results from a phase II/III study comparing paracentesis plus catumaxomab with paracentesis alone. Ann Oncol. 2012;23:1979–85.
- 192. Heiss MM, Murawa P, Koralewski P, Kutarska E, Kolesnik OO, Ivanchenko VV, et al. The trifunctional antibody catumaxomab for the treatment of malignant ascites due to epithelial cancer: results of a prospective randomized phase II/III trial. Int J Cancer. 2010;127:2209–21.

- 193. Krueger CM, Berdov BA, Roman LA, Luft AV, Lampe P, Lindhofer H, Bartelheim K, Klein A, Heiss MM. Intraoperative, adjuvant treatment of gastric cancer with the trifunctional antibody catumaxomab Compared to surgery alone: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(May 20 suppl):abstr 15529.
- 194. Ströhlein MA, Siegel R, Jäger M, Lindhofer H, Jauch KW, Heiss MM. Induction of anti-tumor immunity by trifunctional antibodies in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2009;28:18.
- 195. Bokemeyer C, Stein A, Ridwelski K, Atanackovic D, Arnold D, Woll E, et al. A phase II study of catumaxomab administered intra- and postoperatively as part of a multimodal approach in primarily resectable gastric cancer. Gastric Cancer. 2015;18:833–42.
- 196. Goéré D, Gras-Chaput N, Aupérin A, Flament C, Mariette C, Glehen O, et al. Treatment of gastric peritoneal carcinomatosis by combining complete surgical resection of lesions and intraperitoneal immunotherapy using catumaxomab. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:148.
- 197. Stadlmann S, Amberger A, Pollheimer J, et al. Ovarian carcinoma cells and IL-1beta-activated human peritoneal mesothelial cells are possible sources of vascular endothelial growth factor in inflammatory and malignant peritoneal effusions. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;97:784–9.
- 198. Yeo KT, Wang HH, Nagy JA, et al. Vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) in guinea pig and human tumor and inflammatory effusions. Cancer Res. 1993;53:2912–8.
- 199. Freeman MR, Schneck FX, Gagnon ML, et al. Peripheral blood T lymphocytes and lymphocytes infiltrating human cancers express vascular endothelial growth factor: a potential role for T cells in angiogenesis. Cancer Res. 1995;55:4140–5.
- 200. Senger DR, Galli SJ, Dvorak AM, et al. Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. Science. 1983;219:983–5.
- Senger DR, Perruzzi CA, Feder J, et al. A highly conserved vascular permeability factor secreted by a variety of human and rodent tumor cell lines. Cancer Res. 1986;46:5629–32.
- 202. Luo JC, Toyoda M. Shibuya MDifferential inhibition of fluid accumulation and tumor growth in two mouse ascites tumors by an antivascular endothelial growth factor/permeability factor neutralizing antibody. Cancer Res. 1998;58:2594–600.
- 203. Shibuya M, Luo JC, Toyoda M, et al. Involvement of VEGF and its receptors in ascites tumor formation. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1999;43(suppl):S72–7.
- 204. Pichelmayer O, Zielinski C, Raderer M. Response of a nonmalignant pleural effusion to bevacizumab. N Engl J Med. 2005;353:740–1.
- 205. Numnum TM, Rocconi RP, Whitworth J, et al. The use of bevacizumab to palliate symptomatic asci-

tes in patients with refractory ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;102:425–8.

- 206. Hamilton CA, Maxwell GL, Chernofsky MR, et al. Intraperitoneal bevacizumab for the palliation of malignant ascites in refractory ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;111:530–2.
- 207. El-Shami K, Elsaid A, El-Kerm Y. Open-label safety and efficacy pilot trial of intraperitoneal bevacizumab as palliative treatment in refractory malignant ascites. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(18 suppl): 9043.
- Satheesh CT, Patil S, Shashidhara HP. Intraperitoneal bevacizumab (Bev) for control of refractory malignant ascites. A single centre experience. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(suppl_6):1304P. https://doi.org/10.1093/ annonc/mdw384.05.
- 209. Jordan K, Luetkens T, Gog C, Killing B, Arnold D, Hinke A, Stahl M, Freier W, Rüssel J, Atanackovic D, Hegewisch-Becker S. Intraperitoneal bevacizumab for control of malignant ascites due to advanced-stage gastrointestinal cancers: a multicentre double-blind, placebo-controlled phase II study -AIO SUP-0108. Eur J Cancer. 2016;63:127–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2016.05.004.
- 210. Ansari N, Chandrakumaran K, Dayal S, Mohamed F, Cecil TD, Moran BJ. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 1000 patients with perforated appendiceal epithelial tumours. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(7):1035–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.03.017.
- 211. Lord AC, Shihab O, Chandrakumaran K, Mohamed F, Cecil TD, Moran BJ. Recurrence and outcome after complete tumour removal and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 512 patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from perforated appendiceal mucinous tumours. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(3):396–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2014.08.476.
- 212. Gum JR Jr. Mucin genes and the proteins they encode: structure, diversity, and regulation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 1992;7:557–64.
- Hollingsworth MA, Swanson BJ. Mucins in cancer: protection and control of the cell surface. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4:45–60.
- 214. Amini A, Masoumi-Moghaddam S, Ehteda A, Morris DL. Secreted mucins in pseudomyxoma peritonei: pathophysiological significance and potential therapeutic prospects. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2014; 9:71.
- 215. Byrd JC, Sternberg LR, Yan P, Ho SB, Bresalier RS. Ectopic expression of MUC5 gastric mucin in colorectal adenocarcinoma. Gastroenterology. 1998;114:A573.
- 216. Walsh MD, Clendenning M, Williamson E, Pearson SA, Walters RJ, Nagler B, Packenas D, Win AK, Hopper JL, Jenkins MA, Haydon AM, Rosty C, English DR, Giles GG, McGuckin MA, Young JP, et al. Expression of MUC2, MUC5AC, MUC5B, and MUC6 mucins in colorectal cancers and their association with the CpG island methylator phenotype. Mod Pathol. 2013;26:1642–56.

- 217. Jonckheere N, Skrypek N, Van Seuningen I. Mucins and tumor resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1846:142–51.
- 218. Piver MS, Lele SB, Patsner B. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: possible prevention of mucinous ascites by peritoneal lavage. Obstet Gynecol. 1984;64(3 Suppl):95S–6S.
- 219. Haid M, Bowie L, Kim D, Khandekar JD, Victor TA. Peritoneal washing therapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei. South Med J. 1981;74(8):913–5.
- 220. Machado MA, Rodrigues JG, Laurino RM, Garrido Júnior A, Pinotti HW. Conservative treatment of pseudomyxoma peritonei. Rev Hosp Clin Fac Med Sao Paulo. 1993;48(6):301–4.
- 221. Shyr YM, Su CH, Wang HC, Lo SS, Lui WY. Pseudomyxoma peritonei: does a true mucolytic agent exist? In vitro and in vivo studies. Am Surg. 1995;61(3):265–70.
- 222. Shirasawa Y, Orita H, Ishida K, Morimoto Y, Matsumoto M, Sakabe T. Critical alkalosis following intraperitoneal irrigation with sodium bicarbonate in a patient with pseudomyxoma peritonei. J Anesth. 2008;22(3):278–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00540-008-0612-8.
- 223. Pillai K, Akhter J, Chua TC, Morris DL. Mucolysis by ascorbic acid and hydrogen peroxide on compact mucin secreted in pseudomyxoma peritonei. J Surg Res. 2012;174(2):e69–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jss.2011.10.038.
- Sadowska AM. N-Acetylcysteine mucolysis in the management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Ther Adv Respir Dis. 2012;6:127–35.
- 225. Hu LH, Liu MH, Liao Z, Zou WB, Ye B, Wang L, Li ZS. Continuous infusion of N-acetylcysteine by nasobiliary for advanced intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm of bile ducts (with video). Am J Gastroenterol. 2012;107:1929–30.
- 226. Mata M, Ruiz A, Cerda M, Martinez-Losa M, Cortijo J, Santangelo F, Serrano-Mollar A, Llombart-Bosch A, Morcillo EJ. Oral N-acetylcysteine reduces bleomycin-induced lung damage and mucin Muc5ac expression in rats. Eur Respir J. 2003;22:900–5.
- 227. Rogers DF, Turner NC, Marriott C, Jeffery PK. Oral N-acetylcysteine or S-carboxymethylcysteine inhibit cigarette smoke-induced hypersecretion of mucus in rat larynx and trachea *in situ*. Eur Respir J. 1989;2:955–60.
- Pillai K, Akhter J, Chua TC, Morris DLA. A formulation for in situ lysis of mucin secreted in pseudomyxoma peritonei. Int J Cancer. 2014;134(2):478–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28380.
- 229. Amini A, Masoumi-Moghaddam S, Ehteda A, Morris DL. Bromelain and N-acetylcysteine inhibit proliferation and survival of gastrointestinal cancer cells in vitro: significance of combination therapy. J Exp Clin Cancer Res CR. 2014;33(1):92. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13046-014-0092-7.
- 230. Amini A, Masoumi-Moghaddam S, Ehteda A, Liauw W, Morris DL. Depletion of mucin in mucinproducing human gastrointestinal carcinoma: results

from in vitro and in vivo studies with bromelain and N-acetylcysteine. Oncotarget. 2015;6(32):33329-44.

- 231. Amini A, Masoumi-Moghaddam S, Ehteda A, Liauw W, Morris DL. Potentiation of chemotherapeutics by bromelain and N-acetylcysteine: sequential and combination therapy of gastrointestinal cancer cells. Am J Cancer Res. 2016;6(2):350–69.
- 232. Tomasz M, Palom Y. The mitomycin bioreductive antitumor agents: cross-linking and alkylation of DNA as the molecular basis of their activity. Pharmacol Ther. 1997;76:73–87.
- 233. Cummings J, Spanswick VJ, Tomasz M, Smyth JF. Enzymology of mitomycin C metabolic activation in tumour tissue: implications for enzymedirected bioreductive drug development. Biochem Pharmacol. 1998;56:405–14.
- Spanswick VJ, Cummings J, Smyth JF. Current issues in the enzymology of mitomycin C metabolic activation. Gen Pharmacol. 1998;31:539–44.
- 235. Traver RD, Horikoshi T, Danenberg KD, et al. NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase gene expression in human colon carcinoma cells: characterization of a mutation which modulates DT-diaphorase activity and mitomycin sensitivity. Cancer Res. 1992;52:797–802.
- 236. Mikami K, Naito M, Tomida A, et al. DT-diaphorase as a critical determinant of sensitivity to mitomycin C in human colon and gastric carcinoma cell lines. Cancer Res. 1996;56:2823–6.
- 237. Gan Y, Mo Y, Kalns JE, et al. Expression of DT-diaphorase and cytochrome P450 reductase correlates with mitomycin C activity in human bladder tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2001;7:1313–9.
- 238. Fleming RA, Drees J, Loggie BW, et al. Clinical significance of a NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase 1 polymorphism in patients with disseminated peritoneal cancer receiving intraperitoneal hyperthermic

chemotherapy with mitomycin C. Pharmacogenetics. 2002;12:31–7.

- 239. Orth K, Russ D, Steiner R, Beger HG. Fluorescence detection of small gastrointestinal tumours: principles, technique, first clinical experience. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2000;385(7):488–94.
- 240. Yano S, Hiroharab S, Obatac M, et al. Current states and future views in photodynamic therapy. J Photochem Photobiol C. 2011;12:46–67. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jphotochemrev.2011.06.001.
- 241. Nokes B, Apel M, Jones C, Brown G, Lang JE. Aminolevulinic acid (ALA): photodynamic detection and potential therapeutic applications. J Surg Res. 2013;181:262–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jss.2013.02.002.
- 242. Kishi K, Fujiwara Y, Yano M, et al. Staging laparoscopy using ALA-mediated photodynamic diagnosis improves the detection of peritoneal metastases in advanced gastric cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106:294–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23075.
- Allison RR, Moghissi K. Oncologic photodynamic therapy: clinical strategies that modulate mechanisms of action. Photodiagn Photodyn Ther. 2013;10:331– 41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pdpdt.2013.03.011.
- 244. Liu Y, Endo Y, Fujita T, et al. Cytoreductive surgery under aminolevulinic acid-mediated photodynamic diagnosis plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from ovarian cancer and primary peritoneal carcinoma: results of a phase I trial. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(13):4256–62. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-3901-5.
- 245. Cecil T, Allan P, Reddy S, Vrakas G, Giele H, Mohamed F, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and multivisceral small bowel transplantation. A technically feasible option for patients with end-stage pseudomyxoma peritonei (abstract). J Peritoneum. 2016;1(S1):11.


21

Registries and Collaborative Groups in Peritoneal Surface Oncology

Aditi Bhatt and Kiran K. Turaga

21.1 Background

21.1.1 The Need for Registries in Peritoneal Surface Oncology

Peritoneal cancer spread can be primary or secondary. Whereas the peritoneum is considered to be a common site of secondary tumor spread, tumors arising from the peritoneum itself are rare. Patients with peritoneal metastases (PM) suffer from significant and disabling symptoms as compared to other cancer patients, and hence the development in this field has largely focused on disease site rather than histology [1]. Surgical oncologists who are often faced with the challenge of managing these symptoms looked "beyond" systemic chemotherapy and other palliative procedures as the sole treatment for patients with peritoneal metastases (PM). This coupled with an improvement in the understanding of the disease biology and has led to the use of an aggressive locoregional therapy comprising

Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India e-mail: aditimodi31@gmail.com

K. K. Turaga

of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) [2, 3]. With this treatment, there is a significant prolongation in survival and improvement in the quality of life of a selected group of patients with PM. Surgeons offering this treatment have collaborated and pooled their data and published their results that clearly showed a benefit of such treatment as compared to the standard of care which was systemic chemotherapy [4-6]. Indeed, most of the evidence to support the use of CRS and HIPEC comes from multicentric retrospective data; few clinical trials have been completed pertaining to this treatment till date [7–11]. A new aspect of treatment of PM is preventing of PM using HIPEC in patients at high risk of developing PM. As more and more centers adopt this treatment worldwide, there are numerous questions pertaining to this treatment that need to be answered like the timing and indications for CRS and HIPEC, the role of HIPEC in addition to CRS, the role of HIPEC in prevention of PM, and the standardization of the methodology and drug regimens. Though randomized controlled trials could provide answers to some of these questions, there are several problems in conducting clinical trials related to CRS and HIPEC [1].

Phase I dose escalation studies may need to be terminated because of surgical complications/ morbidity rather than the toxicity of the drug itself which could make interpretation difficult [1]. In phase II trials, as there is no residual tumor/dis-

A. Bhatt (🖂)

Department of Surgical Oncology, University of Chicago Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_21

ease, the clinical endpoints have to be disease-free and overall survival [1]. Again these need to be compared to systemic chemotherapy which represents a moving target due to the constant introduction of new drugs and regimens. Moreover, the chemotherapy data is not available for patients with PM alone but is mixed with other sites of metastatic cancer spread which makes a comparison even more difficult. Phase III trials are difficult to conduct for similar reasons. Most of these trials have to be multi-institutional to recruit an adequate number of patients, and variability in the surgical skill, perioperative care, and HIPEC methodology may influence outcomes. Trials evaluating surgical therapies are difficult to perform because of the high cost as well. It is not possible to conduct trial for all aspects of HIPEC like drug type, dose, duration of treatment, temperature, perfusion fluid, and open/closed method, and these questions may remain unanswered even if the trial results are positive [1]. Despite all these limitations, numerous clinical trials are currently underway, and their outcomes will provide answers to some questions pertaining to this treatment [12, 13]. Patient accrual has been a problem for some of these trials and one of the reasons being patients not wanting to undergo randomization and opting for CRS and HIPEC [13]. And though detractors of this therapy have raised the issue whether it is appropriate to compare CRS and HIPEC with CRS alone instead of systemic chemotherapy which is still the standard of care, it is not possible for randomized patients to receive no surgical therapy when there is significant level II evidence supporting its benefit. In the largest multi-institutional study reporting the outcomes in patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) of appendiceal origin, 2298 patients from 16 specialized institutions around the world treated with CRS and HIPEC experienced a median survival rate of 196 months (16.3 years) and a median progression-free survival rate of 98 months (8.2 years), with 10- and 15-year survival rates of 63% and 59%, respectively [14]. CRS and HIPEC are now accepted as the standard of care treatment of patients with PMP of appendiceal origin. Similarly, in a multicentric study of 523 patients from 23 French-speaking centers, Elias

et al. reported a median overall survival of 30.1 months, a 5-year overall survival of 27%, and a 5-year disease-free survival of 10% with CRS and HIPEC in colorectal PM [15]. Patients of colorectal PM treated with chemotherapy alone experience a median survival of 10–15 months [16–18]. These results established the role of CRS and HIPEC in the management of colorectal PM, though the role of HIPEC in addition to CRS is still under evaluation. These multi-institutional studies used common data forms to collect relevant information and analyze it. A registry could be considered a more organized way to meeting this end, and in the last decade, several national and international registries have been established to serve this purpose [19-21].

21.2 What Is a Registry: Features of a Registry

A registry is defined as "an organized system for the collection, storage, retrieval, analysis, and dissemination of information on individual persons who have either a particular disease, a condition (e.g., a risk factor) that predisposes [them] to the occurrence of a health-related event, or prior exposure to substances (or circumstances) known or suspected to cause adverse health effects" [22].

The term registry is defined both as the act of recording or registering and as the record or entry itself. Therefore, "registries" can refer to both programs that collect and store data and the records that are so created.

The use of registries can allow investigators to study the natural history of disease and the clinical effectiveness of therapies such as CRS and HIPEC and to measure or monitor safety and quality. Not all aspects of treatment can be studied in clinical trials, and data from registries provides a useful alternative. Primary peritoneal tumors are rarer and have distinct natural histories despite having a common site of origin. Conducting clinical trials in these patients is even more difficult. Population-based registries have provided insights into the natural history of secondary peritoneal metastases [23, 24]. Multi-institutional registries can be useful for understanding the natural history of these rare primary peritoneal tumors as well.

Reports from registries are not a replacement for randomized controlled trials (RCTs) but play a complementary role [25]. They are representative of the real-world scenario since the treatment is not predetermined or protocol based. Registry data captures events as they occur, and since only few patients are excluded when evaluating the outcomes, the results could be applied to the population at large. Studies from patient registries and randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have important and complementary roles in evaluating patient outcomes [25].

21.2.1 Goals of Setting Up a Registry for Peritoneal Surface Malignancies

- To study the natural history of the disease
- To determine the effectiveness of therapy
- To compare variables affecting outcomes
- To monitor quality
- To assess the safety of a therapeutic intervention

21.2.1.1 Setting Up a Registry

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) in collaboration with the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) through the Developing Evidence to Inform Decisions about Effectiveness (DEcIDE) Network of AHRQ's Effective Health Care (EHC) Program has published a "User's Guide" as a reference for establishing, maintaining, and evaluating the success of registries created to collect data about patient outcomes. A synopsis of this exhaustive guide is provided in this section [26].

21.2.1.2 Design of a Registry

Every registry must have a carefully considered design that can answer specific scientific questions. The key elements that should be taken into account when developing a registry are identifying the point of study or research question; developing a study design, translating questions of clinical interest into measurable exposures and outcomes; choosing the number and characteristic of patients to be included in the study, including deciding whether a comparison group is needed; and determining the duration of the study [26].

It is most important to clearly define the included cohort of patients. While this can introduce a systematic error or bias, clear definition of cohorts of patients included adds to strength of inference from a registry.

The number of study subjects to be recruited and the length of observation (follow up) should be planned in accordance with the overall purpose of the registry. The registry can be time bound or "open ended."

21.2.1.3 Data Elements

Specific data elements relevant to the goals of the registry should be captured keeping in mind the established clinical data standards, common data definitions, and whether patient identifiers will be used. The mandatory elements should be distinguished from the desirable but not essential elements [26]. Clinical outcomes should be reported using tool and scales that have been appropriately validated, e.g., Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) Version 4.03 adverse events scale [27]. It is also important in designing a registry to include clear data elements with specified alphanumeric structures. Including logic checks of variables is a must to allow for structured entry of data. Once data elements are selected, a data map must be created and data collection tools must be linked. Such data collection tools can be web or mobile based or based on host computers with software supporting data entry. Understanding the data's purpose allows for the best definition of the data elements and tools [26].

21.2.1.4 Ethics, Data Ownership, and Privacy

Critical ethical and legal considerations should guide the development and use of patient registries. The purpose of the registry, the body that maintains it and individuals/organizations that contribute to it, and the extent to which individuals are identified in the registry all affect the regulations that apply to the registry. The activities should be transparent and closely monitored and data ownership predefined [26]. All collection of human data must be in concordance with the ethical conduct of human subjects based on the Belmont Principles (Ethical Principles and Guidelines for the Protection of Human of Research). Adherence to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) is preferable and mandatory in the United States. The oversight of an institutional review board and/or an ethics committee is a must for both retrospective and prospective registries. Sharing of data must occur by secure means and risk of exposure of data must be minimized. It is important to define data ownership especially when the purpose of the registry is for scientific research. Models such as the "confederate" model provide ownership of data which facilitates publications in a harmonious way [26].

21.2.1.5 Informed Consent for Registries

Informed oral and/or written consent is mandatory in most registries. The format of consent (physical or electronic), indications for re-consent and revisions, rules for withdrawal from the study, and handling of biological specimens should all be considered while planning informed consent procedures [26].

21.2.1.6 Confidentiality and Legal Concerns

The concerns about privacy and confidentiality can arise in registries especially at the time of legal proceedings or when dealing with administrative problems [26].

21.2.1.7 Patient and Provider Recruitment and Management

Patients can be recruited in a registry by medical practitioners, hospitals, or pharmacies. The benefits of participating in a registry need to be highlighted to the recruiting bodies/authorities to recruit and retain an adequate number of patients. The risks and benefits of participation should be properly explained. The plan for recruitment, retention, and follow-up should be laid out before starting the registry. The risk of bias should be evaluated and minimized.

21.2.2 Interfacing of Registries with Electronic Health Records

Interlinking electronic health records (EHRs) simplifies the process of data collection and entry. Interoperability depends on similarity in the data variables and customization may be required if the elements do not match.

21.2.3 Data Collection and Quality Assurance

The use of an organized system is only valid when rigorous methods for data collection and quality assurance are undertaken. Often data is lost or misinterpreted when the data collection tools or data entry is ambiguous. Quality assurance allows that the data is in accordance with the established policies and the intended use of the data. Requirements for quality assurance must be established at the time of the registry deployment.

21.2.3.1 Analysis, Interpretation, and Reporting of Registry Data

Before analyzing the data, analysis of the recruitment and retention, completeness of data, and its quality needs to be performed. How missing data was handled, accounting for losses to follow up, and completeness of key elements are important factors that affect the analysis. Analysis of a registry should provide information on the characteristics of the patient population, the exposures of interest, and the endpoints. Descriptive registry studies focus on describing frequency and patterns of various elements in a patient population, whereas analytical studies concentrate on associations between patients or treatment characteristics and health outcomes of interest.

21.3 Registries for Peritoneal Surface Malignancies

In the last decade, numerous national and international registries have been set up to capture information related to peritoneal surface malignancies (Table 21.1). All of these have been set up by surgeons primarily those performing CRS and HIPEC or surgical societies in order to standardize indications, intraperitoneal chemotherapy, and peritonectomy techniques and to evaluate outcomes of these procedures [28]. Hence most of the registries include only those patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC [28].

21.3.1 Population-Based Registries

Cancer is not a notifiable disease in some countries [29]. Many national cancer registries exist; however, these are epidemiological registries, and their primary function is to primarily examine the rates of occurrence of various cancers and their frequencies in a defined region. Most of these registries do not provide information specific to peritoneal surface malignancies and more specifically outcomes of CRS and HIPEC. However, some population-based registries and single/ multi-institutional registries that are not exclusive for peritoneal metastases have helped understand the natural history of PM secondary to gastrointestinal and gynecological primary tumors as well as the outcome of various therapies in these patients [30–32]. An example is the Netherlands Cancer Registry (NCR) that collects data on all newly diagnosed cancer patients in the Netherlands, covering a population of approximately 16 million inhabitants. Histopathological and cytopathological reports of the diagnosed tumors are entered in the nationwide Dutch Pathology Network (PALGA) by pathologists and are then submitted to the NCR.

In a report from this registry published in 2015 reporting outcomes of various treatments in 4430 patients with synchronous colorectal PM, the median overall survival was more than 32 months and was significantly better than other

Table 21.1	Select multi-institutional registries colle	ect
ing informati	on on peritoneal surface malignancies	

	Quality	
	assurance	Research
Registry	purposes	purposes
PSOGI registry	-	+
Indian registry	-	+
German registry (CAO-V)	+	+
RENAPE observational registry (French)	_	+
Dutch registry (Netherlands Cancer Registry)	-	+
International Registry on Peritoneal Mesothelioma	_	+
HYPER-O (Ovarian Cancer Registry US)	_	+
DANISH Gynecological Cancer Database	_	+
SweGCG (Swedish Quality Registry for cancer ovary, peritoneum)	_	+
National French Registry	-	+
Japanese Society for Cancer of the Colon and Rectum (JSCCR)	-	+
Australian Mesothelioma Registry (AMR)	_	+
Brazilian Registry of Peritoneal Diseases	-	+

palliative treatments (Fig. 21.1). Denmark has a similar population-based registry.

21.3.2 Disease-Specific Registries for PM

Some registries/collaborative groups are site specific, e.g., SweGCG (Swedish Quality Registry for cancer ovary, peritoneum), Japanese Society for Cancer of the Colon and Rectum (JSCCR), BIG-RENAPE (Base clinico-biologique des carcinoses péritonéales d'origine dIGestive), the French Oncologic and Gynecologic HIPEC (FROGHI) Group, and the HYPER-O registry for ovarian cancer that recruit patients with secondary peritoneal metastases [33–37]. The goals and scope of each of these are different.





21.3.3 Registries for Rare Peritoneal Tumors

In contrast to secondary PM, tumors arising de novo from the peritoneum are rare, and though they have a common origin from the peritoneum, the biological behavior is quite variable. Because of their rarity, lack of awareness and knowledge about these tumors often leads to diagnostic delays and misdiagnosis leading to a delay in definitive treatment that is offered at centers specializing in peritoneal surface oncology. Clinicians and researchers also face unique challenges with these rare cancers, because it is hard to conduct adequately powered, controlled trials in such small patient population [38]. The RENAPE (Réseau National de prise en charge des Tumeurs Rares du Péritoine) is an observational multi-institutional registry that was launched in 2010 in France [39]. RENAPE is a registry for patients with histologically confirmed rare peritoneal tumors that include pseudomyxoma peritonei (secondary to appendiceal and other primary tumors), peritoneal mesothelioma, diffuse peritoneal leiomyomatosis, desmoplastic small round cell tumors, and primary peritoneal serous carcinomas. The goals of this registry are to monitor the incidence and prevalence of rare peritoneal tumors in France, to establish the natural history of these tumors, to assess the clinical effectiveness of new interventions, to measure the quality of care, and to provide an inventory of patients to

recontact for participation in epidemiological studies and clinical trials or for health technology assessment to monitor real access to treatments [39]. There are other registries that are specific to a single rare peritoneal tumor like the International Mesothelioma Registry and the Australian Mesothelioma Registry.

21.3.4 Registries for Patients with Primary and Secondary PM

Some registries recruit patients with both primary and secondary peritoneal tumors like the Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group International (PSOGI) registry, the German HIPEC registry, the Indian HIPEC registry, and the Brazilian Registry of Peritoneal Diseases [21, 40].

Thus, based on the disease site, registries including patients with PM can be categorized as:

- Population-based registries
- Site-specific registries for secondary peritoneal tumors
- Registries for rare peritoneal tumors
- Registries for patients with primary and secondary peritoneal tumors

Over the years the management of PM has evolved—locoregional therapies other than CRS and HIPEC have been introduced, and new systemic therapies are available that may have an impact on the outcomes of these patients. New registries will have to consider these aspects while defining the scope and inclusion criteria.

Some of the questions that specifically need to be addressed in setting up a registry for peritoneal surface malignancies are:

- Site(s) of primary tumor included in the registry
- Treatment modalities evaluated
- Inclusion of patients not eligible for a curative approach/locoregional therapies

21.4 Key Aspects for Registries for Peritoneal Malignancies

21.4.1 Selection Bias in Registries

One of the significant challenges in the current peritoneal registries is the "denominator" problem. It is generally believed that surgeons are highly selective and introduce "selection bias" when they report their outcomes. It is important to consider a registry that captures all patients with a specific diagnosis regardless of their therapeutic modality although majority of current registries include all patients undergoing surgical intervention.

Their kind of selection bias varies according to the coverage of the registry. In the international registries which are open to every center in the world, the entry is based on the selection criteria in the centers which contribute to the registration. In case that the contributing centers have similar selection and criteria and are covering all patients within their catchment area, this registration system can be useful for analyzing outcome of less frequent diseases. However, both similar selection criteria and catchment of all patients in the area are unlikely. Selection criteria depend for an import part on local customs and local healthcare systems, and catchment of all patients is depending on referral mechanisms which are also not similar throughout the world. For this reason these registrations can best be seen as large collections of cases [41].

The national registries may have a more uniform selection on entry and may include biobank data which is fundamental for the evaluation of rare peritoneal disease but also for the evaluation of tumor response and for translational research [39]. The institutional systems have probably the most homogenous entry. However, besides this there is difference in entry over time. If a center starts establishing itself, it will have a smaller number of referrals compared to when it is established for a longer time; therefore, it will by definition have a smaller coverage. There will also be a difference in disease load between the starting centers and the well-established centers [42–44]. This will not only have an influence on the numbers of patients in the registry but also in the severity of the disease. All these factors need consideration when evaluating data from registries.

The registries for PSM are usually not time bound, i.e., "open ended."

21.4.2 Important Data Elements Pertaining to PM

One of the problems in reporting outcomes in PSM is the heterogeneity in the terminology used. At the consensus meeting, the various terms pertaining to PSM were standardized by a group of international experts. The same must be adhered to while reporting outcomes and be incorporated in registries [45]. Data elements in such registries include patient information, preoperative work-up, per-operative data, a 90-day postoperative follow-up, neoadjuvant and adjuvant therapies used, and long-term follow-up. Common prognostic scores for PSM like the peritoneal cancer index (PCI), completeness of cytoreduction score (CC score), and other validated classifications like CTCAE should be used for capturing data [46]. Figure 21.2 shows the details of HIPEC that are captured in the Indian registry.

In the RENAPE Registry, pathological review by an expert pathologist is sought where deemed necessary before accepting the case to the registry. The various data elements pertaining to



Fig. 21.2 Details of the HIPEC procedure that are captured in the Indian HIPEC registry

pathology captured by the RENAPE Registry are listed in Table 21.2.

Other useful tools can aid more uniform capturing of data like the calculation of the CT-PCI. A useful Internet-based tool that is freely available is the PROMISE[®] Internet application [47]. It has been developed by the RENAPE working group to allow for a standardized assessment of the peritoneal disease extent intended of multidisciplinary teams and centers that treat patients with RPM.

21.4.3 Data Entry

The functioning of a registry through a webbased application/online database eases out the processes of data entry and facilitates participation of multiple centers [21, 37, 39]. Linking hospital information systems/electronic health records (EHRs) to the database can facilitate this process further though data elements need to be matched appropriately. Depending on the resources, data entry is done by participating surgeons or specially trained personnel for the same. The completeness and accuracy of data entered needs to be monitored from time to time. This can be done manually by designated personnel or inbuilt monitoring systems in the application. Regular monitoring is important to maintain the quality of the data entered. The rules for updating or changing data on file, follow-up, and data exchange also need to be formulated. Measures should be taken to avoid duplication.

21.4.4 Follow-Up of Patients

Patient follow-up is essential. The participating centers/surgeons need to take up the responsibility of updating the status of each patient from time to time. Patients who do not turn up for timely follow-up need to be contacted through phone calls, mails, etc. The information can be obtained from referring physicians or primary care physicians as well.

General information signet ring cell	
Receive date	Ronnett classification: DPAM, PMCA-I/D, PMCA
Procedure: biopsy, resection	WHO 2010 classification: LAMN, high-grade mucinous adenocarcinoma
Peritoneal cytology	• Involved organs (list)
No. blocks	• Lymph node involvement: pNtot, Pn+
Referring pathologist, surgeon	Peritoneal mesothelioma
Biobanking	• No. blocks
Patient consent form Conditions: frozen/ formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded	• Histologic forms— Epitheloid, biphasic, sarcomatoid, multicystic, well-differentiated papillary mesothelioma
Pseudomyxoma peritonei	• Lymph node involvement: pNtot, Pn+
Appendix diagnostic No. blocks	Primary peritoneal serious carcinoma/peritoneal desmoplastic small round cell tumors/diffuse peritoneal leiomyomatosis
LAMN/ adenocarcinoma	Diagnosis
• Peritoneum diagnostic	• No. blocks
No. blocks	• Lymph node involvement: pNtot, Pn+

Table 21.2 Data elements pertaining to the pathology of the tumor captured in the RENAPE Registry [39]

21.4.5 Data Security for Online Databases

Security measures are needed for the application itself to prevent third-party manipulation during transfer from one server to another. One of the systems used to ensure secure transfer of data is SSL certified (Secure Sockets Layer) which is the standard security technology for establishing an encrypted link between a server and a browser and is commonly used for online transactions.

The RENAPE Registry benefits of a safe and secure hosting in France based on Information Technology Infrastructure Library (ITIL) security management [39].

The degree of access given to individuals needs to be determined. Most systems have a

unique username and ID for each individual entering data, and this may further be validated with an electronic signature [39]. In the RENAPE Registry, an audit trail module allows tracking of all accesses, modifications, and deletions of data. All exported files are archived with history within the system.

Individuals usually have limited access confined to their own institutional data/patient data.

21.4.6 Privacy

A highly sophisticated registry like the RENAPE has a systematic process of de-identification of individual patients. Each patient is identified by a unique alphanumeric code. In other registries as well, patients are not identified during data analysis or reporting of outcomes. The regulatory body maintaining the registry and governing the functioning should be made known beforehand, and rules for data ownership and publication need to be laid down as well [39]. Critical ethical and legal considerations should guide the development and use of patient registries. It is important to define data ownership especially when the purpose of the registry is for scientific research. The "confederate" model for ownership of data facilitates publications in a harmonious way. In the Indian registry, e.g., where the registry itself is not under the governance of any regulatory body and has been initiated and is run by surgeons, a list of regulations including those governing data publication and authorship is agreed to and signed by each surgeon joining the registry [21]. This agreement is also countersigned by the service provider maintaining the online database to ensure there is not misuse of information from any side [21]. In most cases, users have access only to their own data.

21.4.7 Funding

Some national registries are funded by government/national organization. Others are maintained by surgeons/stakeholders responsible for creating and running the registry. Country-specific rules and priorities for allocating resources determine whether such registries are funded by regulatory bodies and the extent of such funding.

21.4.8 Recruitment of Centers/ Surgeons

Recruitment of centers/surgeons is usually voluntary. Mandatory participation is there in some countries like Germany where centers are accredited by the surgical society and participation in the national registry is one of the requirements for accreditation. In other scenarios, a degree of dedication and collaboration between centers and surgeons is required for the smooth and effective functioning of such registries. This may be a problem where manpower and resources for such programs are limited or rather not channelized in the right direction.

21.5 Guidelines for Rare Disease Registries

The European Organisation for Rare Diseases (EURORDIS), the National Organization for Rare Disorders (NORD), and the Canadian Organization for Rare Disorders (CORD) have jointly published a declaration on common principles regarding Rare Disease Patient Registries [48].

These common reflections and principles may serve as a reference to all other stakeholders when shaping policies and taking actions in the field of Rare Disease Patient Registries. The principles are listed in Table 21.3.

21.6 Adjuncts to Peritoneal Surface Malignancy Registries

21.6.1 RENA-PATH

Within the RENAPE network, the RENA-PATH is a group of pathologists from the participating centers of RENAPE actively involved in the management of rare peritoneal malignan**Table 21.3** The European Organisation for RareDiseases (EURORDIS), the National Organization forRare Disorders (NORD), and the Canadian Organizationfor Rare Disorders (CORD) declaration on common principles regarding Rare Disease Patient Registries [adaptedfrom reference [48] with permission]

- 1. Patient registries should be recognized as a global priority in the field of rare diseases
- 2. Rare Disease Patient Registries should encompass the widest geographic scope possible
- 3. Rare Disease Patient Registries should be centered on a disease or group of diseases rather than a therapeutic intervention
- 4. Interoperability and harmonization between Rare Disease Patient Registries should be consistently pursued
- A minimum set of common data elements should be consistently used in all Rare Disease Patient Registries
- 6. Rare Disease Patient Registries data should be linked with corresponding biobank data
- Rare Disease Patient Registries should include data directly reported by patients along with data reported by healthcare professionals
- 8. Public-private partnerships should be encouraged to ensure sustainability of Rare Disease Patient Registries
- 9. Patients should be equally involved with other stakeholders in the governance of Rare Disease Patient Registries
- 10. Rare Disease Patient Registries should serve as key instruments for building and empowering patient communities

cies. This group gathers the pathologists actively involved in the management of rare peritoneal malignancies [49]. The actions of RENA-PATH are focused primarily on the harmonization of pathological diagnostic criteria, reporting of new cases in the RENAPE Registry, and histology reviewing. Any pathologist may request a diagnostic opinion by directly soliciting one of the group's pathologists RENA-PATH. The group meets twice a year to discuss cases in the presence of referring pathologists and also to reach a consensus on the diagnostic criteria.

21.6.2 Biobanks

Biobanks collect human biomaterial and are important tools for basic and translational research. It is ideal to link rare disease registries with corresponding biobanks [50]. The high value of biological samples needs to be complemented with well-documented data from a registry.

The RENA-PATH Group also leads collaborative translational research projects based on the virtual biobank linked to the Registry clinical database [51, 52]. The collected specimens are stored locally at biological resource centers (BSR). In translational collaborative studies, corresponding clinical information is obtained from the RENAPE Registry, and only those specimens for which patients have given their consent are used.

21.6.3 RENE-RAD

The RENA-RAD, a nationwide French radiological network for management of rare peritoneal malignancies, has been formed recently with expert radiologists in peritoneal carcinomatosis imaging [39]. They share experiences and develop common tools in order to standardize radiological assessment of patients who are suitable for CRS with HIPEC [47].

21.7 Contribution of Various Registries and Collaborative Studies to PSM: What Registries Have Told Us So Far

The information and evidence derived about the natural history of PM and outcomes with CRS and HIPEC from reports of various registries and collaborative studies are outlined in Table 21.4.

21.7.1 Natural History of Primary and Secondary Peritoneal Tumors

Numerous population-based studies have provided information about the natural history of PM from various primaries and the risk factors and prognostic factors. Some of these are described here.

The natural history of appendiceal tumors and their association with PMP were described in a population-based study from the Netherlands. In the 10-year period, 167,744 appendectomies were performed, in which an appendiceal lesion was found in 1482 appendiceal specimens (0.9%), and 9% of these developed PMP. Thirteen percent of the patients had coexisting epithelial lesions in the colon and the appendix. A mucinous epithelial neoplasm was identified in 0.3% (73% benign, 27% malignant) of appendiceal specimens, and 20% of these patients developed PMP. PMP developed in 2 and 3% of the patients with a mucocele and non-mucinous tumors, respectively. The conclusions drawn from this study were:

- Primary epithelial lesions of the appendix are rare.
- One third of these lesions are mucinous and can progress to PMP.
- The incidence of PMP seems to be higher than presumed.
- There is a substantial risk of an additional colonic epithelial neoplasm in patients with an epithelial neoplasm at appendectomy [53].

A report from the Eindhoven Cancer Registry, a subsidiary of the Netherlands Cancer Registry, analyzed 5220 patients diagnosed with gastric cancer between 1995 and 2011of whom 2029 (39%) presented with metastatic disease. PM were present in 706 patients (14%); in 491 patients (9%), the peritoneum was the only site of metastatic disease. Younger age (<60 years), female gender, advanced T- and N-stage, primary tumor of signet ring cells or linitis plastica, and primary tumors covering multiple anatomical locations of the stomach were all associated with higher odds ratios of developing PM. Median survival of patients without metastases was 14 months, but only 4 months for patients with PM. This study showed that PM was common in patients with gastric cancer and had a detrimental influence on the survival [54].

Another study from the Netherlands Cancer Registry comprising of 4277 patients with colorectal PM aimed to provide information about the timing, anatomical location, and predictors of metachronous disease in patients with colorectal cancer [23]. In a study from the same

	1			-					
Ref.	Country	Registry	Туре	Tumor	No of patients	Reported outcomes			
Natural history of PM									
[54]	Netherlands	NCR	Population based	Appendiceal tumors and PMP	1482	Natural history			
[55]	Netherlands	Eindhoven	Population based	Gastric cancer	5220	Incidence and risk factors for PM			
[56]	Netherlands	NCR	Population based	Colorectal cancer	4227	Predictive factors for metachronous PM			
[57]	Netherlands	NCR	Population based	Colorectal cancer	4227	Impact of the histologic subtype			
[58]	Netherlands	Eindhoven	Population based	Colorectal cancer	5638	Outcomes of liver metastases and PM			
[<mark>59</mark>]	Netherlands	NCR	Population based	PM of unknown origin	1051	Prognosis of PM of unknown origin			
[<mark>60</mark>]	Netherlands	NCT	Population based	Non-endocrine pancreatic tumors	2924	Survival outcomes			
[<mark>63</mark>]	Sweden	National registry	Population based	CRC		Risk factors for PM			
[64]	Denmark	National registry	Population based	Borderline ovarian tumors	45	Origin of peritoneal implants			
Effica	cy/outcomes of	CRS and HIPEC							
[14]	Multiple	PSOGI	Multi- institutional	PMP arising from appendiceal tumors	2298	Outcomes of CRS and HIPEC			
[63]	Multiple	PSOGI	Multi- institutional	Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma	405	Outcomes of CRS and HIPEC			
[64]	France	Collaborative multi-institutional study		Gastric cancer	159	Outcomes of CRS and HIPEC			
[65]	France	BIG-RENAPE	Multi- institutional	Gastric cancer	81	Rate of cure of PM using CRS and HIPEC			
[15]	France	Collaborative multi-institutional study		Colorectal cancer	523	Survival benefit of CRS and HIPEC			
[67]	Multiple	PSOGI	Multi- institutional	Multicystic peritoneal mesothelioma	26	Outcomes of CRS and HIPEC			
[68]	Multiple	Collaborative multi-institutional study		Primary peritoneal serous carcinoma	36	Outcomes of CRS and HIPEC			
[69]	France	Collaborative multi-institutional study—FROGHI		Recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer	314	Outcomes in platinum- sensitive and platinum- resistant tumors			
Role	of chemotherap	y in the treatment of I	PM	,					
[70]	Multiple	Collaborative multi-institutional study		Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma	126	Role of neoadjuvant and adjuvant chemotherapy in patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC			
[71]	Multiple	Collaborative multi-institutional study		Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma	294	Staging of peritoneal mesothelioma			

 Table 21.4
 Information derived from various registries about peritoneal metastases

Ref.	Country	Registry	Type	Tumor	No of patients	Reported outcomes	
[72]	Netherlands	National cancer registry	Population based	CRC	1235	Addition of bevacizumab in addition to systemic chemotherapy	
Other aspects of treatment of PM							
[73]	Multiple	Collaborative multi-institutional study		Various primary sites	52	Role of CT in determining the extent of PM	
[74]	Netherlands	Netherlands Cancer Registry	Population based	Colorectal cancer	4623	Increased diagnosis of synchronous PM	
[75]	France	BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE	Multi- institutional	Various primary sites	189	Increased medical morbidity of CRS and HIPEC in the elderly	
[76]	France	BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE	Multi- institutional	Various primary sites	771	Increase incidence of hemorrhagic complications with oxaliplatin HIPEC	
[77]	Multiple	Collaborative multi-institutional study		Colorectal cancer	539	Comparison of HIPEC with oxaliplatin and mitomycin C	

Table 21.4(continued)

registry evaluating the impact of the histological subtype of colorectal cancer, mucinous cancer (MC) was associated with a significantly lower risk of death compared with adenocarcinoma (AC) (hazard ratio, 0.9; 95% confidence interval, 0.79-0.95). In rectal cancer, no such effect was observed. AC was associated with a significantly poorer survival rate in the case of primary colonic tumor localization (7.4 months in colon vs. 10.9 months in rectal cancer). This study showed that the histological subtype is an important prognostic factor in patients with synchronous PM of colorectal origin and this should be considered while counseling patients and making treatment-related decisions [55]. Another study from the same registry reported outcomes in patients with liver metastases, PM or both from colorectal cancer. In all, 27,632 patients diagnosed with colorectal cancer from 1995 to 2010 were included in the study, of whom 5638 patients (20%) presented with metastatic disease. Synchronous liver metastasis and PM were present in 440 patients, of which 11% had liver metastases alone, 34% had PM, and 8% had both; altogether these patients summed up to 2%of all patients diagnosed with colorectal cancer. Median survival for patients with liver metastasis and PM was 5 months, in comparison with 95 months for patients with non-metastatic disease. No improvement in survival was noted with passage of time, and patients were not treated with a curative intent during this period [56].

In another report from the Eindhoven Cancer Registry, of 1051 patients with PM of unknown origin, in 606 patients (58%) the peritoneum was the only site of metastasis, and 445 patients also had other metastases. This study reported that the prognosis of PM of unknown origin is extremely poor and did not improve over time and effective treatment strategies needed to be developed for patients in whom the organ of origin remains unknown [57].

In a study on patients with non-endocrine pancreatic cancer from the same registry from 1995 to 2009, 265 (9%) out of 2924 had synchronous PM. Median survival in patients presenting with PM was only 6 weeks (95% confidence interval, 5–7 weeks) and did not improve over time, contrasting improvements among patients with nonmetastasized disease (19–30 weeks) and patients with metastasized disease confined to the liver (8–12 weeks) [58].

The Stockholm County Council Registry in Sweden caters to a population of 2.1 million and

every resident has a unique identification number. The surgeons and pathologists classify every case of cancer diagnosed in the region according to the International Classification of Diseases and type of surgery performed and enter the information into the registry. In addition, since 1995 (rectal cancer) and 1996 (colonic cancer), information on all patients with colorectal cancer in Stockholm County has been reported prospectively to a Regional Quality Registry by the surgeon, pathologist, and oncologist [59, 60]. According to a report from this registry, independent predictors for metachronous PM were colonic cancer, advanced tumor (T) status, advanced node (N) status, and non-radical resection of the primary tumor. Patients aged >70 years had a decreased risk of metachronous PM(HR 0.69, 0.55-0.87; P = 0.003) [61].

There is lack of clarity about the origin of peritoneal implants secondary to serous borderline tumors/atypical proliferative serous tumors (SBT/APSTs) of the ovary. It is uncertain whether they are derived from the primary ovarian tumor or arise independently in the peritoneum. SBT/ APSTs from 45 patients with advanced-stage disease identified from a nationwide tumor registry in Denmark were analyzed. This study provided evidence that the vast majority of peritoneal implants, noninvasive and invasive, harbor the identical *KRAS* or *BRAF* mutations that are present in the associated SBT/APST, supporting the view that peritoneal implants are derived from the primary ovarian tumor [62].

21.7.2 The Efficacy of CRS and HIPEC

Similarly multi-institutional registries have provided evidence to support the use of CRS and HIPEC for treating PM from various primary sites. In the largest multi-institutional study of patients with PMP of appendiceal origin, nearly 2300 patients were treated with CRS and HIPEC at 16 specialized centers. Treatment-related mortality was 2% and major morbidity was 24%. The median survival rate was 196 months (16.3 years), and the median progression-free survival rate was 98 months (8.2 years), with 10- and

15-year survival rates of 63% and 59%, respectively, which were significantly higher than the rates reported by any other treatment modality for these patients. The authors concluded that minimizing non-definitive operative and systemic chemotherapy treatments before definitive cytoreduction could facilitate the feasibility and improve the outcome of this therapy to achieve long-term survival and optimal cytoreduction resulting in the best outcomes [14]. For malignant peritoneal mesothelioma, multi-institutional data registry that included 405 patients with diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma (DMPM) treated by CRS and HIPEC reported an overall median survival was 53 months (1–235 months), and 3- and 5-year survival rates were 60% and 47%, respectively. On multivariate analysis, independent predictors of OS were an epithelial subtype (P < 0.001), absence of lymph node metastasis (P < 0.001), completeness of cytoreduction scores of CC-0 or CC-1 (P < 0.001), and HIPEC (P = 0.002). The data suggest that CRS combined with HIPEC achieved prolonged survival in selected patients with DMPM [63].

For gastric PM, a multi-institutional study that included 159 patients from 15 institutions between February 1989 and August 2007 showed that CRS and HIPEC could achieve long-term survival in a selected subgroup of patients [64]. In a report from the BIG-RENAPE group of 81 patients with gastric PM who had a complete cytoreduction, 11% were disease-free at 5 years and were considered to be cured. This was possible in highly selected patients (low disease extent and complete CRS) [65].

As mentioned above, in a multicentric study of 523 patients from 23 French-speaking centers, Elias et al. reported a median overall survival of 30.1 months, a 5-year overall survival of 27%, and a 5-year disease-free survival of 10% with CRS and HIPEC in colorectal PM. These results are far superior to those produced by systemic chemotherapy alone. Though the role of HIPEC is being evaluated, the role of CRS in the treatment of PM is established [15].

In a multi-institutional study of 405 patients with peritoneal mesothelioma, 26 (6.4%) had multicystic tumors. Multicystic peritoneal mesothelioma was shown to be a distinct subtype of peritoneal mesothelioma, where long-term survival may be achieved through cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy [66].

Primary peritoneal serous carcinoma (PPSC) is a rare condition, histologically identical to ovarian serous carcinoma and often diagnosed at late stage. There is no standardized treatment for PPSC. A multi-institutional study showed that CRS and HIPEC may achieve long-term survival in patients with PPSC. Between September 1997 and July 2007, 36 patients with PPSC from 9 institutions underwent 39 procedures. The overall survival at 1, 3, and 5 years was 93.6, 71.5, and 57.4%, respectively. The median overall survival was not reached. By univariate analysis, the only factor that had prognostic value was PCI (P = 0.03) [67].

In a study carried out by the FROGHI, 314 patients with first recurrence in epithelial ovarian cancer were treated with CRS and HIPEC following systemic chemotherapy from 2001 to 2010. Mortality and morbidity rates were, respectively, 1% and 30.9%. Median follow-up was 50 months; 5-year overall survival was 38.0%, with no difference between platinum-sensitive and platinum-resistant patients; and 5-year disease-free survival was 14%. This study showed that HIPEC led to an encouraging survival in the treatment of first recurrence from ovarian cancer, better in case of complete surgery, with acceptable mortality and morbidity rates [68].

21.7.3 Studies That Evaluate the Role of Chemotherapy in the Treatment of PM

In a multi-institutional study from 1991 to 2014, 126 DMPM patients underwent CRS-HIPEC at 20 tertiary centers. This retrospective study suggests that adjuvant chemotherapy may delay recurrence and improve survival and that neoadjuvant chemotherapy may impact negatively the survival for patients with DMPM who undergo CRS-HIPEC with curative intent and such a strategy should be avoided in favor of CRS and HIPEC upfront [69]. A report from an international mesothelioma registry developed a staging system for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma. Eight institutions contributed to the registry. Data was prospectively collected for patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC. Two hundred ninety-four patients had complete clinicopathological data and formed the basis of this staging project. The proposed TNM staging system resulted in significant stratification of survival by stage when applied to the current multi-institutional registry data [70].

A study from the Netherlands Cancer Registry included a total of 1235 patients who received palliative chemotherapy, of whom 436 also received bevacizumab (35%). The results of this nationwide population-based study supported the rationale for bevacizumab in addition to palliative chemotherapy for patients with PM from colorectal cancer [71].

A French study aimed to define the role of adjuvant CT in addition to CRS and HIPEC for colorectal PM. Early postoperative CT does not improve OS after CRS and HIPEC for colorectal PM though a small benefit in progression-free survival was observed [72].

21.7.4 Other Aspects of Treatment of PM

In a multi-institutional study that included 52 patients from 16 institutions, the role of CT in determining the extent of PM was evaluated using the CT-PCI. The clinical impact of inaccuracies of CT-PCI was modest, and it was concluded that despite its drawbacks, CT-PCI remained an important tool for preoperative patient evaluation for CRS and HIPEC and should be supplemented with a PET-CT and diagnostic laparoscopy where required [73].

In a Dutch study, data pertaining to all patients diagnosed with synchronous PM from colorectal cancer between 2005 and 2012 was extracted from the Netherlands Cancer Registry (n = 4623). The proportion of patients diagnosed with synchronous PM from CRC treated with CRS-HIPEC has increased significantly over time, and at the time of publication, 10% of

patients with PM were being treated with CRS-HIPEC. Median survival in this population-based group is 32.3 months [74].

A study by the BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE groups showed that CRS and HIPEC is feasible for selected patients older than aged 70 years, albeit with a higher risk of medical complications associated with increased mortality [75].

Another study by the BIG-RENAPE group reported on hemorrhagic complications (HC) with oxaliplatin-based HIPEC. The overall incidence of HCs was 9.8%. When used with HIPEC, oxaliplatin significantly and independently increased the rate of HCs (15.7 vs. 2.6% for other drugs; P = 0.004, odds ratio 32.4). The authors concluded that the potential oncologic benefit of oxaliplatin and the risk of HCs should be considered in patients with PM who have a high PCI, as well as in at-risk patients [76].

A French multi-institutional study showed that signet ring cell gastric adenocarcinoma has a worse prognosis and different prognostic factors and is only poorly sensitive to perioperative chemotherapy as compared to non-signet ring cell adenocarcinoma and should be considered a different entity [77].

A study by the American Society of Peritoneal Surface Malignancies showed that mitomycin C (MMC) could be of greater clinical benefit than oxaliplatin in patients with colorectal PM undergoing complete cytoreduction. This benefit was observed in patients with favorable histologies and a low burden of disease with peritoneal surface disease severity score (PSDSS) of I OR II (PSDSS I/II). Median OS of 539 patients with complete cytoreduction was 32.6 months, 32.7 months for the MMC group, and 31.4 months for the oxaliplatin group (P = 0.925). However, when stratified by PSDSS, the median OS in patients having PSDSS I/II was 54.3 months in patients receiving MMC vs. 28.2 months in those receiving oxaliplatin (P = 0.012), whereas in patients with PSDSS III/IV, the median OS was 19.4 months in those undergoing HIPEC with MMC vs. 30.4 months in those undergoing HIPEC with oxaliplatin (P = 0.427) [78].

Studies on bio-specimens have allowed identification of diagnostic and prognostic

biomarkers that could be useful adjuncts for therapeutic decision-making [79].

Another multi-institutional study explored the possibility of pregnancy after CRS and HIPEC.

Seven pregnancies were reported after CRS and HIPEC in women treated for peritoneal malignancies with or without the use of assisted reproductive technologies [80].

A study by the BIG-RENAPE group showed that protocols regarding cytoreductive surgery/HIPEC and the associated professional risks in France lack standardization and should be established [81].

Conclusions

This review highlights the importance of collaborative groups and registries in peritoneal surface oncology. Registries have helped in understanding the natural history of PM, risk factors, and prognostic factors and studying the effect of various therapies. They provide real-time evidence about what is actually happening in clinical practice. They provide level II evidence supporting the use of CRS and HIPEC in the treatment of PM, and this evidence/information can be used for designing clinical trials and treating patients when the results of clinical trials are awaited. The aspects of therapy that cannot be evaluated in clinical trials can be studied from the data provided by registries. Despite certain limitations like bias in recruiting patients, registries have been and will continue to be an important source of clinical evidence. Biobanks linked to registries are important for research and should be developed further. The RENAPE Registry and the Netherlands Cancer Registry could be considered two model registries of different kinds, and newer registries could be modelled on these. Effective collaboration between clinicians of various specialities is required to successfully run such programs especially in countries where there are no regulatory norms. The information derived from clinical practice is as important for research as the information derived from preclinical and clinical studies, and resources should be invested in capturing this information adequately for which registries seem to be ideal tool.

References

- Bartlett DL. HIPEC: the complexities of clinical trials. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(5):1277–9. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-007-9768-y.
- Glehen O, Mohamed F, Gilly FN. Digestive peritoneal carcinomatosis: new management by cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia. Lancet Oncol. 2004;5:219–28.
- Gilly FN, Carry PY, Sayag AC, et al. Regional chemotherapy (with mitomycin C) and intra-operative hyperthermia for digestive cancers with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Hepatogastroenterology. 1994;41:124–9.
- Glehen O, Kwiatkowski F, Sugarbaker PH, et al. Cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a multi-institutional study. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:3284–92.
- Glehen O, Gilly FN, Boutitie F, Bereder JM, Quenet F, Sideris L, Mansvelt B, Lorimier G, Msika S, Elias D. Toward curative treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis from nonovarian origin by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Cancer. 2010;116:5608–18. https:// doi.org/10.1002/cncr.25356.
- 6. Glehen O, Kwiatkowski F, Sugarbaker PH, Elias D, Levine EA, De Simone M, Barone R, Yonemura Y, Cavaliere F, Quenet F, Gutman M, Tentes AA, Lorimier G, Bernard JL, Bereder JM, Porcheron J, Gomez-Portilla A, Shen P, Deraco M, Rat P. Cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal carcinomatosis: a multi-institutional registry of 506 patients. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22:3284–92.
- Verwaal VJ, van Ruth S, de Bree E, et al. Randomized trial of cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy and palliative surgery in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(20):3737–43.
- Verwaal VJ, Bruin S, Boot H, et al. 8-Year followup of randomized trial: cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(9):2426–32.
- Spilliotis J, Halkia E, Lianos E, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC in recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer: a prospective randomized phase III study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(5):1570–5.
- 10. Gouy S, Ferron G, Glehen O, Bayar A, Marchal F, Pomel C, Quenet F, Bereder JM, Le Deley MC, Morice P. Results of a multicenter phase I dosefinding trial of hyperthermic intraperitoneal cisplatin after neoadjuvant chemotherapy and complete cytoreductive surgery and followed by maintenance bevacizumab in initially unresectable ovarian cancer.

Gynecol Oncol. 2016;142(2):237–42. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2016.05.032. Epub 2016 Jun 2

- 11. Zivanovic O, Abramian A, Kullmann M, Fuhrmann C, Coch C, Hoeller T, Ruehs H, Keyver-Paik MD, Rudlowski C, Weber S, Kiefer N, Poelcher ML, Thiesler T, Rostamzadeh B, Mallmann M, Schaefer N, Permantier M, Latten S, Kalff J, Thomale J, Jaehde U, Kuhn WC. HIPEC ROC I: a phase 1 study of cisplatin administered as hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemoperfusion followed by postoperative intravenous platinum-based chemotherapy in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:699–708. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29011.
- Ji ZH, Peng KW, Yu Y, Li XB, Yonemura Y, Liu Y, Sugarbaker PH, Li Y. Current status and future prospects of clinical trials on CRS + HIPEC for gastric cancer peritoneal metastases. Int J Hyperthermia. 2017;26:1–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736.201 7.1283065. Epub ahead of print
- Cowan RA, O'Cearbhaill RE, Zivanovic O, Chi DS. Current status and future prospects of hyperthermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) clinical trials in ovarian cancer. Int J Hyperthermia. 2017;16:1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080 /02656736.2017.1283066.
- 14. Chua TC, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, Levine EA, Glehen O, Gilly FN, Baratti D, Deraco M, Elias D, Sardi A, Liauw W, Yan TD, Barrios P, Gómez Portilla A, de Hingh IH, Ceelen WP, Pelz JO, Piso P, González-Moreno S, Van Der Speeten K, Morris DL. Early- and long-term outcome data of patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei from appendiceal origin treated by a strategy of cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(20):2449–56.
- Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:63–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2009.23.9285.
- Franko J, Shi Q, Goldman CD, et al. Treatment of colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis with systemic chemotherapy: a pooled analysis of north central cancer treatment group phase III trials N9741 and N9841. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:263–7. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2011.37.1039.
- Klaver YLB, Simkens LHJ, Lemmens VEPP, et al. Outcomes of colorectal cancer patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis treated with chemotherapy with and without targeted therapy. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2012;38:617–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejso.2012.03.008.
- Koopman M, Antonini NF, Douma J, et al. Sequential versus combination chemotherapy with capecitabine, irinotecan, and oxaliplatin in advanced colorectal cancer (CAIRO): a phase III randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2007;370:135–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(07)61086-1.

- 19. Villeneuve L, Isaac S, Glehen O, Capovilla M, Chevallier A, Croce S, et al. The RENAPE network: towards a new healthcare organization for the treatment of rare tumors of the peritoneum. Description of the network and role of the pathologists. Ann Pathol. 2014;34(1):4–8.
- Pelz J. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: registry and centers in Germany. Viszeralmedizin. 2013;29:226–9.
- Bhatt A, Mehta S, Ramakrishnan AS, et al. Indian HIPEC registry - a registry for Indian patients with peritoneal surface malignancies. J Peritoneum. 2016;1(1):107–8.
- 22. Webster's English Dictionary. http://www.m-w.com. Accessed 16 May 2017
- 23. Razenberg LG, van Gestel YR, Lemmens VE, de Wilt JH, Creemers GJ, de Hingh IH. The prognostic relevance of histological subtype in patients with peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: a nationwide population-based study. Clin Colorectal Cancer. 2015;14(4):e13–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clcc.2015.05.011. Epub 2015 Jun 6
- 24. Seyfried F, von Rahden BH, Miras AD, et al. Incidence, time course and independent risk factors for metachronous peritoneal carcinomatosis of gastric origin – a longitudinal experience from a prospectively collected database of 1108 patients. BMC Cancer. 2015;15:73. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12885-015-1081-8.
- Dreyer NA, Garner S. Registries for robust evidence. JAMA. 2009;302(7):790–1.
- Glicklich RE, Dreyer N. Registries for evaluating patient outcomes: a user's guide, <http://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/index.cfm/search-forguides-reviews-and-reports/?productid=12&pageaction=displayproduct> (2017).
- 27. http://evs.nci.nih.gov/ftp1/CTCAE/ CTCAE_4.03_2010-06-14_QuickReference_8.5x11. pdf.
- Gilly FN, International Registry of Colorectal Carcinomatosis. Phase II studies: international registry of colorectal carcinomatosis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32(6):648–54. Epub 2006 May 5
- Lakshmaiah KC, Guruprasad B, Lokesh KN, Veena VS. Cancer notification in India. South Asian J Cancer. 2014;3(1):74–7. https://doi. org/10.4103/2278-330X.126542.
- Van Oudheusden TR, Razenberg LG, van Gestel YR, Creemers GJ, Lemmens VE, de Hingh IH. Systemic treatment of patients with metachronous peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin. Sci Rep. 2015;5:18632. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18632.
- 31. Gershenson DM, Bodurka DC, Lu KH, et al. Impact of age and primary disease site on outcome in women with low-grade serous carcinoma of the ovary or peritoneum: results of a large single-institution registry of a rare tumor. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(24):2675–82. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2015.61.0873.
- 32. Quere P, Facy O, Manfredi S, Jooste V, Faivre J, Lepage C, Bouvier AM. Epidemiology, management, and survival of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a population-based study.

Dis Colon Rectum. 2015;58(8):743–52. https://doi. org/10.1097/DCR.00000000000412.

- 33. Dahm-Kähler P, et al. Population-based study of survival for women with serous cancer of the ovary, fallopian tube, peritoneum or undesignated origin on behalf of the Swedish gynecological cancer group (SweGCG). Gynecol Oncol. 144(1):167–73.
- 34. Watanabe T, Muro K, Ajioka Y, et al. Japanese Society for Cancer of the Colon and Rectum (JSCCR) guidelines 2016 for the treatment of colorectal cancer. Int J Clin Oncol. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10147-017-1101-6. Epub ahead of print
- Classe JM, Glehen O, Decullier E, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for first relapse of ovarian cancer. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(9):4997–5005.
- 36. Maillet M, Glehen O, Lambert J, Goere D, Pocard M, Msika S, Passot G, Elias D, Eveno C, Sabaté JM, Lourenco N, André T, Gornet JM, BIG-RENAPE Working Group. Early postoperative chemotherapy after complete cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for isolated peritoneal carcinomatosis of colon cancer: a multicenter study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(3):863–9. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-4914-4. Epub 2015 Oct 19
- 37. Helm CW, Richard SD, Pan J, Bartlett D, Goodman MD, Hoefer R, Lentz SS, Levine EA, Loggie BW, Metzinger DS, Miller B, Parker L, Spellman JE, Sugarbaker PH, Edwards RP, Rai SN. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in ovarian cancer: first report of the HYPER-O registry. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2010;20(1):61–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/IGC.0b013e3181c50cde.
- Honoré C, Goéré D, Macovei R, Colace L, Benhaim L, Elias D. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from unusual cancer origins: is there a role for hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy? J Visc Surg. 2016;153(2):101–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviscsurg.2015.11.010. Epub 2015 Dec 11
- 39. Villeneuve L, Passot G, Glehen O, et al. The RENAPE observational registry: rationale and framework of the rare peritoneal tumors French patient registry. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2017;12:37. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13023-017-0571-y.
- Pelz JO. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: registry and centers in Germany. Viszeralmedizin. 2013;29:226–9.
- 41. Verwaal V, Rau B, Jamali F, et al. Registries on peritoneal surface malignancies through out the world, their use and their options. Int J Hyperthermia. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736.2017.1315178.
- 42. Kusamura S, Baratti D, Hutanu I, Rossi P, Deraco M. The importance of the learning curve and surveillance of surgical performance in peritoneal surface malignancy programs. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2012;21(4):559–76.
- 43. Kusamura S, Baratti D, Deraco M. Multidimensional analysis of the learning curve for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in peritoneal surface malignancies. Ann Surg. 2012;255(2):348–56.

- 44. Kuijpers AM, Hauptmann M, Aalbers AG, Nienhuijs SW, de Hingh IH, Wiezer MJ, et al. Cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: the learning curve reassessed. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(2):244–50.
- 45. Kusamura S, Baratti D, Younan R, Deraco M. The Delphi approach to attain consensus in methodology of local regional therapy for peritoneal surface malignancy. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:217–9. https://doi. org/10.1002/jso.21059.
- 46. Jacquet P, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical research methodologies in diagnosis and staging of patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Treat Res. 1996;82:359–74.
- 47. Villeneuve L, Thivolet A, Bakrin N, et al. A new internet tool to report peritoneal malignancy extent. PeRitOneal malignancy stage evaluation (PROMISE) application. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42:877–82.
- EURORDIS, NORD, CORD. Joint declaration of 10 key principles for rare disease patient registries. 2012.
- 49. Villeneuve L, Isaac S, Glehen O, Capovilla M, Chevallier A, Croce S, Dartigues P, Fontaine J, Kaci R, Lang-Averous G, Laverriere MH, Leroux-Broussier A, Mery E, Poizat F, Valmary-Degano S, Verriele-Beurrier V, Gilly FN, Bibeau F. The RENAPE network: towards a new healthcare organization for the treatment of rare tumors of the peritoneum. Description of the network and role of the pathologists. Ann Pathol. 2014;34(1):4–8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.annpat.2014.01.008. Epub 2014 Feb 20
- Biobank-based research on digestive peritoneal carcinomatosis (the BIG-RENAPE Biobank). J Peritoneum (and other serosal surfaces) 2016;1:12. https://doi. org/10.4081/joper.2016.12
- Chirac P, Maillet D, Lepretre F, et al. Genomic copy number alterations in 33 malignant peritoneal mesothelioma analyzed by comparative genomic hybridization array. Hum Pathol. 2016;55:72–82.
- 52. Hommell-Fontaine J, Isaac S, Passot G, et al. Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma treated by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: is GLUT1 expression a major prognostic factor? A preliminary study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20:3892–8.
- Smeenk RM, van Velthuysen ML, Verwaal VJ, Zoetmulder FA. Appendiceal neoplasms and pseudomyxoma peritonei: a population based study. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34:196–201. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejso.2007.04.002.
- 54. Thomassen I, van Gestel YR, van Ramshorst B, Luyer MD, Bosscha K, Nienhuijs SW, Lemmens VE, de Hingh IH. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of gastric origin: a population-based study on incidence, survival and risk factors. Int J Cancer. 2014;134:622–8. https://doi. org/10.1002/ijc.28373.
- 55. van Gestel YR, de Hingh IH, van Herk-Sukel MP, van Erning FN, Beerepoot LV, Wijsman JH, Slooter GD, Rutten HJ, Creemers GJ, Lemmens VE. Patterns of metachronous metastases after curative treatment

of colorectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiol. 2014;38(4): 448–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2014.04.004. Epub 2014 May 17

- 56. Thomassen I, van Gestel YR, Lemmens VE, de Hingh IH. Incidence, prognosis, and treatment options for patients with synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis and liver metastases from colorectal origin. Dis Colon Rectum. 2013;56(12):1373–80. https://doi. org/10.1097/DCR.0b013e3182a62d9d.
- 57. Thomassen I, Verhoeven RH, van Gestel YR, van de Wouw AJ, Lemmens VE, de Hingh IH. Populationbased incidence, treatment and survival of patients with peritoneal metastases of unknown origin. Eur J Cancer. 2014;50(1):50–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2013.08.009. Epub 2013 Sep 3
- Thomassen I, Lemmens VE, Nienhuijs SW, Luyer MD, Klaver YL, de Hingh IH. Incidence, prognosis, and possible treatment strategies of peritoneal carcinomatosis of pancreatic origin: a populationbased study. Pancreas. 2013;42(1):72–5. https://doi. org/10.1097/MPA.0b013e31825abf8c.
- Socialstyrelsen. Swedish Cancer Registry. http:// www.socialstyrelsen.se/register/halsodataregister/ cancerregistret/inenglish. Accessed 4 Oct 2011.
- 60. Segelman J, Singnomklao T, Hellborg H, Martling A. Differences in multidisciplinary team assessment and treatment between patients with stage IV colon and rectal cancer. Colorectal Dis. 2009;11:768–74.
- Segelman J, Granath F, Holm T, Machado M, Mahteme H, Martling A. Incidence, prevalence and risk factors for peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2012;99(5):699–705. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.8679. Epub 2012 Jan 27
- 62. Ardighieri L, Zeppernick F, Hannibal CG, et al. Mutational analysis of *BRAF* and *KRAS* in ovarian serous borderline (atypical proliferative) tumours and associated peritoneal implants. J Pathol. 2014;232(1):16–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/ path.4293.
- Yan TD, Deraco M, Baratti D, et al. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: multi-institutional experience. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:6237–42. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.23.9640.
- 64. Glehen O, Gilly FN, Arvieux C, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer: a multi-institutional study of 159 patients treated by cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(9):2370–7.
- 65. Chia CS, You B, Decullier E, et al. Patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from gastric cancer treated with cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: is cure a possibility? Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:1971. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-015-5081-3.
- 66. Chua TC, Yan TD, Deraco M, Glehen O, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group. Multi-institutional experience of diffuse intraabdominal multicystic peritoneal mesothelioma. Br J Surg. 2011;98(1):60–4. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bjs.7263. Epub 2010 Sep 24

- 67. Bakrin N, Gilly FN, Baratti D, et al. Primary peritoneal serous carcinoma treated by cytoreductive surgery combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. A multi-institutional study of 36 patients. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39:742–7. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2013.02.018.
- 68. Classe JM, Glehen O, Decullier E, Bereder JM, Msika S, Lorimier G, Abboud K, Meeus P, Ferron G, Quenet F, Marchal F, Gouy S, Pomel C, Pocard M, Guyon F, Bakrin N, French Oncologic and Gynecologic HIPEC Group. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for first relapse of ovarian cancer. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(9):4997–5005.
- 69. Kepenekian V, Elias D, Passot G, et al. Diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: evaluation of systemic chemotherapy with comprehensive treatment through the RENAPE database: multi-institutional retrospective study. Eur J Cancer. 2016;65:69–79. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejca.2016.06.002.
- Yan TD, Deraco M, Elias D, et al. A novel tumor-nodemetastasis (TNM) staging system of diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma using outcome analysis of a multi-institutional database*. Cancer. 2011;117:1855– 63. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.25640.
- 71. Razenberg LG, van Gestel YR, Lemmens VE, de Hingh IH, Creemers GJ. Bevacizumab in addition to palliative chemotherapy for patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: a nationwide population-based study. Clin Colorectal Cancer. 2016;15(2):e41–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. clcc.2015.12.006. Epub 2015 Dec 17
- 72. Maillet M, Glehen O, Lambert J, Goere D, Pocard M, Msika S, Passot G, Elias D, Eveno C, Sabaté JM, Lourenco N, André T, Gornet JM, BIG-RENAPE Working Group. Early postoperative chemotherapy after complete cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for isolated peritoneal carcinomatosis of colon cancer: a multicenter study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(3):863–9. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-4914-4. Epub 2015 Oct 19
- 73. Esquivel J, Chua TC, Stojadinovic A, Melero JT, Levine EA, Gutman M, Howard R, Piso P, Nissan A, Gomez-Portilla A, Gonzalez-Bayon L, Gonzalez-Moreno S, Shen P, Stewart JH, Sugarbaker PH, Barone RM, Hoefer R, Morris DL, Sardi A, Sticca RP. Accuracy and clinical relevance of computed tomography scan interpretation of peritoneal cancer index in colorectal cancer peritoneal carcinomatosis: a multi-institutional study. J Surg Oncol. 2010;102(6):565–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.21601.
- 74. Razenberg LG, van Gestel YR, Creemers GJ, Verwaal VJ, Lemmens VE, de Hingh IH. Trends in cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of synchronous peritonealcarcinomatosis of colorectal origin in the Netherlands. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(4):466–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2015.01.018. Epub 2015 Jan 29

- 75. Alyami M, Lundberg P, Kepenekian V, Goéré D, Bereder JM, Msika S, Lorimier G, Quenet F, Ferron G, Thibaudeau E, Abboud K, Lo Dico R, Delroeux D, Brigand C, Arvieux C, Marchal F, Tuech JJ, Guilloit JM, Guyon F, Peyrat P, Pezet D, Ortega-Deballon P, Zinzindohoue F, de Chaisemartin C, Kianmanesh R, Glehen O, Passot G, BIG-RENAPE and RENAPE Working Groups. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis in the elderly: a case-controlled, multicenter study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(Suppl 5):737–45. Epub 2016 Sep 6
- 76. Charrier T, Passot G, Peron J, Maurice C, Gocevska S, Quénet F, Eveno C, Pocard M, Goere D, Elias D, Ortega-Deballon P, Vaudoyer D, Cotte E, Glehen O. Cytoreductive surgery combined with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin increases the risk of postoperative hemorrhagic complications: analysis of predictive factors. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(7):2315–22. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-016-5143-1. Epub 2016 Feb 26
- 77. Voron T, Messager M, Duhamel A, Lefevre J, Mabrut JY, Goere D, Meunier B, Brigand C, Hamy A, Glehen O, Mariette C, Paye F. Is signet-ring cell carcinoma a specific entity among gastric cancers? Gastric Cancer. 2016;19(4):1027–40. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-015-0564-2. Epub 2015 Nov 25
- 78. Prada-Villaverde A, Esquivel J, Lowy AM, Markman M, Chua T, Pelz J, Baratti D, Baumgartner JM, Berri R, Bretcha-Boix P, Deraco M, Flores-Ayala G, Glehen O, Gomez-Portilla A, González-Moreno S, Goodman M, Halkia E, Kusamura S, Moller M, Passot G, Pocard M, Salti G, Sardi A, Senthil M, Spiliotis J, Torres-Melero J, Turaga K, Trout R. The American Society of Peritoneal Surface Malignancies evaluation of HIPEC with Mitomycin C versus Oxaliplatin in 539 patients with colon cancer undergoing a complete cytoreductive surgery. J Surg Oncol. 2014;110(7):779–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.23728. Epub 2014 Aug 2
- Vlaeminck-Guillem V, Bienvenu J, Isaac S, Grangier B, Golfier F, Passot G, Bakrin N, Rodriguez-Lafrasse C, Gilly FN, Glehen O. Intraperitoneal cytokine level in patients with peritoneal surface malignancies. A study of the RENAPE (French Network for Rare Peritoneal Malignancies). Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(8):2655–62. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-013-2933-6. Epub 2013 Mar 22
- Ortega-Deballon P, Glehen O, Levine E, et al. Childbearing after hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: results from an international survey. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18(8):2297–301. https://doi. org/10.1245/s10434-011-1595-5.
- 81. Ferron G, Simon L, Guyon F, et al. Professional risks when carrying out cytoreductive surgery for peritoneal malignancy with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC): a French multicentric survey. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(10):1361–7. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2015.07.012. Epub 2015 Jul 29



22

Locoregional and Palliative Therapies for Patients with Unresectable Peritoneal Metastases

Ninad Katdare, Robin Prabhu, and Aditi Bhatt

22.1 Introduction

Nearly 30% of intra-abdominal malignancies present with peritoneal metastases (PM). Historically peritoneal metastases were considered a death knell with an average median survival of 6 months. For nonovarian malignancies, with peritoneal metastases, the median survival, if not treated, is 6 months for colorectal peritoneal metastases (CPM), 0.7 months for pancreatic cancers, and 3 months for gastric peritoneal metastases (PM) [1].

The combined modality treatment of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) can lead to prolonged survival with a significant improvement in the quality of life in certain selected patients with peritoneal metastases. It is the standard of care for patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP), peritoneal mesothelioma, and colorectal PM with limited peritoneal spread. Its role in ovarian cancer and gastric PM is currently being evaluated in clinical trials [2].

R. Prabhu • A. Bhatt (⊠) Department of Surgical Oncology, Fortis Hospital, Bangalore, India e-mail: aditimodi31@gmail.com

However, a large proportion of patients with PM metastases are not candidates for this aggressive locoregional therapy and are treated with systemic chemotherapy alone. These patients may be symptomatic due to the peritoneal disease and may require medical surgical or endoscopic management. A peritoneal surface oncologist should treat these patients with equal vigor as those in whom the intent is curative especially in regions where palliative care services are deficient. This chapter will aim to define this subset of patients, the problems faced in managing such patients and how to manage such patients; the paucity of data for making evidencebased guidelines for managing such patients and the reasons for paucity of the data.

22.2 Defining Unresectable PM

Virtually any primary tumor can metastasize to the peritoneum. Of these, peritoneal spread is most common in patients with gastric, colorectal, and ovarian cancer. In most cases, PM are a part of widespread metastatic disease. The incidence of isolated peritoneal metastases (PM) varies from 60% in ovarian cancers to 50–75% in gastric cancer and in 40–50% of the patients with colorectal cancer (CRC) [2–4].

Patients with PM represent a poor prognostic subgroup. The survival in these patients is inferior compared to other sites of metastases [5].

N. Katdare

Department of Surgical Oncology, SL Raheja Hospital, Mumbai, India

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_22

Systemic chemotherapy is less effective in these patients. Patients with PM become symptomatic more often as compared to other sites of metastases. In addition to systemic therapy, these patients often require management of symptoms related to peritoneal disease [6].

A curative approach is possible only in selected patients with PM. The remaining patients are excluded from radical surgery due to one of the following reasons:

- Extensive disease which precludes a complete cytoreduction (extensive small bowel involvement, involvement of the porta hepatis, bladder trigone or massive involvement of the pleural space for patients with PMP, ovarian cancer, malignant mesothelioma).
- Disease distribution and extent precludes a therapeutic benefit though the disease is technically resectable (patients with a PCI of >17–20 in colorectal cancer and >13 in gastric cancer).
- In patients with uncommon primary and secondary peritoneal tumors, CRS and HIPEC are performed for patients with limited disease and good general condition though the evidence is less robust in most cases. Patients who are excluded from CRS and HIPEC are treated with other locoregional and systemic therapies and require symptomatic treatment like other patients with PM.
- Patient's general condition and comorbidities make them unfit for a radical surgical procedure.

22.3 Natural History of Patients with Unresectable PM

The exact incidence of patients, who are unresectable and/or in an advanced stage to begin with, is difficult to define. The term peritoneal carcinomatosis was initially used in 1931 in a patient with ovarian cancer [7]. In the 1980s, PM was diagnosed when patients presented with bowel obstruction [8]. PM was the underlying cause in 15% of the patients requiring surgical intervention for intestinal obstruction [9–11].

In 1989, Chu et al. described the outcomes in 100 patients with PM arising from nongynecological primary sites. The most common primary tumors were colorectal (N = 45) and pancreatic (N = 20) carcinoma. Of the patients with pancreatic cancer, 65% had liver metastases and 60% had ascites. Ascites was a poor prognostic factor in both pancreatic and colorectal cancer with no patient with PM of pancreatic origin with ascites surviving for more than 30 days. In patients with CRC, the disease-free interval after treatment of the primary, the presence of lung metastases, and ascites significantly influenced survival. The presence of liver metastases and extent of PM did not have an impact on survival. PM in sarcoma (N = 7)and breast cancer (N = 6) patients had median survival of 12 and 7 months, respectively [12].

The EVOCAPE 1 study was a prospective study carried out at nine centers in France from 1995 to 1997 to study the natural history of patients with PM arising from non-gynecologic primary sites [1]. All 370 patients underwent exploratory laparotomy to confirm the diagnosis and determine the extent of PM. The three commonest primary sites were the stomach, colon and rectum, and pancreas. The number of patients with metachronous and synchronous PM was similar. 34.3% has ascites and 16% had bowel obstruction. Majority of the patients had diffuse carcinomatosis and a poor median OS (3.1 months for gastric cancer, 6 months for colorectal cancer, and 2 months for pancreatic cancer).

In another study of 43 patients from Denmark, 70% of the patients had diffuse PM, 58.1% had extensive involvement of the small bowel mesentery, and 32% had ascites. Median OS was 6.3 months (range 0.4–33.1). Thirty-one patients (72.1%) received palliative chemotherapy. Median OS was 9.3 months (range 0.9–33.1) with versus 3.1 months (range 0.4–6.5) without chemotherapy (p ¼ 0.000). This difference was attributed to the less favorable patient characteristics in the latter group [13].

In a retrospective study of 3019 patients with colorectal cancer diagnosed over a 10-year period at Singapore General Hospital, the incidence of PM was 13% (349 patients) [14]. Of these patients only 3% (80%) had localized disease which could be treated with CRS and HIPEC.

Given the strong prognostic impact of disease extent in patient with colorectal cancer and gastric cancer, the focus is now of strategies for prevention and early detection of PM [15].

However, majority of the patients continue to be diagnosed with advanced disease, and recurrence in patients treated with CRS and HIPEC is common.

In a Dutch study, all patients diagnosed with synchronous PM secondary to colorectal cancer between 2005 and 2012 were extracted from the Netherlands Cancer Registry (n = 4623). The proportion of patients diagnosed with synchronous PM from CRC treated with CRS-HIPEC has increased significantly over time, and almost 10% of PM patients were treated with CRS-HIPEC. Median survival in this population-based group is 32.3 months [16].

Though CRS and HIPEC are performed with the intent of cure, around 70–80% of the patients will develop recurrent disease, and about half of these recurrences are confined to the peritoneal cavity [17–20].

In ovarian cancer, majority of the patients are diagnosed in an advanced stage in which PM is a common finding. Of these patients 75% develop recurrent disease within a few years, and the peritoneum is a common site for recurrence [21, 22]. Most of the patients who recur die within 5 years since recurrent disease is usually incurable [23].

The patients who are not treated with a curative intent may or may not have symptoms related to their disease. The symptoms need to be managed with surgical or nonsurgical treatment, and management of these symptoms which can severely impair the quality of life takes precedence over other treatment goals.

Thus, the goals and indication of treatment in patients with unresectable PM are as follows:

1. Symptomatic patients

To relieve symptoms—surgery, endoscopic procedures, medical management

To control the disease and prolong life—chemotherapy and other regional therapies

2. Asymptomatic patients

To control disease, to prolong life, and to prevent the development of complications/symptoms chemotherapy and other regional therapies

22.4 Management of Symptomatic Patients

22.4.1 Clinical Presentation of Unresectable PM

Patients with PM are more likely to become symptomatic because of their disease than those with PM at other sites [24]. Many of the patients with unresectable PM maybe asymptomatic to start with but eventually develop symptoms due to disease. With chemotherapy there may be some reduction in the symptoms temporarily.

General symptoms

Most of the advanced and metastatic cancers have a somewhat similar constellation of symptoms which adversely affects the quality of life. These are as follows:

Nausea and vomiting

These symptoms are common in patients with metastatic disease with or without PM. It is one of the most common symptoms in advanced cancer. It is usually multifactorial. In peritoneal metastatic disease, it could be related to the disease itself, secondary to bowel involvement and/or gastritis, or it could also be due to various factors like anxiety, ongoing chemotherapy, gastritis, metabolic disturbances, and so on.

Fatigue, drowsiness, lethargy, and weakness

Generalized weakness and cachexia are common in these patients. These are due to catabolic state which is seen in patients with metastatic disease. Loss of appetite, lethargy, and easy fatiguability are common. Drowsiness and delirium are usually preterminal.

Nutrition and hydration problems

These could be specific because of any bowel obstruction secondary to the abdominal disease or due to poor intake secondary to general debility. A study had shown that almost 85% of the patients will have some level of malnutrition which will preclude the use of chemotherapy which may improve the survival or control of the disease [25]. Further this small yet elegant study also showed that survival in patients who started chemotherapy during or after parenteral nutrition was higher than those who did not. A higher number of patients could also withstand the chemotherapy better.

· Constipation

Though this is often a general symptom in many extra-abdominal cancer, it is almost always seen in abdominal cancers with peritoneal disease. It is a very common complaint which is often ignored or undertreated. It is caused by a combination of factors like immobility, reduced fluid and food intake, and/or drugs. It can also be the presenting symptom of malignant bowel obstruction (MBO) if the obstruction is more distal.

Edema and lymphedema

These are commonly present in abdominopelvic cancers presenting with peritoneal metastasis. Thromboembolic phenomenon, nutritional deficiency, and occasionally abdominal wall metastases can lead to edema and lymphedema of the abdominal wall and lower extremities [26]. Along with the general debility, this worsens the patients' quality of life [26].

22.4.2 Specific Symptoms

The two commonest and specific symptoms related to PM are bowel obstruction and ascites.

Ascites

Malignant ascites forms due to increased vascular permeability and impaired lymphatic drainage [27]. The increase production of fluid outreaches the capacity of the lymphatic system to drain it, and this is aggravated by lymphatic blockade caused by cancer cells. As it has a high protein content, secondary alterations in vascular permeability also add to the fluid accumulation. Due to decreased venous return, the blood volume also reduces activating the renin-angiotensin system, leading to sodium retention and worsening of the situation [25]. Steadily increasing ascites leads to increase in the abdominal pressure leading to symptoms of pain, nausea and vomiting, dyspnea, loss of appetite, and reduced mobility.

VEGF plays a role in the pathophysiology of malignant ascites. Malignant cells that overexpress VEGF cause increased ascites production that is seen in ovarian, colorectal, and breast cancer patients [28]. In preclinical models, the administration of malignant ascitic fluid to animals without malignant ascites can cause malignant ascites [29]. In a study of CRS and HIPEC performed in patients with mucinous adenocarcinoma of colonic or appendiceal origin, the overall survival was longer in patients whose tumors did not express VEGF compared to those that did [30].

The VEGF family constitutes five structurally related proteins, VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, and placental growth factor. VEGF-C and VEGF-D are important in the process of lymphangiogenesis, while VEGF-A, VEGF-B, and placental growth factor are important in neovascularization of which VEGF-A is the most potent [31–33]. It acts through receptors VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 resulting in increased endothelial cell survival, proliferation, migration, and differentiation [34].

Malignant ascites may be complicated by hemorrhage, leading to chronic anemia. This could be due to vascularization of the PM or bleeding from the primary tumor and carries a poorer prognosis. No treatment has shown its effectiveness on peritoneal bleeding associated to malignant ascites. As malignant ascites is a poor prognostic factor, the aim of therapy is palliation and improvement of quality of life [35].

Malignant bowel obstruction

At a consensus conference in 2008, malignant bowel obstruction was defined using the following criteria: clinical evidence of bowel obstruction (history/physical/radiological examination), bowel obstruction beyond the ligament of Treitz, the presence of disseminated intra-abdominal cancer that is incurable, or a non-intra-abdominal primary tumor with clinical evidence of peritoneal metastases [36].

Retrospective reviews show that 10–28% of patients with colorectal cancer and 20–50% of the patients with ovarian cancer will develop MBO in the course of their disease [37]. Most commonly, involvement of the bowel is a diffuse process with disseminated intraperitoneal disease, and in only 10% of the patients, the metastases are isolated [38]. Breast cancer or melanoma is the most common non-gastrointestinal cause and can occur many years from primary presentation [39].

MBO can be mechanical or functional (Table 22.1) [40]. Mechanical obstruction can arise due to extrinsic tumor compression, intraluminal obstruction, or intramural occlusion. A adynamic obstruction is due to loss of peristaltic activity of the bowel which results from tumor involvement of the mesentery, wall, or nerves or malignant involvement of the celiac plexus or due to paraneoplastic syndromes.

Patients may have complete or partial obstruction. Generally, an intraluminal growth will produce complete obstruction at one site. Extrinsic compression can occur at multiple or a single site. Patients present with colicky pain, nausea

IdDie 22.1 Faulophysiology of Dowel Obstruction [4	ology of bowel obstruction [40]	of bow	ysiology	Pathophy	22.1	Table
---	---------------------------------	--------	----------	----------	------	-------

Pathophysiology of malignant bowel obstruction
Mechanical obstruction
Extrinsic occlusion of the lumen—enlargement of the primary tumor or recurrence, mesenteric and omental masses, abdominal or pelvic adhesions, postirradiation fibrosis that cause bowel compression
Intraluminal occlusion of the lumen results from tumor growth within the bowel
Intramural occlusion of the lumen—intestinal linitis plastica, tumor within the wall of bowel resulting in poor motility
Adynamic or functional obstruction
Intestinal motility disorders—tumor infiltration of the mesentery or bowel wall muscle and nerves or malignant involvement of the celiac plexus
Intestinal motility disorders—paraneoplastic neuropathy particularly in patients with lung cancer, chronic intestinal pseudo-obstruction (CIP), paraneoplastic pseudo-obstruction

and vomiting, and loss of appetite which gradually worsens. Abdominal distension develops which resolves with the passage of flatus or loose stool. The pain can be a dull continuous ache due to the tumor mass itself or colicky pain due to luminal bowel obstruction.

22.4.3 Management

Investigations

Basic blood investigations are performed to determine the organ function and general health of the patient.

Imaging

An X-ray of the abdomen and ultrasound is performed as a screening modality to initially determine the presence of or absence of obstruction and ascites and see the status of the liver. A baseline CT scan with contrast is essential for evaluating the extent of disease, accurate staging, and deciding the choice of therapy for the patient. CT has a sensitivity of 93%, a specificity of 100%, and an accuracy of 94% in finding the cause and site of obstruction which is superior to an ultrasound and plain X-ray. A delineation of the cause of obstruction whether neoplastic or nonneoplastic needs to be done. A study by Woolfson et al. showed that almost 30% of patients with documented carcinomatosis can have obstruction from nonneoplastic causes like adhesions, hernia, mesenteric ischemia, and radiation enteritis [41]. Oral contrast is often not possible and is unnecessary as the fluid-filled bowel along with IV contrast actually enhances any mural abnormalities better than a contrast-filled bowel [42]. However, this limits the ability to evaluate the extent of disease distal to the obstruction which the may be important in decisionmaking.

Even in patients with no bowel obstruction, a CT scan has a limited ability to accurately predict the extent of the disease. In colorectal and ovarian cancer, the diagnostic accuracy of CT for deposits less than 0.5 cm or deposits located in

Endoscopy: After identifying the site of obstruction, an endoscopy helps to determine the cause and select patients for procedures like stent placement.

• Treatment

The management of peritoneal metastases has seen a radical change in the approach from essential palliative treatment for all patients to a potentially curative approach in at least some of the patients. As a result the level of expectation of both physicians and patients is high. Because of the lack of guidelines, it is difficult to define which patients may derive some benefit. Some poor prognostic factors are known and these should be kept in mind while making treatment decisions. The surgeons are specifically faced with moral and ethical dilemmas as a surgical intervention carries the risk of morbidity without providing any benefit.

22.5 Malignant Bowel Obstruction

The treatment of malignant bowel obstruction depends on the age and general health status of the patient, the site and type of obstruction, the extent of peritoneal and other disease, and the possibility of further therapy.

There is a lack of objective criteria for selecting patients, and no randomized controlled trials are available. The end points are not clearly defined. Various parameters have been used to assess the effectiveness of therapy which include survival (30 or 60 days) after intervention, the rate of hospital discharge, and the ability to tolerate oral supplementation for a given length of time (30 or 60 days) [43, 44]. In addition, patientcentric outcomes also need to be considered like symptom relief, improvement in the quality of life, and eventually the quality of death.
 Table 22.2
 Moral dilemmas according to frequency [45]

Providing honest information without destroying hope
Preserving the patients choice
Using advance directives
Withholding or withdrawing life support
Discontinuing life support
Patient and family with differing goals
Uncertainty about the patient's prognosis
Fear of causing death by giving pain medication

The treatment options for these patients are drug therapy, endoscopic stenting, and surgical intervention.

The patients and relatives' wishes, their understanding of the magnitude of the problem, the desire of the family that the maximum is done, and reluctance of the surgeon to give up all influence the decision. The surgeon may feel obliged to offer some treatment to keep hopes alive, and in most situations patients accept it. Any intervention should have a reasonable possibility of providing physiological benefit though this assessment itself may vary among clinicians. No intervention should be performed to meet the emotional, existential, and/or psychological needs of patients [45].

Some of the moral dilemmas faced by surgeons were outlined by Hoffman et al. (Table 22.2).

22.6 Surgical Interventions

22.6.1 Definition of Palliative Surgery

Palliative care is derived from Latin "palliare": to cloak. Its main focus is to provide relief of symptoms and provide an acceptable quality of life for a patient with a terminal illness. It incorporates not only medical care to alleviate pain and other sign and symptoms but also to ameliorate physical and mental trauma of the terminal diagnosis.

Palliative surgery can be defined in terms of preoperative intent, individual patient prognosis, and postoperative status [46]. Relief of pain and symptoms were regarded the two most important goals, whereas increased patient survival was the

least important goal. If the initial intent itself is not to remove all the tumor and just provide symptomatic relief, the surgical procedure becomes palliative to start with.

However, many times, the intent is to obtain complete tumor removal, and during the surgical process, the same is not possible. In such cases, the procedure is considered palliative based on the postoperative outcome [47]. There are some patients with malignant bowel obstruction where it is possible to completely remove the tumor surgically. The commonest example is a left colonic tumor causing large bowel obstruction. In patients with PMP with one or two levels of obstruction, a broad and commonly accepted definition is "an operative or invasive procedure employed to alleviate symptoms and to improve quality of life, but with minimal anticipated impact on overall survival of the patient" [48].

22.7 Indications and Contraindications

If the patient is unlikely to derive benefit from the procedure, it should not be performed. There are some known poor prognostic factors like gross ascites, prior use of chemotherapy leading to malnourishment and frailty, patients with proximal small bowel obstruction, and diffuse carcinomatosis leading to obstruction which has been associated with poor surgical outcomes [37]. Patients with carcinomatosis usually present with partial and intermittent bowel obstruction that is more commonly multilevel, and the risk of perforation or strangulation is minimal in these patients. In addition, these patients have motility disorders as well as secondary to extensive bowel wall infiltration by tumor deposits and/or involvement of the sympathetic and parasympathetic nerves that regulate peristalsis. Symptoms may resolve temporarily with nasogastric decompression but almost always recur. When such patients are taken to the operating room, the results are generally poor, with a high 30-day mortality (21-40%) and a high complication rate (20-40%), and there is a high likelihood that most will reobstruct within a short period of time [37].

Patients who have progressive disease with a short time to progression, those who have received multiple lines of therapy, are unlikely to have a favorable outcome. The surgical intervention may fail to relieve the obstruction, or the effect may be short-lived. There is a high risk of damage to the bowel and fistula formation which should be borne in mind.

22.8 Surgical Procedures for MBO

A careful evaluation of the prior treatments should be made before carrying out surgical exploration. Previous surgical details should be looked into in detail. Prior peritonectomy procedures with or without intraperitoneal chemotherapy result in dense adhesions between the bowel loops and parities which are more difficult to deal with as compared to patients who have had other major gastrointestinal procedures. The preoperative imaging is usually limited by the inability to administer contrast. Proximal obstruction is more easily evaluated on imaging but is seldom an isolated event. For example, in a patient with recurrent colorectal or ovarian cancer presenting with high jejunal obstruction, there is likely to be disease distal to the site of obstruction which may not be accurately evaluated preoperatively and a bypass procedure in such a patient in seldom possible. Peritoneal metastases involve the distal ileum first and then spread to the more proximal parts of the small bowel. Involvement of the proximal jejunum is usually associated with disease affecting the remaining small bowel as well.

The commonest surgical procedure comprises of a diverting stoma performed proximal to the site of obstruction. Proximal stomas are usually high output stomas that can lead to fluid electrolyte disturbances which needs to be kept in mind before creating such a stoma [40].

Legendre et al. reported outcomes in 98 patients undergoing surgery for malignant bowel obstruction from various primary sites of which colorectal and ovarian cancer were the commonest primaries. The median survival was 64 days and the perioperative mortality was 21%. The quality of life of patients has been improved in 65% of cases. The survival and success of the procedure was influenced by the cause of the obstruction (local recurrence better than carcinomatosis) and the type of procedure performed (resection better than bypass) [49].

Abbas et al. reported outcomes in 79 patients who had laparotomy for small bowel obstruction due to recurrent cancer [50]. The primary cancer was colorectal in 31 patients, gynecologic cancer in 19, melanoma in 16, and other sites in 13. Patients underwent resection of PM with or without bowel resection. The rate of complications was 35% and mortality was 10%. Median survival was 5 months and was significantly better in patients with colorectal primary sites (median survival 7 months vs. 4 months; p = 0.02). Multivariate analysis showed that the extent of PM was the only factor that affected overall survival. Few series have reported mixed outcomes in patients with malignant melanoma presenting with bowel obstruction [51]. Surgery was effective in symptom palliation only and provided no survival benefit.

Patients with limited PM uncommonly present with obstruction, and in these patients, if other factors are favorable, an aggressive approach comprising of complete resection of all the tumors is beneficial. In patients with PM that are unresectable, a diverting stoma and/or a bypass procedure may provide meaningful benefit. Resection of peritoneal deposits or segmental bowel resection may not be successful. If it is successful, the results are short-lived, with a high morbidity and mortality related to the procedure, and are not advisable.

22.9 Endoscopic Procedures for Malignant Bowel Obstruction

Endoscopic procedures are feasible for gastroduodenal obstruction and colonic obstruction. Stents can be tried if the obstruction is at an accessible location, viz., up to duodenum, proximal jejunum in upper gastrointestinal tract, and colon up to 10 cm from anal verge in the lower gastrointestinal tract [52].

Gastric outlet obstruction (GOO) and proximal small bowel obstruction can arise due to direct infiltration of the primary tumor but also due to peritoneal metastases. The technical success rates for placement of a stent have been reported to be >90%, and clinical success with resolution of nausea and vomiting and improved ability to consume food orally is reported over 75% [53–56]. These stents can get obstructed due to tumor ingrowth or food impaction. The two main problems are stent migration which can occur if the tumor shrinks after chemotherapy and stent blockage due to tumor ingrowth which is dealt with by placing another stent of tumor ablation by Nd:YAG LASER or argon plasma coagulator [57].

Once again, such obstruction occurring in the setting of PM as an isolated event is rare and is usually associated with distal obstruction which may or may not be demonstrated on the imaging. The life expectancy of such patients is usually very short, and in the setting of a more distal obstruction, the stenting may fail to provide symptomatic relief.

The technical success rates for insertion of metallic stents range from 80% to 100%, and clinical improvement in symptoms reportedly occurs in more than 75% of patients [58, 59]. Many patients treated with stents have a durable relief of symptoms until death from progression of disease [60, 61]. Tumors located in the proximal transverse colon may be difficult to stent as is obstruction caused by extrinsic compression by tumor.

22.10 Drug Therapy for Malignant Bowel Obstruction

Patients who cannot undergo a surgical intervention have a shortened life span ranging 1–3 months. During this period they experience profound symptoms mainly due to accumulation of secretions leading to nausea and vomiting, colicky pain, and dehydration and due to the tumor itself leading to pain, generalized weakness, and loss of appetite. A nasogastric tube is required to drain the secretions which produces a lot of discomfort.

The goals of pharmacological therapy are:

- To provide relief of continuous abdominal pain and intestinal colic
- To reduce the frequency of vomiting to a level that can be managed without a nasogastric tube (e.g., 1–2 times in 24 h)
- To provide relief of nausea
- To enable the patients to get discharged and be managed with home/hospice care [40]

Clinical practice recommendations for the management of MBO in patients with end-stage cancer published by the Working Group of the European Association for Palliative Care are elaborated in Table 22.3 [40].

Table 22.3 Clinical practice recommendation for palliative care in patients with MBO

Pain management
Continuous pain
Use of analgesic according to the WHO guidelines (CIV, CSI, TD)
Use of strong opioids
Colicky pain
Anticholinergics—scopolamine butylbromide and scopolamine hydrobromide
Reducing the gastrointestinal secretions
Anticholinergics Scopolamine butylbromide (40–120 mg/day) Glycopyrrolate (0.1–0.2 mg TID SC OR IV) Scopolamine hydrobromide (0.8–2.0 mg/day) Somatostatin analogue Octreotide 0.2–0.9 mg/day CIV or CSI
Antiemetics
Metoclopramide (only patients with partial obstruction and no colicky pain)
Neuroleptics
Butyrophenones • Haloperidol (5–15 mg/day CRS)
Phenothiazines

- Methotrimeprazine (50–150 mg/day CSI)
- Prochlorperazine (25–75 mg/day rectal)
- Chlorpromazine (50–150 mg/8 h rectal/SC)

Antihistaminic drugs—cyclizine (100–150 mg/day SC or rectally)

Abbreviations: *CSI* continuous subcutaneous infusion, *CIV* continuous intravenous infusion

22.10.1 Pain Relief

Analgesics are administered according to the WHO guidelines to provide pain relief. The most commonly used agents are opioids [62, 63]. The dose should be titrated according to the requirement and most usually be administered parenter-ally [64–68].

If colic persists despite the use of an opioid, hyoscine butylbromide or hyoscine hydrobromide should also be administered in association [69–71].

22.10.2 Anti-secretory Agents

The mechanism of action of anti-secretory drugs is complex. Inhibition of intestinal smooth musculature and decrease of the intestinal secretions result in a reduction of intestinal distension. The vicious circle distension-secretion-distension is thus interrupted, and both edema and wall ischemia are decreased thereby reducing the risk of necrosis and perforation. This therapy may lead to recovery of intestinal motility as the functional component is reduced [72, 73].

The two most commonly used anti-secretory agents are octreotide and hyoscine butylbromide.

Octreotide is a synthetic analogue of somatostatin with greater specificity and a longer duration of action (12 h) that inhibits the release and activity of GI hormones; reduces gastric secretion, secretion of bile, and splanchnic blood flow; slows the intestinal motility; and increases the mucous production. It also increases the absorption of water and electrolytes which is probably mediated through the inhibition of vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) [74–78].

Octreotide has shown to be more effective in reducing nausea and vomiting, producing an improvement in the appetite and reduction in fatigue compared to hyoscine butylbromide [79–81]. Octreotide produces its effect more rapidly as well. In a systematic review, this benefit was confirmed [82]. One study showed that the benefit was short-lived, and after a week the effect of both drugs was similar, whereas others showed that the effect was more long lasting

[79]. The main drawback is the need for subcutaneous injection three times a day or intravenous injections and the cost. Octreotide LAR has already been tested in the case of intestinal obstruction. It appears to be safe and well tolerated, albeit perhaps less effective than the standard formulation against obstructive symptoms [83–85].

The presence of somatostatin receptors (SST 1-5) has been found in tumors such as breast, ovary, prostate, kidney, colon, and pancreas and in lymphomas. Hence, it has been hypothesized that octreotide administration may lead to a prolongation of life, though this remains to be demonstrated in clinical practice [86–88].

Corticosteroids reduce peritumoral inflammatory edema and increase water and salt absorption [89]. As corticosteroids are relatively inexpensive and well tolerated, this class of drugs has been largely used in the palliative care setting for relieving gastrointestinal symptoms or resolving obstruction [90]. However, a clear benefit of these drugs has not been demonstrated [37].

Among the antiemetics, parenteral metoclopramide is the drug of choice for functional obstruction as it increases the GI motility and is contraindicated in complete obstruction [37].

Other antiemetics that can be used are butyrophenones, antihistaminics, or phenothiazines [91]. In patients with complete obstruction, the dopamine antagonist haloperidol is the drug of choice. It can be administered subcutaneously as a bolus or as a continuous infusion and may be combined with scopolamine butylbromide and opioid analgesic. Phenothiazines like methotrimeprazine (levomepromazine), chlorpromazine and prochlorperazine can be used as well [91].

22.10.2.1 Hydration

Maintaining adequate hydration leads to a reduction in nausea and vomiting [92]. Administration of 1-1.5 l/day of fluid containing glucose and electrolytes prevents metabolic complications. Hypoder moclysis is a valid alternative to intravenous administration of fluids for patients in whom venous access is a problem [92]. Providing sips of fluids orally, having frequent mouth care, and sucking ice cubes help in relieving dry mouth, commonly associated with the use of anticholinergics [93].

22.10.2.2 Parenteral Nutrition

The use of total parenteral nutrition (TPN) in patients with advanced incurable cancer is debatable. The role of TPN in the management of patients with inoperable bowel obstruction should be used cautiously and only in patients whom some benefit is anticipated [94, 95].

22.10.2.3 Ascites

This is the most common finding in patients with peritoneal cancer, primary or metastatic. In patients with peritoneal surface disease (PSD), malignant ascites is associated with a short life expectancy, ranging from weeks to a few months [12, 96].

Large amounts of ascites can cause increased abdominal pressure with troublesome symptoms like pain, dyspnea, loss of appetite, nausea, reduced mobility, and problems with the body image.

The best way to control the ascites is to remove the cause, that is, the PM. Systemic chemotherapy is the mainstay of treatment in most of these patients. A modest increase in life expectancy of up to 4–5 months has been observed, depending on the primary disease [97, 98]. There may be a good response initially but it generally recurs. Some patients may have no response.

In addition, supportive measures like paracentesis, fluid and salt restriction, and diuretics are used to provide symptomatic relief but have no effect on the disease process itself. Direct administration of chemotherapy to the peritoneal cavity by various methods and using different agents has been attempted yielding favorable results in selected patients. Most of the times, multiple therapeutic strategies are used for the same patient.

Strategies for managing malignant ascites thus include:

- Supportive therapy for symptomatic relief
- Systemic chemotherapy and targeted therapies
- Locoregional therapies

22.10.3 Supportive Therapies for Symptom Control

22.10.3.1 Paracentesis

Studies show that almost 90% get temporary relief from symptoms caused by ascites [35]. However, repeated large-volume paracentesis is fraught with complications such as hypoalbuminemia, hypotension, renal impairment, and infections. A systematic review done by Becker et al. summarized the following points which should be kept in mind while doing paracentesis [35]:

- Up to 5 liters of ascitic fluid can be removed at one session.
- No fluid resuscitation is required till removal of 5 liters of fluid, if there is no hemodynamic or renal impairment.
- If patient is hypotensive or dehydrated, then fluid resuscitation is necessary before attempting paracentesis. There is no consensus over the choice of fluids, and colloids and albumin have not shown to be better as compared to crystalloids.
- However, face-to-face studies comparing fluid restriction versus fluid replacement during paracentesis have not been done; hence the interpretation of these guidelines is advised with caution [99].

22.10.3.2 Diuretics

Diuretics are inconsistently used for reduction in ascites. However, the evidence available is also weak and as such their use is still controversial.

22.10.3.3 Peritoneovenous Shunts

This is an invasive procedure with its own set of complications and is needed to be used judiciously. Contraindications include ascites protein content >4.5 g/dl and hemorrhagic ascites, coagulation disturbances, liver failure, mutinous ascites, and loculated ascites [100]. There is no increase in the risk of hematogenous metastases to the peritoneo-hematogenous communications [100]. Due to reasons unknown, however, the response rates are better in ascites secondary to peritoneal disease from ovary or breast cancer as compared to gastrointestinal cancer [100, 101]. This is an invasive procedure with almost 6% risk of complications like pulmonary edema, pulmonary emboli, disseminated intravascular coagulation, and infection and hence is advised as a last resort when other techniques have failed and patient has a limited life span [35].

22.10.4 Locoregional Therapies

Palliative HIPEC/laparoscopic HIPEC

Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC)

New drugs for intraperitoneal administration Laparoscopic aspiration of mucinous ascites

22.10.5 Palliative HIPEC

Use of palliative laparoscopic HIPEC has been proposed to treat debilitating malignant ascites [102]. By destroying the peritoneal carcinomatosis, HIPEC may induce hemostasis and progressive fibrosis of the peritoneum, preventing ascites and bleeding [102].

The main drawback of CRS and HIPEC is the risk of morbidity and mortality. In laparoscopic HIPEC, since the goal is control of ascites, CRS is not performed which reduces the morbidity significantly. It is further reduced by performing HIPEC laparoscopically leading to fewer perioperative complications [102]. Several studies have reported outcomes of laparoscopic HIPEC for control of ascites (Table 22.4).

The efficacy of HIPEC in all these studies was evaluated by the resolution of ascites, and it persisted in most patients till death due to progressive disease or at the last follow-up. There was minimal morbidity and no mortality and the median survival ranged from 3 to 9 months. None of these studies included validated QOL surveys as part of their assessment. Though the overall impact on QoL cannot be determined, control of ascites leads to an improvement in the performance status of patients. One report describes an ultrasound-guided approach using heated chemotherapy solution.

Ref/year	No. of patients	Primary site	HIPEC	Drugs used	Response rate (%)	Median survival (range)
[103] 2006	14	Multiple sites	Cisplatin and doxorubicin or mitomycin	Laparoscopic	100	203 days [21–267]
[104] 2008	5	Gastric	Mitomycin and cisplatin	Laparoscopic	100	89 days [33–144]
[105] 2008	1	Mesothelioma	Cisplatin and doxorubicin	Laparoscopic	100	6 months
[106] 2009	52	Multiple sites	Cisplatin and doxorubicin or mitomycin	Laparoscopic	98	98 days [21–796]
[107] 2010	16	Gastric	5-FU and oxaliplatin	Laparoscopic	88	5 months [2–9]
[108] 2013	62	Ovarian Gastrointestinal	Cisplatin and doxorubicin Mitomycin	Laparoscopic B-ultrasound guided	93 94	8 months [2–20] 9 months [2–30]
[109] 2014	299	Multiple sites	Mitomycin Carboplatin Oxaliplatin Cisplatin	Open	93	5.3 months

Table 22.4 Outcomes for palliative HIPEC for control of malignant ascites

De Mestier performed HIPEC at 43 °C with mitomycin C and cisplatin in two patients with hemorrhagic ascites causing severe anemia. Both patients had cessation of peritoneal bleeding; there was no postoperative complication or relapse of ascites in either of the patients [108].

In a study of five patients with malignant ascites of gastric origin requiring repeated paracentesis, treated with HIPEC with mitomycin C and cisplatin at an inflow temperature of 45 °C, there was complete resolution of ascites in all five patients. The mean operative time was 181 min, and there was no perioperative morbidity except for delayed gastric emptying in one patient or mortality [104].

In another study of 14 patients with malignant ascites from various primary sites, HIPEC was performed with cisplatin and doxorubicin or mitomycin C leading to control of ascites in all the 14 patients. There was a small clinically insignificant fluid collection in one patient [103].

At a Chinese center, the possibility of placing HIPEC perfusion catheters using B-mode ultrasound was explored and the cost and perioperative outcomes compared to laparoscopic HIPEC [108, 110]. Sixty-two patients with malignant ascites secondary to ovarian or gastrointestinal primary tumors were randomly treated with B-ultrasound-guided HIPEC (therapeutic group) or laparoscopy-assisted HIPEC (control group). A monthly follow-up with ultrasound or CT scan was done for 21 months for all patients. The patient characteristics were matched in the two groups. The duration of procedure was shorter in the ultrasound group (35 vs. 85 min), and mean hospitalization cost was also lower (p < 0.01) with no significant difference in ascites remission rates, median survival times, and port site metastases (or drain site metastases) between the two groups. The authors concluded that B-mode ultrasound-guided HIPEC had a similar efficacy to laparoscopic HIPEC but shortened the operating time and reduced the hospitalization costs [108].

Randle et al. performed a retrospective analysis of 1000 patients undergoing CRS and HIPEC at their center of which 299 had malignant ascites due to PM from various primary sites. The efficacy of HIPEC in controlling ascites was evaluated in these patients. There was a complete resolution of ascites in 288 (93%) patients at a follow-up of three months. In patients with ascites, complete cytoreduction was obtained in 15 versus 59% when ascites was not present (p < 0.001). In patients who had resolution of ascites, 84% had gross residual disease, and in patients who had persistent ascites at 3 months, 86% had gross residual disease. Univariate analysis revealed that the type of primary disease, resection status, duration or agent of chemoperfusion, and performance status did not predict failure to control ascites. They concluded that HIPEC in patients with incomplete cytoreduction could provide a benefit by controlling ascites in selected patients [109]. These patients as a whole represent a better prognostic group as they were considered for a curative resection as opposed to patients in other studies where HIPEC was performed for palliation alone, and thus, the benefit of HIPEC as a purely palliative procedure cannot be determined from this study though the number of patients is relatively large.

The authors attributed the control of ascites to HIPEC rather than CRS as indicated by the resolution of ascites in patients with gross residual disease.

They also developed a scoring system for ascites based on the findings of the preoperative CT scan.

The abdominal cavity was divided into nine regions similar to those used in calculating the PCI except that the small bowel regions were excluded. When ascites was present within a particular region, 1 point was assigned, without ascites a score of 0 was assigned. Thus, preoperative ascites was graded on a scale from 0 to 9 using this point system. For those cases where a preoperative CT was not available but the operative note indicated volume >3.51 of ascites, a score of 9 was applied.

Valle et al. reported complete resolution of ascites in 51/52 patients treated with laparoscopic HIPEC for malignant ascites. There was no perioperative mortality [106].

The raised intra-abdominal pressure during laparoscopic HIPEC may increase the drug penetration into tissues. Though this has been demonstrated in experimental studies, clinical evidence to support this benefit is lacking [111, 112]. It has been hypothesized that the heated chemotherapy may eradicate viable cancer, several cell layers deep on all the peritoneal surfaces. Then, a thin layer of fibrosis may develop on the exposed surfaces. The fibrous layer may direct the cancerous fluid into the capillary bed and thereby into the systemic circulation, causing a resolution of the problematic re-accumulation of ascites [103]. Abdominal sclerosis and induction of dense adhesions are probably the major factor of efficacy of this technique.

These results seem promising but the selection criteria and prognostic factors have not been defined. A comparison with systemic chemotherapy is lacking; however, the morbidity is minimal and systemic chemotherapy itself is not without side effects. It may be concluded that patients with ascites from unresectable PM may experience control of ascites with laparoscopic HIPEC with minimal morbidity. The efficacy in patients who have chemotherapy refractory ascites is not known.

22.10.6 Pressurized Intraperitoneal Aerosol Chemotherapy (PIPAC)

Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) is a novel approach to deliver IP chemotherapy to patients with PM. It has shown efficacy in the palliative setting in patients with PM who have progressed on one or more lines of chemotherapy. It has also been used to control chemotherapy refractory ascites though the results in these patients have not been reported separately. PIPAC is a feasible option in patients with malignant ascites who have failed to respond to one or more lines of chemotherapy and in patients who do not want chemotherapy. The dose of chemotherapeutic drugs is onetenth of their systemic dose leading to fewer side effects, multiple applications are possible at 6-8 week intervals, and systemic chemotherapy can be used concurrently.

22.10.7 New Agents for Intraperitoneal Use

Two new drugs that have shown benefit in this situation are catumaxomab and bevacizumab. Apart from these, researchers have tried various methods like intraperitoneal instillations of tumor necrosis factor, interferons, *C. parvum*, or radio-isotopes like gold. However, none has shown to have great benefits [113–116].

22.10.8 Catumaxomab

Epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM, CD326) is a surface antigen that is expressed on normal epithelial cells as well as tumor cells [117]. Catumaxomab is a non-humanized chimeric antibody, consisting in a mouse-derived anti-EpCAM Fab (fragment antigen-binding) region and a rat anti-CD3 Fab. Thus, it can bind to three different types of cells: tumor cells expressing the epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM positive), T lymphocytes (CD3 positive), and also accessory cells (Fc γ receptor positive), such as macrophages, natural killer cells, and dendritic cells [118, 119].

Catumaxomab binds to human EpCAMpositive tumor cells, thereby activating a complex antitumor immune reaction through various mechanisms like antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity, phagocytosis, and T cell-mediated cytotoxicity [120–123]. Catumaxomab after intraperitoneal administration has shown to reduce ascites and delay the requirement for paracentesis in patients with refractory malignant ascites from ovarian and other non-gynecologic malignancies [124, 125]. In a phase II/III trial (EudraCT 2004-000723-15; NCT00836654), patients (n = 258) with recurrent symptomatic malignant ascites refractory to systemic chemotherapy were randomized to paracentesis plus catumaxomab (catumaxomab) or paracentesis alone (control) and stratified by cancer type (129 ovarian and 129 nonovarian) [126]. Intraperitoneal catumaxomab infusion was given on days 0, 3, 7, and 10 at doses of 10, 20, 50, and 150 µg, respectively. The puncture-free survival was significantly longer in the catumaxomab group (median 46 days) than the control group (median 11 days) (p < 0.0001) as was median time to next paracentesis (77 versus 13 days; p < 0.0001). Patients receiving catumaxomab were less symptomatic from their ascites and showed an increase in OS with the most significant benefit seen in patients with gastric cancer (n = 66; 71 versus 44 days; p = 0.0313). Most of the side effects were mild and there were catheter-related infections. Of the patients 15% had serious adverse events [127].

Following intraperitoneal injection with catumaxomab, antitumor immunity develops which can be long lasting in some patients [128].

In another randomized study published in 2008, of the 55 patients undergoing surgery for gastric adenocarcinoma (T2b/T3/T4, N±, M0) with a curative intent, 28 received an intraperitoneal catumaxomab infusion in the immediate postoperative period and were compared to 27 patients who underwent resection alone [127]. Catumaxomab was administered during surgery and then postoperatively on days 7, 10, 13, and 16 at increasing doses, and 78% of the patients were able to receive all five infusions. The EpCAM antigen was present in 100% of patients. Treatment related side effects were seen in 40% of the patients and resolved in most of the cases. This study demonstrated that adjuvant intraperitoneal catumaxomab, after gastrectomy, is feasible, safe, and well tolerated. The same findings were reported in another study [129].

A multicenter, randomized, phase II study is ongoing comparing dosages of catumaxomab in patients with limited PM (PCI < 12) from gastric cancer, after complete cytoreduction of disease. The goal of this study will be to assess 2-year overall survival, as well as monitor toxicity and morbidity. Besides this analysis, translational research will be conducted to determine immunological markers of catumaxomab efficacy and to correlate these markers with clinical efficacy [130].

22.10.9 Bevacizumab

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a potent stimulator of angiogenesis, is secreted by tumor cells in a paracrine manner and leads to formation of ascites. In addition, peritoneal mesothelial cells, monocytes/macrophages infiltrating malignant effusions, and even tumorinfiltrating T cells are known to produce VEGF [131–133]. Bevacizumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody that acts against the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Animal studies have shown that its intraperitoneal administration is safe and can lead to ascites control [134–137]. It has been used in the clinical setting for palliative treatment of refractory malignant ascites with varying results. A few case reports and small case series have shown good control of ascites with IP bevacizumab [138-141]. The dose used varied from 5 to 15 mg/kg administered every 3-4 weeks. Some studies showed the control of ascites with a single dose [141].

In a study of 29 patients, the median paracentesis-free survival was 17 days and 11 days for patients with ovarian and gastric cancer, respectively, using IP bevacizumab.

A multicenter double-blind, placebocontrolled phase II study – AIO SUP-0108 – showed no benefit of intraperitoneal bevacizumab as compared to placebo in patients with chemotherapy refractory malignant ascites of gastrointestinal origin though there was a reduction in the ascites in patients receiving bevacizumab. However, 17 of the 33 patients in the study group had ascites secondary to pancreatic adenocarcinomas which may be responsible for the poor results overall. The complication rate was similar in the experimental and control groups.

22.10.10 Laparoscopic Aspiration of Mucinous Ascites in Patients with PMP

In PMP, where the PCI is too high and/or with extensive involvement of the bowel, curative CRS with HIPEC is not feasible. In such patients, laparoscopic aspiration of the mutinous material provides excellent symptom relief with minimal morbidity [142].

22.11 Management of Other Symptoms

Nausea and Vomiting: This can be multifactorial. Often it is impossible to define the cause. The treatment should be multifactorial and should follow the following principles [143]:

- Prescription of multiple drugs if required.
- Liberal dosing patterns including doses as per need.
- If there is significant vomiting, consider subcutaneous patches.
- Commonly used drugs included domperidone, metoclopramide, and dexamethasone. Cyclizine and haloperidol are used with caution in view of their side effect profile.
- Consider longer-acting antiemetics to reduce tablet burden.

22.11.1 Fatigue, Drowsiness, Lethargy, and Weakness

These are secondary to generalized debility and cancer cachexia, the management of which explained in detail in the following section.

22.11.2 Nutrition and Hydration

It has been seen that almost 85% patients suffer from malnutrition. Correction of this malnutrition can improve the general condition and make the patient fit for further treatment options [25]. Most of the advanced cancers present with cancer cachexia which if not corrected gradually worsens the performance status of the patient. Cancer cachexia is a multifactorial syndrome defined by an ongoing loss of skeletal muscle mass (with or without loss of fat mass) that cannot be fully

reversed by conventional nutritional support and leads to progressive functional impairment. Patients have a reduced intake of food and alteration of the normal metabolic processes which leads to a negative protein and energy balance [144]. The treatment goal in these patients is to reverse the loss of body weight and muscle mass. If weight gain is not possible, at least further weight loss should be prevented. The salient features for management of cancer cachexia and improving nutrition and hydration are as follows.

- Mutimodal therapy should be offered.
- Enteral nutrition is the preferred route with daily calorific requirement aimed at maintaining body weight or in the least preventing further loss.
- Steroids and progestins have found to stimulate appetite and have been tried with some success [144].
- Prokinetics may be helpful in cases of gastroparesis and dyspeptic patients.
- Thalidomide, cannabinoids, and omega 3 fatty acids have been tried with mixed results and are thus not recommended.
- Nondrug treatments like counseling and relaxation therapies have found to benefit some patients.

22.11.3 Edema and Lymphedema

Generalized edema or anasarca is usually a result of profound hypoalbuminemia. Correction of cancer cachexia and malnutrition helps in ameliorating it. However, in view of the severe catabolic state of the terminal patient, it is often not possible to reverse the edema. Localized edema with or without cellulitis may happen on the abdominal wall secondary to repeated paracentesis and abdominal wall metastases. Use of antibiotics and local skin care may help in reducing the infection. Occasionally an isolated abdominal wall deposit can be excised. Salt restriction, pressure garments for extremities, and physical therapy are some measures attempted along with nutritional support.

Lymphedema is often seen if previous pelvic surgery or radiation has been done. It is one of the most poorly understood, relatively underestimated, and least researched complications of cancer or its treatment. In advanced peritoneal metastases, it may be seen on the lower extremities and torso. It is an independent predictor of debility and loss of quality of life in the terminal stages [145]. The usual symptoms include edema, skin changes, and heaviness and aching of the limbs. This makes the person less mobile leading to worsening performance status and gradually making the patient bedridden. General treatment principles include skin care, compression and support, movement and exercise, and treatment of superadded infections if any.

22.11.4 Constipation

It is one of the commonest symptoms caused by a combination of factors like debility, decreased mobility, concomitant medications, reduced food and fluid intake, and bowel pathology. Patients can also present with paradoxical overflow diarrhea. This symptom is often undertreated and as such the research on management of constipation is very limited. The following can be used as guiding principles [144]:

- Of utmost importance is patient education and information about the causes of constipation, increasing fluid intake and making appropriate dietary changes to help improve symptoms.
- Patient preference should be followed for greater compliance of laxatives.
- Palatability and drug tolerability should be considered before prescribing.
- Examine lower rectum or stoma should be examined for fecal impaction.
- Most patients on opioids need regular laxatives.
- A combination of still softeners and stimulant laxatives is often required for good control of symptoms.
- Requirements should be reviewed and titrated every 2 days.
- If bowels have not opened in 3 days, further evaluation is necessary.
- If colic is present, the patient should be evaluated to rule out impending MBO.

22.12 Management of Asymptomatic Patients

There are patients with PM who are excluded pre- or intraoperatively from a curative approach and are asymptomatic. The goals of therapy in these patients are to prolong survival and maintain the quality of life. Systemic chemotherapy is the cornerstone of therapy for these patients. Simultaneously, intraperitoneal therapies are being developed to treat these patients who are not eligible for CRS and HIPEC. Some of new and old therapies are being used as neoadjuvant therapy to reduce the burden of peritoneal disease making subsequent CRS and HIPEC feasible.

As such, these patients represent a gray zone as far as treatment is concerned; the management protocols fall in a continuum between curative and palliative. This has been exemplified by Von Grueningen et al. in their integrated model of palliative care algorithm for ovarian cancers. This can be applied to all advanced peritoneal malignancies and inoperable peritoneal metastases as well (Fig. 22.1) [146].

Based on this model, the care is provided from the point of diagnosis, and as curative options diminish, the palliative options become progressively important (Fig. 22.1). Emerging paradigms in palliative care suggest early intervention and use of general care and specialists to provide multidisciplinary care as per the needs.

As the intent of therapy in palliative care is solely for symptom control with no definable end point, palliative care research has its unique set of challenges. Certain points have been suggested for better accrual for patients in clinical trials on palliative care such as keeping the eligibility criteria as broad as possible and at the same time maintaining as much patient homogeneity as possible [147]. With palliative care being recognized as a separate branch of oncology and as speciality



Integrated Model of Palliative Care

Fig. 22.1 Integrated model of palliative care—care is provided from the time of diagnosis, and as the curative options diminish, the palliative options become progressively more important (adapted from Ref. [146]) in itself, the volume of research has expanded slowly but surely. Many of the therapeutic interventions can marginally improve survival and radically improve the quality of life.

22.12.1 Debulking Surgery

Patients with extensive disease may be declared inoperable before the procedure. Without treatment, these patients experience worsening of symptoms, bowel obstruction, and death. They might obtain some symptom relief and prolongation of life by a debulking surgery. The likelihood of benefit from surgical treatment in such cases has to be balanced against the risk of postoperative complication and the ensuing deterioration in the quality of life. Some patients planned for a complete cytoreduction are found to have unresectable disease during surgery and end up with a CC-2/3 resection.

There is no consensus on what is the most appropriate treatment for such patients.

The questions that need to be addressed in this situation are:

- Should a debulking surgery be performed in patients that seem inoperable?
- Which are the patients that benefit from debulking surgery?
- What should be the extent of surgery?
- Should such procedures be combined with perioperative chemotherapy?

22.12.2 Pseudomyxoma Peritonei Arising from Appendiceal Tumors

There is evidence showing a benefit of debulking surgery in patients with pseudomyxoma peritonei. Moran et al. in their study of 1000 patients reported a 5- and 10-year overall survival of 39.2% and 8.1%, respectively, in 242 patients who had a major tumor debulking [148]. Major debulking in their series comprised of an extended right hemicolectomy, greater omentectomy and splenectomy with an ileocolic anastomosis, or a total colectomy with an end ileostomy [148].

Another strategy as proposed by Delhorme et al. is to perform maximal tumor debulking, leaving less than 20% of the disease in areas where it is not likely to cause symptoms, with the goal of obtaining prolonged OS and long-lasting relief of the symptoms, thus ensuring a good quality of life [150]. The visceral resections mostly performed comprise the distal portion of the stomach, a total or subtotal colectomy, and a part of the small bowel preserving at least 2.5 m. The areas on which tumor may be left behind are the undersurfaces of the diaphragms, the Glisson's capsule, the whole rectum (if there is no stenosis), and the nonobstructive nodules measuring less than 10 mm on the small bowel. The authors recommend that all efforts should be made to avoid creating a stoma as stomas created in such situations have a greater likelihood of being permanent. Use of any form of intraperitoneal chemotherapy is not recommended by them in view of the higher risk of major morbidity. The 5-year overall survival was 46% in this series compared to 15% and 30% in other series [149, 150].

Glehen et al. reported 3-year and 5-year survival rates of 34% and 15%, respectively, in 174 patients who had incomplete cytoreductive surgery with or without perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy [151]. Thirty-seven patients who did not receive any form of intraperitoneal chemotherapy due to inter bowel adhesions had an inferior survival to those who received either HIPEC or EPIC or both (p < 0.001). Sixty-one patients had HIPEC, and these patients had a better survival than those who did not (p < 0.001). The authors also mentioned that there was a selection bias in favor of patients who had perioperative chemotherapy (POC). No patients with lymph node involvement were alive at 2 years, and the 2-year survival of patients with signet ring cells was less than 30%. The authors did not recommend an incomplete CRS and POC for these patients [151].

Thus, there is enough evidence to suggest that such procedures may provide a prolongation of life and symptomatic relief in selected patients. However, such decisions should be made by multidisciplinary teams and the treatment executed in experienced centers, to ensure that no patient is deprived of a complete cytoreduction where it is possible. Whereas the use of HIPEC is recommended by some, others do not advocate it.

22.12.3 Debulking Surgery for Other Tumors

Patients who have an incomplete cytoreduction do not have a benefit over systemic chemotherapy alone in other primary and secondary tumors. The current literature suggests that HIPEC in the setting of an incomplete cytoreduction does not offer any advantage in terms of overall survival except for selected cases of malignant mesothelioma [152–154].

22.12.4 Neoadjuvant Therapies of Advanced PM

A new bidirectional chemotherapy (neoadjuvant intraperitoneal-systemic chemotherapy protocol (NIPS)) was developed by Yonemura and his collaborators from Japan to induce a reduction of the peritoneal cancer index of patients with gastric PM [155]. NIPS can attack PM from both sides of peritoneum, not only from the peritoneal cavity but also from the subperitoneal blood vessels, and is considered a bidirectional chemotherapy [155]. Following a response to NIPS, selected patients become candidates for CRS and HIPEC. This treatment which has produced response rates of over 70% in patients with gastric PM is being investigated by Francois Quenet from Montpellier for CPM in the NIPOX trial [156]. In a pilot study, six patients with unresectable peritoneal disease of colorectal origin were included in the study. An intraperitoneal implantable chamber catheter was inserted during the laparotomy that evaluated the extent of the peritoneal disease (peritoneal carcinomatosis index 25-39). Patients then underwent intraperitoneal chemotherapy with oxaliplatin 85 mg/m² in combination with systemic chemotherapy (FOLFIRI or simplified LV5FU) and a targeted therapy every 2 weeks. Two patients completed the four intraperitoneal (IP) chemotherapy cycles without major toxicity. Two catheter perfusion incidents were reported due to the abdominal wall thickness. For one patient with aggressive disease, best supportive care was initiated after the first course of chemotherapy. The tolerance was acceptable for 85 mg/m² IP oxaliplatin combined with systemic therapy in these patients. This study formed the basis for the NIPOX trial [157].

Patients with a PCI of >17 are given a combination of systemic chemotherapy and intraperitoneal chemotherapy through two intraperitoneal catheters with implantable chambers. Responders are subsequently evaluated for CRS and HIPEC. Simultaneously, a dose escalation study for intraperitoneal oxaliplatin is being performed. Along similar lines is the IPOXA trial (NCT02866903), which is a phase 1/2 trial studying the administration of IP oxaliplatin (normothermic port-directed) with systemic FOLFIRI and bevacizumab in CPM of uncertain respectability. Currently, this trial is looking at morbidity, dose-limiting toxicity, and overall response rates of this treatment strategy.

22.12.5 Pressurized Intraperitoneal Aerosol Chemotherapy (PIPAC)

PIPAC is a new method of intraperitoneal drug delivery that is currently being used for patients who have unresectable peritoneal metastases and have progressive disease on systemic chemotherapy or do not want systemic chemotherapy.

22.12.5.1 Background, Rationale, and Preclinical Data

The concept of a therapeutic pneumoperitoneum was introduced in 2000 by Marc Reymond and colleagues who developed a micro pump suitable for minimally invasive surgical procedures in which micro droplets of the drug could be distributed in the carbon dioxide pneumoperitoneum, creating a "therapeutic capnoperitoneum" [158]. The current device is a spraying device, similar to a nebulizer that consisted of an injector, a line, and a nozzle, and used mechanical pressure [159]. It could be introduced through a trocar and produces a more even distribution of methylene blue and

better tissue uptake as compared to simple lavage. The distribution to areas like the unexposed part of the stomach and the cecum, surfaces of the small and large intestines, and undersurfaces of the diaphragm which often remained untouched by simple peritoneal lavage was superior and uniform in this study. The use of a nebulizer laparoscopically has been described by other investigators for different purposes like postoperative pain control and intraperitoneal tumor control [160–162].

A proof of principle study confirmed the efficacy of this technique [163].

22.12.5.2 Pharmacokinetic Advantages of PIPAC

The term pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) was coined for this therapy which combined the principles of a "therapeutic capnoperitoneum" with that of aerosolized chemotherapy [164]. There is more homogenous distribution of the drug and better tissue uptake [165]. PIPAC overcomes several limitations of the commonly used methods of intraperitoneal chemotherapy.

22.12.5.3 Technique of PIPAC

The technique of PIPAC first described by Marc Reymond and collaborators is as follows. A capnoperitoneum of 12 mmHg at 37 °C is created, and two balloon trocars are applied [166]. A laparoscopic evaluation is performed and the PCI is determined. Representative areas are biopsied and ascites is drained. A biopsy of specific areas can be done for response evaluation in the subsequent procedures, and areas of suspicion can also be biopsied. A nebulizer is connected to a highpressure injector and inserted into the abdomen through a trocar. A pressurized aerosol containing cisplatin at a dose of 7.5 mg/m² body surface in 150 ml NaCl 0.9% is administered immediately followed by doxorubicin 1.5 mg/m² in 50 ml NaCl 0.9% for gastric PM, ovarian PM, and peritoneal mesothelioma. For colorectal PM and appendiceal tumor, oxaliplatin (92 mg/m²) is used. The system is kept in this steady state for 30 min (application time). The toxic aerosol is then removed through a closed system. The trocars are removed and the wounds repaired.

22.12.5.4 Electrostatic PIPAC

Kakchekeeva et al. have introduced electrostatic PIPAC (ePIPAC), proposing that electrostatic charging the aerosol particles may further enhance the pharmacologic properties of PIPAC [167].

The performance and safety of this equipment has been demonstrated in bench studies, preclinical testing, and clinical testing, including a clinical study on 30 patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy [168].

22.12.5.5 Current Clinical Evidence

In the first report of safety and efficacy, in which ten PIPAC procedures were performed in three patients, the plasma concentration-time profile analysis of PIPAC was favorable [168]. The nuclear presence of doxorubicin was documented throughout the peritoneum, reaching a high local concentration ($\leq 4.1 \, \mu mol/g$) while maintaining a low plasma concentration (4.0-6.2 ng/ml). PIPAC required only 1/10 of the doxorubicin dose and resulted higher tumor drug concentration (0.03-4.1 µmol/g) as compared to HIPEC $(0.02 \mu mol/g)$. This difference was maintained in the drug concentration in the systemic circulation as well indicating that the proportion of the drug reaching the systemic circulation is similar after both procedures.

Complete tumor remission was seen in two patients and a partial response in 1. Mean survival after the first PIPAC was 288 days. Moreover, PIPAC had a significantly lower morbidity, and only one patient who had a concurrent CRS experienced grade 3–5 morbidity.

Most of the published reports are case reports, prospective and retrospective case series, and a phase II trial. Tempfer et al. reported outcomes in a series of 18 women with PM from recurrent ovarian cancer treated with multiple sessions of PIPAC performed at 4–6 week intervals using doxorubicin 1.5 mg/m² and cisplatin 7.5 mg/m² [169]. Thirty-four PIPAC procedures were performed in 18 women, and 8 of these underwent a concurrent CRS. In eight women who had more than one PIPAC and a response evaluation was performed, complete remission was seen in one patient, partial remission in two, and stable disease in three women. Median follow-up was 192

days (range 13–639). Cumulative survival after 400 days was 62% and mean actuarial survival time was 442 days. On multivariate analysis, patient age (<75 vs. >75 years), serum CA-125 (<1000 vs. >1000 U/ml), and the presence of ascites (yes vs. no) were not independent predictors of objective tumor response. Five women had CTCAE grade 3–4 events of which four could be potentially related to the PIPAC procedure and three of these four were patients who had PIPAC after CRS. The results of this series indicate that PIPAC has activity in women with recurrent, platinum-resistant ovarian cancer and should not be combined with CRS.

There are case reports of an objective response in a patient with recurrent pseudomyxoma peritonei of appendiceal origin and in an octogenarian with advanced ovarian cancer treated with PIPAC alone [170, 171].

De Simone et al. reported their experience with 40 procedures performed in 14 patients [172]. Most of the patients received systemic chemotherapy in addition to PIPAC, and there was no significant hepatic or renal toxicity of this combined therapy. They reported good symptom control in patients who had symptomatic ascites and subacute intestinal obstruction. The use of systemic therapy permitted the application of PIPAC in patients with retroperitoneal lymphadenopathy and/or extra-abdominal metastases who were symptomatic from PM. They suggested that dose-finding studies were needed to determine ideal dose and this strategy could have a role in standard frontline therapy for PM [172].

In a phase II trial evaluating the role of PIPAC in patients with recurrent ovarian, fallopian tube, and primary peritoneal cancer, of the 64 patients enrolled, 17% could not undergo PIPAC due to laparoscopic nonaccess. Of the patients 62% had an objective tumor response; three had a partial response and 30 patients had stable disease. Thirty-four patients could undergo all three PIPAC sessions in accordance with the study protocol. Tumor regression on histology and peritoneal cancer index (PCI) improvement were observed in 26/34 (76%) and in 26/34 (76%) patients who underwent all three PIPACs. There were no treatment-related deaths [173]. In addition, EORTC QLQ-30 global physical health scores, nausea/vomiting, appetite loss, diarrhea, and constipation improved during therapy. The mean time to progression was 144 days. The authors concluded that further evaluation as an alternative to or in addition to systemic therapy as a palliative option is needed in clinical trials.

Reymond et al. evaluated the role of PIPAC in gastric PM retrospectively [174]. Sixty PIPACs were applied in 24 consecutive patients with PM from gastric cancer. Of the patients 67% had previous surgery, and 79% had previous platinumbased systemic chemotherapy. Mean PCI was 16 ± 10 and 18/24 patients had tumors with signet ring cells. Cisplatin 7.5 mg/m² and doxorubicin 1.5 mg/m² were given for 30 min at 37 °C and 12 mmHg at 6-week intervals. Median follow-up was 248 days (range 105-748), and median survival time was 15.4 months. Seventeen patients had >1 PIPAC. Objective tumor response was documented in half of the patients after PIPAC, including complete histological regression in six patients. This study showed that there was a benefit of PIPAC in patients with recurrent platinumresistant gastric PM and it needed further prospective evaluation. Though the selection criteria for PIPAC could not be defined based on this study, the authors suggested using PIPAC soon after development of recurrence would be most beneficial [174].

In a retrospective study of 48 PIPAC procedures performed in 17 pretreated patients with colorectal PM, all patients had previously undergone surgery, and 16 had undergone previous lines of systemic chemotherapy (median, two lines); objective tumor responses were observed in 12/17 patients (71%) [175]. The mean PCI was 16 ± 10 . PIPAC was performed using oxaliplatin (92 mg/m²) repeated every 6 weeks at 37 °C and 12 mmHg for 30 min. There were no intraoperative complications. The mean number of PIPAC administrations per patient was 2.8 (minimum one, maximum six). Postoperative adverse events (CTCAE level 3) were observed in four patients (23%); no CTCAE level 4 adverse events were reported. The hospital mortality was zero and the overall responses were as follows: complete pathological response (n = 7), major response (n = 4),

partial response (n = 1), no response (n = 2), and not eligible (n = 3). The mean survival after first PIPAC was 15.7 months. This study showed that PIPAC with oxaliplatin could induce regression of pretreated colorectal PM and needed further evaluation in prospective studies [175].

22.12.5.6 Toxicity

Toxicity data related to PIPAC have also been published. During PIPAC, only about 10% of a usual systemic drug dose is applied into the abdomen. This dose was in proportion to that used for HIPEC and, considering the pharmacokinetic differences, one tenth of the dose used for HIPEC [176]. The systemic drug concentration is minimal, about 1% of a systemic dose or 5% of a HIPEC dose. Apart from the dose used, the potential for complications is due to the hemodynamic changes and use of intra-abdominal pressure application directly on the surface of organs having the potential for local toxicity. Patients may have chemical peritonitis leading to abdominal discomfort and a rise in C-reactive protein. There is no cumulative toxicity with multiple applications, and the incidence of grade 3 and 4 adverse events is <10% [176, 177].

Some complications that can arise are trocar site hernias, bowel access lesions, subcutaneous toxic emphysema, small bowel obstruction, port site metastasis, therapy-resistant ascites, and postoperative tumor growth and metastases. At least some like bowel access lesions, subcutaneous toxic emphysema, and trocar site hernias can be avoided by the use of proper surgical technique.

22.12.5.7 Quality of Life

Worldwide, PIPAC has been used for patients who are heavily pretreated and symptomatic from their PM. There is a subgroup of patients that have a good performance status despite their extensive disease and numerous lines of therapy who have been treated with PIPAC [177]. Reymond et al. evaluated the quality of life (QoL) in 91 patients who had undergone 158 PIPAC procedures as salvage therapy [177].

QoL was assessed before starting PIPAC and at 3-month posttreatment. Patients undergoing

PIPAC had stabilization of QoL. Functional scores remained stable, and gastrointestinal symptoms did not deteriorate during treatment. Only pain scores increased slightly for a short period of time. Transient abdominal pain was attributed the chemical peritonitis induced by PIPAC. The common side effects of systemic chemotherapy such as mucositis, nausea/vomiting, diarrhea, paresthesia, cutaneous symptoms, and alopecia were not reported by the patients. However, according to the authors, these results should be interpreted with caution; since it was a retrospective study, patients who could not tolerate the therapy were excluded, and the stabilization of symptoms could be in part due to discontinuation of systemic therapy. Similar results were reported by Robella et al. for 40 PIPAC procedures performed in 14 patients [172].

22.12.5.8 Advantages and Limitations of PIPAC

PIPAC has pharmacokinetic benefits like increased tumor drug penetration using 1/10, the dose used in HIPEC with limited systemic absorption [176]. There is more homogenous drug distribution over the peritoneal surfaces [159]. Overall incidence of complications is low and the average hospital stay is 2–5 days. It can be combined with systemic chemotherapy without significant toxicity. Repeated applications are possible, and the time interval of 6 weeks allows evaluation of response to therapy [166].

PIPAC has limitations as well. The current protocol does not allow it to be performed with CRS. Reported toxicity is more when PIPAC is performed immediately after CRS [176]. The technical feasibility and the efficacy of PIPAC are largely dependent on the degree of enteroenteral and entero-parietal adhesions. Reported rates of nonaccess are 5–17%. Moreover, only exposed peritoneal surfaces that can be reached by the aerosol can be treated with PIPAC. At present, there is no method of stratifying patients according to adhesions; however, it may be difficult or impossible to perform PIPAC in patients who have had CRS and/or HIPEC before [178].

The advantages, disadvantages, and contraindications are summarized in Table 22.5.

Advantages	Disadvantages	Contraindications
High-tumor drug concentration using 1/10 of systemic dose	Cannot be combined with CRS	Laparoscopic nonaccess
Easy to perform-no learning curve	Prior adhesions limit its application and efficacy	Malignant bowel obstruction
Limited grade 3–5 morbidity	Certain areas like the lesser sac remain untreated	Debilitating ascites with malnutrition
Possibility of multiple applications		
Can be combined with systemic chemotherapy		
Evaluation of response to therapy possible		
No risk of port site metastases		
Minimal adhesion formation		
Subsequent CRS and HIPEC are possible		

Table 22.5 Advantages, disadvantages, and contraindications of PIPAC

Based on the current evidence, PIPAC can be used for symptom palliation in selected patients with PM and in patients who have failed on one or more lines of systemic chemotherapy. Further clinical evidence is needed before it is used for other indications. Standardization and improvement of certain technical aspects of the procedure like the drug dosage and possibility of use in conjunction with CRS will be important for increasing its future use and efficacy.

In some patients who are not candidates for CRS and HIPEC upfront, PIPAC could be used in as neoadjuvant therapy to reduce the tumor burden. Reymond et al. reported their institutional experience of 406 patients who had undergone 961 PIPAC procedures. Twenty-one patients underwent a subsequent CRS and HIPEC [178]. Twelve of these patients were candidates for the procedure even without the use of PIPAC; however, nine patients experienced significant downstaging making them candidates for CRS and HIPEC. Most of these patients had extensive small bowel involvement precluding a complete cytoreduction upfront. In these nine patients, an objective tumor regression was observed after repeated PIPAC (mean number of cycles 3.5 ± 0.9). Notably, these patients required at least 4 and even up to 6 months for the tumor to become resectable. Six out of these nine patients had colorectal primaries. This early data indicates that the use of PIPAC as neoadjuvant strategy is promising and should be further evaluated prospectively. The advantages in this setting are that it can be combined with systemic therapy and the 6-week interval between two therapeutic sessions allows effects of both local and systemic therapies to be evaluated.

22.13 Other Experimental Therapies

22.13.1 Radio Immunotherapy

Radioimmunotherapy using radiolabeled monoclonal antibodies directed against tumorassociated antigens conjugated with radioactive material has been investigated as an adjuvant therapy for advanced ovarian cancer with PM and colorectal PM in several clinical and preclinical studies for almost three decades [179, 180]. This had been used as adjuvant therapy in advance ovarian cancer with the goal of reducing the recurrence rates [181, 182]. However, these and other studies evaluating intraperitoneal radionuclide therapies have used beta-emitter antibody conjugates which have dose-limiting marrow suppression [183–186]. Less toxicity can be expected when radionuclides with shorter halflives are used, as less radioactivity would distribute systemically [187, 188]. Aarts et al. compared CRS alone with CRS and HIPEC or CRS and radioimmunotherapy which consisted of intraperitoneal administration of 74 MBq Lutetium-

177-labeled MG1. Survival after CRS was significantly increased by the use of radioimmunotherapy with Lutetium-177-MG1 in rats with PM of colorectal origin [189]. In another study, ²¹²Pb-TCMC-trastuzumab was delivered IP less than 4 h after giving 4 mg/kg IV trastuzumab to patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis who had failed standard therapies and had HER-2 +1 or more in a phase I design for dose escalation [190]. ²¹²Pb-TCMC-trastuzumab was expected to provide more potent radiation to targeted malignant cells while limiting radiation exposure to normal tissues as compared to beta-emitter conjugates, due to the shorter half-life and path length of ²¹²Pb alpha radiation. All the planned dose escalations were performed with low toxicity. A follow-up study showed IP Pb-TCMCtrastuzumab up to 27 MBq/m to be safe for patients with PM who have failed standard therapies with no long-term toxicity.

Radioimmunotherapy needs further evaluation in terms of ideal dose and indications for clinical use. Survival data in clinical studies are not available, and the timing of therapy/integration with other therapies needs to be defined.

22.13.2 Photodynamic Therapy

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) is a therapy that uses photosensitizers (or their precursors) with an affinity for tumor cells and visible light to trigger a photochemical reaction. Reactive oxygen species are generated in cancer cells, leading to cell death. Photodynamic therapy has been used for treatment of surface lesions like precancerous lesions and early invasive carcinomas of the cervix, esophagus, stomach, and lung [191-193]. Given the high propensity of PM to recur, this therapy has been evaluated as an adjunct to CRS in animal models of colorectal and ovarian cancer. Development of intraperitoneal PDT has been limited by its poor tolerance related to the lack of specificity of photosensitizers and the location of the metastases in proximity adjacent intraperitoneal organs [194]. to 5-Aminolevulinic acid methyl ester hydrochloride (methyl-ALA) is a photosensitizer precursor with an affinity for tumor cells which has been used in some experimental studies. PDT with hexaminolevulinate (HAL), a second-generation photosensitizer, had a high toxicity but provided the opportunity to diagnose and treat PM at the same time [195]. Azais et al. developed a folateconjugated photosensitizer (Porph-s-FA) that has an affinity for folate receptor- α (FR- α) [196]. This receptor is overexpressed in 72-100% of ovarian cancers (81% of the serous carcinomas and only 39.9% of the mucinous carcinomas) [197–200]. This expression is retained in recurtumors and is not affected rent by chemotherapy.

Comparing different wavelengths of light, green light is more suitable for intestinal surfaces as the depth of penetration is less as compared to red light that has a deeper penetration [194]. Yokoyoma et al. in an experimental study demonstrated that concurrent therapy consisting of PDT with 5-aminolevulinic acid methyl ester hydrochloride (methyl-ALA) and clofibric acid is effective at treating PM from ovarian cancer without damaging the adjacent organs [201]. Mroz et al. used functionalized fullerenes, a new class of functionalized photosensitizer (PS) for PDT to treat colorectal PM in mice. Intraperitoneal injection of a preparation of N-methylpyrrolidinium fullerene formulated in Cremophor EL micelles, followed by white-light illumination delivered through the peritoneal wall (after creation of a skin flap), produced a statistically significant reduction in bioluminescence and a survival advantage in mice [202]. PDT is conceptually suited to treat PM, but the technical aspects of the procedure and the PS used need optimization before it can be used in the clinical setting.

22.13.3 Intraperitoneal Immunotherapy

Just as systemic chemotherapeutic agents have been used for intraperitoneal therapy, various immunotherapies have been evaluated for intraperitoneal use.

22.13.3.1 Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) is a protein expressed on the surface of T cells. Its activation dampens the adaptive immune response to malignancy [203]. The programmed death-1 receptors (PD-1) are also present on cytotoxic T cells and block their activity by inducing apoptosis when activated via ligand binding on the tumor cell surface [204, 205]. In an experimental model of PM, the effect of checkpoint-inhibiting antibodies α -PD-L1 and/or α -CTLA-4, with or without IL-18, on peritoneal metastases via IP injection or tail-vein injection was compared [206]. Intraperitoneal use of immune checkpoint inhibitors had a survival advantage over the control group receiving immunoglobulins, and this effect was augmented by the use of IL-18 [206].

22.13.3.2 Chimeric Antigen Receptor-T Cells (CAR-T Cells)

T cells engineered with chimeric antigen receptors (CAR-T cells) have the ability to bind to tumor cells, causing cell lysis, independent of the action of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) [207-209]. These cells have been applied to the treatment of hematologic malignancies, such as acute lymphoid leukemia and chronic lymphoid leukemia, but more recently as treatment of hepatic metastases from colorectal cancer. In an experimental study, mice with colorectal PM were treated with CAR-T via IP or tail vein injection, in combination with antibodies for inhibition of immunosuppressive cells, over a 2-week period. They reported a 37-fold reduction in PM tumor burden in IP-treated mice as compared with the tail-vein injection group [210]. CAR-T cells targeting specific antigens like the MUC-16ecto antigen overexpressed on most ovarian cancer cells and L1-CAM, a cell adhesion molecule have shown improved survival after intraperitoneal use in ovarian cancer animal models as compared to controls who received no treatment [211, 212]. CAR-T cells have been used in the clinical setting as well. In a study of four patients with recurrent ovarian cancer, autologous T cells stimulated against a hypoglycosylated MUC1 antigen were instilled intraperitoneally at monthly intervals to complete three sessions each [213, 214]. Treated patients demonstrated elevated levels of MUC1-specific cytolytic activity and generation of both effector and memory T cells leading to diminished CA125 levels, elevated IFN γ , and improved survival, ranging from 3 to 16 months [214].

22.13.3.3 Dendritic Cell Vaccine

IP use of dendritic cell vaccine and cytokineinduced killer cells has been investigated in the clinical setting. Ai et al. used this therapy prepared in 22 patients with peripheral blood mononuclear cells. 77.3% of the patients with PM from different primary sites experience control or reduction in the ascites [215].

Conclusion

Despite the awareness about risk factors and better technology for early detection, PM continue to be detected in an advanced stage in a large majority of the patients who get excluded from a curative approach due to the disease site, extent and distribution, or poor general health. Some of the symptoms like bowel obstruction and ascites can severely affect the quality of life and need to be addressed even though the life expectancy is short. Locoregional therapies in addition to systemic therapies are being used to treat asymptomatic patients with unresectable PM with the goal of prolonging and maintaining the quality of life.

Patients with unresectable PM fall in between palliation and cure from the treatment point of view. PIPAC has shown good results in the palliative setting and may have a future role as neoadjuvant therapy for unresectable disease. Several other therapies are in the preclinical phase and may find a place in clinical practice. A multidisciplinary approach keeping in mind the goals of therapy which are based on the disease status and the expectations or the patients and their caregivers should be used to treat these patients.

References

- Sadeghi B, Arvieux C, Glehen O, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from non-gynecologic malignancies: results of the EVOCAPE 1 multicentric prospective study. Cancer. 2000;88:358–63.
- Rajeev R, Turaga KK. Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy and cytoreductive surgery in the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer Control. 2016;23(1):36–46.
- American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures 2016. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society; 2016. http://www.cancer.org/acs/groups/ content/@research/documents/document/acspc-047079.pdf. Accessed 12 Feb 2017.
- Jayne DG, Fook S, Loi C, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2002;89(12):1545–50.
- Folprecht G, Köhne C, Lutz M. Systemic chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Cancer Treat Res. 2007;134:425–40.
- Köhne C, Vanhoefer U, Hartung G. Clinical predictive factors. Eur J Cancer. 2009;45:43–9.
- Sampson JA. Implantation peritoneal carcinomatosis of ovarian origin. Am J Pathol. 1931;7:423–43.
- Aranha GV, Folk FA, Greenlee HB. Surgical palliation of small bowel obstruction due to metastatic carcinoma. Am Surg. 1981;47:99–102.
- Ketcham AS, Hoye RC, Pilch YH, Morton DL. Delayed intestinal obstruction following treatment for cancer. Cancer. 1970;25:406–10.
- Glass RL, LeDuc RJ. Small intestinal obstruction from peritoneal carcinomatosis. Am J Surg. 1973;125:316–7.
- Annest LS, Jolly PC. The results of surgical treatment of bowel obstruction caused by peritoneal carcinomatosis. Am Surg. 1979;45:718–21.
- Chu D, Lang N, Thompson C. Peritoneal carcinomatosis in nongynecologic malignancy. A prospective study of prognostic factors. Cancer. 1989;63:364–7.
- Hompes D, Boot H, van Tinteren H, Verwaal V. Unresectable peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a single center experience. J Surg Oncol. 2011;104:269–73. https://doi.org/10.1002/jso.21937.
- Jayne D, Fook S, Seow-Choen F. Peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2002;89:1545–50.
- 15. Sammartino P, Biacchi D, Cornali T et al. Proactive management for gastric, colorectal and appendiceal malignancies: preventing peritoneal metastases with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC). Indian J Surg Oncol. 2016;7(2):215–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13193-016-0497-1.
- 16. Razenberg LG, van Gestel YR, Creemers GJ, Verwaal VJ, Lemmens VE, de Hingh IH. Trends in cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin in the Netherlands. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(4):466–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2015.01.018.

- Bijelic L, Yan TD, Sugarbaker PH. Treatment failure following complete cytoreductive surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal dissemination from colorectal or appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. J Surg Oncol. 2008;98:295–9.
- Portilla AG, Sugarbaker PH, Chang D. Secondlook surgery after cytoreduction and intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: analysis of prognostic features. World J Surg. 1999;23:23–9.
- Verwaal VJ, Boot H, Aleman BM, et al. Recurrences after peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin treated by cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: location, treatment, and outcome. Ann Surg Oncol. 2004;11:375–9.
- Bijelic L, Yan TD, Sugarbaker PH. Failure analysis of recurrent disease following complete cytoreduction and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14:2281–8.
- 21. Pfisterer J, Plante M, Vergote I, du Bois A, Hirte H, Lacave AJ, et al. Gemcitabine plus carboplatin compared with carboplatin in patients with platinum-sensitive recurrent ovarian cancer: an intergroup trial of the AGO-OVAR, the NCICCTG, and the EORTCGCG. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:4699–707. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2006.06.0913.
- 22. Parmar MK, Ledermann JA, Colombo N, du Bois A, Delaloye JF, Kristensen GB, et al. Paclitaxel plus platinum-based chemotherapy versus conventional platinum-based chemotherapy in women with relapsed ovarian cancer: the ICON4/AGO-OVAR-2.2trial. Lancet. 2003;361:2099–106. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)13718-X.
- Pfisterer J, Ledermann JA. Management of platinum-sensitive recurrent ovarian cancer. Semin Oncol. 2006;33:S12–6. https://doi.org/10.1053/j. seminoncol.2006.03.012.
- Bartlett DL. HIPEC: the complexities of clinical trials. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15(5):1277–9. https:// doi.org/10.1245/s10434-007-9768-y.
- Guerra EM, Cortés-Salgado A, Mateo-Lobo R, et al. Role of parenteral nutrition in oncologic patients with intestinal occlusion and peritoneal carcinomatosis. Nutr Hosp. 2015;32(3):1222–7.
- Baines MJ. Symptom control in advanced gastrointestinal cancer. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2000;12:375–9.
- Sangisetty SL, Miner TJ. Malignant ascites: a review of prognostic factors, pathophysiology and therapeutic measures. World J Gastrointest Surg. 2012;4(4):87–95. https://doi.org/10.4240/wjgs. v4.i4.87.
- Ammouri L, Prommer EE. Palliative treatment of malignant ascites: profile of catumaxomab. Biologics: Targets Ther. 2010;4:103–10.
- 29. Logan-Collins JM, Lowy AM, Robinson-Smith TM, Kumar S, Sussman JJ, James LE, Ahmad SA. VEGF expression predicts survival in patients with peritoneal surface metastases from mucinous adenocarci-

noma of the appendix and colon. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15:738–44.

- Rosa M, Abdelbaqi M, Bui KM, Nasir A, Bui MM, Shibata D, Coppola D. Overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor A in invasive micropapillary colorectal carcinoma. Cancer Control. 2015;22:206–10.
- 31. Yang X, Zhang Y, Hosaka K, Andersson P, Wang J, Tholander F, Cao Z, Morikawa H, Tegnér J, Yang Y, et al. VEGF-B promotes cancer metastasis through a VEGF-A-independent mechanism and serves as a marker of poor prognosis for cancer patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:E2900–9.
- 32. Chen H, Guan R, Lei Y, Chen J, Ge Q, Zhang X, Dou R, Chen H, Liu H, Qi X, et al. Lymphangiogenesis in gastric cancer regulated through Akt/mTOR-VEGF-C/VEGF-D axis. BMC Cancer. 2015;15:103.
- Lee S, Chen TT, Barber CL, Jordan MC, Murdock J, Desai S, Ferrara N, Nagy A, Roos KP, Iruela-Arispe ML. Autocrine VEGF signaling is required for vascular homeostasis. Cell. 2007;130:691–703.
- De Falco S, Gigante B, Persico MG. Structure and function of placental growth factor. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2002;12:241–6.
- Becker G, Galandi D, Blum H. Malignant ascites: systematic review and guideline for treatment. Eur J Cancer. 2006;42:589–97.
- Anthony T, Baron T, Mercadante S, et al. Report of the clinical protocol committee: development of randomized trials for malignant bowel obstruction. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2007;34:S49–59.
- Ripamonti C, Bruera E. Palliative management of malignant bowel obstruction. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2002;12:135–43.
- Jacquet P, Jelinek JS, Steves MA, et al. Evaluation of computed tomography in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cancer. 1993;72:1631–6.
- Krouse RS. The international conference on malignant bowel obstruction: a meeting of the minds to advance palliative care research. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2007;34:S1–6.
- Ripamonti CI, Easson AM, Gerdes H. Management of malignant bowel obstruction. Eur J Cancer. 2008;44(8):1105–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2008.02.028.
- Woolfson RG, Jennings K, Whalen GF. Management of bowel obstruction in patients with abdominal cancer. Arch Surg. 1997;132:1093–7.
- Silva AC, Pimenta M, Guimaraes LS. Small bowel obstruction: what to look for? Radiographics. 2009;29:423–39.
- Easson AM, Lee KF, Brasel K, et al. Clinical research for surgeons in palliative care: challenges and opportunities. J Am Coll Surg. 2003;196:141–51.
- McCahill LE, Krouse RS, Chu DZ, et al. Decision making in palliative surgery. J Am Coll Surg. 2002;195:411–22.
- Hofmann B, Haheim LL, Soreide JA. Ethics of palliative surgery in patients with cancer. Br J Surg. 2005;92:802–9.

- 46. McCahill LE, Krouse R, Chu D, Juarez G, Uman G, Ferrell B, et al. Indications and use of palliative surgery results of Society of Surgical Oncology survey. Ann Surg Oncol. 2002;9:104–12.
- 47. Rodt AP, Svarrer RO, Iversen LH. Clinical course for patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis excluded from cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. World J Surg Oncol. 2013;11:232. https://doi. org/10.1186/1477-7819-11-232.
- Easson A. Successful surgical palliation: how do we define it, and how do we measure it? Am Coll Surg. 2005;200:117–20.
- Legendre H, Vanhuyse F, Caroli-Bosc FX, et al. Survival and quality of life after palliative surgery for neoplastic gastrointestinal obstruction. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2001;27:364–7.
- Abbas SM, Merrie AE. Resection of peritoneal metastases causing malignant small bowel obstruction. World J Surg Oncol. 2007;5:122. https://doi. org/10.1186/1477-7819-5-122.
- Mantas D, Tsaparas P, Charalampoudis P, Gogas H, Kouraklis G. Emergency surgery for metastatic melanoma. Int J Surg Oncol. vol. 2014, Article ID 987170, 4 pages, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/987170.
- 52. Mendelsohn RB, Gerdes H, Markowitz AJ, et al. Carcinomatosis is not a contraindication to enteral stenting in selected patients with malignant gastric outlet obstruction. Gastrointest Endosc. 2011;73:1135–40.
- 53. Lowe AS, Beckett CG, Jowett S, et al. Selfexpandable metal stent placement for the palliation of malignant gastroduodenal obstruction: experience in a large, single, UK centre. Clin Radiol. 2007;62:738–44.
- Telford JJ, Carr-Locke DL, Baron TH, et al. Palliation of patients with malignant gastric outlet obstruction with the enteral Wallstent: outcomes from a multicenter study. Gastrointest Endosc. 2004;60:916–20.
- 55. Dormann A, Meisner S, Verin N, et al. Selfexpanding metal stents for gastroduodenal malignancies: systematic review of their clinical effectiveness. Endoscopy. 2004;36:543–50.
- Nassif T, Prat F, Meduri B, et al. Endoscopic palliation of malignant gastric outlet obstruction using self-expandable metallic stents: results of a multicenter study. Endoscopy. 2003;35:483–9.
- Holt AP, Patel M, Ahmed MM. Palliation of patients with malignant gastroduodenal obstruction with self-expanding metallic stents: the treatment of choice? Gastrointest Endosc. 2004;60:1010–7.
- Camunez F, Echenagusia A, Simo G, et al. Malignant colorectal obstruction treated by means of selfexpanding metallic stents: effectiveness before surgery and in palliation. Radiology. 2000;216:492–7.
- Law WL, Chu KW, Ho JW, et al. Self-expanding metallic stent in the treatment of colonic obstruction caused by advanced malignancies. Dis Colon Rectum. 2000;43:1522–7.

- 60. Pothuri B, Guiguis A, Gerdes H, et al. The use of colorectal stents for palliation of large bowel obstruction due to recurrent gynecologic cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2004;95:513–7.
- Khot UP, Wenk Lang A, Murali K, et al. Systematic review of the efficacy and safety of colorectal stents. Br J Surg. 2002;89:1096–102.
- 62. Mercadante S. What is the opioid of choice? Progress in Palliative Care. 2001;9:190–3.
- Mercadante S, Sapio M, Serretta R. Treatment of pain in chronic bowel subobstruction with selfadministration of methadone. Support Care Cancer. 1997;5:327–9.
- 64. Hanks GW, De Conno F, Cherny N, et al. Expert Working Group of the Research Network of the European Association for Palliative Care. Morphine and alternative opioids in cancer pain: the EAPC recommendations. Br J Cancer. 2001;84(5):587–93.
- Anderson SL, Shreve ST. Continuous subcutaneous infusion of opiates at the end-life. Ann Pharmacother. 2004;38:1015–23.
- Ripamonti C, Bruera E. Current status of patientcontrolled analgesia in cancer patients. Oncology. 1997;11:373–84.
- Grond S, Radbruch L, Lehmann KA. Clinical pharmacokinetics of transdermal opioids: focus on transdermal fentanyl. Clin Pharmacokin. 2000;38:59–89.
- Muijsers RBR, Wagstaff AJ. Transdermal fentanyl. An updated review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic efficacy in chronic cancer pain control. Drugs. 2001;61:2289–307.
- Ventafridda V, Ripamonti C, Caraceni A, et al. The management of inoperable gastrointestinal obstruction in terminal cancer patients. Tumouri. 1990;76:389–93.
- Mercadante S. Pain in inoperable bowel obstruction. Pain Digest. 1995;5:9–13.
- De Conno F, Caraceni A, Zecca E, Spoldi E, Ventafridda V. Continuous subcutaneous infusion of hyoscine butylbromide reduces secretions in patients with gastrointestinal obstruction. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1991;6:484–6.
- Mercadante S, Kargar J, Nicolosi G. Octreotide may prevent definitive intestinal obstruction. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1997;13:352–5.
- Mercadante S, Spoldi E, Caraceni A, Maddaloni S, Simonetti MT. Octreotide in relieving gastrointestinal symptoms due to bowel obstruction. Palliat Med. 1993;7:295–9.
- Ripamonti C, Panzeri C, Groff L, Galeazzi G, Boffi R. The role of somatostatin and octreotide in bowel obstruction: pre-clinical and clinical results. Tumouri. 2001;87:1–9.
- Anthone GJ, Bastidas JA, Orlandle MS, Yeo CJ. Direct proabsorptive effect of octreotide on ionic transport in the small intestine. Surgery. 1990;108:1136–42.
- Basson MD, Fielding LP, Bilchik AJ, et al. Does vasoactive intestinal polypeptide mediate the pathophysiology of bowel obstruction? Am J Surg. 1989;157:109–15.

- Neville R, Fielding P, Cambria RP, Modlin I. Vascular responsiveness in obstructed gut. Dis Colon Rectum. 1991;34:229–35.
- Nellgard P, Bojo L, Cassuto J. Importance of vasoactive intestinal peptide and somatostatin for fluid losses in small-bowel obstruction. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1995;30:464–9.
- Mystakidou K, Tsilika E, Kalaidopoulou O, Chondros K, Georgaki S, Papadimitriou L. Comparison of octreotide administration vs conservative treatment in the management of inoperable bowel obstruction in patients with far advanced cancer: a randomised, double-blind, controlled clinical trial. Anticancer Res. 2002;22:1187–92.
- 80. Ripamonti C, Mercadante S, Groff L, Zecca E, De Conno F, Casuccio A. Role of octreotide, scopolamine butylbromide, and hydration in symptom control of patients with inoperable bowel obstruction and nasogastric tubes: a prospective randomised trial. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2000;19:23–34.
- Mercadante S, Ripamonti C, Casuccio A, Zecca E, Groff L. Comparison of octreotide and hyoscine butylbromide in controlling gastrointestinal symptoms due to malignant inoperable bowel obstruction. Support Care Cancer. 2000;8:188–9.
- Mercadante S, Casuccio A, Mangione S. Medical treatment of inoperable malignant bowel obstruction: a qualitative systematic review. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2007;33:217–23.
- Massacesi C, Galeazzi G. Sustained release octreotide may have a role in the treatment of malignant bowel obstruction. Palliative Med. 2006;20:715–6.
- Matulonis U, Seiden M, Roche M, et al. Long-acting octreotide for the treatment and symptomatic relief of bowel obstruction in advanced ovarian cancer. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2005;30:563–9.
- 85. Mystakidou K, Katsouda E, Tsilika E, et al. Octreotide long-acting formulation (LAR) in chronic loperamide-refractory diarrhea not related to cancer treatment. Anticancer Res. 2006;26:2325–8.
- Bousquet C, Puente E, Vaysse N, Susini C. Antiproliferative effects of somatostatin and analogs. Chemotherapy. 2001;47:30–9.
- Jones R, Beubi JC, Millan D, Vasey P. Octreotide: an active agent in epithelial ovarian carcinoma? Lancet Oncol. 2004;5:251–3.
- Kvols LK, Wolterinf EA. Role of somatostatin analogs in the clinical management of nonneuroendocrine solid tumors. Anticancer Drugs. 2006;17:601–8.
- Feuer DJ, Broadley KE. Systematic review and meta-analysis of corticosteroids for the resolution of malignant bowel obstruction in advanced gynaecological and gastrointestinal cancers. Systematic Review Steering Committee. Ann Oncol. 1999;10:1035–41.
- 90. Laval G, Girarder J, Lassauniere J, et al. The use of steroids in the management of inoperable intestinal obstruction in terminal cancer patients: do they remove the obstruction? Palliat Med. 2000;14:3e10.

- 91. Ripamonti C, Mercadante S, Groff L, Zecca E, De Conno F, Casuccio A. Role of octreotide, scopolamine butylbromide and hydration in symptom control of patients with inoperable bowel obstruction having a nasogastric tube. A prospective, randomized clinical trial. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2000;19:23–34.
- Fainsinger RL, MacEachern T, Miller MJ, et al. The use of hypodermoclysis for rehydration in terminally ill cancer patients. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1994;9:298–302.
- Ventafridda, et al. (2003) Mouth care. In: Doyle D, Hanks GWC, Cherny N, et al., editors. Oxford textbook of palliative medicine. 3rd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2005.
- Oozzaglio L, et al. Outcome of cancer patients receiving home parenteral nutrition. J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 1997;21:339–42.
- Hoda D, Jatoi A, Burnes J, Loprinzi C, Kelly D. Should patients with advanced, incurable cancers ever be sent home with total parenteral nutrition? Cancer. 2005;103:863–8.
- Garrison RN, Kaelin LD, Galloway RH, Heuser LS. Malignant ascites. Clinical and experimental observations. Ann Surg. 1986;203:644–51.
- 97. Hind D, Tappenden P, Tumur I, Eggington S, Sutcliffe P, Ryan A. The use of irinotecan, oxaliplatin and raltitrexed for the treatment of advanced colorectal cancer: systematic review and economic evaluation. Health Technol Assess. 2008;12:iii–ix. xi–162.
- 98. Oh SY, Kwon HC, Lee S, et al. A Phase II study of oxaliplatin with low-dose leucovorin and bolus and continuous infusion 5-fluorouracil (modified FOLFOX-4) for gastric cancer patients with malignant ascites. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2007;37:930–5.
- 99. Becker G, Galandi D, Blum HE. Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE): qualityassessed reviews: malignant ascites: systematic review and guideline for treatment. Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/ PMH0022845/.
- Adam RA, Adam YG. Malignant ascites: past, present, and future. J Am Coll Surg. 2004;198:999–1011.
- Parsons SL, Watson SA, RJC S. Malignant ascites. Br J Surg. 1996;83:6–14.
- 102. Lambert LA, Harris A. Palliative cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemoperfusion: current clinical practice or misnomer? J Gastrointest Oncol. 2016;7(1):112–21. https://doi. org/10.3978/j.issn.2078-6891.2015.132.
- 103. Garofalo A, Valle M, Garcia J, et al. Laparoscopic intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy for palliation of debilitating malignant ascites. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32:682–5.
- 104. Facchiano E, Scaringi S, Kianmanesh R, et al. Laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) for the treatment of malignant ascites secondary to unresectable peritoneal carcinomatosis from advanced gastric cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34:154–8.

- 105. Patriti A, Cavazzoni E, Graziosi L, et al. Successful palliation of malignant ascites from peritoneal mesothelioma by laparoscopic intraperitoneal hyperthermic chemotherapy. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2008;18:426–8.
- 106. Valle M, Van der Speeten K, Garofalo A. Laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal peroperative chemotherapy (HIPEC) in the management of refractory malignant ascites: a multi-institutional retrospective analysis in 52 patients. J Surg Oncol. 2009;100(4):331.
- 107. Ba MC, Cui SZ, Lin SQ, et al. Chemotherapy with laparoscope-assisted continuous circulatory hyperthermic intraperitoneal perfusion for malignant ascites. World J Gastroenterol. 2010;16:1901–7.
- 108. de Mestier L, Volet J, Scaglia E, et al. Is palliative laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy effective in patients with malignant hemorrhagic ascites? Case Rep Gastroenterol. 2012;6:166–70.
- 109. Randle RW, Swett KR, Swords DS, et al. Efficacy of cytoreductive surgery with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in the management of malignant ascites. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21:1474–9.
- 110. Ba MC, Long H, Cui SZ, et al. Multivariate comparison of B-ultrasound guided and laparoscopic continuous circulatory hyperthermic intraperitoneal perfusion chemotherapy for malignant ascites. Surg Endosc. 2013;27:2735–43.
- 111. Esquis P, Consolo D, Magnin G, et al. High intraabdominal pressure enhances the penetration and antitumor effect of intraperitoneal cisplatin on experimental carcinomatosis. Ann Surg. 2006;244:106–12.
- 112. Jacquet P, Stuart OA, Chang D, et al. Effect of intraabdominal pressure on pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution of doxorubicin after intraperitoneal administration. Anticancer Drugs. 1996;7:596–603.
- 113. Räth U, Kaufmann M, Schmid H, et al. Effect of intraperitoneal recombinant human tumour necrosis factor alpha on malignant ascites. Eur J Cancer. 1991;27:121–37.
- 114. GCE S, Nation JG, Snider DD, et al. Intraperitoneal interferon in the management of malignant ascites. Cancer. 1993;71:2027–30.
- 115. Mahler F, Rapin CH, Macgee W. Corynebacterium parvum as palliative treatment in malignant ascites. J Palliat Care. 1998;4:58–62.
- 116. Ariel IM, Oropeza R, Pack GT. Intracavitary administration of radioactive isotopes in the control of effusions due to cancer: results in 267 patients. Cancer. 1966;8:1096–102.
- 117. Patriarca C, Macchi RM, Marschner AK, Mellstedt H. Epithelial cell adhesion molecule expression (CD326) in cancer: a short review. Cancer Treat Rev. 2012;38(1):68–75.
- 118. Zeidler R, Reisbach G, Wollenberg B, Lang S, Chaubal S, Schmitt B, Lindhofer H. Simultaneous activation of T cells and accessory cells by a new class of intact bispecific antibody results in efficient tumor cell killing. J Immunol. 1999;163: 1246–52.

- 119. Chelius D, Ruf P, Gruber P, Plöscher M, Liedtke R, Gansberger E, Hess J, Wasiliu M, Lindhofer H. Structural and functional characterization of the trifunctional antibody catumaxomab. MAbs. 2010;2:309–19. https://doi.org/10.4161/ mabs.2.3.11791.
- Bokemeyer C. Catumaxomab—trifunctional anti-EpCAM antibody used to treat malignant ascites. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2010;10(8):1259–69.
- Ruf P, Lindhofer H. Induction of a long-lasting antitumor immunity by a trifunctional bispecific antibody. Blood. 2001;98(8):2526–34.
- 122. Schmitt M, Schmitt A, Reinhardt P, Thess B, Manfras B, Lindhofer H, et al. Opsonization with a trifunctional bispecific (alphaCD3 x alphaEpCAM) antibody results in efficient lysis in vitro and in vivo of EpCAM positive tumor cells by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Int J Oncol. 2004;25(4):841–8.
- 123. Ruf P, Gires O, Jager M, Fellinger K, Atz J, Lindhofer H. Characterisation of the new EpCAMspecific antibody HO-3: implications for trifunctional antibody immunotherapy of cancer. Br J Cancer. 2007;97(3):315–21.
- 124. Mackey JR, Venner PM. Malignant ascites: demographics, therapeutic efficacy and predictors of survival. Can J Oncol. 1996;6:474–80.
- 125. Wimberger P, Gilet H, Gonschior AK, Heiss MM, Moehler M, Oskay-Oezcelik G, et al. Deterioration in quality of life (QoL) in patients with malignant ascites: results from a phase II/III study comparing paracentesis plus catumaxomab with paracentesis alone. Ann Oncol. 2012;23:1979–85.
- 126. Heiss MM, Murawa P, Koralewski P, Kutarska E, Kolesnik OO, Ivanchenko VV, et al. The trifunctional antibody catumaxomab for the treatment of malignant ascites due to epithelial cancer: results of a prospective randomized phase II/III trial. Int J Cancer. 2010;127:2209–21.
- 127. Krueger CM, Berdov BA, Roman LA, Luft AV, Lampe P, Lindhofer H, Bartelheim K, Klein A, Heiss MM. Intraoperative, adjuvant treatment of gastric cancer with the trifunctional antibody catumaxomab compared to surgery alone: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2008, 26 (May 20 Suppl):abstr 15529.
- 128. Ströhlein MA, Siegel R, Jäger M, Lindhofer H, Jauch KW, Heiss MM. Induction of anti-tumor immunity by trifunctional antibodies in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2009;28:18.
- 129. Bokemeyer C, Stein A, Ridwelski K, Atanackovic D, Arnold D, Woll E, et al. A phase II study of catumaxomab administered intra- and postoperatively as part of a multimodal approach in primarily resectable gastric cancer. Gastric Cancer. 2015;18:833–42.
- 130. Goéré D, Gras-Chaput N, Aupérin A, Flament C, Mariette C, Glehen O, et al. Treatment of gastric peritoneal carcinomatosis by combining complete surgical resection of lesions and intraperitoneal immunotherapy using catumaxomab. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:148.

- 131. Stadlmann S, Amberger A, Pollheimer J, et al. Ovarian carcinoma cells and IL-1beta-activated human peritoneal mesothelial cells are possible sources of vascular endothelial growth factor in inflammatory and malignant peritoneal effusions. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;97:784–9.
- 132. Yeo KT, Wang HH, Nagy JA, et al. Vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) in guinea pig and human tumor and inflammatory effusions. Cancer Res. 1993;53:2912–8.
- 133. Freeman MR, Schneck FX, Gagnon ML, et al. Peripheral blood T lymphocytes and lymphocytes infiltrating human cancers express vascular endothelial growth factor: a potential role for T cells in angiogenesis. Cancer Res. 1995;55:4140–5.
- 134. Senger DR, Galli SJ, Dvorak AM, et al. Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. Science. 1983;219:983–5.
- 135. Senger DR, Perruzzi CA, Feder J, et al. A highly conserved vascular permeability factor secreted by a variety of human and rodent tumor cell lines. Cancer Res. 1986;46:5629–32.
- 136. Luo JC, Toyoda M, Shibuya M. Differential inhibition of fluid accumulation and tumor growth in two mouse ascites tumors by an antivascular endothelial growth factor/permeability factor neutralizing antibody. Cancer Res. 1998;58:2594–600.
- 137. Shibuya M, Luo JC, Toyoda M, et al. Involvement of VEGF and its receptors in ascites tumor formation. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1999;43(Suppl):S72–7.
- Pichelmayer O, Zielinski C, Raderer M. Response of a nonmalignant pleural effusion to bevacizumab. N Engl J Med. 2005;353:740–1.
- 139. Numnum TM, Rocconi RP, Whitworth J, et al. The use of bevacizumab to palliate symptomatic ascites in patients with refractory ovarian carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;102:425–8.
- 140. Hamilton CA, Maxwell GL, Chernofsky MR, et al. Intraperitoneal bevacizumab for the palliation of malignant ascites in refractory ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;111:530–2.
- 141. El-Shami K, Elsaid A, El-Kerm Y. Open-label safety and efficacy pilot trial of intraperitoneal bevacizumab as palliative treatment in refractory malignant ascites. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(18 Suppl):9043.
- 142. Kelly KJ, Baumgartner JM, Lowy AM. Laparoscopic evacuation of mucinous ascites for palliation of pseudomyxoma peritonei. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(5):1722.
- 143. Von Grueningen VE, Radwany SM. Palliative and end-of-life care for patients with ovarian cancer. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2012;55(1):173–84.
- 144. A brief guide to symptom management in palliative care. NHS, Yorkshire and Humber Palliative and End of Life Care Groups, editors: Version 6; March 2016.
- 145. Beesley V, Janda M, Eakin E, et al. Lymphedema after gynecological cancer treatment: prevalence,

correlates, and supportive care needs. Cancer. 2007;109(12):2607–14.

- 146. Radwany SM, von Gruenigen VE. Palliative and end-of-life care for patients with ovarian cancer. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2012;55(1):173–84. https:// doi.org/10.1097/GRF.0b013e31824b1af1.
- 147. Laneader A, Angelos P, Ferrell BR, et al. Ethical issues in research to improve the management of malignant bowel obstruction: challenges and recommendations. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2007;34:S20–7.
- 148. Ansari N, Chandrakumaran K, Dayal S, Mohamed F, Cecil TD, Moran BJ. Cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in 1000 patients with perforated appendiceal epithelial tumours. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2016;42(7):1035–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2016.03.017.
- 149. Miner TJ, Shia J, Jaques DP, Klimstra DS, Brennan MF, Coit DG. Long-term survival following treatment of pseudomyxoma peritonei: an analysis of surgical therapy. Ann Surg. 2005;241:300–8.
- 150. Delhorme JB, Elias D, Varatharajah S, Benhaim L, Dumont F, Honoré C, Goéré D. Can a benefit be expected from surgical debulking of unresectable pseudomyxoma peritonei? Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(5):1618–24. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-015-5019-9.
- 151. Glehen O, Mohamed F, Sugarbaker PH. Incomplete cytoreduction in 174 patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis from appendiceal malignancy. Ann Surg. 2004;240:278–85.
- 152. Levine EA, Stewart JH 4th, Shen P, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy for peritoneal surface malignancy: experience with 1,000 patients. J Am Coll Surg. 2014;218:573–85.
- 153. Brücher BL, Piso P, Verwaal V, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis: cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC—overview and basics. Cancer Invest. 2012;30:209–24.
- 154. Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, et al. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:63–8.
- 155. Yonemura Y, Elnemr A, Endou Y, et al. Effects of neoadjuvant intraperitoneal/systemic chemotherapy (bidirectional chemotherapy) for the treatment of patients with peritoneal metastasis from gastric cancer. Int J Surg Oncol. 2012;2012:148420. https://doi. org/10.1155/2012/148420.
- 156. Yonemura Y, Ishibashi H, Hirano M, Mizumoto A, Takeshita K, Noguchi K, Takao N, Ichinose M, Liu Y, Li Y. Effects of neoadjuvant laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy and neoadjuvant intraperitoneal/systemic chemotherapy on peritoneal metastases from gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2017;24(2):478–85. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-016-5487-6.
- 157. Sgarbura O, Samalin E, Carrere S, Mazard T, de Forges H, Alline M, Pissas MH, Portales F, Ychou M, Quénet F. Preoperative intraperitoneal oxali-

platin for unresectable peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: a pilot study. Pleura Peritoneum. 2016;1(4):209–15.

- 158. Reymond MA, Hu B, Garcia A, Reck T, Köckerling F, Hess J, Morel P. Feasibility of therapeutic pneumoperitoneum in a large animal model using a microvaporisator. Surg Endosc. 2000;14(1):51–5.
- 159. Solaß W, Hetzel A, Nadiradze G, Sagynaliev E, Reymond MA. Description of a novel approach for intraperitoneal drug delivery and the related device. Surg Endosc. 2012;26(7):1849–55. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00464-012-2148-0.
- 160. Sharon A, Hirsh I, Kaufman Y, Ostrovski L, Brandes-Klein O, Spiegel D, Shenderey A, Lissak A. The effect of continuous intraabdominal nebulization of lidocaine during gynecological laparoscopic procedures: a pilot study. Gynecol Surg. 2008;5:221–5.
- 161. Alkhamesi NA, Ridgway PF, Ramwell A, McCullough PW, Peck DH, Darzi AW. Peritoneal nebulizer. A novel technique for delivering intraperitoneal therapeutics in laparoscopic surgery to prevent locoregional recurrence. Surg Endosc. 2009;19:1142–6.
- 162. Canis M, Matsuzaki S, Bourdel N, Jardon K, Cotte B, Botchorishvili R, Rabischong B, Mage G. Peritoneum and laparoscopic environment [review]. Bull Cancer. 2007;94:1043–51.
- 163. Solass W, Herbette A, Schwarz T, Hetzel A, Sun JS, Dutreix M, Reymond MA. Therapeutic approach of human peritoneal carcinomatosis with Dbait in combination capnoperitoneum: proof of concept. Surg Endosc. 2012;26(3):847–52. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00464-011-1964-y.
- 164. Laube BL. The expanding role of aerosols in systemic drug delivery, gene therapy, and vaccination. Respir Care. 2005;50:1161–76.
- 165. Minchinton AI, Tannock IF. Drug penetration in solid tumors. Nat Rev Cancer. 2006;6:583–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1893.
- 166. Solass W, Kerb R, Mürdter T, et al. Intraperitoneal chemotherapy of peritoneal carcinomatosis using pressurized aerosol as an alternative to liquid solution: first evidence for efficacy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(2):553–9. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-013-3213-1.
- 167. Kakchekeeva T, Demtröder C, Herath NI, et al. In vivo feasibility of electrostatic precipitation as an adjunct to pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (ePIPAC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(Suppl 5):592– 8. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-016-5108-4.
- 168. Ansell J, Warren N, Wall P, et al. Electrostatic precipitation is a novel way of maintaining visual field clarity during laparoscopic surgery: a prospective double-blind randomized controlled pilot study. Surg Endosc. 2014;28:2057–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00464-014-3427-8.
- 169. Tempfer CB, Celik I, Solass W, Buerkle B, Pabst U, Zieren J, et al. Activity of pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) with cisplatin and doxorubicin in women with recurrent, platinum-

resistant ovarian cancer: preliminary clinical experience. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;132(2):307–11.

- 170. Tempfer CB, Solass W, Buerkle B, Reymond MA. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) with cisplatin and doxorubicin in a woman with pseudomyxoma peritonei: a case report. Gynecol Oncol Rep. 2014;10:32–5.
- 171. Giger-Pabst U, Solass W, Buerkle B, Reymond MA. Low-dose intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) as an alternative therapy for ovarian cancer in an octogenarian patient. Anticancer Res. 2015;35(4):2309–14.
- 172. Robella M, Vaira M, De Simone M. Safety and feasibility of pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) associated with systemic chemotherapy: an innovative approach to treat peritoneal carcinomatosis. World J Surg Oncol. 2016;14:128. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12957-016-0892-7.
- 173. Tempfer CB, Winnekendonk G, Solass W, et al. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy in women with recurrent ovarian cancer: a phase 2 study. Gynecol Oncol. 2015;137(2):223–8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.02.009.
- 174. Nadiradze G, Giger-Pabst U, Zieren J, Strumberg D, Solass W, Reymond M-A. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) with lowdose cisplatin and doxorubicin in gastric peritoneal metastasis. J Gastrointest Surg. 2016;20:367–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11605-015-2995-9.
- 175. Demtröder C, Solass W, Zieren J, Strumberg D, Giger-Pabst U, Reymond MA. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy with oxaliplatin in colorectal peritoneal metastasis. Colorectal Dis. 2016;18(4):364– 71. https://doi.org/10.1111/codi.13130.
- 176. Blanco A, Giger-Pabst U, Solass W, Zieren J, Reymond MA. Renal and hepatic toxicities after pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC). Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(7):2311–6. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-012-2840-2.
- 177. Odendahl K, Solass W, Demtröder C, Giger-Pabst U, Zieren J, Tempfer C, Reymond MA. Quality of life of patients with end-stage peritoneal metastasis treated with pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC). Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(10):1379– 85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejso.2015.06.001.
- 178. Girshally R, Demtröder C, Albayrak N, Zieren J, Tempfer C, Reymond MA. Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) as a neoadjuvant therapy before cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy. World J Surg Oncol. 2016;14:253. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12957-016-1008-0.
- 179. Meredith RF, Buchsbaum DJ, Alvarez RD, LoBuglio AF. Brief overview of preclinical and clinical studies in the development of intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy for ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:5643s–5645s. Koppe MJ, Soede AC, Pels W, Oyen WJG, Goldenberg DM, Bleichrodt RP, Boerman OC. Experimental radioimmunotherapy of

small peritoneal metastases of colorectal origin. Int J Cancer. 2003;106:965–72.

- 180. Kinuya S, Yokoyama K, Fukuoka M, Hiramatsu T, Mori H, Shiba K, Watanabe N, Shuke N, Michigishi T, Tonami N. Intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy to treat the early phase of peritoneal dissemination of human colon cancer cells in a murine model. Nucl Med Commun. 2007;28:129–33.
- 181. Epenetos AA, Hird V, Lambert H, Mason P, Coulter C. Long term survival of patients with advanced ovarian cancer treated with intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2000;10:44–6.
- 182. Verheijen RH, Massuger LF, Benigno BB, Epenetos AA, Lopes A, Soper JT, Markowska J, Vyzula R, Jobling T, Stamp G, Spiegel G, Thurston D, Falke T, Lambert J, Seiden MV. Phase III trial of intraperitoneal therapy with yttrium-90-labeled HMFG1 murine monoclonal antibody in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer after a surgically defined complete remission. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:571–8.
- 183. Oei AL, Verheijen RH, Seiden MV, Benigno BB, Lopes A, Soper JT. Decreased intraperitoneal disease recurrence in epithelial ovarian cancer patients receiving intraperitoneal consolidation treatment with yttrium-90-labeled murine Hmfg1 without improvement in overall survival. Int J Cancer. 2007;120:2710–4.
- 184. Vergote IB, Vergote-De Vos LN, Abeler VM, et al. Randomized trial comparing cisplatin with radioactive phosphorus or whole-abdomen irradiation as adjuvant treatment of ovarian cancer. Cancer. 1992;69:741–9.
- 185. Young RC, Brady MF, Nieberg RK, et al. Adjuvant treatment for early ovarian cancer: a randomized phase III trial of intraperitoneal 32P or intravenous cyclophosphamide and cisplatin—a gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21:4350–5.
- 186. Nicholson S, Gooden CS, Hird V, et al. Radioimmunotherapy after chemotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone in the treatment of advanced ovarian cancer: a matched analysis. Oncol Rep. 1998;5:223–6.
- 187. Macey DJ, Meredith RF. A strategy to reduce red marrow dose for intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 1999;5:3044s–7s.
- Elgqvist J, Frost S, Pouget JP, Albertsson P. The potential and hurdles of targeted alpha therapy - clinical trials and beyond. Front Oncol. 2014;3:324–9.
- 189. Aarts F, Hendriks T, Boerman OC, Koppe MJ, Oyen WJG, Bleichrodt RP. A comparison between radioimmunotherapy and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis of colonic origin in rats. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(11):3274–82. https://doi.org/10.1245/ s10434-007-9509-2.
- 190. Meredith R, Torgue J, Shen S, et al. Dose escalation and dosimetry of first in human alpha radioimmunotherapy with ²¹²Pb-TCMC-trastuzumab. J Nucl Med. 2014;55(10):1636–42. https://doi.org/10.2967/ jnumed.114.143842.

- 191. Casson AG. Photofrin PDT for early stage esophageal cancer: a new standard of care? Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther. 2009;6:155–6.
- 192. Choi MC, Lee C, Kim SJ. Efficacy and safety of photodynamic therapy for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: a systemic review. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther. 2014;11:479–80.
- 193. Ikeda N, Usuda J, Kato H, et al. New aspects of photodynamic therapy for central type early stage lung cancer. Lasers Surg Med. 2011;43:749–54.
- 194. Azaïs H, Mordon S, Collinet P. Intraperitoneal photodynamic therapy for peritoneal metastasis of epithelial ovarian cancer. Limits and future prospects. Gynecol Obstet Fertil Senol. 2017;45(4):249–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gofs.2017.02.005.
- 195. Guyon L, Farine MO, Lesage JC, Gevaert AM, Simonin S, Schmitt C, Collinet P, Mordon S. Photodynamic therapy of ovarian cancer peritoneal metastasis with hexaminolevulinate: a toxicity study. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther. 2014;11(3):265–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pdpdt.2014.04.006.
- 196. Azaïs H, Schmitt C, Tardivel M, Kerdraon O, Stallivieri A, Frochot C, Betrouni N, Collinet P, Mordon S. Assessment of the specificity of a new folate-targeted photosensitizer for peritoneal metastasis of epithelial ovarian cancer to enable intraperitoneal photodynamic therapy. A preclinical study. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther. 2016;13:130–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pdpdt.2015.07.005.
- 197. Kalli KR, Oberg AL, Keeney GL, Christianson TJH, Low PS, Knutson KL, et al. Folate receptor alpha as a tumor target in epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;108(3):619–26.
- 198. Markert S, Lassmann S, Gabriel B, Klar M, Werner M, Gitsch G, et al. Alpha-folate receptor expression in epithelial ovarian carcinoma and non-neoplastic ovarian tissue. Anticancer Res. 2008;28(6A):3567–72.
- 199. O'Shannessy DJ, Somers EB, Smale R, Fu Y-S. Expression of folate receptor-a (FRA) in gynecologic malignancies and its relationship to the tumor type. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2013;32(3):258–68.
- 200. Crane LMA, Arts HJG, Oosten M, Low PS, Zee AGJ, Dam GM, et al. The effect of chemotherapy on expression of folate receptor-alpha in ovarian cancer. Cell Oncol. 2011;35(1):9–18.
- 201. Yokoyama Y, Shigeto T, Miura R, Kobayashi A, Mizunuma M, Yamauchi A, Futagami M, Mizunuma H. A strategy using photodynamic therapy and clofibric acid to treat peritoneal dissemination of ovarian cancer. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2016;17(2):775–9.
- 202. Mroz P, Xia Y, Asanuma D, Konopko A, Zhiyentayev T, Huang YY, Sharma SK, Dai T, Khan UJ, Wharton T, Hamblin MR. Intraperitoneal photodynamic therapy mediated by a fullerene in a mouse model of abdominal dissemination of colon adenocarcinoma. Nanomedicine. 2011;7(6):965–74. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2011.04.007.

- 203. Ma Z, Li W, Yoshiya S, Xu Y, Hata M, El-Darawish Y, et al. Augmentation of immune checkpoint cancer immunotherapy with IL18. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:2969–80.
- 204. Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the Pd-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med. 2000;192:1027–34.
- 205. Latchman Y, Wood CR, Chernova T, Chaudhary D, Borde M, Chernova I, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. Nat Immunol. 2001;2:261–8.
- Zarour HM. Reversing T-cell dysfunction and exhaustion in cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22:1856–64.
- 207. Grupp SA, Kalos M, Barrett D, Aplenc R, Porter DL, Rheingold SR, et al. Chimeric antigen receptormodified t cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1509–18.
- 208. Porter DL, Levine BL, Kalos M, Bagg A, June CH. Chimeric antigen receptor modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:725–33.
- 209. Katz SC, Burga RA, McCormack E, Wang LJ, Mooring W, Point GR, et al. Phase I hepatic immunotherapy for metastases study of intra-arterial chimeric antigen receptor-modified T-cell therapy for CEA+ liver metastases. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:3149–59.
- 210. Katz SC, Point GR, Cunetta M, Thorn M, Guha P, Espat NJ, et al. Regional CAR-T cell infusions for peritoneal carcinomatosis are superior to systemic delivery. Cancer Gene Ther. 2016;23:142–8.
- 211. Koneru M, Purdon TJ, Spriggs D, Koneru S, Brentjens RJ. IL-12 secreting tumor targeted chimeric antigen receptor T cells eradicate ovarian tumors in vivo. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4:e994446.
- 212. Hong H, Brown CE, Ostberg JR, Priceman SJ, Chang WC, Weng L, et al. L1 cell adhesion molecule-specific chimeric antigen receptor-redirected human T cells exhibit specific and efficient antitumor activity against human ovarian cancer in mice. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0146885.
- VanLith ML, Kohlgraf KG, Sivinski CL, Tempero RM, Hollingsworth MA. MUC1-specific antitumor responses: molecular requirements for CD4mediated responses. Int Immunol. 2002;14:873–82.
- 214. Dobrzanski MJ, Rewers-Felkins KA, Quinlin IS, Samad KA, Phillips CA, Robinson W, et al. Autologous MUC1-specific Th1 effector cell immunotherapy induces differential levels of systemic TReg cell subpopulations that result in increased ovarian cancer patient survival. Clin Immunol. 2009;133:333–52.
- 215. Ai YQ, Cai K, JH H, Jiang LW, Gao YR, Zhao H, et al. The clinical effects of dendritic cell vaccines combined with cytokine-induced killer cells intraperitoneal injected on patients with malignant ascites. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2014;7:4272–81.



23

Training Programs for Cytoreductive Surgery and HIPEC

Beate Rau, Maria Clara Arroyave, and Dusan Klos

23.1 Introduction

Peritoneal surface malignancy (PSM) is associated with poor prognosis. Mean overall survival is 6 months. Historically, patients diagnosed with peritoneal metastasis derived from a solid tumour such as colorectal cancer, appendiceal cancer, ovarian cancer, gastric cancer, gynaecological malignancies or peritoneal mesothelioma receive only chemotherapy with palliative intention, because distant metastases especially PSM are associated with poor prognosis.

Over the last 20 years, a surgical approach has been developed for the treatment of PSM. This procedure was described by Sugarbaker and consists of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) and complete peritonectomy in selected patients associated with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) [1, 2]. The rationale for

B. Rau (🖂)

M. C. Arroyave Surgical Oncology Department, Clinica Somer, Rionegro, Colombia e-mail: mariaclara_arroyave@yahoo.com; cxoncologica@clinicasomer.com

D. Klos

1st Department of Surgery, University Hospital Olomouc, Olomouc, Czech Republic e-mail: dklos@seznam.cz the surgical approach includes the difficulty of systemic chemotherapy to get into tumour cells due to the limited blood supply of the peritoneum, reduction of the tumour mass and topical intraperitoneal chemotherapy to treat microscopic neoplastic residue. However, surgery is not a treatment option for all patients with peritoneal disseminated disease. Patients have to be carefully selected, because surgical-induced morbidity is high and additional treatment with chemotherapy adds toxicity.

23.1.1 Role of Cytoreduction

Cytoreductive surgery has gain a major role in surgical oncology. It is widely accepted that incomplete tumour resection in primary cancer has a negative impact on long-term survival. Surgery indicated for distant metastases applies the same rules. This is easily possible, if the metastases are diagnosed as a solitary tumour nodule and the localization is peripherally located. However, in peritoneal surface malignancy, this is not the case. Usually PSM is spread all over the peritoneum and is often combined with malign ascites. The tumour burden variable and indication to surgical cytoreductive treatment have to be indicated very carefully.

Complete cytoreductive surgery (CRS) has the potential to achieve curation or long-term survival in selected patients with peritoneal malignancy.

Special Surgical Oncology, Charité – University of Berlin, Berlin, Germany e-mail: Beate.rau@charite.de

[©] Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018

A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2_23

The procedure aims for complete tumour removal. That means in the case of synchronous disease, the primary tumour has to be oncologically resected following the existing guidelines for the primary tumour combined with cytoreductive surgery. Complete macroscopic cytoreductive surgery stands for removal of peritoneal lesions in the abdomen and can be achieved by parietal and visceral peritonectomy. The completeness of the procedure depends on the extent and the type of the peritoneal tumour manifestation.

Usually following a midline laparotomy, the amount of disease located within the peritoneal cavity is quantified using the peritoneal cancer index (PCI) which provides a numerical approximation of abdominal tumour burden according to the distribution and size of metastatic deposits [1, 3].

The *mucinous type of PSM* including pseudomyxoma peritonei, low-grade adeno-mucinosis neoplasia (LAMN), peritoneal mucinous adenocarcinoma (PMCA) and mesothelioma usually needs a total peritonectomy and infragastric omentectomy and lesser omentectomy, whereas in *nonmucinous type of PSM* partial peritonectomy and infragastric omentectomy, removing the tumour baring peace of peritoneum is recommended.

Standard surgical procedures for CRS integrate complete abdominal exploration, infragastric omentectomy and peritonectomy including the diaphragm bilaterally, the subhepatic space, the Glisson capsule, the paracolic gutter and the cul-de-sac. Small and scattered localizations on the visceral surface are resected by local excision or electrocoagulation. In the case of massive and infiltrating disease, visceral resections might be necessary, including cholecystectomy, gastrectomy, splenectomy, sigmoid, right or total colectomy, extraperitoneal anterior resection and, in women, hysterectomy with bilateral salpingooophorectomy. Resection of the ovary or gallbladder per principle is not described. The extended resection of the organs should only be considered, if the aim of nearly total tumour resection is achievable. It is recommended to remove clinically suspicious regional lymph nodes [4].

The extended resection of the organs should only be considered, if the aim of nearly total tumour resection is achievable. In *extraperitoneal disseminated disease*, the indication for CRS is debatable. Anyhow, if distant metastases in the liver or in the lung are easily removable, the results are acceptable in selected patients [5].

The operation should be performed in a standardized manner. Due to possible tumour manifestation in all four quadrants of the abdomen and extensive intraperitoneal dissection, sound surgical and oncological expertise is prerequisite. Treatment in specialized surgical oncology centres is recommended to minimize morbidity and mortality [6].

Despite CRS and HIPEC being a complex treatment regimen and associated with a high rate of morbidity (up to 60%) and mortality (up to 10%), it is of major interest to bring this kind of treatment to our patients with less complications. Therefore, a platform to learn these complex procedures should be implemented.

23.1.2 Indication

Currently, it is widely proven that CRS should achieve a maximal tumour reduction. But even after optimal surgical procedures, long-term results are not impressive. The peritoneal carcinomatosis index (PCI) has been developed to categorize the tumour burden of PSM. The lowest number is 0 and the highest 39 [7]. PCI influences the prognosis of the patient. A high PCI implies a worse outcome [7]. Another important aspect is the location of the primary tumour. Upper gastrointestinal tumours such as oesophageal, gastric, pancreatic or hepatobiliary cancer have bad outcomes when peritoneal dissemination has developed. Usually the tumour spread is not of mucinous, and mostly the PCI is over 10. These patients do not benefit from multivisceral resection and CRS except in the emergency setting. In lower gastrointestinal tumours including appendix, colon and rectal cancer, CRS can be beneficial, if the PCI is low and the morphology of the PSM is mucinous. Especially in mucinous PSM, even high PCI is accepted for CRS. These patients usually have a higher morbidity after the procedure, but this is widely accepted, because of the increased rate on long-term survival in these patients. Therefore, preoperative selection is of major importance for the success of CRS in order to achieve acceptable postoperative and oncologic outcomes. Preoperative diagnostics should include physical examination, laboratory parameters (including renal function, liver function, nutritional status and tumour markers as well as echocardiography and others) and computed tomography of the chest, abdomen and pelvis.

23.2 Length of the Learning Curve of a Surgeon in CRS and HIPEC

Kusamura et al. compared the length of the learning curve in two Italian centres-the National Cancer Institute in Milan and Bentivoglio Hospital in Bologna-and demonstrated that extensive surgical tutoring could abbreviate the learning process in the beginning of the CRS and HIPEC program in a starting centre. The first centre began the program after the fellowship of the principal surgeon in the Washington Cancer Centre and Gustave Roussy but without direct supervision of experts. The program included three steps in the second centre (Bentivoglio Hospital). The first step of the tutorial consisted of visits in Milan by members of Bentivoglio centre. The second step was the development of study protocols, the definition of the multidisciplinary team and logistic troubleshooting. The third step was the selection of initial cases and performance of CRS and HIPEC at Bentivoglio Hospital with assistance of the tutor. The expert supervised Bentivoglio's operations, participating actively in every procedure as second surgeon. Rates of incomplete cytoreduction, G3-5 morbidity and procedure-related mortality were 8.4%, 30.1% and 3.9%, respectively, in the entire series [8].

Incomplete cytoreduction, the percentage of severe complications grades 3–5 and procedurerelated mortality will be markedly reduced after surgeons experience extensions of more than 140 cytoreduction procedures [8]. The results of this study demonstrate that professional supervision at the beginning of the program significantly reduces the number of cases that must be performed in a centre in order to reduce morbidity and mortality. Nevertheless, the surgical learning curve of 150 cases makes this surgical technique very demanding to master in order to achieve completeness of cytoreduction and low rates of morbidity and mortality.

23.3 Start of a New Centre

Therefore, the number of centres in the countries should be limited to assure good quality in CRS and HIPEC. For example, in the USA, about 149,000 new patients per year develop colorectal cancer—of them 40% will develop peritoneal metastasis [9, 10]. Only on third is possibly available for CRS and HIPEC. Therefore, the numbers of centres which delivers CRS and HIPEC in peritoneal surface malignancy should be limited.

Starting a new centre for CRS and HIPEC is a difficult and complex task. The basic prerequisites include:

- Participation in workshops and surgical training programs
- 2. Collaboration and hospitalization with a highvolume reference centre
- 3. Necessities of a starting centre
- 4. Creation of a multidisciplinary team
- 5. Multidisciplinary team training
- 6. National health system financial support
- 7. Writing a standard operative procedures (SOP) as a team

23.3.1 Participation in Workshops and Surgical Skilled Training Programs

European School of Peritoneal Surface Oncology (ESPSO) Training Program is the result of the work of pioneers in this method in its systematic and professionally guided implementation in various centres in different countries. The ESPSO provides the opportunity of a high-quality, wellstructured training program, comprising both basic and advanced knowledge that will lead the candidate to the European Certification on peritoneal surface oncology. This program includes a mandatory component comprising a theoretical module that includes attendance to International Congress of Peritoneal Surface Malignancies, as well as local or national events and two advanced courses on Peritoneal Surface Oncology and workshops organized by the European Society of Surgical Oncology. The practical module consists of direct involvement in cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC procedures (mandatory number is 20), participation in multidisciplinary tumour boards, patient selection and therapeutic decisionmaking meetings (mandatory is also 20 cases). Observation of in-hospital postoperative followup is also required. The third-scientific-module includes presentation of the results of their own academic work, as lectures at congress and publications in scientific literature. The meaning of the theoretical module is based on acquiring basic knowledge of peritoneal surface oncology, including a definition of individual pathological conditions epidemiology, incidence, clinical manifestations, diagnosis and therapeutic management possibilities. Another integral part is the acquisition of theoretical skills in cytoreductive surgery techniques, peritonectomy methods, types of HIPEC and use of cytostatic and their combinations and concentrations. The information on the safety and handling of cytotoxic agents and addressing adverse events during their leak at the operating room is essential. Furthermore, recognition of complications secondary to this treatment and their management is crucial for the success of the training. Mutual meetings, cooperation and exchange of the latest knowledge among surgeons dealing with this technique are also important. Clinical practical model allows the participants to obtain direct information about indication and preparation of patients for surgery. Furthermore, direct hands-on participation in the execution of CRS and HIPEC procedures from anaesthesia induction to patient leaving the operation room, participation and attendance to ad hoc tumour board for presentation, discussion patient selection and therapeutic decision-making and presence in in-hospital postoperative follow-up at

a training centre. The importance of the scientific module lies in the motivation for systematic scientific management of one's own work in the field of CRS and HIPEC with the necessary presentation of the results at professional forums.

The basic conditions for entry into the training process are:

- 1. Expert tutor
- 2. An adequate PSM centre that could harbour the training program
- 3. Adequacy of the candidate

Both the expert tutor and the centre are recognized by PSOGI regarding aspects to historical contribution to PSO, actual annual case load and proficiency. The tutor is expected to supervise all the activities during the entire duration of the program to ensure a direct transmission of knowledge to the trainee from a PSM expert source. Each participant in the program should be an active surgical oncologist with an inclination to PSO and a focus on structured and professional training; he/she should complete the entire surgical education in accordance with national requirements and have at least basic surgical oncology training and show a continued dedication to surgical oncology in clinical practice and to be involved or have solid plans to get involved in an established or new peritoneal surface malignancies program.

The tutor should be an experienced surgical oncologist and head of the PSM program at the workplace, which should be a reference centre in the country. Overall, there are 29 centres worldwide classified under the ESSO heading.

After the conditions are met, the program participant receives a certificate of its fulfilment. It is awarded once every 2 years at the International Congress on peritoneal surface malignancies.

23.3.2 Collaboration and Hospitalization with a Reference Centre's

Supervision and mentoring from an experienced centre are highly advisable, for surgical training, staff education and design of treatment protocols. Head surgeon and other team members should visit a training centre to obtain enough experience, knowledge and skills to start a program in their own facilities. Their training should not only include their presence and assistance in operating theatres but also preoperative preparation of patients, tumour board discussion, elaboration of indicating summary, monitoring of postoperative care and subsequent follow-up of the patients. It is also appropriate to visit several international centres, as they may vary in procedural approach, indication criteria and HIPEC procedure (open method, or closed lavage, type of cytostatic, its concentration and duration of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy according to the tumour type), due to the fact that each of these centres uses its own standard operating procedure (SOP) list. Further multidisciplinary visits to the training centres have to be planned, including all staff members involved in the project, both nurses and doctors.

23.3.3 Necessities of a Starting Centre

A preliminary step is to identify the optimal location of the centre for CRS and HIPEC. The basic premise requires a surgical ward that routinely runs all major abdominal surgery procedures with a sufficient number of experienced surgeons. It must also have access to suitably equipped operating rooms, intensive care units, central cytostatic preparation and appropriate laboratory facilities for basic and advanced haematological, biochemical, microbiological and histopathological diagnostics. The standard includes access to emergency CT scans, interventional radiology and endoscopy and transfusion services for 24 h. Technical facilities and equipment for HIPEC are essential as well. On the market, there is a wide range of devices registered for commercial use for HIPEC. The choice of a specific HIPEC device should be based upon certain characteristics, such as its ability to achieve adequate hyperthermia in a short period, adjustable flow rate, userfriendliness, ease of assembly, ease of reading and continuous registration of temperatures,

availability of technical support and affordability of the machine itself and the disposable circuit tubing kits [11].

23.3.4 Creation of a Multidisciplinary Team

The leader of the team must be an experienced surgeon. The surgical team should be limited in number at the beginning, mainly due to the length of the learning curve. It is not advisable to involve many surgeons at the beginning of a new centre; the ideal number is two. The surgeon must be fully versed in the whole complexity of colorectal and major oncological abdominal surgery. The basic premise is that he/she handles all major resections of the small and large intestine, including procedures in the stomach, liver, gallbladder and biliary tract. He/she should be able to perform basic resections of the pancreas and uro-gynaecology (mainly hysterectomy, salpingo-oophorectomy, pelvic exenterating). He/she should also be experienced in the management treatment of surgical complications during abdominal surgery, especially management of intestinal fistulae, anastoleakage, intra-abdominal motic bleeding, abscesses and surgical wound infections. Surgeons must also participate in international meetings, both theoretical and practical courses, and attend expert centres to gain new experience and information.

Another important partner of the team is a medical oncologist. It is very important from the very beginning of the new program to integrate him/her into the team and discuss various activities with him/her. Conversely, the surgeon must be very careful to respect the opinions of the oncologist. A very close, intense and friendly cooperation of the surgeon-clinical oncologist pair within a multidisciplinary tumour board (MDTB) for peritoneal carcinomatosis is often a key factor in further successful development of the centre. It is extremely useful to discuss every patient with complete oncological history, all chemotherapy cycles and dosages as well as the direct observation of CT scans, which should not be older than 3-4 weeks to exclude patients

with distant metastasis. If preoperative staging laparoscopic videos are available, they should be presented at the MDTB meeting, in order to integrate the team in learning about PCI and outcome.

Integral parts of the team are also experienced specialists—anaesthesiologists, intensivists, radiologists, pathologists, pharmacists, dietetics, physiotherapists, perfusion specialists and oncology psychologists. A very important part of the team are then the theatre and ward nurses. Therefore, it is helpful to invite everybody to a morbidity conference on a regular basis, to learn from pitfalls at the centre.

23.3.5 Training of the Multidisciplinary Team

If the 'CRS and HIPEC team' is founded, the next step is education of the team members. It includes meetings, workshop conferences and regular tumour board meetings once a week. Tumour board meeting is crucial in the indication of patients for this type of treatment. The joint decision of the surgeon, oncologist, radiologist and eventually a pathologist has a decisive influence on the further success of the program, which is reflected in the quality of achieved cytoreduction, satisfactory morbidity and mortality and positive effect on overall survival time and quality of life. At the construction of the new centre, it is necessary to meet certain fundamental conditions of national authorities and legislation. It is a necessary precondition to ensure safe administration of cytostatic in the operating room, which must comply with strict rules; therefore, staff and environmental services must be properly instructed. This includes an adequate response to leaks during the administration of cytotoxic chemotherapy in order to minimize the risk of contamination of the nursing staff. This also applies to staff at intensive care units, where patients are transferred postoperatively. They must also be instructed in the use of technical equipment and devices for HIPEC and responses to complications that may occur during hyperthermic circulation.

23.3.6 National Health System Financial Support

CRS and HIPEC is characterized by a relatively high morbidity, relatively large costs and long learning curve of the surgeon [12]. CRS and HIPEC treatment is recommended in centres worldwide. Nevertheless, the number of CRS and HIPEC centres differs in European and non-European countries for several reasons:

- 1. Healthcare system
- 2. Cost of treatment
- 3. Possibility of payment
- 4. Experience of the surgical oncology team

The implementation of a new centre requires the support of the National Oncological Program, as well as a hospital with adequate financial and personnel resources. Because this treatment and its complications, particularly at the start of a new centre, represent a significant financial burden for the centre, at least a partial reimbursement via public insurance, private insurance or private patients must also be guaranteed in advance. For example, Bagnoli et al. [13] describe the overall cost per case in the Italian National Health System at $\in 21,744$, while reimbursement per case amounts to just $\in 8375$. Sufficient financial resources are essential.

Personnel resources, both experienced and proactive surgeons, but also oncologists, anaesthesiologists, intensivists, radiologists and nursing personnel are a prerequisite for success. Further development of the centre also requires a direct connection to science centres, whose cooperation can help further develop the technique and present the centre both at professional forums and in the literature. Most often, such centres are created at the level of tertiary reference centres.

23.3.7 Writing an SOP as a Team

It is very helpful to create a standard operative procedure (SOP) in your workplace, which is a basic guiding parameter for all involved personnel. Its contents are the different steps of tumour board decision regarding the indications for surgery, informed consent forms, preoperative examination and procedures of the day before surgery, the day of surgery and postoperative days (e.g. antiemetic treatment, start of feeding, etc.), including the subsequent follow-up after the discharge from hospital. There must also be a common surgical oncology protocol of indication criteria, which allows for a uniform processing within individual diagnoses. At the beginning of the program, all cases should be discussed prospectively at multidisciplinary meetings with members of expert centres. It is recommended to start with simpler cases in relatively otherwise healthy patients with less advanced disease. It is very frustrating for the team when there are major complications and mortality at the beginning of the program. The enthusiasm of the team can thus be reduced, and these negative results can also negatively influence the opinion of other personnel and unnecessarily discredit the method. At the beginning, the team needs to see good results of their work. All cases should be collected in a meticulous database as it allows to work with the results. Negative experience and adverse events should be referenced in the literature as a prevention of recurrence of these complications in other centres.

23.4 Summary

Cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC conform an increasingly and interesting area of oncological surgery, which, in indicated rigorously selected cases, leads to a significant extension of overall survival and quality of life of patients for diseases that were previously considered unmanageable. Some groups consider it to be the current standard of treatment. Striving for systematic management of new surgeons and centres to further develop this oncosurgery area is an innovative proactive way of training. It will significantly reduce the time of the surgeon's learning curve, and it helps prevent a number of negative experiences and avoid practices that may adversely affect morbidity and mortality after the surgery. These training programs also represent a unique opportunity for mutual cooperation and exchange of experience between centres, both at national and international levels. Nevertheless, it is necessary to remember that this approach has only palliative importance in many cases. Therefore, indication criteria and multidisciplinary oncoboards have to strictly choose this treatment only in patients who will benefit from it. Success and progress of individual centres would be the best motivation to develop this method in the field of peritoneal surface oncology and would encourage other centres to implement this procedure.

References

- Sugarbaker PH. Peritonectomy procedures. Ann Surg. 1995;221(1):29–42.
- Sugarbaker PH, Cunliffe WJ, Belliveau J, de Bruijn EA, Graves T, Mullins RE, Schlag P. Rationale for integrating early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy into the surgical treatment of gastrointestinal cancer. Semin Oncol. 1989;16:83–97.
- Sugarbaker PH. Parietal peritonectomy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(4):1250–2229.
- Baratti D, Kusamura S, Cabras AD, Deraco M. Cytoreductive surgery with selective versus complete parietal peritonectomy followed by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in patients with diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma: a controlled study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2012;19(5):1416–24.
- Baratti D, Kusamura S, Iusco D, Bonomi S, Grassi A, Virzi S, Leo E, Deraco M. Postoperative complications after cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy affect long-term outcome of patients with peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: a two-center study of 101 patients. Dis Colon Rectum. 2014;57(7):858–68.
- Piso P, Leebmann H, Marz L, Mayr M. Cytoreductive surgery for malignant peritoneal tumors. Chirurg. 2015;86(1):38–46.
- Glehen O, Kwiatkowski F, Sugarbaker PH, Elias D, Levine EA, De SM, Barone R, Yonemura Y, Cavaliere F, Quenet F, Gutman M, Tentes AA, Lorimier G, Bernard JL, Bereder JM, Porcheron J, Gomez-Portilla A, Shen P, Deraco M, Rat P. Cytoreductive surgery combined with perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy for the management of peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer: a multi-institutional study. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(16):3284–92.
- Kusamura S, Moran BJ, Sugarbaker PH, Levine EA, Elias D, Baratti D, Morris DL, Sardi A, Glehen O, Deraco M. Multicentre study of the learning curve and surgical performance of cytoreductive surgery with intraperitoneal chemotherapy for pseudomyxoma peritonei. Br J Surg. 2014;101(13):1758–65.

- Koppe MJ. Peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: incidence and current treatment strategies. Ann Surg. 2006;243.
- Weir HK. Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1975–2000, featuring the uses of surveillance data for cancer prevention and control. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1995.
- Virzi S. Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC) techniques. Treatment of peritoneal surface malignancies. Milan: Springer-Verlag Italia; 2015.
- Kusamura S. Learning curve for cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in peritoneal surface malignancies: analysis of two centres. J Surg Oncol. 2012;107.
- Bagnoli PF, et al. Peritonectomy and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: cost analysis and sustainability. Eur J Surg Oncol. 1943.

Index

A

Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), 203, 204 Adjuvant chemotherapy, 347, 440 Adjuvant intravenous chemotherapy, 105, 121, 122 Adrenocortical carcinoma (ACC), 409, 410 Adult granulosa cell tumor (AGCT), 395 Advanced epithelial ovarian cancer CT scan, 224-225 cytoreductive surgery, 227-228 HIPEC carboplatin, 237-238 cisplatin, 237 clinical trials, 241-242 outcomes, 238-240 oxaliplatin, 237 paclitaxel, 238 rationale, 236-237 intraperitoneal chemotherapy, 234-236 laparoscopy, 225-226 MRI, 225 NACT non-inferior to primary CRS, 230-231 pathological response, 231 role, 228-230 surgery, 234 non-resectability on imaging, 226 pathogenesis, 221–222 pathology, 221 pelvic and para-aortic lymphadenectomy, 233-234 peritoneal deposits, 232 PET, 225 pleural effusion, 226 predictive and prognostic markers, 242-243 presentation, 223 retrospective and phase II studies, 241 staging, 227 treatment, 227 tumor marker CA125, 223, 224 HE4, 224 tumor spread, 222–223 Aggressive locoregional therapy, 3, 253, 255, 507, 527 American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) score, 451 Aminolevulinic acid (ALA)-mediated photodynamic diagnosis (ALA-PDD), 156, 495

Anterolateral parietal peritonectomy advantage, 43 blunt dissection, 44 extraperitoneal approach, 43 falciform ligament, 43 line of Toldt, 43 Antiemetics, 536 Anti-secretory agents, MBO antiemetics, 536 ascites, 536 hydration, 536 hyoscine butylbromide, 535 octreotide, 535 parenteral nutrition, 536 Appendiceal adenocarcinoma, 319 Appendiceal cancers, 26-27, 437 Appendiceal PC. See IP cancer chemotherapy regimens Appendicectomy, 20, 27, 58 Area under the curve (AUC), 472, 475, 479 Ascites, 38, 530, 536

B

Basilar atelectasis, 203 Bevacizumab, 440, 494, 521, 540–541 Bidirectional intraoperative chemotherapy (BIC), 80, 92, 93, 105 Biobanks, 513, 516 Body surface area (BSA) method, 91, 113, 293 Breast cancer, 410 CRS and HIPEC, role of, 412 management, 411, 412 presentation and diagnosis, 411

С

CA125 marker, 223, 224, 325 Camptothecin (CPT), 475, 476 Capecitabine, oxaliplatin (CAPOX), 440 Carboplatin, 236–238, 241, 242, 265, 271, 402, 440 Carcinoid syndrome, 390 Catumaxomab, 355, 493–494, 540 Centripetal surgery, 40 Charlson comorbidity index (CCI) score, 184, 452

© Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2018 A. Bhatt (ed.), *Management of Peritoneal Metastases- Cytoreductive Surgery, HIPEC and Beyond*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7053-2 Chemotherapy response score (CRS), 231, 232, 370, 512 efficacy of, 520 elderly population cancer incidence, 449-450 cardiovascular system, 450 CCI, 452 immune sysytem, 450-451 mental disorders, 450 morbidity and mortality, 453-455 nutritional status, 450 preoperative evaluation, 451-452 reported outcome, 452 respiratory function, 450 survival outcomes, 455-456 morbidity of acute kidney injury, 206 anastomotic technique, 192, 193 bowel anastomoses, 192 bowel handling during surgery, 192 central line sepsis, 207 circulatory complications, 204, 205 clinical care pathways, 181, 208, 209 closed vs. open method, 192 30-day vs. 90-day morbidity, 184 diverting stoma, 193 enteric leaks, 190-195 failure to rescue, 189 gastrointestinal complications, 190, 191 gastroparesis, ileus and obstruction, 195-198 haematological complications, 205, 206 infectious complications, 207 intra-abdominal, non-digestive complications, 198-201 learning curve, 183 MMC-induced pulmonary toxicity, 204 and mortality, 181, 182 neurological complications, 207 patient factors, 182 patient selection, 181 postoperative complications, 208 predictive tools and scores, 183, 184 preoperative systemic chemotherapy, 183 rare complications, 208 respiratory complications, 201-204 scoring systems, 185-188 skin/abdominal wall complications, 207 stoma-related complications, 198 subclavian vein thrombosis, 207 surgical and disease-related factors, 182, 183 urinary tract infection, 207 VTEs, 204 wound complications, 206, 207 patient selection completeness of cytoreduction score, 62, 63 histopathology, 59, 60 imaging studies, 60, 61 PCI, 61, 62 quantitative prognostic indicators, 59 perioperative morbidity, 462 QoL, 463 rare indications, 369

classification, 370 current recommendations, 413-417 miscellaneous indications, 412, 413 primary peritoneal tumors (see Primary peritoneal tumors) secondary peritoneal tumors (see Secondary peritoneal metastases) registry, 508 need for, 507 survival benefits of, 512 Chimeric antigen receptor-T cells (CAR-T cells), 493, 551 CHIPASTIN trial, 265 CHORUS trial, 229 Cisplatin, 114, 354, 355, 364, 376, 442 Clavien-Dindo classification complications, 185 disability at time of discharge, 185 for grading surgical complications, 185, 186 limitation, 186 modification, 187 vs. CTCAE, 187-189 Clinical benefit rate (CBR), 354, 486, 487 Coelomic theory, 222, 375 Colectomy, 55, 305, 334 Colorectal cancer (CRC), 436, 449, 464 Colorectal cancer liver metastases (CRLM), 449 Colorectal peritoneal metastases (CPM), 16, 89-92, 449 CRS and HIPEC adjuvant approach, 20 adjuvant intraperitoneal chemotherapy, 20, 21 cautious and proactive surgeon, 303-304 chemotherapeutic agent, 16 clinical trials, 291-292 clinicopathological parameters, 19 completeness of cytoreduction, 17, 295-296 disease specific factors, 295 drugs, 299, 300 Dutch COLOPEC trial, 20, 22 Dutch randomised trial, 20 elderly, 294, 295 EPIC, 293-294 feasibility and survival benefit, 7 French ProphyloChip trial, 23 HIPEC role, 287-289 Italian Promenade trial, 20, 22 Kaplan-Meier curves, 16, 17 liver metastases, 297-298 long-term survival, 290-293 morbidity and mortality, 300-301 NACT, 296 NIPOX trial, 302, 303 outcomes, 287, 288 ovaries resection, 298-299 overall survival rates, 298 patient-related factors, 294 peritoneal lavage, 296 phase III trials, 19, 21 **PIPAC**, 302 posttreatment surveillance, 18 prevention, 305-306 proactive approach, 20

PSDSS, 296 reiterative procedures, 301-302 risk factors, 19 role of, 7 second-look approach, 20 serum tumor markers, 297 Spanish HIPECT4 study, 20, 22 Sugarbaker's PCI, 295 survival rates, 16, 17, 286, 287 systemic chemotherapy, 7, 289-290 tumor histology, 297 urological procedure, 299 cytoreduction, 7 diagnostic/staging laparoscopy, 284 disease spread, 283-284 IP cancer chemotherapy regimens (see IP cancer chemotherapy regimens) Kaplan-Meier curves, 15 liver metastases vs., 282 median survival, 7 modern systemic chemotherapy, 15 pathogenesis, 18 pathophysiology, 281, 282 survival rate, 7 systemic therapy, 284-285 vs. liver metastases, 38, 39 Colorectal peritoneal metastases prognostic surgical score (COMPASS), 60, 297 Combined resection of liver and peritoneal metastases ablative techniques, 175, 176 colorectal cancer abdominal and pelvic progression, 162 aggressive surgical treatment, 168 appendiceal primary tumors, 169 clinical outcomes, 166, 167 complications, 169 diagnosis, 162 exfoliation process, 162 hepatectomies, 165 hepatectomy, 171 hepatic resection, 168 hepatobiliary procedures, 168 IPC, 169 long-term survivors, 172 median disease-free survival, 168 median overall survival, 165, 168-170 meta-analysis, 169 metastatic potential, 162 mortality rate, 165 parenchymal liver metastases, 169 postoperative morbidity and mortality, 165 prognostic factors, 165, 171 progression time, 162 quantitative analysis, 169 radiofrequency ablation, 168 recommendations, 172 selection criteria, 170, 171 survival rate, 162 systemic chemotherapy, 163, 164, 171 hepatobiliary procedures, 174 intraoperative ultrasound, 175

liver-first approach, 175 liver resections, 175 long-term survival, 161 ovarian cancer clinical outcomes, 173, 174 FIGO stage IV disease, 172 intraperitoneal dissemination, 172 intravasation, 172 parenchymal resection, 175 peritonectomy procedures, 175 Common terminology criteria for adverse events (CTCAE), 187-189, 442 Completeness of cytoreduction (CC) score, 4, 17, 227, 295-296 Comprehensive complication index (CCI) score, 186.187 Computational fluid dynamics (CFD), 473 Contiguous structures and viscera resection colectomy, 55 distal pancreatectomy, 56 diverting stoma, 56 full-thickness diaphragm resection, 52-53 hepatic resection, 56, 57 oophorectomy, 58 partial/total gastrectomy, 53-55 pelvic exenteration, 59 rectosigmoid colon resection, 55, 56 urological procedures, 57 Cyclophosphamide, 86, 376 Cystic mesothelioma (CM) imaging, 137, 138 Cytoreductive surgery (CRS), 347, 433-436, 528, 561-566 clinical trials appendiceal and colorectal cancers, 436 gastric cancer, 441 ideal trials, 443 MOC31PE, 443 MRM7 phase III study, 442 ovarian, 440-441 pancreatic adenocarcinoma, 442 published trials, 433-436 RCT, 433 and HIPEC, 484 median PCI score, 350 MPM, 365 patients, possibility of cure, 353 training program collaboration and hospitalization with reference centre's, 564 indications, 562-563 learning curve of surgeon, 563 multidisciplinary team, 565-566 National health system financial support, 566 role of, 561-562 standard operative procedure, 566 starting center, necessities of, 565 surgical skilled training program, participation in, 564 workshop, participation in, 563-564 Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4), 492, 551

572

D Debulking surgery, 227, 334 Dedrick diffusion model, 82, 83, 471, 472 Dendritic cell vaccine, 493, 551 Desmoplastic small round cell tumor (DSRCT), 137 clinical manifestations, 371 diagnostic evaluation, 371 pathology, 370, 371 symptoms, 370 treatment, 371-374 Diagnostic video laparoscopy (DVL) advantages, 148, 152 CC score, 148 clinical-radiological evaluation, 152 description, 147 disadvantages, 148 Fagotti score, 152 goal of, 150 laparoscopic HIPEC and CRS, 156, 157 laparoscopic ultrasound, 148 limitations, 152 negative predictive value, 152 PCI, 148 **PIPAC**, 156 positive predictive values, 152 role of, 150 technical aspects, 152-155 utility and outcomes, 150, 151 Diaphragmatic peritonectomy, 184, 202, 455 Diffuse malignant peritoneal mesothelioma (DMPM), 108, 113, 114, 124-126 Diffuse peritoneal leiomyomatosis (DPL) characterization, 381 diagnosis, 382, 383 etiology, 381 genetic alterations, 382 hormonal stimulus, 381 iatrogenic implantation/spontaneous dissemination, 382 malignant change, dose, 383 presentation, 382 treatment, 383 Disease extent and resectability determination, 149, 150 Disease-specific indications, 4, 5 Disseminated peritoneal adenomucinosis (DPAM), 322, 323, 327, 333, 334, 336, 338 Distal pancreatectomy, 56, 183, 200 Diuretics, 537 Docetaxel, 94, 116, 355, 491 Doxorubicin, 92, 355, 386, 483, 487, 546 Drug delivery systems (DDSs), 475-479 advantages, 480 disadvantages, 480 hydrogels, 475, 476 implantable systems, 479 liposomes, 478 micelles, 479 microspheres, 476, 477 nanoparticles, 477, 478 Dutch COLOPEC trial, 20, 22

Е

Early postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (EPIC), 4, 24, 84, 123, 293, 373, 405, 436, 474 adjuvant therapy, 107 advantages, 93, 106, 107 carrier fluids, 115 cisplatin, 106, 114 closed abdomen technique, 107 in colorectal carcinoma, 108-112 complications, 126 in CRC and in high-grade appendical carcinoma chemotherapeutic schemes, 121, 122 high-risk surgical procedures, 123 multivariate analysis, 123 nordic chemotherapy trials, 121 OS rates, 121 randomized controlled trial, 122 survival rate, 121, 122 tumour recurrences, 121 cytotoxic agents properties, 106, 107 in DMPM, 108, 113, 114, 124 dose intensification, 106 EPIC-GC trial, 125 5-fluorouracil, 93, 94, 106, 108, 113-116 gastric cancer, 108, 112, 123, 124 ICARuS trial, 125 MMC, 112, 113 mortality and morbidity, 116-120, 126 ovarian cancer, 120 paclitaxel, 114 peritoneal dialysis data, 106 regimens, 93 Ringer's lactate solution, 106 surgical technical procedure, 107, 108 taxanes, 94, 106, 108, 114-116 vs. HIPEC, 107 washout effect, 107 Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) test, 294, 451-452 E-cadherin, 36 Electrostatic pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (ePIPAC), 483, 546 Endometrial carcinoma advanced, 401 lymphatic/vascular channels, 401 recurrent, 402-404 Endometrial stromal sarcomas, 385 Enterocutaneous fistulas, 194, 195 Epirubicin, 355 Epithelial appendiceal tumours clinical presentation, 319, 320 GCC, 319 **MANEC**, 319 proactive management, 320-321 PSOGI expert consensus classification, 318 surgical treatment, 320 WHO classification, 318 Epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM), 493, 540 Epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT), 36

Epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC), 435 Epithelioid leiomyosarcoma, 384 Epothilone B, 477 ESOC, 376, 380 Etoposide, 354 European Network of Excellence (EUNE) trial, 24 European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire score 3.0 (EORTC QLQ-CR30), 463 European School of Peritoneal Surface Oncology (ESPSO) Training Program, 563 Ewing sarcoma (EWS) gene, 371 Extra-abdominal sarcomas, 384 Extraovarian peritoneal serous papillary carcinoma (EPSPC), 374 Extraperitoneal disseminated disease, 562 Extraperitoneal metastases (EPM), 373

F

Fagotti laparoscopic score, 152, 226 Fibrolamellar hepatocellular carcinoma, 404, 405 Fibrosing deciduosis theory, 381 FIGO stage, 227, 233, 240, 242 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, oxaliplatin (FOLFOX), 284, 439–440 FOLFIRI regimen, 284, 302, 303, 336, 545 Foramen of Winslow, 50, 51 Frailty, 452 Free cancer cells, 347 Free-floating signet ring cells, 323 French ProphyloChip trial, 20, 23 Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Colorectal (FACT-C), 463, 464

G

Gall bladder adenocarcinomas, 413 Gastric cancer (GC), 9, 348 clinical trials, 441 intraperitoneal chemotherapy (see Intraperitoneal chemotherapy) spreads, 347, 435 Gastric cancer-associated peritoneal metastases (GPM), 17, 18, 23-25, 92 adjuvant/perioperative therapies, 15 CRS and HIPEC comparative studies, 23, 25 cytoreduction (CC0), 17 Dutch PERISCOPE study, 24 EPIC. 24 EUNE trial, 24 GASTRICHIP study, 24 negative peritoneal cytology, 23 NIIC, 24 NIPS, 24 palliative resection, 24 positive peritoneal cytology, 23, 24 posttreatment surveillance, 18 predisposing factors, 23

prognostic factors, 17 prophylactic HIPEC, 23, 24 survival benefit, 23 survival rate, 17 IP cancer chemotherapy (see IP cancer chemotherapy regimens) pathogenesis, 18 systemic chemotherapy, 16 Gastric outlet obstruction (GOO), 534 Gastric peritoneal metastases, 9 CRS and HIPEC long-term survival, 9 peritoneal recurrence, 9 NIPS, 9 PIPAC, 9 GASTRICHIP study, 24, 348 Gastrointestinal stromal tumor, 408, 409 Glisson's capsulectomy, 44, 46 Goblet Cell Carcinoids (GCC), 319 Gold nanoshells (GNSs), 489 Granulosa cell tumor (GCT), 395, 396 Gynecologic Oncology Group (GOG), 227, 228

Η

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), 510 Health-related quality of life (HRQoL), 463 Hepatic cancer, 404, 405 Hepatic resection, 56, 57 Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), 177, 404 High-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm (HAMN), 318 High-voltage electrocautery, 42 Human epididymis 4 (HE4) protein, 224 Hydrogels, 475, 476 HYPER-O registry, 238 Hyperthermia, 237, 238 Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC), 347, 433, 436, 469, 470, 474, 480, 483, 485, 488-489, 491, 495, 528, 538 advantage of, 462 benefit of. 539 clinical trials appendiceal and colorectal cancers, 436 gastric cancer, 441-442 ideal trials, 443 ivarian, 440 MOC31PE, 443 MRM7 phase III study, 442 pancreatic adenocarcinoma, 442 published trials, 433 RCT, 433 C-palliative, 353 drugs used in, 354 efficacy of, 520, 537 elderly population cancer incidence, 449 cardiovascular system, 450 CCI, 452

Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) (cont.) immune system, 450 mental disorders, 450 morbidity and mortality, 453 nutritional status, 450 preoperative evaluation, 451 reported outcomes, 452-453 respiratory function, 450 survival outcomes, 455 morbidity of, 351-352, 355 acute kidney injury, 206 anastomotic technique, 192, 193 bowel anastomoses, 192 bowel handling during surgery, 192 central line sepsis, 207 circulatory complications, 204, 205 clinical care pathways, 181, 208, 209 closed vs. open method, 192 30-day vs. 90-day morbidity, 184 diverting stoma, 193 enteric leaks, 190-195 failure to rescue, 189 gastrointestinal complications, 190, 191 gastroparesis, ileus and obstruction, 195-198 haematological complications, 205, 206 infectious complications, 207 intra-abdominal, non-digestive complications, 198-201 learning curve, 183 MMC-induced pulmonary toxicity, 204 and mortality, 181, 182 neurological complications, 207 patient factors, 182 patient selection, 181 postoperative complications, 208 predictive tools and scores, 183, 184 preoperative systemic chemotherapy, 183 rare complications, 208 respiratory complications, 201-204 scoring systems, 185-188 skin/abdominal wall complications, 207 stoma-related complications, 198 subclavian vein thrombosis, 207 surgical and disease-related factors, 182, 183 urinary tract infection, 207 VTEs, 204 wound complications, 206, 207 MPM, 365 outcomes for, 538 patients, possibility of cure, 353 patient selection completeness of cytoreduction score, 62, 63 histopathology, 59, 60 imaging studies, 60, 61 PCI, 61, 62 quantitative prognostic indicators, 59 perioperative morbidity, 462 PIPAC, 354 prophylactic, 348-350

QoL, 463 rare indications, 369 classification, 370 current recommendations, 413-417 miscellaneous indications, 412, 413 primary peritoneal tumors (see Primary peritoneal tumors) secondary peritoneal tumors (see Secondary peritoneal metastases) registry, 508 need for, 507 survival benefits of, 512 training program collaboration and hospitalization with reference centre's, 564 learning curve of surgeon, 563 multidisciplinary team, 565 National health system financial support, 566 standard operative procedure, 566-567 starting center, necessities of, 565 surgical skilled training program, participation in, 564 workshop, participation in, 564

I

Imatinib therapy, 408, 409 Immunohistochemistry (IHC), 226, 364, 375, 390, 411 Immunosenescence, 450 Implantable systems, 479 Induction intraperitoneal and/or intravenous chemotherapy, 105 Infiltrating tumor lesions, 462 Interval debulking surgery (IDS), 228 Intra-abdominal sarcomas, 384 Intraepithelial (noninvasive) mucinous carcinoma, 394 Intraoperative intravenous chemotherapy, 105 Intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC), 41, 234, 236, 348-350, 365, 474-480 benefits of, 347 bevacizumab, 494 CAR-T Cells, 492-493 catumaxomab, 493 in clinical practice, 474 CRS, median PCI score, 350 dendritic cell vaccine, 493 diffusive and convective drug transport, 474 drug delivery systems hydrogels, 475 implantable systems, 479 liposomes, 478 micelles, 479 microspheres, 476 nanoparticles, 477 efficacy of, 472 HIPEC, prophylactic, 348, 349 immune checkpoint inhibitors, 492 interstitial fluid pressure, 489-491 intraperitoneal immunotherapy, 492 limitations of, 474

mucin-lysing therapy, 494 neoadjuvant chemotherapy (see Neoadjuvant chemotherapy) noninvasive hyperthermia, 489 personalized intraperitoneal therapy, 495 pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamics, 473 photodynamic therapy, 492 PIPAC (see Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC)) radioimmunotherapy, 491 vascular normalization therapy, 474 Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy After cytoReductive Surgery (ICARuS) trial, 125, 332 Intraperitoneal drug instillation, 106 Intraperitoneal free cancer cells adhesion molecules, 37 detachment and release of, 36 mesothelial retraction, 37 neoangiogenesis, 37 peritoneal cavity, transport through, 36, 37 submesothelial tissues invasion, 37 transmesothelial spread, 37 VEGF, 38 Intraperitoneal immunotherapy CAR-T cells, 551 dendritic cell vaccine, 551 immune checkpoint inhibitors, 551 Intraperitoneal sarcoma, 384 IP cancer chemotherapy regimens cisplatin, 92 CPM/appendiceal PC clinical results, 91, 92 concentration-based vs. BSA-based peroperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy, 91 mitomycin C-based regimens, 90, 91 oxaliplatin-based regimens, 89-90 doxorubicin/hydroxyldaunorubicin, 92 Irinotecan, 104, 284, 286, 373 Italian Promenade trial, 22 Italian Society of Locoregional Treatment in Oncology (SITILO) protocol, 286

J

Japan Clinical Oncology Group postoperative complications criteria (JCOG PC) criteria, 188 Jelly belly. *See* Pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP) Juvenile granulosa cell tumor (JGCT), 395

L

Laparoscopic cytoreductive surgery, 67, 68, 157 Laparoscopic hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy, 67, 68, 156, 157 Laparoscopic ultrasound, 148 Laparotomy, 104, 107 Left subphrenic peritonectomy, 46, 47 Leiomyomatosis peritonealis disseminata, 137 Leiomyosarcomas, 385 Leucovorin, 80, 284–286, 332, 354, 434, 436 Liposarcomas, 137, 384 Liposomes, 478–479 Liver metastases, 38–40 Loco-regional therapy, 104, 470 *.See also* Peritoneal metastases (PM) Low-grade appendiceal mucinous neoplasm (LAMN), 318 Lymphangiomas, 138 Lyon prognostic index, 392

Μ

Malignant bowel obstruction (MBO) clinical practice, 535 definition, 530 drug therapy for anti-secretory agents, 535-536 bevacizumab, 541 catumaxomab, 540 diuretics, 537 goals of, 535 intraperitoneal use, 539-540 locoregional therapies, 537 pain relief, 535 palliative HIPEC, 537-539 paracentesis, 537 peritoneovenous shunts, 537 PIPAC, 539 endoscopic procedures for, 533-534 mechanical/functional, 531 moral dilemmas, 532 pathophysiology of, 531 surgical procedures for, 533-534 treatment of, 532 Malignant ovarian germ cell tumors (MOGCT) cytoreductive surgery and advanced disease, 397 types, 397 Malignant peritoneal mesothelioma (MPM) diagnosis and evaluation, 362, 363 diagnosis of, 361 epidemiology, 361-362 genetics of, 362 imaging, 136 neoadjuvant chemotherapy, 366 novel agents, 365-367 pathology, 363, 364 pleural cytoreduction, 366 risk factors, 361 staging system, 364 treatment, 364-366 Mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSNs), 477 Mesothelin, 363 Mesothelioma, IP cancer chemotherapy. See IP cancer chemotherapy regimens Mesothelium, 137, 364, 470 Metabolic equivalents (METs), 451 Micelles, 478-479 Microspheres, 475-477 Microwave ablation (MWA), 176 Mild malnutrition, 450

Mitomycin C (MMC), 112, 113, 353, 354, 434 Mixed adenoneuroendocrine carcinoma (MANEC), 319 Mucinous adenocarcinoma, 317-319, 322, 323 Mucinous appendiceal tumours, 26, 27, 317-319 Mucinous ovarian tumours, 393 chemotherapy, response to, 395 clinical features and prognosis, 394, 395 CRS and HIPEC, role of, 395 incidence, 394 pathological and molecular features, 394 Mucinous primary tumour, 19 Mucinous type of peritoneal surface malignancy, 461, 562 Mucinous urachal carcinoma, 398-400 localized tumors, 398, 399 PMP, 399, 400 Mucinous urachal neoplasms. See Mucinous urachal carcinoma Mullerian theory, 222, 375 Mullerianosis, 381 Multicystic mesotheliomas, 364 Multidisciplinary tumour board (MDTB), 565 Myxoid liposarcoma, 385

Ν

N-acetyl cysteine (NAC), 495 National Cancer Institute's guidelines, 6 National health system financial support, 566 Negative predictive value (NPV), 226 Neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT), 63-64, 296, 347, 351-355. 521 CRS, patients, possibility of cure, 353 HIPEC C-palliative, 353 drugs used in, 354-355 morbidity, 351-352, 355 patients, possibility of cure, 353 PIPAC, 354 MPM, 366 prognostic factors, 353 Neoadjuvant intraperitoneal and systemic chemotherapy (NIPS), 9, 24, 83, 94, 95, 105, 302, 350 Neuroendocrine tumours (NET), 10 CRS and HIPEC, evidence for, 392, 393 diagnosis, 390, 391 incidence of, 387 presentation, 390 site of origin, 390 treatment, 391, 392 NIPOX trial, 302, 303 Nonmucinous type of peritoneal surface malignancy, 461 Nordic chemotherapy trials, 121 Normal postoperative course, 189-190 Normothermic intraoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (NIIC), 24, 348 North Central Cancer Treatment Group (NCCTG), 285

0

Octafibrin, 206 Octreotide, 535 Omental cake, 223 Omental metastases, 38 Omentectomy hepatic bridge, 49 lesser omentectomy, 49 ligament clearance, 48, 50 partial/total mmentectomy, 48 partial/total momentectomy, 48 pont hepatique, 49 with spleen preservation, 48 Oophorectomy, 58, 298 Open colosseum technique, 106 Optimal cytoreduction, 227 Ovarian cancer, 92, 440 IP cancer chemotherapy (see IP cancer chemotherapy regimens) origin of, 374, 375 Ovarian peritoneal metastases, 8 Ovarian primary tumors, 10 Oxaliplatin, 104, 206, 354, 355

Р

Paclictaxel, 355 Paclitaxel, 114, 355, 402, 478, 479 Pancreatic adenocarcinomas, 413, 442 Papillary serous carcinomas, 399 Paracentesis, 537 Partial/total gastrectomy, 53-55 Pegylated silica-core gold nanoshells (pSGNs), 489 Pelvic and para-aortic lymphadenectomy, 233 Pelvic peritonectomy, 51, 52 Pemetrexed-based chemotherapy, 364 Perioperative chemotherapy (POC), 544 Peritoneal biopsies, 64, 142, 381 Peritoneal cancer index (PCI), 4, 41, 61, 62, 104, 148, 184, 225, 283, 350, 353, 364, 435, 469, 482, 484.562 Peritoneal cancer imaging, 138-141 CT imaging, 142 cystic mesothelioma, 137, 138 DSRCT, 137 liposarcomas, 137 MPM, 136 MRI, 142 PET-CT, 143 PPSC, 136 primary peritoneal cancer, 135-138 radiologist's role, 141, 142 secondary peritoneal cancers (see Secondary peritoneal cancers) ultrasound, 142 spread pathways direct spread, 34-36 hematogenous route, 36

lymphatic spread, 35 redistribution phenomenon, 35 Peritoneal carcinomatosis, 83, 84, 86-89 aggressive locoregional therapies, 80 BIC, 80 clinical results, 80, 81 Dedrick diffusion model, 82, 83 EPIC, 84 heated intraperitoneal triethylenethiophophoramide, 80 HIPEC carrier solution, 84 closed abdomen technique, 87, 88 duration, 84 open abdomen technique, 86, 87 semi-open/semi-closed abdomen techniques, 88, 89 with CRS, 83 hyperthermia, 86 intraperitoneal 5-fluorouracil, 80 leucovorin, 80 methotrexate, 80 **NIPS**, 83 normothermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy, 80 pathophysiology, 79, 80 peritoneal-plasma barrier, 81 pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamics variables, 82.83 PIPAC, 85 SPIC. 84 Peritoneal lavage cytology, 296 PeRitOneal MalIgnancy Stage Evaluation (PROMISE), 62, 225, 283, 326 Peritoneal mesothelioma, 433 Peritoneal metastases (PM), 469, 479-489, 491-495 intraperitoneal chemotherapy, 471-475 bevacizumab, 494 CAR-T Cells, 493 catumaxomab. 493 dendritic cell vaccine, 493 drug delivery systems (see Drug delivery systems (DDSs)) immune checkpoint inhibitors, 492-493 interstitial fluid pressure, 489 intra-abdominal pressure, 479-489 intraperitoneal immunotherapy, 492 mucin-lysing therapy, 494-495 noninvasive hyperthermia, 488-489 personalized intraperitoneal therapy, 495 photodynamic therapy, 492 radioimmunotherapy, 491 occult, detection of, 495-496 peritoneal transport barrier, 470-471 small bowel transplant, 495–496 strategies, 469 Peritoneal mucinous carcinomatosis (PMCA), 6, 322, 323, 328, 333, 334, 336, 338, 473 Peritoneal regression grading score (PRGS), 64 Peritoneal serous micropapillomatosis, 381

Peritoneal surface disease severity score (PSDSS), 296, 443, 522 Peritoneal surface malignancy (PSM), 461, 513, 561.564 Peritoneal surface oncology registries, 517-519 biobanks, 516 chemotherapy, role of, 521 confidentiality, 510 CRS and HIPEC, efficacy of, 520-521 data collection and quality assurance, 510 data elements, 509, 513-514 data entry, 514 data ownership, 509 data security for online database, 515 definition, 508 design of, 509 disease specific, 511 electronic health records, 510 ethics, 509-510 funding, 516 goals of, 509 informed consent for, 510 legal concerns, 510 need for, 507-508 patient follow-up, 514 patient recruitment and management, 510 population-based, 511 primary and secondary peritoneal tumors, 512-513, 517-520 privacy, 509, 515 provider recruitment and management, 510 Rare Disease Patient Registries, 516 rare peritoneal tumors, 512 recruitment of centers/surgeons, 516 RENA-PATH, 516 RENA-RAD, 517 selection bias, 513 setting up, 509 treatment of PM, 521, 522 Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group International (PSOGI), 294 Peritoneal tumor dissemination cancer spread, 40 centripetal surgery, 40 high-voltage electrocautery, 41 laparoscopic surgery, 40 minimally invasive approach, 40 non-definitive procedures, 40 PCI, 41 surgeon's role, 39 surgical handling of patients, 40 tumor cell entrapment hypothesis, 41 Peritonectomy, 52-59 anterolateral parietal peritonectomy advantage, 43 blunt dissection, 44 extraperitoneal approach, 43 falciform ligament, 43 line of Toldt, 43

Peritonectomy (cont.) contiguous structures and viscera resection (see Contiguous structures and viscera resection) foramen of Winslow, 50, 51 Glisson's capsulectomy, 44, 46 left subphrenic peritonectomy, 46, 47 lysis of adhesions, 43 morbidity, 59 omentectomy (see Omentectomy) patient preparation, 42, 43 pelvic peritonectomy, 51, 52 procedures and resections, 42, 175 right subphrenic peritonectomy, 45, 46 small bowel and mesentery, 52-54 xiphoidectomy, 43 Peritoneum blood supply, 34 gastrocolic ligament, 33 gastrosplenic ligament, 32 hepatoduodenal ligament, 32 inframesocolic compartment, 33 inframesocolic spaces, 33 lesser sac, 33 omentum and mesentery, 32, 33 paracolic gutters, 33 paracolic spaces, 33 peritoneal spaces, 32 rectovesical space, 33 retrouterine space, 33 sigmoid mesocolon, 33 small bowel mesentery, 33 splenorenal ligament, 32 structural anatomy, 33-34 subhepatic space, 33 subphrenic space, 33 supramesocolic compartment, 33 transverse mesocolon, 32 Peritonitis, 196, 197 Personalized intraperitoneal therapy, 495 P-free survival (PFS), 104 Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamics variables, 105 Phase I dose escalation studies, 5 Photodynamic therapy (PDT), 491-492, 550 Plasma-peritoneal barrier, 471, 472 Platinum-based chemotherapy, 253 Platinum-free interval (PFI), 253, 254 Platinum-resistant disease, 258 Pleural effusion, 203 Pleural involvement assessment, 155 Pneumonia, 203 Poly-ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibitors, 254 Positive predictive values (PPV), 226 Preoperative systemic chemotherapy, 183 Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC), 9, 10, 85, 156, 302, 353-354, 482, 537-539 advantages, 488, 548, 549 background, rationale and preclinical data, 481, 545-546 clinical evidence, 483-485, 546-548

clinical trials, 486-488 contraindications, 488, 548, 549 disadvantages, 488, 548, 549 electrostatic PIPAC, 482-483, 546 laparoscopic HIPEC, 488 pharmacokinetic advantages of, 481-482, 545-546 QoL, 485-486, 548 safety considerations, 485-486 technique of, 481-483, 546 toxicity, 483-485, 546-548 Primary peritoneal carcinoma (PPSC), 135-138 Primary peritoneal serous borderline tumor, 381 Primary peritoneal serous cancer (PPSC), 521 case-matched studies, 377, 379 diagnostic criteria, 375 ESOC, 376, 380 ovarian cancer, origin of, 374, 375 presentation, 376 role of HIPEC, 380 systemic chemotherapy, 376-378 treatment, 376 Primary peritoneal tumors DPL, 381-383 DSRCT, 370-374 PPSC, 374-380 Prior surgical score (PSS), 65 PRODIGE 7 trial, 281, 287, 289, 296, 300, 301, 436 Programmed death-1 receptors (PD-1), 551 Progression-free survival (PFS), 229 PROMENADE trial, 306 ProphyloCHIP, 305 Protoporphyrin IX (PpIX), 496 Pseudomyxoma peritonei (PMP), 6, 7, 399, 400, 433, 517, 528, 533, 541, 544-545 appendiceal tumours, molecular profile of, 338 chemotherapy, 335-336 classification, 322-323 CT scan, 325-327 debulking surgery, 334-335 definition. 321 diagnosis, 325 EPIC, 332 FDG-PET scan, 327, 328 genesis, 321-322 HIPEC drugs, 331 laparoscopic CRS and HIPEC, 330 lymph node involvement, 334 lysis of musin, 336 management, 336 morbidity and mortality, 335 MRI, 327 mucin, 323-325 multi-visceral resection, 329-330 patient follow-up, 336 patient selection, 328 postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy, 332 prior chemotherapy, 334 prior surgical score, 333, 334 prognostic indicators, 332-333 recurrence, 336

repeat CRS and HIPEC, 337, 338 signet ring cells, 323 small bowel transplant, 330 surgical interventions, 329 symptoms and signs, 325 treatment, 328 tumor markers, 325 pT4 primary tumour, 19 Punch biopsy, 64

Q

Quality of life (QoL), 485, 548 CRS, semicurative intent of, 463–466 EORTC QLQ-CR30, 463 FACT-C, 463 HIPEC, semicurative intent of, 463 HRQoL, 463 SF-36 questionnaire, 463

R

Radiofrequency ablation (RFA), 176 Radioimmunotherapy, 491-492, 549-550 Recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer CRS completeness, 255 DESKTOP III phase, 257 GOG 213 phase, 257 overall survival, 255 patient selection, 257-258 platinum-resistant disease, 258 secondary, 256 women survival, 256 CT scan, 260 detection of recurrence, 258, 259 early vs. delayed treatment, 259-260 HIPEC carboplatin, 265 case-control study, 270 cisplatin, 265 clinical trials, 271 evidence, 266-268 hyperthermia, 265 melphalan, 266 methodology, 264 morbidity, 272 mortality rates, 272 oxaliplatin, 265 paclitaxel, 265 platinum-sensitive and platinum-resistant survival, 269 rationale, 264 regimens, 266 subsequent recurrence management, 272, 273 intraperitoneal chemotherapy, 263, 264 laparoscopy, 260, 261 pattern, 254-255 PET scan/PET-CT scan, 260

PFI, 253-254 prognostic factors, 262-263 secondary CRS goal, 261 minimally invasive approach, 261-263 surgical and oncological outcomes, 261, 262 systemic chemotherapy, 263 Reiterative procedures, 66, 67 RENAPE Registry, 514-517 Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST) criteria, 259 Retroperitoneal liposarcomas, 385, 386 Retroperitoneal lymphadenectomy, 261 Retroperitoneal sarcomas, 384 Return to intended oncologic therapy (RIOT), 189 Rhabdomyosarcoma, 413 Right subphrenic peritonectomy, 45, 46 Ringer's lactate solution, 106 Roux-en-Y anastomosis, 329

S

Sarcomas endometrial stromal sarcomas, 385 epithelioid leiomyosarcoma, 384 extra-abdominal sarcomas, 384 imaging finding, 385 intra-abdominal, 384 intraperitoneal sarcoma, 384 leiomyosarcoma, 385 liposarcoma, 384 IP cancer chemotherapy (see IP cancer chemotherapy regimens) management of, 385-389 retroperitoneal, 384 **ULMS**, 385 Secondary cytoreductive surgery for recurrent disease, 397 Secondary Mullerian system, 381 Secondary peritoneal cancers CT imaging bowel involvement, 140 greater omentum, 139 ligaments, 140, 141 liver, 140 lymph nodes, 139, 140 misty mesentery, 139, 140 pelvic involvement, 139 pleural effusion, 140 rupture of appendix, 141 spleen, 140 subphrenic space involvement, 140 diffusion-weighted imaging, 138, 139 symptoms, 138 Secondary peritoneal metastases ACC, 409, 410 breast cancer, 410-412 endometrial carcinoma, 399, 401-404 gastrointestinal stromal tumor, 408, 409 hepatic cancer, 404, 405
Secondary peritoneal metastases (cont.) mucinous urachal carsinoma (see Mucinous urachal carsinoma) NET, 387, 390-393 rare ovarian tumours HIPEC, role of, 397 GCT, 395, 396 **MOGCT**, 397 mucinous, 393-395 sarcomas, 384-389 SBA, 405-408 Sequential intraperitoneal chemotherapy (SIPC), 4, 105, 235, 293, 474 Sequential postoperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy (SPIC), 84 Sertoli-Leydig cell tumor, 412 Serum carcinoembryonic antigen, 297 Serum tumor markers, 297 Signet ring cell carcinoma, 318, 319, 323 Simplified preoperative assessment for appendix tumour (SPAAT) score, 327 Single-port laparoscopy (SPL), 155 Small bowel adenocarcinoma (SBA) index of suspicion, 405 treatment CRS and HIPEC, 405-408 systemic chemotherapy, 405 Solid pseudopapillary epithelial neoplasms, 413 Somatostatin receptors, 536 Spanish HIPECT4 study, 20 Splenectomy, 198, 199 Staging system, 371 Subjective Global Assessment (SGA) scale, 294 Synchronous ovarian metastases, 298 Systemic chemotherapy, 377, 378, 405

Т

Taxanes, 355, 491 Total gastrectomy, 329, 330 Total parenteral nutrition (TPN), 536 Tubal ligation, 376 Tumor interstitial pressure (TIP), 490 Tumor psammomacarcinoma, 375 Tumours of uncertain malignant potential (TUMP), 319 Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), 408, 409

U

Unresectable peritoneal metastases, 529-532, 541-545, 551 definition, 527-528 indications and contraindications, 533 intraperitoneal immunotherapy CAR-T cells, 551 dendritic cell vaccine, 551 immune checkpoint inhibitors, 551 management asymptomatic patients, 543-549 imaging, 531-532 investigations, 531 treatment, 532 natural history of patients, 527-529 palliative surgery, definition of, 532 photodynamic therapy, 549-550 radioimmunotherapy, 550 symptoms, management of, 530 ascites, 530 constipation, 530, 542-543 edema and lymphedema, 530, 541-542 fatigue, drowsiness, lethargy and weakness, 529, 541 general symptoms, 529 malignant bowel obstruction (see Malignant bowel obstruction (MBO)) nausea and vomiting, 529, 541 nutrition and hydration, 529-530, 541-542 Uterine leiomyosarcoma (ULMS), 385

V

Vascular disrupting agents (VDAs), 490 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 38, 223, 494, 530, 541 Vascular targeting agents (VTA), 490 Venous thromboembolic events (VTEs), 204 Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgical (VATS) approach, 228

W

Whole abdominopelvic radiotherapy (WAP-RT), 373, 374 Wilms tumor, 371, 412

Х

Xiphoidectomy, 43